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History

OF

Rochester and Monroe County

INTRODUCTORY

To tlie gentle reader who may pcnise tliese pages

it will be evident that history repeats itself in

more ways than one.

From one point of view the record of the growth

of Eochester may seem to be little different from

that of other cities in the western world, the same

thing over again with a change in the names, and

therefore of no interest except purely local or an-

tiquarian. Wliy, then, cumber the shelves of li-

braries with a long account of what has no peculiar,

characteristics of its own, nothing but its title to

differentiate it from other works of a similar na-

ture? The answer is that the objection is not

well grounded. While the settlers of other places

may have had their own obstacles to encountei;.

their own trials to be met and overcome, the

founders of Eochester certainly had a weary task

to struggle through the first few years in the plan-

tation of this little hamlet in the wilderness and

had to resist more detrimental influences, espec-

ially in the foj'in of a climate that was rendered

pestilential by malaria until the swamp lands

could be cleared and drained, tlian were met with

elsewhere. Montaigne's dictum, "Happy the nation

that has no annals," is but an attractive generality

and may be met by the far truer assertion, "Happy

the nation whose annals show the contest of its

citizens against adversity and the peaceful victory

won by patient industry and rectitude of conduct."

Eegarded in this light it will be seen that it was

well worth while to prepare a record of the achieve-

ments of our forefathers and of their accomplish-

ment in laying firmly the foundation of a city that

is the source of pride and pleasure to its inhabi-

tants.

But the criticism may be made that it was a

useless repetition to gather up all these details

and to offer this new histoiy to the public, whea

there were already others on the same subject, one

of tliein, at least, by the sanie author. To this is
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the reply that since the publication of the forme t

works many changes have taken place, not so much

in the occurrence of important events as in the

surprising growth of Rochester within the pa.st

few years, less in the increase of population, al-

though that has been satisfactory, than in the

augmentation of all that goes to make up the life

of a great community, of educational facilities, of

rapid and ubiquitous transportation and of pro-

ductive industries. In many of these last-named

features Rochester leads the world, and in still

more is it at the head of the cities of this country.

All these are set forth in the following pages, per-

haps not in the fullest or the best manner possible

but in the form that seemed most adapted to the

requirements of a comfortable volume and at th?

same time most fitted for permanent preservation.

In compiling this work the writer has availed hLii-

self of all known sources of information and lias

spared no labor in the consultation of all manu-

script narratives and books of reference bearing

on the general subject, in public and in private

libraries, and of the local newspapers, weekly and

daily, from their earliest publication to the be-

ginning of this present year. That no omissions

may be noticed, no trifling errors detected, is too

much to hope for in any human production, but

such defects as may be found will not have been

due to lack of industry and care. The author has.,

as will be seen, been gi-eatly aided by many kind

friends in the preparation of sketches of most of

our prominent institutions, thereby not only light-

ening his labors but, what is far more important,

giving to the work the sanction of authoritative

utterance in all those cases. Wherever such assist-

ance has taken the form of written articles, how-

ever brief, full credit has been given in the nin-

ning pages, but in many instances information has

been imparted of the source of which no specific

mention could be made. With this introduetioa

the book is offered by the writer to the impartia\

consideration of his fellow-citizens.

Rochester, June 1, 1907.

W. F. P.



CHAPTER I

THE ABORIGINES OF THE COUNTY.

Forerunners Everywhere—The Mound-Builders—
The Great Mottnd—Serpent-Worship—The Iro-

ijiiois Indians— Where They Game from—The

Different Nations—The Great Confederacy—
Hiawatha and the Constitution of the League—
Ferocity of the Iroquois—Their Career of De-

vastation—Smallness of Their Number—Their

System of Consanguinity—Lewis H. Morgan's

Discoveries—Inheritance in the Female Line—
Tlie Status of Wom,en—Iroquois Names of

Places—Their Religion—Reformation under

Handsome Lake.

THE MOUND BUILDERS.

Of no country, of no locality in the world, can

it be said with any degree of confidence who were

the first human inhabitants. As the Israelites

wandered from place to place they always found

that some one had been there before them, in some

cases with an advanced civilization that could have

been the result only of ages of slow development;

when the Aryan races pushed out from the an-

cestral fields of Ccntriil Asia and spread over the

plains of India they forced their pre-historic pre-

decessors out of the way; when another sectiou

passed over into Greece the Pelasgians were al-

ready the ancient inhabitants; when others of the

same family penetrated into Italy there were the

Etruscans and many other well-settled national-

ities, and when, in more recent times, the Romans

undertook the subjugation of the western world

they encountered populous communities with di-

vergent languages that have been found, almost in

our own day, to be cognate with their own. No-

where was there solitude; that came after the

conquest, not before. In every case the earliest

known occupnnls of a region had some traditions,

more or less vague, of a race that had been there

previously in some remote period.

Of these legends of prior occupation this con-

tinent, this country and this state form as good an

example as any other portion of the world. For

a long time after the discovery of Columbus and

the belated settlement, more than a century later,

of the northern part of the mainland, it was gener-

ally supposed that the American Indians were the

only as well as the immediate predecessors of the

Caucasians. But of late years the belief has become

general, so much so as to have become practically

a conviction, that the red men were not the real

aborigines but that long before them, perhaps so

long before that they did not come into physical

contact with them, was a race that we call by the

general name of the mound-builders, from the pe-

culiar elevations, in many cases quite symmetrical,

that are found in different parts of the country

and that bear no resemblance to what we know of

any habitations or any other structures designed

by the Indians. No intimation whatever has come

down to us regarding the habits,, the language, the

social organization of these people, and the only

suggestion regarding their religion lies in tha

shape of many, though not all, of these mounds,

which extend in-egularly and at wide intervals

through the Ohio valley, along the Missouri and

Mississippi rivers, reaching out to the Pacific ocean
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and dotting the shore of the gulf of Mexico from

Texas to Florida.

By I'av the most noteworthy oC tliesc, l)otli fioia

its size ivnd from the cxccDciit pvosorviidon ol' its

outlines, is in Adams county, Ohio, upon an ele-

vated plateau formed by the confluence of three

small streams. Upon this ridge, conspicuous from

a great distance, is distinctly traced the figure of

a huge serpent, not in a straight line but with

many graceful coils, and in front of its distended

jaws is an oval which may be taken to represent

an egg, possibly as showing the supposed manner

of reproduction and perpetuation of the species

The entire length of the monster, following its sin-

uosities, is about a quarter of a mile, and more

than a third as much in an air line from end to

end; its greatest width is twenty feet; its ut-

most height six feet. It was only sixty years ago

that this remarkable creation was discovered and,

as scientific interest and idle curiosity in the mat-

ter steadily increased, the danger of its gradual

destruction became evident, to guard against which

catastrophe the whole bluff and many acres sur-

rounding it were purchased for the Peabody mu-

seum of Cambridge, lyj^assachusetts, transferred hy

that body to Harvard university and finally turned

over to the Ohio State Archeological and Histor-

ical society, the last conveyance providing for the

perpetual care and maintenance of the property.

This great relic of the past and lesser structures of

a similar character also were undoubtedly connect-

ed with the prevailing religion of the people who

constructed them, and they go to show in a most

interesting manner the kinship of the world, for

serpent worship, if not the first form of religion,

was at least the second, coming immediately aftei

tree worship, which it seems to have soon supplant-

ed everyTvhere. Traces of it are found in all lands,

and even after it had disappeared as a formal cult

it continued to affect the later creeds, so that it ap-

pears in the sacred books of the Hindoos, all my-

thology is affected by it and . the most ancient

sculpture preserves its memory.

The eastern states do not contain any sure evi-

dences of the mound-builders, although here and

there in New York state are to be seen mounds
which may be the work of nature or which may
have been formed by the hand of man. There are

a few of these in Monroe county, most of them in

the neighborhood of Irondequoit creek, but even if

they are artificial there is nothing so distinctive

about them as to preclude the possibility of their

having been raised by our Indians within historic

times for some unknown purpose. The only thing

that would seem to point to a more remote origin

is the occasional disclosure in these mounds, even

at the present day, of tobacco-pipes (one of which

is now in the possession of the Rochester Historical

society) that are more elaborately formed, more

highly polished than those dispensers of comfort

with which we are familiar as the known produc-

tions of our immediate predecessors. But thjs

does not count for much, and may easily be offset

by the supposition that artistic skill had become

less prized than the development of warlike in-

dustry. So that, as far as we know, and probably

ever can know, the Seneca nation of the Iroquois

confederacy were the first people who inhabited

this region.

THE IROQUOIS.

The absence of anything like written records

renders it impossible to even guess as to the time

of the Indian settlement, and their earliest tradi-

tions gave no clue to that. They were not interest-

ed in statistics, and their legends related only to

spectacular events. One of these stories was to the

effect that those who were here before them—for,

of course, like all other nations, they had tales to

tell of the real or imaginary people who preceded

them—were all devoured by a great serpent that

dwelt near Canandaigua lake. This introduction

of the serpent is very interesting, for that reptile

plays no part in the religion of the Iroquois, ;-o

that it would seem that the myth could not have

originated among them. At any rate, when those

people, whoever they were, had all disappeared

down the throat of their revengeful deity, the Sen-

ecas entered and took possession of the desolate

land, not springing up out of the ground, as might

be supposed, but issuing in a body from the side

of some unknown mountain, which obligingly

opened for that purpose.

Their real advent was probably not very long

ago. When Jacques Cartier made his voyage of

discovery up the St. Lawrence river, in 1535, he

found at Hoehelaga, which is now Montreal, a

populous and thriving village, the inhabitants of

which spoke the Iroquois language. When, in



1—1

o

o
M
hH

W

O
P
5

W
EH





IIISTOEY OF KOCHESTER AND MONROE COUNTY. 11

the earJy part of the next century, Champlain

penetrated that region, the Iroquois' village and iti:

people had disappeared, and in its place were a few

scattered dwellings of much ruder construction,

filled with red men much lower in savagery, who
spoke an Algonquian language known as the Adi-

rondack. These people had pushed the former

settlers out of tlieir abodes und occupied their

places until they were in turn displaced by the

Hurons, who spread over Canada and formed a

close alliance with the Adirondacks and other Al-

gonquin tribes in fighting their common enemj',

which had become, from their point of view, a

world power, certainly the great conquering

power of the western world. These Iroquois, in

their forced migration in the middle of the six-

teenth century, probably went up the St. Law-

rence and crossed Lake Ontario to the mouth of

the Oswego river. They found there many of

their own kindred, who like themselves were of

the populous Dakota stock from the western plains

and who had gone through a similar experience in

Canada long before, for the white men, in their

first intercourse with them,- found a well settled

tradition among them that their ancestors had once

lived on the St. Lawrence in the neighborhood of

Montreal, and that could hardly have applied to so

ro(«nt an occurrence as the exodus after Jacques.

Carlier visited thcni.

Even before this new influx a great expansion of

the community had taken place; they had broken

up into three distinct nations or tribes, the On-

ondagas, the Mohawks and the Senecas. The first-

named, who might be considered the parent stock,

remained in the central portion of what is now

New York state, the Mohawks went to the east

and the Senecas spread over the western part, as

far as the Niagara river. A little later the Onon-

dagas threw off another section of the community,

which became the Cayugas, who settled near the

lake whose name they adopted as their own, while

from the Mohawks the Oneidas became detached

and occupied the region between them and the On-

ondagas. The name Iroquois has been used in

speaking of these people, but it must not be sup-

posed that is the name by which they called them-

selves. It is simply the name by which the French

designated them and it has been the one gener-

ally employed of late years on account of its

euphony. It is supposed to be derived from the

Indian word "hiro," equivalent to "dixi," "I have

spoken," a term with which they were wont to close

their long discourses in council. The English set-

tlers always spoke of them as the Five Nations,

until after the Tuscaroras had come up from North

Carolina in 1715 and, having proven their kin-

ship by the similarity of language, had been ad-

milted into the national society und had been

wedged in between the Mohawks and the Oneidas,

having lands assigned to them from the territory

of the latter tribe, so that from that time they were

known as the Six Nations and -were always called

so in any treaties between them and the Englisn.

Their own name for themselves was Ho-de-no-saii-

nee, meaning "children of the long house."

THE GREAT CONFEDEEACY.

This appellation brings us to the consideration

of the formation of this great confederacy, to-

gether with the constitution, oral of course but

just as definite, just as binding, as though it had

been written and printed, which bound togeth9r

the component parts and welded them into one

nationality. This instrument or compact is one of

the most remarkable ever produced by the human

race, and it is the more wonderful that it was the

work, not, like the constitution of the United

States, of the assembled wisdom of a number o.f

men who had the advantage of previous legisla-

tion, but of one man, who thought it all out and

gave it to his people. Some time, perhaps less

than half a century, before Columbus came to this

part of the world, there arose among the Iroquois*

—probably among the Onondagas, though that is

uncertain—a consummate statesman named Ha-

yo-went-ha, or Hiawatha, as Longfellow has fixed

it and immortalized it, though the poet has for

some reason placed his hero among the Ojibways,

an entirely different stock, with which the Iro-

quois had no kinship whatever. Perceiving that

the weakness of his people lay in their being brok-

en up/ into tribes or nations, often indifferent if

not unfriendly toward each other, Hiawatha con-

ceived the idea of binding them together in a per-

manent league,' which should make them as far as

possible one nation, as they were originally. It was

both a civil and a military union, preserving the

integrity of each tribe, limiting the local territory

of each and specifying the number of sachems that
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each should have at the great council held in the

"long house," whence the national name was de-

rived. This council or congress, as we should call

it, was held, naturally, about the center of the

line, at a spot near the present city of Syracuse,

and occasionally, even at the present day, it comes

together, the fire is lighted, and the delegates sit

around it, the mere ghosts of their predecessors,

shorn of all power, with no ability to do anything

but talk and even that with less effectiveness than

might be possessed by the members of a city cau-

cus or a town meeting. There were to be fifty

sachems, of whoni fourteen were allotted to the

Onondagas, as being the most populous tribe, ten

to the Cayugas, nine each to the Mohawks and the

Oneidas, eight to the Senecas. When the Tuscar-

oras joined the confederacy no place was given

to them in the council, because the constitution

was unchangeable and the veneration for its in-

spired author would not permit the alteration of

a single clause.

HIAWATHA AT THE OOUNOIL.

At the head of this gathering sat Hiawatha, with

his chief counsellor—or secretary of state, as we

might call him—at his right hand. When Hiawa-

tha's time for departure from this earth had come

he went out on the bosom of tlie lake in a canoe,

whereupon a large white bird, descending from the

sky, carried him and his boat into tlie ujiper re-

gions of the air, so that he was seen no more. His

adviser died soon afterward, but the vacancies thus

• left in the council were never filled. There have

always been, since that day, fifty places about the

fire, but only forty-eight of them have ever been

occupied by living men; in the other two are the

invisible spirits, present though unseen. When it

was desired to hold a council to determine some

important question, which was almost Jilways that

of war or peace, runners were despatched from one

end of the line to the other, who ran with almost

incredible swiftness until they sank exhausted,

when the message was taken up and carried on by
others, like the fiery cross in the Scottish high-

lands. Any one of the fifty could veto any propo-
sition; but there was little danger or hope of that

right being exerted pertinaciously, for each tribe

voted as a unit and anyone who attempted to stand

out against the opinion of his colleagues would be

sure to get into very serious trouble, either then

or after he returned to his wigwam. The sachems

wore different from tbe war cliiefs; one wlio held

oitlior office could not possibly hold the otlicr

Thus, to. instance some persons of distinction,

Joseph Brant, the Mohawk, and Red Jacket, the

Seneca, were war chiefs but not sachems, while

Ely S. Parker, who resided in Rochester for some

time, was a sachem but not a chief. The chiefs

had control only over the members of their own

respective tribes, but in addition to them there

were two principal war chiefs whose command em-

braced the whole confederacy, and these were al-

ways chosen from among the. Senecas, the "keep-

ers of the western door of the long house," as that

was the side on which was thought to be the only

danger of attack.

CONQUESTS OF THE IROQUOIS.

This was the famous League of the Iroquois,

without which, or something of a similar nature,

that confederation of tribes would never have be-

come tlie irresistible force ilint terrorized the great-

er portion of what are now the United States and

Canada. Other Indians were just as ferocious,

perhaps just as courageous, but no others had that

peculiar combination of bravery, of endurance, of

duplicity and of cruelty that enabled them to sub-

due and to overawe all with whom they came in

contact. The defense of their own territory

against invasion occupied but little of their

thought and time in more recent years, for long

before that they had so completely intimidated

their neighbors that they had small dread of at-

tack. Their ancient enemies, the Algonquins, b.v

whom they were surrounded on the south and thy

east—for that family embraced the Powhatan
tribes of Virginia, as well as the Pequots, the

Narragansetts and other tribes of New England

—

had yielded complete submission to them, so that

the Mohawk heralds had only to cross the Hudson
river to receive the tribute that was always cheer-

fully paid. Their hatred against the Hurons,

though of their own lineage, seems to have been

more intense than that toward any other tribe, and

by frequent incursions into Canada, generally

crossing the lake where it narrowed into the St.

Lawrence, they practically destroyed the nation-

ality of that unfortunate people.



HISTORY OF ROCHESTER AND MONROE COUNTY. 13

Oftentimes their very appearance would fill their

foGS with such consternation that a sanguinary

conflict was not necessary, as was the case with the

Delawares, who were so easily reduced to subjec-

tion that petticoats were placed upon them to

show that they were nothing but women. The

wars in which tlie Iroquois were so incessantly en-

gaged were not wars of conquest any more than of

defense, for they wisely abstained from any ex-

tension of their territory except as they made a few

settlements in Canada on the shore of Lake On-

tario and in Ohio on that of Lake Erie, but the.^e

were intended as outlying posts, to guard the

frontier, rather than as any addition to their do-

main. They were inspired by a tliirst for blood,

a love of slaughter for its own sake, and when they

had been seized with this insensate fury they would

start out upon their devastating course, to which

all obstacles would be opposed in vain. It was noth-

ing to thcni to rush westward to tlie lliesissippi,

with such speed that there could be no possible

precursor of tlicir approach, to attack the lowas

and the Illinois with such force that those tribes

were almost annihilated and to return homeward
before any combination could be formed against

them that should overwhelm them. South as well

as west they would go; they struck the Cherokees

upoti the 'IViiuiessee, the Calawbas in South Caro-

lina, niul in every case tlic result would l)c the

same; back they would coiuc willi long lines of

reeking scalps about their necks and with trains

of prisoners to be devoted to adoption, to slavery

or to lingering death. This last was that in which

they most delighted, for a fiendish cruelty was

their predominant characteristic and their va^^t

torture chamber extended through the length of

the state. But not all of their captives went to

the fire; many of them were adopted into the dif-

ferent tribes, where they became at once full cit^

izens, and it is remarkable that in very few in-

stances, practically none, did they waver in their

fidelity to their new government, and in all sub-

sequent forays they could be relied upon to be just

as merciless in the assaults upon their real kin-

dred as though they had never known them before.

THE NUMBER OF TUB PEOPLE.

This system of adoption, constantly practised

and often on a large scale, was necessary to keep

up the numbers of the Iroquois, for the natural in-

crease of population would not have gone far to

repair the losses caused by their incessant fighting

and by the epidemics of disease that sometimes

raged among them, so that without this artificial

growth the nation would have become extinct long

ago. Even with that the number of the Iroquois

was always surprisingly, almost incredibly small,

when one considers the widespread ruin that they

wrought. The exact number is, of course, un-

knowable, but it is extremely improbable that it

ever amounted to as much as 30,000, and it often

fell far below that.* This would give a force of

not more than 3,000 capable of fighting, and of

these it would not do to send more than half far

away from home at any one time, for a consider-

able number must be retained to guard the long

line of wigwams with their female and juvenile

occupants; otherwise some wily foe, knowing of

their unprotected condition, would pounce down

upon them and all would be lost. What they sent

into the field was generally no more than what we

should consider an advanced guard, and it is

known that in that expedition in which they broke

the power of the Illinois there were only six hun-

dred warriors, as opposed to many times that num-

ber of the western Indians. Their matchless du-

plicity forestalled all preparations against them,

the celerity of their movements anticipated sus-

picion, and the impetuosity of their onset, usually

at night, bore down all resistance.

GENTILE RELATIONSHIP.

Their unbroken succession of victories was rend-

ered possible only by the cordial co-operation of

•This estimate of their numbers is made upon careful com-

parison of different authors. With the exception of that of La

Hontan, the Frenchman, who lived among them at an early

day and whose estimate of 70,000 is nothing but a wild guess,

the highest number given is that by Morgan, who thinks that

there were at one time 25,000, in which reckoning he is fol-

lowed by Fiske, but without any consideration of the evidence.

Morgan probably relied upon the information of his Indian

friends, who would not hesitate to exaggerate and who cer-

tainly were not exact. Greenhalgh, an Englishman, who trav-

eled alone through this region in the seventeenth century,

thought there were about 26,000, basing his calculation upon

the number of tepees and fires that he saw at Totiakton (now

Honeoyc Falls, in this county), but he destroys the value of

this supposition by the explicit statement that there were only

2,160 warriors in the confederacy, of whom one thousand were

Senecas. Bancroft thinks that there were 17,000 after the Tus-

caroras joined the league. The lowest estimate is that of Sir

William Johnson, the superintendent of Indian affairs for the

British government, who calculated that there were 10,000 of

them in 1763, which was probably rather low, though they had

greatly declined in popul.ntion at that time. Parkman, who is

the best authority of all, makes the number between 10,000 and

12,000, which computation he arrives at from the statcmenU in

the New Vork Colonial Documents, edited by Dr. O'Callaghan,

and Uic frct|ucnt assertions on the subject in the "Jesuit Rela-

tions."
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all the tribes, without regard to which one would

be most benefited or which had received some

provocation, real or imaginary. But that impreg-

nable solidarity could not have existed were it not

for the singular custom of gentile relationship

which existed among them. Our distinguished

townsman, the late Lewis H. Morgan, who became

one of the most eminent ethnologists of his time,

was interested at an early age in Indian matters

and spent a great deal of his time among them, so

that at last he became thoroughly versed in theiv

history, their language and their mode of life. He
noticed that there was a well recognized relation-

ship among them that was not apparent from or-

dinary observation, that those were considered

brothers of each other, or brothers and sisterrf,

where there was no kinship whatever from our

point of view. Patient and persistent inquiry re-

vealed the fact that this idea was not a whim and

was not confined to any one tribe but that it was a

sociological system extending through the whole

confederacy, so that these lines of imaginary rela-

tionship stretched transversely across the tribal

lines. For instance, there was the clan (or, as

Morgan preferred to call it, the gens) of the Wolf,

that of the Bear and that of the Turtle, which were

found in every tribe ; that of the Beaver and that

of the Snipe, which were in four tribes; that of

the Deer and that of the Eel, which were in

three tribes; of the HaAvk, in two tribes, of the

Heron and of the Ball, in one tribe each. No per-

son could by any possibility marry or mate with

one of the same gensj if it were attempted deat.'i

was meted out at once to the offending couple.

Thus, while those not thus related could freely in-

termarry in the same tribe as well as in different

tribes, a Seneca Bear, for instance, could not mar-

ry a Mohawk Bear from the other end of the line,

hundreds of miles away, even though the ancestors,

near and remote, of the one had never seen those

of the other. They were brother and sister be-

cause they were Bears ; that was enough. This law

of consanguinity welded the confederation to-

gether as nothing else could have done, for it made
it impossible for one tribe to war against another,

since in that case brother would have had to fight

against brother. It might be supposed that this

gentile subdivision was made after the division in-

to tribes; on the contrary, it long antedated that.

The theory was that all the members of any one

gens were descended from a common ancestor, who

lived in the distant past, but whether it was really

believed that that progenitor was the beast or bird

whose name was thus perpetuated, or whether the

appellation was recognized as only symbolic, was

never clearly made out, for the Indians were al-

ways reticent on that point. This remarkable

system, so foreign to all our ideas, was thoroughly

elaborated and brought out by Morgan in his cel-

ebrated work entitled "The League of the Iro-

quois," which at once excited the greatest interest

among the educated people of the world.

FEMALE INHERITANCE.

Another point that Morgan brought out in that

book was that inheritance Avas in the female line.

The Iroquois were not the first pedple to adopt

that rule; semi-civilized nations, like the Turks,

have always recognized the fact that paternity was

a matter of belief, while maternity was a matter

of certainty, and it remained for civilized races to

assume that parentage on one side was as well

settled as that on the other. But the Iroquois car-

ried the principle to its very furthest conceivable

limit. A man was not only the son of his mother

and not of his father, but on that very account he

belonged to the gens of his mother, not to that of

his father. This led to the strangest conclusions.

For instance, all the sachemships in the council

were hereditary, but that very nile, so far from

caiising a son to succeed his father, made it im-

possible for him to do so. Inheritance was un-

derstood to be gentile, not personal, in its natur^i,

and it was only necessary that the new sachem

should belong to the same gens with the deceased.

While he could never succeed his father he might

easily follow his grandfather, for the son (as we

should consider him), belonging, as he did, to the

gens of his mother, say that of the Heron, might

marry into the gens of the Bear, to which his

father belonged, so that the person of the third

generation would be a Bear and might without dif-

ficulty step into the office of his grandfather on

the mother's side. That frequently happened.

A more amusing illustration of the workings of

the system was in the matter of adoption into the

tribe. In the case of captives it would usually be

the females who would adopt the male prisoners,

but in some instances it might be that a man.
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porliaps cliildisli liimsclf, wished to become a

putative father, but it would not be into his gens

that the new citissea would enter. After Morgan had

^I'on the confidence and esteem of the Senecas, Jim-

my Johnson, a chief, the grandson of Red Jacket,

wished to adopt him, and so, at a grand council of

the confederacy, held in the "long house" in 1847,

the white man was with much ceremony received

into the tribe and became a Hawk, because that

was the gens of Johnson's squaw, while Johnson

himself was a Wolf. To the new-comer was given

ian appropriate Indian name signiiying "one lying

across," indicating that he would be the means of

communication between the two races, an expecta-

tion which he well fulfilled in later years.

CONDITION OF WOMEN.

The status of women among the Iroquois was

peculiar. In some ways they had more power than

the men. Being considcvQd the sole parents of

the family, so that all their property passed ac

death to the children, while the belongings of the

father all went to his gentile kindred, the mothers

were the ones who naturally had to do with what

little training of the young there was and they ex-

erted through life a preponderating influence over

their offspring. They possessed the elective fran-

chise and voted on equal terms with the men for

sachems and war chiefs. But their supreme power

lay in the disposition of prisoners. There their

will was absolute, and they meted out death oi*

slavery or adoption according to their arbitrary

caprice. In neighboring tribes the same rule

prevailed, and one instance will serve to show the

extent to which that power could be carried. Ths

. Eries, who dwelt near the lake of their name, had

in some way taken prisoner a young chief of the

Onondagas, and it was determined that he should

be held nt the disposal of a girl of his own age

who had recently lost a brother. No one doubted

that she would adopt him, which was usual in such

cases, but when she returned from a tempor-

ary absence she insisted that he should be put to

death; the Iroquois had killed her brother, now

let one of that nation pay for it with his life. In

vain did the old chiefs, who foresaw the doom

that was impending, entreat her to forego her pur-

pose ; nothing but blood and torture could appease

her thirst for revenge. Rele^+less custom held its

course, the victim was slowly burned to death, and

a few weeks later the blow fell, when the infuriat-

ed Iroquois hurled themselves upon the Eries and
exterminated the whole nation, men, women and
children. As an offset to all that authority the

women were constantly subjected to the most brut-

al treatment on the part of their husbands, who
were their masters^ the lords of life and death.

All the hard work except the fighting was done by
them, they were liable to be abandoned without

warning, to be beaten unmercifully s i-

ment, even to be killed in a fit of pa r

which suitable gifts could be made t

tions of the murdered woman and that would end
the matter.

IROQUOIS NOMENCLATUEB.

The Indian names of places so thickly scattered

over this county and elsewhere in the state have
excited much interest and one naturally asks as to

the meaning to each term, it being assumed, cor-

rectly enough, that each nailie has a distinct sig-

nification and is not arbitrary, as with us. But the

trouble is that the name, while usually descriptive,

is only vaguely so and might apply to a great

number of localities or features of the landscape

with equal propriety. It was unquestionably often

used in that indiscriminate way, but the confusion

that might result from the frequent repetition of

names has been avoided by the fact that the same
word would be differently pronounced by different

tribes, and the Dutch, in the eastern part, would
reproduce those various sounds in their own way,
while the French would understand them in a dif-

ferent way and the English in still another, and
again, if, as frequently happened, the English re-

ceived them through the medium of one of the

other European languages, they would be per-

verted from that form and a further variety would
be created, and all out of one original word. The
name of our river, which means, in a general way,

"a beautiful open valley," has been spelled in

many different styles, from Chin-u-shio, wliich is

its proper form, to Genesee. This applied only

to the upper part of the stream, above the rapids

;

from there down to its mouth it was called Cas-

conchiagon, to which several different meanings

have been attached, of which Morgan's* "under

*My friend Howard L. Osgood, who is well versed in Indian

antiquities, contributes the following note, indicating that the
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the falls" is as good as any. No one name has had

so many conformations as that of the bay near the

mouth of the river. The late George H. Harris

found thirty-one varieties, all of which he gave

several years ago. The most cacophonous of the^a

is Gerundegut, which was quite commonly used

even within the lifetime of the present writer,

but which has happily given way entirely to

Irondequoit, the best though by no means the

oldest of the shapes.

The name used by themselves for the tribe that

occupied this region was never employed by tha

w^hites. The earliest appearance of our word is

on a Dutch map of 1614, where it is printed

Sennecas. For some reason the English generally

altered that to Sinnekees, but for the last hundred

year§ it has had its present form of Senecas. The
ancient word Tsonnontouans was commonly ap-

plied to them by the French, and by no others.

Our great lake was mentioned by the pioneer Fa-

ther Hennepin more than two centuries ago as

Ontario, though he says that it was also "called

in the Iroquois language Skanadario (evidently

the same word), meaning 'a very pretty lake.'"

The English frequently in official documents, like

treaties, called it Cadaracqui, but after the Eevo-

lution the name went back to the beautiful form

of the missionary.

THEIR HOUSES AND THEIK ROADS.

Although the Senecas became the most popu-

lous of all the tribes there were never more than

a few thousand of them, so that they had not

many villages. There was only one in what is

now Monroe county, and that, which was the

second in size, was called Totiakton, being on the

site of the present Honeoye Falls. Like other

villages, it consisted of a number of houses one

story in height, made of upright poles with others

fastened to them transversely by means of withes,

the whole structure, sides and roof, being covered

with bark, fastened by strings or splints. These

name was applied also to the land in the vicinity of the falls:

"La Salle and two companions were the first white men to

navigate the south shore of Lake Ontario. In 1669 they found
the lower Genesee designated Gaskounchiakons. As with nearly
all Indian names, this word specified a peculiarity of the place
whereby a traveler could recognize it. Pou'chot, one hundred
years later, calls the locality 'Casconchacon, Les Trois Chautes.'
The Senecas still give the same name to Rochester. John Maude
relates in 1800 that he went behind the sheet of falling water of
the highest Genesee fall. Early residents said that the river
could nearly be crossed

_
behind the lower fall. Gaskonsagon

(with French pronunciation) means 'where one can go behind
the waterfall.'

"

dwellings, the forerunners of our modern apart-

ment houses, contained several families, each of

which occupied only one room, no matter how

many members there might be. Between the two

rows of these rooms or bunking-places ran a pass-

age-way in which fires for warmth and for cook-

ing by were kept burning, usually one fire for four

families, the smoke escaping through holes in the

roof. The nearest approach to a census would 03

by counting the number of fires and computing

accordingly; in that way Greenhalgh, the traveler,

estimated, in 1677, that the population of Totiak-

ton was a little over a thousand.

Among the Eomans a public road was always in

a straight line, among the Iroquois always in a

crooked line. The trail was never more than

fifteen inches wide, often only a foot. Any nat-

ural obstacle, like a tree, a rock or a stream, would

cause it to diverge, while any large open space

would completely divert the course, the tangles

of the forest being better than exposure. The main

trail of the confederacy was from Black Rock, on

the Niagara river, to a point on the Hudson a

little below Albany, crossing the Genesee near

Avon, so that it did not .enter Monroe county at

all. This path, which was the principal line of

communication for the successors of the Iroquois

till it was paralleled by canal and railroad, is stiil

traveled and is known as the "old state road."

There were many subordinate trails in this imme-

diate vicinity, most of them leading to the river.

One line came from the east over what is now the

Pittsford road, one branch reaching tlie river at the

foot of the Ridge road and another being perpet-

uated by East avenue and Franklin street. An-

other trail went from the ford of the river near

Elmwood avenue, over M't. Hope, where its mem-
ory, is preserved by the name of Indian Trail ave-

nue.* On the west side a much-traveled path came

to the river by the way of Scottsville and Chili,

reaching the stream in the Genesee Valley park,

and another came down through Plymouth avenue

to arrive at the spring back of where the First

Presbyterian church now stands, the natural

fountain giving its name to the street till the

present day.

•Some authorities maintain that this is only a myth, invented
to account for the name of that path, holding that the portage
must have been by way of Highland avenue,, after leaving
Elmwood, and so down to Irondequoit creek, the reason given
for that theory being that the Indians never went over a hill

if they could find level groutid to take them to their destina-

tion, no matter liow ci'—vtous might be the route.
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THEIR RELIGION.

The religion of the Iroquois was primitive and

yet more elaborate than might be expected. It

was based on a fundamental belief in the immor-

tality of the soul, with future rewards and pun-

ishments. It was extremely polytheistic, for they

had deities for all the forces of nature and for the

various products of the earth, a spirit of tobacco, a

spirit of the maize and a spirit of the squash.

Over all these was the mighty Manitou, to whom
they looked up in awe and fear and hope for all

the blessings that might come upon them. These

they endeavored to obtain by ceremonial observ-

ances, by prolonged feasts and sometimes by sol-

emn sacrifices, more notably that of a white dog,

the last of which rituals among the Senecas took

place in Rochester in 1813 on the elevation of

ground at the corner of Caledonia avenue and

Troup street. On all these occasions the dance

formed a prominent feature in the ceremony. Tt

was never rapid, usually very slow and always

rhythmic in its movement. It had nothing joyous

about it, for it was purely a religious ceremony anil

never in tlie nature of recreation, their pastimes

consisting of ball games, the game of javelins

the game of deer buttons and the peach stone game,

to all of which they were much addicted. They

had a certain code of morality, but they had many
vices and after they had acquired the love of drink-

ing their degradation was very deep.

This habit threatened their utter ruin, from

which they were saved by a remarkable reforma-

tion or revival that spread among them, at least

among the Senecas, about 1800. In that year there

arose among them a prophet, named Qa-ne-o-di-yo,

or Handsome Lake, a sachem of great influence

and of wonderful oratorical power. He preached

of righteousness and of .judgment to come, de-

nouncing their wickedness, urging upon them the

practice of what we call the golden rule and ex-

horting them above all things to abstain entirely

from the use of liquor. This teaching was pro-

ductive of the highest good, then and for long

afterward, so that, while the hopes of the great re-

former were never fully realized, his people are

better to-day for his having lived among them.
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THE EXPLORERS.

We have seen, in the preceding pages, that the

first contact of the Iroquois with the white men

may have heen when Jacques Cartier sailed up the

St. Lawrence in 1535 and met them at what is now

called Montreal, then Hochelaga. That is how-

ever, only a matter of probability ; what is a matter

of certainty is that if that was the first meeting of

the races the next contact was far less friendly.

Seventy-four years later, Samuel de Cham-
plain, who had come over to be the founder of

Canada, fearing, rightly enough, that his little

colony at Quebec would be menaced by his warlike

neighbors on this side of the lake, gathered to-

gether a considerable body of Hurons and Algon-

quins and crossed into New York. The Mohawks
met the invaders with determined courage, on the

shore of the lake which still bears the name of the

Canadian governor. The conflict was not long in

doubt and our Indians had to retreat, not van-

quished by their savage foes of their own color,

but terrified by the explosive weapons of the white

men, the destructive effect of which they then ex-

perienced for the first time. Although the victory

Avas with the French they had reason to regret it in

later years, for it engendered a feeling of vin-

dictive animosity in the hearts of the Mohawks

through succeeding generations. Champlain's in-

terpreter was Etienne Brule, who seems to have

been a natural explorer, for after this battle he

made his way alone down the Susquehanna river

from its source to its mouth. On his return he was

held as a prisoner by the Iroquois for two years

but finally got away from them and made his way

into Canada. It is extremely probable that he

passed through this region, as that lay directly in

his way, and, if so, he was the first white man
who ever set foot within the limits of Monroe

county.

A more agreeable visit was that of another

Frenchman, in 1669, when Eobert Cavelier, Sieur

de la Salle, landed at Irondequoit bay. He, too,

was bound on a peaceful and fascinating mission

of exploration, for he was determined to find a

way to China by journeying in the direction of the

setting sun. He was detained in this neighborhood

for a month by the lack of guides and it would hav6

been as well if he had not had them at all, for

his expedition ended disastrously. Nine years

later he tried it again, and though he never found

the Celestial empire he opened up to the world the

great West before he laid down his life in the dis-

tant South. On that second visit here he was ac-

compained by Father Hennepin, that acute ob-

server who gave us the first description of Niagara

falls ever written.
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THE MISSIONARIES.

Between these two explorers, Brule and La

Salle, the soldiers of the cross had penetrated to

this portion of the state. The Franciscan and

RecoUet friars had been a little west of here in

the early part of the century, but they were peri-

patetic and made no settled location. It was in

1656 that the Jesuits established a mission among

the Onondagas, and a few months later they plant-

ed a sub-station among the Senecas in Ontario

county. At the head of this was Father Chau-

monot, a devoted priest of great oratorical powers,

who traversed this section, coming undoubtedly in-

to tliis imuiediate region, for he met with much

success wherever he went. While many of the

Indians felt the utmost good will toward the

strangers, others were so bitter agaiust them that

a conspiracy was formed for the simultaneous

massacre of all of them, in consequence of which

they were suddenly recalled to Canada and were

fortunate in escaping with their lives.

For the next ten years, as there was iacessant

warfare during that time, there were no more of

the evangelists, but in 1668 Father Fremin, the

superior of the Jesuits, came here and established

a mission at what he called Tsonnontouan, though

whether he meant that appellation to apply to

some particular village, like Totiakton, or to the

whole country of the Senecas, as the name was

often used by the French, is uncertain. He was

much beloved and of great influence, for, during

his year's stay, he baptized one hundred and twenty

converts, mostly adults, besides strengthening the

faith of the numerous Huron captives, who had

been previously converted in Canada. Before he

left he summoned to his assistance Father Gamier

who after the departure of his superior was left

in charge of the four Seneca villages, including,

besides Totiakton, one where Lima and one where

East Bloomfield are now located. Father RafEeix

and Father Pierron also came, the former re-

maining for ten years, alter which Father flaruicr

remained alone till 1684, when he was recalled and

the sheep were again left without a shepherd. The

last one may be called emphatically the missionary

to the Senecas, while Father Raffeix belongs more

pecu]iai-]y to M(mroe county, as lie was stalioaed

at Toliaktou, now Iloneoyc Falls. Soon after that

the colonial legislature at Albany passed a law ex-

cluding Catholic priests from the state, and in

1708 the last of the missionaries of that faith de-

parted. For our knowledge of their labors, of

their patient endurance and of the heroic death of

many of them, as well as for a thousand valuable

details of the life and customs of the Indians, botli

in this state and in Canada, we are indebted to

the "Jesuit Relations," a series of voluminous re-

ports, written and sent over, during a period of

sixty years, to the general of the society in Eu-

rope and fully translated into English only a few

years ago.

denonville's expedition.

We have noted the deep resentment inspired

among the Iroquois by Champlain's victory over

them in 1609, and this was reinforced by the grow-

ing conviction that in the struggle for supremacy

over the northern part of this continent, which

was constantly going on between France and Eng-

land, the latter would eventually succeed. Self-

interest prompted their inelinations, with the re-

sult that there was always hostility, with mutual

invasions of territory, between the powers on dif-

ferent sides of the St. Lawrence and Lake On-

tario. De le Barre, one of the governors of Can-

ada, had made a somewhat humiliating peace with

the Iroquois, and with a view to retrieve that dis-

grace, as well as to provide security for the fu-

ture, his successor, the Marquis de Denonville,* in

vaded the Seneca country in 1687. For that pur-

pose he collected a force of nearly three thousand

men, most of them being Canadian militia, with

more than eight hundred French regulars, together

with a large number of redskins—Huron, Al-

gonquin, Ottawa, Sioux and Illinois—and som^

two hundred coureurs des hois ("runners of the

woods"), French by birth, but Indian in their

habits, their dress, their independence of all au-

thority, and really the most efective fighters in a

campaign of this sort.

Landing at Irondequoit bay on the 10th of July,

Denonville erected some palisades to protect a

small rear guard with the boats and army supplies.

•This name has been so often given incorrectly by American

authors, who have persisted in calling it De NonviUe, that the

present writer feels justified in directing attention to its true

form, which is as given above and as used by Parkman, one of

the few who have had it right.
^
In the archives still preserved

in Paris the governor alWays sigrts his name in that manner,

and Louis XIV. invariably addresses him as Monsieur de De-

nonville or Marquis de Denonville.
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Pushing on into the interior, he found only sol-

itude.' which ought to liave warned him though i1^

did not, and when ho had got to what is now
Boughton's Hill, noar the village of Victor, On-

tario county, the army fell into an ambush of three

hundred Senecas. The blood-curdling yells of the

savages threw the European veterans into a paniC;

and it was mainly the courage of the Hurons in

resisting the attack that prevented a disastrous

rout. The Senecas were finally driven back, car-

rying their wounded and many of their dead, aftei

which Denonville spent ten days in killing the

animals and destroying the growing crops of the

Indians; then he read aloud at Totiakton a proc-

lamation by which he took possession of the whole

country in the name of Prance, and after that per-

formance he went back to Canada the way he came.

The losses of the two sides, by death, were about

equal, but to avenge the insult the Iroquois crossed

the lake a year later, slaughtered a thousand of the

French and brought the whole colony to the very

brink of ruin.

THE BRITISH SUPREMAOT.

For some time the English colonial governors

were content with assuming, though not exercising,

jurisdiction as far west as Irondequoit bay. On

the west side of that inlet the French had erected

a structure which they called Fort des Sables

(Fort of the Sands), a name still borne in part

by the sand-bar of the present day. It was little

more than a trading-post, for the reception of

goods on the one side and furs on the other, for

it was occupied, in the winter season at least, by

only two soldiers and a trader. It was the name,

rather than tlie thing itself, that excited resent-

ment among the English authorities, by whom n

message was sent to the French fort a.t Niagara,

protesting against encroachments on the lands of

the Senecas, who were then considered as being

under British protection. Little attention wa^:

paid to this, and things went on as before. As an

offset to this building a fort was erected on the

east side of Irondequoit creek, which was occu-

pied for a time by Captain Peter Schuyler and a

company of volunteers. "Various inter-racial coun-

cils were held at Albany, with treaties drawn up
and signed by many Indians of the three western-

most tribes, but they were bo vague in their terms

as to be of little value. The only one worth any-

thing was the latest, in 1741, signed by three Sen-

oca snchoms, by which, in consideration of the

payment of one hundred pounds, a grant of land

was conveyed to King George the Second, begin-

ning six miles east of "Tierondequat," running

thirty miles along the lake shore and then extend-

ing thirty miles inland, so that it included the

greater part of what is now Monroe county.

Shortly after this began the Seven Years' war—

-

the Old French war, as we denominate that part

of it which was fought in this country—and in

July, 1759, an army passed this way, comprising

British troops, New York militia and IroquoiS;

nearly four thousand in all, under the command

of General Prideaux. Having encamped one night

at Irondequoit and another at Braddock's bay*

they proceeded on their way to Fort Niagara.

They soon reduced that little stronghold of the

French and on their return march, this time under

the command of Sir William Johnson, in place of

their foi-mer leader, who had fallen in the siege,

they brought with them six hundred prisoners,

among whom was Captain Pouchot, the command-

er of the fort, who, after he got back to his native

land, wrote out his reminiscences of the war, to-

gether with quite a full account of this immediate

region, in which the topographical features are

described very accurately. His narrative is illus-

trated with several maps, and the translation of it,

made in 186G, is further embellished with two en-

gravings of the Genesee falls, executed after draw-

ings made on the spot by Captain Davies, of the

English regiment of artillery, who was on that

march. Those are the earliest representations that

we have of our cataracts, and they show that con-

siderable change must have taken place in the

natural features of the landscape since the draw-

ings were made. Pouchot follows quite closely

the nomenclature of Father Charlevoix, who came

along here in 1731, not as a missionary, not ex-

actly as an explorer, but as a traveler, and who

in a series of most interesting letters describing

his journeyings in North America gives us quite

a full account of the Genesee river (the Cascon-

*The difference between this name and tiiat of tlie general is

so great ttiat they might not be supposed to be the same,
which they are. The name of the commander was probably
pronounced in some barbarous manner, and after it had been
given to tlie body of water where his camp lay it was grad-

ually transformed into its present shape, perhaps through some
supposed connection with the unfortunate General Braddock.
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diiiigou, 08 lio culls it) with it.s four talis, lUo last

being at Portage. Charlevoix's is the earliest ac-

count that we have of our watercourse, and it ii

by no means the least valuable. Two months after

Prideaux's expedition Quebec fell before the con-

quering arms of Wolfe, by the treaty which fol-

lowed the French abandoned all claims to sov-

ereignty on this continent and the English suprem-

acy was complete.

Sullivan's campaign.

Monroe county saw none of the warfare of the

American Revolution, but it has close relations

with one of the episodes in that great struggle.

Strenuous eiforts were made by the English to in-

duce the Iroquois to enter the war upon their

side, and the arguments in favor of that course

were strengthened by the ferocious disposition of

the Mohawks, who saw an alluring opportunity

to wash their hands in the blood of their white

neighbors. The Senecas, at this end of the line,

were but little less vindictive than the Mohawks,

while the Oneidas, for some reason, were more in-

clined to the colonists, and the other tribes were

opposed to committing themselves to either party.

The result was that, at a great council held in

the "long house," it was decided that the con-

federacy, as such, should not enter the war, but

that any of the tribes, and even individuals, might'

do as they pleased. Consequently the whole Mo-

hawk nation took up the hatchet for the British,

while the Senecas, though not so unanimous, put

a much larger force into the field. The colonists

sullered frightfully at the hands of the Mohawks,

but it seomod impossible to make reprisals direct-

ly against them, so it was determined by General

Washington to chastise the western tribe. Being

fully authorized by Congress to undertake this he

dispatched General John Sullivan in the summer

of 1779 with the following instructions: "The

immediate objects are the total destruction and

devastation of the settlements and the capture of

as many prisoners, of every age and sex, as pos-

sible. It will be essential to ruin their crops now

in the ground and prevent them planting more.

Parties should be detached to lay waste all the

snttlomnnts, with instructions to do it in the most

olTcetual manner, that the country bo not merely

overrun but destroyed."

To carry out these wliolcsonio directions Sul-

livan advanced up the Chemung river with an

army of about four thousand men. At Newton,

near the present city of Elmira, he encountered

a small force composed of Indians, British regu-

lars and loyalists, but they were easily dispersed

with small loss on eitlier side. After this engage-

ment, which was the only encounter aproaching

to a battle during the campaign, Sullivan kept on

and carried out his instructions by destroying hun-

dreds of acres of corn, beans and potatoes, and a

prodigious number of fruit trees, besides obliterat-

ing forty-one villages, which doubtless consisted

of but a few houses each. Reaching the Geneses

river and fording it at Ijittle Beard's Town, now
Cuylerville, in Livingston county, Sullivan came

to a halt and dispatched Captain Thomas Boyd

with a detachment of twenty-six men, besides an

Oneida named Hanyerry, who acted as guide, to

serve as a scouting party and discover whether or

not there was any force of Indians in the vicinity.

Boyd fell into an ambush and was taken prisoner,

together with a sergeant named Michael Parker,

the rest being killed at once, except four who es-

caped. After a vain attempt to extort informa-

tion from the captives Parker was beheaded, while

Boyd was subjected to the most inhuman tortures

till death relieved him. After this tragedy Sulli-

van took his homeward way, his work accom-

plished, but with little permanent good result-

ing from it, for but very few of the Senecas had

been killed and the tribe was practically as strong

as ever, in spite of all the misery inflicted upon it.

The bodies of Boyd and his men, having been

buried where they fell, remained there till ISil

wlicn they were' disinterred,, the bones of Boyd

and Parker being placed in a white urn, while

those of the others were deposited in a large box.

The next day, August 31st, the remains were

brought to Rochester with much pomp and cere-

mony and the two receptacles were placed on an

eminence in Mt. Hope cemetery, which was called

Patriot hill, or Revolutionary hill, for it was in-

tended to devote it in perpetuity to those who

had fallen for their country. The addresses at

Cuylerville were made by Judge Samuel Treat

and Major Moses Van Campen; the oration at Mr.

Hope was delivered by William H. Seward, then

governor of the state, who cnme on hero for the

purpose. A few years later the um was over-
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turned in a violent storm and the bones were scac-

tered, after which .they were buried in the earth,

together with the other remains.

Unfortunately no one had the foresight to pro-

vide a legal conveyance of this ground, and so it

was that in 1864, when the Civil war was raging,

and lots were scarce and the city felt too poor

to buy any more land for the cemetery, the com-

mon council, to its lasting disgrace, ordered the

hill to be leveled, sold the lots to purchasers and

removed the remains to the public burying-place.

There they remained, unhonored, unmarked, for-

gotten till a few years ago, when the Irondequoit

chapter of the Daughters of the American Revo-

lution took up the matter. The bones were found,

were fully identified and were conveyed to a lot

in another part of the cemetery, which had been

deeded by the commissioners for ,
the purpose.

There, for what is undoubtedly the last time, they

were laid in the ground on the 1st of November,

1903, in the midst of a large concourse, with an

address by Rev. Murray Bartlett, of St. Paul's

church, followed by the beautiful committal serv-

ice of the Grand Army of the Republic, closing

with three volleys from the Eighth Separate com-

pany and the sounding of "taps" by the buglers.

A granite boulder has recently been placed upon

the spot, with a suitable inscription.

THE PHELPS AND QORHAM PURCHASE.

The Stuart family had many unpleasant

characteristics, and among them was their utter

indifference to their own promises or to the en-

gagements of their predecessors. Jling James the

First granted in 1606 to the London company and

the Virginia company, two English corporations,

about all the land on this continent between Can-

ada and the Spanish possessions in the far south.

To be sure, one grant overlapped the other by three

degrees, but that did not seem to worry anybody.

In 1620 James gave to the council in Plymouth.

England, a grant of land "extending from sea to

sea," taken directly out of the property belonging

to the London company. The Plymouth council

then gave a subgrant to the Mayflower people and

another to the Boston colony. The Stuart kings

ignored entirely the Mayflower colony, which for

seventy years was practically independent, but

Charles the First gave a charter to the Boston

colony, calling it "the governor and company of

the Massachusetts bay in New England." These

charters were eventually superseded by that of

William and Mary, in 1691, which united all the

colonies of New England and New York under

one government.

Before that time Charles the Second had takesi

a hand in the business. The Dutch had come

over and settled New Amsterdam in 1614 without

opposition on the part of the English government

and, although there was a good deal of friction

between them and tliuir Yankee neighbors aftjr

the colonies of Rhode Island and Connecticut had

been established, the right of Holland over this

domain was never seriously questioned. The only

uncertainty was as to how far west their claim

reached, and that the Dutch never cared much

about, as they were in this country mainly for

trading purposes and did not intend to settle far

away from the line of the Hudson river. Their

influence, however, extended among all the Iro-

quois nation and was recognized by the Indians.

In 1664 Charles the Second gave to his brother,

then duke of York, in England, and of Albany,

in Scotland, all the land held by the Dutch on thia

continent. This presentation would have been

simply ridiculous if it had not been reinforced

by the capture, a year later, of New Amsterdam

and Fort Orange, the names of which wero

•promptly changed to New York and Albany. Some
time afterward Holland reconquered the province,

but held it for only one year, when it was finally

turned over to England and the deed to the royal

duke, who subsequently became King James the

Second, was re-issued and delivered to him.

It then became a question, even if only an

academic one, as to which colony could claim this

western part, which then meant not only what is

now this portion of the state but a vast territory

still further west; if it had really been a part of

the Dutch possessions it was a part of New York,

which had succeeded to the title of Holland ; if it

had never been Dutch at all it belonged to Massa-

chusetts by reason of the grant of 1620. The

matter did not become of importance till the close

of the Revolutionary war, but then it became one

of momentous consequence. In the last year of

that conflict the scope of the disputed tract Avas

greatly lessened by the magnanimous action of

New Yorlc in ceding to the general government
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all its claims to lauds west of Lake Ontario, which

patriotic example was somewhat reluctantly fol-

lowed by Massachusetts four years later. That left

what is now called Western New York as the

bone of contention. After much wrangling over

it, which at one time threatened to take the form

of an armed conflict, the two states appointed

commissioners, who met at Hartford, Conn., in

1786, and agreed upon a compromise, as might

have been expected. It was determined that New
York should have the government, sovereignty and

jurisdiction over all the lands claimed by it, but

that Massachusetts should have the right of pre-

emption (which really meant the title and owner-

sliip) of all the land between a north and souUi

line running from the Pennsylvania boundary and

passing by the western edge of Seneca lake and

a north and south line one mile east of the Ni-

agara river. In the following year this immense

tract of six and a quarter million acres was soU

by Massachusetts to Oliver Phelps and Nathaniel

Gorham with the condition that they should ex-

tinguish the Indian title by compensating ths

savages for the loss of their rights in the prem-

ises. The price to be paid was £300,000 in con-

solidated securities of the commonwealth, which

at the current value of those bonds made it a little

more than three cents an acre, of which one-third

was to be paid at once, the remainder in two an-

nual installments.

THE PURCHASE PROM THE INDIANS.

Oliver Phelps was a man of boundless activity,

consummately adroit, not overburdened with con-

science and more than a match for the Iroquois,

with all the cunning which they had used so ef-

fectively in former times against those of their

own color. Putting his surveyors at once into tht:

field and brushing aside all obstacles that were

interposed by rival companies he proceeded to ob-

tain verbal agreements frorh the Indians and found

little difficulty in inducing them to consent to the

alienation of their ancestral territory, until the

Genesee river was reached as a line of considera-

tion. Beyond that they refused to go, for all west

of it must be kept by them as a hunting-ground oi

"tlio great spirit" would be displeased. Then

Phelps's peculiar abilities came into play. He
would not give up his idea of getting possession

of the land on both sides of the Genesee falls, and

by some means which need not be inquired into

too closely he induced them to agree that he might

have a strip on the west side twelve miles wide

by twenty miles long, beginning near Avon and

extending to Lake Ontario. In consideration for

this particular gift he was to build for their bene-

fit a saw-mill and a grist-mill near the falls,

though how those adjuncts of civilization would

be of any particular advantage to them no one

but Phelps could explain.

As the land was not held in severalty by the

Indians, so there was no individual ownership,

and even the tribal distinctions were rather vague,

it was necessary to call a council of the confed-

eracy for the purpose of making a formal con-

veyance of the whole territory. This document,

surrendering the aboriginal right to all the land be-

tween Seneca lake and the western line just men-

tioned, was signed on July 8th, 1788, by Red

Jacket, Little Beard, Farmer's Brother and twenty

other Senecas, twenty-two Cayugas, eight Onon-

dagas, three Mohawks and seven squaws, who were

styled "governesses." It might be supposed that the

price to be paid for a tract of land larger than many
European states would be explicitly stated, but, on

the contrary, it seems to have been omitted, with

the result that might have been expected. When
the first payment came to be made, at Canan-

daigua, the Indians insisted that they were being

cheated, that they were to receive in all $10,000.

while Phelps claimed that he had agreed to pay

$5,000 in two installments, besides a continuous

annuity of $500, half in cash, half in cattle. And
that was all that he ever did pay to them, though

they complained in vain to the superintendent of

Indian affairs and even to President Washington

himself.

Before he had got rid of the Indians Phelps be-

gan to sell off his property, but he could not find!

individual purchasers rapidly enough to suit him,

so he sold to Robert Morris, the financier of the

Revolution, all that he had not previously dis-

posed of, besides reserving for himself and Gor-

ham two townships—one including the site of Can-

andaigua, the other that of Geneseo—receiving

therefor, as far as can be ascertained, $150,000.

That transfer embraced about one half of tho

territory to which he had acquired the title. He

then turned his attention to settling up with
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Massachusetts. For some reason payment of the

first installment had never been made, and now the

securities of the commonwealth had increased four-

fold in value by reason of the United States gov-

ernment having assumed the debts of all the

states. Phelps used that as an argument in plead-

ing for a lowering of his obligationSj and after

prolonged negotiations he induced Massachusetts

to confirm his title to what he had obtained from

the Indians, to take back the remainder, which

amounted to about two-thirds of the whole, and

to accept $100,000 in full payment, so that he

made a good profit out of it. Massachusetts soon

afterward sold to Robert Morris the tract that

had been relinquished by Phelps, for $333,000, and

that speculator succeeded in extinguishing the In-

dian title. As to the land that he bought from

Phelps, which included Monroe county, he sold i^

within a year for $350,000 to an English syndi-

cate, at the head of which was Sir William Pult-

eney. As foreigners could not at time hold the

title to land in the United States, Charles "Wil-

liamson, a Scotchman, came over as manager of

the "Pulteney estate," as it has always been

called, which had been deeded to him in trust for

the real owners. He established the office at Bath

and it has been located there ever since, Robert

Troup succeeding Williamson in the agency, then

Joseph Fellows, then Benjamin F. Young, then

H. J. Wynkoop, who recently closed up the es-

tate, there remaining then unsold only two thou-

sand acres, the owner of which at the time was

Sir Frederick Johnstone. The tract embraced

originally seven million acres, f^om the successive

sales of which, many of them in small pieces, some

six million dollars in all had been received.

SALE TO THE HOLLAND LAND COMPANY.

Though not directly connected with Monroe

county, the transactions covering the ownership of

the western end of the state, to which Oliver

Phelps abandoned all claim, are of sufficient im-

portance to warrant some description here, thj

more especially as they involve the subsequent ca-

reer of our old friends, the Senecas. Almost imme-
diately on its reversion to Massachusetts that state

sold the land to Eobert Morris—nearly four million

acres—for $333,000, the conveyance being made
May 11th, 1791, and within two years the owner

had sold it all—with the exception of a strip on the

east, mainly twelve miles wide, known as the

"Morris Reserve"—to a syndicate of Dutchmen in

Amsterdam, generally called tlic Holland Land

company. Morris agreed, in passing the title to

the American agents of these new owners, to ex-

tinguish the Indian claim, and a part of the pur-

chase price was to be withheld till that was done.

That part of the contract was not carried out till

four years later, the delay being caused by Morris's

unwillingness to take any steps while Fort Niagara

was occupied by British troops, the officers of

which would be likely to interfere with his opera-

tions, and, although that obstacle was withdrawn

by the Jay treaty of 1795, it was August, 1797,

when the various parties in interest were assem-

bled at Big Tree, near the present site of Geneseo.

THE TREATY OF BIG TREE.

On one side were the principal chiefs and

sachems of the Seneca nation—Red Jacket, Hand-

some Lake, Farmer's Brother, Blacksnake, Little

Beard, Cornplantcr and the others—who realized

that the ground was slipping away from beneath

their feet and that this was the last chance of ob-

taining any compensation for it. Opposing them

were the whites, Thomas Morris (afterward mem-

ber of Congress from this district while it was

still a part of Ontario county), who appeared with

full authority as the representative of his father;

Colonel Jeremiah Wadsworth and General Shep-

herd, representing the United States and Massa-

chusetts, respectively; Israel Chapin, superintend-

ent of Indian affairs; representatives of the Hol-

land company, surveyors and interpreters. After

the council fire had been lighted, the pipe smoked

and the credentials examined, Thomas Morris de-

livered to the Indians a carefully prepared speech,

setting forth the great benefits that they would

derive from the sale of the land. Then followed the

customary negotiations, each side trying to force

a proposal from the other, until finally Morris,

after several days of evasion, offered $100,000, to

be invested in stock of the United States bank, sv-^

that they would receive six thousand dollars an-

nually for all time; if that offer were refused his

father would have nothing more to do with them.

Instantly Red Jacket seized the opportunity for

a display of his oratorical powers ; springing to his
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feet he poured forth an eloquent harangue filled

with a recital of the wrongs of the red men and

ending with the declaration that they would never

sell their land; then, with impressive gestures, he

scattered the burning brands, stamped out the

glowing embers and raked together the ashes; the

council was closed. But there was a way to re-

open it; the next day presents were showered upon

the Seneca squaws, who insisted upon a resumption

of the negotiations, and it was decided that Corn-

planter, who had lighted the fire, had the right to

rekindle it as he had not himself extinguished it.

This was done and the deed of sale was signed

September 17th, 1797, the consideration being the

same that Morris had previously olfered. While

this was all that appeared upon the record there

is written evidence which shows conclusively that

two hundred and fifty dollars a year was paid to

Cornplanter for the rest of his life, one hundred

to Red Jacket and smaller annuities to other

chiefs and sachems, who were thus bribed to sell

their country—a shameful transaction, in which

the blame falls equally on both sides.

Out of all the land eleven reservations were

excepted, three hundred and eighty-seven square

miles in all, some of which had been already given

or sold, but the most of which was to serve as th.?

future home of the Sonccas and such others of the

Iroquois as might choose to live among them.

Since that time the Indian title has been extin-

guished in all but four reservations—the Tusca-

rora, the Tonawanda, the Allegany and the Cat-

taraugus—on the last two of which, comprising

52,000 acres, the surviving Senecas still reside to

the number of twenty-seven hundred, according

to the cciisiig of 1901. They are the wards of the

state and of the nation; New York distributes an-

nuities among them of a few hundred dollars, be-

sides supporting their fifteen schools at an ex-

pense of several thousand dollars, and the state

board of charities disburses on their behalf almost

ns mucli as is paid for tlicir education ; the United

States has hitherto distributed among them everj'

year nearly twelve thousand dollars in cash, be-

sides a quarter of that amount in goods. Besides

these reservations in this state a large tract of land

»n what is now Kansas was set apart by the fed-

eral government for the New York Indians, but

only a few of them were willing to go so far from

their ancestral homes. That land was sold some

years ago and the proceeds, amounting to nearly

two million dollars, are still in the United States

treasury, awaiting distribution, which will givs

about three hundred dollars to each of the Senecas.

THE OGDEN LAND COMPANY.

One cloud still hangs heavy over these unfor-

tunate people. It is the Ogden Land company.
That association, which is practically the successor

of the Holland Land company, has the same right

of pre-emption to those reservations that was ob-

tained by Robert Morris over the whole tract. A
few years ago the Indians on the Allegany reser-

vation parted with the occupancy of a portion of

their land to settlers on ninety-nine year leases,

the result being that the city of Salamanca and
several thriving villages have sprung up on land

really owned by the Senecas. A few years ago the

Vreeland bill, so-called, was introduced in Con-
gress, which proposed to compel the Indians to

pay to the Ogden Land company $200,000 for the

extinguishment of its claim. That provision was
so iniquitous that the bill was finally defeated,

partly through the efl:orts of the Rochester His-

torical society and the arguments of the late John
Van Voorhis, then the representative from this

district. Another provision, which was not so bad.

as it had for its object the welfare of Salamanca

by preventing it from falling into the hands of

speculators, was that the land should be divided in

severalty among the Indians and that all who held

leases of them should acquire a perfect title by

the payment of a small amount of money. This

claim seems to be in danger of being enforced with*

out any bill on the subject, for Justice Kenefick, of

the Supreme court of this state, has recently given

a decision, in a suit brought to decide this ques-

tion, to the effect that a right of pre-emption is

equivalent to a title in fee simple, subject to the

right of occupancy as long as the Indians main-

tained their tribal relations. An appeal will doubt-

less be taken from this decision, with what result

is purely conjectural.
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THE MILLS AND THE STONES.

It has been seen that Oliver Phelps got

his millyard on the west side of the falls,

in spite of the original opposition of the

Indians, and he kept his promise to them bv

causing to be erected, in 1789, a saw-mill and a

grist-mill close to the river, on the south side of

the present Race street, between Aqueduct and

Graves street, near to where there was a per-

pendicular fall fourteen feet high, which then

descended about where the aqueduct now stands.

It was then called the "upper fall," but since its

disappearance that name has been applied to the

more lofty cataract, which in those early days was

known as the "middle fall" and is thus given upon

some old maps. As these were the first buildings

erected in Monroe county, it is worth while to

note their history. They were put up by Indian

Allan, who will be alluded to more particularly

hereafter, who invited all the residents of the

Genesee valley to come to the raising. Allan's

farm was in Scottsville, and the mill irons were

floated down the river in canoes from there, having

been brought to that place from Conhocton. The

timber for both mills was hewed on the spot. The

compensation for this work has generally been sup-

posed to be one hundred acres of land located just

here, but, as that would really have been of in-

commensurate value, it is probable that Allan also

received the -farm on the creek that bears his name,

some live or six hundred acres in extent, the deed

to which shows evident incorrectness of date.

Allan and his family lived in the grist-mill for

a year or two, so that they were the first residents

of what is now Rochester. The mills were then

left in charge of Christopher Dugan and his wife,

who was a sister of Allan. A man named Sprague

was the next occiipant, and then came Col. Josiah

Fish, who lived there for some time, being engaged

by Col. Williamson, the agent of the Pulteney es-

tate, to become the manager of the mills in 1796.

Three sides of a log house were put up against

the native rock, which formed the back wall, so

that they were quite comfortable, and several chil-

dren were born there, who were the first of the

white race to come into the world in what is no'»

Rochester, though that name was not then thought

of. The accommodations were, however, not suf-

ficient to entertain visitors, for when John Maude,

an observant English traveler, came through this

part of the country in 1800 he could not stable

his horse there, so he went down to Mr. King's,

at Hanford's Landing, where, as he writes in his

account of his journey, he "made a good breakfast

of wild pigeons." Col. Pish moved back to his

farm on Black creek in 1802, after which there

was no regular resident there, and, although some

outlying settler would occasionally come and grind
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his corn there free of cost, the mills soon fell into

a state of dilapidation. The saw-mill was swept

away by a freshet in 1803, and the grist-mill was

destroyed by fire in 1807.

The millstones underwent several removals after

that, being used in a mill on Irondequoit creek,

then in one in Henrietta, then in a mill near East

avenue, after which they served the ignoble pur-

pose of door steps at the residence of Isaac Barnes,

who was public-spirited enough to present them,

on being appealed to, to the Junior Pioneer so-

ciety in 1860. That association moved them to the

rear of the court-house where they remained until

1874, when they were placed as the foundations

for lamp-posts in front of the city hall, whicli

had been completed in the previous year. When
the present court-house was erected, in 1896, the

Rochester Historical society caused the stones to

be imbedded conspicuously in the wall of one of

the corridors and placed beneath them a mural

tablet indicating their significance.

A WHITE RUFFIAN.

This Indian Allan, who has been mentioned,

was one of the most remarkable figures in this

part of the country. He had the distinction, and

probably enjoyed it, of being, on the whole, the

wickedest man who ever lived in this region.

From sheer depravity he took up arms while he

was quite young against his patriot neighbors iu

the early part of the Revolution, but instead of

connecting himself with the British army, as so

many did, he allied himself with the Indian^.

With them he remained, except for a short time

when he was with Butler's Rangers, which corps

he left on account of his unwillingness to submit

to restraint, till after the struggle for independ-

ence was over. But it was not only on account oi!

his association with them that he was generally

known by the name that he bears, but because he

became one of them in every way possible and not

only equaled the savages, but surpassed them in

ferocity and cruelty. He began his career by

scouting with a party of them on the Susquehanna,

where he entered a house where the owner, with

wife and child, was asleep in the early morning.

'J'lie man sprang up to defend his family, but

Allan killed him with a single blow, cut off his

head, threw it into the bed where the wife lay,

then seized tlie baby from her arms and swung

it by the legs against the door until its brains

were dashed out.

HIS MANY WIVES.

After the war he lived for twenty years upon

the banks of our river, the name of which, in the

form of Genushio, was usually applied to him by

the Indians. He had married a squaw named
'

Sally, by whom he had two children, Mary and

Chloe, but in spite of that he had no difficulty in

inducing a white girl named Lucy Chapman to

marry him, with the full consent of her father,

who probably was ignorant of the existence of Al-

lan's family. There was a good deal of friction

between the two wives, and perhaps it was co

procure a counter-irritant that Allan then took

to himself a third helpmate, whose previous hus-

band he disposed of by pushing him into the wa-

ter while the three were taking a walk together.

This third consort having left him he filled hev

place with a colored woman, whom he subse-

quently discarded after having swindled her father

out of all his money.

Finally he moved to Mt. Morris and having set-

tled down there he married once more, this time

Millie McGregor, a daughter of one of Butlcr'p

Rangers, but Sally and Lucy objected to this

latest intrusion into the family circle, so that her

husband had to install her in a separate domicile

near by. Allan seems to have had less affection

for Millie than for any other one of his wives,

for he hired two men to put her out of the way

by drowning, who took her in a boat and ran .'t

over what was then the upper falls, but the in-

tended victim swam ashore and rejoined her

spouse, who made no further attempts to get rid

of her. Perhaps as an offset to this unkindness

he left at his death to her and her six children all

his property, which was quite considerable, while

his other descendants received nothing. His soa

by Lucy he sent to school at Philadelphia, while

his Indian daughters by Sally he caused to be edu-

cated at Trenton, N. J., but his evil disposition

found vent by robbing those girls of all their

property. The sachems of the Senecas had given

to them four acres of land near Mt. Morris, statf

ing in the. deed that they did so out of their lov-5

for the children and because they considered them
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members of the tribe, but their unnatural father

got hold of the document and in some way swin-

dled his own daughters out of the land, so that

they and their mother were left penniless.

Having committed a number of cold-blooded

murders, for which he was never punished, though

they are perfectly well authenticated, Allan con-

cluded to move to Canada, where he settled at

Delawaretown, with his two white wives, Lucy

and Millie, Sally having been turned adrift.

Strange as it may seem, the Canadian authorities

gave no sign of disapproval of his polygamous ar-

rangements, and Governor Simcoe gave him three

thousand acres of the public land on condition

that he should build a church, a saw-mill and a

grist-mill. This powerful criminal, all his life

beyond the reach of the law, died in 1814, leaving

his memory, like that of Byron's hero, "linked

with one virtue and a thousand crimes." The

only good thing that he ever did was just after

the close of the Revolutionary war. The Senecas,

who after Sullivan's campaign were living near

Port Niagara, then occupied by the British troops,

were so full of resentment against the Americans

that they planned a murderous raid, with whole-

sale massacre, upon the white settlements in this

part of the state. Allan became aware of it and

forestalled the plot by sending, surreptitiously, a

belt of wampum to the commandant of the near-

est American post. The officer sent back word to

Niagara that the wampum was accepted and that

peace should prevail. The Indians were furious

when they learned of the trick that had been

played, but the sacredness of the pledge prevented

its retraction and the outbreak did not take place.

Por this isolated act of benevolence, which may

have saved a thousand lives, Allan was hunted

down and imprisoned and narrowly escaped with

his life.

THE HUNDRED-ACRE TRACT.

In September, 1800, three landed proprietors

from Hagerstown, Maryland, came riding up into

this region of combined fertility and wildernesi?,

followed by a mounted negro slave and a pack

horse to carry their luggage. The foremost of

these was Colonel Nathaniel Rochester, a dis-

tinguished citizen, who was born in Westmore-

land county, Virginia, on the 31st of February,

1752. Having removed to North Carolina in early

life he became prominent as a member of different

state conventions, justice of the peace, lieutenant-

colonel of militia and, in 1776, deputy commis-

sary general of military stores for the Continental

army in North Carolina, with the rank of colonel

;

after the Revolutionary war he moved to Hagers-

town, where he became postmaster, sheriff, county

judge, president of the bank, member of the ]\Iary-

land legislature and presidential elector; in 1810-

he moved to Dansville, N. Y., in 1815 to East

Bloomfield and in 1818 to Rocliester, having in

the meantime been a presidential elector from this

state; he was the first clerk of Monroe county, a

member of the legislature and president of the-

Bank of Rochester, the first in the village; he died

May 17th, 1831, universally respected. The other

members of the party were Colonel William Pitz-

hugh and Major Charles Carroll. They were men

of great influence in the different places where

they lived, but as they never resided in Rochester,

or even in this county, it will not be necessary to

give here any sketch of their lives.

All three of those persons made quite extensive

purchases of lands on the Genesee flats, and three

years later, having come up here for the pur-

pose of making payments, , they were induced by

the land agent to visit this locality. A more dis-

mal and dreary spot could not have been found.

The mills were in ruins, which added to the scene

of desolation, and the only living things among
the tangle of briars and underbrush were rattle-

snakes and porcupines. But the prospectors, un-

deterred by these revolting features of the land-

scape, were attracted by what they readily per-

ceived to be the advantages of the upper falls and

purchased one hundred acres that had been given

to Indian Allan for his work mentioned above.

The contract was signed by all the parties in in-

terest November 8th, 1803 (not 1803, as has been

incorrectly stated by some writers) and the Hun-

dred-Acre tract became the nucleus of what was

to be the city of Rochester. The price agreed upon

was $1,750, to be paid in five annual installments.

The original source of title, and therefore the

foundation of all titles to land within that space,

was not a deed itself, for no such document was

ever recorded and it is evident that Phelps made

only a verbal agreement with the mill-builder,

which would be in accordance with his usual
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practice in leaving a loopliole for himself. The
instrument . is simply an assignment by Allan, in

1792, of his interest to Benjamin Barton, with

power given to the assignee to demand the execu-

tion of a regular deed from Phelps and Gorham.

The document, which is now in the possession of

the Eeynolds Library, beara the signature, "E. Al-

lan," as though the writer was ashamed to employ

his full Christian name of Ebenezer, by which no-

body ever knew him. Barton seems to have found

no difficulty in obtaining his deed, and he prompt-

ly sold the land to Samuel B. Ogden, by whom
it was soon transferred to Charles Williamson, as

agent for Sir William Pulteney, so that it became

absorbed in tlmt great estate and was a part of

it till the puruliasc of Rochester, Fitzhugh and

Carroll. The river was the eastern boundary, its

southern line began at a point about four hundred

feet south of Court street (or near the foot of th"?

Erie railroad train shed) and ran due west to a

point near the corner of Spring street and Cale-

donia avenue, its west line ran thence to a point

near the corner of Center and Prank streets, and

'its. ;north line ran due east to the river, which it

. reached a little north of where the foot of Market

street would be if extended.

EARLY SETTLERS.

Before any lots were sold in the Hundred-Acre

tract a few settlers had located within the limits of

what is now the city. About 1797 a man named

Farewell built ia cabin on Lake avenue, near tlio

present State Industrial school, which he sold two

years later to Jeremiah Olmstead, who moved in

and raised crops . there, so that he may be con-

sidered, in one sense, the first permanent settler in

Rochester. In 1807 Charles Harford, an English-

man, erected a block-house on State street, near

Lyell avenue, and built a mill in the next year on

the same side of the river, just south of the high

falls, so that for a few years he did all the grind-

ing for this neighborhood. On the west side of

the river Enos Stone, junior, of Lenox, Mass.,

had built, in 1810, a log cabin, and later in the

same year a larger house on what became South

St. Paul street and is now South avenue, near

Court, in wlial. was then the township of Boyle,

afterward Briglilon, though not n part of Roches-

ter till many years afterward. That house, which

was probably the first frame dwelling erected with-

in the present city limits, was subsequently re-

moved to Elm street, where it remained till five

years ago, when it was torn down. In the same

year Isaac W. Stone purchased of Enos Stone (no

relation) a lot on the corner of South avenue and

Main street and built a frame house, in which be

lived with his family for several years.

THE PLANTING OE ROCHESTER.

Colonel Eochester, after moving' to Dansville,

rode down here very frequently, surveying, and

laying . out the lots himself, one-quarter of an

acre in each. The title having finally passed from

. Sir William Pulteney, the first lot was sold No-

vember 20th, 1811, to Enos Stone, for fifty dol-

lars, though the ruling price for other pieces was

a little less, and all with the condition that the

purchaser should erect a house on his land vnih-

in a year. The highest price obtained was two

hundred dollars, which exceptional amount, paid

by Henry Skinner of Geneseo, was due to the fact

that the lot was on the line of the "new state

road," being on the side of the present Powers

block, at the corner of Main and State streets.

On this lot Mr. Skinner built a house—only a log

cabin, it might be called, but it was well con-

structed, roofed with slabs from Enos Stone's saw-

mill oil the east side of the river and sufficiently

commodious for a large and growing family

—

for Hamlet Scrantom of Durham, Conn., who

moved into it in May, 1812. That was the first

house erected in what was then Rochester, for by

that time the proprietors of the tract had agreed

to name the place after the real pioneer. One of

the sons of this first family was Edwin Scrantom,

who throughout his adult life was a frequent

writer for the local press, so that much of the

information relating to those early times is still

derived from those communications; another son

was Hamlet D., who became mayor of the city, and

the descendants of other children still reside here.

THE POST-OFFICE.

Anotlicr family came near to getting ahead of

lliu Scniiitonia. Abchinl Reynolds caino liero from

Pittsficld, Mass., in April, lSl2, bouglit two lots
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where the Arcade now stands, contracted with car-

penters to put him up a two-story frame house,

went back home, came hero again in the autumn,

put up a smaller house on his other lot, and final-

ly moved here in February, 1813, bringing with

him his family, consisting of his wife, young son,

William A., and his sister-in-law, Huldah M.

Strong. In their new home another son was add-

ed, Mortimer F., on December 2d, 1814, and he

was the first white child to be born in what was

then Rochester. For several years the head of the

family carried on the business of a saddler, to-

gether with that of a tavern-keeper, all in the same

house, while one room of it was used as the post-

office. Before his final migration hither he had

been appointed postmaster through the influence

of Colonel Rochester, who foresaw that, though

there was only one family here then, there would

be plenty of others in time. For a short period

after that the mail came regularly once a week,

being brought from Canandaigua on horseback, a

part of the time by a woman. The post-office has

not seen many changes of location. The Arcade

was erected in 1833 and the post-office was in the

front part; about ten years later it was removed

to the northwest end of the hall and in 1859 to

the northeast corner, where it remained till the

erection of the government building in 1886. Mr.

Reynolds held the position of postmaster for sev-

enteen years, and was succeeded by the following-

named officials: John B. Elwood, 1829; Henry

O'Reilly, 1838 ; Samuel G. Andrews, 1842 ; Henry

Campbell, 1845 ; Darius Perrin, 1849 ; Hubbard S

Allis, 1853; Nicholas B. Paine, 1858; Scott W.

Updike, 1861; John W. Stebbins, 1867; Edward

M. Smith, 1871; Daniel T. Hunt, 1875; Valen-

tine Fleckenstein, 1887; Henry S. Hebard, 1890;

John A. Reynolds, 1890; George H. Perkins,

1894; James S. Graham, 1898; W. Seward Whit-

tlesey, the present incumbent, 1907.

A SLOW GROWTH.

tivities, free to all comers, on the corner of East

Main and St. Paul streets, one person brought

bread, another a roasted pig, another a lamb, an-

other vegetables, another pics, another a supply of

whisky, but even all that magnificence did not at-

tract more than twenty persons, including some

travelers who were passing by. On the Rochester

side the stagnation was far more complete, the

reason for which is not hard to find. The whole

region was malarial to the last degree, so that

fever and ague abounded, everybody having one

or the- other most of the time, the mosquitoes and

the rattlesnakes made life iniserable, and the roads

when they were not dusty were lanes of mud. In

spite of those obstacles, which deterred people from

settling here, several village lots were bought and

laid out by Francis Brown, Matthew Brown,

junior, and Samuel J. Andrews, to which was

given, in honor of the first of the three, the name

of Frankfort, by which the northern part of the

city was generally called up to within a few years.

But the thing that did more than anything else

to insure the future and speedy growth of the

place was the construction, in this year of 1813.

of the bridge across the river at Main street. Be-

fore that time the only way to get from one side

of the Genesee to the other was to go up to Avon

or to ford the river at this point if the person chose

to run the imminent risk of drowning. The "new

state road," which was always more popularly

known as "the Bxiffalo I'oad," had, however, recent-

ly been opened, and after much importunity the

legislature was made to perceive . that a bridge at

this point was a necessary link in the chain of

communication over that highway It was built

at n cost of $12,000, divided equally between the

counties of Ontario and Gcncseo, but it could not

liiivo been well consti'uetcd, for it was taken down
in 1824 and replaced by another, built by Elisha

Johnson, at a cost of $6,000, paid by the county.

That stood, with buildings erected upon it, till

1857, when it made way for the present structure.

The little hamlet did not grow much in its first

year. The Scrantom family had a Fourth of July

celebration all by themselves in front of their

log cabin, while on the other side of the river the

nation's birthday was observed in a more luxuri-

ous manner, under the auspices of Enos Stone, tha

pioneer settler of Brighton. To the open-air fes-

TIIE CAKTHAQE BRIDGE.

One famous bridge was built in 1819, which,

though then outside the limits of Rochester, has

long been within those bounds, and which, from

its great notoriety, deserves more than a passing

mention. The settlement that went by the name
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of Carthage was on tlie east side of the river, near

the lower falls, and that advantage, together with

the proximity of the Ridge road, which was then

much traveled by westward bound emigrants, was

supposed, or lioped, to insure the establishment of

Ihc future city at that point instead of at the

higher catnnicl above. To jtroniotc that laudable

object the bridge was built by a stock company,

begun in May, 1818, and finished nine months

later. No better description of it can be given

than the following, taken from the Rochester Tele-

graph of February 16th, 1819

:

"It is with pleasure that we announce to the

public that the Carthage bridge is completed and
that its strength has been successfully tested. It

consists of an entire arch thrown across the Gene-

see river, the chord of which is 353 and 7-12 feet

and the versed sine fifty-four feet. The summit of

the arch is 196 feet above the surface of the water.

It is 718 feet in length and thirty feet in width,

besides four large elbow braces placed at the ex-

tremities of the arch and projecting fifteen feet

on each side of it, thereby presenting a resistance

to any lateral pressure or casualty equal to a width
of sixty feet. The travel passes upon the crown
of the arch, which consists of nine ribs, two feet

and four inches thick, connected by braced levelers

above and below and secured by nearly 800 strong

bolts. The feet of the arch rest upon solid rock

about sixty feet below tlic surface of the upper
bank, and the whole structure is braced and bound
together in a manner so compact as to disarm cavil

of its doubts. The arch contains more than 200
tons and can sustain any weight that ordinary
travel may bring upon it. Loaded teams of more
than thirteen tons passed over it a few days ago
and produced very little perceptible tremor. Great
credit is due to the contractors, Messrs. Brainerd
and Chapman, for their efforts in accomplishing
this stupendous work. It was erected upon a

frame called the supporter or false bridge. The
Genesee flows under the bridge in an impetuous
current and is compressed to the width of about
120 feet. This width was crossed by commencing
a frame on each side near the margin and causing

the weight behind to sustain the bents progressive-

ly bending over the water, which meeting at the

top formed a Gothic arch over the stream, the

vertex of which was about twenty feet below he
present floor of the bridge. Though now purpose-

ly disconnected from the bridge, the Gothic arch

still stands underneath the Roman and is esteemed
by architects, in point of mechanical ingenuity,

as great a curiosity ns the bridge itself. The bridge
contains 69,513 feet of timber, running measure,
in addition to 20,806 feet of timber contained in

the false bridge. All this has been effected by the

labor of somewhat less (on an average) than twen-

ty-two workmen, within the short space of nine

months. Were this fact told in Europe it would
only excite a smile of incredulity. The bridge at

Schaffhausen, in Switzerland, which for almost
half a century was regarded as the pride of the
eastern hemisphere, was built in a little less than
three years and was the longest arch in Europe. It

was but twelve feet longer than the bridge at

Carthage (admitting that it derived no support
from a pier in the center), was only eighteen feet

wide and of ordinary height. It was destroyed

during the French revolution and no entire arch is

known at present in the old world to exceed 240
feet in span. The most lofty single arch in Europe
is in England, over the river Wear, at Sunderland,
which falls short of the bridge at Carthage 116

feet in the span and ninety-six feet in the height

of the arch. The bridge at Carthage may there-

fore be pronounced unrivaled in its combined di-

mensions, strength and beauty, by any structure

of the kind in Europe or America. The scenery

around it is picturesque and sublime; within view
from it are three waterfalls of the Genesee, one of

which has 105 feet perpendicular descent. The
stupendous banks, the mills and machinery, the

forest yielding to the industry of a rising village,

and the navigable waters not 100 yards below it

are calculated to fill the mind of a beholder with

surprise and satisfaction. Particularly is this the

case when the utility of the bridge is regarded.

It presents the nearest route from Canandaigua

to Lewiston; it connects the points at the great

Ridge road; it opens to the counties of Genesee

and Niagara a direct communication with the wa-

ter privileges of the lower falls and the head of

navigation on the river and renders the village of

Carthage accessible and convenient as a thorough-

fare from the east, the west and the north."

The pleasing anticipations of the previous sen-

tence were not fulfilled. The contractors had

guaranteed the bridge to stand for a year and a

day. It lasted just three months longer than

that, giving way on the 22d of May, 1820, not be-

cause there was any weight upon it but by reason

of the springing upward of the arch, which was

not BufTiciently braced to prevent it. The disap-

pointment was great, but the disaster did not pro-

duce apathy. Another bridge was at once built

upon piers, on a lower level and a little south of

the former one. A few years later still another

was put up, which lasted till 1835. By that time

Carthage had lost its identity by absorption and

took no fiirilicr interest in Die matter, so that for

more than a score of years the river, with its gorge,

was a barrier at that point. The city erected in
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1856 another suspension bridge on the site of tho

first at a cost of $35,000, which in April, 1857,

was carried down by tlio great weight of snow

upon it. Tlio present bridge is moiitioued else-

where, as well as others in the city that are now

standing.

OTHER BRIDGES.

Of those besides the ones already alluded to thai

had their day and have passed away there was one

put up by Andrews, Atwater and Mumford, a toll

bridge, a little south of the present Central ave-

nue, at what was then called Bridge street, but

the street was closed up on both sides about ten

years later and of course the bridge, which never

amounted to much, went with it. The first aque-

duct for the Erie canal was completed in 1833,

two years before the water was turned in through-

out its whole length, at a cost of $83,000; its east-

ern end was a few rods north of where the present

viaduct turns southward, the western termination

wns on tho site of this one; it was oonstruolod of

red sandstone, witli coping and pilasters of gray

limestone ; the blocks at the bases of the piers were

trenailed to the solid rock, in which they were

sunk, and each column was so cramped and ce-

mented as to present the strength of a single piece

;

it was 804 feet long, built on eleven arches. Pri-

vate enterprise put iip a bridge at Court street,

cutting the street through to the Pitts ford road

at the same time and also erecting the Rochester

House on the southwest corner of Exchange street

and the canal, so as to draw travel in that direc-

tion ; another bridge was built there in 1858, at a

cost of $12,000, which was partly torn away by the

flood of 1865, but was repaired and remained till

the present one took its place. In 1838 the first

Andrews street bridge was put there by private

capital; it was succeeded by one of iron in 1857,

which cost $13,000 and stood for thirty-six years.

The first Clarissa street bridge was built in 1840

to serve as an avenue to Mt. Hope cemetery, which

had been dedicated two years before; it was built

of wood, with high walls on the outside and parti-

tion walls between the roadway and the footpaths, ;.

a much better bridge, costing $15,000, was laid

down in 1863.

LIFE SPRINGS UP.

After the first year, which was mainly one of

expectation, tho new setLloJiient began to grow and

it expanded rapidly. The year 1813 saw the open-

ing of the first store, built by Silas 0. Smith and

conducted by Ira West; of the first school in the

neighborhood, taught by Huldah M. Strong, who

afterward married Dr. Jonah Brown, and of the

Fitzhugh and Carroll mill-race, back of the pres-

ent I'h'ie railway station, which, with Brown's

race, at the head of the high falls, three years

later, and the Johnson and Seymour race on thi?

east side, with the dam across the river—both be-

ing constructed in 1817 at a cost of $13,000—in-

sured the prosperity of Rochester with its un-

equaled water privileges. These improvements

were fitly succeeded by the building of the "old

red mill" by the Elys and Josiah Bissell and the

cotton factory in Frankfort, both in 1815, and the

'yellow mill" on the east side by William Atkin-

son two years later. In 1815 the mailing facilities

were greatly increased by tho substitution of a

Hl.ago from this plucc to Ciinundaigiia, driven l)y

Samuel Ilildreth of Pittsford, for the old horse-

back conveyance, and that twice a week instead of

only once. On October 8th of that year the first

wedding occurred, that of Delia, daughter of Ham-
let Scrantom, to Jehiel Barnard, who had previ-

ously opened the first tailor shop. The first cen-

sus was taken in December, showing a population

of 331. In 181G Rev. Comfort Williams was in-

stalled as pastor of the First Presbyterian church,

the society having been organized the year before

that and the building for worship erected in 1817

on the west side of Carroll (now State) street, o'l

the present site of the small gray stone building

that was used by several successive banking cor-

porations and is now occupied by an express com-

pany. In 1816 also the first newspaper was estab-

listed here, a weekly named the Rochester Gazette

iniblished by Dauby and Sheldon and afterward

by Edwin Scrantom, who called it the Monroe Re-

piihTiean ; it was subsequently merged in another

journal.

THE AFFAIR AT CHARLOTTE.

Before this time an incident occurred, not in

Rochester but verv near it and alwavs considered
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as connected with the place, so that it excited the

greatest interest and formed the absorbing topic

of conversation^ besides being frequently repro-

duced in narration, poetical, historical and dra-

matic. The war of 1812 did not cause much alarm

in the first year, but in June, 1813, Sir James Yeo,

the British admiral, came to the mouth of the

river with his fleet, landed at Charlotte and seized

some provisions without resistance. This caused

a fear that worse might happen in the future, and

so, by direction of General Peter B. Porter, the

commander of the forces in Western New York,

a company of dragoons was raised in this locality

linden- (he coinniand of Major Isane W. Stoiio of

Brighton, with Francis Brown and Elisha Ely of

Rochester as captains, rather a disproportionate

number of officers, since the total enlistment num-

bered only fifty men. At Charlotte they found

awaiting them a part of a regiment from some-

where under Colonel Atkinson and also a company

from the towns of Gates and Greece under Cap-

tain Rowe. These others seem to have gone away

or to have retired into the background, for when

the British landed under a flag of truce two days

later it was our little squad by which they were

confronted and with the chiefs of which the parley

was licld.

A demand was made for a surrender of all the

provisions and military stores at Charlotte, witli

the promise that if this were done there would be

no attack upon any of the settlements. As to the

leply that was made, authorities differ, the more

prosaic saying that Major Stone answered that the

public property was in the hands of those who
would defend it, while other writers, of a more

lurid temperament, have it that it was the bold

Captain Brown who made the laconic response:

"Blood knee deep first." It is, of course, the latter

version that has always been imbedded in popular

tradition, which does not prevent it from being

the true one. If so, the English officer must have

had a fine sense of liimior, for lie retired without

more words. The next day General Porter, having

arrived, took command and had an opportunity to

make a similar refusal to a second demand. Then

the fleet sailed away, after firing a few harmless

caiinon balls into the village as a parting salute.

Why a landing in force was not made by Admiral

Yeo is a matter of conjecture, for he could easily

have overpowered and captured that little hand-

ful of volunteers. Probably he thought that they

were but the mask for some larger body.

It is now time to turn to the growth of the

surrounding region, which had been rapidly fill-

ing up.



CHAPTER IV

THE SETTLEMENT OF THE COUNTY.

The First Deed Recorded—The Twenty-Thousand-

Acre Tract—The First Settlers—Visits of Trav-

elers—The Tory Walker—King's Landing and

Hanford's Landing—Charlotte and Pittsford—
Unsuccessful Experiments—Development of the

County.

EBOORDING OF EARLT DEEDS.

The primacy of Eochester and its predominance

as a commercial center did not begin and were not

even anticipated till long after several settlements

had been made at different points in what is now

Monroe county, and even those did not take place

till after Canandaigua had become quite populous

and other villages in adjoining counties were

thrifty and prosperous. A land office having been

opened by Oliver Phelps at Cananadaigua in 1789

(which is said to have been the very earliest of-

fice opened in America for the sale of her forest

lands to settlers), the first deed of our land was

recorded there, as the seat of Ontario county (ad

all other deeds were till Monroe was established),

on September 16th, 1790. It did not run from

either Phelps or Gorham, but it stated that the

title of the grantor rested on a conveyance from

the first-named, which, for some reason, was never

put on record. This deed, from Joseph Smith to

James Latta, conveyed, for the sum of one luiudred

and seventy-five dollars, practically what is now
the village of Charlotte, though the terms of the

instrument are not so precise as they ought to have

been. The second deed recorded, a month later,

was from Phelps and Gorham to Ebenezer Hunt,

Eobert Breck, Quartus Pomeroy, Samuel Heii-

shaw, Samuel Hinckley, Moses Kingsley and Jus-

tin Ely. It conveyed, for the sum of six hundred

pounds, 20,100 acres, less the hundred acres pre-

viously given to Indian Allan, which were ex-

pressly reserved in this document. This was the

"Twenty-Thousand-Acre tract," as it has always

been called, and it embraces most of the west half

of Eochester and of Gates as well as a small part

of Greece. Beginning from a point on the river

bank between the Holy Sepulcher and Eiverside

cemeteries, the northern boundary runs due west

about seven miles, thence south about five miles

along the western edge of the towns named, thence

east to the river, which it strikes a little north of

Clarissa street bridge, the stream being the east-

em boundary of the tract. The deed to Eobert

Morris, mentioned in a preceding chapter, was

recorded on the following day.

THE LUSKS AND THE SHEFFERS.

In that same year of 1789 the permanent set-

tlement of Monroe county was begun. Caleb Hyde
and others, of Lenox, Massachusetts, made the

fifth purchase from Phelps and Gorham, and of

their new possession fifteen hundred acres near the

head of Irondequoit bay, were' set off for John
Lusk, though just how he obtained his title is not

ascertainable. At any rate he came here in the

summer of that year, accompanied by his son

Stephen, fifteen years old, and a hired man, all of

them crossing Cayuga lake on a raft, while their

cattle got across by swimming. Having reached
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their domain they settled down in the southern

part of it, which is now Pittsford, built a log

cabin and sowed twenty acres with wheat. They

got the seed from Ebenezer Allan, having, for its

transportation, to cut a road through the woods to

Red creek, to which point it was carried in a canoe.

Their only visitors were a few friendly Indians,

but after the natives came the inevitable fever and

ague, which disabled them for several weeks sc

that the whole party returned to Massachusetts be-

fore the winter set in, though they came bacK

here in the hext spring, bringing the entire Lusk

household with them for good.

Having deposited tlio Liisk family on tlie east

side, we will iiini to tlic west. Toward tlic close

of 1789 .I'etcr Shelfer, tlien eighty years old, came

up here from Ijancaster, Pennsylvania, together

with his two sous, Peter and Jacob. He bought In-

dian Allan's well-cleared farm, of nearly iive hun-

dred acres, at what is now Scottsville, for two dol-

lars and a half an acre, and settled down at once,

so that he may be considered the pioneer of the

west side, for Allan was too nomadic to count as

a real resident. Peter ShefEer, junior, married, in

1790, Elizabeth Schoonhover, whose family had

settled at Dugan's creek in the spring of that year

;

on the 30th of January, 1793, their first child

was born, Nancy, who became the wife of Philip

Garbutt; in 1795 Jacob Shefler died; in 1797

Peter put up the first frame dwelling-house in all

that region, getting the nails and other iron from

Geneva, while the lumber was procured from Al-

lan's saw-mill. In that house and in that year

the first town meeting on the west side of the river

was held, Josiah Fish being elected supervisor.

Soon after the sale of the Twenty-Thousand-Acre

tract, in 1790, the whole of the state of New York

between the Genesee and the Niagara had been

made into the town of Northampton, so called be-

cause six of the seven grantees of that land lived

in Northampton, Mass. In 1803 the whole terri-

tory, which had previously been a part of Ontario

county, was made, into Genesee county and

Northampton was divided into four towns, but it

was not till 1808 that it had shrunk, by further

subdivisions, inside of what is now Monroe county.

IfOnEJGN 81GIIT-SMKBS.

It is pleasing to note that about this time several

distinguished travelers, most of them French,

passed through this region, attracted mainly by the

fame of the tremendous cataract at Niagara, and

two of them at least gave to the world in their

published works their impressions of the new
country. Chateaubriand, poet and philosopher,

came along in 1790, and Talleyrand three years

later, when he was self-exiled for his own safety

during the Reign of Terror, but there is no reason

to suppose that he came any nearer than Mt. Mor-

ris, where he stayed for some time. In 1795 the

Duke de la Rochefoucault-Liancourt journeyed up

here from Bath on horseback, and his mind, acute

and observing, was filled with admiration at the

progress that had been made in the development of

the Pulteney estate. In his "Travels through the

United States of North America, the Country of

the Iroquois and Canada" he describes minutely

the manners^ customs and mode of life of the in-

habitants, and the following extract from that

book, though previously given by the present

writer some years ago, may well be repeated in this

place

:

"The dwellings of the new settlers are commonly
at first set up in a very slight manner ; they consist

of huts, the roofs and walls of which are made of

bark, and in which the husband, wife and children

pass the winter, wrapped up in blankets. They
also frequently construct houses of trees laid upon

each other, the intersections of which are either

filled up with loam or left open, according as there

is more or less time to fill them up. In such

buildings as have attained some degree of perfec-

tion there is a chimney of brick or clay, but very

often there is only an aperture in the roof to, let

out the smoke, and the fire is replenished with the

trunks of trees. At a little distance from the house

stands a small oven, built sometimes of brick, but

more frequently of clay. Salt pork and beef are

the usual food of the new settlers: their drink is

water and whisky, but there are few families un-

provided with coffee and chocolate."

For the sole purpose of seeing the Genesee falls

the duke of Orleans (afterward King Louis

Philippe), with his brothers the duke of Mont-

pensier and Count Beaujolais, came here in 1797,

escorted from Canandaigua by Thomas Morris, the

son of Robert. The whole party was entertained

at the house of Orange Stone, who, as well as his

brother Enos, had come out here from Lenox in

1790, located and built a tavern near the "big rock

and tree" on East avenue in the town of Brighton.

That ancient landmark, the site of Indian councils
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in former days, continued in a state of preserva-

tion till three or four years ago, when the tree,,

already weakened by age, was blown down in a gale

of wind and the rock was in imminent danger of

being broken up for macadam, which desecration

was averted by the patriotic efforts of the Daugh-

ters of the American Revolution.

William Hencher was the next settler on the

west side after the Sheffers (with the possible ex-

ception of the Schoonhovers), though there was an

interval of four years between them. Having par,

ticipated in Shays's rebellion in Massachusetts he

fled from that state, coming here in August, 1791.

Stopping for a few days in the hut of the tory

Walker* at the month of the Genesee, he crossed

the river, kept on to Long pond and there built

some kind of a habitation, the first dwelling on the

shore of the lake between the Genesee and the Ni-

agara. There he resided with his family, but for

three years he lived in fear of the Senecas, who

had gone west to fight on the side of their fellow-

savages, and who, if their crushing defeat by Gen-

eral Wayne had not broken their spirit, might

have returned and massacred many of our people.

It was not till then that Hencher made up his

mind to pay the second time for his six hundred

acres, the mortgage on which, made by the pre-

vious owner, had been foreclosed by Oliver Phelps

king's and hanfoed's landing.

The shadow of Phelps continued to be pro-

jected over this region, and therefore it continues

to darken these pages. In some way not clearly

explained he managed to get back one half of the

Twenty-Thousand-Acre tract and then he induced

several of his old townspeople in Suffield, Con-

necticut, to come on here and look about. Two oi

them, Gideon King and Zadock Granger, pur-

chased of him three thousand acres each on the

west side, about half way between Rochester and

Charlotte, on a spot that seemed an ideal place for

a settlement, with a large plateau slightly above

the river and with depth of water sufficient for

'This William Walker had served on the British side during
the Revolutionary war, not as a regular soldier, but as a spy.
He was with the Senecas during Sullivan's campaign, but noth-
ing is known of him after that till the close of the war, when
he wandered into this locality and for some years lived alone
on the Irondequoit side of the river, supporting himself by fish-
ing and hunting, until, having got into some difficulty, he
moved away to Canada. Too insignificant to be molested, he
was generally despised and no one had any intercourse with
him. He was in no true sense either a pioneer or a settler of
Monroe county.

large lake vessels to come up and land there. Early

in 1797 Gideon King put up a large house there

for himself and his family, near the top of the

high bank, and graded the roadway down to the

lower level, where he began the construction of n

dock. He died in the following year, a grandchild

of his was born there in 1799 and a year later one

to Zadock Granger. The place was known as

King's Landing for some time, but in 1809 all the

members of the original families who had survived

the incessant attacks of fever and ague—the Gen-

esee fever, as it was commonly called—moved

away.

Seven Hanford brothers from Rome, N. Y., tutu

came to the place, bought a large part of the land,

built several warehouses near the dock and erected,

on the bank above, the Steamboat Hotel, a well-

known stopping-place for many years for travelers

by the Ridge road. These improvements gave to

the place the name of Hanford's Landing, an ap-

pellation that remained long after the second set

of settlers had passed away and every evidence ol

human occupation had been obliterated.

OHAULOTl'E.

No villages were incorporated in the county till

a long time after this, but the settlement at the

mouth of the river on the west side was the one

that from the beginning gave evidence of perma-

nence and importance that was not disappointed.

Samuel Latta, the son of James, mentioned above,

located there soon after his father's purchase, one

of his first acts being the erection of a warehouse,

and he was soon joined by others who contrib-

tited to the prosperity of the community. It was

early perceived that the lake traffic with Canada

must be eventually of considerable magnitude and

that stimulated the building of many vessels there,

of which the first was the schooner Experi-

ment, in 1809, after which there were maby othera.

both sailing vessels and river steamers. When
Robert Troup became the agent for the Pulteney

estate, in 1801, this settlement was named after

his daughter, Charlotte, and that name, after some

temporary changes, it still bears. In 1805 the

harbor was made, by act of Congress, a port of

entry, under the title of the port of Genesee, Mr.

Latta being properly appointed collector, and thp

light-house was built a few years later, though au-

thorities differ as to the date.
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SCHOOLS AND CHURCHES.

Pittsford was in every way the leading town on

the east side. Most of what is now the eastern

part of Monroe county was organized into the dis-

trict of Northfield in 1789 ; five years later it was

made a town without change of name, the first

town meeting being held in what is now Pittsford

'in 1796, when Silas Nye was chosen supervisor.

Two years before that the first school in the county

had been established there, taught by Mr. Bur-

rows; in 1802 a school-house was built at Ironde-

quoit landing, and in 1804 Miss Willey taught

some classes in Ogden, that being probably the first

pedagogical instruction ,on the ^wost side, of the

:iiver. - 'As'rto (tlie::llVsfc;chm;ch-inTtlie! cOuuty,' thai

is:a matter .of; uncertainty-but the? likelihood- is 'that

this-horior; also, 'should' be', given- to Pittsford,

where-ia-log -house was built in"179 9, that was used

as a town hall and a place of worship. Rev. J. H.

Hotchkin preaching there for some time. A Con-

gregational church was organized there fn 1809,

wijh Rev. Samuel Allen as pastor. The west sid*

of the river had to depend for a long time iipon

the circuit-ridevs of the Methodist church, who

generally used the log house of George W. Willey

in Ogden for that purpose, and one of those

preachers. Rev. lilbniiozer r*;verolt, bocainc ihc first

settled' minister ol' that region. Scottsviile, on

the west side, had as steady a growth as Pittsford

on"- the ' east. - Oliver Allen built there at a very

early day a woolen mill, wliicli was run successfully

by his descendants till a few years ago.

TRTONTOWN AND CASTLETON.

More than one spot had been thought of, before

Rochester came into being, as the center of grav-

ity for the metropolis of the Genesee valley that

was sure to arise in the future. Many looked with

favor upon a location on Irondequoit creek, about

three miles from the bay, and there Judge Tryon,

of Lebanon Springs, built in 1799 a store, which

was stocked with goods brought from Schenectady

and which is said to have been the first emporium

of that kind opened within the present limits of

the county, though it is rather hard to see how
the many settlers could have got along before that

without something of the sort. Shortly after that

a public house was erected, kept by Asa Dayton, a

tannery was put up and a local court was estab-

lished which seems to have acknowledged no sili

perior jurisdiction. But the decline was almost

as rapid as the rise, the lake trafiBc went to the

river instead of the bay, stagnation ensued, the

storehouse was torn down in 1818 and that was the

end of "Tryontown." A little later another

abortive venture was made, this time on the west

side, where the rapids are still rippling and where

Colonel Isaac Castle had built a tavern, whence the

prospective city was called Castleton, or "Castle

Town." It was at the foot of navigation on the

upper Genesee and at the head of the long portage

from the lower falls, but those advantages could

' not: overcome the inclination of people to go some-

- where else and the end of the matter came soon.:-

CARTHAGE.

A more ambitious experiment, one that lasted

much longer and that seemed much more likely oi
'

success was that at Carthage, the site of the famous
bridge described in the foregoing pages. Its origin

was much later than that of the places just men-
tioned, but as it is the only other one, with the

exception of Hanford's Landing, that ever bade

fair to be the rival of Rochester, it may as well

be mentioned in this connection. Elisha B. Strong

may be considered as the real pioneer, though

Caleb Lyon and indeed several others had been

there before that, but their residence was only

temporary. Mr. Strong, who came there from
Windsor, Connecticut, in 1816 and in company
with Elisha Beach purchased a thousand acres,

made every effort to establish a real village. To
this end not only were houses erected, but a tavern

was built, kept by Ebenezer Spear; several stores

were started; a school was opened, kept by Jedu-

thun Dimick, in 1818 ; one lawyer, Levi H. Clark,

had his office there; Strong and Albright put up a

flour mill with four run of stones at the upper

step of the lower falls, and FrankliA street was

laid out at that peculiar angle simply for the pur-

pose of diverting traffic from the Pittsford road

and preventing its going to the Four Comers. One

thing more was necessary to complete success,

which was to join together the broken ends of the

Ridge road and span the gorge of the river, so

Strong, Beach and Albright, with Heman Norton,

built the great bridge and the others which fol-
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lowed it. It was only the Erie canal, which was

put through a few years later, that determined the

question in favor of Rochester, but even then a

horse railroad, operated by gravity from the top of

the high bank at Carthage to the level below, con-

nected the two places and supplied the extensive

warehouses of Judge Hooker and others. Finally

the New York Central railroad, taking just the

line that it did, showed that there was no room

for Carthage, even as an appendix of Eochester,

and that ended it.

The county at large had before this mani-

fested signs of progress. Eoads originally Indian

trails were gradually widened, straightened and

leveled in every direction. In 1813 the legislature

granted $5,000 for bridging the streams and clear-

ing the path on the Eidge road from here to Lew-

iston. Dr. Levi Ward had the contract for carry-

ing the mail from Caledonia to Charlotte, before

there was a house in Eochester. After an office wafc

established here the service was, as we have seen,

weddy at first, after that twice as often. In 181 fi

it bocimio tri-weckly, the contract being given by

the department to an enterprising company con-

sisting of John G. Bond and Captain Elisha Ely

to transport the mail from Canandaigua to Lew-

iston by way of this village. At first one four-

horse coach was used for the purpose, but the travel

soon began to increase so greatly that several other

similar vehicles had to be added, then the tavern-

keepers along the road became interested in the

matter and after 1817 for several years the coaches

were so numerous that some one of them was al-

ways in sight at every mile on the Ridge. The

subject of the formation of Monroe county might

well be treated at this point, but a chapter on that

topic has been kindly contributed by another

writer and will be found furtlier on in the volume.







CHAPTER V

KOCHESTER BECOMES A VILLAGE.

Its Names and Its Charter—Its First Officers—
Ordinances Adopted—The Population—The
Second Newspfiper—Early Publications—The

Three Court Houses—The First Directory—
Movements in Real Estate—The Erie Canal—
And the Oenesee Valley—The Morgan Affair—
Lafayette and Basil Ilaill—Sam Patch and

Joseph Smith—A Spasm of Morality—The

Cholera Years.

THE VILLAGE GOVERNMENT.

The act of incorporation was passed by the legis-

lature on the Zlet of March, 1817. The name was

Rochesterville, though that appellation was never

used by the inhabitants and no one has ever been

able to iind out wlio suggested so cimibersomt) a

term. For five years that form stood, wholly

disregarded, and it was not till April 13th, 1832,

that it was changed by legislative enactment to

Rochester, which it had always been by custom.

Although the interests of both sides of the river

were almost identical, the new village was entirely

on the west side and lay wholly within the town

of Gates until 1833, when it was expanded on the

east side -by annexation, and that portion of the

village remained within the town of Brighton till

the incorporation of the city in 1834. The act

seems to have been rather paternal in its character,

for it begins by saying that it "shall be, and the

same is hereby declared to be, a public act and

shall be construed in all courts of Justice within

this state benignly and liberally to effect the bene-

ficial purpose therein mentioned and contained."

Great care was taken to preserve to the people

themselves, rather than to the officials whom they

might elect, the right of local self-government,

for it was "the freeholders and inhabitants" who
liad the power at their annual meetings to levy

taxes—which should never exceed one thousand

dollars in one year ; to make all the appropriations,

however small, even for the most necessary ex-

penses, and to elect all the village oflBeers—^the

trustees, the assessors, the treasurer, the collector,

the pound keeper, the fire wardens and the con-

stable. At the same time the trustees were not

wholly powerless, or merely ornamental, for they

were authorized to make laws, to regulate piiblic

markets, streets and highways, to pass ordinances

relative to "taverns, gin shops and huckster shops"

and to the lighting of the streets, to impose rea-

sonable fines and penalties, which should not,

however, exceed twenty-five dollars for any one

oilense, and to do many other things.

Five trustees were provided for in the charter,

and at the first meeting of freeholders and inhabi-

tants, held at the school-house on the 5th of May
in that year, the following named were chosen:

Daniel Made, William Cobb, Everard Peck, Fran-

cis Brown (afterward elected as president of the

board) and Jehiel Barnard. The other officers,

elected at the same time, were Isaac Colvin. Hast-

ings Vi. Bender and Daniel D. Hatch, assessors;

Ralph Lester, collector and constable; Roswell

Hart, Willis Kempshall, John G. Bond, Abner

Wakelee and Francis Brown, fire wardens. The

trustees were authorized a month later to raise

by taxation the sum of $350, for the purpose of



52 HISTORY OF ROCHESTER AND MONROE COUNTY.

defrajring the expenses of the corporation for

stationery, of procuring fire hooks and ladders and

of cutting two ditches to drain the swamp lands

near private residences, the last named provision

indicating that malaria was still prevalent. The

next year the tax levy was $1,000, out of which

a good fire engine was to he purchased, and from

that time it steadily increased, of course. In 1826

the powers of the trustees were greatly enlarged,

as they ought to have been before that, so that

they had full control of village affairs and cou.d

do whatever they thought necessary for the preser-

vation of good order. By the ordinances then

adopted no person was to keep above twelve pounds

of gunpowder in any house within the village, nor

even that quantity except in close canisters, under

a penalty of twenty dollars; a fine of ten dollars

was imposed for constructing insecure chimneys

to any house or manufactory, or for failing to

obey the directions of fire wardens in things re-

lating to security against fire or for failing to

keep fireplaces in good repair so as to be safe,

the same amount being levied on each of the fire-

men for each neglect of duty at a conflagration,

while five dollars had to be paid for every viola-

tion of the rules that each house should have

a scuttle in the roof and stairs to the sa^me, that

fire buckets should be kept in each house, that

fireplaces, should be cleaned every three months

that no candle or fire should be kept or carried in

an exposed manner in any livery stable, that no

person should burn shavings, chips or straw within

fifty feet of any building, that all bell-ringers

were bound to ring on an alarm of fire, that the

inhabitants must obey the orders of the chief en-

gineer and fire wardens at fires and that no one

but those officials must give any orders at such

times.

When the village was incorporated it contained

probably about eight hundred people, for the cen-

sus of 1815 gave 331, while that of 1818 showed

1,049. Subsequent enumerations have been as

follows: 1820, 1,502; 1822, 2,700; 1825, 4,274

in February, 5,273 in August; 1826, 7,669; 1830,

10,863; 1834, 12,252; 1835, 14,404; 1840, 20,191;

1845, 26,965; 1850, 36,403; 1855, 43,877; 1860,

48,204; 1865, 59,940; 1870, 62,386; 1875, 81,722;

1880, 89,363; 1890, 133,896; 1900, 162,608; 1905,

181,666. The census of the decimal years was
that of the United States, and it shows that dur-

ing the last half century the greatest increase in

any decade was between 1880 and 1890, about fifty

per cent. The population is now, undoubtedly,

nearly, if not quite, 200,000.

HENEVfED PROSPERITY.

Within the first year of its corporate existence,

the little village entered upon a new era of pros-

perity. Much of this was owing to traffic that

was not entirely local. The whole valley of the

Genesee was known as the greatest wheat produc-

ing section of the United States, but all the grain

that was brought here by a constant succession of

teams from every direction was readily bought by

our millers, the price for it reaching $2.25 a

bushel, and ground up at once. Even then the

supply was not sufficient, for Rochester flour had

acquired such a reputation thai there was a grow-

ing demand for it, and great quantities of wheat

were imported from Canada, some of it being sent

back almost immediately in the shape of the fin-

ished product. In 1818 the exports down the

Genesee river across the lake to that market dur-

ing the season of navigation amounted to 26,000

barrels of flour, 3,653 barrels of pot and pearl

ashes, 1,173 barrels of pork, 190 barrels of whisky

iiiid 214,000 butt staves, making a total valuation

of $380,000, which was raised the next year to

$400,000. All kinds of activity increased cor-

respondingly. Flouring mills and manufactories

multiplied rapidly and churches were erected

which are described elsewhere. The Manaion

House, the first three-story building erected here,

was built in 1818 by D. K. Cartter and Abner

Hollister; in 1819 the Royal Arch Chapter of Free

Masons was installed, and the corner lot on West
Main street, between Exchange and Aqueduct

streets, running back to the canal, was sold for

$1,175; the first court of record was held in 1820,

when Hon. Roger Skinner presided at a session

of the United States district court.

NEWSPAPERS AND BOOKS.

On July 7th, 1818, the second weekly newspaper

was issued, by Everard Peck & Co., the Rochester

Telegraph, the material for which and for its

predecessor, the Gazette, was manufactured by

Gilman & Sibley in the paper mill which they built
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for the purpose on the east side. The first daily,

the Daily Advertiser, published by Luther Tucker

& Co., appeared in October, 1836. An account of

the career of that as well as of the two other

journals will be found in another chapter. From
the press room of the Telegraph issued a number

of volumes at different times, the earliest being

one printed in 1830, which, from its being the

first book published here, deserves that its title-

page should be reproduced in Cull, as follows : "Tiie

Life and Adventures of James R. Durand. Dur-

ing a Period of Fifteen years, from 1801 to 1816

;

iu which time he was imprisoned on board the

British fleet and held in detestable bondage for

more than seven years. Including an account of a

voyage to the Mediterranean. Written by himself.

Rochester, N. Y. Printed for the author by B.

Peck & Co., 1820." The next book as far as is

known was Vought's "Medical Treatise," put

forth in 1833. It is remarkable that a portion of

the first translation of the New Testament into

the Hawaiian language should have been printed

here, in 1838. The gospel according to Matthew

had been translated by Rev. Dr. Bingham, that of

Mark by Rev. Mr. Richards, and that of John by

Rev. Mr. Thurston (three early missionaries to

the Sandwich islands), and the manuscript was

sent here to bo printed, after which a Rochester

man named Loomis carried a printing press to

Honolulu to complete the work.

THE FIRST COURT-HOUSE.

The county having been created in 1821, the

first thing to be done, of course, was to make for

it a building, the court-house, as it was invariably

called, and so was its immediate successor, though

in each case the court room occupied only an up-

per story; in this edifice the basement was oc-

cupied by the clerk's office, and afterward the

police office also, the first floor being taken up

by the jury room and the supervisors' room, the

latter being also used by the common council

after the city was incorporated. Rochester, Pitz-

hugh and Carroll gave the land (one hundred

and sixty-six feet on Main street by two hundred

and sixty-four feet on Pitzhugh), which is still

used for the same purpose, and the corner-stone

was laid on the 4th of September, 1821, the build-

ing being completed a year later at a cost of $6,-

715.66 It takes a pretty old inhabitant to remem-

ber, that first court-house, but there are still a

few who can do it, and they will be pleased, while

the younger generation will be informed, by the fol-

lowing description, even though that has been

already given by the present writer before this,

from the little directory of 1837:

"The natural declivity of the ground is reduced to two
platforms—the first on the level of Buffalo street, forming a
neat yard in front of the building, which recedes seventy-five
feet from the true line of the street, the other raised about
six feet above the former and divided from it by the building
itself and two wing walls of uniform appearance, presenting,
toward Buifalo street, the aspect of an elevated terrace, but on
a level with the streets immediately adjoining. This last, to-
gether with the yard of the First Presbyterian church, now
comprehended within the same inclosure, forms a small squ'are,
laid out in grass lots and gravel walks, and needs only
the further attention of the citizens, in planting it with sharli;

trees and shrubbery, to render it a very pleasant and valuable
accommodation as a public walk. This is now known by the
name of Court square. The court-house building is fifty-four
feet long, forty-four feet wide, and forty high. It presents two
fronts, the one facing Court square showing two stories and
a full basement. Each front is finished with a projecting por-
tico, thirty feet long and ten feet wide, supported by four
Ionic columns surmounted bjr a regular entablature and balus-
trade, which returns and continues along the whole front. From
the center of the building rises an octagonal belfry, covered with
a cupola. The basement affords convenient oifices for county
and village purposes. The court room is in the second story,
extending the entire length and breadth of tht building, and
IS a remarkably well lighted and airy apartment."

Some years later two one-story structures were

erected on the front corners of the plaza, in the

form of Grecian temples of the Doric order of

architecture, with porch and pillars and pedi-

ment. Doctors Elwood and Coleman built the

one on the Pitzhugh street corner and occupied it

•as their office for some time until it come into use

for the county clerk till the second court-house

was built, in 18C0, and then it was torn down.

The other temple, on the corner of Irving place,

was raised by Vincent and Selah Matthews, who
had their law offices there for many years, after

which it was the surrogate's office for several

years, then again became a private law office and

was at last obliterated during the CivU war be-

cause it was in the way of the recruiting tents that

covered the square.

THE SEOOND OOURT-HOUSE.

Although out of place chronologically it seems

as well to describe here the successors of this court

and county building. That was expected at the

time of its erection to last for a century, but it

stood for less than thirty years, as the corner-

stone for the second was laid on the 30th of June,

1850. This was done with much ceremony. At

half past ten in the morning the city and county
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oflBcials, together with the pioneers of Rochester

then living, were escorted from the city clerk's

office to the rendezvous on Clinton street,

where they were joined by the Grays, the Light

Guards, the German Grenadiers, the German
Union Guards and Hibernia fire company number

1. Thence, headed by General Lansing B. Swan,

the marshal of the day, the procession moved to the

ancient corner, where a prayer was offered by

Rev. Dr. A. G. Hall of the Third Presbyterian

church, a short address was made by Lyman B.

Langworthy, the stone was laid, an eloquent ora-

tion was delivered by Judge Moses Chapin and the

benediction was pronounced by Rev. Mr. Smith.

The erection of the building took a year and a

half,, for it was opened by a session of the Supreme

court on December 2d, 1851, and when it was

finished it had cost seventy-two thousand dollars.

It was quite a creditable affair; the foundation,

the steps and the pavement of the portico were of

Onondaga limestone, ~ the superstructure was of

brick,, three stories above the basement; four mas-

sive stone columns upheld the roof of the portico

and gave an air of dignity to the whole; the wef-1

half of the first floor, containing the clerk'a rec-

ords, was made fire-proof twenty years later; the

edifice was surmounted by a wooden dome and that

by another, the two being so proportioned that

the effect was quite pleasing and was rendered

still more so by the imposition of a figure of

Justice upon the upper dome. When the building

was taken down, nearly forty-four years after-

ward, the corner-stone was opened and it was

found that those of its contents the material of

which was paper, whether books or manuscript,

were badly injured, even reduced to pulp, both

paper and binding, by the moisture that must

have penetrated the solid stone, the ink on many
documents being wholly effaced and the likeness

of the faces on the daguerreotypes obliterated,

while many of the articles which had been placed

in the foundation of the first court-house and

afterward transferred to this, one, including .i

parchment containing statistics of the village,

were admirably preserved. Tliis ancient docu-

ment, an old map of Monroe county, a few city

directories and several articles relating to the then

present time, were put into an aluminum box and

that into a copper receptacle, which was deposited

in a cavity hewn in the cornei'-stoiie of

THE THIRD COURT-HOUSE.

This, too, was laid amid impressive surround-

ings, on the Fourth of July, 1894. That patriotic

occasion gave opportunity for a revival of the old-

fashioned celebration of the anniversary in the

morning, with fire companies, military and all

that; in the afternoon, an address having been

made by Mayor Aldridge, an invocation pro-

nounced by the chaplain, Rev. W. 0. Hubbard, an

oration delivered by George Raines and appro-

priate pieces sung by tlie public school children,

the stone was carefully placed, with the full Ma-

sonic ritual used on such occasions, under the

direction of John Hodge, the grand master of the

grand lodge. The contract called for the com-

pletion of the building by April 1st, 1896, but

there was the customary delay and it was June

27th of that year when the surrogate, George A
Benton, formally opened it for occupancy by mov-

ing into his office. The cost of construction was

$719,945.02, the fixtures and furniture came to

$110,212.48, making $830,157.50, to which should

be added $40,533.33 that was paid for rent for the

various public oflices while the building was go-

ing on and enough incidental expenses to run the

bill up to $881,560.86 to be paid by the county.

The structure, which is fire-proof throughout, is

much larger than either of its precedessors, though

lack of room is beginning to be felt already; it has

a frontage of one hundred and forty feet and a

depth of one hundred and sixty feet, coming al-

most flush with the sidewalk on West Main street

and leaving but little open space in the rear, be-

tween it and the city hall; with a high basement

and four stories on the Main street front, eighty-,

seven feet of altitude in all ; built of New Hamp-

shire granite, all smooth dressed, and with a heavy

cornice of the same stone. In general design it

is Romanesque, with four polished columns on

the north front, guarding a vestibule that opens

into a central court covered by a skylight ninet)'-

two feet above the level of the ground floor; it is

finished inside with marble throughout; the first

floor is used by the county clerk, the county treas-

urer and the surrogate ; the trial courts occupy the

second floor; the third is taken up with the gen-

eral and special term and the law library, and the

fourth is devoted to the supervisors, the district

attorney, the grand jury and the jury commis-

sioner.
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THE FIRST DIRECTORY.

The year 1827 was rendered memorable, at least

for old book lovers, by the publication of the

first village directory. It is, however, much more

tlian its name implies, for although it is a vej-y

small volume, easily carried in the pocket, and

contains only one hundred and forty-one pages, it

is a gazetteer and a local history as well. The title

page does not indicate the author, but says that the

book is published by Elisha Ely and printed by

Bverard Peck. Prefaced by a well-executed map
drawn by Elisha Johnson, the directory proper fol-

lows, in which the names of the householders, of

whom there arc 1,123, are given alphabetically, but

divided into the live wards under cacli initial letter

oE the surname, followed by a list of the boarders,

who arc almost equally numerous, with tlic names

of those whom they favored with their company.

In fill cases the occupation of the person is given,

from which it appears that there were three hun-

dred and four carpenters, one hundred and twen-

ty-four slioe-makers, twenty-five physicians, twen-

ty-eight lawyers, thirty-one printers, seven clergy-

men, and so on. After this comes a description of

the county of Monroe and of Eochester, followed

by a yearly record of events from the beginning

of the 'settlement. It is this last which gives to the

work its real value, for the facts therein presented

could not be obtained from amy other source, and

the book therefore forms the foundation for every

history of the city that ever has been or ever will

be written. The work became out of print imme-

diately, and for the last fifty years the few copies

in existence have been in the hands of those

who prize tliem so highly that the book is prac-

tically unobtainable.

The first deed recorded here, which was imme-

diately after the formation of the county, was

dated March 21st, 1821, and put on record April

6th. It conveyed, from Elisha Johnson and Bet-

sey, his wife, to Andrew V. T. Leavitt, for the

consideration of one hundred dollars, thirty-seven

feet and four inches of land on St. Paul (then

Canal) street at the corner of Mortimer (then

Mechanic street. The purchaser sold the lot in

1850 to George G. Clarkson, aifterward mayor,

who had his residence there for many years, till

the house gave way to a business block, Charles

J. Hill built the first brick house in the village

in 1821, on the west side of Pitzhugh street, be-

tween Spring and Troup, and from that time

there was a steady increase in the construction of

all kinds of buildings. The second church, St.

Luke's (Episcopal), was erected in 1820, the socie-

ty having been organized three years previously;

the first court-house was begun in 1831,

the first bank was established in 1824, the last of

which is more fully treated of in another chap-
ter. When Brighton was annexed, in 1823, the
act made the provision that the street im-
provements on each side of the river should be

paid for by the taxes imposed only on that side.

Perhaps that worked inharmoniously ; at any rate,

for some reason a new act was passed in 1826, in-

corporating the village of Eochester, just as

though there had never been any such thing be-

fore, extending its boundaries on the west and
much more on the east and dividing it into five

wards, the first three being on the west side,

as now, the other two. on the east, divided by the

river.

THE ERIE CANAL.

To no other one thing was Eochester so much
indebted for its prosperity ars to the Brie canal.

The paternity of this enterprise cannot be dis-

tinctly established, but the floating ideas on the

subject of a connecting waterway were crystallized

in a series of articles by Jesse Hawley, published
in a Pittsburg and a Canandaigua paper in 1807-

08. They aroused sufficient interest to cause the

appropriation by the legislature in the latter year
of $600 to pay for an accurate survey to be made
for a canal that should connect Lake Erie with

the tide-waters of the Hudson river. James
Geddes, who was appointed to do the work, did

it in the most foolish manner possible. In a long

report he discussed every conceivable plan but

the right one, and ended by recommending the

very worst of all, in which Mud creek. Black creek,

Tonawanda swamp and other sluggish waters, as

well as a portion of Lake Ontario, were to consti-

tute a great part of the channel. This was too

ridiculous to be seriously discussed, and so the

matter slumbered for two or three years, till De

Witt Clinton made in the state Senate a powerful

speech in favor of the original project, which

earned for him the enduring title of "the father



60 rilSTOEY OF ROCHESTER AND MONROE COUNTY.

of the Erie Canal." The matter was agitated fre-

quently after that, but the war with Great Britain

delayed all internal improvements, and it was not

till 1817 that the next decisive step was taken.

On the 8th of January of that year a meeting of

the citizens of Ontario county was held at Can-

andaigua, at which Robert Troup presided. Col-

onel Rochester was secretary and the opening ad-

dress was made by Gideon Granger, lately post-

master-general. John Greig then offered a series

of resolutions, which were unanimously adopted,

written by Myron lloUey, in which the arguments'

in favor of a canal were presented in a most

clear and convincing manner. It was these reso-

lutions, with their cogent reasoning, that pre-

pared the way for final success, so that Myron

llolley may share with De Witt Clinton the honor

of promoting the great work and particularly of

bringing about, by subsequent efforts, the line of

route that was adopted.

An act was passed by the legislature in April

of that year, authorizing the construction of a

canal from the Mohawk to the Seneca river, and on

the 4th of July, 1817, the work was begun, run-

ning west from Utica. By succeeding legislatures

the limits were extended as the work progressed,

and in October, 1819, the commissioners—who

were Stephen Van Rensselaer, De Witt Clinton,

Joseph Ellicott, Samuel Young and Myron Hol-

ley—gave out the contracts from Rochester to

Palmyra. As each section was fmislied the water

was let into it from streams that it traversed, and

Rochester was one of the first places to use the

channel for transportation, so that from April

26th to May" 6th, 1823, 10,000 barrels of flour

were shipped from here to Albany. The hardest

part of the labor was in cutting through the moun-
tain ridge at Loekport and constructing the splen-

did locks at that place, which used up all of 1824

and much of the next year; finally, on October

24th, 1825, the guardgates there were raised, the

last section was filled with water and the canal

was finished in all its length, the greatest work on

the continent up to that time. The celebration

lasted more than a week, for it involved the pas-

sage of the official party—headed by De Witt Clin-

ton, who before that time had been elected gover-

nor of the state—from Buffalo to New York, the

latter place being reached on the 4th of November,

after stops of several hours had been made at dif-

ferent places for speeches and banquets. As the

telegraph was still unknown, the news of the act-

ual departure of the flotilla of boats was conveyed

from the western terminus to the metropolis in a

novel manner. Cannons were stationed at frequent

intervals along the route, as fast as one gun was

fired the next gave the signal, so that New York

heard the last report in one hour and twenty min-

utes after the first explosion.

Contrary to expectations the canal was soon

found to be inadequate to the deiiumds upon it,

and its original dimensions of f9rty feet in width

by four feet in depth were quite insufficient. .Tu

1838 the legislature appropriated $4,000,000 an-

nually for its enlargement, whereby its width wao

increased to seventy feet, its depth to seven, sev-

eral locks were added, making seventy-two in all

:

by straightening the line twelve and a half miles

were taken off from the original three hundred

and sixty-three, while the cost was increased from

$7,143,789 to $51,609,203. Of the nine engineers

engaged in building it three lived here, then or

afterward; of the tolls taken about one-eighth

were received here; the income derived from it by

the state increased steadily for twenty-five years,

declining as steadily afterward, so that tolls were

abolished in 1883, to the great satisfaction of all.

This work, which has been of incalculable benefit

to our community, has, in its present form at least,

outlived its usefulness and is to be superseded by a

barge canal, of greater dimensions and of far

greater cost; whether the new will accomplish

more than the old, time will show.

While we are on this subject, mention may as

well be made of the Genesee Valley canal, de-

signed to furnish transportation through this fer-

tile portion of the state from north to south.

Though begun in 1837 it was not finished, from
Rochester to Clean, till 1856, and even then its

volume of business did not come up to expecta-

tions, so it was abandoned in 1878 and three

years later was sold to a company which laid

through its bed what was at first the Genesee Val-

ley Canal railroad, afterward the AVestern New
York and Pennsylvania, and is now a branch of

the Pennsylvania railroad. The Delaware, Lacka-

wanna & Western also runs its trains in on those

tracks. In 1837 a short canal was constructed

from Scottsville to the Genesee, and tor several

years it was of great service in getting grain and
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Hour to market from tlie southwestern part of the

county.

THE MORGAN AFFAIR.

A luysterious affair, with which Rochester was

only incidentally connected, but which stirred the

whole community to its lowest depths for a long

time afterward, took place at this period. The
Masonic order had acquired great popularity here.

Wells lodge having been instituted in 1817, Ham-
ilton Royal Arch Chapter in 1819 and Monroe en-

campment of Knights Templars in 1836. One of

tlie members of the order, in which he never rose

to any eminence, was William Morgan, who fol-

lowed the trade of a printer. He seems to have

been a most undesirable person, somewhat intem-

perate, with the persistent habit of not paying hi?

debts and of forgetting to return anything that

he had borrowed, which last defect contributed to

his undoing. After he had removed from here to

Batavia it became known tliat he was writing a

book to reveal the secrets of Freemasonry, prob-

ably to avenge some fancied slight at the hands

of the fraternity. There was intense excitement

over this and every effort was made to defeat his

intention, even am unsuccessful effort to burn down

the printing office in which the book was being

put in type. Every other expedient failing, Mor-

gan was finally arrested, in September, 1826, and

taken to Canandaigua on a charge of petty larceny

committed there; the accusation was soon shown

to be ill-grounded and he was discharged but was

immediately re-arrested and imprisoned for a debt

of two dollars, which he acknowledged; four men
came to the jail the next night, paid the debt, with

the costs, and, as Morgan was about to leave the

building, seized him and threw him into a carriage

which drove off rapidly; he was never seen again

as a free man.

The grand jury of Ontario county found indict-

ments for abduction against four persons, and, al-

though they appeared in court with a' formidable

array of eminent counsel, three of them pleaded

guilty and all four were sentenced to terms of

confinement. It was not difficult to trace the car-

riage to Rochester, where it was driven down to

the old Steamboat Hotel at Hanford's Landing,

whence it took the Ridge road for Lewiston. Ac-

cording to the evidence brought out at subsequent

judicial trials, Morgan was carried from Lewiston

into Canada, but all the efforts of Governor Clin-

ton, liimself a Mason of the highest degree, to get

on the track of him through the earl of Dal-

housie, the governor of Lower Canada, were un-

availing. What eventfully became of Morgan was
never known, except to those who disposed of him,

but the most prevalent, and probably the best-

founded, belief always was that he was brought
back from Canada, concealed for some time in an
old fort, then taken out and drowned in the

Niagara river. No one now has the slightest doubt
that the Masonic body, a-s a whole, was innocent

of the crime, and even ignorant of the existence

of the plot, but at that time the responsibility of

the fraternity was generally credited, the anti-

Masonic fury raged around Rochester as its center

and Timothy Childs was twice elected to Congress

from this district as an anti-Mason; finally, to al-

lay the excitement, all the lodges in Western New
York took the commendable step of surrendering

their charters to the grand lodge; not till 1845

was the order revived here, after which it becanfie

stronger than ever.

MORE FOREIGN VISITORS.

Rochester was still so small that it delighted to

receive distinguished visitors, particularly if they

were foreigners. Lafayette came here in June,

1835, arriving on a canal boat from Lockport,

though the waterway was not completed till four

months later. Of course, there were receptions

and speeches and a grand banquet at the Mansion

House, then kept by John G. Christopher, after

which the guest departed for Canandaigua. Cap-

tain Basil Hall, an eminent officer in the British

navy, came here in 1837, and the following ex-

tract from his charming book descriptive of his

travels in North America will show how he was

impressed with the village:*

"Everything in this bustling place appeared to

be in motion. The very streets seemed to be start-

ing up of their own accord, ready made and look-

ing as fresh and new as if they had been turned

out of the workmen's hands but an hour before,

or that a great boxful of new houses had been

•After Captain Hall had returned to England he published, in

a volume separate from his narrative, as many as forty etchings
from views which he had taken in this country by means of an
ingenious mechanism called the camera lucida, the ancestor of

the photographic camera. As the edition was very limited, the
work is extremely rare. The picture representing our village,

with the first court-house and the Presbyterian church in the

rear, is reproduced in this volume.
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sent by steam from New York and tumbled out

on the half-cleared land. The canal banks were

at some places still unturfed; the lime seemed

hardly dry in the masonry of the aqueduct, in the

bridges and in the numberless groat saw-mills and

manufactories. In many of these buildings the

people were at work below stairs, while at the

top the carpenters were busy nailing on the planks

of the roof. Some dwellings were half painted,

while the foundations of others, within five yards'

distance, were only beginning. I cannot say how

many churches, court-houses, jails and hotels I

counted, creeping u))ward. Several streets were

nearly iinisliod, l)ut had not ns yet received their

names, and many others were in the reverse pre-

dicament, being named but not commenced, their

local habitation being merely signified by lines

of stakes. Here and there we saw great ware-

houses without window sashes but half filled with

goods, and furnished with hoisting cranes, ready

to fish up the huge pyramids of flour barrels, bales

and boxes lying in the streets. In the center of

the town the spire of a Presbyterian church rose

to a great height, and on each side of the sup-

porting tower was 'to be seen the dial-plate of a

clock, of which the machinery, in the hurry-scurry,

had been left in New York. I need not say that

these half-finished whole-finished and embryo
streets were crowded with people, carts, stages,

cattle, pigs, far beyond the reach of numbers, and
as all these were lifting up their voices together,

in keeping with the clatter of hammers, the ring-

ing of axes and the creaking of machinery, there

was a fine concert."

TWO SKNSATIONS.

In 1829 two events occurred that were much
talked of, one exciting temporary interest, the

other having far-reaching consequences. A wan-

dering fellow named Sam Patch, who had acquired

some celebrity by jumping from lofty places, not-

ably into the Niagara river from a rock projecting

from the bank more than half the height of the

cataract, leaped the precipice here and then an-

nounced that he would do it again on the 13th of

November. Handbills liberally distributed at-

tracted an immense crowd on thai day and Sam,

true to his promise, sprang from a scaffolding

which had been built twenty feet above the brink

of the falls. If he had been sober he might have

been successful; as it was, his limbs were broken

by the awful plunge when he struck the water;

his mangled body was found in the following

spring at the mouth of the river and was buried in

the cemetery at Charlotte.

The other incident was not immediately fatal,

but it produced greater misery in the end. A young

man named Joseph Smith professed to have found

in the woods in Wayne county a number of golden

tablets, the miraculous writing on which he had

copied. Offering the manuscript for publication

to Thurlow Weed, who was then issuing the Tele-

graph, and meeting with a positive refusal by him,

he carried it to Palmyra, where it was printed by

E. R. Orandin as the Hook ol' Alorinon, in 1830. It

is interesting to note that the old press on which

this Mormon IMlilo was slnick oil' was sold in

June, 1906, for five hundred dollars, to the Church

of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints at Salt Lake

City. A copy of the first edition of the work is in

the possession of the ITistorical society of this

city.

SABBATAUIANISir.

The fundamental American principle of the

separation of church and state was not so well un-

derstood in those days as it is now, and the bonrd

of trustees, while it would probably not have un-

dertaken to interfere with the theological viewi-

of anyone, considered that it had charge of the

morals of the people. So the blowing of the

bugle on canal boats as they passed through the

village on Sundays was absolutely prohibited, and

this oflficial action seemed to stir a certain class

of the inhabitants almost to frenzy over the wick-

edness of traveling on that day, whether by ho;U

or by singe coach, hiirgc and excited muetiiigs

were held, in which that form of vice was de-

nounced in unmeasured terms, a kind of religious

boj'Gott was established and three strict construc-

tionists, Aristarchus Champion, Josiah Bissell and

Ashbel W. Riley, put their convictions into prac- .

ticc by setting up the Pioneer line of stages, to

run on secular days only, an experiment which

was abandoned after the projectors had lost sixty

thousand dollars in it. The feeling was not all on

one side, for the "friends of liberal principles and

equal rights" held a large meeting on January

14th, 1831, to protest vigorously against some Sab-

batuiian laws that had been proposed and against

the religious test then used in courts of justice.

THE CHOLERA.

Asiatic cholera, to give it the full title universal-

ly bestowed ujjon it until recently, appeared here

for the first time in 1832 ; long in advance its ap-
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pioacli was kuuwn and a board of liealtli was ap-

pointed, consisting of Dr. Coleman, Dr. Ward, Dr.

Reid, Everard Peck and Aslibel W. Riley, the

first named being sent to Montreal, where the

disease Avas then raging, to study its symptoms and

find out the most efficacious mode of treatment.

All possible precautions were taken to prevent

its appearance, but in vain, and after it had

come all the efforts to arrest its progress were

equally futile, in spite of the efforts of the local

physicians, including Dr. McPherson, who came

in from Scottsville to give himself wholly to the

work. Nothing did any good; those who were

smitten died, one hundred and eighteen were car-

ried off by the scourge during the summer, and

General Eiley, who had devoted himself to the

cause, put eighty of them into their coffins with his

own hands; the contagion did not touch him and

he lived for more than fifty years after that.

The destroyer came again in 1834, and had fifty-

Cour victims; once more in 1849, with one hun-

dred and sixty deaths, and for the last time in

1852, which was worse than all the other years

combined, for, though the exact number cannot

be ascertained, it is known that more than four

hundred were swept away by the pestilence.
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timent—The Underground Railroad—The War
' Time.

THE CHARTER.

On the 28th of April, 1834, the legislature

passed the act incorporating the city of Roches-

ter, and containing its charter. It was

full time, for the place then contained over

twelve thousand inhabitants; there were thirteen

hundred houses, fourteen churches or meeting-

liouses, nine hotels—the Eagle, the Eoehester, the

Clinton, the Mansion, the Monroe, tlie Arcade, the

City, the Eranklin and the Eensselaer—ten news-

papers (counting all grades) and two banks; the

amount of business done was then very great, and

in the previous year one-sixth of all the canal tolls

in the state had been taken here. The city limits

embraced about four thousand acres but they were

slightly enlarged two years later, partly for" the

purpose of straightening to some extent the east-

ern boundary, which at first was very crooked. The

section of the act making that addition gives,

singularly enough, no metes and bounds or dis-

tances from one point to another, but simply says

:

"The boundaries of the city of Rochester are here-

by extended so as to include within the limita

thereof the farm of William Pitkin, situate in the

town of Brighton, and also all the land lying be-

tween said Pitkin's farm- and the eastern boundary

of said city." So distant was the prospect that that

farm would be built up that Mr. Pitkin exchanged

its hundred acres for an ordinary lot on South

Washington street. About a quarter of it is now

comprised in the university grounds. In 1874 the

city limits were so extended as to more than double

its size; the lines were somewhat irregular but that

furthest west was the Thurston road, that furthest

east was the Culver road, these large additions of

area constituting the iifteenth and sixteenth wards,

rospcetivcly. In 18i)4 Uic western line was run

out to Lincoln avenue. The latest extension was

made in 190-4, when the whole village of Brighton

(with a small strip from Irondcquoit) was an-

nexed, becoming the twenty-first ward.

THE GOVERNMENT.

The municipal government, as created by the

first election, consisted of Jonathan Child, mayor;

Vincent Mathews, attorney and counsel; Samuel

AVorks, superintendent; E. P. Marshall, treasurer;

Jolm C. Nash, clerk; William H. Ward, chief en-

gineer; aldermen—first ward, Lewis Brooks and

John Jones; second ward, Thomas Kempshall and

Elijah P. Smith; third ward, Frederick P. Backus

and Jacob Thorn; fourth ward, Ashbel W. Riley

and Lansing B. Swan; fifth ward, Jacob Graves

and Henry Kennedy. The names of the successors

of all these officials will appear in another part oi

the volume. The number of wards was increased

to nine in 1845, to ten in 1853, to eleven in 1858.
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to twelve in 1859, to thirteen in 1864, to fourteen

in 18G(), to sixteen in 1874, to twenty in 1893 (bo

as to overcome the preponderance of the nineteen

towns in the board of supervisors), to twenty-one

in 1904 and to twenty-two in 1906, the last being

without any addition of territory. There were two

iildcrmen from each ward till 1877, when the num-

ber was reduced to one, which has been found to

be quite sufficient.

MAGNANIMITY IN OFFICE.

Mayor Child did not hold his office for the full

term of a year and a half, which had been made a

provision of the charter in order that the exec-

utive and the common council should not enter

upon office at the same time. Even throughout the

first year there had been much difference of opin-

ion on the subject of licenses between the council

and the mayor, who was a consistent temperance

man of strong convictions, but the board was on

the whole discriminating and Mr. Child waived hit.

objections. In June of the following year a new

council was elected, and soon after their taking

office it became evident that there was to be a

good deal more laxity than before. The mayor was

not long in making up his mind, and he soon sent

in a message saying that the former board, al-

though opposed to licensing in general, had given

four licenses to grocers to sell ardent spirits bo-

cause they supposed that a gradual reform on their

part would meet the general sentiment better than

a plenary refusal; that on that occasion he had

sacrificed his judgment to the desires of the ma-

jority, but that as an individual, both then and

since, he had constantly objected to that measure

and to every approach to it in tlie issuing of groc-

ers' licenses. Mentioning the fact that the new

board had issued numerous licenses he concluded

by saying: "It becomes incumbent on me in my
official character to sanction and sign these papers.

Under these circumstances it seems to me equally

the claim of moral duty and self-respect, of a

consistent regard for my former associates, of just

deference to the present board and of submission

to the supposed will of the people, that I should no

longer retain the responsible situation with which

T have been honored. I therefore now most re-

spectfully resign into your hands the office of

mayor of the city of Rochester." The resignation

was accepted at once and General Jacob Gould,

who was elected mayor a week later, was more

complaisant than Jonathan Child.

A corresponding instance of magnanimity was

shown in 1845, when Mayor John Allen was the

candidate for re-election on the Whig ticket and

Rufus Keeler was his opponent on the

Locofoco platform. They came within two votes

of each other, and the common council, acting as a

board of canvassers, was tied on the question of

allowing three imperfect votes to John Allen,

which would have elected him; Mr. Allen, having

as mayor the casting vote in the council, decided

against himself; Mr. Keeler was then declared

elected, but he declined to serve; Mr. Allen would

then have held over, but he immediately sent in

his resignation and William Pitlrin was appointed

mayor by the council.

THE OEMF/rEUIES.

One of the first duties of the new common coun-

cil was to provide a suitable resting-place for the

dead. The early settlers had used for that purpo.^e

a half-acre lot on the corner of Plymouth avenue

and Spring streets, by permission of its owners,.

Rochester, Fitzhugh and Carroll, who finally

deeded it, as a free gift, to the village corporation

in 1821. Three months later it was exchanged for

a lot of three and a half acres on West Main

street, where the City hospital now stands, and

all the bodies were removed thither. This was

always known as the Buffalo street burying-

ground, while a smaller one on the east side of the

river was called the Monroe street burying-ground.

But both together were too circumscribed and too

near to a growing population, so in 1836 the com-

mon council, approving a selection unofficially

made by a committee of citizens, purchased of

Silas Andrus a piece of ground comprising the

first fifty-three acres of what is now Mt. Hope.

Fortunately for posterity Silas Cornell was the

surveyor of the city at that time, to whose rare

skill as a landscape architect, and equally perhaps

to his wise forbearance in altering as little as pos-

sible the undulations of the ground, it was owing

that Mt. Hope has always been one of the most

beautiful rosling-plncca Tor the dopactcd in nil

tlie land, 'i'he spirit of the original design has

been adhered to by successive superintendents.
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notably by George D. Stillson, who held the posi-

tion for sixteen years. Additions were made to

the necropolis from time to time, the largest being

in 18G5, when seventy-eight acres were purchased,

so that it now contains about one hundred and

eighty-eight acres. The first interment, that of

William Carter, was made on August 18th, 1838

;

on the 1st of June, 1894, the fifty thousandth

burial took place and up to this time some sixty

thousand have been laid away there, a veritabla

city of the dead, a silent city.

While there were some few Catholics intei-red

at Mt. Hope in early days, the great majority ol

that communion, practically all of them, preferred

to bury their dead in ground consecrated by their

church, and so the trustees of St. Patrick's bought

an extensive tract on the Pinnacle hills, southeast

of the city, in 1838, and for the next thirty-three

years the interment of English-speaking Catholics

was made in the Pinnacle burying-ground, as it

was always called, since which time much of the

light, sandy soil of that eminence has been re-

moved for building purposes. The German Cath-

olics have had three cemeteries—that of St. Jos-

eph, on Lyell avenue; of Sts. Peter and Paul, on

Maple street, and of St. Boniface, on South Clin-

ton street—but almost all the bodies have been re-

moved from these and deposited in the Holy

Sepulcher cemetery. This comprises about one

hundred and forty acres, situated on Lake avenue,

north of the city line, in the town of Greece, and

extending to the bank of the river. The location

is a most desirable one, and since it was opened, in

1871, it has been increasingly beautified, so that

it has become very attractive to all visitors.

Perceiving the advantage that the Holy Sepul-

cher had over Mt. Hope in being located so far

from the dwellings of the living, several persons

formed themselves into a corporation in 1893 and

bought one hundred acres of land just north of the

former, where the grounds were at once laid out

in a suitable manner and were tastefully decorated,

the result being that lots were speedily purchased

and interments are very frequent in the lovely

Riverside cemetery. One other place of the dead

might have been mentioned before, on account of

its antiquity. Although within the city limits,

near the southern end of Genesee street, it was

doubtless intended for the use of the dwellers in

Scottsville and Chili, for it is said to have been

established in 1813, when there were no residents

here. It has always been known as the Rapids

burying-ground.

CENTER MARKET.

One does not need to be a very old resident to

jemember the Center market, one of the landmarks

of Rochester, which stood where a city building de-

voted to various municipal purposes is now. It

must have been built in 183G or 1837, for O'Reil-

ly's "Sketches of Rochester," published in 1838,

calls it "the new market," and says of it

:

"This edifice is creditable to the city. There is but one mar-
ket-house in the Union, and that is in Boston, which can be
compared with this market in its general arrangements. It is

about two hundred feet long, extending along the west bank of
the Genesee river, the water washing its' basement and affording
facilities for cleansing the building. The wings extend about
eighty feet from either end on the "west side, thus forming three
sides of a squ'are facing on Front street and having a new
street called Market street opened in front of it up to State
street. The edifice is substantially as well as tastefully con-
structed, the basement story being of cut stone and the super-
structure of brick. The parts of the main building fronting on
the square are supported by stone columns, with large doors and
windows with green blinds, presenting an appearance unsur-
passed by the lower part of any ran^e of stores in the city.
The stalls are arranged on the east side of the main building
and on the north and south sides of the wings, which arc all
connected."

The edifice was rendered conspicuous from a

distance by the well-carved wooden image of an ox,

on the central point of the roof, and the interior

of the market justified all the praise bestowed upon
it, for the stalls were kept in the best of order,

the marble counters were always spotlessly clean,

and for the twenty years of its use for that pur-

pose no householders except those living in a re-

mote quarter of the city ever thought of purchas-
ing their meat elsewhere.

MILITARY COMPANIES.

This brings us to a mention of the military com-
panies of that period, before the organization of

the Fifty-fourth regiment of New York state mil-

itia, most of which occupied the different rooms of

the basement of the city market for their respective

armories, the two brass bands of that day, Adams's
and Holloway's, having their quarters tiiere also.

The earliest organization in this region was a com-
pany of riflemen that was formed in Penfield as

far back as 1818, which attracted enlistments from
Rochester as our little community increased in

number. Ashbel W. Riley, mentioned elsewhere

in this volume for his heroic exertions at the time

of the cholera, was early connected with this com-
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pauy, which uikIlt ]iis I'oiimiiiiul as capbiiii. at thy

tinio of Lafayette's visit here in 1835, escorted the

distinguished Frenchman from Rochester to Can-

andaigua; other formations of a similar character

afterward associated themselves with this one and

all were united together as the "^Pwenty-second reg-

iment of viflomcn ; Colonel IJilcv, wlio had then

risen to the command of it, offered its services,

with the consent of the whole body, to President

Jackson in 1832 to quell the nullification disturb-

ance in South Carolina, but the tender was not

accepted, as the assistance of state militia was not

required ; the next year Colonel Riley became bri •

gadier-general of riflemen, and then major-general,

a position whicli he held till tlie dissolution of tli'?

brigade a few years later. The Irish Volunteer's

came into existence in November, 1828, a very

creditable organization whose commandant for

some time was Captain P. J. McNamara; it was

rttached to the One Hundred and Seventy-eighth

regiment of infantry, with headquarters at Buf-

falo. Then came "Van Rensselaer's cavalry, in

1834, named after the landlord of the Eagle Holel

and commanded by him, and the next year the

Rochester Pioneer Rifles, under George Dawson,

the "fighting editor," which was a part of General

Riley's regiment.

In 1838 two crack companies were formed

—

Williams's Light Infantry, under Major John

Williams, afterward mayor, and the Eochestei

Union Grays, whose first captain was Lansing B
Swan, afterward general, who, with General Bur-

roughs, codified the military laws of the state; it

was originally infantry but later became an ar-

tillery company. Eight of the members were still

surviving at the beginning of this year, with the

average age of eighty-six. The next year the

Rochester City Cadets came into existence, with

James Elwood as captain; a few years later, some

time boforo 1819, it was roorgnniznd ns the

Rochester Light Guards, with H. S. Fairchild as

captain ; it was this company that furnished sixty-

five men to company A of the Old Thirteenth on

the very day after President Lincoln's first call for

troops, and many of its remaining members after-

ward joined others of our fighting regiments. The

German Grenadiers, the first of our Teutonic com-

panies, and the Rochester Artillery were organized

in 1840, the Rochester City Guards in 1844, the

German Union Guards in 1847 and the Rochester

City Dragoons in 1850. The Fifty-fourth regi.

mcnt of New York state militia, organized in 1849,

was at first confincil to the western half of the

county, but in 1855 it embraced the whole of it

at which time H. S. Fairchild became its colonel;

although it did not go to the front during the

Civil war it performed excellent service by doing

guard duty over the Confederate prisoners at El-

mira in 1864; it was disbanded in December, 1880,

in accordance with a sweeping change in the

militia system of the state, only one company,

known as the Eighth Separate, being retained. The

First Separate company and its military services

are described elsewhere. While not connected with

tlie period of time over which we have been going,

it is as well to mention in this place the Rochester

Union Blues, a fine volunteer company of patriotic

citizens, formed in 1863, with Charles B. Hill as

captain, for the express purpose of doing duty as

a home guard during the war, though it continued

its organization for some years after the conflict

was over.

THE NEW YORK CENTRAL.

The first steam railroad operated in the United

States was the Baltimore & Ohio, in 1831, and the

first one that had Rochester for a station was the

Tonawanda railroad, which started at the western

corner of Main and Elizabeth streets, where a

business block now stands. The company was

chartered in 1832 for fifty years, with a capital of

$500,000; the president was Daniel Evans, the

vice-president Jonathan Child, the secretary A. M.

Schermerhorn and the treasurer Frederick

Whittlesey. Being quite experimental the road

was built by slow degrees, Elisha Johnson survey-

ing the route and doing the construction, for it was

completed only to South Byron in 1834, .to Batavia

two years later, and to Attica, forty-three miles in

all, in 1842. The first train was run out a little

way, with L. B. Van Dyke as conductor, on April

4th, 1837, but it was not till May 3d of that year

that the first regular passenger train left for Ba-

tavia, the event being celebrated here on May 11th.

Ground was broken for the Auburn & Rochester

railroad in 1838, and in 1840 the work was suf-

ficiently advanced to allow the first eastward bound

train to run from here to Canandaigua on Sep-

tember 10th; the road was completed to Auburn a



74 HISTORY OF EOCHESTBE AND MONEOB COUNTY.

year later, and, as the eastern connections had

been laid long before that, the first train from hero

to Albany ran through in October, 1841. On all

these connecting roads the construction was very

crude; a "strap rail" was used, merely a strip oi

iron two inches wide and three-fourths of an inch

thick, which was spiked to a six-by-six scantling, •

and the ends of the rails frequently turned up,

producing the dangerous "snake-heads ;" it was noi

till 1848 that decent iron rails were substituted.

In 1850 work was begun on the direct line from

here to Syracuse; in the same year a small road

from Lockport to Niagara Palls was purchased and

extended to this city, and in the same year tfie

Tonawanda railroad was consolidated with the At-

tica & Buffalo, though it was not till 1852 that the

first through train was run from here to the last-

named place, the line being then straightened

from there to Batavia. The Eochester & Charlotte

railroad was built in 1853, and on May 17th, 1853,

all the roads that have been mentioned, together

with others in the eastern part of the state, were

consolidated under the title of the New York Cen-

tral Eailroad company, with a capital stock of

$23,085,600. For thirty years the station was lo-

cated on Mill street, where Central avenue now

crosses it, but in 1883 the present building, extend-

ing from St. Paul to North Clinton street, was

erected. That completed, at a total cost of $925,-

301.25, one of the most important works ever done

in this city, when the tracks were elevated and

there was an end to the useless sacrifice of life, oe-

sides innumerable minor casualties and the inflic-

tion of almost intolerable inconvenience at the

street crossings.

OTHER RAILROADS.

The sucpessful and profitable operation of these

roads running east and west stimulated the desir'3

to push one down into the southern part of the

state, and in September, 1852, a line was begun

from here to Avon, which was finished in 1854. It

was originally called the Genesee Valley railroad

and that name clung to it for a long time subse-

quent to its practical absorption by the Brie,

shortly after its completion, on a ninety-nine

years' lease. The Eochester & State Line compaay

was formed in 1869 and work was begun two years

later, but it was 1878 before the road was finished

to its original terminus at Salamanca. It was in-

volved in financial difficulties from the beginning

and in 1880, being unable to pay the interest on

its first mortgage bonds, it was sold out to New

York parties, by whom the name was changed to

the Eochester & Pittsburg (the word Buffalo being

for some unaccountable reason prefixed afterward)

and the line was extended to Punxsutawny, in

Pennsylvania. In recent years it has been pushed'

on to Pittsburg, and is now exceedingly prosper-

ous as a coal-carrying road. The Genesee Valley,

Canal railroad, now a branch of the Pennsylvania,

which was intended to do the same service for thc!

villages on the west side of the river that the Erie

was doing for those on the east—for the latter,

though starting on the west, crosses the Genesee

opposite Mt. Hope cemetery—has been mentioned

in the preceding chapter. The West Shore rail-

road, which is practically a branch of the New
York Central, sends its trains into and out of that

station, as does the Northern Central, running to

Elmira. The Eochester & Lake Ontario railway

was opened in 1883, a little later it became a

branch of the Eome, Watertown & Ogdensburg and

for some years past it has had its station on Lake

avenue, its trains running up from Charlotte. The

Lehigh Valley railroad got into the city in 1892,

entering under the name of the Eochester & Honc-

oye Valley railroad. Within the past year it has

built a fine station on the south side of Court

street bridge.

THE CARTHAGE EGAD.

The street-car system is usually considered a

modern institution, but it had its forerunner here

three quarters of a century ago. In January, 1833,

a horse railroad, which had been constructed in the

previous year by a small company consisting of

Blisha Johnson, Josiah Bissell, Everard Peck and

a few others, with a capital of $30,000, went into

operation. Its object, as stated in its charter, was

to connect the Erie canal with the head of ship

navigation on the Genesee river, so the line started

from the aqueduct, which it touched at the south

end of Water street, then crossed Main street and

continued north along the edge of the river bank,

with a total descent of two hundred and fifty-four

feet, till it reached Carthage, where it made di-

rect connection with the gravity railroad men-
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tioned in a precediug chapter. Tha coaches used

for those excursions were open at the sides and

were drawn hy two horses, driven tandem, the

driver being seated on the top of the car. The road

was very popular at first, but the novelty soon

wore off, after which it was operated for traffic

more than for passengers, but even that became

uuremuncrative, and the line was abandoned after

ten years of service.

STEEET RAILROADS.

Just twenty years after that was given up th?

first line of the Rochester street railway system was

opened, in July, 1863, on the Mt. Hope avenue

route, from State street to the cemetery, and, sing-

ularly enough, a part of that original line, the

piece between the end of South avenue and Clarissa

street, was taken up shortly afterward and has

never since been relaid. The West Main street

branch, the Lake avenue line and the Bast Main,

Alexander and Monroe streets routes were com-

pleted in the same year, but after that there was

a lull in the business, so that it was not till 1873

that the St. Paul street and Clinton street lines

were opened, from which time additions and ex-

tensions were continually made. The cars to

Charlotte, an independent concern, were first run

by electricity on the 30th of July, 1889, and per-

haps it was that which stimulated a syndicate of

capitalists to buy out the old horse car company

for $2,175,000 in November of that year and

change the motive power from equine to electric,

though the substitution was not completed till

1893.

TWO SMALL V7ARS.

A slight war scare—for it was nothing more,

as far as we were concerned—disturbed the peace

of tlio community in 1837. A fooling of discontent

on the Canadian side of the lake, against what

some considered the encroachments of the British

government, had been fanned into flame by the

efforts, principally in the shape of editorial articles,

of William Lyon Mackenzie, a restless demagogue

who owned a small newspaper at the time. Some-

thing like a miniature rebellion broke out, and, for

some inexplicable reason, our people, who had

nothing whatever in common with the insurgents,

chose to work themselves into a sympathetic excite-

ment. Large sums of money were raised here,

and a mob of persons from this vicinity rushed to

the frontier and seized possession of Navy island,

in the Niagara river, with the avowed purpose of

using it as a base for the invasion of Canada. This

insensate act would soon have produced a war be-

tween the two countries had not General Scott

been ordered to the island, who with a few troops

cleared out the intruders at once. Mackenzie, the

cause of the whole disturbance, escaped to New
York and two years later worked his way up to

Rochester, where he started a weekly paper called

the Gazette, for the purpose of renewing the

foolish struggle; being tried at Canandaigua for

violation of the neutrality laws he was sentenced,

to imprisonment in our jail for eighteen months,

but was pardoned within a year and disappeared.

That was the final scene in what was sometimes

styled the "Patriot war" but generally and more

correctly called the "Navy island raid."

About ten years later a real war occurred,

though we had not much to do with it. The

troubles with Mexico having culminated in the

invasion of that country in 1846, a full company

was raised and enlisted here the next year, with

Caleb Wilder as captain and Edward McGarry

as first lieutenant. There was no occasion for them

to do much fighting, but they remained in Mexico

for eighteen months as part of the army of oc-

cupation.

THE TELEGRAPH.

Rochester has the distinction of being, on the

whole, the foremost city of the Union in the matter

of the telegraph. The Morse system of telegraphy

came into operation in 1844, but no one then

dreamed that the wire would ever be carried across

the Alleghany mountains, if indeed it ever reached

as far as that. It was one of our citizens, the late

Henry O'Reilly, who by his tireless energy project-

ed, organized and constructed the longest range

of connected linos in the world. These extended

from the eastern seacoast to the distant South and

were commonly known as the "O'Reilly lines,"

though their more formal title was the "Atlantic,

Lake and Mississippi range." Most of them were

constructed in 1846 and 1847, and, while they were

connected, they were independent of each other, so

that the business was unprofitable to many of

them. Consolidation was the only way out of the
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difficulty, and that was effected by the persever-

ance of another Rochester man, the late Hiram
Sibley, who after years of strenuous effort succeed-

ed in buying up, witli llic nssistaneo ol' others, all

those small lines and forming them into one whole,

which, later became that gigantic monopoly, the

Western Union. The consolidation was practically

perfected in 1860, and from that time for sixteen

years he was the president of the company, the

office and headquarters of which were in this city;

under his management the line was built across the

continent to the Pacific, while the number of

telegraphic offices was increased from one hundred

and thirty-two to over four thousand and the value

of the property from $220,000 to $48,000,000.

The first telegraphic office here was not connecr-

ed with one of the O'Reilly lines, but with that of

the New York, Albany & Buffalo company, which

was merged in the Western Union in 1860. It was

opened for messages in the winter of 1844-45, but

the first press dispatch did not come here till June

1st, 1846, which appeared in the Dsmocrat of the

next day and was the report of the constitutional

convention then in session at Albany. The of-

fice was originally in the basement of Congress

Hall but was soon removed to the Reynolds arcade,

where it is still located; the first operator was

George E. Allen, and the one who was in charge

for the longest time was A. Cole Cheney, from

1852 to 1881, though his term of service has been

almost equaled by the present incumbent, George

D. Butler, who has held the position since 1883.

As the Western Union lines extended, the stock,

which was largely held in this city, increased in

value and the local interest felt in the matter

caused the price to advance far beyond its real

worth; the speculative excitement was felt by all

classes, until the stock, after having been doubled

and then watered to the extent of one third more,

reached two hundred and thirty in April, 1864;

that broke the market and the stock fell almost out

of sight, to the ruin of many. Some of those who

had a little money left were foolish enough to put

it into the oil wells of Pennsylvania, where the

petroleum fields were opened about that time. A
few fortunes were made there, but the losses far

exceeded the gains, and Rochester felt the effects

for a long time. One might have supposed that

those calamities would teach a profitable lesson,

but tlie present generation seems just as eager for

speculative investments as its predecessors, and

the disasters of forty years ago have been repeated

within very recent times.

THE ROOHESTEK KNOOKINGS.

A singular phenomenon appeared here in 1847,

which carried into foreign countries the name of

our city by association in the title. In the year be-

fore that John D. Fox lived with his family in

Hydeville, Wayne county. The house which they

occupied became the scene of mysterious noises, not

loud at first but eventually so violent as to disturb

the neighbors, and these manifestations were fi-

nally traced to the instrumentality of the two little

girls—Margaretta, aged twelve, and Kate, aged

nine. Neither the parents nor any of the visitors

were able to solve the mystery as to how these

sounds, which had now taken the form of knock-

ings or rappings on the walls, floors and ceilings

of the dwelling, were produced. To prevent the

possible collusion of the two children, they were

separated, first one and then the other coming to

Rochester to live with their elder sister, Mrs. Leah

Fish. As long as either remained at home the

noises continued there; when the last one had de-

parted they ceased entirely. Mrs. Fish, originally

skeptical, soon became as expert a medium as

either of her little sisters, and the sounds soon

came to be announced as messages from the depart-

ed spirits in another world. Seances were given at

the residence of the Pox family, who had by this

time removed to Rochester, and in the houses of

persons whose intelligent interest or morbid curi-

osity impelled them to witness the manifestations,

and in almost every instance the presence of any

one of the three sisters was sufficient to obtain

responses more or less satisfactory. The usual

method was for some one in the group to call out

slowly the letters of the alphabet and when the

right one was reached there would be a rap or

knock of approval, by which laborious process the

entire sentence would have to be spelled out.

The whole city became greatly excited, and while

most people were incredulous many became pro-

found believers in the truth of the alleged revela-

tions. At last a public demonstration was given

in Corinthian hall on November 9th, 1849, after

which a committee of five citizens was agreed upon

by those present to make a thorough investigation
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and report at a subsequent meeting. A few days

later they reported that they had been unable to

discover the means by which the noises were pro-

duced. This did not satisfy the general expecta-

tion; the people wanted exposure, and they must
have it ; so another committee was appointed, with

the same result, and finally a third. All the fif-

teen members of these different committees were

men of the very highest standing in the com-

munity, of unblemished character and all of them,

without exception, absolute disbelievers in the new
system. This last committee, determined to suc-

ceed where the others had failed, made a more

thorough investigation than their predecessora,

subjecting the mediums to the most rigorous tests

and having their clothing examined by trust-

worthy women, selected for the purpose, to see if

any artificial appliances were concealed. On the

appointed evening Corinthian hall was crowded,

but unfortunately the audience comprised a large

number of lawless rowdies who went there for

the purpose of creating a disturbance, and equal-

ly unfortunately the mediums were present on the

stage to hear what they felt confident would be

their vindication. The committee reported that

all their tests had been futile and that the rap-

pings had been plainly audible when the girls

were standing on feather pillows or on glaSiS,

without shoes, and when placed in other positions.

A moment of stillness and then a mad rush for

the platform. Blood would have been shed despite

all the efforts of the police and the lives of the

girls might have been sacrificed had it not been

that S. W. D. Moore, then police justice and after-

ward mayor of the city, a man of unusual size and

strength, sprang forward and with his powerful

arm beat back the foremost of the mob until their

intended victims had been taken out by a back

door and conveyed to a place of safety. After that

outbreak the Fox sisters were allowed to pursui;

their activities without molestation and all the

various phases of modern spiritualism were event-

ually evolved from the "llochester knockings."

SLAVERY AND rilEEDOM.

To many of the readers of this book African

slavery in America is only historical, but to many

others, although that system never existed in our

midst, the recollections of its blighting influence

still remain. Perhaps in no other community of

the North was there a more intense feeling of hos-

tility to slavery and of indignation over the wrongs

inflicted upon the negro. Colonel Rochester, the

founder of the city, was the first emancipationist

here, for, though he brought up ten slaves with

him from Maryland in 1810, he freed them all

after reaching Dansville, as ho would do nothing

to perpetuate tlie institution even in its mildest

form. At a later day Myron Holley, co-parent

with De Witt Clinton of the Erie canal, was
most active in that field of philanthropy. In 1839

he started the Rochester Freeman, in which hi'

urged the policy of independent political action

on the part of those opposed to slavery; in Sep-

tember of that year the Monroe county convention,

which was the first to be held for that purpose in

the country, adopted an address and a series of

resolutions prepared by Mr. Holley, who thereby

became, more than any other one person, the

founder of the Liberty party, for from this con-

vention sprang that of the state, held in the suc-

ceeding January at Arcade, Wyoming county, and

from that the national convention held in the fol-

lowing April at Albany, which nominated James

G. Birney for the presidency; after Mr. Holley's

death, in 1841, the party acknowledged his serv-

ices by putting up to his memory an imposing

monument in Mt. Hope cemetery. From that time

on, anti-slavci'y conventions frequently met hero,

and in the early fifties many popular fairs were

held in Corinthian hall, from the platform of

which, on the 35th of October, 1858, William H.

Seward uttered his memorable prediction about

"the irrepressible conflict between opposing and

enduring forces."

Still more was Rochester distinguished as one

of the principal stations of the "underground rail-

road," that mysterious route of travel from the

bondage of the South to freedom beyond the

border. For a great many years between one hun-

dred and two hundred fugitives passed througli

here annually, and, while there were half a dozen

houses, not many more, if any, ready to shelter

them temporarily, they most frequently found their

way to the residence of Mrs. Amy Post, on Sophia

street, guided thither by the same recondite sys-

tem of information that liad directed them as

far as this city. There they would lie hidden, some-

times one at a time, once as many as fifteen in
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the party, sometimes for a few hours, sometimes

for several days, until the watchfulness of govern-

ment spies was relaxed and a peculiarly dark night

had fallen, when they would be driven in a closed

vehicle down to the foot of Buell avenue, from

which point the regular steamer, sailing under th?.

British flag, would carry them across the lake to

Canada. It ie remarkable that although these facts

of concealment were known to many people, black

and white, there was never any betrayal of the

secret, and the warrants, of which there were many

in the pockets of the officers, were never served.

Scarcely less remarkable is it that the only rendi-

tion that ever took place here was in 1823, long

before there was any agitation on the subject or

anything like a general migration had set in. A

young woman who had escaped was living hero

in fancied security with her husband, but the

human bloodhounds got after her, she was ar-

rested, taken to Buffalo and put on a boat io:

Cleveland, whence she was to be carried to Wheel-

ing, Virginia; knowing the fate that awaited hev

she gained her freedom at a stroke by cutting her

throat. No other arrest was ever attempted in

this city. The infamous fugitive slave law was

passed in 1851, but that instead of helping the

South only served to increase the ill feeling at

the North, until before a decade had passed the

great war broke out.

THE CIVIL WAR.

When Abraham Lincoln passed through here on

the way to his first inauguration in 1861 the

thousands who poured down to the old Central

station in the gray dawn of the morning to catci

a glimpse of him on the rear platform of hia

train were not actuated by mere curiosity, but felt

that it was the prelude to a coming struggle, aad

when his proclamation was issued on the 15th of

April, calling for 75,000 volunteers to put down

the southern rebellion, there was no surprise, but

rather a feeling of relief that the great issue was

to be decided at last. Rochester responded nobly;

the common council immediately appropriated $10,-

000 to defray urgent expenses, a public meeting

was held in the city hall to pledge support to the

Union, and over $40,000 was raised by subscrip-

tion for the support of the families of volunteers.

Nearly a thousand men were enlisted within 9

week under the direction of Professor Isaac F.

Quinby, of the university; early in May they left

for Elmira, where, with the addition of one com-

pany from Livingston county, they were organized

into what has always been here called afl'cctionate-

ly the "Old Thirteenth," being our first regiment;

on the 30th they were sent to the front under

command of Colonel Quinby, being the first vol-

unteer regiment (in conjunction with the Twelfth

New York) to pass through Baltimore after the

attack on the Massachusetts Sixth on the 19th of

April. On Thanksgiving day of that year tlie

Eighth cavalry, which had been recruited durini?

the summer, marched away. They, with the Thir-

teenth, the One Hundred and Eighth and the One

Hundred and Fortieth, were pre-eminently fight-

ing regiments, the pride of Rochester, although no

discrimination is thereby intended against ths

many others in which there were companies from

this city and which distinguished themselves on

many sanguinary fields.

The feverish enthusiasm of the first summer

gave place to a grim determination in 1862, when

another call for troops was made and Rochester

settled down to the business. The plaza in front

of the court-house was dotted with recruiting tents,

while others were pegged down at the Four Cor-

ners and in other places, even in the outlying

wards, the people bearing with equanimity the in-

convenience that was caused to travel and to traffic

and the runaway accidents that were occasioned

by horses getting entangled in the tent-ropes. For

the temporary quarters of the regiments that were

being raised Camp Hillhouse was established on

the east side of the river, in Brighton, and when
that had to be abandoned Camp Pitzjohn Porter

was installed on the west side, near the Rapids.

In spite of all, tlie number of enlistments was
not sufficient and in August, 1863, the dreaded

conscription took place, when 1,096 names were

drawn from the wheel by Robert H. Fenn, a re-

spected citizen who was totally blind. It then

seemed as though the limit had been reached, that

nothing further could be borne, but another call

for troops was made, for three hundred thousand

<t first, the number demanded being increased to

half a million before that new army was raised.

Efforts unparalleled before were put forth to avert

the calamity of another conscription, and they

were successful; to each recruit the county gave

three hundred dollars, the city something addi-
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tional to that and each ward still another bonua,

besides which many persons secured their exemp-

tion by paying large sums to substitutes. Promi-

nent among the warlike episodes of this period were

the frequent military funerals, of which the most

impressive was that of Colonel Patrick H.

O'Eorke, of the One Hundred and Fortieth, who

fell at Gettysburg on the 2d of July, 1863, and

was buried here on the 15th of that month. Some

relief from these mournful spectacles, though with

similar associations, was afforded by the graad

bazaar for the benefit of sick and wounded sol-

diers, held at Corinthian hall during the third

week in December of that year, which will never be

forgotten by those who visited it and which raised

for the cause more than $15,000. As the quotas

for troops were apportioned among the different

counties, not among the cities, that subject falls

more properly under the former political division

and will be treated in the next chapter.



CHAPTER VII

THE COUNTY IN TUB GREAT WAR.

The Call to Arms—Monroe's Response—Ten

Thousand Men Enlisted—Our Regiments, Bat-

talions and Companies of Infantry, Cavalry, Ar-

tillery, Sharpshooters and Engineers—Engage-

ments in which they Participated—Their

Losses and Their Achievements—General Of-

ficers—Grand Army of the Repullic.

Monroe county was one of the first in the state

to respond to the call for troops in April, 1861.

In some sections the militia were called at once

into requisition and a whole regiment of the old

citizen soldiery would be mustered into the ser-

vice, with its organization intact, but, with few

exceptions, such as that of the Seventh, of New

York city, that policy did not work well and was

speedily abandoned. In the first place, it led to

confusion, as, for instance, in the case of the

Thirteenth. A militia regiment of that number

was sent into the field from the eastern part of the

state, and at the same time the Thirteenth New

York Volunteers was raised in this county and

mustered in under that designation, the conse-

quence being that when the Thirteenth New York

was spoken of no one knew, except locally, which

regiment was referred to. But a worse evil arose

when the great majority of the members oC some

regiment with n local reputation tliat they wished

to preserve by the retention of their title in

which they took so much pride, desired to enlist

in a body; that caused a strong moral pressure

to be brought upon the other members, who if

they stayed at home were subjected to much ein-

hiva-assiiieut and mortilioation, wiiilc if tliey went

to the war it might be at a sacrifice known only to

themselves and their families. So the method of

individual enlistments was found to be the best

way, both in the Civil war and in the Cuban war

a few years ago.

How many soldiers did Monroe county send

to the front? The question is not easy to answer

with any exactitude. Some companies that were

raised here were credited to regiments that were

raised elsewhere, while, on the other hand, whole

companies enlisted in other places were trans-

ferred to Monroe county regiments. When a cer-

tain quota had been apportioned to each coimty a

deficiency in one county would bo made up by the

actual purchase of Buri)lus unlistmcnts in another,

and sometimes the very county thus paying for

outside recruits would find that it had an unneces-

sary number and would dispose of them as best

it could. Many actual residents of Monroe county

enlisted elsewhere, while many joined the army

here whose homes were in other places. This lat-

ter was true on a large scale in 1864, when the

immense bounties were offered t^iat have been al-

luded to in the previous chapter, which were so

powerful an inducement that many foreigners tem-

porarily resident here joined the ranks and great

numbers came over from Canada for that express

purpose. The eulirc absence of patriotism ren-

dered tliese mercenary warriors of no great ac-

count in the field, to say nothing of the frequent

desertions that occurred before they got there. The

nearest approach, then, that can be made to ar-

riving at any estimate is to say that in all about

ten thousand enlisted in the county, which, as th(^
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number of inliabitauts was then in the neighbor-

hood of one hundred thousand, was one for every

ten, or about half of the entire voting population.

The following may be considered as a roster of our

troops, together with a statement of the principal

engagements in which they served:*

Thirteenth Infantry.—The nucleus of this

was the old Rochester Light Guard, from

among which Captain Robert F. Taylor

raised a large part of Company A on tho

very day after President Lincoln's proclamation

reached this city. Other companies were soon en-

listed in tile county, under Captains Lebbeus

Brown, Adolpli Nolte (a company wholly Ger-

man), Francis A. Schoellel and Henry B. Wil-

liams. These five companies were mustered into

the state service on the 25th of April, and a few

days later five more were raised, under Captains

Hiram Smith, George W. Lewis, William F. Tul-

ley, Horace J. Thomas (a company raised wholly

in Brockport) and Carl Stcphan (recruited in

Livingston county, mainly in Dansville). These

ton companies were trauported to Elmira on the

4th of May and there organized as a regiment,

which on the 14th of May was mustered into the

United States service for three months—though it

actually served two years—with 780 officers and

men, the regimental officers being Isaac F. Quin-

by, of tlie faculty of the university and a grad-

uate of West Point, colonel; Carl Stcphan, lieu-

tenant-colonel ; Oliver L. Terry, major ; Charles J.

Powers, adjutant; Montgomery Rochester, quar-

termaster; David Little, surgeon; George W.

Avery, assistant surgeon; J. D. Barnes of Bing-

hamton, chaplain. On the 29th of May the regi-

ment went through Baltimore, the company in ad-

vance marching in full company front, the width

of the roadway, to guard against attack by the

mob. The Thirteenth's first battle was that of

Bull Run, where it lost sixty-five men in all. In

August Colonel Quinby resigned and was suc-

ceeded by John Pickell, an old regular army of-

ficer, who left the service in the following spring

when Elisha 6. Marshall, also of the regulars, took

the command. It participated in all the "seven

days' battles" near Richmond, in one of which.

•The present writer had occasion, some twelve years ago, to

prepare an account of Monroe county's war record. The in-

formation desired was obtained, with a good deal of research,
almost entirely from official sources, and, as it is unqu'estionably
accurate, it is thought best to transfer it, with practically no
alteration, from the pages of the book in which it first ap-
peared, the "Landmarks of Monroe County."

that of Gaines Mills, where its strength was only

400, it lost 101 in killed, wounded and missing.

Having been engaged in the second batitle of Bull

Run, at Antietam and at Fredericksburg, it came
home in May, 1863, with a loss in all its fights of

465 men. Its officers on the return were E. G.

Marshall, colonel; F. A. Schceffel, lieutenant-col-

onel; George Hyland, jr., major; Job C. Hedges,

adjutant; Samuel S. Partridge, quartermaster;

David Little, surgeon; Charles E. Hill and Isaac

V. Mullen, assistant surgeons ; E. M. Cooley, Mark
J. Bunnell, Jerry A. Sullivan, John Weed, Charles

C. Brown, A. Galley Cooper and Henry Lomb,
captains ; James Hutchinson, E. P. Becker, Homer
Foote, J. Elliot Williams, J. M. Richardson, J. H.

Wilson, John Marks, Edward Martin, W. R. Mc-
Kinnon, first lieutenants ; James Stevenson, James
D. Bailey, Thomas Jordan, John Cawthra, Gustav

Spoor, W. J. Hines, E. F. Hamilton, D. S. Barber

and E. C. Austin, second lieutenants.

TwcnUj-Fifih Infantry.—This regiment , al-

though it had no enlisted men from Mon-

roe county, was largely officered from the

Thirteenth, after the former had become de-

moralized and its colonel, James B. Kerrigan, a

New York city politician, had been dismissed

from the service. The officers thus transferred

were Lieutenant-Colonel E. S. Gilbert, Major

Shcppard Oleason, Captains Benjamin F. Harris,

Tliomas E. Bishop, James S. Graham, W. W. Con-

nor and Albert W. Preston; first lieutenants

Thomas Coglan and W. W. Bates. It was brigaded

with the Thirteenth and passed through the same

battles after that.

Twenty-Sixth Infantry.—This was raised

mostly in Utica, but two of its companies,

under Captains Gilbert S. Jennings and Thomas

Davis, were recruited in Monroe county. Its bat-

tles were those of Bull Run, Centerville, Antietam

and Fredericksburg.

Twenty-Seventh Infantry:—This was mainly a

a Syracuse regiment with Henry W. Slocum as

colonel, but one company was raised in Rochester,

that of Captain George C. Wanzer, with Charles

S. Baker and E. P. Gould as lieutenants. Henry

L. Achilles, jr., who lived in this city after the

war, was in command of Company K, which was

raised in Albion, Orleans county. The regiment

suffered severely at Bull Run and was in the Seven

days' battles, at Antietam and at Fredericksburg.
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Twenty-Eighth Infantry.—Here there was no

complete organization from tli is county, but many

men were enlisted here, and Charles H. Fenn, of

Rochester, was one of the captains. Its ha/rdest

fight was at Cedar Mountain, where it headed a

brigade that charged three times against the en-

emy's lines, and after the battle only 150 men of

the regiment could be mustered.

Thirty-Third Infcmtry.—In this case also, there

was no complete company from Monroe, although

240 recruits were sent to it from Rochester and its

colonel was R. P. Taylor, transferred from a cap-

taincy in the Thirteenth. It lost heavily at An-

tietam and at Fredericksburg, where it stormed

the heights.

Eighty-Ninth Infantry.—One company from

Monroe was in this regiment, which was raised

' principally in the southern tier and was called

"the Dickinson Guards." Its first colonel was

Harrison S. Fairchild of Rochester.

One Hundred and Fifth Infantry.—In this

regiment, recruited in several of the western coun-

ties, there were three Monroe companies, those of

Captains McMahon (who became colonel of the

One Hundred and Eighty-Eighth), Bradley aaid

Purcell. Its first lieutenant-colonel was Henry L.

Achilles, sr., of Albion, who was succeeded by

Howard Carroll when it was consolidated with the

Ninety-Fourth; its adjutant was Daniel A.

Sharpe, he and Carroll being from Rochester.

Captain Purcell's company issued from the second

battle of Bull Run with only thirteen men out of

thirty-three; at Antietam Colonel Carroll, then in

command, was mortally wounded.

One Hundred and Eighth Infantry.—^This was

the second regiment raised in the state under the

call for 300,000 troops in 18C2. Having been re-

cruited in less than a month, it left Rochester on

August 19th, under the folowing named officers:

Colonel, Oliver H. Palmer; lieutenant-colonel,

Charles J. Powers; major, George B. Force; ad-

jutant, John T. Chumasero; quartermaster,

Joseph S. Harris; surgeon, John F. Whitbeck:

assistant surgeon, William S. Ely; chaplain,

James Nichols; captains, H. B. Williams, H. S.

Hogoboom, William H. Andrews, J. G. Cramer, A.

K. Cutler, F. E. Pierce, T. B. Yale, E. P. Puller,

William Graebe, Joseph Deverell. Receiving an

ovation in New York city as it passed through,

the regiment was, a month later, in its first battle

at Antietam, where it lost nearly 200 men, among

the killed being Major Force and Lieutenants Tar-

box and Holmes. The hardest fighting of the

regiment was, i)erhaps, at Fredericksburg, where,

after crossing the Rappahannock, it charged again

luid again, at the point of the bayonet, the line of

the enemy ensconced behind a stone wall, but the

constant fire of artillery and infantry that swept

its ranks at last compelled it to retire and recross

the river, where it remained in camp through the

winter. In March, 1863, Charles J. Powers was

niiido a colonel in place of Palmer, resigned, F. E.

Pierce became lieutenant-colonel and Captain

Hogoboom major. After distinguishing itself

again by its firm stand at Chancellorsville, the

regiment two months later made a forced march of

thirty-eight miles to get to Gettysburg in time for

the second day's fight there, in which it served the

guns of a; battery previously captured from the

Confederates, of which the Federal artillerymen

working it on that field had been swept away,

just before the arrival of the One Hundred and

Eighth. At Morton's Ford Colonel Pierce lost

an eye, and at the first day's battle of the Wilder-

uess Colonel Powers was shot through the lungs,

though he eventually recovered. The regiment

was badly cut up at Spottsylvania and again at

Cold Harbor, so that when it was serving in the

front line before Petersburg it had shrunk to less

than a hundred men fit for duty. On the 1st of

June, 1865, it reached home, with 169 men all

told, the following named officers being mustered

out with the regiment: C. J. Powers, colonel; P.

E. Pierce, lieutenant-colonel; F. B. Hutchinson,

quartermaster; Reuben H. Halstead, adjutant; P.

M. Wafer, surgeon; Robert Stevenson, assistant

surgeon; John B. Kennedy, W. H. Andrews, Sam-
uel Porter, J. G. Cramer, S. P. Howard, A. J.

Locke, A. J. Boyd, captains; W. H. Raymond, J.

W. Smith, John 0. Jewell, Chris. Traugott, James
Westcott, Alfred Elwood, H. P. Richardson, Solo-

mon Patzer, first .lieutenants ; Alfred B. Hadley,

John Galvin, second lieutenants.

One Hundred and Fortieth Infantry.—Even

before its predecessor had left, recruiting began

for this regiment, and it followed the other in

just a month, with these officers: Lieutenant-col-

onel, Louis Ernst; major, Isaiah F. Force; adju-

tant, Ira C. Clark; quartermaster, William H.

Crennell; surgeon, Theodore P. Hall; assistant
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surgeons, William 0. Slaytou aud 0. Sprague

Paine; chaplain, Charles Machin; captains, Milo

L. Starks, Cliristian Spies, W. J. Clark, Elwell

S. Otis, Monroe M. Hollister, Benjamin F. Har-

mon, Perry B. Sibley, W. S. Grantsynn, William

F. Campbell, Patrick J. Bowling; first lieuten-

ants, Joseph M. Leeper, August Meyer, Bartholo-

mew Crowley, Henry B. Hoyt, Patrick A. McMul-

len, James H. Knox, Henry E. Richmond, Joseph

H. Suggett, Addison N. Whiting, Patrick H.

Sullivan; second lieutenants, J. D. Decker, Charles

P. Klein, John Buckley, Alex H. McLeod, Benja-

min Ridley, Isaac Simmons, Porter Farley,

Charles H. Burtis, Lewis Hamilton, Hugh Mc-

Qraw. Williiu a year tlio ranks were reinforced

by seventy-six men, under Captain Willard Abbott,

who had belonged to the Old Thirteenth. On the

8th of October the regiment received its first col-

onel, Patrick O'Eorke, formerly a Rochester boy,

a W^est Point graduate and an officer of brilliant

promise, which he w-ell fulfilled during his short

/ life. Although present at Fredericksburg and

Chancellorsville, the first battle in which it suf-

fered any severe loss was that of Gettysburg, where

it assisted in the retention of Little Round Top
against all the assaults of the enemy, and where,

in. repelling a furious charge. Colonel O'Rorke

was shot in the neck and fell dead without a word,

the most illustrious sacrifice that this community

had to make during the war ; in the same action

Captains Starks, Spies and Sibley were seriously

woiinded, Lieutenants Klein and McGraw fatallv

' Lieutenant-Colonel Ernst and Major Force were

then successively in command during the next

month, until George Ryan, a captain in the

Seventh regular infantry, was appointed colonel;

he was a strict disciplinarian and at the same

time very careful of his men, so the regiment was

soon raised to the highest degree of efficiency. In

the battle of the Wilderness it was almost cut to

pieces, losing eleven officers and 257 enlisted men
within the space of half an hour, and three days

later, at Spottsylvania, where Colonel Ryan and

Major Starks were killed, it lost five more officers

and 60 men, so in three days after starting out on

this campaign, 600 strong, it was depleted by 333,

more than half its number. It was present at

Lee's Hurrcndpr at Appomattox, Lieutenant-Col-

onel E._ S. Otis being then in command, and it

reached home on the 6tli of June, 1865, with 290

men. The following named were mustered out

with the regiment: ' William S. Grantsynn, lieu-

tenant-colonel; William J. Clark, major; Robert
J. Lester, adjutant; Eugene H. Shedd, quarter-

master; Henry C. Dean, surgeon; Matthias L.

Lord and George L. Menzie, assistant surgeons.

The names of the line officers cannot be given, as

the muster-out rolls are not accessible.

One Hundred and Fifty-First Infantry.—Al-

though Colonel William Emerson of Rochester

commanded this regiment, it had only one Monroe
county company, under Captain Peter Imo, First

Lieutenant John C. Schoen (who took the place

of Imo, resigned, and who was killed while lead-

ing his men in a ciiarge at Cold Harbor), and

Second Lieutenant George Oaks, who was bre-

vetted major and came home in command of the

company. In this company was Julius Arm-
bruster, who, at the battle of Winchester, was

shot directly between the eyes, the ball coming out

at the back of his neck, yet he returned to the

ranks a few weeks later and lived for many years

afterward—one of the most singular surgical cases

of the war.

Monroe County Sharpshooters.—This was a

company formed in the early part of 1863 under

Captain Abijah C. Gray; it was known as the

Sixth company of Sharpshooters and was not

attached to any regiment.

Third Cavalry.—^During the summer of 1861

this regiment was recruited. One company was

from Rochester, that of Captain Charles Fitz-

simmons, which, with a company raised in Syra-

cuse, was the first volunteer cavalry mustered into

the United States service. Four other companies,

under Captains Alonzo SteaTns, Judson Downs,

John M. Wilson and Nathan P. Pond, were raised

in the county, mainly outside of the city, and an-

other company was added just before the regiment

started, that of George W. Lewis, who had been

transferred from the Thirteenth. The officers

were: Colonel, James H. Van Allen; lieutenant-

colonel, Simon H. Mix (appointed colonel on the

resignation of Van Allen in 1863) ; major, John

Mix (lieutenant-colonel in 1863) ; adjutant, Sam-

uel C. Pierce (subsequently also lieutenant-col-

onel) ; surgeon, William H. Palmer; assistant sur-

geon, Frederick Douglas. Captain Lewis became

ranking major; the junior majors were Charles

Fitzsimmons, Jephthah Garrard and George W.
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Cole; Alonzo Stearns and Israel Henry Putnam

afterward became majors; Captain Pond became

lieutenant-colonel of the First United States col-

ored cavalry, and among others who gained pro-

motion were: Major Maurice Leyden, Adjutants

George D. Williams and William L. Ogden; Cap-

tains Walter S. Joy and James E. Chamberlin;

Lieutenants Milton H. Smith, Sherman Greig and

John Gregory. The regiment was with Burnside

in North Carolina and after that it performed

good service in the army of the James.

Eighth Cwvalry.—This was recruited in the aut-

umn of 1861, very largely from the towns of Moa-

roe, though some enlistments were made in other

counties. Its original enlistment was for onn

year, but at the end of that time the whole regi-

ment was mustered in again and served during the

war. Its first officers were Samuel J. Crooks, colo-

nel (who resigned the next February) ; Charles

E. Babbitt, lieutenant-coloned ; William L. Markell

and W. H. Benjamin, majors ; James Chapman,

surgeon; Rev. Dr. John A. Van -Ingen, chaplain.

In 1863 Captain Benjamin F. Davis, of the regu-

lar army, became its colonel, but he was shot

dead at Beverly Ford by an ambushed Confederate,

who, in turn, was instantly killed by Adjutant E.

Bloss Parsons. Colonel Davis was succeeded in

command by Lieutenant-Colonel Markel, he by

Lieutenant-Colonel Benjamin, and he by Ed-

ward M. Pope as full colonel. Participating in

nearly foriiy battles, the Eighth won its greatest

distinction in charging General Early's entrench-

ments at Waynesboro, wliere, under coinmand of

Major Hartwell B. Compton, it captured ten bat-

tle-flags, six guns and 1,300 prisoners. It re-

turned home under command of Colonel Pope and

Ijieutenant-Colonel James Bliss.

Twenty-First Cavalry.—Four companies from

Monroe, under Captains John S. Jennings, Wil-

liam Godley, David A. Signor and James S.

Graham, were in this regiment, which was raised

in the fall of 1863. Its first lieutenant-colonel

was Charles Pitzsimmons, previously of the Third

cavalry. Its hardest fighting was in the Shenan-

doah valley, where it was left as a guard after

Sheridan moved on to Richmond for the final

struggle. After Lee's surrender it was sent to

Colorado and mustered out in detachments.

Twenty-Second Cavalry.—Seven companies re-

cruited partially in Monroe were in this regiment.

which left the state in March, 1864. Samuel J.

Crooks, previously of the Eighth cavalry, was the

first colonel, but during most of its service it was

commanded by Major Caleb Moore, wlio had bee i

detailed from the Eighth, the two regiments being

brigaded together in Custer's division and fight-

ing in the same battles during the last year of the

war. Among the officers were Jacob Fisher, A. K.

Tower, James H. Nellis, Frank A. Callister,

Henry P. Starr and others from this county.

First Veteran Cavalry.—Eight of the twelve

companies of this regiment were raised partially

in Monroe county. It was recruited by Robert F.

Taylor, its first colonel, in 1863, leaving the stale

in detachments, as the companies were mus-

tered in.

The Reynolds Battery.—By this name the com-

pany of artillerymen raised here in September,

1861, was always known, at least locally, though

'ts real name was Battery L, First New York ar-

tillery, as it was incorporated with that regiment

after leaving Rochester. It served with great

credit during the whole war after its enlistment,

its principal engagements being at Front Royal,

South Mountain, Antietam, Gettysburg (where it

lost one gun, which at a later period of the war

was recaptured and restored to the battery), Spott-

sylvania, the North Anna and Petersburg. Its

first officers were Captain John A. Reynolds (who

left the battery in May, 1863, having been pro-

moted major and rising afterward to be chief of

artillery, first of the twelfth corps, then of Hook-

er's command at Lookout Mountain, then of the

army of Georgia during Sherman's march to the

sea) and Lieutenants Edwin A. Loder and Gil-

bert H. Reynolds, the last-named becoming the

captain after the promotion of his brother, as

Loder had become incapacitated by a wound be-

fore that. Tlie battery came home with tlie fol-

lowing named officers: George Breck, captain

(brevet major) ; William H. Sheldon, D. M. Per-

rine and E. 0. Kinne, lieutenants.

Mack's Battery.—This was always the home
name of an organization recruited in the summer
of 1862 and mustered in on the 13th of Septem-

ber. It was not attached to any regiment, and

its official title was the Eighteenth Independent

battery, New York light artillery. Its first offi-

cers were Albert G. Mack, captain; George H
Munvford and George S. Curtis, first lieutenants;
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George P. Davis, secoud lieutenant; subsequently

Franklin Van Dake became first lieutenant, Stal-

ham L. Williams, A. B. McConnell and D. W.
McConnell second lieutenants.

Barnes's Rifle Battery.—This was officially

known as the Twenty-sixth independent battery.

It left the state December 4th, 1863, under Cap-

tain J. Warren Barnes. Like the foregoing, it

served in the far South and was in Banks's expedi-

tion.

Eleventh Artillery.—Recruiting for this regi-

ment began in Rochester in February, 1862, under

Colonel William B. Barnes. Four companies had

been raised, under Captains William Church,

Seward F. Gould, lleury V. Merrill and William

F. Goodwin, up to June 24th, when they were

hurriedly ordered to Pennsylvania to assist in re-

polling Lee's invasion. After the Gettysburg cam-

paign those companies were transferred to the

Fourth New York artillery, and others which had

been recruited by Major II. B. Williams were put

into the Thirteenth artillery.

Fourteenth Artillery.—The hideous draft riots

broke out in New York in July, 1863, and before

the enlistment of this regiment was half com-

pleted a portion of it, 200 strong, were ordered off,

on a moment's notice, to protect that city against

the mob. On August 15th they returned and the

regiment was mustered in by companies during

the latter part of the year. Its first officers wera

Elisha G. Marshall, colonel; Clarence A. Corning,

lieutenant-colonel; William H. Reynolds, major;

Job C. Hedges, adjutant. The familiarity of two

of those names will show that it consisted largely

of veterans, many of the men recruited in Momoe
county having been members of the Old Thir-

teenth. Having served during its first winter as

heavy artillery in the forts of New York harbor,

it went into the field as infantry in April, 186 i.

Its first engagement was at Spottaylvania and i's

most brilliant achievement was at Petersburg,

where it stormed the breastworks and captured 300

prisoners, but during the fight Colonel Marshall

was wounded and Major Hedges was killed, being

succeeded by Joseph P. Cleary. Captain Eugene

T. Curtis, afterward on General Carr's staff, and

perhaps other Rochester men also were in the

Sixtccntii artillery.

Fiftieth Engineers.—This, raised as infantry in

1861, was afterward converted into an engineer

regiment, its original numerical designation be-

ing retained—a ridiculous thing, as there were
only three engineer regiments in the state. One
of the later companies, mustered into service in

December, 1863, was recruited partially in Roch-
ester.

In addition to the regiments named above there

were many residents of the county, both officers

and enlisted men, who entered other organizations,

but it would be practically impossible to trace

them all. Throughout the long conflict the honor

of Monroe was well sustained by those of its sons

who laid down their lives to preserve the nation

and by those who survived to enjoy the blessings

of a more perfect Union. Though none of our

citizens rose to an independent command during

the war, twelve of them acquired the rank of gen-

eral officers—John H. Martindale, brigadier and

brevetted major-general; Isaac F. Quinby, briga-

dier; Elisha G. Marshall and Charles J. Powers,

both brevetted major-generals for desperate bra-

very, and the following brevetted brigadier-gen-

erals: Harrison S. Fairchild, Charles Fitzsim-

mons, W. H. Benjamin, John McMahon, Francis

E. Pierce, Edmund M. Pope, Oliver H. Palmer

and Elwell S. Otis. Of all these the only one

known to be living is the last named, who after

the civil war had closed accepted an appointment

as lieutenant-colonel in the regular army, in which

he rose to the highest attainable grade ; having ac-

quired distinction by his long service in Indian

campaigns in the far West, he became majoi-

general and for some time occupied the position

of military governor of the Philippine islands;

on reaching the age limit a few years ago his

active connection with the army came to an end

and since then he has been living in well-earned

i-etirement on his farm in the town of Gates.

THE GIIAND ARMY.

There are a number of posts of the Grand Army

of the Republic in Monroe county, those in the

city being as follows, with their respective com-

manders in 1906 : O'Rorke post, number 1, Robert

Morgan; George H. Thomas post, John A. Rey-

nolds; Peissner post, John Roppelt; Charles J.

Powers post, Josias W. Jones; E. G. Marshall

post, James S. Graham; I. F. Quinby post, L. H.

Curtis; F. E. Pierce post, I. H. Chatfield; Myron

Adams post, Henry S. Redman. Those outside of
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the city are the Lewis Gates post, in Honeoye
Falls, Hinman Smith; the Cady post, ia Brock-

port, P. Miller ; the B. J. Tyler post, in Pittsford,

John B. Bacon; the John H. Martindale post, in

Spencerport, Oreb T. Hubbell; the Thomas Farr

post, in Webster, Eiehard Morley, and the E. A.

Slocum post, in Fairport, J. J. Fassett. Besides

these the Old Thirteenth, the One Hundred and

Fortieth and the Reynolds battery have preserved

their independent organizations and are, as well as

the W. T. Sheiman command of the Union Vet-

erans Union, considered as posts of the Grand

Army. Then there are the L. Bordmaii Smith

camp of Spanish War Veterans, J. W. Cook com-

mander; four camps of Sons of Veterans, six or-

ganizations of Women's Belief Corps and a num-
ber of other bodies more or less directly connected

with it.
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CHAPTER VIII

llOCHBSTEll AFTER THE WAll.

The Great Flood of 1865—Three Illustrious Citi-

zens—Morgan, Green and Douglass—The Water

Works—Boards of Administration—Loan As-

sociations—The Telephone and Other Strikes—
Civil Service Reform—The Park System—The

Semi-Centennial—The Grip and Other Diseases

—Individual Communion Gups—The Soldiers'

Monument—Miscellaneous Items.

The great war was over, but one reminder of it

was yet to come, when the news flashed over ths

wires on the night of April 14th, 1865, that Presi-

dent Lincoln had been murdered that evening, shot

by the assassin, J. Wilkes Booth, while he was

attending a performance of "Our American Cous-

in" at Ford's theater in Washington. Before the

next day had closed our city was draped in mourn-

ing; on the 19th, the day of the ceremony at the

capital, there was a mock funeral here, in which,

after services had heen held in all the churches,

a procession of greater length than that of any

known in Eochester up to that time followed a

car bearing a cenotaph through the streets to the

court-liouee square, where an oration was deliv-

ered by Roswell Hart ; there was an informal turn-

out of large numbers when at 3 o'clock on tha

morning of the 27th the train passed through here,

carrying the remains to Springfield, 111.

THE FLOOD OF 1865.

Tlie year of 1865 has always been known here

since then as tlie "year of the flood." There had

been very cold weatlicr with a heavy fall of snow

in the early part of March, when a thaw came on

quite suddenly, causing a freshet up the valley.

Such things had occurred here before, so no great

alarm was felt until Friday, the 17th, when the

bed of tlic (Jeiiesee Valley canal was filled up and

llic water overflowed its banks, soon after which

the Erie canal became unable to contain what wa?

poured into it from the feeder, and the river rose

to a height above the tops of the aqueduct arches,

so that it spread itself over Exchange street.

Through that thoroughfare and State street the

water rushed with the greatest violence, submerg-

ing all the lower floors in the central part of the

city and iuundaling tlic gas works, so that the

whole town was plunged in total obscurity just

as the darkness fell and artificial light was most

needed. During all of that night and through

Saturday morning the water kept rising in the

streets, where boats were used where the current

was not too rapid to permit of it, to rescue people

from apparent danger and to supply the hungry

with necessary food; late in the day the flood be-

gan to abate, but it was not till Sunday afternoon

that the streets were entirely clear, not clean, for

the nllnvial deposit of mud was ankle deep. Light

was not restored for several days, as many of the

gas mains had been broken ; all railroad commuai-

cation was suspended for two days, as the east-

ward track was torn up by freshets between here

and Syracuse and no trains could get into the

old station on the west side, while it was long

after that before through travel was resumed, as

both the New York Central bridge and the Erie

railroad had been swept away at the early stage of

the performance; the direct loss to property was
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over a million dollars, but that was ofiEset by th*)

feeling of satisfaction in the minds of all but thn

immediate sufCerers that amid all the confusion

not a single life had been lost.

The trouble being over, Daniel Marsh, the eu-

gineer, was employed by the city to examine into

the causes of the disaster ; he reported that it was

due entirely to the encroachments upon the bed

of the river between the upper falls and the

aqueduct, making the channel too narrow in that

space to drain a territory of twelve hundred

square miles. To go deeper into tlie matter and

to ascertain the means for preventing a repetition

of the catastrophe the legislature appointed a

commission of three citizens, with Levi A. Ward

as chairman. General I.' F. Quinby, the engineer

of this commission, having examined the river

quite thoroughly between the city and Geneseo,

found that the openings in the Brie railroad em-

bankment over the flats near Avon were inadequate

to carry off the great volume of water that came

down, so that a temporary lake had been formed,

extending from the embankment as far south as

Geneseo; that the water rose high enough to

sweep away twelve hundred feet of that obstruc-

tion and so the vast reservoir, having broke.i

loose, was suddenly precipitated upon the city.

After that the openings in the embankment were

greatly enlarged, thereby lessening the peril but

not eliminating it, by any means. Indeed, it

seemed on the point of recurrence only two yenrs

later, when the ice became gorged at the piers of

the Erie railway bridge, throwing the water into

the Genesee Valley canal, which overflowed into

some of the streets in the third and eighth wards
and filled the cellars and basements of the fac-

tories on Brown's race. Since then there have

been frequent alarms from the rising water in the

spring and the danger of another deluge will

never be removed until some radical measures are

taken to prevent it.

LEWIS H. MOKOAN.

Three distinguished men lived in Eochestei

during this period, whose fame extended far be-

yond the confines of this locality, so that in for-

eign lands the name of the city became' known
by reason of what they had accomplished. Lewis
H. Morgan was bom at Aurora, Cajruga county,

November 31st, 1818. Having graduated at Union

college in 1840, he came to Rochester and settled

down to the practice of the law, in which he soon

acquired an enviable position, but ho gradually

withdrew from that to devote hhnself to the

ethnological studies in which he took a constantly

growing interest. Even in early life he had been

attracted to the Indian race, associating much

with them and becoming intimately acquainted

with their habits, their customs and their language.

This knowledge took shape in papers that ho read

before learned societies and these essays were

finally given to the world in book form, in 1851,

under the title "The League of the Iroquois," +o

which reference has been made in an earlier chap-

ter. In that he described minutely the constitu-

tion by which that remarkable confederacy was

held together and more particularly the peculiar

relationship by which persons who had never seen

or heard of each other were supposed to be de-

scended from a common animal ancestor and

therefore, being in that sense brothers and sisters,

precluded from marrying or mating with eacli

other. This discovery, which was absolutely orig-

inal with Mm, only stirred him to further investi-

gation in the same line, and the inquiries that he

made in all parts of the world among the most

primitive races that could be found, through the

medium of missionaries, consular agents and trav-

elers, tepded to show that a similar system had

entered into the life of all peoples as the earliest

stage in sociological development. From this he

formed the opinion that the original unit of so-

ciety was not the family, as had been previously

held by all writers on sociology, but the clan, or

the gens, as he called it. This idea he elaborated

more fully in his "Ancient Society," which is by

far the greatest of all his works and which, while

it did not possess the novelty of his first book,

aroused in Europe a much greater degreee of

comment, which was diverse in its character, for,

while the Germans generally were disposed to ac-

cept his conclusions, the English writers mainly

refused to do so and in some instances combated

his views with the greatest violence. At the re-

quest of the Smithsonian institution he prepared

for publication by that body his "Systems of Con-

sanguinity of the Human Family," an immense

quarto of many hundred pages, in which he traced

out minutely the systems of kinship of more than
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four-fifths of the world, a work of great research

and of much value for reference, though not adapt-

ed to general reading. In the midst of these la-

bors he found time to write a book on the Amer-

ican beaver, which was translated into various

languages, gaining for him the warmest recogni-

tion by Darwin and the honorary membership of

several foreign scientific societies. But he soon

returned to his first love, and his last volume was

on the "Houses and House-Life of the American

Aborigines," the result of his latest inquiries into

the habits of the western Indians and the Aztecs.

Having no fondness for political life, it was rather

against his will that he was elected a member of

the yVsscmhly in lS(il and oC tlic slate Sonnte in

1875, honors which he prized far less than that

of the presidency of the American Association for

the Advancement of Science, which he received

in 1879. He was the most distinguished writer

on anthropology and ethnology that this country

ever produced and the foremost in the world a',

the time of his death, which occurred on the 18th

of December, 1881,

SETH GREEN.

It is always pleasant to the residents of any

city to remember that it was the birthplace of

some beneficent agency. Seth Green, who was

born March 17th, 1817, lived here from an early

age till the time of his death on the 20th of Au-

gust, 1888. He was not a scholar, like the one

we have just been remembering, but he found

his "books in the running brooks," and old Izaak

Walton would have hailed him as a pupil who had

improved upon his master in his skill with the

rod and his knowledge of the finny tribe. While

conducting a fish market on Front street he con-

ceived the idea of an artificial propagation and

devoted his attention to the means of protecting

the spawn of salmon from the males, who ate it

as soon as it was cast. That led him to the dis-

covery in 1864 of artificially impregnating dry

spawn and he began the propagation of fish as a

business in his trout ponds at Caledonia. In 1867,

on the invitation of the fish commissioners of foui

of the New England states, he went to Holyoke,

Massachusetts, and although ho was viciously op-

posed by the professional anglers, who, foreseeing

that he might diminish their profits, repeatedly

broke his nets and threw other obstacles in his

way, he succeeded by his improvements in hatch-

ing fifteen million shad in a fortnight, thereby

quadrupling the natural product of the Con-
necticut river. His work was shortly afterward

extended to other important streams, such as the

Hudson, the Potomac and the Susquehanna, where

he propagated fifteen of the more common species

with vastly increased production. In 1868 he was

appointed, with ex-Governor Seymour and Robert

B. Roosevelt, one of the fish commissioners of New
« York and superintendent of fisheries of the state,

which purchased his hatchery at Caledonia for

the purpose of facilitating his labors. In 1871 he

transported by mechanical contrivances perfected

by himself and his brother, the late Monroe Green,

the first shad ever taken to California, a feat re-

markable in itself but mainly noteworthy from

the fact that within a few years afterward mil-

lions of that fish were sold on the Pacific coast,

where the commodity had been unknown before.

He suceeded by repeated experiments in hatching

the spawn of about twenty kinds of fish and also

in hybridizing several different varieties that had

little resemblance with each other. His achieve-

ments were recognized in other countries as of the

highest utility and he received several gold and

silver medals from societies in Paris and Berlin,

but these he valued far less than the consciousness,

in which he often expressed the keenest satisfac-

tion, of having cheapened a necessary article of

consumption for millions of his fellow men.

FEEDEUICK DOUGLASS.

The third illustrious citizen was of another race,

another color. Frederick Douglass, born a slai^o

en the eastern shore of Maryland in February,

1815, escaped from bondage when twenty-one years

old. Finding his way up to New Bedford, Massa-

chusetts, he lived there for several years and came

to Rochester in 1847, establishing here a weekly

journal, which he called at first the North

Star, but afterward Frederick Douglass's

Paper, of which he was always the editor

and the principal owner. The common

prejudice against anything like social in-

timacy with the negro gave way in his case before

the uniform urbanity of his deportment and the

dignity of his manner, while the mental ability
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that he possessed caused him to be treated witli

unvarying respect and he never experienced here

the animosity that sometimes assailed liiin in other

places. Ill addition to his cditoi'iiil liibofs ho was

frequently called away not only to attend anti-

slavery conventions, where he was always a promi-

nent figure, but to deliver lectures on various

subjects usually connected more or less directly

with the wrongs of his race. In this he was at hi^

best, and he never failed to receive, at least in

Rochester, the fullest admiration of attentive audi-

TIIE DOUGLASS MONUMENT.

enees, even where many of his hearers failed to

agree with him, for he was an orator of the higli-

est grade, excelled, perhaps, by no American of

his time except Henry Ward Beecher in the pef-

Buasive force of his delivery. In 1859 a requisi-

tion from Governor Wise of Virginia was sent

to Albany demanding the surrender of Douglass

on the charge of complicity in the raid of John
Brown, of which he was undoubtedly innocent and

which was probably made the excuse for obtain-

ing possession of him quietly and then holding

him as a runaway slave. He was strongly in-

clined to remain, resist arrest and make a fight

for his porniiuieiit liberty, which would undoubt-

edly have brought on a bloody riot, but ho yielded

to tlio advi(!0 oC friends who urged that ho owed

too much to the hospitality of the city to bring

it into trouble and disrepute, so he got across the

Canadian border at night and went to England,

where he stayed for months; while there his free-

. dom was purchased by the duchess of Sutherland

and other women, to which he consented with great

reluctance, unwilling to acknowledge that he or

. anyone else could be the property of another man.

In the early part of the Civil war, while a strong

friend of the Union, he took no active part in

the matter, but after the emancipation proclama-

tion came out he threw himself into the cause

nnd promoted enlistment by his appeals of passiou-

ate eloquence. In 1870 he removed to Washing-

ton and became the editor of the New National

Era; in 1872 he was chosen presidential elector at

large for the state of New York; in 1876 Presi-

dent Hayes appointed him United States marshal

for the district of Columbia, which office he held

till President Garfield five years later made hiin

recorder of deeds in the district; in 1889 Presi-

dent Harrison appointed him minister to Hayti

and after he had resigned that position the black

republic named him as one of its commissioners to

the Columbian exposition at Chicago. He died

at Washington on the 20th of Eebruary, 1895;

the remains were brought back here for interment

•Hid after the body had lain in state in the city

hall the funeral was held in the Central church,

which was crowded long before the services began

;

Rev. Dr. Taylor made the prayer. Rev. William C.

Gannett delivered the address over the casket. Miss

Susan B. Anthony pronounced a eulogy, and the

benediction was spoken by Rev. Dr. Stebbins. His

life-size figure, molded in bronze, stands in the

open triangle in front of the New York Central

station, recalling to those who knew hiin his ad-

mirable characteristics and furnishing to the down

ti'odderi an incentive to rise to independent man-

hood.

THE W^ATER WOIIKS.

Early in the life of the city the need of some

regular water supply for the extinguishment of

fires was appreciated, and as far back as 1835 the
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legislature incorporated the Rochester Water
Works company, with a capital of $10,000, James

Seymour, Isaac Hills, Isaac R. Elwood, George W.
Pratt and Charles J. Hill being designated to re-

ceive subscriptions. But nothing came of this and

for nearly forty years the city and the insurance

companies had to take their chances, relieved only

by the free use of the Brie canal during the season

of navigation, at the close of which some of the

water would be retained during the winter by the

construction of dams across the channel. A little

later the river was drawn upon at intervals, its

contents being distributed in iron pipes to reser-

voirs in different parts of the city, the principal

one of which, as our older readers will remember,

was sunk under the pavement in front of the

court-house, where the present building now
stands.

As the community increased in size it became

evident that nn unfiiiling siipply of wnkn- luust

be obtained in sonic way, not merely for pur-

poses of protection but almost equally necessary

for domestic use, as the wells of private residences

were becoming more contaminated every year by

the increasing pollution of the soil, and the cis-

tei'us which supplanted them gave us only the

products of the sky, good enough for washing but

not sanitary as a potation. The result of this

was that in 1853 another company was chartered

with authority to expend the avails of $800,000 in

bonds and the same amount of stock. This cor-

poration performed a good deal of labor during tho

next twenty years, laying several miles of pipes

to connect Rochester with three small lakes in

Livingston county, but the work was badly done,

the materials used were of poor construction, re-

peated contracts with the city were violated with

unpunity and when the money had all been spent

an expert engineer was called in, who, after a care-

ful estimate, reported that the total value of the

assets was $222,738, and that it would require

$410,067 to complete the undertaking. The bond-

holders, feeling that they had been swindled, be-

gan proceedings to foreclose the mortgage by which

the bonds were secured, but that only led to the

formation of other companies, nominally, with

diilerent schemes, which need not be described^ to

defraud the city and delude the public. The peo-

ple became disgusted, all hope was abandoned of

the work being done by a private company, and

so, with general approval, the legislature in 1872
passed an act authorizing the appointment of five

commissioners who should do the construction at

the expense of the city.

The mayor appointed Roswell Hart, Edward M.
Smith, William H. Bowman, Charles C. Morse
and Oilman H. Perkins as commissioners; John
Williams, the city treasurer, became the treas-

urer of the commission, Christopher T. Amsden
the secretary and J. Nelson Tubbs the chief engi-

neer, with Emil Kuiehling as principal assistant

and Isaac F. Quinby as consulting engineer. All

kinds of obstacles in the shape of litigation were
thrown in the way of the commissioners, but they

kept on, foi'iiuilatcd a plan at once exhaustive and

comprehensive for supplying the city with pure

water by the gravity system from Hemlock lake,

twenty-eight miles to the south, and also to fur-

nish water from the Genesee river by direct pres-

sure, or what is called the Holly system, pumping

it up into a power house, from whence it should

by powerful engines be sent through the pipes with

a force sufficient for the extinguishment of ordi-

nary fires. The plan was accepted by the mayor

and work was begun at once, the pipes for botli

systems being laid in the same trench where they

were to go through the same streets, the Hemlock

mains being placed on a shelf or bench above the

Holly to allow the branches from either to pass

over or under those of the other. Beginning the

work in the early summer of 1873, it was pushed

so rapidly that on the 18th of February, 1874,

an official test was made of the Holly system, with

surprisingly satisfactory results. From the hy-

drants on Main street, between the Erie canal and

North avenue, fourteen fire streams were sent up

at once by the machinery at the power house to

a height of about a hundred and fifty feet, after-

ward a vertical four-inch jet was made to reach

an elevation of very nearly three Imndred feet,

and a horizontal stream from the same hose was

thrown almost five hundred feet.

The fire water having been thus well provided

for, the labor on the Hemlock system proceeded,

larger mains being used than were at first con-

templated and two reservoirs being built, one in

the town of Rush, a few miles from the lake, and

one near Highland park, just outside the city lim-

its ; in the center of the latter a fountain was con-

structed in the shape of the frustum of a cone.
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the purpose being to provide thus for the constant

aeration of the water, the twenty-one jets some-

times rising together to a height of iifty feet; al

other times only one stream shoots up, reaching aa

elevation of more than a hundred feet, thus pre-

senting throughout the summer months a most

beautiful spectacle visible for fifteen miles. The

work was completed in January, 1876, on the 33d

of which month the water was ilowing througli

twenty-eight and a half miles of conduit and

fifty-eight miles of distribution pipes in th'.'

streets, into the houses of the citizens; when the

life of the commission ceased on the 1st of Oc-

tober of that year the total cost had been a little

less than three million dollars, which naturally

has been much increased since then by reason of

additions and improvements. No better drinking

fluid than the Hemlock can be found in the world

;

the lake is guarded against pollution by the strict-

est provisions, and although in the spring time

a light scum sometimes appears upon the surface

of the water as it is drawn through the taps,

that has been found to be due to vegetable growtli

and is not at all deleterious. The water thus dis-

tributed now amounts to more than twenty mil-

lion gallons daily; with an increasing demand the

supply may become exhausted, to guard against

which catastrophe a company has been formed tc

pump water into the city from the inexhaustiblf

reseiToir of Lake Ontario.

DIFFERENT BOARDS.

At the same time with the formation of the

board of water works commigsioners in 1872 the

legislature passed an act creating the board of

commissioners of public works, with power of

supervision over all the streets, lanes and parks

of the city and with authority to pass ordinances

for public improvements, to let contracts for such

improvements, to supervise their construction

and to confirm the assessment rolls therefor.

Martin Briggs,William Purcell, George H. Thomp-
son, Herman Mutschler and Daniel "Warner
were appointed commissioners. The common
council resented the deprivation of the greater

part of its authority, and in 1876 an act was
passed creating the executive board, which super-

seded the board of commissioners of public works,

but without the authority to pass ordinances and
confirm assessment rolls. As the board of water

commissioners ceased to exist in October of that

year the entire management of the water works

department was conferred upon this new board,

us well us the control of the lire department.

Thomas J. Neville, Philip J. Meyer and Valen-

tine Fleckenstein were elected, and Henry L. Pish.

Ambrose Cram and C. C. Woodworth were ap-

pointed by the mayor as members of this board.

In 1879 the board was divided, one section taking

charge of the street department and the other

section being known as the "water works and fire

board." This plan did not work veiy well, and

so the next year all of these functions were lodged

in the hands of an executive board of three mem-

bers, which ran that part of the city government

until the White charter went into effect in 1900.

LOAN ASSOCIATIONS.

Next to Philadelphia, where there were at one

time more than a hundred thousand houses thaii

had been built with money borrowed from loan

associations, Rochester was for a long period em-

phatically the home of those beneficent institu-

tions. The forerunner was the Monroe Building

and Mutual Loan association, in 1852, and aften

that had failed because the time was not ripe for

it, the Concordia Saving Aid and Loan associa-

tion came into being in 1871 and that was speed-

ily followed by many similar concerns, some of

which lingered along for a while, but they were

not prosperous, being founded upon wrong prin-

ciples. In the first place they were fonned upon

the "terminating" plan, with the idea that they

would accumulate enough in about six years to pay

off all their stock and go out of business. Many

of them also were building lot associations, in

which the corporation would build a number of

houses on a large tract of land which it bought

and for which it had given a blanket mortgage,

trusting that it could sell the houses, always on

the installment plan, at a sufficient advance above

their cost to be profitable to all parties, but the

sales would be slow, the mortgage would come

due and be foreclosed, ending in the collapse of

the whole affair. It finally became evident to ail

discerning persons that a loan association ought

not to be a building association, that it had no

right to go into the real estate business and that

a union of the two vocations would generally be

disastrous.
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rrofiting by these experiments and these fail-

ures, the Homestead Loan association, in 1883,

settled down upon the right basis, by which the

money received for stock was sold to the highest

bidder, whereupon the purchaser of the money

would give a mortgage on the lot that he owned

and tlic house that he intended to build for the

mnounl of his purchase less the premium that he

had bid, and would thereafter make a stated week-

ly payment, of which one-half should go for in-

terest, the other half going for stock, so that it

would in its turn be sold, and when it had with

its accumulated earnings amounted to as much as

the mortgage that document would be canceled,

thereby taking up the stock. The plan was soon

found to be prolitablc, not only to the investor

who was simply a stockholder or depositor, but to

the borrower as well, unless he had paid a highur

premium than anyone who came after him, for his

money would be making as much as the same

iiuiount of any other person. The result was that

these associations increased in number with great

rapiditj', and at the time of their greatest popu-

larity, when there were nearly one hundred of

them, about one-fifth of the whole population had

invested in them. Their loans (or "sales," as

they wore technically called) rose steadily in

amount, soon surpassing those of the four savin>^s

banks of the city, so that during the four years

just previous to 1890 the banks loaned $r),391,-

29.'5.nT, while the associations sold in \hc same. time

$0,989,834.50, an excess in' favor of the latter •)?

$1,098,540.83. All of that irioney was used for

the erection of small and comfortable homes, the

I'orrower being generally the occupant, thus going

far toward making Rochester a city of house-

holders. In this way the usefulness of the system

was clearly shown, and beyond that it had tli'?

inestimable advantage of inducing habits of in-

dustry, of thrift and, above all, of temperance

T.onn associations have of late years lost the favor

with which they were once i-egarded and are no

longer the fashion, but lliere is no reason whv

they should not again be taken up and repeat the

good that they once accomplished.

THE TELEPHONE STRIKE.

The Boll Telephone company of Buffalo, which

a short time before that had laid its wires through

the intermediate counties between the two cities,

opened an office in Rochester in January, 1879;

It was understood at the outset that this was
merely a branch of the American Bell Telephone
company, for it was evidently guided by , orders

from that concern, which admittedly held a large

portion of its stock and had representatives on its

board of directors. Subscribers were readily found

and tlie service was operated by moans of wires

carried for the most part over the lands of pri-

vate individuals, but in 1883 the company felt

strong enough to begin the appropriation of thu

streets of the city. Having obtained from the

common council the right to string wires and erect

poles—provided the latter should be "straight an.^

sightly," it immediately proceeded to disfigure

Main and State streets by the elevation of im-

mense pine sticks, in some cases ninety feet high,

"like the mast of some tall admiral," none of

which had been prepared to .resist the action of

the moist earth, most of which were far from

straight and all of which were placed without the

slightest regard to the convenience of property

owners. At the same time, it being assumed that

the use of the invention had then become a ne-

cessity, the rentals were suddenly raised and all

expostulations were met by the statement that the

total revenue received under the original terms was

not sufficient but that if the patronage were in-

creased the old rate should be restored. Deceived

by this promise, which tlie company probably never

intended to keep, new subscribers came in, till the

number reached nearly one thousand, which was

considered quite large for those days.

The service was extremely poor and the in-

struments were inferior in construction, the re-

ceivers giving forth a loud metallic click that was

calculated to produce deafness in all persons us-

ing them. But not for that did the company care,

or pretend to care; on the contrary, it increased

its extortions and announced that the flat rate of

rentals was to be abandoned and the execrable toll

system substituted for it, in which the lowest pos-

sible price was to be fifty dollars for five hundred

messages within the half-mile radius and six cents

for each message above that number, the fifty dol-

lars being increased to seventy for all subscribers

outside the half-mile limit, making fourteen cents

for each message. This was the final culmination

of inordinate greed ; the patience of the people at
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last gave way and on November 20th, 1886, a tele-

phone strike was inaugurated, practically all of

the subscribers hung up their receivers and at the

same time the common council revoked the license

to use the streets and the public buildings for the

wires. Much inconvenience was caused, but tlie

community soon accustomed itself to the loss of

the service and went without it for a year and a

half; on the 12th of May, 1888, the company

yielded and a settlement was effected by which the

people gained most of the points in dispute. A

few years later a home telephone company was

organized, which will be mentioned in another

chapter.

OTHER STRIKES.

While upon the subject of strikes it might be a?

well to note the long strike at the stove foundries,

which kept several hundred men out of work

from the end of April, 1885, till the 9th of Au-

gust, wlien it was settled by arbitration ; while the

difficulty was at its height the strikers were so vio-

lent in their murderous assaults upon those who

chose to labor that police protection had to be af-

forded to the workmen at the Co-Operative foun-

dry and the Sill stove works. Similar disturb-

ances marked the following years. In 1886 Ihe

masons, demanding the limitation of nine hours

for a day's work, caused a general suspension of

building operations for a month ; early in the sum-

mer of 1887 the troiibles extended to the streoli

laborers, the worst alfair being on Gorham street,

on the 2?th of June, when the strikers attacked

the peaceful diggers in an excavation and ther,

stoned the police who came to the rescue, so that

three officers were badly injured before they iired

into the mob and quelled the riot. A litlo ialei'

was a prolonged strike of the shoe-cutters, in

wliich there was no public disturbance, but there

was much suffering, as some twenty thousand peo-

ple were dependent for their sup»;ort upon those

who went out. In 1889 there was a strike of the

street car drivers, which began on the 3d of April

and was not declared off till the 1st of June, though

many of the old Iiands "went back to work before

that. During the first week there was almost a

complete tie-up of all the lines, then some other

drivers were brought in and the cars began to ru7i

on the principal thoroughfares, though they had

to be preceded, at least on Main street, by a line

of police extending from curb to curb. There was

some rioting, the worst being on North Clinton

street, on April 13th, when the police were fero-

ciously assaidted by the mob, several of the formei

being badly hurt. This little difficulty was prob-

ably instrumental in hastening the transfer of the

old horse car concern, in November of that year,

to the present company, which changed the sys-

tem to the electric as rajjidiy as possible, since

which time there has been no disturbance.

CIVIL SERVICE REFORM.

An important move was made on October 26th,

1882, when the Civil Service J{eform association

was forjiied, in affiliation with the more general

body in New York city, becoming afterward a

member of the Natianol Cicil Service Reform

league, of which Dr. E. M. Moore, as president of

this society, became one of the vice presidents

and member of the executive committee. Soon

after this, through the inlliiencc of the last-named

organization, Congress was induced to pass the

"I'endlelon bill," by which appointments in the

civil service of the United States were thrown opeu

to those who successfully passed a competitive ex-

amination, instead of being confined, as before

that, to those who had political influence and wlio

therefore could obtain places under tne execrable

spoils system, and not otherwise. At almost the

same time the legislature of New York passed ii

similar bill, having regard not only to state em-

ployees but to those engaged in the service of the

different cities. Two boards of local examiners

were appointed here, one to decide upon appli-

cants for positions in i\n\ police and fire depart-

iiienls, the oilier for all olher siibordimite olllcers,

clerks and assistants. Prom the very start both

boards encountered a quiet but determined oppo-

sition from the municipal authorities, the ma-

jority of whom hated the law and could not coin-

prehend how there could be any such thing as ap-

pointment by reason of merit or fitness. The.

mayor, Cornelius R. Parsons, who was friendly to

the law, endeavored to have the various depart-

ments appoint suitable examiners, and in the board

of police commissioners, of which he was, ex officio,

a member, he introduced a resolution on tlio 18th

of January, 1884, for the creation of a "commis-
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sion, to conduct exaiuiiiations and ascertain the

litncss of candidates, in accordance with the in-

tent and purpose of the statute." But the two

other commissioners would have none of it and

voted that "it is not expedient that a commission

be appointed to conduct examinations." The

mayor having thereupon gone ahead and formed

tlie two examining boards of private citizens, the

police board declined for a whole year to ask the

examiners for a list of those who had shown thn

required standard of excellence, but at the end of

that period they came to their senses and made

the proper application, so there was no furthes

trouble with them. The common council was ths

next body to undertake the destruction of the law.

Wishing to reward in the old-fashioned wny a cer-

' tain politician for some purely partisan services,

they created the office of "inspector of lamps" and

appointed him to it, with a good salary. The

mayor promptly vetoed the ordinance and the al-

dei'mcn ivitli equal celerity passed it over his veto.

Then they put the name of the illegal appointee

into the budget, which the mayor declined to ap-

prove, and the spoilsmen readopted that also,

whereupon the board of examiners obtained an in-

junction against the city treasurer, the council

and the mayor, forbidding the payment of that

budget. When the whole swarm of city officials

had to go without their salaries for some time the

storm of protest became so violent that the name

of the alleged inspector was dropped from iUhe

rolls and the other salaries were paid. The mat-

ter afterward was taken through all the courts of

the state until the Court of Appeals decided, in a

unanimous opinion, that the appointment was in

violation of the civil service law. The executive

board was somewhat more politic and diplomatic,

but it was equally stubborn in its evasion of th'.'

statute for a long time, until finally it too waa

compelled to yield. Since that period there ha'j

beecn no great difficulty and the law is now car-

ried out in the letter if it is not respected in the

spirit.

THE PARKS.

Even while Eochester was still a village there

were several open spaces, grass-grown, in some

cases fenced in, sometimes not, and universally

called "squares," even where they were circular,

like the one on Plymouth avenue. As these had

all been presented to the municipality they went

the way of most gifts and but little thought or

labor was expended upon them by the authorities,

so that they were far from being a credit and

were of no real use to anyone, except in the case

of Jones square, where the boys played baseball

during the Civil war and for some years after-

ward. Long after every other city in the country

had real parks Eochester was destitute of those

desirable adjuncts of municipal life, and every

plea that was made for them was met by the argu-

ment of economy on the part of the common coun-

cil. The late Dr. E. M. Moore, who was em-

phatically the father of the present park system,

constantly spoke and wrote on its urgent neces-

sity from a sanitary point of view, but the people

were as apathetic as the aldermen were hostile,

and his efforts would have been unavailing had

not the late George W. Elliott, who was then a

member of the board, supplemented those appeals

by his unceasing arguments in the public press

and in the council. The well-known nursery firm

of Ellwanger & Barry had to make more than once

the offer of a free gift of twenty acres of land that

now form a part of the beautiful Highland park

before the council could be induced to accept it,

which was finally done in January, 1888.

Later in that year the legislature passed a bill

creating the park commission, with extensive pow-

ers to accept gifts, to purchase land and to main-

tain and control all public parks, including the

small "squares" alluded to. The commission

promptly organized, selecting Dr. Moore as presi-

dent, which he continued to be until his death.

The result of all this was the formation of three

separate parks, of which the largest is the Genessee

Valley—commonly known as South park—just

south of the city line and covering both sides of

the river, though mainly on the east, for the west

is devoted to baseball grounds, golf links, canoe

club and other houses. The vast expanse of this

territory, extending to the horizon, is pleasing tfl

the eye, the monotony of the plain being relieved

by flocks of grazing sheep and a few of the larger

variety of deer, while under the ancient forest

trees bands play periodically during the summer

afternoons. Fine as it is, the Genesee Valley

must yield in point of natural beauty to Seneca

park, usually called North park, where the undu-
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lationa of the ground permit of the most agree-

able variety of walks and drives with a charm-

ing little lake toward the lower end; on the

upper level are a number of cages with the

smaller animals, while down below are many
of the larger beasts, making altogeUier quite a

menagerie; the gorge of the river prevents com-

munication between the two banks, so that Maple-

wood park, on the west side (originally a part of

Seneca), is comparatively little visited, but it has

many features of interest. Perhaps Highland park,

the sinnllest of the four, is the most attractive of

all, with its botanical display, particularly of the

lilacs in their season, and the enormous number of

different kinds of trees, showing a greater variety

than can be found in any other park in the United

States; besides which the view from the highest

point, comprehending a large section of the sur-

rounding country, with the neighboring villages and

towns, atTords enjoyment to the beholder. The

older citizens may possibly consider that, after all,

the advantage of our park system, which has given

Rochester so enviable a position among the cities

of the Union and has done so much to benefit the

liealth of the people by giving them these delight-

ful breathing-places, lies very largely in the trans-

formation that has been made in the small public

places, which, formerly unsightly from neglect,

have become beauty spots by the tasteful arrange-

ment of well tended shrubbery.

One of these old inclosures, which always went

by tlio name of Bi'own situnrc;, is, porlinps, produc-

tive of more direct and obvious benefit than any

one of the more capacious parks. In 1902 the

president of the board urged the devotion of that

spot to purposes of recreation for the young, and,

as his recommendation was warmly indorsed bv

many leading citizens it was, after some oppositioa,

adopted by the board. This was carried out in the

following year, the Children's Playground league

being formed for the purpose of aiding the move-

ment and supervising the conduct of the young-

sters. A year later the enterprise was in full

swing, the children were taught how to play sys-

tematically and, what was still more important,

how to respect tlie rights and the feelings of each

other. The park board had in the meantime erect-

ed a shelter for them, with every convenience for

the boys and girls, and every afternoon during tha

summer and fall great troops of juveniles may be

seen enjoying to the full the advantages of wlint

was. once the comparatively useless old Brown

square. The park system has been lately rein-

forced by the magnificent gift of four hundred and

eighty-four acres on the shore of the lake, along

which its front extends for nearly a mile, while

back of that are nearly a Imndred acres of forest

and woodland. It is as yet wholly undeveloped,

hut its possibilities are almost illimitable, and in

the near future the ]K!()])le of Rochester will nuire

fully appivciato the beiiclit bestowed upon tbcui

by the uuiniiictMU'd of two of llii'ii' lellow-eiti/eiis.

It is only fair to add that the credit for all the

work done in this entire system is mainly due to

the knowledge, good taste, skill and industry of the

one who has been the superintendent of the parks

from the very beginning.

THE SEMI-CENTENNIAL.

The most important celebration ever held in

Rochester was that in commemoration of the fif-

tieth birthday of the city, in 1884. For many days

beforehand the people had been perpetually re-

minded of the event by newspaper articles describ-

ing everything that ever happened liere and giving

full particulars of what was to be done on tht

festal days. The celebration really began on Sun-
day, the 8th of June, for on that day most of the

discourses treated more or less fully of the sud-

jeet and at the First Presbyterian churcli, who.-^n

society was Iho oldest, Rev. Dr. Tryon Edwards
preached in the morning, by request, the same ser-

mon that he had delivered at his installation just

fifty years before, and in the evening the services

were conducted by Rev. Dr. F. De W. Ward, who,

at that same remote period, had been there ordain-

ed as missionary to India. Throughout Monday
morning the municipal committee was engaged in

receiving invited guests, and at noon the official

beginning of the celebration was announced by

fifty discharges of cannon and by the ringing of

St. Peter's chimes and other church bells for an

hour, with the appropriate shrieking of steam

whistles and other distracting noises at irregular

intervals. The afternoon was taken up with the

literary exercises at the city hall, on the platform

of which were seated all the ex-mayors then living

;

Mayor Parsons gave a short address and Eev. Dr.

Shaw, the venerable pastor of the Brick church,
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delivered the invocation; a communication from

the town council of Rochester, England, congriit-

ulating its namesake, was read and a resolution of-

fered by Frederick A. Whittlesey returning thanks

to the ancient corporation by the Medway was

adopted; after that came an historical address by

Charles E. Fitch, an oration by George Raines,

the recitation of a poem by Eev. Joseph A. Ely

and complimentary addresses by Mayor Low of

Brooklyn and Mayor Smith of Philadelphia, the

whole being interspersed with vocal and instru-

mental performances, including a festival hymn
with a full choir and regimental band, the music

being composed for the occasion by the leader,

Prof. Albert Sartori.

On Tuesday morning Governor Cleveland with

his staff arrived on a special car; he was met at

the station by the reception committee, a detach-

ment of police and a large military escort under

\]\o coiinnaiid of Colonel Francis A. ScluBlfcl

and taken lo IJio Rowers Hotel, where a re-

ception was held. At the firing of the noon-

day salute of fifty guns every store in the city

closed its doors, a measure that would have

suggested itself naturally, for the streets were

already filled with a throng of sight-seers, both of

residents and of those from the surrounding coun-

try who had come in unprecedented numbers, in-

tent on nothing but witnessing the parade. This

was under the command of the marshal of the day,

General Reynolds, with a full staff of aids and

deputies, and it embraced all the veteran mil-

itary organizations, then the citizen soldiery of

that day—with a company of Bufl!alo Cadets be-

l.woon the lines of thoir hosts, the Rochester Ca-

dets—then the lodges of Odd Fellows, the uni-

formed Catholic societies, the German societies of

various kinds, the Ancient Order of United Work-

men and a number of organizations, social and

ofberwisc, then the Rochester fire department,

followed by an endless array of wagons represent-

ing the dilfcrent industries and trades ; it was the

finest procession ever seen here, perhaps in this

section of the state. In the evening there was a

grand banquet, at which, in response to toasts,

short speeches were made by Governor Cleveland.

President Anderson, Mayor Bdson of New York,

Mayor Boswell of Toronto, General Riley, Alfred

VAy, Dr. Moore, Patrick Barry, Judge Macomber

and others, including Oronoyetkba, then the head

of the Mohawks, from Canada, one of the kindred

of Joseph Brant, tlie old war chief of the tribe.

AS TO DISEASE.

While there have been no destructive epidemics

in Rochester during the last half century, the city

has been by no means free from disease and from

alarms over the possible spread of contagion. In

the latter part of 1889 the malady known as the

grip (an Anglicisation of the French form, la

grippe) made its first appearance here, and

throughout the succeeding winter it was very prev-

alent, being directly fatal in many cases but in a

greater number bringing with it lifelong infirmity

and the susceptibility to other diseases; the next

year it was just as bad, twenty-six deaths occurring

from it during the closing week of 1891 ; for some

years after that it came back every spring, though

never with its original violence. Not to cure, but

to prevent, the spread of contagious disease, par-

ticularly of tuberculosis, the churches of Rochester,

beginning with the North Presbyterian, adopted

on May 6th, 1894, the use of individual commun
ion cups, and that sanitary practice, initiated

here, was soon followed in diilerent parts of the

country. The diphtheria was always a dreaded

visitor, and, when a French physician by repeated

experiments in 1894 found that the blood of horses

which had been immunized by proper treatment

possessed curative, properties, the medical frater-

nity experienced a feeling of relief. A small

amount of that anti-toxine being brought to this

city it was used with good effect in the. case of u

child who was very ill, whereupon three horses of

.our fire department were set off for that peculiar

service and underwent for several weeks the grad-

uated injections of diphtheritic poison that ren-

dered them germ-proof, after which they were bled

and tlio serum was drawn off from the blood, so

that before the summer came the wonderful rem-

edy was ,ready for distribution among the doctors.

THE soldiers' MONUMENT.

This was dedicated on the 30th of May, 1892, in

Washington park, which a few years before would

not have been in proper condition to contain it,

and the delay in the erection was largely owing

to the fact that no fitting place could be found for
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ic. On the day named, after a parade of ten

thousand people, headed by the war veterans and

including a large proportion of the public school

boys, appropriate addresses were made at the un-

veiling of the statue, by President Harrison, Gov.

ernor Flower and Frederick Douglas, who were

present as the guests of the city ; John A. Reynolds,

the president of the university. Senator Parsons

and ]\Iayor Curran. On the northern side of the

pedestal, which is twenty-one feet square, &et in a

base approached by five steps and having at its

corners four bronze military statues typifying the

infantry, the cavalry, the marines and the artillery,

are these words: "To those who, faithful unto

death, gave their lives for their country. 1861-

1865"; on the southern face is this inscription:

"We were in peril; they breasted the danger. Th ;

republic called; they answered with their blood";

on the east and west sides are displayed the great

SOLDIERS' MONUMENT.
WASHINGTON PARK.

seals of the United States and the state; from the

pedestal rises a granite shaft surmounted by a

figure of Abraham Lincoln. Forty-two feet is the

total height of the monument, the weight of stone

is nearly half a million pounds, and the cost of

the whole, defrayed by popular subscriptions and

the proceeds of several entertainments, was $26,-

000.

MINOR ITEMS.

On the 9th of March, 18G7, a board of trade

was established here, with George J. Whitney ns

president, but it expired in a few months. In May

of that year the body of Louis Fox was found in

the river at Charlotte; he was a celebrated bil-

liard-player who, holding the championship cue of

the United States, had lost it the year before that

in a contest with Joseph Decry at Washington

liall; chagrin over his defeat had caused him to

commit suicide in aberration of nrind. At mid-

night on November 12th Edward Payson Weston,

the first of professional pedestrains, passed through

here on his rapid walk from Portland, Maine, to

Chicago; he still, by the way, believes in that

exercise, for in April, 1906, at the age of sixty-

nine, he walked from Philadelphia to New York,

more than a hundred miles, in less than twenty-

four hours. The year of 1868 saw great activity

in building, over five hundred structures being

erected, at a cost of about a million and a half; in

1870 the state armory, facing Washington park,

was put up and the Powers block was completed

to the alley; in 1887 the Wilder building, the EJl-

wanger & Barry block, the Gemian Insurance

building and all those on the site of the old Clin-

ton Hotel were put up; in 1890 the Young Men'?

Christian Association building, on South avenue

was erected, at a cost of $183,000. In May, 1870,

there was quite an excitement among the Fenians

hei-e, those ardent patriots attempting to revive the

performance of four years before when they had

an inglorious battle with the "Queen's Own" on

the other side of the lake; this time several car-

loads of warriors passed tlirough and others were

preparing to follow from here, when the United

States marshal interfered and arrested the com-

mander. Captain (or "General") O'Neil; that end-

ed the last attempt at an invasion of Canada. In

June of 1873 Susan B. Anthony was convicted ol

illegal voting in the previous year. In 1876 the

officers of the coast survey used the figure of Jus-

tice, which then surmounted the upper dome of

the court-house, as one of the points of triangu-

lation to determine the exact meridian of Roch-

ester, which was found to be 77° 36' 50.97" of west

longitude, 43° 9' 22.44" of north latitude. What
was probably the heaviest and most prolonged

snow-fall ever known here was during the last week

of 1878 and the first week of the next voar; the
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snow drifts were thirty feet in the surrounding

counti'y, where many people were frozen to death;

several fatal accidents from trains running off the

track and a railroad blockade from the 5th to the

10th of January; the executive board paid thir-

teen hundred dollars for shoveling and carting

away the snow during the week. Charles Stewart

rarnell, the Irish leader, had a warm reception

here on January 26th, 1880, and made an address

in the city hall, giving a temperate statement of

the wrongs of Ireland. Rochester's first Chinese

voter was naturalized here in 1883. On August

10th, 1884, the remains of Lieutenant F. F. Kis-

lingbury, the second in command of the Greely

relief expedition to the Arctic sea, lay in state at

the city hall; four days later the body, which had

been interred at Mt. Hope, was exhumed, to settle

the question as to cannibalism on the part of tliG

surviving members of the crew; the flesh was

found to have been stripped from the bones, af-

fordiiig ghastly pniof of the truth of the rnitiors.

Tlie first dog show ever given here was held JFarch

14th, 1889; in that year the largest three brewer-

ies in the city were sold to an English syndicate

for about four million dollars. The financial

stricture of 1893 was felt here as elsewhere, but the

banks pursued a conservative policy, refusing to

make any loans but the very smallest, while the

savings banks paid all demands without delay, so

there was no panic; the distress was felt much
more in the early part of the following year, when
tlie lack of employment became so general that the

Chamber of Commerce raised, by appeal to the

citizens, a fund of nearly twelve thousand dollars,

the common council appropriated ten thousand

dollars for the winter work on buildings in the

parks, and the mayor sent around wagons through

the streets to collect discarded clothing; all this,

joined to the charitable efforts of private individ-

uals, kept the actual suffering within a small com-

pass. In 1894 the East Side trunk sewer was com-

pleted, at a total cost of $949,230.63.

This brings the record, meager though it may be

down to the beginning of 1895, since whicli time

the more important events will be given in the

next chapter.
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THE LAST TWELVE YEARS.
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In preparing the previous chapters constant use

was made of former works by the present writer.

In those last mentioned the chronological order

of events was maintained, and the annual record

closed with the mention of the death of prominent

citizens during the year. In this book the narra-

tive has been hitherto mainly subjective and the

necrological list has been omitted, partly because

it seemed to be a needless repetition and partly

because it would have been so cumbersome as to

be disproportionate in view of the extreme con-

densation that had been otherwise used. In this

present chapter we shall return to the narration

of incidents in the regiilar order of time, except

as they may be left for insertion in succeeding,

chapters devoted to special subjects, and the obit-

uary rccoi'd will be confined to those who lived

here in the early days or who were in some way

connected with the life of the city.

In the early part of 1895 several prominent

clergymen severed their connection with tlieir con-

gregations, Eev. Dr. Ilutton, of St. Peter's Pres-

byterian, preaching his farewell sermon on Jan-

uary 28th ; Eev. Louis C. Washburn, of St. Paul's

Episcopal, doing so on February 25th, and Eev.

Dr. Asa Saxe, of the First Universalist, on ilarch

2d; the last named was at the time of liis retire-

ment the oldest minister in the city and had been

the pastor of his church' for the past forty-three

years. During the first three weeks of A])ril the

Mcdianies Institute held a pure food show, which

was very successful; on the 2!)th of that niontli

there was an unusual dis]ihiy of confectionery by

the association of cooks and pastry-cooks of

Eochester at their first ball and reception. The
lack of a sufficient supply of water in the river

during the summer season to provide for the needs

of the mills and manufactories upon its banks
had long been felt and had finally caused the adop-
tion of a plan for the construction in the gorge

of the river near Mt. Morris, about forty miles
south of Rochester, of a storage dam fifty-eight

feet in height; the legislature passed a bill appro-
priating $150,000 for the purpose, it being stated

that the object was to provide a uniform supply
for the owners of water rights on the river and also

for the Erie canal, the latter reason being given
to account for the expense being borne by the
state; Governor Morton vetoed the bill, greatly tc

the disappointment of many citizens, though it

was adniitlod thai lie h.ad good grounds for his
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aclion. A Good Goveriiiiicnt inovcinciit look place

in September, whicli was a revolt against the ad-

ministration of municipal allairs and in direct

opposition to the two political parties, which, as

was alleged, had united in a corrupt league for the

division of public plunder ; it put a full city ticket

in the field, including several aldermen, making

its selections from both parties but being non-

partisan in the sense that its nominees were not

known as machine politicians, and it held enthu-

siastic meetings in different parts of the city;

the public conscience was aroused and the Good

Government ticket was successful not only at the

election two months later, but at the next two

which followed it. Dr. David Jayne Hill resigned

tbe presidency of the University of Eochester on

the 25th of November, to accept the position of

assistant secretary of state of the United States.

Death reaped a plenteous lia:rvest in this year.

Samuel C. Wordcu died January lltli, the best-

known restaurateur of the city, who had been in

business through the lifetime of more than one

generation, having been one of the early landlords

of the old National Hotel and after that the

keeper of Oyster Bay.and other eating saloons of

irreproachable character. On February 13th died

Jolm H. Gordon, the inventor, in connection with

his brother James, of the Gordon harvester, the

predecessor of the famous McCormick reaper,

which was an infringement upon it, so that the

brothers recovered nearly half a million dollars in

damages and acquired a large fortune from the

invention. Frederick Douglass, a sketch of whose

life has been already given, died February 20th,

and George W. ]fislier on tlic 24th; he came hero

in 1821 and was a clerk in the book store of

Evcrard Peck, on the west side of Exchange street

near the corner of Main, and on that spot he

conducted the business, which he had pur-

ch.asod, imlil 1871, when he retired, being llicn

understood to be the oldest bookseller, in length

of Rtorokccping, in the state west of New York

city; he was one oC the early members of lli':

Union Grays, in which he took a keen interest to

the last. Peter Pahner died March 12th, aged

ninetj'-five, one of the first pyrotechnists of the

country; shortly after he began the manufacture

of fireworks, nearly half n century before, he

erected, for their occasional display and for a

promenade and concert hall. Palmer's Garden, a

fashionable resort in that day, on East Main street,

nearly opposite North avenue. Miss Elizabeth P.

llall, one of the founders of the Humane Society

and long identified with otiier works of benevo-

lence, died March IGth; on the same day James
O'Donoghue, one of the old residents, who was in

the furniture business on East Main street fifty

years before that. Dr. F. W. Holland, twice pastor

at different times of the Unitarian church in this

city, died at Concord, Mass., March 26th, and on

the same day, at Virginia Beach, William S. Kim-
ball ; he was one of the most prominent men in the

community and identified, perhaps, more than any

other man, with a wide range of interests con-

nected with the modern life of the city, giving

freely of his wealth to all kinds of projects for

the general good; in addition to many other or-

ganizations with which he was associated he was

president at one time of the City hospital, the

Union bank, the Chamber of Commerce, the In-

dxistrial school, the Genesee Valley club and the

Post Express printing company. In April there

died, on the 1st, Henry L. Fish, a member of the

common council and of the board of supervisors

for many years, elected mayor in 1867 and again

in the following year and ffhosen member of As-

sembly in 1872; on the 5th, Henry Michaels, a

highly respected Jewish merchant; on the 6th,

Jeremiah Sullivan, aged ninety-five, one of the

organizers of the congregation of the Immaculate

Conception church ; on the 20th, Henry W. Gregg,

aged twenty-seven, chosen judge of the Municipal

court a few months before that, the youngest man
ever elected to judicial office in this city.

In May, on the 18tb, William Keyes died, aged

iiiuoly-fivo, born a slave in Virginia; his free-

dom was promised to him when he should becomp

twenty-five, but it was not given, so he escaped

and with great difficulty reached Canada, cross-

ing Lake Erie in an open boat, and came to

Uocliestcr in 1851, living here ever since; on the

27tb, Owen Eedmond, a mechanical genius, the

inventor of several machines; on the 30tli, George

T. Parker, one of the older lawyers; on the 31st,

Mrs. Eliza M. Eeid, the widow of Dr. W. W.

Eeid, one of the most eminent of our physicians;

at the time of her death, bemg within three

months of ninety-six years old, she was, in point

o'f residence, the oldest in the city; she came here

in 1822, was married in 1830 and was through
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the early part of her life a leader in all social

gatherings and at the same time prominent in

benevolent work, being the last survivor of the

original board of managers of the Rochester or-

phan asylum. John D. Pay, one of the canal

commissioners of the state for two terms, died on

the 6th of June; Alexander McVean in the saine

month, while holding the office of county treasurer,

to which he had been first elected in 1879; Bryan

O'Reilly on the SOth of July, tlie oldest undcitakev

in Rochester. On the 21st of October the city

lost one of its ripest scholars, Asaliel C. Kcndrick

;

born in 1809, he graduated at Hamilton college,

was for several years a member of the faculty of

Madison university, which his cousin had founded,

and was one of the original faculty of the Uni-

versity of Rochester in 1850, occupying the chair

of the Greek language and literature, which po-

sition he filled, with the exception of two years

spent at Athens and Rome for the purpose of

studying antiquities, till 1882, when he retired

from active participation in the work of the col-

lege, being made professor emeritus, though he

occasionally gave instruction to honor classes after

that; he was not only one of the foremost Greek

scholars in the couiftry, recognized as such by

being placed on the American commission for the

revision of the Bible, but was versed in many
branches of literature and was the author of num-
erous works on different subjects. Plymouth
church lost its beloved pastor, Myron Adams, on

the 29th of December; he was born March 12th,

1841, and was graduated at Hamilton in the

class of 1863; while still in his junior year he

entered the army and served with distinction,

first in the infantry, then in the signal corps and

afterward as adjutant of a negro regiment, from

which he was transferred to the navy, where he

acted as chief signal officer of the department of

the gulf; after the war he entered the ministry

and accepted a call to Plymouth church in 1875;

his theological vjews became more and more lib-

eral and he preached a number of sermons in

opposition to the belief in Ithe eternal

duration of punishment, which attracted wide-

sjjread , attention and miich antagonism, end-

ing in the severance of his relations with the

main Congregational body, but the consistency of

his Christian character caused the feeling against

him to pass away before his death, so that his

funeral services were condiicted by clergymen of

different denominations; he was the author of "A
Continuous Creation" and "The Creation of the

Bible."

In 1896 the west side sewer was begun and

mainly built, a much needed improvement, though

very costly, as it ran from Lincoln park, using

Deep Hollow creek for a great part of the way,

and cin))lied into the river just below the lower

falls; iinishcd the next ypMf iit a cost of over

$600,000. On the 1st of May tiie Raines law went

into eifect, by which every saloon was compelled

to pay a vastly higher sum for a license than ever

before, so that it brought in quite -a revenue to

the city and state, between which it was divided

;

all licenses had to be conspicuously displayed, and
free lunches to be abandoned ; even purely social

clubs, as was decided in a test case brought by

the Rochester Whist club, had to take out a license

to sell liquor to their own members; as to the

lower class of resorts this law in its eifect supple-

mented the municipal reform of the year by which
all curtains and partitions in stall saloons had been

removed. An interesting state convention of deaf

mutes was held here July 31st, largely attended,

all the proceedings carried on in the manual sign

language. William J. Bryan, the national cham-
pion of free silver, spoke to a large crowd at

Jones park on August 26th. The Myers ballot

machine was used for the first time at the Novem-
ber election; it was far from satisfactory in its

operation, breaking down until it could be repaired
in several instances and failing entirely to record

the vote in one district, so that many votes were
lost thereby. The death roll this time will be as

much below the average as the last one was above

it. Bartholomew Keeler, who had been police

justice for eight years, died on the 15th of Jan-
uary; Alexander McLean on March 2d, chief of

police from 1874 to 1885; David Rosenberg,

July 30th, an old-time jeweler, having been in that

business for more tha^n half a century; Maria G.

Porter, December 14th, who had harbored prob-

ably more fugitive slaves than any other person in

the city except Amy Post.

Local interest in the woes of Cuba became en-

thusiastic in the early spring of 1897, mass meet-
ings being held, at which large amounts of money
were raised. Dr. R. R. Converse became pastor

of St. Luke's church in Api'il. In that month a
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law was passed l)y the legislature creating the

office of commissioner of juries for Monroe county,

which has been found very beneficial in its work-

ings, for it is not only a saving of expense but it

also brings on to the jury list thousands of persons

who always belonged there and who were kept off

by nothing but their own disinclination to serve,

while at the same time it excludes many who had

their names kept on simply to get pay for their

services; Martin W. Cooke, a prominent lawyer,

was appointed jury commissioner on the 8th of

May and held the office till his death on February

23d of the next year, when John M. Steele, the

present incumbent, took his place. There was an

interesting convention of the librarians of the

state in May. On the 4th of July the thermome-

ter registered a fraction above ninety-nine de-

grees, the highest recorded up to that tima; there

were many prostrations and it was almost as bad

a week later, when a number died from the heat.

The Eastman Kodak building on State street was

erected in the spring, and a handsome building,

some months later, for the Young Women's Chris-

tian association on North Clinton street, at a

cost of $30,000.

The year as a whole was remarkably healthy,

there being the fewest deaths for ten years, in

spite of the increase in population, and in Decem-

ber the fewest on record for that month. Never-

theless, our necrological list is quite full, as will

be seen from this record : April 27th, Washington

Gibbons, in New York, one of the old-time law-

yers of Eochester and city clerk in 1852, '53 and

'54. May 7th, Henry East, who had conducted a

meat market for forty years before his retirement

from business in 1887. May 6th, Colonel E. Bloss

Parsons, at Asheville, N. C, who had distin-

guished himself by conspicuous bravery in the

Eighth cavalry. May 15th, Eev. Herbert W. Mor-

ris, D. D., an old Presbyterian clergyman. June

Gtli, Deljanccy Crittenden, a prominent lawyer.

July IGth, Eev. Dr. James Earl Bills; he raised

a company of infantry in the Civil war and started

for the front but had a sunstroke which compelled

him to leave the army, after which he entered the

ministry and became a noted preacher. July 21st,

Captain Albert G. Mack, commander of Mack's

battery during the war. August 12th, Eev. Dr.

George Patton, pastor of the Third Presbyterian

church from 1871 to 1894. August 16th, John-

son M. Mundy, a fine artist, notable as a painter

and more so as a sculptor. September 3d, Rev.

J. P. Stewart, pastor of St. Mary's (Catholic)

church. September 7th, Henry Harrison, the old-

est volunteer fireman in the city and collector of

the port for several years. December 4th, Charles

C. Morse, a member of the old waterworks

board. J)oceinbor • lllii, Daniol \V. Povvci's,

one of the millionaires of the city, and

perhaps the first to pass that mark; he was

born in 1818 and was first employed in the hard-

ware store of Ebenezer Watts, on West Main

.street, with wages of eight dollars a month; in

1850 he opened, in the Eagle Hotel block, a brok-

erage and exchange office, which soon grew to be

a bank, though it was not incorporated as such till

1890; on the outbreak of the Civil war his con-

fidence in the stability of the government led him

to invest all his available funds in United States

bonds as fast as each issue was put forth ; he held

several public oHices and for many years was presi-

dent of the board of directors of the City hospital;

the block that will always stand as his monument

was built at the close of the war, the hotel, just

west of it, being erected in 1882, as a part of the

original design; in the block he had collected one

of the largest and finest art galleries in the coun-r

try ; it was broken up and sold after his death, one

of the greatest losses that the city ever sustained.

On the 18th of January, 1898, a local public

health association was formed, the fruition of the

persistent efforts previously made by a philan-

thropic citizen who has been the mainstay of the

organization ever since, though Dr. Moore has held

the office of president. The war of Cuban inde-

pendence occupied the minds and hearts of people

during this year. When the battleship Maine was

blown up in Havana harbor, on the 15th of Feb-

ruary, everyone felt that war must come, sooner

or later, and the military companies here made

ready for the conflict. They were the Eighth

Separate, which had been Company E in the old

Pifty-Fourih regiment and was still under com-

mand of Captain Henry B. Henderson; the First

Separate, which had been formed in the winter of

1889-90 by Captain F. Judson Hess and was at

this time commanded by Captain L. Bordman

Smith, and, a separate division of naval militia,

commonly called the Naval Reserves, formed in

September, 1891, by Lieutenant Edward N. Wal-
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bridge, who was still in command. Long before

the war was declared the state authorities ordered

these officers to report as to how many of their

men would go to the front, and the Naval He-

serves were ordered into service on the I'i'th of

April, though they were never sent off as a body.

Finally the tension was broken by Congress au-

thorizing the president to intervene, the call for

volunteers was issued April 23d, Spain declared

war the next day and Congress followed suit on the

•25th. In response to the call the governor made

the stupid blunder of ordering out the state militia

as such (or at least it was understood that way),

though the Civil war had shown the folly of that

;

as it was, a few of the men were put to the mortifi-

cation of declining to volunteer, though almost

all of their comrades did so individually.

On Sunday, May 1st, the memory of the old

war times was revived, when the two companies,

with eighty-four men in each, marched away, es-

corted to the station by all the military organiza-

tions in the city and the Naval Reserves, who had

to stay behind. Having reached camp at Hemp-

stead, Long Island, they were disappointed to find

that the old home titles were not to be retained,

for they were put into the Third regiment of New

York volunteer infantry, the Eighth as Company

A, and the First as Company H. They were mus-

tered into the federal service on the I'i'th of May,

but they were not ordered to the front; on the

contrary they stayed at Hempstead two weelcs

longer, the ranks becoming thinner by I'oason of

the wretched sanitary arrangements; at last they

were moved to Camp Alger, near Washington,

only to find that that place was worse than the

other, a fever-stricken hole; where the men, witli

sixty-five more recruits who were sent down in

June, sickened and died, victims of the criminal

incapacity of the secretary of war ; the fall of San-

tiago, with the consequent treaty of peace, was

all that saved them from annihilation. Those

^hat were left of them came home on the 13th of

September, receiving a royal welcome, for the city

turned out as on their departure. But while

these soldiers never saw fighting, and never even

left the country, the sailors were more fortunate;

although the Naval Eeserves were not ordered off

as a body, different squads of them were drafted

at intervals, some of them being put on the moni-

tor Jason, others on the auxiliary cruiser Yankee,

where they did good service. Mention should be

made also pi Captain Theodore S. I'u Ivor's com-

pany, which left here on the 28lh of July and was

put into wliiit was called, for some absurd reason,

the Two Hundred and Second regiment; it did

garrison duty in Cuba for some months, though

not participating in any battles. After the death

of Captain Smith—mentioned a little further on

in this chapter—Murray W. Crosby was placed in

command of the First Separate. On the return

of the company to Eochester an order was issued

permitting all men who, as members of the na-

tional guard, had volunteered to serve in the war,

to leave the service, and the company was reorgan-

ized, with Frank G. Smith as captain. A little

later he was stricken with consumption, and on his

death C. Alon/.o Simmons became the coinuuuul-

ing officer, being transferred from the cafitaincy

of the Eighth Separate (where he had succeeded

Captain Henderson in 1891), on recommendation

from superior headquarters, and he still holds that

position. F. S. Couchman is in command of the

Eighth Separate, to which he succeeded on the

transfer of Captain Simmons.

At the November election of this year the peo-

ple voted again by machine. The experience of

1896 had discredited that method of voting and

so they went back the next year to the blanket

ballot—somewhat similar to that employed in

Australia—which had been used two years before,

but it was a clumsy way, the sheet was very cum-

bersome on account of the multiplicity of names,

mistakes were very common and, above all, it took

so long to count the vote that the result in some

instances, even in a single district, was not knoAvn

till after midnight. So the ballot machine was

used again, not the old Myers alfair but the Stand-

ard, far better, which has held the field here ever

since. It is fairly satisfactory but it is open to

the serious objection that it is inimical to inde-

pendent voting and always will be, until the party

lever, which is an unnecessary part of the mechan-

ism, is done away with; besides that, the objection

is urged against it that the voter has no means

of knowing that his ballot is recorded just as he

cast it.

On the 4th of January Frederick Zimmer, a

well-known German citizen, who had been police

commissioner from 1873 to 1884, fell from the

window of his office, on the corner of West Main
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and Exdiaiigo strcols, to the sidcwiilk bulow,

striking on his head and killing him instantly;

on the 14lh Thomas Peart, the oldest buteher in

the city at the time of his death; on the 24th

George C. Buell, a prominent merchant, one of

the principal promoters of the elevation of the

railroad tracks through the city; on the 30th

Mother (generally known as Sister) Hieronymo,

her worldly name being Veronica O'Brien; she

was born in April, 1819, and entered a religious

coniinunity at an early age; she came here in 1857

and shortly afterward opened a temporary hospi-

tal in an old stable on the present site of St.

Mary's, which noble foundation was built grad-

ually by her personal elforts, the citizens, without

distinction of creed, responding freely to her ap-,

peals; in the time of the Civil war the hospital

was frequently crowded with wounded soldiers and

it was proposed to put a provost guard there to

prevent their desertion, but she gave her word that

none of them would escape and the guard was not

stationed; such was the veneration of the soldiers

toward her that they were faithful to her promise

and every one returned to the army on his recov-

ery; in 1870 she left the city but returned in a

few years to become the mother superior of the

Home of Industry, where she died, universally re-

gretted. Mrs. Nancy Walker died May 9th, be-

ing within three months of one hundred and eight

years old; Rev. Dr. Israel Foote, rector of Si.

I'aul's church for some years, July 1st; Francis S.

Rew, July 17th, a veteran journalist, managing

editor of the Democrat at one time, then on the

staff of the A]h!iny .Evening Journal, then, on his

leturn to Rochester, editor and one of the proprie-

tors of tlic Evening Express; on the 4th of August

Rev. James O'Hare, pastor of the Immaculate

Conception church and vicar-general of the Catho-

lic diocese; on the 17th Simon L. Brewster, presi-

dent of the Traders bank. On the same day died

L. Boidman Smith, who was born in 1867 and

graduated at Union college in 1888; he entered

the Cuban war in command of the First Separate

company, but was stricken with typhoid fever

while in camp and came home to end his days in

the Homeopathic hospital, dying in the service

of his country as truly as though he had fallen

on the battlefield; he was generally heloved by a

wide circle of acquaintances. Gilman H. Per-

kins died November 16th; he was born in Gencseo

Alarcli 4tli, .18^7, and came to this city in 1844;

though always prominent in the community he

was never aggressive, but rather retiring in his

tastes and habits; of sterling integrity and un-

blemished honor, he held many offices of trust and

discharged them all with credit. Dr. L. D. Wal-

ter, one of the oldest dentists in the state, died on

the same day; Dr. Theodore C. White, a respected

homeopathic physician, on the 18th; B. Frank

Enos on the 4th of December, police clerk from

1871 to the time of his death.

For many years there had been a great deal of

popular dissatisfaction with the conduct of the

school commissioners, or board of education, and

the supposed connection of the board with a book

ring which put text books into the public schools

with an object quite different from the welfare

of the pupils; besides which the body was un-

wieldy in size, one member being elected from

each ward, so that it was difficult to fix the re-

sponsibility ; the feeling culminated in 1899, when

the limit of patience was reached, and there was

an emotion of great relief over the fact that in the

future the board was to consist of five members,

all chosen on the city ticket, according to the

provisions of the charter for cities of the second

class, commonly known as the White charter from

the name of the state Senator who had pushed

the matter through the legislature in the pre-

vious year. In January of 1899 the disease of

the grip raged with great severity, so that the

death rate for that month rose to more than six-

teen in the thousand. On the 32d of May St.

Paul's (Episcopal) church, on East avenue, was

consecrated. On the 31st the Memorial day pa-

rade was one of unusual enthusiasm on account of

the ending of the Cuban war, and also because

there was in the line of march a Spanish cannon

captured hy Dewey in Manila bay, which was

afterward set up in one of the parks. Nine days

later there was another parade at the unveiling

of the Douglass monument, when Governor Roose-

velt delivered an address ; and still another on the

4th of July, in which the most conspicuous figures

were several companies of Canadian troops fully

armed and equipped. In fact, it was a great sum-

mer for parades, as there was an immense one on

August 7th, at the opening of the "street fair,"

as it was called, a nondescript performance, with

midways and baby shows and wild animals, whicti
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lasted for a week and which was expected, from

its display of Rochester productions, to advance

the prosperity of the city—to "boom it," as the

phrase went—which it didn't at all, for the mer-

cliants never got back the money that they put

into it, according to the usual fate of that eccen-

tric form of advertising, backed up by whole col-

umns about it in all the newspapers for days be-

forehand; appropriately enough there was a fire

in it on the lust night, in which thirty-eight bootlia

wore burned up. As a sequel to tiie contest be-

tween the Bell Telephone company and the citi-

zens, the Rochester Telephone company (or Homo
Telephone, as it has generally been called), came

into existence during the summer, with a capital

of $400,000. The stock was readily taken and a

sufficient number of subscribers for the rental of

telephones to insure against loss was obtained be-

fore operations were begun. That number stead-

ily increased, until, at the beginning of 1907, it

reached 10,000; after six years of unbroken pros-

perity, owing to the excellence of its equipment

and the satisfactory nature of its service—during

which it acquired, through the medium of the In-

dependent Telephone Securities company, whidi

was formed for the purpose, a controlling interest,

through stock ownership, of independent (which

means. anti-Bell) companies in Syracuse, Utiea

and several other places in this state—it became

merged in the United States Independent Tele-

phone company. It may seem a small thing, but

it was a matter of great importance to thousands

of people, that free public baths were opened on

July 27th, in the old Home of Industry, on South

avenue, after many years of effort. As the Novem-
ber election approached, the Good Government

club was for some time undecided as to what

course to adopt; at two previous elections it liad

put into the field a full city ticket, which was ac-

cepted by the Democratic convention and elected

;

this time it was determined to do differently, so

conferences
. were held with the managers of the

Republican party in which a ticket was agreed

upon that was satisfactory to both sides, the

more particularly as the compact included the

nomination, for the first time in the history of

the city, of a woman on the school boara, in this

case a most admirable officer, who still fulfills

the duties of that important position; the Repub-
lican convention nominated this ticket, the Good

Government club indorsed it and it was trium

pliantly elected.

Jehiel Barnard died on the 13th of IMay; h

could hardly be called a child, for he was seven

ty-five years old, but he was one of Rochester'

babies, having been born on tlie loth of January

1824; his father, whose name was the same, kep

the first tailor shop in the village and was mar

riod to Delia Scrantom in 1815, the first weddin;

in tlu! scltlcmoiil. On llio I71li ol' llio moiill

Kmaiiuel M. Moercl died at tlio age of ninety

lour; M'as born iu lloiiuiid; could well remember

even in his last days. Napoleon's retreat from Rus

sia, as he saw the French army passing througl

Brussels on its return to France. On the 18tl

Charles W. Briggs died, mayor of the city in 1871

on the 24th Haywood Hawks, secretary of th(

Rochester Trust & Safe Deposit company; on tin

29tli his predecessor in that position, from it

foundation in 1868 to 1884, William J. Ashley

born in ]812, graduated at Hobart college in 18G3

president of the Merchants bank at the time of hi;

death, a safe adviser in financial matters. Oi

the 7lh of June Frinik W. Elwood, of one of tlu

pioneer families, son of Isaac R. Elwood, one o

the organizers of the Western Union Telegraph

he was graduated at Harvard in 1874 and wai

a member of a great number of clubs and frater-

nities. On August 5th Chester P. Dewey, an olc

journalist, connected for some time with th(

Rochester Daily American and its chief editor ii

1856 and 1857, after which he went to New Yorl

and acquired distinction on the metropolitar

press; on the 20th Frederick G'oetzman; a promi-

nent German-American citizen, interested ir

sevei'al Teutonic institutions. Elon Hunt
ington, the last survivor of the origina

board of trustees of the University of Roches

ter, died September 20th, aged ninety-one ; on the

25th George P. Danforth, a former judge of tin

Court of Appeals, died in the county court roon

after arguing a case in special term ; a sketch o;

his services and his character, as well as of thosi

of other distinguished lawyers, will be found ii

another chapter. Lucy Ellen Guernsey, the his

of a remarkable family of literary talent, died No
vember 3d; she was born in Pittsford in 1826

and when the Indians used to pass through tiia

settlement they always put up in her father'i

barn, leaving their guns in the house, as a marl
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of coiivtesy; she uas n piolilic writer of magazine

articles and of tlic ligliter kind of literature; slie

started the first sewing school here for the j)oorest

class of street children, and through life she was

the helpful friend of the friendless.

The closing year of the old century opened with

tiie administration of the city government under

the White ehailei', which was the oiilcome of a

long series of unsatisfactory methods, with pro-

posed improvements from time to time—some of

them carried out, others unheeded—and the re-

peated efforts for revision made by the Chamber

of Commerce and other organizations, resulting in

the appoint]nent of a state committee which pre-

pared a uniform charter for all cities of the second

class, that is of those with a j.opulation between

50,000 and 250,000. This has heen found to be

very satisfactory in its operation, so that the var-

ious amendments adopted since its passage by the

legislature in 1898 have been immaterial and have

not alfccted its general character, its basic prin-

ciple is the concentration of power in the hands of

the mayor, to whom is given vastly increased

and almost absolute authority. His power of ap-

pointment, which is uncontrolled, includes the

right to remove at pleasure any city officer prev-

iously appointed by him ; he has what may be

called a cabiiiel, executive heads of depiiftnieiils

with ori;;iual jiirisdic'tion subject to his supervis-

ion—consisiiiig of the commissioiiers of jjublic

works, of public safely and of charities and con'cc-

tion—he appoints the corporation counsel, the city

engineer and the scaler of weights and measures,

besides which he is a member, ex officiOj of the

boards of contract and suj)ply and of estimate and

apportionment, which are composed of different

officers of the city government. The common
council, the president of the council, the comp-

troller, the treasurer, the four assessors and the

five members of the department of public instruc-

tion, or school board, are elected by the ])C()ple.

The common council is thus shorn of most of its

foruuM' jiower, its e.xocutive functions are taken

away from it and the legislative authority is all

that remains to it. One great advantage is that

this concentration of power makes it much easier

to fix the responsibility for any wrongdoing or

misinanagenuMit of the ]nd)lic funds, and this

more than offsets any imperfections that there

may be in this present charter. It is, however

—

upon the supposition that an amendment to the

state constitution, which was adopted by the last

legislature, putting all cities with a population

of more than 175,000 into the first class, which

would bring Eochester into the category, shall be

ratified by a vote of the people—intended to have

an entirely new charter, though on the same gen-

eral lines, to meet the changed conditions, and one

has been prepared and approved by the governor

having this end in view.

The early part of June saw the fiftieth anniver-

sary of the founding of the university, which was

celebrated by the dedication of tjie new gymna-

sium on the 11th, Commencement and alumni day

on the 12th, and on the 13th addresses at the

Lyceum by distinguished speakers, including Gov-

ernor Boosevelt and ex-President Hill. June 15th

will long be remembered as Otis day, when the

whole city turned out to welcome home General

Elwell S. Otis on his return from Manila and the

consequent eiuling of his long term of military

service. Under a memorial arch that had been

erected at the junction of Main street and East

avenue passed a parade of great length, in which

there were many civic elements but the warlike

feature predominated, making it as a military

display probably the finest ever seen here; tliis was

owing to the piescnce in the line of march of the

Marine band, which had been permitted, as a

special favoc, to cojue on from Washington, as

well as of several companies from the regular

Fifteenth infantry and the Fifth and Seventh ar-

tillery; those United States troops had a few days

before established themselves at the tempor-

ary Camp Otis in Maplewood park, just on the

edge of the river bank, with a full hospital corps,

a surgical tent and a full garrison outfit; there

they remained for a week, attracting daily crowds

of visitors, particularly at the time of guard

inount and more especially to witness the unusual

spectacle of dress parade on the last day; of course

there was a banquet on the evening of the parade,

at which the veteran General Joe AVheeler, Dr.

Hill and others Spoke; the next day General Oti-*

received his connnission as major-general in tho

regular army and was put on the retired list in

March, 1902. Eev. Dr. Nelson Millard resigned

Ihe pastorale of the. First Presbyterian church

on September .'iOth, and withdrew from the Pres-

byterian denomination some time later. It was a
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warm autumn, the mercury rising to a fraction

above eighty-seven degrees on the 6th of October,

the highest ever recorded here in that month; on

the lltli, Dr. Rusli Rhecs was inaugurated us

president of the university, with impressive ad-

dresses by three other presidents—Low of Colum-

bia, Harper of Chicago university and Seelye of

Smith college; on the 15th the corner-stone of

the Eastman building of the Mechanics Institute

was laid.

The deaths of the year were numerous—in Jan-

uary, on the 5th, Rev. Dr. W. D'Orville Doty, who

had been rector of Christ church for the previous

twenty-three years, one of the most beloved of the

city pastors; on the same day General W. Henry

Benjamin, whose war record has been given in an

antecedent chapter, was clerk of the county court

for some years and in 1870 clerk of the state

commission of appeals; on the 22d Theodore

Bacon, a distinguished lawyer, and on the 24th

Edward A. Frost, county clerk from 1877 to 1883.

On April 2d Joseph D. Husbands, born in Bar-

badoes, West Indies, in 1809 ; came to the United

States at an early age and graduated at Union

in 1828, supposed to be the oldest living college

graduate in the country at the time of his death;

admitted to the bar in 1838 and came to Rochester

two years later; appointed registrar in bank-

ruptcy in 1867; interested in reforms and widely

known as an anti-slavery and temperance orator.

On April 22d W. Dean Shuart, who had been

paymaster in the army with the rank of major;

city attorney four years, surrogate twelve years.

Only the passing generation will remember the

Kremlin saloon, in the basement of the old Clin-

ton Hotel; Roscoe Ashley, who Avith his father,

Isaac Ashley, used to keep it, died May 30th.

Henry F. Huntington, treasurer of the board of

park commissioners, died June 25th; Ezra R. An-

drews August 13th, president of the Mechanics

Institute and the Mechanics Savings bank and a

member of several boards; David Hays, October

17th, graduated here in 1877, at Berlin univer-

sity two years later and Columbia law school in

1881, a promising young attorney, with every pros-

pect of a brilliant career before him ; pn the 20th

Rev. T. C. Murphy, rector of St. Mary's church.

At the beginning of 1901 Charles B. Gilbert be-

came superintendent of the public schools and

scvci'al radical changes were made in llie methods

of instruction, particularly in the lower grades,

not all of which, such as vertical writing,

were acceptable to the taxpayers and parents

of the pupils. A grand reception and a merry

dance signalized the opening of the Eastman

building on the 15th of April. A continuous down-

pour of rain on the 30th of May caused the aban-

donment of the usual Memorial day parade, for

the first time since that patriotic observance be-

gan. The First Methodist church was dedicated

on June 23d, with a sermon by Bishop Goodsell

and an a'ddress by Chancellor Day of the Syracuse

university. On the 21st of October the Rochester

Optical and Camera company was fomied, with a

capital of $35,000,000, to purchase foreign and

home plants and manufacture plate cameras; a ru-

inous enterprise, unsuccessful from the start, large-

ly owing to woeful mismanagciucnt and inexcus-

able extravagance; two years later the remains of

it were absorbed by the Eastman Kodak company,

only four per cent, on the original investment be-

ing received by the stockholders, many of whom
could ill afford the loss and who suffered greatly

in consequence of the boundless credulity that

seems to characterize the people of Rochester.

Cornelius R. Parsons died on the 30th of Jan-

uary; alderman for many years, mayor of the

city for fourteen years, elected to the Assembly

in 1890 and the next year sent to the state Senate,

of which he Avas a inouiher when he died. On May
15th Thomas Smith, aged one hundred and one,

thought to be the oldest inhabitant at the time of

his death; October 11th, A. Tiffany Norton, city

editor of the Democrat & Chronicle; November
9th, .William II. Gorsline, a prominent contractor,

who had erected many of the finest buildings in

the city; November 15th, Bertha Scrantom Pool,

of literary talent, granddaughter of Hamlet
Scrantom, the first permanent settler; December
6th Rev. J. J. Leary, the fourth rector of St.

Mary's church to die within as many years; De-
cember 11th, William J. Fowler, one of the edi-

tors of the Evening Express for ten years, with a

marvelous memory and clearness of style.

In 1902 the Stromberg-Carlson Telephone Man-
ufacturing company was incorporated, with a

capital of $3,000,000; it had been a highly suc-

cessful concern in Chicago, where it manufactured

improved SAvitchboards and other telephonic appa-

ratus for iiidepondeut companies; the stock liav-.
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iug been largely bought up by the stockliolders of

the ]?ochester Telephone company the works were

gradually removed to this city, extensive buildings

being put \ip at East Rochester. This year wit-

nessed in its closing months the only real coal

famine ever known in the city, the same that

adlictcd the whole country as the result of the

prolonged strike in the anthracite coal Ticlds; Lho

actual sulTering was considerable, though the ap-

prehension of what might come was still worse;

even after the strike was broken by being left

to arbitration the supply of fuel was wholly inade-

quate for a long time, the police had to guard the

coal cars as they stood on the tnistles, to prevent

wholesale pilfering, and in the morning hours

before the dawn odicers stood at the yards of the

coal ralroads to regulate the loading of the wait-

ing wagons, without which precaution there would

have been a serious riot; on one Sunday, that of

December ]4tli, lojig lines of teams of the dealers

struggled through the deep snow, on an errand of

mercy rather than of business, to deliver the

dark morsels that were necessary to sustain life.

'J'his was the greatest building y«ar known up to

that time, there being about seven hundred struct-

ures erected, of which the most notable were the

line Masonic Temple, on Clinton avenue North;

the Rochester Athletic cluh-houFC, just opposite;

the shops of the Pfaudler company and the Pneu-

matic Signal company, at Lincoln park; the

East High school and public schools numbers G

and 23; the cost of all was $2,615,078, while

many more buildings were extensively remodeled,

7naking a total expenditure of si)2,!)13,142; the

building exceeded that of the previous year by

$707,798, that of 1900 by more than a million

and that of 1898 and 1899 combined.

On the 2d of March George Moss died, a good

newspaper man, connected with the Union &
A (Ivrrtispr for some years and afterward secretary

of the ChaTiiber of Coinmorce. 'JMic next day

Dr. ]<]dward M. Moore passed away, to the regret

of the whole city. He was born at Rahway, N. J.,

July 15th, 1814, and received a thorough class-

ical education in the school of his father, Lindley

l\Turray Moore. A sketch of his eminent services

in medicine and surgery will be found in the medi-

cal chapter; it is enough to say in this connec-

tion that he was in every way one of the most

conspicuous figures in the community. He was

not oidy the father of the park system but was
interested in all forward movements, in all the

philanthropic and educational enterprises, of

many of which he was the president, including the

board of trustees of the Reynolds Library; for

the last years of his life he was universally recog-

nized as the "first citizen" of Rochester. On the

15th of the month Samuel Wilder died; a promi-

nent financier, but still better known among his

associates as a most entertaining raconteur; at

an early age he came here from Massachusetts,

where he was born in 1824; at first a clerk in Brit-

tin's dry goods store, on East Main street, he soon

obtained an interest in the firm, which became that

of Brittin & Wilder, changing a little later to that

of Wilder, Gorton & Co., when the place of busi-

ness was moved to State street, a little north of

Exchange place (now Corinthian street), and in

that location it was one of the well-known land-

marks of the city in the middle of the last cen-

tury; during the war it was moved across the

street, the firm having become, in the meantime,

Wilder, Case & Co., from which the head of it soon

after retired; he then devoted himself to real es-

tate, purchasing Corinthian hall with a block of

the Western Union Telegraph stock, of which

company he was one of the directors, and turning

the building a few years later into a theater; he

established the Central bank, was one of the

founders of the Mechanics Savings bank and

president of both, and was largely interested in the

City hospital and the Unitarian church. Charles

S. Baker, a well-known lawyer, died April 21st;

after holding municipal offices for some years he

was elected to the Assembly in 1878 and continued

there, with the intermission of one term, till

1883, when he was sent to the state Senate; in

1884 was chosen a member of Congress and was

twice re-elected. George P. Yeoman, a successful

lawyer and justice of the Supreme court, died

Juno 1st; Rev. Dr. Benjamin 0. True, a profes-

sor in the Rochester Theological seminary; Rev.

Dr. Herman C. Riggs, twice pastor of St. Peter's

Presbyterian church, August 7th, and Dr. Azel

Backus, September 2d; he was born here in 1828,

the son of Dr. Frederick F. Backus (who set-

tled here in ]81G); having graduated at Ilobart

and in the medical department of the University

of Pennsylvania, he practised his profession here

till near the close of his life. On the 23d of
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October, John H. Rochester, a gi-anilson of the

founder, passed away at |lie age of seventy-two,

the oldest inembci' of St. Luke's church at the

time of liis death; was president of the Rochester

Historical society for two terms, an original mem-
ber of the park commission, secretary and treas-

urer of the Mechanics Savings bank for thirty

years.

Everything that seems to call for record in 1903

is of a personal nature. Dr. Adolph Lorenz, the

celebrated surgeon of Vienna, Austria, visited

Rochester in the latter part of Jime and performed

several operations at the City hospital during his

stay here. On the 28th of November, Adolph J.

Rodenbeck resigned the office of mayor, having

been appointed judge of the Court of Claims. . Dr.

H. H. Stebbins, for many years pastor of the

Central Presbyterian church, resigned December

30tli, and in the evening of the same day a fare-

well reception was given at the Lyceum to Rev.

Thomas R. Hendrick, who had been appointed as

the Roman Catholic bishop of Cebn, in the Philip-

pine islands.

William Rmnsey died January ICth; born in

1841, before graduation at Williams college in

1861 he enlisted in the army and served during

tlie war, coming out with a reputation for bravery

and a colonel's brevet; having studied and prac-

tised law he became justice of the Supreme coui't

in 1873 and remained on the bench till 1901,

when he resigned. Three other well-known at-

torneys gave up their briefs later in the year

—

Joseph A. Stull, June 1-lth, Frederick L. Durand,

August 10th, aged eighty-seven, graduated at Yale

in 1836 and came to Rochester in 1845, beginning

practice at once; George H. Humphrey, October

6th. James A. Hinds died July 24th; Samuel

Sloan, for some time president of the Mechanics

Savings bank, September 1st, and H. Austin

Brewster, December 18th—all three prominent

merchants of long standing—Oliver Allen, May
5th; though living in Mumford, where he was

born in 1823, and continuing the woolen mill

that his father establislied there in 1829, he was

closely identified with Rochester interests, as bank

director and otherwise; he was the principal pro-

moter of the State Line railroad, which became

the Buffalo, Rochester & Pittsburg. Rev. J. B.

Stillson, the oldest clergyman in the city, died

July 2d, and Mrs. Louisa Rochester Pitkin, tlic

last surviving child of Colonel Rochester, passed

away the same day; she was born at Dansville in

September, 1810, a few months after the family

migrated to the Genesee valley. Henri Appy, tlie

oldest and best-known musician in Rochester, died

November 16th; born at the Hague, Holland, in

early life he played with Mendelssohn and was

afterward solo violinist with Jenny Lind, Son-

tag and other singers of world-wide celebrity; lie

came here about the close of the war and estab-

lished the Philharmonic society, which he con-

ducted for twenty years, giving it up to confine

himself to private pupils.

All the theaters were carefully inspected on the

4th of January, 1904, in consequence of the aw-

ful fire at the Iroquois, in Chicago, where so

many lives were lost on the last night of the prev-

ious year; the license of the Empire, a place of

vaudeville performance, was revoked, as having

too many elements of danger, and other build-

ings of resort were made more thoroughly pro-

tected. On the 2d of June the Rochester and

Lake Ontario Water company began laying an in-

take pipe at the beach, to give the city an addi-

tional supply. On the 10th of that month the

Rochester Light & Power company, which two

years before had absorbed all the gas and electric

companies of the city, reached out still further

and purchased all the stock that could be ob-

tained of the street railroad, forming thereby the

Rochester Railway & Liglit company, a monster

monopoly of public utilities, which thus far has

been rather beneficent on the whole, owing to

the constant supervision and requirements of the

municipal authorities. Apart from suicides there

were a surprising number of fatal casualties in

this year—one hundred and nineteen, of which

thirty-nine were from accidents on steam rail-

roads, tliirty-two from drowning, eight from the

street cars, the rest from various causes. Rev.

Dr. '!'. Harwood I'attison died on the 11th of I^'eb-

I'uary, a professor in the Rochester Theological

seminary; James Brackett, March 7th, mayor
in 1864 and president of the Rochester

Savings bank for many years before his

death ; Reuben D. Jones, May 30th, born in 1815,

one of the oldest newspaper men in Western New
York, having lieen on the Dailij Amcvimn as far

))ack as 1847 and after that connected with several

otlicr local journals; Joseph A. Adliuijtm, July
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2cl, surrogaLc from 1884 to 1892, n good soklier,

having entered tlie war as a private and coming

out as lieutenant-colonel. Father Hippolyte Do
Ecggc, chancellor of the Catholic diocese of

Eocliester, a popular priest, well-known through-

out the United States, died Julj' 14th at Antwerp,

having gone to Belgium, his native country, on a

visit. Valentine Fleckcnstein on August lllh; he

had hecn a member of the executive hoard, city

assessor, jjostinaRter, city treasurer and collector

of internal revenue. Rev. Dr. Isaac N. Dalbey,

pastor of the West Avenue Methodist church,

August 15th. John McMuUcn, a typical fireman

of the old volunteer school, chief engineer of the

depariiiient in 18(1,'!, died Sejilemhor 2nh. Mrs.

Mary J. Amsden, widow of Christopher T. Ams-

den, December 2Gth, the oldest native-born resi-

dent of Kochester at the time of her death, having

come into the world and this little settlement in

1810.

In January, 1905, the J3righlon election was

carried by the annexation party by a majority of

one vote. The Rochester Railway & Light com-

pany gave out contracts in ]\Iarch for extensions,

buildings and machinery to the extent of $1,250,-

000. In April Rev. Dr. C. E. Hamilton resigned

the pastorate of the First Methodist church and

Rev. Dr. T. r. Coddington tliat of the First Uni-

vcrsalist. Father Thomas F. llickey became coad-

jutor bishop of the diocese in May. On the 1st of

June the public market was opened, a great step

in advance, for it put a stop to the blockade of

hay wagons on Front street fiom time immemor-

ial and to what was still worse, the serious inter-

ference with traflic in the neighborhood of the

"Seven Corners," at East Main street and North

avenue, by the long lines of wagons of market

gardeners which had come tliere, principally from

Irondequoit, long before dawn and stayed well into

the morning. On June 20th was the presentation

to the university, the gift of the alumni, of the

statue of President Anderson, in the middle of

the campus; on the 5th of August the laying of

the corner-stone of the ncAV armory. Toward

the close of the year negotiations that had been

going on for several months were completed which

resulted in tlie formation of a gigantic enterprise,

Iho TTniled SIntcs. Imhipendcnt Telephone com-

pany, with a eai)ital of $50,000,000, the headquar-

ters being localod in tliis city, where most of the

ollicers resided; it involved the practical absorp-

tion of the most of the following named independ-

ent telephone companies, with the absolute control

of the others by the purchase of most of the

stock: The New York, the Utah^ the Indianapo-

lis, the Stroraberg-Carlson Manufacturing and the

Rochester, which last named controlled, through

stock ownership, not only several smaller concerns,

but also the Independent Telephone Securities

company, which itself controlled, also through

stock ownership, thirteen operating companies;

the cost of acquiring all these securities was $56,-

459,343.43; the future of this great company is

uncertain, and what will be the final outcome is

at tlie present writing wholly conjectural. This

year building operations were carried on to an un-

precedented extent, so far as the money expended

was concerned, the total valuation of the structures

erected being $5,569,019 ; among the most import-

ant of these were the building of the Rochester

Trust & Safe Deposit company, on the corner of

Main and State streets; the addition to the Ger-

man Insurance building adjoining it, making

those two structures occupy the site of the old

Irving Hall or Silas 0. Smith block; the Strong

Manufacturing building on State street, the build-

ing for offices of the Buffalo, Rochester & Pitts-

burg railroad, on West Main street (one of the

most beautiful in its proportions in the whole

city), and the Sibley, Lindsay & Curr building,

on East Main street, as well as those that re-

placed the ones destroyed in the great fire

of February, 1904—which is described in an-

other chapter—all of which were completed in the

early part of the year.

Death invaded the ranks of the law in this year,

carrying off a number, among whom may be men-

tioned Menzo Van Voorhis, January 18th ; "Wil-

liam F. Cogswell, the leader of the bar, February

12th; Frederick A. Whittlesey, February 24th;

born in 1827, graduated at Union in 1847 ; a son

of Vice-Chancellor*\¥hittlesey ; a lawyer of the old

school, confining his practice almost entirely to the

real estate branch of his profession, in which he

was a recognized authority; retiring from the

practice of the law several years ago, he devoted

himself more than ever to literature, to which he

had always been addicted ; was president, at the

time of his death, of the board of trustees of the

Reynolds Lilirary, of which he was one of the in-
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corporators; John W. Stebbins died Jiily 30th,

and John Van Voorhis October IlOUi, a success-

ful lawyer with a very lucrative practice; mem-

ber of Congress, elected in 1878 and 1880 and

again in 1892. January 28th Kendrick P. Shedd

died; after serving in the war he was county

clerk for two terms, from 1891 to 1897; February

14th J. Miller Kelly, a Democratic politician,

alderman from the fifteenth ward for twent3'-flve

years; February 17th Frederick Cook, remarkable

for the almost unbroken prosperity that attended

his movements; beginning life as a shoemaker and

then a butcher, he abandoned those trades to be-

come a brakeman on the Buffalo & Rochester rail-

road (before it became a part of the New York

Central), for some time a conductor of a German

immigrant train, then of a regular passenger

train; having followed that calling for twenty

years, he gave it up to embark in commercial enter-

prises, which, multiplying on his hands, seemed

to owe much of their success to his guidance,

for he was president of almost every one of

the corporations in which he was interested and

was recognized as a financial magnate, not only

here but elsewhere; was prominent in Democratic

politics and secretary of state of New York from

1886 to 1890. Dr. John Stafford, the oldest

physician in the city at the time of his death, just

a century in age, died February 25th; Elbert

Henry Scrantom, April 24th, a bookstore keeper

of long standing; Frederic P. Allen, May 3d, of

an old family, cashier of the Ceriiian-American

bank; James C. Hart, August 16th, a successful

merchant and highly respected citizen; never held

office, very retiring and equally charitable, dis-

tributing his great wealth so unostentatiously that

no one ever know how much ho gave away. George

G. Clarkson, August 25th, born in Edinburgh,

Scotland, in 1811; an old anti-slavery man, mayor

of the city in 1874, for a long time president of

the old Athenaeum and for twenty-six years presi-

dent of the board of managers of the Deaf Mute
institution. Dr. George G. Carroll, September

24th, a valuable member of the board of education.

William Purcell, December 27th, in early life a

practical printer, he became a member of the edi-

torial staff in 1854 and ten years later chief editor

of the Union & Advertiser, retaining that position

until his retirement, by reason of ill health, four

years before his death; one of the most vigorous

and effective writers ever connected with the

liochentur press; on tlic last day of the year Philip

Kri(Ml, a famous tenor singer in opera, in con-

certs and in church choirs.

The most memorable occurrence in 1906 was

the series of events connected with the trial for

heresy of Rev. Dr. Algernon S. Crapsey, the rec-

tor of St. Andrew's (Episcopal) church. Toward

the close of the previous year Dr. Crapsey had de-

livered a number of Sunday evening addresses al

his church, in which he indicated plainly his dis-

belief in some of the doctrines commonly held

by members of that denomination, notably the

miraculous conception and virgin birth of Jesus

Christ and his bodily resurrection after death, as

well as the doctrine of the trinity. Almost sim-

ultaneously these addresses were printed and pub-

lished in book form, under the title "Religion and

Politics." On the 6th of January following Rt.

Rev.. AVilliam D. AValker, bishop of the diocese of

Western New York, vehemently condemned, in a

sermon preached in Christ church, the views

enunciated by Dr. Crapsey, but, in spite of that,

the latter declared publicly, three weeks later, that

he should maintain his position in the church.

Then the standing committee of the diocese took

up the matter and made a presentment against

Dr. Crapsey on February 23d. After some delay

the case came on for trial at Ratavia before tlie

ecclesiastical court of the diocese on the 17th of

April. Roth sides were represented by able coun-

sel, the eonimittec hy three Buil'alo attorneys, tiie

accused by J. Breck Perkins of this city and Pld-

ward M. Shepard of Brooklyn, both of whom de-

livered strong arguments, besides which Dr. Crap-

sey spoke in his own bolialf. On the 9th of May
the court, l)y a vote of four incnil)ers, tlie fifth dis-

senting, handed down its decision or verdict, find-

ing that the accused had been guilty of preaching

and publishing in denial of the doctrines as con-

tained in the Apostles' creed, the Nicene creed and

the book of Common Prayer, and stating that in

its opinion "sentence should be pronounced as

follows
: That the respondent be suspended from

exercising the functions of a minister of this

church until such time as he shall satisfy the ec-

clesiastical authority of the diocese that his belief

and teaching conform to the doctrines of the

Apostles' creed and the Nicene creed as this church

has I'cceived the same," expressing at the same
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time tlio lio})c tlial bd'oic the lapso of the Uiii'ty

clays, at tlie end of which time he pIiouIcI be sen-

loiiccil, he might see his way clear to satisfy the

authorities of his conformity with the doctrines.

So far from recanting, Dr. Crapsey reiterated, in

still more emphatic language than he had previ-

ously employed, his belief in his former utter-

ances, and on the 6th of June he filed an appeal

from the verdict, on the ground that the court

was illegally formed, that it had refused to receive

important evidence, that not sufficient time for

preparation had been allowed and that the decision

was vague, null and void. That brought the case

before the final court of review, which held ils

si'SHioii ill New York city and whidi, after hearing

liie arguments of counsel, liandcd down, on the

l!)tli of November, a decision which, without going

inlo the merits of the case, rejected tlic appeal, on

tiic ground that no errors had been committed on

Ihe former trial, the jiulgmcnt of which mwM,

therefore, stand. That ended tliis remarkable

heresy trial, which, for better or worse, in one way

or another, will leave its iiu])ress for a long time

to come. A week later Dr. Crapsey, in a letter of

much dignity, requested Bishop Walker to execute

the sentence without delay, having done which he

preached his farewell sermon at St. Andrew's and

tendered to the wardens and vestrymen of the

parish his resignation as rector. On the 4th of

December he was formally deposed from the priest-

hood of the Episcopal church.

Of minor church matters in this year the most

important were the dedication of West Avenue

Methodist church, January 21st, of the Lyell Ave-

nue Baptist church Novend)er 4th, and of the new

chapel of the North Presbyterian church, Decem-

ber 30th, the laying of the coiiier-stone of St.

Augustine's church December 33d, the resignation

of Rev. C. A. !McAlpine of the Bronson Avenue

Baptist church (which had been consolidated with

the Wilder street church) on October 18th, and

nf Rev. Dr. S. Banks Nelson of St. Peter's (Pres-

byterian) on the 22d, and the acce])tance, on the

18th, of a call to the Second Baptist by Rev.

Charles H. Rust. On the 11th of November an

evangelistic campaign was opened in several of the

churches, ten large meetings being held simul-

lancously; Ibis continued with nu)re or less en-

thusiasm for eighteen days; the movement par-

look largely of the nature of old-fashioned re-

vivals, though that term was not used at all; one

of its ])rominent features, in which it differed from
anything done here before, was the use of saloons,

every one of which of any notoriety in the city was
visited by two evangelists (a man and wife), who
made addresses^ pfEered prayers and sang hymns,
which \yeTe joined in by the large crowds that

were present and that invariably treated the vis-

itors with perfect respect; much good was effected

in this way, hopeful at the time and probably

permanent. More than the usual number of con-

ventions were held here this year, of which the

most striking were those of the Genesee Valley

Schoolmasters' association, then organized, Janu-

ary 20tli; of the state league of saving mid build-

ing loan associations July 16th, of the Arbeiter

Saingerbund on the 20th, and both the national

and state conventions of opticians on the 30th;

the national convention of jewelers August 3d,

that of the Veiled Prophets of the Enchanted

ifeaim on October 3d, of the state association of

master plumbers on the 9th, of public school su-

perintendents on the 15th, of Methodist bishops

of the world on the 34th, of Afro-American Pres-

byterians on the 36th; on November 1st the Uni-

tarian conference of the middle states and Canada,

and on the 13th, 14th and 15th of that month that

of charities and corrections; this last was the sev-

enth state conference of that nature that had

been held and in some respects it was the most

important one of all, those who were present

representing all the charitable agencies of the

state, oflicial and unofficial, public and private, de-

nominational and non-sectarian, and the various

addresses and reports being of a very high order;

all the mceting;s, including the banquet, were held

at the Eureka club-house; at the close of the con-

ference Daniel B. Murphy of this city was elected

president for the ensuing year.

For many years Rochester had been suffering

from the smoke nuisance arising from the use of

soft coal as fuel in the manufacturing establish-

ments and other large buildings, such as hotels

and apartment houses. Disagreeable at the best,

from its covering all white clothes, dishes and

plates with a coating of soot and dirt, it was

found to be also detrimental to health, particu-

larly ill the case of young school children. Hav-

ing become an intolerable evil, the Chamber of

Commerce took uj) the matter and in spite of
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strong opposition it succeeded in so rousing pub-

lic opinion that the common council felt obliged

to pass an ordinance prohibiting the use of bitu-

minous coal except for a short time at stated peri-

ods when fires were being started, and in carrying

out this injunction what artists might call a

color scheme, though in this case it was denomi-,

nated a color scale, was adopted to determine

whether any given volume of smoke was too dark

to be permissible. The ordinance went into effect

on the 1st of June, in consequence of which, as

it has been quite generally obeyed, the city liaa

been noticeably cleaner and healthier than it was

before. Building operations were very extensive,

the total valuation in the permits given by the

iire marshal being $G,181,134, an increase of more

than half a million over the previous year. Of

the structures erected the most conspicuous was

the West Side department store, on the corner of

West Main and Fitzhugh streets, seven stories in

height, with five acres of floor space, the frame

work of iron, of which two thousand tons were

used, covered with an exterior of white enameled

terra cotta, which took more than fifteen car load3

of those plates, the total cost being $200,000, ex-

clusive of the land, all of which had before that

been covered by business blocks ; the beauty of this

construction was sadly marred by the contiguity,

on the west, of two unsightly buildings, but they arc

being replaced during this year by an ornamental

structure of the same height with their present

companion. While a large addition was being

made to the already enormous plant of the East-

man company at Kodak park the collapse of the

roof and part of the second floor, which consisted

of a concrete material in which an inferior grade

of sand was used, on the 21st of November, cost

the lives of four men, one of them the foreman

in charge of the- work. Another extensive addi-

tion, completed at the very close of the year, was

that of the Genesee Valley club-house, on Gibbs

street and East Main, which is described in the

next chapter. Perhaps the most notable banquet

ever given in this city, though by no means one of

the largest, was that on February 3d, when the

justices of this Appellate division of the Supreme

court entertained at the old club-house all the

judges of the Court of Appeals.

In spite of some frightful losses inflicted upon

a widespread portion of the community, rich as

well as poor, by reason of the depreciation in value

of the securities of an industrial concern that was

supposed to ofEer assurances of a safe investment,

the year has been on the whole a very prosperous

one. Money has been plentiful and has been well

distributed, as may be illustrated by the pay-

ment on December 1st of more than a million

dollars in extra dividends by two manufacturing

companies; the bank clearances, which, as well a^

oilier fiscal statistics, will be given in aiiollier

chapter, showed a decided increase; the record of

the post-ollico, which will ull'urd another indication

of the general prosperity, showed that the receipts

for the year were $769,970.54, the first time that

they have passed the three-quarters of a million

mark, December bringing in $77,15G.16, the lar-

gest amount for any one month in the history of

the office. The report of the health bureau showed

that during the year there were 2,035 marriages,

3,688 births and 2,825 deaths, an increase in all

corresponding with the growth of the city and

maintaining the usual proportion of the groups,

except that the births have increased slightly fast-

ei" than the deaths, while the mortality iimong in-

fants has shown a relative decrease as compared

with previous years. The weather, although it be-

haved pretty well during most of the time, waa

quite eccentric during the first month and tha

last, for on January 21st the mercury rose to

seventy-one degrees, breaking the record of that

day for thirty-five years, while about the begin-

ning of December the fluid in the tube fell to

zero, the lowest point ever reached here so early

in the winter. This brings the general narrative

of the city, imperfect as it may be, down to tha

first of January, 1907, except for the necrological

record that follows.

Susan B. Anthony, the celebrated leader in tlie

movement for female suffrage, died at her home

on Madison street on the 13th of March. Born at

Adams, Massachusetts, on February 15th, 1820,

she came here in 1845 and was a school teacher

for some years. Her public life really began in

1852, when she was sent by the Daughters of Tem-

perance to a state mass meeting or convention of

the Sons of Temperance at Albany, where she at-

tempted to speak from the platform, but was not

allowed by the presiding officer to do so, which so

roused her indignation that it settled, instead of

preventing, her vocation as a public speaker. The
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lemporiuicc leioi'm wats never wholly iudiU'crent

to lier and tliat of anti-slavery was still closer, but

they both yielded to the cause of woman's rights,

as she conceived them, which overshadowed every-

thing else and embraced far more than the exten-

sion of the elective franchise; in fact, the equal-

ity of the sexes not only politically but in every

other way. This was signalized by her adoption,

in December, 1852, of the "bloomer" costume,

with trousers and abbreviated skirt and the hair

cut short, which peculiar dress she wore for a lit-

tle more than a year, abandoning it then only

because she perceived that it was doing more than

anything else to prejudice people against the gen-

eral cause that she had at heart. The most nota-

bl event of her life was connected with the presi-

dential election of 1872. On November 1st of that

year she and fourteen other women registered, un-

der protest from the inspectors, in the eighth ward

of the city of Rochester, and on the 5th they all

cast their votes, again in spite of the protests of

the inspectors, who, being threatened with legal

penalties if they refused to receive the ballots,

were thus placed between two fires. A few days

later Miss Anthony was arrested and admitted \o

bail and was tried for illegal voting in the United

States court at Canandaigua on the 18th of June

in the following year. Judge Hunt, of the Su-

preme court, sitting in circuit, took the decision

of the case out of the hands of the jury, directing

them to bring in a verdict of guilty, after which

he imposed a fine of one hundred dollars, which

she never paid, and that was the end of it so far

as she was concerned. The poor inspectors fared

worse, for when they refused to pay the fine of

twenty-iivc dollars that was laid against Chcm they

were sent to jail (a form of martyrdom that was

courted by the principal offender but was denied

to her) and kept there till President Garfield par-

doned them out at the end of a week. That in-

cident caused the name of Susan 13. Anthony to

become more, widely known than ever and aided

licr in the propaganda for female suffrage to which

her life became even more exclusively devoted than

before. Carrying the crusade into the western

states, she was largely instrumental in inducing

some of them to embody her views in legisla-

tion which has not in every case brought the mil-

lennium that was hoped for or even the satisfac-

tion that was expected. In 1904 she went to

Berlin as a delegate to the council of women, at

which she, with others, brought about the forma-

tion of the International Suffrage Alliance, repre-

senting the women of ten different nationalities,

after which she was received by the German em-

peror and by the empress and honored with marks
of distinction. Another missionary journey to

the Pacific coast and then a run down to Wash-
ington in the early part of 1905, where the extraor-

dinary attentions that she received were cut

short by her illness, for she broke down at last un-

der the strain of her incessant labors and after a

short interval came home to die. Whatever may
be thought of the peculiar political principles that

she promulgated, no one can refuse to her mem-
ory a measure of admiration for the persistency,

the energy and the devotion with which she advo-

cated them.

In the field of literature may be noted the

deaths of George H. Ellwanger, , April 24th, an

author of note, principally in the line of horti-

culture; George M. Elwood on the 29th, of an

old Rochester family, remarkable for his conver-

sational power, in which he had no superior, a

versatile writer, an indefatigable collector of books

and book plates ; W. Martin Jones May 2d, private

secretary of William H. Seward while the lat-

ter was at the head of the state department. Pro-

hibition candidate for governor in 1888, as a pub-

licist he was one of the earliest advocates of in-

ternational arbitration as the proper method for

the settlement of disputes between nations and in

1896 he submitted, to the bar of the state an ex-

haustive report on the subject; George F. War-

ren September 17th, for several years dramatic

critic and special editorial writer on the DemO'

crat £ Chronicle, in which he displayed a lit-

erary style never surpassed by anyone on the press

in this city ; H. Pomeroy Brewster November 1st,

author of "Saints and Festivals of the Christian

Church" and a contributor to the daily press of

entertaining articles on English life. Of Civil

war veterans Dr. B. L. Hovey May 5th, an old

army surgeon, medical director of the twentieth

corps under Hooker, member of a great number

of medical societies, local, state and national;

Maurice Leyden August 15th, enlisted in the Third

New York cavalry and mustered out as brevet

major of the Fourth Provisional cavalry, elected

county clerk in 1886 ; Halbert S. Greenleaf August
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2oth, born in Vermont in 1827, served with dis-

tinction during the war as colonel of a Massachu-

setts regiment, removed to Eochester soon after-

ward, was elected member of Congress as a Demo-

crat in this strongly Republican district in 1882

and again in 1890 ; George W. Goler October 24th,

born at Cape Vincent in 1829, entered the army

as second lieutenant in the Sixth New York

cavalry, rose to be lieutenant-colonel, had the re-

markable record of having participated in seventy

battles, twice wounded, twice a captive in Libby

prison; Patrick C. Kavanagh November 24tli, was

captain in the One Hundred and Eighth, an officer

on the police force from 1868 till his retiremeid

five years ago.

In the realm of science three men passed away

Dr. Louis Weigel, a distinguished physician, dieci

May 31st at the age of fifty-one; he had writter.

much for medical journals, largely on the train-

ing of children, for as an orthopedic surgeon he

was widely known; when the knowledge of the

cathode ray was brought before the world he be-

came intensely interested in the discovery and be-

sides using it directly in his practice he was con-

tinually experimenting with it; this cost him hit

life besides giving him prolonged suffering, foi

he took no precaution against the possible effects

of the ray upon himself, which eventually showed

themselves upon his hands, where a cancerous

growth became plainly developed after other phy-

sicians had perceived its approncn and had in

vain endeavored to induce him to give up hii=

work with ' the battery ; at last the time came

when the knife could no longer be avoided and in

October of 1905 he had all the fingers of the

light hand removed, with three of the others,

leaving him only the thumb and little linger of

the left, several eminent surgeons from New York

and Buffalo, as well as of this city, being present

at the operation; the disease continuing to spread,

five more operations were performed at intervals,

which may have had the effect of prolonging his

life, but if so only for a brief period; in spite of

his mutilation he maintained his practice as m

consulting surgeon and showed invariably a cheer-

ful countenance in all his intercourse with friends

until the end came and he died, a veritable martyr

to science. Harrison B. Webster, who died on the

Ifith of June, had gained a reputation ns a sci-

entist and a man of broad learning, particularly

in the line of zoology, sociology and political econ-

omy; born in 1841 he was graduated at Union in

18C8, his college studies having been broken into

by his service during the war; having been a mem-

ber of the faculty of Union for some years he

came here in 1883 to take the professorship pf

natural history in the University of Eochestei-,

but he resigned that position five years later to

become president of his alma mater; he did much

to lestore the former sliitiis and prosperity of

Union, but at (ho expense of his heallli, and he

returned here in 1904 lo spend the rest of his days.

Henry A. Ward, while walking in the streets of

Buffalo on July 4tli, Avas struck by an automobile

and so badly injured that he died at the hospital

an hour later. He was one of the most celebrated

men that Rochester ever produced; his fame wa.'*

so widespread and his explorations over the eartli

were so extensive that as was said at his funeral

by his pastor, Rev. William C. Gannett, "he was a

citizen not only of this city and state but of the

whole world." He was born in Eochester, March

9th, 1834, and went to Williams college, though

ho did not graduate there but entered the scien-

tific department of Harvard university, where hi;

studied under and subsequently became assistant

to the elder Agassiz. (loing to Europe and Africa

as tutor to a son of General Wadsworth, he made,

while abroad, his first collection of minerals, rocks

anil fossils, which is still exhibited, tlie gift of

his patron, in the rooms of the Buffalo Natural

History society. Returning afterward to Paris he

entered the School of Mines, supporting himself

while there for five or six years by the sale oi

specimens which he picked up, and then he began

the formation of another mineralogical cabinet, by

far the largest and best of its kind ever made,

which was afterward bought by popular sub-

scription for the University of Rochester, where

it now is. While filling in that institution the

chair of natural sciences, from 1860 to 1865, he

founded the Ward Natural Science Establishment,

which is described elsewhere and which Avill be a

lasting monument to his fame. Leaving the uni-

versity lie went into the service of some mining

companies in the AVest, but it was time thrown

away for him and he soon abandoned it to enter

upon his life-work of collecting minerals valuable

not intrinsically, but from tlieir rarity, and of du-

plicating, by moans of molds that ho had made..



HISTORY OF ROCHESTER AND ilOiNROE COUNTY. 129

the leinaiiis oi' all Iho exliiicl iiiiinuils Hint coiiW

be round, Uiougli foi- lliu last I'cw years he devoted

liiiiiseK almost exclusively to the gathering of

meteorites, of which he had the largest private

collection in the world, which is temporarily

lodged in the Museum of Natural History in New
York. This labor, which at the same time grati-

fied his iiisiitiable love of travel, look him to the

very ends of the earth, so that he circumnavigated

the globe two or three times and visited every

known part of the world. His remains having

been cremated, his ashes were deposited in a niche

cut out of an immense boulder of crystalline

quartz, which he had obtained in the Lake Su-

perior region and placed in Mt. Hope for that

purpose a few years before his death.

Of those engaged in other occupations the fol-

lowing may be mentioned: Thomas C. Mont-

gomery died May 29th; he was born in 1820 and

graduated at Princeton at the early age of eight-

eon; he was n lawyer by profession, but for the

latter period of his life he was retired from active

practice, a man of fine attainments and of rare

culture. Volney P. Brown died July 4th, one of

the best known and most successful farmers in

Western New York; his home was in the town of

Wheatland, where he was born in 1823; he wa=

a member of Assembly in 1870 and 1871. Hcnrv

Bartholomay, the pioneer brewer of lager beer in

Rochester, died at Munich in the land of his

fathers, on the 3d of September; born at Frank-

fort-on-the-Main in 1829, he came to this city

in 1850 and in 1852 brewed the first barrel of

lager beer ever made or sold here; from that

sprang the Bartholomay Brewing company, which

grew to be one of the great industries of Roch-

ester; when it was sold to an English syndicate

in 1889 he went back to Germany, with the respect

of all who knew him, to spend the remainder of

his life. Daniel T. Hunt, who was postmaster

of this city from 1870 io 1887, died at Chicago,

September 17th; George E. Slocum, an old resi-

dent of Scottsvillc, died there November 13th, n

contributor of valuable papers to literary and

historical societies with which he was connected.

Rochester lost one of its most eminent citizens on

November 26th, when George EUwanger passed

away after a prolonged illness. Born in Wurtem-
herg in 181 (J, he came to the United States in

1835 and to this city a year later, and started the

,Afount Hope Nurseries, which soon acquired a

florld-widc reputation, though the firm name, that

of EUwanger & Barry—the other partner being

the late Patrick Barry—was the title that was

iiimowt universally applied to them. Being a thor-

ough master of all the details of the business ho

soon built up a large and flourishing trade in

fruits and fruit trees, extending even beyond the

limits of this country, acquiring a fortune there-

by and, incidentally, by the acquisition of real es-

tate in connection therewith. In other relations

he was well known and influential, being a director

in several banks and on various boards of an edu-

cational and literary nature. His generosity was

wide and his public spirit brought him to tlif?

front in many enterprises for the good of the

community. To the example and the exhortations

of bis lirm it is mainly owing that Rocheslcr is

one of the best-shaded cities in the country. Of

women who were prominently identified with

various forms of beneficence were Mrs. Helen

Mumford Halsey, for fifteen years president of the

Woman's Auxiliary of Western New York and

also of the board of managers of the Church

Home, who died August 10th ; Mrs. Harriet Kemp

AVard, aged ninety-four years, who died August

24th at Grove place, where she had lived ever since

coming to Rochester in 1834 with her husband,

the late Levi A. Ward, one of the early mayors;

Mrs. John Harry Stedman, who died October 7th

after a life that constantly tended to the better-

ment and the elevation of tone of the society in

which she moved; Mrs. Anson C. Allen, who died

October 18th, one of the original memben'S of the

Domestic Science board of the Mechanics Insti-

tute, a cousin of Louise M. Olcott, the popular au-

thor.

II' it slinll pccni to the reader that loo large a

proportion of tlie foregoing chapter has been de-

voted to obituary notices let him consider those

items as condensed biographies and in many in-

stances, at least, as reminiscences of the previous

history of the city. Viewed in that light the chap-

ter may present a less somber aspect.



CHAPTER X

THE PRESENT TIME.

The Industries of Rochester—Its Relative Posi-

tion—First in Many Things—The Chamber of

Commerce—The Reynolds Library—The Histor-

ical Society—The Academy of Science—Ward's

Museum—Schools and Churches—Social Clubs

Literary Clubs—Secret Societies—Public Build-

ings—Hotels, Apartments and Theaters—The

Parks— Hospitals and Asylums— Bridges—
Streets, Sewers and Street Gars—The BanTcs—

The Weather—The Government—City Ex-

penses—Conclusion.

By the latest census, that of the state, taken in

1905, ]?ochester liad a population of 18t,f)73, that

of the county being in the same year 239,444.

With the natural increase since then, and the re-

cent addition of the village of Brighton, the pop-

ulation of the city at the present time is undoubt-

edly rather above 200,000 than below it. By the

United States census, taken in 1900, it ranked

twenty-fourth among the cities of the Union, and

there is no reason to suppose that its relative po-

sition has altered materially since then. But there

are other things that make a city besides the num-

ber of its inhabitants, and in many of these

Eochester stands pre-eminent among the municip-

alties of the world and in still more among those

of this country. Anything like a full description

of its manufacturing industries would require not

merely a chapter but a volume, and in the follow-

ing condensed statement of facts care will be taken

to omit anything that shall even savor of an ad-

vertisement and to avoid the use of personal names

except where necessary for purposes, of identifi-

cation. There is about $50,000,000 actually in-

vested in its manufacturing industries, the amount

of stock issued by them being three times that; and

the annual value of manufactured products is

$83,000,000, the employees in factories and work-

shops numbering over 40,000. It is the first city

in the world in the manufacture of cameras, mak-

ing more of them than are made in all other places

put together; most of these are products of the

Eastman Kodak company and its branches; these

are of all grades and varieties of excellence, a

large proportion for ordinary amateur use but

others for technical work, valuable in pathological

researches; some capable of taking a picture nine-

teen foet long, giving ft pniioniinic vicw'of n city,

for instance, and sweeping in all but ten degree's

of the whole circle, while others are more rapid

in their operation than the human eye in its move-

ments, showing a bird in full flight or a base ball

in its passage from pitcher to catcher; one was

used with good efi'ect in the San Francisco earth-

quake fire, depicting the conflagration in its prog-

ress, after which the flames came on so swiftly that

the camera was destroyed though the negative wus

saved ; naturally more photographic supplies of all

sorts are made here than anywhere else. In the

somewhat similar line of optical instruments

Rochester has also no equal, the factory of Bausch

& Loinb, established in 1853, turning out more

of those articles than any other so far as known;

there molten sand grains in imported glass are

transformed into the most delicate instruments

known to science, and millions of lenses are made

there, from the smallest microscope glass no larger
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than a pinhead to the search-liglit mirrors three

feet in diameter for the United States navy, be-

sides which the firm has lately gone into practical

partnership with the federal government in one

line, as it now produces the lenses for the light-

houses along the coast (which a few years ago it

was thought could not be made satisfactorily out-

side of France) and the most sensitive instruments

for measuring the tides ; like the Kodak company

this house has headquarters, branches and agencies

on every continent and in almost every country;

there are several other concerns in this city en-

gaged in similar production, which would be con-

sidered large if they were not overshadowed by

this. First also in the manufacture of enameled

steel taul<s and in the output of seeds and nursery

stock, not only from the world-famous nurseries

of Ellwanger & Barry, but from a number of es-

tablishments smaller than those; first in the man-
ufacture of laundry machinery, first in that of

thermometers (one of those instruments, made
here, having been sent to Boston last year, twenty

feet long, than which no greater is known), first

in the manufacture of paper boxes, as well as of

the machinery for making both wooden and paper

boxes (one lithographic concern here filling a

single order last summer for a hundred million

cardboard boxes for a cereal food, costing 'half a

milliou dollars and filling 450 freight cars) ; first

in the production of buttons, of lubricating oil,

of canned fruits and vegetables, of cider and of

vinegar.

In all the above-mentioned articles Eochester

easily surpasses all other cities on the globe, in

others its leadership is confined to this country,

though it is probable that the Stromberg-CarlsoQ

company turns out more telephones and telephonic

apparatus than is made anywhere else. The Gen-

eral Railway Signal company is enlarging its plant

at Lincoln park, so as to give it a hundred thou-

sand feet of floor space, preparatory to the em-

ployment of some two thousand additional hands,

which will enable it to compare favorably with any

similar establishment in the country. In the mat-

ter of clothing, Eochester stands third. New York

and Philadelphia only surpassing it; many for-

tunes have been made in that and more will be

made in the years to come; it is largely in the

hands of the Jews, Meyer Qreentree having started

it in 1840, though there have always been a few

Gentile houses among the numerous competitors;

the total output is more than twenty million loi-

lars, and the different articles of clothing go not

only into local shops but to the uttermost ends of

the earth. As to boots and shoes Eochester comes
fourth, rating after Brockton, Lynn and St. Louis

;

there are between sixty and seventy factories, rep-

resenting an investment of three million dollars,

four of which turn out over five million dollars'

worth annually, the total production being about

fifteen million. To mention, besides stoves, flour,

beer, furnaces and ranges, pianos, furniture, car-

riages, lithographic work, perfumery and picture

frames, all the articles made here, would be like

giving a list of all those that are in general use.

About the only thing of that sort not produced

here to any great extent is the automobile, but the

Selden Motor Vehicle company is now putting up

at East Rochester a plant for the manufacture of

those machines, George B. Selden, a Rochester

man, being the inventor of, and holding the ex-

clusive patent for, gasoline engines used for the

propulsion of automobiles. For all these produc-

tions the home market would be lamentably in-

sufficient, neither does the city depend upon itself

for what it consumes. To say nothing of what

is obtained from other cities of the United States,

the merchandise imported from foreign countries

during last year came to $1,361,513, the customs

receipts being $493,323.56. The amount of coal

exported from here annually is over 600,000 tons,

most of it bituminous.

THE CHAMBER OF COMMERCE.

In the development of the city's industries the

Chamber of Commerce has, during the twenty

years of its existence, been a important factor. In

the act of incorporation passed by the legislature

May 3d, 1887, the objects of the association were

stated to be "to foster the trade and commerce of

the city of Rochester, to protect such trade and

commerce from unjust and unlawful exactions, to

reform abuses in trade, to diffuse accurate and re-

liable information among its members as to the

standing of merchants and other matters, to pro-

duce uniformity and certainty in the customs and

usages of trade, to settle differences between its

members and to promote a more enlarged an!

friendly intercourse between merchants." Thai
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these objects have been well carried out is attested

by the steady increase in membership and popu-

larity of the body, and to its activity may fairly

be attributed many of the beneficial movements

that have taken place in the city's life. Its &vst

location was in the upper story of the Rochester

Savings bank building, but after being there about

seven years it removed to its present commodious

quarters in the Chamber of Commerce building,

of which it occupies the entire eleventh floor. The

first president was H. 11. Warner, who has been

succeeded by William S. Kimball, Lewis P. Ross,

Eugene T. Curtis, Max Brickner, Henry C. Brews-

ter, Ira L. Otis, Charles P. Ford, James G. Cutler,

Charles B. Angle, Rufus A. Sibley, Henry B.

Hathaway, A. B. Lamberton, Thomas B. Dunn,

Clinton Rogers, Robert A. Badger and Michael

Doyle, the present incumbent, the vice-presidents

for this year being Charles F. Garfield, Lan-

sing G. Wetmore and W. H. H. Rogers. The po-

sition of secretary was held for several years by

J. Y. McClintock, after that by George Moss till

1899, since which time it has been filled by John

M. Ives; the treasurer is Benjamin E. Chase; thii

number of members is 425 and the annual dues

are twenty dollars.

THE LIBRARIES.

The only free public library, for the use of the

general public, now in the city, is the Reynolds li-

. brary. A word or two regarding its predecessors

will be in place here. As far back as 1823 an ef-

fort was made to establish a public library, and an

association under the name of the Rochester Lit-

erary company was foi-med for tliat purpose, b\it

it either failed of realization or was very short-

lived, as no further record of it can be found. In
1826 the Franklin Institute was founded and out
of it grew the Rochester Athenaeum, which was in-

corporated in 1830 and associated with the Me-
chanics Literary association in 1849, when the title

was enlarged so as to embrace both, though the
former name was the only one commonly used.
After a generation of usefulness it became extinct
in 1877, its books becoming the property of Mor-
timer P. Reynolds and George S. Riley, the latter

of whom soon transferred his interest to the for<

mer, who a little later turned over the property tc

an association incorporated, by an act passed in

1884, under the name of the Reynolds Library. The

persons named in the act as incorporators, and

therefore trustees, were M. B. Anderson, M. P.

Reynolds, George E. Mumford,William C. Rowley,

Iliram Sibley, Don Alonzo Watson, Frederick A.

Whittlesey, George Ellwanger, Arthur C. Coxa,

Theodore Bacon, E. M. Moore, Daniel T. Hunt,

Oilman H. Perkins, Samuel Sloan, Howard Os-

good, AVilliam C. Morey, Max Landsbcrg, Josiah

Anstice and S. A. Lattimore. Of these only the

last three lur now on the board, the two preced-

ing them OL the list having resigned and all the

others being removed by death; their places are

filled by Henry P. Burton, Henry G. Danforth,

Charles A. Dewey, Edward G. Miner, Cyrus P.

Paine, AVilliam P. Peck, Erickson Perkins, Rush

Rhees, Rufus A. Sibley, William R. Taylor, AVil-

liam E. Werner, Julius M. AYile. The first pres-

ident was Dr. Anderson, the next was Dr. Moore,

the next Mr. AVhittlesey, each serving till his

death; the present incumbent is Prof. Lattimore,

the treasurer is Mr. Anstice, the secretary Mr.

Peck; the librarian is Alfred S. Collins. The will

of Mr. Reynolds bequeathed to the Library all of

his real estate, which consisted of the Arcade and

his residence on Spring street. The books, which

up to the time of his death were kept in the Ar-

cade, were after that event removed to the house,

surrounded by beautiful grounds, where the donor

had lived. There are now over sixty thousand

volumes, of which the majority are in the reference

department, which is well stocked with encyclo-

pedias and other works for consultation; the cir-

culating department is also well provided with

books for cursory readers, any one of whom may
draw out volumes after obtaining 'a card, easily

procured, establishing his responsibility. The li-

brary is absolutely free, and so is the newspaper

reading-room in the Arcade, the rental from which
building furnishes the sole support of the insti-

tution.

Until quite recently there was a large collec-

tion of books, called the Central library, under the

control of the board of education, in the Free

Academy building, on Pitzhugh street, which was

intended primarily for the use of the pupils of

the public schools, though citizens generally

availed, themselves of the opportunity to borrow

from it; it has now been broken up and its con-
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tents distributed among the diflereut graminar

schools. The university and the two theological

seminaries have large and valuable libraries, which

are mentioned elsewhere; tliey are not confined

exclusively to persons connected with those insti-

tutions, but can be used by outsiders under reason-

able conditions. The law library of the Appellate

court, in the county building, is a very extensive

one, but, naturally, it is used mainly by members

of the legal profession, though laymen sometimes

find it convenient to go there to look at the session

laws and other volumes.

TIIK nOClIESTER HISTORICAL.

The Rochester Historical society has its location

on the third floor of the Reynolds Library build-

ing, which is given up to its use. It was formed

at a social gathering on December IT'th, 1887, be-

ing incorporated in the following November. Its

first president was E. M. Moore, who has been

followed by Augustus H. Strong, James L. Angle,

Charles E. Fitch, John H. Rochester, George M.

Elwood, Porter Farley, Eugene H. Howard, Adal-

bert Cronise, AVilliam H. Samson and Clinton

Rogers. The first corresponding secretary vvas

•lane Mnrsli I'lirlvcr, is now NuUiiiiiicI S. Olds;

the first treasurer was Oilman H. Perkins, the

present is J. V. Alexander; William P. Peck has

been the recording secretary from the begin-

ning. The object of the society is to rescue from

oblivion all facts relating to the early history of

this region and to preserve the record of events

tliat arc in any way connected with this locality.

It has accumulated a well furnished library bear-

ing upon this subject and has purchased a very

valuable collection of Indian articles of different

kinds, besides possessing a gallery of oil portraits

of many of the pioneers of this county and a num-
ber of things of interest from the standpoint of i

local antiquarian, such as copies of the first edition

of the Mormon Bible, of the life of Mary Jemi-

scn, the "White Woman of the Genesee," and of

Morgan's book of alleged revelations of Masonry,

with one of the handbills of Sam Patch, announc-

ing his Inst leap, and so on. Monthly meetings

arc held during the winter, at which valuable

papers are road by members of the society.

TIIK ACADEMY OF SOIBNOE.

This was organized in 1881, as the outcome of

the Microscopical society, which had existed for

the previous two years. Its first president was
Rev. Myron Adams, the one now holding that po-

sition is Charles T. Howard, the treasurer is Ru-
dolph Schmidt, the secretary Harry A. Carpenter.

It is in a flourishing condition and its published

proceedings have been sent over the world, but U
has no permanent quarters, holding its meetings

at present twice a month in the Eastman Labora-

tory building of the university.

THE WARD MUSEUM.

One of the most interesting places to visit is

Ward's Natural Science Establishment, on College

avenue. The following account of it has been fur-

nished by its president, Mr. Frank A. Ward: "It

was founded in the early sixties by the late Prof.

Henry A. Ward. While occupying the chair of

professor of geology in the University of Rochester

he became impressed with the lack of suitable ma-

terial with which to illustrate his lectures. Ob-

taining leave of absence from the university, he

went abroad and spent several years in visiting the

leading educational museums of Europe and col-

lecting such material as he found necessary for

his work. He brought back with him several

hundred cases of specimens, including casts of the

most celebrated fossil forms, which were entirely

new in America. These collections were purchased

by the Rochester university, and it was in answer

to the many letters of inquiry from leading sci-

entists all over the country in regard to these

objects, which excited great interest, that he de-

cided to resign his position as professor and devote

his life to the collection and sale of objects of

natural history. This led to the founding of

Ward's Natural Science Establishment, which was

carried on as a private enterprise until the year

1890, when the business was incorporated under

the laws of this state. During the early years of

its existence large contracts were taken by the

company for the Agassiz museum at Cambridge.

Besides many fossils and casts, mounted skeletons

and studcd specimens of mammals, birds, reptiles

and fishes from all parts of the world were sent

to that museum, aggregating over $100,000.00 in



136 HISTORY OF ROCHESTER AND MONROE COUNTY.

cost. The late P. T. Barntim was an enthusiastic

naturalist, and for many years the more important

animals that died in his menagerie were sent ro

Rochester to be prepared and mounted for Tufts

college, the celebrated African elephant, Jumbo,

among others. Beginning with the Centennial fair

at Philadelphia, in 1876, it has been customary

to send large exhibits to the great expositions

held in different cities. The exhibit at Chicago in

1893 filled the entire north end of the ethnolo-

gical building, and at the close of the exposition

was sold to Marshall Field for the Columbian mu-

seum for $100,000.00. The purpose of Ward's

Natural Science Establishment is now, and has

been in the past, to furnish to the museums, col-

leges and schools of this country and Europe, well

selected and skillfully prepared specimens in ail

branches of natural history. Business is now car-

ried on with the leading institutions of this coun-

try, such as the Smithsonian at Washington, the

American museum in New York City, the Field

Columbian museum of Chicago,' the Carnegie mu-

seum of Pittsburg, besides the many college mu-

seums in every state of the Union. The

British museum . of London, and the

museums at Paris, Vienna, Sydney, Aus-

tralia; Christ Church, New Zealand; Bom-

bay, India; Buenos Ayres and Rio Janeiro,

South America, are among its many customers.

Travelers in all parts of the world have Rochester

brought home to them by the familiar label to be

seen in all museums.—'Prom Ward's Natural Sci-

ence Establishment, Rochester, N. Y.'

"

PUBLIC SCHOOLS AND CHURCHES.

There arc tliirty-cight public scliools in ilio city

besides two high schools, one on each side of the

river, which have been recently erected at much
expense and are highly ornamental structures of

great architectural beauty. The school census

shows that there are 35,716 children here, between

the ages of five and eighteen years; of these only

three hundred and thirty-nine are known to be un-

lawfully absent, with twenty boys and six girls,

truants during the last semester; the rest are re-

ceiving regular instruction in the different insti-

tutions, private, parochial and public, in the last

of which there are six hundred and seventy-four

teachers.

The church-going clement of the community

calls for more than one hundred and twenty

places of worsliip, the number not being given

exactly because in some cases the services are held

in rented rooms and the congregations are too

small to admit of distinct classification. The

Young Men's Christian association has a large

building on the corner of South avenue and Court

street, with a music hall for minor entertain-

ments; the Young Women's Christian association

has a new and commodious one on Clinton avenue

North.

SOCIAL CLUBd.

Fifty years ago social clubs were unknown

here, but now they form an important factor in

the life of the community. The oldest one now

in existence here is the Rochester club, which was

formed in 1860, its first president being James

Terry. For several years it occupied pleasant

quarters in the Ellwanger & Barry block, on State

street, and after Ihat the upper floor of the Roch-

ester Savings bank building. In 1888 the members

judged that the time had arrived for following the

example of the leading clubs in the metropolis

and owning a house of their own, so they pur-

chased a fine private residence on East avenue,

between Gibbs and Scio streets, and moved into it

in the course of that year after making suitable

alterations; since then the building has been en-

larged l)y the addition of a bowling-alley. The

membership is about three hundred. The present

officers are William Bausch, president; George F.

Roth, vice-president; E. F. Underbill, treasurer;

James Quinlan, secretary.

Confining our attention to those clubs that are

still extant the next to be formed was the Phccuix,

founded by a number of wealthy Jews of this city,

to which nationality its membership has always

been confined. For some years they occupied

quarters on North Clinton street, near Bast Main,

and after that, changing the name at the same

time to the Eureka club, they purchased a large

private residence further down the street, near the

corner of Andrews, and after using that for some

years they tore it down and erected in its place a

fine club-house eighty-two feet by one hundred and

seventy-six, costing $100,000, one of the principal

features of which is a theater, which is of great

benefit to the community, as the directors kindly
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pcrniit its use, as well as that of the ample diuiug

room, for largo gatherings and banquets, notably

those held annually for the benefit of the City

hospital. Its first president was J. W. Rosenthal

;

the present officers are Louis Kirstcin, president;

Maurice D. Strauss, secretary; Morris M. Meyera,

treasurer.

In September, 1882, the Rochester Whist club

was organized, in a modest sort of way, with John

E. Morey as president, content at first with one

room in the Cox building but enlarging its habita-

tion with each successive removal until it got int')

its present quarters in the old Dr. Dean house,

on North Fiti^lmgh street, which it does not owia

l)iit iiolds on a long lease, it is, disLinclively, the

down-town club of the city and used for the mid-

day meal and for afternoon recreation by a large

proportion of its membership, which is probably

the largest in the city. Its original purpose has

been almost completely abandoned, and that feat-

ure constitutes the sole basis of the Genesee Whist

club, the only one in the city where that game is

played, to the exclusion of all others. The officers

of the former are Griff D. Palmer, president; H.

Howard Clapp, treasurer; Frank V. Reynolds,

secretary.

It will be generally admitted that the high-

water mark has been reached by the Genesee Val-

ley club, which was organized January 3d, 1880,

was incorporated two weeks later and moved into

its club-house, on South Washington street, on

March 25th. This answered well enough for four

years, but no house that has been a private resi-

dence can be perfectly adapted to the requirements

of modern club life, so a building, costing $60,-

000, was erected on the corner of Gibbs street and

East avenue, the first one to be put up in Roch-

ester for the distinct and exclusive purpose of a

club-house (though the Phoenix club had erected a

building fifteen years before, of which it occupied

all but the ground floor), and into this the club

moved ou the 22d of February, 1889. It had many
conveniences, including a ladies' cafe, which was an

innovation, and a large assembly room for balls

and private entertaiimients, many of which, artist-

ic and literary, were given there. But the demand

outgrew the accommodations, so a private house

adjoining, on East avenue, was made into an

annex; even this was found eventually to be in-

sufficient, so additional land was purchased on the

north, the house just referred to was torn down

and the whole structure was so much enlarged dur-

ing the past year as to double its original size. \
new ball-room or assembly room has been built,

very beautiful in its design and decoration, the

old ball-room made over into the ladies' cafe, the

room formerly devoted to that purpose being trans-

formed into a charming reception room or parlor

for their exclusive use; the rest of the second floor

is devoted to the main dining-room, rooms for

private parties, the kitchen and pantries, and the

third story is taken up with bed-rooms for non-

resident members, bath-rooms and service-rooms;

the club-house is at last commensurate with its

requirements, and is in its interior one of the

finest between New York and Chicago. The ad-

mission fee is one hundred dollars, the annual dues

are seventy-five ; the membership, limited to three

hundred and fifty, is full, and there has been a

waiting list for some years. The first president

was Hobart F. Atkinson; the present officers ar3

James G. Cutler, president; George A. Carnahau,

vice-president; J. Craig Powers, secretary; Erick-

Bon Perkins, treasurer.

In harmony with the custom prevailing in sim-

ilar organizations in the principal cities of the

United States, the Country club was formed on

New Year's day of 1895, as an adjunct to the

Genesee Valley, the membership being confined to

that of the latter and limited to one hundred,

though since then the number has been enlarged

and the original restriction on eligibility removed.

Obtaining a lease of the Parsons farm, eighty

acres in extent, on the Pittsford road, the new or-

ganization laid out the grounds for golf, polo, lawn

tennis, bicycle riding and other sports, with stables

for a large number of horses, and other attractions

calculated to make the place a delightful summer

resort for the members, who opened it up on the

30th of May in the year named. Before the lease

had expired, the club-house, which was the old

family residence altered over, was completely de-

stroyed by fire, whereupon a new lease was taken,

with the option of purchase, which will undoubt-

edly be exercised, for the club immediately erected

a new and picturesque building of its own. The

first president was Hiram W. Sibley; the present

one is William B. Lee, the secretary Percy R.

McPhail and the treasurer Oilman N. Perkins.
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Stimulated by this example other country clubs

speedily came into existence, such as the Oak Hill,

which has fine grounds on the eastern bank of the

river, near Elmwood avenue. Of those intended

more for indoor physical exercise the Eochestar

Athletic club stands at the head. This is really a

merger of the old Eochester Athletic association

and the Eiverside Bowing club ; it was incorporat-

ed in 1891 and soon thereafter began the erection

of a suitable club-house on Clinton avenue North,

with swimming-pool, race-track, gymnasium and

all the appliances for corporeal development; tne

president is George H. Clune, the secretary Francis

S. Macomber, the treasurer Julius M. Wile.

For many years the members of the Masonic

order had felt the desirability of having not only a

club of their own but a building that should answer

the double purpose of a club-house and a temple

for the meetings of the different branches of their

order. The two objects were so closely connected

that they must be described together. Tne asso-

ciation of the Masonic Temple was incorporated

in June, 1900, the first president being George A.

Benton,who occupied that position till May, 1906,

when he retired and his place was taken by John

M. Lee, the present incumbent, Samuel B. Wil-

liams being now the treasurer, L. N. Stein the sec-

retary and Thomas .C. Hodgson the superinten-

dent. At the time of this incorporation the erec-

tion of the Masonic Temple was begun and was

completed in three years. It stands on the cornisr

of Clinton avenue North and Mortimer street, is

one hundred feet square and five stories in height,

and is in its exterior at once beautiful and impos-

ing, so that it would be an ornament to any city in

the United States; its cost was about $375,000;

the ground floor is devoted to stores, the next to

offices of various kinds ; the fourth and fifth floors

consist of three magnificent halls, called after the

different orders of architecture used in them—the

Gothic, on the fifth, the Doric and the Ionic, on

the fourth; in these all the Masonic and quasi

Masonic bodies in the city meet at stated times.

The third floor is given up entirely to the Ma-
sonic club; this was organized shortly before the

opening of the temple, which took place on the 31st

of October, 1903; the first president was Jos-

eph A. Crane; the present officers are John A.

Robertson, president; Delbert C. Ilebbard, vice-

president; Frederick S. Eogers, treasurer, and

Andrew Ludolph, secretary.

In December, 1897, a number of young men

formed a club under the name of the Friars, which

has retained its popularity to the present time.

Sidney S. B. Eoby was the first president and Nor-

man W. Mumford the secretary; those positions

are now held by James G. Palmer and Joseph Cur-

tis; the present membership is sixty-seven; the

quarters have always been in Wilder's Arcade. In

those same rooms in December, 1906, about nineiiy

graduates of the largest university in the state of

New York formed themselves into a Cornell club,

"to promote the interests and extend the influ-

ence of Cornell university;" the officers chosen

were George A. Benton, president; J. II. Agate,

secretary ; Ealph II. Gorsline, treasurer ; the mem-

bership is not confined to this immediate locality;

the quarters are to be in the East Side Savings

bank building.

Of patriotic hereditary societies, such as those of

Mayflower Descendants, of Sons and Daughters of

the American Eevolution and the Eevolution witn-

out the American, there are a large number o£

chapters and branches, with many organizations

that it would be difficult to classify.

LITEEAUY CLUBS.

Of the literary clubs the oldest is one whose

sU'ouglh ia altcslcd by its longevity, for it is still

unimpaired alter the lapse of more than half a

century, its first regular session, after a prelim-

inary meeting in the previous July at the house

of the late Lewis H. Morgan, having been held

in November, 1854. No name was selected and

none has been officially adopted since then save the

vague and comprehensive title of "the club," but

it has always been known as the Pundit. Each

member entertains in turn and each reads, on the

different evenings, which are usually two weeks

apart during the winter and spring, a carefully

prepared paper of a literary, historical or scientific

nature on some subject selected entirely by him-

self. In so long a term there have, of course, been

a large number of members, too numerous, lU

fact, to be given here, and it seems sufficient to

note those who constitute the present membership

:

Henry Scldon Bacon, Eob Eoy Converse, Henry G.

Danforth, Charles W. Dodge, William S. Ely,
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Saimicl A. Ijattimore^ Albert H. Mixer, William

C. Morey, Joseph O'Connor, James Breck Per-

kins, Rush Rhees, Enoch V. Storldarcl, Augustus

H. Strong, John H. Strong.

Formed upon similar lines and conducted in the

same way, the Fortnightly club held its first

inpcting on the 23d of Pol)niary, 18.') I. Tls ses-

sions are hold on alternalc Tuesday eveiiiiiffs, Trom

the close of October to the middle of April, an

original paper being read at each. Its consti-

tuency at the present time holds the names of

Joseph T. Ailing, Henry F. Burton, George A.

Carnahan, Algernon S. Crapsey, Charles A. Dewey,

Porter Farley, Edward J. Hanna, William E.

IToyt, Max Landsberg, Robert Mathews, Nelson

Miilard, Daniel B. Murphy, William F. Peck,

Rush Rhees, John W. Whitbeck.

A club of the same character with the forego-

ing and composed of somewhat younger men than

either ot them, is the Humdrum, which was

formed a few years ago and still flourishes, with

every indication of perpetuity. The Kent club was

organized in 1877 by several of the younger mem-

bers of the bar, and for some years the papers read

were wholly on professional subjects, but latterly

they have been more general in their nature.

Tn addition to these there are a great number of

clubs witli a literary or semi-literary flavor (hat

have sprung into being and passed away, besides

many still existent tliat are only loosely held to-

gether or are devoted to some particular calling or

occupation. Women's literary clubs are compara-

tively new here, but there are now several which

are conducted with ability of a high order, such

as the Wednesday Morning, the Round-about and

the Women's Ethical.

SECRET BROTHERHOODS.

Freemasonry gained a footJiold in the village

so(m after its settlement, Wells lodge being estab-

lished early in 1817, Hamilton R. A. chapter being

organized two years later, and Monroe command-

ery (then called encampment) of Knights Temp-

lars being formed in 1827. In consequence of the

Anti-Masonic excitement of 1839 all three of these

bodies surrendered their charters in that year and

voted to discontinue their meetings. Tn less than

two decades the ill feeling had passed away, so

that the Masonic order throughout the state felt

justified in resuming its functions and in 1846 the

three organizations above named were revived, or,

rather. Valley lodge came into being as the im-

mediate successor of Wells lodge, while the others

resumed their former titles. Next in order came

the following with the year of organization so far

as it can he learned: Yonnondio lodge, 1850;

Ocnescc Falls lodge, 1861 ; Rochester lodge, Ionic

chapter, Cyrene commandery, Rochester council of

Princess of Jerusalem, Rochester chapter of Rose

Croix, Rochester lodge of Perfection and Rochester

consistory, all in 1867; Germania lodge, 1872;

Doric council; Germania lodge of Perfection,

1873; Damascus Temple, Nohles of the Mystic

Shrine, 1875; Frank R. Lawrence lodge, 1889;

Corinthian Temple lodge, 1893; C. L. Stowell

conclave and the Veiled Prophets of the Enchant-

ed Realm ; all of these are now in existence and all

meet on stated evenings in the Masonic Temple.

Taking advantage of the temporary eclipse of

Freemasonry the independent order of Odd Fel-

lows (the first lodge of which in this country had

been organized in Baltimore in 1819) established

itself in Rochester in 1841, the first lodge formed

here being the Genesee, which was instituted on

the 2d of June, followed by the Teoronto six

months later. From that time the order increased

rapidly, so that now there are in the county three

district grand committees, whose membership is

composed exclusively of past grands; two cantons

of Patriarchs Militant, five encampments and

twenty-seven subordinate lodges, most of them in

the city but several in different towns. Besides

these there are thirteen lodges of Daughters of Re-

bekah, Monroe Rebekah lodge, organized over

thirty years ago, being the oldest one of that

branch in the United States.

These are the principal secret brotherhoods, but

there are many others, such as the Knights of

I'yihins (why not of Damon also?) the Ancient

Orders of Hibernians and of United Workmen, the

Foresters, the Red Men, the Elks, the Maccabees,

the Empire Order of Mutual Aid, but to find them

all one would have to consult the city directory,

and even then some might elude the search.

PUBLIC BUILDINGS.

Of the strictly public buildings, besides that of

tlie United States government, the most conspicu-
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oiis is the county edifice commonly called the

court-house; the olhcrs devoted to couiily purposes

are described elsewhere. Those used by the niuniei-

pnlity nro the city hnll, ilio now hiiildiiiK on ('eii-

tral avenue for fire department headquarters

(where the Brackett House formerly stood), the

police headquarters on Exchange street, the old

building on Front street given up to the overseer

of the poor and miscellaneous matters, the munici-

pal building (formerly tlie Free Academy, where

number 1 school stood in olden times), the pub-

lic market, the total cost of which up to the first

of this year has been $188,000; the health bureau,

which is old number 11 school-house remodeled, on

the corner of Chestnut and James streets; the pub-

lic bath house, on South avenue, and the fire-proof

building on the same lot for the storage of ballot

machines.

HO'r]i;i.s.

the Corinthian—besides which the Bijou might

come under that head, as a place of iimnsement,

Ihougli no dramatic performances are given there.

I'AUK STATISTICS.

The parks of Jfochester have been described else-

where. 'J'he amount paid for the purcliase of land

thus far, by the city, not counting what has been

paid by individuals for land that they have given

for the purpose, is $403,245.01 ; the total acreage,

including the lakeside gift, is i;5r)5. The disburse-

ments during last year were $79,248.57 for main-

tenance, $20,229.94 for betterments, $99,478.51 in

all. There are twenty-two members of the board of

park commissioners, one for each ward; the pres-

ident is A. B. Lamberton, the vice-presidents W.

n, Barry and IT. F. Atwood, the treasurer John E.

Durand, the secretary Martin 0. Stone, the super-

intendent of parks, Calvin" C. Laney.

Not only travelers but many permanent resi-

dents find accommomation in the numerous hotels.

Of these the principal are the Powers, a lofty fire-

proof structure of seven floors, on which recent ini-

provements have been made to tlie extent of $200,-

000.00, so that in its interior appointments it is

one of the most beautiful hotels in the United

States; the Whitcomb, the Osburn and the Eg-

gleston, besides several others of a lower grade.

In addition to these, plans have been drawn and

accepted for a million dollar hotel nine stories

in height, to be called, appropriately for this re-

gion, the Seneca, which is to be erected on Clin-

ton avenue South by a corporation in the course

of this year and which has already been leased for

a term of twenty-one years; it is intended to have

it eclipse in nuignificcnco Miiytiiing of Iho kind in

the country. To offset that on the east side, Ihough

not to compete with it in grandeur, anothei', one

story higher, to be called the. Rochester, is being

put up on Main street West, at the corner of

Plymouth avenue. Apartment houses have of late

years come into vogue and are rapidly increasing

in number, to meet the growing demand for some
comfortable solution of the vexatious problem of

domestic sei'vice; the principal ones are i1ie Jcnk-

inson, the Columbia, the Wentworth, the Win-
throp, the Centropolis, the Westminster, the Corn-
wall and the Oxford. There are five theaters—

the Tjyceum, Cook's, the Baker, the National and

HOSPITALS AND ASYLUMS.

'{'here are seven hospitals, all described else-

where, tlic City, St. Mary's, Ilomoopathic, the

Hahnemann, the Infants' Summer, at Ontario

beach, and the State hospital, formerly the in-

sane asylum ; a German hospital will probably be

erected during this year. There are five orphan

asylums, three of them under Catholic control, one

under Jewish.

Eleven steam railroads entering the city find

tlieir accommodations in six stations, those of the

New Yoi-k Central, the Erie, the Lehigh Valley,

the Rome, Watertown & Ogdensbnrg, the Buffalo,

Rochestor & Rittsburg and the Pennsylvania.

niii lions.

Of (he nine bridges for pedestrians and ve-

hii'los now traversing the river the most impos-

ing is the one at the northern extremity of the

city, on the site of the old Carthage bridge; its

ai'ch, spanning at a single leap the stream two

hundred and twelve feet below, has a chord of four

hundred and twenty-eight feet, the third longest

in the world, and its three approach spans, two on

the west and one on the east, make the total length

of the bridge seven hundred and seventeen feet;

it is of iron .construction, it cost $125,000, and

it was opened to the public December 1st, 1890.

Proceeding southAvard the next is at Vincent place,
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(lie longest in tlic eily, l)Giiig nine liundred and

lAventy-Rvc feet, )iuiif oC iron in 1872-73, costing

$150,000; the next at IMatt street, steel truss on

stone piers, built in 1892, cost $156,000; the oth-

ers, in their order, that at Central avenue, of

wrought iron, built in 1883, cost $48,000; that

at Andrews street, built in 1893, on stone piers,

cost $75,000; iliat at Main slrcet, of cul stone,

built in 1857, cost $60,000; that at Court street,

stone arch, finished in 1893, cost $150,000; that at

Clarissa street, of riveted deck iron, built on stone

piers in 1892, cost $50,000, extended over the Erie

railway tracks to correspond with the main por-

tion in 1897, and that at Elmwood avenue, the

southern boundary line oC the city, built in 1888,

cost $37,000. Besides these there is I he aque-

duct, the second one at that spot, wider than the

old one, with a wide footpath on the north side,

completed in 1838 at a cost of $600,000 ; the ma-

hM'ial, Avhich is of gray liniostcuic, mostly from Ihe

ij()(;kport (juarries, is so durable in ils nature ns

almost Iq defy the tooth of time, and the strnclure,

after the lapse of nearly seventy years, gives no

sign of decay; in preparing the foundations for

the abutments and piers thirty thousand cubic

yards of rock were blasted out of the bed of the

river to allow free passage for the water during

Ihe spring floods, hut it will bo necessary to make

still further excavations before perfect safety can

be assured. Tlie New York Central, the Erie and

the Rome, Watertown & Ogdensburg cross the

river on their own bridges, none of which has any

footpath or driveway on it. There are twenty-six

bridges carrying streets over the Erie canal, ten

carrying streets over railroads, twenty-five carrying

railroads over streets, and five miscellaneous, over

the feeder, the races, etc., making seventy-five in

all, of which the city maintains twenty-one, the

state nineteen, the various railroads tliirtv-five.

s'riiKU'rs, SKwmm, tuomjov ijnks.

The cily is about six miles square, giving an

area of thirty-six square miles. There are 333.5

miles of streets, of which 1G3 are improved, 171.5

unimproved; 245.74 miles of sewers, 315 miles

of water pipes, every one of these figures should

l)c materially enlarged by the time this volume

gels into the hands of its readers, as contracts for

more than half a million dollars' worth of street

work were let last year and held back on account

of llie early advent of cold weather. Leaving out

of the reckoning the electric trolley lines of the

Eastern Rapid, which runs to Canandaigua, Ge-
neva and other places in Ontario county, the Roch-
ester & Syracuse, which is now completed as far

as Lyons, and the Erie road, the electrification of

which has just been completed from here to Avon,
170 miles of trolley linos are operated in Roch-
ester, including those to Charlotte, the Sea Breeze
and Sodus bay ; the passenger traffic on these lines

has increased vastly of late, so that, whereas five

years ago they carried an average of about seventy-

seven thousand persons each day, for the year end-

ing June 30th, 1906, they transported 64,395,185,

a daily average of very nearly 150,000, an in-

crease of almost one hundred per cent.

THE BANKS.

The money of the people of Rochester is han-

dled by six discount banks, which on the 1st of

January, 1907, showed n combined capital, sur-

plus and undivided profits of $4,979,343 (the de-

posits, not given, as being too fluctuating) ; four

savings banks, with deposits and surplus amount-
ing to $51,122,291.57, and five trust companies,

with deposits of $48,565,092.25. These institu-

tions are fully described in the appropriate chap-

ter.

METEOnOLOGIOAL.

The weather is always an entertaining subject

of conversation, and the following statistics,

brought down to the beginning of this year, will

be interesting: During the past thirty-five years

the mean annual temperature has been 47.3, the

mean maximum 55.4, the mean minimum 39.3,

the highest 99, the lowest 14 below zero; the

mean annual rainfall was 34.4 inches, the average

annual snowfall 86 inches, the average annual

number of clear days was 83, partly cloudy 124,

cloudy 158.

THE CITY GOVERNMENT.

The immicipal government comprises the fol-

lowing chief officers, with many deputies, assist-^

ants and clerks: James Q. Cutler, mayor; Sam-

uel B. Williams, comptroller; Lyman M. Otis,

treasurer; Frederick T. Elwood, commissioner of

public works; George A. Oilman, commissioner

of public safety; Joseph A. Crane, commissioner
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of charities; William W. Webb, corporation conn-

Bel; Edwin A. Fisher, city engineer; J. Herbert

Grant, special assistant engineer; Beekman C.

Little, superintendent of water works; Charles F.

Pond, Joseph C. Wilson, Charles H. Judson and

Thomas J. Neville, assessors; John M. Murphy

and Delbert C. Hebbard, judges of the municipal

court ; John H. Chadsey, judge of the police court

;

A. M. Spiehler, S. P. Burrill, George J. Oaks and

Oswald J. Bryan, civil service commissioners;

Tleniy B. Hathaway, V. Moreau Smith and

Charles W. Weis, Mt. Hope cemetery commis-

sioners, with. John W. Keller as superintendent;

George M. Forbes, William Bausch, Helen B.

Montgomery, Isaac Adler and James P. B. DufEy,

commissioners of public instruction, with Clarence

F. Carroll as superintendent of schools. The

names of the members of the common council will

be found in the civil list.

THE CTTY'S finances.

Now, what does it cost to run a city like this?

A little over three million dollars a year, or, to be

exact, $3,057,369.14, according to the comptrol-

ler's statement for 190fi. The total indebted-

ness, less the sinking fund on the 1st of January,

1907, was $11,450,185.21. That was an increase

of $530,708.10 over the previous year, but it does

not involve an augmentation in the rate of taxa-

tion, for the valuation of real estate in the city is

now $119,476,710, of franchises $8,298,675, a

total valuation of $127,775,415, being $8,095,715

in excess of ihat of last year. The city is still

$1,327,356.29 within the debt limit allowed by

law. The tax levy for 1907 is $2,694,220.

In the foregoing survey there has been pre-

sented a statement of only the leading and more

obvious factors in the life of Rochester at the pres-

ent day. Of those more subtle and intangible ele-

ments that go to make up its real character no

adequate description can be given. Those of us

who have lived our lives here, who have been born

and nurtured here and have entered upon the

gray side of their earthly existence, feel well as-

sured that there is no plonsantcr, no bcdcr city

on the whole earth.
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CHAPTER XI
FIRE AND ITS EXTINGUISHMENT.

rrecall lions of lHarly Days—Fire Buclceis Gen-

erally Used—llie First Fire Compa,ny—The

Fire }Yardens—Certificates of Membership—

•

The Volunteer Sysleiii^-The Old Fire ICiigincs

and their Companies—Characlerislirs nf the

Latter—The Protectivcs, the Alerts and the

Actives—Firemen's Benevolent Association—
T'he Monument—The Paid Fire Department—
The Fire Alarm Telegraph—The Fire Marshal

—Notable Fires—The First Fatality—Chicken

How—The Rochester [louse Fire and the Blos-

som House—The Conflagration of 1858—The

Lantern Worlcs Fire and the Orphan Asylum—

The Conflagration of 190li.

In the first five years of the settlement there

was no organized provision for the extinguishment

of such fires as might break out, each householder

being expected to take care of his own property

with the assistance of his neighbors. It is prob-

able that fire bvickets were more or less used even

then, but as there was no communal authority

llierc was of course no power to enforce their own-

ership. But when the village veas incorporated,

in 1817, steps were at once taken to prevent what

might be a destructive conflagration. At tlie first

meeting of the freeholders, held on the 5th of

May at the school-house, five fire wardens were

chosen, agreeably with the charter, who were Eos-

well Hart, Willis Kempshall, John G. Bond, Ab-

ner Wakelee and Ti'ancis Brown. Their duty was

not merely to see to the suppression of fires after

they had once broken out by forming the line of

citizens who were expected to rush to the scene,

but to guard against their occurrence by enforc-

ing the ordinances relating thereto, which, as we
have seen in a previous chapter, were quite strin-

gent and elaborate. At the next meeting, held a

month later, the truslees were authorized to raise

by taxation the sum of three hundred and fifty

dollars for the purpose of defraying the expenses

of the corporation for stationery, of procuring

fire hooks and ladders and talcing "such other pre-

cautionary measures to guard against the destruc-

tive ravages of fire in said village as shall be ex-

pedient, regard being had to the situation of the

village and the circumstances of the inhabitants

at this time." All these provisions were soon seen

to be wholly inadequate, and on the 19th of Oc-

tober of that year the first fire company was or-

ganized, the names of the members occurring in

this order: Everard Peck, William P. Sherman,

Josiah Bissell, Albert Backus, Eoswell Hart, Jehiel

Barnard, Isaac Colvin, Hastings E. Bender, Eb-

enezer Watts, Moses Chapin, Daniel Mack, Wil-

liam Cobb, Horace Bates, Eoswell Babbitt, Gideon

Cobb, Daniel Warren, Jedediah SafEord, William

Brewster, Eeubcn Dari-ow, Ira West, Caleb L.

Clarke, Davis C. West, Charles J. Hill. The last

on the roll survived all his comrades, dying July

19(h, 1883.

For this company an engine was procured in

the following year, for the trustees were instructed

at the meeting of May 13th, 1818, to procure "a

good engine" out of the tax levy, which was then

raised to the extravagant sum of one thousand dol-

lars. It must have been a poor affair, however,

for the water had to be poured into it from buck-
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ets, as it had no suction hose, but somehow or

other the machine got along without repairs for

two years, when nine dollars and a quarter was

voted for that purpose, the trustees also appro-

priating one hundred and twenty dollars "to pur-

chase and repair fire utensils, such as buckets,

hooks, ladders, etc., and to build a shelter for the

ladders." The next year the engine which had

heen housed in a structure built for it on Couvt-

House square, Avas removed to its new habitation

on .Aqueduct street, and all the inhnhilnnts wore

called on 1o vote as to whether there should or

should not be an expenditure of eight dollars for

the first rope for the fire hooks. The ladders

must have been at the beginning dragged by hand

lo the scene of their usefulness, for it was not

till 1821 that the first truck was purchased at an

expense of fifty dollars; one year later four hun-

dred and seventy dollars was paid for a new en-

gine with another hundred for a house to put it in

on Bugle alley, back of the Arcade.

The 5th of May, 182G, marked the real begin-

ning of the volunteer fire department, for before

that time the firemen had simply aciod under ihc

direction of the fire wardens, but on that day the

trustees delivered certificates of membership in

two engine companies and one hook and ladder

company to a number of the most prominent men

in the village, several of whom afterward rose to

fill Hie highest positions, such as mayor of the

city, justice of the Suprenui court and member of

Congress. At the same time the president of the

board appointed Vincent Mathews and William

Brewster as the committee on the fire department

and Samuel Works was elected chief engineer.

The last named must have been a person not only

of great executive ability but of singular modera-

tion as compared with the purchasing agents 'of

more recent times, for, whereas the trustees in

1827 authorized him to purchase a new engine at

a cost not exceeding twelve hundred dollars,- he

reported throe months later that he had obtained

one for seven hundred and sixteen, besides ex-

pending two hundred and sixteen for Ihree hun-

dred feet of hose. A new volunteer company,

number 3, was formed in October, in the second

ward, then known as Frankfort, and the little

original machine was given to it, the new one

being assigned to company number 2, known as

"Torrent," for then and always afterward till the

volunteer department went out of existence each

company had its own engine, the two bearing both

the number and the name in common, a dual exist-

ence of the animate and the inanimate. The first

inspection was held in that month, all the engines

and the truck being ordered to appear in "Mum-

ford meadow," and then the trustees located the

companies by housing number 1 near the First

Presbyterian church, number 2 near the black-

siniih shop opposite Blossom's tavern (where the

rjmnito Iniilding now siands) and "R(ul Rover,"

number ;), near the corner of State and IMatt

streets. In 1830 an assistant chief was appointed,

William H. Ward, who succeeded Mr. Works as

chief engineer two years later. "Cataract," num-

ber 1, and "Rough and Ready," number 5, both

came into being in 1831, and "Protection," num-

ber (>, in 1833, the last-named having in connec-

tion with "Pioneer" hook and ladder, number 1

—

afterward known as "Empire"—a real house of

its own on Fitzhugh street, where the north end

of the large dry goods store now stands.

When Rochester became a city, in 1834, no

great change took place in our department. The

conmion council elected two fire wardens for each

ward, John Haywood and Abelard Re^'nolds for

the fii-st, John Jones and AVillis Kempshall for

the second ; Erasmus D. Smith and Thomas IT.

Rochester for the third, Nehciniah Oshurn and

Obadiah M. Bush for the fourth, Marshall Bur-

ton and William Colby for the fifth; William U.

Ward was re-elected chief engineer*, with Theo-

dore Chapin and Kilian TI. Van Rensselaer as his

assistants. Fifteen hundred dollars was put into

the tax levy for the support of the department and

a second hook and ladder company was formed

for the east side of the river. The next year a

hose company sprang up, probably attached to

engine company number 1, for it bore the same

name, the "Aetna." In 1838 two bucket com-

panies were organized, also an engine, truck

and hose company, a nondescript afl'air, not

named. In the same year "Storm," num-

ber 7, blew in; from its birth to its end

it was true to its name; disbanded within

a year of its formation, it was put together again

and in January, 1813, was located on Plymouth

avenue, in "CornbilT'; reorganized ten years later

*Tlie names of iill the siil)sci|in,iit cliiof cnsinccis will lie found
111 llic civil liiit.
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it was again disbanded in 1858 and again reor-

ganized on the same day ; when the Civil war broke

out and President Lincoln called for volunteeers

an entire company was raised out of its members

for the "Old Thirteenth," and the residents of

the third ward saw them march away with min-

gJed pride and satisfaction j in the anny the com-

pany lived up to its reputation, for it was con-

tinually in trouble of its own making and at last

several of its officers and members, being tried

by court-martial, were sent to the Dry Tortugas

with ball and chain. In 1838, also, "Osceola 8'

was chartered, being known after successive dis-

b.'indnicnts as "Columbia 8" and "Live Oak 8,"

the iiiachiuc being stationed on Alexander street,

near Mt. Hope avenue; tlie group of engine com-

panies under the volunteer department, was com-

pleted by the organization of "Champion 9,'

formed in 1848, broken up in 1853, located on

Main streeet between Clinton and Cortland.

Forty-five years ago the paid lire department

superseded the old volunteer system, to the better-

ment of the city's interests in every way. Tliost

who worked under the old plan constituted a class

by themselves, the like of which is unknown Ic

the present generation. Pfjaceable, orderly citi-

zens, most of them, in their ordinary vocations,

wlien the fire-bell rang they became in their own

estimation outside the law and above it, amenable

only to the orders of their respective foremen and

regardless of the rights of other people. While

a conflagration was raging they convceived thai

their duty lay not alone in the extinguishment of

the flames but also in preventing rival companies

from accomplishing that result. The consequenci

was that on those occasions fights were engaged

in and carried on with great ferocity, the police

being powerless to intervene, and the conflict

would cease only when both sides were too ex-i

liausted to continue it further. At the very time

wlien sobriety was most needed they were too apt

to stimulate themselves with liquor, particularly

if the day were a very cold one. Sometimes n

fire would be started by the very hands that

would afterward try to suppress it, and one fire-

man served a long term in state prison as a punish-

ment for that pernicious activity. At the same

time they had tlieir virtues; hand in hand with

their turbulence, their insubordination, went the

highest courage, the most uncomplaining endur-

ance, sometimes the most brilliant heroism and
self-sacrifice. They have had their day, and they
made the most of it.

There were three connecting links between the

old department and the new, overlapping both of

them. After the destructive fire in August, 1858,
when the system had shown itself to be quite in-

adequate, calls were issued in the daily papers for

a mass meeting of citizens to take the subject

into consideration. At this was formed what was
always known as the Protectives, its official title

being Protective sack and bucket company, number
1, which had for its object, according to the first

article of its constitution, "the removal of prop-

erty from burning buildings or buildings in dan-

gerous proximity to fire and the protection there-

of by an efficient and responsible guard during the

confusion incident to such occasions; also, the

extinguishing of fires when practicable." Forty

members joined this organization at once, the

officers elected being George W. Parsons, foreman

;

William A. Hubbard and James Terry, assistants;

Itoswell Hart, president; A. M. Hastings, vice-

president; George H. Humphrey, secretary; Wil-

liam H. Ward, treasurer. The apparatus consist-

ed at first of a four-wheeled vehicle, containing

pieces of canvas, several sacks and a number of

leather buckets, which a few years later were

superseded by chemical extinguishers; two mod-
ern carriages also took the place of the original

concern, but they were both drawn by hand and it

was not till 1883 tliat the executive board fur-

nished a patrol wagon with horses and two drivers.

The company was at first housed on the ground

floor of Corinthian hall on Mill street, but in 1866

the members purchased a lot on the northeast cor-

ner of Market and Mill streets and erected a three-

story building with bunk-rooms and other con-

veniences. In time, however, the company out-

grew those quarters and in 1881 a house was built

for it on North Fitzhugh street near West Main,

the city appropriating about fifteen thousand dol-

lars, the insurance companies and tire business

men giving nearly four thousand more for its

equipment; there the Protectives remained till

their disbandment a few years ago. They did

most admirable service during the life of the as-

sociation, preserving an enormous amount of prop-

erty that would otherwise have been lost to the

owners, and the policy of letting them go was of
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doubtful expediency. The department of public

safety took their house and the houses of the two

other private companies for the occupancy of paid

engine companies.

At the same time with the Protective, City hose,

number 1, was organized, its name being soon

changed to that of the Alert hose, by which it was

always known. Its original members, who were not

numerous, chose the following officers : E. W. Far-

rington, foreman (who also acted as president dur-

ing the meetings of the company) ; Herbert

Churchill, assistant foreman; John P. Humphrey,

secretary; Abram Karnes, treasurer. Like the

other company, the Alerts were at first quartered

under Corinthian hall, where they remained till

they were forced to vacate in 1866, when they lay

idle for a few months, but getting weary of that

they obtained a new room the next year on the

east side of Front street, staying there till 1874,

.when the city erected for them on North Fitz-

hugh street on the site formerly occupied by old

"Protection 6," a fire house with carriage room

and reading room on the ground floor, on the next

a bunk-room with six double beds, bath-room and

toilet, on the upper floor a commodious session

room. Here the numbers increased rapidly, so that

at the grand parade on August 18th, 1883, the last

day of the New York state firemen's association

meeting, the Alerts had ninety-one men on the

rope, besides three officers, one steward, three on

the central committee and three marshals of divi-

sion, in all just a hundred members. There was al-

ways a rivalry between this company and the

Protectives, but it was carried on in a friendly

spirit and consisted mainly in trials of speed, un-

til the latter were furnished -nith horses, to see

which should first reach the scene of the fire;

once there the affiliation was complete.

As this gave two of these intermediate organiza-

tions to the west side, without any" on the east,

another came into existence on the 9th of June,

1868, when the Active hose company was formed,

with Arthur D. Walbridge as president, Cornelius

R. Parsons as vice president, J. Matthew Angle aa

secretary, P. Frank Quin as treasurer, James

Cochrane as foreman and S. W. Updike, jr., as

assistant foreman. They did not receive their

carriage till the beginning of November, so that

their first turnout in response to an alarm was

on the 4th of that month. From the time of their

organization till November 5th, 1873, they were

quartered on North Water street, next door to

steamer number 1, but on the latter date they

moved into their new liousc, wliicli liad been built

for them mainly by popular subscription on North

St. Paul street, near East Main, and there they

remained till, like the other associations, they

were dissolved in 1898. All three were most effi-

cient adjuncts of the department. The services of

the members were entirely gratuitous, but they

cheerfully responded to every call, no matter how

onerous the work might be, and, altliougli they

were not legally under the direction of anyone but

themselves, they obeyed the orders of the chief

with as much alacrity as though they had been

his jiaid subordinates.

In the early history of the village there was a

firemen's benevolent fund, to provide relief rather

than maintenance in case of illness and a partial

support for the families of those who might be

taken away in the line of their duty. But this

was not pennanent in its nature, the principal,

which was raised as occasion required it, was small

at tlie best and tlio interest was often insignificant

At last a real foundation for it was laid in a queer

way. In the year after the city was incorporated

Colonel Thomas S. Meacham, of Pulaski, Oswego

county, offered to give for the purpose a mammoth
cheese weighing several hundred pounds, which

had been made in his dairy, the only conditions

which he named being that it should be sold at

auction and the proceeds "set apart as a fund for

the relief of the widows and orphans of firemen

and for disabled firemen." The gift being ac-

cepted on those conditions the colonel presented

the cheese at a special meeting of the common
council held October 13th, 1835. It was afterward

cut into small pieces, which were sold to spirited

bidders, the sum realized being $958.27, which

became the nucleus of a permanent fund. To take

care of this fund the Firemen's Benevolent asso-

ciation was organized and was incorporated in

1837; its first officers being Erastus Cook, presi-

dent; Peter W. Jennings and AVilliam Blossom,

vice-presidents; John AVilliams, treasurer; William

R. Montgomery, secretary; A. J. Langworthy, col-

lector; William S. Whittlesey, Edward Eoggen,

Isaac Hellems, John T. Talman, E. B. Wheeler,

William Ailing, William Brewster, James Brad-

shaw, Hem.an Loomis, directors, one for each fire
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company. Since then the successive presidents

have been William Brewster, Martin Briggs,

George Arnold, George W. Parsons, William E.

Lathrop, John Craigie, George B. Harris, A. S.

Lane, Joseph B. Ward, John Cowles, S. M. Stew-

art, Law S. Gibson, L. W. Clarke, Thomas H.

Husband, Henry W. Mathews, Tlieron E. Parsons,

A. H. Otto, S. V. McDowell, John A. Davis, Har-

vey W. Brown, L. H. Van Zandt, Simon Stern,

Samuel Bemish, A. M. Bristol, John E. Morey,

Herbert L. Ward, S. M. Stewart, T. H. Husband,

C. E. Sunderlin. Henry W. Mathews has been

tlie secretary and S. B. Williams the treasurer for

more tlian twenty years.

Instead oi: the fund being depleted, as had gen-

erally been the case in previous years, it showed a

pretty steady increase, averaging more than ten

per cent, annually, so that now it is $87,494.59.

Only three years liavc scon a decrease, one of those

being the year in which $8,950.89 was taken from

it for the monument; from it has been disbursed

for relief about fifty thousand dollars, and fifteen

hundred dollars has been paid for the purchase

of a perpetual free bod in the City hospital for

sick poor of the department. The association was

re-incorporated in 1864 under the title of the

"Rochester fire department," in order that it might

receive the two per cent, of the premiums paid to

foreign insurance companies, which those con-

cerns had previously turned in to the city treas-

Tirer; it is, however still commonly known as the

Firemen's Benevolent.

Tliere is another association, not wholly dis-

similar to tliis, which was organized in June, 1893,

under the name of Exempt Volunteer Firemen.

It is composed entirely of those who have earned

their exemption by long years of arduous and

faiiliful Rorvico; it has now one hundred and

twenty-five mcuil)crs in good standing; the presi-

dent is William V. Clark.

The monument alluded to deserves a separate

paragraph. For many years the firemen, except

as tlieir families desired otherwise, had been

buried in the old part of Mt. Hope, but the space

had become too restricted, there was no room for

any inore and so a capacious lot was obtained in

llie new portion of the coinclcry, on liigli ground

overlooking the river and giving a fiiie view of

the city slrctching out toward ilie norlli. The

monument, whch is a beautiful piece of Vermont
granite, without a blemish in»it and chiseled en-

tirely by Rochester workmen, rises from a platform

twenty-four feet and three inches square, to the

height of fifty feet; on its summit is the figure,

eight feet and nine inches high, of a fireman

wearing a fire hat, with a coat on the left arm,

standing "at rest"; the only lettering on the work
consists of the words "Fire department," cut on
one of the bases. The dedication took place on
the 9th of September, 1880, when all the firemen

in the city, exempts as well as those in active

service, marched in solemn parade to the end of

Grove avenue, together with visiting companies

from Brockport, Penn Yan, Auburn, Lockport.

Ithaca and Bradford, Penn., most of them with

their apparatus and some with their own bands.

Andrew M. Semple, the president of the day, a

veteran fireman, opened the exercises with a brief

speech ; then followed a prayer by Rev. Dr. Riggs,

of St. Peter's church ; addresses by Mayor Parsons,

James H. Kelly and John W. Stebbins, a poem
written for the occasion by Mrs. James G. Maurer

and the benediction by Rev. Byron Holley, of St.

Luke's.

Although the paid fire department was not ac-

tually organized till 18G2, the beginning of the

end of the old volunteer system was in February,

1861, when two steam fire engines were brought

into the city. Their advent caused some hostile

criticism and some incredulity as to their effective-

ness, but, as this was based largely on their slow-

ness of motion, owing to the fact that they were

for the first few months drawn by hand, it passed

away when horses were introduced. The old hand

engines went gradually into disuse and one steam-

er after another was procured, until there were

four, ready for use at any moment, and most of

these turned out for several years at every alarm.

When the Holly water works went into successful

operation, in 1874, the attendance of steamers was

dispensed with on ordinary occasions, it being

considered that the hose carts and the chemical

engine would be sufficient, but now only a por-

tion of the department turns out at every call of

the bell, according to the number of the box, while

ten strokes constitute a general alarm, which sum-

mons the whole ostablishnicnt. The Hayes truck,

with long extension ladders, was obtained in 1883.

since wliich time many additions have been made,
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that now the apparatus consists of fourteen

teamers, with one»in reserve; six trucks, two of

^hich are equipped with aerial ladders; threa

lose carts, one chemical engine and one water

ower, besides a niimber of wagons for various

ises. The chief of the department is Charles

jittle, the assistant chief Frank A. Jaynes; the

wo battalion chiefs are Charles H. Atkinson and

iVilliam Creegan. The old company of the Pro-

:ectivea has been reorganized, with Alfred G

iVright as captain, and, though still a volunteer

nstitution, it is considered a regular branch of

:he service. The total number of men in the de-

partment is 358. The fire headquarters are lo-

;ated in a capacious building recently erected on

;he corner of Central avenue and Mill street, two

lundred and fifty feet front, one hundred ana

lixty-six on its longest side. In March, 1869, the

fire alarm telegraph came in, its construction

costing twelve thousand dollars; it is so useful as

:o be practically indispensable and box after box

las been added since then, so that there are no'v

;wo hundred and fifty-eight in all; B. F. Black-

ill was in charge of it from the beginning till

1880, when Charles R. Barnes took control of it

iintil recently; the present incumbent is Harry G.

Kennedy. Although not a fireman the fire mar-

shal is a most valuable adjunct to the depart-

ment; his most important duties arq to order thfl

iemolition of buildings tliat are so far gone in

iecay as to render thorn unsafe, to forbid the com-

pletion of those in process of construction thai

ire dangerous to human life and to cause the .e-

moval of' all causes that seem likely to provoke a

3onflagration; 0. L. Angevine was the first fire

marshal,- holding the place till 1880, when William

Carroll had it for four years, then Arthur McCor-
mick for nine; John A. P. Walter has filled the

position since then.

NOTABLE FIUES.

It would be not only undesirable but impossible

to give an account or even an enumeration of all

the fires, or even all the large fires that have oc-

curred here. The burning of a well-stocked flour

mill would produce the brightest kind of a blaze,

and the destruction of a lumber yard would en-

tail the most prolonged labor on the part of the

department, but neither might call for mention

on account of any serious loss to the community

or the removal of any ancient landmark. The fol-

lowing account will, it is thought, comprise a de-

scription of all that, for different reasons, ar3

worth recording in this volume : The little village

Iiad its first fire on Sunday, December 5th, 1819,

when the office of the Gazette, just east of the

Arcade, burned down; Edwin Scrantom, then an

apprentice on tlio weekly paper, was sleeping there

at the time and would have awnkoned only to his

death had he not been rescued by James Fraser

breaking through the flames at the risk of his life.

On December 31st, 1837, the first fatality occurred,

when Thomas M. "Rathbuh," of hook- and laddei

number 1, was killed by a falling chimney at the

burning of Everard Peck's paper-mill on South

Water street, where the Post Express is now lo-

cated. Only three alarms were given in 1836, but

two of those were for large fires, Lewis Selye's

engine works and Jonathan Child's "Marble

block," on Exchange street, just south of the ca-

nal. George B. Benjamin and John Eaton, both

firemen, were killed by a falling wall at the burn-

ing of the Curtis block, on Main street, on August
36th, 1840. On February 3d, 1844, the old Man-
sion House, on State street, built in 1831, was de-

stroyed and on May 3d, 1846, the old stone block

on the corner of Main and State, built Ijy Hervei,

Ely in 1817; replaced by the Burns block and
that by the Elwood building; the Democrat office,

which occupied a part of it, was ruined. In

July, 1847, Grace church, where St. Paul's, no\('

used as a place of amusement and called Colonial

hall, stands, was burned to the ground.

Where the Rochester Savings bank, on the cor-

ner of Main and Fitzhugh, now rears its imposing

front there stood until a little over fifty yeai-s

ago the very lowliest of structures—in fact, they

were hardly structures at all, being but a line of

sheds in which were a great number of coops,

where foAvls were kept for sale, the poultry markc^

for the people of the third ward. Universally

known as "Chicken row," it stood there year after

year, the laughing stock of everyone, occupying

that valuable site for some reason never explained.

Perhaps there was a cloud on the title; if so, ii

was finally dissipated and the place was offered

for public sale. Edwin Scrantoni, the auclionccr

of those days, created much amusement by his
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flaming advertisement of tlie advantages of the

spot, ending with the couplet:

"Chicken row

lias got to go."

Sure enough, it went. Fortunately the savings

bank directors bid it in, probably ou' foreclosure,

and on the same night, March 31st, 1853, the

Haines swept away everything but the earth itself;

undoubtedly they were kindled by some of the fire-

men who thought that their health would be im-

proved by a midnight .run ; the whole afEair was

insignificant, but it furnished food for general

conversation till it was put out of mind, a month

later, by a genuine catastrophe, when the Eochestei-

House went up in smoke on the night of April

29th. In the early days of the canal this noted

hotel was inseparably associated with the glories

of the great waterway; it was a large structure,

for it extended on I'lxchange street from the canal

to Spring street; at this time it was kept by E.

W. Bryan as a temperance hotel and on the clos-

ing night there were nearly a hundred inmates

sleeping there, all of whom escaped except three

women and a man, employees of the place, who.

being unable to get out, met their death. Nine

months later another tavern, the Blossom IIous(|

(where the Osburn House was afterward and the

Granite building now stands) was destroyed, on

January 24th, 1854, the fire beginning at three in

the morning and lasting all day; soon after day-

light the mercury fell to zero, the hose pipes froze

stiff faster than they could be thawed out, firemeni

and machines alike were almost encased in ice;

the matter was made worse by the free use of

liquor and one company had to be sent home by

Ma.yor Williams for its mutinous conduct. The

Eagle bank block, a fine six-story structure, on

the present site of the Wilder building, was burned

to tlie ground Novonihor 21st, 1857, two members

of engine company number 2 being killed by a

falling chimney; the Democrat establishment, ou

the fourth and fifth floors, was again completely,

destroyed and the small stone edifice of the Com-

mercial bank, next east, was crushed by a descend-

ing wall.

For many years 1858 stood out as the great

fire year in Rochester history until that lurid pre-

eminence was taken away from it as we shall see

later. August 17th was the day of the celebration

of the laying of the Atlantic cable, culminatin;^

with a torchlight procession and fireworks in the

evening, and it is not improbable that some flying

spark from this became hidden from view till it

had got in its deadly work; shortly before mid-

night flames were seen issuing from the livery

stable of Ileavey & McAnally, on Minerva placC':

the department responded promptly, but they were

somewhat exhausted by the long parade and by

a hard-fought fire on Water street the night be-

fore, besides which the scarcity of water made the

contest still more unequal and the morning dawned

on a heap of blackened ruins, every building on

the south side of Main street from St. Paul +o

Stone having gone down, including the Thitd

Presbyterian church and Minerva hall, with five

business blocks and twenty stores; the loss was

$175,000, with insurance nearly two-thirds of

that. The Unitarian church, on the west side of

Fitzhngli street, where a German Evangelical

church now stands, was burned on the 10th oi

November, 1859, and the Second Baptist, on the

northeast corner of Clinton and Main, just a

month later. On November 24th, 1861, the old

Bethel church, on Washington street, on a part

of the site now occupied by a railroad administra-

tion building, was destroyed ; it had long been va-

cant, as the congregation had built the Central

church and moved into it; a peculiar and brilliant

spectacle was presented as the heated air filled the

interior of a large tin dome that rose from the

roof, causing it to break away and soar off like

a fire balloon for quite a distance. When Wash-

ington hall burned, on May 4th, 1867, three fire-

men fell at their post of duty. St. Peter's church

(Presbyterian) was destroyed pn March 17th, 1868,

and on the 19th of December in that year the

Democrat office underwent a third combustion, be-

ing completely obliterated by a conflagration thai

swept away much of the old Eagle Hotel block

and extended through from Pindell alley to State

street, taking in the Union bank building and ad;

jacent property. On the 2d of May, 1869, the

First Presbyterian, then unoccupied, where the

city hall now stands, was burned down, and on

the 6th of November in that year the St. Paul

street theater or opera house.

In the destruction of the old Hervey Ely mill,

at the east end of the aqueduct, on the morling

of August 24th, 1870, the city lost one of its oldest
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memorials ; the third week in Deeemher gave hard

work to the department by three successive all-

night fires—those of the Boston mill, the Pool

building (in which the nemocrat job-room was

wiped out) and the rag warehouse of McVean &

Hastings on Exchange street by the canal. Note-

worthy as being the first blaze on which a stream

from the water-works hydrants was thrown was

that in Stewart's block on North Water street, on

January 18th, 1874. One life was lost at the burn-

ing of five shops and factories on Warehouse street

July 19th, 1870, and another at tliat of Towers

thermometer works on Exchange street, in con-

sequence of the explosion of some materials there

used, when one of the workmen, caught fast by

the flying timbers, slowly perished in the flames.

A fine pyrotechnic display was witnessed at the

combustion on the night of April 17th, 1880, of

the "Beehive," an old building erected in 1827

by E. S. Beach,Thomas Kempshall and E. R. Ken-

nedy and used as a flour mill by the first two

named, one after the other, until the death of Mr.

Kempshall in 1864, when' it was remodeled inside

and used thereafter for a great number of small

manufacturing industries. Much excitement was

caused on the evening of December 21st, 1887, by

a number of detonations distinctly heard all over

the west side of the city; they were caused by a

series of explosions for more than a mile alon^^

the line of the Piatt street sewer of more tha)i

fifteen thousand gallons of naphtha that had es-

caped from a broken pipe of the Vacuum oil

worJfS into that emissary, and the volatile gas of

which became ignited in some way before the

liquid could flow into the river; the fiery stream

gave notice of its progress by sending jets of

flame high into the air from manholes and other

openings; when it reached Brown's race the Jef-

ferson mill was blown down, the Clinton and the

Washington were burned, three men were killed

and many others badly hurt, two of them fatally.

Frightful as was that catastrophe, the memory
of it was dimmed within a year by the most ap-

palling calamity that ever visited Rochester, with

the greatest loss of life at any one time, either

before or since then. The steam gauge and lan-

tern works, on the western brink of the upper
falls, where Sam Patch made his fatal leap in

1829, caught fire in the early evening of Novem-
ber 9th, 1888, and before it was over thirty-four of

the employees on the night force had met their

'

death, five being killed by jumping to the ground,

the rest being suffocated or burned alive, the re-

mainder being saved with grojit difliculty by lad-

ders or by life blankets held beneath the windows

from which they sprang. With the exception of

the second loss of the opera house and the injury

to St. Mary's hospital, both in 1891 ; the destruc-

tion of old Corinthian hall, latterly called 'the

Academy of Music, on December 2d, 1898; that of

Charles P. Barry's fine rcsidonco on East avenue

on February 1st, 1899, and that of tiie whole plant

of the Citizens' Light and Power company, to-

gether with the Washington mill, both on Mitt

street at the foot of Factory, with a total loss of

about $150,000, on November 25th, 1900, we come

to nothing worth mentioning till the beginning of

the new century. In the early morning of Jan-

uary 8th, 1901, the Rochester orphan asylum, on

Hubbell park, burned, rivaling in the horror of

its calamity that of the lantern works and passing

it, perhaps, in sadness, from the fact that all

those who lost their lives were young children;

there were one hundred and nine of these with-

in the walls, all of them sound asleep (though

the two night nurses on duty were awake) and

thirty-one of them perished, the remainder being

rescued by the neighbors and by the firemen, who

had enough to do in saving the little ones with-

out caring so much what became of the asylum;

a large proportion of the sufl'erers were so af-

fected by fright, cold and partial suffocation that

they had to be taken to the hospitals, the others

being given shelter at various charitable institu-

tions and private houses till a home could be

provided for them, as described in another chap

ter; the accident resulted from defective heating

apparatus. Another fire, later in the same day,

at the Eastman kodak factory, caused three fire-

men to lose their lives and two others to be dan-

gerously affected by the fumes of nitric acid. Lieu-

tenant Boon was killed and eight other firemen

were injured at the burning of the Rochester ma-

cliino screw works, Jnnunvy 2Slh, 1903. AfoHt of

the Hayden furniture manufactory and storage

warehouse, on Exchange street, was destroyed on

March 25th, 1903, with a total loss of $250,000.

The gloomy character of this recital may be

lightened by the mention of the biggest bonfire ever

seen here, when, after the municipal hospital for
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colli agioiis tliseascs had been erected, the old build-

ings of Hope hospital, wlierc for so many years

smallpox iiatients had been confined and treated,

were, in conformity with an ordinance of the

common council, burned to the ground in April

of that year and every vestige of them obliterated.

A far grander spectacle impressed all beholders

two months later. On the lltli of June at eight

o'clock in the morning fire broke out in the Pan-

cost building, on yVllen and Fitzlmgh streets, oc-

cupied by the Star Headlight company, which was

utterly destroyed, the livery stable next south of

it beuig crushed by a falling wall, and when ilie

north wall went down it injured the water tower

so badly as to rciuler it practically useless and

unable to stay the work of devastation. This vol-

cano quickly sent its tongues oC flame across Fiiz-

liugli street; these fastened on the lofty stcci)le of

ilic Brick church and soon from cornice to vane

the spires were wrapjiod in a sheet oC fire; tlie

liisloric old edifice was doomed, and within an

hour its blackened walls were all that remained to

show where the sanctuary and the Sabbath school

room had once stood. Before the relics were cool

the ti'ustocs had met and resolved to continue the

regular church service, which was done on the

follcwing Sunday at the Baker theater and after

that at the J^ational till the new place of worship

was erected. On the night of December 14tli in

that year the sky was lightened for several hours

by a series of illuminaiioiis—early in tlic evening

that of the Sherwood Shoe Finding company, on

Hill street; then, about midniglit, that of the Fos-

ter-Armstrong piano factory, on Commercinl

street, and an hour later, by a strange coincidence,

another ]nano factory on North Water street,

owned by the same syndicate but running under

the name of Jlarshall & Wendell, was entirely de-

stroyed; some hostile incendiary may have done

the work oi' sonm (laming hraiul may have been

carried across the river from one place to the

other; the loss by the three blazes was almost three

]uindi-ed and fifty thousand dollars, besides fifteen

thousand dollars on workmen's tools in the two

musical establishments.

Great as was the fire loss of the previous year i!:

was eclipsed hy that of the conllagration of 1004,

which swept a large portion of the dry goods dis-

trict, one and three-quarter acres, and inflicted

a monetary damage of over three million dollars,

the heaviest ever suffered from any one cause in

this city. Before daylight on the morning of

February 26th the electric fuse connected with

the elevator in the Rochester Dry Goods establish-

ment, on East Main street, became surcharged

with that mysterious fluid, blew out and threw ofE

sparks into some loose drapery lying near by. Al-

though the night watchman heard the noise of the

blowing out and hastened to the spot, the flames

had already attained such headway that there was

nothing to do but send in an alarm. The depart-

ment arrived promptly, but found themselves con-

fronted by a raging furnace. Any attempt to ex-

tinguish the fire in the original building was at

once seen to be useless and all efforts were di-

rected to prevent it from spreading to adjoining

stores. It took but a few minutes to show that

this was almost equally . hopeless with the means

at hand, and aid was requested by telephone from

Buffalo and Syracuse; both cities responded im-

mediately, the former sending twenty-six men, the

latter thirty, with two steamers and two hose carts

from each place, all of whom went to work at

once and were of invaluable assistance. The

flames speedily devoured two smalh buildings to

the east, then turned to the westward and at-

tacked the Oornwall building, then came the Ell-

wanger & Barry building, both blocks being oc-

cupied by the Beadle & Sherburne dry goods com-

pany, then the marble front owned by the Buell

estate and finally the lofty Granite building, be-

longing to Sibley, Lindsay & Curr, who used its

ground floor, as well as that of the Buell block,

for their retail store, their wholesale department

being in another building of theirs, on St. Paul

street, just across Division, the two connected by

a covered bridge. It was hoped for a short time

that the Granite, being reputed fireproof, AVould

stand as a barrier to the march of the destroyer,

and great was the disappointment whep i\\e flames

were seen to burst from the windows in different

stories, wliich were all filled with offices whose

contents were utterly consumed. Fireproof it was,

however, in a literal sense, for its walls, though

defaced by smoke and cinders, stood firm and

needed no reconstruction when the time came for

the complete renovation of the interior; it stopped,

too, the progress of the conflagration, for if its

walls had fallen, lilce those of the other structures,
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nothing could have saved the large dry goods es-

tahlishment of Burke, PitzSimons, Hone & Co.,

on the opposite corner of St. Paul street, and, as

it was, that building was preserved only by tho

absence of an east wind and by the hardest kind

of work on the part of our friendly visitors. The
Sibley wholesale block went next, being absolutely

destroyed, after wliich the fire crept around back

of the Cox building and wiped out two or thrco

small houses on Ifortimer street; there it stopped.

The total insurance was $2,300,250, but there waa

little, if any, compensation for the tenants of tlie

Granite building, who, relying upon its supposed

iiicomliiiHlibilily, were geiu;rnl1y niiinsmvd ami

lost about two Imndred thousand dollars. The city

was exempt from other disastrous fires till near

the close of the year, when, on December 11th,

the handsome Roby building, on Eli^.aboth street,

was totally destroyed, with a loss of $164,500

This brings our fire record to a close.



CHAPTER XII

CRIME AND ITS PUNISHMENT.

TIte Peace of Rochester—The Night Watch—I'he

First Jail—'The First Record of Crime—The

First Homicide—The Second and Third Jails—
The Regulations of the New City—Duiies of the

Watch—The Midnight Cry—Locations of Folirc.

Office—Present Ileadquai-ters—the First Mur-

der and Execution—The Falls Field Tragedy—
llardenbrooh and Robertson Trials—The Stale

Industrial Sch ool—The Penitentiary—First

Chief (if Police—The Police Commission—
Three Murders—The Howard Riot—The Shad-

ow of IJeaili—'The Last Hanging—The Smith,

Murder—Two Mysterious Murders—Love and

Jealousy—The Department at the Present Day.

Whenever Iminan beings are gatliered together,

whetlier in Eden or in Rochester, there must be

sonic wrongdoing; the strife and the contrast be-

tween good and evil, so early typfied, must, it

would seem, go on while the world endures, and

the niost that advancing civilization can do is to

repress the manifestation of wickedness and to

infstill a growing respect for the observance of law.

That will in time bring about tlic universal recog-

nition of right as the governing principle, as is

plainly indicated by tlie progress of affairs, for

it needs but a glance to see that, in spite of con-

stant instances of retrogression, the forward steps

are greater tlian those backward and tliat with all

the shocking individual crimes and the appalling

national sins the world is growing better every

day. Selfishness will always prevail, but altruism

will more and more serve to cheek the aggressioiid

of egoism. The settlement of Rochester was prob-

ably no worse and no better than other localities,

and no violent disorder can be found to have ex-

isted here till the place had got pretty well ad-

vanced.

EARLY CONSTABLES.

The earliest record that can be found regarding

the peace establishment is that of the election, in

1813, of Solomon Close, Pelatiah West, Jonathan

Parish and Hope Davis as constables for the town

of Gates, which of course includedwthe western

half of what afterward became the city. There

is no reason to suppose that the exercise of their

powers went any further than the arrest of delin-

quent debtors, who might then be imprisoned for

their insolvency, and even that authority had its

limits, for the river divided the counties of On-

tario and Oencscc, so tliat if a fu<>itive happened

to be more fleet than his pursuers all he had to do

was to reach the middle of the bridge first, when

he could turn and laugh the officers to scorn.

When the village was incorporated, in ISl?, the

charter provided that the duties of the constable

should be the same with those of the constables

chosen at the annual town meetings of Gates, but

it is probable that he had also the power to make

arrests for criminal offenses in the daytime, when

the night watch were necessarily off duty. At tha

first meeting of the freeholders and inhabitanth*.

lield May 5th in the year named, Ralph Lester

was chosen as constable, and some time in 181B

Matthew Brown, Roswell Hart, William P. Sher-

man, Daniel Mack and Hastings R. Render were
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appointed as street patrol, but it is difficult to

see how their services could have been very valu-

able, as they were all business men and most oi

them held other offices than this.

THE NIGHT WATCH.

The police department of Rochester really began

to exist on the 28th of December, 1819, when at

a public meeting it was voted "that the sum of

eighty dollars be raised by tax to defray the ex-

pense of maintaining a village night watch, which

had been appointed on the 10th inst., and to be

continued so long as the said money raised will

admit." The name of that official is not recorded ;

that there was only one is shown by the fact tliat

in the following year the salary was raised to one

hundred dollars, but a year later was put back to

the original eighty, "to support a night watch for

so long a time, now commencing, as a faithful

man can be hired for that sum."

THE FIRST JAIL.

When Monroe became a county, in 1821, it was

of course necessary to have a Jail, for that, as well

as the court-house, was the outward and visible

sign of a Aunty, so the jail was built in that

year. It stood on North Fitzhugli street, then

called Hughes street, on the present site of the

•Gei-man United Evangelical St. Paul's church.

No further description of it can be obtained than

that it contained two tiers of cells, divided by a

hall through the middle, and was inclosed with a

high and insurmountable stone wall. It was sit-

uated in the rear of a commodious brick liousp,

occupied by the jailer's family, and the two build-

ings together . cost the county $3,674.41. Until

the erection of the jail on the island, eleven years

later, this one answered its purpose quite well;

after that it was used for some time as a recruit-

ing office for the United States army. Who were

the first inmates of that place of confinement we

do not know.

THE FIRST BURGLARY.

It ought to have been, but probably was not,

the burglars who committed the first crime re-

corded here, when it is mentioned in the Telegraph

of August 21st, 1821, that the store of Hart &

Saxton, which was located on the spot where the

Blwood block now stands, had been feloniously en-

tered the week before, when the clerks, who, after

the custom of those times, were sleeping in an ad-

joining room, were awakened by the noise mado

in attempting to open the cash drawer, whereupon

the thieves departed without carrying off the plun-

der which they had piled up on the counter; no

arrests scorn to have boon nuidc. The increase of

the tax to two hundred dollars to support the

night watch in 1822 would seem to indicate that

the constituency of that body must have been

doubled. Raphael Beach was elected constable in

that year, succeeding George G. Sill and Charle?

Millard.

BLOODSHED COMES IN.

The first homicide in what is now the county

took place not in Rochester but in the town of

Gates outside of the village in July of the year

named, when in a quarrel a man named Nichok

struck Squire Hill on the head, inflicting a wound

from which the latter died a few days later. The

assailant Avas arrested, lodged in jail (of which he

may have been the first occupant), from whioh

he escaped, was retaken and escaped again, prob-

ably not captured after that, as there is no record

ol' his trial. What was in nil likelihood a moie

cold-blooded murder occurred in the town of Par-

ma, in the following April, when a man with his

throat cut was discovered by the side of the Ridge

road; no trace of the assassin was ever found. Af

Ihc village grew in size it seems to have become

more iiiunoral, for tiie Tdeyrapk of February lOlh,

1834, after making the rather rash assertion that

"probably no place in the Union of the size of

Rochester is so much infested with the dregs and

outcasts of society as this village," speaks of 8

meeting that had been held during the previous

week, at which a committee was appointed to draft

a petition to the legislature for the imssiige of a

law to erect a tread-mill, or "stepping-mill," as it

was called. Although the journal applauded the

scheme as being likely to inspire non-resident crim-

inals with such terror that they would stay away

from this region, the law was never passed, public

sentiment being then, and ever since then, too
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strongly opposed lo it in this country, though

Great Britain retained that form of torture until

five years ago. At any rate there were a suITicient

number of evil-doers to fdl up the jail, and some

of the prisoners made a desperate attempt at es-

cape on the night of July 31st. The sheriff, John

T. Patterson, had, however, received warning ';'

Die plot and had noUlied a few ciliy.ens tlieroof,

so that when the conspirators broke out of their

cells about ten o'clock and blew out all the lights

there was a hand-to-hand conflict in which iron

bars and hickory clubs were freely used, so that

several on both sides were badly hurt, but the riot

was finally quelled.

WIFE-KILLING, BUT NOT JlUltUliU.

John H. Eibby was, at the October circuit,

found guilty of killing his wife, under circum-

stances of great brutality, but as the woman lived

for a week after her husband had beaten and

kicked her, he got off with a conviction of man-

slaughter and Judge William B. Rochestex- sen-

tenced 'him to the state prison for fourteen years.

In the following April Judge Walworth, of Sara-

toga county, was for some reason presiding over

the court of Oyer and Terminer held here, when a

man named Jones was brought up for trial. By

means of a succession of skillfully forged deeds

he had become possessed of a thousand acres o£

valuable land in Brighton, turning out of their

rightful homes a number of innocent occupants.

The district-attorney, Vincent Mathews, was as-

sisted in the prosecution by Messrs. Chapin and

Ilosmor, while Messrs. Lcc, Marvin and Dickson

defended the prisoner. Sixty witnesses, from four

different states, testified for the people, but the

trial lasted only two days, resulting in conviction:

followed by a sentence of life imprisonment.

THE SECOND JAIL.

The second jail, begun in 1831, was completed

in the following year, standing on the artificial

island formed by the river and the bend of the

Fitzhugh and Carroll race, on the site now cov-

ered by the train-slied of tlie Eric railroad station.

It cost $13,1 13.50, including $1,250.19 for the

lot, from wliich should l)e deducted $2,(i0() realized

froiTi the sale of the former jail on Fitzhugh

street. The structure was one hundred feet long

by forty feet wide, built entirely of stone and so

close to the river that the waters washed its eastern

foundation wall. In the main prison, which was

sixty by forty feet, was a block of forty cells, each

cell being four feet wide, eight feet long and seven

feet high; above them was a room of the whole

area of the prison, which at a later period was

fitted up with cells of a larger size. The jailer's

dwelling, which formed a part of the building, was

forty feet square and three stories high, the third

floor being divided into seven rooms intended for

debtors, for women and for men charged with

minor offenses. Those of the last-named class

were connnoidy employed in making furniture, iu

weaving, tailoring and shoemaking. Edwin Av-

ery, who seems to have been the first jailer, was

succeeded by Ephraim Gilbert. This jail stood

for more than half a century, and for many years

before it was torn down it was a disgrace to tlie

county, simply from the parsimony of the board

of supervisors in systematically neglecting to keep

it in decent repair. Escape from it became pro-

verbially an easy matter in certain seasons of the

year, for the inmates, after letting themselves

down from the windows, had only to walk across

the river bed when it was dry from the drought

of the summer or frozen over in the winter.

The third and present jail, on Exchange street,

was completed and occupied for the first time on

October 4lh, 1885 ; it cost $56;419.91, besides $20,-

000 for the lot.

UNDER THE MUNICIPALITY.

In 1834 Rochester became a city, its population

being then, according to the directory of that year,

12,252. The act of incorporation was passed April

28th and on the 2d of June the freeholders held

their last village meeting, electing five aldermen,

with as many assistants, live assessors and live con-

stables, the last-named being Cornelius Fielding,

Joseph Putnam, Isaac Weston, Sluman W. Harris

and Philander Davis. A week later the common

council completed the list of the first officials cf

the municipality, among those appointed being

Thomas 11. Dunning, Samuel Miller and Na-

thaniel Draper, with Sidney Smith as the first

police justice. Ephraim Gilbert was appointed
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city marshal, an officer who seems to have been a

kind of head constable, serving warrants issued

by the city treasurer and also executing processes

from the mayor's court. The office ceased to ex-

ist in 1850. By the terms of the original charter

the thickly settled part of the city was consti-

tuted the "lamp and watch district," the limits

cf which were to be prescribed annually by the

common council, and a separate column was to h-i

provided in the assessment rolls for the tax to be

imposed upon the real estate within tlmt district,

rnd upon llio personal pi'operty of nil persons liv-

ing therein, "to defray the expense of lighting the

city and compensating watchmen and for the pre-

vention and extinguishment of fires," it being care-

fully provided that the sum "to be appropriated to

the lighting of the city and for the support of -i

night watch" should not exceed $1,500.

THE NEW WATCH.

On July 17th Newton Rose, Edwin Avery and

William Wilbur were appointed city watchmen,

with the first named as captain ; they were simply,

tlie night watch, as their predecessors had been,

for they were ordered to patrol the watch district

from ten o'clock at night to the succeeding day-

light, and evidently there were no day policemen at

all. These nocturnal guardians had a great variety

of duties imposed upon them by ordinance and a

good deal of inquisitorial powcv, for they were

autliorized to enter any dwelling-house, grocery or

other building where they had good reason to be-

lieve that any felon was harbored or secreted. Be-

sides that, the whole force had to start out on

moonless nights (for when that luminary was

shining there was not supposed to be any need of

additional illumination), each one of them with a

string of oil lamps on his arm, which he would

place on different posts at long intervals, leaving

them there till morning, when he would gather

them and take them to the watch-house, wliere they

would be stored till the next evening. The oncers

wore also expected, possibly as a matter of courtesy,

to call out the hour while patrolling their beats, ac-

companying the temporal announcement with rfr.

marks of a meteorological nature, such as "Twelve

o'cloclc and all's avcU," or "Two o'clock and a

starry night," or "Three o'clock and a frosty morn-

iig," or "Four o'clock, it snows and it blows,"

which tidings were not always productive of early

rising on the part of the hearers.

Tim I'OLICU STATION.

At the council meeting just mentioned the lamp

and watch committee was directed to report a

suitable section of tlie city for the location of a

watcli-liouse, whicli would seem to indicate that up

to that time llio Jnil liad biioii used I'or Uio storage

of all oll'cnders, tiioso who were too much intoxi-

cated to get home as well as those who had com-

mitted serious -offenses, for both classes must have

been locked up somewliere. In accordance wilh

the report of the committee the southwest corner

of the basement of the court-house was then fitted

up, not only for the police court-room but with tha

necessary number of cells, so that for the next

sixteen years all the passers-by on South Pitz-

hugh street were saddened by the constant sight

of the gratings and oftentimes by that of the

mournful or vicious faces behind the bars. When

the court-house was torn down in 1850, to make

way for the new county building, the police court

was taken across the street to the present site of

the Powers Hotel, while the lockup was removed

to an old stone structure on the southwest corner

of West Main street and Plymouth avenue. Both

were, however, soon transferred to the north wing

of (he oUl Ccntoi' nuirket, on Front street (which

up to that time had been used as an armory for

the militia companies), the cells being located in

the basement, with the court-room above reached

by iron steps on the outside. There they remained

till 1873, when they were located for a year on

North Water street, near Mortimer, while a city

building was going up to take the place of the

old market. Back then they were removed, but

they did not stay there long, for in 1875 they

were installed in the new city hall, then just com-

pleted, and there they remained till the erection of

tlie centi-al police station on I'lxchanfie street.

POLICE HEADQUARTERS.

That large and somewhat ornate building, de-

voted entirely to the police department, was com-

pleted, after a year of labor, in June, 1895, at
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11 posL of sixly-fivo lliousniul dollnrs, exclusive of

llio land oil which it stands. The basement is

given lip to Ihe boiler room and cellars; on tho

first floor are the captain's offices, the assembly

room, with lockers, and the lockup for males,

with twenty-two cells; the second floor contains

offices for the chief of police and the director oE

tlio detective bureau, the police court-room, with

rooms for the judge and the clerk; on the third-

floor are the living apartments for the matron,

rooms for the detention of witnesses and the lock-

up for females, with thirteen cells; the fourth floor

is devoted to the gymnasium, the bath-room and

the room of the police patrol operators ; these con-

trol the 2)olice telegraph system, on which more

tlum sixty thousand dollars has been expended and

of which there are now some sixty stations, Roch-

ester having been the first city in the state to

adopt the plan; the office also operates a duplicate

telephone system consisting of two separate switch-

boards in direct connection with (ire headquarters

by means of a central energy telephone, this city

being the flrst in the United States, so far as i.=

known, to apply that invention successsfully ia

this connection; the two patrol wagons, which are

kept in the rear of the building, have lately been

equipped with electric power, so that the horses

have been discarded.

THE LYMAN MURDEU.

Turning now to the purely criminal side it may
be as well to record a series of murders. Of these

the first within the limits of Rochester—not only

then, but the first within the present boundaries

—

was the one that ovei'shadowed all those that cams

after it and it produced a state of excitement more

pervasive and more lasting than any other deed

of violence that was ever committed here. On the

morning of October 24th, 1837, the body of Wil-

liniii Tjymnii was round in nn open lot between

St. I'aul and North Clinton streets, quite near

his house, which was on the latter street, a little

north of Franklin. He was a respected citizen,

who had his office in a small building that stood

on tlie southeast corner of East Main and South

AVater streets, the city terminal of the horse rail"

road that ran to Carthage. Horace Hooker & Co.

bad extensive grain warehouses at the latter point

and held the lease of the road, Lyman being in

their employ, both in the wheat-selling and in the

railroad, of which he was practically the treas-

urer. Mr. Hooker had sent to him from Hartford

two days before this nearly five thousand dollars

in bills of the Connecticut River Banking com-

pany, which, besides several hundred dollars just

received from the railroad, Lyman had put into

his ])ockct tluit evening to carry home with him.

After the discovery of the body a little boy remem-

bered that on the previous evening about nine

o'clock he had seen the flash of a pistol near by

and by its light had perceived three men standing

at the place first mentioned, one of whom wore

a glazed cap. It being known that a young man
of French extraction, named Octavius Barron, ha-

bitually \vorc such a cap, a watch was set upon

him and he was seen to go to the Tonawanda

railroad station at the corner of West Main and

Elizabeth streets, apparently with the intention

of getting out of the city, then to turn into a wood-

yard and hide something between two j)iles of lum-

ber. Going away for a little distance he soon

came back to the spot and was arrested, the hidden

package in the meantime having been found to

be a wallet known to have belonged to the mur-

dered man, which bad in it several hundred dollars

in bank bills and which was wrapped in a handker-

chief marked with Barron's name. It transpired

afterward that he had been watching outside of

I jyman's office on the previous evening and had

seen through the window the disposal of the

money, after which hs followed his victim and

shot him in the back of the head, probably killing

him instantly. He then toolc from the body th^

wallet containing some five hundred dollars,

though he overlooked entirely a pocket-book whicl)

had in it ten times as much. Of his. two com-

panions at the scene of the crime one, named Ben-

nett, was noticed in a saloon with him at a later

hour, both spending money freely and in a state

of great excitement; the otlicr, Fluett, helped to

carry his l,runk to the station on the following

morning; both were taken into custody a little

later.

THE FIRST EXECUTION.

Barron's trial was deferred till the following

May, when Judge Dayton was the presiding jus-

tice. The district-attorney, Abner Pratt, conduct-
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ed the prosecution, but the matter was considered

sufficiently important to call for the aid of the

attorney-general, Samuel Beardsley, who made u

powerful appeal in closing the case. For the de-

fense Horace Gay, E. E. Wheeler and A. A. Ben-

nett appeared, but their efforts were unavailing,

for a verdict of guilty was rendered within an hour

after the jury had retired. Barron was hanged,

on the 35th of June in the jail on the island, hi-

execution being the first one in Monroe county.

Darius Perrin, the sheriff at the time, pcvfonncd

the repulsive task himself, though he declined to

accept the legal fee of five hundred dollars for

doing it, whereupon the board of supervisors

struck out of his bill at the next settlement the

item of one dollar and a half, which he had ex-

pended for a new flax rope to be used on the

occasion. Up to that time the universal method of

hanging, at least in this country, consisted in sim-

ply dropping the criminal, with the rope about

his neck, through a trap door into a room or pit

beneath, but in this case a new method was adopt-

ed—which came afterward to be called the "jerk

system"—in which the prisoner is raised suddenly

to the ceiling of a lofty apartment and is then

dropped instantly through two stories, the fall

Msually resulting in breaking his neck. This was

the first use of that method in the United States,

where it is now generally practised, though the

ancient custom of slow strangulation is still em-

ployed in England. This primary execution rousoJ

so much interest, both here and in the vicinity,

that the militia had to be called out on that day

to keep away from the jail the crowd that had

gathered with the hope that they might obtain

some glimpse of the ghastly spectacle. The same

consideration of fairness that operated to delay

Barron's trial caused the postponement of that ol'

Bennett and Fluett till after his execution, and

even then it was held at Batavia, so that popular

clamor might not influence the verdict. They

were both acquitted, not, as was supposed at the

time, that there was any doubt of their guilt, but

because of a general feeling that justice should bo

satisfied with one victim.

The contagion of crime is well shown by the

fact that before the first murderer was tried the

act was duplicated and en the same side of the

river, when Austin Squires, who live^ with hia

wife at the corner of Lancaster (now Cortland)

street and Monroe avenue, shot her without provo-

cation on the evening of May 4th, 1838. He was

somewhat intoxicated at the time and besides that

he was so eccentric that many of his neighbors

considered him unbalanced, whereby at the pres-

ent day he would doubtless have escaped the gal-

lows; not so then, for he Avasi hanged on the 29th

of November at the age of thirty-five.

THE HARDENBIiOOK TRIAL.

More tluin a decade iiad passed by when the

third murder trial took place, in May, 1849. Dr.

John K. Hardenbrook^ a practising physician, was

accused of having killed Thomas Nott, a hardware

dealer, by poison, on the 5th of February preced-

ing. The doctor was an intimate friend of the

family and his friendship for Mrs. Nott was sup-

posed to have impelled him to remove the hus-

band, who was suddenly seized with violent con-

vulsions, in which, after some temporary relief,

he expired two days later. The administration oi

strychnine was alleged as the productive cause,

but the jury evidently gave the prisoner the benefit

of the doubt and lie was acquitted. The case was

tried before Judge Marvin, the prosecution be-

ing conducted by William S. Bishop, the distrier-

attorney, assisted by Heniy G. Wheaton of Al-

bany, Avho had been detailed by the attorney-gen-

eral to represent liim; the defense was supported

by Ileury R. SoUlen, John 'l.'lioinpson and Leonard

Adams, of this city, together with H. K. Smith of

Bull'alo, who made the principal argument.

PORTUGUESE MURDER.

Maurice Antonio, a Portuguese, applied to the

poormaster in January, 1852, for assistance to re-

turn to his home in the island of Madeira. Re-

ceiving the aid, he started off, together with the

wife and children of Ignacio Texeira Pinto, a fel-

low-countryman. The husband did not go with

them and it was found on inquiry that he had

not been seen since the previous November. Search

was then iiuvdo in an old hut that they had occu-

pied for three months before that in the town of

Gates, and the body of Pinto was found under the

earth in the cellar, with wounds on the head that

showed how his end had come. His wife and her

paramour were followed to Albany, where they
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were lound in the alms-liouse and brought back.

jTidge Harris presided at the trial of Antonio,

with Martin S. Newton, tlie district-attorney, for

the prosecution; Luther H, Hovey and J. D. Hus-

bands appeared for the prisoner, who, being

promptly convicted, was hanged on the 3d of June,,

Only a passing interest is excited nowadays

when a person disappears, but it was difCcrent half

a century ago, and the most intense excitement

was produced in February, 1848, wlicn Porter P.

Pierce, a young woolen manufacturer, was lost,

and again in November, 1854, in the similar casa

of Emma Moore, aged thirty-seven. In both in-

stances meetings of citizens were held, commit-

tees appointed and rewards offered, with no re-

sult; boUi bodies were subsequently found in the

water witli marks of violence upon them, but thi^

murderers remained unknown.

In May, 1855, Martin Eastwood was tried for

the murder of Edward Bretherton in the north-

ern part of the city; after conviction and the

deatli sentence he obtained a second trial and got

0* with a long imprisonment, as the two men had

been engaged in a quarrel and premeditation had

not been clearly shown.

THE LTTTLES MUEDEIl.

The Falls Field tragedy, as it was long known,

whicli occurred in the last week of 1857, warrants

0, full descrijition, botli from the peculiar circum-

stances of the case and on account of the intense

excitement that pervaded the community at the

time. Marion Ira Stout (commonly known by

his middle name), born in Pennsylvania in 1835,

was a wonderfully precocious youth, who even in

early boyhood had obtained considerable knowl-

edge of Latin and French, as well as a fair ac-

quaintance with English literature, and before ho

was much older he was well up in metaphysics, be-

ing familiar witli the writings of Hume, Locki

and other pliilosophers. All this was coincident

witli the very worst possible environuient, for from

an early ago he had been thrown into association

with i)rofessional criminals, his father being an

export workman as member of a gang of counter-

feiters and finally sent to prison for ten years

f(U- forgery, soon after whicli Ira hiniselC spent

more Ihaii four years in the l^iMslern penitcnlinry

of Pennsylvania for being concerned in a burglary.

On his release he came to Rochester to complete

his education, spending his days in a mercantila

college and devoting his nights to the study of

commercial law, mathematics and general litera-

ture. His family, with the exception of his fa-

ther, had preceded him and his sister was mar-

ried to Charles W. Littles, a practising attorney,

but employed at the time in the office of Henry

Hunter. There Avas much discord between the

married couple, owing to the intemperance, mar-

ital infidelity and general wickedness of the hus-

band, and Ira naturally took the part of his sis-

tei-, between whom and himself a peculiar af-

fection existed. He soon formed the determina-

tion to murder his brother-in-law, and he made

at least one attempt before he was successful, hav-

ing tried to induce Littles to walk with him one

night over the slippery planks of Andrews street

bridge, which was then being repaired, where one

blow would have sent his victim into the water

and thence over the falls, as the river was run-

ning high at the time. Littles was of a jealous

disposition, which enabled Stout to convince him

that his wile had an appointment at Falls field

for the evening of December 19th, and the two

men went to the spot on that night, Sarah, who
was dominated by her brother, preceding them a

little, so as to lure her liusband to his doom.

That came soon enough, for when they had got

near the edge of the bank Ira struck his victim

a sudden blow with an iron mallet, smashing the

skull and producing death instantly. Stout then

threw the body over the precipice, supposing that

it would fall into the river and be swept into the

lake before sunrise, but instead of that it struck

on a projecting ledge thirty feet below the uppei

level. Perceiving that there had been some fail-

ure in the matter, Ira started to go down a narrow

path that led sideways along the cliff, but in the

darkness he missed his footing and fell headlong,

breaking his left arm in the descent and landing

beside the corpse. Summoning all his remaining

strength he was just able to push the body again

over the bank, when ho sank in a dead faint, on

recovering from which in a few minutes he called

to his sister, who was still above, to come and help

him. Starting to do r.o, the bushes to which she

clung gave way, she stumbled, broke her left wrist

mid fell beside her prosl,i'nto brother. But it would

not do to remain there, wretched as was their
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plight, and so, after searching in vain for Ira's

spectacles, which they had to leave behind them,

but taking with them the fatal mallet, they scram-

bled slowly and painfully up the bank and made

their way laboriously to their home on Monroe

avenue. The first thing was to remove all obvious

traces of the crime; the mallet was hidden away

on the premises so carefully that it was not found

till after the trial, and the blood stains were as

far as possible washed away from their clothes.

Both were able to bear without manifestation the

pain of their wounds, but the swelling and the

inflammation of Ira's arm increased so rapidly

that the result might have been fatal if surgical

aid had not been summoned, dangerous as that

step was. So Dr. Rapalje and Dr. Whitbeck were

called in at a late hour of the night, the limb was

set and bandaged, Sarah not mentioning her own

injury, and then the household waited for tho

dawn and for what might come after.

Now, two days before this a man named New-

hafer had fallen from the Andrews street bridge

and been swept over the falls, that incident, in

fact, suggesting to Stout one of his plans for dis-

posing of his brother-in-law. Tho Jewish con-

gregation of which Newhafer was a member of-

fered a large reward for the recovery of his body,

stimulated by which a number of persons engaged

in the search and early on the morning of the

20th they went down the path which Ira and

his sister had trodden the night before. Descend-

ing to its foot they found, not the object of their

search, but the corpse of Littles, which had been

thrown back by the rushing water into a shal-

low eddy, where it remained. It took not long to

identify the remains, and within an hour the

officers, armed with a wai-rant, went to the house

on Monroe avenue, and there the evidence of

guilt confronted them almost at once. Incredible

as it may seem, Sarah, misled by her evil genius,

had neglected to remove from her cloak and even

from her hair the burrs of the yellow burdock

that had clung to her in her frightful fall and

that were afterward shown to be similar to those

that grew in the fatal field. The culprits were

taken at once to the police office, where the coroner

was already; a jury was immediately summoned,

although it was Sunday, and the inquest proceeded

through that whole day, late into the night and

for the three days and evenings following. It was,

practically, the trial, the subsequent proceedings

before the grand and petty juries bringing out

little more testimony than had been already pro^

duced. The trial itself of tlie principal criminal

took place in the following April before Justice

Henry Welles, John N. Pomeroy being appointed

counsel for the prisoner, who was destitute of

pecuniary means. Conviction was easily secured,

followed by sentence, but an appeal was taken, so

that it wa& the 22d of October when Ira Stout m as

executed. During that six months' interval his

cell was almost daily thronged by visitors, for the

morbid curiosity to see him continued unabated

to the end. In the meantime Mrs. Littles was

tried for manslaughter, her counsel being Chaun-

eey Perry and John C. Chumasero; being con-

victed in the second degree, she was sentenced to

Sing Sing for seven years, was pardoned before

her term expired and subsequently married again.

THE ROBERTSON TRIAL. -

• I

Between the time of the commission of Stout's

crime and his trial for the offense there was a\u

other Iriul, which would not have aroused the

great interest that it excited but for the promi-

nence of the principal parties. John B. Robert-

son, the cashier of the Eagle bank and city comp-

troller (an office that existed for a few years at

that time), was accused of trying to effect the

murder of his wife by inducing a young physician

of the city to administer poison in the shape of

successive prescriptions, Mrs. Robertson being then

quite an invalid. The doctor testified that Roberl-

&on had called repeatedly at his office, urging him

to use sanguinaria, and that he (the physician)

had given instead llic milder remedy of sambucua,

of the same color and producing similar effects,

though to a harmless degree. These conversa-

tions were testified to by several well-known citi-

zens, who Avere concealed in an adjoining room,

but the defense met that by the ingenious hypo-

thesis that it was easy to be mistaken as to tho

identity of a person heard but not seen, and sup-

porting that theory by various tests in the court-

room. The jury preferred to believe that the con-

spiracy was on the part of the doctor against tho

])risoner, rather than of the accused against his

wife, and a verdict of acquittal was rendered after

a deliberation of three hours. It is not often that
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.llic iillonioy-gcncral of the slate appears, especial-

ly away from the eapital, except in cases of the

utmost importance, and the fact that lie was here

in this instance to assist the district-attorney, Cai^

viu liiison, was doubtless owing to the imposing
array on the other side, consisting oJ: John IT.

JIartindalc, himself afterward attorney-general;

Sclah Mathews and Alfred Ely, afterward mem-
ber of Congress, with Henry R. Selden, then lieu-

tenant-governor, as counsel. A few years subse-

quently it was found that Robertson had been a
defaulter with the funds of the Mt. Hope com-
missioners, of which he had charge as comptroller.

STATU INDURTIllATi SCUOOL.

One of the most important institutions in this

part of the country is the State Industrial, school,

which is to be officially known after April 1st, 1907,

as the State Agricultural and Industrial school,

but which during most of its existence has been

commonly called the Western House of Refuge,

its real name for the first twenty-five years and
the one under. which it Avas formally opened on
August 11th, 1849. Authorized by act of the leg-

islature of May 8th, 1846, four thousand two

liundred dollars was paid for forty-two acres lying

west of ]jal<e avenue and fronting Phelps avenue,

the state contributing three thousand dollars of

that, and the citizens of Rochester making up the

balance. I'liree years was taken up in the con-

struction of the building, with its inclosure of the

stone wall, under the supervision of the commis-

sioneis, William I'itkin, D. C. Mcdalliim and Isaac

Hills. Room was fimiislied for uidy iU'ty inmates

at the outset, but the increasing demand was met

by the erection of successive additions till more

than a thousand could be accommodated, the girls'

department with a frontage of two hundred and

seventy-six feet, completely separated from the

other iiart, being built in 1876. Even from the

outset the reformatory element existed, but the

punitive quality was then predominant, whereas

now, owing to the evolution of penology, the rela-

tive positions of the two influences are reversed

and it has become a schcol for the training of

juvenile delinquents, to whom more than twenty

different trades arc taught. A change is now in

})roccss of making, not only in the congregate sys-

tem that has i)revniled until recently, but in the

location of the institution, which is being moved
to the town of Rush, where the cottage plan will

be carried out. To effect this some forty new
buildings, including a hospital, have been erected

already and about twenty-five more will be put
up before. the plant is complete and twenty-one

different colonies shall be provided for, with as

wide separation from each other as the area of

fourteen hundred acres will permit. When that

is done the most of the old buildings will be torn

down and Phelps avenue extended across the

canal. Of the present officers of the school che

president of the board of managers is Miss Lura

K. Aldridge; vice-presidents, John M. Lee, M.

D., and Rt. Rev. Thomas E. Hickey, D.D.; secre-

tary and treasurer, Andrew H. Bown ; superintend-

ent, Franklin H. Briggs; assistant superintend-

ent, David Bruce; Protestant chaplain. Rev. Ar-

thur Humphreys; Catholic chaplain. Rev. Michael

J. Kreig; physician. Dr. D. Lansing Vanderzee.

Through the instrumentality of an association

formed for the purpose in May, 1863, with Wil-

liam Pitkin as president and S. D. Porter as sec-

retary, the Home for Idle and Truant Children

Vi'as established on St. Paul street, remaining there

till 1877, when it was given up.

THE PENITENTIARY.

Up to 1853 people must have had the mistaken

idea that the jail was the proper place of confine-

ment for those who had been sentenced to short

terms of imprisonment, for there was no other

place to put them unless they were sent to one

of the state prisons. In the year mentioned a

committee of the board of supervisors was ap-

pointed, consisting of Joshua Conkey, Samuel H.

Davis, Ezra B. True and Lewis Selye, und^r

whose supervision the Monroe county penitentiary

was erected in the course of the following year

at a cost of $32,707.60. In 1865 it was almost

completely destroyed by fire and, having been re-

built, suffered a similar loss nearly as great three

years later. After its second restoration a large

workshop was added in 1873 and another exten-

sive addition was made twelve years after that,

with two hundred and fifty cells in five tiers, most

of which were occupied at once by convicts trans-
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fen-ed from their former quarters, which had be-

come badly overcrowded. Not far from throe

hundred is the average number of inmates, though

once, about nine years ago, there were five hun-

dred and twenty-five there at one time. Only a

small proportion of them can be kept at work,

most of those in the garden and the farm during

the summer months, for an iniquitous provision of

the state constitution, dictated to the politicians by

the labor unions, forbids the employment of con-"

vict labor in the prisons or penitentiaries except

so far as the products of their toil can be used

in other institutions of the state, which of course

is an insignificant amount. The first superintend-

ent was Z. E. Brockway, who, after serving three

terms, resigned, to take the same position in the

House of Correction at Detroit, becoming after-

ward the head of the Elmira Eeformatoiy, where

he acquired a national reputation. He was suc-

ceeded by William Willard, after whom came Levi

S. Pulton, then Alexander McWhorter, then

Charles A. Webster, the present incumbent. The

chaplains are Bishop McQuaid and Eev. H. Clay

Peepels; the physician is Dr. Henry T. Williams.

THE POLICE DEPARTMENT.

It is time to turn to the police department and

see how that is getting along. By a charter amend-

ment in 1853 the mayor was authorized to appoint

one police oonstablo lor each of the ten wards,

one of them to be chief of police and an equal

number of watchmen, presumably for the night

force, one of whom should be captain of the watch.

The terms employed were misleading, for the pow-

ers of the "police constables" were more restricted

than ever, as they could not after that make ar-

rests without a warrant; about all they could do

was to serve papers issued by the courts, and it

was only the "watchmen" who were the real po-

licemen as we understand the term. The mayor.

General John Williams, exercised his powers only

sparingly, probably in the interest of economy, for

he appointed only five watchmen, with George

Bradshaw as captain, and three police constables

besides Addy W. Van Slyck as chief of police, he

being the first one to bear that title. In the follow-

ing years the force was rapidly increased, almost

annually.

THE POLICE COMMISSIONERS.

There was a new law in 1865, by which the con-

trol of the department was placed in the

hands of 'three commissionei's, two of

whom, Henry S. Hebard and Jacob Howe,

sr., were named in the bill, though their

sucessors were to be chosen by the common coun-

cil, the third member being, ex offidio, the mayor,

who at that time was T). D. T. j\Iooie. The board

had almost unlimited authority within its sphere,

except tliat the ininibcr of itolici'inon to be ap-

pointed was regulated by the council, and they

themselves, with the exception of the mayor, could

be reiuovcd fi'oin office only by a three-fourths

vote of the aldermen. The office was not at first

a salaried one, but it became so in 1 877, when nine

Inmdred dollars was paid, which, after being

lowered and raised several times, stood at that

point when the board went out of existence at the

end of 1899. Commissioner Hebard acted as clerk

of the board till 1871, when the commissioners,

authorized by the legislature, appointed a police

clerk, who should act, not only as clerk of tlic

board, but also as clerk of the police court, in

which double capacity he was to keep a full ac-

count of all proceedings in both branches of the

service. The change was a most important one, fo:

it secured not only the making but the preserva-

tion of records which, up to that time, had never

existed, the lack of Avhieh has been very annoying

to all hislorical iiivcsUgaiors in that line. B.

Prank Enos was appointed to the office in April

of that year and held it till his death in 1898 ; he

was succeeded by Eichard Curran, who continued

for a short time after the close of the board, i!i

clerk of tlie police court; Eoy V. Ohadscy now fills

that position. The board started out by appoint-

ing thirty patrolmen, strong material, for eleven

of them were still in service at the time of the

semi-centennial celebration, twenty-nine years lat-

er. By 1872 the number had been increased h
sixty-five, twenty-five of them day policemen; the

next year six of those were appointed detectives

;

in 1874 there were eighty on the force, two of

them being made roundsmen, to look after tht

others; a steady increase after that caused th^

number of policemen to reach nearly two hundred

when the board retired from the field. The work
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ol tlio coiniiiissioucrs was, on tlio vliolcj well done

and they put the force on a much better basis than

it had been before. Their worst blunder was made
when they ran up against the civil service commis-

sion and undertook to disregard the law, but they

repented of their error afterward, as has been de-

scribed in a previous chapter.

THE MURDER RECORD.

Turn we now, again, to the seamy side of life

and confront those crimes for the past forty years

which , by reason of their enormity or the pecul-

iarity of the circumstances attending tJieni, may
he worthy of record. A hackman named Jonathan

T. Orton was found on the floor of his barn on tlie

evening of ]\Iarcli 8th, 18GG, with bis skull ci'uslied

to pieces, evidently by a cart stake that lay near by

;

there were suspicions as to tlic perpetrators, but

lliey were not (hoiiglit sullicicnt to warrant an ar-

rest.

A DEPRAVED WRETCH.

In the village of Penfield Franz Joseph Mesrf-

ner boat bis wife to death on April 13th, 1868; his

case furnishes an illustration of what a glaring

travesty upon justice the administration of law may
be, for after a fair trial he was convicted and sen-

tenced to be hanged June 4th, 1869; just before

that time Governor Hoffman gave him a reprieve

of two weeks, then a writ of error was granted and

after argument at the general term he was again

sentenced to die on l~)eceniber lOtli ; on the very day

licfore lluit (late .liidgc Martin (J rover granted a

stay of proceedings ; after more than a year's delay

the case was argued before the Court of Appeals

and a new trial was ordered, which again resulted

in conviction ; his lawyers got tired of carrying the

matter any further, so he was hanged on August

11th, 1871. The utter depravity of tlie wretch was

shown by his solemn attirmation on the scalTold.

while looking into the face of death, that lie was

innocent of the crime, when he knew that there

stood before him a reporter who had in his pocket

the written confession of Messner, signed by him

after his first trial, when he thought his end wat.

at hand; the paper was, of course, kept a secret

till after the execution and was published on the

following day.

A case presenting somewhat similar features

was that of David Montgomery, a cartman, living

on Monroe avenue, Avho brained his wife with an
ax while she was sleeping, on November 13th,

1870; the defense was insanity, it being claimed

that he Avas an epileptic, but the jury convicted him
and the general term affirmed the action of the

lower court; the judges, however, delayed passing

sentence, and Governor Hoilman appointed a medi-

can commission to determine the question of san-

ity ; they took their time about it and it was more
than two years after the commission of the crime

that Montgomery, who had lain in jail all the

time, was adjudged insane and sent to the insane

asylum attached to the state prison at Auburn on

December 30th, 1872.

THE HOWARD RIOT.

We come now to the most serious riot, in fact

the only real riot, that ever broke the peace of this

city. A young negro named Howard had com-

mitted an aggravated assault upon a little girl

and had fled, but was followed, caught a few miles

out of town, brought back and lodged in jail, with

great difficulty, as the crowd at the railway sta-

tion was in a dangerous temper. During the after-

noon of that day, the 2d of January, 1872, the

signs of coming trouble were so pronounced th<it

the Fifty-fourth regiment was ordered out to pro-

tect the jail, two companies being posted at the

west end of the bridge over the raceway. As dark-

ness came on, a large crowd gathered on Exchange

street, which, after taunting and insulting the

military, began to throw stones at them. After

enduring that as long as possible a charge was

made by the soldiers, but the mob continued to

hurl missiles and a volley was fired by both com-

panies. Several persons fell to the ground at once

and the crowd then dispersed. Two of the

wounded, John Elter and Henry Merlau, both re-

putable citizens who had probably been attracted

to tlie spot by curiosity, died in a few minutes, but

the others, five in number, eventually recovered.

The next morning the situation was worse than

ever, for the indignation of the populace had

turned against the militia, none of whom dared to

appear upon the streets. Perplexed by the absence

of any armed force to protect the city, the commis-

sioners accepted the Services of the three veteran
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organizations—the Old Thirteenth^ the One Tlun-

drod and Eightli and the One Ilundred and For-

tieth (or Ryan Zouaves)—who had tendered their

services, and all the menihcrs were sworn in at

once as special policemen. Their assistance, for-

tunately, was not needed, for the regular police

force, headed by Captain Patrick H. Sullivan,

himself a veteran and as brave a man as ever

lived, drove back the angry mob that assembled on

Exchange street during the afternoon and pre-

vented them from getting at the jail. Some days

later tlie grand jury censured the members of the

militia companies for tiring without orders, but

nothing further was done in that matter.

But the cause of" the trouble was not removed,

and it was felt that as long as Howard remained

in the city the disturbance might recur at any

moment. Judge E. Darwin Smith consented to

hold an extra session of the court and to have it sit

at night, so the windows of the court-room were

darkened and Howard, with his face chalked to

disguise him, was taken thither by a back street.

lie was arraigned at once, pleaded guilty, through

his counsel, C. C. Davison, a former district-at-

torney, who was assigned to defend him, and was
sentenced to state prison for twenty years; hf

was immediately put in a carriage with three

trusty officers, and driven to Iloneoye Falls, where

the party took the train for Auburn. There was

much severe criticism of this proceeding at the

time, as being a base surrender to the spirit of mob
violence, but, after all, there was only one alter-

native to that course, an orderly trial with the cus-

tomary forms and the certainty of disturbance

with the not remote possibility of further blood-

shed. The prison doors sheltered Howard for a

time, but he mot his fate a few years later when,
yielding to his vicious temper, he got into quarral

with a fellow convict, who threw him from an up-
per corridor to the floor below, whereby he was in-

stantly killed, his neck being broken.

THE CASE OF JOHN CLARK.

Several burglaries were committed here dur-

ing the early summer of 1875, and in one case,

where the house was not entered, the thief climbed

a tree in the yard, and with a fishing pole, line

and hook caught a watch from the bedside of •\

sleeping man. This ingenious performance was

traced to John Clark, a well-known criminal, wh'>

was seen to hide the timepiece in a liimbur yard

on Atkinson street. When he returned there the

next day, .luly 3d, oflicor Kavanagh was on hand

to arrest him, but Clark resisted, shot the police-

man, wounding him badly though' not fatally, ran

over the canal bridge and turned into Waverley

place. There John Trevor, a bank watchman,

came out of his house and stopped the fugitive,

who, seeing no other way of escape, shot Trevoi',

who died of the wound two days later; in spite of

his desperate hurt he hold his captive till other

officers came up and secured him. After Clark's

conviction his counsel, William F. Howe, the cele-

brated criminal lawyer of New York, made stren-

uous efl'orts to secure a new ti'ial, going to six

Supreme court judges in different parts of thf

state to obtain a stay of proceedings, but in vain;

after a reprieve of two weeks Clark was hanged on

the 5th of November, having never lost his ner/c

for a moment and disdaining all religious consola-

tion, showing that bravery is not inconsistent witli

wickedness.

ESCAPES FUOM THE HALTER.

Throe bad murders in 187G, but no death sen-

tences, as there ought to have been. A case in IBS'?

shows the untrustworthiness of solitary testimony.

An old man named Jacob Lntz, living on the River

road, was found in his liousc on the morning of

October 20th, with his skull crushed, evidently

by one of his own boots that was found on the

floor, the heel covered with clotted blood and hair.

The only other occupant of the house was his son,

who lay in the woodshed bleeding from wounds in

the head, and the boy told the story, bolli thou and

on the trial, that the deed was committed by John

Kelly, a neighbor. The accused was convicted of

murder, his previous bad record operating against

him in the minds of the jury, but on a new trial

it was shown ihat he was elsewhere at the time an'\

that the act was the work of two men, neither of

whom was ever discovered. It was evidpnlly a case

of mistaken identity on the part of the boy. Keily

was killed in a railroad accident a few years later.

There was a curious case in the last week of

1884. Two burglaries had been committed in

Brockport and a full description of three sus-

picious looking men was sent to this city, in con-
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fecqiioncc of wliidi tlirco persons were arrcstetl in a

hotel on AVcst avenue. They went to tlie police

station willingly enough, where one ol; them gave

his name as George Clark, the others saying that

Ihcy weie brothers, Albert J. and Frank Browa.

The lirst of thoni, remarking that he would take

some cough mixture, put his hand in his pocket,

drew a pistol, shot himself and fell to the floor,

the blood streaming from a wound in his fore

head. At the City hospital, where he died a few

hours later, he made a sworn statement before

Coroner Sharpe that his name was George Clark

and that he and liis companions had conunitteJ

(lie Hrockp(U-t burglary, tlie details of which he

narrated with mxicli minuteness, bcsitles Avhich he

gave some particulars of Ills life, saying that he

had a wife and three children living at Weedsport.

Two days later a trustworthy officer went to that

viUage aiul found, lirst, tliat no such family was

living there; second, tluit the tliree men had slept

at the hotel there on the night before the Broekport

burglary; liad stayed through the morning and had

taken the train late in the afternoon, so that they

could not possibly have committed the robbery.

The affair being telegraphed over the state, police

officials from West Troy and from Clinton prison

came on here and positively identified the body of

the so-called Clark as tliat of William Ilerrick,

known by them as a desi)eratc criminal who had

served twenty years at Danneinora. Why he should

have taken his life and then have told that lairy

tale in the very hour of death has always remained

a mystery, tlie only possible solution of it lying

in the supposition that he had committed a mur-

der somewhere, had then, upon liis arrest, shot

iiimself in desperation, and then, taking tlie remote

chance of his recovery, had manufactured a story

that he hoped might land him within the walls of

a state prison, as the safest place in which to

liide.

Here is another case presenting some similarity

to the foregoing, only that the voluntary confes-

sion of another crime was a true one. Emory

Thayer, a farmer living at Avon, was aroused from

sleep on the night of October 38th, by two burg-

lars, one of whom shot him dead. Edward Bow-

man and Fi'ank Squires were arrested for the

crime, and tlu! circMimstances were so conclusive

against them that, as tlie only means of escape,

Squires confessed [bat on tlic night in (|U('stio7i

they were both engaged in the robbery of a freight

car at lloneoye Falls. That being satisfactorily

proven, Bowman was, on the evidence of Squires,

sent to Auburn for five years.

a'III5 LAST J5XECUTI0N HERE.

The first person to suffer death in the new jail was
Edward Alonzo Deacons—who was hanged July
10th, 1888, for the murder of Mrs. Alonzo a".

Stone on August 16th, 1887—and he was also the

last, for, before the turn of the next one came,

electricity had been substituted for the rope, and
all executions since tlien liave taken place in a

state prison.

Arthur H. Day, a worthless criminal of this

city, took his wife. Desire, to Niagara Falls on

Sunday, July 27th, 1890, and pushed her over the

precipice on the Canadian side. His sister, Mrs.

Quigley, wlio had accompanied him, and had prob-

ably been his accomplice, on being arrested here

some two weeks afterward consented, with much
reluctance, to accompany the officers to the place

and show them where the deed was committed. Ar-

riving at the exact spot she said : "Over there lies

the body of Arthur Day's wife," and immediately

fainted away, accounting afterward for her swoon

by saying that a mist rose before her eyes, in the

midst of which she saw tlie form of the murdered

woman. The corpse was found at the foot of the

bank, badlj"^ disfigured by the fall and partially de-

composed. Day was then arrested here, taken ta

Canada, indicted, tried, convicted and hanged i.>t

Wetland on December 18th.

TOUNG AND DORTHY.

Charles Young, an Englishman, made himself

conspicuous during 1893 by his habit of buying

out saloons and their fixtures, then selling them,

partly for cash and partly on time, taking the

property when the pureliasers failed to pay up,

which they generally did, and shooting at them

when they came back to get what belonged to them.

Being indicted he fled to England, where he was

imprisoned for swindling; when he got through

with tlint ho was broiiglit back here and convicted

of assault, but had to be released on the decision

of the genera] term tliat liis conviction was il-
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legal, as it was J!or a crime tlilleront from that for

which he was extradited, so he returned to Eng-

land again and got into more trouble, which sent

him to Portland prison, from which he tried to es-

cape but was shot dead by the guard in February,

1895.

Another vicious creature was John P. Dorthy, a

lawyer of more ability than many of his bremren

at the bar; he had a good practice but he coufd

not keep from going wrong, so he used to appro-

priate to himself the money that was entrusted to

him by his clients and also to cheat various people,

including his mother-in-law, by means of forged

mortgages. This course carried him so far that

he was disbarred from practice in June of 1896

and expelled from the Baptist churcli three montlis

later. Indictments followed and piled xip at a

frightful rate, many convictions ensued and state

prison sentences, but his ingenuity enabled him to

keep free for more than four years, during which

he became a public nuisance from the constant

repetition of his name in the newspapers in con-

nection with his appeals and stays and injunctions

and motions for new trials, so that everybody felt

relieved when he was sent to Auburn in January

1901, for one of the least of his offenses.

SIX YEARS IN THE DEATH CELL.

A noteworthy case, remarkable only for the un-

precedented length of time during which the cul-

prit lay under sentence of death, was that of

George A. Smith, aged seventy years at the time

when the story begins, who was found on the morn-
ing of September 9th, 1897, lying on the floor in

his house in Churchville, bound and gagged, with

his legs tied to the dining-room table. His state-

ment to the neighbors who came in was that two
burglars had entered the house during the night,

shot his wife while she was sleeping, dragged him
from bed, tied him as he was discovered and es-

caped through the window. None of his hearers

believed the tale, and the fact that Mrs. Smith,

who was found upstairs in her bedroom, Avitli a

bullet wound in her head, affirmed to the very

hour of her death, which took place two days

later, that she did not know who shot her, did not

convince them of the husband's innocence. The
trial did not take place till nine months later and

then, after it had continued four weeks, one of

the Jurors fell sick and it was called a mistrial.

Starting all over in the following September, it

took six weeks to obtain a conviction and a sen-

tence of death. Execution was stayed by carrying

the case to the Court of Appeals, which ordered a

new trial on the ground that it was an error to ad-

mit Mrs. Smith's statements, though they had

all been favorable to her husband. An unaccount-

able delay took place in fixing the time for the re-

trial, Avhich did not come oft' till more than four

years after the previous one, in Pobruary, 1903;

in the meantime, eleven of the witnesses had died,

eight of them for the prosecution, and others were

missing, but in spite of that Smith was again con-

victed and again sentenced to the electric chair;

of course iinolher appeal was taken and there was

more delay, till iinally Oovornor lliggins, on Feb-

ruary 1st, 1905, commuted the sentence to life im-

prisonment, not because there was any doubt of

the guilt of t*he accused, but because he had then

suffered the awful punishment of spending more

than six years in the death cell at Auburn.

Pour prisoners at the jail escaped on the 10th

of January, 1900; two were recaptured, one of

whom, Clarence Egnor, was sent to Auburn for

five years; he had not been there long before his

ugly disposition prompted him to assault one of

the keepers, Archie W. Benedict, stunning him by

a blow on the head with an iron bar, then to take

a pistol from Die odieev's po('kot and dclihcrntoly

shoot liiiii (lead ; lOgiior \v«k exi'ciited I'or ibis Si'|i-

toMiber Mill, 190;i.

TITE KEArrNO MUltDEU.

A feeling of horror ran through the community
when the body of a young woman named Theresa

Keating was found, with marks of violence upon
it, behind a high bill board on North Union street,

on the morning of November 14th, 1900. The
whole country was ransacked to find the perpetra-

tor, sixty persons brought to the office being exam-
ined without eliciting information, and telegrams

being sent to the police departments of one hun-

dred and fifty cities of the United States and Can-

ada with a full description of tlie crime and of a

mysterious stranger who was seen in the vicinity

:

all in vain, but nearly three years later a weak-

minded fellow named August Russell, voluntarily

confessed tliat he had committed ihe deed and had



ITISTOKY OF llOCITRSTER AND MONROE COUNTY. 179

escaped from the city on a frciglit train; a com-

mission acljntlgcd him insane, and he was sent to

Mattcawan for life.

Leslie E. Hulbert, a graduate oJ; Cornell, ad-

mitted to the bar in 1895, practised his profession

for the purpose of running a divorce mill by means

of an elaborate system of perjury. Successful for

a time, an indictment was found against him in

1901 and he fled the city. Getting to Mexico with

some of his associates, he murdered, in Chihuahua,

his own brother-in-law for the sake of getting his

life insurance money. The sentence of death

against him was affirmed last fall by the Mexican

Supreme court, so that he has now awaiting him a

blank wall, an open grave and a file of riflemen.

THE BKOWN MURDER.

Another mysterious murder was that of Bela E.

Brown, a highly respectable jeweler, who was found

in his shop on the second floor at the corner of

State and Corinthian streets on Sunday evening,

January 19th, 1902. He had been beaten to death

with a hammer taken from the workshop, after

a vain attempt to make him open his safe, before

which he sat, gagged, in a chair. Although it was

close to the Four Coiners, and done in the day-

time, the assassin got away without the discovery

of any trace of his identity from that day to

this.

Nine months after that, Leland Dorr Kent, a

Buffalo medical student, came to Eoehester in com-

pany with Ethel Dingle, a professional nurse, reg-

istering her name at the Whitcomb House as that

of his wife, on the 14th of September. Groans

were heard the next morning issuing from tlw

room occupied by the couple, and when the door

was forced open the girl was seen lying dead on

the bed, while Kent, with a slight wound in his

neck, lay beside the body. 1''hc grand jury, inclin-

ing to believe his story that it was a case of sui-

cide, indicted him for manslaughter in abetting

that act; tried, convicted, hard labor at Auburn

for twenty years.

Here was a case of jealousy. On the 18th of

November, in the same year. Lulu Miller Young's,

aged twenty-eight, having convinced herself that

the affection of her husband had been taken away

from her by Florence McFarlane, aged twenty-two,

stabbed the latter to death. Indicted for murder.

she was convicted of a lesser crime, as being tem-

porarily insane, and got off with a short imprison-

ment.

William Brasch was mean enough to push his

wife into the Erie canal and drown her, on June
16th, 190G, just because he was in love with an-

other woman and wanted to marry her. Convicted

and sentenced to death, but counsel filed an appeal

at the last moment and the ease is still undecided

at the present writing.

That closes the criminal record, bringing it

down to the beginning of 1907. It is a long and

ghastly one, but it has left unmentioned many
cases of deliberate murder, and has passed over

entirely the almost innumerable instances of homi-

cide in a lower grade. These crimes of violence

are very frequent, especially among the Italia.i

population, with whom the knife continues to be

the potent weapon of revenge and of argument.

Five murder trials took place last year, two of

them ending with life imprisonment. Eepresen-

tatives of the district attorney's office appeared in

more than one thousand trials, and there were

three hundred and sixteen indictments, with on(

hundred and thirty-four convictions under them.

THE PRESENT DEPARTMENT.

With the beginning of 1900 the police depart-

ment came under the control of a single person,

subject to the superior authority of the mayor, the

commissioner of Public Safety. James G. Cutler

was appointed to that office by Mayor Carnahan,

but he resigned in the course of the summer and

was followed by James D. Casey, who, at the be-

ginning of 1903 was succeeded by George A. Gil-

man, who had been the chief clerk of the depart-

ment during the previous two years. He ap-

pointed C. Alonzo Simmons as clerk and Dr. John

A. Stapleton as surgeon, both of whom, as well

as Mr. Oilman, fill their positions at the present

time. In September, 1904, Major Francis Schcef-

fel was made deputy chief of police; he resigned

seven months later and the office was abolished. On

the 1st of March, 1905, the chief of police, Joseph

P. Cleary, a brave soldier of the Civil war, was re-

tired on his own application, having held the office

for just twenty years ; he died on the 24th of April,

in the same year. John C. Hayden was appointed

in his place, which he fills at this time. Under
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him are one inspector, Captain Hillman acting; esting to describe some of the changes that have

six captains, Zimmerman, Ryan, Stein, Kluber- been recently made in the system, tending to its

tanz, Euss and Sherman; six lieutenants, sixteen betterment, but this chaper is already too long,

sergeants, one interpretor. four park officers and and it will suffice to say that the department will,

two hundred and four men, making a total of in every way compare favorably with that of other

two hundred and thirty-nine. It would be inter- cities.



CHAPTER XIII

POPULAR DIVEESIONS.

,1 Moral Community—The Drama Frowned Upon
—Mild Forms of Amusement—The First Circus

—The First Theater—Chancellor Whittlesey's

Prke Poem—Edmund Kean—Unbending Vir-

tue—The Old Museum—The Wax Figures—
Mrs. McClure—Dean's Theater—Julia Dean—
llie Theater Driven Out—It Comes Bach in

1848

—

The Metropolitan—Twice Burned and

Rebuilt—T'he Lyceum—Spectacles Given There
—The Baker and the National—Corin&iian

Hall—Its Architecture—Noteworthy Events in

Its Existence—The Athenoeum Lecture Courses

—Jenny Lind—The Power of Her Voice—Her

Charity—Waslvington Hall—The Turf—Early

Race Trades—The Driving Parle—World Rec-

ords Made There—Goldsmith Maid, St. Julien

and Maud S.—Base Ball—The Old Amateur

.
Clubs Here.

Our early settlers were of a religious turn of

rtiind, and unfortunately this led them into habits

of austerity which developed into an intolerance

that was characteristic of tho Puritan communi-

ties in New England, whence most of the immi-

grants came.' One thing they could not abide, and

that was public enjoyment of any kind. All things

must be done decently and in order and with a sol-

emnity that precluded the possibility of any violent

demonstrations of pleasure. When the settlement

becnmc a villngn, in 181.7, this sentiment was cry-

stallized in some of the ordinances that were

adopted by the board of trustees, who conceived

themselves to be the guardians of public morality,

responsible not only for the outward good conduct

of all the people but for their spiritual condition

in this world and their destination in the next.

Sabbatarian ordinances were, of course, to be ex-

j)ected, and after the canal was opened no master

of any boat could permit a single note, however

soft or plaintive, to issue on Sunday, within the

limits of the corporation, from any horn or bugle

on his craft. As for traveling on that day, it was

a scandal that was sorely trying, but the expediency

of legislation on the subject was considered no

doubtful that the discipline was confined to public

meetings and social ostracism. But, though they

could do nothing to control the four-wheeled ve-

hicle, there was another stage that they were de-

termined not only to regulate but to suppress.

Theatrical representations were absolutely forbid-

den, with a fine for transgressing the or-

dinance of twenty-five dollars for the prin-

cipal or manager, five dollars for any actor on

each performance, and five for the owner of the

premises on each offense. Circuses also were stern-

ly prohibited—twenty-five dollars being assessed

against the proprietor, ten dollars against each

rider^whilc shows of all other kinds, of a milder

form of iniquity, could be displayed only after ob-

taining a license.

This animosity toward all histrionic perform-

ances was not confined to the religious element, at

least to all outward appearance, for, being the

dominant sentiment of the ruling class, it was re-

fioctcd in tho press, whicli felt bound to cater to it.

Thus the little directory of 1827 says : "The thea-

ter is situated on Carroll street, a few rods north

of Bufl!alo street. It is open but part of the sea-
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son, the company of perfovnicvs not l)eing iwnna-

nently settled here and only exhibiting a few weeks

at a time. Of the inflxience of tlicnirieiil exhibitions

upon the habits and morals of a young coninmnity

it does not become us to speak, but we are con-

strained to say that the character of the per-

formances at this theater has not generally been

such as reflects credit upon the taste of our citi-

zens." These unkind remarks immediately fol-

low a description of a sulphur bathing establish-

ment on Buffalo street, near Washington, the al-

lurements of which are, with apparent approval,

"a bar-room, a ladies' drawing room and batb

rooms." That this attitude of implacable hostility

was not unique is shown by the following extract

from a daily paper of January 8th, in the follow-

ing year: "It is really astonishing to think that

the trustees of so respectable a village as Rochester

should permit such a disorderly place as the thea-

ter. We express Ourselves thus plainly from our

knowledge that the respectable part of the com-

munity has long since decidedly disapprobated the

theater, and we do sincerely hope that our village

trustees will, hereafter, when an application for li-

cense is presented by any playing company, act more

in accordance with the wishes of the sober, reflect-

ing and moral part of our citizens." This constant

storm of obloquy—^while the press was teeming

with advertisements of lotteries that were reducing

thousands to hopeless poverty, so that such notices

would exclude from the mails at the present day

any journal containing them—produced its natural

effect, for Henry O'Reilly could say in a spirit of

thankfulness in his "Sketches of Rochester," pub-

lished in 1838, four years after the village had bo-

come a city: "Neither theater nor circus can now
be found in Rochester. The buildings formerlv

erected for such purposes were years ago turned to

other objects—the theater is converted into a liv-

ery stable and the circus into a chandler's shop."

In the meantime, before this renovation had been

effected, there was a very fair display of Thespian

talent at different times. This was preceded, how-
ever, by various things that might be considered

as leading up to it. The very earliest aifair that

can be unearthed which may be considered as an

amusement, and that only by some stretch of the

imagination, was a concert on October 31st, 1820,

that was "to be holden in the meeting-house on

Sunday evening; performance at 6; doors close at

7:30; admittance two shillings; a piano forte is

expected to accompany the musick
;
performance to

consist of anlhcms, solos, ducts, etc." StowcU & Co.

announced in January, 1821, that they had opened

"an elegant museum at the Eagle tavern of Ens-

worth & Son, consisting of thirty-four wax figures,

two elegant organs, one playing a variety of music

accompanied by a drum and triangles ; the Temple

of Industry, a grand mechanical panorama con-

sisting of twenty-six moving figures, each working

at their different occupations. N. B.—They have

just added a representation of the duel between

Commodores Barron and Decatur." Three years

later a frame structure was erected on the east

side of Exchange street, about on the spot where

the county jail now stands. It carried out this

program : "It will be opened with the play of the

'Miller's Erolick,' which will be followed by a

grand entree of eight beautiful leopard horses.

Master Burton's unrivaled horsemanship will con-

clude by leaping over a surface of canvas nine

feet wide and alight again upon the horse while

at full speed. For the first time in this place Mr.

Co7mor will go through his grand equilibriums on

the slack wire. Dr. Lewis will conclude the even-

ing's entertainment with a grand trampoline

[whatever that may have been], throwing a won-

derful flying somerset over seven real horses and
conclude by going through a balloon on fire sixteen

feet high !" There must have been a demand for

more purely dramatic entertainment, as the Bcpuh-

lican of November 8th, 182.5, contains the follow-

ing: "Mr. Davis, late of the firm of Gilbert, Davis

& Trowbridge, respectfully announces to the ladies

and gentlemen of Rochester and vicinity that he

has fitted up the circus as a theater and will open

it this evening with an efficient company. He as-

sures the public that no exertion will be spared to

render the performances in every way worthy of

their patronage. During the season a number of

the most admired melodramas will be brought for-

ward." The play on that night was one spoken of

as the opera of "The Mountaineers," after which

several songs were given and the entertainment ter-

minated with the farce of "The Weathercock." It

seems a pity that this building, the first one to be

put up here strictly for purposes of amusement,

should have failed so lamentably to fulfill its prom-

ise that it would be "permanently occupiea as a

circus," lor the stage went the Avay of the arena
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ill k'Si^ than six luoiiLlis, and StowcU's museum

came to an end at about the same time.

In 1826 two real theaters were established here,

the first being on West Main street, on the site

afterward occupied by the Exchange Hotel and

now by the building of the Catholic Young Men's

association. The Exchange street company, driv-

en out of their birthplace, opened this new temple

on March 28th with the spectacular piece of "The

Forty Thieves," but two weeks later a higher flight

was essayed and "Eichard III." was put on, the

first production, undoubtedly, of the Shakespearian

drama in Eochester. But the legitimate was no

more successful than the sensational, and after

tlirce iTioiiUis of performances the doors were

closed. Undismayed by the risk run in having two

tlieaters where one could hardly pay expenses, an-

other play-liouse was opened on May 15tii, in a

wooden building erected for the purpose on the

west side of State street, opposite Market. The

prefatory notice ran thus: "Theater.—Opposite

the Mansion House; the ladies and gentlemen of

Rochester and vicinity are respectfully informed

that the manager intends opening the new theater

on Monday evening next, with new and splendid

scenery, dresses and stage decorations. Scenery

painted by Mr. Hardy. Previous to the play the

'prize address' will be spoken by Mr. Browner, after

which will be performed Tobin's elegant comedy of

The IToncymoon.' " The prize poem alluded to,

of which O'Ecilly, in his "Sketches of Eochester,"

gives a few lines, though he was careful to avoid

any allusion to the occasion that brought it forth,

was by Frederick Whittlesey, afterward vice-chan-

cellor of the state. The following extract will show

the style of the piece:

"These glittering spires and teeming streets confess
Tliat man, free man, hath quelled the wilderness;
Before him forests fell, the desert smiled.

And he hath reared this city of tlie wild.

Nor tlicsc alone: the useful arts here flotfrished,

Those arts which Ids free energies have nourished,
And science, learning and the drama, too,

TTcrc find tlicir votaries in a chosen few.
As lliis fair dome, so quickly reared, can tcU
ITow many loved tlie drama, and how well.

And liow this villc approves in early youth
The drama's morals and the drama's trutll._

Immortal Shakespeare! tliou the drama's sire.

Who wrote with pen of light and soul of fire,

Smile on this effort to extend the stage,

To mend the manners and improve the ago.

To you who promptly lent your liberal aid.

With fervor let our thanks be next repaid;

If we deserve your smiles, be liberal still.

If not, your frowns can punish us at will;

Should we prove worthy of the drama's cause
We find our high reward in your applause."

This would SGCin to show that not all "disap-

probated" the theater in that day, and an appeal

might also be taken from the harsh judgment of

the press to the authority of the great Edmund
Kean, who did not disdain to tread the boards of

the little stage for one night, that of July 15th, in

the character of Sir Edmund Mortimer in "The
Iron Chest." One might suppose that that would

have placated the ruling opposition, but, on the

contrary, when, a few day-s afterward, the company

advertised that the avails for that evening would

be given to the Female Charitable society, one of

the daily papers kindly observed: "We are very

apprehensive that the respectable ladies compou-

ing this commendable association have more self-

respect than knowingly to accept of money ob-

tained through a channel which they are, by their

olTorts, endeavoring to persuade children to avoid

as a noisome sink of immorality." It may have

been foreknowledge, but, whether those remarks,

were the cause or the effect, the society rigidly, de-

clined the proffered benefit, and the theater came

to an end soon afterward.

For many years nothing under that title was

known here, but in the meantime an institution

that had come into being some time before had a

fairly flourishing existence. The Eochester Mu-

seum started in 1825, under the management of

J. E. Bishop, in an upper story on Exchange

street, on the site of the present Smith & Perking

building. In this, as the announcement stated,

everything was done "to make the establishment

permanent and a public ornament, offering the

naturalist, the philosopher, the Christian and the

youth of the city a place of study, serious con-

templation and amusement." Conducive to thi.=!

desirable end was a collection of Indian curiosities,

minerals and alleged fossils, and, as these proved

not sufficiently attractive, a number of life-sizo

wax flgures were added. These had a perennial

charm; the names with which they were labeled

might be altered occasionally—so that Sir Wil-

liam AVallace would change to the duke of Wel-

lington, and the manager always kept abreast o^

the times, so that after Jenny Lind appeared her.?

the Queen of Scots became the great Swedish

singer and Judas Iscariot was easily made to do

duty as Dr. Parkman after the celebrated mur-

der—but the images themselves remained, alluring

as ever, till the museum closed in 1852. Once in

a while, though not often, dramatic performances

were given there, for that must have been the
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place (though it was not located in the advertise-

ments) where Mrs. McClure first appeared, in

1837, as Helen McGregor, in "Rob Roy;" she was

always the pride of Rochester, even after her ligTit

had paled before that of a brighter star, and her

occasional reappearance long after she had relin-

gnished the stage and had settled down here, an

elderly woman and the wife of W. G. Noah, was

welcomed with manifestations of pleasure.

In 1840 Edwin Dean, a Buffalo manager, opened

a theater on Exchange street, at the foot of Spring,

This may be considered the first real theater, ir)

Rochester, for the building, which still stands

there, had been entirely remodeled for the pur-

pose, with all the division usual in those days, a

pit, a dress circle and boxes and a gallery, called

the family circle. But it was maintained for only

.three years, the old spirit of intolerance continu-

ing, to be too powerful, so that Dean gave up the

lease long before it would have expired. While

it lasted, many celebrated actors, like the elder

Booth, Forrest and Grattan Plunkett, played there,

but its mertiory rests chiefly upon the fact that it

was the scene of the first appearance of little

Julia Dean, who long afterward became Mrs. Ar-

thur Hayne and went back to the stage after the

death of her husband. She was hardly twelve years

old at the time of her debut here, but she made a.

pleasing impression in the minor part that she took

in the "Last Days of Pompeii," and she continued

to play in similar characters while her father held

the place, after which she steadily rose in power

and in reputation till she became one of the great-

est of American actresses.

After an interval of half a decade the theater

and the drama at last came to Rochester to stay.

During the summer of 1848 the Enos Stone build-

ing on South avenue, near East Main, was elabor-

ately fitted up for dramatic productions, being

leased by Carr & Warren of Buffalo and was

opened in Christmas week of that year. From
that time to this the place has been devoted to

that object. For a few years the lessees had no

regular company there, bringing their people down
from the neighboring city for a few brief visits

during each season, but from 1855 onward it had

its OAvn stock company there, sometimes playing by

themselves without foreign aid and sometimes sup-

porting a star performer, until tliat custom was

abandoned in favor of the present method. Here

have appeared, during the last half century, most

of the dramatic artists of Europe and America,

so that to give a list of them would be like giving

the names of all the great interpreters of the mod-

ern drama; the stars appeared, shone for a few

nights, a week at most, and then went out; the

only performance notable for its continuity was

that of the "Black Crook," which ran for thirty-

six nights in the early part of 1867. The place

was known at first simply as the St. Paul street

theater, then as the Metropolitan, then the term

opera house was absurdly added, which has clun-^

to it ever since, it being called successively the

Grand and Cook's. Twice has it been destroyed

by fire, both times when it was unoccupied, firit

in the early morning of November 6th, 1869, when

Edwin L. Davenport had played in the "Scalp

Hunters" the night before, so that he lost his en-

tire wardrobe and personal effects; the second

time in February, 1891; after the first fire it was

rebuilt by Judge Frick of Brooklyn, after the last

by the late Frederick Cook.

By far the largest and finest play-house ever

erected here is the Lyceum theater, on South Clin-

ton street, with a frontage of sixty-nine feet, a

depth of one hundred and ninety-seven; the num-

ber of diagram seats is eighteen hundred and

fifty, so that it can easily hold, and often has held,

over two thousand; the style of architecture is

Moorish, which has an agreeablj effect, whether

from the ground fioor, the balcony or the gallery;

the stage itself is one of the most capacious in

the state and may be extended at need, for a ball

or some similar purpose, over the same level

throughout the house ; the only defect in the audi-

torium is that the acoustic properties are imper-

fect, and tliough wires have been stretched high

up across the stage the remedy is only partial. It

was built at a cost of about $150,000, in 1888 and

was opened, to a magnificent audience, on the

night of October 8th of that year, with the play

of "The Wife." While intended for theatrical rep^

rcsentations and specially adapted to that purpose,

the Lyceum has from the beginning been so at-

tractive as to be used very frequently for the pro-

duction of other kinds of entertainment, particu-

larly those of a local character, where they were for

the benefit of some popular institution and where

the performers were all amateurs, or not even

that, simply persons interested in the beneficiary,



HISTORY OP EOCHESTER AND MONROE COUNTY. 187

Tlie first of these was tlie "Kirmess,"' given for a

week in February, 1889, when the City hospital

profited to the extent of nine thousand dollars;

another, for the same object, was the "Spielkar-

ten," or "living whist," in which the four players

sat in different corners of the stage and the cards

were represented by young men and women. In

its purely spectacular quality the most charming

entertainment was, perliaps, one for the benefit of

the Mechanics Institute, during the week begin-

niEg January 35th, 1897 ; it was the Marie Antoi-

nette fete, carrying with it a reproduction of the

palace and gardens at Versailles, with a close re-

production of the dress of that period ; each after-

noon was given a representation of Browning's

"Pied Piper of llauielin." Throughout the first

week in May, 1898, the Rochester Historical so-

ciety set forth a pageant reproducing as far as

possible the leading incidents in the life of the

city. A notable event was the "Return of Ulysses,"

on the 2Gth of May, 1899, presented by students of

the university; they had been drilled in their

parts for a long time before by Miss Mabel Hay
Barrows, who had made the dramatization from

the "Odyssey" besides acting as stage manager,

and who took the character of Penelope in the cast.

The piece was rendered entirely in Greek, but

that did not seem to detract in the slightest degree

from the enjoyment of the audience that crowded

the Lyceum; that formed a fitting close to a brief

but successful season of classical plays.

As that made two theaters on the east side of

the river, and none that could strictly be calhid

such on the -West side, it was only proper thai

the inequality should be removed. On the .site of

an old livery stable on North Fitzhugh street, thai

was kept by Benjamin M. Baker more than half a

century ago, there was erected in 1898 by his

daughter, who owned the property, a fairly commo-

dious place of resort which she appropriately

named after her father, the Baker theater. It has

always held a high position among places of its

class and has, almost from the outset, followed

the very commendable practice of having a stock

company of its own, playing, except in vacation

time, popular pieces, sometimes the legitimate, at

low prices of admission. It was leased for some

years by the Schubert brothers, with their com-

I)any, and was afterward occupied by the Moore

stock company, which has lately given place to an-

other. It was opened informally on the night oi

December ITtli, 1898, by a combination of local

talent and in a more regular manner a week
later with the opera of "The Highwayman." Som?
what in the same line with the Baker, though not

having so often its own company, is the Nationiil

theater, made over from the old Odd Fellows'

Temple after the latter had been partially de-

stroyed by fire, standing on West Main street

between Fitzhugh and Plymouth avenue. It was
opened on the evening of December 22d, 1902, with

the performance of the Anglicised French farce

entitled "The Chaperones," and during the fol.

lowing summer it was used by the Brick church

congregation for some months after their own
place of worship had been burned. Its interior is

wleasing in its appearance and escape on three sides

is easy in case of fire or panic, a great advan-

tage. Popular concerts are frequently given there,

particularly on Sunday evenings, and during thi:

week it is given up to the melodrama.

In thus following out the narrative of the play-

houses, rather than of the plays, that have been

here from first to last, we have not only ignored

entirely the thousand and one other sources ol,

relaxation that were open to our predecessors, as

being too heterogeneous for classification and too

numerous for individual mention, but have alsn

confined our attention strictly to the buildings

that were erected or occupied solely as theaters.

One other structure there was that was more im-

portant in its way than any of those previously

mentioned, around which will always cling the

fond memories of the generation now passing

away. The short and narrow passageway in tha

rear of the Arcade, that is now named Corinthian

street, was first known as Bugle alley, the title

being afterward altered to Exchange place. It

was covered with a number of low shanties, which

were torn down in 1849 and replaced by what wa-?

for tliose days an imposing structure, put there

by a public-spirited citizen, William A. Reynolds,

the architect and designer being Henry Searle. It

was three stories high, the ground floor being

given up to stores, the second used mainly by the

library and reading-room of the old Athenaeum

and the third being the auditorium. This was

entirely devoid of decoration, except at the north

end and was all the more pleasing by reason of it.)

severity, which perhaps accounted for the singular
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scope of its acoustic qualities, it being known

throughout the country as one of the very best

halls for speaking or singing. The floor, instead

of being inclined, was absolutely level, filled with

movable settees, and extending around it were six

rows of raised and cushioned sofas, each tier a lit-

tle higher than the one in front of it. At the

north end was, not the stage, for there was none,

but the platform, a narrow one at that, curtained

midway with red damask portieres suspended from

a gilded cornice. In the rear of the platform

were two finely modeled columns copied after thqsv

at the tomb of Lysicrates, one of the most perfect

examples of Grecian art, and it was from the

order of architecture 'of those pillars that both the

room and the building took the name of Corin-

thian hall. The entrance to the auditorium was

by means of a single stairway from the street, then

a long passage, then a flight of stairs on each

side, so that the visitor on entering faced th(

audience instead of the stage. The seating capac-

ity of the hall was properly a little less than

twelve hundred, but oftentimes all available space

would be filled with stools to the very doors; if a

panic from any cause had broken out at such a

time the narrow stairways, the only means of exit,

would have become choked at once and the loss

of life would have been frightful, but the popu-

larity of the place was such that the people, al-

though they knew the danger, paid no regard to it

Corinthian hall was not intended for a theater

nor was it at all adapted to dramatic perform-

ances until it was remodeled, but it was occasion-

ally used for such purposes and the audience on

those occasions, forsaking the regular play-house,

would overlook the narrowness of the stage and the

utter absence of all "properties." It was meant

for lectures and concerts of the higher class and as

such was opened with a formal dedication on June

28th, 1849. Throughout the remainder of that

year and all of the next there seem to have been

no appearances there that require mention, except

those of the Athenaeum course of lectures. These

had been begun in 1846, and held at different

places, but after Corinthian hall was built thev

were all delivered there for the next twenty years,

after which they were given up; among those wiio

spoke there were Lewis Cass, John A. Dix, Richard

H. Dana, President Hopkins of Williams college.

Bishop Hopkins of Vermont, Salmon P. Chase,

Horace Greeley, Henry J. Raymond, Horatio Sey-

mour, George William Curtis, John B. Gougli,

Prof. Silliman, Prof. Agassiz—in fact, the whole

line of popular and scientific lecturers of those

days. One month is peculiarly marked in the mu-

sical annals not only of this house but of the city.

In the first week of July, 1851, Madam Anna

Bishop gave a grand concert after having been

received at the railroad station by the mayor in his

official capacity and escorted to licr hotel; in tin

second week Madame Teresa Parodi appeared for

two nights, wiih Maurice Strakosch, her mna-

ager, also in the program, as well as his wife, the

eldest of the Patti family, and a few evenings later

the well-known Hutchinson family regaled a larg3

audience with their well-worn songs.

In the third week Jenny Lind came. To say

that the whole town went mad over her sounds

extravagant, but it is really rather mild. So great

was the wish of the populace to see her that she

left the cars at Goodman street and was driven to

the Eagle Hotel by a roundabout way to avoid the

throng. Tickets were placed on sale at higher

prices than were ever known here before, tivo,

three and foiir dollars, but they were all sold as

fast as they could be handed out from the tem-

poraiy box office that had been erected on State

street. That was for the 22d, and the disappoint-

ment of the would-be but unsuccessful purchasers

was so great that for the second evening, the 24th,

the seats were auctioned off and were again all

disposed of, many of thorn at a largo advano.

Fortunately for outsiders both evenings were

warm, so that the windows of the hall were wide

open and all [hose in the neighborhood were 0C7

cupied by listeners who had rented them at high

prices, while the streets, not only adjacent but at

some distance, were filled with silent crowds; how
well they were rewarded may be judged from the

statement, apparently well authenticated, that

some of the notes of the great Swede in her fa-

mous "Echo Sorig" were distinctly heard on Elm
street and at the corner of Clinton and Andrews

streets. But the sweetness of her voice was equaled

by that of her heart, and she insisted on distribut-

ing among the local charities the premiums paid

for the second evening above the regular price of

tickets ; it came to more than twenty-five hundred

dollars and was given, in different proportions, to

the Female Charitable society, the Rochester and
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the Catholic orphan asylums, the llonic for the

Friendless, the Gcrnian Lutheran church and the

Cartmcn's and Firemen's benevolent associations.

Mentioning only the more celebrated of the artists

that delighted their audiences in this hall—Thal-

berg, Matilda Heron, Gottschalk, Alboni, the great

Parepa, both alone and in connection with the

English opera company; Davenport, James W.

Wallack, Charles Dickens, Ole Bull, Adelina Patti,

anticipating here her brilliant future, when she

was but eight years old; Eistori, queen of trage-

dians; Charlotte Cushman, Fanny Kemble, Maggie

Mitchell (but there is no end to them)—and the

soldiers' bazaar in 1863, with which perhaps the

memory of the room will be longest associated, we

come to the close of Corinthian hall as it originally

was. In 18G5 it was sold and enlarged at the north

end to provide for a stage and in 1879, as the un-

reasoning hostility to the drama that has been

noticed as characteristic of the early times had

given place to an equally indiscriminate demand

for anything that was theatrical, a gallery was pnl

in and it became a regular play-house, so that some

old Eip Van Winkle, coming back from his long

sleep, would never have recognized it ; its name was

then changed to the inappropriate title of Corin-

thian Academy of Music, and as such it continued

tUl December 2d, 1898, when it was completely

burned down; it was rebuilt in a different style a

few years later, and since then, under the simple

name of the Corinthian, it has been devoted to the

higher class of vaudeville.

Not as a rival to Corinthian hall, but rather as

the successor to Minerva hall, which, standing on

the corner of East Main and South avenue, was

burned in 1858, Washington hall was put up, on

the corner of East Main and North Clinton streets,

about 1860, and was used mainly for concerts and

balls till it went the way of its predecessor in

1867; it was rebuilt shortly after and for some

time was known as the Empire tlicater and then

as Wonderland, giving a number of variety shows,

not always of the best character, and getting into

frequent trouble with the authorities from viola-

tion of its license. It stood till a few years ago,

when it was torn down to give place to a great

dry goods block.

The turf was late in asserting its claim to popu-

lar favor. Fifty years ago there was a race-course

outside the city limits in Irondequoit, the entrance

being on North St. Paul street, but its patrons and

frequenters were not of the highest class in the

community, nor was it calculated to advance the

interests of the sport in any way. A little later

there was a track in Brighton, on the old fair

grounds, where several meetings of the New York
state trotting circuit were held and where some
good speed was developed. But there was nothing

like a first-class course here till 1873, when one was
laid out on McCracken street, the name of which
was at once changed to Driving Park avenue,

thereby obliterating from the city map the name of

one of the oldest families in this region. The
track was an excellent one, of a full mile, and the

grounds were capacious, with' creditable buildings

appropriate to the purpose and unusually ample,

for the grand stand alone would cover and seat

ten thousand persons, the cost of the whole affair

being nearly seventy thousand dollars. George J.

AVhitney was the first president of the association

and continued so till 1878, when the Equitable

life foreclosed its mortgage on the premises and

the company was reorganized, with Frederick Cook

in the presidency, from which he retired in 18b6.

The last grand circuit meeting was held there

in 1895, after which the property lay idle till 1903,

when, another mortgage being foreclosed, it came

into the hands of its present owners, by whom it

has been recently converted into building lots.

What few races are now run take place in the

old Brighton fair ground, which goes by the name

of Crittenden park.

Four world records made on the McCracken

street track will perpetuate its memory. On the

day of its opening, August 12th, 1874, Goldsmith

Maid reduced the rate of all previously known

trotting speed by making her mile in two minutes

and fourteen seconds. On the sixth anniversary

of tliat day, August 13th, 1880, when several of the

best horses in the country were here, the rate was

lowered twice, first by Maud S., who trotted in

2:11)4, and (lien, later in the afternoon, by St.

Julien, who did it in precisely t1ie same time.

Even then it was felt that Maud S. had not done

her possible best, and a year later, she having in

tlie meantime passed into the hands of William

H. Vanderbilt, it was determined to give her a

cliance to excel herself on the same track. The

program was extensively advertised and on the

11th of August, 1881, a great number of horse-
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men, owners, breeders, trainers and jockeys, as-

sembled here to witness the supreme trial; expec-

tations were realized and a mighty shout went up

when the little mare passed under the wire in

2 '.lO'A. The driving park proved so attractive and

so well adapted for large gatherings that the

State Agricultural society used to give its annual

exhibition there and the Western New York Agri-

cultural society also held its fairs there occasion-

ally, and it was often the scene of ball-playing,

prize shooting and bicycle races.

Base ball was for several years so popular here

that it might almost be considered a special

Rochester amusement. Before the Civil war there

were the Lone StarSj the Live Oaks, the Olympics

and other clubs, none of which had any regular

arena but they played on vacant lots or anywhere

else as convenience might dictate. Then came the

Flour City club, and after them the Excelsiors,

composed of a younger set of men. In their day

base ball was in its highest, its fairest and its best

estate. Their regular field for playing was Jones

square, and thei-e they sometimes gave friendly en-

counter to the Atlantics of Brooklyn, the Athletics

of Philadelphia and other clubs, all amateur, of

course, except as they might be considered profes-

sional from the fact that they devoted all their

time to it. But no admission fee was charged,

which may have been one reason, though it cer-

tainly was not the only one, for the large attend-

ance that was always present at that northern park.

Between the Excelsiors and the Niagaras of Buf-

falo there was a steady though invariably amicable

rivalry, and many were the games that they played

against each other, alternating in the two places,

at which time the visiting club would always be

attended by an escort of enthusiastic sympathizers

from their own city, and sometimes, when the

honors were even, the tie contest would be pulled

off at Lockport, as being neutral territory. But

the war finally took away most of those players,

as it had previously drawn off a large proportion

of the older clubs, and then the Alerts, a still

younger set, came to the front. They were the

last of the Romans, for after their short life base

ball got into the hands of professionals and its

glory was departed. It may be played more

scientifically, as well as more craftily, than

it was in by-gouc days,, and the crowds

at Culver park may work tliemselves into

a state of frenzied self-delusion over the plays,

but their enthusiasm is not sincere, for the coa-

testants are all strangers to them, known only by

the name of the city where they are hired, and the

plaudits lack the true ring of the olden time. Base

ball seems to be giving place to foot ball, and the

largest crowd ever gathered at Culver park to wit-

ness an argument in that line was on November
11th, 1906, when seven thousand persons assembled

there to behold the games between the pupils of the

two high schools here and those from similar acad-

emies in Syracuse and Buffalo. Perhaps the

change is as well ; if the newer sport is more brui

tal, it is more genuine.



CHAPTER XIV

THE PEESS OF EOCHESTER.

Country Newspapers in the State—Early Papers

Here—The Rochester Gazette—The Rochester

Telegraph—Tlmrlow Weed—The Daily Adver-

tiser—The Union tO Advertiser—The Roches-

ter Democrat—3Vie Democrat & American—
The Democrat & Chronicle—The Daily Amer-

ican—The Daily Chronicle—The Evening Ex-

press—The Post Express—The Morning Herald
—The Rochester Herald—The Times—Oerman

Newspapers—Sunday Journals—Papers of the

Soil—Religious Periodicals—Labor Journals.

In no respect hns the evolution of civilization

produced greater changes than in journalism. In-

stead of the newspapers of the present day, with

their comprehensive knowledge, compassing sea

and land and putting a girdle around the earth

in forty seconds to get information of events the

instant they have occurred, the press of a century

ago was content to put before its readers long ar-

ticles descriptive of ancient and modern history,

correspondence from foreign countries that had

been months on its journey and that had passed

through several hands before its final appearance

with extended extracts from books of greater or

less antiquity. Anything like what we should con-

sider news was unknown to them, perhaps it would

have been abhorrent if it had been suggested. One

might suppose that the smaller the place in which

a newspaper was published the more profuse would

be the account of social gatherings and the de-

scription of buildings that had been recently

erected, but the contrary was the case, for such

things were never mentioned at all, and the patient

searcher of to-day must be satisfied if he can find

the record of anything before many years after it

had transpired. The only explanation for this

anomalous course lies in the hypothesis that the

editors considered that anything that happened

yesterday must be known already to all their pos-

sible readers and therefore there was no need of

printing it, while a generation later it had been

forgotten by everybody and then was the time to

give the narrative, with all the mistakes and omis-

sions incident to the imperfect memory of the

writer.

Before anything of the kind appeared in Eoches-

ter there were, of course, many sheets of consider-

able influence in the eastern part of the state and a

few in the western portion in places that had be-

come well settled before the Maryland proprietors

came riding up this way. But these were all

weeklies, for the daily did not come till long after,

and of the hebdomadal issues there were only some

eight or nine, such as the Gazette at Buffalo, the

Cornucopia at Batavia, the Citizen at Perry, the

Repository and the Messenger, afterward consoli-

dated, at Canandaigua; the Gazette at Geneva, the

Times at Manlius, the Lynx and the Register, both

at Onondaga Valley, the latter of which was

founded by Lewis H. Eedfield in 1814, on the for-

mer of which Thurlow Weed served his earliest

apprenticeship.

Augustine G. Dauby came here in 1816, from

Utica, where he had already learned the rudiments

of his, trade in the office of the Patriot. Giving

up his first intention of settling in Geneva, he

pitched his tent in this smaller village, where

there were then only some three hundred souls, and
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here he founded, that ycnv, the first newspaper, a

weekly, called the Gazette. It was started in a

building on the present site of the Democrat &

Chronicle, which wa& unfinished, lathed inside but

not plastered, the printing-office occupying the

second story, while the ground floor was used for

the butcher's stall of Smith & Davis. The next year

the office was moved to the building of Abner Wake-

lee, just east of the Arcade, and there it remained

till destroyed by fire in 1819. It was while in

that location that Edwin Scrantom became con-

nected with it, first as an apprentice at the case

and afterward going through all the grades of

journalism till he retired from the profession many

years later; he did not, however, abandon all con-

nection with it, for, like every one who has once

worn the harness, he felt uneasy when he was

free from it, and for a long period he contributed

to the daily press a series of articles recalling

the former days, from which, in fact, the materials

for the early part of this chapter are largely

drawn. After the fire the resources of the Gazette

were so much impaired that it suspended publica-

tion for three months and then resumed it, greatly

improved in appearance, on Exchange street in a

building that afterward became Filer & Fairchild'3

school-house. As it did not, however, prove finan-

cially successful, Mr. Dauby sold the paper in

March, 1821, to Derick and Levi W. Sibley and

went back to Utica, where he died long afterward,

with the esteem of all who knew him. The Messrs.

Sibley immediately changed the name of the

Gazette to the Monroe Republican and continued

to run it till November, 1825, when they passed it

over to Whittlesey & Mumford, who, with Edwin
Scrantom as editor, conducled it until 1827, when
its independent existence came to an end. While
it flourished, the Gazette paved the way for the

political advancement of more than one of its

successive owners, for Derick Sibley represented

his district for three successive terms in the As-
sembly and Frederick Whittlesey, after serving two
terms in Congress, became vice-chancellor of the

state.

In the same year with Mr. Dauby, Everard

Peck, a native of Berlin, Conn., came to Rochester.

Having learned the book-binder's trade at Hart-

ford he continued that here, adding to it that of

hook-selling, and on the 7th of July, 1818, he en-

larged the business still further by establishing a

weekly paper named the Rochester 'Telegraph*

The proprietor was the sole editor for the fir.st

four years, when, in 1822, Tliurlow Weed came

along from the eastward, already burdened with a

small family, young as he was, and applied for

work, work of any kind. His request was granted,

and during the first year of his employment he and

his family lived with his employer, a not uncom-

mon thing in those days. Although engaged at

first in a mechanical capacity he soon assisted in

the editorial work, of which he took charge in

1824, and the next year purchaFed the whole es-

tablishment, Mr. Peck retiring to devote himself

to banking, and other pursuits; his relationship to

the writer precludes anything like laudatory men-

tion of his services in connection with the various

institutions of the city from that time until his

death in 1854. Mr. Weed soon acquired a reputa-

tion as one of the most forcible and vigorous news-

paper writers in the country, and having formed a

close political and personal friendship with Fred-

erick Whittlesey, Thomas Kempshall and, a little

later, William H. Seward, he was able to wield

an influence in the counsels of the Whig party, and

afterward of the Republican, never reached by

any other private citizen, which, though powerful

locally while he lived here, was increased after his

removal to Albany to such an extent as to cover

the entire state and to go far beyond it. AVhile

residing here he was induced to accept the only

political office that he ever held, that of member

of Assembly for one term, that of 1825, and it is

noteworthy that in the winter before that, when

he was acting as the Albany correspondent of his

little paper, he wrote home several letters in ad-

vocacy of the nomination of John Quincy Adams

for the presidency, in consequence of which the

Telegraph was the first paper in the United States

to put his name at the head of its columns, thj

legislature was induced to follow suit and he was

subsequently elected to the chief magistracy. A

*Tlie writer lias often been askeil why that peculiar title

should have been used at that early day, when the invention to
which the word is now solely and universally applied did not
exist, even in the imagination, till long afterwards The fact is

that the word—meaning, literally, "far writing"—was sometimes,
though very rarely, employed to denote any kind of mechanical
contrivance, such as a heliograph or a semaphore—for transmit-
ting information to a distance. The earliest use of the word that
can be found, and there it occurs as the finite form of a verb,
is in Southey's "Life of Nelson," written in 1813, where the
author says: "A little before sunset, however, Blackwood, in

the Euryalus, telegraphed that they appeared determined to go-

to the westward."
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partnership liaviug been formed with Robert Mar-

tin the paper was issued as a semi-weekly till 1827,

when Mr. Weed sold out his interest and removed

to the state capital to become the editor of the

y\.lbany Evening Journal, in which he continued

for nearly forty years, becoming afterward for a

sliort time toward the close of his life editorially

connected with the New York 'Times. After that

tlie Telegraph absorbed "the Rochester Album

(which had been started by Marshall, Spaulding

& Hunt two years before), and, having been pub-

lished as a daily for one year, became merged with

the Advertiser in 1829.

This brings na to the establishment of the first

daily newspaper in the United States west of Al-

banyj which still retains its identity, though it

has in the meantime absorbed and been amalga-

mated with several other journals. On the 25th

of October, 1826, the Rochester Daily Advertiser

was started by Luther Tucker & Co., its weekly

edition, begun at the same time, being known as

the Rochester Mercury. Three years later it took

in the Telegraph, the name of the weekly edition

being then changed to the Rochester Republican,

and the year after that Hoyt & Porter assumed

the publication, with Henry O'Reilly as editor,

which he continued to be till 1838, when, on be-

ing appointed postmaster, he retired and Tnomas

W. Flagg took his place. Thomas II. Hyatt bought

the establishment in 1840, after which it passed

successively through the hands of Hiram Bum-

phrey, Cephas S. McConnell, Joseph Curtis, Isaac

Butts and Harvey L. Winants. The two last

named conducted it, as the firm of I. Butts & Co.,

during the exciting political campaign of 1848,

when the Advertiser espoused the fortunes of Mar-

tin Van Buren and Charles Francis Adams, who

had been nominated by the Free Soil convention

at Buiialo in opposition to Cass and Butler, the

regular nominees of the Democratic party. That

caused the establishment of the Daily Courier, as

the advocate of the latter section, with Horatin

G. Warner as editor; after the election was over

the two papers became merged and, though the

title of the older journal was retained, the edi-

torial writers were Judge Warner, Samuel L. Sel-

dcn and E. Darwin Smith, Joscpli Medbcry and

Joseph Sibley being associated with them as pub-

lishers.

This position of the Advertiser as the sole organ

of the Democratic party in this part of the state

naturally attracted rivalry and before long it had

to buy out the Daily News, a paper that never ex-

isted, though the prospectus for it had been

sued, which brought George G. Cooper into the

stair as associate editor. A little later Mr. Butts

lepurchascd an interest in and again became tiie

editor of the Advertis67; which then changed from

9 morning to an evening journal, but in 1851 he

again retired, the editorship being assumed by

Thoma^ H. Hyatt, who had obtained a controlling

interest after his return from Cliina, where he

bad been the consul at Amoy for some years, M-:.

Curtis also coming back from Milwaukee, where

he had engaged in business, to become again a

partner and the business manager. In the presi-

dential campaign of 1852 the Daily Union came

into existence on the 16th of August, with Jarvis

M. Hatch, Orsamus Turner and George G. Cooper,

who had in the meantime been on a short-lived pa-

per called the Times, as the editorial writers. A
few months later it was sold to Mr. Butts and Mr.

Curtis, the former becoming the editor, the latter,

who left the Advertiser for the purpose, the presi-

dent and business manager of the new concern.

After five years of competition it became evident

that Rochester could not at that time maintain

with financial success two Democratic dailies, so

the two were consolidated, the name taken being

the Union & Advertiser, which has remained un-

changed during the well nigh fifty years of its

existence. The two named, together with John

E. Morey, were the original publishers, Mr. Butts

being of course the editor, in which position he

remained till December, 1864, when he retired

permanently, selling his interest to William Pur-

cell, George G. Cooper and Lorenzo Kelly, and

the firm becoming known as Curtis, Morey & Co.

Mr. Butts was an exceedingly forcible writer, with

an extensive knowledge oE political - history and

political science, and it was. under his leadership

that the journal assumed the comma,nding position

in the Democratic party that it has always en-

joyed. He was succeeded in the editorship by Mr.

Purcell, whose abilities in the same line have been

alluded to in the preceding chapter. At the time

of the consolidation Mr. Cooper became the city

editor (the local editor, as it was then called), in

which position he remained for about twenty-five
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years, when* the impairment of his health com-

pelled his retirement; it is no disparagement to

those who are now living to say that he has never

been surpassed in that peculiar line, combining a

wide personal acquaintance and intimate knowl-

edge of municipal affairs with clearness of ex-

pression and tireless industry ; his place was taken

by the late George H. Lane, who well upheld tlw

traditions of the department. Without attempt-

ing a list of all those who have since then been

connected with the newspaper in various ways, it

will be sufficient to state that it is now issued by

the Union & Advertiser company, printers, pub-

lishers and engravers, the officers being Eugen?

T. Curtis, president; Thomas Flannery, vice-presi-

dent; Wendell J. Curtis, secretary and treasurer.

The managing editor is Pierre Purcell, the as-

sociate editors are Albert Roland Haven and Her-

vey Smith Tomer, the city editor is Duncan TiU-

son, the state editor Edmund Redmond, the tele-

graph editor James O'Hare Lovel, the reporters are

Byron W. Chamberlain, Albert M.- Flannery, Jo-

seph Curtis, A. R. Tucker, George S. Tilroe and

Alphonse J. Sigl.

The next journal to be mentioned is the Roch-

es,ter Democrat, which was the outgrowth of the

Anti-Masonic Inquirer. Tlie original name of

that partisan paper, started by D. D. Stephenson

in 1828, was the Balance, but it assumed its second

title when it passed into the hands of Thurlow

Weed and Samuel Heron a few months later.

Mr. Weed retiring in 1830, the paper was con-

ducted by Daniel N. Sprague until it was pur-

chased in 1831 by Erastus Shepard, who brought

the Western Spectator here from Palmyra and

consolidated the two. A year later Alvah Strong

came into it and it was published by Shepard &
Strong until February, 1834, when they absorbed

the National Republican and changed the name
to the Daily Democrat, the weekly issue being

known as the Monroe Democrat. The paper be-

came recognized at once as the organ in this sec-

tion of the W^ig party, which was formed in the

year last named, und it was influential in securing

the election of William H. Seward to the United

States Senate in 1838 and the elevation of William

Henry Harrison to the presidency two years later.

In the meantime George Dawson was the editor

for three years, after which he removed to Detroit)

but came back in 1843 and again assumed edi-

torial control, purchasing at the same time Mr.

Shepard's share of the business; in 1846 he sold

to Henry Cook and Samuel P. Allen, the former

becoming the editor, the latter the associate editor

until he succeeded his chief on the death of the

former and remained in that position till 1864.

The Daihj American was absorbed in December,

1857, the new title being the Democrat & Amer-

ican, and the lirm name, which before that had

been Strong, Cook & Allen, becoming Strong, Al-

len & Ihintiuglon; in 1864 William S. King, who

had come here from Minneapolis, became the prin-

cipal owner, and George S. Tuckerman was the

editor for the rest of the year, till D. D. S. Brown

purchased the paper at the beginning of 1865 and

Robert Carter, a man of the most brilliant attain-

ments and comprehensive knowledge, who was con-

nected with Appleton's American Cyclopedia in

the latter years of his life, became the managing

editor, remaining so for four years, when he was

followed by Reuben D. Jones, W. D. Storey, Eos-

siter Johnson and William A. Crofliut, successively.

In the fall of 1870 the Daily Chronicle became

merged in the older newspaper and the first num-

ber of the consolidation appeared on the 1st of

December of that year, with the title of the Demo-

crat & Chronicle, which it has retained ever

since. Stephen C. Hutchins, of Albany, was the.

editor at the beginning, but he retired after two

years and his place was taken by Joseph O'Connor,

who filled it for nine months; then came Cliarles

E. Fitch, who conducted the paper for several

years, until he was appointed collector of internal

revenue for this district; he subsequently removed

to Albany, where he has for some time been con-

nected with the state department of education;

the present writer is indebted to him for much

of the information contained in this chapter, the

reminiscences of Edwin Scrantom, to which al-

lusion has been made earlier in the work, being

the original source of most of the details in the

primeval portion of the narrative. Mr. Fitch wa^

succeeded by Ernest R. Willard, who has con-

tinued since then without inlcrniission as the edi-

tor-in-chief; the others on the staff are Oliver S.

Adams, managing editor; Samuel H. Love and J.

L. Kaine, editorial writers ; John, Dennis, exchange

editor; Leroy J. Bougner, telegraph editor; Mrs.

Helen L. Sawin, dramatic critic; Homer A. Row-

ell, financial editor; John Burns, sporting editor;
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Allan C. Eoss, correspondence editor; Morris Ad-

ams, city editor; Curtis AV. Barker, assistant city

editor, with the following as members of the rep-

ortorial staff: William A. Miller, Oliver L. An-

gevine, Augusta S. Anderson, Gardner B. Ellis,

Frank S. Ellsworth, Louis F. Forster, James A.

Murphy, Grace Waldo Hall and Eichard 11. Bar-

rett. The newspaper is published by the Eochoster

Printing company, of which the president is W.

n. Mathews, the secretary and treasurer Nathan

P. Pond. It has always been financially success-

ful and it has a large circulation, particularly in

the towns of Monroe and adjoining counties, of

the correspondence from which it makes a spe-

cialty.

The two principal journals mentioned in the

above sketch as being united with the Democrat

may as well be described here. The Eochester

American, had its first issue December 23d, 1844.

It has been stated in some writings that Leonard

W. Jerome was one of tlic original proprietor.s,

but that must be a mistake, for the directory of

1845, which was got out in August of that year,

gives his name as an attorney, in partnership with

his uncle Hiram K. Jerome, Lawrence E. Jerome,

a younger brother, being a clerk in their ofBce at

that time. The paper was published at the outset

by Josiah M. Patterson & Co., but the Jerome

brotliers, one after the other, went into the firm

soon afterward and in a short time became the

exclusive owners. The editor was Alexander

Mann, who will be rememberpd, by those who can

remember him at all, as a man of the utmost kind-

ness of heart and thoughtfulness for the welfare

of others, particularly of children, besides being

well equipped in every way for the journalistic

profession; he left the paper in 1856 and removed

to New York, where he was a writer on the Times
until he had to yield to the ravages of consump-

tion. Associated with him on the American were

Dr. nnniol Jico, ilniil)en D. Jones and Cliester V.

Dovvcy, the last named becoming the editor on Ihc

retirement of Mr. Mann and remaining so till the

absorption of the paper, when he, too, went to the

metropolis and achieved an enviable reputation as

editor of the New York Oommercial Advertiser

and afterward of the Brooklyn Union. The Jerome

lii'others also migrated thither and Leonard became

l)rominent in tbc world of finance, of society and

of sport, laying out the track that was named after

him and doing much to promote the interests of

liorsc-racing; his daughter became Lady Eandolph
Churchill, the mother of the English Winston
Churchill.

The Daily Chronicle owed its existence to one

cf those factional quarrels that sometimes occur

in political parties. Eoswell Hart had been re-

nominated by tlie Eepublicans as member of Con-

gress in 1866, but there was a dissatisfied element

that put up Lewis Selye as a bolting candidate,

He was indorsed by the Democratic convention

and elected, but after he had taken his seat there

was no daily paper here with which his political

relations were harmonious, so he started one in

November, 1868, largely as a rival of the Demo-
crat for the patronage that was considered one

of the legitimate perquisites in those days. Its

editorial staff consisted at the outset of Charle-i

S. Collins, William P. Peck (both of whom had

been connected with the Democrat, the former as

local editor for several years) and Henry C.

Daniels, who was taken from the Evening Ex-

2)r<<ss: they wore joined soon afterward by Isaac

M. Gregory, whose bright "Current Topics" in the

journal earned for him more than local fame, and

those four conducted the paper during the two

years of its life. Unfortunately the enterprise did

not prove profitable and Mr. Selye sold the Chron-

icle to Freeman Clarke, who turned it over to the

Democrat, the first combined issue appearing at

the time stated.

In the autumn of 1859 Charles W. Hebard

founded the Times, the name of which was pres-

ently changed to the Evening Express, largely in

the interest of the workingmen, the price being

one cent a copy. In April of the following yeai)

three others joined the original proprietor, Fran-

cis S. Eew, a veteran journalist, becoming the edi-

tor-in-chief, Clark D. Tracy the business manager

and William H. Beach superintendent of the job

loom. Becoming then decidedly Ecpublican its

price was raised to two cents, the size of the sheet

being enlarged at the same time, and a year later

the influence of the new paper was greatly

strengthened Ijy tlie addition of William J. Fow-

ler as a political writer. The Wilder brothers

—

A. Carter, who had been a member of Congress

from the state of Kansas and who afterward be-

came mayor of this city, and D. Webster—pur-

chased a half interest in the Exp-ess in 1865, and
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during the campaign of the ioHowing year a

morning as well as an evening edition was pub-

lished, mainly to advance the interests of Roswell

ITart in his congressional struggle, 'i'lio attempt

was unsuccessful aud the experiment was imrc-

munerative, bo it was abandoned at the end of the

year and the Wilders withdrew from the concern

shortly afterward. Until 1874: the paper was pub-

lished by Tracy & Eew, but in that year a stock

company was formed, consisting of those two with

the addition of George H. EUwanger and William

C. Crum, the last named selling out in a sheet

time. So it continued for eight years, when the

establishment was purchased by a syndicate, th.j

name being changed to the Post Express, Daniel

T. Hunt becoming the business manager, Mr. Rew

retiring at the same time and Mr. EUwanger be-

coming the managing editor, with George W.

Buck as editorial writer and Albert P. Blair as

assistant editorial writer. In a few months Mr.

EUwanger also withdrew and George T. Lanigan,

a brilliant and versatile writer who had been on

the staff of the New York World, became tlic edi-

tor-in-chief, the force being strengthened at about

the same time by the addition of Isniic D. Mar-

shall, William H. Samson, George S. Crittenden

and others.

Mr. Lanigan, having occupied the editorial chair

for a year, was succeeded by Isaac H. Bromley,

one of the most accomplished of journalists; then

came William Mill Butler, then Joseph O'Connor,

in 188C, at which time the paper became more

independent in politics, though still with Republic-

an leanings. Two more reorganizations of the

company were effected, one in 1889 and another

in 1894, when the property passed into the hands

of William S. Kimball and associates, with Louis

Wiley as business manager for some time. A lit-

tle later William H. McElroy, previously of the

New York Tribune, was the editor for a brief pe-

riod. The journal is now issued by the Post Ex-
press Printing company, publishers of the Post

Express and the Fai-m Stoch Journal. The presi-

dent is Francis B. Mitchell, the secretary Harold

C. Kiiubnll and the treasurer W. G. Mitchell; the-

managing editor is William H. Samson, the lit-

erary editor Joseph O'Connor; the assistant edi-

tors are Jacob A. Hoekstra, John A. Hilliard, J.

Redfern Mason, Mrs. N. Hudson Moore, Ralph

T. Olcott and George C. Bragdon; news editor,

Frank G. Patchin ; city editor, James B. Hopkins

;

telegraph editors, F. T. Harris and Louis A. Es-

son; commercial editor, Richard Atkins; Albany,

correspondent, Willard A. Miiraklc; reporloriaJ

staff, Arthur 15. Partridge, Hugh I'cndexter, A.

J. Gohcen, John E. Burgess, A. E. Crockett, 0.

Frank Mirick, Harold II. Moore, Clarence A. Lit-

tle, E. A'^ine Stoddard, jr., Joseph li. O'Connor.

The paper maintains a very high literary standard

o.nd is a repository of local antiquarian' informa-

tion.

On the 5th of August, 1879, the Morning Her-

ald made its first appearance. It was started by

a stock company, of which Samuel D. Lee was

the president, Frank T. Skinner the secretary and

treasurer. Mr. Lee was from the beginning the

managing editor, with Samuel 11. Lowe as editor-

in-chief, and they held, respectively, those posi-

tions for thirteen years, as did Jacob A. Hoek-

stra (who succeeded C. Smith Benjamin after the

first three months) that of city editor. The of-

fices of the newspaper were at first in Smith'.-)

Arcade (the old Irving Hall block) and the

printing was done on the same press with the

Sunday Morning Herald, though the two journals

had no other connection with each other, except

the very great similarity of name. Within three

years the daily had become sufficiently prosperous

to warrant it in moving into quarters of its own

in the building on Exchange street which it still

occupies, the change, being accentuated by the use

of a Scott perfecting press built expressly for the

company. Soon thereafter it enlarged the sheet

to an eight-page form and began the publication

of a Sunday edition, so that for nearly ten years

readers and advertisers were perplexed by the is-

suance of two entirely different papers on the Sab-

bath that were called by substantially the same

name. In 1892 a new company took possession of

it, Erickson Perkins being the principal owner,

and the editorial force was changed, John B.

Howe, previously of Utiea, becoming the chief

editor, Franklin P. Smith (who.se demise n few

years ago was a loss to journalism) the associate

and managing editor and Robert K. Beach tha

city editor; at the same time Louis M. Antisdale

became tlic business manager, the journal was

made distinctly Democratic in politics and the

name was clianged by dropping out the word
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Morning, so that it has been since then the Roch-

ester Herald.

A few years later it again changed hands, pas'?-

ing into lliose of a corporation, ol' whicli tlie prin-

cipal stockholders were, and arc still, the officers,

as follows: John David, president; William G.

David, treasurer; Louis M. Antisdale, secretary

Mr. Antisdale is the eclitor-in-cliieC and the stalf

includes Howard S. lluddy and William G. David,

associate editorial writers ; Edgar F. Edwards, city

and dramatic editor; Chester F. Craigie, assist-

ant city editor; Harry C. Goodwin, Sunday editor;

Donald T. Fraser, telegraph editor ; David L. Hill,

vicinity news cdilor; Alexander C. Sullivan, sport-

ing news editor, and these reporters: Charles J3.

Stillson, Everett E. Swain, Samuel Persky, Clar-

ence J. Albert, AVilton S. Farnsworth, John E.

Mabie, William A. Searle, Carl E. Seager, Lily

B. Gracey. The Herald has a wide influence in

this section of the state among people of all

classes. It retains its allegiance to Democratic

pi-inciples, though it shows its independent spirit

by sometimes advocating the election of opposing

candidates, still oftener by refusing to support

those of its own party, and it is eminently fair in

its treatment of all national questions.

The youngest of the Tiochester dailies started

tiiKJcr Die iiaiiie of the Appeal, a llvc-coluinii, four-

page paper, which was put on the streets November

7th, 1887. It was simply the mouthpiece of tlie

striking printers of that time, and one-half of it-

space in that issue was devoted to a statement of

what they considered their grievances and a presen-

tation of their side of the case. Its sales, at on?

cent a copy, were so great that its continuation,

which was not originally intended, was determined

upon, and just a week later the Times appeared,

which, with Louis A. Bsson as editor and F. S.

licid as associate writer, was for some time struck

off on an old flat l)ed i)ress in a printing office oi!

S(nith avenue. With several successive changes of

ownership under dilTercnt corporations, involving

the alteration of the name to the Daily Times,

then to the Rochester Times and finally, on

March 1st, 1889, to the Evening Times, which is

its present title, it passed on October 1st, 1901, into

the hands of John E. Morcy nnd S. Powell Puffer,

by whom, with the su1)sequent addition of Ouy W.
Ellis, TToward W. Shannon and William Thomp-
son to the directorate of stockholders in the cor-

poration of the Evening Times company, it is

now published. From South avenue its quarters

were soon moved to the Beehive building on Aque-

duct street, then to 43 Main street East, and last-

ly, on October 1st, 1901, to 3G State street, where
they still remain, these various changes all indi-

cating an increase of prosperity, as shown by tho

purchase of perfecting presses and the gradu'il

enlargement of the sheet until it reached its

prcsejit size of seven columns to the page. Since
•leaching the age of six months it has taken the

telegraphic dispatches of the Press News asso-

ciation. In July, 1890, the experiment of a Sun-
day edition was tried, but it was not remunerative

and was given up within two years. The staff as

now constituted consists of S. Powell Puffer, edi-

tor; Edwin J. Webster, associate editor; Eoy Ches-

ter Kates, managing editor; Charles H. Wright,

city editor; Frank A. Wood, Western New York
editor; William H. Mangan, sporting editor; Bern-

ard Joseph Haggarty, Albany representative, and
the following reporters: Clark II. Quinn, Allan

Manzer Franklin, Harry Jerome Dodgson and
Walter A. Stewart. The Times has a very wide

circulation and is regarded not so much as the

organ of any political party as an advocate of the

rights of the people.

Tlie first German newspaper in this city was

the Allgemeine Ilandelsblatt, staricA in 1848, which

lived but a short time, the next being the Anzeiger

des Nordcns, which ran as a weekly and tri-weekly

for nine years, with Louis Hurz as editor, begin-

ning in 1852. Establislied in the same year was

the BeobacMer am Genesee, published as a weekly,

with Eev. Mr. Haass as editor, and afterward pro-

prietor; it was sold in 1856, when it became a

distinctly Republican organ, to Adolph Nolle, who

had been the editor .for the previous year and who
then dropped the last two words of the title, mak-

ing it a daily in 18G4 and enlarging it in 1873.

In 1883 its individual existence came to an end

for it was then merged with the Ahendpost, which

had been established the year before by Julius

Stoll as an independent paper, with Herman

Pfaefflin as editor; for several years the Abend-

post und BeobacMer was edited by Messrs. Pfaef-

flin and Nolte, until the death of the latter, short-

ly after which the former retired. In 1853 W.

L. Kiirtz began tlic publication of the Rochester

VoU'sblciil as a Democratic paper, it being the
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daily edition of the Anzeigerj after several changes

of ownership it came into the possession of Louis

W. Brandt, who continued as editor and proprietoi

until his death in July, 1881. For two years his

widow carried it on, after which it was owned and

edited for more than ten years by Dr. Edward H.

Makk, an experienced journalist who had come

to the city shortly before that. Several other Ger-

man papers were published during the period that

we have been considering, of which the longest-

lived was Von Nah und Fern, a weekly, from 1874

to 1878. In 1889 the Deutsche Zeitung appeared

as a weekly and continued so till February, 1899,

when it became a daily, with Andrew Piehler as

publisher and editor. On March 1st, 1902, it was

merged with the Abendpost und Beoiachter, and

on that day the name of the consolidation was

shortened into the Abendpost, which has thus ab-

sorbed all the other German papers in Rochester

and is found sufScient to supply the daily and

semi-weekly pabulum of the fifty thousand Ger-

mans who are residents of the city. It is issued

by the Rochester German Publishing company, of

which Julius Stoll is the general manager.- Tlie

editorial staff is composed of Julius Loos, editor;

Carl Dannhauser, city editor; Miss Flora Stoll,

telegraph editor, and Herman Kocher, associate

editor.

The sixteen thousand Italians who are located

here, more or less permanently, feel that they

must have a weekly to keep them in touch with

the sunshine that they have left at home, so the

Corriere di Rochester is published for their bene-

fit. The Dutch, too, though there are not many of

them, have a paper of their own, Oud Holland, also

a weekly.

While there are at present no separate Sunday

newspapers in this city, it was the successive and

continuous publication of those journals that final-

ly compelled both the morning dailies—one of

them, at least, with great reluctance—to put out

a regular edition on' that day. The first one of

the kind was the Sunday News Letter, published

and edited by Charles S. Collins just after trie

merger of the Chronicle (of which he had betMi

the editor) with the Democrat in December, 1870;

before a year had gone by he went to Troy to as-

sume the editorship of the Times; and that was

the end of the News Letter. Its place was almost

immediately filled by the Sunday Times, started Viy

William S. Foster, which went through many

rapid changes, its longest term of stability b'eiug

when it was in the hands of William F. Peck and

Henry C. Daniels as editors and proprietors. Cy-

rus D. Phillips bought in and then Abram E.

Wollf in 1878, when its name was changed to the

Sunday Tribune; after that Clifton & Marshall

ran it for a little while and then Flannery & Hill

;

its existence terminated in 1883, Dolphus S.

Barber and C. Smith Benjamin began the publica-

tion of tiie Sunday Mornimj Herald December ',h\,

187G; a little later the latter retired, Joseph L

Luekey buying in and being the editor for several

years; the paper, which was always independent

in politics, was disoontinmid in ISfl-l. Tlie Sunday

Truth was begun in 1880 luul was conducted for

a few years by Hume H. Cale in the interest of the

labor element.

Of journals connected with the agricultural in-

terests there have been a goodly number, more in

former years than there are at present. Of these

the first was the Genesee Farmer, a weekly, es-

tablished in 1830 by Luther Tucker & Co. and

edited by Naaman Goodsell; nine years later Mv.

Tucker removed it to Albany and united it with

the Cultivator, but this only caused the appear-

ance of the New Genesee Farmer, which was start-

ed by Elihu F. Marshall and Michael B. Bateham,

the latter being the editor. After many changes

it became the property of Daniel D. T. Moore,

afterward mayor of the city, with Dr. Daniel Lee

as editor and Patrick Barry as conductor of the

horticultural department; some years later Joseph

Harris became the proprietor and edited it with

marked ability till he sold it to Orange Judd, who

removed it to New York and made it a part of the

American Agriculturist. From 1850 to 18GS

Moore's Rural New Yorher, owned and edited by

D. D. T. Moore, exerted a wide influence not only

on account of its large circulation but because of

its high literary character ; in the last-named year

it was taken down to New York and published

there. Fleeting periodicals of a similar ntiture

need not be mentioned in detail, and it will be

sufficient to state the principal ones now in exist-

ence, as the Farm Stock Journal—already alluded

to in connection with the Post Express—Green's

Fruit Grower and Home Companion, YicTc's Fami-

ly Magazine and the National Nurseryman.
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A few words must be said with regard to re-

ligious journalisin, in which field the first appear-

ance was that, in 1837, of the Observer, a semi-

monthly, edited by Ecv. Mr. Sill; its life was not

long, for after being sold in 1833 to Hoyt & Por-

ter its subscription list was soon transferred by

them to the New York Evangelist. The Genesee

Evangelist endured for a longer season, even for

thirteen years; having been originated in 1846

by Rev. John E. Eobie, and noteworthy as being

the first religious weekly in the United States to

be published for one dollar a year, it finally went

the way of so many of its associates, being re-

moved to New York in 1859. Those were the

principal, though by no means all, of the peri-

odicals not avowedly devoted to the interests of

any one denomination. Of that class there have

been, from first to last, a very large number, nom*

them ])('rinanent in their nature and not re-

quiring specific mention. The same is true of the

l)ost of pamphlets issued, to be sure, at stated in-

tervals, the organs of various charities, such an

the liospitals and the orphan asylums, and the still

larger number of those committed to the interests

of particular professions, trades or callings. Per-

haps the labor reform Journals might seem to call

for some description, although they also were

evanescent, many of them coming into existence

for the furtherance of some particular object and

expiring when that had been obtained or had been

shown to be hopeless of accomplishment. To say

nothing of those previously referred to in other

connections, the leading papers of this character

were the Workingman's Advocate, started in 1839

;

the National Reformer, in 1848; the Rochester

Mechanic, in 1875; the Striker, in 1877; the In-

dependent Worker, in 1878, and the Laborer's Ad-

vocate, in 1883. The present representative of

that class is the Labor Journal.

The foregoing sketch has not been intended to

be complete ; the writer has not attempted to cover

the ground with absolute thoroughness or to men-

tion even all the periodicals thatwere quite popular

in their day, such as the Gem and Ladies' Amulet,

piiblishcd by Edwin Scrnntom in the early thirties,

but, rather, to state witli accuracy what facts avo

given and to take a comprehensive view of journal-

ism in Rochester.



CHAPTER XV

FINANCIAL.

Banking in the Old World—The Bank of Roch-

ester—The Bank of Monroe—The Rochester

City Bank—The First National Bank—The

Bank of Western New York—The Commercial

Bank—The Farmers and Mechanics Bank—The

Exchange Bank—The Rochester Bank—Tho

Powers Bank—The Eagle Bank—The Union

Bank—The Manufacturers Bank—The Traders

Bank—The Flour City Bank—The Monroe

County Bank—The Second Bank of Monroe
—The Second Bank of Rochester—The

Second Commercial Bank—The Merchants

Bank—The German-American Bank—The Na-

tional Bank of Rochester—The Central Bank—
The Alliance Bank—The National Bank of Com-

merce—Private Banking Houses—The Roch-

ester Savings Bank—The Monroe County Sav-

ings Bank—Tho Mechanics Savings Bank—
The East Side Savings Bank—The Roch-

ter Trust & Safe Deposit Company—The

Security Trust—The Union—The Fidelity—
Genesee Valley— The Clearing-House— The

Stock Exchange—Insurance Companies.

Banking institutions are by no means of mod-

ern contrivance. Tlie ancients liard them, the

Egyptians being particularly noted in that regard,

and the Bomans after them, the oldest one in the

imperial city, of which we have any distinct record,

being in the reign of the Emperor Decius in 250

A. D. Through the middle ages they sank into

general desuetude, though before that period had

.passed away the Bank of Venice was estahlialied,

in 1171, based on a forced loan of the republic.

That was the first banking institution in Europe

in modern times and was long the only one, mon-

etary transactions otherwise being carried on by

private money-lenders, generally the Jews, as

Christians were forbidden to engage in the prac-

tice. With the Eenadssance the system sprang into

new life and Genoa became the principal banking

center, which was shifted afterward to Amster-

dam. Great Britain f9llowed slowly, for, although

there were small establishments for purposes of

exchange before that, the Bank of England did not

receive its charter of incorporaition till 1694, the

Bank of Scotland following in the next year.

Strange as it may seem, the American settlements

appear to have got the start of the mother coun-

try in this regard, for the Bank of the Massachu-

setts Colonies was formed in 1686. That was the

first chartered bank organized on this side of the

Atlantic, and it had a monopoly of the business

for nearly a century, for the next one, the Bank

of New York, was not founded till 1784; it has

occupied its present location at the corner of Wall

and William streets since 1798. It is interest-

ing to note that Alexander Hamilton was the

counsel for this bank and was connected with it

when he was appointed secretary of the treasury

in President Washington's first cabinet.

OOK KANKS OF DISCOONT.*

All this is preparatory to the consideration of

the banks of Eochester. For seven years after the

*In preparing this chapter the writer lias had occasion to refer

I'ontiniially, for that portion relating to the early banks of
Kochcster, to an article in the history published in 1884, which
was then furnished to him by the late George E. Mumford.
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iiicoriioration of the villngo ils i)iyiiil)itnnLK liad to

get along with whitt facilities they miglit secure

from institutions in neighboring places, from the

Bank of Geneva, the Ontario bank at Canan-

(laigua and the Bank of Genesee at Batavia. The
Ontario bank was represented here by Ebenezer

Rly, whose office was located on the west side of

Exchange street and who acted as agent for both

parties in receiving and forwarding commercial

paper and the money to take it up. When the

village was formed a document was circulated,

stating that the subscrfbers and their associates

would make application to the legislature at its

next session, to be incorporated as a banking

company under the name of bank, with

a capital stock of five hundred thousand dollars.

This was dated December 2d, 1817, and was signed

by Harvey Montgomery, Josiah Bissell, Elisha

Johnson, Azel Ensworth, Hervey Ely, D. D.

[latch, JampR G. Bond, Elisha Ely, Ira West, A.

Hamlin trad Silas 0. Smith. Nothing came of

tills, and when a similar attempt was made six

years later the same malign influences that so long

delayed the formation of Monroe county pro-

cured the rejection of this application also. It

required the peculiar genius of Thurlow Weed,

who was sent to Albany for that purpose, to se-

cure the desired result, and on the 19th of Feb-

ruary, 1824, a charter was granted to the Bank
of Rochester, the capital being $250,000, with

Matthew Brown, Nathaniel Eochester, Elisha B.

Strong, Samuel Works, Enos Pomeroy and Levi

Ward, jr., as incorporators. Soon after that the

bank was organized by tlie election of the follow-

ing-named as the board of directors: Nathaniel

Rochester, Elisha B. Strong, Levi Ward, jr., Mat-

thew Brown, Abelard Reynolds, James Seymour,

Jonathan Child, Ira West, Charles H. Carroll,

^William Pitkin, Frederick Bushnell and William

W. Mumford. Colonel Eochester was unanimously

elected president, but a few months later he re-

signed on account of impaired health and Judge

Strong was chosen in his place. A. M. Schermer-

horn was the cashier and John T. Talman the

teller. Levi Ward, jr., became president in 1830,

with James Seymour as cashier, and in 1838 Mr.
Seymour was elected president, David Scoville be-

coming the cashier. The location of the banlc was
on Exchange street, in the building afterward

occupied by the spcond Bank of Monroe, and now,

with much alteration, by the Genesee Valley

trust company. The banking hours were from

ten to two, quite long enough for the increasing

business of the institution, which declared its first

dividend of two dollars a share in September,

1825. The bank wound up its -affairs and went

out of existence by the expiration of its charter, in

1846.

The Bank of Monroe was the second one estab-

lished here, being organized in 1829, under a spe-

cial charter, with a capital of $300,000. Henry
Dwight, John Greig, Henry B. Gibson, James K.

Livingston, Jacob Gould, Elisha Johnson, Elijah

F. Smith, Charles J. Hill, Ebenezer Ely, Alexan-

der Duncan, James K. Guernsey, A. M. Schermer-

horn and Edmund Lyon constituted the first

board of directors, Mr. Schermerhom being the

first president, the others being Mr. Duncan,

Moses Chapin and Mr. Livingston; John T. Tal-

man, the first cashier, was succeeded by Ralph

Lester. The bank was located on the corner of

West Main and State streets, where the Powers

bank afterward stood, and was very successful

during the twenty years of its life, which ended

in 1849 by the expiration of its charter.

After the incorporation of the city the demand

for additional banking facilities became so great

that when the legislature, in May, 1836, passed the

act creating the Eochester City bank and appoint-

ing commissioners to receive subscriptions, the

capital stock of $400,000 was taken six times over,

and there was much dissatisfaction over the allot-

ment of the shares, which was entirely at the dis-

cretion of the commissioners. The original di-

rectors were H. B. Williams, Joseph Field, Henry

Martin, Nathaniel T. Eochester, P. G. Tobey, E.

F. Smith, Fletcher M. Haight, Ezra M. Parsons,

Derick Sibley, Philip Garbutt, A. Baldwin and

Robert Haight. The first president was Mr. Wil-

liams, who was succeeded by Thomas H. Rochester

and he by Mr. Field. F. M. Haight was for some

time the cashier, then came Christopher T. Ams-

den and then Benjamin F. Young, upon whose

resignation, after twenty-three years of service,

Charles E. Upton was appointed. When the af-

fairs of the bank were wound up, in October, 1864,

after having paid the shareholders an average of

about nine per cent, per annum, the stock and a

small surplus were returned to the owners.
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As the First National bank was the immedi-

ate successor of the City bank, being organized

at the very time when the latter ended, with very

largely the same board of directors and with

B. M. Parsons as president and C. E. Upton as

cashier, and as it 'stepped at once into the quarters

of the other bank and occupied them throughout

its existence, it may as well be considered in this

order, even though several others sprang up before

it. Within three months its original capital of

$100,000 was increased to $200,000, and to $400,-

000 in August, 1871, when it purchased the assets

of the Clarke national bank. For several years

after the Civil war the bank conducted a very

profitable business, dividing an average of eleven

per cent, per annum on its stock, but in 1872 it

changed its character from a national to a state

institution ; it went through the form of voluntary

liquidation and transferred its assets to a new

corporation, styled the City bank of Eoehester,

but it was practically the same concern, for its

officers remained unchanged. A little later

Thomas Leighton becaime president, but he soon

resigned and Mr. Upton took the place, holding

it until December, 1882, when the bank got into

trouble, failed and passed into the hands of a

receiver.

The Bank of Western New York, established in

1839, the first one to be organized under the gen-

eral banking law of 1838, with a nominal capital

of $300,000, actually $180,000, was located in the

old Eoehester House building, south of the canal

on Exchange street. Its directorate was small,

consisting of James K. Guernsey, Henry Hawkins,

Frederick Whittlesey, Ezra M. Parsons and Gus-

tavus Clark, the first being the president, the last

the cashier. It existed for only two years, becom-

ing involved in the transactions of a lumber com-

pany to such an extent that when the latter failed

the former went with it and passed into the hands

of a receiver.

The Commercial bank of Eoehester, also, was

organized in 1839, with a strong board of directors,

consisting of Hervey Ely, Everard Peck, Thomas
H. Eoehester, Asa Sprague, Selah Mathews,

Thomas Emerson, Henry S. Potter, Henry P.

Culver, Isaac Moore, Harvey Montgomery, Oliver

Culver, Seth C. Jones, Silas Ball, Charles Church,

William Kidd, Erasmus D. Smith, A. M. Scher-

merhorn, Jonathan Child, Frederick Whittlesey,

Eufus Keelcr, John MeVean, Isaac Lacey, Preston

Smith, John McNaughton, Thomas Kempshall,

Nehemiah Osburn, H. Hutchinson, Eoswell Lock-

wood and Alexander Kelsey. The first officers were

Hervey Ely, president; Everard Peck, vice-presi-

dent (continuing as such and as practically the

manager until his death in 1854), and T. H.

Eoehester, cashier. Within a year Mr. Sprague

was elected president, and in 1843 George E.

Clark became the cashier, becoming the vice-presi-

dent in 1854, when Ilobart F. Atkinson succeeded

him in his former office; all three remained in those

positions till the dissolution of the bank in 1866,

which, after a career of great prosperity, was ren-

dered advisable by the lieavy taxes imposed on

sliareholders. It was located at first in the second

.^tory "T llie l)iiildiiig on I'Jxduiiigi' slr(!ot ocriipied

then by the Bank of Eoehester ; in 1841 it erected

a stone banking-house of its own on the south

side of West Main street, on a part of the site

now covered by the Wilder block; on the destruc-

tion of its habitation by fire in 1856 it built an-

other on Exchange street, now occupied by the

Mechanics savings bank, using in the meantime n

portion of the Eoehester Savings bank building.

The Farmers & Mechanics bank was another

that began in 1839, with a capital of $100,000, A.

G. Smith being the president and Elon Hunting-

ton the cashier, with Frederick Starr and Charles

J. Hill as the other directors. It was located al

first in the Gould block (now the Butts block) on

State street, at the corner of Corinthian, and

afterward moved directly across the street into the

Powers. Jacob Gould became the president in

1857, B. Darwin Smith some years later and Al-

fred Ely after that. After struggling against ad-

versity for some time it went into the hands of

a receiver in 1874.

Still another one, the Exchange bank, started

up in 1839, with G. W. Pratt as president, James

II. Pratt as cashier, but no further record of it

can be found.

Freeman Clarke, who had been previously con-

nected with the Bank of Albion, opened a bankin*?

office in the Irving hall block and two years later

organized tlie Eoehester hank, the capital being

$100,000, with himself as president and P. W.

Handy as cashier, and the location in the old Bank

of Eoehester building. Mr. Clarke retired in 1853,

beinji succeeded by Harrison S. Fairchild, and :i
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littlo Inter tliu Imiik uonl into luniidalioii; it was

subsoqiK'iilly rovivud atid conliiuii'il lor soiiio yoars

with II. G. Warner as president and afterward J.

Douglass Brown.

In 1850 Daniel W. Powers, who had before that

time been a clerk in a hardware store, opened a

private banking office on the spot that has ever

since then been inseparably connected with his

name. Thriving from the veiy start, the institu-

tion reaped a harvest by the early and continuous

purchase of government bonds during the Civil

war. It was incnr|)orated as the Powers bank in

June, 1890, Mr. Powers being the president and

continuing so till his death in 1897. Edward H.

Vredcnburgh was the vice-president, Williain C.

Powers the first cashier.

The Eagle bank of Rochester was formed in

August, 1850, with a capita of $100,000, in-

creased afterward to $200,000. Gideon W. Bur-

bnnkw was llie lirsl prcsiilcnt, with (lliarlcs P- Bis-

spU as cashier. It was located at the outset on

the corner of J*]ast Main and Soutii Water streets,

but in 1857, when William H. Cheney became

president and John B. Robertson cashier, it was

removed to the Masonic hall block.

On January 20th, 1853, the Union bank was or-

ganized, with the directorate of Aaron Erickson,

George II. Mumford, Ezra M. Parsons, Azariah

Boody, Edward Roggen, John M. French, Bphrairn

Moore, Rufus Keelcr, Lewis Brooks, William Gar-

butt, William Churchill, Melancton Lewis, Nehe-

miah B. Northrop, James AV. Sawyer, Asa

Sprague, Elisha Harmon, William Ailing and

Samuel Rand. The first president was Mr. Brick-

son, who hold that position while the bank existed
;

the first cashier was Oliver L. Terry. Its location

was in its own building on State street, opposite

Corinthian. It continued as a state bank till 1865,

when it passed into the national category and re-

mained so till 1872, when, on going into voluntary

liquidation, it returned their st;ock to the share-

holders with twelve per cent, additional. It was

succeeded by the firm of Erickson, Jennings &

Muraford, that by Erickson, Jennings & Co. and

that by the Union bank of Rochester, in 1885,

with Gilman H. Perkins as president and Erickson

Perkins as cashier.

The Manufacturers bank was organized in

185G, with G. W. Burbank as president, R. S. Docy

as cashier; location on East Main street. It did

not succeed very well and its capital of $200,000

became impaired, so the legislature passed an

act in 1859 permitting its consolidation with the

Eagle bank, mentioned above, and the formatioji

of a new institution called the Traders bank of

Rochester, with a capital of $250,000. The first

board of directors comprised the names of George

H. Mumford, John Crombie, John Haywood,

Araunah Moseley, Ralph Lester, George C. Buell,

Henry S. Potter, Melancton Lewis, Roswell Hart,

David R. Barton, Owen Gaflney, Horatio N. Peck.

John H. Brewster, Joseph Hall and James W.
Russell; Mr. Mumford was the president, Mr.

Crombie vice-president and Mr. Russell cashier.

On the resignation of Mr. Mumford he was suc-

ceeded by Mr. Russell (Elon C. Galusha becoming

the cashier) and he by Simon L. Brewster, who

held the office at the time of his death. For sev-

eral years the institution remained in the rooms

of the old Eagle bank, then it moved to State

street, then to the iirst floor of the Powers block,

(hen back to State street in greatly enlarged quar-

ters. It was reorganized as a national bank in

1865, with the same officers and directors. The

present officers are Henry. C. Brewster, president

;

Charles H. Palmer and Darrell D. Sully, vice-

presidents; Henry F. Marks, cashier; William J.

'i'rimble, assistant cashier. On January 1st, 1907,

(the time used with all these statements of banks

now existing), its capital was $500,000, surplus

$500,000, undivided profits $75,671.05.

The Flour City bank was organized in February,

1856. Starting in a very modest way in a back

room on the second floor of the old Corinthian

hall, it soon moved over to the ground floor of the

Union bank building, staying there till it was

burned out in 1868, after which it removed to

rooms in the Powers block and remained there till

November, 1883, when it occupied a new build-

ing which it had erected on the site of the old

City bank; there it dwelt until it was merged in

the National bank of Rochester at the beginning

of 1906. The original directors were Francis

Gorton, Ezra M. Parsons, Samuel Rand, Patrick

Barry, Oliver H. Palmer, Mortimer F. Reynolds,

Romania Hart, Lewis Brooks and Samuel Wilder.

Mr. Gorton was the president from the beginning

until his death in May, 1882; he was succeeded

by Mr. Barry, after whom were Henry B. Hatha-

way, Chauncey C. Woodworth and Walter B.
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Duffy. It became a national bank in June, 1865

;

its original capital was $200,000, afterward $300,-

000.

Freenuin Clarke organized anotlier bank in 1857,

called the Monroe County, with himself as presi-

dent, L. Ward Clarke as cashier ; capital $100,000,

location always in the old llochester Savings bank

building. In 1866 it became the Clarke National,,

with Freeman Clarke as president and T. Weed

Whittlesey as cashier, and in 1871 it was wound

up, the First National taking over its assets.

The second Bank of Monroe was organized in

1867, located in the old banlc building on Ex-

change street, capital $100,000, with Jarvis Lord

as president and AVilliam R. Seward as cashier.

In 1878 it passed into the control of Hiram Sib-

ley, who became president, Mr. Seward continuing

as cashier, W. Gaylord Mitchell afterward filling

the latter position ; it was absorbed by the Alliance

bank in 1900.

The second Bank of Rochester was formed ia

1875, capital $100,000, increased to $200,000, lo-

cated in the old savings banlc biiilding; the suc-

cessor of the banking firm of ICidd & Chapin,

Charles H. Chapin, being president and remain-

ing so till his death in 1882. Siibsequent changes

will be mentioned below.

Then came the second Commercial bank of

Rochester, organized in 1875, with Ilobart F. At-

kinson as president and Henry F. Huntington as

cashier. The first directors were H. F. Atkinson,

Edmund Lyon, M. F. Reynolds, H. Austin Brew-

ster, Charles F. Pond, Lewis IT. Morgan, Edmund
P. Willis, Theodore Bacon, H. F. Huntington

Samuel B. Raymond, C. G. Starkweather and

Jonas P. Varnura. It was made a national bank

in 1878 and its original capital of $100,000 was

raised to $200,000. It was always located, until

its merger in the National bank of Rochester, on

West Main street, at the head of Front.

The Merchants banl-c of Rochester was estab-

lisbed in the latter part of 1883, with a capital of

$100,000 and the following board of directors:

Charles J. Burke, George W. Archer, George K.

Mumford, James W. Whitney, William J. Ashley,

Patrick Cox, Rufus K. Dryer, Nathan Levi, Val-

entine F. Whitmore. Mr. Mumford was the presi-

dent till the time of his death, then Mr. Dryer,

then until his death Mr. Ashley, who had been thp

first cashier. The location of the bank has al-

ways been on the corner of East Main street and

South avenue. The present officers are Percy R,

McPhail, president ; Thomas J. Devine and Qeorgc

Weldon, vice-presidents ; .Tohn 0. Rodeubcck, cash-

ier. Its capital is $100,000, surplus $100,000,

undivided profits $36,566.61.

The Gei-man-American bank came into exist-

ence in 1884, with a capital of $200,000, as the

successor of the second Bank of Rochester, the

assets of which were taken over by the new con-

cern. The first directors were George W. Archer,

Frederick Cook, Louis Ernst, Frederick Goetz-

mann, Matthias Kondolf, Henry Bartholomay, If.

H. Craig, H. M. Ellsworth. Henry Hebing, George

Weldon and T. W. Whittlesey. Mr. Cook was the

president from the beginning until his death-

when he was succeeded by Eugene Satterlee; Mr.

Whittlesey was the first cashier, being followed a

little later by Frederic P. Allen, who filled the

place till he died. After remaining on State street

for four years the bank was removed to the new

ten-story building of the Rochester German in-

surance company, on the corner of West Main

street and Irving place, and when that was en-

larged two years ago the banlc spread over the

first and second floors, that additional space being

rendered necessary by its merger with the Floui

City national bank on the Ist of January, 1906,

and by its absorption of the Commercial national

bank on the 1st of May following. At the time

of the first merger mentioned its name was

changed to the National bank of Rochester. The

present officers are Eugene Satterlee, president;

Walter B. Duffy and Granger A. Hollister, vice-

presidents; Peter A. Vay, cashier, William B.

Farnham, first assistant. The capital is $1,000,-

000, surplus $1,000,000, undivided profits $64,-

469.45.

In 1888 the Central bank of Rochester was or-

ganized, with a capital of $100,000, the following-

named making up the board of directors : Samuel

Wilder, Arthur Luetchford, William B. Morse,

Benjamin E. Chase, Frank S. Upton, Samuel

Sloan, S. V. McDowell, Charles M. Everest, John-

son 1. Robins, Brackett H. Clark, Charles S. Hast-

ings, Charles E. Hoyt and Henry R. East. The

first named was the president, Mr. Luetchford the

vice-president and George Wilder the cashier. The

bank has been from the beginning in the Wilder

block, but its increasing business has compelled it
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to enlarge its quarters twice, so that now it occu-

pies all of the first floor on the Main street front.

Its present officers are Benjamin E. Chase, presi-

dent; George Wilder, vice-president; John H.

Gregory, cashier, and H. H. Clapp, assistant. It>!

capital stock is $200,000, surplus $175,000, un-

divided profits $50,000.
'

The Alliance bank came into the Held in 18t)3,

being organized on March lOtli of that year, with

a capital of $150,000 and a board of dircctois con-

sisting of Henry C. Brewster, George W. Thayer,

David Hays, Charles H. Palmer, George C. Buell,

jr., Edmund Ocumpaugh, George Eastman,

Charles E. Angle, Abram J. Katz, James G. Cut-

ler, Fernando E. Rogers, Ijouis Oricshoimer, By-

.'on D. McAlpine and Eli M. Upton, Mr. Thayer

being the president, Messrs. Brewster and McAl-

pine vice-presidents, and Albert 0. Fenn cashier.

The Bank of Monroe was merged with this ono

November ]'5th, when the capital was increased

to its present amount. The bank has always been

located on East Main street, being for the firs-t

few years on the west comer of Stone street, after

which it moved across Stone to the east corner,

purchasing the building and opening a ladies' de-

partment, the first of the kind in the city so far

iis known, which example has been followed by

iiiost of the other banks; in common with almost

all the others it doubled its quarters about a year

ago. The present officers are Hobart F. Atkin-

son, president; J. G. Cutler and A. 0. Fenn, vice-

presidents, the latter being also the cashier; John

P. Palmer, first assistant cashier. Tne capital

stock is $275,000, surplus $275,000, undivided

profits $1G,324.35.

Last to come into the field was the National

bank of Commerce. In view of the diminution in

the number of banks in the city this was organized

on the 1st of March, 190G, and immediately es-

tablished itself in the Flour City bank building,

which it had purchased. The capital was $500,000

and the directors were William Deininger, William

II. Uunn, Frank A. MascUi, Max Loweuthal,

Charles F. Garfield, Robert M. Myers, James D.

Casey, Josepli W. Pressy, Thomas J. Swanton,

Frank A. Brownell, Albert J. Bolton, William E.

Diigan, Henry B. flatliawny, William S. Hale,

Lorou H. Eldredgp, Fratdc X. Kelly, M. F. Van

Buskirk, Martin E. Wollf, Griff D. Palmer, Ericic-

son Perkins. The president was Mr. Myers, the

vice-presidents Messrs. Dunn, Deininger and

Swanton, the last named being also the cashier,

with Edwin W. Burton as assistant cashier. All

of them fill those positions at this time. The pres-

ent capital is $500,000, surplus $100,000, undi-

vided profits $11,413.05.

In the foregoing list no mention has been made,

except incidentally, of the many private banking

houses and banking firms that there have been

here, the most prominent of which, perhaps, was

the Perrin bank, established in 1857, the others

being those of- Ebenezer Ely, George W. Pratt,

John T. Talman, Bissell & Amsden, H. A. Brew-

ster & Co., Abram Karnes, Ward & Brother, AUis,

Waters & Co., Fairchild & Smith, Green Brothers

& Co., T. B. & W. Corning, Stettheimer, Tone &
Co., F. J. Amsden and Raymond & Huntington.

THE SAVINGS BANKS.

We come now to the savings banks. The sixth

of these incorporated by the legislature of the

state and the first one east of Albany was tho

Rochester Savings bank, which has grown steadily

stronger during the seventy-five years of its exist-

ence. Vincent Mathews and Isaac Hills prepared

the original charter and, although an effort wag

made to get tlie bill passed in 1829, it was not

done till a year later. The incorporators were Levi

A. Ward, Jacob Graves, Everard Peck, William

S. Whittlesey, David Scoville, Edward R. Everest,

Willis Kempshall, Jonathan Child, Ezra M. Par-

sons, Ashbel W. Riley, Albermarle H. Washburn,

Joseph Medbery, Lyman B. Langworthy, Elihu

F. Marshall and Harvey Frink. They organized

on May 10th, 1831, by the election of Mr. Ward as

president, Mr. Frink as treasurer and Mr. Sco-

ville as secretary. Until 1841 the bank occupied

a portion of the old Bank of Rochester building

on Exchange street; in that year it erected and

occupied the little stone structure on State street,

used afterward by so many other financial insti-

tutions and now taken by an express company

;

there it remained till 1853, when it was removed

to its new and present location on the corner of

East Main and Fitzhugh streets, which was then

the mdst imposing edifice in the city and which

was much enlarged in 1875. Deposits did not

come in very rapidly, the first one being made on

the 1st of July, of thirteen dollars, and there be-

ing only nine accounts during the first quarter,
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aggregating $114; by the beginning of the next

year the business had risen to forty-two accounts

with a total of $3,429.82, though during the

month of February the receipts wore only seven-

teen dollars; the first dividend, on July 1st, 1832,

amounted to $67.10. The present officers are Ho-

bart F. Atkinson, president; Rufus A. Sibley,

Granger A. HoUister and James S. Watson, vice-

presidents; Henry S. Hanford, treasurer, and

Thomas H. Husband, secretary. The deposits are

$20,825,322.98, the surplus is $1,731,297.89.

Next to this was the Monroe County Savings

bank, which was incorporated on the 8th of April,

1850, under tlie title of the llonroe County Sav-

ings Institution, the first board of trustees con-

sisting of Levi A. Ward, Everard Peck, Freeman

Clarke, Nelieniiali Osborn, Ephraim Moore, David

R. Barton, George W. Parsons, William W. Ely,

William N. Sage, Alvah Strong, Martin Briggs,

Thomas Hanvey, Lewis Selye, Moses Chapin,

Ebenezer Ely, Daniel B. Lewis, Amon Bronson,

Joel P. Milliner, Charles W. Dundas, George Ell-

wanger and Theodore B. Hamilton. Everard Peck

was the first ])resident and Freeman Clarke the

first treasurer. It began business on the 3d of June

in the year named in the office of the Rochester

bank on Exeliange street; it was removed in 1854

to what was then known as the City hall building

on Buffalo street, where the Powers Hotel now

stands, and four years later to the Masonic hall

block. Having purchased a lot on State street the

bank erected a building attractive in appearance,

into which it moved in 1802, and which, somewhat

enlarged after that, it has occupied ever since. The
present officers are James E. Booth, president; Ru-

fus K. Dryer and Alexander M. Lindsay, vice-

presidents; David Hoyt, secretary and treasurer;

William B. Lee, attorney. The deposits amount to

$16,551,490.38, the surplus is $1,476,818.70.

The Mechanics Savings bank began business on

the 1st of June, 1867, its first trustees being

George R. Clark, Patrick Barry, Lewis Selyc,

Thomas Parsons, George J. Whitney, George G.

Cooper, Jiirvis Lord, Samuel Wilder, Martin Reed,

David Upton, Charles H. Chapin, Gilman H. Per-

kins, Handct D. Scrantom, Oliver Allen, Edward

M. Smith, Abram S. Mann, Charles J. Burk?,

Chauncey B. AVoodworth, A. Carter Wilder, James

M. Whitney and Edward E. Sill, Mr. Clark being

the first president and John H. Rochester the first

secretary and treasurer. Upon its organizatioii

tlie institution purchased the building of the old

Coinmoi'cial bank, whore it has always been located.

Tlic present olflecrs arc John J. Bausch, presi-

dent; William R. Seward and William B. Hale,

vice-presidents; Stephen G. Hollister, secretary

and treasurer; Fedor Williiuek, assistant secretary

and cashier. The deposits are $3,556,391.15, th»

surplus is $233,175.56.

Ill Novoinber, J 869, the East Si<le Savings bank,

which had been incorporated in fhe previous April,

began business in the old Washington hall block,

on East Main and North Clinton streets, where it

remained until 1884, when it moved into its own
buildings, then just completed, on the opposite

corner, where it still remains. Its first board of

trustees consisted of Isaac F. (Jiiinby, Horatio

G. Warner, Henry S. Hebard, Hiram Davis, Mi-

chael Filon, William N. Emerson, Hector Mc-
Lean, Edward Ocumpaugh, James Vick, Elias

Wollf, Truman A. Newton, Abner Green, David
1\. Barton, J. Moreau Smith, Pliny M. Bromley,

William A. Hubbard, Araunah Moseley, Erastus

Harrow, Henry Lamport, I;ouis Ernst and Lucius

L. May. Mr. Bromley was the first president.

Messrs. Emerson and Hebard vice-presidents.

Piatt B. Viele secretary and treasurer. Judge
Warner attorney. The present officers are Benja-

min E. Chase, president; W. Henry Mathews and
Alexander B. Ijamberton, vice-presidents; Burton
H. Davy, secretary and treasurer; Cassius C.

Davy, attorney. The deposits are $6,466,818.70,

the surplus is $281,117.92.

No particular description is needed of the Six-

Penny Savings bank, started in 1854, which strug-

gled along for four years and then gave up, as

there was evidently no denuind for its existence.

THE TRUST COMPANIES.

Trust companies, which now constitute so prom-
inent a feature in the financial world, were slow

in making their ajipearance in Rochester. What
furned out to be the herald of that class in thi-s

city was Iho Ivocliestcr Safe Deposit company,

which was started in 1868. with a capital of $100,-

000, and which for twenty yeai's confined itself

strictly to the business indicated by its namo.

Its first president was William N. Sage, the vice-

president being Jonathan E. Pierpont, the secre-

tary William J. Ashley and the superintendent
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Knos T. BiUdwiii. A charter was granted to it in

1883 to take on the business of a trust company,

but it did not avail itself of the powers- thereby

conferred until 1888, when, $200,000 having been

subscribed, the new concern, under the title of

the Rochester Trust and Safe Deposit company,

look over all the business, assets and liabilities of

+he old company and on the 5th of June in the

year named left tlie quarters wliich it had previ-

ously occupied in tlic Monroe County Savings bank

building and moved into the new one which it

erected on Exchange street, near West Main. The

directors at that time were J. Moreau Smith, Pat-

rick Barry, Louis Chapin, Eobert M. Myers, Wil-

liam N. Cogswell, George EUwangcr, William D.

Ellwanger, C. B. Woodworth, C. C. Woodworth,

Miram W. Sibley, John II. Brewster, Henry C.

Brewster, E. Frank Brewster, Frank A. Ward,

Eugene T. Curtis, B. D. McAlpine and Augustus

Frank; J. Jlorcau Smitli was the president, H.

C. Brewster and C. B. Woodworth the vice- presi-

dents, Haywood Hawks the secretary, Cogswell,

Bentley & Cogswell the counsel and Enos T.

Baldwin the superintendent of vaults. In the

early part of last year the company moved into its

new building, a line stone edifice, on West Main

street, at the corner of Exchange. The present

olliuers are V. Moreau Smith, president; William

C. Barry, vice-president; Itobcrt C. Watson, secre-

tary; Taylor D. Bidwell, assistant secretary; Aus-

tin H. Cole, superintendent. The deposits amount

io $21,205,584.23.

Stimulated by the success of the foregoing the

Security Trust company was formed in 1892,

opening for business November 1st with deposits

of $148,509.82, the capital stock being $200,000.

The incorporators were William S. Kimball,

Granger A. Hollister, Arthur Luetchford, Arthur

G. Yates, Erickson Perkins, Benjamin B. Chase,

J. Lee Judson, Julius M. Wile, James S. Watson,

Frank S. Upton, C. Walter Smith, George C. Buell,

jr., George Wilder, Frederick A. Whittlesey, J.

Alexander Hayden, Hiram W. Sibley, Oilman H.

Perkins, Thomas W. Finucane and George C. Hol-

lister, who, with the addition of Donald Mc-

Naughton, William L. Mercer and Albert H. Har-

ris, became the first board of trustees; the officers

then were Hiram W. Sibley, president; Messrs.

G. IT. Perkins, Kimball and G. A. Hollister, vice-

|)rosidonta; Mr. Mercer, secrelary. The first loca-

tion of the company was the old Osburn home-

stead, on the corner of East avenue and Elm
street, which was purchased and remodeled for

the purpose; that being sold afterward and torn

down to make way for the Liberty building, the

company moved in 1894 to the Granite building,

finally moving, in February, 1897, into its own
office, then just completed, on East Main street,

at the corner of South Water, where it still dwells,

with an enlargement of its quarters two years ago.

The present officers are Edward Harris, president

;

A. M. Lindsay, J. S. Watson and J. M. Wile, vice-

presidents; Frank M. EUery, secretary; George

P. Gulp, assistant. The deposits are $10,976,-

077.73.

The Union Trust company was organized De-

cember 1st, 1897, with Erickson Perkins as presi-

dent, B. E. Chase and Frank H. Clement vice-

presidents, Frederick W. ZoUer secretary, and as

directors in addition to those G. N. Perkins,

George C. Seager, W. W. Dake, Irving Rouse, J.

E. McKelvey, Abram E. Wollf, Prank Taylor,

Thomas Brown, Charles B. Hudson and E. S. Et-

tenlieimer, the capital being $200,000. The com-

pany eventually took over the business of the

Union bank, in whose building it has always been

located. The present officers are Frank Taylor,

president; George Weldon and Allan B. Eraser,

vice-presidents; F. W. ZoUer, secretary; Deloss

M. Rose, assistant. The deposits are $3,830,000.

In February, 1898, the Fidelity Trust cdmpany

came into existence, taking over all the business

of the Powers bank, in the office of which it has

always been located. The first president was Lew-

is P. Ross; vice-president, J. Lee Judson; secre-

tary, J. Craig Powers; attorneys, Perkins & Hays;

additional directors, R. K. Dryer, J. E. Booth,

L. L. Williams, Walter W. Powers, J. J. L. Fried-

crich, A. J. Katz, Joseph Michaels, J. C. Wood-

bury, Edward Bausch, J. L. Judson, Fred C. Loebs,

A. B. Hone, W. R. Seward, A. T. Hagen, W. B.

Duify, W. J. Ashley and Louis F. Ernst. The pres-

ent officers are L. P. Ross, president; J. C. Pow-

ers, vice-president and manager ; George J. Keyes,

secretary. The deposits are $0,883,145.50.

The youngest of all the trust companies is the

Genesee Valley, which opened for business Sep-

tember ;)d, 1901, in its own building on E.xchange

street, on the site that had been the home of fio

mnny bonking institutions since the formation of
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the old Bank of Rochester. Its first officers were

Henry C. Brewster, president; Frank H. Hamlin

and Charles H. Palmer, vice-presidents, the last

named being also the secretary; in addition io

those the directors were John F. Alden, Leo Bloch,

Carroll E. Bowen, George C. Buell, R. Titus Coan,

W. Deininger, T. B. Dunn, Charles P. Ford, J.

S. Graham, W. B. Hale, A. B. Lamberton, P. C.

Loeb, W. S. Morse, W. H. Mathews, T. M. Os-

borne, C. E. Rider, Clinton Rogers, M. S. Sand-

ford, John S. Sheppard, F. A. Steelier, D. D.

Sully, V. F. Whitmore, J. C. Winters, W. E. Wood-

bury. The present officers are the same as at

first, with the addition of H. C. Howlett, assist-

tant secretary. The deposits are $5,670,284.79.

It wj^ll be seen from the foregoing that tlie

amount of deposits in the Rochester savings banics

on the first of January was a little less than fifi.y

million dollars, counting in the surplus it was

somewhat more than that sum ; the trust compa-

nies had at the same time a trifle more of deposits

than the savings banks, so that the money of tlu;

people, safely stored away in the institutions of

those two classes alone, was about one hundred mil-

lion dollars, somewhat different from the state of

things just seventy-five years before, when it was

less than four thousand dollars.

THE OliEAItlNG-HOUSE.

An important adjunct to any large collection of

banks is the clearing-house, intended for the facili-

tation of the exchange of items and settlement of

balances among those institutions and a medium
for united action upon all questions affecting their

mutual welfare. The system was known in Rome,

but sank into disuse after the fall of the empire

and was revived in modern times, reaching its

highest development in Italy, so that throughout

the eighteenth century Piacenza was known as

the clearing-house of Europe. The system was
not adopted in Great Britain till 1760, when a

clearing-house was established in Edinburgh, the

one in London following fifteen years later; it did

not come into use in New York till 1853, and

Rochester, numerous as were the banks here, got

along without it up to 1890. On the Ist of May
in that year an association was formed here and
it has been of the greatest usefulness ever since

then. The report for 1906 shows that the clearinas

last year amounted to about half a 'million less

than two hundred million dollars, a daily aver-

age of over six hundred thousand. The present

officers of Llic association are William C. Barry,

president; Rufus A. Sibley, vice-president; John

H. Gregory, secretary and treasurer; Peter A.

Vay, manager; William G. Watson, assistant man-

ager. The office is in the Powers block, where the

representatives of the different banks meet eacii

day for the transaction of business.

The Rocliesler Slock i'lxchange is a still younger

organization, having been formed only three years

ago. It has been found to be of great advantage,

in that its operations give a definite value to local

stocks and thus prevent a ruinous variation in

prices. Its transactions are very large, and the

three daily calls are always well attended. The

officers are Arthur B. Enos, president; John A,

Burgess, vice-president; Arthur G. Moore, secre-

tary; Henry D. Quinby, treasurer.

THE rNSUKAVCE COMPANIES.

Although insurance companies are not banking

corporations, yet they are certainly financial in-

stitutions, and the recent investigation in Netv

York city shows how large a part they can play

in the monetary world. They may, thereforOj prop-

erly be treated of in this chapter. Until lately

Rochester was never conspicuous in this direction.

The Monroe fire insurance company with a capi-

tal of $250,000, incorporated March Olh, 1825,

lasted but little over a year, the IMutual Protection,

in 1844, was almost equally shortlived, and Ihe

Farmers and Merchants insurance company of

Western New York, incorporated in 1850, existed

only four years. There was one, however, that was

quite successful for nearly thirty years, the Monroe
County Mutual, organized March 21st, 1836. It

insured only farm property, taking no risks in the

city, and its policies ran for five years, the tot;il

amount of insurance being nearly one hundred

million dollars. Tt was managed with singular

economy, for its expenses, including salaries, never

came to five hundred dollars a year. Its charter

expired in 1876, but before that time arrived the

business had become unprofitable by reason of com-

petition, so the company wound up its affairs in

February, 1865, tnrning over the small balance on

band Io the Female OharitaWe society. A. M.
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Sclicnnei'lioru was Uie first president, Lyman B.

Langworthy the last; Levi A. Ward was the sec-

retary and treasurer during all of its existence.

At last one company came to stay, the Rochester

German insurance company, organized February

22d, 1873, with a capital of $100,000, by those ex-

clusively of Teutonic extraction if not of birth,

though since then several distinctively Aiuorican

have become both stockholders and directors. For

sixteen years it was located on the second floor of

the Rochester Savings bank building, but in 1888

it moved into its new structure on West Main
street, at the corner of Irving place, which was

nearly doubled in size two years ago and which Is

to be still further enlarged to an almost equal

extent during this year, after which the company

will occupy the entire third floor. In common
with most other concerns of the kind in the United

States, it suffered greatly by the San Francisco

fire, but it met its losses there by the payment

of more than six hundred thousand dollars, and its

report on the 1st of January showed that it had
then a capital of $500,000, with a surplus of $530,-

000. Its first president was Louis Bauer, its first

secretary Rudolph Vay, the present oflicers are Eu-

gene Sattcrlee, president; Albrecht Vogt, vice-

president; H. F. Atwood, secretary; J. F. Camp
and n. R. Mutschler^ assistants.

Of late years several insurance companies have

come into existence, some of which, like the Em-
pire State, were, after the lapse of a few years,

wound up with loss to the stockholders; others of

which, like the Title and Guarantee (afterward

Indemnity) company, have been absorbed in larger

concerns; others continue to do business in a

moderate way.



CHAPTER XVI

BENEFICENT ACTIVITIES.

The Female Oharitable Society—The City Hos-

pital—St. Mary's Hospital—The State Hospital

—Infants Summer Hospital—TJie Orphan Asy-

lums—Homes for the Aged—The Industrial

School—The Humane Society—Prevention of

Cruelty—Children's Aid Society—The Woman's

Union—The Playground League—Organization

of Charity—The B'nai P'rith—The Social Set-

tlement—The Boys Evening Home—The

Needlework Guild—The Bible Society.

THE FEMALE CHARITABLE SOCIETY.*

The Eochester Female Charitable society is one

cf the oldest societies of the kind in the country,

as the expressive adjective denoting its exelusive-

ness implies, asserting itself as distinctively .1

woman's society, in name at least, although the

other sex was honored in the election of trustees.

The St. Vincent de Paul society, in New York,

and one or two others in the country ante-date it

by a few years. In the village of Rochester there;

were no public schools, and so none for the children

of the poor, as they could not afford to pay for

their tuition; so some of the prominent women of

the village started what they called a "eharitv

school," to which were to be admitted, as the con-

stitution says, "none except orphans, or those

whose parents are in such indigent circumstances

that they are totally unable to defray the expenses

of their children's tuition. Onlv two shall be ad-

"This sketch was prepared by Mrs. Oscar Craig, the president
of the society.

mittcd from one family at the same time, and they

shall continue only four years eai'h, and the imin-

ber of scholars shall be limited to forty-five. None

under four or over twelve years of age, excepting

they be unfortunate, or for some special reason

t^ie directors see fit to admit them." There is a

little touch of pathos as well as diversion in loolc-

ing over the records of the school, inscribed on the

antiquated yellow-leaved pages of the little blue

book, and see the entries against the name ot each

scholar— its guardian, in many places, being

Widow Eice, Widow Fox, and others of like record,

the widow always being prominent.

Josiah Bissell, sr., offered the ladies a furnished

room on State street, where the Bank of Commerce

now stands, and there the school was carried on for

two or three years. The founders of the school

had formed themselves into a society, electing offi-

cers who were called superintendents of the school,

and several young ladies offered their services as

teachers, rotating each week, so that the duty was

not burdensome. The school had been in existence

from 1822, and in 1824 Wm. N. Fitzhugh gave a

lot on North Washington street, "near the forest,"

for a school-house, but, as there was no money to

build the school-house, it was necessary to call up-

on the people of the village to help in the emer-

gency, and Eev. Mr. Savage, the Baptist clergy-

man, preached a sermon in behalf of the cause, and

the munificent sum of $38 was given for the pur-

pose, which it is needless to say was only a nucleus

to a larger fund, which evidently was completed by

other gifts, so that the school-house was built, and

permanent teachers employed, one of whom was a

Mrs. Sadler, and also a Miss Cook. In 1832 Iho
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li'iiclicr and several pupils tlied of cholera, wlien it

was so prevalent tliToughout the country, and tlie

school was suspended for a time. Some of the

supervisors of the school mentioned about this

time are Mrs. T. H. Rochester, Mrs. Bverard Peck,

Mrs. Atkinson, Mrs. Child, Mrs. West, Miss Ma-
thews

; superintendents of the school, Miss Ewing
and Miss Stone. Upon the founding of the public

schools in 1841 it was discontinued, except the

sewing-school. The school lot was sold in 1840,

and the money received from the sale was kept for

future use.

The records of the society from the beginning to

1827 either were not kept at all or were lost, so

that in all the succeeding years it has been the

inherited fact that the Charitable society was in

truth formed on February 26th, 1822, at the home

of Mrs. Everard Peck, corner of Spring and South

Fitzhugh streets, and Mrs. Levi Ward was elected

president and Mrs. Peck treasurer, no secretary

being mentioned. In one history of the society,

written in 1844, the writer, whose name is not

given, says she is indebted chiefly to the memories

of the early founders, and they do not furnish the

most unportant items. She mentions the charity

school, but only gives the name of the treasurer

and the object of the society, being the relief of

sick and indigent families, and the establishment

of a charity-school. The records of 1832 are the

first to give the officers and directors, visitors and

collectors, although there were these officials prior

to that period.

In 1827 Mrs. James K. Livingston was presi-

dent, Mrs. Scoville vice-president, Mrs. Frederick

Whittlesey treasurer, nine directresses, and eignt

women as school committee. To become a mem-

ber of the society an annual fee of twenty-five

cents was required, and in 1828 two collectors

were appointed, who were assigned their districts,

and went about the city to solicit this small con-

tribution from the citizens. This was afterward

increased to fifty cents, and the custom was kept

up, with collectors for each ward, until a few

years ago. The fourteen visitors were also assigned

their duties, to ascertain the condition of the indi-

gent and sick in the section given them, and to see

that the children went to school and Sabbath

school. The society was incorporated in 1855, with

Messrs. S. G. Andrews, Levi A. Ward, John Wil-

liams, Moses Chapin, William N. Sage, as trustees.

.). T. Talmau, Everard Peck and S. D. Porter hav-
ing previously had charge of the investments. One
fact has been prominent in all the work of this
organization, that it has been strictly undenomina-
tional from the beginning. A custom adopted in
the first years of its existence was the preaching
of an annual sermon by one of the village clergy-
men for the benefit of the society, all the othur
churches being closed for the occasion, and a col-

lection being taken. In 1822 Rev. Mr. Cuming,
the rector of St. Luke's church, was the first to per-

form the duty, and the amount realized was about
$36. In 1823 Rev. Dr. Penney preached the ser-

mon. This custom was kept up until 1850, all the

different clergymen taking their turn in the good

work. In 1872 Rev. Dr. Shaw preached the fif-

tieth anniversary sermon, reviewing the past as

only he, with his knowledge of the society and its

work in the past, could do. Personal effort was
unstintingly bestowed by making garments, bed-

ding and other articles. Mrs. Abelard Reynolds

and Mrs. Byington each every year used to piece

and quilt a bed quilt for the worthy cause, the task

b^ng continued by Mrs. Reynolds until a few years

before her death, an unprecedented benefaction,

considering her great age. During the previous

years the village had not been an ideal dwelling

place, and the subject had been often brought up
in the meetings of the board of having a work-

house, and the ladies had written to Boston for in-

formation, as to the mode of procedure to accom-

plish their object. They applied to the common
council, their plea was favorably received, and in

1844 the present penitentiary was built.

The work amongst the sick showed the need of

a hospital. About 1845 the ladies attempted to

arouse public interest in the project, not relaxing

their efforts as time went on, in the meantime

renting rooms in the Home for the Friendless for

sick people about a year; In May, 1847, the City

hospital was incorporated with a board of direc-

tors comprising some of the prominent men of the

city, but nothing was done toward a building. In

1851 the Charitable society petitioned the com-

mon council to obtain the Western cemetery lot on

West avenue, and after considerable delay in get-

ting a title eventually the ground was secured. The
common coTincil agreed to transfer to the hospital

directors the residue of the almshouse fund of

$7,000, if they would raise the additional sum of
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$5,000 for building the hospital. The directors

applied to the Charitable society for aid, and the

ladies raised nearly $6,000, to which they added

the first legacy of the society of $500 from Evcrard

Peck in 1854, and $700, the avails of the sale of

the Charity school lot, and placed the money at the

disposal of the directors, thus securing to the

Charitable society a perpetual free bed in the City

hospital.

When the central building of the hospital was

completed in 1863 the directors requested that a

committee from the Charitable society be ap-

pointed to confer with them and devise plans for

the furnishing of the hospital. A committee was ap-

pointed, one member of which, Mrs. Wm. H. Per-

kins, is still with us. This committee raised $5,000

to help furnish the building, aided by churches and

individuals, and the entire management except the

medical department was entrusted to this society,

and was called the board of managers of the City

hospital, and to a certain degree their interest still

continues, and it is an accepted fact that the City

hospital is a child of the Charitable society.

Since its formation this charity has been favored

by gifts from many others besides our citizens.

In 1851 Jenny Lind came to entertain the good

people with her wonderful voice, and the sum real-

ized from premiums on the seats was $800, which

she gave to the society. In 1855 P. T. Barnum

gave a lecture and left $256.00 for the benefit of

the sick poor. In 1865 after the great flood which

caused such devastation, and brought destitution

and suffering to certain portions of the city, the

citizens generously contributed for the relief of

these people the sum of about $2,000, and also an-

other gift after a great fire in 1868. We have at

present about $50,000 as our endowment fund,

which in great measure enables the society to keep

pace in its work with the growth of the city, with

the additional sum given every year as the result

of the annual appeal. There are about 400 per-

sons on our list most of the time, either sick, or

old and feeble, some of whom receive twenty-five

cents a week, and from that to one dollar a week,

and sometimes more in severe cases, according to

the necessity of the case. Many of these worthy

people are aged women, alone in the world without

a home or friends to care for them, who, through

no fault of their own, are brought to a helpless

condition, and shrink from contact with the class

of people they would be housed with at the alms-

house.

The Charitable society has no permanent abid-

ing place, no salaried officers, but is dependent

upon its friends for a room in which to hold its

meetings, since its membership has become so large

that they cannot be held in the homes of its treas-

urer and assistant treasurer, as formerly was the

custom, and, like some of the recipients of its

bounty, for many years it was not long stationary

in one place. For several years its meeting-place

has been the guild room of St. Luke's church.

The aim of the good women who formed this or-

ganization was practical to a degree, not to pau-

perize whom they sought to help, but to encourage

them as far as possible to help themselves, when

not incapacitated by sickness or extreme poverty.

This all required discrimination and good sense;

sometimes they were imposed upon, as we are in

these days, but, above all that, the good done was

beyond human comprehension. As the result of

their foresight and efforts came the most of our

city charities, and as the years went on and the

original workers ceased from their labors, their

daughters, and grand-daughters, and, in some

families, great grand-daughters, took their places,

imbued with the same spirit, and finding the same

need for effort as in former days.

For several years from the beginning the offices

of secretary and treasurer were filled by the same

person. About 1837 Mrs. James K. Livingston's

name appears as president. Aftcrwai-d Mrs. Silas

0. Smith, Mrs. Norton, Mrs. James H. Gregory.

Mrs. Webster held the office for several years. Mrs.

Scoville, Mrs. P. F. Backus, Mrs. Atkinson, Mrs.

S. L. Selden, Mrs. Wm. Mumford, Mrs. Joseph

Strong, and a few other names. In 1860 Mrs.

Maltby Strong was president, which office she held

until 1885—twenty-five years. There were numer-

ous treasurers during all that time—Mrs. Colmau,

Mrs. Pomeroy, Mrs. Jonathan Child, Mrs. Whittle-

sey, who held the office two different times, Mrs.

Sampson, Mrs. T. H. Rochester, Mrs. Hunt, Mrs.

Ford, Mrs. Chas. M. Jjce, Mrs. Schermerhorn, Mrs.

Samuel Miller, Mrs. N. T. Rochester, Mrs. James

Webster, Mrs. Selah Mathews, Mrs. S. G. Andrews,

Mrs. Pitkin, Mrs. Fred'k Starr, Mrs. Wm. H. Per-

kins, Mrs. Alexander McVean, Miss C. L. Roches-

ter, Miss Long, Mrs. Edgar Holmes, Mrs. Bmmett

Hollister, Mrs. David M. Hough, Mrs. H. P. Brew-
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ster and our present treasurer, Miss Sarah Frost,

who has held the oflice since 1892. The first men-

tion of a secretary distinct from a treasurer seems

to have been about 1860, when Mrs. Wm. C. Row-

ley was elected, afterward Mrs. A. G. Mudge and

then Mrs. Adolphus Morse. In 18G9 Mrs. Oscar

Craig was elected and continued in office until

1884, when Mrs. Arthur Robinson took the place,

which she still holds. Now we have a correspond-

ing secretary, Mrs. Wm. D. Ellwanger. The as-

sistant treasurer for several years was Mrs. Henry

R. Selden, who died in 1903, the present incum-

bent being Mrs. C. A. Vanderbeck. The vice-

presidents are Mrs. Adolphus Morse, Mrs. Charles

II. Webb, Mr."?. Theodore Bacon, Mrs. J. A. Van

Ingen, Mrs. W. G. Manning. The trustees are

Howard L. Osgood, William H. Ward, Granger A.

HoUister, J. Sherlock Andrews, James S. Watson,

J. Craig Powers.

The first circulars were printed in 1847. In 1829,

the year of the first election of officers in the

officially organized society as it now is, there were

sixteen visitors elected for as many districts. There

are now ninety-one districts and seventy-three visi-

tors, several having two or three districts. So the

work has gone on for eighty-five years, character-

ized by faithful service by all who have been en-

gaged in it, and so may it continue in the future,

blessed in its labors of love.

THE ROCHESTER CITY HOSPITAL.*

The Rochester City hospital, which however, i?

not owned or supported by the city as the name

might imply, was incorporated May 7tli, 1847. The

directors named were John B. Elwood, William

Pitkin, Isaac Hills, Thomas H. Rochester, Patrick

Kearney, Frederick Starr, Ralph Lester, Edward

M. Moore, John Williams, Elijah F. Smith and

David Barton. The following month there weii;

added to the board Levi A. Ward, John H. Thomp-

son, Jonathan Child, Aristarchus Champion, Ever-

ard Peck, James Webster, William Brewster, Jared

Newell, Alexander Kelsey, Harvey F. Montgomery.

Jacob Gould and Frederick F. Backus. These

twenty-three men were prominent and representa-

tive citizens. At the outset no funds were available

for the undertaking, and therefore no elTectivo

•This sketch of the hospital wag prepared by Dr. Charles
A. Dcwcy.

measures could be adopted. It was not until 1851,

when the co-operation of the Rochester Female
Charitable society was requested, that work was
commenced. The ladies responded heartily, and
thereafter the project was carried forward with

energy and practical wisdom, though difficulties

were met at every turn. To these devoted women
must be awarded the credit in large part of es-

tablishing the hospital. Their_ agency, was para-

mount in providing the first building, its equip-

of responsibility has never been withdrawn. The
management, except in the medical department,

was formally entrusted to them, and this transfeB

of i-esponsibility has never been withdrawn. The
institution was properly regarded as the creation

of the Charitable society.

The need of a public home for the sick had be-

come pressing as early as 1845, when the same

society appointed a committee to consider the sub-

ject and consult with other persons interested;

and that committee was continued from year to

year until their services were no longer needed.

Efforts were made to care for patients in hired

rooms, but were successively abandoned, chiefly

on account of the expense. Indeed, the financial

problem then and for many years following loomed

up as almost insoluble. Nevertheless obstacles

were gradually overcome and the work proceeded,

but not until sixteen years after the hospital was

incorporated was a building ready for use. How
this was accomplished by the Charitable society,

the directors, certain churches and benevolent citi-

zens, with initial help by the common council, is

I elated elsewhere in this chapter. Here it is neces'

sai'y only to stale that the city convoyed to the

directors the Western cemetery of three acres, in

which burials had ceased. Mount Hope having been

opened in 1838, and added $7,000 from the alms-

house fund. The Charitable society on its part

raised nearly $G,000 by subscription and appro-

priated $1,200 in cash. Work was commenced and

the central building was completed in the autumn

of 1862, but could not be occupied because as yet

unfurnished. The ladies, again appealed to, 'met

the emergency by raising a large amount, over

$7,000. The directors added $1,000, given to them

by the Collegiate institute. With these sums the

building was properly equipped and on January

29tb, 1864, was duly dedicated to the service of the

public. It is probable that a feAV sick persons had
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been treated the previous summer. Indeed there

is an early record to that effect. The first patient

after the formal opening was admitted February

Ist. By June following, sick and wounded soldiers

began to arrive. The building was soon overtaxed

and tents were placed on the lawn. In the next

twenty months 448 soldiers were received. Most

of these the government had transferred before the

end of 1865, but a few remained for several years.

A nominal charge of two dollars a week was fixed,

but the city and county would pay only a dollar

and a quarter.

The need of ampler accommodations was ex-

treme and large wings with mansards were added,

as funds could be procured, until the long main

edifice, practically as it now appears, was com-

pleted. Extensive interior changes have since been

made. The erection of other buildings and many

improvements followed. Thus, in 1883 two isolated

pavilions for contagious diseases were erected

—

one by the estate of Harvey Hall, the others by

Drs. W. S. Ely, B. V. Stoddard and J. W. Whit-

beck. These separate little houses served a most

iiseful purpose until recently, when they were re-

moved. The dome was utilized by division into

twelve rooms. In 1886 an elevator was placed.

The children's pavilion was erected in that year,

the laundry in 1890, various small buildings in

1891, a stable in 1896, the pathological laboratory

in 1901. Finally in 1906 a neighboring lot, with

house, on Troup street, was purchased. Extensive

betterments in the heating and lighting plant also

had been made. In the meantime the hospital had

acquired more important extensions through the

munificence of a few friends. The various build-

ings successively added met imperative needs, anrl

supplied new facilities. As early as 1868 an eye

and ear department had been established, in which

cut-patients also received gratuitous treatment.

The clinic was maintained for twenty years, or un-

til the opening of the commodious Magne-Jewell

annex afforded the opportunity to develop the out-

patient work on the broad plan that is still pur-

sued. Mrs. Mnvy S. Jewell of Vineland, N. J.,

wishing to rear a memorial to her parents, Mr. and

Mrs. Magne, who settled in Rochester in 1816, and

to connect her own name therewith, presented

the building, which cost $3,000. In 1891, two

years before her death, she again gave $3,000 for

additions and improvements. , The usefulness of

the out-patient department thus housed is shown

by the record of 1906—1,600 new patients, not

including those previously registered and still

needing attention, 5,699 visits to the department

. by both classes, 8,893 prescriptions and treatments.

In 1891 Dr. John.W. Whitbeck gave to the

hospital the convenient surgical pavilion bearing

the name of his father, John P. Wliitbeck, who at

his death in 1880 had been for fourteen years h

member of the staff. This building, representing

the most approved construction and equipment,

proved, as was expected, an indispensable addition.

Many contributions for the purchase of instru-

ments and apparatus were also received.

In November, 1899, the Nurses' Home was

opened. This beautiful structure was the tribute

of James C. Hart to the memory of his wife, Isa-

bella Graham Hart, who for twelve years had

served the hospital faithfully as a member of the

board of managers, and who died the previous

year. The building is perfectly adapted to its

use as a quiet residence for the nurses, with its

spacious halls, library, assembly room, dining-

room, sleeping apartments and baths. Subsequent-

ly Mr. Hart provided a liberal sum for the perpet-

ual maintenance of the home. After his death in

1905 his daughters, Mrs. Robert Bartlett (also a

manager) and Mrs. George D. B. Bonbright, ex-

pressed a desire to erect, in honor of their father,

a building similar in design to the Nurses' Home.

Tills imposing edifice, opened in May, 1907, is to

be used by medical, including maternity patients.

The work requires much space and this has been

provided in the comprehensive plan adopted. The

building, in its fire-proof construction, its arrange-

ment and appointments, complies with the most

exacting demands of the medical art and thus

presents advantages not to be found in any private

house. Patients in its private rooms, as elsewhere

in the hospital, have the attendance of any physi-

cians they may select. All other considerations

aside, the two Hart memorials, because of their im-

pressive dimensions, architectural beauty and lo-

cntinns, the last contributing to the symmetrical

diivfijopmcnt of the plant on the hospital ground,^,

cannot be praised too highly.

The ambulance was first used in 1896. Dr. H.

T. AViJliams gave the outfit, including full equip-

ment as well as horse and carriage. Later an-

other wagon was purchased and other addition.s
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were made by the hospital. During 1906 the number

of calls was 852. In 189G also Dr. A. W. Henckell

presented the X-ray apparatus. In 1899 and again

in 1902 the hospital bought improved machines.

The Parent Stem began to sew for the hospital in

1887. Since then, with its nineteen offshoots com-

prising 500 members, it has furnished many thou-

sand articles. In 1906 alone the number was 4,000.

Furthermore at the donation these associations

netted $3,933 in sales at its tables, an almost in-

credible achievement for a single year 1 About 400

garments also have been received annually from

the Needlework Guild during the last few years.

In 1875 young ladies of St. Luke's church formed

a flower mission, and each week since that time

have brought bouquets to the hospital. The Hos-

pital Review, started in 1864, is still published

each month. It contains hospital news and statis-

tics and appropriate reading matter and is an ad-

mirable means of communication with the public.

A full and instructive history could be compiled

from its well-edited pages.

The training school for nurses was one of the

first in the country. Projected in 1879, it was

opened in December of the next year and gradu-

ated its first class of four in 1883. It has granted

diplomna to 266 young women. There is a rigid

course of ihrce years, including the preliminary

and probation periods. The instruction covers

every phase of hospital experience, also cookery

and district nursing. The number of pupils )S

sixty. The hospital has, each year since it was

established, offered a public entertainment or held

a donation for the formal replenishment if its

depleted treasury. There have been concerts, plays,

fetes, fancy dress parties, dancing, the sale of in-

numerable articles, the serving of substantial

meals, all involving much labor by those planning

and executing. Children and older persons alike

iinve gladly iiarliciiialod. Thwe all'airs long since

took on a distinctive character, l)ecoming a sort ot

social fiinclion, drawing crowds of people whose

charitable intentions were thus consolidated and

directed. To diminish the work, much of it neces-

sarily falling on a few, efforts have been made,

but unsucccsR fully, to dcvipc less anhioiis methods

for raising money. There seems, however, to be

a persistent public demand for the continuance oC

these annual festivals.

When the hospital opened its doors the only phy-

sicians needed were Drs. H. F. Montgomery and
H. W. Dean. Dr. C. E. llider was the first house

officer. Since 1866, when four doctors were added,

the visiting staff has been enlarged from time to

time, to meet the increasing demands of general

and specialized work. It now consists of seventeen

physicians, who are assisted in various departments

by a junior staff of thirty-five. There are four

house officers, the successors of one hundred and
twelve young men who have resided in the house,

to complete their experience before entering prac-

tice for themselves. Besides these, thirty or more
other physicians have attended their persojial pa-

tients in private rooms the past year.

While the hospital depends for support on gift*

of the charitably disposed, it repays to the entire

community this obligation in generous measure.

It has eighteen free beds. Nearly one-third of the

patients receive gratuitous service. Many others

can pay only a part of the cost, but the hospital

gladly receives all these, to the limit of its re-

sources.

Since the institution began its work, forty-three

years ago, 33,000 patients have been registered, be-

sides the other thousands visiting the out-patient

department. The average work regularly done in

the hospital proper is shown by the record of the

last year. The number of admissions was 2,180,

including 149 infants born and 457 transient pa-

tients. The days of treatment amounted to 35,-

370, of which 10,500 were full charity days. The

number of operations performed by sixty-one sur-

geons was 1,257, not counting the transient cases

mentioned. The running expenses of the year

were $59,778. In addition to the nurses there is a

permanent family of forty-two persons, engaged in

many kinds of work. The hospital can accommo-

date 150 patients-.

The various buildings, aside from furnishings

and the hospital grounds, are appraised conserva-

tively at $230,000. There is an interest-bearing

fund of $176,000, and other funds produce a small

income. The cost of maintaining the hospital

during the forty-three years of its existence would

approximate $1,500,000. Furthermore the ex-

pense of renovations and minor improvements is

constant and considerable. The large sums named,

with the exception of a small cash donation at the

beginning by the city and early appropriations of
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about $30,000 by the state, have come mainly from

tlie residents of Eochester, but partly from those of

other places. There have been many friends in

neighboring towns. The hospital has had a ver-

itable army of supporters among rich and poor,

young and old. If space could be spared, it would

gladly publish the long list of those who, in various

positions and in manifold ways, have rendered con-

spicuous service. Its confidence in its benefactors

has always been justified, and to them it belongs

in a very real sense. Its history if adequately writ-

ten would reveal much self-sacrifice as well as

generous giving of money and labor. Such a his-

tory would preseiit interesting details where this

brief account hardly sketches the outlines. It

would show also in general how the hospital,

though established before the great discoveries and

inventions which since 1870 have revolutionized

the science and practice of medicine and surgery,

nevertheless has kept abreast of and contributed to

this marvelous progress.

The directory of the hospital in May, 1907, was

as follows

:

Directors.—Henry G. Danforth, president; J

J. Bausch, vice-president; H. S. Hanford, treas-

urer; Wm. S. Morse, secretary; Chas. P. Pond, L
P. Eoss, A. S. Hamilton, Max Landsberg, Erick-

son Perkins, W. Bartholomay, H. C. Kimball, J.

C. Powers, George Wilder, Edward G. Miner, jr.,

C. M. Everest, 6. D. B. Bonbright, L. L. Allea,

George Roth, W. B. Sloan, A. H. Harris, Geo. C.

Buell, Wm. A. E. Drescher; executive committee,

J. M. Wile, M. A. Stern, H. G. Danforth, H. P.

Brewster, C. J. Brown, Wm. S. Morse. Managers,

Mrs. Arthur Robinson, president; Mrs. Oscar

Craig, and Mrs. P. P. Allen, vice-presidents ; Mrs.

H. 6. Danforth, treasurer; Mrs. P. S. Macomber,

recording secretary ; Mrs. W. E. Hoyt, correspond-

ing secretary; Mrs. Edward A. Webster, assistant

treasurer ; Mrs. Max Landsberg, Mrs. L. S. Chapin,

Mrs. Arthur S. Hamilton, Mrs. C. H. Angel, Mrs.

Henry P. Huntington, Mrs. R. H. Hofheinz, Mrs.

H. B. Hooker, Mrs. J. L. Garson, Mrs. H. L. Os-

good, Mrs. Warham Whitney, Mrs. W. E. Werner,

Mrs. Joseph Parley, Miss Ruth Quinby, Mrs. Percy

R. MePhail, Mrs. T. B. Dunn; executive commit-

tee, all the officers, ex officio, Mrs. Wm. H. Perkins,

Mrs. John H. Brewster, Mrs. Robert Bartlett. Miss

Mary L. Weith, superintendent; Miss E. T. Jones,

assistant.

PiiYsrciANS.—Consulting staff, C. E. Rider, D.

Little, E. V. Stoddard; visiting staff, medical, W.

S. Ely, C. A. Dewey, secretary, C. E. Darrow, 1{.

M. Moore; surgical, J. W. Whitbeck, president; 11.

T. Williams, E. W. Mulligan, P. W. Zimmer;

specialists, W. Rider, R. R. Fitch, J. L. Eoseboom,

E. B. Angell, J. 0. Roe, W. M. Brown; executive

committee, J. W. Whitbeck, W. S. Ely, C. A.

Dewey
;
junior staff, assistants in the house, S. W.

Little, C. D. Young, D. G. Hastings, M. C. Potter,

L. W^ Eose, S. L. Eisner; other assistants, R. G.

Cook, R. L. Carson, J. M. Ingersoll, L. W. Howk,

A. W. Thomas, J. Eoby, Evelyn Baldwin, C. 0.

Boswell, P. D. Andrew, C. R. Witherspoon, M. L.

Casey, C. W. Thomas, E. G. Nugent, W. Mulligan,

W. V. Ewers, P. P. Leadley, A. C. Snell, M. B.

Palmer, W. D. Ward, W. H. Sutherland, N. D. Mc-

Dowell, J. K. Quigley, C. N. Jameson, Haydon
Rochester, W. P. Plumley, Sarah G. Pierson,

George A. Engert, Milton Chapman, John C. O'-

Connor.

ST. Mary's hospital.*

This noble institution was established in 18ii7,

by Sisters of Charity who came to Rochester from

Emmettsburg, Md. The real founder was Mother

Hieronymo, who by her personal efforts collected

themoney necessary for its beginning and its main-

tenance and who remained at its head till 1870.

The doors were opened for patients on September

8th, 1857, though the hospital was not incorpo.--

ated till the 19th of that month, the trustees for

the first year being Francis Burlando, Michael Les-

ter, Hieronymo O'Brien, Martha Bridgman and

Felicia Penwick, of whom Mr. Lester remained a

member of the board till 1873. In 1858 the quar-

ters became too small to accommodate the pa-

tients, and the buildings were enlarged, although

the main edifice was not erected till 1862 and the

farm purchased in 1873. The fame of the insti-

tution spread and patients were numerous. Dur-

ing the war the hospital was occupied by sick and

wounded soldiers, the government having desig-

nated this as one of the institutions at which sold-

iers of the Union could be cared for, and 3,000

soldiers were received during that time. February

15th, 1891, the institution was nearly destroyed by

fire, the damage to the building being $40,000.

There were 250 people in the hospital at the time

•This sketch was prepared hy Rev. Edward J. Hanna, D. D.
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of the Are, but all escaped. The building was in-

sured for only $21,000, and the loss was heavy.

On the evening after the fire a public meeting was
held at the Chamber of Coniiuerce rooms, where

measures were devised by which a fund was raised

to restore the hospital to as good a condition as

before the lire. The damage was quickly repaired

and the institution was reopened for patients in

the following September. Since then the contag-

ious pavilion was enlarged and improved in 189G,

the present operating pavilion was added in Janu-

ary, 1899, the fifth floor was renovated for nurses

in 1901, and a beautiful new chapel was built in

1905 at a cost of $60,000. The institution will

now accommodate 270 patients and is in charge of

Sister Marie as superior, assisted by twenty Sisters

of Charity.

The following is a list of the attending physi-

cians and surgeons:

Stafk, pi'csidoiil, .7. W. Ciisiiy; vicc-pro.'iidcnt,

T. A. O'llaro; secretary, Jos. R. Culkin; surgical

stair, E. M. Moore, JI. T. Williams, E. W. Mulli-

gan, W. B. Jones, J. A. Stapleton; medical

staff, J. W. Casey, Jos. E. Culkin, T. A.

O'Hare, A. W. Henckell, N. W. Soble; oculist

and aurist, Philip Conroy; diseases of the throat

and nose, J. M. Ingersoll; diseases of the nervous

system, R. G. Cook; X-ray operator, C. A. Green-

leaf; assistant physician and X-ray operator, E.

C. Boddy; pathologist, M. L. Casey; obstetrician,

Kathleen Buck; assistant surgeons, 0. E. Jones.

Thos. Jameson, L. W. Howk, T. T. Mooney, J. V.

Fleming; assistant physicians, M. L. Casey, J. P.

Brady, Geo. A. Marion ; house staff, house surgeon,

W. A. Smith; house physician, John V. Eeilly;

ambulance surgeon, II. W. Barber; second house

surgeon, A. J. Price.

Tlic lino liospitals of the Homeopathic and Ilah-

nemannian schools arc described in the medical

chapter. In addition to all these establishments

another general hospital is now projected, under

German auspices, to be erected in the northeastern

part of the city.

UOCHESTER STATE HOSPITAL.

Up to 1836 the insane poor were usually pro-

vided for in institutions of different kinds main-

tained by the various counties. In that year the

state adopted the policy of caring for those who
were thus afflicted, except in the counties of Mon-
roe, New York and Kings, which were left to take

care of their own. So it went on for twenty
years, when the condition of things in our alms-

house, where the insane had been confined before

that, became intolerable and a new building was
erected at a cost of $3,000 and occupied in the

spring of 1857. Successive enlargements, which
were imperatively demanded, were made, by the

most recent of which, three years ago, accommo-
dations were provided for 750 patients, in addition

to those previously' cared for, with six cottages used

as "psychopathic wards" for the special treatment

of new cases. In 1890 the legislature passed a

law by which the state assumed the charge of all

the dependent insane, and under this statute the

asylum, with all the land connected with it, was

purcliased for $50,000, the transfer from one board

of trustees to the other being made July 1st, 1891,

since which time the institution has been known as

the Rochester State hospital. The enormous in-

crease in the number of inmates, of whom there are

now 790 women, 527 men, is due to the fact that

there are only fourteen of these state hospitals,

and patients from many adjacent counties are sent

to Rochester. One great advance, made four years

ago, was the establishment of a colony farm on

the shore of Lake Ontario, in the town of Web-

ster, where a tract of sixty acres was purchased,

together with an old farm-house, which has been

suitably altered for the purpose, so that sometimes

thirty of the patients are lodged there at one

•time. In this vacation home they remain for a

few days, and then go back to make room for as

many more, having had during their stay the bene-

fit of a change of air and scene, as well as that

resulting from light work on the farm, in the gar-

den or about the house. The present value of the

property of the State hospital is estimated at

$678,401.17. The officers are Dr. Eugene H. How-

ard, superintendent and treasurer, with a staff of

assistant physicians consisting of E. B. Potter, C.

T. La Moure, Eveline P. Ballintine and E. L.

Ilancs. Of the board of managers George Raines

is president. Miss Jane E. Rochester vice-president,

and William Miller secretary.
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THE INFANTS SUMMER HOSPITAL.

This benevolent institution, located on Ontario

beach, began its work in July, 1887, when tents

were put up on the Greenleaf farm, and all infants

suffering from cholera infantum were received,

with their mothers, and cared for. In 1888 the first

permanent buildings were erected on land contri-

buted by Col. H. S. Greenleaf. Later additional

land was purchased and buildings erected to pro-

vide ample accommodations for all who applied.

The Infants Summer hospital was the realization

of the plans of the late Dr. Edward M. Moore and

his son, whose many summers at the lake shore

had impressed them with the curative properties

of the pure air and the benefit to be derived for

these little ones by a residence there under ideal

conditions of proper food and care. It is a pure

charity, as all infants and their mothers are cared

for without charge. When the permanent wards

are filled tents are erected and additional nurses

provided. During the twenty years past all who

have applied, who were proper eases to be cared

for, have been received. The generous givers of

Rochester have always responded to every appeal

and have provided funds for all requirements.

The blessing of pure milk for our city has been

an outgrowth of the Infants hospital, as Dr. Geo.

W. Goler, the health officer, was house physician

for three years and Inter on the staff.

In 1900 Louis N. Stein erected and furnished

a complete nurses' home, which he presented to

the hospital. The late Frederick Cook bequeathed

$10,000 to the Infants hospital, and a memorial

building will be erected. The hospital buildings,

which are all connected, are all on the same level.

The wards are detached buildings, four feet apart,

with a wide overhanging roof and broad piazzas.

Of the 1,600 or more infants cared for, a very

large percentage are saved. The services of the

physicians' who were among the founders of this

hospital, and of others since then, have been un-

sparingly given. Arthur S. Hamilton was its

president for the first twelve years, then Harold

P. Brewster for three years, and John H. Gregory

has been president for the last five years. The

other officers are David M. Garson, vice-president

;

Henry B. Ball, treasurer; Mrs. William E. Sloan,

secretary. The medical staff consists of Dr. E.

Mott Moore and Dr. Richard M. Moore. Miss M.

Elizabeth Daly has been for many years the effic-

ient superintendent of the hospital.

THE ROOIIESXER ORPHAN ASYLUM.*

It is said to be the fault of the American people

to make so large and conspicuous a beginning in

anything they undertake that the end must be

small and inconspicuous. Surely this was not the

rule fifty years ago. The homes, the business en-

terprises, the institutions of various kinds had,

as a rule, modest beginnings, and, if well managed,

a normal growth ensued Comparisons are inter-

esting from an historical point of view, but the his-

torian must not overlook the long periods of quiet

development tluit stand silent but luminous, buck

of every achievement, small or great. In the early

days of Rochester, and in the late thirties, a home

for orphans and destitute children had its simple

beginning in a two-story house on Corn Hill.

Pilling a real need in the life of the young town,

it was ably managed and well supported by public-

spirited citizens. In time the need for more room

was made manifest, and after several changes the

large and commodious building in Hubbell park

was completed. Here, in the year 1844, the grow-

ing family found a permanent home for the next

fifty-seven years. This period of usefulness has

l)een dealt with elsewhere, as has also the terrible

(ire of 1901 that made a change of some kind in-

evitable. That there is a silver lining to every

cloud was once more proved true, when up from

the smoke and ashes of that truly tragic calamity

rose the fair vision of Hillside, the new home of

the Rochester orphan asylum. Tried by the or-

deal of fire, the olden plan of housing many little

children in one large building was found wanting,

and from the embers of that fearful morning there

has grown into being a veritable children's village,

where cottage homes vie with one another in dem-
onstrating to the people of Rochester the wisdom
of placing dependent children in comparatively

small groups where a normal home life can be

more perfectly realized. Tlie new location is in

itself exceptionally beautiful. More than thirty

acres of land, including fertile farm land, along

Highland avenue, and wooded hill slopes that lend

unending interest to children, provide an ideal

•This sketch was contributed by Mrs. George C. Hollister.
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slore-liouse of practical knoweldge and rare beauty.

The view from the crest of the hill is almost unsur-

passed in its wideness and variety. Who shall

say that the lives of many a man and woman will

not be better and sweeter for the childish memories

of those glorious suburbs and long stretches of

quiet meadow lands? It required a good deal of

courage on llio part of trustees and managers to

dare, with limited means, to carry into effect the

most modern and perfect method known for the

care of this class of dependent children. Five

cottage homes, with an administration building

and school-house, look down upon the city that

gave them birth, with a response so full of cour-

age and happiness that those who dared undertake

so radical a change are glad at heart and hopeful

of spirit.

Three of the cottages have been gifts from

friends of the asylum. The only place in Roch-

ester where young babies are cared for is at Hill-

side, in a lovely cottage provided by Dr. and Mrs.

Edward W. Mulligan. Here a trained nurse, with

able assistants, is in charge of from ten to fifteen

babies. This class of work is very expensive, as it

requires four trustworthy attendants. Aside from

this cottage for babies George Eastman has

given one for boys, and Mr. and Mrs. Frederick

Cook one for girls. One school building repre-

sents the Potter Memorial bequest, to which Mrs.

B. D. McAlpine, a daughter of Henry S. Potter,

has added much in the way of decoration and fur-

niture.

It is the aim of this institution to send out its

children useful members of society, not unac-

quainted with the ways of life among people gen-

erally. To do this it is necessary that this class

of children should not only be taught to work, but

should learn to earn money, to save money and also

to spend money. The cottage plan makes all this

more natural and quite possible. To have all one's

needs supplied from some unknown source is not

good for any child, least of all the child who must

eventually earn its own livelihood. To meet this

need a small department store is run in the admin-

istration building. Here the cottage mother sends

one or more of her family daily for necessary food

supplies, and from time to time for shoes, cloth-

ing, etc. The boys and girls can here have an

opportunity at keeping store, learning values in

this way, as well as the keeping of accounts. As

soon as the services of a child have a money value

a suitable wage is given and a bank account started.

From these earnings the child provides certain

articles of clothing for himself. There are also

other ways of earning. The boy who raises chick-

ens, paying for their food supply, and then sells

the eggs at the market price, learns many valuable

lessons. Patience, faithfulness, honesty, as well as

finance, become very real things to him. Prices

are discussed and ways and means considered in

these cottage homes.

Once a month the cottage mothers meet with

the superintendent and compare notes in true

housewife fashion. Just here should come in the

real training of these foster-mothers, giving and

receiving advice under the wise direction of a re-

sponsible head. Manual training forms a part

of each child's preparation for life, and through

the generosity of Mr. and Mrs. Bausch a large

room in the Potter school building has been fitted

up for this purpose. The home life in each cot-

tage varies somewhat, according to the ideas of

the cottage mother and also according to the ages

of her little family. One home represents a

mother, one helper and twenty-five children. All

the work suited to children is performed by them.

Sweeping, dusting, bed-room work, dining-room

work, cooking, dishwashing and laundry work are

all taught in turn to groups of four children, boys

and girls alike. It is surprising to see the best of

bread made by mere children, and the great pride

with which it is compared with "bought bread."

The long summer vacation gives ample opportu-

nity for the best and healthiest of all work. Na-

ture's garden must be cultivated, ploughing, sow-

ing, reaping, each teaching its lesson again of

faithfulness, patience and honesty. Vegetable,

fruit and flower gardens are all included, in the

care to be taken of them, in the plan of daily oc-

cupation, and healthy bodies are glad to rest when

night comes, instead of following out the unwise

or mischievous fancies of active young minds.

Rochester has reason to be proud of its Hillside

Home for children. May its public-spirited citi-

zens generously rise to meet all the increasing

needs of so worthy and so vastly important a char-

ity.

The financial statement shows that the land

cost $36,667.15, the various buildings, with their

furniture, $89,963.85, making the real estate worth
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$116,630; the investments producing an income

are $93,333, making the total property of the

asylum $209,630. The treasurer's report for 1906

shows that the receipts last year were $13,510.41,

the disbursements $556.70 less than that. The

cost of maintaining one cottage one year is $3,200

;

the cost per capita, including clothing, etc., is

sixty-two cents a day; under the old institutional

plan it was forty-four cents. It is well worth the

difference.

The board of managers consists of thirty women,

the president being Mrs. George C. Hollister, the

vice-presidents Mrs. John N. Beckley, Mrs. Levi

P. Ward, Mrs. Frederick Cook and Mrs. Wm. A.

Hubbard, jr.; the recording secretary Miss Alice

C. Cartwright, the corresponding secretary Mrs.

Wm. B. Hale, the treasurer Mrs. E. W. Mulligan,

the registrar Mrs. W. S. Hubbell. There is also a

board of trustees, consisting of the mayor ex officio

and fourteen men elected, of which Cyrus F. Paine

is president, John N. Beckley vice-president,

Thomas B. Dunn secretary and Harold C. Gorton

treasurer. The physicians of the institution are

Dr. Seelye W. Little and Dr. Joseph Roby, the

superintendent is William P. Van Dohlen, and the

matron is Mrs. Burrows.

THE ROMAN CATHOLIC ORPHAN ASYLUMS.

St. Patrick's Asylum.—In 1841 the Roman

Catholic Orphan Asylum society of Rochester

began the erection, on Frank street at the corner

of Vought, of a brick building three stories high,

for the reception of orphan children, but it was

not until 1845 that the society was incorporated,

the first trustees being Rev. Bernard O'Reilly, Rev.

Charles D. French, Rev. Lawrence Carroll, Hugh
Bradley, Patrick Doyle, Patrick Barry, James

O'Donoughue, James Gallery and Michael Mul-

len, and the pastor of St. Patrick's being president

of the board ex officio. In the building referred

to, which was enlarged in 1847 and a wing added

in 1865, only girls were received, the orphan boys

being then and for many years afterward sent to

Lancaster and to Lime Stone Hill, near Buffalo.

Membership in the society was maintained by thfi

payment of monthly dues of twelve cents, with

fifty dollars for life membership, and these fees,

together with fairs and Christmas offerings in

the churches, kept up the asylum. Sisters of

Charity came on to take charge in 1845, and in

1863 the trustees turned over to them the whole

manngomcnt, wliich they retained for seven years

and then resigned, whereupon Bishop McQuaid

put the Sisters of St. Joseph in full control. The

old building was abandoned in 1893, the cathedral

chapel being erected on that spot, and a new

asylum, a fine four-story structure, was reared on

Clifton street, near Genesee, $25,000 being raised

for its construction at a fair in which most of

the churches participated. Sister M. Cecilia has

been in charge since 1894, assisted by eleven

others; the present number of orphans is 107.

St. Mary's Asylum.—Bishop Timon of Buffalo

concluded in 1864 that the Catholic orphan boys

of Rochester should be supported in this city, so

he opened an asylum for them near St. Mary's

church on South street, which is now a part of the

convent. Nine Sisters of St. Joseph came on to

take charge. Mother M. Stanislaus being the su-

perior. The institution was moved in 1868 to an

old building on West avenue, corner of Oencsce

street, and three years later the accommodations

were increased by the erection, adjacent to it, of

a stone structure of three stories. Sister M. Jus-

tina, who has been in charge since 1891, is assisted

by sixteen others. In that time 1,069 children

have been received and discharged, the present

number being 152.

St. Joseph's Asylum.—^Under the title of "St.

Joseph's Gennan Roman Catholic Orphan Asylum

of Rochester and Monroe County" this society was

incorporated in 1863 by members of St. Joseph's

church, the original trustees being Joseph Hoff-

man, John Groh, John Wegman, M. Weigel, Ber-

nard Klein, Louis Ernst, Roman Schlitzer, Vitus

Sanderl, Joseph Schutte, John Soeder, B. Gom-

menginger and E. Weigel. The asylum itself had

its beginning in 1866, when a frame house on An-

drews street, near Franklin, was occupied for the

purpose, then two small adjacent buildings being

taken in, the main building, four stories high, of

brick, being erected in 1874 and raised to its

present enlargement in 1882. It is under the

management of the Sisters of Notre Dame and

the number of inmates, both boys and girls, is

about one hundred.
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THE JEWISH ORPHAN ASYLUM.

In November, 1877, the three Jewish orphan

asylum societies of Rochester, Buffalo and Syracuse

joined together in the formation of the Jewish Or-

phan Asylum association of Western New York,

the office and headquarters of which have been in

this city since then. The asylum is on St. Paul

street, between Evergreen and Scrantom, in a

building that has been made to conform with the

needs of the case. Out of the six hundred and

more members of the association over one-third

reside in Rochester, and the officers live here,

Abram J. Katz being the president of the board,

Joseph Michaels the treasurer and Rev. Dr. Lands-

berg the secretary, while Isaac Adler and S. M.

Benjamin are the other Rochester members of the

executive board. Members pay an annual contri-

bution of four dollars or more, and the accumu-

lated fund is now $65,000. There are at present

thirty-five children in the asylum, and every ef-

fort is made to place them, as fast as practicable,

in desirable families.

nOCHESTER HOME FOR THE AGED.

As this institution has been known for fifty-

eight years by another name it seems necessary to

preface this account with some explanation of the

change. The original object of the Home was

the temporary relief and shelter of homeless and

friendless women, so "The Home for the Friend-

less" seemed descriptive, and at that time eminent-

ly suitable. But in time other institutions took

charge of the children, the sick and the women

seeking temporary shelter and employment, and

this became exclusively a permanent home for

aged women. Soon after the character of the

institution was changed, objections to the name oe-

gan to arise and the desirability of another name

was frequently considered by the board of man-

agers, but no notion was taken until the fall of

190G. At that time the managers reported that in

their work of collecting they found that the ob-

jection to the name on the part of their contribu-

tors was strengthening rapidly. Modern philan-

thropists emphasize the thought of the "home" and

object to the word "friendless." "If they are

friendless" they say, "it isn't necessary or kind

•This sketch of the Rochester Home for the Aged was pre-

pared by Miss Minnie A. Bellows.

to publish the fact, and moreover those who give

of their time and their means to carry on the

work of the institution are their friends." So it

was decided to adopt the name of "The Rochester

Home of the Aged," looking forward to the time,

perhaps still distant, when the scope of the home
shall be enlarged and there will be a place for old

men and aged couples.

On April 11th, 1849, a group of earnest women,

moved by a desire to assist those less fortunate

than themselves, assembled at the home of Mrs.

Charles Church and organized "the Rochester as-

sociation for the relief of homeless and friendless

females," with the following board of managers:

Mrs. Samuel L. Selden, president; Mrs. Charles

Church, treasurer; Mrs. Samuel D. Porter, secre-

tary; Mrs. Selah Mathews, Mrs. Edwin Scrantom,

Mrs. IngersoU, Mrs. M. M. Mathews, Mrs. J. H.

Gregory, Miss Maria G. Porter, Mrs. Samuel Ham-
ilton, Mrs. C. Robie, Mrs. Jonah Brown, Mrs. R.

Lester and Mrs. Stoddard. The only philan-

thropic institutions in the city at that time were

the Female Charitable society and the Rochester

orphan asylum, and the new association undertook

to provide a temporary home for "virtuous and

unprotected females" while seeking employment
in the city. It was intended to make the insti-

tution as far as practicable self-supporting by the

industry of its transient inmates, in supplying

such demand as then existed for laundry or nee-

dlework. Its first location was on Edinburgh

street, in the half of a tenement house, for which

a rent of fifty dollars a year was paid. Mrs. Alvin

IngersoU was the first matron. These were its

struggling days, when faith and zeal supplemented

its feeble treasury and encouraged the patient

workers. The following year the society occupied

a small house on Monroe street, and in 1851 a

liouse on Adams street was bought of Ebenezer

Ely for $1,400, $300 being paid down. In this

year they received their first legacy, coming from

ihc estate of Mrs. Evcrard Peck, a warm friend of

the new society. This was the sum of fifty dol-

lars, which, the record says, "greatly relieved the

embarrassed treasurer." In August of that year

came three hundred dollars, part of the proceeds

of a concert given by Jenny Lind in old Corinthian

hall. In June, 1855, the society was incorporated

under the name of Rochester Home for the Friend-

less, with these seven trustees: Samuel G. An-
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drews, Selah Mathews, Henry A. Brewster, Josiah

W. Bissell, Samuel D. Porter, Edwin Scrantom

and Ebenezer Ely.

In 1853, through the agency of Mr. Bissell, the

present location, comer of East avenue and Alex-

ander street, upon which stood a small and in-

ferior building, was selected and by gradual pa}'-

ments purchased. The removal took place the fol-

lowing spring and the new quarters were greatly

appreciated. The first life inmate had been re-

ceived in April, 1853, and now children were re-

ceived and cared for until suitable homes could be

found for them with adoptive parents, to whom,

after careful investigation, they were indentured.

A teacher was provided who gave them daily in-

struction, and a sewing school was conducted by

volunteers. Into this school day scholars wero

received and prizes were given for the greatest

proficiency in sewing. An employment exchange

was also established, by which housekeepers could

secure servants and servants obtain situations. In

1855 occurred the first donation, when the house

was throvm open to receive visits and gifts from

its friends. This continued to be an annual cus-

tom for over thirty years, but in 1886 the man-

agers decided to adopt a new plan and each one

undertook to solicit cash contributions from a

certain number of people. The result was awaited

with great anxiety and no little misgiving, but the

receipts proved to be larger than ever before and

they have never returned to the more indirect

method of raising money. In 1857 the society be-

gan the publication of a monthly paper called The
Journal of the Home, whose object was to ac-

quaint people outside the city with the aims and

needs of the institution. The paper was published

for eighteen years and was edited in turn by Mrs.

Alexander Mann, Mrs. B. G. Robinson, Mrs. N. S.

Barnes, Mrs. T. C. Arner, Miss Caroline Kendrick,

Miss Mary I. Bliss and Mrs. Isaac Hills. In 1859

an amendment to the constitution was adopted,

providing for the permanent care of aged women,

and although it continued for some time to give

temporary shelter to homeless and friendless wo-

men it has for many years ))Gen distinctly an old

ladies' home. The care of children was gradually

relinquished when the Industrial School took up
the same line of work, but the nurture and educa-

tion of children which was begun and continued

for many years in the Home for the Eriendlese

was the inspiration for the Industrial School. Be-

fore the erection of the City hospital the Home
also received and cared for some of the sick poor

who were pensioners of the Charitable society.

By largo and special gifts from friends the build-

ing has twice been enlarged and remodeled. In the

fifty-eight years of the Home's existence it has

had but eight presiding officers: Mrs. Samuel L.

Selden, Mrs. Selah Mathews, Mrs. Frederick Starr,

Mrs. D. R. Barton, Mrs. C. E. Robinson, Mrs.

Samuel Porter, Mrs. Horace C. Brewster and Mrs.

William R. Gormley. Mrs. Mathews held the office

twice, the last term covering a period of twenty

years, and Mrs. Porter also held the office over

twenty years. The present board is composed of

Mrs. William E. Gormley, president; Mrs. John

IT. Hopkins and Mrs. E. B. Chace, vice-presidents

;

Mrs. Robert G. Cook, recording secretary; Miss

Louise U. Little, corresponding secretary; Miss

Minnie A. Bellows, treasurer, and twenty-three

other managers. House physicians. Dr. Henry H.

Covell and Dr. Warren C. Daly; matron. Miss

Anna M. Thomas. Directors, A. M. Lindsay,

president; John F. Alden, vice president; Eg-

bert F. Ashley, treasurer; Henry Selden Bacon,

secretary and attorney; J. Herbert Grant, Albert

0. Fenn, George B. Watkins, Charles J. Brown

and G. D. B. Bonbright.

During the past few years several generous ad-

ditions have been made to the endowment and the

income received from that source aids very ma-

terially in carrying on tlio work, but the cost of

living has increased' even more rapidly than the

endowment and the managers are still dependent

on the generosity of the public. Once each year

they ask the friends of the Home for cash con-

tributions and they are met with the liberality

that has always characterized Roclicster people.

The capacity of the Home is limited to fifty-two,

and not only is it always full, but there is always

a waiting list of those whose applications have

been accepted, but for whom there is no room.

The conditions of admission require that the ap-

plicant shall have been a resident of Monroe coun-

ty for at least a year, shall be at least sixty-five

years old and of good moral character. She must

pay for her life admission $250 if she is a resident

of the city or $300 if she resides outside the city,

and she is assured of a comfortable home during

her life and Christian burial. The interest on any
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jn'opcrly sliG in.ay possess is paid to lier rcgulfii'ly

during her life, but afterward it belongs to the

Home. Each member "of the family has her own
room, where she can enjoy the peace and seclusion

of her own home, surrounded by her own pos-

sessions, while in the large cheerful dining-room,

the sunny sitting-room and the two spacious

porches she finds ample opportunity to exercise

her social instincts. The Home is under the con-

stant supervision of a wise and judicious matron,

while committees from the board of managers

share her responsibilities and the weekly visitor

keeps the board in touch with the life of the family

by her report of what she has observed. Every

olfort is piit forth to make it really a home, the

M'ants of the family are generously supplied, they

are cheerfully cared for in health and tenderly

nursed in sickness, receiving the care both of

lesident nurses and of visiting physicians. The

•Home is undenominational and each Sunday, ex-

cept through the hot weather, service is conducted

by the various clergymen of the city, assisted by a

faithful volunteer choir of young people. Tv.-o

lots in beautiful Mt. Hope have been given to the

Home by the commissioners of the cemetery, on one

of which stands a monument given by friends and

on the other a memorial which was the generous

gift of Peter Pitkin and it is not the least of the

bonelits conferred by the Home that each old lady

may feci assured of a last resting-place in that

sacred and beauti ful spot.

THE CIIUROI-I HOME.*

In the later sixties the city had developed a

population of fifty thousand souls, and there was

an evident need for further provision for caring

for the worthy poor. The Episcopalians, who for

thirty years had heartily joined with their friends

of other religious bodies in the beneficent work of

the orphan asylum, and for twenty years in the

kindred objects of the Home for the Friendless,

undertook with commendable enterprise to meet

this need. A fund for this purpose was begun

by the local parishes malting an annual offering.

Early in 1868 five ladies from each of the five

churches were appointed to inaugurate the work

and a little later these twenty representatives, un-

der the leadership of Mrs. G. H. Mumford, re-

•Tliis sketch of tlie Church Home was furnished by Rev. Dr.
Washburn.

ceived from George E. Clark and George E. Mum-
ford the donation of a house and lot on Mt. Hope
avenue, valued at $5,300. Thus auspiciously

launched, the Church Home quickly attracted

other wise friends to its support. On July 21st

the house was ready for inmates, and a meeting

of the lady managers was held there that day,

the officers being: President, Mrs. G. H. Mum-
ford; vice president, Mrs. D. M. Dewey; corre-<

spending secretary, Mrs. E. M. Smith; recording

secretary, Mrs. J. L. Booth, and treasurer. Miss

Mary J. Clark. The other members of the original

board of lady managers were : Mrs. F. A. Whit-

tlesey, Mrs. S. G. Andrews, Mrs. M. M. Mathews,

Mrs. n. Sibley, Mrs. G. Ellwangcr, Miss C. Roch-

ester, Miss Maria Smith, Mrs. S. F. Witherspoon,

Mrs. G. Arnold, Mrs. J. M. Smith, Mrs. W. C.

Eowley, Mrs. J. H. Martindale, Mrs. F. Brown,

Mrs. William McArthur, Mrs. C. E. Upton and

Mrs. S. Goss. The first matron was Miss Harriet

Cunningham. Furniture and all household

requisites were donated from the estate of Mrs.

Asa Sprague and by others, and the house was at

once fully occupied by grateful inmates. Indeed

the applications for admittance were so far in ex-

cess of the available rooms that immediate steps

were taken to erect an adequate building. A com

miltce consisting of J. II. Eocliester, D. M. Dowcy,

E. M. Smith and H. F. Atkinson undertook tO

raise the money and serve as building commit-

tee. On April 1st, 18G9, they reported collections

amounting to $14,091 in sums ranging from $1.00

to $5,000. On the 20th of April the corner-stone

of the new edifice was laid with appropriate cere-

monies; on July 24th the institution was duly in-

corporated, the certificate providing for thirteen

trustees, and on October 26th the lower stories

were ready for occupants and the Home was form-

ally opened, the clergy of the city uniting in the

joyous exercises. On All Saints' day, 1869, there

were fifteen persons in the family circle; the ex-

penses for this year being about $3,300 and the

receipts $3,600. The original board of trustees

consisted of: President, George E. Clark; vice-

president, Eev. Israel Foote; secretary, George H,

Humphrey; treasurer, John H. Eochester, and

Eev. Henry Anstice, Eev. C. H. W. Stocking, Rev.

W. W. Battershall, Q. E. Mumford, D. M. Dewey,

G. IT. Perkins, H. F. Atkinson, C. E. Upton and

S. F. AVithcrsiwon. From its inception the pro-
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ject was fostered by Bishop Coxe, who accepted

the ex-officio honorary position of visitor, and

thus emphasized the purpose to make the Home

the joint concern of all ilie Rocliestcr cliurchfolk.

A small admission fee was expected from each

aged woman who should become a life inmate, and

a payment of one dollar a week was exacted foi

every orphan child received ; for all the rest of the

current expenses the managers have depended upon

the voluntary contributions of their friends, which

they have systematically secured by a band of col-

lectors who liavc canvassed each pnrisli by an of-

fering in each church every year on Trinity Sun-

day and by cash given at the annual donation.

For thirty-nine years this noble charity has wel-

comed a steadily increasing number of benefici*

aries. In 187C the property was extended by tha

purchase of a lot in the rear. In 1880 the ac-

commodations were doubled by the erection of the

north wing at a cost of $12,000, which was met

partly by the appropriation of certain bequests

then in hand and partly by solicited subscriptions,

and in 1901 the handsome chapel and cottage wing

on the south was added at an expense of over $13,-

000, generously donated by some fifty friends.

One of the indispensable sources of income is the

general fund, which includes the invested legacies

and gifts and the life inmate fund and amounts at

present to about $50,000. Among those who have

remembered the Home in their wills have .been

:

Mrs. Caroline Ely Steinberger, Mrs. Anne Elizi-

beth Mumford, Mrs. Mary C. Proctor, Joseph

Field, Julius T. Andrews, Mortimer F. Reynolds,

Mrs. Sarah A. Jones, Almeron J. Johnson, George

Moore, Edward H. Vredenburgh, Mrs. Emma C.

Herrick, Mrs. Lois W. Andrews and Mrs. W. L.

Halsey. In location, construction and arrange-

ment the property is a model, and the efficient ad-

ministration of the domestic affairs has frequent-

ly elicited the approbation of the state authori-

ties. The board of lady managers consists of

twenty-eight representatives from eight of the local

churches. They meet monthly and consider the

work, which is apportioned to the executive com-
mittee, the advisory committee and the commit-

tees on admissions, on collections, on clothing, on

children and on adults. The present able super-

intendent is Mrs. E. R. Wood and the two capable

teachers are Mrs. Albert Wood and Miss Bertha

Wood. The household normally includes twenty-

five elderly women and fifty orphan boys and

girls and ten caretakers, and is excellently main-

tained at the remarkably low rate of an average of

about one hundred dollars apiece i)er year. Tlie

total expenditure last year, including extensive

repairs, amounted to $11,514.70. Frequent re-

ligious services are supplied by Rev. Dr. Wash-

burn and constant medical attendance is gratu-

itously provided by Drs. Young, Grant and Pot-

ter. The officers of the board of lady managers

are: President, Mrs. Clinton Rogers; vice-presi-

dent, Mrs. P. A. Ward; corresponding secretary,

Mrs. W. C. Morey; recording secretary, Mrs. P.

M. Myers ; treasurer, Miss Julia Griffith. The offi-

cers of the board of trustees are: President, H.

P. Atkinson; vice-president, Rev. Louis C. Wash-

burn, D. D.; secretary, Joseph L. Humphrey;
treasurer, J. C. Powers.

St. Ann's Home for the Aged.—This is the out-

growth of a very beneficent institution known as

the Home of Industry, having for its object the

protection of young girls, their education in house-

hold work and the procurement of employment
for them as domestic servants. Pounded in 1873,

it was located at first on South avenue, but after

some twenty years it was removed into a new and

commodious building on East Main street, near

Prince; in spite of its flourishing condition it

was, for some reason, changed in its character and

its objects a few years ago, so that the*institution

is now simply a home for aged women. Sister M.
Ensebius, as superior, being in charge; its loca-

tion has been recently changed from East Main
street to the Charlotte boulevard.

German Home for the Aged.—This came into

existence in 1898 under the auspices of St. John's

charitable association, an organization represent-

ing all the German Protestant denominations in

the city. The building, which is on the corner of

South and Highland avenues, was greatly en-

larged last year by the addition of a large dormi-

tory, with a beautiful chapel and other rooms,

constituting the Cook memorial, provided for by

the bequest of $35,000 by the late Frederick Cook,

supplemented by other gifts from the family. The

present officers of the society controlling the Home
are Rev. J. F. W. Helmkamp, president; Rev. 6.

P. Hausser, vice-president; Rev. C. A. Daniel, re-
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cordiug scoretary; llev. Carl Bctz, conespondinj;

secretary ; of the board of trustees William Bausch

is chairman, Jacob Boss financial secretary and

George F. Eoth treasurer.

Besides these a similar institution has just been

started on Howell street by the Liberty mission,

which will for the present hold its Sunday services

there instead of, as heretofore, on South avenue,

but these will eventually be held elsewhere, as the

deed conveying the property provides that it shall

never be used for any purpose other than as an

abode for homeless women.

THE INDUSTRIAL SCHOOIi OF ijOCIlKSTKH.*

Rochester is indebted to lilrs. Ebenezer Griflin

for Uie establishment of this charity. In 1856

she witnessed the successful operation of an in-

dustrial school for vagrant children in Brooklyn,

N. Y., nud after her return to Rochester hold an

informal meeting of ladies at the home of Mrs.

Henry A. Brewster to consider the practicability

of such an enterprise in this city. On December

17th, 1856, a meeting was called in Plymouth

church, and the Industrial School association was

organized with the following officers: First di-

rectress, Mrs. David C. Ailing; second directress,

Mrs. Alfred Ely; treasurer, Mrs. George H. Ely;

corresponding secretary, Mrs. Seth H. Terry; re-

cording secretary, Mrs. , Gilman H. Perkins. Of

tliese ladies two remain in office at the present

time—Mrs. Alfred Ely, as second vice-president,

and Mrs. Gilman H. Perkins, in her original of-

fice of recording secretary. Committees were ap-

pointed to carry on the work and a reception wns

lield in the old Rochester House, on Exchange

street, on the 23d, 24tli and 25th of December,

\vhen gifts of fruit, vegetables, or useful house-

hold articles were received. On Christmas day.

at the same place, a dinner was given to more

than 300 poor children, and on January 5th, 1857,

a school was opened for the destitute children of

Eochester. On April 15, 1857, the society was

incorporated under the name of The Industrial

School of Eochester, with this board of directors:

Henry A. Brewster, president; Edwin Scrantom,

secretary; Ebenezer Griffin, Adolphus Morse, Ar-

istarchus Champion, Samuel P. Ely, Henry E.

•This sketch was prepared by Miss Harriet Grosvenor, tde
assistant secretary of the Industrial School.

Seidell, Aaron Erickson, Elias Pond, Samuel D.

Porter, John M. French, Edward M. Smith and

Joshua Conkey. In the following year Mr. Morse

and Mr. Erickson resigned and Seth H. Terry

and Charles J. Hayden were elected in their

places. Mr. ^ayden was president of the board

until his death, in 1888. The school continued

in the Eochester House for a year with great suc-

cess, the work being carried on by a board of man-

agers composed of women from the various

churches of the city. A matron cared for the

affairs of the household, with such assistance as

the children could afEord, all other services being

rendered by the managers, who taught in the

scliool, solicited donations, visited the homes and

gave the children a substantial dinner each day.

In 1858 a commodious house was purchased at

the present location. Addi-

tions were made, adjacent lots procured, and in

1880 donations of $5,000 each from Hiram Sibley

and Don Alonzo Watson permitted the enlarge-

ment of the building to its present capacity. The

objects of this organization, according to its

original constitution, were "to gather into the

school vagrant and destitute children, who, from

the poverty or vice of their parents are unable to

attend the public schools, and who gather a pre-

carious livelihood by begging or pilfering; to give

them ideas of moral and religious duty; to in-

struct them in the elements of learning and in

different branches of industry, and thus enable

them to obtain an honest and honorable support,

and to become useful members of society." It was

not originally intended to keep any child in the

house after school hours, but cases of great need

occasionally required temporary shelter, and in

time a large household of children was gathered

Avithin the building, the force of domestic help-

ers being gradually increased to meet the demand.

In 1872 a day nursery was established for the in-

fants of working mothers. In 1894, upon advice

from the board of health, the work of making a

home for children was discontinued, the day

school, kindergarten and nursery remaining to rep-

resent the work of the institution. Suitable homes

were found for the children at that time inmates

of the house. In 1890 manual training was in-

troduced through the efforts of Mrs. Gilman H.

Perkins, and has ever since been an important

feature of the school work, forming in the chil-
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dren habits of accuracy and industry which prove

invaluable in after years. In the early period of

the institution a strawberry festival was held each

June for the purpose of adding to its revenue, but

in 1864 this was superseded by an annual donation

reception in October, which for forty years was an

event in the social life of Rochester. In 1905 it

was discontinued and yearly collections of funds

are now made by the managers. This charity has

received bequests which form an endowment fund,

and from this there is some interest available. It

has had occasional appropriations from the state

and for many years the board of education hired

its school-rooms and supplied teachers. This aid

having been withdrawn in 1900, it now depends

for support entirely upon the small interest from

its endowment fund and the contributions of gen-

erous friends. The needs and progress of the

school are presented in the Industrial School Ad-

vocate, which was originally a small paper pub-

lished for the Soldiers' Aid society during the

Civil war. At the close of the war it was given to

the Industrial School managers, and since 1865

has been published monthly in the interests of the

school. Mrs. George Gould was for many years

its efficient treasurer, and its editors have been

women prominent in educational work in Roches-

ter. Mrs. Francis Little is now its editor and

treasurer. An annual report in pamphlet form

has been published since 1858.

The Industrial School enters upon the fifty-

first year of its existence most excellently equipped

for its work. Its large, light, well-ventilated

building is supplied with modern and sanitary

conveniences. Nine committees' from the board

of managers supervise the work. A matron, Miss

A. R. Frink, is in charge of the premises, with va-

rious household helpers. In the day school a prin-

cipal is employed, with five assistant teachers, and

a regular public school course is given as far as

the seventh grade. Two pleasant rooms have been

fitted up as shops, where the boys receive in-

struction in manual training, while in other rooms

prepared for the purpose the girls are carefully

taught in cooking and sewing. A warm, nutri-

tious meal is given each noon to every child, and

breakfast is served to any who come to school

hungry. Cleanliness is insisted upon, and in case

of need a child is bathed before school hours. The

number of meals served in 1906 was 30,799, and

the number of baths given 700. The day nursery

is in charge of a nurse and one helper and is open

every day oC the year except Sundays and holidays.

Infants are cared for, bathed, and fed for the

small charge of five cents a day; 7,669 little ones

were thus cared for the past year. The kindergar-

ten teacher is also the visitor for the school, mak-

ing over one hundred calls a month upon the fam-

ilies of the pupils and reporting monthly to the

managers. She suggests who shall be received as

pupils, only children of the most poverty-stricken

households being accepted. She goes into the

homes as a friend and counsellor, ever ready with

lielp in exceptional cases of sickness or destitution.

A mothers' club meets in one of the rooms of the

building each Friday evening, in charge of one of

the managers, when simple refreshments are

served to the women while they sew materials for

rugs or quilts. Music and friendly conversation

cheer them after their day of toil. In 1889 a

committee was organized for the purpose of sell-

ing new and sccond-haiul clothing to the mothers

at a very low price instead of giving it away. A
sale is held every month. In cases of extreme pov-

erty clothing is provided without charge. In 1901

a penny provident fund was started for the pupils

and has been most successful, there now being a

number of small depositors, whose occasional

pennies arc carefully saved and added to their

hoard. Thus the Industrial School is endeavoring

to carry out the purpose of its founders, in caring

for destitute children and instructing them in

cleanliness, thrift and morality. The fruits of its

labor may be seen in poverty lightened, in distress

relicvod, and in numberless instances o[ children

who, through its influence, have developed into

self-respecting, self-supporting men and women.

The officers of the board of managers for the pres-

ent year are: President, Mrs. John W. Oothout;

vice-presidents, Mrs. Oscar Craig; Mrs. Alfred Ely,

]\trs. M. E. Chapin, Mrs. D. M. Hough, and Mrs.

Cliarlos S. Baker; treasurer, Mrs. George Moss;

corresponding secretary, Mrs. II. F. Huntington;

recording secretary, Mrs. Gilman H. Perkins. The
present corporate officers are : President, William

R. Seward; vice-president. Granger A. Ilollister;

secretary and treasurer, John Craig Powers; at-

torney, William B. T^ee.
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THE WORK OF HUMANITY.

To mitigate, and as far as possible to prevent,

the practice of cruelty toward" animals, the

"Bergh associa,tion of Rochester" was formed in

1873, with William 11. Clieney as president. In

1875 the "Rochester society for the Prevention

of Cruelly to Cliildrcn" was incorporated under an

act of tiie legislature passed that year. The ex-

istence of both these societies was largely owing to

the indefatigable efforts of Miss Elizabeth, P.

Hall, whose efforts of benevolence have been men-

tioned elsewhere. The work of the incorporated

society on behalf of children and of the voluntary

association on behalf of nniinals was prosecuted for

a number of years under the same set of olllcers

and under the popular name of "The Humane
society," of which Rev. Newton M. Mann was the

first president. Its declared objects were "to pro-

vide effective means for the prevention of cruelty

to animals and children; to enforce all laws en-

acted for the protection of dumb animals and

children, and to secure by lawful means the arrest,

conviction and punishment of all persons violat-

ing such laws; also, the prevention of all cruelty

by humane education." "The Humane society of

Rochester, N. Y., for the Prevention of Cruelty

to Animals" was incorporated in 1888 under a

law enacted that year which, for the lirst time in

the liistory of the state, authorized the formation

of such ctrrporations separate from the Bergli

society of New York. By the will of Mary G.

Rand, who died in 1888, the sum of $10,000 was

devoted to the purposes of the last named society

in establishing a shelter for animals. Accordingly,

in 189] that society purchased a liouse at 90 Ply-

mouth avenue North. For several years the two

societies had headquarters at that place and prose-

cuted their work with common officers. The or-

ganizations of tlie two societies were then sepa-

rated, as their corporate existence had always been.

In 1903 the society for children acquired from the

society for animals the property referred to and

has since maintained it for the temporary care

and protection of children. The following named

are the present officers of the society for animals

(or Humane society) : President, J. B. Y. War-

ner; vice-presidents, L. P. Ross, J. B. Bloss, D. C.

TIcbbard, Rev. Nelson Millard; recording secre-

tary. Miss Sara Hyatt; corresponding secretary.

Miss Ella T. Gould; treasurer of the permanent

fund, Mrs. W. H. Gorsline; treasurer of the soci-

ety, Raymond H. Arnot. W. J. Boyink is the

agent of the society.

niEVEUTION OF CRUELTY TO CHILDREN.

The nature of the society for children is fully

described in the following statement, furnished by

its president:

"It is a corporation unique in its object, as it

is neither a charitable, a penal, or a reformatory

corporation. It was organized 'for the prevention

of cruelty to children.' By that term was not

meant the excessive use of force or physical vio-

lence upon children by parents or others, as those

offenses remained, as theretofore, the crime of

common assault. Acts defined as 'cruelty to chil-

dren' began to bo forbidden by the legislature

through laws enacted in the early seventies, and

incorporated in our penal. code, adopted in 1881,

under the title, 'Abandonment and other acts of

cruelty to children.' In brief, some of the forbid-

den acts are abandonment of a child under four-

teen, unlawful omission to furnish food, clothing,

shelter or medical attendance ; endangering the life,

limb, health or morals of a child under sixteen;

admitting children under that age to concert halls,

saloons, theaters, etc. ; employing a child as an

acrobat, or in begging, or in singing, or dancing,

or any theatrical exhibition, or in any practice

dangerous to life, limb, health or morals, etc.

Furthermore, any child under sixteen found beg-

ging, or without any home or proper guardianship,

or living with a person convicted of crime, of fre-

quenting evil places, may be arrested and its cus-

tody dis))osed of by the court. The society, with

others like it, was incorporated with the sole

primary purpose of enforcing the above mentioned

laws. While the society is authorized by law to re-

ceive and retain a child upon commitment, I have

never known a case of that kind in Rochester, and
they are very rare in New York city. The deten-

tion of children at the Shelter is wholly incidental

to final disposition of them after trial, and others
are sometimes detained as witnesses. It is not,
therefore, a penal or reformatory institution. Nor
is it a charitable institution. In 1900 our Court of
Appeals decided a controversy which arose between
the New York society and the State Board of
Charities, which latter body sought to exercise
powers of visitation and control over the New
York society P. C. C. The court decided that
the state board had no power of visitation, because
the society was not a charitable institution. For
the purpose of fitting the society for its work, its

agents are made peace officers by the law, that is,

they have the same standing as police officers and
constables."

The present officers of the society arc: Presi-

dent, George A. Carnahan; vice-presidents. Rev.
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Nelson Millard, Joseph T. Ailing, Mrs. Max

Landsberg; treasurer, Mrs. Martin B. Hoyt; re-

cording secretary, Mrs. Prank G. Perrin; corre-

sponding secetary, Mrs. Edward S. Ellwanger.

The number of children taken to the Shelter dur-

ing the past year was 504, and the number of

meals served, 3,551. The society employs William

A. Killip as superintendent and Richard S. Red-

fern as agent.

childhen's aid society.

Somewhat in line with the S. P. C. C. and ex-

tending its work still further, is the Children's

Aid society, which was formed in 1895 to care for

those unfortunate little waifs who, in past gen-

erations, would have been turned over to the un-

kindness and general misery of the poorhouse, and

to surround them with such influences as seem to

be best fitted, in each individual case, to bring

these children to upright, self-respecting manhood

and womanhood. These influences are rightly

considered to be best secured by placing children

in families where they may live in the atmosphere

of a home, and where they will have good physical

care and such training of head and hand as will

fit them for usefulness in the world. The board

of supervisors—for the scope of the society is not

confined to the city, but extends throughout the

county—allows $1.60 a week for the support of

each child and $5.00 a year for clothing; sums

that are totally inadequate for the purpose and

that have to be supplemented by voluntary con-

tributions. The wards of the society come into

its charge through various channels, as any chil-

dren under sixteen years of age, found to be des-

titute or under impi'oper guardiansliip, may be

committed by their parents, or overseers of the

poor, or by the courts. Homes are found for these

children, temporary or permanent, as the case

may be, the hospitality thus extended being in

some cases gratuitous, in other instances, a little

more than half of the whole number, a small

amount being paid. Until the cliild becomes of

age it is visited at intervals by an agent of the

society and if it is found that the treatment is

improper or the environment is unsatisfactory,

the society at once removes its ward, over whom it

retains control all the time, and another place is

found. In many cases the matter ends in the

legal adoption of the child by those who have

taken it in. About seven hundred children liave

been received and provided for in this way since

the society was' organized. The first president was

Mrs. E. V. Stoddard, the secretary Miss Mary A.

Parley, the treasurer Miss Beiiha Hooker, and the

chairman of the children's committee Miss Alice

Bacon. The present officers are John H. Hop-

kins, president; Mrs. John S. Morgan and Mrs.

Charles P. Barry, vice-presidents; Miss Jessie

Bacon, secretary, and Mrs. Edward P. Wellington

treasurer, with Miss Margaret C. Drury as Cath-

olic agent. Miss Amelia M. Goler as Protestant

agent, and Miss Mary R. Orwen as general secre-

tary.

woman's educational and industrial union.

This powerful organization, which was formed

in April, 1893, with Mrs. AVilliam A. Montgom-

ery as president, has already accomplished more

than was dreamed of at the outset, and has estab-

lished itself as one of the forces of the city, none

the less potential for being unofficial. Its scope is

very extensive, embracing widely different lines of

beneficence. It conducts personal correspondence

with leading educators all over the country, keeps

in touch with advanced educational methods, and

uses its influence to promulgate these methods in

our city. It holds monthly meetings, where such

topics are discussed and plans for usefulness for-

mulated. A sub-eomniitlcc visits regularly each

public school in the city, the object being to be-

come fully acquainted with our school system and

to bring about a closer, more friendly relation

between teacher and patron. The union has done

much in the way of securing to poor women their

legal rights in chattel mortgage foreclosures and

other forms of oppression; it has established a

noon resting place for working girls, with lunch

at cost prices, and social centers with evening ren-

dezvous for the inhabitants of the congested dis-

tricts ; in connection with the Mechanics' Institute

it has put manual training into the public schools;

it has secured from the board of education enough

money for the maintenance of vacation schools; it

has, in connection with the Playground League,

obtained from the city authorities fifty thousand

dollars for playgrounds for school children, and

it has accomplished great good in many other

ways; its present location is on Clinton avenue
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South, near Coiu-t street, and its present officers

arc: Mrs. William A. Montgomery, president;

Mrs. William C. Gannett, Mrs. Max Landsberg

and Mrs. William Eastwood, vice-presidents; Mrs.

F. F. Dow, recording secretary, with Mrs. S. H.

Linn as assistant; Mrs. J. B. Y. Warner, corre-

sponding secretary, and Mrs. J. H. Hopkins, treas-

urer.

The Children's Playground League, above re-

ferred to, was organized in May, 1903. In that

year a portion of Brown square was set off for a

recreation place for very young people, and sev-

eral persons volunteered to oversee their amuse-

ments, to see that they were carried on in the saf-

est and most unselfish manner. Since tiicn the

park board has taken charge of all grounds that

may be devoted to this purpose, land has been

leased adjoining four of the public schools, and

the large sum recently obtained will be used for

the purpose of securing increa.scd territory in dif-

ferent parts of the city, as well as paying the sal-

aries of a supervisor and instructors, who are now

regularly employed. To this beneficent agency

may fairly be ascribed a part, at least, of the as-

tonishing decrease in the number of juvenile ar-

rests during tlie last few years and in the number

of drowning accidents to children. The present

officers of the association are: J. Howard Brad-

street, president; Dr. Simon L. Eisner, vice-pres-

ident ; Benjamin B. Chace, secretary, and Winfred

J. Smith, treasurer.

TI-IE ORGANIZATION OF CHARITY.

While there were already a sufficient number of

charitable associations in the city, the need of

systematization was felt, which should prevent the

unnecessary duplication of assistance and should

at the same time relieve the citizens generally from

incessant calls whose trustworthiness they had no

means of investigating. In the autumn of 1890

the Society for the Organization of Charity came

into existence, largely through the efforts of Oscar

Craig, though he declined to be officially con-

nected with it, as his labors were devoted to the

epileptic colony that bears his name; the first

president was Dr. E. V. Stoddard, the secretary

Mrs. Helen D. Arnold. Its object was not so muih

to give direct aid, except in cases of emergency,

as to help the poor to help themselves, to main-

tain co-operation among the various charities of

the city and to keep in communication with sim-

ilar organizations in other large places. After it

had made a thorough classification of the poor

who were in our midst the business depression of

1893 came on, with the consequent widespread in-

crease of poverty, and the Chamber of Commerce

turned over to this society for distribution the en-

tire fund of ten thousand dollars which it had

raised to relieve the prevailing, distress. Since

then the association has been recognized as the

proper source of information on the subject of

local charity and the proper recipient of any funds

that may be contributed for general purposes or

for individual cases. The present officers are:

William E. Seward, president and also treasurer

of the immediate relief fund; William P. Peck

and John H. Stedman, vice-presidents; Mrs. Hel-

en D. Arnold, general secretary and treasurer.

The B'nai B'rith is a veteran Jewish benevolent

society, or rather an order, with different lodges

scattered throughout the country. • Its age in this

city is more than that of a generation, for Zerub-

babel lodge was formed here on March 13th, 1864,

as the outcome of an older organization, called the

Gemilus Chesed, which had existed since 1850.

Its first president was William Guggenheim, and

Jacob Thalheimer now holds that position, the

secretaries being David Strauss and Louis Water-

man, the treasurer Lewis Stern. Its influence of

late years seems to have been somewhat overshad-

owed by that of the Hebrew Benevolent society,

incorporated in 1867, the present president of

which is Abram J. Katz, the secretary Louis Wat-

erman and the treasurer Nathan Goldwater.

^riio Social Settlement, on Baden street, organ-

ized in 190l, was at the outset, like the foregoing,

under Jewish auspices, and though of late years

members of several other denominations have

aided in the work and have been on the board of

directors, its control is still mainly in the hands

of those of the original faith. It is not, in a strict

sense, charitable in its nature, but is intended for

the betterment of those not in direct need, by

showing the means best adapted for the improve-

ment of home life, and with this end in view it is

intended to build a model cottage, in which the

housekeeping lessons can be more fully demon-

strated. The present officers are: Mrs. J. L.

Garson, president; Mrs. A. J. Katz, vice-presi-

dent; Mrs. Julius M. Wile, secretary and treas-
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urer; Miss Becea Rosenberg, corresponding sec-

retary. The disbursements last year were ten

thousand dollars.

The Boys Evening Home is the name of an

institution that came into existence in the Unita-

rian church several years ago. Its object is to

gather together the boys of the street, the news-

boys or any others, those who have no homes and

those whose habitations are not sufficiently de-

sirable to be called homes, and to give them one

evening each week for quiet enjoyment in reading,

playing games or listening to talks that are in-

structive and entertaining. At these weekly meet-

ings cleanliness is insisted upon, to the extent of

an ablution after arrival if not before, and it has

been found that this outward and visible sign, to

which many of them were previously- strangers,

has gradually led the way to greater cleanliness

of living. While the gatherings have always been

held in the chapel of the Unitarian church, and

the whole equipment is there, the institution is

absolutely nonsectarian, as may be seen from the

fact that the principal conductor is one of the fac-

ulty of the university.

The Y. M. C. A. and Y. W. C. A., which in

the results accomplished will compare favorably

with similar institutions in other cities, have been

mentioned elsewhere in this work.

The Rochester branch of the Needlework Guild

of America has for many years past done good

work in collecting and distributing new, plain,

suitable garments to meet the demand of hospi-

tals, asylums, homes and other places where char-

ity can find a field of operations. During last

year it handled in that way more than ten thou-

sand garments. Mrs. George C. Hollister is the

president of the association.

The Monroe County Bible society has been re-

served till the last—not because it is the latest as-

sociation, for it was one of the very earliest, com-

ing next after the Female Missionary society, and

is now the oldest in existence in this city—but be-

cause its scope is limited, being confined to the

distribution, without charge in cases of necessity,

of Bibles throughout the homes and public insti-

tutions. Once in ton years a thorough canvass of

the county is made and a copy of tlie Scriptures

is placed in every home where one was not al-

ready found. The society was formed on l\lay

30th, 1821, the officers being Vincent Mathews,

president; William Atkinson and F. P. Backus,

vice-presidents; lilnos Pomeroy, corresponding sec-

retarj', and Levi Ward, jr., treasurer. Tlie pres-

ent officers are: Rev. James P. Sankey, D. D.,

president; Rev. Prank S. Rowland, D. D., vice-

president; Rev. W. J. Eeid, corresponding secre-

tary; Rev. G. B. F. Halloek, D. D., recording sec-

retary ; Rev. G. L. Hamilton and Lansing G. Wet-

more, joint treasurers.

This will bring to a close the record of those

principal agencies, other than purely private ones

or those connected with some religious organiza-

tion, that may be classed as benevolent, charitable

or beneficent. The list is not thereby exhausted,

for, if an attempt were made to complete it, it

would gradually stretch to the vanishing point,

but the inlluences described above are the leading

ones that work for the material benefit of our cit-

izens, for the relief of their distresses and for the

betterment of their lives.
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CHAPTER XVII

EDUCATIONAL.

The Private Schools of Rochester—Those of the

Early Times and of the Present Day—The Pub'

lie Sdiool System—The University of Rochester

—The Mechanics Institute—The Rochester

Theological Seminary—St. Bernard's Seminary
—Wagner Memorial College—The Deaf Mute

Institute.

THE PRIVATE SCHOOLS.

Migration from New England has always car-

ried the school-house with it, and so it was neces-

sary that there should be one of those institutions

in the settlement of Eochester, even though there

were few, if any, pupils to attend it. Miss Huldah

M. Strong, who came here with her relatives of

the Eeynolds family in February, 1813, opened a

school before the close of that year and continued

to teach it until her marriage with Dr. Jonah

Brown in 1816. One would suppose that its loca-

tion might be easily determined, but such is not

the case. One authority maintains that it was in

Enos Stone's barn, but that was on the east side of

the river, in what was then and for ten years

afterward the village of Brighton, while Miss

Strong lived on the west side, where the Arcade

now stands, and the passage from one community

to the other was difficult if not dangerous. Still,

•In preparing the section relating to the private schools, the

writer has Iicen largely indebted for the earlier portion to a

comprehensive chapter on the subject by Mr. George S. Riley,

in the "Semicentennial History of Rochester," In 1884, while

for the part relating to the schools of the present day he is

under obligation to Mr. J. Howard Bradstrect, who gathered for

him much of the material.

those objections may have been and probably were,

overcome by the fact that in Eochester there could

not have been more than half a dozen persons of

school age, while in Brighton there were at least

fourteen, which was the number with which the

small academy started. A little later it was re-

moved to a room over Jehiel Barnard's clothing

store and tailor shop, on the corner of State and

West Main streets.

In the very year of the beginning of that youth-

ful institution of learning a lot was donatea oy

Colonel Eochester for school purposes and a house

erected where the municipal building now stands,

the location having been from that day to this

used wholly or in part for educational pursuits.

From the fact that it was called "district school-

house number 1" it may be considered that that

was, in the truest sense, the forerunner, if not tlie

foundation, of our present common school sys-

tem, and it will be so considered in that portion of

this chapter which is devoted to that subject. It

is impossible to differentiate with any degree o!

exactness between public schools and private

schools for some time after that, as education was

not compulsory, neither was it wholly free at any

institution. \Vhile there were many that were

supported partially by local taxation and even

by state appropriations of money and yet were es-

sentially private schools because they were under

private control, there were others that might prop-

erly be called public, such as the one just men-
tioned, and that on the corner of Mill and Piatt

streets, as well as the "Brown square old stone

school-house." It is a little remarkable that the
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first village directory, published in 1827 while it

contains mueh useful information on other points

has nothing to say about the schools in Rochester,

except to mention the female charity established

in 1831, though it has a long- description of the

Monroe high school in Henrietta, several of the

trusteees of which resided in our village.

There were, however, plenty of schools here be-

fore that, notably a young ladies' academy on Mill

street, on the site of the old New York Central

railroad station, which was founded about 1830

by Miss Maria AUyn, a teacher of rare ability ancj

attractive personality, which brought to her a

large proportion of the daughters of the leading in-

habitants. It was near that time, perhaps in that

very year, that Philip P. Fairchild and Thomas A.

Filer established an English and Latin school on

Exchange street, which during its existence was

held in high repute, and two schools were started

which were probably largely parochial in their

nature, one by Rev. Coihfort Williams, the pastor

of the First Presbyterian church, and the other

by Rev. F. H. Cuming, the rector of St. Luke's.

Even before that date there were flourishing

schools in Brighton, the earliest probably that at

the north comer of Clinton and Mortimer streets,

the building for which was put up in 1818 and

the teacher of which for some time was Lyman
Cobb, the author of a spelling-book and a diction-

ary that bear his name. In 1821 there was a

school on the south side of Main street, near SL
Paul, and one on Andrews street, also near St.

Paul, and three years later there was one on the

norith side of Main, between St. Paul and Clinton,

kept by Zenas Freeman, attended by many boyij

who afterward became prominent citizens; this

was succeeded a little later by one kept by Mr.

AVhite, near the same location. Mrs. Mary Griffin

came here from England in 1833 and opened a

school for young children at the corner of State

and Jay streets, removing it afterward to Allen

and then to Exchange street, where she main-

tained it till she married Jacob Anderson. About

1824 Rev. Mr. Milligan, who is spoken of as a

handsome and accomplished Irish gentleman and

scholar, who had just come from the old country,

opened a school at the corner of Main and Front

streets, in which he was occasionally assisted in

teaching by his friend Dr. Penney, of the First

church.

The third ward was by no means destitute of

these adjuncts of civilization. One was estab-

lished there on Adams street as early as 1830,

kept by Mr. Blake, where sometimes fifty scholars

were in attendance at the same time, and somewhat

later Dr. Bell had a school at or near the same

location. Plymouth church stands upon the an-

cient site of a school building, though the time of

its beginning can not be fixed, oven approximatclj'*.

It must liavo been quite early, judging from the

number of dilforeiit instructors who nro known to

have taught there at various times, Messrs. Filer!

Tateham, Curtis, Morse, McKeo, Cook, Miles, Fos-

ter and others. The last teacher was Miss Web-

ster, who had charge of it just before the building

was burned down in 1853, it having been vacated

on the transference of the site to the church com-

mittee. About 1835 there was a school on Lan-

caster (now Cortland) street, taught by Mr.

Shafer, long remembered for his free use of the

ferule and for his peculiar practice of occasionally

smoking during school hours. Not much later

Richard Dunning kept a school on Stone street,

near Main, at whicli eighty pupils sometimes at-

tended, but it had to bo given up because so many
tuition bills remained unpaid, owing to lack of

means on the part of the parents. The forerunner

of all manual training establishments in this part

of the state was a school kept by Rev. Gilbert Mor-

gan, where the academic exercises were suspended

for a few hours each day and the boys devoted

themselves to the manufacture of barrels for the

flour mills of the village. This was located in the

United States Hotel building on West Main
street, probably in an annex to that, for the main
part of the structure was certainly used as a hotel

in ]S;58, -wlicn Homy O'lioiliy ])uhlishod his

''Sketches of Rochester," and it was not till long

after that that it became occupied by the Uni-

versity of Rochester. Without dwelling longer on

these early schools of a primary character we wiU
turn now to some of much greater perpetuity and

which exercised a vastly wider as well as morg
enduring influence.

First of these was one whose corporate name
was the Rochester High School, and by this title

it has always been known, though the directory

of 1844 speaks of it as the Collegiate Institute.

It was incorporated by an act of March 15th, ISST",

which directed that "school districts numbers 4
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and 14 in the town oi' Brighton be united in one

district for the purpose of instructing yovith on

the system of Lancaster or Bell, or according to

any other plan of elementary education; Levi

Ward, jr., Obadiah N. Bush, Davis C. West, Ash-

ley Sampson, Peckham Barker, Elisha Johnson,

Enos Stone, Elisha Ely, Abner Wakelce, Isaac

Marsh, William Atkinson and Samuel Scholield

shall be the first trustees." Having purchased

from Enos Stone an acre and a half of land on

Lancaster street) (so named, probably, from the

educational system to be pursued there) which

fronted a pleasant lane then leading from Clin-

ton street and which included the ground now cov-

ered by the chapel of the Unitarian church, the

trustees erected a stone building three stories in

height, eighty-five feet long and fifty-five in

width, with three large entrances and surmounted

by a cupola that was furnished with a bell that

summoned the numerous pupils from near an-]

far. Both building and school existed for just

twenty-five years,tlie former being burned to the

ground in the latter part of 1852, and during all

that term its reputation stood high among the

educational institutions of Western New York. Its

first principal was S. D. Moore, Miss Weed and

Mr. Van Dake being assistant teachers. Of those

who are known to have succeeded these instruc-

tors it will be sufficient to mention Lindley Mur-

ray Moore, Leander Wetherell and James E. Doo-

little, who was afterward United States senator

from Wisconsin. Miss Mary B. Allen, Miss Mal-

vina M. Snow, Mrs. Greenough, Miss Pierpont,

Miss E. C. demons and Miss E. Eaton were suc-

cessively, at the head of the female department

Its popularity was, perhaps, at its height during

the year ending in April, 1837, during which ii

reached a total attendance of nearly six hundred,

one-third of them being girls. This great in-

flux of pupils was largely owing to the fact that

Dr. Chester Dewey had come here by a special call

from the trustees and had assumed charge of the

school in the preceding May. His reputation as a

pedagogue had been established long before that,

for he was a professor in Williams college from

1810 to 1825, after which he removed to Pitts-

field, near by. to take control of the Berkshire In-

stitute at that place ; he was a mnn of great learn-

ing and in this position at the head of the high

school he speedily became the foremost educator

in Eochester; on the destruction of the building

he accepted the professorship of natural sciences

in the university, retaining that chair till 1861,

when he resigned, dying two years later, at the age

of eighty-three.

It was only natural that the great success~of

the high school should stimulate a further de-

mand for female education, so Miss Sarah T.

Seward, who came here in 1833, opened in that

year a school for young women in some part of

the United States Hotel building on West Main
street; it was afterward removed to the present

site of the First Presbyterian church, where the

number in attendance increased so rapidly that

Miss Seward, feeling the need of larger quarters,

erected in 1835 a capacious school-house on Alex-

ander street, more ornamental than anything of

the kind ever seen here before, most completely

furnished, the class-room equipments costing mors

than twelve thousand dollars, and the whole thing

rendered doubly attractive by being situated in the

midst of fine grounds. With Miss Sayles as first

assistant, and' after that Miss Philena Fobes, Miss

Sarah C. Eaton and others, the school maintained

its popularity till the marriage of the principal tc

General Jacob Gould in 1841, and even after thai

when it was under the direction of her brother,

Jason W. Seward, who continued it till 1848, when
it became the Tracy Female Institute; in 1856 the

property was sold to Freeman Clarke, who erected

a residence there, which was taken by the Homeo-
pathic hospital in 1894, its capacity being doubled

at that time. The departure of Miss Seward left

the third ward without any high-grade institution

for the education of young women, a condition

of things which could not be contemplated with

composure, and so, in January, 1835, even while

she was still there, a meeting was held at the

office of Jonathan Child, as the outcome of which

stock was subscribed for, a lot on South Fitzhugh

street was purchased from Amon Bronson, and

in the course of that year Nehemiah Osburn put

up the building, a sightly structure, with four

white pillars in its front and two stories high,

the upper floor being used mainly for gradua-

tion and other exercises ; it is remarkable as being

the only scholastic edifice now standing of all

those raised in that early time, so far as known.

The original board of trustees (Consisted of Jona-

than Child, Moses Chapin, Elijah F. Smith..
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James K. Livington and William P. Stanton, and

when the institution was incorporated in 1837 the

same persons were named, except that Henry B.

Williams waa substituted for Mr. Stanton. Its

official name, then given to it, was the Rochester

Female Academy, but, as frequently happens in

such cases, its original title always clung to it, at

least among the residents of the ward, by whom it

was known simply as "the seminary." It was

lopened in May, 1836, with Miss F. II. Jones as

iprincipal, Miss Araminta D. Doolittle and he;-

younger sister Julia being the assistants. Soon

.after that. Miss Jones having resigned, the head-

ship fell to Miss Doolittle, a gentlewoman of the

old school, who stamped the impress of her indi-

viduality so deeeply upon the minds of her pupils

that it remains, with those who are still living,

even to the present day. Upon her resignation in

1855 Mrs. P. H. Curtis had charge of the scho<5]

till 1858, when Rev. James Nichols, of Geneseo,

upon the call of the trustees assumed its direction,

and after his 'death, in 18C4, his wife, Mrs. Sarah

J. Nichols, who had been associated with him in

tlie teaching from the beginning, succeeded to tlit:

control. In 1889, the charter having expired, Mrs.

Nichols bought in the property, so there was no

change in the management, and after her deatli,

in 1893, her daughters. Miss Margaret D. and Miss

Jane H. Nichols, continued to maintain it on the

same broad lines of academic culture. Finally,

in 1903, after nearly seventy years of unbrokon

prosperity and of high reputation, the school came

io an' end and the house passed into the hands

of the church of Christian Science.

In the period at which we have been glancing

"the Catholics, whose numbers had been steadily

increasing, considered that they were entitled to

a school oi their own, so in the winter of 1834-o.j

Rev. Bernard O'Reilly, pastor of St. Patrick's

church—the predecessor of the cathedral—in-

quired of Father Welch, of Brooklyn, if a com-

petent Catholic teacher could not be sent to Roch-

ester. As the result of this inquiry Michasl

Hughes, who had arrived in this country, a few

months before, came here in May, 1835, and im-

mediately opened a school in the house of Dr.

Hugh Bradley on North St. Paul street, near

Falls field. Th4ti location, however, was oiily pre-

liminary, it being the intention from the out-

set to have it in the basement of St. Patrick's

church, on Piatt street, as soon as that could be

fitted up for a school-room. That was accom-

plislied witbin a few months and the foreign in-

structor, assisted by his wife, Mrs. Margaret L.

Hughes, taught there acceptably for seven years,

being succeeded by a Mr. Kelly in 1843, and he

by Patrick Quiri the next year, who held the posi-

tion till 1S48.' Shortly after that time it was re-

moved to the corner of Brown and Prank sticets

and several years later a commodious brick build-

ing was erected for it on that spot, wliere it is still

maintained by the order of Christian Brothers.

Soon after its formation it became distinctly the

parochial school of St. Patrick's parish, which ex-

ample has since then been followed by all the

Catholic churches in the city, each one having its

own educational attachment. Of the other schools

of that denomination which have obtained a most

enviable reputation for thoroughness of instruc-

tion and the development of character mention

may be made of the following: The academy of

the Sacred Heart was founded by the ladies of that

order in 1855, Mother Xennedy being at the head

of it; eight years later it was removed from its

original location on South avenue to Prince street,

wliere it still remains in a fine home in the midst

of capacious grounds. In 1857 Bishop Timon of

Buffalo called the Sister.s of Mercy here from
Providence and they established on South street,

near St. Mary's church, an institution of' which
Mother Baptist was the first superior, which has

expanded into a convent for the sisters, a parochial

school, an academy or select school, an industrial

school and a children's home, all combined. Tho
Nazareth convent, in the old residence of General
John Williams on Jay street, corner of Frank, was
opened in 1871 as the mother house of the Sisters

of St. Joseph, with Mother M. Stanislaus as su-

'

perior; the next year an academy was added to the

convent and tlie number of pupils soon became no

great that the house had to be much enlarged in

187G.

There wei'e several other schools of those early

days, besides those mentioned above, that bore thci

somewhat pretentious title of seminaries, con-

spicuous among which were those of Miss Mary
B. Allen, first on North St. Paul street, afterward
on Allen street, which was not discontinued, till

1869—when, at a very advanced age, she became
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]\Ir9. Moses King—of Mrs. William Atkinson, on

Canal street; of Miss Mary Sibley, on North So-

phia street, and Mrs. Greenough's, first on the

corner of North and Andrews streets, then on

Plymouth avenue, near Adams street, where she

was assisted by her eldest daughter, aftenvard

Mi's. Samuel P. Ely. Prior to 1850 there was a

small school on Hill street, first on tlie canal side,

whore tlie Co-operative foundry now stands, and

afterward opposite, kept by Miss lluth P. Ilarn-

den, which was attended by most of the children

in the neighborhood. In 1850 there came here

from Philadelphia Mrs. Isabella J. Porter, with

Miss Mary Jane and Miss Almira B. All of them

tauglit school in the basement of the Unitarian

church on North Fitzhugh street, where a German

church now stands, Mrs. Porter devoting herself

exclusively to the instruction of little boys. Miss

Almira to that of little girls and Miss Mary Jane,

in the main room, to that of girls of a larger

growth; when the church was destroyed by fire,

in 1859, Mrs. Porter retired and the sisters kept

up the Avork on South Washington street till the

death of the elder, after which the survivor main-

tained the school for some time in the chapel oE

Christ church on Bast avenue. Mrs. Daniel Marsh

kept a school for a few years in the former resi-

dence of Jonathan Child on South Washington

street, in which she was assisted by Miss Eaton,,

who succeeded to its management. Miss Mary
Doolittle, assisted by Miss Ward, kept a day school

for girls in Grove place at about this time, though

the date cannot be given. From 1848 to 1851

til ere was a Catholic collegiate school, taught by

Eev. Jesse A. Aughinbaugh, on South avenue,

where the Y. M. C. A. building now stands.- In

the early fifties a small brick building was put

up in the rear of Mrs. Greenough's house od

Plymouth avenue, access to wliich was obtained by

an alley running from Adams street; in this for

a few years Edgar T. Goodspeed, assisted by somu

university students, kept a school for boys, pre-

paring tlioui for college; Avlien Mr. Ooodspei'd gave

it up it was continued for a year by William W.
Fay. Of much longer duration and exercising a

wide influence in their day were the collegiate in-i

stitute of Lc Hoy Sattcrlcc, who, after leaving

number 3, where he had been principal, opened a

fine school for both sexes in the Chappell block.

on State street, transferring it afterward to Ore-

gon street, N. W. Benedict being his chief assist-

ant; Eastman's commercial college, one of the

first of its kind in the country; De Graff's insti-

tute for boys', first on East Main street, near Stone,

then on the corner of Court and Stone, and Myron
G. Peck's training-school for boys, first on State

street, afterward on East avenue.

The German element of our population, as it

increased in numbers, in wealth and in power,

felt that not enough was being done to perpetuate

among their children an acquaintance with the

vernacular tongue, although, through their influ-

ence, the parochial schools had so widened theijj

original instruction as to include in some instance?

a knowledge of German literature, science and

art. Accordingly a school was started in 1866,

founded upon the model of the German real schu-

len. which undertook to impart a thorough Ger-

man education in addition to the ordinary Eng-
lish branches. Under the directorship of Dr.

Rudolph Dulon, its first principal, it was ver7

successful and continued so till his death, in 1870.

when Hermann Pfaefflin took charge of it, and its

prosperity continued to be so great that a new
building for it was formally dedicated on February

14th, 1873. Although it was from the beginning

entirely free from sectarian bias, religious big-

otry and prejudice caused the abandonment of tho

enterprise in 1883.

We coine now to institutions of a later date,

though the first one to be mentioned was begun

nearly half a century ago. In 1858 Mrs. P. II

Curtis (wlio always preferred to be called bv lier

own name of Cathro M. Curtis) founded the Liv-

ingston Park seminary, wliich has been known as

such to the present time and which is still located

in its original position in the old residence of Dr.

Frederick F. Backus at the north end of the park

;

as a 'liome and day school for girls and young

ladies," it speedily gained a high reputation, which

it has always maintained; at the death of Mrt**

Curtis it passed into the hands of Miss Stone, and

after that into those of Mrs. William M. Rebasz,

who now, with seven assistants, conducts it suc-

cessfully. George D. Hale organized in Septem-

ber, 1871, a classical and scientific school, the

aim being to I'ui'nisii for boys and voiuig men the

best facilities in their preparation for college, for
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higher scientific schools and for business, though

a few young ladies were also prepared there fo^

Vassar and Wellesley; instruction from the first

was exclusively by the principal, Mr. Hale, ex-

cept that for one year Miss Sarah A. Hale con-

ducted a junior department and for the last two

years of the institution F. A. J. Waldron assisted

as instructor; for the first sixteen years the loca-

tion was over the Union bank, from 1888 to 1896

in the German insurance building, from that 'o

1898, when it was discontinued, in the Cutler

building. Miss Margaret Bell Marshall opened in

1874 a school for young children of both sexesj

at number 260 Plymouth avenue, which is still

kept up after having had a total of five hundred

and twenty pupils; both Miss Marshall and Mis?

Martha Gaylord, who taught on North Union

street from 1886 till a few years ago, were uniqus

personalities in the private school world, both of

them standing for good work in an old-fashioned

way. From 1874 to 1886 Miss Mary I. Bliss—

who is now superintendent of the department of

domestic science in the Mechanics Institute—con-

ducted a girls' day and boarding school, on Spring

street at the corner of Washington, which was

very popular during its existence; her assistant'-

were her father. Dr. C. P. Bliss, Miss Jane Lemon
(now Mrs. Lyford), Miss Helen Hollister and

Mile. Houssais.

James Hattrick Lee came here in 1887 and

opened a boys' preparatory school over the Ea.-t

Side Savings bank, calling it the Port Hill school,

in memory of the one with which he had been

previously connected in Canandaigua; after being

conducted with great acceptability for four year?

it became merged in 1891 in the institution of J.

Howard Bradstreet and Eldon G. Burritt, which

was founded in that year; Mr. Burritt went to

Greenville, Illinois, in 1893, as professor of Greek,

and since then it has been known as the Bradstreet

school. Under that appellation it has acquired a

high reputation as a place of classical learning fot.

boys, both day scholars and those who board there

;

after being located in the Cox, Beckley and Cutler

buildings, successively, it was removed three years

ago to Park avenue, corner of Brunswick street;

and there it remained until its recent close, when
Mr. Bradstreet changed his sphere of usefulness

to New York city; the teachers in it during itii

existence were, besides tlie principal, Messrs. Bur-

ritt, Eobson, Spencer, O'llcrn, lOaion, O'Connor,

Kalbfus, Cordis, Whitney, Leavitt and Miss Clara

K. Curtis. At some time that cannot be learned

Miss Martha Cruttenden opened a boarding-

school on St. Paul street; after keeping it there

for several years she moved to number 7 Gibbs

street, built on the adjacent lot and maintained

the school in the two houses till 1885, when, her

health failing, she turned them over to Dr. Charles

R. Kingsley; he continued the school till 1888.

when he accepted the presidency of Milwaukee

college; Miss Cruttenden then took back the two

buildings, renting one of them for a chapter-

house and in the other opening a day school, which

was organized by Miss L. H. Hakes as vice-prin-

cipal. In 1894 Miss Cruttenden retired entirelv

and Miss Hakes conducted the school independent-

ly at the same place for two years, but moving it

in April, 1896, to its present location on East ave-

nue at the corner of Scio street ; it is a day school

for girls, primary, intermediate and college pre-

paratory; its faculty includes Miss L. H. Hakes.

Miss M. A. Holces, Miss Morgan, Miss Merrell,

Miss Rowley, Miss Richmond, Miss Howard. Mad-
ame Brewer, Madame Peloquin and Professor

Pfaefflin. Miss Kate Lewis, with Miss Mary Ma-
cauley as assistant, had a primary and intermedi-

ate school on Meigs street from 1891 to 1897.

In 1891 the Columbia school, still bearing that

name, was founded by Miss Alida Lattimore and

Miss Caroline Milliman, located iirst on Meigs

street, afterward in Columbia hall. North Good-
man street, where it now remains; it is a day
school, with kindergarten, primary and intennedi-

ate for children of both sexes, college preparatory

for girls; Miss Lattimore recently removed to

Xow York and the faculty now consists of Miss

Milliman, Miss Mary Milliman, Mrs. Bellamy-

Burr, Madame Brewer, Miss Mahan, Praulein

Ohl, Miss Read and Miss Darrin. Mrs. Frank W.
Little opened in 1896 a primary and intennediaie

school for boys and girls on Meigs street; the

tcacliing force now includes, besides Mrs. Little,

Mr. Little, Madame Peloquin, Frau Bartels and
Miss Smith.

The Roman Catholic parochial schools are men-
tioned in connection with the various churches ol

that denomination, in the ecclesiastical chapter.
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THE PUBLIC SCHOOL SYSTEJf.

The beginning of public, or common, schools

in Rochester undoubtedly dates back to 1813, the

year following her first family settlement. In

1813 tlie legislature passed the first common
school act of the state of New York. This law

provided, among otlier things, for an equitable

distribution of the interest of the state school

fund among the counties of the state for the

support of common schools ; for the establishment

of school districts within the townships, and the

levying of a local tax equal to the sum received

from the state. Under its provisions "district

school house iiiimbor 1" was bnilt in ISI.'i on a

lot given for that purpose by Colonel Rochester.

This building is described as a one-story wooden

structure, about eighteen by twenty-four feet, lo-

cated on a portion of the present site of the muni-

cipal building, formerly the Free Academy. Aaron

Skinner is said to have been tlie first teacher in

this school and therefore the first male teacher in

Rochester. As this building was enlarged before

1830 and again in 1833, and some years later was

replaced by a "large brick structure," we may
reasonably infer that this school flourished and

that the rapidly growing village must have or-

ganized more than one school district during these

early years. The information at hand with ref-

erence to common school education in Rochester

up to 1841 is meager and indefinite. The early

chroniclers seem to make little or no distinction

between public and private schools, and in fact

there wa« little difference, since none of them

were free schools, as we have come to understand

the term.

From the condition in which we find the com-

mon schools, as reported by their first superin-

tendent in 1844, we learn much of their growth

during the thirty years previous. To adequately

understand the conditions as represented in this

report we need to refer to the statute relating to

tlie common schools of the state, and later of Roch-

ester. The first act, already referred to, was

amended and revised several times before 1830.

In 1819 it was much improved by increasing the

amount appropriated by the state and by requir-

ing ri. county tax as well as a town tax to bo levied

"This article on tile public school system was prepared by Mr.
George 11. Walden, the principal of grammar school nu'mber 10.

for common schools, each equal to the sum appro-

priated by the state. This was ar long step toward

free schools in this state. In 1834 Rochester be-

came a city. In her act of incorporation the may-

or and aldermen became, by virtue of their ofiBce,

the commissioners of the common schools. Aside

from this and the provision that the moneys

should be deposited with the city treasurer, instead

of the county treasurer, there was little or ao

change from the general act of 1819, so far as the

schools were concerned. The board of supervisors

continued to levy the school tax for the city as

well as for the county, and the commissioners ap-

portioned the money to each of the districts in the

city, ns did ilio otlior commissioners throughout

the towns of the county. No report on the condi-

tion of the schools seems to have been made dur-

ing this period. From the reports made some

years later we may well understand how inade-

quately this provision of' the charter provided for

the educational needs of the growing young city.

Seven years later, in 1841, the "free school law

of Rochester'-" was enacted by the legislature. This

act created a board of education, two commission-

ers from each ward, gave the common council

power to levy a tax six times the sum appropriated

to the city by the state, and provided for the a'p-

poinlmenfc of a superintendent of schools. Al-

though the schools then passed but partially into

the hands of the board of education, the district

system still being retained, this important change

in the charter marks the beginning of a school

system entirely supported by state and local taxa-

tion. In this respect, Rochester took a step far in

advance of the state at large; for it was not until

1867, after much bitter controversy, that the "rate

bill" was finally abolished by law, and all public

schools throughout the state were made free in

fact. The first board of education was organized

June 15th, 1841, and was composed of men of high

character and aim. L. A. Ward was its first pres-

ident ; and in the board were Henry O'Reilly, Hen-

ry Pratt and Abelard Reynolds. They elected

Isaac F. Mack superintendent of schools and clerk

of the board, and with marked devotion and abil-

ity he served in that double capacity for five years.

It is at this point we are able to get an accurate

statement concerning tlic Rochester public schools,

and may, tlierefore, tread on solid historical

ground. It was no small task tliat confronted this
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board of education of 1841. During the two years

that followed, nine seliool-houses were built, most

of them brick, two stories in height, at a cost of

$38,400, "a sum equal to that expended for the

support of the schools during the same time."

This was a munificent expenditure for the cause

of public education at that time. The only avail-

able report made by Mr. Mack covers the year

1843. It is somewhat lengthy and well worth

reading by the student of educational history. He

congratulates the hoard of education "on the suc-

cessful and progressive operation, for another

year, of a system of free public schools, which had

its origin in an enlarged and liberal principle of

benevolence." He states that there were then fif-

teen school districts, and one colored school dis-

trict comprising the entire city; that there were

thirteen school houses and three rented buildings,

housing during the year 4,246 pupils, with forty-

four teachers, and that the cost of maintenance

for the year was a little less than $13,000. In

discussing the teaching force, he states that "of

the 4,246 children more than 2,S00 are under the

charge of female teachers. This circumstance ex-

hibits one of the prominent benefits arising from

the present admirable school system in this city."

Seemingly to justify this state of affairs, which

must have been unusual throughout the country,

he says, "The employment of the same order of

talent and acquirements can be obtained at a

much lower cost in them than in males." Not

wishing it to be understood that it was mere econ-

omy that prompted this course, he further de-

clares: "But this is far from being the only mo-

tive which should induce their employment. Wom-
an, with her innate attractiveness, her patience,

her perseverance, her taste, her natural aptness to

teach, and withal her native devotion to virtue and

intelligence, is, from the nature of things (if

properly educated), pre-eminently fitted to fill the

ofiice of teacher." Whether there was a depletion

in the ranks of his women teachers because of

matrimonial demands or some other consideration

led him to complain that "too frequent change of

teachers is an evil to be deplored" he does not

state; but when he complains of the fact that "too

long has the lip of the world been curled in scorn

at the bare mention of the office of school teacher"

we may infer some of the difficulties this high-

minded superintendent had to encounter, wjiicli

happily do not exist at the present time.

This admirable report throws much side light

upon the social and political practices of the time.

The author says: "Another and worse evil seems

to threaten, not only the harmony of our schools,

but eventually to destroy the system. I allude to

an alarming tendency in the minds of many of

our citizens to identify the methods and manage-

ment of the schools with the party politics of the

day." This has quite an up-to-date ring to it.

"Is there still in our city," he says, " a man who

doubts the justness and utility of free public

schools, but would prefer to create the invidious

distinction between innocent and unoffending chil-

dren, by the establishment of free charity schools

for the indigent?" We may well understand that

there were enough such at that time to keep the

question before the public at every political crisis.

The "district system" stood very much in the way

of a proper and uniform administration of the

schools. The school moneys were apportioned on

the average attendance of scholars in the several

districts either during the whole or a portion of

the year. "This often created," said Mr. Mack's

successor, "an undue anxiety to crowd one school

with pupils at the expense of another," and in this

way "some districts were enabled to continue a

school during twelve entire months and then have

a surplus of several hundred dollars," while "oth-

ers for want of means were discontinued at the ex-

piration of seven or eight mouths." "There was

constant occasion," he declares, "for jealousy,

which militated against the harmonious working

and progress of the system."

The first free school act of the state was passed

in 1849. While it provided for a more liberal tax

on localities it still failed to do away with the

"rate bill." To become effective this act was

obliged to go before the people at the next general

election. Much opposition to it caused its friends

to make an aggressive canvass and to defend it at

the polls twice. As Eochester had already had

several years of free schools, we may readily un-

derstand her attitude toward this measure. It had

very little direct bearing upon the city, but it

served to call attention to some of the defects of

its own system. To remedy them a new school law

was enacted for Eochester in 1850. This act was

far-reaching in its effects. It abolished the dis-
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trict system, provided that "the amount to be

raised for teachers' wages, and contingent expenses

in any one year, shall not be less than four nor

more than five times the amount appropriated to

said city from the common school fund of the

state during the previous year," and made the

board of education a corporate body with full and

exclusive power to manage all the public schools.

This act was fruitful in that it centralized power

and definitely located responsibilities. It has re-

mained so down to the present time.

Eochester early took an active interest in free

secondary schools. In 1830 a committee pf prom-

inent citizens was . appointed to memorialize the

legislature in behalf of an improved system of

schools throughout the state. In April of that

year they presented a plan which provided for the

establishment in every town of a central high

school or higher school of the most approved

standard of excellence, so connected with all the

otlicr schools in the town as to exert a salutary

influence upon the general interest of education

and to aid in the preparation of well-qualified

teachers. In its first charter the common council,

as commissioners of the common schools of the

city, were authorized, upon the consent of any

number of school districts, to organize one or

more high schools. This power by the act of 1841

was transferred to the board of education, but

nothing seems to have been done until 1853, when

the superintendent in his annual report affirmed

that "in order to the perfection of our system, a

central high school seems to be demanded, where

pupils from the various senior schools in the city,

desiring to pursue the more advanced studies,

shall be permitted to attend. Such an addition to

our present system is called for by many consider-

ations." In September of that year a committee

was appointed by the board to investigate the

matter, and in a somewhat lengthy report they

rccoiiiinondod the "immediate establishment o[ a

free academy." This was not to be accomplished,

however, without strong opposition, and final ac-

tion was deferred until 1857, when "the central

high school," as it was called, was inaugurated in

old number 1 school building on Fitzhugh street.

C. E. Pomeroy was its first principal. Early in

September dedicatory services were held and ad-

dresses were made by Dr. Kelsey, S. D. Porter and

Frederick Starr, all of whom, as members of the

board of education, had talcen an active part for

several years past in bringing free secondary edu-

cation to the youth of Eochester.

The development of this school into our present

high school system is an interesting chapter in

the history of our city. The school was organized

under the general act of 1850. In 1861 the board

of education applied to the regents of the univer-

sity of the state of New York for a cliarter incor-

porating the "Eochester High School." A similar

application was made a year later, asking for its

incorporation under the name of the "Eochester

Free Academy." This was granted, and it re-

tained this name until within the past ten years,

when it was again changed to the Rochester high

school. The East high school, now on Alexander

street, is its immediate successor. In 1874 the

building now called the municipal building was

erected and dedicated with much ceremony, and

for many years thereafter Rochester boasted of

having one of the finest high schools in the state.

As an indication of the undercurrent of opposi-

tion to this school, we find that as late as 1877,

twenty years after its organization, a proposition

was made to the board to charge an annual tui-

tion fee of twenty dollars. This was not adopted.

The next year the question of abolishing the free

academy altogether was discussed by the public.

A little later an attempt was made to make it a

central school for the two highest grades of the

grammar schools. Much excitement was aroused

over this matter, but when at the next election

the promoters of this scheme were retired from

ofiRce all further direct attempts to cripple the free

academy were abandoned.

It would be interesting, if space would permit,

to trace the development of courses of study and

the methods and management of the schools dur-

ing all these years. It must suffice, however, that

mention be briefly made of some of the more im-

])ortaut special features as we find them gradually

iiicoi'porated in our school system. Evening schools

early engaged the attention of the board of educa-

tion. Rapidly growing industrial conditions and

the employment of many youth of a tender age

were depriving a multitude of even the rudiments

of an education. In the winter of 1853-54 the

first one in Eochester was organized. Two years

later there were two, with a registration of' 817

pupils and nine teachers. The superintendent re-
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ported that they "must hereafter be regarded as a

portion of the school system." With some irreg-

ularity evening schools have continued to the pres-

ent time. As now organized, they liave been un-

interrupted since 1886. Since the time Superin-

tendent Mack paid so high a tribute to woman's

fitness, Rochester has taken a growing interest in

the qualification of its teachers. As far back as

the earliest" movement, toward a high school was

ma:dc, one of the arguments in its favor was its

need in the preparation of teachers. We may as-

sume, however, that preparation then meant an

advanced education only. The idea of normal in-

struction is of a later origin. In 1863 a "normal

class" was proposed and three years later one was

organized, but it was soon abandoned. In IST'O

the superintendent recommended the establish-

ment of a city normal school. In 1883, under a

state law passed the year before, providing for the

instruction of teachers in academies and union

schools, a normal training class was established

and has since developed into the normal training

school on Scio street. Rochester is the pioneer

city of the state, if not of the nation, in her es-

tablishment of free public kindergartens in con-

nection with the schools. In 1884 the superin-

tendent of schools strongly urged the experiment.

In 1887 through private contributions one was or-

ganized in a public school and served as a train-

ing class for kindergarten teachers. The next

year six were authorized at public expense, and

long before most cities had moved at all in the

matter each public school in this city was equipped

with a kindergarten.

The most important charter amendments of re-

cent times, so far as the schools are concerned,

were those that went into effect in December, 1898,

and January, 1900. The two combined have com-

pletely reorganized school administration. The
passage of these acts was due to an aroused pub-

lic sentiment against politics in the management
of the schools, an evil growing in magnitude since

the prophetic utterance of Mr. Mack in 1844. Un-
der these acts, the schools are now administered by

a board of education of five members, elected at

large, two of whom may be women. A large min-

imum appropriation is made by law, and their

proceedings are not subject to either approval or

veto by any other branch of the city government.

Practically unhampered in its work, this newly

constituted board has erected entirely new five

grammar school buildings, costing over $300,000,

and two high schools, at an expense of about $700,-

000, besides having other building operations in

hand which will cost upward of $400,000 addi-

tional to complete. The report of the board of ed-

ucation for the year 1906 shows that there are

now thirty-three elementary schools and two high

schools. Besides these there are five elementary

evening schools and one evening high school, which

arc open Ihroo evenings each week for a temn of six

months. There were registered in nil the schools

29,693 pupils, 5,511 of them in the evening

schools; six hundred teachers, were employed in

the day schools, and the total expenditure for the

year was $857,824.

Such, briefly told, is the story of the origin and

growth of Rochester's school system. Estimating

the work of the founders by its usefulness and in-

fluence to-day, we have every reason to be proud of

our inheritance and of the memory of that splen-

did, almost unbroken, line of men and women

whose labor in the cause of universal education is

now bearing fruit.

THE UNIVERSITY OF EOCHESTEE.*

Like nearly all institutions of higher learning

in Europe aiid America, the University of Roch-

ester was founded as a result of religious devotion

to the cause of education. As early as 1817 tlw

Baptists of th(3 state of New York established at

Hamilton, in Madison county, a school for the

training of candidates for the Christian ministry.

The demand for Christian education, by young

men who had not the ministry in view, led in 1839

to the enlargement of the scope of the Hamilton

Literary and Theological Institution, and in 1846

the two classes of students were definitely sep-

arated by the organization of Madison university.

With this accomplishnient the Baptists of the state

began to feel that their educational undertaking

should be in a place more easy of access than Ham-
ilton and one destined to a larger growth. Roch-

ester was chosen by them as the most promising

field for such larger endeavor and the proposi-

tion was warmly welcomed by citizens of Rochester

irrespective of creed.

*This sketch of the university was prepared by President
Rush lUicL's.
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The iirsL plan was to remove the college and

llicologiral peminary from Ilamiltou to llochester.

Legal obstacles, however, interfered. But the in-

terest of all classes in Eochester in the project for

an institution of higher learning in their city had

become so great that it was deemed best to proceed

with the undertaking.*

A charter was accordingly sought from the re-

gents of the university of the state of New York.

This application was favorably considered by the

regents, subject to certain conditions, on January

31st, 1850; a formal charter, valid for five years,

was provisionally granted on February 14th, 1851,

which was to be made perpetual when a certain

amount of property in buildings and endowment

had been secured. This provisional charter was

further extended for a second period of iive years

on February 1st, 1856, and was made perpetual on

January lOtb, 1861.

TIio charter so granted was exceedingly broad,

it provided for a self-pcrpctualing corporation

consist ing of lAViMiLy-l'oiir Iriistoes.**

This corporation was entrusted "with all the

privileges and powers conceded to any college in

this state, pursuant to the provisions of the sixth

section of the statute entitled 'an act relative to

flic iiiiiversiLy,' passed April 5tli, 1813." While

tlio University of Itochcster was founded as a re-

sult of the earnest devotion of Baptists to the

cause of higher education, its charter recognized

no denominational control, and other denomina-

tions were represented from the first in its board

of trustees and its faculty. It was most natural

that Baptists should from the first predominate

•The desire of Rochester for a college was recognized by the
legislature in an act passed May 8th, 1846, which was entitled

"An act to incorporate the University of Rochester." The act

names twenty men to constitute this corporation, and provides
tiiat "unless said corporation shall organize and commence a

school for instruction in literature or science, with at least two
professors, besides the chancellor or president, within three

years from the date of this act, its corporate powers shall cease."

AmonR the men designated to form this corporation arc Addison
Garilincr, Moses Chapin, V.. Ilarwin Smith, Charles M. I.cc,

Selali Mathews, James .S. W'nrlsworth.

^'''J'he original trustees were Frederick VVhilllcscy, William
Pitkin, Evcrard Peck, D.ivid R. Rarton, Elijah F. Smith, Elon
Huntington, Edwin Pancost, William N. Sage, of Rochester;

William L. Marcy, John N. Wilder, Friend Humphrey, Ira

Harris, Smith Sheldon, of Alb.any; William R. Williams. Robert
Kelly, of New York; Robert R. Raymond, of Syr.leuse; Henry
Tower, of W.iterville; Seneca B. Burchard, of Hamilton; John
Munro, Alonzo Wheelock, of Elbridge; James Edmunds, of
Yates; Roswell S. Burrows, of Albion; Rawson Harmon, of
.Vhealland, and V. R .Hotchkiss, of RulTalo. It is no depreca-

tion of the meritorious cllorts of others to say that Mr. Wilder,
who up to that time had been a resident of Albany, hut who
afterward became an influential citizen of Rochester, is. more
than any other one person, entitled to the credit of establishing

the university in this city.

among its trustees, but that board has recently

made formal declaration that denominational co'i-

siderations do not control in the choice of trus-

tees, or officers, or members of its faculty. The

institution cherishes, however, a filial loyalty to

the self-sacrificing Christian devotion and earnest

largemindedness which gave it birth.

The legal obstacles which prevented the trans-

fer of Madison university to Eochester did not

check an extensive migration of students and

teachers to the new college. Consequently, when

the classes were organized on the first Monday in

November, 1850, there was a faculty of five pro-

fessors, three of whom had served at Madison uni-

versity for many years, and these began their in-

struction with fifty-nine students, of whom six

were seniors, twelve juniors, ten sophomores and

thirty-one freshmen. This enrollment was in-

creased during the year, so that at the first Com-

jnencement on July Dth, 1851, the new college grad-

uated a class of ton students.

The plans adopted by the trustees in Septem-

ber, 1850, provided for a faculty of six professor?,

with such additional tutors as might be found

necessary. The first faculty consisted of five pro-

fessors, namely, A. C. Kendrick, D. D., professor

of Greek; J. F. Richardson, A. M., professor of

Latin ; .folin II. Raymond, A. M., professor of his-

tory and belles lettres ; Chester Dewey, M. D
,

D. D., LL. D., professor of the natural sciences,

and E. Peshine Smith, acting professor of mathe-

matics and natural philosophy. Mr. Smith's ap-

pointment was a temporary one and the chair of

mathematics and natural philosophy was formal-

ly filled in the autumn of 1851 by the election to

that professorship of Lieutenant Isaac F. Quin-

by, U. S. A., who had already served as assista'it

professor at West Point. The sixth professorship

in the plans adopted by the trustees was one of

mental, moral and political science, and it was re-

served for the president of the university when

he should be appointed. Such an appointment was

not made until 1853, when Martin Brewer Ander-

son was elected to the presidency. In the interim

instruction in mental and moral philosophy was

given by Professor John S. Maginnis, of the Eoch-

ester Theological seminary. This seminary, while

distinct from the beginning in organization and

control, was the twin sister of the university, be-

ing a result of the same movement which founded
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the latter. For several years the two institutioas

occupied the same building, their catalogues were

often circulated under the same cover and the

list of Ihc fucuUy in tlie ilrst four catalogncs of the

university contains the name of Thomas J. Co-

nant, D. D., professor of Hebrew. The two insti-

tutions have since that time developed more inde-

pendently, yet they are conscious of kinship and

work together with cordial good will.

The problem of housing a college which sprang

at once into so vigorous a life was solved for the

time being by the lease and later the purchase

of the old United States Hotel, on West Main
street. There for eleven years the university and
the seminary worked together, and there not n

few of the early students of the university passed

their college days. After 1861 the seminary pur-

chased this building and continued to occupy it

until the removal to its present site on East ave-

nue in 1869. The university trustees regarded the

Main street home as temporary, and as early as

1852 a committee was appointed "to select and se-

cure a site for the permanent location of the col-

lege edifices," and a year later Azariah Roody, a
recently elected member of the board, presented to

the university a tract of eight acres, constituting

the northern third of the present campus. In

1857 the state legislature appropriated $25,000 to

be expended in books, philosophical apparatus

and university buildings, on condition that a like

sum be raised by subscription from other
soiircf.-i. This coudiiioii was met by [\w. j^il't (if

$25,000 by General Jolm F. Rathbone of Albany
for a library fund. Two years later construction
was commenced on the first of the present build-

ings. In 1861 this building was completed at a

cost of about $'10,000, and was named by the trus-

tees Anderson hall. The site selected for the

campus was objected to by some as too remote
from the center of the city. Alternative sites were
considered in other parts of the city—West avenue,
Lake avenue, St. Paul street, Mt. Hope avenue.
In view of objections at the time to its remote-
ness, tlie fact is intorcsling Uml; nt tlio prosont

time the campus is near the center of population
of the city.

Doubtless the remoteness of that early time had
much to do with the forming of a plan to estab-

lish a residence section near the college. The uni-

versity bought from Mr. Boody seventeen acres of

land, lying south of the tract wluch he had given;

and, reserving his gift for a campus, they laid out

the rest of the land in building lots, providing,

liowcver, a. l)road parkway approach to the campu.^

from what is now University avenue. The plan

for these building lots was filed with the county

clerk and may now be seen in his office. In accord-

ance with this plan five lots were sold on Pi'ince

street, throe of which were built upon and thus

pass(!(I oiil. of (lie control of the tnisteos. Two of

the lots originnlly sold early ciiiiio again into the

possession of tlie university.

For many years Anderson hall was the only

building and served for all college purposes, ex-

cepting that of a residence hall. The trustees

from the first opposed the plan of gathering stu-

dents in dormitories. Not a few friends of the

university regard this as an error in policy, sines

it scattered the students about the town and hin-

dered that full development of student friendship

which constitutes no small part of the value of a

college experience. It is understood that the pres-

ent administration proposes to erect dnnnitories

on the campus whenever funds for the purpose

become available. In 1868 the Van Zandt house

on Prince street, with four acres of land, was

purchased, largely by subscription from Rochester,

for a presidential residence. Tn 1871 Hiram Sib-

ley olTorcd togivc the university a (ire-iiroof build-

ing for a library on the condition that the citi-

zens of Rochester should have therein the fullest

privileges which are practicable in a library de-

voted to the purposes of a college. These privileges

are being constantly increased and the library

grows annually more worthy of the building gen-

erously provided for it. The building was begun

in 1872 and coinplnlcd in 1877 nt a cost of $100,-

000. In 1904 Hiram W. Sibley supplemented his

father's generosity by expending $15,000 in en-
larging the capacity and modernizing the fur-

niture of the library. He also presented to the

university a fine portrait bust of his father. In
1005 he still further enlarged the usefulness of

the library by providing a unique and very com-

plete collection of musical scores and musical lit-

erature, which is available for circulation for all

residents of Rochester. In 1907 the university

library was registered under the education depart-

ment of the state as a public reference library.

Sibley hall contains at present, in addition to the
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library, the famous Ward collection of geology

and mineralogy and the geological lecture room
and laboratory. The third building to be put upon
the campus was the chemical laboratory, built ii>

188G at a cost of $25,000 by Mortimer F. Reyn-

olds, as a memorial to his brother, William A.

Reynolds. In 1900 a gymnasium was built at a

cost of $28,000, which Avas subscribed for the most

part by alumni of the university. In 1906 new

laboratories for the already vigorous 'departments

of physics and biology were provided by George

Eastman at a cost of $78,000. This building is

fully equipped Avith most modern facilities and

apparatus and marks a new era in the development

of llie university; for following close upon Mr.

Eastman's gift came the offer of Andrew Carnegie

to provide $100,000 for a building for applied sci-

ence, on condition that a like amount be added

by others to the endowment of the university.

In 1904 the trustees erected a central heating sta-

tion on the campus, from which all the buildings,

excepting the president's house, are heated.

The first president of the university, Martin E.

Anderson, LL. D., L. H. D., was elected in 1853

and continued to serve the institution as president

for thirty-five years and as professor of political

economy for two years longer. He died in 1890

at the age of seventy-five years, greatly mourned

by all Rochester and by all the alumni. The gen-

eral regard in which he was held has enduring ex-

pression in the fine bronze statue, the work of

Guernsey Mitchell of Rochester, which was erected

in 1905 upon the campus. He was succeeded in

the presidency by David Jayne Hill, LL. D., who

guided the affairs of the institution until 1896,

when he resigned and entered the service of the

United States, first as assistant secretary of state

under President McKinley and later as minister

plenipotentiary to Switzerland and then to Hol-

land, being recently appointed ambassador to Ger-

many. The third president, Rush Rhecs, D. D.,

LL. D., entered upon his office in 1900 and con-

tinues the executive head of the university. Dur-

ing the interval between the close of President

Hill's administration and the coming of President

.Rhees the work of the university was efficiently

conducted by the faculty under the acting presi-

dency first of Professor Samuel A. Lattimore

(1897-1898), and then of Professor Henry T.

Burton (1898-1900).

The men who sought the charter for the new
university in 1850 had no thought of simply add-
ing one to the existing educational undertakings.

The provisional charter of February 14th, 1851, re-

cites that the applicants had "prayed for the grant

of a charter for the establishment of an institu-

tion of the highest order for scientific and classical

education." The order of these words had high

significance at the time in which they were ut-

tered. For that time was one of great discussion

concerning the merits and shortcomings of the

traditional classical college curriculum. At the

first informal meeting of the trustees, held May
13th, 1850, a committee was appointed to report

upon a plan of instruction. This committee con-

sisted of Robert Kelly, William R. Williams, Fred-

erick Whittlesey, from the trustees, and Chester

Dewey, Thomas J. Conant, A. C. Kendrick and

J. H. Raymond, of the first faculty of the new
college. The significance of the report, which wa^

adopted by tlie trustees Scplonibcr IGth, 18G0, was

that it was one of the earliest declarations of faith

in the thorough study of modem languages and

of modern science, even of applied science, as a

means for "the regular, even, general culture of

the mind," and in accordance therewith the first

faculty was organized, providing from the outset

for two courses, classical and scientific, of equiva-

lent dignity and value.

This proved, however, to be a long look ahead.

In 1853 President Anderson was charged with

the task of guiding the development of the new

institution, and in his inaugural address* he made

it clear that he was a warm defender of the tradi-

tional classical curriculum, although he demanded

a new spirit in the treatment of those studies. For

gerund-grinding in any form he had no patience.

He was quick to appreciate the criticism of the

actual results of the work of the American college

and he was ready to recognize the value of a

knowledge of the results and the generalization

of modern science, but he was insistent that the

end of a liberal education is to produce efficient

manhood, and for that regarded humanistic studies

—linguistic, historical, economical, political and

philosophical—as the supreme means. In this it

will be seen that President Anderson was essential-

ly progressive. He regarded himself as a friend

•The End and Means o£ a Liberal Education, Rochester, 1854.
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•of science, but what he called "the Bciences of

mind" far transcended for him what he called

"the sciences of matter." So it happened that

while under his administration the institution did

maintain a scientific course to which students were

admitted without preparation in Latin or Greek,

the whole force of the university life was devoted

to "the sciences of mind." That that force was

effectively spent is proved by the fact that every

student in the college received an indelible im-

pression that it is a man's obligation, and supreme-

ly an educated man's obligation, to "bring things

to pass." Dr. Anderson's strength was in calling

out for his students the forces of efificient man-

hood. The college did not grow greatly in num-

bers, nor rapidly in resources, but it established

and maintained a reputation for turning out men

of power and efficiency, and thus realized in large

part President Anderson's ideal of the end of

liberal culture.

During this early period three members of the

board of trustees, in particular, were potent

friends of the study of science as a means of lib-

eral culture ; they were Robert Kelly, who was

thairman of the committee which proposed the

plan on which the course of study was organized

;

Dr. H. "W. Dean, who had chiefly to do with the

development of a modern laboratory for chemistry,

and Dr. Edward M. Moore, revered by all his fel-

low-citizens as one of the foremost men of learn-

ing in his. time. The names of Professors Chester

Dowey, Henry A. , Ward, Samuel A. Ijattimove,

Harrison E, -Webster, and H: L. Fairchild indicate

the competency of the instruction which was of-

fered. It was , not until the administration of

President Hill, however, that instruction in the

methods and processes, as well as the principles

and results of modern science, had full recogni-

tion as a means of liberal culture.

To "the sciences of mind" Dr. Anderson and
his faculty gave chief emphasis. The president

himself trained the students in mental and morn)

philosophy, and political science and economics.

Beside him there grew up a man, still strong and

of highest influence, Professor W. C. Morey, who
began as teacher of Latin, then turned to history,

and at length developed a course in political science

and economics which is unique for strength and
value in the developinent of intelligent citizens.

The classics were tnnglit with a rich liunian in-

terest by Professors Kendrick and Forbes, Rich-

ardson artd Burton; the modern languages and

literatures found a noble advocate in the beloved

Professor A. H. Mixer ; to train in the use of Eng-

lish and to give acquaintance with its literary

treasures was the congenial task of Professor Gil-

more; while strong men disciplined the students

by means of mathematics. General I. P. Quinby,

Professor 0. H. Robinson, and Professor George D.

Olds. These names, with those given above, do

not complete the list of instructors who made the

college what it was. They do give evidence, how-

ever, of the quality of strength which made the

training at Rochester significant during the long

administration of its great first president.

That first administration has fixed definitely for

the University of Rochester its chief aim, to train

young people for effective, intelligent living. This

was clearly recognized in the original plan of in-

struction. Dr. Anderson did more, however; hie

made it clear that success in realizing the end of

liberal culture depends more on the method than

on the matter of instruction. It remained for the

administration of President Hill to reassert th.?

purpose of the University of Rochester to provide

a liberal culture by rrieans of modern natural and

physical science, side by side with "the sciences

of mind." The most significant accomplishments

under the too short leadership of Dr, Hill weie

(1) the organization of a department of biology,

and the enlargement of the department of physiea,

with the beginnings of the laboratories essential

to the modern pursuit of these sciences, and (2)

a complete recasting of the course of study, allow-

ing for enlarged freedom of election by the stu-

dents, while preserving such a nucleus of pre-

scribed work as would secure for every student that

"regular, even, general culture" which the origi-

nal curriculum aimed to give. This modernizing

of the work of instruction continued with equal

steadiness and vigor under the acting presidency

of Professors Lattimore and Burton. President

Rhees's administration has been a rounding out of

the scientific development in the erection and

equipment of the Eastman laboratories for physics

and biology, and in a reorganization of the scien-

tific course of study. Moreover, there is promise

of a revival of another early purpose, namely to

give instruction in applied science. This promise

is apparent in the oxceplional equipment of the
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physical laboratory, and is made definite by Mr.

Carnegie's ofler of a building to be devoted specifi-

cally to applied science. It would be an error,

however, to think that the recent large develop-

ment in scientific lines marks a change in the con^

trolling ideal of the university. The aim still is

to give an education which shall develop in each

student the most efficient and intelligent manhood.

To this end the departments of language and

literature, mathematics, and economics have been

strengthened by the appointment of additional in-

structors; and lectures on the history of art have

been maintained for students in the college, and

for citizens in Rochester.

During the first half century of the life of the

institution, the instruction was offered to young

men only. In 1900 the doors of the university

were opened to young women also. This result

was secured by the efforts of a group of earnest

women in Rochester, who raised $50,000 to add

to the endowment of the university. In this un-

dertaking these devoted women had the sympathy

and active assistance of the late Susan B. Anthony.

Her friends now propose to erect a building in her

memory for the use of the women students. Since

1900 young women and young men have appeared

on equal footing in the classes and laboratories.

The social and class organizations of the men and

women are kept distinct.

A word should be added concerning the relig-

ious interests of the college. It was founded by

devoted Christian men in the spirit of religious

service. Trom the outset students of all faiths

have been welcomed—Protestants of every denom-

ination, Roman Catholics and Jews. The desire

of the faculty has ever been for the deepening in

each student of hia own religious life, and to that

end each student has been commended to his own

church in the city for work and worship.

In conclusion, it is manifestly the purpose of the

university to be not simply a university in Roches-

ter, but the University of Rochester. Not in the

sense that it will be indifferent to interests more

remote. The generous gifts, and the numerous

students who from the first have come from all

parts of the state and beyond it, make such indif-

ference an impossibility. Moreover the scattering

of the graduates all over the world insures an

ecumenical constituency. Yet the institution is

placed in a growing community, its campus is

near the heart of the city, its library and labora-

tories are of importance to more than its students.

The university aims to be a benefactor to the whole

community, not only by offering opportunities for

higher education to its youth, but by being a

center from which may flow out to all who will

receive it the fullest possible helpfulness in the

way of scientific knowledge, literary inspiration

and civic enlightenment.

THE MECHANICS INSTITUTE.

Of all the educational agencies of Rochester no

other, with the exception of the public schools, ex-

ercises so wide an influence as the Mechanics In-

stitute, for the instruction given there every year

to thousands of pupils of both sexes reaches, in one

way or another, into most of the homes of the

city. It was really, in every sense, founded by

Captain Henry Lomb, but he preferred that oth-

ers, also, should be interested in the project, and

so, in September, 1885, the following paper,

which is explanatory of the original purpose, was

circulated, the signatures of most of the leading

manufacturers here being obtained in a few days:

"We, the undersigned, manufacturers and em-

ployers, consider the establishment of free evening

schools in this city for instruction in drawing, and

such other branches of studies as are most import-

ant for industrial pursuits, of great advantage to

our people. We believe that, besides the imme-

diate benefit these schools would bring to many
they would greatly assist in gradually securing to

our city the technical instruction and traioing

which brings so valuable and beneficial results

wherever it exists, and which is admitted to be of

vital importance to our country. We consider it

proper that our manufacturers and employers

should take the first step in this matter, and cor-

dially invite them and all those who take an inteiv

est in this undertaking, to meet in the common

council room, October Ist, to consult about the

best ways and means for the establishment of such

school, as well as other matters, which may -assist

practical education."

At the same time a circular was put forth from

the University of Rochester, signed by President

Anderson and others, speaking of the great inter-

est felt in the enterprise, and closing by saying:
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"It would not only develop the talent of our

young artisans, but also attract to this city the

best talent of the country. We therefore desire

to express our most cordial sympathy with this

movement, and give it our most earnest commen-

dation."

At the meeting indicated, which was largely at-

tended, a constitution was adopted, with the fol-

lowing as the principal clauses: "The name of

this institution shall be 'The Mechanics Institute

of the City of Eochester.' The object shall be to

promote such practical education as may enable

those persons receiving instruction to become bet-

ter fitted for their occupations in life. The means

by which it is proposed to carry out this object

shall be the establishment of a school for drawing

and designing, the giving of lectures and holding

of discussions on practical subjects, and such other

instruction as may be found useful in furthering

the aims of the association. Any person subscrib-

ing not less than one dollar may become a member

of this association. These dues shall constitute a

general fund. Contributions of larger amounts

shall be used for purposes designated by the do-

nors." The organization of the Institute was then

completed by the election of Henry Lomb, as pres-

ident; Henry M. Ellsworth, vice-president; Wil-

liam P. Peck, corresponding secretary; Max Low-
enthal, recording secretary, and John H. Stedman,

treasurer, in addition to whom the following were

chosen as directors: John G. Allen, S. B. Arm-
strong, E. E. Andrews, P. H. Clement, J. T.

Cunningham, C. E. Pitch, J. W. Gillis, J. S. Gra-

ham, H. S. Greenleaf, C. A. Hayden, D. T. Hunt,

S. A. Lattimore, S. H. Lowe, P. H. Makk, James

Malley, Henry Michaels, E. M. Moore, sr., Au-

gust Pappert, Herman Pfaefflin, William Purcell,

Frank Bitter, L. P. Eoss, J. A. Schneider, Wil-

liam See, John Siddons and Leo Stein, together

with M. B. Anderson, president of the University

of Eochester; Thomas J. McMillan, president of

the board of education, and S. A. Ellis, superin-

tendent of public schools, as directors ex officio.

Within a few weeks the trustees engaged the

services of Eugene 0. Colby, whose experience

as superintendent of drawing in the schools of

Lawrence, Mass,, for several years previous to that

time, qualified him to be the principal of the new
institution. In accordance with notices published

in the daily papers, applications for admission to

the school were first received on the 23d day of

November, and during that evening more than

four hundred applicants enrolled their names.

]']vcning classes were formed at once—one in free-

liand drawing, one in design, two in mechanical,

one in machine and one in architectural drawing.

During the first school year the Institute occu-

pied, by favor of the board of education, the large

room on ,the upper floor of the Free Academy

building, but the capacity of the hall was not suf-

ficient for the accommodation of the pupils, and in

the following autumn the Institute was removed

to the Masonic Temple, on Exchange street, where

it remained for eight years. This epoch was

marked by the speedy growth of the Institute in

every way, in the augmentation of the number of

pupils, in the constant formation of new classes

and in the increase of the corps of instructors. In

October, 1887, a free kindergarten branch of the

Institute was opened which was continued

throughout the winter, to the great benefit of the

little scholars attending it. After that it was

discontinued, because the board of education, ow-

ing to the persistent representation of the trustees

of the Institute, then established the system in

four of the public schools of this city.

. Allusion has been made in a previous chapter to

the old Eochester Athenaeum, which for several

years prior to this time had been in a condition so

profoundly dormant as to be practically defunct.

It possessed, however, a charter singularly broad

and liberal, as well as a small amount of funds
which had lain unused for some time, and it was
for the purpose of obtaining these desirable things

that the new and vigorous Institute consented to

the consolidation. This was carried into effect on
the 4th of June, 1891, the charter of the older or-

ganization becoming thereby that of the new body,

the official name of which is the Eochester Athen-
aeum and Mechanics Institute, though the latter

portion of the title is all that is used in common
parlance. At the same time Ezra E. Andrews
was elected to the presidency to succeed Captain
Lomb, and ho retained that office until June Ist,

1899, when he was succeeded by Lewis P. Eoss.

Those three are the only presidents that the in-

stitution has had. In 1891, also, the board of di-

rectors was strengthened by the election upon it

of several women—Mrs. H. S. Greenleaf, Mrs.

Emil Kuichling, Mrs. T. A. O'Hare, Mrs. Gilman
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H. I'crkins and Mrs. Leo Stein—and ever since

then they have had some successors in that body.

To their presence was largely due the establish-

ment of the department of domestic science and

art, in which the first classes were opened in the

spring of 1893, its object being to give to the

young women of Rochester a knowledge of subjects

tliat pertain to the life and well being of the home.

The variety of instruction in this has continually

increased, so that it now embraces cooking, sewing,

dress-making, millinery, embroidery, hygiene,

household sanitation, pedagogy and physical cul-

ture, with normal instruction in domestic science

and art.

In 1892 the Institute became the possessor of

considerable real estate, having purchased the half

square (with the exception of the Jenkinson apart-

ment house) bounded by the Erie canal. South

Washington street, Spring street and the alley.

Plans were drawn for the construction of con-

nected buildings covering the entire site, and con-

sidera'ble progress had been made toward a sub-

scription sufficient for the purpose, when the finan-

cial panic thwarted the completion of the project

and the directors had to content themselves with

the erection, at a cost of $30,000, of the fire-proof

building now occupied by- the department of man-

ual training. This was organized in 189G, two

years after the Institute had moved into its new

quarters. Classes in joinery were speedily formed,

followed by those in wood-turning, pattern-mak-

ing, forging and machine work, so that it is now a

technical school, teaching most of the branches

that pertain to that field. A great portion of its

success is due to its first superintendent, the late

William W. Murray, whose long experience in

those matters qualified him to start it on a right

basis and to develop it along the best lines.

The next remarkable event in the history of

the Institute occurred in 1900, when George Bast-

man purchased the half square corresponding with

that already owned by the institution and erected

there, facing on Plymouth avenue, a building, the

work on which, begun in July, was pushed so rap-

idly that the corner-stone was laid on the 15th of

October and the entire structure was formally

opened on the 15tli of April in the following year,

its cost, with that of the land on which it stands,

being about $225,000. It is practically fire-proof,

it is two stories in height, besides the basement, it

covers an area of over thirty-five thousand square

feet, it has a floor space, deducting the walls, of

two and one-third acres, and the excessive plain-

ness of its front is offset by the admirable arrange-

ments of the interior, its thorough heating and its

perfect ventilation in every part. Other gen-

erous friends contributed to its equipment, which

is valued at $50,000. The gift mentioned was ex-

ceeded in amount by the benefaction of Mrs. Hen-
ry H. Bevier, of New York, begun In the same year

and completed a little later by her death, so that

it now amounts, with accumulated interest, to

nearly $300,000. Of this, $200,000 is, by the

terms of her will, to be used for the erection of a

fine arts building, with its equipment, the remain-

der being devoted to its maintenance and to in-

struction in that branch of knowledge. It is the

intention of the board of directors to raise this

memorial on the site of the old home of Colonel

Rochester, the founder of the city, and when that

is done, which it is hoped naay be within the near

future, the edifice will be the most imposing and

ornamental in the third ward.

As the scope of the Institute widened, the need

was felt of a course of instruction that should pro-

vide for certain classes some academic studies com-

bined with some practical training in technical

work. To meet that need the department of me-

chanic arts and sciences was formed in 1902, which

has its own corps of instructors, strengthened by

the assistance of some of those connected with

other departments. The courses in this are so

well attended as to demonstrate its usefulness.

The legacy of Mrs. Bevier rendered it necessary

that still another department, that of fine arts,

should be formed, which was done in 1903, and,

inasmuch as that bequest, with the income arising

therefrom, was to be devoted exclusively to that

purpose, it was considered advisable to separate it,

as to its maintenance and its direct management,

from the other departments and to put it imder

the control of its own committee, save that the

ultimate authority, with this as with the depart-

ment of domestic science and art, lies with the

general board of directors of the Institute. Six

years ago a restaurant was started in the basement

of the Eastman building, intended primarily for

the comfort of those connected with the school,

but the desire for its enlargement was so great

that it was soon thrown open to all, and now
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three meals daily are served there to some hun-

dreds of people living in the neighborhood.

From the small beginning of a free drawing

school the Institute has expanded, step by step, as

we have seen, until it has become one of the lead-

ing institutions of its kind in the country, not

more than three surpassing . it—^the Pratt, the

Drexel and the Armour—and not all those equal-

ing it in every respect. Its expenses are about

$70,000 a year, and as the tuition fees, which, orig-

inally nothing, are still very low, come to about

ha'lf of that, it leaves $35,000 to be raised an-

nually by voluntary contribution, until such time

as the endowment fund, now very meager, shall be

sufficient to make the institution self-supporting.

How well it fulfills its mission may be judged

from the fact that the individual enrollment of

pupils during the past school year was about thir-

ty-three hundred, while the faculty has increased

in number from one to forty-five, the following

named being the superintendents of the different

departments: Industrial aTts, Allen S. Crocker;

manual training, Arthur B. Fairbanks; domestic

science'' and art. Miss Mary I. Bliss, with Miss

Helen Hollister as assistant; mechanic arts and

sciences, Roland Woodward; fine arts, Theodore

H. Pond. The officers are Lewis P. Ross, presi-

dent of the boaTd of directors ; Granger A. Hollis-

ter and Mrs. Bmil Kuichling, vice-presidents; J.

Herbert Grant, recording secretary; William P.

Peck, corresponding secretary; John A. Stewart,

financial secretary; John F. Brayer, treasurer;

Mrs. Emil Kuichling, president of the domestic

science board; Mrs. Arthur S. Hamilton, Mrs.

William B. Morse, Mrs. Lewis P. Ross and Mrs.

William E. Hoyt, vice-presidents ; Mrs. William

Streeter, recording secretary; Mrs William B.

Lee, corresponding secretary; Adelbert Cronise,

chairman of Bevier memorial and fine arts com-

mittee.

THE BOOHESTER THEOLOGICAL SEMINARY.*

This institution, located on the corner of East

avenue and Alexander street, was founded by the

New York Baptist Union for Ministerial Educa-
tion, a society organized May 11th, 1850. Up to

this time the only Baptist school for literary and
theological training in the state of New York was

•This sketch of the Theological seminary was prepared by
President A. H. Strong.

'

Madison university, situated at Hamilton. In

1847 many friends of education throughout the

state, with a view to securing for this university a

more suitable location and a more complete en-

dowment, had sought to remove the institution to

Rochester. This project was opposed by friends

in Hamilton, legal obstacles were discovered, the

question was carried into the courts, and the plan

of removal was finally abandoned as impracticable.

The plan, however, of establishing a theological

seminary and university at Rochester was not

abandoned. Rev. Pharcellus Church, D. D.,

with John N. Wilder and Oren Sage, devoted

much time and energy to awakening public sen-

timent in behalf of the new enterprise. A sub-

scription of $130,000 was secured for the univer-

sity. Five professors in Hamilton—Drs. Oonant

and Maginnis of the seminary and Drs. Kendrick,

Raymond and Richardson of the university—^re-

signed their places, and accepted a call to similar

positions in the new institutions at Rochester. In

November, 1850, classes were organized in the

Rochester Theological seminary, as well as in the

University of Rochester, and instruction was be-

gun in temporary quarters secured for the purpose.

Many students came with their professors from

Hamilton. The first class graduated from the

theological seminary numbered six members, and
the first published catalogue, that of 1851-52, en-

rolls the names of two professors and of twenty-

nine students.

Although the early history of the seminary was
thus intimately connected with that of the Uni-
versity of Rochester, and the two institutions at

the beginning occupied the same building, there

has never been any organic connection between
them, either of government or of instruction.

While the university has devoted itself to the work
of general college training, the Rochester Theo-

logical seminary has been essentially a profes-

sional school, and has aimed exclusively to fit men,
by special studies, for the work of the ministry.

It has admitted only college graduates and those

who have been able successfully to pursue courses

of study in connection with college graduates.

Beginning with the two professorships, of theol-

ogy and of Hebrew, it has added professorships

of church history, of the New Testament, of homi-

letics and pastoral theology, of elocution, of the

English Bible, and of Christian ethics. Besides
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, the two original professors, Eev. Thomas J. Con-

ant, D. D., and Eev. John S. Maginnis, D. D., it

has numbered in its faculty the names of Ezekiel

G. Eobinson, John H. Eaymond, Velona: R.

Hotchkiss, George W. Northrup, Asahel C. Ken-

drick, E. J. W. Buckland, Horatio B. Hackett,

William C. Wilkinson, Howard Osgood, William

Arnold Stevens, Albert H. Newman, T. Harwood

Pattison, Benjamin 0. True, Adelbert S. Coats,

Henry E. Eobins, Walter E. Betteridge and

Walter Eauschenbusch, and for several years

John P. Silvernail has been acting professor. At

the anniversary, in May, 1903, Eev. John Henry

Mason, D. D., and Eev. J. W. A. Stewart, D. D.,

were added to the faculty; in May, 1904, Eev.

John Henry Strong, and in May, 1906, Rev.

Cornelius Woelfkin, D. D. To Eev. Ezekiel Q.

Eobinson, D. D., LL. D., however, professor in the

seminary from 1853 to 1873, and from 1868 to

1873 its president, the institution probably owes

more of its character and success than to any other

single man. His successor in the presidency and

in the chair of systematic theology is Eev. Augus-

tus H. Strong, D. D., LL. D., who has now (1906)

for thirty-four years held this position.

In 1852 a German department of the seminary

was organized. The German Baptist churches of

the country, wliicli iu 1850 were only eight in

number, have now increased to more than two

hundred and sixty. This constant growth has

occasioned a demand for ministers with some de-

gree of training. The German department is

designed to meet this necessity. In 1858, Rev.

Augustus Eauschenbusch, D. D., a pupil of Nean-

der, was secured to take charge of this work, and

in 1873 Eev. Hermann M. SchafTer was chosen

as his colleague. In 1885 Eev. Jacob S. Gubel-

mann, D. D., was added to the faculty. Eev.

Albert J. Eamaker and Eev. Lewis Kaiser also are

now professors. The course of studies in the Ger-

man department is six years in length, andj being

designed for young men who have had little prep-

aratory training, is literary as well as theological.

This course is totally distinct from the regular

course of the seminary, which is accomplished in

three years.

.When the seminary began its existence it was

wholly without endowment. Tlie sum first sought

to be secured was $75,000. This was not obtained

until after ten years had. passed. In 1868 the

funds of the seminary had reiched $100,000; in

1874, including subscriptions of $100,000 yet un-

paid, they amounted to .$281,000 ; in 1881, includ-

ing subscriptions of $179,000 yet unpaid, they

amounted to $512,000; in 1904 they amounted to

$1,017,204. In 1906 the magnificent bequest of

the late John J. Jones^ of Orange, N. J., has

added to tlie endowment of the seminary nearly

$560,000, half of the income being devoted to

scholarships of $150 each, and half to a fund for

defraying current expenses.

During the year 1906 there has also been re-

ceived from Henry Alvah Strong and others the

sum of $100,000 for the erection of a dormitory

building to be called the Alvah Strong hall, in

memory of the giver's father, the first treasurer of

the seminary, and for thirty-five years one of its

trustees; $25,000 has also been contributed for

alterations in the library building and for a new

reading-room, to be named the Cyrus F. Paine

reading-room, after the principal giver and one

who for more than forty years was treasurer of the

seminary. Adding to these sums the former

real estate of the seminary, valued at $131,630,

its library, valued at $85,063, and other property

to the extent of $30,500, the total assets of the

institution may now be stated as amounting to

$1,946,829.

The productive endowment of the seminary

now stands at $1,636,559. Although much still

remains to be desired in the way of enlargement

of its facilities, and although large sums may still

be wisely invested in grounds, buildings and lec-

tureships, whenever the generosity of its friends

shall provide the means, its present condition is

greatly encouraging. The comparative prosperity

of later years has been largely due to the wise

and liberal gifts of a few tried friends of the

seminary, among whom may be mentioned the

names of John B. Trevor, of Yonkers; Jacob F.

WyckofE, of New York; John D. Rockefeller, of

Cleveland, Ohio; William Rockefeller, of New

York; Charles Pratt, of Brooklyn; Joseph B.

Hoyt, of Stamford, Conn.; James 0. Pettengill,

of Eochester; Eli Perry, of Albany; William A.

Cauldwell, of New York; Mrs. Eliza A. Witt,

of Cleveland; Jeremiah Milbank, of New York;

Byron E. Huntley, of Batavia; John J. Jones,

of East Orange, N. J. ; Alanson J. Fox, of Detroit,
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Mich.; Cyrus F. Paine, of Rochester; Ezra R.

Andrews, of Rochester; Daniel A. Woodbury, of

Rochester; Andrew J. Townson, of Rochester;

Henry A. Strong, of Rochester, and Qershom M.

Peters, of Cincinnati, Ohio.

The seminary instruction was for some years

given in the buildings occupied by the University

of Rochester. In 1869, however, the erection of

Trevor hall, at an expense of $42,000, to which

John B. Trevor, of Yonkers, was the largest

donor, put the institution for the first time in

possession of suitable dormitory accommodations.

In 1879 Rockefeller hall, costing $39,000, was

built by John D. Rockefeller. It contains a spa-

cious fire-proof room for library as well as lecture

rooms, museum and chapel, and furnishes ample

and admirable accommodation for the teaching

work of the seminary. In addition to these build-

ings, the German Students' Home, purchased in

1874 at a cost of $20,000, and rebuilt in 1890 at

a cost of $37,000, furnishes for the German de-

partment a dormitory and boarding hall, together

with chapel, lecture rooms, reading-room and

gymnasium.

The library of the seminary is one of great

value for theological investigation. It embraces

the whole collection of Neamder, the great Ger-

man church historian, which was presented to

the seminary in 1853 by the late Roswell S.

Burrows, of Albion. It also contains in great part

the exegetical apparatus of the late Dr. Horatio

B. Hackett. Valuable additions have been made

to it from the "Bruce fund" of $25,000, sub-

scribed in 1872 by John M. Bruce, of Yonkers,

and further additions from this source are ex-

pected. The subscription in 1879 of $25,000, by

William Rockefeller, has furnished means for

extensive enlargement, so that the library now
numbers over 34,000 volumes, and it is well pro-

vided in all the various departments of theology.

-In 1880, the "Sherwood fund," contributed by

the late Rev. Adiel Sherwood, D. D., of St. Louis,

Mo., furnished the means for beginning a museum
of biblical geography and archsEology, intended to

provide, in object lessons, valuable aids for the

study of the Holy Land, its customs and its

physical features. The financial management of

the board of trustees has been such that no loss

of funds, of any significance, intrusted to its care,

has ever occurred.

The results of the work of the seminary can

never be measured by arithmetic. As its purpose

has been to make its graduates men of thinking

ability and of practical force, as well as students

and preachers, it has leavened the Baptist denom-

ination with its influence, and has done much to

give an aggressive, independent, manly tone to

the ministry in general. The names of its former

students are enough to show that its training has

combined in equal proportions the intellectual

and the spiritual, the theoretical and the practical.

During the forty-five years of the seminary's

existence, and up to the present time (December,

1906), 1,753 persons have been connected with

the institution as students, of whom 1,352 have

attended upon the English and 403 upon the

German department. Of the 1,352.in the English

department, 1,054 have been graduates of colleges;

123 colleges and more than fifty-two states and

countries have furnished students to the seminary;

897 persons have completed the full seminary

course, including the study of the Hebrew and

Greek scriptures. The average number of stu-

dents sent out each year has been thirty. The

number of students during the present seminary

year is 144, of whom ninety-three are in the Eng-

lish department. Of its former students sixty-

nine have filled the position of president or pro-

fessor in theological seminaries or colleges; eighty-

five have gone abroad as foreign missionaries, and

twenty-two have become editors of religious

journals, or have engaged in literary work. With

such a record in the past, and in the present

more fully equipped than ever before for its work,

there seems to open before the seminary a future

of the utmost promise.

It remains only to state that the Rochester

Theological seminary is maintained and controlled

by the New York Baptist Union for Ministerial

Education, a society composed of contributing

members of Baptist churches, and that the actual

government and care of the seminary in its details

is committed to a board of trustees of thirty-

three members, eleven of whom are elected by the

Union annually. The present president of the

board is Gershom M. Peters, of Cincinnati, and

the corresponding secretary is Rev. J. R. Hen-

derson, D. D., of Rochester.
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ST. BERNARD S SEMINARY.

Et. Kev. Bernard J. McQuaid came to Eochester

as bishop in 1868. Upon his arrival he announced

to the assembled clergy that his future policy

aimed at two particular results—schools for the

children, and priests for the spiritual work of his

diocese. After his return from the Vatican coun-

cil he started the preparatory seminary of St. An-

drew's, which still flourishes beneath the shadow of

tlie episcopal residence. But the bishop recognized

that Eochester could never have a high position

among the dioceses of the country if it had not its

own seminary for higher theological studies, and

about 1875 he began to husband the poor resources

of his growing diocese. After he had saved a little

he began the preparation of his future professors,

and as early as 1879 sent young men abroad to

prepare them in the best schools of Europe. En-

couraged by the splendid loyalty of his priests he

laid the first stone of St. Bernard's seminary on

the 31st of March, 1891, and dedicated the build-

ing on July 12th, 1893, the classes being opened in

September of the same year. The seminary, built

of red stone from the river banlc, is situated on the

Charlotte boulevard, on the high banks that over-

look the Genesee. Its site is unrivaled in Eochester

and abundant water, dry soil, and perfect drainage

make it ideal from the point of view of health.

It is on a plot of ground twenty-four acres in

extent, a mile and a quarter from the northern

boundary line of the city and three miles from

the lake, besides which the seminary owns sixteen

acres of orchard, vineyard and garden land half a

mile further north. The four buildings are of

modem construction, lighted by electricity, heated

by hot water and thoroughly ventilated, with twei;-

ty bath rooms in the two main houses. The main

building provides for professors and students and

the ordinary uses of such an establishment ; it has

also two gymnasiums on the upper floor and h

double bowling alley in the basement. Next south

of this is the "hall of Philosophy and Science,"

which is absolutely fire-proof, and contains the

general library, a hall of assembly, six lecture-

halls, accommodation for thirty students and two

professors, etc. The rear building has the chapel

with seven altars and sacristy on the upper floor;

*This sketch was, in the main, furnished by Rev. E. J. Hanna,
D.D., one of the professors of St. Bernard's.

the dining and serving-room are on the floor be-

neath the chapel. The dining-room for the Sisters

and domestics, the kitchen, the bakery, the scul-

leries, the pantries and store-rooms are on the

floor beneath the main dining-room.

The fourth building contains the apartments for

the Sisters in charge of the domestic department,

a private chapel, rooms for the women-help, three

infirmaries, and in the basement a complete steam

laundry.

The men employed on the farm and garden oc-

cupy a farm-house, somewhat removed from tho

other buildings.

In 1901 St. Bernard's had the unusual honor of

receiving, through the Propaganda at Eome, o

papal brief, which, after a very proper inhibitioD

of the conferring of honorary degrees, which has

long been a source of scandalous abuse in American

institutions, goes on to prescribe the functions of

this seminary. It permits the conferring of the

baccalaureate degree in theology at the end of

the second year, the licentiate degree at the close

of the third and the doctorate at the termination

of the fourth. Instead of taking advantage of

those privileges the faculty has preferred to give

the baccalaureate after four years of theology, and

require one year more for the licentiate, following

advanced courses of study, undergoing additional

writteji and oral examinations. A sixth year of

theology, under thTsame conditions as in the fifth,

including exercise in acting as tutors to the 'less

capable students in theology and philosophy, leads

up to the doctorate. The brief also requires the

presence of at least three professors at the examina-

tions for degrees, but we go further than that, for

our examining boards consist of nine or ten mem-

bers, among whom are six distinguished scholars,

belonging to neighboring dioceses, who, by their

assistance in holding these examinations, guarantee

the absence of favoritism, and stand for honesty

and a high standard of work and merit in the use

of the privileges accorded by the Holy See. The

course of studies is the one prescribed by the third

plenary council of Baltimore. It requires two

years of philosophy in this seminary, or one or

more years in another seminary, and the passing

of a satisfactory examination in St. Bernard's

before admission to the theological course. The

course of theology demands four full scholastic
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years. When a bishop is unable to allow his sub-

jects to remain for the full course, they will have

to take in their third year additional lectures on

the matter of the fourth year not yet studied by

them.

The language of the classes in dogmatic and

moral theology, in logic, metaphysics and ethics,

in canon law and liturgy, is Latin, according to the

prescriptions of the same council. Only students

who have obtained a rating of at least eighty-fivs

per cent, are entitled to appear for examination

before the examining boards. One-half of the

students, of whom there now are about 150, are

present at the high mass in the cathedral on one

Sunday, and the other half on the next. This

gives them an opportunity of listening to the ser-

mons, and learning the manner of working a large

city parish. These students sing the responses

and the ordinary of the mass in plain or harmon-

ized Gregorian chant. The library above referred

to contains now 30,000 volumes, with the capacity

of extension for almost as many more.

The members of the faculty, with their respec-

tive professorships, are as follows: Very Rev.

James J. Hartley, D. D., pro rector, moral and

pastoral theology; Rev. Edward J. Hanna, D.D.,

special dogmatic theology; Rev. J. Francis Gog-

gin, Ph. D., D. D., fundamental dogmatic theo-

logy ; Rev. Andrew E. Breen, Ph. D., Biblical ex-

egesis and Hebrew; Rev.. Andrew B. Meehan, D.

D.,^ canon law and liturgy; Rev. Frederick J.

Zwierlein, S. T. L., ecclesiastical history and social

science; Rev. Edmund J. Wirth, Ph. D.,D.D.,
special metaphysics and ethics; Rev. Michael J.

Ryan, Ph. D., history of philosophy, general meta-

physics and logic ; Rev. P. Prosper Libert, S. T. B.,

natural sciences and scientific catechetics; Rev,

William E. Cowan, D. D., apologetics; Rev. Lud-
low B. Lapham, A. B., English literature and
modem languages ; Rev. John M. Petter, S. T. B..

Gregorian chant; Rev. J. Emil Gefell, Ph. D., lec-

turer on breathing and voice culture; Rev. Ed-
ward J. Byrne, S. T. B., assistant in Holy Scrip-

tures.

THE WAGNER MEMORIAL LUTHERAN COLLEGE.

Recognizing the need of more men, capable of

•This sketch of the Wagner Memorial Lutheran college was
prepared by Rev. John Nicum, D.D.

preaching both in the German and in the English

language, for supplying the Lutlicran churches in

the cast, and the needs of the German Board of

Home Missions for men in the west, the pastor of

Zion's Lutheran ohurcli, at that time Rev. A.

Eichter, and several of his colleagues conceived the

plan of founding a preparatory school for the

education of Lutheran ministers. In it they were

to receive their classical education. It was called

at first a proseminary, because the students were

to be prepared for entering a theological seminary.

The number of students was necessarily small at

first, but increased as the scope of instruction was

enlarged. Young men were not only prepared

for the theological seminary but for practical life,

for the medical and other professions. During the

first year instruction was given by several of the

Lutheran pastors in this city and by Dr. G. H.

Gomph of Pittsford, N. Y. It was soon found

necessary to have paid instructors, however. The

building formerly occupied by the Satterlee Col-

legiate Institute, on Oregon street, was donated by

the late John George Wagner. The institution was

thereupon incorporated under the name of ths

Wagner Memorial Lutheran College, and a staff

of competent teachers were provided. The model

followed in arranging the course of study was the

six years' course of the German gymnasium. Two

years were given to preparatory work, whilst from

Prima to Quarta the students received instruction

in studies usually given in the four college classes.

At one time there were upward of fifty students,

but recently, since the proseminary idea has been

made more prominent again, their number has fal-

len off. There is a small endowment consisting of

the income from two dwellings on Central avenu'j.

Considerable support comes also from the Lutheran

churches. The Evangelical Lutheran Ministerium

of the state of New York nominates the members

of the board of trustees and appoints a visiting

committee which reports to the synod. The direc-

tors or presidents of the institution have been:

Rev. J. Steinhasusor, D. D., 1888-1893; Rev. J.

Nicum, D. D., 1892-1902, and since 1903 Rev. H.

D. Krffiling. The presidents of the board of trus-

tees were: Rev. A. Richter, until 1890; Rev. J.

Nicum, D. D., from 1890 to 1902, and the Rev.. G.

H. Gomph, D. D., since 1902.
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THE KOOHESTEll SCHOOL FOR THE DEAF.*

Through the desire of Mr. and Mrs. Gilman H.

Perkins that there should be a school in Eochester

in which their little daughter, Carolyn, could re-

ceive an education, the Eochester school was es-

tablished.

At the time when the child was old enougn to

be placed under the care of a teacher, Miss True,

who had done similar work in Boston, came to

Eochester and began the little girl's education.

Later Mrs. Perkins secured Miss Nodine, who had

gained reputation as a teacher of speech at the

school for the deaf in Frederick, Maryland. She

was in Eochester but a few months, however, be-

fore she announced her engagement to Mr. Westcr-

Telt, of the New York school for the deaf. Previous

to this time, a proposition had been presented to

him, looking to the establishment of a school for

the deaf of Western New York in some convenient

location, preferably in Eochester, and with the as-

sistance of many of the deaf and of state officers

he had been gathering the names and addresses of

the deaf of school age not attending school, and

had a list of over one hundred. There were a

number of adult deaf in the city of Eochester, who

were much interested in the project of establishing

a school. One of these, Mr. Acker, for a number

of years, as lay reader employed by the Episcopal

church mission to the deaf, had conducted services

in the parish house of St. Luke's church, under

Dr. Anstice. Edward P. Hart, while a student at

the Eochester university, had learned the sign lan-

guage from Mr. Acker and had become a sign ex-

pert, and had interpreted for the deaf in religious

service and in court, counseled with them and been

to the little community of the deaf in Eochester

a friend.

A meeting was finally called at the office of

George G. Clarkson, mayor of the city, on thi

3d of February, 1876, to take steps for the in-

corporation of a Eochester school for the deaf.

Eev. Thomas H. Gallaudet came from New York

with Mr. Westervelt to take part in this meeting.

Dr. Gallaudet was a son of the first principal of

the American asylum at Hartford and founder of

deaf mute education in America. He was a trus-

tee of the New York institution for the education

of the deaf, in which Mr. Westervelt was a teacher,

•This sketch was prepartd by Mr. Zenas F. Westervelt, the

principal of the institution.

was rector of St. Anne's church for the deaf in New
York city, and was in charge of the church mis-

sion to the deaf which he organized. After having

resolved "that it is expedient to found in 'this city

an institution for the education of deaf mutes," the

meeting appointed the following board of trustees

:

George G. Clarkson, Thomas Gallaudet, Lewis H.

Morgan, S. A. Ellis, C. E. Eider, Oscar Craig, E.

Darwin Smith, Seth H. Terry, Wm. S. Ely, S. D.

Porter, Aaron Erickson, S. A. Lattimore, G. H.

Perkins, M. F. Eeynolds, Edward P. Hart. The

trustees having been empowered to take such steps

as should be necessary to accomplish the object of

the meeting, articles of incorporation were drawn

up and filed on the following day, a constitution

was adopted and the following were elected officers

:

President, E. Darwin Smith ; vice-presidents, Geo.

G. Clarkson and S. A. Ellis ; treasurer, Gilman H. "

Perkins; secretary, Edward P. Hart. Zenas F.

Westervelt, of New York, was appointed principal

of the institution and has remained so to the pres-

ent time.

Thus the school was formally established upon

the 4th of February, 1876. The Eiley block, at

the corner of South avenue and Court street, was

secured. On the 15th of May a bill, prepared by

Neil Gilmore, superintendent of public instruction

who was interested in the organization of the

school, was passed by the legislature, authorizing it

to receive pupils appointed by the department of

public instruction, and by authorized county of-

ficers. On the 4th of .October the school was

opened with an attendance of twenty pupils. This

number increased to eighty-seven during the first

year.

The school was fortunate in the membership of

its board of trustees. Ihey gave to it strength in

the city and the state, as they were known to be

most admirably qualified to work together in the

establishment and upbuilding of such a school.

Judge Smith, Mr. Morgan and Mr. Terry were able

to use their knowledge of law in the promotion of

the work. Mr. Terry lent himself with enthusiasm

to the enterprise because of his father's connection

with the American asylum at Hartford as one of

its incorporators and a life-long director. Dr.

Eider was personally acquainted with many of

the children, as they had been his patients, and

frequently helped the school by the free use of hie

professional skill as an aurist. Mayor Clarkson
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gave the school enthusiastic and faithful help in

many ways and rendered it material assistance.

Prof. Lattimore and Mr. Ellis, as educators, were

able to give special aid in the development of all

school problems, and the latter in the third year

became an instructor, remaining in the work for

nine years. Tor many years Dr. Gallaudet at-

tended every quarterly meeting of the board, and

from his long experience as teacher and director

of the old New York institution his advice was

.sought upon all important questions.

The school occupied the Riley block on St. Paul

street and the small frame house on Court street,

still standing, which was used as a kindergarten

for the younger childrsn. The location was most

convenient. During the summer of IS??, Mr.

Riley enlarged tlie building by tlie addition of a

wing upon the south side of the block. With this

increase of room, the school was comfortably

housed during its second year. It became evident,

however, that the Riley building could not long

answer the needs of the school, so that available

sites in every part of the city were inspected.

Judge Gardiner offered to give several acres of

land between West and Chili avenues, as a site

for the building which the board of trustees were

planning to erect, but it was concluded to lease the

old Truant House, on St. Paul street, belonging to

the city, which had been standing idle for over

a year. The buildings were immediately occupied

by the school and the enlarged accommodations

made it possible to receive additional applicants.

The city water main had then been brought out St.

Paul street to Blon Huntington's residence, but

the institution extended the pipe the half mile

from there to the school. The old railroad and

steamboat house, one of the oldest buildings in

Carthage, was provided with a high basement that

has since been *ised for a laundry. Members of the

board had many pleasant reminiscences of good

times they had enjoyed in this building when it

was a well-kept hostelry. During the summer va-

cation, by a very considerable addition to the

main buildings upon the city property, they were

enlarged so as to accommodate the entire school.

The third year of the school opened in the

buildings upon North St. Paul street with an at-

tendance of 115 pupils. The buildings were lighted

with lamps for a year, when the gas mains were

extended to the school. The street cars originally

stopped at Hand street, but were, during the first

year of the occupancy of this property, brought oul

to the bond in St. Paul street opposite Mr. Hunt-

ington's residence. As the street car company re-

fused to extend the line further, a company which

had been organized and had secured a charter au-

thorizing the laying of tracks in the streets of the

city, and the running of street cars or other con-

veyances for the benefit of the public, established

an omnibus line from the old Carthage dock to the

Pour Corners. The street car company, however,

soon extended their line to the institution, and the

competing corporation withdrew.

This change of location occurred in the fall of

1878 and was an important event, but the begin-

ning of the third year was made still more notable

in the history of the school by the change in its

method of instruction.

At the time the school was opened, there were

forty-eight other schools for the deaf in this coun-

try; forty-four of them followed the method in-

troduced by Gallaudet, through Laurent Clerc in

Hartford, and the four others the German or oral

method.

The method of instruction to be followed by

the Rochester school was the subject of much

tihought and discussion. The management was

anxious to have every child taught to speak. All

the teachers became engaged in oral work, but the

sign language was also used. At the exhibitions

given at the close of the first year in June and in

the winter and spring of the second year, the ex-

cellent work in speech attracted great interest, but

the audience of hearing friends of the school was

especially affected by the pathos and grace of the

sign language. So long as this language of signs

was used in our school, it was carefully taught, so

that through use in its most perfect form the

pupils communicated with the greatest possible

force and clearness.

During the- first year the faculty came to be-

lieve that it would be wise for the school to adopt

the oral method and, with this purpose in view,,

they visited oral schools in June of that year. They
found satisfactory speech and speech-reading, but

the mental attainments made through the oral

methods were disappointing, consequently it was

decided to continue the use of the sign language.

But at a convention of educators of the deaf, held

at Columbus, Ohio, in the summer of 1878, previ-
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ous to Ihc opening ol! tlie third school year, it was

announced that, as an experiment the Eochester

school would endeavor to substitute manual spell-

ing for signs, and, in so far as the change could

be voluntarily brought about and as it proved ar

pdvantage, it would be continued. The experiment

was satisfactory from the start, and grew in favor

with teachers and pupils, though it took five years

for it to become the established custom of the

school.

The result of this experiment has been the

development of a method of instruction peculiar

to Eochester, its principal feature being the con-

stant use of manual spelling, accompanied simul-

taneously by speech. Every child is expected to

speak whenever he spells. He is expected also to

fix his attention upon the lips, and to read the

fingers, as it were, incidentally, catching the word

at it is written in the air, in the margin of the

field of vision as an aid to speech reading. From

tlie first .general use of manual spelling all officers

of the school have spoken whenever they spell, and

the more ambitious and intelligent of the pupils

have been encouraged to form the same habit. The

request that the custom should be made general is

a quite recent innovation.

As another feature of the Eochester method, all

of the pupils are taught speech, two periods daily

throughout their course. This training and the

practice in speech given in class rooms and in

connection with all use of the manual alphabet

ultimately gives the habit of thinking speech to

even those whom we could not teach, but would

have to class as imbecile, if we followed what is

called the pure oral method. As a further feature

of the Eochester method, it docs not abandon any

as incapable of advancement because on account of

some physical inability he cannot learn to speak

or to read the lips. By the free use of the manual

alphabet in all grades such capable and worthy

children are carried as far through the course of

instruction as they may be able to win their way.

even graduating.

Another feature is the use of the phonetic man-

ual, devised by Edmund Lyon of Eochester, as an

aid in teaching speech and in correcting speecii

faults. This manual is based upon Alexander Mel-

ville ISoll's P|)on(:li symbols and syslcni of speech

analysis which are used by teachers and pupils.

The school holds that the deaf of average gifts

can pursue the sunic course of study and ac-

complish as much in a given time as do average

children in the public schools. It gratefully ac-

cepts the syllabus and courses of study prepared

by the state education department for the public

schools of the state, and will gladly take the state

regents' examinations. These standards will prove

an incentive to good work. When a few years ago

special state examinations of the schools for the

deaf were held for a series of years, and the printed

report made possible a comparison of the results

of teaching by different methods, this school for

the whole series of annual examinations led the

other seven schools by twenty-five points on a scale

of one hundred.

The institution continued to use the St. Paul

street city property under the lease given in 1878,

at a rental of five hundred dollars per annum,

until a new lease was • granted by the common
council in 1882 for twenty-five years at one dollar

a year. The last day of July of that year fire de-

stroyed a part of the buildings, causing a loss to

the institution of $10,000, one half of which was

recovered from the insurance companies. The

burned portion of the main building was immed-

iately rebuilt, and the kindergarten building and

school-houses were erected so that the school

opened in the fall in enlarged quarters.

In 1888 the property was purchased from the

city. The common council offered to sell to the

institution for $20,000, which was more than

twice what the property had cost the city, the state

having paid the entire cost of all the buildings

erected and improvements made for truant house

purposes. The greatly increased value of the prop-

erty during the ten years preceding was due to

the expenditures by the school of over $60,000 un-

der its long lease. The trustees paid the city

treasurer $1,000 and gave a mortgage for the bal-

ance. In 1905 the institution completed the pur-

chase of the property, and the mortgage to the

city was discharged. The property, as it stands

today, has cost the institution over $100,000, and

it would cost twice that to provide a new plant

that would house the school with equal comfort.

In addition to the property upon St. Paul street,

since the early spring of 1889 the institution has

had the use of eighteen and a half acres on Norton

street as its garden. Upon this property, also,

there is a building which it uses as an isolation

hospital for all cases of contagious diseases.



CHAPTER XVIII

ECCLESIASTICAL. THE PRESBTTEKIAN OHDKOHES.

The Churches of Rochester—The Presbyterian—
The Episcopal—The (Quaker—The Methodist

—The Baptist—The Roman, Catholic—The

Lutheran—The German United Evangelical—
Emanuel Reformed—The Reformed Church in

America—The Congregational—The Uniitarian

—The Universalist—The Jewish—Other De-

nominations.

It will be evident, at a glance, that this is a com-

posite chapter, the various portions of which have

been, in the main, contributed by different persons.

The sketch of the Presbyterian churches was pre-

pared by Eev. George D. Miller, D. D., of the First

church ; the history of the Episcopal churches was

the work of Archdeacon Louis C. Washburn; the

account of the Baptist churches is described in the

text; the sketch of the Methodist churches was

written by Eev. M. E. Webster, D. D., the pre-

siding elder of this district, that of the German

Methodist being by Eev. Gustav Hausaer; the de-

tails of the Eoman Catholic churches were col-

lected by Eev. J. B. Keenan, under the direction

of Et. Eev. Thomas F. Hickey, D. D., the coadju-

tor bishop, from the different pastors of that de-

nomination ; the account of the Lutheran churches

was furnished by Eev. John Nicum, D. D. ; that of

the German United Evangelical churches by Eev.

J. P. W. Helmkamp, D. D. ; that of Emanuel Ee-

formed by Eev. Conrad A. Hauser; that of the

Eeformed Church in America (commonly known
as Dutch Eeformed), by Eev. Lawrence Dykstra.

D. D.; and that of the Universalist by Miss Julia

L. Joy.

The First.—"The First Presbyterian church of

Gates, in Eochesterville" was organized August

33d, 1815, by a commission from the presbytery of

Geneva, consisting of Eev. Daniel Fuller and Eev.

Eeuben Parmellee, with elders Isaac B. «Barnum

and Samuel Stone. The following sixteen persons

were received into membership: Sibel Bickford,

Warren Brown, Henry Donnelly, Hannah Donnel-

ly, Elisha Ely, Hannah Ely, Oliver Gibbs, Jane

Gibbs, Aaron Lay, Sarah Lay, Charles Magne, Pol-

ly Magne, Huldah Stoddard, Arbela Starks, Daniel

West and Elizabeth West. The elders elected and

ordained were: Warren Brown and Henry Don-

nelly; the deacons were Dr. Oliver Gibbs and Dan-

iel West. The first pastor, Eev. Comfort Wil-

liams, was installed January 17th, 1816, and re-

mained until May 11th, 1831. Eev. Dr. Fitch, first

president of Williams college, preached the instal-

lation sermon, Eev. A. C. Collins presided, Eev.

J. Merrill made the introductory prayer, Eev.

Wm. Clark made the installing prayer, Eev. Eeu-

ben Parmelee gave the charge to the pastor, Eev

J. H. Hotchkin gave the charge to the people, and

Eev. F. Pomeroy made the concluding prayer.

The First church edifice was constructed of wood,

and was placed on State street, where the Ameri-

can express office now stands. The Eochester

presbytery was organized in this building April

6th, 1819. The first revival service, which proved

of permanent benefit, occurred in this church in

1831. The second pastor of the church was Eev.

Joseph Penney, D. D. He was installed April 33d,

1833, and occupied the pastorate with great ac-

ceptance until April 16th, 1833. Dr. Penney after-
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ward became president of Hamilton college. Early

in his pastorate a new stone church, which stood

on the site now occupied by the city hall, was

dedicated October 28tli, 1824. A chapel for the

Sunday school was located east of the church. In

1860 a new and better chapel was built west of the

church on the line of South Fitzhugh street.

President Finney on his first visit to Rochester i:t^

1830 preached twice each week for six months in

this church, 800 persons, out of a population of

10,000, being converted, who united with the var-

ious churches of the city, 150 becoming members

of the First church. An accident due to the

crowded building, during one of Mr. Finney's ser-

vices, made extensive repairs to the building neces-

sary. Buttresses were constructed between the

windows and surmounted above the eaves with

spires, which gave to the building an unique but

picturesque appearance.

The first Sunday school in the city was organ-

ized in connection with this church in 1816, with

Elisha Ely as superintendent, and the first mis-

sion school was started in 1831 by Mrs. Penney

and Miss Harriet Hatch. Being the oldest, the

First church has had the royal distinction of being

the mother of churches. During the first fifty

years of her history, colonies from the First church

entered into the organization of the other churches

of the city; to the Brick church in 1825, the Third

church in 1826, the Brighton and the Central in

1836, St. Peter's in 1852, Plymouth in 1853, and

Emanuel in 1887. The third pastor of the church

was Dr. Tryon Edwards, who was installed July

2d, 1834, and remained until July 26th, 1844. Dr.

Malcolm McLaren was pastor of the church for

two years. Dr. Joshua H. Mcllvaine came to

Rochester in 1848 and remained until 1860, when

he became professor of political economy and rhe-

toric in Princeton college. In 1860 the Old School

assembly met in this church. It was the last as-

sembly before the Civil war, and one of the most

exciting in the history of Presbyterianism. In

1861 Dr. Calvin Pease was called from the presi-

dency of the University of Vermont, and served

the church until his death, which occurred a little

more than a year later. Dr. Beadle, of Philadel-

phia, was called, and, after supplying the church

one year, returned to his former pastorate. Dur-

ing the interim. Dr. Anderson, and Dr. Robinson

of the Baptist Theological seminary supplied the

pulpit. Rev. Casper M. Wines was pastor for two
years, when he resigned in 1868. Rev. J. Lovejoy

Robertson became pastor in December, 1870, and
remained six years. The steeple of the old First

church was burned and the building badly dam-
aged during the hour of evening service May 2d,

1869. The building and site were then sold to

the city of Rochester, and a new house of worship

was built at the comer of Plymouth avenue and
Spring street. It was dedicated June 23d, 1872,

and cost, with the manse which then joined it.

$110,000. Dr. Charles E. Robinson was installed

May 14th, 1878, and remained until December 6th,

1886. Dr. Nelson Millard became pastor Septem-

ber 15th, 1887, and remained until December,

1900. Rev. Geo. D. Miller, D. D., the present

pastor, came to the church January 1st, 1901, and

was installed May 3d, of the same year.

The following persons have entered the ministry

and missionary field from the membership of this

church: Jas. Ballentine, Dr. L. Merrill Miller,

Henry E. Peck, Chas. G. Lee, Frederick M. Starr.

Dr. Everard Kempshall, Wm. N. McCoon, Chas.

R. Clarke, Dr. Henry B. Chapin, Robt. Proctor,

Geo. Dutton, M. L. R. P. Hill, Dr. G. Parsons

Nichols, and J. Hall Mcllvaine; the missionarierf

are Jonathan S. Green, to the Sandwich Islands;

Dr. Ferdinand DeW. Ward, to India; Henry Cher-

ry, to India; T. Dwight Hunt, to the Sandwich

islands ; Henry A. DeForest, M. D., and Mrs. De-

Forest, to Syria ; Mrs. Delia Stone Bishop, to the

Sandwich islands, and Mrs. Maria Ward Chapiu

Smith, to Syria.

The present membership of the church is 430

and of the Sunday School, 348.

The Brick Church.—The Brick church was or-

ganized on November 18th, 1825, as the Second

Presbyterian church of Rochester. Its organiza-

tion was by a commission of presbytery consisting

of Rev. Asa Carpenter, Rev. Chauncey Cook, Rev.

Jos. Penney, and Rev. Wm. T. Curry, and elders

Moses Chapin and Joel Baldwin. The charter

members numbered twenty-five. The population

of Rochester was then about 5,000. The first

place of worship was the building previously oc-

cupied by the First church. The first pastor was

Rev. Wm. James, who was called from Clarkson.

where he was stated supply, on April 17th, 1826,

and was installed on July 24th. On December 26th

following, a society meeting was held to act on
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the subject of locating and erecting a new honse

of worship, the result of which was that on Feb-

ruary 2d, 1837, the trustees took a deed for the lot

on which the present ediiice stands, then described

as "on the corner of Hughes Snd Ann streets."

The purchase price was $3,000. The building was

completed at a cost of $16,000, and taken pos-

session of on or about October 1st, 1838. For a

few years the church had a struggle for existence.

In 1831 the property was sold under foreclosure of

mortgage, but the congregation continued to use

the building. The revival in Rochester under Mr.

Finney, which began in September, 1830, added

much to the number and pecuniary strength of

the society. The new elements demanded an ad-

vance movement. They reorganized the society

November 30th, 1833, under the name of the

"Trustees of the Brick church in Rochester," pur-

chased back the church from the mortgagee, receiv-

ing his deed for it dated March 39th, 1834. The

second pastor of the church was Rev.Wm. Wisner,

D. D., of Ithaca. He was installed on July 38th,

1831, and served until September 33d, 1835. His

labors were greatly blessed throughout his whole

pastorate. After being supplied for a time, a call

was made in December, 1837, to Rev. George

Beecher, of Putnam, Ohio. He began his labors

soon, but was not installed until June 18th, 1838.

He continued as pastor until October 6th, 1840,

having received into the church 164 new members.

He belonged to the famous family of his name,

being a son of Lyman Beecher, and a brother of

Henry Ward Beecher and Harriet Beecher Stowe.

On November 35th, 1840, a unanimous call was
• made to Rev. James Boylan Shaw, of Dunkirk,

N. Y. He began his labors at once, but was not

installed until February 16th, 1841. On account

of the length and pre-eminence of his services, his

name must ever remain imperishably connected

with the history of the Brick church. For forty-

eight years he served as active pastor, and for a

year and a half as pastor emeritus. During all this

time the church steadily advanced in numbers,

character and influence, until it took its place

among the greatest churches in the country. In

1860-61 the old building was torn down and a

new one built, which in 1893 underwent extensive

remodeling and enlargement at a cost of about

$70,000. On June 11th, 1903, it was destroyed by

fire, only the walls remaining standing. The re-

built chapel was taken possession of on Easter

1904. The church was re-dedicated, free of debr,

on November 37th, 1904. During the seventeen

months of rebuilding, services were held in the

National- theater, with great congregations. In

1898 the property used as the Brick church insti-

tute, a building in which a widely influential in-

stitutional church work is done, was purchased.

Dr. Shaw died on May 8th, 1890, lamented by the

whole city. Two years and a half before his

death he had secured a successor in Rev. Wil-

liam Rivers Taylor of Philadelphia. The people

ratified this choice by extending him a unanimous

pall on November 14th, 1887. He began his labors

on February 19th, 1888, was publicly installed on

April 10th, and continues to be the esteemed pastor

of the church. On the first Sunday in January,

1890, the present assistant. Rev. 6. B. F. Hallock,

D. D., entered upon his service, coming from the

pastorate of the Presbyterian church at Scottsville

in the same presbytery. The present communicant

membership of the church (April 1st, 1907) is

2,203, making the Brick church one of the largest

Presbyterian churches in the United States. The
Sunday school enrollment is 1,730. Up to April,

1907, the church's gifts for religious and benevo-

lent purposes outside its own bounds have been

$696,588.73, for congregational purposes, $802,-

531.34, making a grand total of $1,499,130.07. It

is safe to say that the gifts of which no record

exists, the private charities and untraced contri-

butions, amount to many times this sum. The
gifts of the last twelve years are equal to more
than half those of the preceding seventy years.

The Third.—On the 15th of January, 1837, a

meeting was held in the school-house on the corner

of Clinton and Mortimer streets, for the purpose

of organizing a religious society to be known by
the name of the "Third Presbyterian church or

society in Rochester." Obadiah N. Bush, Ashbel

W. Riley and Isaac Waring were elected trustees.

On the 38th of February, 1837, twenty-two per-

sons were enrolled as members of the church;

bringing letters from the First and Brick Pres-

byterian churches in Rochester. Joaiah BiBsell.

jr., and Salmon Scofield were ordained as the

first elders of the church on the 3d of March, 1827

The first religious service had been held on the

31st of December, 1836, in the school-house al-

reaciy mentioned. On the 30th of January, 1827,
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the lot on the northeast corner of Clinton and

Main streets was purchased from Enos Stone and

a temporary building for the use of the church

was soon erected on the north end of this lot, front-

ing on Clinton street. A church building was

afterward erected on this lot, fronting on Main

street, and was dedicated on the 21st of August.

1828. In 1834 the church found itself in debt to

the amount of about $7,000 and felt ' obliged to

sell its building, when opportunity offered, to the

Second Baptist church. For some time thereafter

the congregation worshiped in the High school

building on Lancaster street. The next building

erected by the church was upon property pur-

chased by them on the south side of Main street,

just west of Stone. This was destroyed by fire on

the 17th of August, 1858. The lot was then sold,

and the property known as the High school lot on

the east side of Lancaster "(now Cortland) street

was purchased in 1858 for $3,000. Temple street

was soon opened from Chestnut street in such a

way as to divide the lot into two portions, and

give convenient access from the east side. The neiv

church was built upon the south side of Temple

street in 1859. In 1883 the property on Temple

street was sold to the Unitarians, and the lot on

the corner of Bast avenue and Meigs street now oc-

cupied by the church was purchased. A handsome

stone chapel was soon erected and was occupied for

church services until 1893. The main building of

the new church was begun in 1892 and dedicated

May 14th, 1893.

The first pastor of the church was Rev. Joel

Parker, who was installed June 21st, 1827, and

served until June 17th, 1830. From September

10th, 1830, to March 6th, 1831, the pulpit was sup-

plied most of the time by Rev. Charles G. Finney,

the noted evangelist. On the 27th of July, 1831,

Rev. Luke Lyons was installed as pastor. A cata-

logue of the church, issued in 1832, gives the names

of 383 members. Mr. Lyons remained only a short

time and then, with a large number of members,
'

withdrew and formed on organization which was

known as the Free church and which met in a

building on the corner of Court and Stone streets.

Rev. William C. Wisner, D. D., was the next pas-

tor, being installed in 1832; after two years of

service he resigned on account of ill health, and

wap succeeded by Rev. William Mack, who was in-

stalled in, February, 1835, and remained until

June, 1839. Rev. Dr. Albert G. Hall began his

labors as pastor of the church on the first Sunday

of February, 1840, and for more than thirty-one

Toars was the beloved shepherd of the flock. Hon-

ored and beloved by all, he entered into rest Sep-

tember 10th, 1871. December 21st, 1871, Rev.

George Patton was installed as pastor. The minis-

try of Dr. Patton continued until 1893, when he

was made pastor emeritus. In this honorary office

he continued to give the church the benefit of his

counsel and assistance in many ways until hi 3

death, which occurred the 12th of August, 1897.

In May, 1894, a call was extended to Rev. Richard

Davenport Harlan, who began his work in Sep-

tember, and was installed on the 23d of October in

that year. On the 12th of June, 1898, Eev, Chas.

Greenville Sewall began his services as assist-

ant minister and superintendent of the Sunday

school. On December 30th, 1899, he resigned to be-

come pastor of the Presbyterian church at Rome,

N. Y., and March 11th, 1900, Eev. Francis Tread-

way Clayton was engaged as assistant minister

On June 19th, 1901, Mr. Harlan resigned to ac-

cept the presidency of Lake Forest university

Thereafter, for nearly two years, the work of ths

church was carried on successfully by Mr. Clayton

until the beginning, of the pastorate of Rev. Paul

Moore Strayer, May 10th, 1903, who was installed

November 10th, 1903, and June 1st, 1904, Mr.

Clayton left Rochester to become pastor of the

First Congregational church of Williamstown,

Mass. In June, 1905, Rev. Ernest Graham Guth-

rie began work as assistant minister. The present

membership of the church is 766.

The Central.—The Bethel free church, with

thirty-nine members who presented certificates

from the First church, was organized August 4th,

1836, on the following basis: "A missionary

church, established upon the principles of Chris-

tian consecration and devotedness; a free church

embracing also a Bethel interest; open for dis-

cussion on all moral' topics, such as temperance,

slavery, etc.; the control of the church in its se-

cular a^s well as its spiritual relations to be vested

in the church exclusively."

The original members were: (Jeorge A. Avery,

Francis Avery, Thomas Adams, Cornelia S.

Adams, Michael B. Bateham, John Biden, jr.,

William S. Bishop, John F. Bush, William Cook,.

Lydia Cook, Mary M. Cook, Spencer Davis, Eliza
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Davis, Joseph Farley, Walter S. Griffith, Eliza-

beth S. Griffith, Henry D. Griffith, Theodore B.

Hamilton, Julia M. Hamilton, Lydia Hatch,

Fanny E. Hatch, Ebenezer Xnapp, Polly Knapp,

ApoUos Ltice, Josiah Newell, Mary Newell, Sam-

uel D. Porter, Preston Smith, Eliza N. Smith,

William P. Smith, Eunice Smith, Henry P. Smith,

John Still, Louisa Still, Newell A. Stone, Nancy

Stone, Richard P. Willdns and Mary P. Wilkins.

The first elders ordained Avere George A. Avery,

Walter S. Griffith and Pl-eston Smith. The first

pastor was Rev. George S. BoaTdman, who began

his labors on the seventh of May, 1837, was in-

stalled October 19th, 1837, was dismissed June

28th, 1843; under his charge the church grew to a

membership of 239. On June 28th, 1843, the

church withdrew from the presbytery and became

independent, but in June, 1844, it voted to. return

to the presbytery and was received a month later.

The second regular pastor. Rev. Milo J. Hickok,

D. D., was installed February, 25th, 1845, and

continued until March 15th, 1854. The third.

Rev. Franlf F. Ellinwood, was installed January

9th, 185G, and continued until January 184th,

1866; the fourth, Samuel M. Campbell, D. D.,

was installed June. 4th, 1866, and was dismissed

April 11th, 1881. Rev. Thpodore W. Hopkins

was elected pastor September 5th, 1881, and

labored as such until June 12th, 1887, when he

withdrew. From that date till the first of March,

1888, the pulpit was supplied mainly by Ptof.

James S. Riggs, of Auburn Theological seminary.

March 11th, 1888, Henry H. Stebbins, D. D., be-

gan his labors and was installed April 17th, 1888.

The Sunday school of eighteen scholars was or-

ganized in the Crane school-house on Sophia

street on the first meeting of the church, August

12th, 1836, and has continued in vigorous exist-

ence. It has supplied to the church a majority of

those who haye united with it on confession. Its

first superintendent was Walter S. Griffith; the

present one is Arthur II. McCall. In the spring

of 1856 a Sunday school was organized by William

S. Bisliop in a liall on tlie south side of West
avenue, fronting Canal street, in a block owned

by Joel B. Bennett. It was manned by teachers

from several churches, but mostly from this

church. In 1859 this school was discontinued to

unite with another in a brick chapel which is

now a part of Westminster church, and in 1863 a

society was incorporated called the West Avenue

Chapel ; its trustees were Joel B. Bennett, Samuel

Dix, Stephen Coleman, Henry L. Churchill and

Lewis II. Ailing. In 1869 a mission Sunday

school was organized in district number 7 school-

house on Lake avenue. William A. Hubbard was

its first superintendent. A chapel was built by

the members of Central church at the corner of

Pulton avenue and Locust street, at a cost of

$7,000, dedicated August 11th, 1874. It was in

this chapel that the North church was organized.

In the winter and spring of 1842, Rev. Charles

G. Finney, in connection with the pastor. Rev.

Geo. S. Boardman, conducted a series of revival

meetings, resulting in large accessions to the

church. In the winter and spring of 1857 this

church united with the Brick and Plymouth

churches in revival meetings under Mr. Finney's

preaching.

The "Bethel Free Presbyterian church and so-

ciety" was organized August 29th, 1836. Its

trustees were Michael B. Bateham, John Biden,

jr., John F. Bush, Theodore B. Hamilton and

Samuel D. Porter. April 27th, 1845, the society

was reconstructed under the name of the "Trus-

tees of the Washington street church in Rochester."

Its trustees were Carlton M. Avery, William W.
Brewster, Winthrop A. Parker, Samuel B. Stod-

dard and Edward Terry. Llarch 30th, 1858, the

legislature changed the name of the church to

the "Central Presbyterian church of the city of

Rochester." The Bethel church was built of

stone in 1837 on the west side of Washington street,

north of the Erie canal, at a cost of $15,000. In

1844 it was repaired and improved at a cost of

$3,500. This building was set fire to in the

steeple by an incendiary, in the night, and burned,

November 22d, 1861. The site is now occupied

by the Buffalo, Rochester & Pittsburg railroad

building. The Central church building was begun
in 1856 and was dedicated April 8th, 1858; the

total cost was $40,000. The following members
of this church have entered the ministry : George

S. Bishoj), Frederick Campbell, Willis Clark Gay-

lord, Dullis D. Hamilton, Simon J. Humphrey,
Frederick J. Jackson, Robert McLean, Simon J.

McPherson, Daniel F. Stewart, Chas. W. Torrey
and Theodore B. Williams. The following have

gone from this church as foreign missionaries:

Miss Isabella Atwater, to China, 1870; Miss
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Carrie E. Bush, to Eastern Turkey, 1870; Miss

Jennie M. Lush, to Western Africa, 1873; Miss

Fannie JI. Nelson, to South Africa, 1846, and

Miss Hattie Seymour, to Eastern Turkey, 1865.

The church has raised and disbursed for benevo-

lent purposes, from 1836 to 1907, $436,801.25.

The trustees have raised and expended $578,-

891.98. The present church edifice and land cost

$100,000. Dr. Stebbins ceased his ministry March

27th, 1904, and Rev. Dr. Chas. C. Albertson, the

present pastor, was installed October 23d, 1905.

The present membership of the church is 3,073

;

of the Sunday school, 1,303; the corner-stone of

the new edifice was laid August 12, 1890, and

tlic new church dedicated September 13th, 1891.

The following have been the assistant ministers:

Rev. Edwin P. Armstrong, September, 1894, to

August, 1896 ; Rev. J. H. Elliott, January, 1897,

to September, 1898; Rev. J. H. McElhinney,

January, 1899, to September, 1901; Rev. W. S.

Carter, February 1st, 1903.

St. Peter's.—This church originated in the

thought and benevolence of Levi A. Ward. The

comer-stone was laid June 7th, 1852, and the

edifice, which is on the corner of Gibbs and Grove

streets, was completed at a cost of $32,500 and

dedicated October 25th, 1853, the sermon being

preached by Dr. Mcllvainc of the First church.

Soon after a chime of nine bells was hung in the

tower of the church by Mr. Ward. Tlie first

regular Sabbath service was held October 3d,

1853, and the first celebration of the communion

May 14th, 1854. On the 12th of December, 1863,

a special meeting of the presbytery of Rochester

was held in the chapel of the church, at which

meeting twenty-eight persons were constituted by

the presbytery the "St. Peter's Presbyterian

church of the city of Rochester." Edward A. Ray-

mond and Levi A. Ward were elected elders, and

tlrcy were ordained as such on the 1st of January,

1854. Four years later the session was enlarged

by the election of Hiram Banker and William

Slocum. The original edifice was destroyed by

fire on March 18th, 1868, and was immediately

rebuilt at a cost of $50,000. The first stated sup-

plies of the pulpit were Rev. T. Coit and Rev.

Ticonard W. Bacon. TF?cv. Richard H. Richard-

son was installed May 4th, 1856, dismissed Decem-

ber 3d, 1857; Jos. IL Towne installed in May,

1858, dismissed March 7th, 1860; Rev. John T.

Coit installed June 1st, 1860, died when on a visit

to Albion, January 23d, 1863; Edwin D. Yeo-

mans installed June 7th, 1863, dismissed May 1st,

1867, died at Orange, N. J., August 27th, 1868;

John M. Crowell, D. D., installed May 16th, 1869,

dismissed December 4th, 1870; Asa S. Fiske in-

stalled January 1st, 1872, dismissed September

12th, 1875; Herman C. Riggs, D. D., installed

April 2d, 1876, dismissed September 24th, 1885 ,'

Alfred J. Hutton, D. D., installed November 15th,

1887, terminated his pastorate February 1st, 1895.

Dr. Riggs was again minister in charge during

the interim between the departure of Dr. Hutton

and the coming of S. Banks Nelson, D. D., who

commenced his pastorate February 1st, 1901, and

resigned November 7th, 1906; Dr. Riggs was

made pastor emeritus, December 5th, 1900, and

died August 6th, 1902. The present membership

of the church is 310, and of the Sunday school

195.

Westminster Church.—A union Sunday school

called the BufiEalo Street mission was organized

June 29th, 1856, on the south side of Buffalo

street. The Westminster Presbyterian chapel was

incorporated August 10th, 1858. A Sunday school

called the Bull's Head mission was organized on

the southwest corner of Buffalo and York streets

May 24th, 1857. These schools developed into the

West avenue chapel, which was organized Septem-

ber 29th, 1859, and was incorporated October 6th,

1859. Its trustees were Joel B. Bennett, Samuel

Dix, Stephen Coleman, Henry L. Churchill and

Lewis H. Ailing. July 12th, 1875, the society

name was changed to the Westminster Presbyterian

church. April 5th, 1868, eighty-two members of

the Central church were dismissed and constituted

the Westminster church, under the care of Rev.

Henry M. Morey, late of Pittsford. He became

pastor April 5th, 1871, and resigned October 7th,

1874. Rev. Corliss B. Gardner was called from

Cuba, N. Y., November 30th, 1874, and was in-

stalled February 4th, 1875. He continued his

labors until the fall of 1895, when the pastoral

relation was dissolved at his own request. Rev.

Albert Evans, D. D., now of the Metropolitan

church of Washington, began his ministry in

the Westminster church, the first Sabbath in

May, 1896, and resigned in 1904. Rev. Chas.

B. Chapin, D. D., the present pastor, began his

ministry on the first Sabbath in May, 1904, and
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was installed June 7th, 1904. The West avenue

chapel was dedicated January 1st, 1860. It was

rebuilt and enlarged into a church and dedicated

January 36th, 1871. A new and modern Sunday

school room was dedicated during the pastorate ot

Mr. Evans.

Calvary.—This church was organized July 15th,

,
1856, with sixteen members : Wm. Stebbins, Mrs.

TSliza B. Stebbins, "Wm. T. Gushing, Mrs. Arabella

Gushing, Miss Henrietta Dempsey, Mrs. Olive

House, Miss Helen M. House, Mrs. J. Z. Stothoff,

Mrs. Hannah Ray, James Badger, Mrs. Catherine

Badger, Mrs. Elizabeth Barrett, James Barton,

Charles Barton, Mrs. Elizabeth Blunn and Mrs.

Mercy Ingraham. Messrs. Stebbins and Gushing

were elected and ordained as elders. The Calvary

Presbyterian congregation had been previously or-

ganized with Henry East, Lyman Munger, and

John Pomeroy as trustees. Rev. Charles Ray was

installed pastor July 30th, 1856. After a pastorate

of two years he accepted a call to become principal

of Geneseo academy. Rev. James Nichols acted as

supply until April 7th, 1861, when Rev. Belville

Roberts became pastor until June 25th, 1865. He
was succeeded by Rev, Alfred Yeomans, who re-

signed in April, 1867. Rev. Herbert W. Morris.

D. D., was installed June 11th, 1867, remaining

until May 3d, 1877. Rev. E. P. Gardner then sup-

plied the church to July, 1877. Rev. Edward Bristol

took charge of the pulpit as pastor-elect January

1st, 1878, and remained in this capacity to January

1st, 1890. The other pastors were Rev. Glenroie

McQueen, from March, 1890, to 1892; Rev. Chas.

A. Evans, from 1892 to September, 1897; Rev.

Geo. G. Frost, from 1897 to the present time. The
present brick edifice, at the corner of South avenue

and Hamilton street, was built and dedicated in

1871. The present chapel for the Sunday school

and social meetings of the church was completed

in February, 1875. During the fifty years of its

existence the church has raised for general pur-

poses about $85,000 and contributed to the benevo-

lent boards about $8,000. The present member-
ship of the church is 231, and of the Sunday school

335.

North Presbyterian.—The North Mission Sun-

day school was organized in number 7 school-

house April 18th, 1869, with Wm. A. Hubbard as

superintendent. A chapel was built by the Central

Presbyterian church, as noted above, and dedicated

August 23d, 1874. In the autumn of 1883 Rev.

Peter Lindsay, of Seneca Falls, was placed in

charge of the work, beginning his labors December

16th, 1883. The North Presbyterian church was or-

ganized February 13th, 1884, with seventy mem-
bers, thirty-one on confession of faith and thirty-

nine on certificate. Isaac Bower, Frank H. Clem-

ent and Geo. W. Davidson were elected ruling

elders. The presbytery of Rochester donated to

the society the bell which had belonged to the

Penfield Presbyterian church. The "North Pres-

byterian church society" was incorporated January

4th, 1884, with David C. Rumsey, Wm. A. Hub-
bard, Geo. W. Davidson, Matthew T. Byers, Frank
J. Shields and Levy S. Sherwood as trustees. Oc-

tober 9th, 1886, the trustees of the Central Presby-

terian church deeded the lot and chapel to the

North Presbyterian church. The corner-stone of

the new church was laid September 10th, 1888.

Addresses were made by the following ministers:

Rev. Corliss B. Gardner, Rev. Chas. P. Coit, Rev.

Edward Bristol, Rev. Wm. R. Taylor, Rev. Geo. B.

Soper, Rev. Alfred J. Hutton, and Rev. Jas. S.

Root. Rev. Henry H. Stebbins, D. D., laid the

corner-stone and offered prayer. Rev. Peter Lind-
say, D. D., the present and only pastor, was in-

stalled May 14th, 1885. Rev. Edward Bristol,

moderator of the presbytery, presided. The ser-

mon was preached by Rev. Chas. E. Robinson,

D. D., the charge to the people was given by
Rev. J. Edward Close, the charge to the pastor

by Rev. Theo. W. Hopkins, D. D., installation

prayer by Rev. Geo. Patton, D. D. The pres-

ent modern Sunday school building was dedi-

cated December 30th, 1906. The present mem-
bership of the church is 572; the number of

officers and teachers in the Sunday school is 700.

Memorial Presiyterian.—Memorial Presbyterian

church began as a mission of the Brick church in

1869, in what was then a sparsely settled portion

of the city. The first services were held in num-
ber 18 school building and other available quarters

until a permanent location was secured at the cor-

ner of Hudson avenue and Wilson street. Here a

brick chapel was erected and dedicated November
20Ui, 1870, at a cost of $11,000, including the lot.

On January 1st, 1871, Rev. Gavin L. Hamilton
began his' labors as the first minister in charge,

being called from his ministry in the Presbyterian

church of Pittsford to take charge of the new
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work. Under the leadership of Mr. Ilamiltou tho

mission soon aspired to be organized as a church,

and on January 19th, 1873, this was effected, with

fifty-four charter members. The early years of

the life of the church were attended with difficulty

and the future of the project was often in doubt.

The pastorate of Mr. Hamilton terminated in De-

cember, 1874. After being shepherdless for nearly

a year the church called to its pastorate Rev.

Chas. P. Coit, of Baltimore, Md., who began his

labors on November 31st, 1875. Under his ministry

the church grew until a new edifice became neces-

sary, and in 1881 the chapel was enlarged into

the proportions of a commodious church and

dedicated on December 18th of that year, free of

any debt, at a cost of $9,500.

Thus far the steady hand of the Brick church

was constantly felt in sustaining the young church

with large financial backing. But in 1883 the

church assumed self-support. Soon the growing

congregations made it apparent that more room

must be provided, and in May, 1882, the building

was taken down and reconstructed as it now stands

with a combined seating capacity of about 1,500.

The new church cost about $34,000, and was dedi-

cated March 19th, 1893. After nearly twenty-five

years of constant labors Dr. Coit resigned the

pastoral office and the relation was dissolved April

1st, 1900. Rev. J. Lyon Caughey, who succeeded

next to the pastorate, was installed January 3d,

1901. He was called to the pastorate of the Har-

lem Presbyterian church of New York city, and

closed his labors in Eochester June 11th, 1905.

Eev. Fred J. Tower, the present pastor, was in-

stalled January 4tl), 190G, coming from the Pres-

byterian church of Carthage, 111. The membership

of the church is constantly growing and now num-

bers over 700. The energies of the congregation are

now directed toward the clearing up of the remain-

ing indebtedness of $8,000. Memorial church is

planted in the heart of a large and needy section

where several foreign nationalities are represented

and where the gospel ministry is Insistently de-

manded. It has a field which calls for a broad ap-

plication of Christian doctrine both to individual

life and to social conditions.

Emanuel Presbytericm.—^This church was or-

ganized May 3d, 1887. It was the outgrowth of a

mission Sunday school which was established by a

few persons, principally from the First Presby-

terian church, at the corner of Plymouth avenue

and Strong street, at the house of Ezra Taylor,

June 8th, 1873. The name was Bethany Sunday
school. The following Sunday it removed to .the

basement of a building on the corner of Plymouth

and Frost avenues. The following year the school

removed to the Friends' meeting-house in Hubbell

park. A more permanent provision being neces-

sary, Oscar Craig secured funds for the erection

of a building on the present location of Emanuel
church. It was named Emanuel Mission Sun-

day school by Mrs. Oscar Craig. In 1890 the First

Presbyterian church presented the society with tht

entire church property. Eev. Thos. M. Hodgman
was engaged by the session of the First church foi

regular preaching services. The first pastor. Re?

Jas. S. Eoot, was installed June 36th, 1888. Rev.

J. W. Ross succeeded Mr. Root from October 13th,

1898, to May 1st, 1899. The next pastor was Rev.

D. M. Countermine. On April 33d, 1901, Rev.

William A. Ilallock was installed as pastor, and

closed his ministry over that church in April, 1907.

East Side Presbyterian.—In the latter part of

1900 the Presbyterian Union of Rochester decided

to establish a Presbyterian church east of North

Goodman street. February 31st, 1901, in response

to letters of request from the union, Rev. Chas. P.

Coit, D. D., formerly pastor of the Memorial

church, entered upon the work of calling upon the

various Presbyterian people in that section and in-

teresting them in the proposed new church move-

ment. February 37th a neighborhood prayer

meeting, led by Dr. Coit, was held in the home of

Mrs. Emil Ludekens. Preaching services were af-

terward held in the home of Miss Emma V. Mc-

Lean and in the office of the Rochester fire works

company on East Main street, and on March 17th

the Sunday school was organized, Rev. J. B. Still-

son, the founder of tlie Moody Mission school of

Chicago, offering the opening prayer. On April

33d, 1901, the presbytery, by a commission, organ-

ized the church, consisting. of fifty-two members

with the following persons as elders: John M.

Copeland, Clayton J. Parkhurst, Frank R. Ray-

mond, Chas. J. Wagner. On May 30th articles of

incorporation were adopted, the name chosen being

the "East Side Presbyterian church of Rochester."

Six trustees were elected at that meeting. One

week later the presbytery formally installed Dr.

Coit as pastor of the church. A building was
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erected on the newly purchased lot, corner Hay-

ward avenue and Chamberlain street, and services

began to be held June 23d. In the latter part al

1902, a Y. P. S; G. E. was organized. The work

was well conducted by Dr. Coit, and at the close ol

his pastorate, June 30th, 1905, the church member-

ship was 122. At a meeting of the congregation

held March 25th, 1905, Rev. Paul Moore Strayer,

pastor of the Third Presbyterian church, acting as

moderator. Rev. A. D. D. Eraser, of Lockport, was

unanimously elected as successor to Dr. Coit. De-

cember 10th he preached his inaugural sermon, and

on January 2d, 1906, he was installed pastor of the

church by a commission of the presbytery. The

mortgage remaining on the church property was

burned on May 22d, 1906, when nearly all the

clergymen of the Presbyterian churches in the city

gave appreciative remarks. On account of the

rapid growth of the church and Sunday school, at

a congregational meeting, February 13th, 1907,

plans were approved for a new and larger edifice,

work on which will soon begin. The membership

of the church is 175.

Grace Presbyterian.—This church was organized

October 8th, 1891, in the town of Gates. A com-

mission from the Rochester presbytery, consisting:

of Rev. Jas. S. Root, Rev. Peter Lindsay, D. D.,

Rev. Wm. R. Taylor, D. D., moderator ; Rev. A. J.

Hutton, D. D., Rev. Nelson Millard, D. D., and

Rev. H. H. Stebbins, D. D., instituted Grace

church with a membership of sixty-two.

The following were elected: Trustees, H. L.

Reed, J. J. Wagner, M. C. Joiner; elders, Isaac J.

Seeley, George M. Roe, Wm. H. Carroll, Wm. A.

Baker ; treasurer, M. C. Joiner. Rev. B. W. Perry

was the first pastor. He was a strong organizer
\

under his ministry the church laid the foundation

for its future growth. In 1893 the church re-

ported a total membership of ninety-two, with a

Sabbath school of one hundred and sixty-five. Mr.

Perry served the church as pastor until May 12th,

1893. Rev. Thos. E.- Sherman succeeded to the

pastorate on August 3d, 1893. In 1895 the church

was burned. The congregation met for a time in

a hall on Lyell avenue. The question of re-

building was before the people for some months
It was finally decided to purchase the lot on Lyell

avenue opposite Whitney street. The Presbyter-

ian Union supported the undertaking, and as a

result a frame edifice was built. A mortgage of

$2,500 was afterward increased to $5,000. Mr.

Sherman resigned the pastorate April 20th, 1897.

On October 19th, 1897, Rev. D. N. Morden took

up the work. The Sunday school grew rapidly;

a Y. P. S. C. E. and a men's training class were

formed; the church supported and educated an

Indian girl for work among the Hindoos. A board

of deacons was elected in place of trustees, and a

board of deaconesses appointed by the session to

assist the deacons in the work. A series of meet-

ings under the leadership of Mr. Cordiner resulted

in sixty accessions to the church at one commun-

ion. The present membership is 235. On August

28th, 1901, the pastor resigned to continue his

studies at the university. The resignation was ac-

cepted with regret. In December, 1901; Rev. S. F
Sharp was installed. During Mr. Sharp's ministry

an organ has been purchased and the work in the

church in all departments quickened and strength-

ened. Owing to ill health Rev. S. F. Sharp re-

signed the pastorate in November, 1904, and on

January 15th, 1905, the present pastor, Rev. F. N.

Lindsay, took up the work. The outlook is encour-

aging.

First United Presbyterian.—This church was

organized on September 21st, 1849, under the name
of the "First Associate Reformed church of Ro-

chester," its present title being assumed in May.

1858. The first meeting-place was in the old

school-house on Fitzhugh street, and then on the

corner of Troup street and Plymouth avenua

where Miss Webster taught school. This was de-

stroyed by fire on September 8th, 1850, and the

society purchased the building on the corner oi

Court and Stone streets, where services were held

until the society sold the place and bought the

house of the Free Will Baptists on Allen street,

where they remained until the erection of the pres-

ent building on Plymouth avenue, near Allen

street. The successive pastors have been Rev.

John Van Eaton, D. D., W. P. McAdams, Thomas
Boyd, James Patterson Sankey, D. D., who re-

signed in June, 1906, after forty-two years of ser-

vice, and the present minisler, Eev. John Ileslop,

who was installed in September, 1906. The mem-
bership of the church is 338, of the Sunday school

225.

Mt. Hor Presbyterian.—The first Sunday

school in the Cobb's Hill district of Brighton was



HISTORY OF EOCHESTER AND MONROE COUNTY. 287

organized in 1823. Tlic lirst supcnutcuJciit was

Deacon Fisber, and he was assisted by Messrs.

Lee, Bissell, Scofield and Dr. Hall and Dr. Starr.

Until 1849 the monthly Sunday school concert

and the Saturday evening prayer-meeting were

maintained. Between 1834 and 18G0 many vis-

itors from Rochester encouraged the school by

their presence and friendship, among them C. J.

Hill, John Thompson, Louis Chapin, Frederick

Starr, Orlando Hastings, T. A. Newton and Gen-

eral A. W. Riley. From 1859 to 1861, which was

the most flourishing period of the school, Z. E.

Brockway was superintendent. The number of

teachers and pupils enrolled was 242. In 1861

J. II. Kellogg conduclcd revival services which re-

sulted in the conversion of forty persons. In 1886

a mission band was organized. Another out-

growth of the Sunday school was the Young Peo-

ple's Society of Christian Endeavor, organized

October 4th, 1891, with nine members; from this

little band of earnest workers sprang the desire

for a church organization. In April, 1893, a call

was extended to Rev. J. M. McElhinney to preach

for six months, in the hope that the way would be

opened for a church organization. The leader in

this movement was Mrs. Jane A. Hodges. Mt.

Hor church was organized by the presbytery of

Rochester, November 27th, 1893, with seventeen

members. John M. Brown and V. Gilbert Bene-

dict were elected elders; J. F. Montgomery, F.

W. Beogley, John M. Brown, Ross B. Schuyler

and Jas. Beard trustees. The first house of

worship was dedicated February 4th, 1894, on the

corner of Rosedale and Roosevelt streets, at a cost

of $1,800. The dedicatory sermon was preached

by Dr. Ilutton, of St. Rotcr's church. Mr. Mc-

Elhinney was installed April 30th, 1894, and F.

C. Owen was ordained as ruling elder. The

church later removed to the corner of Monroe

avenue and Rosedale street, on the site of the

present structure. John Dunbar was made ruling

elder March 31st, 1899. In the spring of 1899

Mr. McElhinney resigned to accept the assistant

pastorate of Central Presbyterian church. For

a short interim the pulpit was supplied by students

from Auburn Theological seminary, Roland Wood-

ward preaching during the summer and autumn.

June 21st, 1900, Rev. Robert Wells Veach, the

present pastor, was ordained and installed. Under

his labors the membership of the church has now

reached 300. The present house of worship was

dedicated December 15th, 1901, at a cost of

$15,000. The dedicatory sermon was preached by

Rev. S. Banks Nelson, D. D., of St. Peter's church.

In April, 1902, Mrs. Jane Webb, of Janesville,

Wis., presented the church a communion set in

memory of her father, Samuel W. Lee, one of

the organizers of the old Sunday school. In 1893

the church purchased its manse on Rosedale street.

The Brighton Church.—Rev. Solomon Allen, of

Southampton, Mass., came to Brighton in 1816

and established a Sunday school on Clover street.

On the 24th day of April, 1817, Joseph B. Bloss

and Orange Stone appeared before Timothy Barn-

ard, one of the judges of Ontario county, with a

certificate of incorporation for a church, which

was duly organized September 18th, 1817, by Rev.

Solomon Allen. Nine men and thirteen women

comprised the original members. The church has

had only six regularly installed pastors. The

longest pastorate in its history was that of Rev.

John McCall, D. D., covering a period of sixteen

years, from January 1st, 1888. The first place

of meeting was in the school-house, where the hotel

of M. J. Sheehan now stands. After Mr. Allen,

by reason of advancing years, relinquished his

labors here and returned to his home in Massa-

chusetts, the church was without regular services

for about two years. In 1822 the erection of a

brick edifice upon what is now known as the Hoyt

place was begun, and Rev. Jonathan Winchester

became the first pastor. He built his own house,

which still stands on Winton road South. In 1853

the church was extensively repaired, galleries be-

ing constructed to give additional seating capacity,

at a cost of $3,000. During the pastorate of Rev.

James S. Orton, April 18th, 1867, the church

was destroyed by fire. It was decided to locate the

new church building on East avenue. Deacon

Blossom's farm was purchased, a location for a

church was chosen, and the remaining sub-

divisions were sold. The Blossom residence be-

came the church manse. The first service held

in the present edifice was on Thanksgiving day,

November 26th, 1868. The change from the Con-

gregational to the Presbyterian form of govern-

ment was effected September 21st, 1870. Elisha

Y. Blossom, Harrison A. Lyon and Thomas B.

Yale were elected ruling elders. While affiliated

with the Congregational denomination for more
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than fifty years, it had been incorporated in 1817

as a Presbyterian church. Steps were taken

March 30th, 1896, to enlarge the chapel, thus se-

curing greatly increased facilities for the Sunday

school and social work of the church. At that

time the church was presented with a new manse,

in memory of the late Blisha Y. Blossom, by the

Burviying members of his family. October 9th,

1905, the corporate name was changed to the

Brighton Presbyterian church; at the time

Brighton was included within the limits of the

city of Rochester.

The following pastors have been installed since

the organization of the church: Rev. Charles

Thorp, April 27th, 1825; Rev. Alva Ingersoll, No-

vember 10th, 1836; Eev. Joseph R. Page, D. D.,

February 25th, 1875; Rev. James S. Root, May

12th, 1885; Rev. John McCall, D. D., June 8th,

1888; Rev. George V. Reichel, Ph. D., June 2d,

1904. There have been ten other pastors, not in-

stalled, whose terms have varied from one to ten

years. The present membership of the church is 200,

and of the Sababth school 375. The superintendents

of the Sunday school have been : Gen. A. W. Riley,

Samuel Beckwith, Lyman Payne, Harrison A.

Lyon, John K. Beckwith, Thomas B. Yale, Theo.

A. Drake, who has just completed his thirtieth

year of service. Eev. Frank M. Weston will be

installed as pastor June 6th, 1907.

Trinity Church {Colored).—In 1898 a petition

signed by forty-nine persons requesting the organ-

ization of a colored Presbyterian church was pre-

sented to the Rochester presbytery by a committee

consisting of John Green, Leon J. Du Bois, and

George W. Burks. Trinity Presbyterian mission

was organized December 16th, 1898, with Rev. G.

L. Hamilton in charge. Rev. A. Sellers Mays be-

came pastor in charge of the mission April 1st,

1899: John Green, Jesse Stevens, Leon J. Du
Bois, and H. David Murray were ordained as el-

ders. Trinity Presbyterian church was organized

by the presbytery of Rochester, May 15th, 1903.

,
Eev. A. Sellers Mays was installed as pastor May
28th, 1903. The mortgage on the property was

burned June 19th, 1906. The present member-

ship of the church is 100; Sabbath school 112.

The church is located on Allen street, near Ply-

mouth avenue.

THE BPISCOPAI, OHUROHBS.

Writing in 1907 a sketch of the growth of the

Episcopal church in an American city, one can

not but note the fact that the English Christian-

ity and the English civilization of this continent

began together just three hundred years ago at

Jamestown, Virginia. The first religious service

conducted in English in this land was that held

by the Eev. Francis Fletcher, cliaplain of Drake's

ship, the Pelican, who officiated in 1579 on the

shores of Drake's bay, California. The first In-

dian converted to English Christianity, Mantes,

and the first child born of English parents in

America, Virginia Dare, were baptized in 1587.

In 1603 Captain Martin Pring, in charge of Sir

Walter Raleigh's expedition, landed in Massa-

chusetts bay and for six weeks toiled near the site

of the future Plymouth, and worshiped accprding

to the prayer book of the English church, seven-

teen years before the Pilgrims arrived; and on

May 13th, 1607, there disembarked at Jamestown

the first permanent colonists of the new land,

bringing with them as chaplain, the Eev. Eobert

Hunt, "an honest, religious and courageous di-

vine," of the English church. The Jamestown

tercentennial exposition emphasizes the dominant

influence which Anglican churchmen had in

moulding the life, civilization and religion of these

United States.

Two hundred years elapsed before the pioneers

began to penetrate to the fulls of the Genesee; and

the varied experiences of the historic church in

the meantime were fitting her to come with hal-

lowing help into the frontier communities. En-

feebled as the church was at the close of the

Revolutionary war, a few indomitable leaders re-

mained and her missionaries were amongst those

who blazed the trails into the western ' wilderness.

Davenport Phelps was for many years a mission-

ary of the Protestant Episcopal church for the

western part of the state, and by his indefatigable

exertions succeeded in diffusing much religious

energy and in forming many churclies.

Bishop Moore, of New York, ordained this

zealous man in 1801, and sent him to the outposts.

After several years of itinerating at Canandaigua,

Geneva, Phelps and other settlements, he estab-

lished his headquarters at Geneva in 1805, officiat-

ing there regularly, and making excursions to
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many points. In 1808 he organized the church at

Allen's Hill, from which, in after days, went out

nine priests of the church; one of these, the Eev.

George H. Norton, joined in 1817 with the Eev.

H. TJ. Onderdonk, then minister at Canandaigua,

in visits to Eochesterville ; in March of that year

they met with twenty-eight of the villagers and

signed "a. declaration of O'ttachment to the Protest-

ant Episcopal church." Bishop Ilobart had been

consecrated in 1811. "Evangelical truth and apos-

tolic order" was the watchword with which he

made the souls of men to vibrate near and far,

and his annual visitations to the remote hamlets

left lasting impressions.

St. Luke's Church.—On the 14th of July, 1817,

twenty men met in a school-house in the town of

Brighton, Ontario county, and organized "St.

Luke's Church, Genesee Falls." They elected

Colonel Nathaniel Eochester and Samuel J. An-

drews wardens, and for vestrymen chose Silas 0.

Smith, Eoswell Babbitt, John Mastick, Louis

Jenkins, Elisha Johnson, John C. Eochester, Wil-

liam Atkinson and Oliver Culver. Eev. Mr. Nor-

ton took charge of the infant parish, in connection

with Carthage and Pittsford, with occasional serv-

ices at Sodus bay, Vienna and other adjacent

places. Tlic first meetings were held in the homes

of Mrs. Silas 0. Smith and other interested fam-

ilies. The next year Bishop Hobart visited the

village and administered the rite of confirmation

to four persons; this service was held in a build-

ing then occupied by the Presbyterian society.

The proprietors of the One-Hundred-Acre tract

oilered lot 85 to "the first religious society that

should take possession of the same and build a

church thereon." After a spirited contest with

their Eoman Catholic neighbors, St. Luke's con-

gregation in 1820 erected a wooden church, thirty-

eight by forty-six feet ; subscriptions amounting to

$1,270 were received; of this $238 was in cash,

the rest in goods, labor and lumber. "N. Eoches-

ter, in lumber, $200 ; William Cobb, in blacksmith-

ing, $25 ; William Haywood, in hats, $20 ; Eben-

ezer Watts, in tinware, $10; E. Peck & Co., in

hooks and stationery, $30; Jehiel Barnard, in tai-

loring, $5 ; Jacob Gould, in goods, $10 ; H. Scran-

tom, in flour, $7; Abner Wakelee, in shoes, $10."

The following additional subscriptions were con-

tributed toward the erection of the steeple, or cu-

pola:
' A. Eeynolds, in goods or brick, $5; D- I)

Barnard, in cider and apples, $5; Timothy Bos-

worth, in combs, $5; E'phraim Moore, "in pork

out of my shop," $5. The little church was occu-

pied for the first time on Christmas day, 1820,

and was consecrated by Bishop Hobart, February

20th, 1821, Eev. Francis H. Cuming, deacon,

having taken charge of the parish a month pre-

vious for the term of one year at a salary of $475.

The growth and prosperity of the church were

such that in September, 1823, the old building was

moved to the rear of the lot, and the erection of a

stone church begun; this second building was

fifty-five by seventy-three feet, and cost $10,400;

it was opened for worship September 4th, 1825,

and consecrated September 30th, 1826. This

church, it sliould be noted, has been very little al-

tered to this day; the arrangement of its interior

is unique, and is treasured as a monument of the

ecclesiastical architecture of that day. After a

successful rectorship of eight years, Mr. Cuming

resigned and was succeeded by Eev. Henry J.

Whitehousc, who was instituted by Bishop Hobart

August 29th, 1830. Shortly after this the bishop

died; his successor, Et. Eev. B. T. Onderdonk,

was succeeded after a few years of devoted labor

by Bishop De Lancey, in 1839, at which time St.

Luke's, with its four hundred communicants, was

the largest and most influential parish in the iiew-

ly-constituted diocese, which comprised all of the

state west of Utica. In 1844 the gifted Dr. White-

house resigned to accept the episcopate of Illinois.

He was succeeded by Eev. Thomas C. Pitkin,, who,

in consequence of ill health, after three years'

work, resigned July 12th, 1847. In the following

October Eev. Henry W. Lee entered upon the rec-

torship. His talents were such as to make a deep

impression upon the community, and to win for

him the well-deserved titles of D. D. and LL. D.

He left the church greatly strengthened when, in

1854, he accepted the bishopric of Iowa. On the

following April Eev. Benjamin Watson took up

the parish work, and for five years ministered to

the growing congregation. On the 1st of October,

1859, Eev. E. B. Claxton, D. D., was elected rec-

tor, and through the anxious years of the Civil

war led his loyal people wisely in good works.

Dr. Claxton resigned in 1865, to become the pro-

fessor of pulpit eloquence and pastoral care in the

Divinity school of the Protestant Episcopal church

in Philadelphia. On the second Sunday, of May
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in 1866 Rev. Henry Anstice began his long and

notable rectorate. Coming here as a young man,

he gave unremittingly oJ; his energies for thirty-

one years to the ever-widening work of this im-

portant parish. His gifts for organization and

a'dministration of affairs enabled him to wield a

directing influence in many beneficent movements.

As dean of the convocation under Bishop Goxe,

he was a leader in the missionary enterprises in

this part of the diocese. He resigned in 1897 to

accept a call to Philadelphia. In 1897 Rev. Rob

Roy MacGregor Converse, D. D., chaplain of Ho-

bart college, was elected and accepted the rector-

ship of this, the mother paxish of the city. Rev.

W. S. McCoy is the assistant rector. Erected

eighty-two years ago, St. Luke's is the oldest

church building in the city, and, standing where

it has always stood, in closest proximity to the

"Four Corners," it is a shrine endeared to all in-

telligent citizens, not alone for its many sacred

associations, but as well for its aggressive useful-

ness to-day. A recent proposition to sell and re-

move to another location has been rejected, and a

movement has been begun to adequately endow

the work for all time. The last annual report

shows a vigorous parochial life with 500 families,

629 communicants and a total of contributions

exceeding $16,000.

St. Fonil's {or Grace) Ch-urch.—With the char-

acteristic venturesomeness of pioneers the Episco-

palians of Rochesterville established a second par-

ish in the town, hard upon tlic heels of the build-

ing of St. Luke's. It was the first instance as yet

in the state, outside of New York, of two Epis-

copal churches in one community. It was hast-

ened here by several centrifugal influences.

The opening of the Erie canal in 1825 brought

a rapid increase in population; Ihc village had

jumped from less than a thousand in 1817 to 7,669

in 1827; then the bisecting of the town by the

river called, in the days of but one bridge, for a

parish equipment on each side ; and, again, in the

later twenties there were varied types of church-

men, some ranging under the catholic champion-

ship of Bishop ITobart, anticipating the great "Ox-
ford movement."

A meeting of those interested in the movement
was convened, according to the canons of the

church, in the Franklin Institute, on the 28th of

May, 1827, when William Atkinson and Giles

Boulton were elected wardens and Elisha John-

son, Elisha B. Strong, Jared N. Stebbins, S. M.

Smith, Enos Stone, Samuel J. Andrews, Daniel

Tinker and A. B. Curtis vestrymen. St. Paul's

was the name chosen for the new church. An am-
bitious edifice was designed. Its spire was to ex-

ceed in height any building in the region, but a

severe wind toppled it over while yet uncom-

pleted, and a less aspiring plan was substituted.

When finished it was described as a "large and ele-

gant Gothic church." The village authorities hon-

ored the congregation by changing the designation

of the street upon which the new building stood

and substituting for Clyde, ^Market and River the

names North and South St. Paul streets.

For the first twenty years of its existence the

parish passed through many vicissitudes. Seven

brief rectorates and frequent protracted periods

without a rector were not calculated to strengthen

the organization. Rev. Sutherland Douglass, the

first rector, officiated from April, 1828, until Au-

gust, 1839. On Monday, August 30th, 1830, tlie

church was consecrated by Bishop Plobart, the last

service but one of his laborious life. Twelve days

later he breathed his last ip the rectory at Auburn.
Rev. Cliaimcey Colton was rector from November,

1830, to December, 1831; Rev. H. V. D. Johns for

a few months in 1832; Rev. Burton H. Ilickox

from May, 1833, to February, 1835. It was in

1833 that the financial embarrassments of the

parish culminated in the foreclosure of the first

morlgagc of $10,000 on Ihe building, and Ihe for-

mation of a new corporation styled Grace church,

that bought in the property. Rev. Orange Clark

accepted the rectorship in September, 1835; his

successor was in charge from April, 1839, to Oc-
tober, 1841, and Rev. William E. Eigenbrodt
served from June, 1842, to December, 1843. In
1844 a second foreclosure of a mortgage took
place. This time Bishop De Lancey intervened
and became proprietor of the edifice, and under
his prudent leadership the property was at last

freed from incumbrances in 1847. But on July
25th of that same year the church was destroyed
by fire. It was at once rebuilt, services being held
temporarily in the high school on Lancaster street.

Rev. John V. Van Ingen, having served as minis-
fer-in-charge for several years, was elected rector
in 1848 and infused a noble spirit into the rap-

idly increasing congregation during the next six
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years oi. energetic and devoted service. From 1854

to 1859 l{ev. Miuisell Van Rensselaer shepherded

the Hock with exemplary ability, and then fol-

lowed the notable rectorate of Rev. Israel Foote,

D. D., who for twenty-three years, from 1859 to

1882, led his loyal people in good works. A fine

rectory was provided through the liberal proposi-

tion of Mrs. Ruth Mumford. In 1869 the house

on Mortimer street was purchased and opened as

a parish school ; in 1870 the spacious chancel was

added, and in 1880 it was completed by the erec-

tion of a rich Italian marble altar, a memorial of

Mr. and Mrs. George H. Mumford. The first

vested boy-choir in the city was introduced at this

time. lu 1882, when Dr. Footo resigned, the ves-

ti7, in recognition of his long and valued services,

elected him rector emeritus. In September, 1882,

Rev. W. H. Piatt, D. D., LL. D., became rector.

St. Paul street had become the center of the

wholesale business district of the city, and an agi-

tation was begun to move the church out on East

avenue. Dr. Piatt resigned in 1887. The con-

gregation was then distracted over the issue of

moving and a debt of $40,000. On July 1st,

1888, Rev. Tx)iiis C. Washburn entered upon his

work as rector. For seven years the parish ex-

panded its scope as an enterprising downtown

church. A spacious chapel had been creeled in

the rear of the church. The Mortimer street

building was opened as a deaconesses' house, and

was the center of much beneficent activity. The

debt was reduced to $18,000. In 1895 Dr. Wash-

burn resigned, and was elected the first archdea-

con of Rochester.

After several years without a rector, the vestry

voted to abandon the downtown work, and use the

proceeds of the sale of the property in building a

handsome church a mile and a half away, for the

families in tlie upper Ea?t avenue district. The

impressive group of buildings designed by Heinz

and La Farge was erected on the site of the de-

funct St. John's church, corner of East avenue

and Vick park, just three score years and ten

after the organization of the original parish. The

dignified old sanctuary, now desecrated to vulgar

uses, is a pathetic monument of departed glory.

With the consent of the legislature the name

nrace church was dropped and St. Paul's church

wns clioson as the legal designation for the new

eslablishment. In 1897 Rev. Murray Bartlett

came as rector, witli Rev. Chauncey Blodgett as

assistant. Mr. Bartlett is still the pastor, and the

present' assistant is Rev. Henry P. Zwicker. There

are connected with the congregation at present

496 families and 755 communicants; the total

offerings for all objects last year were $30,394.81.

Trinity Church.—In 1834 the village developed

into an incorporated city, and since the founding

of St. Paul's the population had more than dou-

bled. The movement out of which Trinity parish

grew was inaugurated as early as 1836, with the

encouragement of the bishop and local ministers

A Sunday school was opened and maintainedi

largely through the zeal' of Seth 0. Jones, in

Pi'ankfort. The legal organization dates from

October 27th, 1845, when those interested selected

the following representatives : Wardens, Henry E.

Rochester and Seth C. Jones; vestrymen, George

Arnold, George E.Clark, P. G. Buchan, S. P. With-

erspoon, Lewis P. Beers, David Hoyt, W. E. Lath-

rop and Seth C. Maltby. Services were held by Rev.

Vandevoort Bruce in a school-house on Brown

square in January, 1846, and later in school num-

ber 5, at the corner of Center and Jones streets.

The corner-stone of the church building on the

corner of Prank and Center was laid June 13th,

1846, and the edifice was opened for services on

Christmas eve of that year. In 1847 Mr. Bruce

resigned and was succeeded the same year by' Rev.

Cliarles D. Cooper. During his administration

the debt was entirely paid up and the church con-

secrated by Bishop De Lancey February 15th, 1848.

Mr. Cooper resigned in 1849 and was followed by

Rev. Robert J. Parvin, who after two years was

succeeded by the Rev. Addison V. Atkins, who
in turn resigned at the end of two years, when
the work was taken up in October, 1854, by Rev.

George N. Cheney, whose rectorship of nine years

was one of marked prosperity and widening in-

fluence. With the consent of the vestry Mr.

Cheney was chaplain of the Thirty-third regiment

of New York volunteers in 1861. His pastorate

of the church was terminated by impaired health

in 1863, the year in which the church was en-

larged and improved. For a short time the parish

was in charge of Rev. John W. Clark, who was

followed by Rev. John V. Van Ingen, who labored

here till 1868. After a vacancy of eight months
Rev. Charles H. W. Stocking served in the parish

until December, 1871; after him there came Rev.
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M. E. St. J. Dillon-Lee, who in turn was followed

by Eev. C. J. Machin. Eev. W. W. Walsh assumed

the rectorship in 1875.

Owing to the elevation of the tracks of the

New York Central railroad the church property

was sold in April, 1880. and the beautiful corner

facing Jones park was purchased as the site for

the new church. On this new edifice the corner-

stone was laid by Bishop Coxe on the SOth of July,

1880, and the church was opened for services on

the 31st of July, 1881. After ten years construc-

tive leadership Mr. Walsh was succeeded in 1885

by Eev. F. S. Hyde. Mr. Hyde resigned in 1889,

and was followed by Eev. A. B. Carter, D. D.,

a venerable saint, whose brief service here was ter-.

minated by death the next year. In July, 1890,

Eev. Warren C. Hubbard began his animating

rectorship of ten years, during which the congre-

gation was strengthened and developed in many

ways. In 1900 Eev. E. M. Parrott accepted the

call of the vestry and for five years was the be-

loved pastor of the increasing congregation. Dur-

ing this period a commodious parish house was

built on the church property. Broken in health.

Mr. Parrott resigned and was succeeded in 1906

by Eev. Charles S. Allison. There are 165 fami-

lies and 337 communicants attached to this par-

ish. The total disbursements last year were $4,-

237.53. The present officers are: Wardens, H.

Wheeler Davis and John F. White ; vestrymen, W.

C. Walker, J. IT. Kinne, A. J. Leggett.

Christ Church.—The steady growth of Eocli-

cster called for a corresponding increase in church

equipment. When St. Luke's was founded there

was a. population of about nine hundred; there

were 7,600 when St. Paul's was built ; Trinity was

organized when the inhabitants numbered 25,000,

and when, in 1855, the census revealed the pres-

ence of 40,000, forty-five wide awake churchmen

resolved to locate a new parish in "that portion of

the city now destitute," east of Elm street and

sovith of Main. The first services were held in

Palmer's hall by resident clergy. The organiza-

tion was d\ily eifectcd May 7th, 1855. The cor-

porate name chosen was "Christ church." The first

oiTRcers wore : Wardens, Silas 0. Smith and David

Hoyt; vestrymen, D. M. Dewey, A. J. Braekett.

E. M. Smith, D. B. Beach, J. M. Winslow, John

Fairbanks, Deles Wentworth and C. E. Babbitt.

A Sunday school was opened under the superin-

tendency of L. Ward Smith that same month, lu

June the ladies organizetl a sewing and benevolent

society. The lot on Bast avenue, opposite Scio,

was bought in June and the church building be-

gun in September. The first rector, Eev. Henry

A. Neely, entered upon his duties in October; the

first service in the new edifice was held by him

on that Christmas day. In the spring of 1861 a

Sunday school building was constructed adjoining

the church and the next year tlie growth of the

congregation led to the enlargement of the church,

including a recess chancel with several memorial

windows. In October, 1862, after seven years of

zealous and resultful leadership Mr. Neely re-

signed to become the chaplain of Hobart college.

He was succeeded immediately by Eev. Anthony

Schuyler, whose pastorate of nearly six years car-

ried his people harmoniously through the trying

years of tlie Civil war. He resigned in 18C8 to

accept a charfje in the more geninl climate of

Orange, N. J. In 1809 Eev. Walton W. Batter-

shall became the third rector of Christ church, the

lot to llie west of the church was purchased and

the rectory built. In July, 1874, he resigned to

become the rector of St. Peter's, Albany. Hia

successor here, Eev. Joseph L. Tucker, arrived in

February, 1875. Under his leadership the mis-

sionary auxiliary was developed and much effec-

tive work done, but after two years he resigned tn

resume his ministry in Mississippi.

Then followed the notable period of twenty-

three years, under the guidance, tender and strong,

of Eev. AVilliam D'Orville Doty, 1877-1900. The

debt of $12,000, under which he found the parish

struggling, was paid and the ohurcli consecrated

on Easter day, 1883. The population of the city

had since the founding of the parish increased

threefold, and it was necessary to lengthen the

cords again. An imposing design by Gibson was
adopted and two sections of the proposed nave

were built at right angles with the old church and

occupied for the first service on Christmas day.

1887. A spacious pai'ish house, costing $17,000,

was opened in April, 1888. In November, 1892.

the new chancel was used. In May, 1893, the old

church was occupied for the last time and the

rector and his congregation were made welcome bv

Mr. Washburn and his people in St. Paul's for

the next ten months.
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The impressive new church (except the tower)

was fiuislicd in the spring of 18!)4. In 1897, when
the old St. Paul's was deserted, many members of

that congregation associated themselves with

Christ church, one whole organization bf fifty

working women, the Mothers' meeting, making
this their home. Suddenly, on January 5th, 1900,

to the great grief of everybody, Dr. Doty died. In

its desolation the parish was forced to attack a

heavy debt of $45,000. In a spirit of devotion to

their departed pastor they decided to secure the

amount of the debt as the Doty memorial fund

and at once raised $22,084.95. On New Year's

day, 1901, Eev. Andrew J. Graham entered upon
his work as rector. That year Almeron J. Johnson

died and bequeathed $30,000 with which to build

the tower. In July the Lawn street house and

lot were bought and put in order for $3,225 as a

residence for the curates. In November, 1902.

the new sanctuary memorials were erected; the

altar by Mr. and Mrs. J. N. Beckley and the re-

redos by J. Morcau Smith and V. Moreau Smtih.

In April, 1903, the completed tower was dedicated

and December 29th, 1905, the entire debt having

been paid, the great church was consecrated. Last

year the parochial report announced a membership

of 550 families, 1,003 communicants, and for a

total of offerings $41,1()8.34.

In 1865 the city had acquired some 50,000 in-

habitants. Bishop De Lancey was in need of as-

sistance; St. Luke's was without a rector; Mr
Foote at St. Paul's, Dr. Van Ingen at Trinity and

Mr. Schuyler at Christ church felt the need for

united action in extending the church locally;

they were seconded by George R. Clark and other

laymen and women in organizing a society for city

mission work, which they called "The St. Mat-

thew's Mission." They engaged as missionarie.s

Rev. R. M. DuS, Eev. E. S. Wilson, S. D. Boorom

and D. H. Lovejoy. Services were conducted un-

der these auspices in four outlying districts of

the city, viz., one in the eleventh ward, one near

Deep Hollow, one on Oregon street and one in the

Mount Hope district. Each of these efEorts bore

fruit later, though the association was dissolved

in the summer of 1867. The Oregon street mis-

sion was developed by St. Paul's into St. James

parish; Deep Hollow mission merged with Trin-

ity; Hope mission was nunscd by Christ church

into St. Clement's, which later became St. An-

drew's, and the Grape street mission was built

up by St. Luke's into the Church of the Good

Shepherd.

The Good Shepherd.—Cottage services in the

houses of John Greenwood and Robert Newman
were begun in the early sixties by Rev. De Witt

G. Loop, the assistant minister in St. Luke's. The

increasing population in the eleventh ward, north

of the railroad and west of the canal, called for

the ministrations of the church. Dr. Claxton of

St. Luke's materially encouraged the mission in

securing a building. The chapel was erected on

a commodious lot on Grape street and was opened

for public worship July 31st, 1864. After a year

of nursing care by the St. Matthew's mission and

a pastorate of twenty months by Eev. Jacob Mil-

ler, the congregation was organized into a parish

March 29tli, 1869. The wardens were John Green-

wood and George Cummings, and the vestrymen

Thomas Thompson, Thomas Tamblingson, Wil-

liam Attridge, jr., Samuel Attridge, Robert 6.

Newman, William Webb, Walter Williamson and

Charles H. Finch. Title to the property was held

by the rector and vestry of St. Luke's. Mr. Miller

resigned in September, 1869, and was followed for

very brief terms by Rev. J. Newton Spear and Rev.

James S. Barnes. In December, 1870, Eev. Fred

AV. Eaikcs, a deacon, took up the work, but re-

signed in April, 1873. His successor was Eev.

Benjamin W. Stone, D. D., who remained in

charge for a longer period than any other recto.'.

The property was improved and much Christian

work accomplished. After eight busy years Dr.

Stone withdrew in April, 1881. For the ensuing

year Rev. Byron Ilolley, jr., was in charge of the

ijarish, and from June, 1882, Eev. James Stoddard

was at work here for two years. He was succeeded

by Rev. J. H. H. De Mille for one year; Rev. J.

H. Perkins from 1886 to 1889 and Eev. J. A.

Skinner for eight months until July, 1890. The

hopes of the founders of this mission were not be-

ing realized. The district was largely foreign. A
group of the more "advanced" churchmen under-

took to work the field, re-naming the parish St.

Ann's. From 1891 to 1894 Eev. E. E. Upjohn

earnestly devoted himself to the interests of his

flock. Then followed a brief period of misman-

agnmcnt and rebellion which culminated in the

closing of the church and the sale of the property.
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The proceeds were later devoted to the buildiug

of St. Stephen's church, on Fillmore street.

St. James's.—Another of the four missions

started in the early sixties was that which had its

inception in a Sunday school held in Oregon street

under the superintendency of A. Dixson Davis

and was nourished to self-support by Rev. Mr.

Foote and his zealous helpers in St. Paul's. After

several years of patient effort conditions were sucn

as to warrant a building. An eligible lot on Grant

park and Almira street was secured from Mrs. F.

Galusha, in whose house -cottage meetings had

been conducted for some time. The comer-stone

of the church was laid by Bishop Coxe July 18th,

1875; $13,131.32 were expended on the equip-

ment and the church was consecrated June 5th,

1876, Bev. James 11. Dennis being appointed to

the charge. The parish was incorporated in Au-

gust of that year under the name of "St. James

the Greater," and the following officers were elect-

ed: Wardens, Joseph T. Cox and William H.

Wilkins; vestrymen, John Morris, George S. Buv-

ley, C. S. Cook, E. J. Shackleton, J. H. Hathaway

A. J. Masters, Albert Rogers and George J. Bar-

nette. A Sunday school building was erected in

1881 at a cost of $3,053.55. In 1884 the rectory

was built, for $3,500. In 1891 by a bequest of

Mrs. M. G. Rand the parish received $9,472.55

to provide an organ and endowment. After twen-

ty-five years of the most self-sacrificing devotion

to the welfare of any and all who needed his serv-

ices Mr. Dennis resigned. As president of the

Humane society, founder of the Mont de Piet6,

the executive of the Children's Aid society and i^:

allied shelter for unruly waifs and in his ceaseless

ministrations to all sorts and conditions of men

he deservedly won the grateful affection of every

worthy citizen. Rev. Francis C. Woodward be-

came the second rector of the parish in 1901 anci

has led his growing congregation in many good

works. The church building has been enlarged

and completed at a cost of $12,000. A remark-

ably handsome window in memory of Isabella

Watson HoUister was recently unveiled. There

are 228 communicants and the total offerings last

year were $1,915.81.

The Epiphcmy.—Shortly after becoming rector

of St. Luke's in 1866 Rev. Henry Anstice began

cottage services in the eighth ward. In Februarv.

1869, Rev. W. W. Raymond became his assistant

with special duties in his new field. The liberality

of St. liuke's people promptly provided $14,000

for a church building on Jefferson avenue and the

opening service was held February 38th, 1869. The

mission was ably nurtured by Rev. George S. Baker

from August, 1870, to November, 1875. During

this period the adjacent lot was purchased and

the parsonage erected at a cost of $4,000. The

next minister in charge was Rev. C. M. Nicker-

son and under his leadership the parish was form-

ally organized September 13th, 1876, adopting the

name of "the church of the Epiphany." The

first officers were : Wardens, J. H. Martindale and

Romeyn Boughton; vestrymen, John Hancock.

David Fairman, F. W. Bergh, James Ratcliffe, W.

H. Cross, F. R. Pluramer, John Clements and

J. H. Stedman, and Mr. Nickerson was elected

rector. The church was consecrated January 6th,

1877. After five years of successful labor Mr.

Nickerson resigned January 1st, 1881. He was

succeeded at once by Rev. Amos Skeele of Holy-

oke, Massachusetts. In 1882 a recess chancel witli

an exqui-site window, in memory of Mrs. George

E. Mumford, was added to the church, and the

congregation introduced a fine pipe organ. In

1889 the church was nearly doubled in size by the

erection of a large north transept and a parish

house was built. By quiet, thorough and un-

wearied pnstoral devotion Dr. Skeele has in hi»

notable rcctorate of more than twcnty-fivc years

brought strength and chcor to a large company of

grateful souls. He is the senior presbyter in the

Episcopal church in Rochester to-day and has gath-

ered into the Epiphany a large and loyal body of

earnest workers. The last annual report recorded

256 families and 390 communicants and total of

offerings amounting to $4,521.57.

St. Andrew's.—As a result of the joint move-

ment toward church extension in the city in 1866

made by the St. Matthew's mission, service."! were

held in a house on St. Paul street, corner of

Alexander. In June, 1867, Dr. Schuyler of Christ

church accepted responsibility for the work and

his assistant, Mr. Lovejoy, with others carried on

the enterprise until July 6th, 1871, when it was or-

ganized as St. Clement's church, with Rev. Daniel

Flack in charge. From its inception he conducted

a parish school in connection with the church. On
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the 8tli day of February, 1874, Rev. David A. Bon-

nar became the rector. The lot on the corner of

Aterill avenue and Ashland streeet was secured

and the chapel and chancel of the proposed group

of buildings were erected this same year at a cost

of $12,500. In 1875 the rectory was built, cost-

ing $6,500; the property was mortgaged for $8,-

950. In 1876 there were one hundred and two

communicants in the parish. A small frame struc-

ture was put up by the guild for school purposes

Dissensions arose and the mortgage was foreclosed,

William B. Douglas buying in the property. Rev.

Mr. Bonnar continued to officiate until December,

1878, in the guild hall, which had been moved

to another lot. St. Clement's was superseded Febru-

ary 7th, 1879, by the organization of St. Andrew's

The first officers of the new corporation were;

Wardens, William B. Douglas and William Ratt:

vestrymen, John J. Luckett, William Dove, Thom-

as A. Evans, Frederick Suter, George Yeares, Ab-

ner Burbank and Christopher Roberts. On June

1st Rev. A. S. Crapsey became rector. The church

was completed and consecrated by Bishop Coxe

May 16th, 1880. The entire property, valued at

$45,000, with an endowment fund of $15,000.

was deeded to the diocesan trustees of the parochial

fund, with the provision that it may be claimed

for a cathedral on the erection of the diocese of

Rochester. The twenty-seven years of Dr. Crap-

sey's rectorate were full of acliievements, the par-

ish becoming one of the strongest in the diocese,

reaching its climax in 1896. A parish house ami

lot were given in 1891 by Mr. Douglas, valued at

$10,000. In 1894 Nazareth house was built for

Sunday school and trade school purposes. A
flourishing kindergarten school was maintained

until this department was introduced into the

public schools of the city. An exquisite altar and

reredos was erected in the chapel in memory of

Mrs. S. G. Andrews a few years ago, and on

February the 11th, 1900, the sanctuary was elab-

orately beautified by Mrs. H. H. Perkins with

marble altar and mural decorations and window.

A thriving mutual benefit association known as

St. Andrew's Brotherliood has been developed

Last year's report recorded 347 families, 616 com-

municants and a total of olTcringg amounting to

$7,143.60. Dr. Crapsey's pastorate terminated in

Docomber, 1906.

St. Mark's.—In the summer of 1878 mission

work was inaugurated in the northeast quarter of

the city, on the corner of North and Wadsworth

streets. A Sunday school was conducted in the

afternoon and regular Sunday evening services

were held by Rev. Albert Wood. A year and a

half later a more convenient room was secured on

Channing street. From June 1st, 1884, Edward P.

Hart was for six months lay reader in charge of

the work. November 14th, being the centennial

anniversary of Bishop Seabury'a consecration,

ground was broken for a church building on th?

corner of Channing and Ilollister streets. Decem-

ber 21st, Mr. Hart was ordained deacon. The

opening service in the church was held January

18th, 1885. The entire cost of the land, edifice and

furniture was $5,437.41, and was paid in full. la

1890 a parish house was added to the equipment

at a cost of $1,500. Many beautiful memorials

have been added and a vested choir has been recent-

ly introduced. The twenty-three years of devoted

Christian leadership have brought inestimable

benefits to this populous district. A contagious

spirit of consecration to highest ideals issues from

St. Mark's with uplifting influence. The officers

of the corporation are: Wardens, William Ben-

nett and Fred Brehem ; vestryman, Fred M. Havill.

There are 100 families, 253 communicants, and

last year's offerings were $2,417.38.

St. John's.—In 1880 a mission work was opened

in a private house on Upton park through the

zeal of Mrs. Margaret Ferrarei and William G.

Congdon. In June, 1882, Charles B. Upton gave

the mission the use for three years of a lot on

Hawthorne streeet and of the temporary chapel

that he volunteered to erect thereon. This build-

ing was completed on April 1st and was named

St. John's. Rev. J. A. Massey, D. D., was placed

in charge. In 1885 $5,500 was paid for the prop-

erty. In 1886 Rev. Arthur Sloan succeeded Mr.

Massey as rector and for four years did faithful

service. In 1891 the parish was vacant and faced

a debt of $8,000. In 1892 Rev. W. N. Webbe be-

gan a three years' pastorate, after which the parish

was absorbed into the new St. Paul's.

Ascension.—In October, 1886, Rev. Frederick

S. Hyde, rector of Trinity church, began holding

cottage services in a private house in the growing

district to the north of his parish. The need for
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ampler accommodations was soon felt and Mrs. W.

L. Ilalsey gave the missionary the use of a build-

ing on Tjake avenue opposite Glenwood, whore the

Sunday Bcliool and other services were maintained

until the church was erected on Augustine street.

The new site (worth $2,000) was the gift of a

generous citizen, not of our communion, Charles

J. Burke. The brown stone structure was in its

incomplete condition occupied in 1888 and the

mission Avas organized under the name of Ascen-

sion. With great self-sacrifice Mr. Hyde carried

the burden of the work until 1891.

Next year the field was placed under the care

of Rev. George T. Le Boutillier, who devoted the

following twelve years to strengthening and ex-

tending the work, ]Te paid the debt of $750 and

finished the building. In li)01 the seating ca-

pacity was doubled by the addition of a section of

a more extensive edifice designed by Addison Le

Boutillier. The $4,500 necessary to construct this

addition was raised by the personal solicitation of

the missionary from church friends in the city.

On the 1st of February, 1904, Mr. Le Boutillier

resigned, owing to his failing health. In May
Rev. Francis S. Lippitt assumed charge. There

are sixty families and 113 communicants at-

tached to the mission and last year their offerings

amounted to $1,?'74.7'3. The officers are: AVar-

den, James J. Withall; treasurer, J. Lees Hilton;

clerk, H. T. Brown.

St. George's {All Saints).-—In December, 1888,

cottage services were inaugurated in the rapidly

growing section of East Rochester by Rev. Arthur

Sloan, under the auspices of the deanery of Roch-

ester. In June, 1889, a lot Avas secured on the

corner of Webster and Qarson avenues and next

year a chapel was constructed and the mission of

All Saints organized. In 1891 Rev. G. T. Le
Boutillier assumed charge and with the aid of

lay readers from the church club, chiefly Eugene
C. Denton, maintained the work for several years.

In 1894 Rev. Henry Rollings was the minister in

charge. The Rochester archdeaconry was estab-

lished in 1895 and under the new system of ad-

ministration this with other missions in the city

received a new impetus. Rev. Thomas A. Parnell,

D. C. L., was the first clergyman to give his un-

divided attention to the interests of this develop-

ing field and for six years ministered faithfully

to the little congregation struggling under a bur-

densome debt from city assessments. In 1902 the

mission was consigned to the oversight of St.

Paul's parish and was sowed by the assistant min-

iters there. Rev. Arthur S. Mann officiated in

1903-04 and Rev. Wallace Watts until 1906, when

the mission was reorganized and incorporated as

the parish of St. George's, Rev. George C. Rich-

mond becoming the pastor.

St. ;/7iom«A''s.—With the ti'ue spirit of sharing

privileges, some, willing helpers in Christ church

started a Sunday school out Monroe avenue in

1890. Rev. Charles H. Boynton, curate of the

parish, co-operated. From July, 1890, to Feb-

ruary, 1893, Rev. T, F. Johnson led the expanding

movement. Tlio meetings were held in n house

on Boardman avenue. Early in 189G the work

was put under the direction of Archdeacon Wash-

burn. Services were held in a vacant store, corner

of Monroe avenue and, Rutgers street, and tho

mission was duly organized and given tlie name of

St. Thomas. For the year preceding December,

1897, Rev. G. T. Le Boutillier was the mission-

ary, at which date the request of the rector of St.

I'aul's was granted and the mission entrusted to

him. In February, 1899, services were discon-

tinued. But in the summer of 1900 the work

was revived by lay readers. Services were con-

ducted in a room of the school-house on Field

street. In May, 1901, Rev. Evan IT. Martin was

appointed minister in charge. Tho lot on Field

street was purchased and an attractive church

erected. An enterprising work has been developed.

There are fifty-two families and seventy-two com-

municants enrolled; their offerings last year

amounted In $1,330.30. Tho officers arc: War-

dens, William Harding and Sheridan Daboll;

treasurer, Cyrus G. Daboll; clerk, J. J. Mosher.

St. Stephen's.-—One of the effective agencies

for church extension hereabouts was the church

club with its group of lay readers, who did a quiet

but extensive work under Archdeacon Washburn.
In 1894 they conducted a Sunday school in the

little school-house out on the Chili road and main-

tained it there until 1897, when an attractive

chapel was erected for the mission on Fillmore

street. The money for this undertaking was se-

cured from the sale of the property of the dis-

banded Good Shepherd parish. In 1899 Rev.
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Evan J I. Alartiii look dmigo iuhI upon his resig-

nation, in 1903, Rev. W. 0. Taylor was appointed

minister. The present officers are: Alphonso

Collins, warden ; G. G. Brainard, treasurer ; George

McDonald, clerk. There are fifty families and

fifty-two communicants and their odcrings the

past year were $643.45.

The Church Home Chapel of the Good Shep-

herd.—Since the founding of the Home in 1869

services have been conducted for the benefit of

the members of the household, at first by the city

rectors in rotation, but since 1879 by regular

chaplains. Rev. Fortune C. Brown was the pastor

from April, 1879, to June, 1888. He was suc-

ceeded by Rev. Albert Wood fron\ 1889 lo Novem-

ber, 1898, and then followed Rev. G. T. Le Bou-

tiUier from 1899 to 1905. Since November 1st,

1905, Rev. Dr. Washburn has supplied ministra-

tions. The beautiful chapel was built in 1901 and

is adorned with many fine memorials.

At tliese thirteen strategically located sanctu-

aries the Episcopal church is engaged, striving to

do her share toward making Rochester a city of

the great king; joyfully recognizing the large part

that the Christian brethren of other groupings

have contributed to the leavening of the com-

munity. Such a sketch as this mnst manifestly

be merely suggestive; it is impossible even to call

the roll of the men and women identified with

this church who have brought light and leading

to our local business and social world. Such

names as Rochester, Montgomery, Child, Smith,

Andrews, Muinford, Whittlesey, Erickson, Sibley,

Douglas, Field, Watson, Clark, Reynolds, Hoyt,

BIwood, Dewey, Walker, Pitkin, EUwnnger aro

but partial indications of the rank and fde of the

goodly company. These and others are inextric-

ably woven into every chapter of this history;

their descendants and successors are enlisted with

ihcir contemporaries in the manifold beneficent

enterprises of to-day.

THE QUAKER CHURCHES.

The Quakers—or "Friends," as they always pre-

ferred to be called—fou.nd their way to this region

ill, fin onrly day. The first nincLing in this village

was held on the 18th of the tenth month in 1831,

onihracing memliors of that faith in Rochester,

KigM, and .1 [ciuiotla, and Jsaac Colviii being the

clerk for the day, a position filled afterward by

Thomas Congdon and Harvey Frink. It was de-

termined to purchase a burial lot in Frankfort,

sixty-six feet by 300, for eighty dollars, and also

to erect a niecting-house, which was built in the

following year at a cost of $350, so that the Qua-

kers had the third church in Rochester, which

was situated on the east side of North Fitzhugh

street, very near Allen. There they all worshiped

till 1829, when the division took place, and the

Orthodox Friends built a new church on Jay

street, while the Hicksite Quakers retained pos-

session of the old place. There they remained till

1870, when they moved into a modest little struc-

ture on the north side of llubbell park, opposite

the orphan asylum. This was maintained, with a

constantly diminishing attendance, until about

twelve years ago, when it was given up. In the

meantime the Orthodox Friends, after continuing

on Jay street till 1873, moved in that year to

Alexander street and after that drifted around to

East Main and then on to Stone street, where they

struggled along till some time after the other

branch had expired, when they likewise gave up

the contest with an unfriendly world.

'J'HE ]MI5TII0mST Ei'lSOOPAL CHURCHES.

Jn the year 1813 there were two houses on the

Genesee river where the city of Rochester now

stands. Only four years later, namely, in 1816,

the first Methodist meeting was held in a build-

ing on the lower race, near, and southwest of,

where llio Whitney mills stand. In the year fol-

lowing the first Methodist sermon was preached

by Rev. Elisha House in the private residence of

Fabricius Reynolds, near the corner of Fitzhugh

and Buffalo (now Main) streets. During the year

the first Methodist class was organized by Cyrus

Story, afterward a minister and a member of Gen-

esee conference.

The First Church.—On the 20th day of Sep-

tember, 1820, the legal voters met and incorpo-

rated the church under the name and title "The

First Wesleyan ' Methodist Episcopal Church of

the Village of Rochester." This name was re-

tained until November 10th, 1900, at which date

the Frank street Methodist Episcopal church was

consolidated with the First under the present
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name, "The First Methodist Episcopal Church of

the City of Rochester." At the original meeting,

September 20th, 1820, Rev. Orren Miller, pastor,

was elected president; Frederick Clark, vice-pres-

ident; Nathaniel Draper, secretary. The trustees

elected were Frederick Clark, Elam Smith, Abe-

lard Reynolds, Nathaniel Draper, Dan Rowe. The

proceedings were duly certified for record by

Wheeler Collins and Asa Weston.

In the following June they began the erection

of a modest house of worship, forty-two by iifty-

five feet, upon South St. Paul street, near the

south line of the present site of Cook's opera house.

It was completed and dedicated in July, 1826, at

which time they had seventy members. Under the

fruitful labors of Rev. Dr. John Dempster it was

found necessary to enlarge the building in 1827.

Two years later, with four hundred members, it

was still inadequate. This led to the erection of an

immense stone structure on the west side of the

Genesee river, on the northwest corner of Main

and Pitzhugh streets. It was one hundred and

four by eighty feet, galleried on three sides, capa-

ble of seating 2,000 people. It had twenty-one

class rooms, and the basement floors were rented

for stores. It was said to have been the largest

Methodist Episcopal chapel in the United States.

Its cost was $40,000. It was dedicated in 1831.

On the 5th of January, 1835, at 3 :30 a. m., flames

were seen bursting from the building, and in a

few hours it was totally consumed, with no insur-

ance, and a debt of $31,000 remaining. Undaunt-

ed, they rebuilt, occupying in the meantime the

old church on St. Paul street. Within a year

they worshiped in the basement of the new chvirch,

and in January, 1839, the completed structure

was dedicated by Rev. Noah Levings of the Troy
conference. Rev. Elijah Hebard was pastor when
the fire occurred, and initiated ihe work of re-

building. He recorded his opinion that building

the second time so large a church was an error.

Evidently this was so, for the locating of tiic

church on the west side led in 1836 to the build-

ing of another on the east side, thus weakening

the original organization. Soon after the dedica-

tion, in 1839, the trustees sold a part of their lot

to the city for fire engine house number 6, and

at length, under stress of debt, sold the entire

structure, moving further down the street to the

present site at the corner of North Fitzhugli and

Church streets, though it was not until a much

later date that Church street was opened, taking

a part of the original lot and the parsonage.

The new site was purchased in 1854. The last

service in the large church was held Sunday, April

30th, 1854, and the farewell sermon was preached

by Rev. Henry Hickok, pastor. On the following

Sunday, May 7th, services were held in the city

hall, on the present site of the Powers Hotel, and

were continued until the dedication of the base-

ment of the church, on the first Sunday of March,

1856. Thenceforward, for nearly five years, they

continued in the basement, until the dedication of

the entire building by Kev. John M. Eeid, D. D.,

LL. D., president of Genesee college at Lima,

N. Y., February 7th, 1861. Despite these strik-

ing vicissitudes the entire period was one of

marked spiritual prosperity. Under the labors of

Glezen Fillmore, who was pastor in 1830-31, not

less than nine hundred were converted, and in

1834 nine hundred members were reported. After

the separation of the east side, in 1836, an average

of three hundred members was reported for several

years aa belonging to the First church. Among
the members were Nehemiah Osbum, Ezra Jones,

Willis Eempshall, Elijah K. Blythe, Samuel Rich-

ardson and James Henderson. James Vick was

for many years superintendent of the Sunday

school, and was succeeded by Edmund Ocum-
paugh, sr. During the pnstorate of Rev. William

Lloyd, D. D., 1870-71, the church of 1854-61 was

liberally repaired and renovated. But the prog-

ress of the city, and the growing demands of

modern church life, soon rendered it unsuitable,

and many years of unrest and debate followed.

At last, under the labors of Eev. Melville R. Web-
ster, D. D., pastor, 1891-96, the present commo-
dious and beautiful stone edifice was begun and

the new chapel, costing $45,000, was built. John
P. Weston was chairman of the committee and

William J. McKelvey secretary. March 17th, 1896,*

ground was broken on the west end of the church

lot for the new chapel, the old building remain-

ing intact for further service. On the second day

of Jime following, at early twilight, Bishop

Charles C. McCabe, D. D., laid the corner-stone.

This was his first public official act after his elec-

tion and consecration as bishop, a few days be-

fore, at Cleveland, Ohio. The pastorate of Dr.

Webster expired October 1st, the term being lim-
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ited to five years, and the dedication was cele-

brated under the pastorate of his successor, Eev.

Charles Elbert Hamilton, D. D. Bishop Henry

W. Warren, D. D., LL. D., of Denver, Col.,

preached the dedicatory sermon, Sunday morning,

February 28th, 1897.. Ex-Chancellor Charles N.

Sims, D. D., LL. P., preached in the evening.

Three years later it was determined to remove

the old building and complete the erection of the

entire plant. Accordingly, on the 12th of Janu-

ary, 1900, the quarterly conference appointed a

building committee and the corner-stone was laid

with imposing ceremonies on September 6th, 1900.

The completed edifice was dedicated June 30th,

1901, by Bishop Daniel A. Goodsell, D. D., LL. D.,

of Chattanooga, Tenn., who preached the morn-

ing sermon. Chancellor James Eoscoe Day, D. D.,

LL. D., of Syracuse university, preached in the

evening. The cost of the main building was $85,-

000. This, added to the $45,000 expended in

erecting the new chapel, and the expense of the

entire building, exclusive of the lot, was $130,000.

An opinion which had for some time existed,

namely, that First and Prank street churches

were so located as to impair the growth and use-

fulness of both, at this time took definite form,

nnd led to a joint meeting of committees ap-

pointed by both churches, which was hold Sep-

tember 6th, 1900, at which it was agreed to con-

solidate Frank street church with the First. Gen-

esee conference gave its formal approval October

1st, 1900, and the Supreme court its order No-

vember 10th, 1900, thus consurmnating with rare

unanimity one of the most important movements

of the denomination. The church thus united

has a memebrship of over 1,100 ; a Sunday school

of nearly 1,700, including the Dewey Bible class

for men of nearly 400, and property reported at

$215,000. To the skill and leadership of Dr.

Hamilton, the pa«tor, the success of these enter-

prises was in jio small iiic.'isiire iliio.

The pastors, with the year of their aiipointmcn.t

and term of service arc as follows, the term of each

pastor continuing till that of his successor began:

1820, Orren Miller; 1821, Reuben Aylesworth; 1822, Elisha

House- July 26, 1820, to July 26, 1821, Orren Miller
;

1821,

Reuben rVesworth'; 1S22, felisha House; 1823 M.cah Sea-

arr- 1R21 Dana Fox: 1S25, John Dempster, D.D.; 1827, Zach-

fria'h Part'dock, D D.; 1829, Gideon LnnninR; 1830 Gle«n Fm-

m"r". D.D.; 1882, liol-crt Purcli; 18311, Qczen Fillmore, D.D.,

I^™,1 f..V™. inal Fliiah llebard: ISSIj, John Copcbnd (Dan-

eTp.^'K dd"e'r 'afs^ta^l ' 1835)? m7, Wilb(!r Hoag[ 1838 Jonas

DDri8?4°-^chu";r Sealer, D.D.; 1846, John Dennis, D.D.;

1848, John G. Gulick; 1850, John Copeland, second terra; 1851,
Augustus C. George, D.D.; 1853, Henry Hickok; 1854. Jona-
than Watts; 1866, Daniel D. Buck, D.D.; 1858, Israel H. Kel-
logg; 18G0, Jabez R. Jaques, D.D.; 1862, Sanford Van Ben-
schoten, D.D.; 1865, James E. Latimer, D.D.; 1868, George G.
Lyon; 1870, William Lloyd; 1872, Darius H. MuUer, &.D.;
1876, Robert M. Stratton, D.D.; 1877, Carmi A. Van Anda,
D.D.; 1879, George Chapman Jones, LL.D.; 1882, Charles Wes-
ley Gushing, D.D.: 1885, John E. Adams, D.D., J. Duane Phelps,
D.D., supplying the last six months; 1889. Ira Taylor Walker,
D.D.; 1S91, Melville Reuben Webster, D.D.; 1896, Charles El-
bert Hamilton, D.D.; April, 1905, to the present, Don Snell
Colt, D.D., transferred from Grace Methodist Episcopal church,
Baltimore, Md., and Henry Ilosie Rowland, assistant pastor.

Ashury Church.—Evidently the removal of the

church hitherto occupied by the Methodists from

South St. Paul street, on the east side of the

river, to the corner of Main and Fitzhugh streets,

on the west side, about 1830, did not command the

approval of all, for meetings were continued with

more or less of regularity in the old brick church

on South St. Paul street. After the fire of Janu-

ary 5th, 1835, the congregation of the First

church retreated to the old church, and Eev. John

Copeland, pastor, was given an assistant to look

after the interest of the east side. On the 26th of

September, 1836, a legal organization was ef-

fected. The meeting was held in the church. The

trustees elected were : Elihu H. Grover, Jonah

Brown, William 6. Russell, William Algood, Phi-

lander Davis, John Stroop, John McGonegal. The

corporate name adopted: "The East Society of

the ]\'rethoclist Episcopal church in Rochester."

In the autumn of 1841 it was resolved to build a

new edifice, and a lot ou the southeast corner of

Main and Clinton streets, now occupied by the

East Side Savings bank, was secured. Work be-

gan the April following. The corner-stone was

laid June 27th, 1842. In the autumn the base-

ment was occupied for worship. In February,

1844, the completed building was dedicated by

Rev. John Dempster, D. D. At the suggestion of

Eev. Samuel Luckey, D. D., pastor in 1842, the

name of the church was changed to the Saint

John's Methodist Episcopal church. A heavy debt

required the mortgaging of the property, which

was ultimately foreclosed, and title to the property

was lost. Greatly discouraged, most of the mem-

bers withdrew and organized a new society. Feb-

ruary 1st, 1860, a meeting was held in a church on

Stillson street to legally incorporate the new so-

ciety. The trustees elected were Daniel Stocking,

Austin Mandevillc, Daniel Wood, Richard Trena-

man, Joseph L. ChappcU, Henry S. Brown,

Charles A. Bloomer, William Tuttle, Luther D.

Berry. The corporate name adopted was "The
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Asbury Society of the Methodist Episcopal Church

of Rochester." The trustees of this new society

purchased the St. John's church property and into

this new organization what remained of the St.

John's church was subsequently merged. In 1866

the building was remodeled and repaired, at a cost,

including a new pipe organ, of $14,000, and in

May, 1867, was formally reopened. Its member-

ship rose from two hundred and fifty to about

four hundred. The site having appreciated in

value, and a better location being desired, the prop-

erty was sold December 24th, 1883, for $50,000,

and a lot purchased on East avenue, near Union

street, at the corner of Anson place. The audi-

torium of the present edifice was immediately

erected, the corner-stone being laid June 38th,

1884. The completed church was dedicated June

25th, 1885, hy Bishop Edward G. Andrews, D. D.,

LL. D., the cost, including the lot, being $64,694.

During the pastorate of Rev. Edwin B. Olmstead,

D. D., 1899-1904, a spacious annex for the Sunday

school and chapel purposes was erected, costing,

complete and furnished, $29,000. The corner-

stone was laid June 35th, 1900, and the completed

structure was dedicated December 16th, 1900.

Rev. James W. Bashford, D. D., LL. D., president

of Ohio' Wesleyan university, preached in the

morning, and Rev. Edmund M. Mills, D. D., sec-

retary of the Twentieth Century Fund, in the

evening. The entire church property is estimated

at $116,000; member-ship, 804; Sunday school,

642.

The following is a list of the pastors: 1880, Daniel P. Kid-
der; 1837, John Parker; 1838, William H. Goodwin; 1840. Man-
ley Tooker; 1841, Samuel Luckey, D.D.; 1843, Freeborn G. Hib-
bard, D.D.; 1844, James M. Fuller, D.D.; 1846, Schuyler Sea-
ler, D.D.; 1848, Daniel D. Buck; 1850, second term, William
H. Goodwin, D.D.; 1852, John Mandeville; 1864, John Raines;
1866; Jonathan Watts; 1858, Thomas Towsey; 1800, Thomas
Stacy; 1861, DeWitt Clinton Huntington, T).T).; 1803, James
E. Latimer, D.D.: 1805, George Van Alstyne; 1806, second
term, DeWitt C. Huntington, D.D.; 1869, second term, Free-
born G. Hibbard, D.D.: 1872, Lorenzo Dow Watson, D.D.; 1874,
Charles Eddy; 1876, third term, DeWitt C. Huntington, D.D.;
1879, Robert M. Stratton, D.D.; 1881, Charles Wesley Winches-
ter, D.D.: 1882, Robert Carson Brownlee; 1886, William Riley
Benham, D.D.; 1889, George Chapman Tones, LL.D. ; 1893, Philip
Shull Merrill, D.D.; 1894, Addison W. Hayes, D.D.; 1899, Ed-
win Bailey Olmstead, D.D. ; 1904 to the present, Frank Salmon
Rowland, D.D.

North street Church.—Early in 1849 several

members of the Saint John's Methodist Episcopal

church residing in the northeast part of the city,

deeming that the growing population in that re-

gion needed religious care and service which the

central church could not adequately supply, sought

the counsel and co-operation of Rev. Samuel Luc-

key, D. D. An old building on Joiner street was

rented and religious worship established. Dr. Buck,

the pastor at Saint John's, cordially supported the

project, and on the 8th day of April, 1849,

preached in (he afternoon and organized two

classes, with a total of twenty-eight members. At

the ensuing session of the annual conference Rev.

Sevellon W. Alden was appointed pastor of this

young society and also of the recently organized

Third church on Caledonia avenue, near the cor-

ner of Main street. In the following April the

place of meeting on Joiner street was changed to

a rented hall at the corner of North and Delevan

streets. April 17, 1850, the society was legally

incorporated under the name, "Trustees of tha

North Street Methodist Episcopal church of Roch-

ester." The trustees elected were Alfred B. Jud-

son. Philander Davis, John Patterson, S. 11.

Moulder, James Hubbell. On the same evening

the society of Caledonia avenue, under the charge

of the same pastor as North Street, met at the

United States Hotel and legally incorporated un-

der the name and title, "TheThird Methodist Epis-

copal church of Rochester." Thomas S. Weddle,

Ralph Coatsworth, Edward Dawson, Henry Bar-

nard and James H. Hinman were elected trustees.

During the deliberations preparatory to erecting

a suitable place of worship for the North street

society came the proposal of Aristarchus Cham-

pion, of the Congregational church, to give $10,00o

to any Cliristian denomination which would plant

ten new churches in the growing outskirts of the

city. Subsequently he changed the proposition

from ten to four. On behalf of the Methodist

Episcopal denomination. Rev. Samuel Luckey, D.

D., pi'esiding elder, accepted the offer and North

street became the first beneficiary of this fund. Aid-

ed by this gift the building now standing was erect-

ed on North street on the west side of the street,

Just north ofA¥oodward,and was dedicated Novem-
ber 2d, 1853. Twelve years later important im-

provements were made in the appearance of the

church. Eiglit years later a second improvement

included a new roof and pews changed to a modern

pattern. At the same time (1873) a new parson-

age at 4 Concord street was built, valued at $4,000.

Tt is still retained as the pastor's home. In 1886 a

new front was built on the church, with other im-

provements costing $5,500 ;and in 1890 a new pipe

organ costing $1,300 was installed. The interior

was re-frescoed, bringing the total outlay up to
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$1,900. hi 1904, (lurijig the pnstoi'atc of llev.

George Mortimer Harris, extended improvements

were made, costing $3,500. At this time Eev. Ray

Allen is the efficient pastor. Church property.

$44,000 ; members, 210 ; Sunday school, 218.

Pastors: 1849, Scvcllon W. Alden; 1S60, Sylvester L. Cong-
don; 1861 (supply), S. VanBenschoten; 1862, Alpha Wright;
1864, John Mandeville; 18BG, John N. Brown; 1868, Nathan
Fellows; 1800, Samuel Luckcy, D.D. ; 1801, Martin Wheeler;
1808, Israel Herrick Kellogg; 1804, Alonzo H. Shurtleff; 1806,
Daniel Lciscnring; 1809, second term, John N. Brown; 1872,

Reuben D. Munger; 1877, E. Lansing Newman: 1878, Lemuel
Thomas Foote: 1881', Edwin T. Green; 1883, Richard F. Kay;
1880, George Stratton; 1891, George Wesley Peck, LL.D.; 1896,
Frederick Shrewsbury Parkhurst; 1898, George Mortimer Har-
ris; 1906 to the present, Ray Allen.

Corn Hill Church.—Corn Hill Methodist Epis-

copal church is located on Edinburgh street, just

west of Plymouth avenue, and faces Plymouth

park. The society was originally composed of

about thirty members of the First Wesleyan

Methodist Episcopal church and a little later of

about thirty, more who composed the Third church.

The original thirty held their meetings for some

time in the old orphan asylum on Adams street at

the corner of what is now Rutland alley. Rev.

Augustus C. George, D. D., pastor of the First

church, gave notice of a meeting for the legal

incorporation of the society, which was held June

8th, 1853, at the place where they "statedly met,"

which is supposed to have been at the residence

of William P. Stanton. 'J.'he trustees elected were

Henry Wray, William P. Stanton, Caleb H. Bick-

nell, Coles C. See (not Lee, as it is generally

printed), Heman Lyon, Silas A. Yerkes, George

Harrison. Corporate name, "The Trustees of Corn

Hill M. E. church." After this legal organization

was effected the members of the Third church,

located on Caledonia avenue, near the Erie canal,

abandoned their organization and location and be-

come a part of the Corn Hill church. This nearly

doubled the membership, the total being seventy.

June 14th, 1853, the first quarterly meeting was

held and August 22d, following, Rev. Augustus C
George, D. D., who as pastor of the First church

had nourished the enterprise, was appoiutcd their

first pastor as a separate organization. The sum

of $1,000 had been subscribed on the evening of

the incorporation for a new church, and this, with

$2,500 becoming available under the gift of Aris-

tarchus Champion, enabled them to build on the

site still occupied. The church was completed and

dedicated in June, 1854, Rev. Joseph Cumminga.

D. D., LL. D., president of Genesee college at

Lima, olliuialiiig. Twenty years later at an ex-

pense of several thousand dollars front towers were

added to the building, with other extensive re-

pairs, and on April 36th, 1874, a grand reopening,

attended by several former pastors, was enjoyed.

During this jubilation Henry Wray and wife pre-

sented the house and lot at 20 Tremont street to

the church as a parsonage, which was gratefully

received and has ever since been the home of the

Corn Hill pastors. In time the church building

became inadequate for a growing city and a grow-

ing congregation, and under the labors and pas-

torate of Rev. Thomas Cardus, a "veteran church-

builder," the old was torn down and the present

elegant stone structure, costing without the lot

$40,639.56, was built. June 3d, 1900, Bishop

Charles C. McCabe, D. D., dedicated the church.

He preached the morning sermon and Rev. Wil-

liam Riley Benham, D. D., of Clifton Springs, a

former pastor, preached the evening sermon. Dur-

ing the present pastorate of Rev. Edgar Prosper

Hubbell, a new parsonage has been built on the

old lot, costing $4,317.02. The church reports 56

members, 873 in the Sunday school and property

valued at $67,000.

Pastors: 1853, Augustus C. George, D.D.; 1865, J. W. Will-
son, who died during his pastorate; 1850 (supply), Joseph A.
Swallow; 1867, Schuyler Seager, D.D.; 1858, Joseph Ashworth;
1860, S.iinucl Luckey, D.D.; 1800, Isaac Gibbard, D.D.; 1801,
John Mandeville; 1802, Albert N. Fisher; 1804, W. B. Holt;
W07, George Washington Paddock; 1870, R. O. Willsonj 1872,
William Riley Benham, D.D. ; 1873, Albert Dutton Wilbor, D.D.;
1870, second term, Albert N. Fisher; 1879, Andrew Jackson
Kcnyon; 1882, Luman Albert Stevens (1884 included Genesee
Street church witli James Gosncll, second pastor) ; 1886, Addi-
son W. Hayes, D.D. ; 1890, Ebenezer Herman Latimer, D.D.

;

1892, M. Elijah Hedding: 1895, Thomas Trclese Rowe: 18B8,
Thomas Cardus; 1903 to the present, Edgar Prosper Hubbell.

Alexander Streeet and Monroe Avenue Church.

—From about the year 1827 a Sunday school was

more or less continuously maintained at the Mount

Ilor, Cobb's Hill, or Sand Hill school-house, as

it was variously called, in the town of Brighton.

On Christmas day, 1843, Rev. Nathan N. Beers.,

then a young local minister of the First church.

preached in the Mount ITor school-house on "The

Faithful Saying" (I Tim. 1:15), and this was the

beginning of a gracious revival in which some fifty

were converted. A class was formed and Mr.

Beers continued to minister to them for two years

and seven months. Having joined the annual con-

ference in the autumn of 1844 he was appointed

Rocond pastor of "Rochcstor East," Rev. Dr. James

]\r. Fuller being the preacher in charge. July 7th,

1845, this society was legally incorporated as "The
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First Methodist Episcopal church and society of

Brighton." The trustees elected were S. C. Blinn.

Edward Vinton, Eleazer Hall, A. D. Deming and

John Bliss. This did not result in the building

of a house of worship and the succeeding seven

years were often without preaching services ex-

cept as they were furnished by Eev. A. H. Jervis,

a local preacher of the First church, and others.

It was after a period of suspension of such meet-

ings that the people were convened in the school-

house October 12th, 1853, and the society again

legally incorporated. The trustees elected were

Gideon Cobb, Daniel Stocking, Godfrey Tallinger.

B. Langdon, J. Donnelly. Rev. Alpha Wright, pas-

tor, was present and attested the proceedings. The

corporate name was given in anticipation of the

proposed location of the new church, namely,

"Trustees of the Alexander Street Methodist Epis-

copal church of Rochester." Mr. Champion was

unwilling to aid in building a church on Mount

Hor and hence the movement to concentrate nearer

the more thickly populated portion of the city. A
lot was purchased July 30th, 1853, at the corner of

Alexander and Cobb streets, at a cost of $700 and

a church erected at an expense of about $6,600

It was dedicated August 23d, 1854, by Bishop Ed-

mund S. Janes, D. D., LL. D. At that time there

were forty-five members, one of whom, Mrs. Jane

Sprague, was living and still a member in 1904.

Under the pastorate of Rev. John E. Williams

D. D., 1878-81, a parsonage was built on Cobb

street. Alexander Street church was emphatically

a "revival" church and her growth for some years

before the final move was made suggested the

need of a more commanding site and a better

church building. At length the location on Mon-

roe avenue, near Averill avenue, was agreed upon,

and their splendid edifice, built of green stone

from the battlefield of the Brandywine, was erect-

ed thereon and dedicated April 9th, 1893, by Bish-

op Edward 6. Andrews, D. D. LL. D., of Kew
York, who preached the morning sermon, and Rev.

George Lansing Taylor, D. D., who preached the

evening sermon. Rev. Benoni I. Ives, D. D., of

Auburn, the veteran church dedicator, managed

the finances. The cost, including lot, was $68,000.

This great achievement was accomplished under

the pastorate of Eev. Thomas Cardus. The last

of the indebtedness was not paid until the pas-

torate of Rev. Frederick Dc Tjaud Lcete, D. T).,

who on Easter Sunday, 1900, culminated the ef-

fort, and with $8,000 on hand in the old church

building and good unpaid subscriptions the entire

amount of debt on church and parsonage, amount-

ing to $34,000, was swept away. Immediately a

corner lot adjoining the church, costing $10,000,

was purchased, and in the summer of 1906, under

the pastorate of Rev. Josephus Leander Sooy,

D. D., the interior of the entire building was elab-

orately refitted at an expense of $10,000. They

now report 1,086 members, 861 in Sunday school

and church property valued at $95,000.

Pastors: 1854, Alpha Wright; 1855, Thomas Stacy; 1856,
Elijah Wood; 1858, John G. Gulick; 1860, Israel Herrick Kel-
logg; 1862, John Raines; 1865, Edwin T. Hermans; 1867, Henry
Van Benschoten, D.D.; 1868, Andrew Sutherland; 1869, DeWitt
C. Huntington, D.D. ; 1871, James Dixon Requa; 1878, John A.
Copeland; 1876, Thomas J. Leake, D.D.; 1877, Albert N. Damon;
1S78, lohn K.lward Williams, D.O.; 1881, T.einucl Thomas Footc;
I8H1, .liilni Tiilliot Cracuy, l),l).; ISSli, AlliL-it N. I'ishcr, D.D.;
1889, Sioii Abisha Morse, D.D.; 1891, Thomas Cardus; ISua, Ward
Udos I'latt; 1898, Frederick D. Lcctc, D.D.; 1903 }o the pres-
ent, Josephus Leander Sooy, D.D.

The Frank Street, or Sixth Church,—In school-

house number 6, on the corner of Prank and Smith

streets, where afterward the clnircli building was

erected, the pastor of the Third Methodist Epis-

copal church, then located on Caledonia avenue,

preached and conducted a Sunday school. At

length the growth warranted a legal incorporation

of the society, which took place at the residence

of James II. Ilinman, 141 Frank street. May 6th,

1852. Samuel S. Wood, Melancton Whetmore,

James H. Ilinman, Joel P. Milliner, Sylvanus I

Bartlett, William Collins and Jeremiah Ilagaman

wore elected trustees. The coi-porato name adopt-

ed was "The Sixth Methodist Episcopal church

of Rochester." This name continued until Novem-

ber 10th, 1900, when the church was consolidated

with the First church. This newly formed society

was the fourth and last of the churches to receive

an equal share of the Aristarclius Champion $10,-

000 benefaction. The society at once purchased

the school property above mentioned and erected

Ma^', 1854. In, the month of November follow-

a house of worship, the actual work beginning in

ing it was completed and dedicated by Eev. Jesse

T. Peck, D. D., LL. D. Unfortunately a debt dis-

proportionate to the financial strength of the so-

ciety remained and threatened for five years there-

after the entire loss of the property. But the

annual conference of 1859 came to the rescue and

appointed Rev. William Manning, pastor, with au-

thority to seek financial aid in the church a\
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large, which he did with entire success. Thus re-

lieved, it entered upon an era of prosperity, itt>

membership increasing rapidly from thirty to two

hundred and fifty. Large improvements were aft-

erward made on the building, and when in the

year 1900 it was consolidated with the First church

it had 304 members, 350 in the Sunday school and

property valued at $17,000. Eev. Benjamin Cope-

land was its last pastor. When the Genesee con-

ference was asked to consent to the union of Prank

Street with the First church it was proposed by

the representatives of the two churches that the

original. gift of $2,500 by Mr. Champion should

be rcsorved from the proceeds of the sale of the

])i'opcrty and be given to the Glcnwood church "to

perpetuate the memory and work of this good man
in that part of the city." This was accordingly

done and it is now a part of Grace church.

Pastors: 1803, Samuel B. Rooney; 1355, Sanford Van Ben-
schotcn, D.D.; 186B, Sylvester L. ConRdon; 1868, Thomas B.
llndsnn; ISfil), William ManninR; ]S(U, Robert IIoRoboom:
18(13, JJeVVilt C. IIuiilitiKton, D.D.; 1800, George W. Chandler:
1808, John Dennis, D.D.; 1871, Clark rcttenRill Hard; 1872;
John J. Landers; 1874, Thomas Edwin Bell; 1870, Thomas Jef-
ferson Disscll, D.D. ; 1870, Andrew Finch Morcy; 1880, George
Washington Coe; 1883, Micajah C. Dean; 1880, Riehard F. Kay
1887, James Earl Bills, D.D.; 18D0, Frederick S. Parkhurst; 1895,
Orville Cram Poland; 1899, Benjamin Copeland. At this point
the history of this church as a separate organization ends and is
continued in the history of the First church.

Iledding Mission Church.—^The conviction that

a population on the east side of the river, north of

Central avenue, could never be successfully min-

istered unto by a church so distant as North

street and other Methodist Episcopal churches led

«, number of zealous persons to establish the Hed-

diug Mission church. January 4th, 1876, the efEort

had so far progressed that a legal incorporation was

secured under the name and title of "The Hedding

Mctliodist Episcopal Mission church." The first

trustees were John S. Stewart, James J. Bennett.

Dearborn B. Durgin, Bphraim McBumey, Thomas

Fenwick, George Gunn, Thomas Fitt. A chapel

was built at the corner of Saint Paul and Scrantora

streets and was dedicated December 24th, 1876.

For twenty-nine years it served well its purpose,

Init changes in the Protestant population and the

narrow territory from wliich it drew its support led

to the belief that it could never become a strong

self-supporting organization, and so negotiations

with Glenwood church on the west side of tlie

river led to the consolidation of the .two bodies.

Genesee annual conference gave its cordial and

formal approval October 9th, 1905, and the Su-

preme court its final order October 2l8t, 1905,

unithig tlie two bodies under the name and title,

"Grace Methodist Episcopal church." Eev. Lin-

coln Lowell Rogers was its pastor, under whose

faithful labors a new parsonage on Avenue B was

erected. The year closed with 145 members, 178

in the Sunday school and church property valued

at $13,500, not free from indebtedness.

Pastors: 1870, Horatio O. Abbott; 1877, no appointment:
1878, Sumner C. Smith; 1880, E. M. Sassville; 1881, Israel
Herrick Kellogg; 1883, George W. Loomis; 1884, Edward Clare
Dodge; 1S8B, James E. Wallace; 1887, Albert Dutton Wilbor,
D.D.: 1892, P. M. Harman (a supply); 1893, Ray Allen; 1895,
R. C. Grames; 1898, Earl D. Shepard; 1899, Irvidg Blair Bris-
tol; 1901, Lincoln L. Rogers; 1905, consolidated with Glenwood
church; new name, "Grace."

Genesee Street and Epworth Church.—Mrs. A.

E. Tanner gathered into her own home on Genesee

street in 1878 the children of the immediate neigh-

borhood for religious instruction. It grew to such

an extent that she deemed it wise to connect it

with some responsible church. Accordingly the

Com Hill church assumed the charge and appoint-

ed Samuel AVhybrew class leader and Harper E.

Day Sunday school superintendent. Mrs. James

D. Bashford conveyed a lot on Genesee street, cor-

ner of Superior, to the trustees of Corn Hill

church in 1879 on which to build a church, it be-

ing largely a gift from her. To this was added

$100 from Mr. Wbybrew. September 14th, 1882,

the corner-stone was laid and May 20th, 1883, the

completed church was dedicated by Eev. John T.

Gracey, D. D., presiding elder. Dr. Gracey said

of it in his report to Genesee conference: "The

Corn Hill church with wise forecast has fostered

this enterprise from its inception and contributed

a large share of the $3,000 cost. * * * The
bouse,fully furnished,was dedicated without a cent

of debt on the premises in any form. The pastor

of Com Hill (Eev. Luman A. Stevens) has been

also the pastor of this church." In October, fol-

lowing the dedication, Rev. Phineas T. Lynn was

appointed second pastor at Corn Hill, to have

charge of tliis work. An independent legal

organization was effected August 12th, 1886,

at wliich time George S. Thompson, Chris-

topher Sparling, Abrara Arnold, Lyndsay Miles

and William Killip were elected trustees,

and the name, "The Genesee Street Meth-
odist Episcopal church," was adopted. A
more eligible site was secured in 1887, during the

pastorate of Eev. Joseph Dennis, on Clifton street

near Church Lea place, and a new house of wor-

ship, valued with the lot at $5,000, was erected
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and the name of the corporation changed from

"Genesee street" to "Bpworth." The church en-

joyed some years of marked prosperity, especially

under the five years' pastorate of Eev. James Gos-

nell, Ph. D., years which pointed to the larger

needs and future which have since heen realized

in the West avenue church, in which this was

gradually merged. The last official statistics of

this church, printed in 1898, showed 375 members,

388 in the Sunday school and $10,000 in church

property, church and parsonage.

Pastors: 1888, Fhineaa T. Lynn; 1884, James Gosnell; 1886,
Franklin D. Mather; 1886, Joseph Dennis; 1890, second term,
James Gosnell; 1895, Corwin Victor Wilson, D.D.; 1808, Ward

>. Piatt, in connection with West avenue.

Central Parh and Spencer-Ripleji Memorial

Church.—A new appointment appeared in the

minutes of Genesee conference of 1885: "Roch-

ester East, James Gosnell." The next year it

failed to appear, but the year following it came lo

the front again, this time as "Central Park, J. H
Stoody." These are the visible media of that

faithful preliminary work which resulted in the

founding of the flourishing Spencer-Ripley

church. November 16th, 1887, it was incorporated

under the name, "The Central ParkMethodistEpis-

copal church of the city of Rochester."The trustees

then elected were Rev. Lemuel T. Poote, Morti-

mer A. Dancy, George "W". Scott, C. Newbold, W.
J. Osbourne. The house of worship was not, how-

ever, erected on Central park, but on Emma street

instead, between North Goodman street and Web-

ster avenue. December 11th, 1889, the name of

the church was legally changed to "Spencer-Ripley

Memorial" in honor of an elect lady who had con-

tributed $5,000 toward the erection of the church.

She was the widow of Eev. Merritt W. Ripley, an

honored member of Genesee conference. Her maid-

en name was Lucina Martha Spencer and at her

request her maiden and married names were unitod

in this "memorial," Spencer-Ripley. The new
brick structure was dedicated December 2d, 1890,

by Bishop John Philip Newman, D. D., LL. D..

Rev. Lemuel T. Poote, pastor. This has been an

active growing church from the beginning, in a

rapidly developing part of the city. During the

pastorate of Eev. John M. Walters, 1902-06, h

parsonage was purchased on North Goodman
street at a cost of $4,000 and the church repaired

and beautified at an expense of nearly $6,000. The
present pastor is Rev. Eurton McClellan Clark

The church has a membership of 377, a Sunday

school numbering 431 and church property valued

at $24,000.

Pastors: 1886, James Goanell: 188S, John Henry Stoody (the
first year a supply); 1889, Arthur Oscar Sykes; 1890, Lemuel
T. Foote; 1893, Thomas Jefferson Bissell, D.D. ; 1885, second term,

John H. Stoody; 1898, Phineas Taylor Lynn; 190S, John Mill-

man Walters; 19Q6 to the present. Burton M. Clark. ,

Olenwoodj Olenwood-Hedding and Grace

Church.—The young people of the First church

organized the Glenwood mission Sunday school De-

cember IGlh, 1888, and elected Charles 0. Weston

its first superintendent. The brick dwelling house

at 47 First street was rented and used until the

church was built. There was no church or Sunday

school on the west side of the river north of Lo-

cust street and it was felt that there was an open-

ing for this work. Those who sustained it were

members of up-town churches and at much incon-

venience and fatigue they gathered in the after-*

noon to assist in the Sunday school. This has-

tened the movement for an independent organiza-

tion. On March 25th, 1890, the legal voters, "up-

ward of fifleen persons of full age," met in tlie

l)i'ick house and incorporated "Glenwood McUiodist

Episcopal church." The trustees elected were

James B. Briggs, Samuel H. Lowe, Henry East.

Eev. Daniel Leisenring, William Stoneburn,

George A. Brooks, George M. W. Bills. Mr. Stone-

burn removed from the city and Judge Arthui

E. Sutherland was elected in his place. Eev. Daa-

icl Jjoisonring secured pledges immediately

amounting to $1,405; the contract for building

was let to John 0. Wood; the corner-stone was

laid by Eev. James B. Bills, D. D., presiding

elder, July 6th, 1891, and the house was ready for

occupancy before a pastor had been appointed.

Eev. Frank Salmon Eowland was appointed pastor

October 9th, following, and on his first Sunday,

namely, October 11th, 1891, in the afternoon, the

church was dedicated by Eev. Charles N. Sims,

D. D. LL. D., chancellor of Syracuse university,

who preached the sermon. There were sixty-two

charter members, chiefly from the First church.

Under the successful pastorate of Mr. Eowland

and those of his successors it became more and

more apparent that a larger and better building

was needed, and under the pastorate of Eev. Hor-

ace Alonzo Crano a subscription was taken Sun-

day, April 2d, 1905, nmoimting to $12,500, after

an impressive sermon by Bishop Edward G. A^i-
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(Irews, D. D., LL. D., of New York, for a new

church. With the approval of Genesee conference,

given Oclobcr'Jth, and the orclcr of the Supreme

court, given October 21st, 1905, a consolidation

with Hedding Mission church was consummated

under the new name, "Grace Methodist Episcopal

church." Glenwood church was located on Driv-

ing Park avenue at the corner of Pierpont street.

After the union it became evident that it would

be better to secure a lot nearer Lake avenue for

the new church building. A commanding and

beautiful site was secured on the south side of

Driving Park avenue at the corner of Thorn

street at a cost of $5,000 and contracts are now

(1907) let for the erection of a structure to cost

$CO,000. Eev. Earl Dorman Shepard is the pres-

ent pastor. The last official statistics of Glenwood

church showed 286 members, 344 in the Sunday

school and one church valued at $7,500. The first

official statistics of Grace church show 435 mem-

bers. 485 in the Sunday school and church prop-

erty valued at $7,500.

Pastors: 1R91, Frank Salmon Rowland; 1890, Lyman E.
Rockwell; 1899, Curtain Gregg Roop; 1902, Horace Alonzo
Crane; 1905 to the present, Earl D. Shepard.

West Avenue Ohurch.—The triangle formed by

the junction of West avenue with Chili avenue,

commanding an open view through West avenue

eastward, early attracted the attention of many

as a most eligible site for a church. Rev. James

Earl Bills, D. D., presiding elder of Rochester dis-

trict, secured the co-operation of twenty laymen

and purchased the lot, and held it several years

in anticipation of some day building a church

there. September 12th, 1895, a meeting was held

on the lot and a legal incorporation secured. Dan-

iel W. Wright and William E. De Cue presided.

Franklin B. Hutchinson, Dr. George M. Haywood

Edward P. Wright, Rev. James E. Bills, Lindsay

Myles, Alfred Williams, William Killip, William

E. De Cue and George M. W. Bills were elected

the first trustees. The corporate name adopted

was "West Avenue Methodist Episcopal church."

When on October 8th, 1895, Rev. Corwin V. Wil-

son, D. D., was announced by Bishop Vincent as

pastor of Epworth church, it was understood that

he was also to take charge of the hirger enterprise

of West avenue. During his three years' pastorate

he secured subscriptions, purchased the lot held by

Methodist laymen, let the contracts for the stone

work and during the conference session at the First

church, Rochester, laid the corner-stone. His suc-

cessor was Rev. Ward D. Piatt, who was appoint-

ed October 18th, 1898, pastor at Epworth and West

avenue, which is the first official recognition of the

oncoming church by the annual conference. In-

adequate resources for so great an enterprise soon

I Tought on a crisis and the work halted, but, aid-

ed by Eev. Isnac Newton Dalbey, D. D., presiding

elder of the district, and generous laymen of other

churches, $20,000 were raised to supplement the

original $9,000 raised by Dr. Wilson, and the

building again proceeded. After one year Rev

George Herbert Dryer, D. D., became pastor and

remained three years, and the work progressed to

another stage, but was again suspended. On Sep-

loniher SOtli, 1902, Dr. Dalbej, wlio liad concluded

his term as presiding elder, became pastor at West

avenue. With characteristic zeal and skill he

wrought out a scheme of five-year subscriptions

at a penny a day and secured pledges of more than

$30,000. With this aid the chapel was dedicated

June 21st, 1903, by Bishop Mallalieu, of Boston.

But the failing health of Dr. Dalbey not only ar- •

rested the work to a degree but culminated in his

death August 15th, 1904. Rev. Benjamin F. Hitch-

cock concluded the year and Rev. Oakley Earl Van

Slyke, Ph. D., the present pastor, was appointed.

Under his labors the main building was completed

and January 21st, '1900, the church was dedicated

by Bishop Joseph F. Berry, D. D. LL. D., whc

preached the morning sermon. Rev. John Krantz,

D. D., of New York, preached the evening sermon.

Over $20,000 was pledged at the dedication, leav-

ing a funded debt of $30,000. Few enterprises

have come through graver crises or achieved more

signal victories. Already the faith and sacrifice

of the people are being rewarded by the large in-

gathering of members both in the church and

Sunday school. The list of pastors has already

been given in the above brief sketch. It should be

said that Epworth church was legally consolidated

with West avenue under the pastorate of Dr

Dryer, March 10th, 1900. The last statistics show

721 members, 1,103 in the Sunday school and

church property valued at $75,000.

Summary.—The Methodist E'piscopal churches

report at this time (1906) 5,365 members; 6,311

in their Sunday schools, and $643,500 in church



310 JJrSTOEY OF EOCHESTEE AND MONEOE COUNTY.

property; thirty years ago (1876), members 1,710,

in Simday schools 1,796, church property $161,-

500, showing a threefold gain in membership,

still more in Simday school membership, and a

fourfold gain in church property. Since 1810

Eochester has been within the jurisdiction of tlie

following annual conferences, namely : 1810-1848,

Genesee conference; 1848-1872, East Genesee con-

ference; 1872-1876, Western New York confer-

ence; 1876 to the present, Genesee conference.

The district jurisdiction has been: 1821, when
Eochester first appears in the general minutes, to

1832, Genesee district; 1832-1846, Eochester dis-

trict; 1846-1858, divided between Eochester dis-

trict and West Eochester district; 1858 to the

present, Eochester district. The presiding elders

have been (the term of each continuing till that

of his successor begins) : Genesee district—1820,

Gideon Draper; 1822, Goodwin Stoddard; 1826,

Micah Seager; 1827, Asa Abel, 1829, Loring

Grant. Eochester district—1832, Glezen Pill-

more, D. D.; 1833, Abner Chase; 1834, Samuel

Luckey; D. D.; 1835, Abner Chase; 1836, Manley

Tooker; 1840, John Copeland; 1842, John B. Al-

'verson; 1846, Samuel Luckey, D. D.; 1850, John
Dennis, D. D.; 1854, John G. Gulick; 1858, Au-
gustus C. George, D. D.; 1859; William H. Good-

win, D. D.; 1863, John Mandeville; 1864, John
Dennis, D. D.; 1868, Kasimer P. Jervis; 1872,

King David Nettleton; 1876,^ John N. Brown;
1880, John T. Gracey, D. D.; l''884-90, Lemuel T.

Poote; 1890r96, James E. Bills, D. D.; 1896-1902,

Isaac N. Dalbey, D. D. ; 1903 to the present, Mel-

ville Eeuben Webster, D. D. West Eochester dis-

trict, 1846-1848, Glezen Fillmore, D. D.; 1852-55,

John Copeland; 1855-58, Augustus C. George,

D. D.

The First German Methodist Episcopal.—Dr.

Wm. Nast, the founder of German Methodism,
came to Eochester with Eev. John Sauter, August
17th, 1848, and, finding a number of German Meth-
odist families who had long been praying for serv-

ices in their mother tongue, he, after preaching

the first German Methodist sermon in this city at

number 5 Tyler street, August 21st, in llie home of

Adam Luther, left Eev. Jfr. Sauter to do mis-

sionary work among the Germans. The Genesee

conference, at its session in September, regularly

appointed Mr. Sauter and he opened his parlor for

preaching services. This soon bccominar too small,

the meetings were held in a hall over a grocery

at the corner of Delevan and North streets, where

on December 20th, 1848, the society was duly or-

ganized. Doctor Ijukcy liaving picsentcd the trus-

tees with a lot on the corner of North street and

Arthur place (now Hartford street), a chapel was

soon erected, where the society worked and pros-

pered until, in 1869, it became fully self-sustain-

ing. In 1859 a parsonage was built and succes-

sively occupied by fourteen pastors, until in 1904

the present parsonage, on Woodward street, was

purchased. The growing congregation and Sun-

day school as early as 1870 planned for a larger

and better church building. Lots on North street,

near Hudson avenue, were bought, but it was not

until June 6th, 1875, that the present church

building was dedicated by Bishop Janes. I'lie cost,

$16,000, proved so heavy a burden for the congre-

gation that the East German conference granted

it its church extension collection in 1880, thereby

reducing the debt by nearly $4,000 or one-half.

In April, 1890, the trustees, for $3,000, bought

the North Baptist church building on Clifford

street, near Joseph avenue, and opened a German
Sunday school May 4th. The second day of No-
vember, 1890, the chapel was dedicated by Eev.

F. W. Dinger, and Eev. Theo. Eodemeyer, his as'-

sistant pastor, took charge of the new mission.

In 1896 lots were bought on Joseph avenue, oppo-

site St. Joseph park, a licautifnl church erected

tliorooii and dcdicaiod Novouiber 7th, 1897, by

Ph's. Elder Oliiis. lleiisa. Tho wicioty was orgmiizod

as tho lOmnniid Ooi'iuan j\l. E. uliurcli and is in a

flourishing condition. Another missionary enter-

prise of the First church was begun in 1894. A.

Boss donated a lot on Seventh street, near Bay.

A chapel built thereon was dedicated November
3-1 th, 189-J, for the very promising Sunday school

which had been gathered earlier in the year. Mr.

Boss, the pastor's right-hand man for many years,

in 1885, began the publication of an eighty-seven

page family paper, Der Eauslesucher, which is

now published by the Epworth league of the

cliurch and of which 600 copies a month are dis-

tributed gratis in German homes. The pastors

have been the following: John Sauter, 1848; J.

G. Graw, 1850; Jacob Kindler, 1851; C. H.

Afllerbach, 1853; A. C. Hertel, 1855; P. G. Gratz,

1857; Clir. Blinn, 1859; J. G. Lutz, 1861; P. G.

(Iniiz, 1SG3; .lacol) Kolb, 18GG; P. Quattlaendcr,
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18G9; J. W. Freund, 1872; J. F. Seitlel, 1874;

G. 11. Mayer, 1877; F. H. Key, 1880; J. J. Mess-

mer, 1883; F. W. Dinger, 1886; John Lange,

1891; G. Bobilin, 1896; H. H. Heck, 1900; G. F.

Ilaiisser, jr., 1905.

Emanuel German Methodist Episcopal.—The
pastors of this churcli, situalcd at 519 Joscpli ave-

nue, have been the following : Theo. Rodemeyer,

1890; B. Hnber, 1892; John Sclmler, 1893; J.

Pieringer, 189G; H. Sclmkai, 1900; 11. A. Maser,

1903.

THE BAPTIST CHURCHES.

In preparing this sketch of the Baptist churches

of Rochester the editor has made use of the article

by Rev. C. J. Baldwin, D. D., that was contained

in the Semi-Centennial Histoi'y of Rochester, pub-

lished in 1884. For the history of the churches

since that time ho is indebted to ]?cv. J. T. Dick-

inson, the present pastor of the original church.

2Vie First Baptist.—This was organized in

1818 and was then called the "First Baptist church

of Brighton." It had twelve constituent members,

all of whom died many years ago. The number of

members steadily increased and was more than

trebled after the great revival of 1830-31 under

Rev. Mr. Finney, though considerable reductions

took place on the successive establishment of other

churches of this denomination. In spite of its

original name, it must have moved over to the

west side of the river immediately after its organ-

ization, for "the records show that the first meeting

was in the small school-house on Fitzhugli street

that had been built five years before. For a long

time the church was almost itinerant, meeting for

some nine years in the old court-house, 'from which

it was finally evicted by the board of supervisors;

then using for a year Col. Hiram Leonard's ball-

room over n stable in the rear of the old Clinton

House, and then purchasing, in 1828, from the

Roclicslcr Menting-IIousc company, the wooden

building on Slate street wlicre the First Presby-

terian society had originally worshiped. For this

purchase Deacon Oren Sage,Deacon Myron Strong,

Zenas Freeman, H. L. Achilles and Eben Griffith

gave their notes for $1,500 and then spent about

$1,000 for improvements, which made the house

so satisfactory that the congregation remained

there till 1839. Then they built their first real

church, at the present location on Fitzhugh street.

It was of stone and cost $18,000; it was enlarged
in 1852 and again in 1868, when the rear part of
the present structure was built for the Sunday
school at a cost of $53,000; in 1875 the front part
as it stands to-day (except for great improvements
that have been recently made in the interior), was
erected, the entire amount thus invested being
about $150,000. The successive pastors were Rev.
E. M. Spencer, 1819; Eleazar Savage, 1824-26
0. C. Comstock, 1827-34; Pharcellus Church
D. D., 1835-48; J. A. Smith, D. D., 1849-54
Jacob R. Scott, D. D., 1855-68; Richard M
Nott, 1859-65; G. W. Northrop, D. D., 1866
Henry E. Robbins, D. D., 1867-72; A. H
Strong, D. D., 1873 ; Charles J. Baldwin, D. D..

1874-84. The Sunday school superintendents in

that time have been Myron Strong, Rev. Mr. Sav-
age, Zenas Freeman, H. L. Achilles, Bllery S.

Treat, George Dawson, Edwin Pnncost, William
N. Sage, James T. Griffin, A. R. Pritchard, L. R.

Satterlec, A. G. Mudge, S. A. Ellis, A. H. Cole.

The Second Baptist.—This church was organ-
ized March 12th, 1834, by fifty-six former members
of the First church, who chose as trustees H. L.

Achilles, S. Lewis, Daniel Haight, John Culvier

and D. R. Barton. A month later the new society

purchased for $6,600, nearly all of which was
subscribed by twenty members, the Third Presby-

terian meeting-house on the northwest corner of

Main and Clinton streets. It was a commodious
structure of stone, with a very high basement, in

fact a whole story above ground, through the front

part of which a flight of steps led to the floor

above. It was burned to the giound on the night

of December 10th, 1859, and the society then pur-

chased the site of the present edifice, which since

then has been greatly enlarged, on Franklin street,

corner of Achilles. The first pastor was Rev. Elon
Galusha, 1834-37; the second, Elisha Tucker,

1837-41 ; the third, V. R. Ilotchkiss, D. D., 1843-

45; the fourth, Charles Thompson, 1846-48. In
tlic year last named he resigned, to organize the

Tabernacle Baptist church, which proved to be not

strong enough for a long life, so that its church

building, on St. Paul street, was soon sold to the

Jewish congregation. The succeeding pastors of

the Second Baptist were Rev. Henry Davis, 1849-

50; G. W. Howard, D. D., 1851-56; George Dana
Boardman, D. D., 1856-64; Joseph H. Gilmore
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(who resigned to take a professorship in the uni-

versity), 1865-67; T. Edwin Brown, D. D. (who

resigned to accept a call to Providence, R. I.),

1869-82; Samuel W. Duncan, D. D., in 1883.

Mrs. Louisa Hooker Van Meter went as a mis-

sionary from this church, and several ministers

have been ordained from its ranks.

The First Oerman Baptist.—Several German

Baptists came to Rochester about 1848 and for

some time held meetings in different private

dwellings, which were at first conducted by a col-

porteur of the American Tract society. In Octo-

ber, 1850, Rev. A. Henrich came here from Buffalo

and under him the church was regularly organ-

ized on June 29th, 1851, he being ordained as the

first pastor, and among the constituent members

being John Dopplor, Jacob Bopser, Conrad Step-

pier and Joseph Richard. After holding services

for a few years in a hall on Allen street the society

purchased, for $3,000, an old public school-house

on Andrews street, near Clinton. This was torn

• down in 1870 and the present edifice, costing $10,-

000, was erected in its place. In 1883 the society

bought a lot on Sanford street and put up a neat

chapel there, where services are held by the Ger-

man students of the theological seminary. The
second pastor of the church was Rev. Gerhard

Koopman, 1859-63; the next, Henry Schneider,

1863-65, and the next, Ernest Tschircli, after

whose resignation in 1874 the pulpit was supplied

for a year by Prof. H. M. Schaffer, of tl\e tlieolog-

ical seminary, and then canie Rev. I'etcr Rittoi',

who remained 'till some time after 1884.

Park Avenue.—This was the outgrowth of a

mission Sunday school, started in 1847 by Doctor

Gixistiniani for the benefit of the Germans. Orig-

inally a union school, located on Cherry street, it

came under the control of the Baptists in 1863

and was known as the Bethlehem mission school,

holding its meetings in a public hall on the corner

of Main and Scio streets. There it reniainiid till

1870, when a chapel was built on East avenue,

corner of Anson park, and a church was organized

with sixty-eight constituent members, under the

title of the East Avenue Baptist church. In 1884

the society built a fine and commodious place of

worship on Meigs street, corner of Park avenue,

and since then it has been known as the Park
Avenue Baptist. The pulpit having been supplied

for several years by seminary professors, Rev.

Henry L. Morehouse became the pastor in 1873,

remaining for six years; then came Rev. W. H.

Porter, for nineteen months; after another inter-

mission. Rev. Henry Clay Peepels was installed

in 1884.

Lahe Avenue.—This church, also, began life

as a mission school, which had aii unsettled exist-

ence till 1865, when a brick chapel was built for

it on a lot given by Deacon Oren Sage, fronting

on Lake avenue at the intersection of Jones avenue

and Ambrose street. It was not till 1871 that the

church was organized, under its present name,

with 107 constituent members. In 1883 a capa-

cious Sunday school room was erected, of hewn

stone, and three years later the present edifice, one

of the most attractive in the city, was completed,

of the same material. The first pastor was Rev.

Ebenezer Nisbet, D. D., who began his work on

November 1st, 1871, and resigned the pastorate

after four years. Rev. A. J. Barrett, at that time

a member of the senior class in the seminary, be-

came then the stated supply, and upon his gradu-

ation and ordination, in 1876, was settled as the

pastor.

In 1884 there were the five Baptist churches in

the city whose careers to that time are described

above. Since then these five churches have stead-

ily grown and prospered, sending out far-reaching

influence for good, and, in addition, ten more Bap-

tist churches and several mission chnpels have been

established in Rochester. Since 1884 the pastors

of the First church have been Rev. J. W. A. Stew-

art, D. D., and Rev. James Taylor ' Dickinson,

D. D., the present pastor. The membership of the

church is now 965 and its Sunday school has an

enrollment of 1,400. A year ago the church spent

$30,000 in beautifying and modernizing all parts

of the interior of its structure. Since 1884 the

pastors of the Second Baptist church have been

Rev. S. W. Duncan, D. D., Rev. F. L. Anderson,

Rev. D. D. McLaurin, D. D., and Rev. Charles H.
Rust. The present membership of this church is

1,129, with a Sunday school enrollment of 911.

This church has recently made extensive improve-

ments on its edifice. Rev. Clarence A. Barbour,

D. D., has been pastor of the Lake Avenue Baptist

church for the past sixteen years. It has a mem-
bership of 1,078 and a Sunday school enrolbnent

of 1,084. The Park Avenue Baptist church has

had the following pastors: Rev. TT. C. Peepels,
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Kev. Chns. II. Moss and llcv. 11. C. Applegaith,

D. D., the present pastor. It lias a membership

of 740, with a Sunday school of 498. The present

pastor of the First German Baptist church is Eev.

C. A. Daniel, and the church has a membership of

354, with a Sunday school of 174.

The younger Baptist churclies of the city, with

their pastors, are as follows: Bronson avenue,

Eev. C. A. MacAlpinej North avenue, Eev. F. C.

A. Jones; Lyell avenue, Eev. W. J. Eeid; Meigs

street, Eev. H. C. Peepels; Niagara street, Eev.

S. Everton ; Second German, Eev. H. Swyter ; Par-

sells avenue, Eev. S. F. Langford ; University ave-

nue, Eev. William Calloway; Wilder street, Eev.

Harry G. Grccnsniith ; Genesee street, Eev. E. V.

Lamb. The total membership of the Baptist

churches of the city is a little over 6,000. One of

the most successful of recent Baptist enterprises

was the establishment of the Baptist Home for the

Aged at Fairport, in 1904. This magnificent

home is already filled with inmates. The lloches-

ier Baptist Monthly is a valuable publication,

which was enlarged and improved in 1905. The

development and prosperity of the University of

Eochester and of the Eocliesler Theological sem-

inary are largely due to the devotion and generos-

ity of Eochester Baptists. Both of these institu-

tions are under the control of the Baptist denom-

ination. The Meigs Street Baptist church has

purchased recently a very desirable lot on the

corner of South avenue and Linden street and

expects to erect on this location as soon as possible

a new house of worship. Several others of the

younger Baptist churches of the city have impor-

tant plans which they hope soon to carry out,

either to erect new edifices or to enlarge their

present buildings.

THE CATHOLIC CHURCHES.

Eochester was formerly under the ecclesiastical

administration of the bishops of New York. The

first of these was the Et. Eev. John Connolly, who

came to New York- in 1817. There is no evidence

that he ever visited Eochester. His successor.

Bishop Dubois, came to Eochester in 1834, to ded-

icate the second church. Bishops Hughes and

McOloskey also visiled Eochester officially. In

1847 the diocese of Buffalo was erected, and Eev.

John Timon, a member of the Congregation of

Missions, was aiipointed its first bishop. In March,

1868, the diocese of Eochester was formed, com-
prising the counties of Monroe, Livingston, On-
tario, Wayne, Seneca, Yates, Cayuga and Tomp-
kins as its limits. Eev. Bernard J. McQuaid
was consecrated bishop of the new diocese on the

13th of July and took possession of his see on the

16th of the same month. In 1897 the counties

Chemung, Schuyler, Steuben and Tioga were de-

tached from Buffalo and joined to Eochester.

St. Patrich's Churchi—The first priest who ex-

ercised the ministry in Eochester, of whom we
have any record, was Eev. Patrick McCormick, in

1818 and 1819. He acted under the administra-

tion of the Et. Eev. John Connolly. Eev. Mr.

McCormick was succeeded by Patrick Kelly in

1819, remaining until 1833. It was during his

pastorate that the first Catholic church was built

in 1831 on the corner of Piatt and Frank streets.

Eev. Michael McNamara came to Eochester in

1835, remaining as pastor of St. Patrick's church,

the first church, until 1833. He died in Chili,

August 30th, 1833. During his administration

the second church, eighty feet by fifty, of stone, was

built. A wood cut of this is reproduced in this

volume. During its erection the congregation

rented the lower part of D. B. Crane's school-

house, on Buffalo street, for $1.35 per Sunday.

On the 30th of April, 1839, the congregation

vFas organized .as a church corporation under the

law of 1813. On the same day the following trus-

tees were elected : William Tone, John Sheridan,

Eobert Elliott, Stephen Conroy, William Grennan,

Patrick Eigney, Patrick Grace, William Morony
and Eiehard Storey. In 1823 Eev. John F. Mc-
Gerry was appointed to succeed Father McNa-
mara. In 1833 Eev. Bernard O'Eeilly replaced

Father McGerry, who in 1834 returned to the

pastoral charge of St. Patrick's. In 1835 Father

O'Eeilly resumed the pastorate, which he held

until 1849, when as vicar-general of the new dio-

cese of Buffalo he took up his residence with the

bishop of Buffalo. In 1850 he was consecrated

bishop of Hartford. In June, 1856, he sailed

from Liverpool on the steamer "Pacific" and was

lost at sea. Father O'Eeilly had Eev. P. Foley

as assistant pastor in 1834, who made an attempt

to organize the congregation of St. Mary's. Eev.

Mark Murphy, an eminent linguist, was assistant

to Father O'Eeilly in 1840 and 1841. In 1849
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Rev. Wm. O'Reilly, having been his assistant from

1845, succeeded his brother as pastor of St. Pat-

rick's, remaining until 1854. Rev. Michael O'Bri-

en was pastor from 1854 to 1859. Rev. Martin

Kavanagh held the office for a year and was re-

placed by the Rev. M. O'Brien, who continued in

office till 1865. In May, 1864, the pastor and

Michael Lester and James H. Tone, as trustees,

contracted for tlie building of the present church,

it being the third stone church on the same site.

A large temporary building having been erected

on the' lot of the academy, religious services were

held in it until March, 1869. In 1865 Rev. James

M. Early was appointed pastor and continued the

work begun by his predecessor. On the 17th of

March, 1869, the church was so far advanced that

the congregation moved into it. In November,

1870, it was solemnly blessed by Most Rev. John

M. McCloskey, tlien archbishop of New York,

afterward cardinal. Eighteen archbishops and

bishops and over one hundred priests were pres-

ent. In April, 1876, Rev. James M. Early offered

his resignation as pastor and withdrew from the

diocoRO. He wns immedintoly succeeded by Rev.

James F. O'Hare, who in seven years paid off an

indebtedness of $70,000, which he found on the

church and school when he assumed office. In

March, 1886, Rev. James F. O'Hare was ap-

pointed pastor of the church of the Immaculate

Conception and was succeeded by Rev. James P.

Kierrian. Under his able administration the great

work accomplished by his predecessor was con-

tinued. In January, 1898, he was appointed to

the irremovable rectorship of St. Mary's. Rev.

Thomas F. Hickey (Bishop Hickey) succeeded

liim. The high standard of administrative ability

evinced by his predecessor has since been main-

tained. In 1897 and 1898 a chapel was built on

the site of the old St. Patrick's girls' orphan asy-

lum; the spire of the cathedral, unfinished at the

building of the church, was completed and the

apse was built and a marble altar was presented

by Rev. P. Donoghue in memory of his dead par-

ents.

On Wednesday, October 5th, 1898, the cathedral

was consecrated. The consecration of the cathe-

dral marked the diamond jubilee of the parish,

the golden jubilee of Bishop McQuaid and the

thirtieth anniversary of his consecration as bishop.

The following were the officers on the occasion:

Consecrator of the cathedral. Most Rev. M. A.

Corrigan, archbishop of New York ; for the solemn

pontifical mass, Most Rev. Sebastian Martinelli,

apostolic delegate to the United States. There

were present twenty-three archbishops and over

one hundred and fifty very reverend and reverend

clergy from various parts of the United States.

Bishop McQuaid preached the sermon. In the

catliedral on May 24tli, 1905, Very Rev. Thomas

F. Hickey was consecrated bishop, to be titular

bishop of Berenice and coadjutor bishop of Roch-

ester. The event will be forever memorable in

the history of the cathedral and Rochester. There

were present seventeen archbishops and bishops,

fifteen monsignori and over two himdred of the

very reverend and reverend clergy, secular and reg-

ular. There were present all tlie students of St.

Bernard's and**St. Andrew's seminaries, sisters

from the various orders of women engaged in re-

ligious work of the diocese, the trustees of the

churclies of Rochester and a congregation of more
than two thousand persons. Most Rev. D. Fal-

conio, the apostolic delegate, was a guest of honor.

The consecrating prolate was Most Rev. John M.
Farley, archbishop of New York; tlie assistant

consecrators were Rt. Rev. Bernard J. McQuaid
of Rochester and Rt. Rev. P. A. Luddon of Syra-

cuse.

St. Patnch's School.—The early phases of the

school connected Avith St. Patrick's parish are

difficult to ti-ace, as the records are fragmentary

?.nd most of the parties connected with it are

dead. There was a school in the basement of the

church as far back as 1833, Mr. Hughes being

one of the pioneer tenchers, and Patrick Grennan
was an instructor between 1843 and 1848. In
1 843 the Sisters of St. Joseph took charge of the

female portion of the scholars. In 1857 the new
school at the corner of Frank and Brown streets

was open for the reception of boys under the

charge of the Brothers of the Christian school.

Brother Adolphus was the first director. In tlie

spring of 1871 the foundation of the new school

next adjoining and west of the old one was laid

and the work continued without interruption, so

that in September, 1871, ample school accommoda-
tions were aiforded to all the children of the par-

ish. This school, graded after the manner of the

public schools, is free to all the children of the

parish and is supported by the congregation. The
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Christian Brothers left Rochester in the summsi

of 1873 and their places were supplied in part by

laymen. U. B. Murphy, James Rowan and Wil-

liam E. Ryan had successively charge of the fir-:tl;

and second grades of boys till July, 1882. In

the meantime the Sisters of St. Joseph supplied

the places of the other lay teacliers. In Septem-

ber, 1888, the Sisters assumed full charge of the

school, under the direction of Rev. James P.

Kiernan as superintendent. In September,

1906, the grammar school opened with a reg-

istered attendance of 954 pupils, with Sister M
Cornelia in charge, assisted by eighteen others

Advanced courses were undertaken in 1903 under

the direction of Very Rev. Thomas E. Ilickey. In

1906 the Cathedral hall, built in 1887, was con-

verted into a high school, classical and commercial.

Sister M. Prudentia was appointed principal and

i? aided by six other teachers. The registered at-

tendance is nincty-tlirce.

St. Joseph's.—The German Cailiolics of Roohcrf-

ter had to worship in St. Patrick's from the time

of its erection till 1836, when they bought, for

$1,600, the negroes' church on Ely street, occupy-

ing that small structure till 1843, when the hand-

some stone edifice was completed, having been be-

gun two years before. It has always been in charge

of the Rcdemptorist fathers, its first reel or hav-

ing been Rev. Joseph Probst. His successors, down

to 1884 (since which time it has been impossiblG

to obtain a list), were Messrs. Tshenhens, Bera-

naek, Czvikovicz, Breska, DeDyker, Leingrubev.

Anwander, Holzer, Ruland, Zimmer, Schneider.

Prolich. The present rector is Rev. Wm. Kessel,

with four assistants. The parish comprises about

485 families. During 1899 a change in the teach-

ing faculty for higher grades for boys of St.

Joseph's parochial school was made. In place of

the Marian brothers, who taught the boys for the

previous thirty-eight years, the Sisters of Notre

Dame were engaged with the consent of the higher

superiors, and these sisters took charge of the

whole school. In 1904 a commercial class was

added. During the summer months of 1901 re-

pairs and alterations were made in St. Joseph'.?

school and hall, to the great satisfaction of the par-

isli. The C. Y. M. A. of St. Joseph's church built,

in 1903, a substantial club-house on Ormond street.

The corner-stone was laid with appropriate cere-

monies by the rector. Rev. Wm. Kessel, on Septem-

ber 22d. The biiilding is forty-two feet by one

hundred and five feet, number of members over 300.

In 1903 a new beautiful private oratory for the

use of the Redemptorist community was erected

and the following year was occupied. A new par-

ish library was begun in 1906.

St. Mary's.—This is one of the largest parishes

in the city. For many years the congregation wor-

shiped in a building that they bought from th-?

Methodists on South avenue, opposite Ely street,

which was afterward turned into a wagon shop.

The present fine edifice, which seats comfortably

1,500 people, is on South street; it was consecrated

l)y Bishop Timon, of Buffalo, on August 33d, 1858.

The first regular pastor of the parish was Father

Carroll, who came in 1851. He was succeeded by

Fathers Creedon, McEvoy, Moore (who was an

army chaplain during the Civil war), Flaherty.

McMnnniB, Early, McQovern, Barker and Stewart.

The last named died in September, 1897, and was

succeeded by Very Rev. James P. Kiernan, V. G
,

M. R. Father Kiernan died in May, 1900, and wa?

succeeded by Rev. T. C. Murphy, who died in

October of the same year. Rev. James Leary suc-

ceeded Father Murphy and died in December,

1901. Rev. Wm. Gleason, M. R., is the present

rector. The old parocliial residence was replaced

in 1905 by a fine brick structure. The school is

under the charge of the Sisters of Mercy, with Sis-

ter M. Stanislaus as principal. There are 511 chil-

dren in the school. The pastor of St. Mary's is

an "irremovable rector."

Sis. Peter and Paul's.—When St. Joseph's was

built on the east side, the German Catholics on the

west side of the river considered that they must

have a church of their own, so they separated from

the others in 1843 and put up a frame structure

on the corner of King and Maple streets, the deed

of the property, on account of some trouble that

they had, standing in the name of Bishop Hughes,

of New York. The first trustees were Simon

Zeug and J. logele. The present church was built

in 1859 and was dedicated by Bishop Young, of

Erie, on August 15th of that year. The first pas-

tor was Rev. Ivo Levitz, a Franciscan father, who

was followed by Rev. Count Anthony Berenyi ; his

successors have been Messrs. Schneider, Folleniua,.

Krautbaur, Eicher, Sadler and Francis H. Sin-
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clair, who became the rector in October, 1865, and

still retains that position. A few years ago the

congregation, liaving bought two houses on the

northeast side of its properly, thereby obtained the

possession of a public alley necessary for the erec-

tion of a parish hall and gymnasium on Litchfield

street. This was connected with a brick building,

the interior of which was changed into rooms suit-

able for the young men's club, and a bowling

alley was built adjacent to it. In 1898 all the

bodies, about 1,300, buried in the old parish ceme-

tery on Maple street, were removed and reinterred

in a common lot in Holy Sepulcher cemetery and

a granite monument erected over the same. In

1903 a new and large organ was purchased and two

years after the whole interior of the church was re-

modeled and decorated in the basilican style, and

the next year the exterior also of the brick build-

ings was renovated.

Our Lady of Victory,—The French Catholics

formed a congregation in 1847, and for the first

twenty years worshiped in the old German church

on Ely street, which thus became known as "St.

Mary's French church." In 18G8, during the

pastorate of Father De Eegge, the present build-

ing, of brick, was erected on Pleasant street, tak-

ing then its present name, though the incorpora-

tion of the society still retains the old title. The
first trustees were Antoine Langie and Ambroise

Dupont, and the first resident pastor was Rev.

A. Saunier, his successors being Messrs. Bricoh,

Lefevre, Pierard, Magne, Matricon, Ajuatore, Le
Breton, De Eegge and Dole. Since 1879 Rev. A.

A. Notebaert, a native of Belgium, has been in

charge of the church. Under his administration

a beautiful and much needed portico was added

to the building. The interior of tlie church was

tastefully decorated and adorned with several

artistic statues, the work of European artists.

Candelabras of great value were supplemented for

the altar and an organ of artistic conception was
inaugurated. Electric lights in great profusion

help to beautify this homelike little church. The
purchase of two parcels of real estate, one in the

rear of the pastoral residence, the otlier in the

rear of the church building, gave additional room
required for the needs of the growing congrega-
tion. On the former is built a spacious study
room; on the latter a parochial school at an ex-

pense of $16,000. The building contains large

school-rooms, accommodating 300 pupils; meeting-

rooms for societies, and a hall with a sitting capac-

ity of 600 persons. The school is under the

direction of the able Sisters of St. Joseph's.

Immaculate .Conception.—This congregation

was formed in 1849, being taken from St. Pa1>-

rick's. The first church, a frame structure, hav-

ing been bximed to the ground, another one, of

brick, was built in 1864. This also having been

greatly damaged by fire in 1873, the present edi-

fice was erected, on Plymouth avenue, facing the

little park. The first trustees were James Hayes

and Patrick Condon. The first pastor was Rev.

John Fitzpatrick, who was succeeded by Messrs.

Bradley, O'Brien, McKeon, Stephens, Bede and

Burns. Rev. Michael M. Meagher was appointed

in 1875. He died in 1886, and, though during

his pastorate the country had suffered a great

financial depression, he nevertheless reduced the in-

debtedness from $45,000 to $19,000. He was suc-

ceeded by Rev. James F. O'Hare. The congrega-

tion had been constantly growing, and in 1886

the school-house Avas enlarged, and remodeled. An
addition was mudo to the building at a cost of

$9,500, making it 110 feet long. The same rea-

son til at demanded the enlargement of the school

in 1886 required the erection of another building

in 1893. A school hall having a frontage of sixty

feet and a depth of 110 feet was erected. In

the basement are society rooms; on the first floor

are six class-rooms, and the upper story consists

of an auditorium, which will seat 1,000. It cost

$33,600. Father O'Hare died in August, 1898,

and was succeeded by Rev. Augustine M. O'Neill.

The southwestern portion of the parish was then

cut off for the formation of St. Monica's. In

1889 was celebrated the golden jubilee of the

oi'ganizalion of the parish. The parish indebted-

ness then was $24,000, and in 1904 it was all

paid. In 1906 was erected ai parochial convent for

the accommodation of the sisters teaching in the

school. Its cost was $33,500, and, with the excep-

tion of $11,500, the debt thus contracted is paid.

The church property is valued at $325,000. There

are over '1,000 children attending the school.

The congregation numbers 4,500. Rev. G. W.

Eckl and Rev. A. V. Byrne are the assistant

priests. There are fifteen societies connected with

the church and school, and a parochial school

library.
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ISt. Bridget's.—This parish was organized in

1854 by Bishop Timon, of Buffalo. It is situated

in the northern part of Eocliester, lying east of the

river. It has a far better account of its begin-

nings than have most churches, for even the min-

utes of the lirst meeting are slill extant. This

was held on April 31st, 1854, in the basement

of the French Catholic church on Ely street.

There the founders of the parish met with their

first pastor, Eev. Father Saunier, Eichard Story

being chairman, and Patrick Connolly secretary.

Father Saunier urged the immediate erection of a

Catholic church in the section of the city known

as the Dublin district. A committee that was then

appointed decided upon the purchase of a lot ex-

tending 120 feet on Summit po'rk (Hand street),

300 feet deep and 120 feet on Gorham street.

The lot was bought, and the erection of a church,

dedicated to St. Bridget, was commenced on

Hand street. The building still stands, and, with

some improvements, at present serves as the

parochial schooll. The 'new congregation soou

outgrew the accommodation of the little brick

church on Hand street, and the erection of the

present church on Gorham street was undertaken

by the late Very Eev. J. F. O'Hare, V. G., and on

the 8th of September, 1872, the laying of the

corner-stone took place by Bishop McQuaid, of

Eochesler. On Low Sunday, April 5tli, 1875,

mass was celebrated for the last time in the old

church, on Hand street, and on the following

Sunday the new church was dedicated by Bishop

McQuaid. The most important event was the

opening of the parochial school and, under six

Sisters of SI. Joseph, sessions were commenced

on the Slh of September, 1875. The parish is

composed of about 500 families, with the attend-

ance in the parochial school numbering about 450

children. The names of the devoted priests who

have assisted in the success of St. Bridget's parish

as pastora are as follows : Fathers Saunier, 1864-

56 ; Flalierty, July, 1856, to October, 1856 ; Moore,

1856-58; Baker, 1858-59; McKeon, June, 1859,

to December, 1859 ; Payne, 1860-67 ; Burns, 1867-

71; O'Hare, 1871-76; O'Connor, 1876-91; Hen-

drick, 1891-1903. The present pastor is Eev.

D. W. Kavanaugh. The parish buildings consist

of the ohurch on Gorham street and the convent

adjoining, and the parochial school-house and pas-

toral residence on Hand street.

St. Boniface's.—This German congregation, an

offshoot of St. Joseph's, was organized in 1860

under the care of the Eedemptorist fathers, and in

the following year a church was built on Grand

street, which, though enlarged in 1870, became out-

grown by the needs of the parish, so a new church,

of Gothic architecture, with a beautiful tower 195

feet high, was erected at a cost of $70,000, the

corner-stone being laid June 6th, 1886, and the

building dedicated December 18th, 1887. In 1900

the new Sisters' convent was built, costing $11,000.

The school building, where German and English

are taught, contains eight rooms; 380 pupils at-

tend; the parish has 475 families. The first pas-

tor was Eev. J. P. Klein, an Alsatian, who was

succeeded in 1865 by Eev. J. F. Payer, an Aus-

trian; he by Eev. Herman Eenker in 1875, and

he, in 1894, by Eev. F. E. Eauber, the present

rector.

llic Holy Family.—This parish, also German,

was separated from that of Sts. Peter and Paul and

organized in 1862. The present church, on the

corner of Jay and Ames streets, was built in 1864.

The first trustees were Peter Esse and John Behm.

The first pastor was Eev. Nicholas Sorg, from

1864 to 1866, the next was Eev. Charles Wagner

for one year, then Eev. Leopold .Hofschneider,

from 1867 to 1884, then Eev. D. Laurenzis, from

May 4th, 1884, to the present time. In 1904 the

church was declared by Bishop McQuaid to be on.^

with an "irremovable rector," and Father Laur-

enzis was reappointed with that enlarged dignity.

In 1888 a residence was built for the clergy. Up
to this time the pastor resided .in the rear part of

the ciiurch. In 1889 the second school with a

hall was built. In 1890 a house was bought for

the residence of the sexton. In 1891 the old

wooden convent building was removed and a new

brick building was erected for the school sisters

The first assistant to the pastor was appointed in

]891. A second assistant was appointed in 1902.

In 1906 the third school building (fire-proof) was

erected. From 1891 to 1907 the following have

been assistants at this church: Eevs. Jas. Miller.

S. B. Englerth and P. A. Erras. At present

the two assistants are Eev. Jos. H. Gefell and Eev.

Ernst Ziogan. On January 1st, 1907, the Holy

Family church consisted of about 1,000 families

(600 in 1884), all belonging to the laboring class
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There are about 1,100 children (500 in 1884), in

the parochial school, taught by twenty Sisters of

Notre Dame. The school has been a free school

since 1898. The congregation has been free from

debt since 1893.

Holy Redeemer.—This parish was separated

from St. Joseph's in 1867. The first church, now

used as the school-house, was dedicated July 23d,

1868 ; the present church was finished in 1877. A

new hall, to cost $75,000, is now in process of erec-

tion. The school contains 700 children. The first

trustees were J. Leckinger and J. Armbruster. The

first resident pastor was Rev. P. Oberholzer, who

died in November, 1902, and was succeeded by

Rev. J. Staub, the present incumbent.

St. Michael's.—This parish was organized in

January, 1873. Rev. Father Pingel, C. SS. R., waa

appointed temporary pastor. On March 8th, 1874,

the first church edifice was dedicated, and in No-

vember of the same year Rev. F. Pascalar was ap-

pointed permanent pastor. The parish, which was

organized with 200 families, grew in numbers and

in 1875 additioiia] ground was pni'cha.scd. In the

spring of 1888 the present building, on Clinton

avenue North, was begun and dedicated on St.

Michael's day, September 29th, 1890. It is an im-

posing structure, built in ecclesiastical Gothic style

with a tower 226 feet high. In 1896 Rev. M. J

Hargather succeeded the late Rev, F. Pascalar. He
built the large and commodious school on Clifi'ord

street and completed the church by placing altars,

an organ and stained glass windows in the church

and a chime of bells and clock in the tower. All

the buildings connected with the parish are first-

class. The present membership of the parish is

4,000. The parochial school numbers 800 pupils.

Rev. L. G. Hofschneider is the able assistant

rector.

The Holy Apostles'.—This is located at the cor-

ner of Lyell avenue and Austin street. The parish

was organized May 1st, 1884, as a mis-

sion to the cathedral. It is so named, as

it was the twelfth Catholic parish in Roch-

ester. Rev. Timpthy C. Murphy, at that time

pastor of St. Michael's church, in Livonia, N. Y.,

waa appointed by Bishop McQuaid to administer

the ailairs of the new parish, and to his untiring

labors was due much of the subsequent growth of

the new district. The corner-stone of the first

church edifice was laid October 1st, 1884, and the

building was dedicated February 15th, 1885. The

lower story was used for school purposes, and on

September 11th, 1885, 115 pupils assembled under

Sisters Borgia and Pancratia, forming the first

Holy Apostles' school. The upper story was the

church proper. And here the faithful worshiped

until the expanding school and congregation de-

manded larger accommodation. The corner-stone

of the new church was laid May 31st, 1896, and

the building dedicated March 28th, 1897. The

church is built of Medina stone and is a model of

architectural beauty. A handsome portico, sup-

ported by granite pillars, adorns the main en-

trance, and the church is further ornamented by a

high square tower. The wood-work of the intci'ior

is quartered oak; the high altai' is hand-carved and

is a specimen of art. The church has a seating ca-

pacity of 800. Father Murphy labored faithfully

during these years to bring parish and property to

this successful status. On July 1st, 1900, he was

promoted to the irremovable rectorship of St.

Mary's church, Rochester. Rev. James A. Hickey,

of Gencsco, N. Y., was appointed to succeed

Father Murphy in charge of the Holy Apostles'

parish. On July 1st, 1904, Rev. George T. Jones

was appointed assistant rector. The parish at

present numbers 360 families. The registry in

the parish school shows 434 pupils. Sister M.
Gerald is in charge.

Corpus Christi.—This parish was formed in

1887. In the next year a site was purchased on

East Main street for $8,000, ground was broken

in April, the corner-stone was laid July 8th, and
the new church was dedicated, which was super-

seded by the present edifice, which was dedicated

on June 14th, 1903. The first pastor was Rev.

James J. Leary, whose impaired health compelled
him to resign in 1901, when Rev. D. J. Curran, the

present rector, took his place. The school, opened
in September, 1889, under the charge of the Sis-

ters of St. Joseph, has 585 registered pupils.

. 8t. Francis Xavier's.—St. Francis Xavier's par-

isli was organized in the spring of 1888. Rev.

M. Hargather was appointed pastor by Bishop Mc-
Quaid. A suitable site was obtained on Bay street

opposite Third avenue and arrangements were

made at once to erect a new church. The corner-

stone was laid July 23d, and October 29th of the



HlSTOllY OF EOCHESTER AND MONllOE COUNTY. 323

saiiio _y<')U' llic new cliurcli was deilicalcd. The

edifice, Avliicli is 110 feet long, served at fust as

church and school, but the parish grew so rapidly

that the entire building had to be used for church

purposes, and in 18!)0 the parishioners decided to

erect a separate school building. A parish hall

was also erected in connection with the school for

the societies connected with the church. April

8th, 1896, Rev. M. Hargather was promoted to St.

]\richnel"s churcli and Rev. Joseph Netzel succeeded

him as rector of St. Francis Xavier's church. As
the school had grown so rapidly, an addition was

built on to the school in 1896, giving them four

additional rooms. In 1903 a new convent was

erected for the Sisters of the school, and in 1906

the congregation erected a new parish house. The
parish numbers at present 350 families and regis-

ters 472 children in school. Rev. Father Netzel

is assisted on Sundays by a professor from St.

Bernard's seminary.

Holy Rosary.—This parish was organized in

1889. It was formerly part of the cathedral par-

ish. It starts at the intersection of Deep HoUov;

and the Erie canal and extends to the Little Ridge

road. There were eighty-nine families in the di.3-

trict when the parish was formed. The school was

opened with forty-seven pupils, but within a month

the number grew to seventy-two. For seven years

the parish was attended from the cathedral. On
April 6th, 1896, Rev. John 6. Van Ness, the pres-

ent rector, was appointed. A new parochial resi-

dence was erected in the same year, and many im-

provements were made in the church and school.

In 1904 a large brick combination building, an-

swering the purpose of church and school, was

eroded. In 190G another house was purchased,

now used as a convent for the Sisters. The present

church property extends along Lexington avenue

from Finch to Oriole street, 260 feet, and on both

of the above named streets north, 222 feet. Thd

plot contains ten lots. The buildings are the

combination building, the parish hall, meeting-

rooms, parochial residence and convent. The par

ish numbers 260 families; there are 320 childr'io

attending school; all the sodalities and societies

usually found in well-organized parishes are estab-

lished and prospering.

St. Stnnislntis's.—This is a Polish congregation

which was organized in 1890, the present church,

on Stanislaus avenue, being erected in that year.

Rev. Thcophilc Szadzinski was appointed pastor.

Five Sisters of St. Joseph have charge of the

school, which contains 280 children.

St. Monica's.—In June of 1898 Bishop Mc-
Quaid established this parish in the southwestern

part of Rochester, and appointed Rev. J. P. Bro-

phy as its first, as he is its present, pastor. The

first mass was celebrated in this church December

8th, 1898. The parishioners then numbered about

400. The school opened on January 3d, 1899, with

three teachers and sixty-seven children. On
January 1st, 1907, there were in the school six

teachers and about 300 children. The number of

parishioners at present is about 1,500, and the

value of the church property is about $30,000.

2'he Blessed Sacrament.—This church is situ-

ated at the corner of Monroe avenue and Rutgers

street, a two-story, red brick combination build-

ing for church and school purposes, with a base-

ment used for societies. Ground was broken in

October of 1901, and the church proper was 'dedi-

cated April 13th, 1902, by Bishop McQuaid.

The pastor is Rev. T. P. Connors, under whose

care the parish has been from the beginning.

There has never been a regularly appointed assist-

ant pastor. The parish numbers over 200 families,

with 350 children in attendance at school, who are

taught by the Sisters of St. Joseph. The Blessed

Sacrament parsonage, situated at 540 Oxford

street, was built in 1905; and the convent, situ-

ated at 256 Rutgers street, was purchased the

same year.

Our Laidy of Perpetual Help.—In view of the

rapid growth of the parishes of St. Michael and

the Most Holy Redeemer, Bishop McQuaid had for

some years contemplated the organization of a

new parish comprising the extreme northern sec-

tion of the city, east of the river. In definite form

in April, 1904, he appointed Rev. John P. Schell-

horn, for nine years assistant rector of St.

Michael's parish, as rector of the new parish to be

established. The lay trustees were Joseph Keller

and George Maier. In May, 1904, the new parish

was incorporated under the title "The Church of

Our Lady of Perpetual Help." A piece of land,

234 by 230, on Joseph avenue, between Weaver

and Norton streets, was purchased and a brick

building, with hall in the basement, church on the

ground floor and school upstairs, was begun in
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July, 1904. The church was dedicated by Bishop

McQuaid on Sunday, January 22d, 1905, when

the first service was held, The school was opened

in September, 1905, with 260 pupils.

St. Augustine's.'—A chapel and school was built

on Chili avenue in 1898 to accommodate the peo-

ple of the cathedral parish residing in the western

section of the city. Rev. George V. Burns, Rev.

Philip Golding and Rev. J. P. O'Hern, assistants

of the cathedral, had successively charge of this.

In September, ,1906, Rev. John O'Brien was ap-

pointed pastor. The corner-stone of a new church

and school was laid in December, 1906, by Bishop

Hickey. The Sisters of St. Joseph have charge

of the school, with 177 children.

Si. Anthony of Padua.—This church is located

at the comer of Lyell avenue and Frank and

White streets. The property was formerly known

as public school number 6, and was purchased

from the city at public auction March 19th, 1906,

for the purpose of establishing a Catholic church

and school for the Italians in the western part

of the city. The school was opened in Septem-

ber, 1906, with an attendance of about 200 Italian

children. The second story of the building has

been remodeled and is now a church with a sitting

capacity of about 740. The church was dedicated

October 7th, 1906, by Bishop McQuaid. Rev. J.

Emil Gefell, Ph.D., who has held services for

the Italians in the cathedral chapel since Febru-

ary, 1907, is the rector of the new church, and is

assisted by Rev. Croce Cappellino, D. D., a pro-

fessor in St. Andrew's seminary.

THE EVANGELICAL LUTHEEAN CHURCHES.

Zion's First German Evangelical Lutheran

Church.—As early as 1832 Lutheran pastors

visited Rochester and held services for the scat-

tered Lutherans. Among these was the well

known Dr. C. F. Welden, who died • in 1897.

Under him the church seems to have been organ-

ized. Dr. Welden was a traveling missionary of

the Evangelical Lutheran Ministerium of the

state of New York. The first regular pastor men-

tioned is Rev. W. A. Fetter, who also served the

congregation at Rush. In 1836 he laid the comer-

stone of the new building, located on the comer
of Grove and Stillson streets. Differences of

opinion between the Lutherans and some mem-

bers of the German Reformed church, who Imd

connected themselves with the congregation and

desired their forms and ceremonies to be recog-

nized in the -services, greatly retarded the work.

Rev. John Muehlhaueser, sen., became pastor in

May, 1838, and with him new life made itself

felt in the organization. In December of the same

year the church was dedicated. The following

were elected elders and deacons : Christian Trau-

gott, C. Lauer, G. C. Drehmer, J. Schoumaier,

Jacob Maurer, J. Eborsold, Jolm Rohr, John

Maurer, H. Diener, Bernh. Heidt, George EUwan-

ger, R. Heidt, George Maurer. In the church reg-

ister the first communicants are entered in .1834;

in the same year also the first baptisms; the first

catechumens and marriages are recorded in April,

1835. After a service of ten years Rev. J.

Muehlhaueser resigned in order to look after the

scattered Lutheran settlers in Milwaukee, Wis.

He was succeeded by the Rev. J. G. Kempe, who

had been pastor of the churches in Syracuse, N.

Y., and Boston. As the building had become too

small, a new edifice was erected, and dedicated

on January 29th, 1852. Pastor Kempe, who died

in 1862, was succeeded by Rev. A. Uebelacker, who

remained until 1868, when Rev. Fred, von Rosen-

berg became his successor. This gentleman, in

1874, returned to Germany. The congregation

now called Pastor C. F. W. Hoppe, of Lancaster,

Va., who died in April, 1881. The congregation

now elected Rev. Alexander Richter, of Philadel-

phia, who entered upon his duties in July of the

same ;year. He established the mission in South

Rochester, from which Frieden's congregation has

grown, and introduced in the church service the

liturgical forms and responsive singing. In De-

cember, 1890, St. Matthew's church, of Hoboken,

N. J., sent him a call, which he accepted. Two

years before he had been elected president of the

New York Ministerium, an office which his pre-

decessor filled for several years before his death.

Under the administration of Rev. Richter Zion's

enjoyed the time of its greatest prosperity. It at-

tained a communicant membership of some 1,500.

A call was now extended to Rev. Ernest Hart-

mann. His ministry did not prove a success,

and about one-half the members were scattered.

The church was obliged to resort to vigorous meas-

ures. The result was that Rev. Hartmann with

some sixty families withdrew and organized a new
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corgrogntion. In the early pnvL ot 1900 Ilcv. Ernest

Heyd, then pnstor in Lyons, received an unani-

mous call, which he accepted. He has been suc-

cessful in again building up the congregation.

During the last fifteen years death has taken away
an unusually large percentage of the prominent

men and supporters of the congregation. There

are at present about 800 communicant members,

240 children with thirty-one teachers in the Sun-

day school.

The Church of the Reformation.—The Evan-

gelical Lutheran Ministerium of New York held

its annual convention in Zion's Lutheran church,

Rochester, the first week of September, 1868. Up
to that time the liuthcran churcli had not been

represented in tliis community in the English

language. When the ministers and lay delegates

assembled and saw the extensive field that ought

to be cultivated, it was their conviction that the

speedy establishment of an English mission was of

great importance. Accordingly, the executive

committee of the synod appropriated $400 for the

support of a missionary, on condition that the

work be commenced within the year. On Sep-

tember 8th a society was formed called "The

Evangelical Lutheran Missionary society," whose

object was the establishment of an English Luth-

eran church in Eochester. Nine persons entered

their names as members of the society at the

first meeting. Eev. Eeuben Hill, of Eheinbeck,

N. Y., was chosen missionary and, having re-

ceived a commission to that effect from' the presi-

dent of the New York Ministerium, he entered

upon the work December 1st. From that time

until May, 1809, worsliip was conducted in Zion's

church every Sunday evening by the kind permis-

sion of the congregation. A lease for the third

story of the German school-house on Chatham

street was obtained for the use of the mission

as a place of worship, with the privilege of remain-

ing five years. This upper room was dedicated

June 13th, 1869. On July 9th five persons were

confirmed, and on the following Sunday, July

11th, the Lord's Supper was administered and

twenty-seven persons participated. The total

membership at this time was thirty. The date

of the organization of the congregation was July

18th, 1869. The Sunday school was organized

on the Ist of August of that year with fourteen

teachers and fifty-two scholars. By the end of

the first year it had increased to seventeen teach-

ers and 130 scholars. On the anniversary of the

Eeformation, October 31st, 1871, the congregation

chose as its name "The Evangelical Lutheran
Church of the Eeformation." The board of trus-

tees elected at this meeting were: C. C. Meyer,

president; William J. Steinhauser, secretary;

John B. Snyder, treasurer; John S. Kratz and
William Maser. As a church building was an

absolute necessity, a lot on Grove street was pur-

chased on July 1st, 1872, for $2,300. The dedica-

tion of the church took place on the second Sun-

day in Advent, 1872. The first pastor closed his

ministry there on April 8th, 1874, and accepted

the call to St. John's church, Allentown, Pa. The
second pastor was Eev. Charles S. Kohler, who
assumed charge the same year. He remained for

ten years and was succeeded by Eev. Hiram
Peters, who was pastor from 1884 to 1888. Dur-

ing his ministry the congregation purchased the

lot adjoining the church and erected a commo-
dious parsonage. The fourth pastor was Eev.

John E. Whitteker, who remained for five years.

During his pastorate, the congregation organized

three missions, namely: Grace, Trinity and St.

Paul's. All of these have become self-sustaining

congregations. After a brief interval in the pas-

torate Eev. William J. Miller was called and en-

tered upon the work on July 1st, 1894. Soon the

congregation felt the necessity of enlarging their

place of worship. While the new building was in

process of construction the congregation wor-

shiped in the Jewish Temple, at the corner of

Grove and Gibbs streets, through the courtesy of

tlio officers and members of tliat body. On the

fourth Sunday in Advent, 1900, the present

church edifice was consecrated, and on the 1st

of July, 1901, Eev. Miller resigned to accept the

call to Zion's Lutheran, church, Greensburg, Pa.

He was succeeded on October 15th, 1901, by Eev.

Franklin F. Fry, who had formerly been pastor

of Grace Lutheran church, Bethlehem, Pa., for

eleven years. Within a few months it became ap-

parent that a Sunday school building must be

added. The corner-stone of this was laid in 1902,

and on the first Sunday after Easter, 1903, the

large and cheerful Sunday school building was

dedicated, Eev. Wm. J. Miller preaching the ser-

mon, and the pastor performing the act of con-

secration. The Church of the Eeformation has

P-
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now 1,116 com inunicant membership, with a bap-

tised membership of 1,633. There is a vested

choir of fo.rty-five boys and men under the direc-

tion of Edward H. Walker. The value of the

church property is $86,000. The Sunday school

has forty-six officers and teachers, 678 scholars.

During the past year the congregation raised for

all purposes $13,623.68. Of this amount

$1,046.04 was contributed for missions and

benevolent purposes. The church organizations

include the Dorcas society, the Women's Home,

the Foreign Missionary society, the Men's Social

Union, the Lutheran Workers (young ladies),

the Young Men's Lutheran association and the

Boys' Guild.

St. John's German Evangelical Lutheran.—
Some fifty or sixty years ago that part of the city

lying east of the river and north of the Central

railroad tracks became rapidly built up. The

settlers were mostly Germans, and, hence, in large

part Protestants. True, those Lutherans who

desired to have a spiritual home found it not too

far to attend the services of Zion's church. But

it was dangerous to send the children across t|ie

tracks of the railroad, which at tliat time were not

only on a level with the grade of the street, but

also curved so that an approaching train could

not be seen from a distance. Many accidents oc-

curred in consequence, and parents were afraid

to send their children across the tracks. Seeing

the necessity of organizing a second German

Lutheran ohuvch in this district, Zion's church, in

1873, called Rev. Ernest Heydler as assistant pas-

tor, for the purpose of devoting his energy to the

organization of a congregation in the northeast-

ern part of the city. The vacant chapel of a for-

mer church society which stood upon the corner

of Joseph avenue and Buehan park was at first

rented and subsequently purchased. Here, the

first service was conducted on the 20th of October,

1873. The organization of a congregation fol-

lowed on the 18th of August, 1873. Eev. Ernest

Heydler was called to the pastorate of the new

church, which had a phenomenal growth. During

the first year the number of communicants vtm

419, and in the second year it had increased to

616. The Sunday school numbered 300 puopils,

with thirty teachers, and the parochial school

was attended by 170 pupils, who were instructed

bv three teachers. The corner-stone of the new

church building was laid June 14th, 1874, and

the dedication took place June 27th, 1875. A
heavy debt rested upon the congregation, which

it was unable to meet; the people were poor,

and the times were not of the best. In conse-

quence, the larger portion of the congregation

withdrew from the church and on the 20th of

September, 1877, organized the present Concordia

church, whose edifice stands two blocks east of

St. John's. The pastor went with tliem. For

several months St. JoJin's had no pastor. Be-

cause of the crushing debt and of the few members

left, ministers feared disaster and were, there-

fore, afraid to take hold. At length, Eev. John

Muehlhaeuser, then of Perrysville, Pa., and son

of the first pastor of Zion's church, was prevailed

upon to accept the call, but in 1884 he withdrew

from the New York Ministerium, with which all

the Lutheran churches in Rochester were at that

time connected, and joined the synod of Missouri,

which did not sustain friendly relations to the

Ministerium, a body organized in New York as

early as 1773. The deed to the lot upon which

the church is built contains the provision that

both pastor and church must be members of the

Ministerium; therefore, he resigned, took about

half of the members with him, and built St. Mat-

thew's, in Morris street, a few hundred feet dis-

tant from St. John's. Rev. Joseph Eechtsteiner

becon:ie now pastor, and entered upon his duties

July 1st, 188'!. Three years later he resigned, and

a call was sent to Rev. John Nicnm, D. D., at

Syracuse, which he accepted and went to work

with a determination to remove the heavy debt

of about $33,000 and finish the church. In both

he has been successful. The incumbrance was

gradually removed and at the same time a fund

collected for finishing the towers, placing a peal

of three bells in the larger of the two towers, and

also a public clock, which was needed in that part

of the city. This was all accomplished within

one year (1892), and on the day of dedication

all were paid for. Recently a fine pneumatic or-

gan was provided at an expense of $5,000, said

to be one of the finest in the city. A fund for

a parish house has been started. During the

twenty years' service of the present pastor many

changes have taken place in the congregation.

At one time the membership had increased from

400 to more than four times this number. It does
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not iiuiubei" so many now. During the iilteen

years last past, no less than five Lutheian churclies

have been established upon the territory wlierc tlis

members of St. John's reside, and, of the five, two

are English churches. These have drawn largely

npon the membership of St. John's. It now num-

bers 1,100 confirmed persons, has over 400 pupils

and fifty teachers in the Sunday school, and sev-

eral missionary and beneficial societies. A parish

paper, called the St. Johannis Bote, is published

monthly and distributed gratuitously. The value

of the property is $65,000, which is free of in-

cumbrance. The present pastor, Dr. Nicum, is

a graduate of Muhlenberg college, Allentown, Pa.,

and of the theological seminary in Philadelphia,

Pa. Prom 1890 to 1902 he served as president of

Uie board of trustees of Wagner College; from

1894 to 1902 as president of said college; from

1886 to 1897 he was secretary of the general

council of the Evangelical Lutheran church in

North America; from 1888 until 1897 secretary

and chairman of the German board of home mis-

sions of the same general body, and from 1884 to

1888 president of conference of Central and West-

ern New York. He is the author of the history

of the New York Ministerium, and of several

theological treatises. He has also translated

WolU's "Lutherans in America."

Grace English Evangelical Lutheran.—Tihis

congregation had its origin in a Sunday school

established about twenty years ago in the so-called

Wakelee farm district. In 1889 a church was

organized. The first regular pastor was Eev. D.

W. Sarver, who remained but a short time. Eev.

W. L. Hunton came in 1891 and remained five

years. Under him the church increased .its mem-
bership materially. In 1896 Eev. W. E. Murray

received a call and was pastor for nearly ten years.

Some two years ago the present pastor, Eev. C. P.

. Weisskotten, entered upon his duties. The build-

ing fronts on Central park and extends along

Niagara street. It is valued at $8,500. There

are 250 communicant members, and 330 teachers

and scholars in the Sunday school.

The Evangelical Lutheran Frieden's Church.—
The German Evangelical Lutheran "Frieden^-

gemeinde" (church of peace), corner of Caroline

street and Mt. Vernon avenue, is an oifspring of

the church of Zion and originated in the mission

Sunday school which the pastor of Zion, Eev. A.

Jlichtei-, had established in 1884 for the benefit ol

the menibers residing in the southern part of the

city. In 1891 the young congregation became in-

dependent and elected as its first pastor Eev. IT.

Meyer, who two years later was succeeded by Rev.

0. Posselt. During his pastorate the congregation

in 1895 unfortunately divided, and the pastor with

the dissatisfied members foi'med a new congrega-

tion, now St. Markus on South Goodman street.

Under the next pastor, Eev. W. Eohde, a parson-

age was erected at a cost of $2,700. In 1902 he

was succeeded by Eev. W. K. Piebke, who on ac-

count of ill health had to resign in 1905, the pres-

ent pastor, Eev. Wm. Ludwig, taking his place.

The congregation now numbers 200 communicant

members; its Sunday school is attended by 130

children and sixteen teachers; on Saturdays forty

children receive German instruction. The prop-

erty of the congregation is valued at $8,000.

St. Paul's Evangelical Lutheran.—This was or-

ganized September 14th, 1898, with twenty-one

charter members. Sunday school, however, was con-

ducted as early as March 6th, 1892, first in Widman
hall, corner Joseph and Herman streets. August

7th, 1892, the Sunday school was continued at the

corner of Clifford and Loomis streets, the present

location. The congregation was organized by Eev.

L. P. Mayle under the auspices of the Lutheran

Mission Union, which body supervised the work

from the beginning in 1892. Eev. Mayle is still

the pastor. The church property, including par-

sonage, is valued at $17,000. There are 425 com-

municant members. The Sunday school is com-

posed of 353 scholars and thirty teachers and of-

ficers.

The German Evangelical Lutheran Church of

Christ.—On January lltb, 1892, the German

Evangelical Lutheran Christ church was organized

in Welker's hall in Niagara street, corner of Cen-

tral park. Por a year services were held in this

hull until the congregation could move into its new

church, on Central park, corner of Pourtli street.

The first pastor was Rev. W. E. Eommel, who, to-

gether with the following persons, constituted the

first vestry: Elders, Philip Zuck, Fred Schmidt

and C. H. Eadtke; deacons, Christian Genkel, H
Buhr, C. Ehlenfeldt, Jacob Thomann, Wm. Siems

and E. 01denl)urg; trustees, Henry Dummer,

H. Leissten, F. Eadtke, Aug. Genkel, C.

Tosch and F. Meyer. The congregation at
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once proceeded to purchase a lot. The corner-

stone of the new church was laid July 33d, 1893,

ond the edifice dedicated in January of the follow-

ing year. The time of service of the first minister9

was generally brief. Rev. W. B. Rommel resigned

in May, 1893, and his successor, Rev. 0. B. Lorenz.

in September, 1894. Rev. Geo. Seel of this city

supplied them for a time, when in November o£

the same year another denomination sent a pastor.

Rev. Pried. Wiedner, of the German Evangelical

synod. Concerning this period in the church'3

history the present pastor writes : "After a serviiie

extending over a period of but ten months Mr. W.
resigned. His place was taken by another mem-
ber of that organization, Rev. John Kraemer, who

left in 1898. The congregation had scattered, and

the organization was near dissolution." It was

then that Rev. A. H. Roeder, the present pastor,

was called, who had formerly been a student of

Wagner college and subsequently pastor in Penn-

sylvania. Under his guidance the people took new
courage, and the church is now in a flourishing

condition. During 1906 the church edifice was

renovated, and a new organ and water-heating ap-

paratus were provided. The expense aggregated

$4,000. There are two Sunday schools, the larger

one, numbering 180 children and twenty-one

teachers, German, and the smaller one, numbering
fifty children and eight teachers, English. On two
Sundays the evening services are conducted in the

English language. The number of communicaat
members is 400. The property is valued at

$30,000.

Trinity English Evangelical Lutheran.—The
year of the organization of this church is 1898.

Its first pastor was Rev. P. B. Smith. After a

short pastorate he was succeeded by Rev. Peter

Altpeter, who remained for about two years. In

1896 Eev. Henry C. Erbes took charge of the con-

gregation, and is pastor still. During the years

last past the church has been fairly prosperous.

The church edifice, corner of Campbell and Wal-
nut streets, is valued at $15,000. There are 385

persons entitled to communion and 316 teachers

and officers in the Sunday school.

Bethlehem Evangelical Lutheran.—Some fifteen

years ago Concordia congregation erected a chapel

upon the northeast corner of Central park and
Fourth street, for the purpose of accommodating

its members Avho resided in that neighborhood with

occasional preaching services. A branch Sunday

school was organized, and conducted under the su-

pervision ot Concordia congregation. On October

15th, 1895, Rev. John Hartmann organized the

German Evangelical Lutheran Bethlehem congre-

gation ; the chapel was enlarged and other improve-

ments were added. Rev. H. resigned in February

1899, Avhen Prof. C. Krahmer of Wagner college

acted as temporary supply until the present pastor

was called in July, 1899. Two hundred communi-

cant members belong to the congregation at pres-

ent, whilst the Sunday school is attended by 130

children who are in charge of fifteen teachers. Re-

ligious instruction ia given on Saturday by the pas-

tor; forty children attend the same. The present

pastor is Rev. Carl Betz, jr.

St. Matthew's German Evangelical Lutheran.—
During the latter part of his pastorate of St.

John's Evangelical Lutheran congregation Eev. J

Muehlhaeuser embraced the peculiar views of Dr.

Walther, the leader of the Missouri synod, on pre-

destination. As the New York Ministeriuni in an

official dcclarntion did not approve of the extrenm

position of the Missouri synod on this point of doc-

trine, Rev. Muehlhaeuser withdrew, and in the

summer of 1884 organized the first church of the

Missouri synod in this city. A church was built

in the immediate vicinity of St. John's on Morris

street near Joseph avenue. Rev. Muehlhaeuser has

been the only pastor. We have not been able to get

the latest reports, but may safely say that the con-

gregation numbers about 400 communicant mem-
bers, has 200 children in its Sunday school and

maintains a parochial school, as is customary with

Missouri synod churches.

St. Mark's Evangelical Lutheran Ohurch.—St.

Mark's Evangelical Lutheran congregation was or-

ganized in the latter part of 1896. The nucleus of

the new church came froni Frieden's congregation.

They brought the pastor with them. It was Rev.

Otto Posselt. The first service was conducted in a

church on Cobb street, the date being January Ist,

1897. An edifice was erected on the comer of

South Goodman and Benton streets, and dedicated

February 11th, 1900. Six years later a parsonage

was added. The value of the property is $10,000.

This church, also, belongs to the Missouri synod.

Rev. Posselt resigned in 1897. The congregation
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was vacant for some time, when Rev. F. Kroencke

came in 1898. He remained six years, and was

succeeded in the same year by Rev. N. W. Czamau-

ske, the present pastor. Services are held twice a

Sunday, one being in German, the other in Eng-

lish. There are 159 communicant members and

73 children in the Sunday school taught by twelve

leachcrs. The pastor also conducts a parochial

school during the week.

North German Evangelical Lutheran Concordia.

—This church was organized on the 20th day of

September, 1877, by the Rev. E. Heydler and the

former members of St. John's church who fol-

lowed him. It was a strong congregation from its

inception. The ceremony of the laying of the corner-

stone of the church took place in July, 1878, and

of the dedication of the finished edifice on Octobei

6th, 1878, so that the entire church occupied

scarcely three months in building. In the spring of

1882 Rev. Heydler broke down in health and died

at the end of September in tlie state insane asy-

lum in Buffalo. In July of the same year Rev. C.

N. Conrad was elected pastor, and has served th?

congregation since. The growth of the congrega-

tion necessitated the enlargement of the building

A school-house was later built alongside of the

church, in which a parochial school has been con-

ducted. From the minutes of the synod the latest

reports arc gathered. Number of communicant

members, 1,970 ; value of property, $35,000 ; chil-

dren and teachers in the Sunday school, 841. The

parochial school is attended by 118 children. This

as well as the following one, is an independent

Lutheran church.

St. Luke's German Evangelical.—This is the

youngest of the Lutheran churches in the city, hav-

ing been organized by some sixty or more families

which in November, 1899, left Zion's church, to-

gether with the pastor of the said church, Rev.

.Ernest Hartmann. Services were at first held in

Odd Fellows' hall. In February, 1900, a private

dwelling was purchased, located on Cumberland

street, east of Joseph avenue, remodeled and en-

larged for church purposes. The lot is sixty feet

front and 150 feet deep. The value of the prop-

erty is about $12,000. In September, 1906, Rev.

Hartmann resigned as pastor, and dismissed the

ministry. Rev. William Trebert became his su^-

cessor. There are 414 communicant members,

confirmed persons belonging to the church. In tha

Sunday school the names of 250 children are upon

the rolls, who are instructed by thirty teachers.

There is also a school on Saturday forenoon,

which has an attendance of about seventy pupils.

THE GERMAN UNITED EVANQELIOAL OHUEOHES.

Since the Reformation there have been many at-

tempts to unite the two main factions that were

created at that time, the "Evangelical Lutheran"

and the "Reformed" church. This union has

been accomplished in Germany, where the state

church is the "German United Evangelical church."

A denomination of the same name is now meet-

ing with great success in the United States and

Canada. The official name is the "German United

Evangelical Synod of North America." It is rep-

resented in Rochester at present by three congrega-

tions, one of them ranking as one of the largest

congregations of the city. The oldest is the Ger-

man Trinity church.

German Trinity Church.—^We find the begin-

ning of this congregation in the year 1842. A few

members of the German Lutheran Zion's church in

the city for some reason became dissatisfied and

held religious meetings on West avenue near the

B., R. & P. depot, and later in an old house on Al-

len street, between Fitzhugh and State streets.

Finally they elected as pastor Rev. C. P. Th. Soldan

from Poughlceepsie, who served the little flock

until 1845. The second minister, Rev. C. Biel,

had only a short term, from April 1st, 1845, to

July 24th, the same year. After a vacation of six

months the new pastor. Rev. I. F. lUinger, laid

the corner-stone of the old church on Allen street

on June 8th, 1847. Rev. A. Berkey, from Dans-

ville, served from 1847 to 1849 ; the congregation

received under him their first constitution, consist-

ing of forty paragraphs. The fifth minister, Rev.

C. Haas, of Buffalo, entered the field with zeal and

energy, and continued his pastoral labors until

1853. Now the congregation united in a call to

Rev. C. C. Clausen, which he accepted Septem-

ber 29th, 1852. Under his labors the congregation

again made steady progress. He left on April 1st,

1861, and Rev. Joh. Ph. Conradi became his suc-

cessor. But, on account of difficulties between him

nnd the members, he resigned and, with a part of

the congregation, organized the German Evangel-
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ical St. Paul's church, on Fitzhugh street. This

was sad, but the Lord filled the pulpit in the per-

son of Rev. Siebenpfeifter, from Black Rock. This

man's thorough education, manly figure, beautiful

voice and earnest utterances, made him the most

distinguished pastor that Trinity congregation evor

had. During his term, from the spring of 1863' to

the spring of 1873, the congregation more than

doubled. In 1867 it was necessary to build a large

gallery all around the church, and even- then peo-

ple were turned away every Sunday because there

was no room. Then came another break, in which

a large number of the congregation left, started

the Salem church, and called Dr. SiebenpfeifEer as

their pastor. Nevertheless, the majority of our

members remained in the old ship on Allen street

and elected Dr. B. Pick as their minister, who

served from 1873 to 1881. During his term the

congregation joined the German Evangelical synod

of North America. The tenth pastor. Rev. Ottc

von Buehren, served from May 1st, 1881, to No-

vember 4th, 1883. His successor was Rev. E.

Henckell from Syracuse. During his ministry,

from 1883 to 1807, the entire debt on ihe house of

worship was wiped oif. He is gone, but not for-

gotten ! On account of ill health he resigned and

died in the spring of 1898. The present minister

is Rev. Adolf C. G. Blatzer, from Sandusky, Ohio.

He was installed July 4th, 1897, and since that

time remarkable changes have occurred in the con-

gregation. A beautiful lot on the corner of Child

and Wilder streets, 130 feet by 105 feet, was pur-

chased for $2,150 on August 27th, 1902. The next

year the old church and parsonage on Allen street

were sold to the "Gospel Workers" for $8,500 ; in

February, 1904, the Sunday school on their new

premises was begun in July, the corner-stone was

laid August 28th, and the building dedicated April

30th, 1905. The cost amounted to $16,000. It is

expected to build the church as soon as possible.

The official reports from 1842 to 1907 show that

the baptisms were 6,190, the confirmations 1,859,

the marriages 2,780, the burials 2,299, the com-

municants 26,343. ' Trinity congregation has now

112 voting members, with 250 children in the

Sunday school.

St. Paul's Evangelical.—At the beginning of

1862 some of the members of the Evangelical

Trinity church left and formed under the leader-

ship of their pastor. Rev. J. Ph. Conradi, a new

congregation, which on March 14th, 1862, organ-

ized as German United Evangelical St. Paul's

church. The property on North Fitzhugh street

of the Unitarian church, which was destroyed by

fire, was bought for $4,500, and a new brick edi-

fice erected at the cost of $6,000. As is found to

be the experience of many of the small churches

whose members possess much good will but little

of worldly means, the young congregation had .to

go through many troubles and trials and ofttimes

it appeared as though the end had come. That

the congregation to-day stands as strong as it does

is due to the grace of God, who did not count

the many sins of former years, but showed His

mercy to those who prayed, worked and waited.

Since 1872 the congregation has been united to

the German Evangelical synod of North America.

In 1905 a new Sunday school building with the

most modern improvements was erected in con-

nection with the church for $16,000, so that the

property of the congregation has now a value of

almost $100,000. This is chiefly due to the efforts

of Pastor Rev. W. Baur, who served from 1894

until 1904, when ho was called to fill a position

in our Eden Theological seminary at St. Louis.

The names of the successive pastors are: J. Ph.

Conradi, 1863-1865; F. Hoffmann, 1865-1869;

P. Heinle, 1869-1873; A. Grotrian, 1873-1883;
A. Zeller, 1883-1895; W. Baur, 1895-1904; H.
T. W. Grotefend, 1904. The number baptised

since 1863 was 3,360; confirmed, 1,112; married,

824; buried, 000. The congregation has about

400 communicants.

Salem Church.—The youngest and largest of

the three congregations is the German United Ev-
angelical Salem church, on Franklin street. Situ-

ated in the heart of the city, it has members
in all parts of Rochester and the surrounding
towns. It is a large and well arranged church,
seating about 1,400 people, and was built in 1873,
together with a parochial school and Sunday
school at a cost of $70,000. Owing to additions
that have been built and some of the surrounding
property having been acquired, the church prop-
erty is now valued at over $100,000. The congre-
gation was formed in 1873 from members of
Trinity church and many other German families
that awaited with eagerness the organization of
a church of this denomination east of the river.

With Rev. C. SiebenpfeifTer as pastor, the congre-
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gatiou grew rapidly, so that iii 1884 it couiprised

about 450 families, and 200 single persons. For

twenty-one years Dr. Siebenpfeiffer served liis

congregation faithfully, and deeply was it re-

gretted when in 1894 he was forced by ill health to

turn over the work to a younger man. He died

the same year. The pastor who succeeded him is

Eev. J. F. Wm. Helmkamp, who is still the pas-

tor of the church. It has steadily grown until it

now stands foremost among the German-speaking

congregations of Rochester. According to the

church census, there are about 900 families claim-

ing membership. For many years the pastors

liave been assisted by students from E'den college,

St. Louis, Mo., but the churcli now has a regularly

ordained assistant pastor. Rev. Theodore R.

Schmale has acted in this capacity since 1905.

Since the founding of the churcli 5,381 children

have been baptised, 2,812 persons confirmed, 2,174

couples united in marriage, 2,765 persons buried.

The number of communicants is 3,118. The Sun-

day school Avas formerly English, and during that

time Thomas Dransfield was superintendent.

Later the Sunday school became German, and is

still conducted in that language. About 800 chil-

dren are enrolled and are taught by ninety teach-

ers and officers.

EMANUEL REFORMED CHURCH.

The origin of this congregation dates back to

1848, when a number of German Roman Catho-

lics, dissenting from the mother church, appealed

to the American and Foreign Christian associa-

tion for aid in administering to their religious

needs. In reply the association sent Dr. L. Giu-

stiniani, an ex-priest, especially qualified for the

work entrusted to his care. The first meetings

were held in Minerva hall, the site now occupied

by the Merchants bank. So great was the opposi-

tion on the part of the Roman Catholics that Dr.

Giustiniani was obliged to seek police protection.

The first organization bore the title "Frei

Deutsche Katholische Gemeinde" (Free German

Catholic Congregation). The early years were

fraught with many hardships and reverses. Dur-

ing the first year a change of pastors was experi-

enced no leas than three times, as well as the loss

of the meeting-place. The members were thor-

oughly discouraged. The work was discontinued.

with the exception of the Sunday school, which

was carried on at the Third Presbyterian church

under English leadership. In 1849 the congrega^

tion again rallied and resumed its work under

the leadership of Rev. W. Wier, with a shrinkage

of membership, however, to less than one-third

the original number. After several failures to

gain a permanent church home, the congregation

finally secured two lots on Cherry street (now

Windsor), near University avenue, and erected

a small frame church. In March of 1851 the con-

gregation was reorganized under the name of

"Evangelical Lutheran Emanuel Congregation,"

but upon the request of the American and Foreign

Christian association, which was still supporting

it, the congregation was induced to organize sim-

ply as "German Mission Church," to prevent a

possible disruption among the membership, now

composed of various denominational persuasions.

The new cliurch building was dedicated May 29th,

1851. During the pastorate of Eev. Robert

Kohler (1852-4) the congregation again changed

its name, organizing as "German Evangelical Re-

formed Emanuel Congregation" on March 24th,

1852, which title it still holds. In the spring of

1854 the congregation was materially strength-

ened by the influx of immigrants from Reformed

Hesse. Despite many hardships the growth of

the congregation from that time on was assured.

The society bought the present site on the corner

of Hamilton and Bond streets, and erected a neat

brick church, in 1867. Among the more promi-

nent pastorates must be mentioned those of Rev.

Gros'/husch, 1857-64; Rev. Claudius, 1867-9; Rev.

C. Kuss, 1809-74. The longest pastorate was that

of Rev. Carl Gundladi, 1878-98. These twenty

years mark a period of faithful activity. The pas-

torate came to an end, owing to the demand of

the rising generation for a German-English work.

At the close of this pastorate, the modern and

commodious church was erected, which stands as

a monument to the zeal and faith of pastor and

people. A new epoch was ushered in by the call

of Eev. H. E. Schnatz in the autumn of 1898,

under whom the work was continued on a German-

English basis. The present pastor, Rev. C. A.

Hauser, began his work in November, 1903. The

work of the congregation is progressing. The

membership is about 400. At this writing ground

is about to be brolcen for a modern Sunday school
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building, accommodating 500, and an assembly

hall for the social work of the church.

THE HEFOUMBD OIIUUCII IN AMEUIOA.

The Reformed Church of America has three

churches in the city of Rochester, the First

church, the Second church, and the Bright-

on church. The English language is ex-

clusively used in the Second church. The

First church and the Brighton church wor-

ship in the Holland and English languages. The

pastors, who, at the time of this writing, 1907.

minister to these churches are: Rev. Lawrence

Dykstra in the First, John Lamar in the Second,

and D. L. Belten in the Brighton. The Reformec^

church differs very little from the Presbyterian

church in church policy and doctrine. Like it, it

is Presbyterian in government and Calvinistic in

doctrine. The Reformed church in Rochester dates

from about 1850. The first Hollanders of ths

later immigration came to this city in 1844 and

1845. They did not come thus early in very large

numbers. Soon after the first immigrants came,

fairly large numbers made Rochester their new

home. For a number of years these people wor-

shiped with the Presbyterians in the Brick church,

but few joined the church. In 1849 Rev. Mr. Vau
Veenheuizen came to the city and united the scat-

tered Hollanders under his shepherding ministry.

The people were organized as a church in 1853 un-

der the leadership of Rev. Dr. A. C. Van Raalter

and Rev. C. Van Der Meulen and Rev. A. Bolka

of Michigan and united with the classis of Geneva,

now Rochester. Their first place of worship was

in a hall on State street. Afterward their meet-

ing-place was in a house on St. Joseph street. Then

the people managed to get a church building of

their own on Central avenue, and in 1866, under

the leadership of Rev. A. Krickvert, they secured

the present property of the First church on Oregon

street, corner of Harrison. The organizers and

pillars of the church from its inception were the

De Mallies, Christiansen, Zwemer, Zeewelds, Ey-

kinbaer and many others equally prominent. The
church has always been exceedingly conservative

in its customs, language and doctrine. This may
in part account for its size and prominence. It

was not conservative enough for some of the Hol-

landers, and these dissatisfied ones seceded in

1875 and organized a "True" (now "Christian")

Reformed church. For some of the younger peo-

ple it was too conservative and these united with

difl'dcnt American churches in the city.

In 1888, at the instigation and the leadership

of the pastor, the beloved Peter De Bruyn, a

second Reformed church was organized from the

younger members of the first church. The second

church adopted the use of the English language

in their worship and work. This checked the large

migration of the young people to other denomina-

tions.

In 1890 those of the Reformed church living in

Brighton township felt that a church should be or-

ganized nearer their homes for the good of the

children and young people. Their request wa-"

granted and a clnirch was organized on the Blos-

som road. John B. Pike, taking an active part in

this new movement, became elder and has sinc3

been active in the interests of the church.

The three Reformed churches of Rochester are

doing good and aggressive work ministering to the

religious needs of the Hollanders and their des-

cendants. The First church and the church of

Brighton have at the urgent request of the young

people, introduced the English language in one of

their Sabbath services and in most of their other

services. Numerically they are about equally

strong, each having a little more than 300 com-

municants.

THE OONQREaATIONAL 0HUKCHE8.

A society was organized in November, 1836, un-

der the title of the "Free Congregational church,"

with John T. Avery as the first pastor, so far as

is known. From the fact that no mention is made

of that organization in the directory of 1841 it

is probable that it was not then in existence, but

on the 30th of August in that year the State Street

Congregational society was formed, with its meet-

ings in Teoronto hall. Rev. Shubael Carver being

the pastor at least as early as 1845. Rev. Henry

E. Peck assumed the pastorate of the small flock

in 1847, preaching in the small upper room of

the Teoronto block for more than a year, when, in

1848, a commodious church was erected nearly

opposite, where Mr. Peck preached for nearly four

years, when, on being elected to a professorship

in Oberlin college, he resigned on the 11th of
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January, 1852. Mr. Miner and Mr. Harper were

tlie succeeding ministers, under the latter of whom
the final service was held on August 30th, 1856,

on the occasion of the funeral of Deacon Leonard

Hitchcock; the church was then abandoned an'l

the building given up to commercial purposes.

There was another Congregational society of

that period on South avenue, organized in 184')',

of which Rev. Richard DeForest, William Dewey
and D. D. Francis were the successive pastors.

Plymouth Church.—The propriety of having a

strong society of this denomination became so

manifest that in February, 1853, an organization

called the Plymouth church of Rochester was

formed for the erection of an edifice on the corner

of 'J'roup and Sophia streets, the name of the

latter being subsequently changed to Plymouth

avenue on account of the church. Four months

later a building committee was appointed, consist-

ing of Aristarchus Champion—who was the prin-

cipal contributor to the fund—Edmund Lyon,

Freeman Clarke, William A. Reynolds, and Wil-

liam Churchill. The corner-stone was laid Sep-

fember 8th of that year, and the society was in-

corporated by the legislature on April 15th, 1854,

the trustees being the, first three named above,

together with Charles J. Hill, William W. Ely,

Albert G. Bristol, Emmett H. Hollister, Cornelius

A. Burr and Erastus Darrow. The church was

dedicated August 21st, 1855. The first pastor was

Rev. Jonathan Edwards, whose term extended

from February, 1856, to November, 1862; after

an interregnum of more than two years, during

which the pulpit was generally filled by Rev. Dr.

Robinson of the Theological seminary. Rev.

Dwight K. Bartlett became the pastor in February.

1865, and remained so till February, 1873. Then

came another hiatus, still longer than the first,

until a call was accepted by Rev. Myron Adams,

who filled the pastorate from May, 1876, till his

death on the 29th of December, 1895. Rev. Wil-

liam F. Kettle, Rev. William Thurston Brown and

Rev. Charles R. Evans were the succeeding min-

isters, each for a short term, till August, 1904,

when the society became involved in financial diffi-

culties and the congregation dissolved, the church

passing, a little later, into the control of the

Spiritualists, by whom it is now occupied.

South Congregational.—This society was organ-

ized in 1886 and has continued to the present time,

the church building being on Alexander street at

the corner of Pearl. The present pastor is Rev.

H. S. Capron.

THE UNITARIAN CHURCH.

This did not come into existence in Roches-

ter at a definite time, as was the case

with other churches. Rev. William Ware, then

of New York, preached here four times, in tlie

court-house, at the close of 1828, and at the be-

ginning of the following year Rev. James D. Green

came here from Cambridge, Mass., of which place

he was afterward mayor. He does not seem to have

stayed here very long and was probably hardly

more than a missionary preacher. There was, how-

ever, enough interest in the Liberal movement to

warrant the purchase of a little wooden building,

which St. Luke's church people had abandoned

and which was then moved to the north side o£

West Main street, near Plymouth avenue. The

effort was soon abandoned, the building was sold

and for the next ten years those who felt in that

way had to be content with desultory services held

at a place on Exchange street and afterward in

the school-house on the corner of Plymouth avenue

and Troup street, as well as more regular meet-

ings down in Carthage, near the lower falls, wheie

Myron Holley was the sustaining member of the

congregation. After these preliminaries, the or-

ganization of a real society took place on August

17th, 1841, when a board of trustees was chosen,

with Dr. Matthew Brown as president and George

F. Danforth as clerk, the other members being

John Briggs, W. W. Allcott, H. B. Sherman and

W. H. Swan. Several preachers came here, each

for a few Sundays only, and the first settled pastor

was Rev. Rufus Ellis, D. D., who remained for one

year. Under his brief administration a church

building was erected on Fitzhugh street, where n

German church now stands, the corner-stone b6ing

laid on September 29th, 1842, and the edifice dedi-

cated on May 9th, in the following year. The

building, which cost $6,000, was a commodious

one, but the society was at the outset very small,

for it included, apparently, only ten persons, those

in addition to the trustees above named being

Daniel Knower, James H. Watts, Miss Maria G
Porter and Mrs. Louisa Schcnck. Following Dr.

Ellis in the pastorate were Rev. Frederick W. Hoi-



334 HISTORY OF ROCHESTER AND MONROE COUNTY.

land, Rufus H. Bacon, W. H. Doherty, W. H.

Channing, Thomas Hyer, James Richardson.

James K. Hosmer and Mr. Fitzgerald, the last

of whom had preached only one Sunday when tha

church was burned, November 10th, 1859.

Then came a break of six years, a season of si-

lence, which was broken by the return of Mr.

Holland, who gathered the society together and

succeeded in raising enough money to build, on

the east side of Fitzhugh street, another church,

which, with the land on which it stood, cost $12,-

000, and was dedicated on January 24th, 1866.

This stood till 1883, when the place was sold to

the United States government as part of the site

for the post-office building; the money received,

$30,000, was immediately paid to the Third Pres-

hyterian society for their stone church and chapel

occupying both corners of Cortland and Temple

streets; there the Unitarians have remained per-

manently. Following Mr. Holland's secpnd min-

istry were Rev. Clay McCauley and E. H. Dan-

forth, after whom Newton M. Mann held the pas-

torate from June, 1870, till 1889, when he re-

moved to Omaha, Neb. His long term of service

has been already nearly equaled by that of his

immediate successor, Rev. William C Gannett, the

present minister. The church has no formal creed.,

in the usual sense of the term, but its members

are held together by a bond of union which de-

clares a belief in the fatherhood of God dnd the

brotherhood of man and which emphasizes the

principles of freedom, fellowship and cliarncler in

religion, as above all doctrinal belief.

THE UNIVERSALIS! CHURCH.

As early as 1838 the few Universalists re-

siding in Rochester organized the "First

Universalist society of Rochester, N. Y." A
church was purchased at the corner of Court and
Stone streets, and Rev. P. T. Abell was engaged
as pastor, three preaching services being held each

Sabbath. Mr. Abell was followed by Charles San-

derson and Jacob Chase, the latter continuing a«

pastor until March 26th, 1843. Among the visiting

ministers who occupied the desk was Rev. G. W.
Montgomery, who preached for the first time in

Rochester, March 12th, 1843. To quote from the

records "the house was full, and so were the hearts

of all who heard him." On Mny 28th of that year

Charles Hammond was engaged as regular pastor,,

and on July 22d a church organization was eilected

with nine members. For some reason this seems

not to have succeeded, but the banner of Univer-

salism was kept floating through the persistent ef-

forts of the Sunday school, which had been formed

in 1839. The officers and members maintained

regular preaching services three times each Sun-

day, some one of their number officiating when

no minister could be secured. On April 1st, 1844,.

the church edifice was sold to the Scotch Presby-

terian society, who took immediate possession. An
invitation from the Unitarian society to use part

of the basement of their church on Fitzhugh street

was soon after accepted, and there the Sunday

school met until Minerva hall, on the corner of

Main street and South avenue, was engaged, in

which place Dr. Montgomery, above referred to, be-

gan his pastorate on December 7th, 1845, the large

room being always crowded during the two years

that it was occupied. The society was incorporated

in April, 1846,.the constitution being signed by nine

members; Isaac Helmes, and John Fowler were

made trustees, Isaac Pitta treasurer, Almon Gage
clerk and George H. Roberts collector. A lot hay-

ing been purchased on South Clinton street, near

Main, a church was built there, which was dedi-

cated, free from debt, December 19th, 1847. The
first communion was observed there on January

1st, 1850, George II. Roberts and J. J. Van Zandt

acting as deacons.

Dr. Montgomery continued as pastor until 1853.

when a serious Uiroat trouble necessitated his re-

tiremen,t. He was succoodcd by Rev. J. H. Tuttle,

D. D., whose pastorate covered a period of si.x

years. A call was extended to Rev. Asa Saxe,

D. D., January 10th, 1860, and was accepted by

him. He began his pastorate soon after, and after

forty-seven years is still the beloved pastor

emerihis of the church. In 1871 the church was

remodeled at a cost of $20,000. At the rededica-

tion, some of the ministers assisting were present

at the first dedication in 1847. In 1892 the pariah

engaged the Rev. H. P. Morrell to assist Dr. Saxe

in the strenuous work of the large and growing
church. Mr. Morrell gave one year of efficient ser-

vice, at the .end of which time he accepted a call

to Buffalo. Dr. Saxe's health now began to show
the effect of so many years of labor and in March.

1897, he wns obliged to resign his active pastorale.
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The resignation was reluctantly accepted, and Ruv.

L. H. Squires was called to the vacant pastorat.-;.

In December, 1897, the church celebrated it^

fiftieth anniversary, all the pastors being present

in the pulpit. Mr. Squires resigned in 1898, and

Rev. I. P. Coddington was called to succeed him.

beginning n successful pastorate December Ist,

1898. In 1901 the church was again entirely re-

modeled and rebuilt at an expense of $60,000,

which was paid by Mr. and Mrs. James Sargent.

The new edifice was dedicated October 24th, and

December 8th, 1902, the society celebrated the pay-

ment of all mortgage and other indebtedness in an

elaborate service. The severe strain upon the

strength of the pastor so affected his health that it

became evident he could not longer bear the bur-

den, and he resigned May 1st, 1905. Rev. A. W.

Grose, the present pastor, accepted a call, begin-

ning his work September 1st, 1905. In November,

inOG, it was decided to sell tlic cliurch property

lo the Seneca Hotel corporation for a consideration

equivalent to $120,000, and the final services were

held in the old church on Easter Sunday, March

31st, 1907. During the present summer, while a

new church is being erected on the fine lot at the

southeast corner of Clinton avenue and Court

street, the congregation worships in the temple of

the Berilh Kodesh, which has been most gener-

ously placed at its service.

THE JEVyiSH 0HDE0HE8.

Although the Jews of Rochester are sufficiently

numerous to count up nearly three thousand, there

seems to be no record as to tlie first settlement

here of persons of that faith. Some few were

here as early as 1840, but it was 1848 when the

first Jewish congregation was formed, the original

members being M. Rothschild, Joseph Wile, S.

Marks, Joseph Katz, Gabriel Wile, Henry Levi,

Joseph Altman, Jacob Altman, A. Adler, Elias

Wollf, A. Weinberg and J. Ganz. The meetings

of the society were held at first on North Clin-

ton street, at the corner of. Clinton place, but at

the end of six months a hall was rented at the

corner of Main and Front streets, and there a

permanent organization was effected, called Berith

Kodesh (Holy Covenant) . A burial lot was pur-

chased in Mt. Hope by the society on May 23d,

and the first board of trustees, with Mayer Roths-

child as president, was elected October 8th, in

that year. The society was incorporated on Oc-

tober 16th, 18.54, and two years later an old

Baptist church on St. Paul street was purchased,

This answered well enough for purposes of wor-

ship for twenty years, when it was torn down and

a temple erected in its place, at a cost of $25,000,

which was dedicated September 15th, 1876. As
the congregation increased in size and in wealth

a natural desire was felt for a more imposing as

well as more capacious building, so the present

temple of Berith Kodesh, on Gibbs street, at the

comer of Grove, which fills all the requirements,

was erected and was dedicated on the 1st of June,

1894, with ceremonies that were most remarkable

for the comprehensiveness of the denominations

that were represented. Prominent parts were

taken not only by rabbis from a distance, but by

Dr. Snxo (TJniversalist), Rev. Myron Adams
(Congrcgatioualist), Dr. Hill (Baptist), presi-

dent of the university, and Rev. William C. Gan-

nett (Unitarian), all of this city; the chimes of

St. Peter's Presbyterian church rang out a glad

salute and all the Protestant clergy of 'Rochester

attended the dedication.

The first pastor of the Jewish congregation was

the Rabbi Tuska, who was succeeded by Dr. Isaac

Mayer in 1856. In 1859 Dr. Sarner took charge,

but he held the position only nine months, after

which there was no rabbi till 1863, when Dr.

Ginsberg was called. He retired in 1868 and the

pulpit was again vacant for more than two years

until, finally. Dr. Max Landsberg was chosen in

December, 1870, and in the following March he

entered upon the functions of his pastorate, which

has continued to the present time. At the outset

the congregation was strictly orthodox, the first

advance being made in 1862, when an organ was

purchased, and the next in the following year,

when a few slight alterations were made in the

ritual. In 1869 family pews were introduced,

taking the place of the old system by which the

sexes had been kept strictly apairt during the serv-

ices. This change caused a schism, a few fam-

ilies, headed by Meyer Greentree, breaking away

and founding a new congregation, that of Etz

Raanon (Green Tree), which erected a church on

Hyde park. Prom that time the parent body in-

creased steadily, in numbers and in spiritual
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growth, so that it now includes 279 families, while

there are 211 children in the Sabbath school, of

which the rabbi is the superintendent, assisted by

several young people of the church, who serve as

teachers; this has always been conducted on Sun-

day morning. In December, 1883, a new ritual

was introduced, consisting almost entirely of

prayers in English, so that Berith Kodesh was the

first Jewish congregation in the country to intro-

duce the custom, now followed by many others,

of having the services conducted mainly in the

prevailing language.

There are a few other Jewish congregations in

the city, all quite small and all strictly orthodox

—

Beth Israel (House of Israel), founded in 1879,

located on Leopold street, with Rev. David Gins-

berg as pastor; Bencd David (Sons of David),

organized in 1892, on Hanover street. Rev. Isaac

Kaplin being the rabbi, and two or three others

of Polish nationality.

THE AFBICAN CHURCH.

This goes back to 1827, when a few colored

people met in a school-house on Ford street and

organized a Methodist society in connection with

another church then called by the name of Zion,

and in 1836 an incorporation was effected under

the title of the African Methodist Episcopal Zion

church, the last part of the name being the one

by which the congregation and the building have

always been known. Charles Dixon, William

Earles and Alfred Williams constituted the first

board of trustees. Five years before it was incor-

porated the society had built a; church on Favor

street, near Spring, and this answered all purposes

until last year, when it was torn down to make

way for a more commodious structure on the same

site. The successivB pastors have been Isaac

Stewart, Henry Johnson, John P. Thompson,

Dempsey Kennedy, W. S. Bishop, John A. Wil-

liams, C. Thomas, James H. Smith, William

Sandford, William Abbott, Thomas James, W. A.

Ely and J. W. Brown, the last named being the

present minister. Many years ago another col-

ored society was formed, which occupied a small

house of worship on Joiner street, but it was soon

found to be impracticable to support two churches,

so the second enterprise was abandoned.

OTHEE OHUROHBS.

There are several other bodies, ecclesiastical in

their nature, which may be disposed of in a few

paragraphs.

The Advent Christian church (commonly

called the Second Advent) held its first meeting

here on June 22d, 1843, in a large tent on the

east side of the river, north of Main street. Elder

J. V. Hines conducting the services. Elder J

B. Cook was the first regular pastor, from 1850

to 1853, but it was not till 1867 that an organiza-

tion was effected, under the title of the "First

Christian church of Rochester," with a member-

ship of 200. The present pastor is Rev. Milton

M. Livingston, and the society is located on

William street. It is to build a church on Hay-

ward avenue during the present year.

The Evangelical Association might be supposed

to have some affiliation, at least, with the United

Evangelical churches, the more especially as all

of them are German, but the former prefer to bo

considered as a separate denomination, though

the line of demarcation is difficult of understand-

ing by outsiders. This has now two churches

here, the first of which was founded by J. G.

Maiquardt, about 1849, and which is now located

on Hudson avenue, the pastor being Rev. Ernest

M. Glasow. The second church, called Calvary,

which was founded in 1898, is on Ontario street

near Union, and has Rev. N. S. Methfessel as

its pastor.

On the 6th of March, 1870, a few persons joined

themselves together under the name of the Christa-

ddpliiiin Ecclosia, cliiiiiiing to be "called out io

God's l\iiin(loui iiiid glory," and acknowledged as

their only authority "the mind of Christ as ex-

pressed in the written word." They have no paid

ministers and they have always been very few in

number, but they hold their meetings regularly in

the Frankfort temple, on the comer of Frank

and Smith streets.

Christian Science has two churches here, both

with large congregations. The first, founded in

1894, is located on the comer of Alexander and

Cobb streets; the second, organized in 1898, has

lately purchased and is now occupying the old

Rochester Female Seminary on Fitzhugh street
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which was kept for so many years by Miss Doo-

little, and afterward by Mrs. Nichols.

A denomination bearing the somewhat generic

title of "Christian" has also two churches here,

one, called the First church of Christ, foundad in

1886, being located on Howell street, with Bev.

Eobert Stewart as pastor; the other, beginning in

ISO?, called the Columbia avenue church of

Christ, being on the street named, with Eev. B.

C. Harris as its minister.

The Spiritualists have for many years had an

organization
_
here, which until recently met on

South avenue, but they have now come into

possession of the old Plymouth Congregational

church, on the corner of that avenue and Troup

street.

Besides those named above there are a great

number of associations, too many to be all traced

out and mentioned in detail—such as the Salva-

tion Army, the People's Eescue Mission, the

Ijiberty Mission, the Christian Brotherhood and

the Missionary Alliance—in which the religious

and the philanthropic elements are so blended

that it is impossible to differentiate them.



CHAPTER XIX

THE CIVIL LIST.

The Village Trustees—The Mayors—Members of

Congress—Collectors of the Port—Memiers of

the Legislature—Assessors—City Treasurers—
City Clerks—City Surveyors—The Executive

Board—The Police Commission—Chiefs of Po-

lice—The Common Council.

A full list of all officials connected in any waj

with the courts, whether municipal or those of th?

county—including the judges, the district-attor-

neys, the sheriffs, the city attorneys, the surro-

gates, the police justices, and even the county

clerks as being, in a sense, officers of the county

court—^will be found in the chapter on the "Courts

and the Bar," those of the supervisors and of the

county treasurers are given in the chapter entitled

"How Monroe Became a County"; the postmas-

ters appear in the narrative portion of this history,

and the chief engineers of the fire department are

mentioned in the chapter devoted to that subject

The following list, which is complete as far as it

goes, embraces all others who have held offices of

any great importance within the limits of the

county. We will begin with the

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE.

Francis Brown, 1817-19; Daniel Mack, 1817-19

Everard Peck, 1817-19; William Cobb, 1817 and

1830; Jehiel Barnard, 1817; Isaac Colvin, 1818-

19 ; Ira West, 1818-19 ; Matthew Brown, jr., 1820-

83, 1825-26 and 1831; Moses Chapin, 1820-31;

Charles J. Hill, 1830-23; Elisha Taylor, 1830-31;

Warham Whitney, 1831-33 and 1834; Hastings K.

Bender, 1833; S. Melaneton Smith, 1822-23;

Jacob Graves, 1823; William P. Sherman,

1833 ; Abner Wakelee, 1833 ; John W. Strong,

1834; Anson Coleman, 1824; Jonathan

Packard, 1824; Ashbel W. Eiley, 1824; Phelps

Smith, 1825; Frederick Starr, 1825; William

Eathbun, 1835 and 1833; Gilbert Everingham,

1835; William Brewster, 1836; Vincent Mathews,

1836; John Mastick, 1826; Giles Boulton, 1826;

Frederick Whittlesey, 1837; Ezra M. Parsons,

1837-28; Jonathan Child, 1827 and 1830; Elisha

Johnson, 1827-39; A. V. T. Leavitt, 1837; Ebeu-

ezer Ely, 1828; Ephraim Moore, 1838; Nathaniel

Eossiter, 1838 and 1831; John Haywood, 1829;

Sidney S. Aleott, 1829; Eobert L; MeCollum.

1829; William H. Ward, 1839; William Pease,

1830; Joseph Medbery, 1830; Adonijah Green,

1830; Harmon Bissell, 1830; Eufus Meech, 1831;
Jacob Thorn, 1831-32; Harvey Humphrey, 1831;

Samuel L. Selden, 1832; Daniel Tinker, 1832;
Orrin E. Gibbs, 1833; William B. Lalhrop, 1833;
Fletcher M. Haight, 1833; Elihu F. Marshall,

1833; Nathaniel Draper, 1833.

MAYORS OF THE CITY.

Jonathan Child, 1834; Jacob Gould, 1835-36;
Abraham M. Schermerhorn, 1837 (resigned)

;

Thomas Kempshall, 1837; Elisha Johnson,°1838;
Thomas II. Rochester, 1839; Samuel G. Andrews,
1840 and 1866; Elijah F. Smith, 1841; Charles J.

Hill, 1843; Isaac Hills, 1843; John Allen, 1844;
William Pitkin, 1845-46; John B. Elwood, 1847:
Joseph Field, 1848; Levi A. Ward, 1849; Samuol
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Kichardson, 1850 ; Nicholas E. Paine, 1851 ; Ham-
lin Stihvell, 1853; John Williams, 1853; Maltby

Strong, 1854; Charles J. Hayden, 1855; Rufus

Keeler, 1857; Charles H. Clark, 1858; Samuel W.
D. Moore, 1859 and 1866; Hamlet D.

Scraulom, 1860; John C. Nash, 1861; Michael

Filon, 1862; Nehemiah C. Bradstreet, 1863;

James Brackelt, 1861; Daniel D. T. Moore,

1865; Henry L. Eish, 1867-68 ; Edward M. Smith,

1869 ; Jolm Imtes, 1870 ; Charles W. Brigga, 1871

:

A. Carter Wilder, 1872-73; George G. Clarkson,

1874-75 ; Cornelius R. Parsons, 1876-89 ; William

Carroll, 1890-91; Richard Curran, 1892-93; Geo.

W. Aldridge, 1894; Mertou E. Lewis, 1895; Geo.

E. Warner,' 1896-99 ; George A. Carnahan, 1900-

01 ; Adolph J. Rodenbeck, 1902-03 ; James G. Cut-

ler, 1904 .

MEMBERS OF CONGRESS.

Monroe county was, for the first session of Con-

gress after its formation, in the twenty-first dis-

trict, with eight other counties; for the next ten

years it was in the twenty-sixth district, with Liv-

ingston county ; for the next thirty years it formed

a district by itself; for the next twenty years it

was with Orleans county, the district being first

the twenty-eighth, then the thirtieth; since 1883

it has been by itself, continuing for some time as

the thirtieth, becoming afterward the thirty-first,

then the thirty-second, which it is at present. The

first representative who lived in this county (with

the exception of William B. Rochester, who waa

a resident of Allegany county while a member of

Congress, though he lived here both before and

afterward) was Daniel D. Barnard, who was elect-

ed in 1886. His successors were as follows, the

year of election (or appointment) being given

hereafter in all cases, except in the common coun-

cil, where it indicates the year of service: Tim-

othy Childs, 1828, 1834, 1836 and 1840; Frederick

Whittlesey, 1830 and 1832; Thomas Kempshall.

1838; Thomas J. Patterson, 1842; Elias B
Holmes, 1844 and 1846; A. M. Schermerhorn,

1848 and 1850; Azariah Boody, 1852; Davis Car-

penter (to succeed Boody, resigned), 1853; John

Williams, 1854; Samuel G. Andrews, 1856; Al-

fred Ely, 1858 and 1860; Freeman Clarke, 18G2..

1870 and 1872; Roswell Hart, 1864; Lewis Selye,

1866; Noah Davis, jr. (of Orleans), 1868; John

M. Davy, 1874; E. Kirke Hart (of Orleans),

1876; John Van Voorhis, 1878, 1880 and 1892;

Halbert S. Greenleaf, 1882 and 1890; Charles S.'

Baker, 1884, 1886 and 1888; Henry C. Brewster.

1894 and 1896; James M. E. O'Grady, 1898;

lames Breck Perkins, 1900, 1902, 1904 and 1906.

COLLEOTORS OF THE PORT.

Congress passed an act on the 3d of March.

1805, creating the customs district of Genesee,

with the port at Charlotte. Until very lately that

has been known as the port of Genesee, but the

ofTicial name is now the port of Rochester.

The following named have held the .position

of collectors of customs—all of Rochester, except

as stated otherwise : Samuel Latta, of Gates (now

Greece), 1805; Caleb Hopkins, of Boyle (now

Pittsford), 1809; Jesse Hawley, of Gates, 1817;

Jacob Gould, 1829; James Smith, 1839; James

K. Livingston, 1841; Joseph Strong, 1843; Ly-

man B. Langworthy, of Greece, 1844 ; Joseph Sib-

ley, of Rush, 1846; Elias Pond, 1849; James R.

Thompson, of Clarkson, 1851; James C. Camp-
bell, 1853; Pliny M. Bromley, 1857; Philander

M. Crandall, 1861; William H. Crennell, 1865;

John M. Davy, 1866 and 1872; James H. Kelly,

1867; Thomas Parsons, 1868; William Emer-

son, 1869; David K. Cartter, 1875; William T.

Simpson, 1879; Charles E. Morris, 1883;

John W. Martin, 1887; Henry Hebing,

1889; George H. Houck, of Rush, 1894; George

P. Decker 1896; Martin J. Caliban, 1898; Charles

W. Wall (acting collector), 1899; Henry Harri-

son, of Brockport, 1899 ; George F. Roth, 1904.

STATE SENATORS.

Not till 1844 did Monroe have a member of

the state Senate who lived in this county, so we

will begin with Frederick F. Backus, who, after

serving three years, was succeeded by Jerome Ful-

ler, elected in 1847; Samuel Miller, 1849; Mica-

jah W. Kirby, 1851; William S. Bishop, 1853;

John E. Patterson, 1855 and 1857 ; Ephraim Gosn.

1859 ; Lysander Farrar, 1861 ; George G. Munger,

1863; Thomas Parsons, 1865; Lewis H. Morgan,

N. Emerson, 1875 ; George Raines, 1877.; Edmund
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L. Pitts (of Orleans), 1879, 1881 and 1885;

Charles S. Baker, 1883; Donald McNaughton.

1887 and 1889; Cornelhis R. Parsons, 1891, 1893,

1895, 1898 and 1900 ; Henry Harrison, 1895 ; Wil-

liam W. Armstrong, 1898, 1900, 1903, 1904 and

1906 ; Merton B. Lewis, 1901 (to fill out the term

of Parsons, deceased), 1902 and 1904; Thomas B
Dunn, 1906.

By the constitution of 1846 Monroe, which be-

fore that was in the eighth district, was made a

senatorial district by itself and continued so till

1879, when Orleans was added to it. Tlie con-

stitution of 1894 made it solitary again and gave

it two Senators, their districts being numbered

the forty-third and forty-fourth; it provided also

that the Senate to be elected in 1895 should be

throe yciU's in loiiglli, rcUivning aflcr ihiil:_lo ils

former term of two years. In the first year after

its formation Monroe had one member of Assem-

bly and a year later three members, keeping that

number till 1895, when, the total membership of

the lower house having been increased to one hun-

dred and fifty, the contingent from this county

became four and was increased last year to fivfl.

The following is a list of our

MEMBERS OF THE ASSEMBLY.

Nathaniel Rochester, 1821; John Bowman.

Samuel B. Bradley and Simon Stone, 2d, 1832;

Peter Price, Major H. Smith and Enos Stone,

1823; Gustavus Clark, Henry Fellows and Thur

low Weed, 1834; II. Fellows, Isaac Lacey and Vin-

cent Mathews, 1825; P. Price, Abelard Reynolds

and Joseph Sibley, 1836; Timothy Childs, Ezra

Sheldon, jr., and Francis Storm, 1827; John Gar-

butt, Heman Norton and Reuben Willey, 1838;

E. Sheldon, jr., Joseph Randall and T. Weed,

1 829 ; Samuel G. Andrews, I. Lacey and P. Price

1830 ; S. 6. Andrews, Ira Bellows and William B
Brown, 1831; T. Childs, Levi Pond and Milton

1867 ; Jarvis Lord, 1869, 1871 and 1873 ; William

Sheldon, 1833 ; Elihu Church, Fletcher M. Haight

and Jeremy S. Stone, 1833; George Brown, Der-

ick Sibley and Enoch Strong, 1834; Horace Gay

Micajah W. Kirby and J. Sibley, 1835; Levi Rus-

sell, D. Sibley and Silas Walker, 1836; John P.

Patterson R. Sheldon, jr., and D. Sibley, 1837;
William S. Bishop, Henry P. Norton and John P.

Stull, 1838 ; G. Brown, D. Sibley and E. Strong,

1839; Alexander Kelsey, Tiucins Lilley and E.

Strong, 1840; Henry K. TTiggins, Frederick Stark

and George S. Stone, 1841; Jerome Fuller, Robert

Haight and E. Strong, 1842; Ashley Sampson,

Moses Spcrry and Edward Wadhams, 1843; Wil-

liam C. Bloss, John McVean and Isaac T. Raymond

1844 ; Matthias L. Angle, W. C. Bloss, and James

E. Thompson, 1845 ; W. C. Bloss, John McGonegal

and John B. Smith, 1846 ; E. Sheldon, A. M. Sher-

merhorn and Isaac Chase, jr., 1847; Levi Kelsey,

L. AVard Smith and Blisha Harmon, 1848; M. Day

Hicks, L. W. Smith and E. Harmon, 1849; Na-

thaniel H. Fordyce, William A. Fitzhugh and

Caleb B. Corser, 1850; John Shoecraft, Joel P.

Milliner and C. B. Corser, 1851; Lyman Payne.

Orlando Hastings and James 0. Pettengill, 1852;

L. Payne, James L. Angle and Pliny B. Holdridgo

1853; Benjamin SmiUi, John W. Stebbins and

Nehemiah P. Stanton, jr., 1854; Benjamin Smith,

Elipliaz Ti'immer and Joseph Dewey, 1855; Jere-

miah S. Baker, John T. Lacey and Robert Staples.

1856; Jarvis Lord, Thomas Parsons and R. Sta-

ples, 1857; Harrison A. Lyon, Elias Pond and

Alphonso Perry, 1858; Thomas J. Jeffords, E
Pond and A. Perry, 1859; Martin Roberts, Lewis

H. Morgan and Benjamin R. Wells, 1860 ; George

E. McGonegal, E. Trimmer and B. R. Wells, 1861

;

G. E. McGonegal, E. Trimmer and William

Brown, 1862; Fairchild Andrus, John McConviil

and AVilliam Rankin, 1863; F. Andrns, J. McCon-

viil and W. Rankin, 1864; P. Andrus, Henry R.

Scldcn and Abnor T.Wood, 1865; J. Lord, Henry

Cribben and A. I. Wood, 1866; John M. Davis

Nehemiah C. Bradstreet and A. I. Wood, 1867;

Charles S. Wright, N. C. Bradstreet and Andrew

J. Randall, 1868; C. S. Wright, James S. Graham
and Volney P. Brown, 1869; Richard D. Cole,

George D. Lord and V. P. Brown, 1870; George

A. Goss, G. D. Lord and Leonard Burritt, 1871;

G. A. Goss, Henry L. Fish and L. Burritt, 1872;

G. A. Goss, George Taylor and L. Burritt, 1873

;

R. D. Cole, G. Taylor and Josiah Rich, 1874 ; Wil-

lard Hodges, J. S. Graham and Heman GlaB.=?

1875 ; W. Hodges, J. S. Graham and Washington

L. Rockwell, 1876 ; Albert C. Hobbie, Elias Mape.=

and James Chappell, 1877; Samuel Beckwith,

Charles S. Baker and Henry W. Davis, 1878;

George Le Grand Seely, C. S. Baker and Fred-

erick P. Root, 1879; G. L. G. Seely, John Cowles

and F. P. Root, ISSO; Judson F. Sheldon, C. S.
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Baker and Alexander P. Butts, 'l881j Levi J. De-

land, David Healy and A. P. Butts, 1882 ; Walter

S. Hubbell, Cliarles R. Pratt and Philip Garbutt

1883 ; W. S. Hubbell, Philip Tumilty and P. Gar-

butt, 188-1; Frank Gardiner, G. R. Pratt and

George W. Sinic, 1885; Fletcher A. Defcndorf,

Edward W. Maurer and 6. W. Sime, 1886; F. A.

Defendorf , P. Andrew Sullivan and William S.

Church, 1887; J. P. Sheldon, Joseph Bauer and

Edwin A. Loder, 1888; Frank M. Jones, P. A.

Sullivan and E. A. Loder, 1889; F. M. Jones.

Robert Courtney (to fill vacancy), Cornelius H.

Parsons and William H. Denniston, 1890; P. M.

Jones, Richard Curran and W. H. Denniston,

1891; Samuel 11. Stone, James M. E. O'Grady

and W. H. Denniston, 1893; S. H. Stone, J. M.

E. O'Grady and W. H. Denniston, 1893 ; Charles

J. Smith, J. M. E.' O'Grady and William W. Arm-

strong, 1894; C. J. Smith, J. M. E. O'Grady, W.

W. Armstrong and Thomas H. Eddy, 1895 ; Mer-

ton E. Lewis, J. M. E. O'Grady, W. W. Armstrong

and Frederick E. Gott, 1896; James B. Perkins,

J. M. E. O'Grady, W. W. Armstrong and Jacob

S. Haight, 1897; M. E. Lewis, Adolph J. Roden-

beck, Richard Gardiner and Benjamin F. Gleasou,

1898; M. E. Lewis, A. J. Rodenbeck, R. Gardi-

ner and B. F. Gleason, 1899 ; M. E. Lewis, A. J.

Rodenbeck, R. Gardiner and Isaac W. Salyerds.

1900; Martin Davis, George Herbert Smith, R.

Gardiner and L W. Salyerds, .1901 ; M. Davis, G.

B. Smith, Eugene J. Dwyer and John Pallace,

jr., 1902; M. Davis, Charles F. Ogden, Charles

E. Callahan and J. Pallace, jr., 1903; Do Witt

C. Becker, C. F. Ogden, C. E. Callahan and Albert

P. Beebe, 1904; D. C. Becker, James L. Whitley.

Robert Averill and A. P. Beebe, 1905; George P.

Harris, J. L. Whitley, Henry R. Glynn, R. Averill

and Henry Morgan, 1906.

ASSESSORS.

The first assessors for the little village, in 1817.

were Isaac Colvin, Hastings R. Bender and Daniel

D. Hatch. They were followed by Abraham

Plumb, 1818-31 and 1833 ; Abner Wakelee, 1818

;

Ebenezer Watts, 1818-30; Silas 0. Smith, 1820

and 1824; Caleb L. Clark, 1821; Samuel Works,

1831 ; William Atkinson, 1832-35; Thomas Kemp-

shall, 1822; Abelnrd Reynolds, 1823; Warham

Whitney, 1823; Jacob Graves, 1834; William J.

McCracken, 1825; Preston Smith, 1825; Davia 0.

West, 1826-28; Ezra M. Parsons, 1826; Charles

J. Hill, 1830; Daniel Tinker, 1836-30; Phelpe

Smith, 1827-39; William Rathbum, 1837; Daniel

Loomis, 1837 and 1834; Elisha Taylor, 1828
j

James K. Livingston, 1828 and 1832 ; Erasnius D.

Smith, 1828; John Jones, 1839; Raphael Beach,

1829; Abner Hubbard, 1829; Elias J. Minshon

1829; Jehiel Barnard, 1830; Sidney S. Olcott.

1830; Thomas H. Rochester, 1830; Linus Merrill,

1830-31; Jonathan King, 1831; Ephraim Gil-

bert, 1831 and 1834; Matthew Mead, 1831 and

1839; Jacob Thorn, 1831 and 1833; Royal Har-

rington, 1833; Matthew Brown, 3d, 1833; Micah

I'ortor, 1833; William H. Ward, 1833; Horace

Gay, 1833; Seih Saxton, 1833; Miles Carter,

1833; Harvey Humphrey, 1833; John Haywood.

1834; Horatio N. Curtis, 1834; Oren E. Gibbs,

1834. That brings us into city life. Prom that

time the records are imperfect and directories,

which are the main reliance in such a case as this,

were published only at long intervals. For soma

years it is known there were three assessors for

each ward, which must have made a most un-

wieldy body and prevented anything like general

consultation or systematic assessment. Pinally

the original number of three was resumed and

continued so till 1900, since when it has been

four ; the almost continuous list may then be taken

up as follows: Preston Smith, 1852-53; Louis

K. Faulkner, 1852-53 ; Adonijah Green, 1853-55

;

Abram H. Jones, 1854-55; Francis Dana, 1854-

65; David McKay, 1858-83; Jared Coleman, 1853-

65; Charles M. St. John, 1866-70; Ebenezer T.

Oatley, 1868-77 ; John J. Schaffer, 1871-76 ; Au-

gust M. Koeth, 1876-81 ; William J. Maher, 1873-

85; Valentine Pleckenstein, 1883-86 and 1898-99;

John Gorton, 1883-85; Michael J. Maher, 1886-

93; Luther A. Pratt, 1886-91; Jacob Gerling,

1887-93; Henry C. Munn, 1893-97; B. B. Bur-

gess, 1893-97; George P. Roth, 1894; E. A. Kalb-

fleisch, 1895-99; CharlQS P. Pond, 1898— ; Ly-

man M. Otis, 1900-03 ; Joseph C. Wilson, 1900—

;

Prank Pritzsche, 1900-1906; Charles H. Judson,

1904— ; Thomas J. Neville, 1906—

.

OITT TREASURERS.

Elihu F. Marshall, 1834 and 1838; Theodore

Sedgwick, 1835 ; Erasmus D. Smith, 1836 ; William
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E. Lathrop, 1837 and 1859-60; Ebeu N. Buell,

1830-40-41-43; James M. Fish, 1843-44; Hiram

Wright, 1845-46; Mat.thew G. Warner, 1847;

Clarence H. Sweet, 1848; Elbert W. Scrantom,

1849-50; Charles M. St. John, 1851-52-53-54;

Pliny M. Bromley, 1855-56 ; Abram Karnes, 1857-

58; Thomas Hawks, 1861-63; Christopher T.

Amsden, 1863-64; Harvey P. Langworthy, 1865-

66-67-68-69-70; John Williams, 1871-73-73-74;

George D. Williams, 1875-76-77-78-79-80; Am-
brose McGlaehlin, 1881-83-83-84 ; John A. Davis,

1885-86-87-88-89-90 ; Valentine Fleckenstein,

1890; Samuel B. Williams, 1891-93-93-94-95-96-

97-98-99-1900-01-03-03; Lyman M. Otis, 1904-

05-06.

CITY CLERKS.

While Rochester was a village the olBce of clerk

of the board of trustees was filled by Moses Chapin

for four years, then by Hastings R. Bender for

one year, then by Eufus Beach for five years, after

that by Frederick Whittlesey, Hestor L. Stevens,

Samuel L. Selden, Isaac E. Elwood and A. W.
Stowe. After it had become a city the clerks of

the common council were John C. Nash, 1834;

Ariel Wentworth, 1835; Patrick G. Buchan,

1836; Jasper W. Gilbert, 1837; I. R. Elwood,

1838; Theodore B. Hamilton, 1839; W. R. Mont-

gomery, 1840-41; Joseph A. Eastman, 1843; A.

S. Beers, 1843-44; Chauncey Nash, 1845-46;

James S. Tryon, 1847; H. L. Winaints, 1848;

Newell A. Stone, 1849 and 1861 ; John N. Drum-
mond, 1850; E. B. Shepardson, 1851; Washing-

ton Gibbons, 1852-55 ; Charles N. Simmons, 1856-

58 and 1862-63; Francis S. Eew, 1859-60; B.

Frank Enos, 1864-67 ; Richard H. Schooley, 1868-

69 ; William P. Morrison, 1870-75 ; Edward Ange-

vine, 1876-79; Lucius M. Mandeville, 1880;

James T. McMannis, 1881; Prank N. Lord, 1883-

83; Peter Sheridan, 1884-1891 and 1899; Henry
W. Gregg, 1892-95 ; Theodore S. Pulver, 1896-98

and 1900-1903; Thomas E. White, 1904-05;

T^ewis D. Clements, 1906 .

CITY SUIIVBYOUS.

No person is mentioned as surveyor among the

city officials for the first few years, but the fact

that a superintendent appears with more or less

regularity leads to the supposition that the duties

of that officer covered the ground at the begin-

ning. Samuel Works was elected superintendent

in 1834, Kilian H. Van Rensselaer in 1835, Theo-

dore Chapin in 1836, no election, apparently, in

1837, and Pardon D. Wright in 1838. The first

appearance of a surveyor was in 1844, when

Japies M. BrufE was elected by the common coun-

cil. His successors were Charles B. Stuart, 1845

;

Daniel Marsh, 1847; James M. Bruff again in

1849-52; then a break to 1857, when F. J. M.

Cornell appears; Charles E. Babbitt, 1859; Cyrus

Bcardsley, 1861 and 1864-67; Daniel Richmond,

1863 and 1868 ; Manley D. Eowley, 1869 ; William

S. Grantsynn, 1870-75; Oscar H. Peacock, 1876-

84 and 1890-91; Isaac P. Quinby, 1885-89;

J. Y. McClintock, 1893-96; Edwin A. Fisher,

1897 .

EXECUTIVE BOARD.

This was called the board of public works for the

first five years, after which it became, without. es-

sential change, the Executive board. The following

named were successively members of it: Martin

Briggs, 1873-76; William Purcell, 1873; George

II. Thompson, 1872-76; Herman Mutachlcr, 1872;

Daniel Warner, 1873-73 ; Henry S. Hebard, 1873

;

Thomas J. Neville, 1873-78; Ambrose Cram,

1874-77 ; Jonathan B. Pierpont, 1874-76 ; Philip

J. Meyer, 1876-78; Valentine Fleckenstein, 1876-

79; Henry L. Fish, 1876-79; C. C. Woodworth,

1876-79 ; Fred C. Lauer, jr., 1878-80 ; F. P. Kav-
anaugh, 1879-80; Ezra Jones, 1879; Jacob Ger-

ling, 1880-81; Pred P. Stallman, 1881; Byron

Holley, 1881-86; Samuel B. Williams, 1883-84;

George W. Aldridge, 1883-93; Emil Kuichling,

1885-87; James M. Aikenhead, 1887-89; Julius

Armlmistev, 1888-00; William W. Barnard, 1890-

95; Jolm M. Schroth, 1891-9G ; Eichard Curran,

1894-95; Pred W. Seitz, 1896-97; Thomas McMil-
lan, 1896-97; Oscar Knebel, 1897-99 ; James John-

ston, 1898-99; James Whalen, 1898-99. In 1900

the Executive board was superseded by the depart-

ment of Public AVorks, of which the first commis-

sioner was J. Herbert Grant, who was succeeded by

J. Y. McClintock, ho by Tliomns J. Neville and ho

by Frederick T. Elwood, the present incumbent.

For some years there was a board of police commis-
sioners, whose duties, as well as all matters con-

nected with the fire department, were afterward

taken over by the department of Public Safety,
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the commissiouers of which were,' successively,

James G. Cutler, James D. Casey and George A.

Gilman, who now fills the position.

POLICE COMMISSIONERS.

Henry S. Hebard, ISGS-T'S; Jacob Howe, sr.,

1865-67; George S. Gooper, 1867-77; Frederick

Zimmer, 1873-84; Henry C. Daniels, 1877-80;

Jacob Howe, jr., 1880-84; James D. Casey, 1884-

99; Joseph W. Rosenthal, 1884-88; Jacob A.

Hoekstra, 1888-96 ; Charles T. Chapin, 1896-99.

CHIEFS OF rOLICE.

Addy W. Van Slyck, 1853; George I. Marsh,

1854; Samuel M. Sherman, 1855 and 1865 to

1873; Elisha J. Keeney, 1856 and 1859; W. D.

Oviatt, 1857; Seth Simmons, 1858; Matthew Q.

Warner, 18G0; William Charles, 1861; William

Mudgett, 1862-63; Robert R. Harris, 1864; Alex-

ander McLean, 1873-85; Joseph P. Cleary, 1885-

1904; John C. Hayden, 1905 .

THE COMMON COUNCIL.

The following is a full list of the board of

aldermen, from the incorporation of the city to

the present time. The numbers indicate the

wards. The second name in each ward for the

first four years is that of tlie assistant alderman;

after that time two full aldermen were elected

from each ward till 1877, since when there has

been only one representative from each

:

1834.—1-Lewis Brooks, John Jones; 2-Thomas

Kempshall, Elijah F. Smith; 3-Frederick F.

Backus, Jacob Thorn; 4-A. W. Riley, Lansing

B. Swan; 5-Jacob Graves, Henry Kennedy.

1835.—1-Hestor L. Stevens, Wm. E. Lathrop;

2-Matthew Brown, Hiram Blanchard; 3-James

Seymour, Erastus Cook; 4-Joseph Halsey, Na-

thaniel Bingham; 5-1. R. Elwbod, Butler Bard-

well.

1836.—1-Alex. S. Alexander, John Haywood;

S-Warham Whitney, Joseph Alleyn; 3-Joseph

Strong, Jonathan Packard; 4-M. G. Woodbury,

Mifchell Loder; 5-Wm. H. Ward, David Scoville.

1837.—1-H. L. Stevens, H. K. Van Rensselaer;

2-S. IT. Packard, W. Barron Williams; 3-J.

Strong, John Hawks; 4-M. G. Woodbury, Schuy-

ler Moses; 5-L. K. Faulkner, James Williams.

1838.—1-Abelard Reynolds, Stephen Charles;

2-John Allen, Isaac F. Mack; 3-J. Strong, John

Hawks; 4-Elias Pond, Matthew G. Warner; 6-

Samuel G. Andrews, Orrin E. Gibbs.

1839.—1-A. Reynolds, Stephen Charles; 8-J.

Allen, George Arnold; 3-John C. Stevens, E. D.

Smith; 4-E. Pond, S. W. D. Moore; 5-S. G. An-
drews, William Pitkin.

1840.—1-S. Charles, Henry Whitbeck ; 2-George

Arnold, I. F. Mack; 3-E. D. Smith, Henry Cady;

4-S. W. D. Moore, Porter Taylor; 5-D. E. Barton,

William J. Southerin.

1841.—1-H. Whitbeck, Johnson I. Robins;

2-1. P. Mack, Lewis Selye; 3-H. Cady, Joseph

Field; 4-Pbrter Taylor, Wm. H. Howell; 5-W.

J. Southerin, Aaron Brickson.

1842.—1-J. I. Robins, Hamlin Stilwell; 2-

L. Selye, John Williams; 3-J. Field, H. Camp-
bell; 4-W. H. Howell, George B. Benjamin; 5-

Aaron Erickson, N. B. Northrop.

1843.—1-H. Stilwell, S. Richardson; 2-J. Wil-

liams, L. Selye; 3-H. Campbell, Eleazer Conkey;

4-G. B. Benjamin, Moses B. Seward; 5-N. B.

Northrop, Joshua Conkey.

1844.—1-S. Richardson, Alfred Hubbell; 2-L.

Selye, J. Williams; 3-E. Conkey, Simon Traver;

4-M. B. Seward, Thomas Kempshall; 5-J. Con-

key, Eufus Keeler.

1845.—1-A. Hubbell, Abram Van Slyck; 2-P.

D. Wright, Seth C. Jones; 3-S. Traver, Everard

Peck; 4-T. Kempshall, John H. Babcock; 6-

Joseph Cochrane, Jared Newell; 6-L. A. Ward,

George Keeney; 7-William I. Hanford, J. Hil-

dreth ; 8-John Briggs, Edwin Scrantom ; 9-John

Fisk, Charles B. Coleman.

1846.—1-A. Van Slyck, A. Hubbell; 2-S. C.

Jones, S. F. Witherspoon; 3-E. Peck, Charles

Hendrix; 4-J. H. Babcock, Theo. B. Hamilton;

5-Jared Newell, Henry Fox ; G-Charles L. Par-

dee, L. A. Ward; 7-J. Hildreth, William G. Rus-

sell; 8-E. Scrantom, S. W. D. Moore; 9-George J.

Whitney, Charles Robinson.

I847._l-A. Hubbell, S. Richardson; 2-S. P.

Witherspoon, J. Disbrow ; 3-C. Hendrix, James F.

Fish; 4-T. B. Hamilton, Joseph Hall; 5-H. Fox,

Nathaniel H. Blossom; 6-L. A. Ward, John Rees;

7-W. G. Russell, L. Ward Smith; 8-S. W. D.

Moore, Hatfield Halslead; 9-C. Robinson, James

Gallery.
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1848—1-S. Eiehardson, 11. Scrantom; 2-J.

Disbrow, Ezra Jones; 3-J. M. Eish, William

Churchill; 4-Joseph Hall, John L. Fish; 5-N.

II. Blossom, Isaac Van Kuren; 6-Philander Davie,

J. S. Benton; 7-L. W. Smith, John Greig; 8-H.

Halstead, S. W. D. Moore ; 9-J. Gallery, Sebastian

Zeug.

1849.—1-H. Scrantom, John Dawley; 2-Ezra

Jones, S. B. Stoddard; 3-W. Churchill, J. S. Cald-

well; 4-J. L. Eish, 6. L. Copeland; 5-1. Van

Kuren, N. B. Northrop; 6-P. Davis, Samuel P.

Allen; 7-Jolm Greig, George T. Frost; 8-S. W.

D. Moore, E. S. Boughton; 9-Sebastian Zeug,

Peter A. Smith.

1850.—1-J. Dawley, William F. Holmes; 2-

W. H. Wait, Martin Briggs; 3-J. S. Caldwell, L.

E. Jerome; 4-G. S. Copeland, T. T. Morse; 5-N.

B. Northrop, J. Conkey; 6-P. Davis, C. A. Jones;

7-G. T. Frost, Hiram Banker; 8-E. S. Boughton,

Henry L. Fish; 9-Peter A. Smith, Henry Sug-

gett.

1851.—1-W. P. Holmes, Benjamin M. Baker;

2-Martin Briggs, W. H. Wait; 3-L. E. Jerome>

Amon Bronson; 4-T. T. Morse, S. Moses; 6-J.

Conkey, J. B. Eobertson; 6-C. A. Jones, Thomas

Parsons; 7-Hiram Banker, J. H. Babcock; 8-H.

L. Fish, H. Seymour; 9-J. Fisk, Lysander Farrar

1852.—1-B. M. Baker, William F. Holmes; 2-

W. H. Wait, B. P. Gilkeson; 3-A. Bronson, John

M. French; 4-S. Moses, George Shelton; 5-J. B.

Eobertson, George B. Eedfield; G-T. Parsons,

Michael Filon; ?-J. II. Babcock, Edward M.

Smith; 8-H. Seymour, George G. Munger; 9-L.

Farrar, E'dgar Belden.

1853.—1-W. F. Holmes, Ambrose Cram; 2-B.

F. Gilkeson, J. C. Marsh; 3-J. M. French, A.

Bronson; 4-G. Shelton, J. C. Chumascro; 5-G. B.

Eedfield, M. Douglass; 6-M. Filon, Charles PI.

Clark; 7-E. M. Smith, P. P. Thayer; 8-G. G.

Munger, DanielD. Lynch; 9-E. Belden, B. Schoef-

fel; 10-Thomas Parsons.

1854.—1-A. Cram, Johnson I. Eobins; 3-J. C.

Marsh, A. J. Harlow; 3-A. Bronson, William

Breck; 4-J. C. Chumasero, George Shelton; 5-M.

Douglass, E. K. Warren; 6-C. H. Clark, Michael

Filon; 7-P. P. Thayer, Stephen Charles; 8-D. D.

Lynch, William H. Moore ; 9-B. Schoeffel, J. Hil-

ton; 10-T. Parsons, John Quinn.

1855.—1-J. I. Robins, Edwin Pancost; 2-A. J.

Harlow, M. Briggs; 3-W. Breck, Thomas 0. Mont-

gomery; 4-G. Shelton, J. M. Winslow; 5-B. K.

Warren, M. Douglass; 6-M. Filon, Charles H.

Clark; 7-S. Charles, E. W. Sabin; 8-W. H. Moore

J. B. Bennett; 9-J. Hilton, Louis Bauer; 10-J.

Quinn, John E. Morey.

1856.—1-U. C. Bdgerton, W. S. Thompson;

2-M. Briggs, G. W. Parsons; 3-T. C. Montgom-

ery, Adolphus Morse; 4-J. M. Winslow, John T.

Lacy; 5-M. Douglass, M. McDonald; 6-C. H.

Clark, G. G. Cooper; 7-E. W. Sabin, Chauncey

Perry; 8-J. B. Bennett, H. L. Pish; 9-L. Bauer.

Lewis Selye; 10-J. E. Morey, C. Dutton.

1857.—1-W. S. Thompson, Jacob Howe; 2-G.

W. Parsons, Heman Lewis; 3-A. Morse, A. Q.

Whocler; 4-J. T. Lacy, H. S. Hebard; 5-M. Mc-

Donald, P. M. Bromley; 6-G. G. Cooper, J.

Schutte; 7-C. Perry, P. Cunningham; 8-H. L.

Fish, Obed M. Eiee; 9-L. Selye, John Lutes; 10-C.

Dutton, Thomas Parsons.

1858.—1-Jacob Howe, W. Mudgett, jr.; 2-He-

man Loomis, G. W. Perry; 3-A. G. Wheeler, W.

A. Eeynolds; 4-11. S. Hebard, 6. W. Lewis; 5-P.

M. Bromley, L. B. Twitchell; 6-J. Schutte, D. «'.

Perry; 7-P. Cunningham, H. Billinghurst ; 8-0,

M. Eice, Henry B. Knapp; 9-J. Lutes, L. Selye;

10-T. Parsons, H. S. Fairchild; 11-J. W. Phillips

L. Bauer.

1859.—1-W. Mudgett, jr., W. F. Holmes; 2-G.

W. Perry, Benjamin Butler; 3-W. A. Reynolds,

W. ITollisLer; 4-G. W. liewis, II. S. Hebard; 5-L.

B. Twitchell, N. C. Bradstreet; 6-D. W. Perry,

John C. Nash; 7-H. G. Moore, Aaron Erickson;

8-H. B. Knapp, N. A. Stone; 9-L. Selye,

J. Lutes; 10-H. S. Fairchild, G. Shelton;

11-L. Bauer, J. C. Mason; 12-W. T. Gushing; H
Billinghurst.

I860.—1-W. F. Holmes, James Brackett; 2-B.

Butler, D. A. Woodbury, 3-W. Hollister, Eben N.
Buell; 4-H. S. Hebard; I. S. Waring; 5-N. 0.

Bradstreet; Alex. Longmuir; 6-Alonzo Stearns,

Gottlieb Goetzman; 7-A. Erickson, H. Q. Moore;
8-N. A. Stone, Levi Palmer; 9-J. Lutes, 0. L.

Angevine; 10-G. Shelton, Frederick Vose; 11-J.

C. Mason, Christian Scha«ffer; 12-H. Billinghurst,

Patrick Barry.

1861.—1-J. Brackett, W. F. Holmes; 2-D. A.

Woodbury, B. Butler; 3-E. N. Buell, John H.

Brewster; 4-1. S. Waring, H. S. Hebard; 5-A.
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Longmuir, N. C. Bradstreet; 6-G. Goetzman,

Cliarles II. Williams; 7-H. G. Moore, Jason W.

Seward; 8-L. Palmer, Daniel Warner; 9-0. L.

Angevine, M. C. Mordoff ; 10-P. Vose, S. B. Ray-

mond; 11-C. Schaeffer, John Cody; 12-P. Barry,

George N. Hotchkin.

1862.—1-W. P. Holmes, Luther C. Spencer;

3-B. Butler, George Darling; 3-J. H. Brewster.

E. N. Buell; 4-H. S. Hebard, C. M. St. John;

5-N. C. Bradstreet, P. M. Bromley; 6-C. H. Wil-

liams, Joseph Hoffman; 7-J. W. Seward, Henry

G. Moore; 8-D. Warner, H. L. Fish; 9-M. C. Mor-

doff, Horace A. Palmer ; 10-S. B. Raymond, Louis

Ernst; 11-John Cody, G. A. Sidler; 12-G. N.

ITotclikin, Ilenvy Hcbing.

1863.—1-L. C. Spencer, Ambrose Cram; 2-Q

Darling, William C. Rowley; 3-B. N. Buell, Daniel

D. T. Moore; 4-C. M. St. John, Wallace Darrow:

5-P. M. Bromley, E. K. Warren; 6-James Hoff-

man, James O'Maley; T'-H. G. Moore, James Up-

ton; 8-H. L. Fish, D. Warner; 9-H. A. Palmer,

M. C. Mordoff; 10-L. Ernst, Alonzo Chapman;

11-G. A. Sidler, Thomas M. Flynn; 12-H. He-

bing, Hamilton McQuatters.

1864.—1-A. Cram, L. C. Spencer; 2-W. C

Rowley, S. A. Hodgeman; 3-D. D. T. Moore, Wil-

liam H. Groot; 4-W. Darrow, G. S. Copeland)

5-E. K. Warren, N. C. Bradstreet; 6-J. O'Maley,

Joseph Scbutte; 7-J. Upton, Rowland Milliman;

8-D. Warner, Henry L. Fish; 9-M. C. Mordoff;

Horace A. Palmer ; 10-A. Chapman, WiUiam Wag-

ner; 11-T. M. Flynn, G. A. Sidler; 12-H. McQuat-

ters, Henry Hebing; 13-George B. Draper, Law-

rence Sellinger.

1805.—l-]j. C. Spencer, A. Cram; 2-Joseph

Qualtrough, George B. Harris; 3-W. H. Groot

William Hollister; 4-G. S. Copeland, Stephen

Remington; 5-Martin Heberger, B. K. Warren;

6-J. Schutte, Joseph Beir; 7-R. Milliman, Wm.

H. Gorsline; 8-H. L. Fish, George Taylor; 9-H.

A. Palmer, W. D. Callister; 10-W. Wagner, John

Quinn; 11-G. A. Sidler, Thomas M. Flynn; 12-H.

-Hebing, H. McQuatters; 13-L. Sellinger, George

P. Draper.

1866.—1-A. Cram, L. C. Spencer ; 2-G. B. Har-

ris, J. Qualtrough; 3-D. C. Hyde, W. H. Groot}

4-S. Remington, John Graham; 5-E. K. Warren,

Wra. Guggeulieim; C-J. Beir, Herman Mutschler;

7-W. H. Gorsline, David Copeland ; 8-George Tay-

lor, M. M. Brown; 9-W. D. Callister, James H.

Kelly; 10-J. Quinn, Cyrus F. Paine; 11-T. M.

Flynn, F. Adelman; 12-A. McQuatters, B. Hor-

cheler; 13-G. P. Draper, John Mauder; 14-H. S.

Hogoboom.

1807.—1-L. C. Spencer, A. Cram; 2-J. Quol-

trough, John Lutes; 3-W. H. Groot, Ezra R. An-

drews ; 4-J. Graham, S. Remington ; 5-W. Guggen-

heim, Wm. Carroll; 6-H. Mutschler, Lodowick F.

Relyea; 7-D. Copeland, William Ratt; 8-M. M.

Brown, George Taylor; 9-J. H. Kelly, Patrick

Burke; 10-C. F. Paine, Samuel R. Woodruff;

11-F. Adelman, Robert R. Charters; 12-B: Hor-

clieler, A. Bingemer ; 13-John Mauder, Henry Mil-

ler; 14-Cornoliu8 R. Parsons, J'. Quinn.

1868.—1-A. Cram, A. G. Whitcomb; 2-J. Lutes,.

J. Qualtrough; 3-B. E. Andrews, H. E. Rochester;

4-S. Remington, G. W. Crouch; 5-W. Carroll,

James Cochrane; 6-L. F. Relyea, William Sidey;

7-W. Ratt, C. A. Jeffords; 8-G. Taylor, Patrick

Caufield; 9-P. Burke, W. S. Thompson; 10-S. R.

Woodruff, Elijah Withall; 11-E. R. Charters, J.

P. Roche; 12-A. Bingemer, F. S. Stebbins; 13-H.

Miller, John Mauder; 14-J. Quinn, C. R. Parsons.

1869.—1-A. G. Whitcomb, C. W. Briggs; 2-J

Qualtrough, John Barker; 3-H. B. Rochester,

Ezra R. Andrews ; 4-G. W. Crouch, S. Remington
;

5-J. Cochrane, W. Caring; 6-W. F. Morrison, L.

F. Relyea; 7-C. A. Jeffords, Philip J. Meyer ;.8-P.

Caufield, Henry H. Craig; 9-W. S. Thompson,

John H. Wilson; 10-E. Withall, S. R. Woodruff;

11-J. P. Roche, Jacob Gerling; 12-F. S. Stebbins,

Edward Dagge; 13-J. Mauder, John Nagle; 14-G.

R. Parsons, William Aikenhead.

1870.—1-C. W. Briggs, A. G. Whitcomb; 2-J.

Barker, George Wait; 3-E. R. Andrews, H. T.

Rogers ; 4-S. Remington, George Herzberger ; 5-W.

Caring, M. M. Smith; 6-L. F. Relyea, G. W. Con-

oily; 7-P. J. Meyer, A. J. Glover; 8-H. H Ctaig,

N. A. Stone; 9-J. H. Wilson; James H. Kelly;

10-S. R. Woodruff, W. Mandeville; 11-J. Gerlinp,

R. R. Charters; 12-E. Dagge, F. S. Stebbins; 13-J.

Nagle, J. Mauder; 14-W. Aikenhead, C. R. Par-

sons.

1871.—1-A. G. Whitcomb, George W. Aldridge;

2-G. Wait, R. K. Gould; 3-H. T. Rogers, Charles

F. Pond; 4-G. Herzberger, M. Heavey; 6-Owen F-

Fee, William Caring; 6-G. W. ConoUy, Abram

Stern ; 7-B. A. Glover, Robert Y. McConnell ; 8-N.
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A. Stone, H. H. Craig; 9-J. H. Kelly, Levr.s

Selye; 10-Wesley Mandeville, John Stape; 11-R

R. Charters, J. Gerling; 12-F. S. Stebbins, V. I

Whitmore; 13-J. Mauder, Frederick Stade; 14-C.

R. Parsons, William Aikenhead.

1873.—1-G. W. Aldridge, John Cowles; 2-R.

K. Gould, James 0. Howard; 3-C. F. Pond, H. T.

Rogers; 4-M. Heavey, John Gorton; 5-W. Car-

ing, 0. F. Fee; 6-A. Stern, G. W. ConoUy; 7-R

Y. McConnell, Charles C Meyer; 8-H. H. Craig,

W. W. Croft; 9-Lewis Selyc, J. H. Kelly; 10-J,

Stape, J. H. Nellis; 11-J. Gerling, Thomas Mitch-

ell; 12-V. F. Whitmore, E. H. C. Griffin; 13-F.

Stade, J. Mander; 14-W. Aikenhead, J. Philip

Farber.

1873.—1-J. Cowles, G. W. Aldridge; 2-J. 0.

Howard, A. H. Cushman; 3-H. T. Rogers, John

McMullen; 4-J. Gorton, G. Herzberger; 5-0. F.

Pee, Henry Brinker; 6-G. W. Connolly, A. Stern;

7-C. C. Meyer, W. G. Anthony; 8-W. W. Croft

D. M. Anthony; 9-J. H. Kelly, William Shelp;

10-J. H. Nellis, John Bower; 11-T. Mitch-

ell, George Fleckenstein ; 12-E. H. C. Griffin,

V. F, Whitmore; 13-J. Mander, J. Margrander;

14-J. P. Farher, F. S. Skuse.

1874.—1-G. W. Aldridge, William H. Tracy;

2-A. H. Cushman; J. 0. Howai'd; 3-J. McMullen,

George D. Lord; 4-G. Herzberger, W. Whitelock:

5-H. Brinker, Charles P. Bromley; 6-A. Stern,

W. N. Emerson ; 7-W. G. Anthony, C. E. Parsons

;

8-D. M. Anthony, N. A. Stone; 9-William Shelp,

James B. Booth; 10-J. Bower, Walter Weldon;

11-F. Gleckenstein, M. J. Maher; 12-V. F. Whit-

more, B. F. Thomas; 13-J. Margrander, John
Mauder; 14-F. S. Skuse, Louis P. Beck; 15-An-

thony H. Martin, James Gorsline; 16-M. H. Mer-
riman, S. Dubelbeiss.

1875.—1-W. H. Tracy, G. W. Aldridge; 2-James

0. "Howard, Andrew Nagle; 3-G. D. Lord, David

H. Westbury; 4-William Whitlocke, A. G. Whit-

comb; 5-C. P. Bromley, Henry Brinker; 6-Simon

Hays, W. N. Emerson, F. H. Smith (fill var

cancy) ; 7-C. R. Parsons, F. S. Hunn, 8-Newell A.

Stone, J. W. Martin; 9-J. B. Booth, James H.
Kelly; 10-Walter Weldon, Edwin Huntington
11-M. J. Maher, George Fleckenstein; 12-B. P
Thomas, John McGraw, 2d; 13-John Mauder.

Jacob Nunnold; 14-Louis P. Beck, William S

Smith; 15-A. H. Martin, J. P. Eickard; 16-J.

George Baetzel, William E. Buell.

1876.—1-G. W. Aldridge, W. H. Tracy, 2-An-

drew Nagel, John M. Brown; 3-David H. West-

bury, Thomas Peart; 4-A. G. Whitcomb, Nathan

Palmer; 5-H. Brinker, Frederick Morhardt; 6-S.

Hays, Willis C. Hadley; 7-Francis S. Hunn, G. A
Eedman ; 8-J. W. Martin, A. H. Bennett ; 9-Jamcs

H. Kelly, Emory B. Chace; 10-Walter Weldo?),

Edwin Huntington; 11-G. Fleckenstein, John

Brayer; 12-John McGraw, 3d, Benjamin F. Thom-

as; 13-J. Nunnold, P. C. Lauer, jr.; 14-W. S.

Smith, Louis P. Beck; 15-Anthony H. Martin,

J. P. Eickard; 16-J. G. Baetzel, Charles Hilbert.

1877.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-Michael H. PitzSim-

ons; 3-ThomaB C. Montgomery; 4-G. Herzberger;

5-Edward K. Warren; 6-Simon Hays; 7-George

A. Redman; 8-J. W. Martin; 9-Bmory B. Chace;

10-B. Huntington; ll-Nicholas Kase; 12-John

Donivan; 13-Fred C. Lauer, jr.; 14-W. S. Smith;

15-J. Miller Kelly; 16-J. G. Baetzel.

1878.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-M. H, FitzSimons;

3-T. C. Montgomery; 4-G. Herzberger; 5-E. K
Warren; 6-8. Hays; 7-Charle8 T. Crouch; 8-J.

W. Martin; 9-B. B. Chace; 10-E. Huntington;

11-Eudolph Vay; 12-J. Donivan; 13-Lewis Bdel-

man; 14-W. S. Smith; 15-Joseph W. Knobles;

16-J. G. Baetzel.

1879.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-M. H. FitzSimons;

o-D. H. Westbury; 4-L. M. Otis; 5-B. K. Warren;

e-Henry llebing; 7-0. T. Crouch ; 8-Qeorge Cham-

bers; 9-E. B. Chace; 10-Wesley Mandeville; 11-E.

Vay; 12-Philip Wickens; 13-Lewis Edelman;
14-D. G. Weaver; 15-J. W. Knobles; 16.J. J.

Hart.

1880.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-M. H. FitzSimons;

3-D. H. Westbury; 4-L. M. Otis; 5-Owen F. Fee;

6-Henry Hebing; 7-Ira L. Otis; 8-Q. Chambers;

9-S. D. Walbridge; 10-W. Mandeville; ll-John

A. Felsinger; 12-Philip Wickens; 13-L. Edelman:
14-D. G. Weaver; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-J. J. Hari
1881.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-Martin Barron; 3-D.

H. Westbury; 4-H. S. Ransom; 5-0. F. Fee; 6-A.

Stern; 7-1. L. Otis; 8-G. Chambers; 9-S. D. Wal-

bridge; 10-J. M. Pitkin; 11-J. A. Felsinger; 12-

Henry Rice; 13-L. Edelman; 14-W. Aikenhead;

15-J. M. Kelly; 16-J. J. Hart.

1882.—1-Alphonso Collins; 2-M. Barron;

3-Amon Bronson; 4-H. S. Ransom; 5-George W.
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Archer; 6-A. Stem; 7-Charles A. Jeffords; 8-6

Chambers; 9-James A. Hinds; 10-J. M. Pitkin;

11-J. A. Felsinger; 12- H. Rice; 13-James T.

Southard; 14-W. Aikenhead; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-

J. J. Hart.

1883.—1-A. Collins; 2-M. Barron; 3-A. Bron-

son; 4-Charles Watson; 5-George W. Archer; 6-

Klias. Strolls; ^-Charles A. Jeffords; 8-John H.

Foley; 9-Janies A. Hinds; lO-James M. Pitkin;

11-John A. Felsinger; 12-H. Rice; 13-James T.

Southard; 14-James M. Aikenhead; 15-J. M.
Kelly ; 16-John B. Simmelink.

1884.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-M. Barron; 3-Amon
Bronson; 4-Charles Watson; 5-Henry Kohlmetz;

6-E. Strouss; 7-C. A. Jeffords; 8-J. H. Foley;

9-Frank S. Upton; 10-J. M. Pitkin; 11-Peter G.

Seiner; 12-H. Rice; IS-Christian Stein; 14-J. M.
Aikenhead; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-J. B. Simmelink.

1885.—1-W. H. Tracy, W. Coughlin, jr.; 3-A.

Bronson; 4-C. Watson; S-H. Kohlmetz; 6-Frank

• FritzRchc; 7-C. A. Jeffords; 8-J. H. Foley; 9-F.

S. Upton; 10-W. Mandeville; 11-Peter G. Seiner;

12-Philip Weider; 13- C. Stein; 14-Louis Bohrer;

15-J. M. Kelly; 16-C. J. Shafer.

1886.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-W. Coghlin, jr.; 3-

William H. Marson; 4-C. Watson; 5-H. Kohlmetz;

6-F. Fritsche; 7-George W. Elliott; 8-J. H. Foley;

9-De Villo W. Selye; 10-W. Mandeville; 11-George

B. Swikehard; 12-P. Weider; 13-C. Stein; 14-L.

Bohrer; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-C. J. Shafer.

1887.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-William H. Sullivan;

3-W. H. Marson; 4-Joseph H. Fee; 5-H. Kohl-

metz; 6-F. Fritzsche; 7-G. W. Elliott; 8-J. H.

Foley; 9-De V. W. Selye; 10-Leo J: Hall; 11-G.

B. Swikehard; 12-P. Weider; 13-C. Stein; 14-L.

14-L. Bohrer; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-Halbert G.

Thayer.

1888.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-W. H. Sullivan;

3-Thomas McMillan; 4-J. H. Fee; 5-H. Kohl-

metz: f)-F. Fritscho; 7-Forc9t H. Williams; 8-J.

H. Foley; 9-De V. W. Selye; 10-L. J. Hall; 11-G.

B. Swikehard; 12-J. S. Judson; 13-John U.

Schroth; 14-L. Bohrer; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-H. G.

Thayer.

1889.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-W. H. Sullivan; 3-T.

McMillan ; 4-J. H. Fee ; 5-H. Kohlmetz ; e-Morris

H. Lempert; 7-F. H. Williams; 8-Henry Shelter;

9-De V. W. Selye; 10-L. J. Hall; 11-G. B. Swike-

hard; 12-J. S. Judson; 13-J. U. Schroth; 14-L.

Bohrer; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-H, G. Thayer.

1890.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-W. H. Sullivan; 3-T.

McMillan; 4-J. H. Fee; 5-Stephen Eauber; 6-M.

H. Lempert; 7-S. D. W. Cleveland; 8-H, Shelter;

9-De V. W. Selye; 10-L. J. Hall; 11-Joseph Bier-

brauer; 12-J. S. Judson; 13-J. U. Schroth; 14-L.

Bohrer; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-H. G. Thayer.

1891.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-Martin J. Caliban;

3-T. McMillan; 4-Conrad Zimmer; 5-S. Eauber;

6-M. H. Lempert; 7-S. D. W. Cleveland; 8-IL

Shelter; 9-Julius Wurtz; 10-M. B. Adams; 11-J.

Bierbrauer; 12-Henry G. Cook; 13-John F. Fox;

14-L. Bohrer; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-Merton B.

Lewis.

1892.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-T McMillan*;

3-CharleB S. Cook; 4-M. J. Caliban; 5-C. Zimmer;

6-M. B. Adams; 7-M. H. Lempert; 8-John P
Fox; 9-James Johnston; 10-J. Wurtz; 11-William

Ward; 12-Alvin H. Dewey; 13-H. G. Cook; 14-

William Pauckner; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-James W.
Aikenhead; 17-John B. Simmelink; 18-Merton

E. Lewis; 19-Daniel W. Forsyth; 30-Joseph Bier-

brauer.

1893.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-T. McMillan; 3-C. S

Cook; 4-Martin J. Caliban; 5-Conrad W. Zim,

mer; 6-Mahlon B. Adams; 7-Morris H. Lempert;

8-John P. Fox; 9-J. Johnston; 10-John H. Ash-

ton; 11-W. Ward; 12-A. H. Dewey; 13-H. G
Cook; 14-W. Pauckner; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-J. W.
Aikenhead; 17-J. B. Simmelink; 18-M. B. Lewis;

19-D. W. Forsyth; 20-J. Bierbrauer.

1894.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-M. J. Caliban; 3-T

McMillan ;4-W.C. Green; 5-Stephen Eauber; 6-M.

B. Adams; 7-Louis Edelman; 8-J. F. Pox; 9-John

Powell; 10-John H. Ashton; 11-W. Ward; 12-

A. H. Dewey; 13-H. G. Cook; 14-W. Pauckner;

15-J. M. Kelly; 16-J. W. Aikenhead; 17-J. B.

Simmelink; 18-M. E. Lewis; 19-David Harris;

20-J. Bierbrauer.

1895.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-M. J. Caliban; 3-T

McMillan; 4-W. C. Green; 5-S. Eauber; 6-M. B.

Adams; 7-L. Edelman; 8-J. F. Fox; 9-J. E. Pow-

ell; 10-J. H. Ashton; 11-W. Ward; 12-A. H.

Dewey ; 13-H. G. Cook ; 14-W. Pauckner ; 15-J. M
Kelly; IG-J. AV. Aikenhead; 17-J. B. Simmelink;

*During 1802 and 1803 the old third ward was, by a legis-

lative trick, the second ward; after the latter date its original

and rightful name was restored to it.
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18-M. E. Lewis; 19-D. Harris; 20-Eichard J

Decker.

1896.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-M. J. Calihau;

3-Thomas W. Ford; 4-W. G. Green; 5-S. Eaubev;

6-M. B. Adams; 7-L. Edelman; 8-William S
Beard; 9-J. Johnston; 10-De V. W. Selye; 11-W
Ward; 13-A. H. Dewey; 13-H. G. Cook; 14-W.

Pauckner; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-J. A. Crane; 17-

J. B. Simmelink; 18-Bdward Bnglehardt; 19-Jo-

seph C. Wilson ; 20-William V. Eeichenberger.

1897.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-M. J. Caliban; 3-T.

W. Ford; 4-W. "C. Green; 5-S. Eauber; 6-M. B.

Adams; 7-L. Edelman; 8-W. S. Beard; 9-J. John-
ston; 10-D; W. Selye; 11-W. Ward; 13-A. H.
Dewey; 13-H. G. Cook; 14-W. Pauckner; 15-J. M.
Kelly; 16-J. A. Crane; 17-J. Simmelink; 18-E.

Englehardt; lO-J. C. Wilson; 20-W. V. Eeichen-

berger.

1898.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-M. J. Caliban; 3-T
W. Ford; 4-W. C. Green; 5-S. Eauber; 6-M. B
Adams; 7-L. Edelman; 8-W. S. Beard; 9-James
H. Casey; 10-D. W. Selye; 11-W. Ward; 13-

John M. Steele; 13-F. J. Eitz; 14-W. Pauckner;

16.J. M. Kelly; 16-Wondcll Ernst; 17-C. P
Meade; 18-0. H. Judson; 19-J. 0. Wilson; 20-W
V. Eeichenberger.

1899.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-M. J. Caliban; 2-Mat
thias J. Caliban (to fill vacancy) ; 3-T. W. Ford
4-W. C. Green; 5-S. Eauber; 6-M. B. Adams; 7-L'

Edelman; 8-W. S. Beard; 9-J. H. Casey; 10-D
W. Selye; 11-W. Ward; 12-John M. Steele;

13-Prank J. Eitz; 14-W. Pauckner; 15-J. M.
Kelly; 16-W. Ernst; 17-C. P. Mead; 18-C. H.
Judson; 19-J. C. Wilson; 20-W. V. Eeichen-
berger.

1900.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-M. J. Caliban; 3-Wil-
liam H. Marson; 4-Milton Eace; 5-Charles .S

Cook; 6-Frank A. Ward; 7-Christopher W
Young; 8-W. S. Beard; 9-J. H. Casey; lO-William
J. Baker; 11-Jobn M. Eeddington; 12-William T.
Plumb; 13-H. G. Cook; 14-Prank G. Parsons; 15-

J. M. Kelly; 16-W. Ernst; 17-C. P. Mead; 18-
C. H. Judson; 19-Jame8 J. Tanner; 20-August J.
May.

1901.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-M. J. Caliban; 3-W.
H. Marson; 4-M. Eace; 5-C. S. Cook; 6-F. A.

Ward; 7-C. W. Young; 8-W. S. Beard; 9-J. H.

Casey; 10-W. J. Baker; 11-J. M. Eeddington; 12-

W. T. Plumb; 13-H. G. Cook; 14-F. G. Parsons;

15-J. M. Kelly; 16-W. Ernst; 17-C. P. Mead; 18

C. H. Judson; 19-J. J. Tanner; 20-A. J. May.

1902.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-William Kenealy; 3-

Albert J. HoUister; 4-William H. Craig; 5-Jolin

Hart, sr. ; 6-F. A. Ward; 7-Moses Rosenberg; 8-

George J. Wunder; 9-J. H. Casey; 10-W. J
Baker; 11-W. Ward; 12.W. T. Plumb; 13-Frank

J. Eitz; 14-John Zellweger; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-

Jobn McParlin; 17-Joseph P. Ribstein; IS-Charles

H. Judson; 19-James J. Tanner; 20-A. J. May.

1903.—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-W. Kenealy; 3-A. J.

Hollister; 4-W. H. Craig; 5-J. Hart, sr.; 6-F.

A. Ward; 7-M. Rosenberg; 8-G. J. Wunder; 9,

J. H. Casey; 10-W. J. Baker; 11-W. Ward; 12-

W. T. Plumb; 13-F. J. Eitz; 14-J. Zellweger;

15-J. M. Kelly; 16-John McParlin; 17-J. P.

Eibstein; 18-C. H. Judson; 19-J. J. Tanner; 20-

A. J. May.

1904.—1-W. n. Tracy; 2-W. Kenealy; 3-Eay-

niond E. Wcstbury; 4-W. H. Craig; 5-J. Hart,sr;
6-P. A. Ward; 7-William Quinlan; 8-G. J. Wun,
der; 9rJ. H. Casey; 10-William P. Morgan; 11-

W. Ward; 12-E. S. Paviour; 13-Frank J. Eitz;

14-Jacob Allmeroth; 15-J. M. Kelly; 16-Wendelin

'

Ernst; 17-Joseph F. Ribstein; 18-Peter W. Seiler;

19-J. J. Tanner; 20-Jacob Gerling, jr.

1905,—1-W. H. Tracy; 2-William Kenealy; 3-

R. E. Westbury; 4-W. H. Craig; 5-J. Hart, sr.;

6-F. A. Ward; 7-W. Quinlan; 8-G. J. Wunder;
9-Joseph Dumherr; 10-W. P. Morgan; 11-W
Ward; 12-R.S. Paviour; 13-Frank J. Ritz; 14-

J. Allmeroth; 15-James Malley; 16-W. Ernst; 17-

J. F. Ribstein; 18-P. W. Seiler; 19-J. J. Tannery
20-J. Gerling, jr.

1906.—l,Thomas T. Mooney; 2-WiUiam Ken-
ealy; 3-E. E. Westbury; 4-L. J. Somers; 5-Joseph
G. Eitter; 6-F. A. Ward; 7-George M. Schmidt;
8-G. J. Wunder; 9-John A. Casey; 10-W. P. Mor-
gan; 11-W. Ward; 12-R. S. Paviour; 13-P. J.

Ritz; 14-J. Allmeroth; 15-J. Malley; 16-Joseph D.
Mura; 17-J. p. Ribstein; 18-P. W. Seiler; 19-
J. J. Tanner; 20-A. J. May; 31-Henry J. Peck.



CHAPTER XX

THE COURTS AND THE BAE.

BY JOHN H. HOPKINS.

The First Attorney in Rochester—Early Lawyers

of the County—Orlando Hastings—Oeorge F.

Danforth—James 0. Cochrane—William F.

Cogswell—John Van Voorhis—Theodore Bacon

—Oscar Craig—George F. Yeoman—The Bar

Association—The District Attorneys—The City

Attorneys—The Court of Appeals—Judge Gar-

diner—The Two Seldens—Judge Church—
Judge Danforth—Judge Werner—Chancellor

Whittlesey—The Supreme Court—Judge E
Darwin Smith—Judge Rawson—Judge Angle—
Judge Macomier—Judge Davy—Judge Yeoman
—The Present Justices—The Appellate Divis-

ion—The Cowt of Claims—County Judges—
Special County Judges—Surrogates—The Mu-

nicipal Court—Police Justices—County Clerics

—Sheriffs—Roll of the Bar—Present Members

of the Bar.

I.

THE BAR.

Perhaps no body of men, not excepting the

clergy, may exercise a greater influence for good

in a community than those who follow the pro-

fession of the law; and it must be admitted that

to no other body, not even to the so-called criminal

classes, are committed greater possibilities of an

influence for evil. WJiat that influence shall l)e

depends on the character of the men who constitute

the bar of the community,—not merely on their

ability or learning, but on their character. If the

standard of morality among the members of the

bar is high, the whole community learns to look

at questions of right and wrong from a higher

plane. If the bar, consciously or unconsciously,

adopts a low standard of morality, it almost in-

evitably contaminates the conscience of the com-

munity. And this is true not only in the practice

of the profession itself, not only because of the

influence of members of the bar as men rather

than lawyers, but in the effect on other profes-

sions and occupations to which the bar acts as a

feeder. The members of the legislature are re-

cruited largely from the legal profession. How
can legislation, designed solely for the welfare of

the public, be expected from one whose honor, as

a lawyer, has not been above suspicion? And
since lawyers, outside of the legislature, have a

great influence in shaping laws, how can the peo-

ple expect that influence to be exerted in their

behalf, when the bar itself is unworthy? Still

more does the character of the bar affect the

Judiciary, which is supplied from its ranks. It is

not always, perhaps not generally, the case thai

members of the bench are chosen from those law-

yers who have attained the highest rank in theii

profession. If a judge be industrious and honest,

but not of great ability, or if he be able and honest

though lacking industry, the rights of litigants are

not likely to suffer seriously at his hands. But

there have been instances where judicial office

was bestowed solely as a reward for political ser

vices; and, while it has sometimes happened that

one who has been a strenuous and not too scrupu-

lous politician up to the moment of his elevatioj
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to the bench has thereafter forgotten that there

was such a trade as politics and has administered

justice withovit fear or favor, the experiment is

a dangerous one. No one need be surprised if, in

such a case, the old maxim holds true : "He who

buys the office of judge must, of necessity, sell

justice." Let our judges be men who are subject

to other influences than those of the facts sub-

mitted to them and the law applicable to those

facts, let them lack that independence which is an

imperative requisite in one who holds the scales

of justice, let a well-founded suspicion arise that

their decisions are dictated by something outside

of their own minds and consciences, and the con-

fidence of the people in the maintenance of theii

rights through the agency of the courts is de-

stroyed.

It has been the good fortune of the city ol

Rochester and the county of Monroe that the

members of the bar here have been, for the most

part, men of high character as well as of ability

and learning, so that this bar has won a high and

honorable reputation throughout the rest of the

slate. And because of the liigh charactcf of the

bar it lias followed that those of its members who

have been elevated to the bench have enjoyed the

confidence and respect of the public and have

been honored, not only in their own locality, but,

in many cases, throughout the state.

Yet the preparation of a history of the bar, sc

far, at least, as that part of it which lies back of

one's own generation is concerned, is attended witli

considerable difficulty. Probably few men who,

in their time, play important parts in the com-

munity, or even in the state or nation, leave sc

transient a reputation ns lawyers do. In an in-

formal talk to the Rochester Bar association, in

1899, on "The Lawyers of Fifty Years Ago Whom
1 Have Observed," Mr. William F. Cogswell said

"In thinking over the names of these distinguished

men of whom I have been speaking, the thought

lias come to me, how evanescent and limited is b

lawyer's reputation, both in time and in space. I

doubt very much if a lawyer, whatever his stand-

ing, is much known to the profession outside of

his own state." Those who attain high rank in

the profession must realize that, with rare ex-

ceptions, their names are "writ in water." One

may turn over the leaves of old reports and find

repeated again and again, as counsel in different

cases, the name of some lawyer who must have

been, in his time, a power in the courts, only to

wonder if lie has ever seen that name outside of

the covers of the dusty reports in which itap

pears. Hamilton in the conventions, in the Feder-

alist and in the treasury, and Webster in the

Senate and in public orations, have perpetuated

and increased the fame of the lawyers, Hamilton

and Webster; and were it not for their services

outside of the strict limits of their profession, one

might come upon their names, at this day, with

much the same lack of recognition as that witli

which one finds, in a reported case, the name nf

some counsel, great, perhaps, in his own time, bui

long forgotten.

And there is another difficulty in such a history

as this, brief, and, therefore, necessarily limited

to a few names, and that is that some may h
omitted who are quite as worthy of mention as

those whose names appear. It is not often thai

any one man stands, as a lawyer, head and should-

ers above the other members of the profession ; and

the same may be said of any half dozen men

In many cases the most careful measurement

would fail to disclose a difference of more than

a fraction of an inch, if any. Lives of eminent

men who have, at some period, been practising

lawyers, often contain the assertion that, while

they were engaged in the practice of their pro-

fession, they were "leaders of the bar;" and there

is almost always room for doubt as to whethei

the title is not a brevet bestowed by the biographei

alone. The mention in this article of certain law-

yers must not be taken as any disparagement of

those who are not mentioned.

And, finally, it is to be observed that this article,

so far as the bar is concerned, treats only of those

who are no longer living. In speaking of the bench,

however, it will be necessary to mention the living,

as well as the dead.

The history of the bar of Rochester opens, ap-

parently, with John Mastick, who began practice

at what was then Charlottesburg, at the mouth of

the Genesee river, about 1815, moving soon aftei

to the village of Rochester. He was, for a time at

least, the leader of the bar, the bar association, and

everything else connected with the legal profes-

sion. He was followed, about 1817, by Hastings

R. Bender and, a little later, by Roswell Babbitt,

Joseph Spencer, Jesse Dane and Enos Pomeroy
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All those were practising their prolessioii prior

to 1821, and, as the county of Monroe did not

conic into legal existence nntil that dale, they

cannot be said, strictly, to have been members of

the bar of Monroe county before that time.

The village of liochcsfcr grow rapidly and, as it

grew, it attracted members of the legal profession

in increasing numbers. From 1821 to 1827 thf

roll of its attorneys contains twenty-seven names

in addition to tlioso already mentioned, and among

Ihcni Addison Gardiner, Fletcher M. llaighl, Har-

vey Humphrey, Vincent Mathews, Samuel L. Sel-

den and Frederick Whittlesey. Of these the bench

may properly, claim Gardiner, Selden, Whittlesej

and Humphrey. Mr. Cogswell, in the informal talk

already referred to, says of Mr. Haight : "When 3

came here to study my profession" (which must

have been about 1844 or 1845), "the two gentle-

men unquestionably at the head of the profession

in active practice, were Orlando Hastings and

Fletcher M. Haight. Mr. Haight soon after moved

to St. Louis, from there to San Francisco, and was

made district judge by Mr. Lincoln." He refers tc

Mr. Yinccnl Mathews, as, at that tiino, "the fatlver

of the bar." .

Rochester was incorporated, as a city in 1834

and by that time twenty-two more names had been

added to the roll of its attorneys. Among them

appear Orlando Hastings, Selah Mathews and E.

Darwin Smith, the latter better known as a mem-

ber of the judiciary. Orlando Hastings, Mr. Cogs-

well mentions, in the words already quoted, as one

of the leaders of the bar. He further says of him

'Mr. Hastings was an albino. He could not see

except with a magnifying glass of very high jmwer

1 have often thought his physical infirmity mignt

be largely the occasion of his great ability. I<

drove him into himself to think, instead of con-

tinuously reading the thoughts of others." Owing

to his defective sight it was Mr. Hastings' habit

on cross-examination, to stand close to the witness,

a habit which was said to have been decidedly dis-

concerting to the witness. Some, at least, of the

older practitioners now living are inclined to ac-

cord to Mr. Selah Mathews the title of leader of

the bar of sixty years ago. He certainly held a

very prominent position among the lawyers of thai

time, and his reputation has endured to tHe prew-

(Mil day, which is a long time for a lawyov's repu-

tation to survive. While his kno^^leclge of real

estate law gave him, perhaps, peculiar authority ol

that subject, he was recognized as an "all around'

lawyer of great ability and learning. He was a

man of high character and, as one who remembers

him says, "his very appearance gave the impres-

sion of a man both brilliant and solid."

By i8;i8 fourteen more names were added to

Ihe list, including Jasper AY Gilbert, afterward

justice of tlic Supreme court of this state, and E.

J't'shiiic Sniitli, Ijettcr known in the diplomatic

service ; and in the list of 1841 is found the name
of John W. Dwindle, later a judge of the Supreme
court of California.

From the long list of 1844 probably at least

half a dozon names might be selected for special

mention without impi'oprioty ; but the reputation

of one sonicwhat overshadowed the others. At
the time of his elevationto the bencli of the Court

of Appeals, George F. Danforth shared with the

late William F. Cogswell the leadership of , the

bar of the city and county. On retiring from the

bench in 1890, in consequence of the constitutional,

limitation of age, he resumed practice in Roches-

ter, confining himself principally to the appellate

courts, where he spoke with much of his old vigor

and brilliancy. He .did not care to take up general

practice again, accepting only such cases as seemed

to him of special interest. A mind as active and

well equipped as his could not remain content ir

(!omplete abtindonment of the contests of the law

On the 25th day of September, 1899, at the Ro-

chester special term, he had just resumed his seat

after addressing the court on the argument of a

demurrer, when he was observed to sink down In

his chair in evident iiuconsciousnpss. Ho was at-

onoe carried to another room of the court-house

and medical assistance summoned, but nol-hing

could be done to revive him and he died within a

few minutes, without regaining consciousness.

In the roll of 1845 are found the names of

James L. Angle, afterward justice of the Supreme

court, and Lewis H. Morgan, better known in the

world of science than in that of law; and four

years later the names of Oliver M. Benedict, James

C. Cochrane, William F. Cogswell and Henry R

Selden appear.

Mr. Benedict was regarded as a very able and

trustworthy counselor,' his field being the office

rathor than the courl-room. Ho was in parlncr-

ahip for several years with Samnel S. Bowne,
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whose name first appears on the roll of 1849, and

whose gifts as an advocate won him an excellent

reputation as a trial lawyer. Mr. Bowne had coms

to Rochester from Otsego county and soon re-

turned there, after which Mr. Benedict took int'i

partnership John H. Martindale, afterward attor-

ney-general of the state, who came to be recognized

as one of the ablest champions to whom plaintiff:

in negligence actions could entrust their rights.

It has been said that, at the time of Judge

Danforth's election to the .Court of Appeals, he and

Mr. William F. Cogswell divided the leadership ol

the bar ; and yet there are not a few who insist thn

!

the leadership was vested in a triumvirate, and

that the name of James C. Cochrane should be

added to the others. Mr. Cochrane was certainly

one of the ablest lawyers wliom the bar of thii;

city tmd county has known. A man of high char-

acter, he impressed a jury by the sincerity of hii-

address rather than by any special gift of elo-

quence. He was not only learned in the written

law, but he possessed, in large measure, that so-

called "common" sense, which is really so uncom-

mon, by which the fundamental principles of law

and equity are recognized, without the necessity

of first resorting to the printed pages of reports

and text-books. He died January 25th, 1881,

while still at the height of his powers.

For twenty years after the election of Judgf

Danfoi'th to the Court of Appeals and the death of

Mr. Cochrane no one would have hesitated to ac-

cord the primacy of the bar of this city and county

to Mr. William F. Cogswell. Not that the bar has

been at all lacking in able men during that time

;

many- names will occur to those whose memories

cover a quarter of a century. But Mr. Cogswell was

a very unusual lawyer. He reached, at once, the

very heart of a legal question, which most other;

gained only by a long road and arduously. If t

litigant found that his adversary was representee

by eminent counsel, no matter from what pari

of the country or with however vast a reputation,

he might rest content if he had succeeded in re-

taining William F. Cogswell, knowing that his

own interests were in the hands of a master. Judg-

ing from the accounts of those who read law in hii!

office, he was not a man of extraordinary industrv

His method of getting at the essence of a case

was as far removed as possible from that of dig-

ging. He was otie of the fortunate few who ma-\

be classed as "born" lawyers. Though he made

no pretensions to oratorical skill, it was always

a delight to listen to him. With a few luminous

sentences, in which no word was wasted, he wcni

straight to the vital part of a case, so that juries,

as well as courts, owned his power. He was a,

man of fine literary tastes and wide reading in

fields not connected with the law. For several

years prior to his death, in 1905, he had virtualh

retired from practice, though, until the last year,

he visited his office daily. He persistently refused

to be a candidate for, or to accept, public office

It is characteristic both of his modesty and hi;

enviable economy in the use of words that ir

"Landmarks of Monroe County," published ir

1895, his biography, prepared by himself, contains

this, and tills only: "Williiim K. Cogswell was

born in the town of Perinton, Monroe county, Sep-

tember 26th, 1824, was admitted to the bar in

May, 1846, and has practised his profession in

Rochester ever since."

For some years after his admission to the bar i r

1830, Henry R. Selden practised his profession at

Clarkson, in this county. It is said, in "Land-

marks of Monroe County," that lie removed to

Rochester about 1857, but his name appears on the

roll of the Rochester bar in 1849. As he became a

member of the highest court of the state, more

space will be given to him in the portion of this

article treating of the judiciary. It is sulTicient

to say of his career as a lawyer that no one has

occupied a higher place in the bar of this city and

county. After reaching the age of seventy years

he ceased, in a measure, the active pursuit of hir

profession, and in 1879 he definitely withdrew

from practice. At the time of his death, in 1855,

the Rochester Post Ex}H'ess said: "Judge Selden.

at the time of his retirement, was the universally

acknowledged leader of the bar of Western New
York."

Of the lawyers whose names appear on the rolls

after those already mentioned, reference has al-

ready been made to John H. Martindale. Only

four others will be selected, not, as has been said,

from lack of material, but because the proper

limits of this article forbid a more general refer-

ence. These four will undoubtedly be recognized

as deserving of special mention.

John Van Voorhis was admitted to the bar in

1852 and, in the following year, opened an office
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in Elmiia, in partnership with Hon. Gilbert 0.

linlse. On J uly 4th, 1854, he removed to Rochester,

where lie resided find practised his profession until

his death, October 20tli, 1905. He held several

public offices, among them that of representative in

Congress, being elected in 1878, 1880 and 1892.

He was a delegate to the national Republican con-

vention at Baltimore in 1864, and had many inte'.'-

esting reminiscences of the men of that time. Nat
urally of a kindly disposition, and a pleasant and

entertaining companion socially, he was an indom-

itable fighter in his profession and threw himself

so completely into the cause of his client as some-

times to arouse the hostility of the court as well

as that of his antagonists. He never acknowledged

defeat so long as there was a court left to which an

appeal might be taken, and those clients who per-

mitted him to carry the war to the end seldom had

reason to regret their confidence in him, for he

(lid not enter a combat recklessly or without a

plentiful supply ot legal ainnmnition. 'J'hc mel-

lowing effect of age led him to abandon, in later

years, much of the asperity which had formerly

characterized his appearance in the legal arena. He
was much interested in young men who were pre-

paring for or had just entered the profession

freely giving them advice and encouragement, an

interest which was repaid by them with respect and

affection.

Theodore Bacon graduated from Yale college

at the age of nineteen years, in the famous class

of 1853. He studied law at Clarkson, Monro?

county, with Hon. Henry R. Selden, whose eldest

daughter he afterward married, and was admitted

to tlie bar in 1856. From 1861 to 1865 he was n

captain in the Seventh Connecticut vohinteers, a

regiment which won an honorable reputation in thr

Civil war. Coming to Rochester in 1865 he prac-

tised his profession here until his death, January

22d, 1900. Mr. Bacon was justly recognized as one

of the ablest linv3'ers that this bar liiis luui. One

of the most courteous of men, he yet carried a

blade of sarcasm of which his antagonists had good

1 eason to beware ; and his proficiency in the use of

that weapon led him to resort to it more often, per-

haps, than the occasion demanded. His sar-

casm, however, was not infrequently conveyed

with a humor that carried no sting. One instance

may be given. He was about to argue a case in

the Court of Appeals when the chief judge read

aloud a telegram which had just been received

from the opposing counsel, who stated, briefly, that

he had been delayed, and suggested, also briefly,

that the case be held until his arrival. The terse-

ness of the telegram gave it a somewhat mandator}

sound, and Mr. Bacon's only reply to the chief

judge was, "I suppose the court will not venture

to disobey so peremptory an order." While Mr
Bacon was devoted to his profession, he was a

scholar whose intellectual activities could not be

confined to one field. He possessed a fine literary

taste and a mastery of English, to which his oc-

casional contributions to magazines bear witness.

The name of Oscar Craig first appears on tlie

roll of attorneys in 1859. He was not prominent

as a trial lawyer, but was regarded as a wise and

trustworthy counselor. He was attorney for thj

Monroe County Savings bank from 1878 until hU
death. Yet while his ability as a lawyer was be-

yond question, it was his broad philanthropy, his

work and influence in the field of charity, that gave

him a more lasting reputation. At the time of

his death, in 1895, he was president of the Statf

Board of Charities
;

. and his name and philan-

thropic labors are perpetuated in the Craig Colony

for Epileptics at Sonyea.

George F. Yeoman was born in Delaware county

in 1846, was admitted to the bar in this city i'J

1875, and practised his profession here from that

time until his death in 1902, with the exception

of the year 1894, during which he served as justice

of the Supreme court by appointment of Governoi

Flower. Judge Yeoman possessed a very clear

and logical mind and was deeply and accurately

read in the law. He was a man of the highest

character, incapable of an unworthy action, and his

untimely death was universally regretted.

Here ends the history of the bar of the city and

county, so far as any extended reference to individ-

ual members is concerned. In accordance with the

plan mentioned in an earlier part of this article,

it has been confined to those who are no longer

living. Sketches of living members of the bar

will be found in another part of this book. There

will also be appended to this article the roll of tin;

Rochester bar, given in "Landmarks of Monroe

County," and carried down to the present year, and

the roll of the bar of the city and county as it now

stands.
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A few other items relating to tlic bar may be of

interest.

Four women are members of tlie Rooliester hux-

Their names and the dates of their aihiiission to

l)ractiee are as follows: Kate K. Crunncll, 1897;

Mary R. Orwen, 1898 ; Myrtle M. Mann, 1903, and

Margaret E. Booth, 1905.

TlIU BAK ASSOCIATION.

The Rochester Bar association was incorporated

November 28th, 1893. Candidates for admission

must be recommended by the committee on mem-

bership, and more than one negative vote in com-

mittee excludes a candidate from recommendation.

Election is by ballot, one negative in every five

votes being sufficient to prevent an election. The

present membership is over one hundred and sev-

enty. Annual dues of five dollars are required from

members. There is now over $3,000 in the treas-

ury. The officers consist of a president, first and

second vice-presidents, secretary, treasurer and

eight trustees, who, with the president, secretary

and treasurer, constitute the board of trustees.

These are elected at the annual meeting on the

second Tuesday of December in each year. The

presidents of the association have been as follows

:

1893-4, Nathaniel Foote; 1895, Porter M. French;

1896, George F. Yeoman; 1897, Edward Harris;

1898, William A. Sutherland; 1899, Walter S.

Hubbell; 1900, Joseph W. Taylor; 1901, Charles

J. Bissell; 1902, Charles M. Williams; 1903,

James Breck Perkins; 1904, Albert H. Harris;

1905, John Desmond; 1906, Jonas P. Varnmn;

1907, Eugene Van Voorhis.

Huson; 1859, Joseph A. Stull; 1863, William H.

Bowman; 1865, Christopher C. Davison; 1868,

John M. Davy; 1871, George Raines; 1877, Ed-

ward S. Fenner; 1883, Joseph W. Taylor; 1880,

George A. Benton; 1893, George D. Forsyth; 1898,

Stephen J. Warren.

CITY ATTORNEYS.

Those who have served as legal advisers of the

city, under the title of city attorney (part of the

time attorney to the common council), until 1900

and since then under the title of corporation coun-

sel, are as follows : 1834, Vincent Mathews; 1835,

Ashley Sampson; 1836, William S. Bishop; 1837,

Ashley Sampson; 1838, Frederick Whittlesey;

1844, John W. Dwinelle; 1845, Robert Haight;

1849, William Breck; 1851, Henry Hunter; 1853,

Lysander Farrar; 1855, John C. Chumasero; 1857,

James L. Angle; 1859, John Van Voorhis; 1861,

Edward A. Raymond; 1863, George W. Miller;

1864, W. Dean Shuart; 1866, Edward A. Ray-

mond; 1869, Albert G. Wheeler; 1870, Jesse Shep-

herd; 1874, J. Breck Perkins; 1878, Albert Q.

Wheeler; 1880, John R. Fanning; 1882, John N".

Beckley; 1886, Ivan Powers; 1888, Charles B.

Ernst; 1892, C. D. Kiehel; 1894, A. J. Rodenbeck;

1899, John F. Kinney; 1900, Porter M. French;

1903, William A. Sutherland; 1904, William W
Webb.

It is quite possible that these lists do not con-

tain the names of all who filled the office of dis-

trict-attorney or city attorney prior to 1850, but

they are as accurate as available sources of infor-

mation will allow.

DISTRICT ATTORNEYS. II.

In 1818 each county was made a separate dis-

trict, so far as related to the office of district-at-

torney. That office was created in 1801 and, from

that time until the adoption of the constitution of

1846, was filled by appointment. Since 1846 dis-

trict-attorneys have been elected. Tlie list is as

follows: 1831, Timothy Childs; 1835, Addison

Gardiner; 1831, Vincent Mathews; 1831, Hestor

L. Stevens; 1836, Horace Gay ; 1836, Abner Pratt

;

1843, Jasper W. Gilbert; 1846, Nicholas E. Paine;

1847, William S. Bishop; 1850, Martin S. New-

ton; 1853, Edward A. Raymond; 1856, Calvin

THE BENCH.

The highest court of the state, the Court of

Appeals, was created by the constitution of 1846
to take the place of the court for the Correction

of Errors, which consisted of the president of tht

Senate, the senators, the chancellor, and the jus-

tices of the Supreme court, or the major part of

them. As at first constituted the court was "com-
posed of eight judges, of whom four shall be elected

by the electors of the state for eight years, and
four selected from the class of justices of tlu;
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Supreme court having the shortest time to serve."

By an amendment of the constitution of 1846,

adopted in 1869, the composition of the court was

clianged so as to make it consist of "a cliief judge

and six associate judges, who shall be chosen by the

electors of the state, and shall hold their ofBce for

the term of fourteen years from and including the

first day of January next after their election."

Fi'om time to time provision has been made for

aiding the Court of Appeals in disposing of its

business. Such was the case with the amendment

of article 6 of the constitution, adopted in 1869,

which provided that causes pending in the Court

of Appeals on the first day of January, 1869,

should be heard and determined by a commission

composed of five commissioners of appeals.

Again, under the amendment of article 6, sec-

tion 6, adopted in 1888, the second division of

the Court of Appeals was established, consisting

of seven justices of the Supreme court. It was

in existence about four years.

And, finally, an amendment of article 6, section

7, of the constitution, adopted in 1899, directed

the governor, whenever a majority of the judge-

of the Court, of Appeals should certify to him that

said court was unable, by reason of the accumu-

lation of causes pending therein, to hear and dis-

pose of tlic same with reasonable speed, to "desig-

nate not more than four justices of the Supreme

court to serve as associate judges of the Court of

Appeals." Since that year, with the exception nf

1905, from two to three justices of the Supreme

court have served as associate judges of the Court

of Appeals by appointment.

Tlie Eochester bar has furnished six judges of

the Court of Appeals : Addison Gardiner, Samuel

L. Selden, Henry E. Selden, Sanford E. Churcli

George P. Danforth and William E. Werner.

Addison Gardiner was born in Rindge, N. H.,

March 19th, 1797. His grandfather, Isaac Gard-

ner, was one of the Brookline minute men who

marched to Lexington on the 19th of April, 1775

and engaged in a skirmish with the retreating Brit-

ish near Watson's Corners, in which he was in-

stantly killed. Isaac's son, William, removed in

1809 from Rindge, where he had settled, and where

he held many public oniccs, to Manlius, Onondaga

(bounty, N. Y., wlioi'o ho carried on a successful

business as manufacturer and merchant until his

death in 1833. The original spelling of the name

with the "i" (Gardiner), was resumed by his sons

Addison, the third son, began the practice of his

profession at Eochester in 1825, and soon after-

ward formed a partnership with Samuel L. Selden

under the firm name of Gardiner & Selden. In

1835 he was appointed district-attorney for Mon-

roe county and, in 1829, circuit judge for the

eighth circuit of the state, consisting of the coun-

ties of Allegany, Erie, Chautauqua, Monroe, Gene-

see and Niagara, becoming vice-chancellor of the

same territory ex officio. He resigned in 1838 and

resumed practice, but in 1844 he was elected lieu-

tenant-governor of the state, on the ticket headed

by Silas Wright. In 1847 he was elected one ol

the judges of the Court of Appeals, created by the

constitution of 1846, and held that ofiice until

January 1st, 1856, when he retired, having refused

a renomination. During the years 1854 and 1855

he was chief judge of the court. After his retire-

ment his services were still sought as referee ; and

this to such an extent that it is said that, for twen-

ty years after he left the Court of Appeals, he

probably heard more causes than any justice of

the Supreme court. In 1831 he niarried Mary

Selkrigg, of Scotch descent, and had two children,

Charles A., now deceased, and Celeste M., wife of

George W. Loomis, of Rochester. His death oc-

curred at Rochester, June 5th, 1883.

Hon. William M. Evarts announced the death

of Judge Gardiner to the Court of Appeals at

the June session of 1883, paying an eloquent trib-

ute to him. Chief Judge Ruger responded as fol-

lows: "The court approves of the sentiments ex

pressed as to the character of the late Addisoo

Gardiner. He has worthily filled many of the

highest offices in the state, and ceased to be so

employed only by his own desire. Engaged in the

public service at a time when his associates were

among the most distinguished for learning and

ability, he was always regarded as the peer of any

It was his peculiar distinction that he should

have maintained for so long a period his seclusio^

from public affairs in the face of the urgent de-

mands often made by the people for his return.

It is now over a quarter of a century since I hail

the honor of making Judge Gardiner's acquaint-

ance, and, although he was then in the possession

of unclouded and unimpaired mental and physical

power, he had announced his permanent retirement

from all public employment. He was much en-
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gaged, in the latter part of his life, in hearing

references in the city of his residence, and his ser-

vices were so urgently demanded in that capacity

that he could not well avoid the ciiiploymcnl.

His calm, judicial temper, combined with great in

tegrity, learning and common sense, made him

almost invaluable in the performance of the duties

of a judicial arbiter, and enabled him to give al-

rnost universal satisfaction in the settlement of

legal controversies."

Samuel L. Selden, who, on the retirement oi

Judge Gardiner, was elected judge of the Court

of Appeals in his place, was born in Lyme, Conn.,

in 1800, and came to what was then Eochester-

ville in 1831. He read law with Judge Gardiner

and, after admission to practice, entered into part-

nership with him. Prom 1831 to 1837 ho was firnl

judge of the Monroe Common Pleas. He was alsc

master and clerk of the court of Chancery. Nom-
inated by the Democrats for justice of the Su-

preme court in 1847, his popularity was such that,

although his party was in a minority, he was easih

elected. At the end of his term, in 1855, he suc-

ceeded Judge Gardiner on the Court of Appeals

as has already been stated. Before his teim in thai

court had expired, his health became so precarious

that he felt obliged to abandon his public duties

and accordingly, on the 1st of July, 1862, he re

signed, and thereafter lived in retirement in Eo-

chester until his death, September 20th, 1876.

Judge Selden's opinions while on the bench of the

Court of Appeals may be found in the New York

Eeports, volumes 9 to 24 inclusive. They give

evidence of profound learning as well as a great

natural sense of justice, and are couched in a style

of unusual beauty. Though Judge Selden's activi-

ties were, for the most part, confined to his profes'

sional and judicial life, he found time to devote

to charitable work and was interested in various

local institutions. That his judgment in other

fields than that of the law was not at fault i?

proven by his early recognition of the value o<

Prof. Morse's invention of the telegraph, he an^

his brother, Henry, being among the first to organ-

ize a company for the construction of a telegraph

line. Judge Selden married Susan Ward, a daugh-

ter of Dr. Levi Ward. Their only child, a son.

died in boyhood.

On the resignation of Judge Samuel L. Selder

his brother, Henry E., was appointed to fill th^

vacancy on the bench of the Court of Appeals.

Heniy E. Selden was born in Lyme, Conn., Octo

ber 14th, 1805, and in 1825 he followed his brother,

Siiiiniol, (o Eoclicsii'i-. Ho rciul lnw in Hie ollire

of Gardiner & Selden and, in 1830, was admitted

to the bar. For some years after his admissior:

he practised his profession in Cl?rkson, but about

1857 removed to Eoehester, where he resided dur-

ing the rest of his life. In 1856 he was nominated

by the recently organized Republican party foi

lieutenant-governor of the state, and his election,

with that of John A. King as governor, was the

earliest victory of that party in the United States.

During the canvass he was in Europe on profes-

sional business. The duties of presiding officer

of the Senate, a position of peculiar difficulty

nt that tinic, when political feeling ran high, wen
discharged by him with conspicuous ability. From
1853 to 1857 he was official reporter of the Court

of Appeals, his reports being contained in vol-

umes 1 to 6 Selden (5 to 10 N. Y.) In 1862 ht

was appointed by Governor Morgan to fill the

vacancy in the Court of Appeals, caused by the

retirement of his brother, and served until the

1st of January, 18G5. In the latter year he con-

sented to accept a nomination for the Assembly

and, being elected, performed the duties of that

office no less diligently than he had those of lieu-

tenant-governor and judge of the Court of Appeals.

On the reorganization of the Court of Appeals

under tlie constitutional amendment of 1861), he

was nominated for chief judge, but was defeated

by Sanford E. Church. He retired from practice

in 1879, and died at the city of Eoehester, Sep-

tember 18th, 1885. Judge Selden married Laura
Ann, daughter of Dr. Abel and Laura Smith
Biihlwin, at Ciarkson, September 25th, 1831. Six

of their children died young. The others were

Julia (widow of Theodore Bacon), of Eoehester;
Louise (first wife of General Blwell S. Otis), de-

ceased; Mary (first wife of Hon. Francis A. Ma-
comber), deceased; George B., a prominent patent

lawyer of Eoehester and the inventor and patentee

of the first gasoline engine for automobiles ; Arthui
E., of Eoehester; Samuel L., a member of thf

Eoehester bar, deceased, and Laura H. (Mrs. Wil-

liam D. Ellwanger), of Eoehester.

Sanford E. Church was born in 1815, was ad-

mitted to the bar in 1837, and practised his pro-

fession at Albion, Orlonns county, until 1868, when
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he roiuoviHl lo Roclic'slcr. AJ'icr liis cloctioii to

llio Coiui o£ Appeals lie again made Albion his

residence and died tliere on the 21st day of May
1880. It was while he was a resident of Roches-

ter, however, tFiat he was nominated for the ofRct

of chief judge of the Court of Appeals; so that,

with liiin and Judge Henry R. Selden, Rochester

liad the honor of presenting the two candidates foj

the highest ofBce in the judiciary of the state.

Judge Church was successful in the election and

thus became the first chief judge of the Court of

Appeals, as reorganized under the constitutional

amendment of 1869 and as at present constituted

It is safe to say that no one has ever filled that

office mor« satisfactorily and that the Court of

Appeals never had a greater reputation than dur-

ing the ten years that he presided over its delibera-

tions. On the 25th of May, 1880, in the course of

a long and appreciative eulogy, Hon. Charles J.

Folgcr, senior associate judge, speaking for the

court, said of the late cliief judge:

"For now ten years he has sat at the head of

this bendi. Here he has been exactly in the focus

of the acute and searching intellect of the bar

from which escapes undetected no weakness of the

head or infirmity of disposition. The bar knows

that he has led the business of the court ivith a

kindness of disposition, an evenness and serenity pi

temper, a gentleness in restraint, a nobleness of

courtesy, a patience of hearing to tyro or veteran

that pleased and satisfied and so soothed all as

to make even defeat seem half success. All who

hear me now know how seldom was the thread of

argument snapped by iuterpellant words from mm
It was as if he bore in mind the saying of Bacon:

'A muc'h-spcakiug judge is no well-tuned cymbal.'

\Vc may be foolish in the fond belief that there is

a mutual cordiality between this bench and the bar

that comes before it. We are not mistaken in

the belief that whatever be the degree of respect

and affection felt by the profession of this court

it. is due in the main to the official and persona)

bearing and courtesy of Chief Judge Church to-

ward counsel, and the confidence inspired by him."

Some of the judges of our appellate courts of

the present day would make no mistake if they

occasionally read and pondered these remarks of

Judge Folger, and particularly that part of them

which refers to "iuterpellant words" from memberi

of the bench. Counsel who have spent weeks or

mouths in the study of a case are always mofe

familiar with the facts, and usually more familial

with the law than any judge can possibly become

on a hasty inspection of the printed appeal book

and briefs. Judges who are most pleased with

their own discernment, and whose voices are ofterv-

est heard from the bench in a self-satisfied assump-

tion of universal knowledge, are pretty sure to be

the ones into whose heads the facts and the law

can hardly be successfully driven short of a trepan

ning operation.

Judge Church was well known in public life

before his election to the Court of Appeals. In

1842 he was elected a member of Assembly, in 1846

and 1847 district-attorney, in 1850 lieutenant-gov-

ernor, in 1857 comptroller, and in.1867 a delegate

to the convention for the revision of the constitu-

tion.

George F. Danforth was born in Boston, Mass.,

July 5th, 1819. His parents, Isaac and Dolly Dan-

forth, were natives of New Hampshire. Graduat-

ing from Union college in 1840 he studied law in

Rochester, was admitted to the bar in 1843, ano

began and continued the practice of his professioc

here until his election to the Court of Appeals.

He was unquestionably one of the ablest lawyers

who have ever appeared.at the Monroe county bar

In 1879 he was nominated and elected judge of

the Court of Appeals and served as such froir

January 1st, 1880, to December 31st, 1890, when
he retired on account of the constitutional limita-

.tion of age. His death occurred in the court-

house at Rochester, September 25th, 1899.

The resolutions of the Monroe county bar, prii-

scnted to the Court of Appeals October 2d, 1899,

said of him, among other things: "His learning

and ability as a judge are shown in his opinions

published in the reports of the Court of Appeals;

and it is safe to say that he maintained equal rank

with the other members of that high tribunal."

And Chief Judge I'arker, in the course of his

reply, said

:

"There is something more than learning and

ability displayed in thesi' opinions, however. The>

demonstrate that the untiring industry for which

Judge Danforth was noted while at the bar in the

preparation for trial or for argument was equallj

notable in his preparation for the decision o^'

causes and the writing of opinions. We wish, of

course, that he might have been longer spared to



362 HISTORY OF ROCHESTER AND MONROE COUNTY.

us, but we are glad that when death sought him,

at eighty, it found him, as it might have at any

other time after his admission to the bar, with bis

legal armor on and in the thickest of the battle."

On April 27th, 1846, Judge Danforth married

Frances J., daughter of Orrin and Frances J.

(Gold) Wright, of Pittsford, Mass. He left tliree

children, Frances W. (widow of Henry F. Hunt

ington), of Rochester; Jessie A. (widow of

Charles E. Miller), of New York, and Henry G.,

a member of the Rochester bar.

William E. Werner was born in BufEalo, April

19th, 1855, and received his early education in the

public schools of that city. He came to Rochestei

in 1877 and began reading law here, was admitted

to the bar in 1879, and, in 1881, served as clerk

of the Municipal court. He was elected special

county judge of Monroe county in 1884, again in

1887, and, in 1889, county judge. In 1894 he was

elected, without opposition, justice of the Supreme

-court for the seventh judicial district. In 1902,

having been nominated for judge of the Court of

Appeals in opposition to Judge John C. Gray, whc

had been renominated by the Democrats after

serving fourteen years, he suffered his first defeat

for judicial office, but in 1904 he was again nomin-

ated and was elected. Judge Werner gives every

promise of upholding the high reputation which

members of the Court of Appeals from Monroe

county have gained.

In addition to those who have been elected

judges of the Court of Appeals that court has had

the services of the following justices of the Su-

preme court from Monroe county: Samuel L.

Selden in 1854, Theron R. Strong in 1858, E.

Darwin Smith in 1862 and 1870, and William E.

Werner from 1900 to 1905.

The old Court of Chancery had one representa-

tive from Monroe county "in the person of Fred-

erick Whittlesey, of Rochester. In 1839 the busi-

ness of the eighth judicial district had increased

to such an extent that it was found necessary tn

appoint a new officer, called the vice-chancellor,

to wlioiii tlio oqiiiLy biiHiiicRs niiglii lin trniisrcn'on

'I'hon, as on mmicrous oocasiona since, there was a

lively rivalry between Buffalo and Rochester, Mil-

lard Fillmore, afterward president of the United

States, being urged for the position, but Mr. Whit-

tlesey was chosen. From the time of his appoint-

ment, April 16th, 1839, imtil the Court of

Chancery was abolished by the constitution of

1846, he held that office, discharging its duties in a

very satisfactory manner.- He was nominated by

the Whigs for judge of the newly established Court

of Appeals, but failed of election. Soon afterward

he received an appointment to the Supreme court,

serving until the abolition of that court (as then

constituted) in 1848. He died at Rochester, Sep-

tember 1911i, 1851. Judge Whittlesey left seven

children: Frederick A., a prominent member ol

the Rochester bar, recently deceased; Theodore H.

deceased; T. Weed, of Rochester, deceased; W.

Seward, now the postmaster of Rochester, aftei

having been for .many years the assistant in that

office ; the Misses Mary and Fannie Whittlesey, and

Anna (widow of William S. Oliver), of Rochester.

We come now to the Supreme court of the state

E. Darwin Smith read law in the office of Ebene-

zer Griffin and became a member of the Rochester

bar in 1834. He was elected justice of the Su-

preme court in. 1855, re-elected in 1862 (the term

then being eight years), and again in 1870, for tlie

term of fourteen years (under the amendment of

article G of the constitution of 1846), retiring, on

account of tlie constitutional limitation of age

in 1876. As already noted, he served on the Court

of Appeals in 1862 and 1870.

He was succeeded on the bench of the Supreme

court by George W. Rawson, who was elected in the

fall of 1876, but whose term of service, beginning

January 1st, 1877, lasted less than a year, being

cut short by his death in December, 1877.

' The vacancy caused by Judge Rawson's death

was filled by the appointment of James L. Angle,

who served until January 1st, 1879, when he was

succeeded by Francis A. Maeomber, who had bean

elected the preceding fall. In 1883 Judge Angle

was again nominated for the office of justice of

the Supreme court by the Democrats of the sev

enth judicial district. It is usually much easier

for a rich man to enter the kingdom of heaven

than for a Democrat to be elected in the seventh

judicial district, but in 1883 there was an upris-

ing of the bar of the district in favor of the candi-

dates of the Democratic party. Judge Angle and

Judge George B. Bradley, of Corning, and they

were both elected. Judge Angle served until Jan-

uary, 1890, when he was compelled to retire, hav-

ing reached the "dead line" of seventy years. In

1846 he married Eleanor C. Eaton. Two children
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purvive, James M., of Rochester, and Anna M.,

wife of Ludwig Schenck, of Rochester. A third

child, a sou, died in infancy. Judge Angle's death

occurred May 4th, 1891. •

Judge Macomber, whose election to the Supreme

court in 1878 has been mentioned, was re-elected

in 18i)3 without, opposition, liaving received a

Jioniination from tlic Democrats as well as the

Republicans. In 1888 he was appointed to what

was then known as the general term of the. fifth

department, and continued a member of that court

until his death, which occurred October 13th,

1893, after a protracted illness.

Judge Macomber was born in Alabama, Genesee

county, April Oth, 1837, graduated from the Uni-

versity of Rochester in 1859, and immediately

began the study of law in the office of Jiidge Henry

R. Selden, whose daughter, Mary, he afterward

married. His second wife, a daughter of the late

Isaac Butts of Rochester, survives him. There

were two children of the first marriage (one of

whom, Francis S., is a member of the Rochester

bar), and three of the second, all of whom are

living.

John M. Davy was nominated by both the Re-

publicans and the Democrats in 1888, for the

Supreme court, and received the largest vote ever

cast, up to that time, for that office in the seventh

judicial district. In 1902 he was again elected,

having received a renomination from both parties.

His second term, however, came to an end on the

last day of December, 1905, in consequence of the

constitutional limitation oC age. Judge ])avy was

a native of Canada, having been born at Ottawa

on the 29th day of June, 1835. His parents re-

moved to this county, when he was an infant, re

siding in Mendon and Henrietta, where he rs-

ceived a common school education. He read law in

Rochester, in the office of Strong, Palmer & Mum-
ford, but before completing his studies he en-

tered the army as first lieutenant of Comi)any 0,

One Hundred and Eighth New York volunteers,

serving until the winter of 1863, when he was

honorably discharged because of ill health.

He was admitted to the bar in 1863 and

continued to practise his profession in Roches-

ter until he became a justice of the Supreme court.

He was district-attorney of Monroe county from
18()8 to 1871, collector of the port froTu 1873 to

1875 and member of Congress from 1875 to 1877.

No judge ever performed the duties of hia ofl5ee

more conscientiously than Judge Davy. He wis

often assigned to duty in New York at the request

of the members of the bar of that city.

On November 10th, 1893, George F. Yeoman
was appointed by Governor Flower to the Supreme

court, to fill the vacancy caused by the death of

Judge Macomber, and took the oath of ofhce

November 15th, 1893. Judge Yeoman was a Re-

publican and Governor Flower a Democrat, and

the appointment was creditable to both. Judge

Yeoman did not receive the nomination from hi*

party in 1894, so that he served only a little over

a year. In that brief period, however, he left a

record for ability and learning that has never been

surpassed in this district.

Monroe county, which, thirty years ago, was

content with a single justice of the Supreme court,

now has three: Nathaniel Foote, appointed in

place of Judge Werner, in 1904, and elected in

1905; Arthur K Sutherland, elected in 1905, and

George A. Benton, elected in 1906. Justices Foote

and Sutherland reside in Rochester and Justice

Benton in Spencerport.

On the adoption of the constitution of 1894,

which created Appellate divisions of the Supreme

court in place of the old general terms, there was

at once a spirited struggle over the location of th'.

Appellate division of the fourth department, Ro

Chester, Buffalo and Syracuse all being candidate*

for the honor. Rochester won the victory, and

the sessions of the Appellate division of the fourth

department have been held here ever since. But

with this honor Rochester has had to be content

No justice from the city of Rochester or from

the county of Monroe has sat upon the Appellate

division, except temporarily,: to fill a vacancv

caused by the inability of one of the regularly ap-

pointed justices to attend. The members of the

first Appellate division of the fourth department

were George A. Hardin, presiding justice, and

David L. FoUett, William H. Adams, Manly C

Green and Hamilton Ward, associate justices. All

of these are now dead. The present members of

the court are Peter B. McLennan, of Syracuse,

presiding justice, and Alfred Spring, of Franklin-

ville; Pardon C. Williams, of Watertown; Fred-

erick W. Kruse, of Clean, and James A. Robson,

of Canandaigua, associate justices.
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The present justices of the seventh judicial dis-

trict, in the order of their seniority, are as fol-

lows: Adelbert P. Rich, of Auburn; James A.

Robson, of Canandaigua; Nathaniel Pooic, of

Rochester; Arthur E. Sutherland, of Rochester;

William W. Clark, of Wayland, and George A.

Benton, of Spencerport. The death of James W.
Dunwell, of Lyons, in June, ISO?, left a vacancy

to be filled in the fall election.

Rochester now has a member of the Court ol

Claims in the person of Adolph J. Eodenbeck, wh-;

was appointed in 1903. Judge Rodenbeck is also

chairman of the board for the consolidation of the

statutes of this state.

Those who have held the office of county judge

of Monroe. county, or, as it was called prior to the

adoption of the constitution of 1846, judge of the-

Common Pleas, are as follows: 1831, Elisha B.

Strong; 1823, Ashley Sampson; 1826, Moses

Chapin; 1831, Samuel L. Selden; 1837, Ashley

Sampson; 1844,. Patrick G. Buchan; 1852, Har-
vey Humphrey; 1856, George G. Munger; 1859,

John C. Chumasero;1868, Jerome Fuller; 1878
William C. Rowley; 1884, Jolm'S. Morgan; 1889,

John D. Lynn; 1890, William B. Werner; 1895,

Arthur E. Sutherland; 1906, George A. Benton:

1907, John B. M. Stephens.

The office of special county judge of Monrot
county was created by chapter 368 of the laws of

1864. Those who have held that office are as fol-

lows : 1865, George W. Rawson ; 1874, Pierson B.

Hulett; 1880, John S. Morgan; 1884, Thomas
Raines; 1885, William E. Werner; 1890, John P
Kinney; 1894, Arthur E. Sutherland; 1895, Geo,

A. Carnahan; 1900, John B. M. Stephens; 1907.

John A. Barhite.

The office of surrogate of Monroe county ha?

been filled as follows: 1821, Elisha Ely; 18a:i

Orrin E. Gibbs; 1835, Mortimer P. Delano; 1840,

Enos Pomeroy; 1844, Mortimer P. Delano; 1845
Simeon B. Jewett; 1847, Moses Sperry; 1852
Denton G. Shuart; 1856, Henry P. Norton; 1860,

Alfred G. Mudge; 1864, William P. Chase; 1868,

W. Dean Shuart; 1884, Joseph A. Adlington;

1896, George A. Benton; 1906, Selden S. Brown.

The Municipal court of the city of Rochester

was created in 1877, and, by the same act, the office

of justice of the peace in the city was abolished,

after the terms of those then holding the office had

expired. The jurisdiction of the court is much

greater than that of a justice of the peace, so far

as the amount in controversy is concerned, but is

more limited, so far as Ihe person ot the defendant

is concerned. Tliere are two judges, and the nameH

of those who have held the office are as follows:

1878 to 1881, John W. Deuel and George W. SiU:

1881, George W. Sill and George E. Warner; 1882

to 1894, George B. Warner and Thomas E. Wliite

;

1894, George E. Warner and George A. Carnahan;

1895, George E. Warner and Hemy W. Gregg;

1896 to 1898, Harvey P. Remington and John M.

Murphy; 1898 to 1904, John M. Murphy and

Thomas E. White; 1904, John M. Murphy and

Delbert C. Hebbard.

The office of police justice of the city of Ro-

chester lias been held as follows : 183-i-3G, Sidney

Smith; 1836-40 and 1844-48, Ariel Wentworth;

1840-44, Matthew G. Warner; 1848-56, S. W. D.

Moore; 1856-60, Butler Bardwell; 1860-65, John

Wegman; 1865-73, Elisha W. Bryan; 1873-77 and

1881-85, Albert G. Wheeler; 1877-81, George

Truesdale; 1885-93, Bartholomew Keeler; 1893-

1901, Charles B. Ernst; 1902, John H. Cliadsey.

Though not, perhaps, strictly germane to a his-

tory of the bench, lists of the county clerks and

sheriffs of Monroe county, who are officers of the

court, may be of interest. Ever since the adoption

of the constitution of 1821 these officers have been

elected by the people for the term of three years,

sheriffs being ineligible to the next succeeding

term. The lists are as follows:

County Clerics.—1821, Nathaniel Rochester;

1823, Elisha Ely; 1826, Simon Stone, 2d; 1829,

William Graves; 1832, Leonard Adams; 1835,

Samuel G. Andrews; 1838, Bphraim Goss; 1841,

James W. Smith; 1814, Charies J. Hill; 1847.

John C. Nash; 1850, John T. Lacy; 1853, W. Bar-

ron Williams ; 1856, William N. Sage, 1859, Dyer

D. S. Brown; 1862, Joseph Cochrane; 1865, Geo.

H. Barry; 1868, Charles J. Powers; 1871, Alonzo

L. Mabbett; 1874, John H. AVilson; 1877, Edward
A. Prost; 1883, Henry D. McNaughton, 1886,

Maurice Leyden; 1889, William Oliver; 1892,

Kendrick P. Shedd; 1898, Charies L. Hunt; 1904,

James Tj. Hotchkiss.

Sheriffs.—1821, James Seymour; 1823, John T.

Patterson; 1826, James Seymour; 1829. James K.

Livingston; 1832, Ezra M. Parsons; 1836, Blias

Pond; 1838, Darius Perrin; 1841, Charles L.
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Pardee; 18 J 4, Iliraiu Sibley; 1847, George Harl,;

1850, Octaviua P. Chamberlain; 1853, Chaiince\

B. Woodworth; 185G, Alexander Babcock; 1859,

Hiram Smith; 1862, James H. Warren; 1865,

Alonzo Chapman; 1868, Caleb Moore; 1869, Isaac

H. Sutliorland, appointed vice Moore, deceased;

1870, Joseph B. Campbell; 1873, Charles S.

Campbell; 1876, Henry E. Richmond; 1879,

James K. Burlingame; 1882, Francis A. SchoefEel;

1885, John W. Hannan ; 1888, Thomas C. Hodg-

son; 1891, Burton H. Davy; 1894, John W. Han-

nan; 1897, John U. Schroth; 1900, Thomas W.
Ford; 1903, Charles H. Bailey; 1906, William H.

Craig.

oirnoNOLoaiCAL koll of the rociiesteii bar.

1812-21.—John Mastick, Hastings R. Bender,

Roswell Babbitt, Joseph Spencer, Jesse Dane, Enos

Pomoroy.

1821-27.—Daniel D. Barnard, Rufus Beach, Sel-

leck Boughton, Moses Cliapin, Timothy Childs,

Palmer Cleveland, John Dickson, Addison Gardi-

ner, James H. Gregory, Ebenezer Griffin, Fletcher

M. Haight, Isaac Hills, Anson House, Harvey

Humphrey, Richard C. Jones, Charles M. Lee,

Vincent Mathews, Richard N. Morrison, William

W. Mumford, Charles Perkins, Ashley Sampson,

Samuel L. Selden, Elisha B. Strong, Theodore F.

Talbot, W. C. Van Ness, Ephraim B. Wheeler,

Frederick Whittlesey.

1834.—William S. Bishop, Patrick G. Buchan,

D. K. Cartter, Isaac R. Elwood, Simeon Ford, Hor-

ace Gay, Theodore B. Hamilton, Orlando Hast-

ings, E. Smith Lee, Thomas Lefferts, D. C. Marsh,

Selah Mathews, Samuel Miller, William R. Mont-

gomery, George H. Mumford, John C. Nash,

Henry E. Rochester, E. Darwin Smith, Hestor L.

Stevens, A. W. Stowe, Ariel Wentworth, S. T.

Wilder.

1838.—Graham H. Chapin, John C. Chumasero,

Carlos Cobb, Mortimer F. Delano, James R. Doolit-

tle, Joseph A. Eastman, Jasper W. Gilbert, Simon

H. Grant, Sanford M. Green, Robert Haight, Alba

Lathrop, Hiram Leonard, Abner Pratt, E. Peshino

Smith.

1841.—Charles Ayrault, S. W. Budlong, Chnrles

Ijee Clark, B. W. Clark, Samuel B. Chase, Jolm

B. Cooley, John W. Dwindle, I. S. Fancher, Wash-

ington Gibbons, Joseph D. Husbands, Ethan A.

Hopkins, Elisha Mather, James M. Schermerhorn,

E. T. Schenck, Hiram A. Tucker, Deloa Went-

worth, Henry M. Ward.

1844.—Leonard Adams, Joel B. Bennett, Wil-

liam Breck, Daniel Burroughs, Jr., James Camp-

bell, George F. Danforth, George Dutton, jr.,

Alfred Ely, Herman B. Ely, Lysander Farrar,

Hiram Hatch, Thomas B. Husband, Henry Hunt-

er, Nathan Huntington, Erastue Ide, Henry C.

Ives, Hiram K. Jerome, Leonard W. Jerome, Alex-

ander Mann, Belden R. McAlpine, Thomas C.

Montgomery, Chauncey Nash, Martin S. Newton,

John W. Osborn, Nicholas E. Paine, Stephen M.

Shurtleff, L. Ward Smith, Sanford J. Smith, John

l{. Stone, William C. Storrs, John Thompson, jr.,

James S. Tryon, John C. Van Epps, Horatjo G.

Warner, David L. White, Daniel Wood.

1845.—James Abrams, James L. Angle, Charles

Billinghurst, Seymour Boughton, Rufus L. B,

Clark, Frederick L. Durand, Samuel B. Dwinelle,

Almon Gage, Christopher Jordan, George B. King,

Daniel Marsh, Lewis H. Morgan, Hiram C. Smith,

James E. Squire.

1849.—Truman Abrams, Horace B. Adams,

James Ames, Daniel B. Beach, Oliver M. Benedict,

Samuel S. Bowne, Charles A. Bowne, James S.

Bush, William P. Chase, Charles H. Clark, James

0. Cochrane, William F. Cogswell, Zimri L. Davis,

Frederick Delano, Alexander Ely, Lorenze D. Fer-

ry, Edward W. Pitzhugh, Thomas Frothinghani,

Truman Hastings, Luther H. Hovey, Calvin Hu-

son, jr., D. Cameron Hyde, Kasimer P. Jervis,

Byron D. McAlpine, Benjamin G. Marvin, Alfred

G. Mudge, Thaddeus S. Newell, Chauncey Perry,

Charles T. Porter, Edward A. Raymond, William

A. Root, Henry Sargent, Henry R. Selden, Ebe-

nezer B. Shearman, Anson Sherwood, Eliphaz

Trimmer, Chauncey Tucker.

1851.—William L. Brock, Philander M. Cran-

dall, John B. Curtiss, Charles E. Davis, Gideon

Draper, jr., AVilliam A. Fitzhugh, Albert M. Hast-

ings, Jarvis M. Hatch, James G. Hills, Henry T.

Johns, William H. McClure, John H. Martindale,

George W. Miller, James M. Miller, George G.

Munger, Sylvester H. Packard, jr., William I.

Parker, Charles H. Pierce, John N. Pomeroy,

John Tj. Rcqua, W. Dean Shunrt, John W. Steb-

bins, Matthew G. Warner, jr., Frederick A. Whit-

tlesey.
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1853.—John J. Boweiij Phederus Carter, Philip

I. Clum, Charles P. Crosby, Caleb S. Crumb, Geo.

Ely, George Gardner, Issachar Grosscup, George

n. Humphrey, Charles Q. Loobcr, John McCon-

vill, George E. Mumford, George Murphy, Oliver

H. Palmer, George W. Rawson, George P. Town-

send, Henry E. White, Robert A. Wilson.

1855.—George B. Brand, Isaac S. Hobbie,

Charles W. Littles, D. W. Sherwood, Wells Taylor,

Seth H. Terry, John Van Voorhis, Albert G.

Wheeler.

1857.—Theodore Bacon, Michael Canfield, Wil-

liam E. Carpenter, Byron G. Chappell, Andrew J.

Ensign, Edward Harris, John H. Jeffres, Georgu

W. Johnson, Edgar Knickerbocker, E. S. Llewel-

lyn, Alexander G. Melvin, William J. McPherson.

George T. Parker, Charles J. Powers, Charles K.

Smith, Vincent M. Smith, T. Hart Strong Josepli

A. Stull, Seymour G. Wilcox, Charles C. Wilson.

1859.—William H. Andrews, Daniel L. Angle,

Almon B. Benedict, Henry C. Bloss, T. B. Clark-

son, John Craig, Oscar Craig, S. C. Crittenden,

George P. Draper, James S. Garlock, Pierson B.

TTulett, Abrnm II. Jones, James W. ICerr, David

Laing, Charles P. Landers, J. H. McDonald, John

A. McGorry, B. G. Marvin, Henry S. Eediield,

Geo. E. Eipsom, William C. Rowley, T. D. Steele,

John W. Tompkins, George Truesdale, Quincy

Van Voorhis, John B. Vosburg, Homer H. Wood-
ward.

1861.—Charles S. Baker, Thomas K. Baker,

Hiram S. Barker, James D. Brown, William S.

Campbell, DeLancey Crittenden, Samuel J.

Crooks, Joseph Deverell, Seth Bldridge, DeWitt C.

Ellis, Henry B. Ensworth, Philip Hamilton, Byron
M. Hanks, Prank W. Hastings, Harmon S. Hogo-
boom, Kneeland J. Macomber, Walter Hurd, Wil-

liam S. Ingraham, Henry B. James, Francis A.

Macomber, Abel Meeker, William Powell, D. P.

Richardson, William H. Rogers, Jesse Shepherd,

Theron R. Strong, Andrew J. Wilkin.

1863.—Charles P. Achilles, William H. Bow-
man, Charles H. Cherry, Martin W. Cooke, Wil-

liam Graebe, W. W. Hegeman, Francis I. Mather,

Williani P. Peck, Charles P. Pond, James Ran,

Archibald Servoss, W. S. Staples, George S. Tuck-

erman.

1865.—William M. Bates, George W. Blackmore,

Lyman W. Briggs, Sanford E. Church, James L.

Clark, John M. Davy, Cliristopher 0. Davison,

Joseph Felix, C. Hopgood, A. C. Hogoboom.

Ralph 0. Ives, Joseph L. Luckey, John C. O'Brien,

Samuel S. Partridge, Otis H. Robinson, Richard

II. Schoolcy, William J. Sheridan, Othello IT.

Stevens, Homer Stull, Edward Webster, William

H. Webster, Menzo Van Voorhis.

1866.—C. W. Baker, Oliver, M. Benedict, jr.,

M. Campbell, J. W. Kerr, H. II. Mason, William

S. Oliver, E. S. Otis, Samuel Stevens, Joseph C.

Wells, Henry Widner.

1867.—W. G. Ashby, E. Burke Collins, G. S.

Cutting, Dennis C. Feeley, John M. Dunning, W.

H. Fish, Franklin B. Hutchinson, John W. Kelly,

Donald McNaughton, Patrick Mclntyre, George

Raines.

1868.—Alvin L. Barton, Josiah H. Bissell, Mil-

ton H. Davis, Charles G. Hapgood, James ci.

Mathews, Sliernmn R. Robinson, AVil Main H. Sliep-

ard.

1869.—John W. Deuel, Edward B. Penner,

Lewis J. Goddard, B. Frank Maxson, J. Breck

Perkins, Edward Witherspoon.

1870.—Charles M. Allen, John Clark, jr., Epb-

I'airn C. Pish, James 10. Clieiuiy, jr., Jobn E. Roe,

J. P. Varnum, John W. Wilson, Lodowiek M.

Woodin.

1871.—Henry N. Allen, J. Sherlock Andrews,

James M. Angle, William H. Crouchen, Charles

P. Dean, Charles H. Gorham, Daniel L. Johnstoii.

William H. Mitchell, Milton W. Noyes, John C.

O'Regan, Jacob Spahn, Darrell D. Sully, Arthur

D. Walbridge.

1872.—William A. Combs, Joseph N. Crane, J.

R. Fanning, James A. Jordan, John J. Palmer,

James B. Pike, George W. Thomas, William K.

Townsend, Thomas E. AVhite, William H. Yerkes.

1873.—Williiini E. Edmonds, George W. Pisher,

John S. Morgan, George P. Jaclcson, Charles J.

McDowell, Edward P. Stilwell, George W. Sill,

H. D. Tucker.

1874.—Nathaniel Poote, jr., William S. James,
Meritt G. McKinney, Marcus Michaels, Eugene H
Sattcrlee.

1875.—Walter W. Adams, Luther C. Benedict

Horace L. Bennett, George A. Benton, Sardius D.

Bentlcy, Marsenus H. Briggs, Samuel J. Budlong,

Paris G. Clark, Pomeroy P. Dickinson, Edward B.

Pieke, Lorin H. Gillette, Richard H. Lansing, Ed-
win A. McMatb. Thomas P. O'Kelley, William W.
Webb. Richard E. Wbite, Solomon Wile, Isaac A
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Wile, Byrou C. Williams, Charles M. Williams.

187G.—George Armstrong, William H. Barker,

William K. Carpenter, John A. Colwell, Henry R.

Curtis, Frederick A. Hitchcock, Angus McDonald,

W. Howard Olmsted, William H. St. John, John

C. Simons, Henry J. Sullivan, Josiah Sullivau,

Stephen Wheeler, George F. Yeoman.

1877.—J. Aaron Adams, Joseph A. Adliugtou,

John N. Beckley, Walter Buell, Darius L. Covi'd,

Edward 0. Dowd, John H. Hopkins, Walter S.

Hubbell, Thomas A. Hungerford, W. Martin

Jones, J. Horace McGuire, Heman W. Morri«,

Michael F. O'Dea, Horace G. Pierce, William U.

Raines, Thomas F. Stark, Samuel H. Torrey, Geo.

E. Warner, Thomas D. Wilkin, William H. Whit-

ing.

1878.—Louis A. Amsden, Frans M. Bottom,

William M. Brock, George F. Bausum, Frederick

L. Churchill, J. Ewing Durand, Frank W. Elwood,

Frederick Hebard, Marcus Hirshfield, Robert Jar-

rard, D. Edgar Parsons, Arthur C. Smith, Jolm

T. Pingree, Ivan Powers, Henry J. Sampson,

George B. Selden, William H. Shuart, Herbert L.

Ward, Charles E. Yale.

1879.—William Butler Crittenden, A. Norton

Fitch, George W. Lamb, Edwin A. Medcalf, James

H. Montgomery, William F. Rampe, Edward M.

Redmond, Joseph Welling, William E. Werner.

1880.—James Briggs, John A. Burgess, Isaac

W. Butts, Pliiletus Chamberlain, jr., Fred H.

Church, Walter S. Coffin, Adelbert Cronise, Henry

G. Danforth, John Desmond, Frank W. Dickinson,

George D. Forsyth, Frank M. Goff, George W.

Hall, Henry J. Hetzel, Joseph S. Hunn, William

W. Jacobs, Bartholomew Kceler, Conatantine D
Kiehel, Henry M. McDonald, Samuel P. Moore,

James B. NelHs, Fred P. Nutting, Wilber F. Os-

bom, Thomas G. Outerbridge, Thomas Raines.

Charles B. Rebasz, Samuel L. Selden, Allen R.

ShelTer, John 6. Snell, George C. Wolcott.

1881.—Adoniram J. Abbott, John B. Abbott

John H. Bishop, George M. Cone, William D
Ellwanger, Charles C. Herrick, John H. Keefe,

Edmund Lyon, Spencer S. Markham, Frank W
Miller, William S. Servis, John M. Steele, Holmes
B. Stevens, Edward F. Turk, Edward F. Welling-

ton.

1882.—Frederick H. Baker, Angus Cameron,

Edward S. Clarke, William N. Cogswell, Henry W.
Cnnklin, William H. Davis, Edward W. Hall, Wil-

liam A. Hawthorn, David Hays, David Herron,

Henry M. Hill, Frank J. Hone, James L. Hotch-

kiss, John D. Lynn, Edward W. Maurer, William

A. Sternberg, Horace J. Tuttle, Roy C. Webster,

Charles S. Wilbur, Casterline Williams, John W
Wilson.

1883.—D. Clinton Barnum, John A. Bernhard,

Myron T. Bly, Frank 11. Bowlby, Selden S. Brown.
Clarence J. Browning, Ralph Butler, Peter A.

Costich, Raleigh Farrar, Seward French, William

Johnson, Charles H. Kingsbury, William B. Lee,

George R. Losey, Lemuel B. Marcy, Howard L..

Osgood, Earl B. Putnam, Arthur J. Shaw, G. Fort

Slocum, George J. Trenaman, Robert B. Wickes,

Charles H. Wiltsie.

1884.—Milton A. Brown, Cassius C. Davy,
Frank L. Gummer, Edward S. Martin, Edwin Mc-
Knight, Anson S. McNab, Valentine' J. Ruppert,

Nelson C. Watson.

1885.—William F. Chandler, James M. E.

O'Grady, William H. Sullivan, Aldice G. Warren.

1886.—George M. W. Bills, Charles J. Bissell,

George A. Carnahan, Albert R. Gulbert, Frederick

B. Hall, James S. Havens, Herve Isbell, James M.
Kerr, Frederick W. Sandborn, John B. M.
Stephens, Seth S. Terry.

1887.—Albert A. Davis, George A. Gillette,

James II. Kelso, J. Prank Morse, Frederick W.
Smith, Arthur E. Sutherland, Stephen C. Trues-

dale, Eugene Van Voorhis.

1889.—Joseph M. Allen, (Brockport)), Abra-

ham Benedict, Martin Davis, ,(Honeoye Falls),

Norris Bull, Charles P. Lee, Ednor A. Marsh,

Erwin E. Shutt, George F. Zimmer.

1890.-William DeGraff, Fred C. Hanford, Her-

bert J. Menzie, George E. Milliman, John F. Mit-

chell, Herbert J. Stull, Richard Van Voorhis, El-

mer E. Wyckoff.

1891.—H. Perry Blodgett, William E. Carno-

chan, Joseph H. Hill, Willis K. Gillette, William

L. Kiefer, Andrew Ludolph, Darius A. Marsh, Ed-

win A. Woodward.

1892.—Isaac Adler, Simon L. Adler, Kendall .B.

Castle, Benjamin B. Chase, William E. Davis,

Franklin S. Hutchinson, Edward A. Keenan, Noi«-

man A. McPherson, Edwin C. Smith, Jr., (Brigh-

ton), Otto J. Stull, Stephen J. Warren (W. Hen-

rietta), George M. Williams, Charles F. A. Young.

1893.—Henry Bartholomay, jr., Charles A. Ed-

gerton, Lovelle M. Grube, Everett 0. Gibbs, H.
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frving Gordon, Willis A. Matson (Brockport),

William T. Plumb, Henry V. Woodward, Henry A.

Walker (Fairport).

1894.—John H. Daily, James R. Davy, George

B. Draper, William H. Driscoll,' Edward R. Pore-

man, William J. Hawkins, Leslie E. Hulburt,

John Keenan, Charles R. Kreidler, Clyde W.
Knapp, John B. O'Connor, Ira L. Ward (Pitts-

ford), Fred M. Whitney, Herbert S. Wilbur.

1895.—James Fahy Galligan, David L. Hill,

Chester F. Kiehel, William F. Lynn, Nelson B.

Spencer, Arthur M. Wisner.

1896.—Raymond H. Arnott, Henry Selden Ba-

con, Frederick L. Duteher, Homer C. Holmes,

(Brockport), Delbert C. Hebbard, Wilber Kinzie,

George L. Meade, Clarenco W. McKay, Bniost B.

Millard, Charles E. Murphy, Barney S. O'Neill,

Harry Pease, Harry Otis Poole (Gates), Michael

E. Ryan, Albert L. Shepard, Morris L. Stern, H.

C. Spurr, William H. Tompkins, Irwin Taylor,

Edgerton R. Williams, jr., Charles E. Woodward.

1897.—William J. Baker, Joseph H. Bush, Nel-

son H. Barnes, Charles W. Butler (Fairport),

Patrick Cauley, Kate K. Crennell, Patrick J. Dob-

son (Greece), Fred G. Dutton, Edward C. Edel-

man, Henry W. Hall,, Joseph L. Humphrey, Frel

P. Kimball, Louis E. Lazarus, Herbert Leary,

Horace A. McGuire, John P. Morse, Alexander

Otis, Horatio Straus, Eugene M. Strouss, Richard

L. Saunders, Henry D. Shedd, Joseph R. Web-

ster, John E. Wellington, Marvin W. Wynne.

1898.—William Allen, Frank Clark Brown, Al-

phonzo S. Bissell, Rolison S. Bostwick, Curtis Fitz

Simons, Milton B. Gibbs, Joseph B. Hone, Henry

A. Mock, Timothy J. Nigham, Mary R. Orwea,

Erwin S. Plumb, Bayard J. Stedmon, M. D.

Welles.

1899.—John F. Allen, Leonard B. Bacon, Geo.

F. Bodine, Henry D. Buell, Roy Neil Burgess,

Arthur L. Cerdus, Arnold L. Empey, Walter M
Glass, Philip L. Koscialowski, Edward Lynn,

Henry W. Martens, Lawrence M. Morley, Louis J.

Neun, Fred W. Oliver, Raymond G .Phillips, G.

Willard Rich, H. Harmon Scoficld, Albert H.

Stearns, George R. Van Alstyne, George W. Van
Ingen, Ernest C. Whitbeck, James L. Whitley,

Freeman F. Zimmerman.

1900.—Arthur W. Bingham, William 0. Bo.^-

well, William H. Burr, James L. Brewer, Isaac M.

Bricknev, Mcrwin T. Daly, Joseph M. Feely,

Charles M. Gambel, George R. Graves, Frederick

C. Goodwin, Edward Harris, jr., Fred A. McGill,

George P.| McKenzie, Emory G. Moore, Harry 0.

Nobles, Hugh J. O'Brien, Percival DeW. Oviatt,

Prank P. Reilly, Chandler Wolcott.

1901.—Arthur R. Anderson, George F. Baker

(Union Hill), AVilliam J. Carey, H. Bradley Car-

roll, James W. Dean, John H. Began, Blon G.

Galusha, Howard K. German, Henry R. Glynn,

Roy M. Hart (North Rush), W. Martin Jones,

Junius R. Judson, James F. Keeler, Robert P.

Levis, James Mann (Brockport), George S. Mc-

Millan, Howard T. Mosher, August V. Pappert,

jr., Frederick S. Rauber, Charles S. Roberts

(North Chili), Joseph A. White.

1902.—Charles B. Bcditold, Chnrlcs Callahan,

Joseph A. Donovan, G. Townley Fries, Dennis

Kavanagh, Hugh J. Maguire, Myrtle M. Mann,

Henry S. McGonegal, George S. McGregor, Fred-

erick W. Parkhurst, Frederick S. Remington, Nor-

man Rosenberg, Nelson B. Sanford, Frank S.

Thomas, Alexander B. Wall, James M. Wallace,

Raymond B. Westbury, Charles S. Williams, Ralph

A. Woods.

1903.—J. S. Albright, Norman N. Britton,

Charles A. Greene (Fairport), William H. Harri-

son, George M. Hegan, John J. Mclnerney, Wil-

liam J. Maloney, Charles Lee Pierce, Jacob J.

Rosenberg, Edwin C. Redfern, Howard M. Stone.

1901.—Frederick W. Coit, Percy D. Dcnn (Web-

ster), James P. B. Duffy, James A. Gosnell, Sid-

ney S. Lowenthal, William MacFarlane, Smith

O'Brien, Cyrus W. Phillips, Peter G. Smith (Web-

ster), Salvatorc Vella, George Y. Webster, Ger-

sliom V. Wiborn, Benjamin C. Wood.

1905.—Cogswell Bentley, Margaret B. Booth,

James D. Harris (Fairport), Burlew Hill, Prank
Keifer, William F. Love, George A. McGonegal,

James J. McNeil, John Mead, Eugene Raines,

Albertus D. Richards, William J. Richter, J. Don-

ald Shoeeraft (Webster), Marsh N. Taylor, Hu-
bert B. Thomas, William B. Zimmer.

1906.—George II. Bemish, Orrin Barker, Homer
E. A. Dick, Arthur G. Duteher, James K. Feeley,

Herbert D. Harmon (Brockport), James M.
Heath (Rush), Joseph P. Hogan, Rochester H.
Rogers, Hiram M. Rogers (Pittsford), George C
Steele (Pittsford), Frederick Wiedman, George P.

Wolcott.
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Tlie following is a full list of the members, at

the present time, of the Monroe county bar

:

City.—John B. Abbott, Blbridge Adams, Isaac

Adler, John H. Agate, J. S. Albright, Charles M.
Allen, Arthur R. Anderson, J. S. Andrews, James
M. Angle, William W. Armstrong, Raymond H.
Arnot, Robert Averill, Henry Selden Bacon;

Leonard Beaumont Bacon, Chas. H. Bailey,

Fred H. Baker, AVm. J. Baker, John A. Bar-

hite, H. L. Barker, Orrin Barker, John W.
Barrett, W. M. Bates, Geo. H. Bemish,

Daniel M. Beach, W. H. Beach, Chas. B.

Bechtold, John N. Beckley, H. L. Bennett, Cogs-

well Bentley, Herbert L. Bentley, S. D. Bentley,

John A. Bornhard, George M. W. Bills, Charles J.

Bissell, Alvin Block, II. Perry Blodgett, Myron T.

Bly, Margaret E. Booth, C. E. Bostwick, Rolison

S. Bostwick, William 0. Boswell, John P. Bow-
man, W. II. Bowman, Isaac M. Brickner, Norman
N. Britlon, John S.'Bronk, F. Clark Brown, C. J.

Browning, John A. Burgess, William II. Burr,

Charles E. Callahan, George A. Carnahan, William

J. Carey, II. Bradley Carroll, K. B. Castle, J. War-,

rant Castleman, Patrick Cauley, John H. Chadsey,

P. Chamberlain, William F. Chandler, Benjamin

B. Chase, Frederick P. Church, Frederick L.

Churchill, Frederick D. H. Cobb, William N. Cogs-

well, Frederick W. Coit, Henry W. Conklin, W. H
Coon, P. A. Costich, K. K. Crennell, W. Butler

Crittenden, Adelbert Cronise, B. B. Cunningham,

A. W. Curtis, NRobt. N. Curtis. John H. Daily,

Merwin Daily, H. G. Danforth, C. Schuyler Davis,

Martin Davis, W. II. Davis, C. C. Davison, C. C.

Davy, Janes R. Davy, John M. Davy, C. F. Dean

George P. Decker, William DeGralF, Eugene C.

Denton, John Desmond, Homer E. A. Dick, Pome-

roy P. Dickinson, Theodore H. Dimon, George B.

Draper, George P. Draper, James P. B. Duffy, J.

E. Durand, Fred L. Dutcher, Arthur G. Dutcher,

Eugene J. Dwyer, Edward C. Edelman, P. M. El-

lery, William D. Ellwanger, E. U. Ely, Arnold L.

Empey, Charles B. Ernst, II. S. Falkner, J. R.

Fanning, Raleigh Farrar, James K. Peely, Joseph

M. Fcely, Curtis Fitz Simons, George V. Flecken-

stein, Edward R. Foreman, Daniel W. .Forsyth,

George D. Forsyth, G. T. Fries, P. M. French,

Louis E. Fuller, Clinton H. Furbish, D. Curtis

Gano, J. B. Galenhee, Howard K. (Icnnnn, Everett

0. Gibbs, Milton E. Gibbs, Willis K. Gillette, Geo.

A. Gillcti;c, Walter M. Glass, ITonry R. Glynn,

Frank M. Golf, Fred C. Goodwin, II. Irving Gor-

don, Chas. A. Green, James G. Greene, Prank L.

Gummer, William B. Hale, P. B. Hall, Henry W.
Hall, Edward Harris, Edward Harris, jr.,

George H. Harris, W. H. Harrison, James
S. Havens, D. C. Hebbard, Burlew Hill, David

L. Hill, Henry M. Hill, W. H. Hill, M. Hirsch-

field, Joseph P. Hogan, P. J. Hone, Joseph B.

Hone, J. H. Hopkins, J. L. Hotchkiss, Henry R.

Howard, Walter S. Hubbell, Robert L. Humiston,

Joseph L. Humphrey, Joseph S. Hunn, P. B.

Hutchinson, P. S. Hutchinson, N. E. Hutchens,

Harry M. Ingram, Theodore H. Jameson, William

Johnson, Harry 0. Jones, W. Martin Jones, Jun-
ius R. Judson, J. II. Keef, James Keeler, E. A.

Kconan, John Keenan, Martin H. Kennedy,

C. D. Kiehel, Chester F. Kiehel, John B.

Kiley, Fred P. Kimball, John F. Kinney,

IT. S. Kline, William C. Kohlmetz, Charles R.

Kreidler, R. II. Lansing, Louis E. Lazarus, Her-

bert Leary, William B. Lee, Merton B. Lewis,

Wm. F. Love, Emil Ludekins, Andrew Ludolph,

Edward B. Lynn, John D. Lynn, William P..

Lynn, Edmund Lyon, Wm. MacFarlane, Francis

S. Macomber, Hugh J. Macguire, William J. Ma-
loney, Frederick A. Mann, E. A. Marsh, Henry W.
Martens, Willis A. Matson, T. P. McCarrick, C. I.

McDowell, Geo. A. McGonegal, Henry S. McGone-

gal, Horace McGuire, Walter McGunn, John J.

-Mclnerney, Patrick Mclntyre, C. W. McKay,

George P. McKenzie, Joseph McLean, Jr., M. H.
McMath, Geo. S. McMillan, W. J. McPhersoii,

John Mead, G. L. Mead, E. A. Medcalf, Herbert

J. Menzie, Ernest B. Millard, Harry A. Mock, J.

II. Montgomery, Samuel P. Moore, Lawrence M.

Morley, H. W. Morris, J. Frank Morse, George Ii.

Morse, John P. Morse, Howard T. Mosher, John

M. Murphy, William Neary, T. J. Nigham, Harvy

C. Nobles, Milton Noyes, Hugh J. O'Brien, J. C.

O'Brien, Smith O'Brien, J. P. O'Connor, James

M. E. O'Grady, Frederick W. Oliver, Mary

R. Orwen, Wilbur F. Osborn, H. L. Os-

good, Alexander Otis, Percival D. Oviatt,

J. Stuart Page, August V. Pappert, D. E.

Parsons, Fletcher C. Peck, H. Nelson Peck, J. B.

Perkins, Cyrus W. Phillips, Charles Lee Pierc-%

H. G. Pierce, Erwin S. Plumb, William T. Plum'o,

C. F. Pond, Harry Otis Poole, Eugene Raine.=',

George Raines, Geo. R. Raines, Thomas Raines,

W. F. Rampe, Edwin C. Redfern, B. M. Redmond,
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George D. Eeed, Frederic Eemington, H. F. Eem-

ington, 6. Willard Rich, Wm. J. Eiehter, Harlaa

W. Eippey, S. E. Eobinson, A. J. Eodenbeck

Hiram M. Sogers, Eochester H. Eogers, Chas. H.

Eowe, Norman Eosenberg, Fred P. Salisbury.

David N. Salisbury, David N. Salyerds, Nelson P.

Sanford, Eugene Satterlee, Richard L. Saunders,

Clarence E. Shuster, Walter I. Scott, W. H. Shaf-

fer, Henry D. Shedd, Albert L. Shepard, J. Don-

ald Shoecraft, Erwin B. Shutt, P. Cameron Shult,

G. F. Slocum, Arthur C. Smith, Edwin C. Smith,

Fred W. Smith, Geo. H.. Smith, Geo. L. Smith,

Howard A. Smith, Frederick J. Smythe, Howard

W. Sneck, Nelson E. Spencer, David Spraker, H.

C. Spurr, Albert H. Stearns, John M. Steele,

Morris L. Stern, H. B. Stevens, 0. H.

Stevens, E. P. Stilwell, William H. St. John,

Horatio Straus, E. M. Strouss, Herbert J. StuU,

John M. StuU, Otho S. StuU, H. T. Sullivan, W.

H. Sullivan, D. D. Sully, W. A. Sutherland, J.

W. Taylor, Marsh N. Taylor, Z. P. Taylor, Her-

bert B. Thomas G. W. Thomas, Wm. H. Tom-

kins, Carroll A. Thompson, Albert E. Truesdalo,

Geo. Truesdale, Stephen Truesdale, A. E. Tuck,

H. J. Tuttle, Geo. Van Alstyne, WiUis E. Van
DeMark, G. W. Van Ingen, Charles Van Voorhis,

Eugene Van Voorhis, Quiney Van Voorhis, Salva-

tore Vella, Alexander G. Wall, James M. H. Wal-

lace, H. L. Ward, George E. Warner, Arthur War-

ren, Stephen J. Warren, W. W. Webb, Geo. Y.

Webster, Joseph E. Webster, Roy C. Webster, Fred-

erick Weidman, John E. Wellington, Christopher

C. Werner, Raymond E. Westbury, Asher P. Whip-

ple, Ernest C. Whitbeck, R. E. White, Thomas

E. White, W. H. Whiting, James L. Whitley, Fred

M. Whitney, Gershom V. Wiborn, E. B. Wickes,

Howard H. Widener, Herbert S. Wilbur, I. A.

Wile, Solomon Wile, Chas. M. Williams, Charles

S. Williams, Edgerton E. Williams, jr., G. D.

Williams, Chas. H. Wiltsie, Edwin H. Winans,

Chandler Wolcott, George C. Wolcott, Hiram R.

Wood, Ralph A. Woods, Charles B. Woodward,

Edwin A. Woodward, H. H. Woodward, Henry V.

Woodward, Leo. D. Woodworth, J. A. C. Wright,

Elmer E. Wyckoff, Chas. P. A. Young, Wm. B.

Zimmer, F. P. Zimmerman.

County.—D. A. Adams, Brockport; Arthur E.

Anderson, Hilton; John W. Barrett, Webster;

Homer B. Benedict, Brockport; Burton W.
Brown, Spencerport; John Burns, Brockport; C
W. Butler, Fairport; T. S. Dean, Brockport; W.
IT. Dusenbnry, Honeoye Palls; E. J. Fisk, Fair-

port; F. M. Goff, Spencerport; James D. Harris,

Pairport ; James M. Heath, F. C. Hovey,

Brockport; H. C. Holmes, Brockport; Daniel

Holmes, Brockport; T. L. Hulburt, Pairport;

James Mann, W. A. Matson, Brockport

;

Henry B. McArthur, Brockport ; Chas. S. Eobert"^,

North Chili; John E. Eobson, Honeoye Palls;

Jjouis B. Shay, Brockport; C. A. Shuart, Honeoye

Palls; Jay T\. Smith, Honeoye Palls; Peter G.

Smith, Webster; Henry A. Walker, Fairport;

Charles E. Yale, Pairport.



CHAPTER XXI

THE PKACTICE OF MEDICINE.

BY EDWARD B. ANGELL, M. D.

Early Phy.-dcians of Roclicstor—Dr. Moore's Arti-

cle—The Monroe County Medical Society—The

Rochester Pathological Society—The Medical

Library—The Academy of Medicine—The Hos-

pital Medical Society—The Provident Dispen-

sary—The Women's Medical. Society—Brief

Biographies of Physicians—the Health Bureau
—Smallpox—the Milk Problem—Care of Chil-

dren—Homeopathy—Hahnemannian School—
Hospitals of Those Two—Dentistry in Ro-

chester.

In preparing the chapter on the medical profes-

sion of Eochester it seems to me that no better be-

ginning can be made than by quoting at some

length from a comprehensive article on the same

subject, by the late Dr. Edward M. Moore, which

appeared in the history of Rochester that was pub-

lished in 1884:

"The planting of a village on the site of the city

of Eochester was later than that of most villages

in the county of Monroe. Where the pioneers

pushed forward into the dense forest that clothed

tlie soil of Western New York they vei-y naturally

chose the higher lands as more easy of reduction

to the conditions necessary to the production of

food. The village became the outgrowth of the

neighboring settlement of the farmers. But Ro-

chester was the result of a conviction that a larger

town would be developed by the presence of the

fine water-power of the Genesee. When the village

was laid out, high hopes were entertained of its

future, a belief that it was not merely the inci-

dent of a near farming community but that of

the necessities of a wide area. Such views nat-

urally attracted members of the profession of medi-

cine. The first house was erected in 1812, and in

the succeeeding year we find the name of Dr.

Jonah Brown as the first practitioner in the vil-

lage. Dr. Brown died soon after his removal to his

new home. Others soon followed him to this place,

and we find them numerous enough to undertake

the formation of a county medical society in 1831.

At this period the laws of the state gave special

privileges to members of the county societies, per-

mitting them to collect their fees, a right which

no one else possessed who practised medicine.

Hence the constructiou of these societies was regu-

lated by law, and it may be observed, in passing,

that the law still regulates the construction and

action of the medical societies but has withdrawn

from them all privileges. At the time when the

first society was formed in Monroe county medi-

cal colleges were remote, and the labor and time

occupied in traveling rendered the' city of New
York as difficiilt to reach as the schools of London'

and Paris are by the student of to-day. It was then

the law and custom for the aspirant to medical

practice to derive all his information from the

teaching of his preceptor. Men were admitted to

practice after passing the ordeal of examination

by censors appointed by the county medical so-

cieties. In this they realized, in a rude manner,

the strong desire of the profession at the present

day for an independent board of examiners. That

the teaching was often crude and specially im-
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perfect in the foundation of all medical learning—

namely, anatomy—must be confessed. But at var-

ious places men of strong intellectual character-

istics gathered around them numerous students

and became to them teachers who impressed their

personality with great power upon the student of

medicine, oftentimes with greater distinctiveness

than that which is brought to bear on a large class

by a more finished teacher at the present time.

Of such character were Dr. Joseph White of Cher-

ry Valley and Dr. Mclntyre of Palmyra. It will

be readily seen that the early establishment of a

county society would become a necessity to the

medicaf profession, independent of the natural

desire for association for social and professional

purposes. Accordingly we find that a meeting of

the physicians and surgeons of the county of Mon-

roe was held pursuant to notice on the 9th of May,

1831, at the house of John 6. Christopher, in

Rochester. Alexander Kelsey was chosen chair-

man and John B. Elwood secretary. The physi-

cians whose credentials were approved by the chair-

man were Joseph Loomas, Nathaniel Rowell,

James Scott, Allen Almy, Daniel Durfce, Daniel

Weston, Isaac Chichester, Alexander Kelsey, John

Cobb, jr., John G. Vought, Chauncey Beadle,

Theophilus Randall. Frederick E. Backus, M. D.,

Ebenezer Burnham, jr., Samuel B. Bradley, Bzek-

iel Harmon. These immediately elected officers, as

follows: Alexander Kelsey, president; Nathaniel

Rowell, vice-president ; Anson Coleman, treasurer

;

Freeman Edson, J. B. Elwood, F. F. Backus, Eze-

kiel Harmon and Derick Knickerbocker, censors.

That meeting was hardly more than preliminary

and at a more formal one, held May 9th, 1832, the

committee on constitution and by-laws made an

elaborate report containing thirty-six distinct ar-

ticles, defining the offices and the duties of their

incumbents; also the duties of members, with the

mode of their admittance. At that meeting the

following named presented their credentials and

were admitted to membership: Anson Coleman,

Ezra Strong, David Gregory, William H. Mor-

gan, M. D., Linus Stevens, 0. B. Gibbs, James

Holton, William Gildersleeve, J. B. Elwood,

Berkeley Gillette, George Marion, M. D., Barzillai

Bush, M. D. The small number of men who

wrote their names with titles gives at a glance the

relation between those who had received their

instruction in medical colleges and been graduated

by them and those who were licensed by the cen-

sors of the county societies."

Taking up the narrative at this point, it may

be remarked that the activity of the County Medi-

cal society, however, very largely centered in its

annual or special meetings for the purpose of the

discussion of the various important medical ques-

tions of the day. Its annual meeting has taken

place for many years on the last Wednesday in

May but recently has been changed to the third

Tuesday in December.

In 1883 the Medical society of the state of

New York split into factions on the subject of

the "code of ethics," an instrument of some anti-

quity and accepted authority, which prevented con-

sultation with physicians belonging to other than

the regular school. Upon this question the state

society resolved to do away with the "code of

ethics" altogether. The Monroe County Medical

society agreed with the action of the state society,

although a few of the prominent practitioners of

the city disagreed and withdrew, both from the

state and from county organizations, forming a

now organization—the Association. This recogni-

tion, however, of the homeopathic and eclectic

medical men made possible .the establishment, a

few years later, of a state board of medical ex-

aminers, and raised the standard of the medical

education required very materially. At the begin-

ning of this period, only two years of study at a

recognized medical school, and registration of its

diploma in the county clerk's office, was required

to admit any one to practise medicine. To-day, a

four years' course, of nine months each, is de-

manded, preliminary to admission to the state

examinations, which must be satisfactorily passed

before a candidate may become a practitioner of

medicine. During all these years, the regular pro-

fession of the state has been divided into two

organic bodies: But with the passing of time antag-

onism softened, and, after three years' effort, the

regular profession of medicine again became

united. It is a matter of interest that the judicial

decree consummating this union was issued by

Justice John M. Davy, in Rochester, in December,

1905. During the year 1906 the Medical Associa-

tion of Monroe county, which had never been very

active, became merged into the Monroe County

Medical society. This organization is now a com-

ponent part of the Medical society of the state of
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New York, and through the state society is direct-

ly affiliated with the American Medical associa-

tit)n. Its regular meetings are held quarterly in

March, May, October and December, the last being

the date of the annual meeting. From the date of

it organization in 1821, to the present time, the

list of its successive presidents, with some names

missing, due to lost records, is as follows:

Alexander Kelsey, 1821 and 1823 ; F. F. Backus,

1822, 1830-31 and 1838-39 ; Linus Stevens, 1824-

25; John D. Henry, 1826-27 and 1834; John B.

Elwood, 1828-29; Freeman Edson, 1832; Berkeley

Gillette, 1833 ; I. W. Smith, 1835 ; W. W. Eeid,

1836 and 1849; "W .W. Brice, 1837; Maltby

Strong, 18'] 0; James Webster, 1814; Davis Car-

penter (of Brockport), 1845; J. E. Camp (of

Pittsford), 1847; Edward M. Moore, 1851, 1871

and 1883; Harvey F. Montgomery, 1853; Wil-

liam W. Ely, 1855; William H. Briggs, 1857;

Henry W. Dean, 1859 and 1870 ; W. C. Slayton,

1872; David- Little, 1873; William S. Ely, 1874;

Enoch V. Stoddard, 1875; Jacob I. Denman,

1876; Bleecker L. Hovey, 1877; B. I. Preston,

1878; Samuel Holman, 1879 ; T. B. Collins, 1880;

A. Mandeville, 1881; J. J. Kempe, 1882; Archi-

bald Dann, 1884; P. D. Carpenter, 1885; Louis

A. Weigel, 1886; E. H. Howard, 1887; W. J.

Herriman, 1888; F. A. Jones, 1889; John 0.

Roe, 1890; W. R. Howard, 1891; E. W. Mulligan,

1892; T. Oliver Tait, 1893; Henry S. Diirand,

1894; Wallace T. Sibley, 1895; H. T. Williams,

1896; F. F. Dow, 1897; Charles S. Starr, 1898;

D. G. Mason, 1899 ; John W. Whitbeck, 1900 ; L.

W. Rose, 1901; C. R. Barber, 1902; Wheelock

Rider, 1903; William M. Brown, 1904; E. G.

Cook, 1905-06. For the present year of 1907 the

officers are W. L. Conklin, president; C. Dean

Young, vice-president; C. E. Witherspoon, secre-

tary; R. R. Fitch, treasurer.

With the growth of the city the annual meetings

of the county society did not meet the needs of the

city practitioners and from time to time other

organizations have been formed for the purpose of

cultivating a knowledge of medical science and

stimulating social fellowship between physicians.

In 1853 the Rochester Medical society was estab-

lished but did not long survive. It was, however,

roorginiizod Fobrtinry J'llh, IRfiO, willi Dr. John F.

Whitbeck as president, Chas. E. Rider as secre-

tary and E. V. Stoddard as treasurer. For some

years it flourished, having for its succeeding presi-

dents H. W. Dean, David Little, Geo. Swinburne,

H. H. Langworthy, W. W. Ely, W. H. Briggs, C.

E. Rider, W. S. Ely, E. V. Stoddard and E. M.
Moore. Its membership embraced the more promi-

nent of the city physicians of its time, but its very

success was the cause of its downfall, its elaborate

suppers becoming too great a burden, and toward

the close of the seventies it faded away.

The most active of the local medical organiza-

tions, the Rochester Pathological society, was the

outgrowth of a group of young physicians, who,

about the year 1870, assembled regularly for dis-

section and the discussion of pathological questions.

Through the personal cfCorts of Drs. Charles S.

Starr and Charles Bulkley, the organization

was perfected and the Rochester Pathological so-

ciety established shortly after this date. It was

incorporated May 25th, 1889, by John 0. Roe, Wal-

lace Herriman, E. W. Mulligan, E. H. Howard,

and W. R. Howard. Among its original members

were Drs. C. S. Starr, Charles Bulkley, P. G.

Udell, Julius Schmidt, G. P. Morey, M. B. Spear,

George J. Oaks. Prior to 1876 no written records

were kept. In that year, Dr. T. A. O'Hare was
chosen president, B. I. Preston vice-president, L.

A. Weigel secretary, Charles Bulkley treasurer.

From that date to the present the succession of

presidents is as follows : L. A. Weigel, B. I. Pres-

ton, E. H. Howard, C. E. McKelvey, B. I. Preston,

G. T. Beauford, C. S. Starr, W. F. Sheehan, P.

D. Carpenter, Archibald Dann, W. R. Howard,

C. A. Dewey, W. J. Herriman, E. H. Howard,

W. A. Moore, B. W. Mulligan, Benjamin Wilson,

F. F. Dow, Ogden Backus, H. S. Durand, W. B.

Jones, Wheelock Rider, C. R. Barber, H. T. Wil-

liams, W. W. Soble, J. W. McCauley, H. Schoon-

maker, W. M. Brown, Charles D. Young, T. Oli-

ver Tait, Seelye W. Little, W. D. Becker. For

the year 1906-07 the officers of the society are:

President, ClifEord V. C. Comfort; vice-president.

Dr. E. Wood Ruggles; secretary and treasurer,

W. T. Mulligan. The society meets regularly every

other Tuesday from October to July, at the Ro-

chester Whist club.

In 1892, largely through the efforts of Dr. John

0. Roe, an arrangement was entered into between

the Monroe County Modicnl society and the Ecv-

nolds Library, whereby the trustes of the Reynolds

Library offered to establish and care for a medi-
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eal department, promising to contribute, in addi-

tion, a sum equal to that given by the members

of the medical society, not to exceed two hundred

and fifty dollars per year. In the same year the

Monroe County Medical society resolved to appro-

priate fifty dollars annually for this purpose,

and authorized a committee consisting of

Drs. Jno. 0. Roe, Prank P. Dow, Sarah R. A.

Dolley, Harriet M. Turner and Edward B. Angell,

to act as a library committee, to collect funds by

subscription and otherwise to further the interests

of a medical library. During the ensuing seven

years, over one thousand dollars was raised by

subscription among the physicians, which, with an

equal amount set aside by tha Reynolds Library,

made a respectable beginning of a medical collec-

tion. This collection was largely augmented by

gifts in the form of books, bound volumes of peri-

odicals, etc., from individuals and other libraries,

notably the New York Academy of Medicine. But

the difficulty of maintaining interest in a person-

ally solicited library fund increased from year to

year and it was recognized that a more efficient

backing must be seourod. It was suggested that a

strictly scientific body be organized, composed of

the more active practitioners of the city and coun-

ty, who were interested in the scientific side of the

medical profession.

In pursuance of this object, a call was issued

by Drs. Ely, Roe and Angell, to the subscribers to

the original library fund, to meet at the Reynolds

library on June 26th, 1899. At this meeting there

were present Drs. Ely, Whitbeck, Roe, Cook, Rose-

boom, B. H. Howard, W. R. Howard, Angell,

Rose,Hayward, Eisner, Dewey, E. W. Mulligan, E.

B. Potter, Darrow, Ruggles, Soble, Collier, Conk-

lin. Young, O'Hare, Starr and Williams. Dr. Ely

was made chairman and Dr. Angell explained the

purpose of the proposed society. The scheme was
discussed and unanimously commended. On July

10th, 1899, the organization was perfected, the con-

stitution and by-laws being then adopted, and the

Rochester Academy of Medicine was formally es-

tablished, having for its object the cultivation and

advancement of the science of medicine, including

the development and maintenance of a medical

library. The first officers of the Academy were:

President, Dr. W. S. Ely; secretary, H. T. Wil-

liams; treasurer, Edward B. Angell. On June

20th, 1900, Dr. Edward M. Moore was unanimously

elected an honorary fellow, on account of his emi-

nent contributions to the science of medicine. At

its annual meeting in December, 1901, through its

president, Dr. W. S. Ely, Charles T. Ham, of

Rochester, presented the Academy with five thou-

sand dollars for the furtherance of its objects. In

recognition of this gift, Mr. Ham was elected its

first benefactor. The Academy of Medicine hab

taken great interest in public questions concerning

the welfare of the citizens of Rochester. Among
other matters, it established a milk commission in

1902, for improving the quality of the milk sup-

ply of the city, and in 1904 it aided in establish-

ing medical inspection in the public schools, first

proposed in a resolution offered by Dr. W. M.

Brown. A permanent charter was granted the

Academy in 1906 by the state board of regents.

Under its care, the medical library has increased

rapidly and finally has been placed on a perma-

nent basis. Up to the present time over five thou-

sand dollars has been expended in the purchase

and binding of current medical literature, over

fifty journals, foreign and American, being kept

on file in the reading-room maintained by the

Reynolds Library. The library contains about five

thousand volumes, of which three thousand bound

volumes are periodicals. This library is accessible

to any properly qualified medical practitioner and

is a credit to the generosity of the trustees of Rey-

nolds Library and to the eiforts of the physicians

of Rochester. The presidents of the Academy have

been in turn: Drs. W. S. Ely, Jno. 0. Roe, E. W.
Mulligan, John W. Whitbeck, Edward B. Angell,

L. A. Weigel. The present officers are : President,

H. T. Williams; secretary, W. M. Brown; treas-

urer, R. G. Cook.

On the 23d of November, 1886, The Provident

Dispensary was organized for providing free medi-

cal care for women and children by women physi-

cians, an institution which was in successful opera-

tion for some years and accomplished much good.

On January 13th, 1887, tlie medical stail of the

Provident Dispensary organized the Practitioners'

society, a medical organization composed exclusive-

ly of the women physicians of Rochester. The
charter members were: Drs. Sarah R. A. Dolley.

Anna II. Searing, Mary E. Stark, Harriet

M. Turner, Eveline P. Ballintine, Prances Hamil-

ton, Lettie H. Woodruff, Sarah Perry, Mary A.

Brownell, Marion Craig, Mary J. Slaight, Min-



HISTORY OF EOCHESTER AND MONROE COUNTY. 376

erva Palmer ; and the officers for the first year were

:

President, Sarah R. A. DoUcy; vice-president,

Mary E. Stark; secretary and treasurer, Harriet

M. Turner. The succeeeding presidents were Dra.

Mary E. Stark, Mary J. Slaight, Anna H. Searing,

Frances Hamilton, E. P. Ballintine, E. A. Cady.

Evelyn Baldwin, M. Craig Potter, S. R. A. Dolley,

Anna Craig, Ida M. Porter, L. H. Woodruff, C.

B. MacArthur, Mary E. Dickinson, Helen Justin,

E. A. Cady Harris, C. W. Thomas, B. P. Ballin-

tine, Ida M. Porter. In 1893 the Practitioners'

society was incorporated, and in 1906 the consti-

tution and by-laws were revised and the name
changed to the Blackwell Medical society, in honor

of that pioneer woman physician. Dr. Elizabeth

Blackwell. The officers for 1906 were: Honor-

able president, Sarah R. A. Dolley; president,

Marion Craig Potter; vice-president, Evelyn Bald-

win; secretary, E. A. Cady Harris; treasurer,

Helen D. Justin. The officers'for 1907 are: Presi-

dent, Fivolyu Baldwin; vico-president, M. Louise

Hurrel; secretary, Harriet M. Turner; treasurer,

Ida M. Porter.

The Hospital Medical society grew out of the

informal meetings of the out-patient staff of the

City hospital. It was organized in 1898 among the

younger members of the medical profession, who

Iifld served ns liospital internes and was therefore

called the Hospital Medical society. Its purpose

is to promote the study of the sciences of medi-

cine and surgery and encourage good fellowship

among its members. Its active membership is

limited to those who have been in the practice of

medicine for less than fifteen years. Thereafter

they become honorary members, which privilege is

also accorded to the senior members of the hospital

staffs of the State, the City and St. Mary's hos-

pitals. The following have served as presidents of

the society in turn : Drs. S. W. Little, Wheeloek

Rider, L. W. Rose, George W. Goler, R. G. Cook,

Joseph Roby, W. T. Mulligan, W. V. Ewers,

The present officers are : President, A. C. Snell

;

vice-president, C. 0. Boswell; secretary and treas-

urer, E. M. Hague. Women physicians were iirst

recognized by the City hospital authorities in the

appointment of Dr. Marion Craig Potter, in 1898,

to the position of assistant physician on the hospi-

tal sfaif. On March 11th, 1907, at a banquet given

in honor of Dr. Sarah R. A. Dolley, the Women's

Medical society of the state of New York was or-

ganized for "the purpose of bringing medical

women of New York state into communication

with each other for their mutual advantage. " The

officers are: Honorable president. Dr. Elizabeth

Blackwell; president, Sarah R. A. Dolley; secre-

tary, Eveline P. Ballintine; treasurer, M. May

Allen. It holds an annual meeting in Rochester.

In presenting a few sketches of the lives of the

more eminent physicians of this city, recourse may
again be had to the article by Dr. Moore, referred

to at the beginning of this chapter, for the bio-

graphies of those of an early date, as follows:

"Among the earliest comers we may note the

name of Dr. Anson Coleman. He was born at Rich-

field Springs, N. Y., March 17th, 1795, and began

his professional studies when about seventeen years

of age, in his native town, but afterward went to

Cherry Valley and completed his studies with the

celebrated Dr. Joseph White. He was among the

foremost practitioners of the village of Rochester,

high-toned in his feelings and contemptuous of the

charlatanry that has always hung on the outskii-ts

of the profession. When the cholera first invaded

Europe the dread accounts that came by the slow

means of sailing navigation filled the whole coun-

try with a fear that has never Sad its parallel

on this continent. The first appearance at the

north was in Montreal. The authorities of the

village requested Dr. Coleman to go to that city

at their expense and bring back such information

as he could gather from the experience of the

health authorities and the physicians of that

place, which was done with good results. The

therapeutics then adopted have never been im-

proved. We excel our ancestors in the profession

only in the methods of prevention. Dr. Coleman

was elected professor in the medical college at

Geneva, but declining health prevented his oc-

cupancy of the chair. He died at the early age of

forty-two of aneurism of the abdominal aorta,

July 17th, 1837.

"John D. Henry was born October 19th, 1783,

at Stonington, Conn., studied his profession at

Cherry Valley with Dr. White and graduated at the

University of Pennsylvania. In 1823 he removed to

Rochester and at once took his place among -the

first physicians of his day. Those who remember

him will do so largely from the recollection of his

genial temper and high standard of professional

duty, a true gentleman by association and from the
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still truer source of conduct befitting the appel-

lation, that of the heart. He died November

13th, 1842.

"B. G. Munn was born in Munson, Mass., April

.7th, 1804. After practising a few years in Scotts-

ville, intending to keep himself en rapport with

general practice, he found himself overwhelmed

with the duties of an oculist. In 1837 he re-

moved to Rochester and gave himself up to the

duties of ophthalmology. The country was new

and his fame spread far and wide. It is doubtful

if, during the ten years of his residence here, any

other man had so many patients and gathered from

so large a territory. As the people generally were

poor, much of this great following came from his

generous disposition and as long as there was

money in his purse he was very apt to pay the

board bills of his patients and their passage home
after their recovery. The scope of this benevo-

lence may be recognized from the amount of

unpaid services at the time of his death, which

was $80,000, the sum of fees of the most ineager

kind. He died December 13Hi, 18^7, possessed of

small estate and loved by the warmest of friends,

whose affection had no taint of benefits received.

This is truly a marvelous history of a short profes-

sional life.

"Frederick F. Backus was born June 15th,

1794, and died November 5th, 1858. He was grad-

uated from Yale college in 1814, was. licensed to

practise medicine the next year and look up his

residence in this settlement, where he lived until

his death. Few knew him without acquiring a high

esteem for him, as a man and as a physician, for

he filled a large space in the medical profession

and the best associates of New York. To his un-

tiring efforts when in the state Senate was due

the establishment of the asylum at Syracuse for

the care of idiots, and he was largely interested in

the Rouse of Refuge.

"William W. Reid was born in Argyle, Wash-

ington county, in 1799, graduated at Union col-

lege in 1825, and studied at the Boston medical

college. He occupied a prominent position in the

coipmunity and a respected one among his breth-

ren, for his mind was acute with the elements of

genius. After some opposition he obtained a com-

plete Iriutnpl: in the method of reducing disloca-

tions of (!ie hip, which has ever since then been

known as 'Roid's method of manipulation.' If the

development of an original idea can be fairly as-

cribed to one m»n it may be regarded as an ample

result for one life. Dr. Reid died December 8th,

18o(i.

"Jolm B. Elwood was born in Minden, Mont-

gomery county, March 3d, 1792, and, after pursu-

ing his studies both in New York and in Philadel-

pliia, came here in 1817 and formed a partnership

with Dr. Coleman which lasted for many years.

Having the much vaunted though rarely possessed

quality of common sense, his position in the pro-

fession was one that commanded the highest con-

fidence. He became postmaster at a time when the

salary added largely to his income. During the

fierce speculation of 1836 he was almost the only

man in the city who remained unmoved by its in-

fluence, selling his property and not buying, so

that, when the flurry ended, he was richer than

before. In 1840 he became the owner of a planta-

tion in Florida and while there he received a fall,

which so injured his spine that he did not recover

entirely for many years. In 1849 he was elected

mayor, with practically no opposition. He never

married and died May 23d, 1877, in his eighty-

seventh year.

"E. W. Armstrong was born at Fredericksburg,

Canada. His education, both academic and medi-

cal, was at Dartmouth and afterward at Phila-

delphia. He moved to Rochester in 1837, after

the so-called 'Canadian rebellion.' Here he con-

tinued to practise medicine till 1877, dying sud-

denly at the advanced age of eighty-eight years

He was remarkable for his marvelously equable

temperament, which kept him unruffled by the

ordinary vexations of life, and he maintained
through all his forty years of practice an unsullied

reputation.

"Theodore Francis Hall, the son of Rev. Dr.

Albert G. Hall, was bom at Whitehall, N. Y.,

October 20th, 1827. Having graduated at Union
college he studied medicine and took his degree at

the college of Physicians and Surgeons in New
York city in 1854, beginning to practice in this

city in 1856. He was the surgeon of the One
Hundred and Fortieth regiment of New York
volunteers through most of the war, and died

March 5th, 1869. He had a cultivated mind, moved
by generous impulses which carried him on to the

performance of duties that might be regarded as
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faulty by excess. The attention demanded i;i

caring for a patient was extended, in his case,

with utter recklessness of the expectation of re-

ward, which was constantly forgotten by him-

self and very often by the recipients of his care.

"Hugh Bradley was born in the county of Ant-

rim, Ireland, in 1796. He pursued his medical

studies in Glasgow university, where he took his

degree in 1825. After practising his profession

for several years in his native country, he came

to America and settled in this city in 1834, where

he soon attained an eminent position. He at

once joined the medical sociey and continued in

its membership till his death on the 6th of May,

1883.

"Freeman Edson was bom in Westmoreland, N.

H., September 24th, 1791, and died at Scottsville,

Monroe county, N. Y., June 24th, 1883, aged

ninety-one years and nine months. He graduated

in medicine from Yale college in 1814 and at once

removed to Scottsville, where he practised medicine

until his death, during a period of over sixty-

nine years. He was a man of clear mind and posi-

tive convictions, which, with his constitution of

unusual endurance, fitted him for his wonderful

career.

"Louis A. Kuichling was born Dncciiibcr 20th,

1807, at Walsuni, on the Rhine, and died June

4lh, 1883, at Rochester, N. Y. He was the son of

a physician and when graduated, although the

youngest man in his class, he took the first prize

in surgery and the second in therapeutics. From

Wurtzberg he went to Heidelberg and thence to

Paris, attending the lectures of Hahnemann, after

which he practised homeopathy at Kehl, but even-

tually abandoned it. Being imprisoned, and his

property confiscated, for complicity in the revolu-

tion of 1848, he escaped, coming to New York

and afterward to Rochester, which he made his

liome for the rest of his life, in the very first

rank among the German practitioners in this

country.

"William W. Ely was born April 30lh, 1812, at

Fairfield, Conn., and died at Rochester, March

27th, 1879. After graduating at Yale medical col-

lege in 1834 and spending the winter of 1837 at-

tending the lectures of Jefferson medical college

at T'hilndolpliin, lin cnmn to Rochester, living here

for the remainder of his life. With fine talents,

which were shown in a variety of ways, his mind

had nothing erratic in it. His intellectuality guided

his pursuits. He wrote with taste, but not for

publication, being restrained by the extreme mod-

esty of his nature. The University of Rochester

conferred on him its highest degree, and it has

never been more worthily bestowed.

"Henry W. Dean was born in Madison county,

N. Y., in 1818, and graduated at Geneva medi-

cal college in 1842. He long filled a large space

in the estimation of the people of Rochester. With

a physique of remarkable personal beauty, he

cdded to the graces of nature's gentility an untir-

ing devotion to his duties, both in his attendance

on his patients and in the study of his profession.

There was nothing erratic in his mental structure,

and his work was pursued with constant patience,

so that his clientele was large and attached to him

with uncommon tenacity. He was a contributor

to the labors of the medical societies, of which he

was an efficient member. He died suddenly on

January 13th, 1878."

To the above sketches of Dr. Moore may be ap-

pended the following

:

Dr. John P. Whitbeck was born in Claverack,

Columbia county, N. Y., September 27th, 1812,

and was graduated in medicine at the University of

Pennsylvania in 1836. After practising his pro-

fession a few years in Avon and Lima, he moved

to this city and entered upon a professional career

of marked success. In 1862 he became surgeon of

the 108th regiment of New York volunteers and

served actively for one year, when ill health com-

pelled him to retire. In 1866 he was appointed to

the surgical staff of the Rochester City hospital,

a position he filled up to the time of his death.

To the poor and friendless his professional ser-

vices were freely given, even at the expense of

much pelf-sacrifice. His death occurred December

8th, 1880, in the sixty-eighth year of his age.

Dr. Edward M. Moore, without question Roches-

ter's most eminent physician, was born of Quaker

parentage in Rahway, N. J., July 15th, 1814.

His preliminary education was obtained at the

Rensselaer Institute, Troy, N. Y., and he began

the study of medicine in the office of Dr. Anson

Coleman of Rochester, in 1835. He took his firet

course of lectures at the college of Physicians and

Surgeons in New York city, but completed his

studies in the medical department of the Univer-

sity of Pennsylvania, where he was'^raduated in
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1838. After graduation he was interne at

Blockley hospital, Philadelphia, and then be-

came resident physician at Frankfort asy-

lum for the insane, near Philadelphia. Ur.

Moore came to Rochester in 1840, unusually

well fitted for his day for the active practice of

his profession. He early became greatly interested

in surgery, for which his special knowledge

of anatomy, as well as his temperament and

self-reliance, peculiarly fitted him. Within four

years after graduation, he was chosen professor

of surgery at Woodstock, Vt. Here and at Pitts-

field, Mass., he lectured for eleven years. In 1854-

5-6, he occupied a similar chair at the Starling

medical college, Columbus, Ohio, and in 1858 he

received the appointment to the professorship of

surgery at the University of Buffalo, a position

he held until 1883. Professional honors came to

him rapidly. He was president of the Monroe

County Medical society, of the Rochester Medical

society, of the Medical association of Central New
York, of the Medical society of the state of New
York, of the New York State Medical association,

of the American Medical association, of the Ameri-

can Surgical association, of the state board of

health, and of the Rochester branch of the Red

Cross society. As delegate to the International

medical congress at Copenhagen in 1894 he re-

ceived special recognition for his work in surgery,

particularly in the field of fractures and disloca-

tions. His contributions to the pathology and

treatment of Colles' fractures, and fractures and

dislocations of the clavicle, were original and note-

worthy. It was a source of great satisfaction to

him, late in his life, to have his views regarding

the nature of Colles' fracture confirmed by the

Roentgen ray. In his home city his confreres de-

lighted to do him honor. In his later years, after

the cessation of his formal lectures at Buffalo,

his addresses on the subject of fractures and dis-

locations before the local medical organizations

were thronged by physicians, old and young, many
of whom had been his pupils of an earlier time.

He was an honorary member of the Rochester

Pathological society, of the Rochester Academy of

Medicine and of the Rochester Hospital Medical

society. In all medical organizations with which

he was connected he took a very active part, his

numerous duties as a teacher of surgery, as an

active surgeon and practitioner, as a consultant

over a wide range of territory, not preventing his

attendance upon and participation in the

discussions that marked the progress of

medical knowledge. Beginning his surgical

career before the introduction of anaesthesia,

his life work covered the years marked

by the wonderful development of medical

science and the great progress in surgical tech-

nique due to the discovery of anjcsthesia, the estab-

lishment of antisepsis and the utilization of the

Roentgen ray. In other directions, his broad and

active sympathies were of special value, and his

professional eminence, benignant personality and

devotion to beneficent objects, were recognized by

all. His death occurred at Rochester, March 3d,

1003, in the eighty-eighth year of his age, and as

Dr. W. S. Ely, whose memorial to him before the

Medical society of the state of New York, the

present writer has freely used, well remarks: "His

life covered a long and eventful period. He saw

wonderful changes wrought out in every depart-

ment of human activity. To the last his mind

was clear and his interest in scientific movement

unabated. Truly he died full of years and honor."'

Dr. Harvey P. Montgomery, son of Harvey

Montgomery and Mary E. Rochester, and grand-

son of Colonel Nathaniel Rochester, was born in

Rochester July 21st, 1818. He was graduated

from Princeton college in 1839 and studied medi-

cine at the University of Pennsylvania, receivinsj

his degree in 1842. He entered upon the praclice

of medicine in his native city and early gave atten-

tion to surgery, for which his temperament and

knowledge specially fitted him. Upon the opening

of the Rochester City hospital in 1863 he was ap-

pointed visiting surgeon and upon the full organ-

ization of the hospital staff in 1872 he was chosen

its presiding officer, a position he held until his

death. During the Civil war he was medical ex-

aminer of recruits and later became pension ex-

aminer for the Rochester district. Dr. Mont-
gomery's reputation as a surgeon was based upon
his accurate knowledge of anatomy, his clear in-

sight into surgical methods and his absolute up-

rightness of character. His death occurred on

November 8th, 1884, in his sixty-seventh year.

"Dr. George G. Carroll was born at Geneva, N.

Y., October 31st, 1842, and received his early edu-

cation at the Geneva public schools. He was grad-

uated from Hobart college in ] 866, and four years
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later received the degree of M. D. from the medi-

cal department of J3ufTalo university. He immed-

iately began the practice of medicine in Rochester,

and during his life time acquired an extensive

clientele. Early in his career he was city physi-

cian and for thirty-five years he served on the sur-

gical staff of St. Mary's hospital. For several years

he was one of the managers of the State Industrial

school, and in 1899, upon the reorganization of the

educational system in the city, he was elected one

of the members of the board of education, a posi-

tion he retained until his death, whicn occurred

September 25th, 1905, in his fifty-seventh year.

He was a member of the Monroe County Medical

society and of the Rochester Pathological society.

His wife was a daughter of Dr. Bradley, mentioned

above. Unassuming in his manner, Dr. Carroll

was efficient and conscientious in his work, both in

the pursuit of his profession and in the discharge

of Ilia odicial duties.

])i'. Louis A. Woigcl was lioru of (luniiiiii par-

entage, in July, 1854, on Clinton avenue North in

this city. He was graduated in medicine from

the University of Maryland in 1875, and began

the practice of medicine in his home city. Eariy

in his career, his attention was directed to ortho-

pedic work and he devoted his time more and more

to its pursuit. In the specialty of orthopedic

surgery he became one of the most widely known

of American surgeons. He early became connected

with the staff of the City and St. Mary's hospitals

and later was appointed to the chair of orthopedic

surgery, at Niagara university, Buffalo. He had

always been proficient in amateur photography and

was one of the organizers of the Rochester Camera

club. With the discovery of the X-ray, the techni-

cal knowledge of an art taken up for diversion be-

came of immense value in the development of

radiography. His work in that direction was early

recognized as most brilliant in character and it

greatly extended his reputation at home and

abroad. His devotion to experimental and practi-

cal work with the Roentgen ray was the direct

cause of his early death. Careless of himself, anx-

ious only for the success of his efforts, he early

became affected with the dermatites now so fami-

liar to all workers in that science. .Even this did

not deter him from- his unceasing labor, and the

disease rapidly progressed. Amputntion of both

hands only served to prolong a suffering which

was constant and tormenting. Through it all he

bore himself with remarkable fortitude. He died

May 31st, 1906. In addition to his active service

on the staffs of the Rochester hospitals, he was con-

sulting orthopedic surgeon to the New York state

hospital for crippled children at Yonkers, and

consulting orthopedic surgeon to Craig Colony for

Epileptics at Sonyea. He had been president of

the American Orthopedic society, and a member
of various other medical organizations, and at the

time of his death was the president of the Ro-

chester Academy of Medicine.

Jonas Jones was born in Ontario, October 2d,

1837. He removed to Rochester when twelve years

of age and was educated in the public schools of

this city, and at Genesee college, Lima, N. Y. Ho
studied medicine at Bellevue Medical college, New
York, where he was graduated in 1867. He then

returned to Rochester and became resident physi-

cian and superintendent of the Rochester City

hospital, a position which he filled until 1872. He
then began private practice on West avenue and

rapidly acquired a large and devoted clientage.

His death occurred in December, 1892, and was

deeply regretted by his numerous friends.

Among others who have been prominent medi-

cal and surgical practitioners of their day, honor-

able mention should be made of Drs. H. H. Lang-

worthy, Thos. B. Collins, Bleecker L. Hovey, A.

Mandeville, and J. J. Kempe, who well maintained

the best traditions of the profession, the first

named and the last named of whom served long

and faithfully as attending surgeons at the City

hospital.

THE BOARD OF HEALTH.*

For the old board of health the charter of 1900

substituted a commissioner of Public Safety hav-

ing charge of the police, fire and health bureaus in

the department of Public Safety. The power of the

'commissioner, so far as the health bureau is con-

cerned, is all that of the old board of health. The

health bureau is organized to exercise control over

nuisances of all kinds, the installation and repairs

of all plumbing and drainage in dwellings, thn

receipt and record of all births, marriages and

•This article was prepared by Dr. George W. Goler, health

officer of the city.
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deaths and the supervision of all food supplies, in-

cluding milk. It has to issue licenses to milk

dealers, plumbers, scavengers and garbage collec-

tors. It issues permits to children for work in

mercantile or factory establishments under the

mercantile law, and under the general public

health law is supposed to have very general powers.

Its force at the present time numbers forty-five

persons, fourteen of whom are physicians. Since

the organization of the health bureau tnere have

been several periods in its history that need to be

recorded. In 1901 the city was visited by an epi-

demic of rabies affecting dogs, cats, horses and

cattle. A number of persons were bitten by dogs

who were proven to be rabid, and two persons died

of hydrophobia. Many people availed themselves

of the anti-rabic treatment at the Pasteur Institute

in New York city. More than 2,500 dogs and

cats were impounded and killed. In 1903 and

1 904 Eochester was visited by the most serious epi-

demic of smallpox in its history. The epidemic

broke out in the summer of 1902 in several parrs

of the city simultaneously. The city was then

wholly unprepared for an outbreak of this kind. A

few little old buildings on the river road between

the Brie and Lehigh Valley railroad crossing were

the only means provided for the care of persons

affected by smallpox. A temporary hospital con-

sisting of tents and platforms was hurriedly

erected and tlio patients were cared for during the

months of May, June, July and August. About

one hundred and fifty cases occurred during these

months, of whom fifteen died. This warning did

not seem to be sufficient for the authorities, and a

proposed hospital that was to have been erected

for the expected winter epidemic was not pushed

forward as was expected. Prom tne middle of

August until about the middle of September there

were but one or two cases of smallpox reported.

As soon as the cold weather began to come on,

cases of smallpox became more and more numer-

ous. Tents were used in the beginning of the out;

break and then temporary buildings were erected.

Soon afterward the election booths of the city were

put in commission and used for the care of patients

affected by the disease. In all in the winter epi-

demic there were about five hundred cases

and eighty-five deaths. While the epidemic

was still in progress a committee of in-

vestigation was appointed by the com-

mon council to investigate the conduct of

smallpox epidemic by the health authorities. The

health authorities had been refused adequate meaim

for protecting the people against the invasion of

smallpox, and no proper hospital facilities had

been afforded them. After daily sessions of nearly

two months the committee of the council strongly

censured the health bureau, and recommended that

the hcaltli officer be dismissed from service. Dur-

ing the winter outbreak of smallpox a site for a

hospital was procured in the ijorthwestern part oi

the city, where a smallpox hospital was in course

of erection. The roads to this site were practi-

cally impassable, four horses being required to

draw an ordinary load of gravel. By the time the

hospital was ready and the roads finished there

were not more than five of six cases of smallpox

in the city.

After the smallpox epidemic had been extin-

guished the hospital stood idle for a year. Then,

with the aid of the Rochester Public Health as-

sociation, of which the late Dr. E. M. Moore was

the fiist president, and Captain Tlonry Lomb

vice-president, the hospital was converted into an

institution for the care of incipient and moderately

advanced cases of tuberculosis. Through the aid

of the Rochester Public Health association about

five thousand dollars was subscribed for the ex-

periment. A visiting tuberculosis nurse, Miss

Marie Phelan, was employed by the association,

and, the city having given the use of the building,

the association attempted the experiment of caring

for cases of tuberculosis under the direction of the

health authorities. At the end of the year the ex-

periment was so successful that the city authori-

ties assumed the expense of caring for these cases,

and on this basis the hospital has been since con-

ducted, except that the Public Health association

assumes the expense for the visiting nurse.

As far back as 1897 the health authorities be-

gan to attack the milk problem. Milk brought to

the city came from many dirty barns, was teem-

ing with filth and bacteria, with a marked effect

upon ilie mortality rate. The hcaltli bureau es-

tablished summer milk stations during July and

August for the sale of nursing bottles of clean milk

at the cost of production. These stations were in

charge of trained nurses and were supplied with

little pamphlets showing how to take care of ba-
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l)ioB in simnner. To these slaUons iiiolliers came

with tlieir babies for milk and advice.

In the summer of 1904 the Rochester Public

Health association ofTered the services of five

physicians to carry on the experiments of medical

school inspection. These services were accepted

by the city. This experiment, too, having proven

a success, in the following year five additional

physicians were appointed to the health bureau,

who, with the seven health physicians, constitut-

ing a corps of medical school inspectors, began

systematically to visit the schools in an attempt

to exclude children suffering from transmissible

diseases. They also make systematic weekly in-

spections of the warming, ventilating and general

conduct of the building. The health bureau is in-

trusted with the enforcement of the mercantile

law which permits it to issue certificates to work

in mercantile establishments and factories to those

children having passed the sixth grade in the pub-

lic schools, and who are found in physical condi-

tion sufficient to enable them to work. It was

early noticed that many of the children applyig

for certificates had defective eyesight and hearing,

carious teeth, large tonsils and adenoid obstruc-

tions. Such children were deemed to be physic-

ally unable to work and were either compelled to

have their physical deformities remedied or else

a permit was not issued to work. Those children

whose parents were not able to secure medical or

dental aid for them were sent to a dispensary or-

ganized by the Public Health association, where

without charge their teeth might be cleaned, tem-

porary fillings inserted, eyes corrected, glasses fur-

nished, liearing cared for, and where tonsils and

adenoid obstructions might be removed. Here,

too, at this dispensary, children from the public

schools are sent by the school inspectors when their

parents are unable to give to them that aid which

the teeth, eyes, cars, noses and throats of children

so frequently demand.

HOMEOrATHY.*

The history of all things accomplished by human
efforts leads our thoughts into the realm of the

departed. To those of the homeopathic scliool of

•This sketch of both the Homeopathic nnd the Hahncmannian
schools was prepared by Dr. P. W, Nccfiis.

medicine who worked and died in the faith we
reverently bow in silence. This is not to be a

sketch of individuals, in the profession or out of it;

on the contrary its object is, in a simple manner, to

place before those interested the steps by which

homeopathy has reached its present elevated po-

sition in our community. The illustrations ac-

companying this chapter should be a greater fac-

tor than the text, as they show actualities, and

speak those things which no one can controvert.

Dr. Augustus P. Biegler was the first to intro-

duce homeopathy in Rochester. He was born in

Prussia and graduated from the University of Ber-

lin, March 29th, 1832. In 1837 he began, and was

the first, to practise homeopathy in Albany, N. Y.

In the autumn of 1840 he became a resident of

this city, and late in the same year made the

journey to Paris for the purpose of visiting

Hahnemann. After a year he again returned to

tills city, and formed a partnership with Dr. John

Taylor. Their office was at number 6 Spring

street, being on the northeast corner of Spring

and Fitzhugh streets. During the fall of 1844

came the liext maker of our history, Dr. Moses M.

Mathews, ^yho was a convert to the system through

the influence of Dr. Biegler. Dr. Biegler remain-

ed a resident here until his death, which occurred

in 1849, at the age of fifty-nine years. Dr. Taylor

lemoved to the city of New York and Dr. Mathews

occupied the office on Spring street for fourteen

years. He died in the- year 1867. These men were

not brought up in the school of Hahnemann, the

founder of homeopathy; they were graduates of

the dominant school, and had practised under such

teaching prior to embracing the principles of

homeopathy. During 1850 Dr. Edwin H. Hurd

came to the city and entered as a student the office

of Dr. Mathews. After becoming prepared to prac-

tise, a partnership was entered into, lasting one

year. At this time in active practice we find Hii.

A. P. Biegler, M. M. Mathews, E. H. Hurd, Hilera

Bennett, George Lewis, George W. Peer and

Thomas C. Schell.

The Monroe County Homeopathic Medical so-

ciety was organized on the second day of January,

1866. Its chartered members numbered seven-

teen and its officers were: President, Dr. George

Lewis; vice-president, M. M. Mathews; secretary

and treasurer, D. A. Baldwin. By 1884 its mem-

bership had increased to thirty-seven, with the fol-
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lowing officers: President, Dr. C. R. Sumner;

vice-president, S. W. Hartwell; secretary, Volney

A. Hoard; treasurer, T. C. White. The present

membership, February 1st, li)07, numbers fifty-

two and there are eighty-eight homeopathic phy-

sicians in Monroe county, seventy-four being lo-

cated in Rochester.

After many years of hope deferred, the Ro-

chester Homeopathic hospital was incorporated

May 25th, 1887. Sixteen months later, Septem-

ber 18th, 1889, the opening reception was held in

its building, situated on the south side of Mon-

roe avenue, between Union and Alexander streets.

The property included what had been known os

the Monroe Avenue Sanitarium and two frame

dwellings east of the sanitarium. In these quar-

ters were accommodations for forty-seven pa-

tients. The Hospital Leaflet issuea its first num-

ber April 10th, 188p, marking the birthday of

Hahnemann. The Western New York and the

Monroe County Homeopathic societies jointly cele-

brated this anniversary by a banquet at Powers

Hotel. In the Leaflet for September, 1889, tlio

following appears: "Wc intend to take a pronii-^

nent part in the charitable wcrk of the city." How
far this has become a success, the illustration of the

present property shows beyond a peradventure of a

doubt. A training-school for nurses was estab-

lished December 1st, 1889, and opened with three

pupils. At the present time, February 1st, 1907,

there is a class of fifty-six members. April 7th,

1890, a free dispensaiy, at 30 Pearl street, was

placed at the disposal of the city poor. Later .*t

was removed to a store on Monroe avenue, and

still later to the hospital property on Alexander

street.

This hospital was the first in Rochester to send

out a nurse to work in the homes of the sick poor.

Such a blessing to those in need was made pos-

sible January 1st, 1891, by provision for her an-

nual support, the gift of Mrs. Hiram W. Sibley,

in memory of her mother, Mrs. Fletcher Harper.

This nuTFO is still known as the "Margaret Harper

nurse." This appears in the TTospital Len-/l('.t for

August 10th, 1891 : "During the month of July

the Margaret Harper nurse made eighty-four

visits, some of which were nine hours long, while

some were only forty minutes."

The original quarters soon became inadequate

and the demands upon homeopathy wei-o met No-

vember 31st, 1894, by removal to new buildings.

They are situated at 224 Alexander street, upon

what was known as the Freeman Clarke home-

stead.

The property consists of about eight acres. The

buildings thereon include the spacious hospital

and maternity buildings, nurses' home, superin-

tendent's home and ambulance house. Accommo-

dations are ample for one hundred and forty-nine

patients and sixty nurses.

THE HAHNEMANN SCHOOL.

The Hahnemann society was organized during

188G, for the special study of the homeopathio

inalcria mcdica and therapeutics. The society be-

gan with a membership of seven. Its work has al-

ways been of a high order along the special lines

of homeopathic practice and the society now num-

bers seventeen members. Meetings are held on

the third Tuesday of each month. The Hahne-

mann hospital, located on Oakland street, was in-

corporated in the year 1889 and opened for the

reception of patients in May, 1891, with thirteen

beds. At the same time a training-school for

nurses Avas established and commenced with four

pupils. This institution has enjoyed a healthy

growth, showing clearly an appreciation of its la-

bors by the public. During 1901 additions were

built, increasing its capacity to forty beds. So suc-

cessful was it that other additions were made, so

that January 1st, 1907, marks the completion of i

large wing, doubling its capacity which gives room

for eighty patients and thirty-five nurses. They

have a fine ambulance service and publish monthly

a leaflet called The Advocate. There is a nurses'

home on the property and it is expected that in th'^-

near future a maternity building will be erected,

as $15,000.00 has already been raised for thH^

purpose.

The Lee private hospitnl, on Lake avenue, is not

to be forgotten in recording the growth and his-

tory of homeopathy. This hospital was opened

January 91h, 1898, l)y John Mnllorv Toe. M. T).,

with seven beds. Success has ever hovered over

this undertaking, so that it has now fifty-one beds,

besides a training-school numbering twenty-seven

nurses, with a commodious brick building for their

accommodation. In the same line is the flraham

TTighlnnd Park sanitiriuni and maternity hospital,
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on South avenue, an institution under homeo-

pathic management. It was opened April Ist,

1900, by the late M. E. Graham, M. D., with a

capacity of thirty-two beds. During 1905 the

building for a maternity hospital was erected, al-

lowing for thirteen beds. The institution can now
care for forty-five patients and a training-school

of fifteen nurses.

From the training schools of these various in-

stitutions two hundred and sixty-three nurses have

been graduated and the demand is still greater

than the supply.

The value of property under homeopathic man-

agement amounts to over half a million dollars,

making it an incontrovertible fact that this school

of medicine has its many loyal friends, and a le-

gion of loyal supporters, to whom great honor is

due (and here ofEered) for making it possible for

this branch of the medical profession to demon-

strate its ability to administer, so successfully,

medical and surgical assistance to the sick.

DENTISTRY IN EOCHESTER AND VICINITY.*

In giving a partial history of dentistry in Ro-

chester and Monroe county, I should like to state

a little of what dentistry in gcticral has accom-

plished. It is one of the oldest professions, refer-

ence being made to it by Herodotus in the fifth

century before Christ. Specimens of dental opera-

tions of these early ages are to be seen in the mu-

seum of the Louvre, Paris, also in the Cornetto mu-

seum, Italy, and numbers of others taken from

sarcophagi. The subject is not an especially fas-

cinating one, and yet humanity owes to it a very

large debt, for the health and comfort it has af-

forded it, notwithstanding some occasional pain.

The dental profession is proud of its record, and

considers itself second to none in the amount of

suffering it has alleviated. One of tlie greatest

l)oon8 conferred upon mankind was the discovery

and use of anawthctics by a dentist 1n tSii, Dr.

Wells of Hartford, Conn., and also by Drs. Mor-

ton and Long in 1846. How much of relief these

have accomplished it is needless to state. Many
of the prominent inventions that have influenced

the world have been made by dentists. The first

gold crown used to cap a broken-down root of a

•This sketch was prepared by Dr. Henry S. Miller.

tooth, before useless, was the invention of a Ro-
chester dentist. Dr. Beers, afterward of California.

The first repeating rifle was the invention of Dr.
Maynard, a dentist. The first rapid-fire gun, or

battery, as it was called, was invented by one of

our Rochester dentists, J. Requa, in 1863 (a pho-
tograph of the inventor, and batteries, with full

description, may be found in the Rochester Herald
of December 11th, 1904) . The first attempt to in-

augurate a dental protective association, with the

design of protecting the individual dentist from
unjust attack on the part of patentees, was made
by Rochester dentists, and, although it did not
permanently materialize here, it started the move-
ment which was afterward taken up by Chicago
dentists and perfected, and has become a national

affair. So far as 1 have been enabled to learn,

the first free dental dispensary in the world was
started by our Rochester Pental society in the

year 1901. It had rooms in the City hospital, and
was in operation two years, when, for reasons un-

necessary to mention here, it disbanded. In 1904

a new organization was effected, by the same so-

ciety with a view of giving to the worthy poor the

professional services of our best dentists free of

all charge, and owing to the liberality of our

townsman, Captain Ijomb, whom we all delight to

lionor, snfTlcient fnndf* liavo boon provided to sup-

ply the dispensary office with every needed modern

device for operating in the mouth.

The first Rochester City Dental society wa^

formed in 1868, when the following officers were

elected: President, Dr. H. C. Wanzer; vice-presi-

dent, J. Naramore; treasurer, A. A. Morgan; sec-

retary. H. S. Miller. This society continued for a

short time, when it disbanded, and In 1878 a new

one was formed, with the following officers: Pres-

ident, H. S. Miller; vice-president, B. F. La

Salle; secretary, J. Edward Line. In 1903 the

twenty-fifth anniversary was celebrated with a

complimentary banquet to its founders, who were

Drs. J. Requa, L. D. Walters, F. D. Brown (of

Mi Morris), .T. S. Walter, F. French, H. S. Mil-

ler, W. E. Royce, J. E. Line, Maurice Leyden, J.

E. Sanford and B. F. La Salle. This society is

still in existence, and is a recognized force in the

profession. The Rochester directory of 1827 has

no record of dentists. So far as I have been able

to learn, the first dentist of record was one Dr.

Bigelow, an itinerant, who operated in a room in
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the old Eagle Hotel. Following him came Dr. S.

W. Jones, also an itinerant. The first settled dent-

ist, probably, was Dr. L. K. Faulkner, who, accord-

ing to his advertisement, had an office at number

14 Arcade. I am unable to gather any historical

facts relating to dentistry between 1834 and 1840,

in which latter year Dr. H. N. Fenn, a graduate

in medicine and pharmacy, opened a dental office.

In 1844 the following dentists were practising

here: Drs. Palmer Babcock, John B. Beers, E.

Dunan, David Haines, Daniel Knowcr, Elijah

Pope, Ralph Resseguie, Roswell T. Reynolds, Al-

bert Stebbins, Chester L. Straight, Wm. Tichenor

and H. C. Wanzer. The first dental advertisement

was that of Dr. Faulkner, the next was of Proctor

& Allen, who advertised "to extract teeth, with or

without pain." In 1847 I find additions to the

prior lists as follows: C. Mills, Proctor & Allen.

In 1855 there were Dis. Crane and Hoflfman, H.

N. Fenn, W. M. Haines, C. R. Hamilton, B. R
McGregor, C. Miles, A. A. Morgan, J. Naramore,

D. J. Peer, Proctor & Allen, H. C. Wanzer, B.

Wright. Dr. J. Requa opened an oiTlce for prac-

tice of dentistry in 1858. The list varies but little

until we reach the year 1863, when' there were Drs.

J. Brown, Sluman Crittenden, A. H. Brockway,

Samuel A. Haines, Geo. M. Hopkins, H. N. Lowe,

Philander Maoy, C. Mills, A. A. Morgan, John

Naramore, D. J. Peer, Proctor & Allen, J. Requa,

H. C. Wanzer and L. D. Walter. Proctor & Allen

continued as a firm until the death of Dr. Allen

in 1878. The 1905 directory gives the names of

110 dentists, of whom two are ladies. At ihis

present writing Dr. J. Requa is the longest in prac-

tice in Rochester, next to him come Drs. F. French

and n. S. Miller, who came here at about the

same time in 1865. Dr. J. E. Line is probably

among the next longest in practice in Rochester.



CHAPTER XXII

HOW MONltOE BECAME A COUNTY.

BY WILLIS K. GILLETTE.

The Ownership of Western New York—-Contro-

versy between this State and Massachusetts—Its

Settlement at Hartford—The Sale to Phelps

and Gorham—And to Robert Morris—Early

County Divisions—Efforts for the Creation of

Monroe—Frantic Opposition from Other Coun-

ties—Letter from Colonel Rochester—The Bill

Finally Passes—!Z7ie First County Officers—
County Government— County Civil List —
Sketches of the Towns.

Although the narrative of the controversy re-

garding this portion of the state, with its subse-

quent changes of ownership, has been briefly given

in an earlier part of this work, it is deemed advis-

able to go somewhat over the same ground again

at greater length and with more of technical de-

tail, because the purchases and surveys then made
became the foundation of all titles in this county,

and they are still frequently referred to in title

Seeds and abstracts of title.

DISPUTED TEREITORTf.

Western New York was disputed territory. Hol-

land claimed under the discovery of Henry (often

called Hendrick) Hudson. In 1664 Charles II.

of England, ignoring the rights of Holland, grant-

ed the wholo of the New NcthorlnndB to his broth-

er James, the dulce of York and Albany. Under

grants from the British king, the commonwealth

of Massachusetts and the state of New York both

claimed the ownership of the larger share of the

territory lying within the bounds of New York.

The matter was finally settled by commissioners,

appointed by both states, who met at Hartford,

Conn., November 30th, 1786, and, after several

conferences, did enter into and execute an agree-

ment embracing mutual cessions, grants and re-

leases, whereby all of the interfering claims and

controveries between the said states, as well in

respect of jurisdiction as property, were finally

settled and extinguished, and peace and harmony

established between them on the most solid foun-

dation. By this settlement New York obtained

the right of government, sovereignty and jurisdic-

tion over all of the lands in dispute ; and to Massa-

chusetts was ceded the right of pre-emption of the

soil from the native Indians to about 330,400

acres, north of Pennsylvania, between the Owego

and Chenango rivers, commonly called the Massa-

chusetts Ten Townships; and also to all of the

lands in New York, west of a line beginning at the

eighty-second milestone, on the north bounds of

Pennsylvania, and running on a due meridian

north to Lake Ontario, except one mile in width

along the Niagara river.

THE LAND IS SOLD.

Massachusetts soon disposed of the ten town-

ships, and on April 1st, 1788, by act of the legis-

lature, agreed to sell to Nathaniel Gorham and

Oliver P]iel|)s the right of pre-emption from the

native Indians to the remainder of the lands em«

braced in the cession, for the sum of 300,000

pounds, in three annual installments, payment to
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be made in the consolidated securities of Massa-

chusetts. Negotiations were soon held with the

Indians, and at a council held at Buffalo creek a

treaty was concluded, July 8th, 1788, by which

Phelps and Gorham obtained the Indian title to

all of the lands that the Indians would sell, es-

timated at 3,200,000 acres, agreeing to pay there-

for five thousand dollars and an anuity of five hun-

dred. This Indian grant was confirmed by the

legislature of Massachusetts and the purchase thus

made was bounded on the north by Lake Ontario,

on the east by the line of cession to Massachu-

setts, commonly called the pre-emption line; on

the south by Pennsylvania, on the west by a merid-

ian line to be run from Pennsylvania to the con-

fluence of the Canaseraga creek and the Genesee

river, and northerly along the Genesee river to a

point two miles north of Avon village, thence west

twelve miles, thence northerly and twelve miles

distant from the Genesee river to Lake Ontario.

This was known as the Genesee tract, and was

all of the land that Phelps and Gorham ever

procured.

In consequence of the rise in the price of Massa-

chusetts paper, which was worth only twenly

cents on the dollar at the time of the purchase, and

other causes, they were unable to make the pay-

ments required by their contract, and finally com-

promised with Massachusetts, and surrendered

their claim to that portion of the territory to which

they had not obtained the Indian title, which was

afterward sold by Massachusetts to the agent of

Robert Morris, the great financier of the American

Revolution. Phelps and Gorham soon finding

themselves in further financial difficulties, they 'ap-

plied to Robert Morris, and he became the pur-

chaser of all of the unsold lands in the Genesee

tract, except about 47,000 acres, which Phelps and

Gorham retained for their own use.

Phelps held a council with the Senecas in 1788

at Buffalo creek, and with the assistance of the

powerful eloquence of Red Jacket, one of the

principal sachems of the Senecas, they were per-

suaded to agree without much reluctance to sell

all of the land from Seneca lake to the Genesee

river, but the latter was to be the dividing line,

for the land just west of that the Great Spirit

told them was to be their home forever, but in some
way he induced the Indians to believe that it

would be to their advantage to let him have a large

tiact on the west side of the river, which was

then considered the most desirable locality be-

tween the rapids and the lower falls. The story

has been already told how Phelps got hold of the

reserved piece of land. Having obtained the deed

he lost no time in having an official survey made

by Hugh Maxwell, and it was so made that it in-

cluded more than the twelve miles by twenty-four

as agreed upon. This was called the Mill lot.

When Robert Morris acquired title he had this

tract resurveyed, and in less than a, year sold it to

three Englishmen—Sir William Pulteney, Wil-

liam Hornby and Patrick Colquhoun—and, as title

to lands could not be deeded to aliens, Charles

Williamson came over from Scotland, and, after

he had become naturalized, the property was

deeded to him in trust for the real owners, and

Morris more than doubled his money, as Phelps

and Gorham had doubled theirs.

THE HOLLAND PURCHASE.

Scarcely had the western end of the stats,

which Phelps had been unable to obtain, been re-

linquished to Massachusetts, when that state sold

it for $333,000 to Robert Morris, and he in 1791

sold the tract of nearly four million acres, with the

exception of a. strip on the east, known as the Mor-
ris Reserve, to several Dutchmen, known as the

Holland Land company, Morris agreeing to ex-

tinguish the Indian claim. In 1797 Morris had a

council meeting at Big Tree, near Geneseo, with
the Senecas, and after a conference which lasted

several days, accompanied with much eloquence

from Red Jacket and Thomas Morris, and after

bribing some of the squaws with trinkets and the

principal chiefs with money, the Indian title was
relinquished.

The "Holland Land Purchase" is described as

follows: Embracing all of the tenitory bounded
on the east by a transit line beginning at a point

in the boundary line, between New York and
Pennsylvania, and running north to Lake Ontario,

at a point near the mouth of Oak Orchard creek,

passing six miles east of Batavia, Genesee county

:

on the north by Lake Ontario and Lake Erie; on

the west by the state Mile Reserve, on Niagara

river, and by Lake Erie and the Pennsylvania
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line; on the south by the Pennsylvania line to the

place of beginning. The deed was given by Eobert

Morris to the Holland purchasers, December 31st,

1798, and the land conveyed is estimated at 3,600,-

000 acres. In after surveys west of the Mill lot,

the tract struck out of Maxwell's survey by Por-

ter was termed the "Triangle."

Sir William Pulteney dying intestate in 1805,

his property descended to his only child, Henrietta

Laura, countess of Bath, for whom the town of

Henrietta was named, and also Bath, in Steuben

county. Pulteneyville, on the lake shore in Wayne

county, was named for Sir William.

EARLY SETTLERS.

New York is the Empire state and the Gene-

see valley has become celebrated as her granary.

The sons of New England sought their fortunes

in Monroe, and found it given as the price of in-

dustry. With sinewy stroke and lusty blow the

forest fell before them ; their descendants stand to-

day upon the vantage ground so nobly won by

their progenitors.

A poem written by one of our pioneers, Edwiia

Scrantom, commemorating the settlement of Ro-

chester, is worthy of reproduction, as follows:

"Hack on the misty (rnck of time, in memory's tlickerinp: liRht,

I see the scenes of other days, like meteors in the night,

The garden with its low built fence, with stakes and withes to

tie it;

The rude log house, my early home, and one wild maple by it.

"Rude were the sports 'round that wild home, when litUe hands
were twined.

And echoing woods swept back the joy, like voices in the wind;
And there gay birds, on bended spray, their wildwood songs

have given

—

The robin sang at dawn of day, the whip-po-will at ev^n,

"But leaves are scattered not more wild, by autumn's wind
uphurled.

Than all that group of faces bright, upon the wide, wide world;
But still on memory's page, in light which time con ne'er

destroy,
Stand out those scenes—that house and tree—a lost but sacred

ioy."

These were the days of huskings, quiltings, log-

gings, raisings, appleparings and other festivities

or bees. Furniture in these days was meager and

crude. Chairs were repi^fesented by sections of a

tree. Many of the beds contained no mattress,

springs or bed cord, the couch being spread upon

the floor, and sleeping apartments made by hang-

ing up blankets. Spinning wheels, warming pans,

foot stoves, and flag bottomed chairs, not fit to

grace our present-day kitchens, were in use. In

the log huts of that day Hencher's was thatched

with long grass, and Allan's was covered with

bark. The ox-cart was used for transportation

over the rough, unbroken roads. Fever and ague

abounded in the community. The land between

the site of Powers block and the river was marshy,

and what is there now is all made land. Some of

the hardships of this period are illustrated in the

case of George Goodhue, who was the first set-

tler at Braddock's bay, coming from Canisteo, in

six days by ox-sled in 1802. He reached Rochester

and attempted to cross the Genesee on the ice,

which was thawed near the bank, a dozen feet or

more. He unyoked the cattle and attempted to

drive them to land, they broke through the ice and

barely escaped drowning. He had left his wife,

filed and furniture upon the ice ; while he attempt-

ed to make a bridge to rescue Mrs. Goodhue, the

ice she was on became detached, and moved toward

the falls. He promptly seized a pole and threw it

to his wife, who attached it to the sled, a chain was

hitched to the other end, and the ice towed ashore

by the cattle, where all were landed. A few mo-

ments later the ice cake went over the falls.

The town meeting was imported here from New
England. In 1789 all of the eastern part of Mon-

roe county, except the towns of Rush and Mendon,

was organized into the district of Northfield. In

1794 the same territory without change of name

was made a town, and the first school was estab-

lished in the present town of Pittsford and taught

by Mr. Burrows. A school house was built at

Irondequoit landing in 1802, and in 1804 little

classes were taught by Miss Wiley in the present

town of Ogden. The first school in Henrietta

was on the Wadsworth road, so-called, near Steph-

en's corners, in a log building, and was taught by

Sarah Leggett, in 1807. In 1810 the first school

in North Penfield was established and taught by a

Scotchman named Wm. Harris. Welcome Garfield

of Mendon and Charlotte Cummings of Clarkson

were pioneer teachers of those localities; Miss

Huldah M. Strong, a sister of Mrs. Abelard Rey-

ndds, taught the first school in Rochester. Aaron

Skinner taught the next school, old number 1,

where the Rochester Free Academy building now

stands.

OOUNTT LIKES.

Prom 1816 to 1821 Ontario county included the

eastern half of what is now Monroe county, all ol
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Wayne and all of present Ontario, the eastern part

of Livingston and all of Yates counties. Gene-

see county included the western half of Monroe,

the western part of Livingston, all of Orleans and

of the present Genesee counties. The village of

Eochester was situated between the two, partly in

Genesee county and partly in Ontario county, be-

ing thus divided by the Genesee river. As the

settlements along the river and for a dozen miles

each side of it increased in population and pros-

peiity, it was felt to be a great hardship for the

inhabitants to be without facilities for transacting

business that are provided by the presence of coun-

ty officers and courts. Canandaigua, the county

seat of Ontario county, on the one side, and Ba-

tavia, the county seat of Genesee county, on the

ether, were each some twenty-five miles away from

this region, and in those days, when travel was so

difficult and laborious, it was manifestly unjust to

compel the inhabitants of this section to journey

all that distance.

THE STRUGGLE FOB MONROE.

Ontario and Oencsce counties, however, were

unwilling to give up any of their territory, and

they selfishly opposed the efforts of Colonel Na-

thaniel Eochester and Dr. Matthew Brown, jr.,

who went down to Albany to lay the matter before

the legislature in 1816. Colonel Eochester, with

different committees, went to Albany before the

legislature with petitions in the years 181C, 1818,

1819 and 1830, but met with no success, being op-

posed by John C. Spencer from Ontario and Sam-

uel M. Hopkins from Genesee, and others. The
argument contained in these petitions is substan-

tially as follows:

That the counties of Ontario and Genesee are

extensive in territory, and contain a population

of upward of 80,000, that many peoeple are sub-

ject to great inconvenience, trouble and expense,

in transacting business with the public offices and

courts, and that parties, jurors and witnesses are

compelled to travel great distances, and that cases

are adjourned from term to term, to the perplexity

of the courts, the expense of suitors and in many
cases to a denial of right. That between many of

the towns and the respective seats of justice there

is no natural froquoncy or facility of intproourse,

and that they have no occasion to visit these shir^

towns, except to transact business at the public of-

fices and for attendance upon the courts, whereas

they have direct and frequent communications and

intercourse on a variety of business with the set-

tlements on the Genesee river, to market their

produce and look for manufactures and supplies.

The petitions also recite the local advantages:

that in the short period of five years a wildernesa

has been made to retire before tlie hand of in-

dustry and to give place to villages, wealth and the

arts. Statistics were also recited as to the amount

of business done at Eochester, for comparison with

that done at Canandaigua and Batavia; and the

export trade from the port at the mouth of the

Genesee as appeared from the statement of the

collector, consisting of flour, pot and pearl ashes,

pork, wheat, cider, lumber, staves, timber, etc.,

of the value of $400,000 ; and that forty-eight ves-

sels were engaged in carrying the freight from the

port of Genesee. The petitions asked for a county

substantially of the dimensions and bounds of the

present Monroe, although one of the petitions,

seems to ask for a little more than our present ter-

ritory, possibly with a view of asking for more

than they wanted, in the hope of falling back and

getting what they wanted by way of compromise.

These petitions were signed by several thousand

persons. Petitions in opposition were 'also circu-

lated, receiving a little less than two thousand sig-

natiires. These petitions for the new county were

reported favorably out of the Assembly committe-3

to which they were referred, in some instances, but

met with defeat in the Assembly.

Nevertheless the petitioners were not discour-

aged by four successive failures, and on August

33d, 1830, at a meeting of citizens, committees

were again appointed to push the project, and Na-

thaniel Eochester and Elisha B. Strong were ap-

pointed to go to Albany. The opponents were

equally in earnest, although fewer in number, led

by such able generals as John C. Spencer and My-
ron Holley, assemblymen from Ontario county,

and Samuel M. Hopkins, from Genesee county.

Tn the legislature of 1831 the bill met with vig-

orous opposition from Messrs. Spencer, Holley and

Hopkins, who urged that no county should be

erected with territory lying on both sides of the

river, as it would subject half of the inhabitants

1o irreat inconvenience and expense, and that the
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division would only promote the interest of a few

lawyers, merchants and tavern keepers residing

at the new county seat. They stated that county

charges before the division fell lightly upon indi-

viduals and that the time, which was a period of

serious financial depression, was unpropitious for

vaising the sums necessary for the erection of

expensive buildings.

Besides this the Erie canal was expected to

make changes in the distribution of business

through the counties of Ontario and Genesee, and

it might be found to be most unwise to have made

the division when the canal should be completed

and the traffic upon it should be fully under way.

They also urged that there were many other places

better adapted than Shingletown, as they called

the village of Rochester, for the seat of justico,

and charged that the inhabitants of the region

about did not want a new county, but were over-

persuaded by a few southern gentlemen who had

acquired landed interests, which would be greatly

incrpascd in value by tlic pvojioscd change. It

was also stated that in the near future a tier of

lake counties along the southern shore of Lake

Ontario would certainly be erected and that the

erection of Monroe county was an entering wedge

for the purpose ; that it was better to have as few

county clerics' olTices ns possible, in which deeds

and other instruments were to be recorded, as the

examination of titles would be more easily con-

ducted where the territory of the county was large.

In the meantime their sympathizers were acting

vigorously in the two counties to create reasons for

the defeat of the bill. The judge of the county

court of Ontario county opened his court at sun-

rise, and continued the sessions day after day un-

til late at night, giving those in attendance scarce-

ly time for food or sleep. His calendar was soon

exhausted. The people of Canandaigua were high-

ly elated and boasted that the evils complained of

were only imaginary, and that any court anxious

to complete what business was before it could eas-

ily do so. The county clerks kept their offices open

early and late.

But it was too late to change the results. The

advocates of division pressed the argument that

Ontario and Genesee counties were too large and

that they had exerted undue influence in the coun-

sels of the state in many different ways, and that

the petitions which had been presented to five ses-

sions of the legislature showed sufficient reason for

the passage of the bill.

The feelings of Colonel Rochester at this time
can best be portrayed in his own language, as given

in a letter from him addressed to Abelard Reyn-
olds, the first postmaster of Rochester, which reads

as follows:

"Albany, 13th February, 1821.

"Dear Sir: This being the day set apart to

take up the bill for the county of Monroe, I did
hope there would be no further delay, but when
the order of the day was called Mr. J. C. Spen-
cer rose and observed that as he was not well

enough to go into the discussion of so important
a subject, and as his friend from Genesee (Mr.
Hopkins) was too unwell to attend the house to-

day he hoped the house would postpone the dis-

cussion of the bill to some future day, and it being
customary to indulge members on such occasions

Mr. Tracy (the chairman of the standing com-
mittee on new counties) moved that the subject

be postponed and made the order of the day for

Thursday, the 15th instant, which was agreed to.

"Mr. Spencer and Mr. Hopkins have attended
the house very regularly each day until now, the

latter did not attend to-day and perhaps the former
will not on Thursday, as he is (I think from his

appearance) really unwell, tho' not so much so

as to prevent his giving a speech on almost every

subject. I fear that we shall not get a final dis-

cussion on Thursday. If the gentlemen should

be well enough to attend the house they will urge

the propriety of delaying the subject until all

the applications for new counties and all the re-

monstrances are before them, and if they succeed

on that project no determination will be had un-

til late in March, and by that time they may
make such arrangements as to defeat us. Our op-

nonents are now turning their attention to take

from Monroe the whole of Caledonia and Rush,
together with Penfield and Perrinton, so as to

destroy our application in that way if they cannot

in any other. They urge that as we take the

breadth of three towns west of Genesee river we
shall have territory enough along the lake without

Penfield and Perrinton and that these two towns

will be wanted to make a respectable county east

of us. Mr. Holley is at the bottom of this project,

with a view to making Palmyra a center for such

county, where he has a store and contemplates

settling (as I am informed) ; he will be supported

in this measure by Spencer, Hopkins, the Palmy-

rans, &c. Hopkins and Ganson are at the bottom

of the other project and will be supported by both

the Spencers, Holley, &c.

"Mr. Strong and myself have to contend with

a great deal of management and intrigue and what
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will be the result of our application is uncertain.

I do not despair, however, of success before the

end of the session, notwithstanding the different

plans to defeat us. My return is uncertain, but

hope it will be some time next week.

"Yours very respectfully,

"N. Rochester.

"Please show this to our neighbors."

IT BECOMES A COUNTY.

After much filibustering by Mr. Spencer and his

colleagues the bill passed the house by a vote of 73

to 37 soon after this letter was written; the bill

was approved and became a law February 33d,

1831, being chapter 57 of the laws of 1831.*

PROVISIONS OF THE LAW.

The bill provided that the towns of Gates,

Parma, Ogden, Clarkson, Brighton, Penfield, Per-

inton, Pittsford, Mendon, Henrietta, a part of

Sweden, and a part of Rush, and a portion of Cale-

donia which was newly named the town of Inver-

ness, were to be known as Monroe county. In the bill

commissioners were appointed to determine the

proper site for court-house and gaol, a court of

Common Pleas and a court of General Sessions

were provided for, and terms for said courts were

fixed. One member of Assembly was apportioned

to the new county. Elisha Ely and Levi Ward,

jr., of Brighton, N. Y., and James Seymour, of

Clarkson, were appointed commissioners to super-

intend the building of the court-house and jail

and two assessments of $5,000 each were authoriz-

ed to be collected for the expenses of the county

buildings and for other expenses of the county.

The council of appointment, in whom the power of

naming the county officers was vested, on March

5th, 1831, appointed Elisha B. Strong as the first

judge of the court of Common Pleas, Timothy

Childs as district-attorney and Nathaniel Rochester

as county clerk ; on March 7th James Seymour was

appointed sheriff and on March 10th Eliaha Ely

received his commission as surrogate. At the

election the same year Nathaniel Rochester was

elected the first member of Assembly; Elisha Ely

* In setting forth the foregoing details of this controversy
the writer has heen much assisted by a paper read by Mr.
Howard L. Osgood before the Rochester Historical Society.
May 18th, 1892, and also by original documents kindly loaned by
Mr. William H. Samson.

was appointed county clerk in 1833 in his place,

and Orrin Gibbs was appointed surrogate.

The next question to be settled was the selec-

tion of a site for county buildings. Throe lots

were offered to the commissioners; one the lot now

occupied by the court-house, and two others on

the east side of the river, one being a part of Bnoa

Stone's garden, and another a lot on North St.

Paul street. It was argued that the site afterward

selected was the best, as the larger part of the

county lay west of the river, and that this terri-

tory would admit of a much larger population than

that on the east, the east side haying much more

poor land, and the soil on the west side being more

sandy, and consequently drier and less muddy in

wet weather; that the lots offered on the east side

were less comfortable for use, as more exposed to

the high, cold winds in winter, and that the ex-

pansion of the population of the village would cer-

tainly be toward the west to meet the incoming

trade upon the canal, as Colonel Rochester said in

one of his petitions to the legislature: "In vain

does man design towns and villages where nature

forbids."

The first board of supervisors of Monroe county

assembled at the house of John 6. Christopher, in

Rochester, on the 8th day of May, 1831, and therj

were present the following: Clarkson was repre-

sented by Aretus Haskill, Brighton by Ezekiel

Morse, Gates by Matthew Brown, jr., Henrietta

by Elijah Little, Mendon by James Smith, Ogden

by James Baldwin, Pittsford by Simon Stone, 3d,

•Penfield by Henry Fellows, Perinton by Reuben

Willey, Riga by Joseph Sibley, Rush by Peter

Price, Sweden by Silas Judson and Wheatland by

John Garbutt. Matthew Brown was selected as

chairman, and Josiah Sheldon clerk, of the board,

and Samuel Melancton Smith was chosen county

treasurer. The second meeting was held at Avon,

June 13th, where it was resolved to build a court-

house. The compensation of the first board of su-

pervisors was $344.10, as against $31,000 for the

present board. The assessed value of the real

estate of the county in 1831 was $3,183,953, and in

1907 $156,749,991. The county contains 400,000

acres. Population of Monroe county was stated

in petitions to be about 80,000 in 1831 ; it now is

339,434, 181,666 residing in the city, 57,768 in

towns outside of the city.
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FUNCTIONS OF COUNTY GOVEllNMENT.

The mission of Eome was to give tis our laws,

the mission of Greece was to give us learning, art

and literature ; the mission of the Hebrew or Jew-

ish race was to give us our religion ; the mission of

America is one of freedom, republicanism as dis-

tinguished from monarchy, democracy in the sense

of unity of brotherhood and equality of man.

America stands for the perfection of the common
man. In ancient days despotism was prevalent,

and even now in some places one man absolutely

rules thousands, yea millions, but in America to-

day lliousands. Ten millions, rule themselves, and

every American citizen is an individual monarch.

So the sovereignty of the state rpsts in the people

of the state, subject to the provisions of the con-

stitution, which has been adopted by the people,

and their power is exercised through the state

legislature, which is representative in its capacity

and elected by the people of the various Senatorial

and Assembly districts, being composed of two

branches, the Senate and the Assembly.

And all the right that we have to exist as a mu-

nicipal corporation is derived from the sovereign

power of the state, as exercised by the legislature.

Even our land escheats, or reverts, to the state up-

on failure of heirs. Our city government has only

such powers as have been delegated to it through

its charter, passed by the state legislature, which

in our case is called the White charter, and

governs likewise Syracuse, Albany and Troy, all

cities of the second class. These powers are ex-

pressed in the charter, and it only has such implied

powers as are necessary to carry out its express

powers. Hence the necessity of going to the leg-

islature for an enabling act, whenever some un-

usual need arises.*

Counties are of a lower grade of municipal cor-

poration and are sometimes cialled quasi-municipal

corporations. They are involuntary in their in-

ception, being political divisions of the state set off

originally for the purpose of the administration of

justice and election purposes. They have no

charters and have only such powers as have been

given them by statutory enactment of the state

legislature; most of the powers of a county are

expressed in the general county law, but there

•After the 1st of January, 1908, Rochester will be a city of
the first class, with a new charter of its own.

have been special acts granting certain powers to

this county. County in England is synonymous

with shire. The word is of French origin and

means the territory of a count. The legislative

power of this county is vested in a board of super-

visors, consisting of forty-one members, elected

biennially, one from each of the twenty-two wards

and niiiclccn (owns, receiving an annual salary of

$500 each. They meet to perform their committee

duties two or three days before the first of each

month, where their most important work is done;

and they hold formal sessions on the first and

second days of each month, the committee reports

and resolutions are received and printed the first

day and arc called up for adoption on the second

day. They organize on the second day of January

each year. They have the care and custody of all

the corporate property of the county, which con-

sists of the court-house, jail, penitentiary, peniten-

tiary farm, almshouse, Monroe County hospital,

and also the care and custody of the Annory and

the Naval Eeserve Station, which belong to the

state. They audit the bills of all of the foregoing

departments of the county, including the expenses

of the operations of the courts, jurors, witness

fees, etc. ,

They have the power to raise all county, state

and town expenses by taxation and for this pur-

pose prepare an annual tax levy. They fix the sal-

ary and compensation of all county officers and em-

ployees, not fixed by statute. They have power to

borrow money for the erection of county buildings

and the purchase of sites therefor, and for all other

county purposes and uses and issue bonds therefor.

The only indebtedness of this county is for bonds

issued for the construction of the court-house,

for which purpose $850,000 of bonds were issued,

of which about $500,000 remain unpaid, being re-

tired at the rate of $50,000 per year. One of the

notable things accomplished by this county has

been the construction under state aid of nearly

one hundred miles of improved highway under the

Higbie-Armstrong law, and over three hundred

miles have been petitioned for and will be con-

structed when reached.

DEVELOPMENTS.

Our grand old county in its gradual develop-

ment has become celebrated along some lines of ac-

tivity.
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Ten thousand men were enlisted from this coun-

ty in the late war of the Rebellion, being nearly

one for every ten inhabitants, or about one-half of

the entire voting population. Notable among the

regiments raised was the old Thirteenth infantry,

which has always been held in fond remembrance

as the "Old Thirteenth," a few of whose honored

members still live among us. According to the

United States census this county stands second,

among all of the counties in the Union, in the

value of its agricultural products, Lancaster coun-

ty, Penn., being the first. Monroe is the fourth

county in the state in population.

In view of the foregoing, and much more that

might be adduced, we are to be congratulated upon

the material advancement, growth, progress and

prosperity of this great county and this beautiful

garden city of homes, the Plower city.

"Almighty ! May thine outstretched arm.

Guard through long ages yet to be,

Prom tread of slave, and kingly harm.

Our Eden of the Genesee."



CHAPTER XXIII

THE TOWNS OF MONEOE COUNTY.*

THE TOWN OF BRIGHTON.

Brighton was named for the well-known water-

ing plnue in England. Orange Stone settled in

what is now Brighton in 1790, and opened a house

of entertainment near the council rock and elm.

Enos Stone, jr., was one of those who drove

through stock, cattle and swine from his eastern

home until, in 1810, he became the pioneer set-

tler of Rochester, and the owner of a farm located

in what is now one of the most densely populated

portions of the city. On March 25tli, 1814, the

old town of Smallwood was divided into Brighton

and Pittsford. A part of Rochester was taken off

in 1834, and Irondequoit in 1839. It lies upon the

east bank of the Genesee river, a little southeast

of the center of the county. Its surface is gently

rolling with a slight inclination toward the north.

The deep valley of Irondequoit bay is on the east

border. Its streams are small brooks, tributaries

of the Genesee river and Irondequoit bay. The
soil is a sandy loam in the east and a clay loam

upon the river. Near the center are gypsum beds

formerly extensively worked. The people are large-

ly engaged in raising nursery stock and vegetables

for the Rochester market. A large brick and tile

manufactory is located in the southern part of the

torwn. In its immediate vicinity are the Mon-
roe county penitentiary, the almshouse, the Mon-
roe county hospital, the Rochester state hospital

•This chapter, as well as the foregoing, was prepared by
Mr. Willis K. Gillette, the material for this being taken in
large part from the "Landmarks of Monroe County," published
in 1896.

for the insane, and Mt. Hope cemetery. The
original town of Boyle was formed in 1806, and in-

cluded all that is now Brighton, Pittsford, Perin-

ton, Irondequoit, Penfield and Webster. The name
was changed from Boyle to Smallwood in 1812 or

'13. As a part of the Phelps and Qorham pur-

chase, Brighton comprised chiefly township 13,

in range 7. The original purchasers of this town-

ship were General Hyde, Prosper PoUey, Enos

Stone, Colonel Job Gilbert and Joseph Chaplin,

none of whom, except Enos Stone, were ever per-

manent residents in the town. The first white

settler in the town was John Lusk, who came in

1787, spent some time in prospecting and visit-

ing among the Indians, and then returned to

Massachusetts. In 1790 he returned to the local-

ity and became a permanent settler, establishing /

a tannery at the old Irondequoit landing.

Among the other early settlers can be recalled

the names of Erastus Lusk, Chauncey and Calvin

Hyde, Joel Scudder, Timothy AUyn, Samuel Shaf-

fer, Enos Blossom, Oliver Culver and Judge John

Tryon, who took up his abode at the head of the

bay, built a log warehouse and made preparations

for the building of a village, and this place be-

came known as "Tryon Town." Asa Dayton kept

a public house here in 1801, a tannery and dis-

tillery were in operation about the same time and

Tryon Town at once became a settlement of im-

portance in the new country. Ira West was one of

the earliest storekeepers, and Solomon Hatch and

Oliver Culver operated a saw mill on Allen's creek

as early as 1806. During the war of 1812-15 ths

little settlement at the landing was a busy locality

and much lake navigation had its beginning here.
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The first decked vessel to descend the St. Law-

rence, it is claimed, was constructed here. Among
the settlers about the time or soon after the war

were the Cory and Dryer families, Francis Char-

ter, Milo Barnes, Erastus Stanley, Barnabas Cur-

tis, Hanford Boughton, Abner Buckland, William

Crocker, Abel Tollett, Bnos and Israel Blossom,

Eoswell and Eomanta Hart, Joseph G. Wheeler

and others. It is proper to call to mind the old

Genesee model school, incorporated in 1848, af-

terward called the Clover street seminary. Tlie

village of Brighton was annexed to the city of

Eochester in 1905 by act of the legislature, and

now comprises the twenty-first ward of Rochester.

THE TOWN OF OHILI.

Chili was formed from Riga, February 33d,

1833. The first settlement was made by Joseph

Morgan, in 1793. The first child bom there was

Joseph Wood, in 1799. It is an interior town lying

southwest of the center of the county. Its surface

is level, or gently rolling, with a slight inclination

to the east. The Genesee river forms the eastern

boundary of the town, and Black creek, a sluggish

stream, flows east through the central portion of

the town. The soil is a clay loam, mixed with

sand. South of Black creek are several peculiar

gravelly knolls, the principal of which is Dumpling

hill, near the river. The early history of Chili

is entirely contemporaneous with that of its mother

town of Riga, which was known originally as East

Pulteney, and a little later as East Riga, while

Riga proper was known as West Pulteney and

West Riga. In the town as at present constituted

are five small villages or hamlets, known respec-

tively as Chili, North Chili, Chili Station, Clif-

ton and South Chili. The first settlers of the town

were Yankees, that is New Englanders of pro-

nounced type, and they brought with them the

customs and manners peculiar to all inhabitants

of New England. The pioneer of this locality was
Joseph Morgan, who located near the south line,

adjoining the lands of Peter Sheffer, the pioneer

of Wheatland and the successor of the notorious

Ebenezer Allan. Among the early settlers were

Andrew Wortman, Colonel Josiah Fish and his

son Lebbeus from Vermont, who settled on the

river at the mouth of Black creek. The first in

dustry was a distillery built by Stephen Peabody in

1796. In 1797 Jacob Widner and his sons, Sam-

uel, Jacob, Abraham, William and Peter, and also

Joseph Oary, made a beginning here; and later,

but prior to 1800, came Lemuel and Joseph Wood,

Samuel Scott, Joshua Howell, Benjamin Bowman,

John Kimball, Daniel Franklin, Mr. Dillingham,

George Stottle and others. About this time came

John McVean from Ontario county, with his six

sons, Duncan, Samuel, John, Daniel, Peter and

Alexander, also William Woodin and his family

from Seneca county. Later settlers were Joseph

Sibley, Joseph Davis, William Holland, John Wet-

more, Joseph Thompson, Isaac Burritt, Berkley

Gillett, Isaac Lacey, William Pixley and others.

James Chapman established the first store, in 1807,

and James Gary built the first mill. Later store-

keepers in the town were Mr. Filkins, Mr. Hawea
and Theodore Winans. The first tavern was kept

by Elias Streeter about 1811, on the Chili and

Spencerport road. Paul Orton was the second

landlord, and one, Peimock, kept the checkered

tavern, an old historic building. Gary's mill was

located on Mill creek, north of Clifton, and near

by, in 1807, Comfort Smith built a grist mill.

Joseph Sibley built a saw-mill in 1811, near Buck-

bee's Corners, and soon afterward a grist mill.

In 1806 there was a school-house erected north of

Black creek, one mile west of the Center. The
town has not increased in population very mater-

ially since 1835, when it numbered 1,837, as it ia

estimated that the present population is about

3,000. Chili is an agricultural town, being defi-

cient in manufacturing and other industries,

which is doubtless due to the absence of suitable

water power. The Green nursery company operate

a large nursery farm in the town, which consti-

tutes the chief industry of the tovm. The chief

educational institution is the Chili seminary, lo-

cated at North Chili. There are eleven school dis-

tricts in the town, each of which is provided with
a comfortable school-house.

TH15 TOWN OF OLARKSON.

This town was named for General Matthew
Clarkson, an extensive land owner in this locality,

who gave one hundred acres to the town. It was
formed from Murray, Orleans county, April 2d,

1819. Union was taken off in 1853 and comprises
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the present tt)wn of Hamlin. It has been claimed

that Moody Freeman was the first settler in Clark-

son. James Sayres purchased at Clarkson Corners

in 1804 and was the first settler on the Ridge

road. Eli Blodgett also settled here in 1804, and

there were many others prior to 1809. In 1810

and a year or two thereafter settlement and devel-

opment progressed rapidly. It was the home of

Heniy R. Selden, judge of the Court of Appeals,

and later lieutenant-governor of the state of New
York. The first male child born was a son to

Mrs. Clarkson, the first female birth was that

of Betsey Palmer, in 1812. Charlotte Cummihgs

taiiglit the first school, in 1813. Henry McCall

kept the first store, about 1810. Isaac Williams

built the first frame house, and was the first black-

smith. Dr. Noah Owen was the first physician and

Dr. Rows the second. John Bowman was the first

lawyer. The first and about .the only newspaper

published in Clarkson was the Jejfersonian, in

1835, which continued only about a year. The first

saw-mill was erected previous to 1811, by James

Sayres, and stood a half mile east of the corners;

about the same time Mr. Tolles built a grist-mill.

Several distilleries were among the early indus-

tries along the Ridge road. A post-office was estab-

lished in 1810, J)r. Baldwin being Uic fii'sL post-

master. The Ridge road was an important

thoroughfare during the war times of 1812-

15, and Clarkson was the general rendez-

vous for troops and the temporary deposi-

tory for supplies and munitions of war. Clark-

son village, then known as Murray Corners,

was a hamlet of considerable note, the Ridge road

being the main route between Canandaigua and

Lewiston. The Corners was a stopping-place where

horses were changed and travelers allowed a brief

respite, but since the completion of the Erie canal,

and the still later construction of the New York

Central railroad, the town of Sweden has gained

an ascendency and profited, while Clarkson has

correspondingly lost in commercial importance.

THE TOWN OF GATES.

Gates was named for General Horatio Gates, a

T?cvoliitionnvy connnnndor. It lins been known as

Northampton till its name was changed, June 12th,

1812. It is near the geographical center of the

county. Its surface is undulating with a gentle
inclination toward the north. Genesee river forms
a small portion of the eastern boundary. The peo-
ple are largely engaged in raising vegetables for
the Rochester market. The first settlement was
made in 1809 by Isaac Dean from Vermont.
Among other early settlers were John Sickles, Au-
gustus B. Shaw, Ezra Mason, Charles Hartford,
John Harford, Isaac Ray, Samuel and Daniel Gil-
man, Dr. Wellman, William Williams and Ira
West. The first child born was a daughter of Ezra
Mason, in 1818. Ira West kept the first store, and
Isaac Dean built the first mill. John Harford
was one of the largest land owners in the county
and is said to liave possessed at one time at least

one twelfth part of Gates. He located near the
junction of the Lyell and Spencerport roads.

The first town meeting was held at the house of

Jeremiah Olmstead in 1809, Zaccheus Colby acting

as presiding officer. Among other early settlers

identified with olden times in Gates, subsequent

to 1810, were Ansel Griffin, William Hinchey,
Philip Lyell, for whom the road received its name,
David Prink, Everett H. Peck, Thomas Jameson,
Lowell Thomas, Ira Waite, Ira and Cyrus Bartlett,

Calvin G. Hill, Calvin Sperry, and others, many of

whom still have descendants in the town. It was
on the land of John Harford that the first grain

was sown, while Isaac Ray, who married Harford's

daughter, cleared some of the first land, and

erected one of the first houses. The old log cabin,

the pioneer hotel, was built in 1806, and William

Jameson was its landlord. Joshua Beeman fol-

lowed him as host. Mr. Caswell had a hotel at

the rapids as early as 1810, and Dr. Wellman a

little later on. Asa Munson's tavern west of the

rapids was opened in 1820. In 1823 Eleazer

Howard opened a hotel at Gates Center, and later

Lindsay Sturgis opened one on the Buffalo road,

and later Chester Field in 1832. The old Buffalo

enjoyed much the same early prominence as the

Ridge road further north. The Dean saw-mill was

built in 1819, near the Chili line. A part of the

town was taken for the organization of Rochester

in 1817, and in 1822 the erection of Greece took

more than one-half of the remaining territory.

In the eastern part of the town are several large

manufacturing enterprises, which are really city

interests, but have moved to Gates, presumably to

escape city taxation, notable among which are the
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Pneumatic Signal company, the Pfaudler com-

pany, the Rochester German Brick company, the

American Fruit Product company, the Standard

sewer pipe company, the Co-operative foundry. It

is very probable that within a few years another

extension of the city boundaries will absorb these

interests. Gates's present acreage is 11,815, and the

total assessed value of its real, personal and

franchise property for 1906 is $2,725,158.

THE TOWN OF GREECE.

On the 22d of March, 1822, the legislature

passed an act dividing the old town of Gates, and

more than one-half of the northern part of its ter-

ritory was set ofE and called Greece. The first set-

tlement was made at the mouth of the Genesee

river, by William Hencher and family in 1792. It

is drained by several streams that flow into the

small bays that indent the lake. These bays are

six in number, and from west to east are named as

follows: Braddock's bay and Cranberry, Long,

Buck, Round and Little ponds. The shifting sand

bars at the mouth destroy their commercial utility.

The character of the soil is clay loam, with large

tracts of drift sand along the lake shore. The
village of Charlotte, named for the daughter

of Colonel Troup, formerly agent for the Pulten^y

estate, is located near the mouth of the Genesee

river, and is the lake port for Rochester, and the

United States port of entry for the Genesee dis-

trict. In June, 1813, a British fleet under Sir

James Yeo, landed at Charlotte and seized a quan-

tity of provisions and whisky. In September of

the same year the fleet returned and commenced a

heavy fire upon the place, but the American fleet

came to the rescue and the British fleet escaped

with difiiculty. In May, 1814, the British fleet

again made its appearance, and under cover of a

flag of truce demanded the delivery of the public

stores at Rochester. The few militiamen who were

present passed into and out of the woods in sight

of the British, giving the appearance of a great

number, and the enemy, suspecting an ambuscade,

retired, after having furiously bombarded the

woods for an hour. Among the early settlers were
John Love, in 1793, at the mouth of the river;

Zadock Granger and Gideon King, at the lower

Genesee falls, afterward Hanford's landing, in

1796; and in the winter of 1796 and '97 Eli

Granger, Thomas King, Simon King, Elijah Kent,

Frederick Bushnell and Samuel Latta, for whom
the Ijatta road was named, settled in town. Ell

Granger and Abner Migells built a schooner at

Hanford's (then King's) landing, in 1799. This

was the first merchant vessel built by Americans

on Lake Ontario. The first marriage was that

of Thomas Lee and a daughter of William Hen-

cher. Frederick Hanford kept the first store, in

1810, and Nathaniel Jones built the first saw-mill.

This lake region, and particularly the small bays

and the Genesee river valley, were for many years

the favorite hunting, fishing and trapping grounds

of the Senecas. Between 1800 and 1810 many
families took up their residence in Greece, among

them Thomas Wood, Asa Hurd, John Mastick, the

pioneer lawyer of the county ; Ephraim Spaulding,

Daniel Budd, Wheeler Heacock, John Bagley, Silas

Loyd, Joseph Bullock, Silas Smith, John Utter,

James Dailey, Francis Brown, Aristotle Hollister,

Benjamin Fowler, John Odell and others. Greece

is territorially the largest town in the county, con-

taining 30,232 acres, and has the largest assessed

valuation, which amounted in 1906 to $4,411,62.^.

THE TOWN OF HAMLIN.

Union was formed from the town of Clarkson,

October 11th, 1852. The name was changed to

Hamlin, February 28th, 1861, in honor of Hanni-

bal Hamlin, who was inaugurated a few days later,

vice-president of the United States. It is the

northwest corner town of the county. Salt was
manufactured to a limited extent by the early set-

tlers. The first settlement was commenced in 1810

by Avctas Haskell; afterward came Josiah and

Samuel Randall from Maine, Stephen Baxter,

John Nowlan, Billings and Alanson Thomas. A.

D. Raymond kept the first inn, Daniel Pease the

first store, and Alanson Thomas built the first mill

for LeRoy & Bayard. Among later settlers were

a family of Duldunon named Strunk, settled near

the mouth of Sandy creek, Stephen Baxter, the

Wright family on the Parma line, Thomas Hay-
den, William Hayden, P. Beebe, Joseph Knapp,
the Paul and Pixley families, Caleb James, Wil-

liam Clark, Albert Salisbury and others. The
Yankee pioneers of this town have been followed

by the Germans. The first saw-mill was built by

Joshua Green, about 1813, and stood on Sandj
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cit'ok, James Say res built tlie second, Aretas Has-

kell the third. Alanson Thomas built the first

grisl-iiiill, follownd by O. C. Webster and K. K.

Webster. The first death was that of Mr. Strunk

in 1812. . Philander Kane built the first tavern

at East Hamlin, about 1830, and the locality be-

came known as Kane's Corners. A. D. Raymond
opened a tavern at the center in 1842, and south of

that hamlet David Look previously kept a hotel.

H. Beebe had the first store at the east village,

and Daniel Pease the first at the Center, while the

first postmaster here was Henry Kimball. At
East Hamlin the postmaster was Elisha Wheeler,

and at East Kendall, Andrew Clark. At Thomas-

ville. North Hamlin, the first postmaster was L.

Hovey. Hamlin has never built up a municipality

of either size or note, nor have manufacturing in-

dustries flourished there, but at the same time it

has been a frugal, industrious, agricultural com-

munity, and has never had need of any jail or

alation-houso. The first town meeting was held

March 1st, 1853, at the house of John Patterson,

at which time Ebenezer Barringer was elected

supervisor. Hamlin has an acreage of 26,443 acres,

and its total assessed valuation for 1906 was $1,-

503,525.

THE TOWN OF HENRIETTA.

Henrietta was named for Henrietta Laura,

countess of Bath, the daughter of Sir William Pul-

teney and was formed from Pittsford March STth,

1818. The first settler was Jesse Pangburn, in

1806. The Baptist church was the first church,

organized in 1811. Major Isaac Scott received for

military services nine hundred acres of land in the

southwest part of the town and attempted a settle-

ment in 1790, but abandoned it in 1792. In 1806

Charles Rice, William Thompson, Thomas Sparks,

Moses Goodall, George Dickinson, Selah Reed and

Gideon Griswold settled in the west part of the

town. In 1807 Ira Hatch, Jonathan Russell, Ben-

jamin Hale, and the Baldwin family settled on

what was called the Wadsworth road. In 1809 the

Spring family settled near the center. Sarah Leg-

gett taught the first school, in 1809 ; James Smith

kept the first store, Jonathan Smith built the first

saw-mill in 1811, and the second was built oy

Eager Wells. Daniel Richards put up a small tan-

nery in 1813, and, with the leather there made,

Phineas Baldwin and Mr. Austin made shoes for

the townspeople. John Gooding was the first

distiller, having come from Bloomfield with his

brother Ebenezer. Sidney Warner made the first

chairs in town, and Daniel Henges afterward fol-

lowed him in the same business. Among the pio-

neers of Henrietta were a number of old Revolu-

tionary soldiers, among whom were Major Gilbert,

Joel Clark, Robert McLoud, Lyman Wright, and
Daniel Phillips. The town was also represented

by men who made honorable records in the war
of 1812-15, notably Jacob, John and Samuel Hib-

bard, Loren Connise, who died in service,

Bartlett (killed), —
• Beckwith (died in

1813), Samuel Cady (died in service), Ira James
and Dr. Phillips. In the town at an early day

were a number of squatters, who occupied land

without claim or golor of title. Several of these

were worthy pioneers, and afterward became per-

manent residents. This settlement before it was

taken from Pittsford was known as "West town,"

and settlement developed here so rapidly that .it

naturally gave rise to a discussion of the question

as to a division of the town; and considerable dif-

ficulty was experienced between the representatives

of the east and west districts of Pittsford, each, of

course, looking for the chief town officers and pub-

lic improvements for their respective localities.

Other disputed questions entered into the contro-

versy, but a division was finally accomplished on

March 27th, 1818, and on April 20th of t'ne same

year the first town meeting was held, and Jacob

Stevens was elected the first supervisor. Henrietta

is a distinctly agricultural town, having an acre-

age of 21,791 acres, and an assessed valuation in

1906 of $1,738,150.

THE TOWN OF IRONDEQUOIT.

Irondequoit was formed from Brighton in 1839,

and named from Irondequoit bay, called by the In-

dians Neo-da-on-da-quat, signifying a bay. Lake
Ontario fonns the northern boundary, and the

Genesee river the western boundary. Its surface

is rolling, with an inclination in the north part

toward the lake, and the deep valley of Irondequoit

bay on the east. The streams are small and flow

north and east into the lake and bay. The first

settlement was made by William Walker, in 1791.

He was a ranger and settled at the mouth of the
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Genesee river, but shortly thereafter moved to the

west side of the river into the present town of

Greece. He is frequently referred to as the "Tory

Walker," as he had been engaged with Butler and

Brant during the Revolution, and taken part in the

frequent merciless slaughter of white men, women

and children, in the frontier settlements. Later

he became involved in difficulties and removed to

Canada. The second settler was one Dunbar, a

mulatto, who came from Massachusetts in 1795.

He was a hunter and fisher. Oliver Culver and

Samuel Spafford visited Irondequoit landing, at

the head of the bay, in 1796, but afterward went

west with a party of emigrants. In the same year

John Parks located in the town.

During the period of French dominion in Amer-

ica, and nearly a hundred years previous to the

Revolution, this locality was invaded by Marquis

de Denonville, in July, 1687, who came with his

French forces and allied Canadian Indians to

chastise and subdue the native Senecas. He pro-

ceeded to the head of the bay and built a palisade

fort for the protection of his forces. Among other

early settlers were Jesse Case, Jesse Taintor, Elmer

Reynolds, John Culver, Eansford Perrin, Adonijah

Green, Abner Wakley and Abel Densmore. In

1815 Elisha B. Strong, afterward first judge of the

old Common Pleas court, and Elisha Beach, pur-

chased a thousand acre tract of land on the east

side of the Genesee river, and established a little

hamlet called Carthage, about opposite Hanford's

landing, which was intended to outrival Rochester-

ville, and become the seat of justice of a new coun-

ty. Bounded on three sides by water, with numer-

ous bays, indentations and marsh lands, in early

days the region oJS^ered temptation only to the

hunter and trapper, but, after the forests were

cleared out, it was found that this town possessed

some of the most fertile soil in the whole Genesee

country, and at present it is the garden spot of

the county, standing first among the market gar-

dening spots of the country, with the possible ex-

ception of the market-gardening region around

Boston. The greenhouses are numerous and some

of them are quite extensive, notably those of thi^

Titus family, covering acres, and being cultivated

by team and plow. The first meeting of electors

was held April 2d, 1839, when William Shepherd

was chosen supervisor, and Alexander A. Hooker
town clerk. The town contains 11,067 acres, and

the assessed value of its property in 1906 was

$2,104,313.

THE TOWN OF MENDON.

This town was formed from Bloomfield, Ontario

county. May 26th, 1812. It lies on the southern

border of the county, east of the center. Honeoye

creek flows through the southwest corner, and the

head waters of Irondequoit creek flow through near

the center. There arc three small ponds in the

northwest part of the town. Mendon was organ-

ized as a town of Ontario county, and was annexed

to Monroe county upon the erection of the latter

in 1821. Township 11, range 5, was sold by

Phelps and Gorham to Messrs. Franklin and

Boughton, and by the latter was subdivided and

sold in smaller tracts. The first settlement was

made by Zebulon Norton from Vermont, in 1790,

at Honeoye Falls, formerly known as "Norton

Mills," from the first mills erected by Zebulon

Norton. Captain Jonathan Ball and Peter Sines

came in with Mr. Norton. Among the other early

settlers were Daniel Williams, Captain Treat, Ru-

fus Parks, Ebenezer Eathbun, Benjamin Parks,

William Hickox, Lorin Wait and Reuben Hiil,

from Massachusetts, in 1793. They all settled in

the eastern part of the town. Samuel Sterling,

Jason Cross and Calvin Perrine settled at Honeoye

Falls in 1794, John Parks, Jonas Allan and Joseph

Bryan in 1795; Charles Foot and Samuel Lane in

1 797. The first birth was that of William E. Ster-

ling, in 1795; the first marriage that of Jason

Cross and Mary Moon, in 1796, and the first death

that' of John Moon, in 1801. Welcome Garfield

taught the first school, Abram Parrish kept the

first inn and James Dickinson the first store. The

first church was a Baptist church, organized in

1809. Rev. Jesse Brayman was the first settled

minister. Later tavern-keepers were John Case,

Daniel Gibson, Samuel Ladd and Captain John

Lines. Benjamin Baker was the first blacksmith.

John and James Dunn built a distillery about

1813, and about the same time James Dixon ani

Atwell and Grout had potasheries. Clark and

AVright were the pioneer tanners. Smith Wicks

had the first carding machine, but Samuel Hanna
changed the building to a trip-hammer shop.

James Wadsworth purchased the "Eleven Thou-

siind Acre Tract," which was numerously settled.
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'J'he hamlets or villages of the town are Houeoye

Falls, Mcndon, Mendon Center and Sibleyville,

Honeoye Falls being the only incorporated village,

incorporated in 1838; it contains an excellent

union free school. The first town meeting was

held in April, 1813, at the house of Thomas Ewer,

and adjourned to his barn. Timothy Barnard was

moderator and John Allen was elected the first

supervisor. Mendon contains 23,532 acres and itj

assessed valuation for 1906 was $2,387,150.

THE TOWN OF OGDEN.

On the 37th of January, 1817, Ogden was

formed from Parma, then one of the civil divisions

of Genesee county, so called in allusion to William

Ogden, the son-in-law of John Murray, the orig-

inal proprietor. The streams are small brooks

forming head branches of Sandy, Salmon and

fjittle Black creeks. It is one of the best wheat-

growing towns in the county. The settlements

are Spencerport, a canal village; Adams Basin,

Ogden Center and Ogden. Spencerport was

named for William H. Spencer, the pioneer settler

of the village and the one who built the first saw-

mill. Ogden comprises one township, divided

originally into 230 town lots, of about 100 acres

each, and contains a little more than thirty-seven

square miles of land.

Settlement was commenced in 1802 by George

W. Willey, from East Haddan, Conn. The first

preacher was Rev. Daniel Brown, in 1807, and the

first church was Presbyterian, formed in 1811.

Among other early settlers were Ephraim, Abra-

ham, Timothy and Isaac Colby, Josiah Mather,

Jonathan Brown, Henry Hahn, Daniel Wandel,

Benejah Willey, John Webster, Benjamin Free-

man, Daniel and Austin Spencer, Judge William

B. Brown and Daniel Arnold, all from Connecti-

cut. The first child born was John Colby, .
in

1805, and the first death was that of Mrs. G. W.

Willey, in 1803. Miss Willey taught the first

school, in 1807. George Huntley kept the first

inn, Charles Church the first store. Eastman

Colby was a colonel of militia in the war of 1812-

15 and one of the foremost men of the town in

his day. He died in 1859. Ansel Chapman was

the pioneer of the southern part of the town.

About the same time came the Gotts, Samuel and

John, who located near the center. Stephen Ross

in 1816 settled a mile south of Adams Basin, where
he had a farm and cabinet shop. The early set-

tlers were chiefly New England Yankees, with a

sprinkling of Mohawk " and New Jersey Dutch.

The disposition and settlement of the lands in

this town was under the direction of James Wads-
worth, the representative of the proprietor, and

John Gott was appointed .local agent under Wads-

worth, the latter being located at Geneseo, or "Big

Tree." John Gott was a brother of Samuel Gott

and father of Oscar F. Gott of Spencerport. To
carry out his agency Mr. Wadsworth visited New
England to induce settlement in the Genesee

country, then referred to as Fairfield, in the town
of Northampton. A public meeting was called

at Haddam, Connecticut, after which Daniel Ar-

nold visited this region and reported favorably

thereon. The construction of the Erie canal did

much to build up Spencerport and this section

and the construction of the railroad later added

impetus to the movement. The present acreage

of the town is 22,318 acres, and the assessed value

of its taxable property in 1906 was $1,921,979.

THE TOWN or PARMA.

In the original division of territory of Westei'n

New York into towns of the original county of

Ontario all of the territory west of the Genesee

river in said county was included in the town of

Northampton, formed April 4th, 1797. This great

town was divided December 8th, 1807, into Pul-

teney. Bayard, Fairfield and Northampton. Fair-

field included Parma and Ogden, and April 8th,

1808, the name Fairfield was dropped and Parma

adopted in its stead. Ogden was taken off in 1817.

The original dividing line between Parma and

Ogden was the center of the once famous Ridge

road, but a subsequent change established the line

one mile further south, including the gore within

Parma. It lies upon Lake Ontario west of the

center of the county. Its streams are Salmon,

Little Salmon, Buttonwood and Long Pond

creeks. All authorities agree that the honor of

having been the pioneers of Parma belongs to

Bezaleel, Stephen and John Atchinson, brothers,

who with the family of the first mentioned came

to the town early in 1796 and settled one mile

and a half northwest of Parma Center. Among
the other early settlers were Michael Beach, Silas
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Leonard, George Goodhue and Timothy Madden

in 1803, and Jonathan Underwood, Gibbon Jewell,

George Huntley, Abner Brockway,^jr., James Eg-

bert and Jonathan Ogden in 1805, Hope and

Elisha Downs in 1809, Augustus Mather, Lendell

CurtjsB, Samuel Castle and Kinnicone Roberts in

1810, and Joshua Whitney in 1811. The first

marriage was that of Captain Jonathan Leonard

to a daughter of William Hineher; Alpheus Mad-

den opened and taught the first school in 1804;

J. Thompson kept the first store; Hope and Elisha

Davis built the first tavern in the town; Jonathan

Whitney built the first grist-mill, and it is claimed

that the first s^w-mill was that of E. W. Thayer,

on Long Pond creek, built in 1806 or 1807. Be-

zaleel Atchinson constructed a grist-mill on Sal-

mon creek in 1809 and a few years later a saw-mill.

The Gulf mills, otherwise known as the Eowler

mills, were built on the Ridge road, about 1812,

by Whitney & Markham. The first saw-mill in

the north part of the town was built in 1820 on

West creek by Mr. Winchell. Philander Curtis

built the second and the Buells, Joseph and

George, the third. The Sperry mills were built

about 1840, as was also the carding and planing

mill of Mr. Trimmer. The settlements are North

Parma, formerly 'called Unionville, now the village

of Hilton, Parma Corners and Parma Center.

The town is noted for its orchards and fine fruit

raised along its lake belt. It contains 25,384 acres

of land and the assessed value of its taxable prop-

erty in 1906 was $1,820,626.

THE TOWN OF PENFIELD.

Penfield was named from Daniel Penfield, aa

extensive landliolder during the early settlement,

and was formed from Boyle, March 30th, 1810.

Webster was taken off in 1840. Its surface is roll-

ing and in the west it is much broken. Ironde-

quoit bay enters the northwest corner. Trondequoit

creek flows through the southwest corner and

forms a part of the western boundary. It falls

about ninety feet in the village of Penfield. The
other streams are small brooks. The first perma-

nent settlement was made by Lebbeus Ross and

Calvin Clark, in 1801. Asa Carpenter had previ-

ously settled, but did not remain. Phelps and

Gorham about 1790 sold the township to General

Jonathan Fassett, a Vermont Yankee, who visit-

ed his purchase and made some small improve-

ments, but the situation of the town and its ma-

larial districts were too much even' for a Yankee

and he abandoned his purchase and subsequently

sold it to Mr. Ham, of New Jersey, for less than

he paid for it. Proprietor Ham sold the town to

General Silas Pepoon, reserving to himself a two-

hundred-jicre tract a mile north of Penfield village.

Pepoon sold to Samuel P. Lloyd and the latter in

1810 disposed of flU that remained to Daniel Pen-

field. Caleb Hopkins and a Mr. Maybee, together

with four others, made an early settlement. As

early as 1804 Josiah J. Kellogg, Daniel Stilwell,

Benjamin Minor, Jonathan and David Baker,

Isaac Beatty and Henry Paddock moved in. The

first birth was that of a child of Mrs. Fiske and

the first death was that of Benjamin Stilwell, in

1804. Joseph Hatch taught the first school, Dan-

iel Stilwell kept the first inn, 1806, and William

McKinstry the first store. The first mills were

built by Daniel Penfield. Irondequoit creek fur-

nishes excellent water power and upon its banks

many industries were early started. The old trip

hammer was started in 1800 by Mr. Bronson. The

first distillery was that of William McKinstry, in

1810, and the second was John Hipp's. Daniel

Penfield, Alpheus Clark, Josiah J. Clark and Jo-

wiali ,1. Kcllonj;- woi'o later distillurs, and the last

was Itenry Fellows in 1835. Nathaniel Case

and Nelson Fullam built mills on Irondequoit

creek about 1815. About 1805 Captain Benja-

min Minor built a fulling mill on the creek, and

in 1815 a cloth factory was erected. The first

tannery was built about 1812 by Henry Fellows.

The first town meeting was held at the school-

house,. April 20th, 1811, at which time William

McKinstry was elected supervisor and Brooks

]\rason town clerk. The principal settlements are

at Penfield village, Penfield Center and East Pen-

field. Penfield contains 22,068 acres, and the as-

sessed value of its taxable property, as appears

from the assessment rolls for 1006, was $1,430,652.

THE T0V7N OP PBRINTON.

Perinton was named for Glover Perrin, the first

permanent settler in the town, in 1789. His orig-

inal log cabin stood a mile south of Fairport.
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The township was first formed as Northfield, was

afterward known as Boyle, and May 36th, 1812,

was formed as I'erinton. It is tlie south town on the

east line of the county. Turk Hill, in the south-

ern part, is the highest point in the county. The

town is drained by the headwater of Irondequoit

creek and its branches. The soil is a sandy loam.

The first settlement was commenced in 1790, but

was mostly abandoned soon after. Among ilie early

settlers were Jesse Perrin in 1792, Abner Wright

in 1795, Caleb Walker in 1799 and Asa and Ed-

ward Perrin, Levi Treadwell, Major Norton, John

Scott, John Peters and Gideon Ilamsdell soon

after. Rev. Mr. Crane preached the first sermon.

The first birth was that of Asa Wright, in 1797.

Glover Perrin kept the first inn, Gregory and Dean

the first store and Richard Lincoln built the first

grist-mill and Joseph Richardson one m 1810 on

Irondequoit creek; Packard and Watson, in 1818,

built one in Egypt, another in 1821 was built by

Rich, Lincoln and Lathrop. The first saw-mill

v.' as built on Thomas creek by Peter Ripley, about

1812 ; another a little further down the creek about

1817 by E. Lewis; a third was built on Irondequoit

creek about 1820 by Bailey and Richardson; a

clothing mill was connected with it. The pioneer

period of the town of Perinton may be said to

hnvc cMidcd wJUi tlic opening ol' tin; Eric wiinil in

1822. Thirty-one years later the direct line of

the Central railroad was built through the town

and through the village of Fairport. Perinton in

the original survey was township number 13,

range 4, of the Phelps and Gorham purchase, and

was one of the six-mile-square townships and has

not suffered any change in its original boundaries.

In 1789 the entire township passed by purchase to

William Walker, land agent for Phelps and Gorr

ham. Walker sold to Daniel Penfield and the lat-

ter to a Mr. Duncan. The first town meeting was

lii'ld April Gtli, 1813, in Egypt, nnd the officials

elected were: Supervisor, Cyrus Packard; town

clerk, Amasa Slocum; assessors, Elisha Slocum,

Joseph Bcal and Cluirlcs Aldrich; commissioners

of highways, Olney Staples, John Scott and David

Stout; poormasters, Thomas Ramsdell and Ste-

phen Eaton. The principal settlement is the vil-

lage of Fairport, which was incorporated April

301 Ii, 1S()7, a prosperous villngc containing a com-

plete system of waterworks, a union free school- and

large manufacturing interests. Perinton contains

21,450 acres, and its taxable property is assessed

for $3,060,807.

THE TOWN OF PITTSFOHD.

Pittsford was formed from Smaliwood, March
2flth, 1814. It is an interior town lying east of

the center of the county. Irondequoit creek flows

through the northeast part and Allen's creek

through the west part. The first settlement waa
commenced in 1789 by Israel and Simon Stone.

The first church. Congregational, was organized in

1809. It is a small part of the Phelps and Gor-

ham purchase and was by them sold to Israel and
Simon Stone and Seth Dodge, or at least 13,300

acres of it, for which they paid eighteen pence

per acre. The lands of this region increased in

value so rapidly that Phelps and Gorham sought

to regain this tract, and they agreed with the

Stones and Dodge to give them one-half of the

tract without further payment if the latter would

relinquish their claim to the other half. This

was done, and by it the Stones and Dodge became

the absolute owners of nearly one-half of the town

for the merely nominal consideration of about

thirty dollars. Simon Stone's log house stood a

short distance south of Pittsford village, while

the house of his brother stood on a site near a

spring in the village. John Lusk and his son Ste-

phen had a squatter's residence near the head of

Irondequoit bay two or three years before the

Stones arrived. Among the other settlers who set-

tled in the. town from 1791 to 1800 were Silas

Nye, Joseph Farr, Alexander Dunn, David Davis,

Thomas Clelland, Ezra Patterson, Josiah Crinin-

son, Caleb Hopkins, William Acer, Israel Can-

field and Benjamin Miller. The first marriage

was that of N. Armstrong and Miss E. Cole. The
first school was taught in 1794. Noah Norton

built the first frame house, in 1795. Simon Stone

built the first saw-mill and he was also a nail

maker. John Mann built a saw-mill in 1805 on

Irondequoit creek, in the east part of the town.

Among the early settlers who had served in the

Revolutionary war were Ebenezer Graves, Cap-

tain Henry Gale, Captain Silas Nye, Deacon Sam-

uel Stone, Thomas Clelland and otheis. Among
those who served in the war of 1812 wore Caleb

Hopkins, William Jones, A. M. Gallagher, Ampn
Dunn, who was killed and scalped by the Indians

;
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Joel Dunn, James Merrill and Candius Boughton.

This district had no special town organization pre-

vious to 1796, in which year the following town

officers were chosen : Silas Nye, supervisor ; J olin

Eay, town clerk; Noah Norton, Caleb Hopkins,

Glover Perrin, assessors. The principal settlement

is the village of Pittsford, located near the center

of the town. Pittsford contains 14,748 acres and

the assessed value of its taxable property for 1906

was $1,931,019.

THE TOWN OF RIGA.

This town originally formed a part of old

Northampton, the mother of Monroe county towns

west of the Genesee. Northampton was divided

December 8 th, 1807, and Pulteney erected out of a

part of its territory, the latter including what is

now Chili and Riga, respectively known as East

and West Pulteney. Eiga was formed from

Northampton April 8th, 1808. Black creek, a dull,

sluggish stream, flows east in a tortuous course

through near the center. The soil is a clayey loam.

These lands were a part of the famous "Mill-Seat

tract," deeded to Phelps and Gorham by the In-

dians and afterward sold to Eobert Morris, of

Philadelphia, the financier of the Eevolution, and

by him sold to the Pulteney estate. The agency

for these lands was entrusted to James Wads-

worth, under whose auspices the first settlement

was commenced in 1805. The first church was a

Congregational church, organized in 1806, Eev.

Allen HoUister being the first pastor. . .The first

settlers were mostly from Massachusetts. Elihu

Church settled near the Center in March, 1806.

Soon after Samuel Shepherd settled in the south-

west part of the town; Henry Brewster, Samuel

Baldwin, William Parker, Ezekiel Barnes, Nehe-

miah Frost, Samuel Church, for whom the prin-

cipal settlement, the village of Churchville, was

named; James Knowles, Thomas Bingham, Jo-

seph Tucker, Enos Morse and George Richmond,

in 1807, and Joseph Emerson and Bber and Ches-

ter Orcutt, in 1808. The first birth was that of a

daughter of Samuel Church, the first male child

born was Hiram Shepherd in 1806, the first death

was that of Eichard Church in 1807; Elihu

Church built the first house; the first marriage was

that of Joseph Sibley and Clarissa, daughter of

Eichard Church; Joseph Thompson kept the first

inn and he was also the first postmaster; the first

store was opened in 1808 by Thompson & Tuttle,

at the Center, while in the same year Amasa Erost

opened a tavern in a log house, also at the Center.

Here, too, the first school was taught by Thomas

Gray. John Darling was the first physician, in

1808, and Richard Dibble the second, two years

later. Benjamin Holbrook was the first black-

smith. The principal settlements are the village

of Churchville and Riga Center. The first town

meeting was lield at the house of Henry Waidener,

at which the following town officers were elected

:

Thomas Hill, supervisor; Joshua Howell, town

clerk; Ebenezer Slater, Jesse Church and Isaac

Douglass, assessors; Thomas Gay, collector; War-

ner Douglass, constable; Thomas Bingham, I. G.

Griswold and Jacob Cole, road commissioners;

Amasa Frost and Henry Waidener, overseers of the

poor. Riga contains 20,989 acres of land and is

assessed for $1,909,550 in the last assessment roll.

THE TOWN OP nUSH.

Rush was formed from Avon, liivingston coun-

ty, March 13th, 1818. In the original division of

Genesee county into towns or provisional districts

Hartford was created in 1789, and this name was

changed to Avon, in 1808; in 1818 the present

town of Rush was formed and in 1831 it was

taken from Ontario county to form a part of the

then created county of Monroe. Genesee river

forms its western boundary and Honeoye creek

fiows west through the town and enters the river

near the western border. In the western part of the

town along the river are extensive flats. The first

permanent settlement in this town was commenced

by Colonel William Markham, in 1799, and Ran-

som Smith from New Hampshire, although James

and John Ganson in 1788 visited the town, built

a log house and made a clearing. They were the

sons of Captain John Ganson, a soldier of the

Revolution, whose knowledge of the country here-

abouts was acquired during Sullivan's campaign

against the Indians in 1779. They constructed

the first mills for grinding grain in the whole

region. Phelps and Gorham sold nearly all of

the lands of this township to Jeremiah Wads-

worth and also to Joseph Morgan and his associ-

ates.- The Ganson tract passed into the hands of

Colonel Markham. He was a prominent man ii\
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tlie early history of Ontario coiiuty and at one

time was member of Assembly. The third settler

was John Barnes, followed about 1797 by Thomas

Dailey. In 1801 Christie Thomas came from

Maryland and built the first saw-mill in the town

in 1805. The first birth was that of Joseph Mor-

gan, in 1789. The first deaths were Mr. and Mrs.

Markham, in 1791. John Webster kept the first

inn, Benjamin Campbell the first store, and John

Webster built the first grist-mill. The first settled

minister was Elder Gofi, of the Baptist church.

Among other early settlers were Mr. Spraker,

Jacob Stull, Philip Price, the former of whom
built a block-house in the town in. 1802. Price

built another in 1803. The Ott family came in

1801, and also John Bell. Abraham Wright, a

mulatto, settled as early as 1797, in a locality then

linown as "Negro's Settlement," but later as "Ab-

raham's Plains." In 1804 there came into the

town a consid(M'iible colony of pioneers, ncnrly all

of them from Connecticut. They were devoted

members of the Baptist church and became known

as the Baptist colony. The first town meeting was

held at the dwelling of Benjamin Billings, when

William Markham was elected supervisor; Peter

Price town clerk, Nathan Jeffords, Jacob Stull

and John Markham assessors; Nathan Rose, Dud-

ley Brainerd and Clark Davis commissioners of

highways, George Lyday and Peter Price overseers

of the poor, Adolphus Allen collector. Rush con-

tains 18,353 acres and its taxable property was

assessed in 1906 at $1,437,461. It has recently

become the home of the State Industrial school.

THE TOWN OF SWEDEN.

Sweden was formed from Murray, Orleans coun-

ty, April 2d, 1813, and is a part of the Triangle

tract, which came into the possession of Robert

Morris in 1801, who conveyed it to Le Roy, Bay-

ard and McEvers, of New York city. A high ridge

passes east and west through the town, north of

the center. Salmon creek rises in the southwest

part and flows through the town. The soil is clay

and clay loam. The principal settlement is Brock-

port village, named from Hiel Brockway, a promi-

nent early settler in the village. Also small settle-

ments at Sweden Center and West Sweden. In

1807 Nathaniel Poole and Walter Palmer com-

menced the first settlement on the Lake road, and

later in the same year Samuel Bishop, Isaac White,

Stephen Johnson and Joseph Hopkins settled on
the same road; John Reed, Timothy Tyler and
Edward Parks settled in 1808. Reuben Moon,
with his sons James, Amos and Isaac, settled in

1809 and '10 in the east part of the town. James
Scott (colored) was the first settler in the south

part, in 1809. John Phelps, liufus Hammond and
Benjamin Knight were the original purchasers of

the site of Brockport. James Seymour, George

Allen, Thomas R. Robey, Ralph W. Goold, Luke
Webster and Charles Richardson were early set-

tlers. Samuel Bishop kept the first inn, in 1809

;

Charles Richardson the first store, and Brockway
and Blodgett built the first mill. In 1802 a road

was opened to the lake, but so little progress was

made in the matter of highways that as late as

1811 the Ridge road was but a pathway cut

tlirough the woods, wide enough only for a single

wagon to pass. On April 5th, 1814, the first town

meeting was held, at the house of Reuben Stick-

ney, resulting in the election of the following

town officers : Supervisor, John Reed ; town clerk,

Blisha Stewart; assessors, Joshua B. Adams,

Henry Hill and John Marshall ; road commission-

ers, Alanson Dudley, Zenas Case, Colvin Gibbs;

poormasters, Benajah Warden, Record W. Vining

;

school commissioners, John Reed, William James,

Colvin Gibbs; collector and constable, William

James
;
pound master, Reuben Stickney, and twen-

ty-seven overseers of highways.

The village of Brockport, about eighteen miles

west of Rochester, on the Niagara Falls branch

of the New York Central railroad, is the largest

village in Monroe county, with a population of

about 6,000. The village was incorporated in

1829 ; in 1852 its charter • was revised, under

which a board of five trustees constituted the vil-

lage government, and in 1872 its present charter

was adopted. It is the seat of many thrifty manu-

facturing establishments, and at as early a date

as 1828 an iron foundry was established on State

street by Harry Backus and Joseph Ganspn. In

1830 they removed their plant and the name

changed to Backus, Webster & Co. Balch, Web-

ster & Co. soon succeeded and later the firm be-

came known as Backus, Burroughs & Co., but a

change was again made to Backus, Fitch & Co.,

who were the pioneers in the manufacture of im-

proved threshing machines. In 1844 Cyrus Mc-
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Comiick started to manufacture reapers; in 1868,

after passing through many firm changes, the

factory passed into the hands of Samuel John-

ston and Byron Huntley and a stock company was

soon formed under the corporate name of the

Johnston Harvester company. Among other early

manufacturers were William H. Seymour and

Thomas R. Robey, Dayton S. Morgan; Palmer &
Williams, George H. AUeij, of the firm of Sey-

mour, Morgan & Allen. In 1881 a shoe manu-

factory was established as the Moore-Shafer

manufacturing company and the Brockport piano

company was established in 1893, and more re-

cently the Gleason cooling board company, the

Brockport vinegar factory and many others. The

educational advantages of Brockport are of the

highest order and the Brockport normal school,

which is the outgrowth of the Brockport Collegi-

ate Institute,, a Baptist organization of early

days, has graduated many students and ranks high

among the educational institutions of its class.

Sweden contains 20,834 acres, and is assessed for

$3,081,057, and, with exception of Greece, is the

wealthiest town in the county.

THE TOWN OF WEBSTER.

Webster was formed from Penfield, February 6th,

1840. In 1806, one year after the first permanent

settler came to what is now Webster, the six north-

eastern towns of Monroe county were brought un-

der one town organization and called Boyle. On
March 30th, 1810, Boyle was divided and Penfield

created, embracing all that is now Penfield and

Webster, and in 1840 the northern portion of the

old town of Penfield was cut off and called Web-

ster. It lies on Lake Ontario, in the northeast-

ern corner of the county. Irondequoit bay forms

the western boundary. Its surface from the ridge

in the southern part has a gentle inclination to

the lake. The shore rises in places fifty feet, and

in the west, on the shores of Irondequoit bay,

eighty to one hundred feet. The first settlement

was commenced in 1805, under the agency of

Caleb Lyon, and he built the first saw and grist-

mills, which were burned in 1816, when owned

by Jolm Inman. Soon after came Ebenezer Spear

and William Harris. Among other early settlers

were John Shoecraft, from Ulster county; Isaac

Straight, Daniel Harvey, Abraham Foster, Paul

Hammond, William Mann, John Letts,' Samuel

Pierce, Samuel Goodenough and Benjamin Bur-

nett, mostly from New Hampshire and Vermont.

The first church was the Methodist Episcopal,

formed in 1813 by the Rev. Solomon Pierce. The

first birth was in the family of Caleb Lyon, and

the first death that of a child in the family of

N. Caines. William Harris taught the first school,

in 1810; John Letts kept the first inn, F. B.

Corning the first store, in 1825; Ebenezer Cook

was the first bljicksmith, Dr. Nathaniel Beecher

was the pioneer physician, from Connecticut. The

principal settlements are at Webster village, which

was recently incorporated, and West Webster, a

small hamlet. The first town meeting was at John:

Lett's tavern, situated about a mile south of Web-

ster village, at which time Byron Woodhull was

elected supervisor and T. B. Coming town clerk.

Webster is to be mentioned first among the small

fruit and berry producing towns in the county,

while in general agriculture it ranks almost equal

with any other similarly conditioned town in the

county. It contains 20,390 acres of land and its

taxable property was assessed in 1906 for $1,539,-

019.

THE TOWN OF WHEATLAND.

Wheatland was formed from Caledonia, Liv-

ingston county, as Inverness, February 23d, 1821,

and so called undoubtedly in allusion to "Inver-

ness," Scotland, from whence came many of the

early settlers of this region. Its name was changed

April 3d, 1821, to Wheatland. It was a part of

the territory formed in 1802 into Southampton.

The Genesee river flows southerly on its eastern

border. Oatka, or Allan's, creek flows easterly

through the town. It is joined at Mumford by
the outlet of Caledonia springs, forming an ex-

cellent water power. The soil is loam, mixed with

clay in the interior. Gypsum is found in large

quantities. The first settlement was made in 1789
by Peter Sheffer and his sons, Peter and Jacob,

from Pennsylvania. They found a settlement com-
menced by the notorious Ebenezer Allan and his

brother-in-law, Christopher Dugan, near the

mouth of Allan's creek, a short distance below
Seottsville. Allan had a comfortable log house
and about sixty acres of improvement. The Shef-

fers became the purchasers of his farm, paying
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therefor $2.50 jJer acre. Allan was a tory, who,

in consequence of his crimes, fled from his home
in Pennsylvania and joined the Indians about

1780. He located on the Genesee and lived for a

time on the lands of Mary Jemison, the noted

white woman, who was adopted by and dwelt

among the Scnecas during the Revolutionary time,

lie afterward built a saw and grist mill on the

site of Rochester, thence moved to Oatka creek,

near Scottsville, afterward to Mount Morris and

later to Canada. He was an inhuman monster,

being an open polygamist and a treacherous mur-

derer. The valley of the river below Sheffer's was

slow in settling; Joseph Morgan came in 1792,

Andrew Wortman in 1794 or '95. Caleb Aspin-

wall, Peter Conkle, Frederick and Nicholas Hetz-

tiller were early settlers in the ShefEer neighbor-

hood. Reuben Heath came from Vermont in 1799.

The southwestern part was settled under the aus-

pices of Charles Williamson, by Scotch, among

whom were John McNaughton and family, near

Mumford, and Isaac Scott, for whom the village

of Scottsville was named, and who at one time

owned the site of that village. He settled there

about 1790, and Donald McVean soon after.

Bachariah Garbutt and family settled at what is

now Garbuttsville, in 1803 ; and Powell Carpenter,

near Scottsville, in 1804. The first marriage was

. that of Peter Sheffer, jr., and a daughter of

Jacob Schoonover, in 1790. The first death was

tliat of Peter ShefEer, sr. Jacob Scott kept th^

first inn; Philip Garbutt and Abram Hanford the

first store; and Peter ShefEer, jr., built the first

saw mill, in 1810, and the first grist mill in 1811.

John and Robert McKay built the first grist mill

at Mumford, in 1808; and Donald McKenzie

erected the first cloth-dyeing works west of the

Genesee river. The first church was a Baptist

church, formed in 1811, and the first pastor was

Rev. Solomon Brown. The first meeting of free-

holders of the town was held at the house of Pow-

ell Carpenter, April 3d, 1821, and John Garbutt

was elected supervisor; Levi Lacy, town clerk;

William Reed, Jirah Blacloner and William Gar-

butt, assessors; Thomas Stoker, collector; Rawson

Harmon and Peter Sheffer, overseers of the poor.

The principal scltlcmcnts are at Scottsville, Mum-
ford, Garbuttsville and Wheatland Center. The

township contains 19,243 acres of land, with an

assessed valuation upon its taxable property, in

1906, of $1,503,340.

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS.

The following is a complete list of the board

of supervisors of Monroe county, from the sev-

eral towns and the various wards of the city of

Rochester, from the organization of the county,

in 1821, to the present time:

Brighton.—1821-2i, 1826 and 1828, Bzekiel

Morse; 1825, Elisha B. Strong; 1827, Thomas
Blossom; 1829-31, Samuel G. Andrews; 1832-34,

W. B. Alexander; 1835-36, David S. Bates; 1837,

Nathaniel Beckwith; 1838-41 and 1844, Oliver

Culver; 1842-43 and 1865, Samuel P. Gould;

1845-47, Stephen Otis; 1848 and 1862-64, Lor-

enzo D. Ely; 1849, Jason Baker; 1850, Elisha

Miller; 1851, Benjamin Remington; 1852, Abel

Dryer; 1853, Justus Yale; 1854, Seth Weed;

1855, Timothy Wallace; 1856, Luther Eaton;

1857-58, Benjamin Huntington; 1859-'So, Henry

H. Holton; 1861, Edwin T. Otis; 1866, 1868-70

and 1875-76, Ira Todd; 1867, Caleb Moore; 1871-

72, Austin Crittenden; 1873, Henry E. Boardman;

1874, Harrison A. Lyon; 1877-79, Thomas C.

Wilson; 1880-84 and 1888, David K. Bell; 1885,

S. Hatch Gould; 1886-87 and 1889, K. A. Hugh-

son; 1890, Edwin C. Remington; 1891-92, Wil-

liam H. Rowerdink; 1893-95, 1899-1901 and

1904-07, A. Emerson Babcock; 1896-98, William

L. Manning; 1902-03, Cornelius F. Warrant.

Chili.—1822-23, Joseph Sibley; 1824-25, Josiah

Howell; 1826-28, Alfred Scofield; 1829 and 1840,

Isaac Lacey; 1830, Benjamin Bowen; 1831-32,

1836-37 and 1852, William Pixley; 1833^4,

George Brown; 1835, 1838-39 and 1853-54, Moses

Sperry; 1841, 1843 .and 1845-46, John T. Lacey;

1842, Isaac Burritt; 1847-48, 1861-64, 1867 and

1880-81, William P. Hill; 1849-51, Franklin Gate;

1855-58, David Starkie; 1859-60, Edward J. Reed

;

1865, A. S. Little; 1866 and 1871, Albert H.

King; 1868-70, William Yoke; 1872-76, Frederick

Fellows; 1877-78, William Fellows; 1879, Edwin

A. Loder; 1882-84, Benjamin Fellows; 1885-86,

Byron D. Beal; 1887-«00 and 1896-98, Lewis B.-

Carpenter; 1891, Myron Sperry; 1892-95, John

B. Johnston; 1899-1901, Arthur A. Sickles; 1902-

07, Cornelius A. Nichols.
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Clarkson.—1821-22 and 1825, Aretas Haskell;

1823-34 and .1830-32, Gustavus Clark; 1826, Abel

Baldwin; 1827-29, William Grover; 1833-34, Sim-

eon B. Jewett; 1835-36 and 1841-42, llcm-y Mar-

tin; 1837, Isaac P. Allen; 1838, Theodore Chapin;

1839, Jonathan Prosser; 1840, William Groves;

1843, Samnel R. S. Mather; 1844, Alphonso

Perry; 1845-46, Isaac Houston; 1847, George W.

Clark; 1848, James R. Thompson; 1849-51, 1853,

1855-56 and 1867-73, James H. Warren; 1852
' and 1865-66, George W. Estes; 1854, Isaac Gar-

rison; 1857, William P. Rice; 1858, William H.

Bowman; 1859-60, Cicero J. Prosser; 1861-62,

Adam Moore; 1863-64; Elias Garrison; 1874-76,

W. L. Rockwell; 1877-79, John B. Siiyder; 1880-

81, Adelbert P. Chapman; 1882, Eli H. Gallup;

1883-84, Henry Allen; 1885-86 and 1888, Wil-

liam Leach; 1887, John B. Haskell; 1889-90,

John Prosser; 1891-93, William N. Gallup; 1894-

98, Irad Crippen; 1899-1903, A. J. Gallup; 1904-

07, Harley E. Hamil.

Gates.-^1S21, 1823 and 1828, Matthew Brown,

jr.; 1822, Jesse Hawley; 1824, Samuel Works;

1825, Jacob Gould; 1826, Seth Saxton; 1827,

Fletcher M. Haight; 1829, 1835 and 1858-60,

Ezra M. Parsons; 1830-32, N. T. Rochester; 1833,

James H. Gregory; 1834, William S. Bishop;

1836, Calvin Sperry; 1837-39 and 1847, Henry K.

Higgins; 1840-42, Silas A. Yerkes; 1843, E. Dar-

win Smith; 1844-46 and 1853, M. C. Wetmore;

1848-49, 1856-57, 1862 and 1865-66, James

Warner; 1850-51 and 1854-55, Joseph Dewey;

1852, Hiram Shearman; 1861, Nathan Palmer;

1863, William Otis; 1864, James Chappell; 1867-

71, Chester Field; 1872-73, John L. Pixley; 1874-

75, 1877 and 1884-86, Edward C. Campbell ; 1876,

1878-80, 1883 and 1888, Reuben L. Field; 1881-

82, Avery L. Reed; 1887, Alfred G. Wright; 1889-

91, Jacob S. Haight; 1892-98, Albert Hondorf;

1899.1905, Alphonso Collins; 1906-07, Ardean R.

Miller.

Greece.—1822 and 1830, John Williams; 1823-

25, Frederick Bushnell; 1826-29, Silas Walker;

1831, Hughitt; 1832-33, Holden; 1834-

35 and 1842, Asa Rowe; 1836-38, Samuel B.

Bradley; 1839-41 and 1850, L. B. Langworthy;
•1843 and 1848, Abdiah B. Carpenter; 1844-45

and 1849, George C. Latta; 1846-47 and 1853,

James S. Stone; 1851-52, Levi H. Parrish; 1854-

55, Elias Avery; 1856-57 and 1873, Erastus

Walker;. 1858, Joshua Eaton; 1859 and 1870-71,

Simeon Butts; 1860, Alamander Wilder; 1861-

62, 1872 and 1876, Peter Larkin; 1863, H. A.

Oliiislod; 180'J-6y, Nelson Lewis; 1873, Erustua

Walker; 1874-75, David Todd; 1877-78, 1884-85,

1887, 1893 and 1901, Alanson P. Britton; 1879-

80 and 1888-89, John M. Lowden; 1881, John

Kintz; 1882-83, Erastus S. Benedict; 1886, Lu-

cian A. Rowe; 1890, Thomas H. Eddy; 1891-92,

Joseph R. Beatty; 1894-98, James B. Castle;

1899-90, Edward E. Frisbee; 1902, Prank Vance;

1903, Willis N. Britton; 1904-07, Frank W.

Truesdale. ,

Hftm^w.—1853-1861, E. Barringer; 1862-63,

Seymour Sherwood; 1864-66, Martin Webster';

1867-71, George H. Lee; 1872-74, James N. Ken-

yon; 1875-77, Walter A. Ferris ;^ 1878-80, 1887-93

and 1894-1901, James H. Redman; 1881-83,

George W. Storer; 1884-86, Enos B. Wood; 1893,

Prank Elliott; 1902-05, Isaac Palmer; 1906-07,

John Martin.

//e7M-ie«a.—1831-33, 1824, 1826-27 and 1832-

33, Elijah Little; 1823, Lyman Hawley; 1825,

James Sperry; 1828-39, 1834-39, 1843 and 1852-

53, Isaac Jackson;. 1830-31, Joshua Tripp; 1840,

Elisha Gage; 1841-42 and 1845, Matthias L. An-

gle; 1844, Micajah W. Kirby; 1846-47, 1849, 1856

and 1861, Wells Springer; 1848, 1850 and 1857,

Alexander Williams; 1851, Ezra Howard; 1854,.

Samuel Hoyt; 1855, Ashman Beebe; 1858-59,

Warren Diver; 1860, 1862-63 and 1865-68, Jer-

ome Keyes; 1864, A. A. Stearns; 1869-70, William

C. Hewitt; 1871-74, Robert Martin; 1875, Sam-
uel U. Calkins; 1876, Samuel Beckwith; 1877-79,

Marvin Williams; 1880-83, 1893-95 and 1904-05,

0. G. Starkweather; 1883-84, George J. Green;

1885-87, Alinon P. Nichols; 1888, Charles J.

Smith; 1889-91, Charles M. Green; 1896-1901,

Marshall Todd; 1902-03 and 1906-07, Pryor F.

Martin.
,

Irondequoit.—1839-40 and 1842, William Shep-

ard; 1841, William Blossom; 1843-44, Jonah

Brown; 1845-46, John McGonegal; 1847, James

Marshall; 1848-49 and 1856-57, James Swayne;

1850, Benjamin Wing; 1851-52, S. W. Bradstreet;

1853 and 1858-59, John Smyles; 1854-55 and

1863, James Sherry; 1860-61, George E. McGon-

egal ; 1862, Jedediah White ; 1864-66, A. C. Hob-

bie; 1867-70, Richard D. Cole; 1871-72, Samuel

Dnbelbeiss; 1873-76, Henry Walzer; 1877, Alex-
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ander 11. Wilson j 1878-79, Winfield R. Wood;

1880-82, John Bvershed; 1883-84, Richard Hill;

1885-91, William H. Sours; 1892-98, J. D. Whipr

pie; 1899, Rudolph Dubelbeiss; 1900-05, Joseph

Aman; 1906-07, Chauncey Porter.

Mendon.—1821.-25, James Smith; 1826-27,

Elijah Sheldon, jr.; 1828-29, Timothy Barnard,

jr.; 1830-31, Gliurlcs Foot, jr.; 1832 and 1834,

kilton Sheldon; 1833, Jeremy' S. Stone; 1835,

jr.; 1830-31, Charles Foot, jr.; 1832 and 1834,

George S. -Stone; 1839, Frye Abbot; 1840-42,

Abram Cole; 1843, John Park; 1844-45, Mason

Cole; 1846-50, R. M. Gates; 1851-52, Thomas

Wilcox; 1853-54, Benjamin Smith; 1855-57,

George W. Allen; 1858, Anson L. Angle; 1859-

GO, 1864 and 1869-70, Timothy H. Holden; 1861-

62 and 1867, John M. Davis; 1863, G. B. Mc-

Bride; 1865-66 and 1868, E.'H. Barnard; 1871-

77, Hpmer C. Ely; 1878-80, Judson F. Sheldon;

1881-85, 1887-88, Charles Strong; 1886, Theodore

E. Bramble; 1889-90, Smith Porter; 1891-1901,

George Webster; 1902-07, Edward H. White.

Ogden.—1821 and 1823-24, James Baldwin;

1822, John P. Patterson; 1825, 1829-33 and 1846,

Austin Spencer; 1826-28, Samuel Kilburn; 1834-

37, 1844-45 and 1850-51, Amos C. Wilmot; 1838-

39, Charles Church; 1840-41, John Gott; 1842-

13. 1852-5,3, 1860 and 1862-63, Ezra B. True;

1847-^8, James 0. Pettengill; 1849 and 1854,

William Brown; 1855, Jesse S. Church; 1856 and

1858, Selden C. Banning; 1857 and 1859, Enoch

Arnold; 1861 and 1865-66, John Borst; 1864, E.

Covill; 1867-74, Josiah Rich; 1875-77, William

B. Arnold; 1878-80, L. P. Spencer; 1881-89,

Txionfird Burritt; 1890-91, Lester S. Nichols;

1892-97, Fred E. Gott; 1898-1901, Oscar E. Nich-

ols; 1902-05, Thaddeus Dimn; 1906-07, Edward

W. Arnold.

Farma.—1821, Gibbons Jewett; 1822-25, Sam-

uel Castle; 1826-28, Roswell Atchison; 1829,

Simeon Smith; 1830, Zalved Spencer; 1831, John

Tyler; 1832, J. M. Hiscock; 1833-36, 1853, 1856

and 1863-64, John E. Patterson; 1837, Jonathan

Wadhams; 1838-41, 1843-44, 1849-50 and 1857,

Isaac Chase, jr.; 1842 and 1845-47, Harris Clem-

ent; 1848, Joshua Tripp; 1851-53, James C. Aus-

tin; 1854, Jonas Knapp; 1855, Samuel D. Web-

ster; 1858-00 and 18G5, Abner I. Wood; 1861,

James W. Hiscock; 1862, Harris Clement; 1866,

Charles Efner; 1867-69, E. D. Hillman; 1870-73

and 1879, Russell C. Bates; 1874-75, Stephen D.

Burritt; 1876-78, Rodney P. Odell, jr.; 1880-82

and 1889-90, Elam A. Cross; 1883-84, James T.

Truesdale; 1885-88, William H. Denniston; 1891,

Avery L. Foote; 1892-1905, Albert P. Beebe;

1906-07, Myron Roberts.

Penfield.—1821-28, Henry Fellows; 1829-30

and 1833-35, Byron Woodhull; 1831-32 and

1836-37, Alpheus Crocker; 1838, Anson Beards-

ley; 1839, Joseph Patterson; 1840-41, 1845 and

1847-51, Daniel E. Lewis; 1842, Ebenezer L.

Gage; 1843-44 and 1846, Isaac T. Raymond;

1852, Elias Beach; 1853, 1855-56, 1859, 1864-65

and 1867-75, James Harris; 1854 and 1876-78,

Alanson Higbie; 1857, Albert H. King; 1858,

Oliver C. Ross; 1860, Daniel Fuller; 1861-63,

Fairchild Andrus; 1866, Orestes Case; 1879-80

and 1888-89, Charles N. -Leonard; 1881-83 and

1890-93, George W. Clark; 1884-85, Irving B.

Eldredge; 1886-87, George A. Raymond; 1894-97,

Charles C. Raymond; 1898-1903, Joseph H. Gas-,

ton; 1904-05, Henry C. Kennedy; 1906-07, H.

Wilson Whalen.

Perinton.—1821-24:, 1826-29 and 1831, Reuben

Willey; 182'5, William S. Gregory; 1830 and

1832, Joseph D. Thompson; 1833-34, 1845 and

1848, Enoch Strong; 1835-36, John Peters; 1837,

Abisha Goodoll; 1838, Byron Woodhull; 1839,

Horace Lee; 1840 and 1847, Anson Beardsley;

1841, Lorenzo D. Ely; 1842 and 1844, Darius

Talman; 1843 and 1856, Joshua F. Jones; 1846,

William Lockwood; 1849-50 and 1862, Charier

H. Dickinson; 1851 and 1853, J. S. Baker; 1852,

Thomas D. Walker; 1854, 1869-71 and 1875-76,

George L. G. Sccley; 1855 and 1857, Jacob B.

Odell; 1858-60, Thomas W. Dickinson; 1861 ajid

1873-74, William P. Chase; 1863, E. B. Strong;

1864-65, A. C. Hill; 1866, J. G. Aldrich; 1867-

68 and 1881-86, Jesse B. Hannan; 1872, G. F.

Wilcox; 1877-80, Henry A. Deland; 1887, Pat-

rick McAulifle; 1888-89, Thompson G. Jones;

1890 and 1904-05, Fletcher A. Defendorf; 1891-

97, Egbert L. Hodskin; 1898-1903, DeWitt C.

Becker; 1906-07, Thomas J. Bridges.

Pittsford.—1821-25, Simon Stone, second;

1826-28, Stephen Lusk; 1829-32, 1834 and 1838-

39, Nathan Calhoun; 1833, John Armstrong;

1835-36, 1847-48 and 1855, Ephraim Goss; 1837,

1843-45 and 1856, Solomon Stone; 1840, 1842,

1846, 1850 and 1862, Marvin Hopkins; 1841 and



416 HISTORY OP ROCHESTER AND MONROE COUNTY.

1851, Ira Bellows; 1849, W. M. Huntington

1852-53, Horace Wheeler.; 1854, William C. Row-

ley; 1857, Thomas Wilcox; 1858, Isaac H. Suth-

erland; 1859-60 and 1863, Daniel Kingsley; 1861,

Jarvis Lord; 1864, N. K. Welch; 1865-72 and

1879, Patrick Malone; 1873-74, Francis B. Shear-

er; 1875-77, 1880 and 1888-97, George A, Goss;

1878 and 1884-85, Samuel H. Stone; 1881-83

James M. Wiltsie; 1886-87, Thomas Spiegel;

1898, Burton N. Wiltsie; 1899-1903, Charles G.

Schoen; 1904-07, Jared W. Hopkins.

Riga.—1821 and 1824, Joseph Sibley; 1822-23

and 1825-26, Joseph Thompson; 1827-29, Phineas

Smith; 1830, Thomas Bingham; 1831-32, Hub-

bard Hall; 1833-35, Elihu Church; 1836, John R.

Smith; 1837, Asa Adams; 1838-40, Lucius Lilly;

1841, Spencer Smith; 1842, James R. Plynn;

1843-44 and 1851-53, Aretas Adams; 1845-49,

Ashbel A. Hosmer; 1850, Dennis Church; 1854-

55, Paul Knowles; 1856-57, Volney Lacy; 1858-

61, George Brown; 1862-63, Zophar Willard;

1864-65, M. J. Molloch; 1866-69 and 1876-78,

Henry W. Davis; 1870, James W. Craig; 1871,

James P. Knowles; 1872-75 and 1881-84, George

Savage; 1879-80, Stewart Church; 1885-89, Os-

car S. Babcoek; 1890-91, William S. Church;

1892-97, Henry J. Snyder; 1898-1903, James L.

Sackett; 1904-05, John Lemmon; 1906-07, Wil-

liam L. Ormrod.

Rmh.—1821-31 and 1841-47, Peter Price;

1832-34, Simon M. Coe; 1835, Alfred Jonqs; 1836-

38, John P. Stull; 1839, 1848-49 and 1851, Na-

than Jeffords; 1840 and 1854, Joseph Sibley;

1850, Henry B. Hart; 1852 and 1855, John B.

Crosby; 1853, Wells Clark; 1856-58, Owen D.

Crosby; 1859-67, 1869-70 and 1872-73, Thomas

J. Jeffords; 1868 and 1871, Hosea Martin; 1874-

76 and 1892, George H. Houck; 1877-78, Charles

M. Green; 1879-82, 1890-91 and 1896, Joseph H.

Sherman; 1883-86, 1893-95 and 1902-03, David

Martin; 1887-89 and 1898, Byron A. Diver; 1904-

07, Morris E. Kinsey.

Sweden.—1821-23, Silas Judson; 1824-25,

James Seymour; 1826-29 and 1840, Joseph Ran-

dall; 1830-35, 1843-47 and 1849, Robert Staples;

1836-38, 1851-53 and 1863-64, Samuel H. Davis;

1839 and 1841-42, Nathan Palmer; 1848, Hum-
phrey Palmer; 1850, Asa Rowe; 1854-58, Fred-

erick P. Root; 1859-60, Chauncey S. White; 1861,

Henry Root; 1862 and 1865-66, Thomas Comes;

1867, W. C. Pairbank; 1868-69, Luther H. Gor-

don; 1870-71, Franklin F. Capen; 1872-73, Elijah

W. Young; 1874-75, Ira Crawford; 1876-78, Lu-

cius T. Underbill; 1879-81, William J. Edmunds;

1882-84, George W. Sime; 1885-87, Henry L.

White; 1888-89, Frank E. Williams; 1890 and

1892, Alfred M. White; 1891 and 1893, George L.

Smith; !l894-98, Bienjamin F. Gleason; 1899-

1903, John Sutphin; 1904-07, Charles E. Shafer.

Webster.—184:0, 1843, 1847, 1850-51 and 1856,

Byron WoodhuU; 1.841, William Corning; 1842

and 1844, Alpheus Crocker; 1845, William Wood-

hull; 1846, William Hall; 1848, Alexander Mel-

vin; 1849, Nelson Stearns; 1852, 1855 and 1867,

Thaddeus Van Alstyne; 1853, 1857, 1861 and

1869, H. Nelson Curtice; 1854, Willis Wilmot;

1858-59, Horace Holt; 1860, 1864-66 and 1868,

Charles S. Wright; 1862-63, Luther Curtice;

1870-71, Thomas Wright; 1872-76, John H.

Whitbeck; 1877-78, Lewis J. Billings; 1879-80.

George L. Conrow; 1881-84 and 1898, Charles

Goetzmann; 1885-89, Prank M. Jones; 1890,

Burton E. Sperry; 1891-97, Ansel E. Wright;

1899-1903, Prank P. Jones; 1904-07, George P
Harris.

Wheatland.—1821 and 1826-27, John Garbutt;

1822-23, Rawson Harmon; 1824-25, Levi Lacey;

1828, Isaac I. Lewis; 1829, William Garbutt;

1830-31 and 1844-45, Duncan McVean; 1832-33,

. Reed; 1834-36 and 1839, John McVean;
1837-38, Theron Brown; 1840-41 and 1843, Juch

Blackmer; 1842, Lewis Goodrich; 1846-47, Elisha

Harmon; 1848, George R. Hall; 1849, 1851-54,

1875-76, 1879-83 and 1899-1900, Philip Garbutt;

1850, Ephraim Blackmer; 1855-56, William

Welch; 1857-59, Ephraim Pinch; 1860-63, Sam-
pel Scofeld; 1861-67 and 1871-74, Donald Mc-

Naughton; 1868, W. G. Ashby; 1869, Volney P.

Brown; 1870 and 1878, T. R. Sibley; 1877, J.

Julian McVean; 1884-86, Charles T. Brown;

1887 and 1889-90, William C. Page; 1888, Ste-

phen Bennett; 1891-92, Edward S. Brown; 1893-

95, George II. Pope; 1896-97, Simon W. McDon-

ald; 1898, Marvin Williams; 1901-07, Charles D.

Nichols.

Rochester—The Whole City.—1834:, Abraham

M. Schermerhorn, E. D. Smith and Horace Hook-

er; 1835, Jared Newell, Joseph Medbevy and

Charles J. Hill; 1836, Maltby Strong, Joseph
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Medbery, Thomas H. Rochester and Elisha B.

Strong.

First Ward.—1837, Lyman E. Langworthy;

1838, Thomas J. Patterson; 1839, Ely J. Patter-

son; 1840, Alfred Hubbell; 1841, Eleazer Conkey;

1842-43, Samuel B. Dewey; 1844, 1846, 1848-49

and 1856, John Haywood; 1845, Ambrose Cram;

1847, Johnson I. Eobins; 1850, L. B. Swan; 1851,

George Gould; 1853, John Whitney; 1853, Abram

Karnes; 1854, Thomas Kempshall; 1855, 1866

and 1869-70, Henry Churchill; 1857-58, William

S. Thompson; 1859-60, Benjamin M. Baker;

1861-63 and 1865, Hamlin Stilwell; 1864, Dudley

D. Palmer; 1867, Joseph Curtis; 1868, Charles

11. Stilwell; 1871, 1875-78, 1885 and 1893, Lu-

ther A. Pratt; 1872, Alonzo G. Whitcomb; 1873,

Frank W. Embry; 1874, William F. Holmes;

1879, WilUam W. Carr; 1880-81, 1889-92 and

1894-1905, James W. Clark; 1882-83, Dwight

Knapp; 1884, Edward F. Stilwell; 1886-88, Lewis

Sundcrlin ; 1906-07, Joseph StalUniecht, jr.

Second Wwrd.—ISZ'T, John Williams; 1838-39,

Elijah P. Smith; 1840, Seth C. Jones; 1841-42,

John Allen; 1843, William Buell; 1844, William

W. Alcott; 1845-46, George H. Mumford; 1847-

48, Joel P. Milliner; 1849-51, John Crombie;

1852, Lewis Selye; 1853 and 1863-66, Ezra Jones;

1854, William E. Lathrop; 1855-5G and 1867,

George Arnold ; 1857 and 1860, John H. Thomp-

son; 1858-59, Hamlet D. Scrantom; 1861, Samuel

M. Hildreth; 1862, William C. Eowley; 1867 and

1870, George Arnold; 1868, John Barker; 1869

and 1871, Thomas T. Sprague; 1872-73 and 1875,

Charles A. Pool; 1874, Ansel A. Cornwall; 1876

and 1880, James Day; 1877, Thomas Pryor; 1878-

79, Michael M. Keenan; 1881, George Wait;

1882, Conrad B. Denny; 1883-84, George B. Wes-

ley; 1885 and 1887, John Eckhardt; 1886, Wil-

liam Sullivan; 1888, Joseph Langridge; 1889,

William Leach; 1890, William B. Cooper; 1891,

George H. Nagcl; 1892, Edward A. Frost;*

1893, Thomas W. Ford; 1894-1901, William

Thompson; 1902-03, Patrick M. Quirk; 1904-07,

John G. Ideman. ,

Third Ward.—1837, Thomas H. Rochester;

1838, Erasmus D. Smith; 1839, Everard Peck;

1840-42, James M. Fish; 1843, Simon Traver;

1844, Henry Cady; 1845, Smith; 1846 and

•Hy .in iniquitous act of tlic Icsislalurc, in 1892, the desig-
nations of tile second, tliird, fourth and fifth wards were inter-
changed, for purely partisan purposes, but two years later the
rightful nomenclature was restored, largely through the efforts

01 the Rochester Historical society.

1854, Samuel Miller; 1847, Zina H. Benjamin;

1848, William H. Cheney; 1849, E. F. Smith;

1850, James Chappell; 1851, 1853 and 1865,

Charles J. Hill; 1852, Nathaniel T. Rochester;

1856, John Crombie; 1857-58, William Churchill;

1859-67, Amon Bronson; 1868-71, Thomas C.

Montgomery; 1872, James L. Brewster; 1873-75,

Henry E. Rochester; 1876-78, Charles F. Pond;

1879-82, Frank M. Bottum; 1883, Thomas Peart;

1884, George Morgan; 1885, David D. Clancy;

1886-88, Thomas W. Atkinson; 1889-91, Edward

A. Frost; 1892-93, William Ryan; 1894-95, Thom-

as W. Ford; 1896-1901, Edward F. Wellington;

1902, Willis K. Gillette; 1903-07, Charles S. Owen.

Fourth Ward.—1837, James H. Gregory; 1838,

Thomas Kempshall; 1839, James W. Smith; 1840,

William Griffith; 1841, John Hawks; 1843, Asahel,

S. Beers; 1843, Schuyler Moses; 1844, Robert

Haight; 1845 and 1850, Matthew G. Warner;

1846-47, John Miller; 1848-49, T. B. Husband;

1851 and 1868, James C. Campbell; 1852, Simon

L. Brewster; 1853, Alonzo K. Amsden; 1854,

Alvah Strong; 1855, Harvey Prindle; 1856, Ed-

ward Roggen; 1857, Hiram Smith; 1858, James

McManus; 1859, 0. P. Chamberlain; 1860, Wil-

liam McCarthy; 1861, William H. Burtis; 1862,

George N. Doming; 1863, G. S. Copeland; 1864

and 1866, H. S. Eedfield; 1865, W. V. K. Lan-

sing; 1867, W. S. Kimball; 1869-70, James Kane,

sr.; 1871 and 1889-91, Lyman M. Otis; 1872,

Eoyal L. Mack; 1873-74, John B. Hahn; 1875,

Henry S. Helard; 1876-80, James B. Hayden;

1881-82, Charles Watson; 1883-84, Charles Ernst;

1885, David Copeland; 1886-87, Albert Schoen;

1888, Charles F. Hetzel; 1892, George H. Nagel;

1893, William Thompson; 1894-1905, Henry J.

Thompson ; 1906-07, Henry W. Morse.

Fifth Ward.—1837, Jared Newell; 1838, Hor-

ace Hooker; 1839-40, Levi A. Ward; 1841-42,

Rufus Keeler; 1843 and 1845, Peter W. Jennings)

1844, Elisha B. Strong; 1846, W. B. Alexander;

1847, David R. Barlon; 1848 and 1855, Philander

G. Toby; 1849, Harvey Humphrey; 1850-51,

Mitchell Loder; 1852-54, Joshua Conkey; 1856,

N. C. Bradstreet; 1857, John Rigney; 1858, Wil-

liam R. GifEord; 1859 and 1871, William W.

Bruff; 1860-61, William Carroll; 1862, Patrick J.

Dowling; 1863-68, Patrick ConoUy; 1869, Wil-

liam Guggenheim; 1870,- Michael Kolb; 1872,



41S ITISTOKY OF ROCHESTEll AND MOWHOE COUNTY.

George J. Knapp; 1873, Herman S. Brewer;

1874-75, John Dufner; 1876-77 and 1879, Charles

Englert; 1878, William Emerson; 1880-81, Con-

rad Bachmann; 1882 and 1884-85, George Cai-ing;

1883, Roman Ovenburg; 1886-88, Joseph T. Cox;

1889, Channcey A. Runyon; 1890-91, Samuel W.
Bradstreet; 1892-93, Lyman M. Otis; 1894-95,

Edward Hoellrigl; 1896-98, James Briggs; 1899-

1903, M. C. Grannon; 1904-07, M. W. Nelligan.

Sixth Fard.—1852-54, Robert Syme; 1855-56,

Hiram Davis; 1857, Robert R. Harris; 1858, John
G. Wagner; 1859, George C. Maurer; 1860, Evan
Evans; 1861, William Shepherd; 1862-63, Wil-

liam Sidey; 1864-66, Charles H. Williams; 1867-

68, Joseph Sehutte; 1869-71, Quiney Van Voor-

his; 1872-74, Francis Boor; 1875, Willis C.

Hadley; 1876, Samuel Rosenblatt; 1877-79, Wil-

liam S. Palls; 1880, Joseph Hoffman; 1881,

Abram J. Cappon; 1882, William Perry; 1883,

Valentine Hetzler; 1884-91, Abram Stern; 1892,

Baron A. Meade; 1893-1903, Edward P. Ells-

worth; 1904-07, George L. Meade.

Seventh Ward.—1852, William I. Hanford
1853, John Rigney; 1854-55, John H. Babcock

1856, Aaron Brickson; 185-7, Jarvis M. Hatch
1858, Alexander W. Miller; 1859, M. G. Warner
1860-61, Edward M. Smith; 1862-63, Edwin Tay
lor; 1864, Byron M. Hanks; 1865, D. B. Beach

1866, P. D. W. Clarke; 1867, J. W. Steward

1868-70, Porter W. Taylor; 1871, Prank N. Lord

1872-73, George P. Loder; 1874-77, Charles H
Webb; 1878, Maxcy N. Van Zandt; 1879-81

George Heberling; 1882-86, Charles C. Meyer
1887-88, George Engert; 1889, George W. Steitz

1890-91, George P. Draper; 1892, Charles A.

Young; 1893-95, C. P. Gottschalk; 1896-97 and
1904-05, A. B. Wolff; 1898-1903, William J. Quin-
lan; 1906-07, L. E. Lazarus.

Eighth Ward.—1852, Zina H. Benjamin; 1853,
Asa B. Hall; 1854, Henry L. Pish; 1855, Henry
B. Knapp; 1856, WiUiam Cook; 1857, Sidney
Church; 1868, Samuel W. D. Moore; 1859, Joel

B. Bennett; 1860-64, 1870 and 1874-75, Benjamin
McParlin; 1865-66, Sylvester Lewis; 1867-68,

Daniel Warner; 1869, M. J. Glenn; 1871, Charles
P. Achilles; 1872 and 1885, Nicholas Brayer;
1873, William P. Parry; 1876-77, William
Wright; 1878, Leonard Henkle; 1879, Maurice
Leyden; 1880-1881, Bernard O'Kane; 1882-84,
James P. Tumilty; 1886, Patrick J. Martin:

1887, Thomas Salter; 1888-89, John Rice; 1890,

William Haitz; 1891, Prank Horn; 1892-93, John

Mauder; 1894-97, George J. Wunder; 1898-99,

Joseph J. Schlesinger; 1900-03, Christian Nagel;

1904-07, William S. Beard.

Ninth Ward.—1852, W. Barron Williams; 1853

and 1856-57, Daniel Gatens; 1854, James C. Coch-

rane; 1855, Lysander Parrar; 1858, Francis

Brown; 1859, 0. L. Angevine; 1860-61, Thomas

C. Oilman; 1862, John H. Wilson; 1863 and

1865-67, Lewis Sclye; 1864, William J. Sheridan;

1868, M. S. Fairchild; 1869-70, Charles S. Baker;

1871, A. N. Whiting; 1872, William C. Stone;

1873, Thomas McMillan; 1874-75, 1885-86 and

1890, Frederick Miller; 1876-79, George W. Ja-

cobs; 1880-83, Martin Joiner; 1884, Frederick E.

Conway; 1887-89, William S. McKelvey; 1891,

John H. Ashton; 1892, Robert Bryson; 1893,

John H. Creegan; 1894-97, Charles Wells, sr.;

1898-99, Edgar Parkman; 1900-07, Joseph Tozer.

Tenth Ward.—1852 and 1858-59, Hubbard W.
Jones; 1853, George Peck; 1854, William B. Al-

exander; 1855, James L. Angle; 1856-57 and

1803, David Wagner; 1860, Louis Ernst; 1861,

Daniel B. Loder; 1862, Henry Suggett; 1864 and

1869-71, DeWitt C. Ellis; 1865-66, A. H. Bil-

lings; 1867, George Breck; 1868 and 1872. Isaiah

F. Force; 1873, Bernard Haag; 1874, Douglas

Hovey; 1875-76, Daniel Lowrey; 1877, Ethan A.

Chase; 1878-80, Harry C. Jones; 1881, Henry E.

Shaffer; 1882, George Weldon; 1883-84, Bartholo-

mew Keeler; 1885, John Cline; 1886-90, Joseph

Carberry; 1891, Baron A. Meade; 1892 and 1902-

05, John H. Ashton; 1893, William W. Arm-
strong 1894-95, John R. Kay; 1896-97, James
Gorsline; 1898-1901, Charles L. Yates; 1906-07,

Oeorge Y. Webster.

Eleventh Ward.—1858, Charles Wilson; 1859,

Francis A. Adelman; 1860, Jacob Waldele; 1861-

62, August Haungs; 1863, Frederick Zimmur;
1864, J. W. Phillips; 1865 and 1867-68, Louis

Bauer; 1866, Charles S. Baker, 1869-70, Thomas
M. Flynn; 1871, Thomas Mitchell; 1872, George

B. Swikehard; 1873-75, Jacob Gerling; 1876,

John Greenwood; 1877, Thomas McAnarney;
1878, Reuben Punnett; 1879-81 and 1884-85,

John Brayer; 1882-83, William Welz; 1886 and

1888-89, Joseph Yawman; 1887, John N. Ehr-

hart; 1890-91, John Burgess; 1892, D. M. An-
thony; 1893 and 1900-01, William Haitz; 1894-
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99 and 1902-05, George J. Knapp; 1906-07, T.

H. Jameson.

Twelfth Ward.—1859, Philip J. Meyer; 1860,

Lyman Munger; 1861 and 1865-66, Alexander

McWhorter; 1862 and 1864, Patrick Barry j 1863,

James L. Angle; 1867 and 1875-76, George V.

Schaffer; 1868, George Ellwanger; 1869-70, Jo-

seph L. Liickey; 1871, John W. Deuel; 1872,

Henry Bender; 1873, William C. Barry; 1874,

Nicholas Gutberlet; 1877-78, William Gibbs;

1879, Conrad Eisenberg; 1880-82, Philip Weider;

1883-84, D. Clinton Barnum; 1885, David Abeles; ,

1886-87, Alvin Block; 1888-90, Henry G. Cook;

1891, William Strutz; 1892-93, John 0. Vogel;

1894-85, George Weldon; 1896-1901, George W.

Clark; 1903-07, Grill D. Palmer.

Thirteenth Ward.—1863, John Soeder; 1864,

Philander Davis; 1865-67 and 1873, Christian

Widman; 1868, George P. Davis; 1869, Henry S.

Brown; 1870-71, Frederick Loebs; 1873, Freder-

ick Lnuer, jr.; 1874, John Nothaker; 1876, Frank

X. Bradler; 1876-78, Olaf Oswald; 1879-81, John

A. P. Walter; 1883, Stephen Eauber; 1883, Carl

F. Gottschalk; 1884-86, James H. Brown; 1887,

Charles A. Young; 1888-89, Abraham Marsielje;

1890-91, John Mauder; 1892-93 and 1896-99,

Henry Oberlies; 1894-95, Frank L. Hewitt; 1900-

03, Edward Wallis; 1904-07, Frederick F. Rem-

mel.

Fourteenth Ward.—1865-66, Samuel S. Par-

tridge; 1867-70, John Stewart; 1871, Richard H.

Warfield; 1872, Abram Boss; 1873, Charles F.

Hetzel; 1874-77, William H. Dake; 1878, John

J. Burke; 1879-80, Thomas Crane; 1881-87 and

1889-90, Thomas Gosnell; 1888, Wlilliam S

Campbell; 1891, Clark Douglas; 1892, William

Strutz; 1893-95, Jacob Allmeroth; 1896-1901,

George H. Smith; 1902-03, Frederick G. Schulz;

1904-07, William Horcheler.

Fifteenth Ward.—1874, John C. O'Brien;

1875-76, Henry Klinlchammer ; 1877-79, Jamea

H. Curran; 1880-81, Anthony H. Martin; 1883,

Henry Kondolf; 1883, John Foos; 1884, George

J. Held; 1885-90, Samuel A. Ketcham; 1891.

Frank Pehrenbach; 1893, 1894-95 and 1903-04,

James Malley; 1893 and 1896-99, John E. How-

ard; 1900-01, John J. Meehan; 1905, Albert

Braycr; 1906-07, L. A. Ackerman.

Sixteenth Ward.—1874:, Henry E. Boardinan;

1875. George J. Farber; 1876-78, Henry B. Me

Gonegal; 1879, John W. Stroup; 1880-81, Alex-

ander Button; 1882, John Vogt; 1883, Chauncey

Nash; 1884, Oscar F. Brown; 1885-86, Caleb K.

Hobbie; 1887-89, Philip Mohr; 1890, Thomas

Doud; 1891, H. P. Remington; 1892, A. J. Pot-

<er; 1893-95 and 1898-99, M. J. Ragan; 1896-97,

George A. Lane; 1900-01, Frederick Rohr; 1902-

05, H. T. McFarlin; 1906-07, Andrew A. Ritz.

Seventeenth Ward.—1893, Herbert J. Wilson;

1893, Edward Rosenbauer; 1894-97, Joseph Kel-

ler; 1898-1907, George M. Schwartz.

Eighteenth Ward.—1893-95, Edward Engle-

hart; 1896-99, Henry Bareham; 1900-03, Peter

W. Seller; 1904-07, Herbert B. Cash.

Nineteenth Wwrd.—1893, Jacob Johnson;

1893-95, John Barnett; 1896-1901, C. H. Tron-

son; 1903, Arthur Warren; 1903-07, Edward P.

Baumann.
,

Twentieth Ward.—1892, Edward H. Ruby;

1893, Frank W. Love; 1894-97, C. F. A. Young;

1898-99, William J. Schmitt; 1900-01 and 1904-

05, Jacob L. Guerinot; 1902-03, John Frear;

1906-07, Conrad Grenner.

Twenty-first Ward.—1905, William L. Man-

ning; 1906-07, Abram De Potter.

Twenty-second Ward.—1906-07, Frank Lux.

Chairmen of the Board.—1831, Matthew

Brown, jr.; 1822-35, Simon Stone; 1826-31,

1841-43 and 1847, Peter Price; 1833, Nathaniel

T. Rochester; 1833, James H. Gregory; 1834,

Abraham M. Schermerhorn; 1835, David S. Bates;

1836 and 1848, Ephraim Goss; 1837, John P.

Stull; 1838-39, Moses Sperry; 1840, Isaac Lacey;

1844, Elisha B. Strong; 1845, Enoch Strong;

1846, Robert Staples; 1849, John Haywood; 1850-

51, Daniel E. Lewis; 1853, W. Barron Williams;

1853, Joshua Conkey; 1854, Benjamin Smith;

1855, Lysander Farrar; 1856 and 1868, James H.

Warren; 1857, Frederick P. Root; 1858, William

S. Thompson; 1859-60, Ezra M. Parsons; 1861-

63, 1864-65, 1869 and 1873, Thomas J. Jeffords;

1863, James L. Angle; 1866 and 1873-74, Donald

McNaughton; 1867, Jerome Keyes; 1870-71, De-

Witt C. Ellis; 1875, Homer C. Ely; 1876-77 and

1889, George A. Goss; 1878, George W. Jacobs;

1879-80, Henry A. Deland; 1881, Philip Garbutt;

1882, E. A. Cross; 1883, James M. Wiltsie; 1884,

Leonard Burritt; 1885, Charles Strong; 1886,

Jesse B. Hannan; 1887, Henry L. White; 1888,
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Oscar S. Babcock; 1890, William H. Sours; 1891-

92, Lyman M. Otis; 1893-94, Ansel B. Wright;

1895-97, James H. Redman; 1898-99, Edward F.

Wellington; 1900-01, George Herbert Smith;

1903-03, Edward P. Ellsworth; 1904, Albert P.

Beebe; 1905-06, Griff D. Palmer; 1907, CharleB

S. Owen.

Clerks of the Board.—1821-24, Josiah Sheldon;

1825, Moses Chapin; 1826-29, Samuel L. Selden;

1830-36, A. S. Alexander; 1837-49, Nathaniel T.

Rochester; 1850-51, James L. Angle; 1852-53,

Calvin Huson; 1854-59, M. G. Warner, jr.; 1860,

George C. Putnam; 1861, Elwell S. Otis; 1862-

67, Charles P. Achilles; 1868, Frank B. Hutchin-

son; 1869-74, 1876-82 and 1884-87, William Oli-

ver; 1875, George Breck; 1883, Homer C. Ely;

1888-92 and 1894-1902, Charles U. Bastable;

1893, Earl H. Slocum; 1903-07, Willis K. Gillette.





HENRY C. BREWSTER.



BIOGRAPHICAL

HBNEY C. BREWSTER.

It is the records of such men as Henry C. Brew-
ster that stand as contradictory evidence of tlie

statement, too often heard, that America is given

over to the spirit of commercialism; that busi-

ness and nauglit else claims the attention and
efforts of our leading men. Rochester knows Henry
Brewster as a financier of eminent ability but

knows him moreover as a public-spirited citizen,

as a man of benevolences, of kindly purposes and
high ideals. The great interests of the country

at large—politics, the church aiid the charities

—

have made claiiris upon his attention, claims that

he has fully met, and while the business activity

and prosperity of the city have been greatly aug-

mented tlirough his labors, her public welfare has

profited by his efforts and his history is one which
reflects honor and credit upon Monroe county and
the state at large.

Rochester may well be proud to number him
among her native sons. The ancestral history is

one of close connection with America through

many generations. His parents were Simon L.

and Editha (Colvin) Brewster. The father, who
was born in the town of Griswold, New London
county, Connecticut, in 1811, acquired his edu-

cation in the common schools and afterward be-

came connected with the business interests of

his native town. Eor ten years he was there en-

gaged in manufacturing and in his thirtieth year

he removed to Rochester, New York, where for

eighteen years he was a prominent representative

of mercantile interests. On the expiration of that

period he retired from business life in 1859, but

JEour years afterward again took his place in the

business world, being elected president of the

T'vadors Bank in 18(13. Two years subsequently

this was reorganized under the national bank act

under the name of the Traders National Bank
and Simon L. Brewster continued as its presi-

dent until his death, which occurred in August,
181)8. He was therefore for more than a third

of a century at the head of this important finan-

cial institution and under his guidance it took

rank among the leading moneyed concerns of the

Eiiipire state. Its business covered every depart-

ment of banking and its financial strength, based

upon the well known reliability and business,

methods of its president and other stockholders

and officers, secured to it a constantly increasing

patronage. In 1844 Mr. Brewster was united

in marriage to Miss Editha Colvin, a daughter

of Hiram D. Colvin, of Rochester. She died in

1899.

The 7tli of September, 1845, was the natal day

of Henry C. Brewster, who was reared amid the

refining influences of a home of culture. Between

the ages of six and eighteen years his time and

attention were largely given to the acquirement of

an education and he then became a factor in finan-

cial circles, entering the Traders National Bank
in the fall of 1863. No parental influence smooth-

ed his pathway or released him from the arduous

work which constitutes the basis of advancement

and success. It was personal merit that gained

him promotion as he mastered the various tasks

assigned to him in the different positions which he

filled in the bank. He realized that there is

no excellence without labor and in the years which

followed he so thoroughly acquainted himself with

the banking business that in July, 1868, he was

chosen by the vote of the directors to the ofiice

of cafhier, in which be continued to serve for

more than twenty-six years. He was then elected

to the vice-presidency in the fall of 1894 and

five years later succeeded his father as president

of the Traders National Bank, since remaining at

the head of the institution.

For forty-four years Henry C. Brewster has

been a factor in financial circles in Rochester, his

vsefulre^'s and activity constantly increasing as
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time has passed. He was for many years the

first vice-president of the Rochester Trust & Safe
Deposit Company and for a considerable period

was president of the Genesee Valley 'J'rust Com-
pany, which was organized by him. In 1893 he
became the founder of the Alliance Bank of Roch-
ester and for nearly seven years served as its

first vice-president. He was the first president

of the Rochester Clearing House Association, in

which capacity he served for five years, and he
became a charter member of the chamber of com-
merce, of which he has twice served as president,

and for two terms he was iis first vice-president.

As a financier he is known and honored through-

out New York. In 1899 he was elected to the

presidency of the New York State Bankers' Asso-

ciation, which he had assisted in organizing five

years before, acting as its vice-president during the

first year oC its existence. He was also vice-presi-

dent of the American Bankers' Association from
the state of New York for five years. His course

has ever been such as would bear the closest in-

vestigation and scrutiny. There .
is in him a

native sagacity and a weight of character that

well qualify him for leadership and command for

him admiration and confidence. No trust reposed

in him has ever been betrayed in the slightest

degree and in fact his entire career has been an
exemplification of the old and time-tried maxim
that honesty is the best policy.

His broad humanitarianism has led to his sup-

port of various charitable and benevolent inter-

ests and, while report says that he gives generous-

ly in cases of need, he has always done so in most
unostentatious manner. In fact he is opposed

to display of any character and is never given to

weighing any act in the scale of public policy.

Principle has guided his conduct and shaped his

course and his views of life are based upon a

recognition of individual responsibility and the

brotherhood of man. He has served as one of

the trustees of St. Peter's Presbyterian church and
is connected with the Rochester Homeopathic Hos-
pital as a member of the board of governors. He
acted as its first treasurer and has done much in

the interests of that institution. Socially he is

connected with the Genesee Valley and the Coun-
try Clubs of Rochester, while his membership re-

lations also extend to the Union League Club of

New .York city and the Strollers' Club of New
York. In these societies which foster patriotism,

historical research and nn appi'cciation of the hon-

or which is ever due to a worthy ancestry, he is

also known. He- is a member of the Society of

Mayflower Descendants, being eligible by reason

of the fact that his ancestry is directly traceable

to Elder William Brewster, who crossed the At-
lantic in the historic vessel which brought the

first settlers to New England. He is likewise a

member of the Society of Colonial Wars, the Sons
of the American Revolution, the Society of the

War of 1812, of Philadelphia, and the New Eng-
land Society of New York. In his citizenship lie

has ever stood for advancement and improvement
and is not unknown in political circles. On the

contrary he believes it the duty as well as the

privilege of every American citizen to exercise

his right of franchise and support those princi-

ples which seem most beneficial in bringing about

good government. His stalwart republicanism and

his well known devotion to high ideals in i)olitical

life led lo his selection in the fall of 1894 for rep-

resentation in congress from ihe thirty-first dis-

trict of New York. He served in the fifty-fourth

and fifty-fifth congresses and during his first

term was a member of the committee on coinage,

weights and measiires. The following term he was
iiuidc cliairiiian of Ihe comiiiitteo on the alcoholic

liquor traffic and a member of the committee on

invalid pensions. In 1900 he represented New
York in the republican national convention which
placed William McKinley at the head of the

ticket, and was an alternate at large in 1904. He
was a member of the New York Chamber of Com-
merce about ten years.

Most happily situated in his home life, Henry
0. Brewster was married, in October, 1876, to

Miss Alice Chapin, a daughter of Louis Chapin,

of Rochester, and they have two daughters, Rachel

A. and Editha C. Their home is the center of

a cultured society circle and their friends are

manv. Mr. Brewster has never allowed the ac-

cumulation of wealth to affect m any way his

manner toward those less fortunate and entrance

to the circle of his friends is gained by charac-

ter worth and not by material possessions. Hia
associates know him as a most genial, kindly gen-

tleman and, while he has made the acquaintance
of many men distinguished in state and national

affairs, he holds as his most priceless treasure

the friendship and respect of his fellow townsmen
amonn- whom his entire life has been passed and
who are thoroughly familiar with his history from
his boyhood down to the present time.

HON. SAMUEL LEE SELDEN.

New Voi'k has always bceu distinguished for the

high rank of her bench and bar, and no state in

the Union can boast of abler Jurists or attorneys.

Prominent among those belonging to Rochester

bar Avas Hon. Samuel Lee Selden, who was one of

the three eminent jurists who occupied the bench
of the court of appeals of the state. He was born
in Lyme, Connecticut, in October, 1800, and came
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to Rochester at the age of twenty-one. Here he
studied law iu the office of Addison Gardiner, the

distinguished jurist, witli whom he formed a part-

nership after his admission to the bar. Later his

brother, Henry Rogers Selden, became a student

in their office. The three men thus associated were
destined to rank as leaders in the jurisprudence

of the Empire stnlo and figure iu conspicuous posi-

tions iu the history of legal science.

Mr. Selden was early called upon to fill impor-
tant public positions in connection with his pro-

fession. In 1831 he wa.s appointed first judge of

ihe Monroe common pleas and held that ofBce

eight years. He also served as master and clerk

of the court of chancery, and in 1847 he was the
candidate of the democratic party for justice of

tJie supreme court, to which office he was elected

by a handsome majority, receiving the support of

his friends in both political organizations as his own
party was in the minority. Serving his full term,

he gave evidence of the possession of such consum-
mate judicial aptitude and uncommon legal talent

that in 1855 he was elected judge of the court of

appeals in the place of his former law partner,

Judge Addison Gardiner, who had retired, declin-

ing a re-election. Here Judge Selden also served

with conspicuous ability until .failing health forced
him to resign about 1863, much to the regret of

his professional brethren throughout the state.

The remainder of his life was passed in ease and
retirement in Rochester, where he died September
20, 1876, honored and respected by all who knew
him. He was the last of his immediate family to

pass away.

His wife, who bore the maiden name of Susan
Ward, was a daughter of Dr. Levi Ward, who
came to Rochester from Haddam, Connecticut, and
was one of the earliest settlers of the Genesee val-

ley. The Judge had but one child, a son, who died

in boyhood. He is survived by two nephews who
reside in Rochester, these being George B. Selden,

a prominent member of the Rochester bar and one
of the leading patent attorneys of the city; and
Arthur R., who is recognized as one of the fore-

most civil engineers and draughtsmen of Roches-
ter.

At the time when Professor S. F. B. Morse was
working hard to obtain assistance in introducing

liis system of telegraphy. Judge Selden and his

brother, together witli Henry O'Reilly, Jonathan
Child and a few others, organized a company to

construct a line forty miles in length between
Harrisburg and Lancaster, Pennsylvania. The
Selden brothers later acquired an interest in a

similar corporation formed under the House pat-

ents, and wore thus among the very pioneers in

telegraphy in the world, virtually laying the foun-

dation of the present Western Union system, which
eventually developed from the last named com-
pany.

Judge Selden'e written opinions are beautiful

works of literature, as well as able and authorita-

tive documents on legal procedure. His profound
knowledge of law, his keen sense of justice, Ms un-
swerving adherence to right, and his wonderful
command of language permeate every line. His
judgment seldom erred. . His writings may be
found in volume 5 of Selden's (his brother's) re-

ports, court of appeals, to volume 24 of New York
I'cports, and also in the supreme court reports dur-
ing his occupancy of that bench. Hia entire time
and attention were devoted to his professional

duties. Although he took considerable interest in

public affairs, he was never an active party worker.

He was charitable, enterprising and public spirited,

and was intimately associated with various local

institutions. The Judge was tall and slender, but
was endowed with a distinguished physique. He
was somewhat retiring in disposition, but made
many friends and was held in the highest esteem
by all who knew him.

E. 0. WARREN.

B. 0. Warren, born at Canastota, in Madison
county. New York, in 1846, is the son of Loran
Warren who was a railroad man and for many
years employed by the Rochester Brick & Tile

Manufacturing Company. He passed away in

] 894, at the age of sixty-nine years. His wife was
Mary Whitney, of Madison county. New York,
and they had four sons and four daughters, the

foiTner all now living while the latter all died in

infancy.

Mr. Warren received his early education in the

public schools of New York state—schools which
have always been noted for their thoroughness. He
came to Monroe county on a canal boat about 1853
and when only eleven years of age began working
for a brick company by which he was employed to

run errands and do various odd jobs. He gradu-

ally worked up through every department in the

business until 1876 when he was appointed super-

intendent of the factory, which manufactures tile

and hollow brick blocks. He has under him some
one hundred and fifty men who consider him a

most proficient superior.

When the war iDroke out Mr. Warren felt that

his place was in the army where he could serve

his country in preserving the Union. Accordingly

he enlisted in the Twenty-first New York Cavalry

and served two years and six months, until the close

of the war. He was under Sheridan and in the

cavalry.

In 1866 he was united in marriage to Mary A.

Hanna, a native of Canada, who early settled in

this county. There were four children born to this

union: Ida M., deceased; Louise E., who is the
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wife of P. J. Davis; May Sylvia and Grace E., who
are at home.

The subject of this sketch has always been a

stanch republican and though ho has never sought

its offices or honors, he has been active in the serv-

ice of his party. He belongs to the Grand Ai-my

of the Republic. He is- a man that began on the

"first step of the ladder and in spite of difficulties

and interruptions has steadily climbed to the top.

He possesses those sterling characteristics whicli

make him a stalwart citizen and a sucfossful busi-

ness man.

JOHN JACOB BAUSCH.
\

Who would have thought that when John Jacob

Bausch landed in America on the completion of a

voyage across the Atlantic from his native Ger-

many in 1849j he was to become the founder

of the leading optical business of the world. He
was a young man with no pretentions to fame or

fortune. On the contrary he was unknown in

this country and his financial resources were ex-

ceedingly limited. He had been attracted thither,

however, by the report that untiring labor soon

brings substantial reward in America and a laud-

able ambition therefore prompted his removal

from the fatherland to the United States.

He was born in the town of Suessen, Wurtem-
burg, on the 25th of July, 1830. His education

had been acquired there and he began his busi-

ness career in the employ of his brother, a manu-
facturer and dealer in optical instruments, and
there learned the trade which formed the ground-
work of his career. For three years after his ar-

rival in the United States he was employed in

the cities of Rochester and Buffalo as a wood
turner, but the loss of two fingers on his right

hand forced him to give up the work and he im-
mediately turned his attention to the manufacture
of optical appliances. Small was tlic beginning
and dark the outlook. There was little to en-

courage him and in fact many seemingly insur-

mountable obstacles arose from time to time but
he possessed ingenuity and his ability to plan and
to perform have constituted the foundation stone

upon which he has reared the superstructure of a
splendid success. His first enterprise was a da-

guerreotype studio, which he conducted in Rey-

nolds Arcade in the city of Rochester and tliere

in 1853 with his association with Henry Lomb as

a partner in the business was the foundation of

the present business laid. For this enterprise about

sixty dollars was furnished by Captain Lomb.
Manufacturing was carried on in a small way
but the business was so unremunerative that both

parties were frequently compelled to resort to

their former trades to eke out a modest subsis-

tence. When the war broke out the advance of

gold enabled the struggling firm to compete suc-

cessfully with the foreign manufacturers and a

decided increase in the business followed, but the

retail department was not discontinued until 1866,

when exclusive right to the use of India rubber

was secured, that material having been found very

well adapted for the manufacture of eyeglasses.

In 1864, with the growth of the business, a fac-

tory was secured at the corner of Andrews and
^Vater streets and the constantly increasing trade

demanded another removal in 1868 to a still larger

building at the corner of River and Water streets.

In 1866, at the time of the incorporation of the

Optical Instrument Company, the manufacturing

department was separated from the sales depart-

ment and Mr. Bausch becoming manufacturing

agent remained in Rochester, while a branch office

was opened on Broadway, New York, under the di-

rection of Mr. Ijomb. In the department of eye-

glass manufacture the company have been pioneers

and leaders. They have not only introduced the

rubber eye-glass but made a change in the shape

of the eye, adopting the oval instead of the round,
which was then in use. Variety in style and finish

was the next stage of improvement; an adjustable

eye-gla.ss was invented by J. J. Bausch early in

(he history of the concern and contributed much
to the growth of the business. Lens grinding was
begun in a small way in 1865 to meet emergencies
arising from the delay in receiving orders from
foreign manufacturers. Now they grind every
kind of a lens from the simple spectacle lens

to the finest the optician or scientist can demand.
]\Iachinery has been devised which performs the

work with perfect accuracy and with great rap-
idity. It is of their own construction and in many
cases patented. In 1876 the company began the
manufacture of microscopes, which up to that
time were produced almost entirely abroad. Their
instruments today are in use in the laboratories

of nearly all educational institutions of the land,

as well as all government departments. The photo-
grapic department was the next addition and here
again tliey liavc attained the high efficiency which
has always characterized their work.

In 1890 so great had l)een the progress made
that an alliance with the world renowned Carl

Zeiss Works of Jena became possible. The import-
ance of this step is lealized from the fact that Carl

Zeiss stands for supreme technical skill and scien-

tific attainment in the world of optics. As a re-

sult of this alliance the Bausch & Lomb Optical
Company came into the possession of the formulae
of the celebrated Zeiss Anastigmat lenses with the

sole right of reproducing them in America. Three
years later by virtue of this same arrangement
they began the manufacture of the Zeiss Stereo
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field glasses. The next move oC impovlance was

tlie incorporation of tlie Bauscli liOmb Saegnnil-

ler Company for the manufactuve of engineering,

astronomical and other instruments of precision.

Mr. SaegmuUer, of Washington, who has a world-

wide reputation as an instrument maker removed

his factory from Washington to . Rochester and

the entire output of tlie new company is handled

by the Bausch & Lomb Optical Company. The
gun sights and other instruments manufactured

by the company are used by the government of

our own and foreign countries where they have

proven their exceeding worth. The employes now
number about one thousand eight hundred. The
present floor space is about two hundred and twen-

ty-five thousand square feet. When the additions

and new grinding plant now in process of erec-

tion shall be completed the grand total of four

hundred and fifty thousand square feet, about ten

acres of space, will be occupied by the company.

The constant aim of the founders and promoters

of this enterprise has been to manufacture the

highest quality of optical instruments and this

resolve has made the businefs what it is today

—

the largest manufactory of optical instruments in

the world.

Mr. Bausch was married to Miss Zimmerman
and of their six children five are living : Edward,

Henry, "William, Mrs. Carl Ijomb and Mrs. Will-

iam Drescher. In politics Mr. Bausch is a- re-

publican, having stanchly suiiported the party

since he became a naturalized American citizen.

He is a member of the Rochester Club but his

interests and attention have been concentrated

more largely upon his business than upon club

interests. However, a genial disposition and up-

rightness of character have made him a favorite

with all with whom he has come in contact. The

splendid growth and development of his business

is indication of his ability, enterprise and strong

purpose and his record is one which reflects credit

upon the city of his adoption.

JUDGE JOHN M. DAVY.

Wlien the history of New York and her pub-

lic men shall have been written its pages will bear

no more illustrious name and record, no more

distinguished career than that of Judge John M.

Davy. If "biography is the home aspect of his-

tory," as Wilmott has expressed it, it is certainly

within tlie province of true history to commemor-

ate and perpetuate tlie lives of those men whose

oiireers liavo been of signal uspfulncss and honor

to tbe state, and in this connection it is not only,

compatible but absolutely imperative that mention

bo made of Judge Davy, one of the most able and
learned menibcrs of the New York bar, who for

seventeen years served on tbe supreme court bench.

Though born across the border, he is distinctive-

Iv American in his thoughts, his purposes and
bis loves. He was born in Ottawa, Ontario, June
39, 1835, and in his infancy was brought by his

parents to Monroe county. He is of English and
Irish descent and his boyhood youth and early man-
hood were passed in Mendon and Henrietta until

he commenced the practice of law, when he re-

moved to Rochester, seeking the broader field of

labor offered by the courts of this city. He had
almost completed his preliminary reading when, in

1862, he assisted in raising Company G of the

One Hundred and Eighth Regiment of New York

State Volunteers, and was appointed captain of

the company by the recruiting committee of Mon-

roe county, which was composed of Dr. Anderson,

Judge Selden and others. L. B. Yale, who was

at the same time appointed first lieutenant, ob-

jected to taking a subordinate position, whereupon

Mr. Davy offered to exchange places with him,

saying that he bad enlisted through patriotic mo-

tives," and, if necessary, he was willing to enlist

as a private. This was truly indicative of the

character of the man who had ever placed his

country's good before personal aggrandizement.

The offer of the exchange was accepted, and in

August, 1862, Mr. Davy was commissioned by

Governor Morgan as first lieutenant. With the

regiment he went to the front and was in active

service until the winter of 1863, when he was ta-

ken ill witli typhoid fever and the attack left his

health and strength seriously impaired, so that

he was no longer able for field service. Accord-

ingly he was honorably discharged in the spring

of 1863.

After recovering his health Judge Davy re-

sumed the study of law in the office of Strong,

Palmer & Mumford, and was admitted to the bar

that year in the same class with Justice William

H. Adams, of Canandaigua, New York. Opening

an office in Rochester, Mr. Davy at once began

practice and his clientage rapidly increased, as

in his law work be gave evidence of his ability

to handle with masterly skill the intricate prob-

lems involved in litigation. He was soon recog-

nized as a leader among the younger members of

the Rochester bar. In 1868 he received the repub-

lican nomination for tbe office of district attorney

of Monroe county, and during his term in that

position he handled the large business of the office

in a most conscientious and able manner. Declin-

ing a second nomination, he retired from office in

1871 with a most creditable record and took up

the duties of a constantly increasing private prac-

tice.
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From time to time lie nas been called from
his private business interests to aid in conducting
public business. Entirely unsolicited and with-

out his knowledge there came to him from Presi-

dent Grant, in 1872, the appointment to the of-

fice of collector of customs for the port of Gene-
see, and therein he served until it became neces-

sary for him to resign in order to enter upon the

duties of congressman, having bsen elected to rep-

resent his district in the legislative councils of

the nation. While in congress Judge Davy was
a member of the committee on railways and canals,

also the committee appointed to investigate the

police commission of the District of Columbia.

He voted for the electoral commission bill. He
made but few speeches, but was an active and in-

fluential member. His speech against congress

granting subsidies to railroads was a wise and

statesmanlike effort. Studying all his points with

care and with a thorough grasp of his subject, he

showed that such means were in direct contro-

version to the fundamental law of the land, and an

encroachment upon the rights reserved to the

states. In the matter of the Geneva award bill,

pertaining to the adjustment of the Alabama

claims, he showed an equally nice sense of justice

and a solicitude for the preservation of the nation-

al honor in an exact performance of tlie con-

ditions expressed by the committee of arbitration

in the distribution of the funds awarded. His

whole congressional record showed a thorough

knowledge of constitutional and common law, as

well as practical and sound common sense concern-

ing every public question tliat claimed his at-

tention and consideration.

At the close of his congressional career Judge

Davy devoted himself exclusively to the work of

his profession. He was attorney for the East

Side Sayings Bank for fourteen years and was also

attorney for a syndicate of New York capitalists

in the Genesee Valley Canal Railroad litigations, in

which his efforts were successful. He was like-

wise attorney for the West Shore Railroad Com-
pany and the North River Construction Company
in the counties of Cayuga, Seneca, Wayne, Monroe
and Genesee. He was also attorney for the Roch-

ester & Lake Ontario Railway Company. While an

active practitioner at the bar he argued many
cases and lost but few. No one better knows the

necessity for thorough preparation and no one has

more industriously prepared his cases than he. His
handling of his case was always full, compre-
hensive, and accurate; his analysis of the fact clear

and exhaustive; he saw without effort the relation

and dependence of the facts and so grouped them
as to enable him to throw their combined force

upon the point they tended to prove. His briefs

always showed wide research, careful thought and
the best and strongest reasons which could be

urged for his contention, presented in cogent and
logical form and illustrated by a style unusually

lucid and clear.

High professional honors came to Judge Davy
in his election in the fall of 1888 as justice of

the supreme court for the seveni-n judicial dis-

trict. He was unanimously nominated by the re-

publican party and later by the democratic party,

while the prohibition party placed no candidate in

the field. Ue received the lai'gcst vote ever cast

for a justice of the supi'omc court in the district

and after serving i'ourlocu years lie was again nom-

inated by acchiiuation l)y both parties and served

for three years, at wliich time he retired, having

reached the age limit of seventy years, as imposed

by the laws of the state. His opinions while on the

bench showed great research, industry and care

and challenged the approval and commended
themselves to the bcncli and bar. He frequently

held court in the city of New York during
his judicial career and rendered decisions in many
very important cases. He is a member of the

State Bar Association and for one term served as

its vice president. At the conclusion of his last

term of court in the city of New York, when the

business of the court was entle;l, Attorney Gen-

eral Mayer made a speech complimenting him
upon his record on the bcncli and voicing the re-

gret of the legal fraternity of the state that his

term of office was about to expire. District At-

torney Jerome and otliQr well known lawyers took

occasion to express liighly complimentary appre-

ciation of the career of the Rochester jurist. Wlien

he retired from the bench a banquet was hold

in his honor and the guests liad mucli to say con-

cerning his [irofofsional and judicial career. Per-

luips no bolter cslimalc of his official service can

be given than in inserlinu; the addresses delivered

at a special term of the supreme court held in

Rochester, December 30, 1905, when the bar took

occasion to give public expiession to the high

regard in which Judge Davy is uniformly held.

Mr. J. P. Varnum said : "This being the last

day of your Honor's official term as justice of

the supreme court of this state, before you take

final leave of the bench on which you have had a

seat for the last seventeen years, and where you
have so well, so faithfully and so conscientiously

discharged the duties of your liigh office, the mem-
bers of the bar of this county. desire to mark tlie

day by some open and jiuhlic expression of the
feelings and sentiments which they entertain to-

ward you, both as judge and as man, and for

that purpose Mr. Charles M. Williams has been
requested to act as our spokesman, whom I now
have the pleasure of introducing."

Mr. Charles M. A¥illiams said: "If your Honor
please, seventeen years of judicial faithful serv-

ice deserves and demands respect and recogni-
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tion. We come today to mingle expressions of

congratulation and regret; congratulation, that you
liave attained three score years and ten in an
active and useful life, conspicuous in the state,

full of honor and of years; regret, that the judi-

cial term for which you were elected is abbre-

viated by the limitations of the constitution of

this state, which compels you to retire from the

bench while in the full vigor of your faculties,

with judgment ripened by experience, and with in-

tegrity and uprightness on the bench tested by

years of service.

"You bear your youth as yon Scotch firs.

Whose gaunt line our horizon dims.

While twilight all the lowland blurs.

Hold sunset in their ruddy stems.

"While you hold this imddy glow of sunset, we
recall that this day terminates twenty-five years

of service to the people, to the state, and to the

nation, as district attorney, as member of con-

gress, and as a justice of the supreme court.

Twenty-five years is a long period for personal

character and iniluence to be woven with the his-

tory of a poimlous, a prosperous and a growing

community. You began your judicial service in

the old courthouse, you end it in the new
;
you

tried, if we recall aright, the last case tried by

jury in that old courtroom, where the lienignant

faces of the pioneers looked down upon you from

the framed portraits, and you end it today, when
a generation of younger lawyers look uj) to you

and feel the impress and the inspiration of th^'t

integrity and uprightness which is hold by the

standards of tradition of an .honoralile and uoblo

profession. Is it strange that memory shall come
among us and open her box of brilliant colors of

mellow recollection, and, placing them upon the

tinted palette, take her brush and sketch upon

the walls of this new temple of justice those in-

visible but yet imperishable forms and features

who were your contemporaries when you first

came to the bench? Of that brilliant company
of justices of the supreme court, you, with one

exception, are the only survivor. Judge Bradley,

beloved, retired like you by reason of the limita-

tion prescribed by the constitution, age. ^Nfacom-

ber, Rumscy, Adams, have ];assed away, and

Dwight, too, to that Higher Life, to study with

the great Lawgiver face to face and receive in-

spiration from that fountain whore absolute jus-

tice and right eternal prevail.

"Of the company of the bar who welcomed you

to the bench you miss today, as you recall those

personages. Angle and T?acnn, Cogswell and Dau-
forth, Stull and Van Voorhis and Yeoman, who
prepared the way for tlie junior profession of the

bar with their intelligence and pointed the way
to the higher attainments and to the wise counsel

of the exalted profession. This is neither time nor
place to attempt an eulogy or an analysis of your
judicial work. The records of this court, the
records of this county and of the counties in this
judicial district have recorded your labors, and
the official reports of cases have printed the opin-
ions which you have rendered and the weight with
which they have been judged by higher tribunals
of the state.

"liut we would bring you today the rose-garland
of gracious memory and of friendly appreciation.
You leave the judicial ermine without spot or
wrinkle, with no soil of meanness or touch of
criticism upon it. Your courtesy, your kindness,
your affability, your approachability, were amon

'

those thoughtful but beneficent offices which bind
bar and bench together, and that come to us with
the fragrance of the wind blown over sweet-

scented flowers. You have held high the stand-

ards, the ethics and the morals of the profession.

To you, the younger, as well as the older, mem-
bers of the bar may look for an example of the

just and the upright judge, with resolution and
courage, yet withal tempered with the gentleness

of sympathy and the kindliness of mercy. We
bid you joy and wish you many years of happy
and of prosperous activity. While we wish you
'an age serene and bright, and lovely as a Lap-
land night,' yet we welcome you to a life of ac-

tive service at the bar.

"Age has its opportunity no less than youth.

Though in another dress.

And when the twilight fades away
The sky is filled with stars, unseen by day.

"And here, as we make our closing word and
bid you adieii as you leave the bench, it is not

'Hail and farewell,' but the bar opens its ranks,

and, as you retire from the bench, present arms,

give salutation, and say 'Hail and welcome.'"

To which Justice Davy inade the following re-

ply: "Mr. President and Gentlemen of the Mon-
roe County Bar: T greatly appreciate the mani-

festation of kindly feeling towards me personally

and the exalted office of justice of the supreme

court, which I have held for seventeen years. It

is vei'y embarrassing to listen to one's own com-

mendations and it is more embarrassing to reply

to then). UHicn I entered upon my judicial career

the members of the supreme court of the seventh

judicial district were Justices Smith and Adapaa

of Canandaigua, Macomber of Rochester, Dwight

of Auburn, Rumsey of Bath, and Bradley of Corn-

ing, all of whom were men of great learning and

ability, who graced the bench and were a credit

and honor lo the judiciary of the state. They

have all gone to their final resting place except

Bradley, who, at the age of four score years, is
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living a quiet and happy life in the city of Corn-
ing, surrounded by hosts of friends, and is honored
and respected throughout the state. I am reminded
also that that able and distinguished jurist. Judge
Danforth, whom we all honored and esteemed so

highly, has died since I went upon the bench.
During that period the Monroe county bar has
lost some of its ablest lawyers: Yeoman, Bacon,
Stull, Danforth, Cogswell and Van Voorhis were
great lawyers and stood high in the legal pro-

fession. No man can lay aside his judicial robes

and the trust which he has held in the hearts of a

gracious and confiding people for many years

and feel that at all times he has met in the best

possible way the requirements of that high judi-

cial office.

"Seventeen years ago I received the high honor
of having the unanimous nomination of the re-

publican and democratic parties, and was elected

without opposition. I went upon the bench un-

trammeled, and with a firm determination to

honestly do my duty, and when fourteen years

had rolled around it was more than gratifying to

me to again receive the unanimous endorsement
of both parties. It is very pleasing to receive this

public acknowledgment from the members of the

bar of the city of Rochester. In receiving your
approbation on this occasion it is appropriate

that I shall also make my acknowledgments to

you for I can say that if I have given satisfaction

it has been largely owing to the learning and
assistance of the bar. The character, ability and
standing of the judiciary must in the future, as

in the past, depend largely upon the character

and influence of the members of the bar from
which the judges are selected, and tiie best evi-

dence of that ability will always be found in the

respect with which the lawyers receive the legal

conclusions of the judges. I think I voice the
sentiment of the members of the bar when I say
that the judges of the supreme court of this great

state, with few exceptions, have been men of un-
stained reputation for personal integrity, and men
of strict impartiality, who have always enjoyed
the implicit confidence and respect of the com-
munity. Society cannot be maintained without
tribunals to hear and determine controversies
arising between individuals. The importance,
therefore, of a capable and upright judiciary can-
not be overestimated. The judicial tribunals are
indispensable to the safety and well being of the
people, which fact is attested by the extensive

powers which are entrusted to them, and as long
as judges are capable, conscientious and inde-
pendent in the discharge of their official duties,

they will command respect and their decisions be
upheld. Judges take a solemn obligation to ad-
minister equal and exact justice alike to the rich
and the poor, and however able and rich in learn-

ing they may be, they will fail in the discharge of

this high duty if not endowed with honesty, cour-

age and a sense of right. It avails nothing if a

judge is calm, patient and able to see the right, if

he is moved by popular clamor or prejudice.

"It has been frequently said that owing to the

inflexibility of the law, courts are sometimes pre-

vented from administering justice between liti-

gants. So far as my experience extends, rarely is

this the case. If with capable counsel to aid the

court injustice triumphs over riglit, the judge and
not the law should bear the reproach. While we
recognize the binding force of the rules of law

which have stood the test of reason and experience,

both in this and other countries, there is a grow-
ing disposition on the part of our judges against

sacrificing justice to technical rules of law, and
with advancing intelligence we need have no fear

that the judges coming after us will be less, in-

clined to see substantial justice administered in

the trial of causes.
^

"There are many who denounce our system of

trial by jury. During my judicial experiences the

instances are few where- 1 have had reason to be
dissatisfied with their verdicts. I regard the jury
system an essential branch and part of the free

institutions of our country. It is a cherished tra-

dition, its roots strike down deep into the ex-
perience, the life and the heart of the people. In
criminal cases there is no substitute for the jury
that would be acceptable to the profession and the
people. If judges would do their duty jurors
would do theirs. Brief, pointed instructions, call-

ing attention to the points at issue, will generally,
so far as I have observed, be followed by satis-

factory verdicts.

"Now let me say a word or two to the younger
members of the bar, for whom I have always,had
the warmest and kindest affection. Let no young
man choosing the. law for a calling yield to the
popular belief that fidelity and honesty are not
compatible with the practice of law. My advice
to the young man choosing the law for a calling
is, to be honest at all events. If you cannot be
an honest lawyer, resolve to be honest without
being a lawyer. Personal character is one of the
elements which go to determine the just rank of
any member of the legal profession. You must
not be only honest, but you must be industrious;
labor and honesty are absolutely essential to buc-
eees in the legal profession. I am one of those
who do not believe that there is any decline in
professional integrity or in the loyalty of the at-
torney to his client. I believe that the lawyer's
mfluence is widening rather than lessening, and
that never before since the legal profession became
a distinct avocation has that influence upon the
affairs of daily life been more direct and far reach-
ing than at the present time. The lawyer haa
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come to be the silent partner in the great mer-
cantile establishments and manufacturing indus-

tries of the countiy; he moulds and shapes the

management of our great corporations; his influ-

ence is felt in every avenue of business and legis-

lative life; he cannot, if he woiild, escape these

large responsibilities which pertain to the legal

profession. We are living in a period of intense

activity and social disorder. The great over-

whelming problems of ca))ital and labor, the rela-

tions of the corporate interests of the country to

the people, these are problems of vital moment to

every thoughtful man in every calling, and none
more so than the legal profession, and especially

the younger members of the bar. They are ques-

tions, not of the day, but for all time, and upon
their wise solution depends in a large degree the

future stability and safety of the republic. When
I turn to the great judges whose names are woven
into the warp and woof of the common law, and
read the story of Coke and Hale and Kent and
Story, or when I recall the great advocates whose
geniuses have forever enriched the traditions of

o\ir profession, Erskinc and Brougham in the

mother country, our own Webster, Clioate, Car-

penter, Benjamin, O'Connor and Bvarts, I an^ con-

tent that the record may be made up and the

balance struck between the profession of the law
and other avocations and I dare say for the pro-

fession, not only here, but everywhere, that it

may safely challenge comparison in its methods
with all other professions in the world. I feel

justly proud of the members of the Monroe
county bar; it is an intelligent and accomplished

bar and stands high all over the state; a large

majority of iis members are in the prime of life,

and their future is full of hope and promise.

They look to the rising sun. As for me, my work
of life is nearly finished. I must now retire from
judicial service and be content with the glory of

the setting sun and the evening shadows, but

during the remainder of my days I shall cherish

with tlae warmest affection the memories of the

lawyers of the Monroe county bar.

"With renewed thanks for the honors I have

received at your hands and with a happy New
Year greeting to each and every one of you, as

justice of the supreme court I now bid you fare-

well."

Judge Davy lias l)ocn called upon (o address the

public on many momentous occasions. At the

time of the dedication of tlie soldiers' monument
at Gettysburg on the 4th and 5th of September,

1888, to the memory of those of the One Hundred

and Eighth Regiment of New York Volunteers

who offered up their lives on the altar of our

country, Judge Davy was chosen as orator. His

address has been preserved in substantial form

and is an eloquent tribute to the noble deeds and

self-sacrifice of the orave soldiers in whose honor
he spoke.

Judge and Mrs. Davy reside at No. 20 Buck-
ingham street, Rochester, and his residence in the
city dates from 1860. Mrs. Davy was the daugh-
ter of James Hodges, a wealthy farmer of the town
of Henrietta, Monroe county, where she was
reared. She bore the maiden name of Elizabeth
S. Hodges and on the 22d of September, 1869,
gave her hand in marriage to John M. Davy.
They have three sons. Cassius C, who succeeded
his father as attorney for the East Side Savings
Bank, married Miss Hattie Mertie, of Oneida,
who died several years ago. Burton H., who wed-
ded Miss Minnie Aikenhead, of Rochester, by
whom he has two children, Elizabeth S. and James,
was elected sheriff of Monroe county when only
twenty-six years of age, being the youngest to fill

that position in the county. He is now secretary

and treasurer of the East Side Savings Bank of
Rochester. James R. Davy, the youngest son, is

now practicing law with his father, for upon his

retirement from the bench Judge Davy resumed
the active work of tlic profession.

He and his wife are members of the Central

Presbyterian church, in which he is serving as an
elder. He is also a Knight Templar and thirty-

second-degree Mason and belongs to Powers post,

G. A. R., and to the Military Order of the Loyal
Legion. He is likewise a member of the Genesee

Valley Club. No man was ever more respected

and no man ever more fully enjoyed the confidence

of tlie people or more richly deserved the esteem
in which he was held than does Judge Davy. The
]ieop]e of tlic state, recognizing his merit, have re-

joiced in his advancement and in the honors to

which he has attained. A gracious presence, a

charming personality, profound legal' wisdom,
purity of public and private life and the quiet

dignity of an ideal follower of his calling, combine
to make him one of the most distinguished and
honored residents of the Empire state.

A. COLE CHENEY.

A. Cole Cheney, living retired in Rochester, is

a native of Vermont, and on coming to the Em-
pire state settled in Fulton, Oswego county. He
was at that time seven years of age. He began
practicing telegraphy when only a little lad of ten

years and worked on, as opportunity offered, un-

til he gained a proficiency that secured for him the

position of telegraph operator in Fulton. He con-

tinued in the business there for a few years and
afterward was transferred to Buffalo, where he re-

mained in 1850 and 1851. In 1853 he came to

Rochester, where he engaged in telegraphing for
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thirty years, during which time he remained in

one room of the Arcade building. He became an

expert operator, his ability being widely recog-

nized by the fact of his long retention in the serv-

ice in one position. He possessed the deftness of

touch, the alertness and the accuracy which al-

ways characterizes the proficient operator and he

had the entire tinist and approval of the com-

pany which he served. He retired from the busi-

ness in 1882 and since that time has given his

supervision to grape-raising interests on Canan-

daigua lake, which ho has supoi'vised for eigiit

years and from which he derives a gratifying in-

come.

Mr. Cheney was man-ied in 1856 to Miss Fan-

nie H. Husbands, a daughter of the Hon. J. D.

Husbands, a prominent attorney of Rochester, wlio

died in this city in 1892. Unto Mr. and Mrs.

Cheney have been born two daughters and a son

;

Mrs. Carrie Fowler and Mrs. George M. BU-
wood, both of whom are residents of Rochester;

and George H., who is with the Westinghouse

Electric Company at Pittsburg, Pennsylvania.

They now have a great-grandchild. On the 16th

of November, 1906, Mr. and Mrs. Cheney cele-

brated their golden wedding, on which occasion

they received over three hundred callers. They
were also the recipients of many beautiful gifts

and more than two hundred IcUcrs from their

friends and well wishers who could not be m
attendance on that interesting occasion. They
had traveled life's journey happily together as

man and wife for a half century, sharing with

each other in the joys and sorrows, the adversity

and prosperity which checker the careers of all,

their mutual love and confidence increasing as the

years went by. Mr. Cheney is a republican in

politics and feels the interest of the public-

spirited citizen in matters relating to the general

welfare. His life has been one of continuous
activity and his rest is well merited. He is now
pleasantly situated at No. 18 Avenue B, Vick
Park, after a residence of fifty-five years in this

city.

FREEMAN CLARKE.

Freeman Clarke, -whose activities were of such
extent and importance as to leave the impress of
his individuality upon the liistory of the state,

was during his life time numbered among the
most prominent and honored residents of Roch-
ester and since his death his memory has been
cherished as one of the founders of the city's
greatness, his labors contributing also in substan-
tial measure to the dovelopTnont of the state.

With wonderful foresight he scorned to recognize

the value of a business situation or possibility and

he wrought along lines of great good, but it was

not alone in the field of business and finance that

his name became known. Tie was recognized as

one of tlic political leaders of the state and did

much toward molding public thought and action

in the middle of the nineteenth- century. At all

times he was actuated by high ideals of citizenship

and of patriotism and his worth was recognized

by the most distinguished political leaders of the

land.

It was on (he 2ad of March, 1809, that Free-

man Clarke entered upon his life record in Troy,

New York, ins parents being Isaac and Eliza-

beth Clarke. He was a descendant of some of the

earliest Puritan settlers of New England. One
member of the family, John Clark, of Ipswich,

Massachusetts, was a founder of Norwich, Con-
necticut, where he removed in 1694. John Clark

had six cliildren. One of these, Isaac Clark, mar-
ried Miriam Tracy, a granddaughter of Lieuten-

ant Thomas Tracy, of Salem, 1637, and through
him is of Royal descent. Isaac Clark's second
son, Oliver, born in 1714, married Elizabeth Free-

man, a descendant of John Freeman, proprietor

of Sudbury, Massachusetts, 1635, and moved to

what was then the wilderness of western Massa-
chusetts settling near Westfield. Of his chil-

dren, Zephaniah, born in 1752, married Zulima
Cooley, a descendant of Benjamin Cooley, who
settled in Springfield, Massachusetts, in 1644.
Zephaniah Clark removed with his family from
Westfield to Williamstown, Massachusetts, and
later to Poestenkill, New York, where he died,

leaving a numerous family, the eldest of whom,
Isaac Clarke, born in 1779, married Elizabeth

Brown, and was the father of Freeman Clarke,

bom March 33, 1809. In 1837, when about nine-
teen years of age, Freeman Clarke became a resi-

dent of Albion, Orleans county. New York, where
he engaged in mercantile and manufacturing pur-
suits. Even in early manhood he displayed re-

markable prescience that enabled him to deter-

mine with accuracy the value of a business situa-

tion and to utilize his opportunities to the beet ad-

vantage, so that whatever he undertook proved
successful. He began operating in the field of

finance in 1837, when elected cashier of the Bank
of Orleans.

In 1845 Mr. Clarke arrived in Rochester and
from that time until his death figured prominently
in financial circles here. He organized and be-

came president of the Rochester Bank, was chosen
trustee and treasurer of the Monroe County Sav-
ings Bank and in 1857 was instrumental in or-

ganizing the Monroe County Bank, of which he
became president and which at a later date was
converted into the Clarke National Bank. His
judgment was so sound, liis enterprise so marked,
that his co-operation was sought for the develop-
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ment and furtherance of various financial and
other business interests. He became not unknown
in connection with railroad operation and was

one of the first directors of the Rochester, Lock-

port & Niagara Railroad, now the Niagara Falls

branch of the New York Central. At different

times he was president and director of the Genesee

Valley Railroad, was treasurer and director of the

House Telegraph Company and a director of the

Western Union Telegraph Company. As his op-

erations extended he became recognized in New
York city as one whose labors would prove a

valued element in financial circles and he was

chosen a trustee and subsequently the vice presi-

dent of the Union Trust Company of New York,

also one of the first directors of the Fourth Na-

tional Bank of New York and one of the organ-

izers and a director of the Metropolitan Trust

Company of New York.

On the 38th of May, 1833, Freeman Clarke

was married to Henrietta J. Ward, who was the

youngest daughter of Dr. Levi Ward. She was

born at Burgen, New York, October 2, 1814, and

died at Rochester, October 30, 1890, while the

death of Mr. Clarke occurred in Rochester, June

24, 1887. They became the parents of ten chil-

dren, as follows: Levi Ward, who was born Aug-

ust 10, 1834, at Albion, New York, and died July

S8, 1894, at Rochester; Elizabeth Jane, who was

born at Albion, September 6, 1836, and died

y\.pril 5, 1854, at Canandaigua, New York; Free-

man De Witt, born in Albion, December 19, 1838,

and died May 27, 1889, at Rocliestcr; Tlonry Ros-

well, bom June 1, 1841, at Albion, and died in

Rochester. April 29, 1848; George Hurt, who was

born March 15, 1843, in Albion; Francis K., who

was born in Rochester, May 11, 1846, and passed

away there on the 30th of April, 1848; Minnie

Henrietta, who was born in Rochester, July 11,

1848 ; Caroline Susan, who was born in Rochester,

December 5, 1850 ; Edward Smith, who was born

December 25, 1853, in Rochester; and Isaac Sher-

man, who was likewise born in Rochester, January

21, 1856.

For more than a half century the parents trav-

eled life's journey together. In the interim were

many years of intense and well directed activity

and ])articu]arly was Mr. Clarke known in con-

nection with tiie latter days of the whig party

and the earlier years of the republican party. In

1850 he was vice president of the whig state con-

vention and acted as its chief presiding officer.

In 1852 he was a delegate to the whig national

convention and two years later was chosen vice

president of the first republican convention of the

state of New York. In 1862 he was elected a

representative from New Yorlc to the thirty-eighth

congress, serving on the committees on manufac-

tures and pensions. In 1865 he received from

President Lincoln appointment to the position of

comptroller of currency and during his incum-
bency some of the most important financial legis-

lation of war times was enacted, including the

organization oC the national banks. In 1867 he
was a member of the constitutional convention

and in 1870 was elected a representative to the

forty-second congress, where he did much import-

ant constructive work in committee rooms. He
served as a member of the committee on foreign

affairs and was ever a close and discriminating

student of the political situation and its possi-

bilities, bringing to bear in his public service the

same spirit of insight and of mastery that char-

acterized him in his business life. He served

on the commission that had the Central Railroad

tracks elevated in Rochester and he was a trustee

of the University of Rochester. Local advance-

ment and national progress were both causes dear

to his heart and he had no sympathy with that

spirit which sees in a public office opportunity for

self-advancement or aggrandizement. He held to

high ideals of citizenship and regarded a public

office as a public trust. He was a statesman in

his broad knowledge of affairs and a patriot in his

devotion to the general good. Living in Roches-

ter for more than forty years during the middle

of the nineteenth century, which by reason of the

war constituted a formative period in every state

in the Union because of the new questions which

came up for settlement, he stood among the lead-

ers who looked beyond the exigencies of the mo-

ment to the needs and the possibilities of the fu-

ture and labored not alone for the present genera-

tion. His business life, too, was one of intense

and unwearied industry, bringing him into close

touch with financial leaders of the Empire state,

who recognized him as a peer.

COLONEL NATHANIEL THOMPSON.

Colonel Nathaniel Thompson, who has been

closely connected with 'the military, political and

business history of Rochester, is one of its oldest

citizens in years and also in connection with the

interests of the city. His birth occurred in Johns-

town, New York, in 1830, and since 1835 he has

lived in Rochester, being brought to this city by

his parents, Mr. and Mrs. John Thompson, at a

time when there was a population of only about

one thousand. The father built a home on East

Main street near where Colonel Thompson now re-

sides. It was the first dwelling on this street, and

beyond this point the street did not extend. There

was a forest of various Icinds of timber, including

chestnut trees, and Colonel Thompson frequently

gathered chestnuts in a district that is now built

up with substantial business blocks and beautiful
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residences. The father owned large tracts of land

upon which Rochester now stands and was a lead-

ing and influential resident of the city at that

enrl}' day. In assodatiou with liis son Nalhnniol

he carried on a boat-building business for about

twenty-five years and he figured in connection with

other prominent interests of the community. He
acted as' commissioner of Mount Hope cemetery

from 1848 until 1850, during the gi'eat cholera

epidemic, and at all times he gave his co-operation

to many movements for tlio public good, M'tor

a residence of forty-iive years in liochester, his

death occurred on tiie DOUi of .laiiuary, 1870, al

which time he was seventy years of age. In the

family were three sons and two daughters, but

Colonel Thompson is the only one now living.

The others were George H., William, Mrs. Mary B.

Ellison and Mrs. Maria Copeland of Rochester.

The first named was for many years a contractor

of this city and was commissioner of Mount Hope
cemetery from 1879 until 1884, while in 1872 he

was a member of the board of public works. In

the line of his business he was closely associated

with the improvement and development of the city.

He built the river bridge at this place, also the

Monroe County bank building, the Central rail-

road shop and all of the track between Rochester

and UnlValo along the lino of the I'oiul. He also

had the contract of Kimball's tobacco factory, the

Elwood block, Smith & Perkins' store building,

the roundhouses in East Rochester and many other

substantial structures of the city. In fact he was
the most prominent contractor of Rochester dur-

ing his time. He was for some years in partner-

ship with Jerry S. Copeland, and it was this firm

that built the river bridge, a notable structure on

account of the engineering skill manifest.

Following his association with his father in the

boat-building business, Colonel Thompson was col-

lector of canal tolls for six years and was deputy

collector for tlie port of Genesee under James H.
Kelly, Thomas Parsons and Colonel William N.
Emerson. Later he was in the real-estate business

in connection with Henry L. Fish for teji years,

but retired about 1890. He was esteemed in busi-

ness circles as a man of energy, reliability and
executive force, qualities which were manifest as

well in the discharge of his official duties.

Colonel Thompson was, moreover, prominently

and widely known in connection with the military

history of the city. He joined tlie Rochester Union
Grays in June, 1840, and was, a member of tluxt

organization until 18G0. He was the fourth captain

of his company and held every office in the corps

save that of corporal. His company was attached

to the Fifty-fourth Regiment of the New York
National Guard. In 1853 he was commissioned
first lieutenant by Governor Seymour; captain,

March 10, 1857, by Governor King; major, in

1864, by Governor Morgan, who re-appointed him

in 1864; was appointed colonel in 1875 by John A.

Dix; was commissioned lieutenant of the seventh

division by Governor S. J. Tilden in 1875; and re-

iipiioinlwl by (lovornoi- A. B. Coriioll in IH80. The

Rochester Union Grays was organized in 1838 and

today there are but "three or four ot the charter

members living. On the 3d of December, 1855,

they organized a Veteran Corps. Colonel Thompson

continued his connection with the State Militia

until 1865, thus making an excepiionally long

record of military sei'vice.

In 18-16 he was united in marriage to Miss

Julia A. Harvey, of [{ochesloi', a daughlor of Ricii-

ard Harvey, an early settler here. Tiiey long

traveled life's journey together, but were separated

by the death of the wife in June, 1905. Of their

three children James Jl., the second, died in 1876.

The dauglitei-s are Mrs. Sarah L. Curtis and Mrs.

Julia L. Newton. The former is the wife of

Eugene T., Curtis at the Union office in this city,

and the latter is the wife of Charles L. Newton,

who is manager for the Bell Telephone Company
in Rochester. The Colonel has two grandchildren,

Gurney Thompson Curtis and Joseph Curtis, and

also two great grandchildren, Edwai'd Peck Curtis

and Helen Curtis, the children of Gurney T. Cur-

tis.

Colonel Tliompson exorcises liis right of fran-

chise jn support of the democracv and cast liis first

presidential ballot for James K. Polk. He was over-

seer of the poor in Rochester during 1882 and
1 883 and in all of the offices which he has held he
has discharged his duties with marked capability

and with conscientious regard for the obligations

that devolve upon him. In 1846 he built the home
which he now occupies and which is still one of

Hie good residences on East Main street. At that

tjme he paid five hundred dollars for the lot. Ho
has been offered twenty-five thousand dollars for

it but has refused to sell at that price. Colonel

Thompson is a man of eighty-seven years, but looks

more like a man of sixty. He walks erect, his eye

is bright and his mind is as clear as that of most
men of fortv or fifty years. He is justly numbered
among the honored pioneers and leading citizens

of Rochester, where he has now lived for eighty-

two years. His is an honorable record of a con-

scientious man, who by his upright life has won
the confidence of all with whom he has come in

contact, .filthoiigh the snows of many winters

have whitened his hair, he has the vigor of a much
younger man, and in spirit and interests seems yet

in his prime. Old age is not necessarily a synonym
C'f weakness or inactivity. It need not suggest as

a matter of course want of occupation or helpless-

ness. There is an old age that is a benediction to

all that comes in contact with it, that gives out of

its rich stores of learning and experience and grows

stronger intellectually and spiritually as the years

pass. Such is the life of Colonel Thompson—an
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encourageinent to his nssociates and an example
well worthy of emulation to the young. Rcrh^s
no resident of the city has more intimate knowl-

edge from personal experience, of its history, his

memory forming a connecting link between the

primitive past and the progressive present.

CIIAIINCKV I'Oh'TKW.

Chfuincey rorter is now practically livini; re-

tired ni a pleasant homo one mile north of Hud-
son street, Irondequoit, in Irondeqiioit township,

which has been his place of residence since 1882.

Mr. Porter is a native son of Monroe county,

his birth having occurred near Riga, in 1858, a

son of AVilliam I[. and rhoche (Howard) Por-

ter, both of whom were natives of England. The
father engaged in business as a farmer and
gardener throughout his entire business career,

being located in various sections of the county,

first in Riga, later in Irondequoit and then in

Gates, where his death occurred March 15, 1907,

while his widow still survives and yet makes her

home in the latter place. The father gave his

political allegiance to the democratic party and
was well known throughout the county as a man
of reliability and genuine worth. His family

numbered seven children, of whom the subject of

this review is the eldest. The others are: Mrs.

Sarah Rayten, Mrs. Mary Daggs, Charles and
Airs. Haltie Hops, all of Avhoin reside in Trondn-

(|uoit; Alfred, a rosidciit of (latiw; and Mrs.

Phoebe Yarker, who makes her home in Greece

township.

Chauncey Porter accompanied his parents on
their removal from Riga to Irondequoit and in

the latter place acquired his education in the

common schools. Upon startiuf' out in life for

himself Jie engaged in gardening, which he has

followed throughout his active career. In 1882

he juirchased his present place of fifteen acres,

situated one mile north of Rochester, in Ironde-

quoit townshiji. AVhen it came into his posses-

sion there were no improvements hut he erected a

good residence, bams and other buildings for car-

rying (m his work, these including six hothouses,

four of which are one liundrcd and twelve feet

long, while two are twenty feet wide and one

litindred and twenty feet in length. He also has

two hundred hotbed frames. The place is well

equipped for carrying on a business of this char-

acter and it is one of the best improved and most

attractive country homes in Monroe county. Al-

though Mr. Porter still makes his home on his

farm he is now i>ra<'tirally living rotinvl, leaving

Ihe a(;tual work to his sou and a hrothcr-iii-law.

Mr. Porter chose as a companion and help-

mate for the journey of life Miss Susie B. Fisher,

of I'arma, a daughter of Mr. and Mrs. John
Fisher. The father is now deceased but the

mother resides in Irondequoit. The marriage of

Mr. and Mrs. Porter has been blessed with a son
and daughter : Charles F., a young man of twenty-
two years, who was educated in the public schools

of Rochester and the Rochester Business Institute,

and is now managing his father's business inter-

ests; and Aura M., who at the age of (iftcen years

is a stiulcut in the I'^-ast high school of Uochester.

J^'ollowing in his father's political footsteps Mr.
Porter supports the men and measures of the

democratic party and has taken a deep and active

interest in local political affairs. His worth and
ability having been acknowledged by his fellow

townsmen,- he has for three terms served as excise

commissioner and for nine years acted as justice

of the peace. In the fall of 190G he was elected

supervisor and is the present incumbent in that

position. His fraternal relations are with the

Maccabees and the Grange, the hall of the latter

being located near the home of our subject. Mr.
Jorter is a man of intelligence and excellent busi-

ness ability, and the success which he today enjoys

is due entirely to his own labors and determina-

tion, for through his own economy and well di-

rected labors he has accumulated the competence
that now enables him to lay aside the more ardu-

ous duties of a business life. He is today num-
bered among the substantial citizens of this com-
munity, where he is held in high regard and
esteem.

JAMES MANN.

James Mann is actively connected with a pro-

fession which has important bearing upon the

progress and stable prosperity of any section or

community and one which has long been con-

sidered as conserving the public welfare by fur-

thering the ends of justice and maintaining indi-

vidual rights. James Mann, of the firm of Mat-
son & Mann, attorneys at law of Brockport, was
born in this village, June 27, 1878. His parents

are Dr. William B. and Sophronia E. (Clark)

Mann, both natives of Orleans county, New York.

James Mann pursued his early education in the

public schools and later was graduated from the

Brockport State Normal School. He then took

up the study .of law with Willis A. Matson, now
assistant district attorney. So carefully did he

pursue his studies of this profession that he was

admitted to the bar November 12, 1901, and in

January of the following year began the practice

of law. From Ihat time his clientage has con-

stantly grown in volume and importance. He is

a member of the Rochester Bar Association. Fra-
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ternally lie is connected with tlic Royal Arch
Masons.

On May 30, 1906, James Mann was married

to Miss Carrie Phillips, a daughlor of Charles

Addison Phillips of Rochester. Tlicy have one

son, William Barrow, born April 1, 1907. Mr.
Mann is a communicant of St. Luke's Episcopal

chiirch.

FRF.DERTCK COOK.

Frederick Cook, who at the age of fourteen

years was thrown upon his own resources, the

parental home being broken up by the death of

the father, attained through the inherent force

of his own character, his strong determination and
his close application to the duties that devolved

upon him distinction and honors in his adopted
land. The penniless boy of fourteen became one
of the most successful business men of the Em-
pire state, served as secretary of state of New
York and would undoubtedly have gained guber-

natorial honors had he not declined. The multi-
plicity and extent of his business interests also

made him one of the best known men of the

state, while his activity extended to those con-

cerns which touch the general intei'esls of so-

ciety in lines of progress, in social and benevolent
interests.

The specific and distinctive office of biography
is not to give voice to a man's modest estimate of

himself and his accomplishments, but rather to

leave the perpetual record establishing his chsir-

acter by the consensus of opinion on the part of

his fellowmen. Throughout Rochester and the

state Frederick Cook is spoken of in terms of

admiration and respect. His life was so varied

in its scope, so honorable in its purposes, so far-

reaching and beneficial in its effects that it became
an integral part of the history of Rochester and
of the commonwealth. He exerted an immeasur-
able influence on the city of his residence; in

business life as a financier and promoter of ex-

tensive industrial and commercial enterprises; in
social circles by reason of a charming personality

and unfeigned cordiality; in politics by reason
of his public spirit and devotion to the general
good as well as his comprehensive understanding
of the questions affecting state and national wel-
fare; and in those departments of activity which
ameliorate hard conditions of life for the unfor-
tunate by his benevolence and his liberality.

The life record of Mr. Cook covered the period
between December 2, 1833, and February 17, 1905.

He was born at Wildbad, a noted watering-place

in the famous Black Forest district of Germany.
The father hoped to give his son excellent educa-
tional privileges and sent him to one of the best

schools of tlie whole neighborhood, expecting even-

tually to allow him to attend college, but the death

of the father in 184G completely frustrated this

plan and Fj-udcsi'ick Cook, then a lad of foiirtoon

years, was obliged (o provide for his own living.

The family home was broken up and with no ad-

vantages of wealth or influential friends to aid

him he stariod out to win life's battles. He possess-

ed a couL-ageoiis, determined si)irit and when but
lifteeu yc^iii's of age came to tlie new world to try

his forliNK's. lie had a niarriod sisler residing in

IJiid'alo, Now ^'l)^l^, at tliat time and made liis

wiiy Id her home. His youth had been passed in

a connlry where all boys must learn a trade and
according to this rule, with which he had been
familiar, Frederick Cook resolved to acquaint

himself with shoemaking. He did not find it

congenial, however, and soon afterward secured

employment with a butcher in Batavia, New York,
where his close application and fidelity soon won
recognition. His ability gained the attention of

D. W. Tomlinson, the president of the bank of

Batavia, who was also extensively interested in

railroads and because of Mr. Cook's knowledge
of the German language Mr. Tomlinson procured
for him a position on the Buffalo & Rochester
Railroad, whence he was soon promoted to the

position of conduclor on an imniigrnnt train on
the Niagara l''all.s division of Ihe Cenlral ITudson
road. In this capacity he aided many an immi-
grant from Germany in looking for a home and
the corporation which he served, appreciating his

services, soon made him a passenger conductor.
He remained with the road for about twenty
years, severing his connection on ihe 1st of Jan-
uary, 1872. Tliat he enjoyed to the fnliest degree
the friendship, regard and confidence of his fel-

low employes and the patrons of the road was
manifest by a gift from them of an elaborate set

of solid silver plate.

One of the salient features of Mr. Cook's suc-

cessful business career was his ability to recognize
an opportunity. A¥hen once he believed in the
possibility for successful aecom])li8lnnent he util-

ized the advantage to the utmost and thus the
scope of his activity was continually enlarged
until he was known as one of the foremost rep-
resentatives of commercial and_ financial interests
in western New York. While in the railroad ser-

vice he had become intimately acquainted with
George M. Pullman, and when the latter organ-
ized the Pullman Palace Car Company Mr. Cook
invesled the greiiUu- part of his atTUuiulalcd earn-
ings in that enterprise, the prosperous history of
which is known to the world. Thereby he laid

the foundation of his wealth. In 1852 he took up
his abode in Rochester, and not only became closely

associated with its business history, but also with
its political life, but of the latter we will speak
later on. He became closely connected with many
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enterprises that largely promoted the commercial

activity and consequent prosperity of Eochester,

at the same linio adding to his hiisiiicss siu'ccss.

In 1874 he was chosen vice president of the

Barlholoniay Brewing Company, which was or-

ganized in that year with a capital of two hun-

dred and fifty thousand dollars. Prom the be-

ginning until 1889 he served as vice president

and was tlion elected president. His activity,

liowcver, was not con lined to one or even a few

lines, hut cnihraccd Tuanifold business interests.

On the 12tli oC January, 187G, he was elected

president of the Eochester German Insurance

Company, as a successor of Colonel Louis Ernst,

and so continued until his demise. On the 13th

of January, 1877, he was elected president of the

Eochester Driving Park Association, and under

his capable management its financial interests

were advanced from the lowest to the highest

degree. On the Ifith of May, 1878, he was ap-

pointed one of the commissioners of Mount
Hope cemetery and continuously served in that

office, and was chairman of the hoard from that

time until his demise. Hisp name hccanie promi-

nently known in hanking circles, for in the fall

of 1880 he was made a trustee of the Rochester

Savings Bank and later chosen one of its vice

presidents. On the 25th of Mnrch, 1882, he was

elected president of the Bank of .Eochester, the

predecessor of the German-American Bank, and

remained at the head of the institution until his

life's labors were enderl. In Fehruarv, 1887. he

was chosen to the presidency of the Eochester Title

& Guarantee Company and upon the denlh of J.

Lee Judson he was unanimously elected presi-

dent of the Eocliester Gas & Electric Coiniiany of

Rochester. He was also president of the Eoches-

ter Eailway Company, the Eochester Telephone
Company and the Ohmer Fare Eegister Company.
His career seems almost phenomenal and yet

there was not in his business life an esoteric phase.

His path was never strewn with the wreck of

other men's fortunes, his whole course being

marked by business integrity and probity, his

success resulting from his close application, his

keen discernment and his able management.

Distinguished honors came to Mr. Cook in his

political life. If other men who have control of

mnmmolh industrial and commercial enterprises

realized that they owe a duty to their country

and would enter into politics, the welfare of the

natioTi would he greatly augmented, for what the

country needs is men in charge of its affairs

who have keen foresight, business sagacity and
sound judgment. (The democratic party gained

a valuable accession to its ranks when Mr. Cook
became one of its stalwart supporters. Tlie first

political office he ever fdled was that of excise

commissioner of Eochester, to which he was ap-

pointed by Mayor John Lutes, on the 20th of

April, 1870, but on account of ill health he re-

signed in 1872, and with his family made an
extended tour over Europe. In the autumn of

1873, however, upon his return to Eochester, he
once more took his place in the democratic ranks
to labor earnestly and effectively for his party's

growth and progress. When nominated for mayor
he ran far ahead of his ticket, although Eochester
is acknowledged a republican stronghold. On the

liHli of .April, 1872, Governor Hoffman appointed
him judge advocate with the rank of colonel of

the Seventh Division of the New York State Na-
tional Guards, and on the 29th of July, 1875, he
was appointed by Governor Tilden, assistant ad-
jutant general and chief of staff of the same divi-

sion, but he resigned November 34, 1877, on ac-

count of the pressure of his private business af-

fairs. In 1876 he went as delegate to the demo-
cratic national convention at St. Louis when Sam-
uel J. Tiklen was nominated for the presidency
and in 1880 he officiated in a similar capacity at

Cincinnati, Ohio, where he served as vice presi-

dent, representing the state of New York. In
the sjjring of 1880 he was called to perform an
important service in behalf of his adopted city,

hcinsr one of the fourteen citizens appointed as a

commission on behalf of Eochester to guard the

public interests during the work of elevating the

New York Central Eailroad tracks inside the

corporate limits. Politics engrossed a large share

of his attention and he was regarded by his party

as one of its best and strongest representatives.

In 1885 he wns nominated for the position of

sccrclary of state and after a strong canvass and
an exciting campaign, he was elected by a ma-
jority of more than fourteen thousnnd over Colo-

nel Anson S. Wood. In this important office

within the gift of the people, he served so accept-

ably that in 1887, at Saratoga, he was renomi-

nated and was re-elected over Colonel Frederick

Grant by a plurality of seventeen thousand six

hundred and seventy-seven, the highest given to

any candidate on the democratic ticket. On the

1st of January, 1890, after declining a renomi-

nation as secretary of state, he retired perma-
nently to private life and from that time until

• his death devoted his attention wholly to the care

of his large and varied business interests. On
the 3Tsl. of December, 1889, just before his re-

tirement. Governor Hill, on behalf of himself and

other state officers, presented Mr. Cook with a

costlv watch with chime attachments, while the

clerical force of the office gave him a much prized

collection of photographs, representing the em-

ployes during his two terms of four years' service.

'Hie partv, however, still further honored him,

when in the state convention of 1894 he was ur-

OTiilly solicited liy a large majority of the party

leaders to accept the nomination for governor of

New York but he declined to become a candidate.
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The probability was that he would have been

elected had be accepted the nomination, for Fred-

erick Cook was honored throughout New York
and sustained a high reputation for political in-

tegrity and lofty patriotism, as well as of marked

ability.

In 1853 Mr. Cook was united in marriage to

Miss Catherine Yaky, of Rome, New York, who
died in 1864. The following year he married

Miss Barbara Ague. His one daughter is now
the wife of Augustus Masters MacDonoll and

is the mother of one son, Frederick Cook Mac-

Donell.

Mr. Cook was one of the distinguished Masons
of the city, belonging to the blue lodge, chapter,

commandery and to the consistory, having at-

tained the thirty-second degree of the Scottish

rite. He was likewise a member of the Rochester

Maennerchor, which was organized in 1854 and

of which he served as president in 1874-5. On
the 24th of February, 1882, he became a member
of the Liederkranz. He was also a member of

the Rochester Historical Society, the Genesee Val-

ley Club, the Rochester Club, the Country Club,

and the Rochester Yacht Club, but it would be

almost impossible to enumerate his connection

with the many organizations which he repre-

sented. He was made an honorary member of

Selyc Citizens Corps, Eighth Separate Company,

N. G. S. N. Y., January 8, 1887, and of the Al-

bany Excelsior Corps, January 26, 1888. In

February, 1893, he presented to Peissner Post,

No. 106, G. A. R., a handsomely bound memorial

record book, one of the finest works of the kind

in existence.

Along all lines of humanitarian action which

tend to ameliorate the conditions of human life,

Mr. Cook was a factor. In February, 1882, he

was appointed by Governor Alonzo B. Cornell, a

manager of the Western House of Refuge and was
re-appointed by Governor Cleveland in 1883, while

on the 29th of September, 1885, he was elected

secretary and treasurer of that institution. In
1887 he was chosen a life member of the New
York State Agricultural Society and on the 19th
of December of that year, he became corresponding
member of the Oneida County Historical Society.

On the 1st of June, 1891, he was appointed by
Governor Hill as one of the managers of the
Rochester State Hospital for a term of nine years,

and upon the organization of the board was elected

its president and was re-elected each succeeding
year until the office was abolished by law when
Mr. Cook was appointed a member of the board of
visitation by Governor Odell. His private chari-

ties were numerous, yet no ostentation or display
ever characterized his giving. He was especially

helpful to young men who are ambitious 'and de-
termined and who start out in life upon their own

account empty-handed. Remembering his own
struggles and trials in youth, he was ever quick

to show appreciation for close application and to

recognize ability by promotion as opportunity of-

fered. For some years prior to his demise he took

no active part in political work, his attention being

given to the superintendence of his private busi-

ness affairs and extensive investments. He held

friendship inviolable and as true worth could al-

ways win his regard he had a very extensive circle

of friends, his life demonstrating the truth of

Ralph Waldo Emerson's statement that "the way
to win a friend is to be one." The public work

which he did was largely of a nature that brought

no pecuniary rew^ard and yet made extensive de-

mands upon his time, his thought and his ener-

gies. Opportunities that others passed by heed-

lessly he noted and improved—to the betterment of

the city and the state in many ways. He was
unostentatious in manner, but all who knew him
spoke of him in terms of praise. In his life were

the elements of greatness because of the use he

made of his talents and his opportunities, because

his thoughts were not self-centered but were given

to the mastery of life problems and the fulfillment

of his duty as a man in his relations to his fellow-

men and as a citizen in his relations to his city,

his state and his country.

ALLEN L. WOOD.

Allen Tj. AVood, a successful nurseryman of

Rochester, has built up a business from a very

humble beginning to one that has now reached

uiammoth proportions, his stock being shipped to

every state in the Union, as well as to foreign

lands, so that he has gained a wide reputation

as a fruit grower. He is a native of this city,

his birth having occurred here in 1860. His
father, Walter Wood, was one of the pioneer set-

tlers of this city, having come from Moravia, this

state, but for a number of years he was engaged
in the conduct of a general store at Cayuga and
at Union Springs. His mother bore the maiden
name of Jane Mcintosh, and was a daughter of

John Mcintosh, a pioneer merchant of Cayuga,
New York.

Allen Tj. AVood spent the period of his boy-

hood and youth under the parental roof and dur-
ing the winter months pursued his studies in the

public schools and in St. Paul's school, wherein
he acquired a good knowledge of the English
branches. He was endowed by nature with a good
constitution and developed all the attributes which
make the successful man. He early displayed a

troiul for business life and at the age of sixteen

years, in 1876, established himself in the nursery
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business, securing for this purpose one acre of

land, which he planted to fruit trees. This proved

a paying venture and encouraged with the out-

look for a successful future, he invested the money
secured from the sale of his stock in more land,

each year adding to his original holdings until he

today owns a tract of eighty-five acres, devoted

entirely to the growing of nursery stock.' He
raises only the best varieties oT large and small

fruits and shade trees, and in addition to this he

likewise grows fruit at Lockport and at Danville,

New York, on contract. Until 1900 he conducted

a strictly wholesale business, but since that time

has sold to the retail trade through agents and by

catalogue, doing a mail order business which ex-

tends to every state in the Union and also to

foreign lands, including Cuba, Bermuda, Mexico

and other places. His stock is prepared for ship-

ment at the packing house, which he erected on

Culver road and Gorson avenue. Ilis stock of

fruit and ornamental trees, rosss, shrubs, etc., is

of the best varieties and his name is known far

and wide in connection with the nursery busi-

ness. His success is well merited, for he has ever

followed the most honorable methods in carrying

on Ills business, is true to the terms of a contract

and conscientiously discharges every business obli-

gation to the satisfaction of all with whom he has

dealings.

Mr. Wood was married in Pittsford, December

17, 1891, to Miss Georgiana Eaton, who was born

in Pittsford, a daughter of Benjamin Eaton, a

pioneer settlor. Their marriage hn.s been blessed

with two sons, Walter and Allen.

Mr. Wood is a Mason, belonging to the Mystic

SJirine and he is also a member of the Masonic

Club. An investigation into his history shows

that he has based his business principles and

actions upon strict adherence to the rules which

govern industij, economy and unswerving integ-

rity. His enterprise and progressive spirit have

made him a typical American in every sense of

the word. By constant exertion combined with

good business judgment he has attained to the

prominent position he now occupies and enjoys

the friendship of many and respect of all who
know him.

CHAUNCEY BRAINARD.

Chauncey Brainard is the senior partner of the

firm of H. C. Brainard & Company, controlling

business enterprises that contribute in substantial

measure to the commercial activity of the village

of Spencerport. He was born in the town of Gates,

Monroe county, on the 2d of May, 1849, and is a

representative of one of the old families of this

part of the state, his parents being Claudius and
Nancy (Brainard) Brainard. The paternal

grandfather, Calvin Brainard, settled on Method-
ist Hill in the town of Henrietta in 1823 and
made the original pvirchase of what became his

farm, it being a part of the old Holland purchase.

Claudius Brainard was a native of Haddam, Con-
necticut, and came here with his father. They
later bought a large farm in the town of Gates and
were not only closely associated with agi'icultural

development but also with various movements for

general progress and improvement. The Brainard

family has ever been noted for longevity. Chaun-
cey Brainard is one of a family of four children,

of whom his brother is now deceased, while the

sisters, Laura A. and Emma C, are living upon
the old homestead in Chili.

Chauncey Brainard was a little lad of five years

when his parents removed from Gates to the town
of Chili and in the public schools he acquired his

early education, which was later supplemented by

study m Genesee Wesleyan Seminary at Lima,

New York, and in Genesse College, now Syracuse

University. Thus equipped by excellent educa-

tional privileges, he took up the work of teaching

and was principal of the school of Churchville for

two years. He afterward served as principal of

the Pittsford school for six years, proving a cap-

able educator with ability to impart clearly and
readily to others the knowledge that he had au-

quired. Upon returning to the town of Chili he

took up the occupation of fanning and at the same

time engaged in teaching in the North Chili school

for ten years. He was appointed school commis-

sioner of the second district of Monroe county by

Judge William E. Werner in May, 1890, and in

the following autumn was elected to that position.

He served for four consecutive terms or twelve

years. The cause of education has indeed found

in him a stalwart champion and a warm friend

and his labors have been of direct benefit in pro-

moting the interests of the public schools of this

section of the state.

In the fall of 1895 Mr. Brainard removed to

Spencerport and in the spring of 1897 began busi-

ness with his son, Harry C, under the firm style

of H. C. Brainard & Company, controlling his

commercial interests in addition to performing

the duties of the office of school commissioner.

The firm began dealing in coal and later extended

the scope of their business to include commercial

fertilizers. At a still later date they added a gen-

eral insurance department and subsequently took

up the cooperage business. They do a good busi-

ness in the various lines which claim their time

and attention and are representative merchants

and insurance men of the village, having secured

a liberal patronage as dealerp in coal and commer-
cial fertilizers and in their cooperage business as
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well, while as general insurance agents the policies

which they write anniiull.v reproscnt u large ligiiie.

Mr. Brainard was married to Miss Emily Cook

dimming, a native of Genesee county, New York,

who with her parents removed to ClmrcliviUe,

where she was married, her father being Theodore

Cumming of that place. Unto Mr. and Mrs.

Brainard has been born one son, Harry C, who is

now his father's partner in business—a young nian

of excellent business ability and enterprise.

In politics Mr. Brainard lias been a life-long

republican, unfaltering in his allegiance to the

paiiy. ITratemally he is connected with Etolian

lodge. No. 474, A. ¥. & A. M., of Spenccrport,

and for several years he has been a trustee of the

Congregational church. He is interested in all

that pertains to the welfare of the community and
while he has contributed in larger degree to educa-

tional and commercial advancement he neverthe-

less withholds his co-operation from no movement
or plan for the public good.

EVERARD PECK.

Everard Peck was born at Berlin, Connecticut,

November G, 17i)1, and died at Rochester, New
York, February 9, 1854. Having gone to Hart-

ford, Connecticut, at the age of seventeen, he

learned there the book binder's trade and having

completed his apprenticeship, went from there to

Albany, New York, where he plied his vocation for

a few years. Not succeeding as well as he had
hoped, he came to Rochester in 181G, bringing witli

him the implements of his calling and a small

stock of books. Many of the incidents of his

life have been mentioned in the first volume of

this work in connection with the growth of the

little hamlet, its expansion into a village and
thence into a city. For the remainder it is deem-

ed sxifficient to give the following extract from an

article in one of the daily papers at tlie time of

his death:

"Seeing,through the discomforts and rudeness

of the settlement, indications which promised a

prosperous future, he set up the double business

of book-selling and book-binding. Being prosper-

ous in business he enlarged his facilities by open-

ing a printing office aiul commencing, in 1S18,

the publication of the Rochester Telegraph, a

weekly journal. Tie afterward erected a paper
mill, which he operated with great success until

it was burned. Mr. Peck^left the book business in

1831. After three or four years, in which he was
out of health—so that, for recovery, he was obli sed
to spend one or two winters in Florida and Cubn

—

he engaged in the banking business and was con-

nected successivelv with tlie Bank of Orleans, the

Rochester City Bank and the Commercial Bank of

|{ocliosler, being the vice president of the last

named institution at the time of his death. Immed-
iately on taking up his residence hero Mr. Peck gave

his warm support to the infant charitable and
religious enterprises of the place, and from that

time to this has been the devoted friend of all such

institutions. To public office he did not aspire

but labors for the poor, the suffering and the

orphan he never shunned. I'he successful estab-

lislimcnt of the University of Rochester was in a

large measure owing to his exertions in its be-

half. The friends of tlie institution accorded to

him merited praise, and they will ever respect

his memory. Up to the time of his death he
was a member of its board of trustees. He was
one of the zealous promoters and founders of the

Rochester Orphan Asylum. Our citizens have
been accustomed to rely upon his judgment in all

matters of moment pertaining to the common
M'eal, and he always exhibited a sagacity and so-

licitude for the welfare of the people which en-

titled him to the public confidence.

"He was thrice married : In 1820, to Chloe Por-

ter, who died in 1830; in 1836, to Martha Far-

ley, wjio died in 1851; in 1853, to Mrs. Alice

Macon Walker, who survives him.

*Mrs. Alice H. Peck died December 2, 1881.

"For more than two years past Mr. Peck has

been suffering from a pulmonary complaint, and
he spent the winter of 1852-53 in the Bermudas
but without obtaining relief from the disease. He
has, since his return, been secluded in the sick-

room, gradually declining until he expired, sur-

rounded by his wife and all his surviving chil-

dren."

It may not be inappropriate to give as a rem-

iniscence, the following extract from an article in

the Albany Evening Journal, of February 21,

1854, by the pen of Thurlow Weed, then at the

head of that paper, in which, after copying a

long biograj)hical sketch of Mr. Peck from the

columns of the New Haven Daily Palladium of a

few days befoie, Mr. Weed remarks:
"Tin's deserved tribute to the memory of 'a just

man made perfect' comes from one who knew
the deceased well. The editor of the Palladium
grew up under Mr. Peck's teachings and was long
a member of his household, a household whose
memory is hallowed in many grateful hearts." In

another paragra])h the editor of the Palladium al-

ludes lo our own rehilions to Mr. Peck but in a

spirit of kindness which excludes all but the fol-

lowing from thefic columns:
"Mr. Weed, of the Albany Evening Journal, be-

gan his career in the Rochester Telegraph office.

Pie was a young man wholly without means when
ho applied for employment. AVe remember Mr.
Weed's application as though it were but yester-
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day. Mr. I'eck at lirst declined Ids oiler but
there was something in Mr. Weed's manner that
touched a sympathetic chprd in Mr. Peck's bosom
and he called hun back and gave him the post of
assistant editor, where he soon made the Telegraph
one of the most popular journals in Western New
York.

"The heart upon which the memory of its early

benefactor is engraven will glow with gratitude
until its pulsations cease. We were, indeed, whol-
ly without means and with a young family de-

pendent upon our labor, when, thrirty-two years
ago we applied to Everard Peck for employment.
He did not really want a journeyman but his

kindly nature prompted him to an effort in our
behalf. It was agreed that in addition to the

ordinary labor as a journeyman in the office we
should assist Mr. Peck, who had the charge of

his book-store and paper-mill, in editing the Tele-

gra)ih. But our friend did not content himself

with giving employment. We enjoyed, with our

family, the hospitality of his mansion until a hum-
ble tenement (tenements were scarce in Eochester

in Ihoso days) could be rented. The compensation

agi-ecd upon was four Imndred dollars per annum.

That year glided pleasantly and peacefully away,

teaching lessons to which memory recurs with

pleasure and in forming ties that have linked us

in after life to dear and cherished friends. At

the close of the year Mr. Peck added one hundred

dollars to our salary, with expressions of confi-

dence and regard which enhanced the value of his

gratuity. And over after, through whatever of

vicissitude and change we have passed, that good

man's counsels and friendship have helped to

smooth and cheer our pathway."

WILLIAM FAELEY PECK.

William Farley Peck, of Ecvolutionary ances-

try on the father's side, of Pilgrim descent on

the mother's, was born at Eochester, New York,

Februai7 4, 1840, the son of Everard and Martha

(Farley) Peck. After studying at private schools

in this city, he Avent to boarding school in Con-

necticut, whence he returned in 1857 to enter the

University of Eochester. Having remained here

oue year,' he went to AVilliams College, where he

was graduated in 1861 wtih the degree of A. B.

He then studied law in the office of Danforth &
Terry, in this city, for one year, going afterward

to the State Law School at Albany, where he

was graduated in 1863 with the degree of LL. B.

and was a little later admitted to practice at the

bar of Monroe county. He did not, however, en-

ter actively into the legal profession but was
soon drawn into journalism, which, with its kin-

dred forms of writing, became his life work.
After a short experience upon the Express (now
the Post-Express) he became, in 1867, the city

editor of the Democrat. Going thence on to the
Chronicle he was the telegraph editor of the
latter journal during the whole of its existence,

from November, 1868, to December, 1870, when
the merger of the paper into what became the

Democrat & Chronicle threw him out of a posi-

tion. He soon became the editor of the Sunday
Tribune—a portion of the time as part proprietor

—and continued in that capacity until, some twen-
ty-five years ago, he abandoned the field of direct

journalism. Since that time he has devoted him-
self to writing of a desultory character, such as

club papers, articles for the magazines and more
particularly for encyclopedias ' and biographical

dictionaries, besides preparing several works cov-

ering the local history of this region—the "Semii

Centennial History of Eochester," published in

1884; a comprehensive sketch of the city and of

the county, in "Landmarks of Monroe county,"

1895; "A History of the Police Department of

Eochester," 1903; and, finally this "History of

Eochester and Monroe County," 1907.

The following are the organizations with which

he is connected and is more or less prominently

identified: The Fortnightly, a literary club of

which he was one of the founders; the board of

directors of the Eochester Athenaeum and Me-

chanics' Institute, of which he has been the cor-

responding secretary from the beginning; the

board of managers of the Eochester Historical So-

ciety, of which he has always been the recording

secretary; the board of trustees of the Eeynolds

Library, of which he is the secretary ; the Society

for the Organization of Charity, of which he is

one of the vice presidents ; the Unitarian church

;

the Genesee Valley Club, of which he was one of

the charter members ; the Eochester Whist Club

;

Ihc Genesee Whist Club; the Society of Mayflower

Descendants in the State of New York; the So-

ciety of the Genesee, in New York city ;
and cor-

responding member of the New York Genealogical

and Biographical Society.

FEANK A. SMYTH.

Frank A. Smyth, deceased , was born near

Canandaigua, New York, and came to Eochester

when quite young but prior to this time his father,

Thomas Smyth, had passed away. The son ac-

quired his education in the old academy at

Eochester and entered business life as an employe

in a jewelry store, remaining in the service of

,T. E. Wight for nine years, during which time

he thoroughly acquainted himself with the trade
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in every particular. He then embarked in busi-

ness on his own account and continued in that

line until a few years prior to his death, when
he began traveling for a clicinicai cornpaay and

during his last years he traded in stock. In all

of his business transactions he was found thor-

oughly trustworthy and reliable and as a mer-

chant he wrought along modern business lines,

having a well appointed establishment, in which

enterprise, capable rrianagement and a carefully

selected stock brought him a desirable patronage.

Mr. Smyth was married to Miss Carrie J. Grie-

bel, a naughter of Gusiavus Oriebel, one of the

pioneer residents of Monroe county and afterward

a retired farmer. He is now deceased, but the

mother of Mrs. Smyth still resides in Rochester
and is the owner of considerable property at Glenn
Haven. Unto Mr. and Mrs. Smyth was born one
son, Paul Vincent, whose birth occurred in 1892.

The death of the husband and father occurred
February 14, 1906.

Mr. Smyth exercised his right of franchise in
support of the men and measures of democracy.
He belonged to the Rochester Club and to the Elks
lodge. He was a supporter ot the church and of
all worthy movements for the benefit of the race
and the promotion of the city's welfare and was
esteemed by many friends as a good man, worthy
the warm regard and trust which were so uni-
formly extended him.

HENRY ROGERS SELDEN.

In the long roll of names of cmiiioiit incn who
have conferred honor upon the judicial history of
the Empire state the name of Henry Rogers Sel-
den finds conspicuous mention. There are few
men whose public careers have extended over a
longer period and none have been rnore fearless in
conduct, faultless in honor and stainless in reputa-
tion than this gentleman, who served upon the
bench of the court of appeals of New York and
whose marked ability caused him to be recognized
among the foremost jurists of the land.
Judge Selden was born in Lyme, Connecticut,

October 14, 1805, a representative of a family
whose history in America is one of distinction.

In early colonial days his ancestors, who were
among the Puritans,' took up their abode in New
England and from that time down to the present
representatives of the Selden family have been
active in promoting progress along all lines of
desirable improvement. The first of the family to

come to America was Thomas Selden, who settled

in Hartford, Connecticut, in 1646, and died there

ten years later. He left two sons, one of whom
was Icilled in the Deerfield Indian massacre. The

other son took an active part in the early Indian

wars and received a grant of land on the east side

of the Connecticut river at Avhat is now Lyme,

Connecticut, in 1692. The hoiiuvstcad is still in

possession of his descendants and has been occupied

by the family for two hundred and ten years.

In 1835, Judge Selden became a resident of

Rochester, then known as Rochesterville. His

brother, Samuel Lee Selden, had previously located

in this city and was engaged in the practice t)l

law in connection with Addison Gardiner. In

their office the subject of this review became a

student and when in his twcnty-liflh year he was

admitted to the bar and began practice in Clark-

son. His equipment was unusually good. Added to

the comprehensive knowledge of the science of

jurisprudence which he had acquired during his

student days was a natural discrimination as to

the legal points, a jnind logical and inductive,

supplemented bv strong reasoning powers. About
1859, he removed to Rochester, wliere he resided

up to the time of his death. His career was
marked by fruitful achievements and distinguished

honors. He had not long to wait for advancement
in the line of his profession. The cases with which
he was connected during his early career at the

bar demonstrated his superior talents and skill,

and from that time forward his clientage constant-

ly grew in volume and importance. His name
figured in all of the reports of prominent litigation

throughout a long period in the judicial history

of the Empire state.

Judge Selden was also a conspicuous figure in

political circles. With a just appreciation of

American cilizenship, its duties and its obligations,

lie informed himself thoroughly concerning every

issue whjcli arose before llic people and his natural

fitness for leadership soon placed him in front

ranks with the party with which he became identi-

fied. He was progressive, thoughtful and earnest,

and became identified with the new republican
party as a supporter of Fremont and Dayton in

the campaign of 1856. With John A. King as

the leader of republican affairs in New York, he
largely aided in winning success for the party in

this state. Mr. King was elected governor and
Mr. Selden lieutenant governor. They were the

first two members of the new party to triumph in

the nation. It is a noteworthy fact that during
this canvass Mr. Selden was in Europe on profes-

sional business, but liis prominence was so great,

his patriotism so well known and the cause which
he championed of so progressive a nature that the

people gave him their support and conferred upon
him the second highest executive honors in the
state. He was presiding officer of the senate at a
period when skilled parliamentarians belonging
to a party hostile to the republicans were powerful
and influential members, yet there was no dissent

made from his rulings and even the opposition
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acknowledged that he was impartial, dignified and

just. No presiding officer has ever commanded
in a gvoalor degree the rospect and cnnruleiice of

the entire senate. His services here has so judicial

a caste that in Juh', 1862, when Samuel L. Selden

retired from the bench of the court of appeals

Governor Edwin D. Morgan appointed Henij
Rogers Selden to fill the vacancy and he continued

in the office nntil tlie close o£ 18G4. He proved

himself the peer of the ablest members that have

ever sat upon the bench and his opinions, which

regarded by his colleagues at the bar of that period

as models of judicial soundness, may be found in

volumes XXV to XXXI, New York reports, while

his work as official reporter of the courts is in-

cluded in volumes V to X of the same, commonly
cited as "one to six Selden," with a small volume
of addenda known as Selden's Notes, all of which
were product of his labor and learning while re-

porter for the court of appeals.

Judge Selden is believed to have first suggested
the principal of the homestead exemption law,

which modified and fitted to the many exigencies

of the time, has long been in force in many states

and territories of the Union. Except while on the

bench and a year or more in search of health in

Europe, Judge Selden continued in the active

practice of his profession from 1830 until 1879,
when he retired to private life, having devoted
almost a half century to the practice of law.

While his practice was of such an important char-

acter that he was connected with the most promi-
nent cases that came before the courts of the state

during this period he yet found time to aid in

pushing forward the wheels of pi'ogress along

every line of advancement. He lived in an age
when America made rapid strides toward a posi-

tion foremost among the great countries of the

world, and he left the impress of his individuality

upon the general movement. He was particularly

active in transmitting telegraphic communications.

He witnessed the introduction of this method of

electrical writing and was keenly interested in the

experiments and successful inventions of Profes-

sor Morse. In 1845, associated with Henry
O'Reilly, a Rochester journalist, he entered into

contract willi the patentees and inaugurated a

movement that resulted in tlie organization of th"'

Atlantic, Lake & Mississippi Valley Telegraph

Company, whose purpose was to build a telegraph

line forty miles in length between Harrisburg and

Lancaster, Pennsylvania. Judge Selden was cho-

sen president of the company and other stock-

holders were : Samuel L. Selden ; Jonathan Child,

who was the first mayor of Rochester; Elisha D.

Ely; Hugh T. Brooks; Micah Brooks; Alvah

Strong; George Dawson; John S. Skinner and

Harvey Brooks. At a later date the Selden

brothers acquired an interest in the^wNew York

and Mississippi Valley Printing Telegraph Com-
pany, one of the largest corporations of the globe,

thus they were instrumental in extending tele-

graphic commujijcations, which has been one of

the most potent factors in revolutionizing business

life, also having marked influence upon the social

and political histories of countries.

In 1865, Judge Selden was chosen a member of

the state legislature representing the second dis-

trict o[ Monroe county. He labored in that capa-

city as modestly and earnestly as if he had neve,'

occupied the presiding chair of the state senate or

the bench of the court of appeals. He was again

a candidate for the chief judgeship in 1870, al-

though it was known that the republican party

must suffer defeat. In 1872, he was instrumental

in calling together the famous Cincinnati conven-

tion, but from that time forward took no active

part in political life. Retiring from a long and
successful legal practice in 1879, he lived quietly

at the corner of Gibbs street and Grove place in

Rochester until his death, which occurred Septem-
ber 18, 1885.

The Judge was married September 25, 1834, in

(Jlai'kson, to Miss Laura A. Baldwin, a daughter

of Dr. Abel and Laura (Smith) Baldwin. Mrs.

Selden still survives her liusband. They lost five

of their children in early childhood. Those who
reached maturity are : Julia, wife of Theodore
Bacon, of Rochcester; Louise, the deceased wife of

General E. S. Otis, of the United States Army;
Mary, deceased, who was the first wife of Judge
Francis A. Macomber; George Baldwin, a promi-

nent attorney; Arthur Rogers; Samuel L., a law-

yer who died in early manhood; and Laura H.,

ihe wife of William D. Ellwanger, of Rochester.

The Selden family are members of St. Peter's

church. The two sons, Arthur R. and George B.,

are yet residents of Rochester, and the former is

a most competent and experienced mechanical en-

gineer. Both sons were educated in Rochester, and
George B. Selden chose the profession of law. He
is recognized by the bar of this city as one of the

leading patent attorneys, giving his attention to

other matters pertaining to the profession also.

He has an office in the Arcade block and his clien-

tage is of a distinguished character. Thus the

name of Selden is being perpetuated in connection

v.'ith tbe judicial honors of the Empire state and

the son is recognized as a worthy scion of his race.

From tlie time Judge Selden first took up his

abode in Rochester he had marked influence upon

the public life of the city, an influence that spread

until it reached the furthermost parts of the state.

A legal paper in speaking of his demise said:

"Judge Selden, at the time of his retirement, was

the universally acknowledged leader of the bar of
•

western New York. He was a man of broad char-

ity and won as much of affection by his kindness

of heart as he did of respect and confidence by his
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depth of learning and probity of character. He
was a liberal contributor to charitable institutions

and officiated as manager of several of them. The
life work of the two jurist brothers stands out In

bold relief as a noble part of the leading political

history of the Empire state, and constitute a

source of just pride to every one of its citizens."

An interesting reminiscence of Judge Selden can

be found in the last edition of Fred Douglass'

Autobiography.

While the disposition to do honor to men promi-

nent in public life is prevalent among all nations,

it is certainly the highest tribute bestowed on man
in a land where no one is born to public honor or

fame, but must win his prominence and promotion

as a result of individual effort, learning, talent and
patriotic devotion. Such a history as that of

Judge Selden is a matter of state pride and should

serve as a source of inspiration and emulation,

demonstration how effective are ability, strong de-

termination and laudable enterprise, but while he

was not without that ambition which is so great

an incentive to men in public life he ever, placed

country before party and a general good before

public aggrandizement.

A. B. LAMBERTON.

Not so abnormally developed in any direction

as to be called a genius, Alexander B. Lamberton,

however, has been one of the most active men of

Rochester, identified for many years with its busi-

ness interests and its public concerns, nor is he

unknown in scientific circles. He is now presi-

dent of the park board and in this position as in

other instances he has given tangible proof of his

interest in and fidelity to those plans and measures
which are promulgated for the public weal. He
ip pre-eminently a man of affairs and one who
has and is still wielding a wide influence.

A native of Ireland, he was born in Rich Hill,

County Armagh, on the 28th of February, 1839.
Early records dating from about the tenth century
show that the family was originally of French
descent. The ancestral history of a less remote
period gives account of three brothers of the
name who emigrated from Scotland and settled

in the north of Ireland, in or about 1666, one of

Ihe brothers locating in Londonderry county, one
in Giant Causeway and the other nearby. Many
descendants of the family are yet living in the
north of Ireland. William Lamberton, grand-
father of A. B. Lamberton, was born in 1775 and
was married in 1803 to Elizabeth Garrick. They
settled at Market Hill in County Armagh and
there William Lamberton died. His widow and

her nine children, with the exception of one son,

Alexander, came to America in 1830.

Alexander Lamberton, father of A. B. Lamber-
ton, of Rochester, was born in 1808, acquiring a

good education in Ireland, and after attaining his

majority engaged in merchandising at Rich Hill

in County Armagh, where he remained until 1839.

His mother and the other members of the family

had previously come to America and in the year

mentioned he, too, crossed the Atlantic. For many
years in this counti-y he devoted his life to the

ministry of the Methodist church and died in

Clinton county. New York, in 1878. Unto him
and his wife were born five sons and three daugh-
ters: William, George, John, Verner, Alexander
B., Elizabeth, Sarah and Mary. ;

In early childhood A. B. Lamberton was
brought to the United States, acquiring his early

ediieation in the common schools of New York.
Subsequently he improved the higher educational

facilities offered in Auburn Theological Seminary
and in the University of Rochester. Having de-

termined to devote his life to the minis-
try, he was for two years pastor of the
Tompkins Avenue Presbyterian church in Brook-
lyn, New York, but failing health obliged him to

abandon his cherished plans and turn his at-

tention to business life.

Coming to Rochcstor in 1864, Mr. Lamberton
entered industrial circles here as proprietor of
a lumberyard and planing mill on the site of the
Rochester House, at Exchange and Spring streets.

For a number of years he continued in the lum-
ber trade and has had various other business in-
terests, owning at different times much valuable
property, as he has improved his opportunities for
judicious and profitable investment in city realty.
For many years his attention in business lines
has been giveii to the supervision of his invest-
ments and he is now well known as a capitalist
of Rochester. He has for some time been a mem-
ber of the board of directors of the East Side Sav-
ings Bank and is now serving as its vice presi-
dent.

His public service, however, has brought him
a still wider acquaintance in his business con-
nection and for many years he has been known
as the friend and stalwart champion of every
movement and measure that he has deemed bene-
ficial to the city. It was through his influence
that the first swing bridge in the state was
built over the canal at Exchange street. At all

times unfaltering in his loyalty to his honest con-
victions, he accepted the candidacy for mayor
of the city, for state senator and member of con-
gress when he knew that his party was in the
minority and that there was no hope of election.

He stood for its principles and it is a matter
of general knowledge that nothing can swerve him
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from a course that he believes to be right. Never

hasty in his judgments, his opinions are the re-

sult of careful consideration, formulated by a

well balanced mind and his endorsement of any

public measure always wins to it a liberal follow-

ing among those who rely upon his views as sound

and practical.

For n unmber of years he was one of the mau-

ngcvs of the Stale indiislrial School, in which con-

nection he did important service in promoting

this eminently worthy public institution. In about

1900 the legislature passed an act enabling the

city to create a public market and Mr. Lamberton
succeeded Charles H. Babcock as its president and
is now acting in that capacity. On the 8th of

June, 1901, he was honored with election to the

presidency of the Chamber of Commerce and that

his administration was entirely satisfactory to its

members is indicated by the fact that he was
offered the presidency for the second term.

He refused, however, because it has been

the rule of the Chamber of Commerce
to elect for hut one term. He has done

much for the park system the city, having

been elected a park commissioner in 189^, since

which time he has served on the board, while in

1902 he succeeded Dr. Moore as president and has
since occupied that position. Under his admin-
istration the parks have imdergone improvements
in many directions. He was instrumental in es-

tablishing the band concerts, a feature which has

been greatly appreciated liy the poorer people of

the city. lie brings to bear in the discharj^c of

his duties as president of the park board the same
spirit of deeii interest and progressivcness that

has characterized him throughout his entire life

in every work that he has undertaken.

In 1864 Mr. Lamberton was united in mar-
riage to Mrs. Eunice B. Hussey, a daughter of

Charles R. and Eliza Starbuck, of Nantucket, Mas-

sachusetts. His wife died March 18, 1898, leaving

three daughters: Martha Hussey, of Rochester;

Eunice S., now the wife of Isaac Kaiser, a resi-

dent of New York city; and Mary, the wife of

Charles A. Hone, living at Bisby Lake, New York.
Aside from social pleasures resulting from his

large circle of friends, Mr. Lnmberlon has found

relaxation and absorbing interest in field sports

and outdoor life. His fishing and hunting ex-

peditions have led him into the most famous game
regions of America but it has not been his am-

bition to distinguish himself by the mere amount
of game or fish he could bring into camp. He
was an early advocate of fish and game protection

and of forest preservation, and his contributions

to the press on those subjecis ha,ve been many and

interesting. As vice president of the National

Association in the protection of gaine and chair-

man of its committee on nomenclature, he wrote

a monograph of uncommon scientific value, on
game birds, quadrupeds and fish of North Ameri-
ca. In 1875 he introduced the first brook trout ar-

tificially propagated into the northern woods, hav-
ing liberated fifty thousand fry in the Pulton
chain lakes. He was one of the first to urge the
state to establish a forest preservation in the
Adirondacks, and it is now a matter of general
regret that his advice was not followed at the
Lime. Mi', jjainberton at once gives the impres-
sion of alertness, enterprise and strong force of
character. Always courteous and chivalrous, dis-

playing deference for the opinion of others, it is

yet known that his loyalty to his beliefs cannot be
shaken. He regards a public office as a public
trust and at all times holds friendship inviolable.

T. W. DONNELLY.

T. W. Donnelly, who is acting as superintendent
of the Monroe Concrete Building Company, is a
man of marked business capacity, his ability and
worth being recognized, so that through successive

jn-omotions he has attained to his present respon-
sible position. Mr. Donnelly is a native son of
Brighton, his home city, born April 1, 1865, his

parents being Bernard and Mamie (Fischer) Don-
nelly. The father located in Brighton at the time
of the building of the canal and in that connection
was engaged in teaming.

T. VV. Donnelly acquired his education in the

public schools of this place and upon putting aside

his te.xt-books learned the mason's trade, after

which he was employed by Frederick Brothers for

a number of years. In September, 1903, the Mon-
roe Concrete Building Company of Brighton was
formed and Mr. Donnelly began work for them.

He displayed such skill and knowledge of his trade

that the company, recognizing his worth, in due

time made him superintendent of the plant, in

which connection he has been engaged for the past

year. The company manufactures 'all kinds of

cement building blocks, ranging in size from four

to twenty-eight inches. The business is conducted

in a large cement building, constructed expressly

for this purpose, and is supplied with all modern

equipments and accessories for the successful con-

duct of such an enterprise. They employ eighteen

men and the output is three hundred and twenty

large sized blocks daily, the product of the house

being shipped to various localities and states. The

success of the enterprise is due in large measure

to the efficient management and supervision of Mr.

Donnelly, for he not only possesses a knowledge of

the business in principle and detail but also has

the ability to capably direct the labors of those

under him, and at the same time he has a genial
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and . kindly nature, which at once wins the con-

fidence and good will of those with whom he is

associated. During the short life of the enterprise

it has rapidly developed until today it stands

among the foremost industrial concerjia of

Brighton and Monroe county. The officers of the

company are: H. J. Howe, president; William
Bassett, vice president; John Cunningham, secre-

tary and treasurer ; and T. W. Donnelly, superin-

tendent.

Mr. Donnelly was united in marriage to Miss
Mary Toomey, the wedding being celebrated in

1902. The lady is a native of Brighton and a

daughter of Patrick and Mary Toomey, early

settlers of this place. Unto Mr. and Mrs. Don-
nelly has been born a son, George William. Mr.
Donnelly gives his political support to the repub-
lican party and holds membership with the Blessed
Sacrament church on Monroe avenue.

Both he and hs wife having been born in their

home city, are well and favorably known and are
deservingly popular among their numerous friends
and acquaintances, for they possess those sterling

characteristics which everywhere command high
regard and esteem, while the business ability of
Mr. Donnelly well fits him for leadership in his
particular line of activity.

PRANK J. DEFENDORF.

Frank J. Defendorf, postmaster of Barnard
since 1876, was born in Rochester on the 23d of
February, 1855, his parents being Elijah and Har-
riet (Bevier) Defendorf. The father was a native
of the Mohawk valley, and the mother of Ulster
county. New York. He at one time owned two
boats on the Erie canal and followed boating in his
younger years but later became a contractor and
also owned and conducted a sash and blind factory
in Rochester. His last d^ys, however, were spent
upon the home farm, where he passed away at the
age of eighty-two years. He had three cWIdren
by his first marriage, while Frank J. Defenaorf
was one of the five children born of the Becond
marriage.

The subject of this review was but seven years
of age when he accompanied his parents on their
removal to Greece township, where he has since
resided. He attended the public schools and
worked on the home farm until sixteen years of
age, and in 1871 he established the present mercan-
tile business at Barnard, conducting a general store
for the sale of merchandise and also dealing in
produce and farm implements. He has secured a
good patronage from the surrounding country and
has enjoyed a profitable business through more
than thirty-six years.

In politics Mr. Defendorf has been a life long

republican and was appointed postmaster at Barn-

ard by President Hayes, since which time he has

served continuously in tliis position, with the ex-

ccpLion of Ihi'eu years during I'rcsident Cleveland's

first administration. The postoffice is one of the

fourth class. It was known first as Handford's
Landing and the office was held at the toll-gate,

located at the old city line on Burke's Hill, Lake
avenue, Avhere it remained until the old plank

toll-road was discontinued. The office was then

moved to the toll-gate on the Ridge road opposite

the seed farm owned by Heaman Glass and the

distribution of letters was made in the private

residence of William Glass, father of Heaman
Glass. The removal of the office to Barnard was
made in 1876. Previous to this time the mail was
received by stage. When Mr. Defendorf was ap-

pointed postmaster the office paid about fifty dol-

lars per year. There are now two rural free de-

livery routes, covering all of the south and middle
part of the township of Greece and extending into

the eastern part of Parma township. When these

routes were established it caused the discontinu-

ance of the offices at Greece, South Greece (later

Ada) and West Greece. Tlie office has almost
reached the standard of the third class, the busi-

ness liaving continually increased. In addition to

serving as postmaster Mr. Defendorf has been ap-
pointed collector for two terms, highway com-
missioner three terms and general committeeman
of Greece township for several years. He is health
officer at the present writing.

In 1882 Mr. Defendorf was married to Miss
Alice Lutes, a native of Rochester and a daughter
of John Lutes, who was at one time mayor of the
city but is now deceased. Mr. and Mrs. Defendorf
had two children, Fred C. and Flossie, but the
daughter died at the age of thirteen years. Mr.
Defendorf is well known as a representative citi-

zen of this community, in touch with all of its

affairs of a public nature and at all times stands
as the champion of those measures and movements
which are of public benefit.

ANDREW SPALDING.

Andrew Spalding, who spent his last years in
Rochester, was one of the native sons of the Em-
pire state. For many years he was a contractor
for railroad and highway bridges and throughout
his active connection with business interests made
his home in Buffalo. He became an expert in the
line of building, to which he gave his attention,
and many important contracts were awarded him,
bringing him a liberal patronage and securing for
liim a gratifying financial return. He thoroughly
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acquainted liiuiself with the great scientific prin-
ciples wliich underlie the work and was also thor-
oughly conversant with the practical side of ques-
tions which continually arose in connection with
bridge building. In 1890 he retired and removed
to Eochester where he resided until his death which
occurred five years later, in 1895.

It was on the 24th of September, 1890, that Mr.
Spalding was united in marriage to Mrs. Medora
Gridley, nee Carpenter, of New York city, who
was born in Morristown, Vermont, and came to

Eochester when a little maiden ot twelve years.
She is a daughter of Calvin Carpenter, who was a
manufacturer of machinery. After reaching
womanhood she gave her hand in marriage to Har-
rison C. Gridley, who was in the dry-goods busi-
ness in this city for a number of years. Follow-
ing his death she became the wife of Mr. Spalding
in 1890 and they resided in Rochester, ]\Ir. Spald-
ing having previously acquired a goodly fortune
and retired to private life to enjoy in well earned
rest the fruits of his foi-mer toil. He purchased
a home on Goodman street where they lived until
his demise, since which time Mrs. Spalding has
become owner of a beautiful home which she now.

occupies at No. 71 Rutgers street.

By his first marriage Mr. Spalding had one
daughter, Mrs. Louis Bennett, of Buffalo, New
York, who by her marriage is mother of one son,

Leslie J. Bennett, manager for the Buffalo Cement
Company, limited. By her former marriage Mrs.
Spalding had three children but only one is now
living, Mrs. I. 0. Davis, a widow, who now resides

with her mother and has one son, Alexander G.
Davis.

Mr. Spalding belonged to the Masonic frater-

nity. In his business life he was eminently suc-

cessful and as the years passed by advanced to a

position on the plane of affluence that enabled
him to leave his family in very comfortable cir-

cumstances. Though he resided but a brief period

in Rochester he gained many friends here so that
his death was deeply regretted outside of his own
household where his loss was most keenly felt.

OSBURN E. CHAMBERLAIN.

Osburn E. Chamberlain, who for many years was
employed with the operative department of the

New York Central Railroad as locomotive engineer

but is now living retired, was born at Westmore-
land, New Hampshire, in 1834. He was educated
in his native state and came to Rochester in 1855.

lie took up railroad work, beginning in the capa-

city of fireman and thus serving for five years,

when he was promoted to the position of engineei
and so continued for thirty-four years, having a

passenger run between Rochester and Buffalo and
Niagara Falls. He was one of the most trustea

and capable employees on that line, having the lull

confidence of the corporation which he served. In
1894, however, he was injured in a wreck, at which
time he retired and has since enjoyed a well earned
rest.

Mr. Chamberlain was married to Miss Lucy Up-
ton who was born in Springfield, Massachusetts,

and was a daughter of David Upton, a native of

New Hampshiie, who came to this county and
settled at Rochester at an early day. He was
a master mechanic with the New York Central

Railroad at Rochester. Unto Mr. and Mrs. Cham-
berlain were born six children, three sons and three

daughters: 0. E., who is residing in Rochester;

Mary B. and Laura M., both at home; John D.,

an attorney of Rochester ; Lillie M., also at home

;

and Frank S., who is a student in the University

of Rochester.

Mr. Chamberlain exercises his right of franchise

in support of the republican party, with which he
has voted since casting his first presidential ballot

for Abraham Lincoln. He belongs to the Masonic

fraternity in which he has attained the degrees of

lodge, chapter and consistory, thus becoming a

Knight Templar Mason. He is a worthy follower

of the craft and is most loyal to the teachings of

the order which is based upon mutual helpfulness

and brotherly kindness. The careful husbanding

of his resources during the many years in which

he was earning a good salary, now makes him the

possessor of a comfortable competence and he has

a beautiful home at No. 459 Alexander street,

where he lives. He has many warm friends,

among whom he is popular.

BALTHASAR BULLINGER.

Balthasar Bullinger, whose carefully managed
business interests as a grocer of Rochester brought

him the success that now enables him to live re-

tired, is a native of Germany. He was born in

August, 1829, and in this country found the op-

portunities he sought and which led him on to

affluence. He was reared and educated in his

native country, being a young man of twenty-five

years when in 1854 he crossed the Atlantic to the

new world. He arrived in Rochester on the 20th

of September of that year and here learned the

shoemaker's trade, which he followed for thirteen

years. He was watchful of opportunities and in

January, 1868, he availed himself of a chance to

engage in the grocery business. He opened a store

(m Elizabelli and Main strecls, where he remained

for tliree years and afterward erected a large busi-

ness block on Elizabeth street below his first loca-

tion. There he opened a large stock of staple and
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fancy groceries and he always kept the best the

markets allorded. His well selected line ol! goods,

his reasonable prices and his elt'orts to please his

patrons secured him a large trade and he continued

in the business, enjoying gratifying success year

after year, until 1894, when with a handsome com-

petence he retired to enjoy his remaining days in

quiet and ease.

In 1855 Mr. Bullinger was married, in Roches-

ter, to Miss Margaret Kuhn, who was born in Ger^

many and died in this city in February, 1893.

They were the parents of eight children, of whom
five are now living: Henry J., of this city; Mary
and Sophia, at home; George J., also of Roches-

ter; and John B., now living in Carthage, New
York. The children were all reared and educated

in Rochester, Mr. Bullinger putting forth strenu-

ous effort to give them a good start in life. In

1888 he built a fine home in the city where ho now
resides. In politics he is an indepeuuont democrat,

frequently supporting the democracy yet not con-

sidering himself bound by party ties. He is a

charter member of the Knights of St. John and
the' family are communicants of St. Joseph's

church. Socially they are widely and favorably

known. Mr. Bullinger, although now seventy-

eight years of age, is still a hale and hearty man
and, looking back over the past, he feels that he

need not regret in the least his, determination to

seek a home in the United States, for here ho
found the business opportunities he sought, which,

by the way, are always open to ambitious, energetic

young men. He used his advantages to the best of

his ability and gradually advanced until he won a

place among the substantial residents of his

adopted city.

WALTER B. DUFEY.

For more than two-thirds of a century the name
of Duffy has boon found on iho rooovd of Roohca-
tcr's active and successful business men. It is

doubtful if in recent years any resident of the
city has done more for its commercial develop-
ment and for its progress along other lines than
has Walter B. Duffy, vice president of the National
Bank of Rochester, president of the New York &
KentuckY Company, president of the American
Fruit Product Company and director of the Ger-
man Insurance Compan-". the Rochester Trust and
Safe Deposit Company and the Pfaudler Company.
These and many other business enterprises owe
their success in appreciable measure to the marked
enterprise, executive force and keen discrimina-
tion of AValter B. Duffy.

Born in Canada on the 8th of August, 1840, he
was little more than a year old at the time of the

removal of his parents, Mr. and Mrs. Edward
Duffy, to Rochester. His early education was

acquired in public school No. G and subsequently

ho spent two years as a student in St. Hyacinth

Collee-e near Montreal, Canada. Returning to

Rochester, he again became a pupil in the pub-

lic schools and in 1856 he went to Toronto, where

he devoted two years to study in St. Michael's

College. Returning to Rochester he entered upon
his business career at the age of seventeen years

in his father's store and continued with him
until 1868, when he purchased the business. In

the development of the enterprise Mr. Duffy has

displayed the most modern and progressive

methods. He has employed a system of advertis-

ing that has made Duffy whiskey known through-

out the length and breadth of the land. This in-

troduction to public attention, combined with the

high standard of excellence alwTiys maintained in

tlio ])i'oduc(;, has resulted in the development of

one of Rochester's most extensive and profitable

productive industries. Not alone has Mr. Duffy

confined his attention to one line. On the con-

trary he has been watchful of business oppor-

tunities and has utilized the advantages which
arc offered in the business world. He is par-

ticularly prominent in financial circles, having
been president of the Flour City Bank until its

consolidation with the Commercial Bank and the

German American Bank into the National Bank
of Rochester, of .which he is now the vice presi-

dent. He is, moreover, a director of the Roches-
ter Trust and Safe Deposit Company and of

the German Insurance Company. He was a prime
factor in the organization of the New York &
Kentucky Company in 1900 and since that time
has lioen its president. He is also ilic chief officer

of the American Fruit Product Company, organ-
ized in 1904, and is a director of the Pfaudler
Company. He was the builder and owner of the
National Theater and the principal factor in build-

ing and financing the new Hotel Rochester. He
was alfo the prime factor in the organization of

the firm of Duffv & McTnnorny, owners of Roch-
oslor's largest department store and other exten-
sive financial and commercial interests. Complex
business problems are to him easy of solution be-
cause of his watchfulness of every detail bear-
ing upon ultimate results, because of his marked
abilitv in co-ordinating forces and because of the
i-eadiness with which he formulates and executes
his plans.

In 1868 was celebrated the marriage of Walter
B. Duffy and Miss Theresa O'Dea. They had nine
children, five sons and four daughters: Dr. Ed-
ward F. Duffy, a resident of Yonkers, New York

;

Claude, who died in infancy; Mary Theresa; Wal-
ter J.; Agnes A.; James P. B.; Harriett Jane
Catherine, twin sister of James; G. Paul; and
Constance Josephine. The mother died in 188-1
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and in 1892, in London, England, Mr. DuUy
wedded Miss Lorotta Putnam.
He is a coninuinicant of the Catholic church

and has done as much as any man in recent

years for the improvement of Rochester. He
is eminently practical and his plans for the city

and its welfare have resulted in (aiigible iiri-

provement. He has been characterized as a "big
brained, big hearted, courteous gentleman." Much
of his time has been in recent years devoted to the

betterment of conditions among the poorer clashes

and at all times he manifests a philanthropic

spirit that gives ready response to a call for needed
aid from individual, organizations or municipality.

Rochester acknowledges her indebtedness to him
along many lines.

W. H. MURRAY.

Mr. Murray is identified with the blue lodge of

Masons. He is an active and energetic business

man, possessing natural ability, and though he has

conducted his business enterprise in this village

for only a short period he is already meeting with
marked success, being numbered among the sub-

stantial citizens of rittsford.

W. H. Murray, who is engaged in the conduct of

a livery and sale stable and likewise does a dray-

ing business in Pittsford, is a native son of New
York, his birth having occurred in Henrietta,

Monroe county, in 1867, a son of Stephen and
Martha (Hirsh) Murray. The mother was born
in Rochester and during her girlhood she and her
iflother had charge of the toll gate on the East
Henrietta road for a number of years. The father

settled on a farm in Henrietta at a very early day
and there carried on agricultural pursuits through-
out a long period.

I'he son acquired his education in the common
schools of his district and during the period of his

boyhood and youth assisted his father in the opera-

tion of the home farm. He is now in possession

of a well improved tract of thirty-six acres in Hen-
rietta, and on this he made his home for many
years, during which time he cultivated the cereals

best adapted to soil and climnlc and the sale of his

products each year added materially to his finan-

cial resources. About a year ago, however, he
abandoned his farming pursuits and took up his

abode in Pittsford, wliere he established a livery

and sale stable and this venture is proving a suc-

cess. He keeps on hand horses and vehicles for

public hire and in addition buys and sells horses.

He buys horses in the western states and ships

them in carload lots to his home in the east, where
he disposes of them at a good profit. He likewise

conducts a draying business in connection with his

stable and in this has built up a good trade.

In 1898 Mr. Murray was united in marriage to

Miss Josephine Speigol, who was bom in Pittsford,

a daughter of Thomas Sppigol. a carringo-maker

by trade. Their marriage has been blessed with
two interesting little daughters, Louise S. and
Ploronce, ngod respectively five and tlirec years.

JOHN WILLIAM HANNAN.

Among those who have departed this life and

yet have left the impress of their individuality for

good upon the city of Rochester is numbered John
"W. Hannan whose activities touched many lines of

life. He figured in political circles here, in busi-

ness and in fraternal interests. In all these rela-

tions his course commanded for him uniform con-

fidence and good will. He Avas born in Perinton,

Monroe county, New York, September 19, 1847,

and was but six years of age when brought' to

Rochester by his parents, Cyrus and Frances Han-
nan. The father is now deceased. The mother,

prior to her marriage to Cyrus Hannan, was Miss

Prances Hubbard, daughter of a prominent physi-

cian in Connecticut. On the death of Mr. Hannan
she became the wife of George W.. Policy who has

likewise passed away. She is still living and makes

her home with her daughter-in-law, Mrs. John W.
Hannan, at No. 133 Rutgers street.

In his boyhood days John W. Hannan went to

Albany, New York. In early manhood he wedded

Miss Mary E. Hummel of Kingston, New York,

and they had one daughter. Prances, who became

the wife of Joseph Hull Smith, Jr., of Rochester,

by whom she has two daughters, Elizabeth and

Virginia.

Politically Mr. Hannan was a republican and

took a most active interest in the work and growth

of his party, laboring earnestly and actively for its

interests. His worth and ability were recognized

in his selection for various offices. In 1865 he was

appointed superintendent of documents in the state

senate and filled that position for ten years. He
was government ganger for eight years and was

sherifE of Monroe county, New York, for two

terms, being first elected in 1884 and again in 1893.

In all of these positions his duties were discharged

in prompt and able manner, so that over the

record of his official career there falls no shadow of

wrong or suspicion of evil. Mr. Hannan was also

]iroprietor of the National Hotel of Rochester for

six years and thus further promoted his acquaint-

ance and popularity, for he gained many friends

while in the hotel business. In facthe was recog-

nized as a prominent resident of Rochester and en-

joyed in full measure the respect of all who knew

iiim. He attained high rank in Masonry, becoming

a member of ihe consistory in the Scottish Rite.
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He affiliated with Genesee Palls lodge, A. P. & A.

M., Monroe eommandery, K. T., Eochester con-

distory, S. P. E. S., and Damascus Temple of the

Mystic Shrine. He was also a member oi: Central

lodge, No. 666, I. 0. 0. P., and the Knights of

Pythias fraternity. He belonged to the Eochester

Club and the Eochester Whist Club. He had due
regard for the social amenities of life and pos-

sessed that warm-hearted, genial nature which' not

only wins friends but has the power of retaining

them. His death occurred July 31, 1905.

HENEY J. PECK.

Henry J. Peck, at present residing at 557 East
avenue, was born on Fjlmwood avenue in 1839, and
is the son of Hiram Peck, one of tlic early pioneers

of the town who came here in 1813 and settled on
Elmwood avenue in the place which is now owned
by his son. When Hiram Peck came to this coun-
try he was obliged to make the trip on horseback
from Stoekbridge, Massachusetts, his native home.
He became a prominent agriculturist and in poli-

tics was a supporter of the whigs. Plis wife was
Martha Donnelly, who was born in Eome, New
York, and by her he had five children, only one of
whom survives, Henry J. Peck. This family occu-
pied a prominent position in business, society and
church.

Henry J. Peck received his preliminary educa-
tion in private schools, supplementing it by a
course at Clover Street Seminary. He early be-
came associated with his father and assisted him in
making all the improvements on the farm. As a
reward for his labors he is now the owner of one
hundred and sixty acres on Elmwood avenue and
Winton road in Brighton, and owns one hundred
acres of splendid orchard. In 1854 he entered the
nursery business on his farm in a small way, but
now employs some twenty men and by his energy
and enterprise has enlarged his business to grati-
fying proportions. His oirice is with Chase
Brothers, one of the largest horticultural establish-
ments in the world, of which he is vice president,
but his nursery business is entirely independent.

In 1868 he was united in marriage in Brighton
to Amelia S. Hart, who was bom in Brighton and
is a daughter of Samuel Hart who came to this
county with his father in 1830. Their children
are: George H., living at Binghamton, New
York; Harry C, who is in the roofing business;
Eobert C. ; and S. Ernest, who lives at home and is

associated with his father in business.
Mr. Peck has always been a prominent and

honored citizen here and when Brighton was but a
village served as its president. At the time the
village was annexed by the city he was elected

alderman of the twenty-first ward and has since

served as the same. His political affiliations have

been with the republican party and he has always

taken an active part in promoting its interests. He
is a member of the Masonic lodge, of the Eochester
Whist Club and the Genesee Whist Club. He is

a member of the Brighton Presbyterian church,

having served as trustee for ten years, and is also

president of the Brighton Cemetery Association.

The fact that Mr. Peck built his home at 557 East
avenue thirty-three years ago will give us some
idea of the length of time he has been interested

in the city. During all tlicse years he has taken

part in every movement that promoted the inter-

est and growth of his home town. No organization

of which he is a member ever seeks his help in

vain. At the age of sixty-eight he is still hale and
hearty and enjoys the splendid health which
comes fi'oni a life well spent.

WILLIAM HILL.

A well improved tract of land of twenty-five

acres, which is devoted to gardening pursuits, and
on which stands a good country residence and sub-

stantial outbuildings, pleasantly situated within
one mile of Eochester, is the home of William Hill,

who is a native son of Irondequoit township, where
he still makes his home. He was bom here in

1859, a son of William and Mary (Kingsley) Hill,

both of whom were natives of England. The
father was bom in 1837, and the year 1849 wit-

nessed his arrival in Monroe county, at which time
he located on a farm in Irondequoit township when
tliis section was new and uiidoveloped. lie de-

veloped and improved a tract of land, erected a

nice home and also carried on gardening. His
death occurred in April, 1889, but the widow still

resides on the old homestead, at the age of seventy-
eight years. Of tlie eight children born of the
I'atlier's marriage, five still survive, namely: Wil-
liam, ol; this review; John, who resides in New
York city; Mrs. Martlia Pengelly, a resident of
Eiga township; Mrs. Mary Ilallauer, who resides

on Hudson avenue, in Irondequoit township ; and
Mrs. Sarah Killick, the widow of William Killick,

who resides with her mother.

William Hill pursued his studies in the common
schools of Irondequoit and during the period of

his boyhood and youth assisted his father in carry-

ing on his work as a gardener. Upon starting out
in life on his own responsibility he chose the occu-

pation to which he had been reared, for from his

father he had received practical training in the

cultivation and care of vegetables, so that he was
enabled to carry on his work in a successful man-
ner. He secured a tract of land comprising twen-
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ty-live acres, on which he hsis made many improve-
ments, including a good home and outbuildings

and thoroughly equipped with all the accessories

necessary in carrying on work of this character.

"The products of his farm find a ready sale on the

city markets, for his vegetables are of excellent

size and quality.

Mr. Hill was united in marriage to Miss Lydia
Peacock, a daughter of John Peacock, a farmer
of Greece township, and a native of England. The
home of Mr. and Mrs. Hill has been blessed with a
daughter and four sons, as follows : Elvie Frances,

who at the age of fourteen years is a student in the
Union school; Avery William; Wilbor Everett;

Almond Warren; and Harvey George.

Mr. Hill advocates the principles and policy of

democracy and since 1897 has served as assessor

of his township. His fraternal relations are with
the Knights of the Maccabees and the Grange,
while his religious faith is indicated by his mem-
bership in the North Avenue Methodist Episcopal

church. Quiet and unassuming in manner, he is

iicvcrtlielcss a loyal and public-spirited citizen,

wiio is deserving of the high regard in which he is

uniformly held.

PETER A. BLOSSOM.

Peter A. Blossom, editor and publisher of the

Republic, of Brockport, is descended from an an-

cestry distinctively American both in its lineal

and collateral branches. He traces the line back

to Peter Blossom, who came to western New York
from Vermont about a century ago. He was in

the sixth generation from Thomas Blossom, one of

the leaders of the Pilgrim churcli at Leydcn and
later the first deacon of the church of Plymouth,
Massachusetts, after the little colony liad sailer'l

from tlio old world to tiic new in order to csiiiblialv

homes in a region where they might worship after

the dictates of their own consciences.

The parents of Peter A. Blossom are William
R. and Gertrude (Ketcham) Blossom, the former
a retired farmer. The subject of this review was
born in East Hamlin, New York, June 22, 1868.

He pursued classical courses of study and was

graduated from the Brockport Normal School in

1889 and the University of Rochester with the

class of 1895. While attending the latter he be-

came a member of the college fraternity—Theta
"Delta Chi. Immediately after the completion of

his university course he began teaching, which pro-

fession he followed until 1898, when he turned his

attention to the field of journalism and has since

been engaged in newspaper work. The Republic,
of which he became proprietor, was then a four-

page, eight-column folio and is not an eight-page,

seven-column quarto, having been twice enlarged.
It has a good advertising patronage and large cir-

culation and has been improved according to the
modem ideas of newspaper publication, being now
an excellent journal. It is republican in politics,

Mr. Blossom stanchly supporting the principles of
the party through its columns.

On the 4th of August, 1896, in Manning, New
York, Mr. Blossom was married to Miss Zetta G.
Evarts, of a prominent family of Orleans county,
and they have one son, Evarts M. Blossom. The
parents are members of the Presbyterian church
and Mr. Blossom affiliates with the Masonic fra-
ternity. His interest in and devotion to commu-
nity affairs is indicated by the active co-operation
which he gives to many public movements, aside
from his endorsement of these in the columns of
the Republic.

LOUIS BROOKS CARPENTER.

Among the honored dead of Monroe county is

numbered Louis Brooks Carpenter, who passed
away May 30, 1906. He was born on a farm in
Chili township, December 8, 1850, and there spent
his entire life, his widow still residing on the farm,
which comprises one hundred and eighty acres of
well improved and valuable land. His father,

John Henry Carpenter, was a native of Pittsford,

Monroe county, and at an early day settled on the
farm in Chili township, where he built a good
country residence and developed a good farm.

Louis Brooks Carpenter was reared on the farm
on which he spent his entire life and acquired his

education in the district schools of the neighbor-

hood. During the period of liis boyhood and
youth he assisted his father in the operation of the

home farm and after attaining manhood continued

to carry on tlio work there whicli liad been insti-

tuted by the father. He had a fine farm of one
hundred and eighty acres and was there engaged
in general agricultural pursuits throughout a long

period. He was an active, energetic man and
accumulated a goodly competence, so that at his

death he left his family in comfortable financial

circumstances.

Mr. Carpenter was twice married. He first

wedded Miss Emma Wooster and to them were

born a daughter and son: Mary M., the wife of

Richmond Bangs, a resident of Churchville, New
York; and John H., a resident of Chili. After

losing his first wife Mr. Carpenter was married

again, his second union being with Libbie L.

Trott, who was horn in Rochester, a daughter of

Julius Trott, a native of Germany, and a sister

of Trott Brothers, monument dealers of Rochester.

This marriage was blessed with one son, Louis B.,
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who was bom July 23, 1892. Mrs. Carpenter is a

member of the Monroe Avenue Methodist church

at Eochester.

Mr. Carpenter was a democrat in principle and

policy and for eight years served as supervisor,

while for many years he also served as trustee and

assessor. He had attained a high degree in Ma-

sonry, belonging to the Mystic Shrine. During

his lifetime he perfoi-med many acts of charity in

helping others whom he deemed deserving and his

many excellent traits of character commanded for

him the high respect and esteem of all, so that his

death was the occasion of deep regret to his many

friends, for, having spent his entire life in Chili

township he was widely and favorably known.

WILLIAM EASTWOOD.

The name of Eastwood has long figured in com-

mercial circles in Eochester and he whose name

introduces this review 'is today the president of

the William Eastwood & Son Company, conduct-

ing an extensive shoe business. For a half century

he has been known in mercantile life here, bearing

always an unassailable reputation for business in-

tegrity as well as enterprise. He was born in

Liverpool, England, September 14, 1838.

His father, Joseph. Eastwood, was a merchant

and, coming to the United States in 1840 with

his family, established his home in Eochester,

where he died in 1851. His wife, who bore the

maiden name of Mary Myett, passed away in

1846. The family numbered eight children, of

whom two sons are living, the brother of our sub-

ject being Albert C. Eastwood, a traveling sales-

man who .makes his home in Eochester.

William Eastwood was only eight years of age

at the time of his mother's death and was a youth

of but thirteen when left an orphan. His educa-

tion was acquired in the public schools of Eoches-

ter but after the death of his father he started

out in life on his own account, being first em-

ployed by Ealph Goatsworth, a grocer doing busi-

ness at Exchange and Spring streets and after-

ward in the Stillson block on East Main and

Franklin streets.

On the 1st of March, 1858, Mr. Eastwood en-

tered the employ of P. Bigelow Company, retail

dhoe merchants at No. 22 State street. There he

became thoroughly acquainted with the shoe trade,

which porved a congenial occupation, and he later

purchased an interest in the business, becoming a

partner in 1861. Three years later he became sole

owner and so continued from 1864 until 1888,

when his son Albert Bigelow Eastwood was ad-

mitted to an interest. In 1899 the business was
incorporated under the firm style of William East-

wood & Son, the otttcers being William Eastwood,

president; Albert li. Eastwood, treasurer; and

John II. Pierce, secretary. The enterprise has had

a gradual luul licalUiful growth until the business

has assumed extensive proportions, being one of

'

the leading commercial concerns of the city. In

its enlargement and development Mr. Eastwood
has wrouglit along modern business lines, has

watched all indications pointing to success and has

been notably prompt and reliable in conducting

the interests of the trade.

In 1859 was celebrated the marriage of William

Eastwood and Miss Ellen C. Bigelow, a daughter

of Paine Bigelow, and they have one son, Albert

Bigelow Eastwood, now general manager of the

business.

Mr. Eastwood was one of the original members
of Company A of the Boys in Blue and his social

nature finds scope through his membership in the

Genesee Valley Club and the Country Club. He
also belongs to Yonnondio lodge, A. F. & A. M.

;

Ionic chapter, E. A. M. ; and Gyrene commandery,

K. T., while religiously he is now connected with

St. Paul's Episcopal church, though he was for-

merly a communicant of St. Luke's church, of

which he served as vestryman for twenty years.

. In polities he is a republican but not so strictly

partisan that he does not dare to east an inde-

pendent local ballot. He is in hearty sympathy
with the world's progress, has kept in touch with

the best thinking men of the age and in Eochester

he has stood for all those things which are a mat-
ter of civic virtue and civic pride and which tend

to promote the intellectual and moral progress of

the community. He has been a resident of Eoches-

ter for more than two-thirds of a century and as

the years have gone by has demonstrated his right

to be classed with the foremost citizens of Monroe
county.

JOHN EVEETS MOEEY.

.John Everts Morey is the president and general

manager of the Evening Times Company, his con-

nection with the journalistic interests of Eochester

covering a period of a third of a century. Born in

this city, November 22, 1856, his parents were
John B. and Ann Maria (Smith) Morey, the for-

mer a native of Onondaga county, New York,
born in 1821, while the latter was born in New
London, Connecticut, in 1832. At the early age of

eleven years John E. Morey, Sr., started out in life

on his own account and was ever afterward de-

pendent upon his own resources for a living. He
first learned the printer's trade and was the owner
of the Eochester Daily Advertiser when it con-

solidate with the Eochester Union in 1856, be-
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coining the Union and Advertiser. John E. Morey,
Sr., continued in the active management of the

paper until ISSf), wlicn he sokl his interests and
retired from active business, his deatli occurring in

Rochester on the 11th of September, 1890.

John E. Morey, Jr., was a pupil in private

schools of Rochester in early boyhood and prepared
for college in the four years' course at DeGrafE's
Military Academy. He chose the field of journal-

ism as the, one in which he preferred to exert his

energies and employ his ability, and in 1874 en-

tered the office of the Union and Advertiser, of

which he became part owner in 1877. In 1885 he
sold his interest in that paper and purchased a

large interest in the Rochester Herald, assuming
its business management. For ten years he was thus

connected with that Journal but in 1895 sold the

Herald to tlic Democratic Syndicate. In 1901 he
purchased the Evening Times, which, as a result

of his experienced management, has become an
established success. He has filled every position

in the newspaper business from press boy to editor

and manager.

Mr. Morey was married, Fcbniary 8, 1877, to

Miss Alice R. Gage, and they had one son. Franc
(i., who died in 1880. Mr. Morey is a member of

Frank R. Lawrence lodge, F. &. A. M., the Genesee
Valley Club and the Rochester Athletic Club. He
has never sought nor held public office, believing a

publisher's duty to be one of independence from
officeholder's obligations. In the publication of

the Times he displays a high standard of journal-

ism, having made this one of the leading papers

of the city and at all times keeping in toucli with

the progressiveness which has characterized the

field of newspaper publication in the last quarter

of a century.

NICHOLAS II. HOY.

The name of Hoy in Monroe county is synony-

mous with business integrity and activity. He of

whom we write was horn in Rochester on the 10th

of October, 1832, his parents being Patrick and
Lorana Hoy, the former born in Ireland, while

tlie latter was a native of Clierry Valley, New
York. The father came from the Emerald isle to

the new world and while living at Cherry Valley

lost his first wife, after which he was married
again. There were three children by the first mar-
riage. It was in the first year of the cholera

epidemic that Patrick and Lorana Hoy removed to

Rochester and both died in Penfield. They had
three children: Mrs. Julia Johnson, deceased;

Nicholas H. ; and Mrs. Betsy Perkins, who has also

passed away.

Nicholas H. Hoy was but two years of age when
his parents removed from Rochester to the town

of i'euiield, where lie resided until 1870. He then
came to the town of Ogden, where he has resided
contiiuioiisly since. Wlien a small boy he learned
the blacksmith's trade with his father at Penfield
Center and throughout his entire business career
he followed that pursuit, carrying on a smithy
until about ten years ago, when he retired to pri-
vate life. The only interruption to his active busi-
ness career was caused by his service in defense of
the Union at the time of the Civil war. In the
spring of 1862 he became a member of Company
L, Eighth New York Cavalry, under command oj
Captain McNair of the Army of the Potomac and
enlisted as a blacksmith, serving for three years or
until discharged at the close of hostilities. His
record as a soldier was characterized by bravery
in every position in which he was placed and by
inifaltering allegiance to the nation's starry

bannei'.

On the 18th of April, 1854, Mr. Hoy was united
in marriage to Miss Lydia Ann Balcom, who was
born in Penfield, this county, on the 20th of June,
1833, and has spent her entire life in Monroe
county. Her parents wcio Lcander and Nancy
(Clark) Balcom, natives of Richfield, New York,
and oC Long Island respectively. They were mar-
ried in Orleans county, this state, whither they
renioved with their parents in childhood days.

About 1830 they arrived in Monroe county with
three children, while Mrs. Hoy was the only one
of the family born here. The others were Mrs.
Alzina Holdridge, Mi's. Julia Eldridge and George
Balcom, all now deceased. Unto Mr. and Mrs.

Hoy have been born two children : James Eugene,
a resident of Spencerport ; and Jennie, the wife of

Joseph V. Rogers.

Mr. and Mrs. Hoy have now traveled life's jour-

ney together for fifty-four years and during this

long period they have shared with each other in

the joys and sorrows, the adversity and prosperity

whicli come to all, their mutual love and con-

(i<lencc increasing ns the years have gone by. They
hold membership in the Presbyterian clnircli of

Ogden Center and Mr. Hoy gives his political

support to the republican party, which was the

loyal defense of tlie Union in the dark days of

civil strife and has always been the advocate of

reform and progress. Somewhat prominent in

local political circles, he served as overseer of the

poor for the town of Ogden for two terms and was

assessor for two or three terms. Fraternally he is

connected with Martindale post, G. A. R., and

Etolian lodge. No. 479, A. F. & A. M., both of

Spencerport.

Mr. Hoy is one of the oldest native residents

of the county, having for three-quarters of, a cen-

tury made his home within its borders. Great- in-

deed have been the changes which have occurred

in this period as Rochester has emerged from vil-

lagchood to take on metropolitan proportions,
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while various small towns have sprung up and
every department of business activity known to the

civilized world has been introduced here, contrib-

uting to the wealth, prosperity and upbuilding of

the locality. Mr, Hoy remembers distinctly many
events and incidents which have left their impress
upon the annals of the county, his life record form-
ing a connecting link between the primitive past

and the progressive present.

LEOPOLD BLOCH.

There are found many men whose industry has
won them success-—men who by their perseverance
and diligence carry out well defined plans which
others make—but tlie men who take tlie initiative

are comparatively few. The vast majority do not
see opportunities for the co-ordmation of forces

and development of new, extensive and profitable

enterprises, and therefore must follow along paths
which others have marked out. Mr. Bloch, how-
ever, does not belong to the designated class. The
initiative spirit is strong within him. He has
realized the possibilities that come through the
combination of forces and has wrought along the
lino of mammoth undertakings until his name is

largely synonymous with the clothing trade not
only in Rochester but also in western New York
and the United States. In fact the house of which
he was the head is one of the prominent commer-
cial enterprises of this portion of the country, em-
ploying from two to three thousand people.

Mr. Bloch, whose home is in one of the most
attractive residence districts of tlie citv, boiiig

located at No. 15 Portsmouth Terrace, has resided
in Rochester from the age of sixteen years, coming
to this country from Austria. He commenced
working as an errand boy at No. 11 Main street in
the ^employ of Stein & Solomon, at a salary of
thre'e dollars per week, which later was increased
to five dollars per week, while subsequently he was
paid seven' dollars. Next he became porter for the
firm and his wag^ was increased to ten dollars per
week, when the firm became Stein & Adler and re-

moved to Mill and Mumford streets. Mr. Bloch
was promoted from porter work to bookkeeper with
an increase in salary to fifteen dollars per week.
The firm recognized the fact that they had a
bright, reliable boy and his advancement naturally
followed. Prom tlie office he was sent upon j.he

road as a salesman for the firm, covering the terri-
tory through New York and Pennsylvania. He
was very successful as a salesman and after his
second trip the firm advanced his salary to twenty-
five dollars per week. He added more territory
very successfully and the business which he se-
cured was increased on every trip he made. In

fact he was soon in command of so extensive a

trade that he asked for an interest in the business.

The firm advised him to wait a while but Mr.
Bloch believed that the opportunity was ripe and
insisted that he be admitted to the partnership.

The original partners, realizing the value of his

services and not wishing to lose his aid, at length

consented and he was given an interest in the busi-

ness under the firm style of Stein, Adler & Com-
pany. They became popular makers of good

i^lotliing and as such were known throughout the

United Stales. I.iatcr the firm dissolved and a new
firm was organized under tlic style of Slein, Bloch
& Company, at which time tlic business, was re-

moved to the Archer building on St. Paul street.

About that time the company had serious difficul-

ties in overcoming the effect of certain complica-
tions. Mr. Stein's sons had ventured into the
retail business in Cleveland, Ohio, and the parent
house at Rochester lost much through this, but the

men at the head possessed unfaltering diligence,

perseverance and enterprise and not only succeeded
in holding their own in the business world but in

making progress as the years passed by. They
advertised extensively and, moreover, lived up to

the promises of their advertisements. One day Mr.
Bloch conceived the idea of naming the firm the

Wiolosalo Tailors and tliia name was copy-

righted. It has since boon known as their adver-

tisement and has become known throughout the
length and breadth of the land. It has become the
synonym for a most popular clothing house. They
have had some trouble with other firms copying
their goods but at all times they have won out as

leaders in their line. About eighteen years ago
Mr. Blofh found it necessary to put more money
into the biisiuess in order to extend it as he wished
and to this end lie assisted in organizing a stock
company, thereby adding a large capital, at which
time the name of the house was changed to the
Stein-Bloch Company. It is one of the most
prominent enterprises of the city, employing from
two 10 three thousand people. The firm erected a
fine business block on St. Paul street in 1896 and
duplicated this in 1904. They now have a large

substantial structure which is an ornament to the
city of Rochester.

Mr. Bloch's particular part of the business
was the purchase of woolens and the supervision
of the sales of the firm up to two years ago, he
occupied the position of vice president, and his
efforts in these directions proved a most impor-
tant element in the success of the house. He car-
ries forward to a successful termination whatever
he undertakes, brooking no obstacles that can be
overcome by determined and lionorable effort and
thus the errand boy, who some years ago worked
for three dollars per week, became one of the most
extensive and prosperous lucrchaids of Rochester,
continuing actively in business until 1905 when
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he retired from the field of active management.
He is, however, a director of the DufiEy-McQueeny
Company, The Genesee Valley Trust Company
and the Traders Oil Company. He is a member of

the Rochester and Eureka and of many other clubs
of Rochester and New York city.

JOHN SIDDONS.

John Siddons, deceased, was the originator of

galvanized iron and the founder of the John Sid-

dons Galvanized Iron Works, in which connec-

tion furthermore, as a manufacturer and inventor,

he became widely known in trade and industrial

circles. A native of Canada, he was born in Kings-

ton on the 9th of October, 1826. His father,

Samuel Siddons, was of English lineage and birth,

while his mother, Eleanor (Kirkwhite) Siddons,

was a native of Scotland. On crossing the Atlan-

tic to America tliey became residents of New York
and subsequently removed to Canada where the

birth of John Siddons occurred.

In the schools of his native country John Sid-

dons pursued his education after which he learned

the tinsmith's trade, coming to Rochester in 1844
when a youth of sixteen years. He began work
here as a tinner and for some time was in the

employ of a Mr. Miller as foreman. Gradually he

worked his way upward, his financial resources

l)cing thereby increased, luid in 1850 he began
business on his own account and erected the block

that stands at the north end of the Sibley block.

Subsequently he removed to Main street and after-

ward to Water street where the business is now
being carried on as it was during his lifetime. He
organized the business as a stock company and
built up a very large trade, his patronage coming
from every state in the Union. He invented a

parlor stove called the Flower City stove and also

invented many other useful devices. As stated, he
was the originator of galvanized iron and as such
he has done a work that would alone entitle him
to the gratitude and recognition of his fellowmen
throughout the civilized world.

Mr. Sidfloiis was married lo ]\liRs Lolilia Ixnnpp,

of Dutchess county, New York, and they became
the parents of two daughters, but Ruth, the first

born, is now deceased. Tlie other is Mrs. B. J.

Burke, whose husband is owner of the Canandai-
gua Brick Work.s.

As a supporter of the republican party Mr.
Siddons was known as one inflexible in his ad-

vocacy of the cause he espoused but he took no
interest in politics aside from casting his ballot.

He belonged to the Masonic fraternity and the In-

dependent Order of Odd Fellows and was a liberal

contributor to churches and all charitable enter-

prises, his life being actuated by a spirit of be-

nevolence and kindness. He responded quickly
to any call of need or distress and the poor found
in him a warm friend. Thus he endeared himself
to many and wherever known he was held in high
esteem. Moreover his example is one well worthy
of emulation when we consider that he started out
in life empty-handed, learned the tinner's trade
and came to Jfouhestcr when a youth of sixteen to

juake his way here unaided. True worth will al-

ways win recognition in a land unhampered by
caste or class and thus Mr. Siddons gained a posi-

tion of distinction m connection with manufactur-
ing and commercial interests. He died August 29,

1890. Mrs. Siddons still resides at No. 45 Prince
street in a beautiful home which Mr. Siddons
built on land which he owned before Prince street

was open.

EDWARD G. HALLAUER.

Edward G. llallnuer, whp is extensively engaged
in gardening pursuits on a well improved tract of

land situated on Hudson avenue, in Irondequoit

township, is a native son of the township, born on
the place which is his present home, his natal day

being March 8, and the year 1864. The paternal

grandfather, John Hallauer, came from Switzer-

land to Monroe county and located on the place

which is now occupied by our subject. He here

carried on farming and gardening pursuits. He
lived for many years on this farm but his last

years were passed in Webster, where his death oc-

curred. The son, John Jacob Hallauer, came as a

young man with his parents to Irondequoit town-
ship, and, like his father carried on work as a

gardener and farmer. He was, however, a shoe-

maker by trade. After he took possession of the

place hi added many improvements and here spent

his entire life, his death occurring October 22,

1884. The mother still survives and makes her

home near our subject. The father's family num-
bered eight children, of whom seven are living, and

with the exception of one daughter, who resides in

Greece township, all are residents of Irondequoit

township.

Edward G. Hallauer acquired his education in

ihe schools of Irondequoit and has always followed

the occupation to which he was reared. Since

taking possession of the old home place he has

made many improvements thereon, has remodeled

the house and built two new houses, greenhouses,

sheds, barns, etc., and has made the place one of

the best improved in this section of Monroe coun-

ty. Mr. Hallauer is now extensively engaged in

gardening, raising large quantities of vegetables

and fruits, for which he finds a good sale on the
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market, and he employs several people to assist

him in carrying on his labors.

Mr. HaUauer was married to Miss Stella Mack,
of Webstxir, a daughter oJ; Asa Mack, wlio was ii

farmer and died in 1905. The mother still sur-

vives at the advanced age of seventy-eight years,

and now makes her home with her daughter. Mrs.

Hallauer has become the mother of two children,

Everett and Norma.
Mr. Hallauer has allied himself with the prin-

ciples of the republican party and is a member of

the Grange. The family are . members of the

Memorial church. Mr. Hallauer is well fitted for

the work to which he is directing his energies and
is a worthy representative of an old and prominent
family of Irondequoit township, standing today as

a high type of American manhood, and he has

won success in a useful field of business and gained

the respect and honor of his fellowmen.

SAMUEL R. BENT.

Samuel R. Bent, a retired citizen of Rochester,

can point to a life record which is as clear as

daylight. He was born in Caledonia, New York, in

18.^5. His fatlicr, Captain Samuel Bent, served

in the war of 1813. He was captain in the army
and went through the war without a wound. At
the close of hostilities he went to Caledonia, where
he conducted one of the city's hotels so success-

fully that in a short time he also leased a large

brick hotel and did all of the business in that line

in Caledonia. The Captain's wife bore the maiden
name of Louisa Corbett, and was born at Madison,
Connecticut, passing away at the age of sixty-two,

at her home, which occupied the present site of

the Lyceum theater. Of the two children born to

this union, only the subject of this review sur-
vives. The daughter, Louisa, married* George
Martin, who for sixteen years was connected with
the pension bureau of Washington, and both she
and her husband are now deceased.

Samuel R. Bent received his education in the

public schools of Caledonia and Rochester. When
his parents removed to the latter city he was
fourteen years old and entered the first high school

built in Rochester. He later took up some studies

at a private school conducted by Myron Peck.

It is not always that the child manifests the

traits which are to direct his business life, but
from his boyhood Mr. Bent was very fond of

horses. He could with perfect ease and cunning-

ness control the most spirited driver and the horse

seemed intuitively to recognize a friend in him.
Fortunately for all concerned, the boy came under
the notice of S. Warring, who conducted a livery

stable. He immediately recognized the boy's

talent and volunteered not only to teach him the

business but to give him a home. This mutual
friendship and association continued for fourteen

years, until Mr. Bent had outgrown the position

and in fact had gone alicad of his teacher and
patron. It was Hiram Wood who recognized this

and made Mr. Bent so good an offer that he could

not afford to refuse it. Long teiins of service al-

ways bespeak the ability to fulfill satisfactorily

and with a pleasing personality all the duties at

hand, and wiien we contemplate the fourteen years

spent in liis first position and tlie fifteen years in

tlio latter position we need no further proof of the

sterling worth of the man.
True to the best that was in him and to his

long association with his business, he rode off when
the war broke out on a well knovvn horse called the

Wild Irishman. He did brave service in Company
A of the Third New York Cavalry, in which he
enlisted upon the site of the old fair grounds,
under Captain Charles Fitzsimmons. It was not
a surprise to those who knew him and his bravery
to hear that he was the first man to cross the pon-
toon bridge at Harpers Ferry at twelve p. m.,
that he- was in the front at Richmond and in a
number of other battles. At the end of the war
he received his discharge under the authority of
Ben Butler.

Upon his return homo at llic close of hostilities
Mr. Bent became head baggageman for the New
York Central Railroad Company, a position he
filled so successfully for seventeen years that it
took him two years to induce the company to ac-
cept his resignation. Well has he earned the
eighteen years of rest he has enjoyed in his beauti-
ful home at 274 Rutgers street. Here lie makes
his liome with liis dauglitcr and son-in-law, who
las now bought the house. AVhilo Mr. Bent has
been devoted to his business, he has always found
time to serve his country and his city. He is a
favorite member of the Grand Army of the Repub-
lic, was foreman of No. 6 volunteer fire depart-
ment of Rochester for fifteen years and is still a
member of this organization.

Mr. Bent was married to Marv Caroline Clark,
who was born m Livingston county. New York,
in 1850, and who died in 1899. She was a daugh-
ter of Timothy and Abbie Clark, of Lima, New
York, the father being the proprietor of s'everal
large hotels. One daughter was horn to this union,
Florence Louisa, who married F. C. Cutting and
they have one dnughtor Dorothy Caroline.

Politically Mr. Bent is associated with the
democratic partv. He and his family are all mem-
bers of the Universalist church. To his later life

has come the joy and sunshine which only such a
o-randchild as Dorothy Caroline can bring, and
she is fortunate indeed to have the association of
a grandfather of Mr. Bent's caliber. Tt is upon
such men that our great country has always been
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able to rely—men wlio stand by and linisli satis-

factorily wiiat tliey undertake. He is well known in
Rochester and lias always served the public gener-
ously and well.

MARVIN A. CULVER.

On the 33d of January, 1905, there occurred in
Rochester an event which caused deep sorrow
throughout the city,—the death of Marvin A. Cul-
ver, who was known as one of its most prominent
and substantial citizens, having from an early

period in its development been closely identified

with business affairs, but for a few years prior to

his demise he had lived retired. Born in Brighton,
New York, May 4, 1827, he represented one of the

oldest pioneer families of the Empire state, his

paternal grandfather being William Culver, who
served in the Revolutionary war, belonging to the
Lexington Alarms, commanded by Colonel Hin-
man in 1775, and by Colonel Wolcott in 1776.

"^I'lic fnthcr, John Culver, was born in 1789, at Foil
Ticondcroga, Now York, and in his early manhood
worked as a gunsmith in the United States armory
at Springfield, Massachusetts. Through the in-

fluence of his brother, Oliver Culver, he pur-
chased a tract of land comprising one hundred and
fifty acres from James and Simeon Brown, this

property being now comprised within the corpora-

tion limits of Rochester, extending from Goodman
street almost to Barrington street. In 1810 John
Culver made a visit on horseback to western New
York but soon returned to Vermont and after two
years returned once more to Rochester and lo-

cated on his farm. In 1815 he wedded Miss Lydia
Case, a daughter of Joseph Case, a Baptist minis-
ter of Penfield. The young couple began their

domestic life in a log house and the father at once
undertook the work of clearing his land and open-
ing up the property on East avenue. He later re-

placed his original dwelling with a more commo-
dious structure, wherein he made his home until

the time of his death, which occurred August 21,

1870.

Marvin A. Culver, the son of John and Lydia
(Case) Culver, was reared upon the home farm,

assisting his' father in its operation during the

spring and summer seasons, while in the winter

months he pursued his studies in the common
schools of Rochester. During his youth he learned
the blacksmith's trade, which he followed for

several years and then returned home to resume
the pursuits of farm life. Following the death of

his father he purchased the interest of the other
heirs in the home property, which tract he sub-

divided, laying out Culver and Rundel parks and
several streets in that section of the city, Culver
road being named in honor of his uncle, Oliver

Culver. He took a very deep and helpful interest
in the growth of East Rochester and attributes its

prosperity particularly to the clause prohibiting
the sale of liquor, which he inserted in all his con-
veyances. He was throughout a long period
actively identified with general agricultural pur-
suits and through his close application and capable
management of his business affairs he acquired the
competciicn which enabled him to spend the last
few years of his life in honorable retirement.

In 1863 Mr. Culver established a home of his
own by his marriage, on the 22d of December of
that year, to Miss Frances Alice Otis, the eldest
daughter of William Otis, and by her marriage she
became the mother of one son, Harry Culver. Her
death occurred in 1904.

Mr. Culver gave his early political support to

the whig party but after the organization of the
new republican party he Joined its ranlcs and con-
tinued a stalwart champion of its principles until

his death. He was public-spirited in a marked
degree and aside from carrying on his own pri-

vate interests he found time to devote to the gen-
eral upbuilding of material interests of his com-
munity. He was a trustee of tl\e Monroe County
Savings BaJik and of the Rochester Theological
Seminary and also for ten years served as treas-

urer of the Western New York Agricultural So-
ciety. His religious faith was indicated by his

membership in the Second Baptist church, of
which he served as trustee for a number of years
and of which he was a liberal contributor toward
the erection of the new clnirch edifice. His par-

ents were among the early members of the First

Baptist church of this city and when the Second
church was founded became charter members of

that organization.

Honesty and integrity were numbered among his

salient characteristics. Although he accumulated
a considerable fortune, he was quiet in his ways
of life and always avoided publicity, and no man
commanded higher regard and esteem among both
business and social acquaintances and therefore his

death was deplored .by many friends as well as the

members of his immediate household, for all had
learned to love and revere him.

Ilany 0. Culver, the only child of Marvin and
Frances Alice (Otis) Culver, was born in Roches-

ter, in 1868. He remained a resident of his native *

city until May, 1906, when he removed to Pitts-

ford, and purchased property of Mrs. Frank Emer-
son, known as the Hargous homestead, and here he

has continued his residence to the present time.

He still owns a portion of the Culver estate in

Rochester, which is now all laid out in city lots.

Although he has been a resident of Pittsford for

but a l)rief period he has already gained a promi-

nent place among its substantial citizens and is a

worthy representative of one of the early pioneer
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families of Monroe county. He was for about

three years engaged in manufacturing pearl but-

tons but is now emplo3ang his time in looKing

after his real estate.

JOHN GARNISH.

John Garnish is one of the worthy citizens tliat

the mother country has, furnished to Rochester,

for his birth occurred in Devonshire, England,

August 12, 1848, a son of Anthony and Elizabeth

(Smallridge) Garnish, who spent their lives in

England where the father was engaged in agricul-

tural pursuits.

The son was ambitious to try his fortune in the

new world, for he had heard favorable reports con-

cerning the advantages to be enjoyed in the

country, and accordingly, in the winter of 1871, he

sailed for America, landing in New York city on

the 11th of February of that year. He remained

in that city for two days and then made his way
to Leroy, New York, where for a time he was

engaged in farming. He next located in Ironde-

quoit, where he conducted a stock and dairy farm

for fourteen years, this property being known as

the Bay View farm. Eventually he made his way
to Brighton, where he purchased a well improved

farm of one hundred eighty-seven and a half

acres and there carried on agricultural pursuits for

several years, during which time he met with

gratifying success, for he was practical and pro-

gressive in his methods of farm lal)nr. In April,

1904, however, he abandoned fanning interests

and removed to Rochester, where he purchased

from the estate of Henry Bartholomew a fine resi-

dence, located at 90 South Goodman street, and
here he continues his residence to the present

time. At this place a livery business had been con-

ducted for more than two decades and Mr. Gar-
nish, purchasing the same, has continued in this

line of activity. ITe keeps sixteen liorses and all

kinds of veliicles, which he liircs to tlie public,

having in his employ five men. He not only re-

tains the old trade but has added to his list many
new patrons and is now doing an excellent busi-

ness. He was formerly identified with the milk
, business in this city, but disposed of tliat interest

in April, 1900, and now gives his entire attention

to the management of his livery.

It was during his residence m Leroy, New York,
that Mr. Garnish was united in marriage to Miss
Mary Jane Despard, their marriage being cele-

brated in February, 1876. The lady was born in

New York city in 1858, a daughter of John and
Mary Jane Despard, the former a native of France.
He later removed to Ireland, from which country
he emigrated to the Empire state, locating first in

New York city, while later he took up his abode

in Leroy, where he followed his trade of shoemak-

ing until his demise in 1906, at the advanced age

of seventy-eight years. The marriage of Mr. and

Mrs. Giu'iiisli lias lu'cii blessed witli two sons and

a dauglitur: John A. and George G., who reside in

Rochester; and Jessie May, the wife of Charles

Schutt, a farmer of Brighton.

Mr. Garnish supports the men and measures of

the republican party and is a communicant of the

Episcoi)al clnirch. 'I'iio hope tliiit led hiui to leave

his native land and seek a home in America has

been more than realized for here ho has made the

]nost of his opportunities anil by industry and

close application has steadily worked his way up-

ward until he is numbered among the best citizens

of this section of Monroe county. Further proof

of his love for his adopted country is shown by

the fact that soon after his arrival here he induced

his brother Thomas and later his sisters, Bessie,

Mary and Sarah to join him, and they, too, have

since remained residents of America.

ARTHUR SICKLES.

Arthur Sickles is numbered among the leading

and enterprising farmers of Chili township, where
he owns a well improved and valuable farm of

ninety-one and a half acres, on which stands a fine

stone residence. He is the youngest of three sons,

and the only surviving child of Isaac and Susan
(Trisket) Sickles, the former born in Chili, Mon-
roe county, about 1817, a son oL' Ford Sickles, who
was one of the pioneers of Monroe county. The
father was engaged in farming tliroiighout his

entire active business career but spent his last

days in Clyde, where he passed away in 1897.

l^he two brothers of our subject were : Charles,

who died in the army; and Frank, who after going

to the army, was never again heard from. Arthur
Sickles was horn on a farm in Greece township,

May 21, 1853, and was educated in tiie common
schools near his father's home. He was reared to

the occupation of farming, which has continued to

be his life work. At the age of thirty years he

purchased thirty acres of land, which formed a

portion of his present homestead, and as the years

have passed and his financial resources have in-

creased he has added to his original holdings un-

til the fari"!! now embraces ninety-one and a half

acres. His land has all been placed under a high

state of cultivation. The house is constructed of

stone and is one of the fine country homes of this

locality. On the place are found many modern
improvements and everything about the place is

kept in a good state of repair. In addition to

carrying on general agricultural pursuits he also
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raises considerable fruit and is engaged as a gar-

dener, the products of liis farm finding a ready sale

on the market. In his various activities he follows

practical methods and is meeting with gratifying

success.

Mr. Sickles was united in marriage to Miss
Lydia Franklin, who was born on the farm on
which she now resides. Three sons and a daughter

jinvc blessed tliis marriage: Artliur l)e Forest,

who wedded lx)hi Wclchcr, and is a resident of

Scottsvilie, Monroe county, where he is engaged in

the coal business; ajid Jjcc, J{ay and Olive, all

under the parental roof. All have been given good
educational advantages, having attended the

schools of Geneseo, Scottsvilie and Rochester.

Mr. Sickles gives his political support to the

republican party and has taken an active interest

in local political aifairs, having served as super-

visor for three years, as highway commissioner for

four years and has also been inspector of election.

Pie is a Mason, belonging to the blue lodge at

Scottsvilie. He likewise belongs to the Grange
and attends the Methodist church. He is num-
bered among tlie leadinsr agriculturists of this

locality, where Jiis hoiKirable business dealings and
his loyalty in citizenship have gained for him high

regard and lasting friendships.

HARRISON EDWIN WEBSTER, LL.D.

Harrison i'jdwiu Webster, who in educational

circles and in tlie field of scicnlilic researcii and

authorship gained international distinction and

recognition, spent his last days in Rochester, where

for some time he was a professor in the University

of Rochester after which he was for six years presi-

dent of Union College, at Schenectady, New York.

He was born in Cattaraugus county. New York,

September 8, 1841, and when seven years of age

went to Clayville, Oneida county. New York, with

his parents, his father being a scythe-maker of that

town. The advantages afforded him in youth were

meager. A common-school education did not

satisfy the desires of this ambitious young man
and hirgely witiiout tlie iissistnnco of teachers ho

prepared himself for college. In 1859 he ma-

triculnled as a sLndcnt in Union College, where he

remained until after the oulbreak of Uie Civil war,

when feeling that his first duty was to his country

he enlisted in the One Hundred and Seventeenth

Regiment of New York Infantry, with which he

served as a private for three years, receiving then

an honorable discharge. In tlie army his com-
manding officers often assigned him to responsible

duties requiring executive skill and a controlling

will.

Following his return from the battle-fields of

the south Dr. Webster engaged in teaching until

he again found opportunity to enter Union Col-
lege, from which he was graduated with the high-
est rank in the class of 1868. His entire life was
devoted to educational work. Following his gradu-
ation he was offered and accepted the position of

tutor in natural history at Union College and in

1873 was promoted to the professorship in the

same department, continuing to act in that capa-

city until 1883. In the interim he spent much
time in original research and in scientific expedi-
tions along the Atlantic and Gulf coasts and at

the Bermuda Islands. He collected rare speci-

mens of great value, which he afterward presented

to the college and he acquired an international

reputation as a scientist. He spent altogether

eighteen summers collecting specimens of natural

history from Maine to Florida and Union College

was much enriched by his gifts of this character.

In 1883 he resigned his professorship in Union
College to accept the professorship of geology and
natural history in the University of Rochester,

where he contintied until 1888, when he was ojBEered

the presidency of his alma mater and returned to

it with an ambition to restore something of its

old-time prestige. This ambition was realized.

When he accepted the presidency the students

numbered only sixty and when he resigned on ac-

count of ill health in 1894 there were two hun-

dred and fifty in attendance. He was also instru-

JTiental in securing great improvement in the col-

lego buildings and grounds and in tlieir equipment

and in bettering tlie financial condition of the in-

slitntioji. His last days were spent in his own
home in Rochester, whci'e he dieil June 10, 190G.

His health was impaired during the Civil war and
he never fully recovered. He led, however, a most
active life, his labors often being of a most strenu-

ous character and his position in the scientific

world is indicated by the fact that he was an
active, honored and valued member of many scien-

tific societies, including the Phi Beta Kappa and
Sigma Psi societies, while the Albany Medical Col-

lege conferred upon him the degree of M. D. in

1881, and the University of Rochester conferred

upon him the LL.D. degree in 1888. He was the

author of some important writings on the zoology

of invertobraios, and wrote five for government

publications on the Annelida Chaetopeda of vari-

ous vsections of the Atlantic coast" and' the Ber-

mudas. On these subjects he was a recognized

authority among European as well as American

scientists.

Dr. Webster was married in 1870 to Miss Isa-

belle McKechnie of New Jersey and some time

after her death he married her sister, Rachel Mc-

Kechnie. They lost their second child, Jessie,

while the surviving members of the family are

Edwin J., who is now on the editorial staff of the
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Eochester Times; Mrs. Annie Webster Noel of

New York city ; Ealpli Price, who is with the East-

man Company on State street, Rochester; and
Thomas, who is with L. P. Ross, in Rochester.

M^'s. Webster still makes her home in this city,

residing at No. 5 Sumner Park.
Perhaps no better summary of his characteristics

can be given than in the words published at his

death: "Dr. Webster was a voracious reader, a

good classical scholar, and an independent investi-

gator and thinker. liisniembry was i-emarkably

retentive and accurate, and his kuowlodge, espe-

cially of American and general histoiy and the

various systems and doctrines of political economy
and sociology, was extensive and profound. His
religious views were liberal, and became less and
less rigid during the leisurely studies of his later

years. He was a fluent speaker and always inter-

esting before a public audience, seldom using any
notes. Few men equalled him in swift, effective

repartee or brilliant monologue tinged with good-
humored satire, when engaged in conversation.

And added to his other fine qualities was that of

downright honesty in thought, word and deed."

WILLIS C. COOK, M. D.

The state of New York has attracted within its

confines men of marked ability and high character

in the various professional lines, and he whose
name initiates this review has gained recognition

as one of the able and successful physicians of the

state, and by his labors, his high professional at-

tainments and his sterling characteristics com-

mands the utmost respect not only of the medical

fraternity but of the general public as well, and
in Brockport, where he has been engaged in prac-

tice since 1887, he has become the loved family

physician in many a household.

Dr. Cook is a native son of the Empire state,

his birth having occurred in Bergen, Genesee coun-

ty, June 25, 1832. His paternal grandfather,

Lemuel Cook, was a native of Norwich, Connecti-

cut, and served in the Revolutionary war under
General Washington, who signed his discharge

papers. Following tbe war the grandfather lo-

cated at Pompey Hill, in Onondaga county, while

later he took up his abode in Clarendon, where he
died at the very extreme age of one hundred and
seven year3,i;the only Eevolutionary soldier known
to be alive at that date, March 6, 1863.
The fatlier, Curtis Cook, was a native of Pom-

pey Hill, Onondaga county, and at an earlv day
settled in Bergen, while later he removed to
Clarendon, where he was engaged in farming
throughout his entire active business career, own-
ing a farm of one hundred and twenty acres, siti'-

ated near the old Root schoolhouse. He wedded
Betsy Snow Brown, a daughter of Richard Brown,
of Vermont, he being one of the first three white

settlers of Byron, Genesee county, locating on a

farm tlicrc, where his death occurred in 1852,

when he had reached the advanced age of ninety-

six years. Both the parents are now deceased, the

father having been called to his final rest Decem-
ber 1, 1883, when he had reached the age of

eighty-three years, while the mother survived for

a few years and passed away -on the old home-
stead, being ninety-one years of age at the time of

her demise. The father gave his political support

to tlie republican party and supported the Sweden
Baptist church. His family numbered six children

:

Henry, a resident of Coldwater, Michigan; Willis

C, of this review; Rosetta, who is the wife of

Henry Vandeburg, a farmer of Sweden township,

Monroe county; and Nancy, William F. and Whit-
ney, all of whom have passed away.

Dr. Cook, the second in order of birth in his

father's family, was reared under the parental
roof, assisting his father in the duties connected
with the operation of the old homestead propertv
and acquiring his early education in the Root
school. At the outbreali of the Civil Avar, loyal to

his country, he offered his services to the govern-
ment, enlisting November 16, 1861, as a member
of Company K, Thirteenth Michigan Volunteer
Infantry, and was discharged at Detroit on ac-

count of disability on the 8d of November, 1863,
with the rank of sergeant. He re-enlisted as a
veterinary surgeon in the Ninth Michigan Cavalry
and served in that capacity until the close of the
war, being discharged at Lexington, North Caro-
lina, July 21, 1865.

Following his return home from the war ho once
more took up his abode in Monroe county but
eventually decided upon the practice of medicine
as a life work and to that end, in 1883, entered
the medical department of Niagara University; at

Buffalo, where he studied for one year, subsequent
to which time he continued his studies in the

Northwestern University of Ohio, and in 1885
entered the Toledo Medical College, from which
he was graduated in that year. He then re-

turned to New York and located in Brockport,
where he has since been engaged in practice. He
has ever been a student of the science of medicine
and keeps abreast with the advancement which is

continually being made in the medical profession
through research and investigation. He is genial
and courteous in manner, devotedly attached to
his work, and therefore constant demand is being
made upon his services.

Dr. Cook has been twice married. His first wife
was Miss Adeline Hawks, whom he wedded in

1855, and who died two years later. His present
wife bore the maiden name of Marv E. Williams,
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and was born at Paw Paw, Michigan, a daughter

of Philip and Polly Williams, farming people of

that place. By her marriage Mrs. Cook has be-

come the mother of five children : Francis W., who
resides on a farm near Clarkson, New York; Carl

E., who is engaged in mining and the real-estate

business in the city of Mexico, where through his

operations he has accumulated a capital of three

}nillions of dollars; Lenore V., the wife of Charles

H. Philbrook, of New York city; J. W., who re-

sides in Rocliester, wliere he is engaged in the

drayage business; and Curtis L., a resident of

Chicago.

Like his father, the Doctor gives his political

support to the republican party. He has served as

health officer for ton years and was coroner's phy-

sician for two years. His fraternal relations are

with the Masonic order. Like tlio older genera-

tions of the Cook family tlie Doctor has rendered

valuable aid to his country, while his brother,

J. AV., served in the Spanish war, and his brother

Frank was with General Miles fighting the Indians

in the Rose Bud reservation. His life has been

one of continuous activity and that his profes-

sional labors have been crowned with a gratifying

measure of success is indicated by the fact that

he today enjoys a large and lucrative patronage

not only in the city of his residence but through-

out the surrounding districts as well.

DAVID COPELAND.

David Copeland, deceased, was for many years a
leading contractor of Rochester and later was ex-

tensively engaged in the manufacture of fine

furniture, but it was not alone liis prominent and
successful business enterprises that entitle him to

mention in this volume but his strong and salient

characteristics which gained him the regard and
respect of all with whom he came in contact. He
was actuated at all times by high and manly prin-

ciples and broad humanitarianism that recognized

the truth of universal brotherhood and of indi-

vidual responsibility. His acts of kindness were
many, his charity most generous and his co-opera-

tion in raovomonts of public worth was most cor-

dial and effective.

Mr. Copeland was a native son of Rochester,

born in September, 1832, his parents being David
and Martlia (Shepard) Copeland, who came to
this city about 1825 from Connecticut. The pater-

nal grandfather, Jonathan Copeland, was one of

Ihn lierocs of the ]?ovolutionary war nnd repre-

sented an old New England family. David Cope-
land became a commission merchant of Rochester
at an early day, was very prominent in the de-

velopment of the city and laid out Mount Hope
cemetei-y.

David Copeland was educated in Rochester and
when a young man began contracting, which busi-

ness he followed for ten years. He was associated

with liis brother Gerry in contracting in Michigan
for some time and while there they built the court-

house at Lansing. In 1859 David Copeland also

oi'ectcd the old Presbyterian church of Lansing,

which is a fine structure, and he likewise built

several residences on Plymouth avenue, the Catho-
lic church at the corner of Glasgow street and
Plymouth avenue, the Methodist church on Ply-

mouth avenue and the Baptist church on North
street. All three of these edifices for divine wor-

ship are still standing. He was likewise the

builder of the Home for the Friendless m lioches-

tcr and the Presbyterian church at Pittsford. He
spent the years 1875 and 1876 in California. Fol-

lowing his return he founded the business for

manufacturing the first Portland cement sewer

pipes in Rochester, carrying on that industry for

some time, and for many years he was the only

maker of Portland cement sewer pipes of the

city. In 1882 he bought out the business of H. 0.

Hall & Company, manufacturers of furniture on
Jay street, Rochester, at which time the firm of

Copeland, Durgin & Company was formed. They
manufactured sideboards, tables and all kinds of

high grade furniture, having a large factory send-

ing out an extensive output annually. In this

business 1c continued until his death, which oc-

curred Scpleiuhor 17, 18<?0.

Mr. Copeland had been married in 1858 to Mis3_

Emily Sabcy, wTio was horn in London, England,

and is a daughter of James Sabey, who came from

London to America in the year 1838. He spent

cne year in Michigan and then came to Rochester,

where his remaining days were passed. In 1849

he began business as a hatter and long continued

in that line on Main street. Interested and active

in the work of the church, he served as vestryman

in Christ church for many years. Following his

demise his widow gave to Christ church a beauti-

ful marble pulpit as a memorial to her husband.

Mr. Copeland was one of the first five gentlemen

who built cottages at the lake and one which he

erected is still standing. Mrs. Copeland has a

hrotlier and sister yet living in Rochester—George

Sabey and Mrs. Winn, residing on East avenue.

Unto Mr. and Mrs. Copeland were born four

children who are yet living : Clara May, who is at

home with her mother ; Jennie Isadore, the wife of

W. A. Naramore of Rochester; Albert Edward,

who carried on his father's business after the lat-

ter's death until lOOG, when ho sold out and is

now engaged in the real-estate business; and

Esther C, the wife of H. B. Swezey of Buffalo.

Mrs. Copeland now resides at 185 Rutgers street.
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Mr. Copeland was an elder in the Third Presby-

. terian church and was greatly interested in the

various church activities which resulted in tlie

promotion of its growth and tho oxlonsion of its

infiuoncc. His Ciiristiun I'aitli found daily exem-
plification in his life and led to his co-operation

with many movements directly beneficial to his

fellow citizens. He was a very benevolent man,
his charity was free and gracious and he responded

with ready sympathy and substantial aid to the

call of the poor and needy. He was the first

president of the Humane Society of Rochester,

was trustee of the Orphans Asylum, was super-

visor of the Homeopathic Hospital and for seven-

teen years was president of the Rochester Phil-

harmonic Society. He was also connected with the

official life of the city, being alderman of the

fourth ward for some time and school commis-
sioner for many years. Fraternally he was con-

nected with the Masonic lodge. He met fully

every obligation that devolved upon him, not from
a sense of duty but from principle. He did much
to ameliorate the hard conditions of lite for the

unfortunate, stood for an honest municipal gov-

ernment and was ever the champion of right, truth

and justice.

ADOLPH LIST.

Adolph List is the owner of a well improved

'tract of land of five acres, situate4,on West boule-

vard, in Irondequoit, and is here engaged in rais-

ing vegetables and fruits for tlic city markets. He
was born in Rochester, October 13, 1858, a son of

John List, who at an early day emigrated to Am-
erica from Germany and located in Eochester. His
first employment in this city Avas at digging the

canal at fifty cents per day and he was soon after-

ward employed in the yards of the New York Cen-

tral Railroad, working on engines. He was em-
ployed by this company for a quarter of a century,

having in the meantime acquired a good property

in the city. Upon severing his connection with
that firm he traded his town property for twenty-

eight acres of land in Irondequoit township, and
taking up his abode thereon he planted fifteen

acres to gi-apes, the fruit being used in the manu-
facture of wine. He also gave a part of his time
and attention to gardening. As a finn believer in

the principles and policy of the democratic party

he took an active interest in local political affairs.

Of his six children, five still survive : George, Louis
and Adolph, all of Irondequoit township; Louise,
the wife of H. Shannon, a resident of Rochester;
and Matilda, the wife of Charles Lee, also of

Rochester. The father passed away in 1892, hav-

ing for a long period survived his wife, who passed

away in the year 1867.

Adolph List was reared and educated in Roches-

ier and has iilwHys followed gardoiiiiig in order to

pi'ovide for liimself and family. In 18!)2 he pur-

cliased his present property and located thereon.

He has made many improvements upon the place

and has made it one of the valuable farms of this

section of the county. He has here five acres of

ground, on which he raises choice fruits and vege-

tables. The family are pleasantly situated in a

comfortable residence and there is also another

house on the place.
* Mr. List was united in marriage to Miss Delia

Camping, of Rochester, a daughter of Garrett

Camping. Their marriage has been blessed with

two sons and a daughter : George, a young man of

twenty-two years; Grace, seventeen years of age;

and Chester, a youth of twelve.

Mr. List has allied himself with the republican

party and liis fellow townsmen recognizing his

worth and ability have called him to fill some pub-

lic offices. He served as collector for two years and
has also served as a member of the town board.

Pioth he and his wife are charter members of the

Grange, and he is also identified with the Knights

of the Maccabees. His wife holds membership
with the Second Baptist church. They are people

of the highest respectability and worth and Mr.
List possesses many of the sterling qualities so

characteristic of his German ancestry and throiigh

determination of purpose and capable business

management has steadily worked his way iipward

until he has come to be numbei-ed among the sub-

stantial citizens of Irondequoit township.

CORNELIUS A. NICHOLS.

Cornelius A. Nichols has since 1887 served as

postmaster at Cliili Center, New York, whore he

is also jn'ominent as a merchant, carrying all

kinds of farm implements, fertilizers, coal, produce
and apples. Mr. Nichols is a native son of Chili

Center, his birth having here occurred May 20,

1858, being a son of Job and Catherine (Haines)
Nichols, both of whom were natives of Oxford-
shire, England. The father emigrated to the new
world in 1850, locating on a farm of thirty acres

in Chili Center, and was here engaged in business

as a farmer and gardener. Of the eight children
of the family only three now survive : Cornelius,

of this review; Henry, who resides in Chili town-
ship; and Jason, a resident of Coldwater, New
York.

Cornelius A. Nichols was educated in the pub-
lic schools of Chili Center and began to make
liis own way in the world at the early age of four-
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teen years. He was variously einplpycd until

1876, when he began work as a painter, having

in. the meantime learned the trade. In this con-

nection he did an extensive business in general

painting as well as carriage and sign painting, and
he had several men in his employ. In 1886 lie

opened a store, whicli he has since conducted, car-

rying a full line of agricultural implements as

well as fertilizers, coal, produce and apples. He
has built up a large patronage in these vari-

ous commodities by reason of his straightfoiTvard

business methods and his reasonable prices. He
has also since 1887 served as the efficient post-

master at this place, the duties of the office being

conducted in prompt and able manner. Mr. Nich-
ols owns a line store building and warehouses

besides three acres of ground and in the up-

building and development of liis home locality lie

has ever taken a deep and active interest.

Mr. Nichols was united in marriage to Miss

Fannie M. Smith, a native of Livingston county,

this state, and a daughter of Henry Smith. Their
marriage was celebrated in 1880 and has been

blessed with two sons and a daughter", Cornelius

A., Jr., James Craig and Kuby E., all still under
the parental roof.

In politics Mr. Nichols is a republican and for.

six years seiTed as supervisor, while for eleven

years he filled the office of town clerk. Fraternally

he belongs to tlie Eed Men and the Knights of

the Maccabees and is also identified with tlie

Grange, of which there is a membership of two
hundred and twenty-five. He belongs to the Bap-
tist church at Chili Center. Mr. Nichols is truly

a self-made man, for, starting out in life at an
early age, dependent upon liis own resoiirccs, he
has gradually worked his way upward until he
has gained that success which is ever the sure re-

ward of diligence, perseverance and industry, while

as a public officinl, as a businoss man and as a pri-

vate citizen lie enjoys the good will and liigli es-

teem of all with whom he is brought in contact.

JAKED W. HOPKINS.

Jarcd W. Hopkins, engaged in farming and the

dairy business, is tlie owner of a well improved
farm of one hundred' and seventy-two acres com-
prised in the home place and he likewise owns an
additional tract of one hundred acres, which he

leases. His land is located near Pittsford, which
is his postoffice address. He was born on a farm
near this city, August 11, 1857, and comes of Bng-
lisli anceal.ry, iho. family having been esiablishcd

in America by John Hopkins, who came in 1634
from Coventry, England, and settled in Cam-
bridge, Massachusetts. Caleb Hopkins, the pater-

nal grandfatlier of our subject, was an early settler

of Monroe county and was colonel of the Fifty--
second Regiment of militia, where he achieved
distinction as a brave and gallant soldier. Marvin
Hopkins, the father, was born October 26, 1803,
and in ] 830 he was united in marriage to Miss Jane
Phelps, who was born in Pittsford, November 13,

1813, and died November 22, 18.98, having for a
long period survived her husband, who passed away
December 19, 1867. As a supporter of democracy
he was prominent in its local ranks and by his

fellow townsmen he was frequently called to fill

positions of public trust and honor, serving at vari-

ous times as supervisor. In the family of Marvin
and Jane (Phelps) Hopkins were eight children,

of whom seven still survive : James, a resident of

Ccdarhurst, New York; Clarissa M., who first

wedded Lyman M. Barker, and after his death be-

came the wife of Orlando Austin, of Williamson;
Dorothy P., the wife of Charles W. Rogers, of

Pittsford; Robert M., a resident of Lockport;
George; Chauncey I., of Ohio; and Jared W., of

this review. The third member of the family,

Mary, died in infancy.

Jared W. Hopkins, the youngest member of his

father's family, was reared in much the usual man-
ner of farm lads, assisting in the operation of the

homestead property during the period of his

boyhood and youth, while his education was ac-

quired in the Pittsford and Lima schools. After

completing his education he assumed the manage-
ment of the home farm, being then a youth of

eighteen years, and agricultural pursuits have con-

tinued to be his occupation to the present time.

There is comprised in the home place a tract of

one hundred and seventy-two acres and he has

added many improvements thereto in the way of

good and substantial outbuildings, including a silo.

In connection with his agricultural interests he

likewise conducts a dairy business, keeping on

liand twenty-five cows. Mr. Hopkins is a practical

and progressive man in his labors and keeps every-

thing about his place in good condition. He has

set out an orchard on his place comprising three

hundred apple trees. In addition to the home
property he also owns a tract of one hundred acres,

which he rents, and in 1906, in company with Mr.

Schoen he purchased of Julian Gear one hundred

and sevcntv-two acres of land, which they expect

to lay out in town lots. He is also associated with

others in the Monroe Road Building Company, the

company having been organized for the purpose of

building state roads, etc., his partners in the busi-

ness being Charles G. Schoen and A. J. Eockwood.

On the 1st of Februarv, 1893, Mr. Hopkins was

united in marriage to Miss Lottie May Nye, who

was born in Pittsford, a daughter of Alvin E. Nye,

an earlv settler of this locality, being engaged in

Die farming and nursery business. The home of
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Mr. and Mrs. Hopkins has been blessed with four

children, Irving Nye, Phelps A., Delora and Jane
E., aged respectively twelve, nine, six and Ave

years.

Mr. Hopkins formerly allied himself witli the

democratic party but for the past eiglit years has

supported the men and measures of the republican

party. For five years he served as assessor and in

the fall of 1903 was elected supervisor. The fam-

ily are communicants of the Presbyterian church.

Monroe county numbers him among her most sub-

stantial and honored citizens, for his career has

ever been characterized by liigli and manly prin-

ciples which have coninumdcd the respect of all

with whom he is associated whether in business,

public or social life.

REV. NELSON MILLARD, D. D.

Rev. Nelson Millard, well known in Rochester

as a minister of the gospel, his reputation, how-
ever, being by no means limited by the confines of

the city or even of the state, was born in Delhi,

Delaware county, New York, on the 2d of October,

1834, his parents being William and Anna
(Loomis) Millard, now of New York but of Con-
necticut ancestry. His father was twice married

and had six children by the first marriage and five

by the second, Dr. Millard being the youngest of

the eleven and the only one now living. He pre-

pared for college at Delaware Academy in his

native town and afterward matriculated in Union
College, from which he was graduated in 1853

on the completion of a classical course, winning
the degree of Bachelor of Arts. Tiiree years later

the Master of Arts degree was conferred upon him.

For one year after his graduation he taught in a

boys' private school. He then returned to Union
College as tutor for four years. Having deter-

mined upon the ministi7 as a life work, he at-

tended Princeton Tlicologicnl Sominnry for one
year and afterward the Union Theological Semin-
ary in New York, from which he was graduated

in 1860. The succeeding year and a half were
spent in study and travel in Europe and thus he

supplemented his theological course. Upon his

return to his native land he was offered the profes-

sorship of logic and rhetoric in Union College,

but preferred to enter the ministry and accepted

the pastorate of the First Presbyterian church at

Montclair, New Jersey, where he remained for five

years. He was then called to Chicago, where he
continued in ministerial work for a year and a

half.

On leaving that city Dr. Millard was married
to Mi?s Alice Isabellc Bovd, of Montclair, New
Jersey. In 1869 he became pastor of the Second

Presbyterian church of Peekskill, New York, and

in 1872 he accepted a call from the First Presby-

terian church at Syracuse, New York, where he

remained until 188-1. lie was then established in

the pastorate of the Broadway Congregational

church of Norwich, Connecticut, and in 1887

came to Rochester as pastor of the First Presby-

terian church of this city. Such were his labors

for thirteen years and both as pastor and preacher

he gained favor and popularity, being recognized

as one of the strongest ministers of the city, his

intcliectiml force and keen discernment, combined

with his earnest purpose, nuikiug him one of the

leading representatives of the Christian ministry

in this city. Since his retirement from the pastor-

ate of the First Presbyterian church, which is one
of the strongest congregations of western New
York, he has occupied much of his time in supply-

ing churches in various parts of the state and in

New York city, together with other points in the

east and in the west. His writings are quite

voluminous and have appeared in many leading

papers. He has preached before the faculty and
students of Cornell University, Vassar College,

Hamilton College, Blmira College and Auburn
Seminary and has delivered baccalaureate and
other addresses at his alma mater and in other

institutions of learning. The honorary degree of

Doctor of Divinity was conferred upon him by
Union College in 1874. Writing in 1884, Alfred
Neven, D. D., LL. D., in the Presbyterian Ency-
clopedia, said: "Dr. Millard, by original taste

and tendency, is especially fond of intellectual

])hilosophy. At the same time the controlling in-

fluences of his life liavc been eminently practical,

aiming at constant elTectivcncss in the way of
moral and spiritual results. As a consequence of
the combination of these two tendencies, aided by
a bright imagination and a ready talent for felicit-

ous illustration, his preaching (which is without
manuscript) has been vigorously intellectual, deal-
ing with principles and roots of doctrine and yet

practical and steadily fruitful, being popular in
the sense that the common people have heard him
gladly." In 1903, Dr. Millard took an extended
trip through the Orient and on the way visited the
Madeira Islands, Gibraltar, Spain, Malta, Algiers,

Greece, Constantinople, Palestine and Egypt, and
on his return home he visited Italv and France.

In 1905, Dr. Millard, having "after long and
careful deliberation come to the conclusion that
his theological views were radically different from
those embodied in the Westminster Confession of
Faith, which is the standard creed of the Presby-
terian church, withdrew from that church and has
since occupied the position of an independent
dertn'man. Dr. Millard has two children: Ernest
Boyd, who was born December 11, 1871, and is

now a successful practicing attorney of Rochester;
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and Ethel FloroiU'c, born Dccombcr 2!), 1883. Mrs.

Millard, who was a lady of iimny strong, well

defined and commendable traits oE character and a

great helpmate to her husband, died on the 15th

of May, 1896.

JOHN F. W. AVIIITBECK, M. D.

Doctor John F. W. Whitbeck, one oi! Rochester's

most prominent physicians, was born at Lima,
Livingston county. New York, in November, 1844.

His parents were John F. and Elizabeth (Ward)
Whitbeck, the former born in Herkimer county.

New York, while the latter was also a nutive of the

Empire state. The father engaged in the practice

of medicine after being graduated from the Fair-

field Medical School and also from the University

of Pennsylvania. Ho practiced in Livingston

county and later in Rochester, where he followed

his profession for over forty years. He was ac-

corded a very libornl patronage and was quite suc-

cessful ill his chosen field of labor. Ho died in

December, 1880, at the age of sixty-eight years,

and his death Avas the occasion of deep and wide-

spread regret among the many friends whom he

had won during the long years of his residence in

Rochester.

Doctor Whitbeck of this review was one of five

children, three of whom are yet living. He was
educated in the public schools of Rochester, being

graduated from the old Rochester high school in

the class of 1863 and from the Rochester Univer-

sity in 1867. He detennined to engage in the

practice of medicine as a life work and to this

end became a student in the medical department of

the University of Pennsylvania. He completed his

course there in 1870, after which he spent three

years abroad. During most of tliat time he was
in Germany and pursued special coni'ses in sur-

gery and gynecology imder some of tlic most re-

nowned members of the medical fraternity of that

land. Thus splendidly qualified for his profession,

he returned to Rochester in 1873, opened an office

and began practice. He is well versed in every

department of the medical science and engages in

general practice, but makes a specialty of surgery

and gynecology. He is now a member of the sur-

gical stafE of the Rochester City Hospital and dur-

ing Governor Flower's administration he was a

member of the state board of health. He has been

a frequent and valued contributor to various medi-
cal journals and has written many papers for the

difEerent medical societies to which he belongs. He
holds membership with the American Medical As-
sociation, the Medical Society of the Slate of

New York, the Monroe County Medical Society

and the Rochester Academy of Medicine, while of

the Rochester Pathological Society he is an honor-

ary member. In 1892 he established a hospital on
Park avenue, which he conducted until 1904. He
stands prominent among the many successful phy-
sicians of the city, and indeed his reputation has
extended throughout the state.

Doctor Whitbeck was married to Miss Fannie A.
Van llusan, of Detroit, Michigan, and they had
two sons : Brainerd H., who is a graduate of Har-
vard College and also of the Columbia Medical Col-

lege of New York, in which city he is now practic-

ing, is married and has one son ; Caleb Van Husan,
also a graduate of Harvard College and the pub-
lisher of a newspaper at Hackensack, New Jersey,

is married, resides in New York and has one son.

Doctor Whitbeck has erected a beautiful home
at 322 East avenue, Rochester, the plan having
been made by W. H. Miller, an architect of Ithaca.

It is one of the finest residences of the city and is

the scene of many a delightful social function.

Doctor Whitbeck belongs to the Delta Kappa
Epsilon fraternity in Rochester, is a member of

the Genesee Valley Club and also of the Country
Club of Rochester. He has a very wide acquaint-

ance and is ])rominent socially. His attention,

however, is chiefly given to his practice, which is

very extensive and important, and in a calling

where advancement depends entirely upon indi-

vidual merit he has gained a place among the

leading physicians of the city.

GEORGE R. CRAM.

George R. Cram is conducting a livery and
boarding stable on Brighton street, in Rochester,

where he has won a gratifying measure of success

through the capable management of his business

interests. He was born on a farm in Sweden town-
ship, in 1850, a son of H. G. and Sarah (Frohalk)

Cram. The father came by team and wagon
from New Hampshire to Moni"oe county and
settled on a farm in Sweden township. He pur-

chased a tract comprising three hundred and fifty

acres of land and for a long period was success-

fully engaged in carrying on agricultural pursuits.

He was assessor of the township for a number of

years and his death there occurred in 1883, when
he had reached the advanced age of seventy-three

years.

George R. Cram was reared to farm life, assist-

ing his father in the operation of his extensive

landed possessions, while during the winter months
he acquired his early education in the common
schools and later received more advanced training

in Lima Seminaiy. He remained with his father on

the home farm until thirty-six years of age and

then engaged in business on his own account as a

wholesale dealer in flour, his busmess being con-

ducted in the old Sibley block, in Rochester. He
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carried on that enterprise for eiglit years and fif-

teen years ago purchased the boarding stable of

Anthony Cole on Brighton street. In connection

with this he also carries on a livery business,

keeping on hand eight horses and a number of

vehicles and he employs three men to assist him m
his work.

In 1877 Mr. Cram was united in marriage to

Miss Sophia Dewey, who was born in Sweden

township, a daughter of Jesse Dewey, an early

settler of that section, where he is engaged in

farming.

Mr. Cram gives his Rolilicnl support to the re-

publican party and in Ins business alfairs is meet-

ing with gratifying success, for he is a man of

good business ability and one who studies the de-

mands of the traveling public as well as the local

trade. In his. work he is eminently practical and

tliis lias been manifest not only in his business

ventures but also in social and private life.

C. W. TROTTER & SONS.

This name at once suggests a power in manu-

facturing circles in Monroe county, for at the head

of the firm of C. W. Trotter & Sons, manufacturers

of refrigerators, furnaces and ranges, is C. W.
Trotter, who is a distinguished type of a self-made

man. The sons, like the father, are progressive,

far-sighted and sagacious, and thus, continually

guarding the business, it now takes leadership

among the prominent manufacturing enterprises

not only of Rochester but of the state of New
York. •

C. W. Trotter was born in Belfast, Ireland, in

1838, and comes of Scotch and Irish descent. He
is a son of Charles W. Trotter, who on coming to

this counti7 settled in Cleveland, Ohio. The son

was educated in the common schools and also pur-

sued his studies in a night school. He came to

Rochester in 1854, when a youth of si.vteen years,

and began learning the tinning and sheet iron ousi-

ness of Alfred Wright, who was the proprietor of

one of the most prominent enterprises of this char-

acter in the city. In 1873 he began the manu-
facture of refrigerators, furnaces and ranges on

Exchange street, under the firm name of 'rrotter

& Stone, his partner being George Stone. The
business was thus conducted for a decade, when, in

1883, Mr. Trotter purchased his partner's interest

and has since admitted his two sons, the business

now being conducted under the name of C. W.
Trotter & Sons. They are engaged in the manu-
facture of refrigerators, furnaces and ranges ana

their trade has been built up until it has now
reached extensive proportions, the iiroducts of the

factory being sold throughout the city and they

also sliip to all the prominent cities of this and

other states. Justice has ever been maintained in

the relations of the members of the firm to their

employes and many of those who began with them
at the commencement of their career are still in

their service, one man having been continuously in

the eniplov of Mr. Trotter for the past thirty-three

years. The business is carried on in accordance

with the most straightforward and honorable meth-

ods, and this has secured to the company a patron-

age Avliich makes their volume of trade of great

importance.

C. W. Trotlor was married in (liis city lo Miss

Jennie Stanley, who is of English descent. Their

marriage has been blessed with two sons and a

daughter: fTarry L., who wedded Miss Grace El-

well, of Rochester, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. E. D.

Elwell, by whom he has a son, Charles Elwell;

Frank C, who wedded Miss Ethel Parsons, of

Jioclu'ster, dauglitcr of Mr, and Mrs. Cornelius II.

Parsons; and Charlotte, the wife of Dr. L. M.
Bunnell, a native of Scranton, Pennsylvania, and
now a resident of Detroit, Michigan. The sons are

associated with their father in business and are

young men of ability and enterprise, inheriting

many of the sterling characteristics of their father.

C. W. Trotter is a republican, and is serving as

one of tlie trustees of tlie Industrial School and of

the Clianiber of Commerce. Prominent in social

circles, he is a member of the AVhist Club, while

the sons belong to the Rochester and other clubs.

Mr. Trotter is truly a self-made man, for starting

out in life without the assistance of others and
with but a fair education, he has through his ex-

cellent management and close application attained

a foreinost place in manufacturing circles in Ro-
cliestci'.

PHINEHAS FORD.

For forty yeiirs Phinohas Ford was a factor in

the business life of Rochester and thus he well

merits the rest which is vouchsafed to him. Since

1888 he has lived retired, his home being now at

No. 173 Lake avenue. He came to Rochester in

1847 from Batavia, New York, where he was born
in April, 1838. His father, Phinehas Ford, Sr.,

removed to Batavia from Connecticut and spent

his remaining days there, devoting his life to

farming. Upon the home farm the son was reared

and the common schools afforded him his educa-

tional privileges. He was a young man of about

nineteen years when he came to this city and began
learning the jeweler's trade with the firm of Stan-

ton k Brotlipr. He spent four years in that way,

dnrinjnf whicii time lie gained a thorough knowledge

of the business in principle and detail, after which
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lie o|)eued a jcwcIit sloiu oC liis own. IK; 1ms
seen many cliangps since comiiif; to ]?ocliestcr. At
tlie timo lie opoiicd business his location was on
State street and his. last location was in the

Waverly Hotel block, where he remained for over

thirty years. In the meantime he bought three

stores in the Waverly Hotel block, now the Savoy,

south of the entrance. He did engraving for

nearly all of the imdertakcrs in the city and he was
very successful in his mercantile interests, carry-

ing a large line of jewelry, for which he found a

leady sale. He realized a fair profit upon his goods
and thus annually added to his income until

through his careful management he had acquired

a snug fortune. In 1888 he sold out to Mr. Powers
and retired from active life, since which time he
has been living in well earned ease.

]\1r. Ford's wife, who bore the maiden name of

Orissa Jeanette IMumford, died in the year 1889.

In 1874 he had built his present home at No. 173
Ijakc avenue, in connection with which he also

owns a cottage at I'enn Yan on Lake Keuka.
He was a trustee of Keuka College and is still

honorary trustee. lie is essentially a lover of

home and lias always preferred to remain at liis

own fireside ratlier tlian take an active pfirt in

club life or political interests. However, he votes

with the republican party and is a member of the

Masonic fraternity, while the family are all mem-
bers of the Brick church of Rochester. His career

is another evidence of the fact that in America
where "labor is king" advancement and success

come in recognition and reward of earnest, per-

sistent, honorable effort.

GENERAL ELWELL STEPHEN OTIS.

(ieneral Elwell Stephen Otis, now retired, de-

volcd more (Iniii forly years of his life to active

militiiry service, lie cnicred the army in the Civil

war, did active duty on the plains of the west, was
connuandiug general of the forces in the Philip-
pines and governor of the island and later was as-

signed to the command of the Lakes with head-
quarters in Chicago, where he remained until he
was retired. 'Tis a record of signal, usefulness

and honor.

General Otis was born on the 25th of March.
1838, in Frederick City, Maryland, a son of Wil-
liam and Mary A. C. (Late) Otis, the former a

native of Maine and the latter of Mai-yland. The
removal of the family to Rochester enabled Gen-
eral Otis to pursue his studies in the University of

Kochester, from which institution he was gradu'
ated in tlie class of 1858. His more specifically

literary course completed, he matriculated in Har-
vard Tjaw School, from which he was graduated

with tlio degree of Bachelor of Law in 18G0. He
luid previously, however, been admitted to the bar.

After attending the university at Cambridge for

three terms he took up the practice of law in Ro-
chester and was also clerk of the board of super-

visors here. Shortly after the outbreak of the

Civil war he responded to the country's call for

aid. He had been a close stiident of the events

which preceded the struggle, had noted the threat-

ening attitude of the south and resolved that if a

blow was struck for the overthrow of the Union he

would stand loyally in its defense. Accordingly,

soon after hostilities were inaugurated, he raised

Company D, of the One Hundred and Fortieth

Regiment of New York Infantij, and as captain

went to the front on the 13th of September, 1862.

This was the beginning of a military record which
icflects credit and honor upon the military history

of his state. His meritorious conduct on the field of

battle won him promotion to the rank of lieuten-

ant colonel of his regiment on the 23rd of Decem-
ber, 18G3, and subsequently to that of colonel, but

he was never mustered into the United States serv-

ice as such, as his regiment lacked the numerical

siicngth requisite under the then existing orders to

fill that ofRce. He was honorably discharged on

the 24th of -January, 1865, by reason of a serious

wound received in battle on November 1, 1864,

while fighting with the Regular Brigade of the

Army of the Potomac which he commanded part

of the summer and fall of 1864. He was- brevetted

colonel and brigadier general of volunteers for gal-

lantly at Spottsylvania and distinguished services

at Chapel House. He was appointed lieutenant

colonel of the Twenty-second Infantry, U. S. A., on

the 28th of July, 1866, and brevetted colonel U.
S. A., March 2, 1867. On the 8th of February,

1880, he was promoted to the jank of colonel of

the Twentieth Infantry, was made brigadier gen-

oral of the regular army November 28, 1893, and

major general of United States Volunteers on the

4tli of May, 1898, while on the IGtli of June,

1900, he was commissioned major general of the

United States army, having been brevetted major

general the previous year for "military skill and

most distinguished services in the Philippine

Isl'iuds."

lie has always rogiirdcd Rochester" as his home
but for nearly forty years was on active duty on

the plains of the west. On the 19th of May, 1898,

after the declaration of war with Spain, he was

assigned to duty in San Francisco for the mobiliz-

ing and shipping of troops to the Philippines. He
departed for the Philippines on the 15th of July

of that year and relieved Major General Merritt

as commanding general of the United States forces

and as governor of the islands on the 29th of

August, 1898. He then conducted operations

against the insurgents and performed the duties of
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military governor until May 5, 1900, when he was
relieved therefrom at his own request on account

of illness. He was a member of the United States

Philippine Commission in 1899 and he was as-

signed to the command of the Department of the

Lakes, with headquarters at Chicago, on the 29tli

of October, 1900. He retired at the age of sixty-

four jears and now resides in a beautiful homo in

Eochester. To enter into a detailed account of his

military service would be to entrench on the prov-

ince of history but to those at all acquainted witli

the military i*ecords of the nation it is unnecessary

to say that at all times he has been the typical

soldier, of undaunted patriotism, of unraltorinf!;

loyalty, thoroughly familiar with tlie art and
science of war and with the practical phases

of a military life as manifested in active duty upon
the field of battle, upon tho frontier and in the

subjugation of the rebellious forces in our colonial

possessions. His faithfulness and ability won him
promotion and with a most creditable military rec-

ord he was retired after reaching the age limit.

General Otis has been married twice. He first

wedded Louise Selden, of Eochester, and they had
two children: Laura Lee; and Mrs. Mary Louise
Isham, of Chicago. For his second wife General
Otis chose Mrs. Louise Bowman McAlester, of

Wilkesbarre, Pennsylvania, and they had one
daughter, Louise B.

In his political views General Otis has always
been a republican, recognized as an active member
of the party and one whose opinions carry weight
in its councils. He has served as delegate to the
state conventions and in other ways has promoted
its interests. He is also a valued factor in tho so-

cial life of the city, being a member of the Valley
Club and of tlie Country Club. Tlie General now
owns a beautiful and attractive home in Eocliestcr
and is enjoying the rest to which his years of active
and arduous military service well entitle him.

GE0B6E H. LANE.

George H. Lane, for more than a third of a cen-
tury a resident of Eochester, was well known in
newspaper circles and also in political circles. He
was a man of generous nature, of genial spirit and
cordial disposition, whose many good qualities
gained for him the esteem and trust of a large
circle of friends. He was horn in Troy, New
Yoi-k, June 3G, 1843. His fatlicr, Abraham Lane,
was a native of Connecticut and was a blacksmith
by trade. He followed that pursuit in his early
years but subsequently went to California, where
he turned his attention to mining, continuing in
that field of activity until his life's labors were
ended in death in June, 1863.

George H. Lane acquired his education in Nor-
walk, Connecticut, and in the Clinton Liberal

School. He then went to Tuffts College in 1862

and when his education was completed he came to

Eochester and entered the ollice of the Union and

Advertiser, where he remained for eighteen and a

half years. He became one of the best known men
in connection with that office, his business ability,

executive force and enterprise constituting a

strong element in the success of the paper. On his

retirement from tliat olTice he accepted the posi-

tion of under slierilf hy appointment of John A¥.

Hannon mid later was appointed by Shorill

Tlionnia C. Hodgson.

On the 20th of March, 1866, Mr. Lane was
united in marriage to Miss Ella L. Scranton, a

daughter of Henry Scranton, who was born in

Durham county, Connecticut, October 30, 1796.

He acquired his education in the common schools

of his native city and came to Eochester in the

year 1812. The entire journey was made in a cart

drawn by oxen, and he reached his destination on
the 1st of May. He first occupied a little room on

what is now South St. Paul street and on the 4ih
of July, of the same year, he removed into a log

house on the west side of the river which he had
in the meantime erected. He became proprietor

of a toy store and his place of business was known
as the old Smith block. He continued in that line

of merchandising until his death, which occurred
on the 8th of December, 1868, and was classed

as one of the representative business men of the
city, continuing in trade here for about half a
century. ITis name is tlieroforo well Imown in

commercial circles and the success wliich he gained
was Justly merited because of liis lionesty in d'd

business transactions and liis unfaltering diligence.
He was also well Icnown in connection with com-
munity affairs and at all times stood for progres-
sive citizenship. For two years he was alderman
in the city council from the second ward and his
political support was given to the republican party
from tlie time of its organization. He was a mem-
ber of the Masonic fraternity when the Morgan
excitement occurred, and his Christian faith' is

manifest by his membership in the Lutheran
church.

The Scranton family has been well known in
Monroe county for almost a century. Hamlet
Scranton was born in Durham county and arrived
in Eochester May 1, 1812. He built a log house
into which lie removed on tlio 'Ith of July, this
being the first house on the west side of the river.
He afterward purchased a dwelling on State street,

where he lived until his death in 1850. He had
three sons and three daughters: Henry, Edwin,
Hamlet, Delia, Hannah and Jane. Of this family,
Hamlet D. Scranton was born in 1860 and in early
life was engaged in the drug business. He after-
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WiU'd bocamc fi paying loUoi' iu llio Goiuniorcial

Bank of Albany and later was caphier in the Com-
inei'cifil I?nnk of .BuH'alo. Upon liis return to

Rochester lie aueoptcd a position in tlio oilico ot the

canal superintendent where he continued for some
years, when he become proprietor oi' Congress Hall,

managing it successfully for several years, after

which he retired. He was also vice president of

the Mechanics Savings Bank and was well known
in financial circles iu the state. He held mem-
bership in St. Luke's church and died in the year

1882. Edwin H. Scranton was born May 9, 1813,

and learned the printer's trade which he followed

for some years. He was editor of the Rochester

Ginn, one of the first newspapers in the city, and
he became an auctioneer, continuing in that busi-

ness until his death in 1880. Delia Scranton was
married in 1815 to Jehiel Barnard, the first tailor

in Rochester, and theirs was the first marriage
celebrated in this city. They lived to celebrate

their golden wedding. Hannah Scranton became
the wife of Martin Briggs in 183.5 and they lived

in Rochester throughout their married life, the

lady passing awny i)\ 18fi'i.

Unto Mr. niid Mi's. George 11. Lane was horn
a (laughter, Mary Moore ]jane, wliose birth oc-

curred in Rochester, August 10, 1884. She ac-

quired her education in a female seminary on
South Fitzhugh street, and since completing her
course has made her home with her mother. Arch
Scranton Lane, who was born in Rochester, De-
cember 12, 1878, finished his course in public
scliool No. 4 in Rochester, in 1892, and after-

ward became a student in the Rochester Free
Academy and in the Rochester Business Institute.

He then entered tlie Alliance Bank as bookkeeper
but is now engaged in business on his own ac-
count.

George II. Lane, the father, was injured on the
30th of September, 1896, by falling into an ele-

vator well and died December 27, 1896. He had
become well known iti Ifoclicstcr during the years
of his residence here, and his business career and
his official services gained for him the respect and
good will of his fellowmen, so that his death was
deeply regretted when he passed from this life.

TUM BAlUJOCiv FA]\11LY.

The founder of the Brighton, New York, branch
of the Babcock family was James Babcock, boi-n in

Essex county, England, in 1612, and died in 1679,
in the town of Westerly, Rhode Island, leaving a
family of children. He was a man of influence in

the conimuity in wliich he lived as the colonial

records of Rhode Island testify. He married his

first wife Sarah , who died in 1665,

leaving a family of four children. In 16G9 he
married liis second wife Elizabeth -, by
whom lie bad three children.

.lohn Babcock of tiie secoiul generation, born in

Portsmouth, Rhode Island, 1644, married Mary
jjawton, of the same place. He was very promi-
nent in public alt'airs, being the largest landowner
of his generation. He was in King Phillip's war,

volunteered his services in the Connecticut militia,

and was in the great swamp fight. For his services

in tliis war he was given a large tract of land by
the colony of Connecticut. He served in the colo-

nial legislature for several years and held many
positions of public responsibility. In 1685 he died

in Westerly, Rhode Island, leaving a lamily of ten

children. A large amount of his vast landed in-

terests is still in the possession of his descendants.

Captain James Babcock of the third generation

was born in Westerly, Rhode Island, in 1663, and
died there January 17, 1736-7. He married Eliza-

beth Saunders in 1G87. She died March 3, 1730-1,

in the sixty-ninth year of her age, leaving seven

children. He married, second. Content Maxon,
July 7, 1731, by Avhom he had three children.

Cm plain James Babcock was captain of a military

company in Westerly. He was a very prominent
man, being town treasurer, and town councilman

for several years. He was in the legislature of the

colony of Rhode Island the years 1701-06-07-08-

09-16. It is recorded in the Colonial Records of

Rhode Island, that he was the wealthiest man of

his generation, and was as generous and kind as he

was rich. In his long will, which he drew up and

wrote himself, it is noticed he left a large legacy

to his church which was the Seventh Day Baptist.

James Babcock, Jr., of the fourth generation,

was born in Westerly, Rhode Island, December 23,

1688. He died in Stonington, Connecticut, April

9, 1731. On June 12, 1706, he married Sarah

VoRC, of Milton, Massachusetts. She was born in

Milton, August 30, 1684, and died in North Ston-

ington, Connecticut, December 25, 1758. Mr.

Babcock was but forty-three years of age at the

time of his decease. He left a family of ten chil-

dren. Both he and his estimable wife were buried

on their home farm. A few years ago their re-

mains were removed to a well kept cemetery close

at hand. Their old liomcstead is still standing.

Janics Babcock, ,1 1., seems to have been his father's

favorite child. He was not only a very upright

Christian man, but was prominent in his com-

munity, and very highly respected by all who knew
him.

Isaiah Babcock, of the fifth generation, was born

in North Stonington, Connecticut, January 29,

1719. He married Elizabeth Plumb, daughter of

George and Prudence Plumli, of Stonington, Con-

necticut. Their family of eight sons and two

daughters were all born in Stonington and Volun-

town, Connecticut. Mr. Babcock with his family.



493 HISTORY OF ROCHESTEE AND MONROE COUNTY.

excepting the eldest son, in the year 1773, removed
to Partridgefield (now Hinsdale and Peru), Berk-
shire county, Massachusetts. He was a very promi-
nent man in Massachusetts, being elected to the

committee on safety, March 1, 1779, and is so re-

corded in the town records of Partridgefield, now
found in the town clerk's office of the town of

Peru. Seven of his eight sons served in the Colo-

nial army in the War of the Revolution, and are

officially recorded in the war department at Wash-
ington. His daughter related, her father, then
sixty-eight years of age, was with his seven sons in

the battle of Yorktown and assisted in the capture
of Lord Cornwallis. The town records of Part-
ridgefield, demonstrate his prominence and popu-
larity in public affairs. It is noticed the large and
progressive church of Hinsdale, Massachusetts,
known as the First Congregational church, was
founded at the residence of his son John Babeock,
and that his wife, Elizabeth (Plumb) Babeock,
and daughter-in-law, Eunice Babeock, were among
the first twenty-three members of this church. In
1795, he with his family, with the exception of
his two sons, John and Eli as, removed to a place
in Otsego county. New York, where they founded a
town and named the place Partridgefield, after the
place they came from. Here he lived the residue
of his lifetime, making his home with his son,
Oolonol Samuel Babeock, which is located in what
is now known as the town of Worcester. In this
house the first Masonic lodge of Otsego county was
organized. Mr. Babeock died in this house, Octo-
ber 5, 1814, aged over ninety-five years. His wife
died at the same place October 4, 1804.

Isaiah Babeock, Jr., of the sixth generation, was
born in Stonington, Connecticut, April- 27, 1741.
He married. May 19, 1763, Elizabctli Douglas of
the same place. She died December 13, 1768, leav-
ing a family of three daughters. He married,
second, Freelove Briggs, of Voluntown, Connecti-
cut, August 9, 1770. She was born January aO,
1743, and died May 7, 1831, leaving a family of
five sons and one daughter. Her ancestry were
prominent in the early wars. Mr. Babeock after
his second marriage removed with his family to the
town of New Fairfield, Connecticut, and later to
Windham, Greene county. New York, where he
died January 18, 1827.

Isaac Babeock, of the sixth generation, was born
in New Fairfield, Connecticut, December 9, 1776.
He married Elizabeth Wilbur, of the town of
Milan, Dutchess county. New York. They had a
family of twelve children, nine of whom grew to
maturity. Mrs. Babeock was the daughter of Jep-
tha and Elizabeth (Mosher) Wilbur. Her parents
being members of the orthodox Society of Friends.
She died at the residence of her daughter Mrs.
Cornell in Rochester, New York, November 38,
1880, aged ninety-seven years and three months.

Mr. Babeock removed with his family from Milan

to the town of Rensselaerville, Albany county.

New York, where he engaged in manufacturing.

From there he removed to Moni-oe county, New
York, inaking liis home with liis son, II. II. Bab-

eock, in thse town of Greece, where he died April

31, 1853. He was the original inventor of the

steel hoe and an improved grain cradle.

James Morris Babeock, of the seventh genera-

tion, was born in Milan, Dutchess county, New
Yorlf, January 36, 1803. He married Lydia E.

Jackson, of Rensselaerville, Albany county, New
York, September 20, 1839. She was born April

37, 1811. Tliey had a family of three children,

one who died at the age of fourteen, the other two
grew up to maturity. After maiTiage he and Kis

wife removed to Union Springs, New York, and in

1833 to a farm in Groveland, Livingston county.

New York. He was also a merchant in New
York city for several years. Later he removed to

the town of Rush, Monroe county. New YorK,
where he conducted a store for many years. Later

he removed to the town of Irondequoit, and from
there to Rochester, and from there to a farm on
Clover street, in the town of Brighton, Monroe
county. New "York, where he died October 34,

1886. His widow died at the family residence, on
Clover street, Brighton, January 35, 1890.

William Jackson Babeock, of llie eighth genera-

tion was born in Groveland, Livingston county.

New York, September 22, 1832. He graduated

from Genesee Wesleyan Seminary, being validic-

torian of his class. He then entered Genesee Col-

lege, but did not graduate, retiring after complet-

ing Ids junior year. At the age of eighteen he was
professor of mathematics at Walworth Academy,
wliich was a Invgc and prosperous school in those

days. He taught the higher branches of mathe-
matics, ti'igonometry, surveying, and higher alge-

bra. While a student at Genesee College he and
Professor Alverson surveyed the most of Livings-

ton county. On November 1, 1859, he married

Mrs. Bleanore Augusta (Emerson) Collins. She
was the daughter of Dr. and Mrs. Amos Emerson,
of Charlotte, Monroe county. New York, and was
born in Charlotte, August 30, 1833. After mar-
riage he removed to Detroit, Michigan, and later

to Charlotte, Monroe county. New York. Mrs.

Babeock died in Charlotte, May 26, 1863, leaving

an only child. After Mrs. Babcock's decease, Mr.

Babeock made his home with his father and

mother. He was a member of Valley lodge. No.

109, A. F. & A. M., and Hamilton chapter. No.

62, R. A. M. While never an office seeker his judg-

ment and advice was often sought on matters of

importance. He died at the family residence on
Clover street in Brighton, June 17, 1888.

A. Emerson Babeock, of the ninth generation
was born in the village of Charlotte, Monroe coun-
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ty, New York, May 15, 18G3. He has resided at

the family homestead in the town of Brighton,

ever since he was four years of age. Early in life

he attended the best of schools, and finished his

education at Allegheny College when eighteen

years of age. After his return from college he
went into partnership with his father in conduct-

ing the farm at the family residence on Clover

street, in the town of Brighton. Tliis residence

has become a homestead, four generations of the

family having resided there. Since the decease of

his father, thirty-two acres of land have been added

to the original farm which is mostly covered with

fruit orchards. On August 1, 1889, he married

Blanche, only daughter of D. B. and Lucy (Bur-

ger) Sias, of Spencerport, New York. They have

four children, the eldest of whom entered college

this (1907) fall. Mr. Babcock has been super-

visor of his town for twelve years, and has been
identified with many public matters of importance,

notably the improvement of the public highways.

He is a member of the Brighton Presbyterian

church, and has held the ofBce of trustee for many
years. He, like his progenitors, early became a

member of the Masonic fraternity, and is a mem-
ber of Valley lodge, No. 109, Hamilton chapter.

No. 62, R. A. M., Monroe comniandery No. 12, K.
T., and Damascus Temple, A. A. 0. "N. M. S. of

Rochester. He is also a member of Pittsford

Grange, No. 424. On his mother's side of the

family, the Bmersons came from Massachusetts,

being of the same family tree probably as the

family at Concord, MfiRsachiisclts. Dr. Amos
Emerson, his graudfatlicr. was one of ihc nioal

able practitioners of medicine and surgery in his

day.

ENOS B. WOOD.

Enos B. Wood, who for many years was exten-

sively and successfully engaged in the produce

business but is now living retired at No. 28 Birr

street, Rochester, was born in this county in 1841.

His father, Horatio N. Wood, also a native of the

Empire state, was born in 1804, and was brought

to Monroe county aboxTt 1812 by his father, Ben-

jamin Wood, Avho was the contractor for the build-

ing of the canal. From the age of eight years

until his death Horatio N. Wood remained in

Monroe co\inty, his life being devoted to the occu-

pation of farming. He married Eliza Billings,

a representative of one of the old families, and
they became the parents of three sons and a

daughter, who are yet living of a family of eight

children, five sons and three daughters. Mr.
Wood of this review, however, is the only one now
in Monroe county, a brother being in Omaha, while

his sister is in Illinois.

In the common schools near his home Enos B.

Wood began his education, which was continued
ill Brockport. He was still pursuing his educa-

tion, when, at the age of twenty-one years, he put
aside his text-books and offered his service to the

government in support of the Union cause, enlist-

ing as a member of Company M, of the Third New
York Cavalry, under Captain Nathan P. Pond,
now of tlie Democrat and Chronicle. He enlisted

as a private and was promoted to the rank of sec-

ond lieutenant, first lieutenant and captain, receiv-

ing the title of major by brevet. He served for

three years and seven months, taking part in the

campaign in North Carolina and spending one
winter at Newport News. He was with the Army
of the James for some time and spent his last year

in Texas along the Rio Grande. He was wounded
in the head by a sabre and had two horses shot

from under him. His meritorious service on the

field of battle won him promotion, and with a most
creditable military record he returned home.

When the war was over Major Wood spent one

summer in Renssalaer county, New York, after

which he came again to Rochester and later taught

school in Hamlin. He purchased the only farm
near Bast Hamlin Station, where he carried on

general agricultural pursuits for ten years and
then sold out, afterward turning his attention to

the produce business, in which he continued for

seventeen years. He was eminently successful in

that line.

Major Wood was married in 1868 to Miss Lucy
A. Ives, of Ronssiilnor county, and unio them
were born four children, three daughters and a

son, but the son. Minor C, who was engaged in

the camera business, in which he met with grat-

ifying success, died in 1900. The daughters are

Nettie E., Harriett P. and Lucy A. The last

named is the wife of Fred W. Kramer, of Grand
Rapids, Michigan.

In his political views Mr. Wood is a stalwart

republican, having stanchly supported the party

since age conferred upon him the right of fran-

chise. He has been honored with a number of

local offices, serving as justice of the peace for fif-

teen years, while for three terms he was super-

visor. He returned to Rochester in 1888 and has

since been a resident of this city. He and his wife

belonged to the Baptist church at East Hamlin
and the family are now connected with the Central

Presbyterian church. Mr. Wood has affiliated with

the ^^lasonic fraternity since 1864 and his son was

a thirty-second degree Mason and a Shriner. He
has built a beautiful home at No. 28 Birr street,

where he and his wife and daughter now reside,

and at the present time he is enjoying a well earned

rest, having so capably managed his business af-

fairs in earlier years that he acquired thereby a

snug little fortune that now enables him to rest
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without further recourse to labor. He belongs to

ouo of the oldest families in Monroe county and

lias seen many changes in Rochester from his boy-

liooil days to tlie present. Jn citizenship lie is

patriotic and public-spirited, in business was ever

found progressive and reliable and his social rela-

tions manifest those strong traits of character

which win friendly regard.

STEPHEN STAGE.

As a horticulturist Stephen Stace has gained

wide reputation not only in Monroe county but

throughout other sections of the state. He owns a

fine farm of fifty acres, which is pleasantly situ-

ated in Greece township, a mile south of Charlotte.

All this is devoted exclusively to the raising of

fruit, for he has a fine grape vineyard and in addi-

tion has a large peach and apple orcliai-d, besides

raising large quantities of cherries and various

kinds of small fruit.

Mr. Stace is a native of Kent, England, born
near the Sussex line, August 20, 1832, a son of

George and Jano (Ralph) Stace, botli of wliom
were natives of the latter place. The father died

wlien the son was a little lad of three years. In
tlie family were six children: Jane, William R.
and George, all deceased; Stephen, of this review;
Sihon; and Mrs. Sarah Pellet, of AVebster, New
York. After the father's death, the mother re-

mained in the old world for a number of years
but later emigrated to this country and was here
married a second time, this union being with
James Pellet, of Webster, by whom she had one
son, Thomas Pellet. She passed away in Webster.

Soon after the birth of Stephen Stace, his i^ar-

ents removed to Sussex, where he lived to the age
of nineteen years. He spent a portion of this

time on a farm and later had charge of a large
master's building, having under his supervision
forty men. He began work by wheeling bi'ick hut
his ability was soon demonstrated and a Tier.two
weeks lie was given full charge for two years. In
1853 he emigrated with his family and a large

colony to Ontario,' Wayne county, New York, hav-
ing himself made arrangements for their passage.

He joined his brother-in-law at Ontario but after

a brief period spent in that place came to Moni-oe

county, settling in Webster, wliere for sixteen

years lie worked in various capacities. He then

purchased a farm, in Webster township, and re-

ssided thereon for a few years, but in ISfiS disposed

of tliat property and purchased in connection with

his brother, William R. Stace, a tract of one hun-
dred and sixty acres. Later they divided the land,

each taking a portion, but after a tiine Mr: Stace

disposed of a portion of his to a railroad company,

retaining possession of fifty acres, which is his

present place of residence. This tract is located

on the boulevard, one mile south oC Charlotte, in

Greece township. When it came into possession of

Mr. Slaco it was covered with tinilici- and sluinps

but he at once began to clear the land, which was

eventually developed into a good tract. He has

since improved the place with good substantial

buildings and devotes it to horticultural pursuits.

He has set out a large grape vineyard, which

yields four tons of grapes per acre and for the

past twenty-nine years there has not been a failure

of fruit, ile also has three hundred cherry trees,

which for tlie past few years has yielded twelve

tons of cherries. He likewise has an apple and

peach orchard and large quantities of currants

and blackberries, all of which yield an abundant

crop. Mr. Stace has made a close study of fruit

culture and is numbered among the best horti-

culturists of Monroe county, being considered an

authority on all subjects pertaining "to the raising

of various fruits. His place is valuable, he having

refused an offer of forty thousand dollars for it.

Mr. Stace has been instrumental in much of the

development and improvement that has placed this

section of the country in the front ranks of the

commonwealth. He organized a company and

supervised the construction of the Rochester Elec-

tric Railroad, which was the first electric line in

the state and connected Rochester with Charlotte,

and tlie power house is built on his farm. He was
also instrumental in having the boulevard made
from Rochester to Charlotte, and for twenty-five

years acted as general manager, when the toll road

was sold to the county. He also spent a great deal

of effort in securing good shipping facilities for

Charlotte and got the first coal shipped by wiiter

through Charlotte. In many ways he has con-

tributed to the general progress and prosperity of

this community.

At the age of ton years Mr. Stace began making
a study of phrenology and in this connection has

gained national repuiation. Ho has never charged

for liis services and has conducted many classes in

this stiuly, having one at the PJiiladeljiliia Cen-

tennial and at the Columbiian Exposition at Chi-

cago. He has been consulted by thousands of

people, including many of the prominent business

men of Rochester and other cities.

Although Mr. Stace came as a poor man to

Monroe county, he has through his own industry,

nersevcrancc and economy, accumulated an excel-

lent property and a goodly competence. In addi-

tion to his valuable farm in Greece township, he

also owns one hundred and sixty acres of land near

Baltimore on Chesapeake Bay and also five acres

of land near Palatka, Florida, where for the past

sixteen years lie has spent the winter seasons. He
is a repuldican in politics, having voted for every
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presidential candidate of that party since he cast

his first vote for Fremont. He is a member of tlie

New York Horticultural Society and in this way
keeps in touch with the advance that is being

made along horticultural lines.

Mr. Stace has been three times married. He
was first married in England to Miss Emily Wil-

lard, their wedding being celebrated in 1853. The
children of tliis mini'iagc are as follows: Jane,

who was married and at her death left two daugh-

ters; George, who makes his home in Eochester

and for the past twenty-nine years has been in the

employ of the New York Central Eailroad; Arte-

mesia, the wife of J. B. La Salle, who resides on

her father's farm in a separate dwelling; and Al-

bert E., of Charlotte. His second union was with

Josephine Hortcnsc Wilder, who was a teachcer

and his present wife bore the maiden name of

Eebecca Patterson.

J. NELSON TUBES.

J. Nelson Tubbs, a consulting engineer of

Rochester, New York, was born September 24,

1832, in Schoharie county, this state. He is a son

of Jesse A. Tubbs, a farmer. His early educational

privileges were afforded by the common schools and
were supplemented by study in the academy at

Esperance, New York, and in the State Normal
school at Albany. He engaged in teaching school

for four years and afterward entered the service

of the state in connection with the enlargement of

the Erie canal in 1854. He was employed at dif-

ferent places in the state in this capacity and in

1861 established his home in Rochester, where he

has since remained. He continued in the service

of the state, however, until 1872, in which year he

was appointed chief engineer on the construction

of the Eochester water works. He also did some

surveying about that time and soon afterward was

appointed chief engineer and superintendent for

the Elmira Eeformatory, at the same time contin-

uing in the office of chief engineer of the Eochester

waterworks. In fact ho eonliniiod in Mint capacity

for eighteen years or until 1890 and throughout

that period was doing wftrk in outside cities as

consulting engineer. In 1892 he resigned in order

to concentrate his energies more largely upon pri-

vate business interests and established an office

in Rochester as consulting engineer, since which
time he has constructed waterworks in various

parts of the state. He was chief consulting engi-

neer for the construction of the waterworks at

Syracuse where water was brought to the city

from Skaneateles lake. This was a stupendous
undertaking of a most difficult nature and required

most thorough and able understanding of mechan-
ical engineering from both a scientific and practi-
cal side. Early in 1894 he was appointed execu-
tive official of the public works of all canals in
the state and for a period of ten years, under the
title of general inspector, he maintained his office

in Rochester. This period included the time of
the first improvement of the canal until the canal
had nine feet of water and the appropriation for
that purpose was nine million dollars. Mr. Tubbs'
connection with the canal ceased in 1905 and since
that time he has done more or less in consulting
engineering work. He has been called upon as an
expert in cases at law in New York and other
states, covering questions of mechanical engineer-
ing and construction, and is now a member of a
commission to decide a proposed route of the
Brockport, Lockport & Rochester Electric Rail-
road through Brockport. He is regarded not only
as a peer but as the superior of the great majority
of business men in his line in this part of the coun-
try and has been very successful.

Mr. Tubbs was married to Miss Elithea Mandell
Wooster, of Esperance, New York, a descendant
of General David Wooster, and they now have two
sons and a daughter: William N., who is special

agent on the canal at Syracuse and who married
Gertrude Shuart, daughter of Judge Shuart, of

Rochester; Frank W., who is with his father in
business; and Josephine Elithea, at home.

Mr. Tubbs has always been a stanch advocate of
the republican party since its organization. He
has attained the thirty-second degree in Masonry
and is a member of various clubs in Rochester. He
has membership relations with the Eochester Engi-
neering Society; the American Society of Civil

Engineers; the New England Waterworks Asso-
ciation; the American Waterworks Association,

and many others, but recently he has withdrawn
from some of these. His prominence is the out-

ward manifestation of an ability that has enabled
him to work his way steadily upward. He has
done with thoroughness and accuracy whatever his

hand has found to do, neglecting no duty, and his

fidelity and worth are so widely recognized that

he stands today as one of the distinguished me-
clianical and consulting engineers of the Empire
slate.

EEUBEN A. DAKE.

Eeuben A. Dake is a worthy representative of

an old and prominent pioneer family of the Em-
pire state and comes of Ecvolutionary ancestry.

He is engaged in gardening and farming on a

well improved tract of thirty-eight acres, situated

in Irondequoit township, a portion of which was
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tlie original liOTiiestcad property. 'I'lie Bake fam-
ily was established in Saratoga county, New York,

by the paternal great-grandl'atlior of our siibject,

William Gould Dalco, who removed thence to Liv-

ingston county in 1831. He was a soldier in the

Revolutionary war. His son, William Dake, ac-

companied his parents on their removal to the

former county and there reared his family, which
included Dr. Charles A. Dake, who became the

father of our subject. He was born in Saratoga

county, and was only about two years of age, when,
in 1821, he was taken by his parents to Livingston

county, where he was reared and acquired his ele-

mentary education. Deciding upon the practice

of medicine as a life work he went to Buffalo,

where he studied allopathy, while his homeopathic
training was received in medical schools in Cleve-

land and Philadelphia. Locating in Wyoming
county, this state, he was tlie first homeopathic
physician who ever engaged in practice there.

In 1866 he removed from Warsaw to Monroe
county, where he practically retired from the pro-

fession, purchasing twenty-four acres of land in

Irondequoit township, which he devoted to fruit

culture. His wife bore the maiden name of Maria
Roberts and their family nund)crcd two children

but the subject of this review is the only surviv-

ing member. The father passed away in 1905,

when he had reached the very advanced age of

eighty-seven years. He became well known in

Monroe count}', having spent almost three decades

here.

Reuben A. Dake was born in Livingston, New
York, in 1844, and was a young man of twenty-

one years when he came to Monroe county. He
acquired his education in the common schools and
also pursued an academic course. He began farm-
ing upon attaining his majority, and has since fol-

lowed this pursuit. He is now located on the old

family homestead in Irondequoit township but has

added to the original tract, owning now thirty-

eight acres, ten acres of which is devoted to horti-

cultural pursuits, while tlie ronuiinder is devoted

to farming and gardening. He carries on his busi-

ness affairs in a practical manner and is meeting
with unbounded success, being numbered among
the substantial citizens of this section of the

state.

Mr. Dake was united in marriage to Miss Celia

10. Campbell, a daughter of Henry and Marietta

(Dyke) Campbell, the latter a native of Vermont.,

Her father settled in Rochester in 1828, when a

youth of eighteen years, having ]-emovod to that

city from New York city. For a time he was en-

gaged in painting in Rochester but later took up
his abode on a farm in Irondequoit township, de-

voting his time and attention to agricultural and
horticultural pursuits. His family numbered three

children but Mrs. Dake is ihe only one who now

survives. The father passed away in 1878, while

the mother survived for a long period, passing

away in June, ]8!)3.

The mari'iagc of Mr. and Mrs. Dake has been

blessed with two children. Stella is now the wife

of William Hartman, of Rochester, where he fol-

lows the tailor's business. She is the mother of

three children, Grace B., Ethel M. and William
Hartman, Jr. Frank C, the 3'ounger of the fam-
ily, is at home.

Mr. Dake formerly gave his political allegiance

to the republican party but is now independent,

casting his ballot for the men whom he deems best

qualified for office, regardless of party affiliation.

He is a member of the Grange, of wliich he was
the first master. He and his family are members
of the North Baptist church at Rochester. 'Mr.
Dake and his estimable wife are genial, cordial

people, whom it is a pleasure to meet, and he is a

most loyal and public-spirited citizen, who has

gained success by his honorable and straightfor-

ward business methods. The Dakes have a family
reunion each year and Reuben A. Dake has been
president of the society for years.

WirJJAM DAILEY.

Tlie prosperity of any -community, town or city

depends upon its commercial activity, its indus-
trial interests and its trade relations, and therefore
among the builders of a town are those who stand
at the head of business enterprises. Prominent'
among those of Broekport may bo mentioned Wil-
liam Daile^', produce and grain merchant of this

place.

He was born in Seottsville, Monroe county. New
York, April 14, 1846, and is a son of John and
Mary Dailey, both natives of Ireland. In 1836
this Avorlhy couple saw greater opportunities for
pursuing agricultural interests in the new world
and in consequence sot sail wiih their two sons,
Michael and J'alrick. 'J'liey first settled in lioches-
ter, removed from there to the town of Wheatland
and afterward located in Chili, where they lived for
the long period of twenty-seven years. At the end
of that time they removed to the town of Sweden,
where they spent the remainder of their lives.

Unto them were born nftie children, five of whom
are still living, namely: Mrs. James Backus, a
resident of Italy; Mrs. James ¥. Harrison and
Mrs. J. D. Maiioney, both of Chicago; Mrs. F.
W. Spaulding, of New York city ; and William, of
tliis review.

William Dailey was reared on a farm, where he
enjoyed the advantages offered by the country
schools. About 1876 "he embarked in his present
business, which has prospered far beyond his ex-

pectations. He began with a very small capital by
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buying up all llic jirodiu'c that, caiiic to liiin niid

from this bcKiuiiiug lias achieved phenomenal snc-

('0?s. He owns Jaigo clovaloiR at RrocKpoil, ami

one at Medina and is eonsidorcd the largest buyer

of western New Y'^ork grain in this section of the

state. In addition to this he carries on a large

business in wool, beans and apples. *

On the 28th of February, 1875, Mr. Dailey was

married to Miss dcssie McGary, ol: Macedon, New
York, by whom he has had ten children, nine still

living: John F., a large produce merchant of

Rochester; Mary Bertha; William G., also engaged

in the produce business here; James K. ; George

R. ; Vincent D. ; Donald A. ; J. Oswalt ; and Frank-

lin E.

Mr. Dailey is a pioneer in inaugurating and

building np one of the chief industries oi: this sec-

lion of tbocoiinlry. His connoclion wilb any un-

dertaking insures a prosperous outcome of the

same, for it is in his nature to carry forward to

successful completion whatever he is associated

with. He has earned for himself an enviable

reputation as a careful man of business and in his

dealings is known for his prompt aiul honorable

methods, which have won him the deserved and

unbounded confidence of his fellowmcn.

F REDhlll 1 CK G U J']NT1 1 EJ{.

Frederick Guenther, the well known florist and

gardener, was born in Rochester in 1864. His

father, John F. Guenther, a native of Gerjnany,

was likewise a well known gardener whose

business is now conducted by his son, Frederick.

The elder Mr. Guenther was a native of Germany
where hc was born in 1827 and was early appren-

ticed to the business which became his life work.

I'-nger to seek larger oi)i)ortunitieR and wider fields

of industry he emigrated to America in 1852,

coming directly to Rochester, where he secui'ed em-

jdoyment with lillwauger & Rarry, in whose inter-

est he traveled extensively. In 1881 he established

his own business at Park avenue, ten years later

locating at Rlossom Road, Brighton, where he

built a handsome residence. He and his wife,

Helena E. Guenther, a native of Norway, were the

parents of Frederick Guenther and of one daugh-

ter, Elizabeth, the wife of yVlfred Clapper of

Rochester. For many years Mr. Guenther was in

partnership with George A. Stone, the firm being

known as the Continental Niirscry Company. They
conducted a Avholesale and retail nursery business

up to the tinu' of T\rr. Stone's death. Mr. Gnen-
tlior succeeded lo Ibe business and carried it on
until 1895 when he retired, passing away a few
years lal(M- in 190 I.

The subject of liiis sketch was educated in the

jiuljlic sidiools of this city and had the advantage
of liis fiith(>r's training and experience! in the busi-

ness wliich has been bis life work. The Germans
have always been expert gardeners and it is their

methods Avhich the elder Mr. Guenther followed

aiul taught to his son, but the son has not been

just a follower of the old country ideas. He is an

originator and successful experimenter. For the

])ast few years he has grown many roses and orna-

mental shrubs on his seven acre tract at Blossom
road. Since 1875 he has added to his other indus-

tries and is raising and growing fancy chickens. He
was one of the original breeders of the silver laced

Wyandottes which he bred up to the year 1897. He
has since bred the buff AYyandottes and has taken

premiums on his birds at all of the exhibitions at

.Idhnslown, Ulica, Madison Square and other

places. It was due to his luitirijig cH'oris aiui de-

tci'mination that the Rochester Poidtry Show was

organized in 1892 with Mr. Guenther as treasurer,

an office he held for seven years.

In 1884 he married Lillian Houser by whom he

has one daughter, ]\fattie E., born JIarch 14, 1892.

Mr. Guenther has been one of the ward committee

inendiers of the republican party for some time

and has served his party in various other capaci-

ties since he attained his majority. The record

of the business life of Rochester would be incom-

plete without a biography of Mr. Guenther who is

a stei'ling l)usiness man attentive to his own lines,

but who always has leisure to assist in any meas-

ure that will add to the advancement or the at-

tractiveness of the city.

DAVID K. CARTTER.

David ]\. Carttor, an accountant of Rochester,

was born .luly 15, .1811, in Riga township, ]\tonroe

county, his parents being I'hcderus and Jjydia Ann
(Wright) Cartter. The mother was a daughter

of Samuel Wright, one of the earliest settlers of

Chili township, Monroe county. The father, who

was born November 6, 1806, was a son of David

K. Cartter, who came to this county in 1813 and

inirchascd laud here, after which he returned to

Watertown. New York. Finally he brought his

family to l\Tonroe county, where he arrived on the

28th" of March, 1814. His wife, who bore the

maiden name of Elizabeth Hollister, also belonged

to one of the pioneer families of this county, and

was a sister of George H. Hollister, a prominent

lumberman of Rochester. After taking up his

abode here David K. Cartter followed the mill-

wright's i,rado and assisted in building the first

mills in a number of places in the county. He
also oi'cctcd Ibe old l^Fansion House on State street
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in Rochester. His family numbered five sons and
one daughter, of whom Phederus C. was the eldest.

Harley H., the second son, now deceased, formerly

of Michigan, was the only democratic district

judge under Abraham Lincoln. David K. Carttcr

was chairman of the Ohio delegation at the rcimb-

liean convention held in Chicago in 1860 and nom-
inated Lincoln for the presidency. Following the

inauguration of Mr. Lincoln he was sent to Peru
as minister and afterward was chief justice of the

District of Columbia for twenty-five years. James
Bruce, one of the most extensive farmers of Wis-

consin, settled at Black River Falls and was state

senator and member of the legislature from his

district, elected on the democratic ticket, for nearly

forty years. Elizabeth M. became the wife of the

Hon. Dennis McCarthy, now deceased, formerly of

Syracuse, New York, who was state senator from
his district, mayor of Syracuse and congressman

four terms. The son Dennis is now one of the

leading men of Syracuse. George H. was an at-

torney, who went to California in 1849 and suf-

fered the hardships of that long trip across the

plains. His supply of provisions becoming ex-

haused, he was forced to kill and eat his mule.

He landed in Sacramento, became prominent in

the history of that section of the country and was
elected the first representative from his district to

congress, but while on his way to the seat of na-

tional government his death occurred and he was
buried at Panama.

Phederus Cartter became an attorney, practicing

as a member of the firm of Bishop & Cartter in

Rochester and in Scottsville. He died June 23,

1865. In the family were six children, four sons

and two daughters: Edward P., who is now in

the west; Charles, who died in Rochester; Fred,

Mrs. J. D. Weaver and Martha F., all of this city

;

and David K.

The last named was educated in Penfield Semi-
nary and in Satterlee & Benedict's Institute. He
afterward became deputy, then special deputy and
later collector of customs, in which capacity he
served from 1869 until 1875, and he was after-

ward collector of customs from 1875 until 1879.

He has since engaged in business as an accountant.

also following farming as a side issue. He resided
on a farm in Riga township for several years and
has made his home in Rochester since 1905. He
was also a dealer in grain for ten years. His busi-

ness interests have thus been varied and have been
successfully conducted.

Mr. Cartter was married to Miss Ada J. Dewey,
a daughter of George Dewey, an extensive farmer
of Genesee county. He became a member of the
Masonic lodge in early manhood and for a long
time was associated with the craft. In politics he
is a republican, much interested in the political

questions and situation of the country. He repre-

sents old and prominent families of Monroe county

and stands for progress along all those lines which

contribute to general improvement and the up-

building of this portion of the state.

BISHOP B. J. McQUAID.

The story of the Catholic church in the city of

Rochester has been told at length elsewhere. It

was in Rochester's earliest days a religious factor

and at present it presents a superb organization

and great possibilities for civic and moral good.

In the development of Catholicity the principal

honor is due to Bernard John McQuaid. Unlike

the earliest prelates of the Catholic church. Bishop
McQuaid is an American. He was born in the

city of New York on the 15th of December, 1823.

As a boy he lived in New Jersey and in his

father's house the Catholics of New Jersey held

their first religious service. When a mere lad of

fourteen he was sent to school to Canada, and for

several years remained in a classical school at

Chambly. Returning to New York, he entered

upon his ecclesiastical studies at St. John's Ford-
ham. There he completed his theological course,

and was raised to the priesthood in the old Mott
street cathedral on the 16th of January, 1848.

His first work in the ministry was in and about
Madison, New Jersey. In 1853, when James
Roosevelt Bayley was made first Bishop of New-
ark, the young Father McQuaid was called to

the rectorship of the new cathedral and made
vicar general. Two great institutions, which re-

main in glory even to our time, owe their existence
and their permanence to the efforts and the wis-
dom of Bishop McQuaid. Seton Hall College
and Seminary and St. Elizabeth's College for
Young Ladies. The latter school is also the head-
quarters of the great teaching order of the Sisters
of Charity of New Jersey, which was established
back in tlio '50s, under the direction of Dr. Mc-
Quaid. In 1868 he was created bishop of Rochester
and consecrated in the New York cathedral by
Archbishop, afterward Cardinal McCloskey on the
12th of July. For upwards of forty years Bishop
McQuaid has been closely identified with the
religious and civic growth of our city, and there
is no Catholic institution here which does not owe
its (Icvclopmont, if not its origin, to his zeal and
forcsiglit. Tie lias been particularly interested in
tlie promotion of Christian education, and has
written largely on this subject. In the early
'70s he lectured throughout the United States
on the education of the masses from the Catholic
standpoint, and those lectures have been pub-
lished in a volume entitled "Christian Free
Schools."
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The crowning work of his administration has

been the erection oC St. Andrew's Preparatory

Seniinarv under the sluulow of the cathedral, and

St. Bernard's Seminary for liigher theological

studies, situated on Charlotte boulevard. The
Bishop has been largely interested in the public

and private charities of this section and particular-

ly has lie shown zeal in providing siiiritual assist-

ance lo (lie inuialcs of Ihc public iiislilulions. He
i'MS been a nioiuber of Ihe park board from ils

incc)ition and lias lieen second lo luine in aiding

ihe park work. At the age of eighty-four years

he is still hale and hearty and gives promise of

many years of added usefulness.

COLON K\j CALKB TIOl'Ri NS.

Colonel Caleb IIo])kins, whose life history forms

an integral factor in the annals of JMonroe county,

was connected with many events which shaped the

|)olicy and nuilded the destiny of Ibis part of the

state. He was born in 1770 and died January 14,

ISIS, at tiio age of forty-seven years, (iii'ec years

before the county of j\lonroc was organized. He
was a son of .Jauics Hopkins and a grandson of

J<]benezer Hopkins who removed from Connecticut

to J'ittsford, Vermont. Both the father and grand-

father were farmers.' James Hopkins had two

sons, Caleb and James, and two daughters : Ilhoda,

the wife of Elisha Hopkins, Jr., and Susanna, the

wife of J'jlijnh. Kirkham.
Colonel Ilo])kins of this ix'view was nuirricd,

l))-ol)ably in 179r), to Dorothy Mabce, a daughter

of Jacobus JFabee, who came to western New York
about 1791. Her death occurred August 20, 1847,

when she had reached the advanced age of seventy-

nine years. Both she and her husband lie buried

in the cemetery a mile south of the village of Pitts-

ford and beside them arc the remains of their

throe children: Clarissa, James and Marvin.

The life history of Colonel Hopkins, covering a

period of forty-seven years, was in many respects

a notable one. In 1791 he started from I'ittsford,

Rutland county, Vermont, for western New York

in company with Cenoral Jonathan Fassett, and

on reaching the Mohawk valley tiicy were joined

bv Jacobus l^Iabee. They settled in the wilderness

of what was Oidario county. Cencral I'^assclt

caused a ])iot to be surveyed for a village nearly

opposite Tryonslown on Ironde(iuoit creek but the

village never malerializcd and, becoming disa])-

pointod and discoui'agcd, lie returned to Vermont,

leaving Colonel Hopkins in charge of his extensive

land purchase.

The laltei' was only twenty-one years of ago

when he settled iii this region. He was made of

the stern, stuff demanded of the pioneers and the

obstacles to be met in a new country only made
him more persistent. In 1791 he built the first log

dwelling in the present town of Penlield. It was
a large substantial structure, containing several

rooms, and later many friends and strangers were
there entertained. lie also cleared and sowed the

first land Avhicli was cultivated in the town. Not-
ing that the i)o))ulation was increasing much faster

in liie vicinily of Stonetovvn timn in his own
neighborhood, Cohmel Ho])kins moved to a point

near tlicro ahout tiie year ISOO and creeled a house

about a half inile south of the present village of

Fittsford. He became one of the prominent and
active business men of the locality and for several

years was engaged in mercantile pursuits in the

village with Dr. A. G. Smith, Nathan Nye and
John Acer, while at the same time he was inter-

ested in jiiilling and in supervising his several

farms. In 1809 he was elected supervisor of the

town of Boyle and in the same year was appointed

by President Madison United States collector of

customs for the port of Genesee, becoming the

second incumbent in the office. He was reap-

pointed at the end of four years and served until

Atay, 1817. He also held the office of inspector of

customs during the same time and his principal

deputy was Jonathan Child, afterward the first

mayor of Rochester. During two years of the time

be was United States collector he acted by appoint-

ment of Governor Tompkins as bridge commis-
sioner for Ontario county, with Zacheus Colby of

Genesee county in building the first bridge across

the Genesee I'iver below Avon.

While in ofhco Caleb Hopkins did not confine

his attention entirely to civil pursuits. When the

war of 1813 was declared he was prompt to serve

his country in the field and became an active and

efhcient officer on the Niagara frontier. Governor

George Clinton had connnissioned him as a lieu-

tenant of militia in 1804 and Governor Morgan
Lewis had made him major in 1807. His further

promotions were to lieutenant colonel in 1813 and

colonel in 1813, both of these being signed by Gov-

ernor Tompkins. He was in several battles and
skirmishes and once received a wound in the

shoulder. In one emergency General Peter B.

Porter placed him in command of a band of In-

dian warriors and evidence is not lacking that he

handled them skilfully. He received letters of

acknowledgement from General Porter and when
he resigned his commission Governor Tompkins
wrote him a letter expressing deep regret that such

a course was necessary and also "tendering an ac-

knowledgement of his approbation and gratitude."

On the 32d day of March, 1816, Governor Tomp-
kins had issued to Colonel Hopkins a commission

as brigadier general by brevet for gallant service

during the war. In 1814 the town of Smallwood
was divided into Brighton and Pittsford, the latter
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being named by Colonel Hopkins in honor of his

birthplace in Vermont. About the time the war
closed in 1815 he bought the present large home-
stead farm in the southwestern part of tlie town of

Pittsford and built the house now owned and oc-

cupied by his grandson, Jared W. Hopkins, and
formerly by his son, Marvin Hopkins. After the

war he was awarded several contracts for carrying

the United States mail in western New York and
Ohio. In 1815 he was employed for some time

with his friend, Colonel Philetus Swift, of Phelps,

as commissioner for nraking alterations in the state

road, now known as the Ridge road.

In 1816 Colonel Hopkins interested himself in

the Genesee Manufacturing Company, which was
the first manufacturing company in Rochester-

ville. He was a member of the general assembly
of New York in 1816 and 1817 and served upon
the committee on military affairs. There is in

possession of his grandson a line oil painting of

Colonel Hopkins, painted when he was a member
of the legislature. It shows an intellectual and
attractive face, indicative of strong character, not
dissimilar to those of some of his eminent ances-

tors. He was a lineal descendant of John Hop-
kins, who came from England and settled in

Cambridge, Massachusetts, in 1643 and two years

later moved to Hartford, Connecticut. To his

branch of the family tree belonged the celebrated

divines. Dr. Samuel Hopkins, Dr. Timothy Hop-
kins and Dr. Mark Hopkins. The life of Caleb
Hopkins was not long, but a man of his intelli-

gence, enterprise and public spirit could not fail to

leave an impress on the age in which he lived and
the record left by him in civil and military affairs

is a source of just pride to his descendants.

ABRAM J. KATZ.

Abram J. Katz has figured prominently in mer-
cantile and financial circles in Rochester for more
than a quarter of a century. A native of this city,

he was born in 1853 and is a son of Joseph Katz,

who in early life left Germany, his native land,

and sought larger business opportunities in the

new world. Settling in Rochester, he became con-

nected with the oil business and spent his remain-
ing days in this city, passing away in 1901.

Abram J. Katz obtained his education in

Rochester and entered commercial life in 1872 in

connection with the clothiers' supply business, con-

tinuing in that line with constantly growing suc-

cess until 1890, when the firm of Stein, Bloch &
Company was incorporated, with Mr. Katz as

treasurer. His ability in financing the concern

was a salient feature in its success and he re-

mained as treasurer of the corporation until tlie

latter part of 1899. His advancement in the busi-

ness world has been continuous and rapid and he

has well earned for himself a place as a repre-

sentative business man of J^oehcstur. At every

point in his career he seems to have accomplished

the possibilities at that point and so successful has

he been in the management of his business affairs

that his judgment in commercial and financial cir-

cles is considered thoroughly sound and reliable.

In 1893 he assisted in organizing the Alliance

Bank, of which he has since been a director. He
was also one of the organizers of the Fidelity Trust

Company and from the beginning has served as

one of its trustees. BoLli of these institutions

have been successful from the start and are now
important factors in Rochester's financial circles.

In the fraternal life of the city Mr. Katz is also

active, holding membership in Valley lodge. No.

109, A. F. &, A. M., of wliicli he is a past maslcr.

He is likewise a member of Hamilton chapter, R.

A. M., and Doric council, R. & S. M. As one of

the organizers of the Eureka Club he has taken an
active part in its interests and for a number of

years has been its popular president. Realizing

fully individual obligation, Mr. Katz has given

considerable time and attention to charitable work
and his efforts in this direction have been a tangi-

ble asset of several organizations. He is now pres-

ident of the Jewish Orphan Asylum Association,

organized for the purpose of caring for the Jewish
orphans of Syracuse, Rochester and Buffalo. He
is likewise president of the United Jewish Chari-
ties, to the work of which he devotes considerable

time, and in many ways he is most kindly remem-
bered for his timely and generous assistance.

Mr. Katz has built for himself a beautiful resi-

dence at No. 3-15 East avoniio, Avhero his large cir-

cle of friends always find a cordial welcome and
generous hospitality. Mr. Katz is a representative
American of the type that contributes liberally of
both time and money to the betterment of local in-

terests. He has not selfishly concentrated his ener-
gies upon the building up of his own fortune to

the exclusion of hunuinitarian interests, but on
the contrary, with a heart easily touched by any
tale of sorrow or distress, he has labored for the
amelioration of hard conditions of life for others,
and in social and charitable circles in the city is a
well known figure.

STEPHEN B. TITUS.

Stephen B. Titus is engaged in farming and gar-
dening on a valuable tract of twenty-two acres, sit-

uated in Irondcquoit township, this constituting
his father's old homestead property. The paternal
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great-grandfather of our subject was Benjamin
Titus, while the grandfather also bore tlic name of

Stephen B. Titus. He removed from Hudson,
New York, to Canada, where he followed black-

smithing for three years, subsequent to which time

he returned to the Empire state and took up his

abode! in Scottsville, where he remained for a time

and then came to Irondequoit township, purchas-

ing one hundred acres of land at six dollars per

acre, for this was at an early period in the devel-

opment of this section of the state. He cleared his

land of trees and stumps and eventually made it a

well improved property. At one time he was the

owner of two hundred acres of land. He wedded
Mary Whitney, of Hudson, this state, and they

reared a family of four children, but only one is

now living—Mrs. George Cooper. The father of

our subject bore the name of George W. Titus, and

was born in Canada. He was a youth of fourteen

years when he accompanied his parents on their re-

moval to Irondequoit township, and was here

reared and educated in the district schools. After

reaching years of maturity he was wedded to Miss

Sophia Oylcr, a daughter of Samuel V. and Sophia

(Robson) Oyler, both of whom were natives of

London, England, where the father served for

twenty years as postmaster and was descended

from a very prominent family of that country.

He settled in Irondequoit township in 1840, leas-

ing a tract of land adjoining that of Mr. Titus.

He spent his last years in Indiana, however, and

there passed away. Of the eight children born in

the family of Mr. and Mrs. Samuel P. Oyler only

two are now living, the mother of our subject be-

ing one of the number.

Stephen B. Titus was born on the place which

is yet hia home, January 21, 1849, and is the sec-

ond in order of birth in a family of six children,

of whom three survive. The record is as follows

:

Mrs. Julia Hagaman, who resides in Livonia, New
York, and is the mother of three children;

Stephen B., of this review; Jennie and Samuel,

both deceased ; Frank, who lives on Ridge road, is

married and has two children; and Emily Eugenia,

the widow of Adelbert Titus. The father of this

family passed away June 13, 1891, and was one of

the most prominent pioneer residents of Monroe

county. The mother, however, is still living and

makes her home on the farm with our subject. Al-

though she has now reached the advanced age of

eighty-two years, she is still very active and retains

her mental faculties to a remarkable degree. When
the family located here this was a wild and unde-

veloped region, wild animals still roaming at will

through the forests, while Indians were quite as

numerous as the white settlers. In the course of

years, however, these conditions were changed and

this district now ranks with the foremost sections

of the east. Mrs. Titus had a brother, Samuel P.

Oyler, who was a colonel in the war of the Rebel-

lion, and was also a very prominent attorney of

Indianapolis, Indiana, but is now deceased.

Stephen B. Titus was educated in the common
schools and was reared to the occupation of farm-
ing, to which he has always devoted his energies.

In 1883 a fine country residence was erected on
the place by the father and in this he and his

mother are now comfortably situated, while he de-

votes the Iwenty-two acres which constitute the

farm to general agricultural pursuits and garden-

ing.

Mr. Titus supports the men and measures of

the democratic party and, like his father, takes an
active interest in local political affairs. For nine
years he has acted as assessor and is also a member
of the Grange. Aside from his farming interests

he is likewise financially interested in the Ironde-

quoit Coal & Supply Company. Having spent his

entire life in Irondequoit township he is well

known in this and surrounding districts and as a

representative of an old and prominent pioneer

family deserves mention in this volume.

PIERSON BRITTAN HULETT.

Pierson Brittan Hulett, deceased, was at one time

an active member of the Rochester bar. He was
born in Brighton, Monroe county. New York, No-
vember 17, 1837, his parents being John and Bl-

mira (Loder) Hulett, who came to this country

from Salem, Connecticut. The son was educated

in the common schools and at Brighton and fol-

lowed the acquirement of his literary knowledge by

the study of law, which he pursued with Hon. W.
Dean Siiuart, of Rochester, as his preceptor. In
December, 1858, he was admitted to the bar, hav-

ing just passed his twenty-first birthday. He lo-

cated for practice in Rochester and almost from
the beginning enjoyed a liberal clientage, which
grew in importance as the years passed by until

his name figured in connection with many of the

most prominent cases tried in the courts of his

district. From the 1st of January, 1874, until the

1st of January, 1880, he served as special county
judge of Monroe county and upon the bench made
a most creditable record by the fairness and im-
partiality of his decisions and his correct applica^

tion of legal principles to the points in issue. In
1887 Everett 0. Gibbs became a law student in the

ofiice of Judge Hulett and following his admission

to the bar in 1893 he was admitted to partnership

by Mr. Hulett, which relation continued until the

death of the senior partner, since which time Mr.
Gibbs has been alone. Judge Hulett had been a

partner of Vincent M. Smith from 1884 until

1886, in which year Mr. Smith died, after which
Judge Hulett remained alone until he formed the
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partnership with Mr. Gibbs. He was a lawyer of

wide enulition, who prepared liis cases wath great

tlioroughiiess and care and presented his cause

with clear aud cogent reasoning, careful analysis

and logical deductions.

In 1863 Judge Hulett was married to Miss

Georgiana A. Budd, of Greece, Monroe county,

New\ork, a daughter of Daniel Budd, who came

to Monroe county at an early day and followed

farming for many years but is now living retired.

In his political views the Judge was a democrat

and always toolc a deep interest in politics, believ-

ing the principles of the party most conducive to

good government. He was a tlurty-sccond degree

Mason and also a member of the Knights of Pyth-

ias fraternity. He belonged to the Men's Club of

St. Paul's church, attended its services and was

one of its liberal supporters. His wife also holds

membership in that church. Tn ihc year 1901

Judge Hulett was called from this life and his

demise was the occasion of deep and widospi'ead

regret. A resident of Monroe county throughout

his entire life and a practitioner at Rochester from

his admission to the bar, his record was well known

to his fellow citizens and investigation into his

liistory but brightened his fame and gained him

warmer esteem. His devotion to his clients' in-

terests was proverbial and liis fidelity to his friends

was equally pronounced. Added to his natural

intellectual force was a genial spirit and kindly

purpose that made him well liked wherever he was

known and most of all where he was best known.

Mrs. Hulett still resides in Rochester, making her

home at No. 16 Vick Park A.

DANIEL B. MUEPHY.

Daniel B. Murphy, working without ostentation

oil display for the benefit of mankind and the

improvement of various conditions detrimental to

the welfare of one or more classes, has come to

he recognized as one of the most practical lui'onn-

crs of tlie eounti-y. Tn Rochester he is known

as an enterprising man and successful meiThant,

being a member of the firm of Burke, EitzSimons,

Hone & Company, but elsewhere in the state

and tlirouglKral^ the nation, he is known as one

whose labors ai'e largely actuated by the spirit

of humanitarianism, and never by a desire for

publicity or honors.

Mr. Murphy is a son of Maurice and Anastasia

Murphy, and was born at Boml)ay, Franklin coun-

ty, New York, July 23, 1848. Tie has one brother

and one sister, with whom he shared ])arental

training and care. In early youth he attended

the village school and worked on his father's

ffljm, and later was a student in the State Nor-

mal School at Potsdam, New York. Subsequent

(o this time he taught in diit'erent district schools

of Franklin county for five winters, the summer

seasons being devoted to agricultund labors. He
iie.vt l)ecame iirincipal of St. Mary's school, at

Dunkirk, Now York, for the years 1871, 1873 and

1873, and during the succeeding two years was

principal of the cathedral schools of this city.

Tiring of teaching and thinking to find a

commercial career more congenial, Mr. Murphy

in 18Tr) entered the employ of Burke, FitzSinions,

Hone & Company as au entiy clerk. His

ability and fidelit}' soon won promotion and he

))ecame head bookkeeper. In 18SG he was given an

interest in the business and on January 1, 1891,

lie was made a full partner. In his business life

he is ])ractical and energetic, readily mastering

the problems that come to him in this connection

and contiibuting largely to the success of the

house.

Mayor Cutlei' of Rochester recently appointed

Mr. Murphy a member of the reorganization com-

mittee of the United States Independent Telephone

Company, which was capitalized at fifty million

dollars and bonded at fifteen million dollars. This

large jdaut met with (inancial disaster, and a com-

niittee consisting of Daniel B. Murphy, Walter B.

Du(l!y, and Harold P. Brewster was appointed to

reorganize and place the same on a paying basis, or

dispose of it in the interest of the bondliolders and

stockholders. Mr. Murphy is president of the In-

dividual Underwriters' Association of the United

States, whose financial responsibility exceeds that

of the Bank of England.
Mr. Murphy is now a member of Corpus Christi

Catholic church, after having been a trustee of

the Catholic calhodral for a nund)cr of years. He
is independent in politics and has been mentioned
several times as a candidate for mayor of Roches-

ter by both parties but has declined to run. It

has been the public recognition of his deep in-

terest in community affairs and his practical and
clfective methods in dealing with problems bearing

upon mnnici]ial reform and ])rogress that has led

both i)arties to desire his service in the position of

chief executive of Rochester. His membei'ship

relations along sucial lines connect him with tlie

I'^ortnightly Club, the Genesee Valley Club and the

Oak Hill Golf Club.

The deptli of his nature, his philanthropic spir-

it and his kindly interest in all humanity are

manifest in the active work he has done to amel-

iorate certain hard conditions of life- and to bring

about needed reform in other lines. He has been

one of Ihe managers of Craig Colony for Epilep-

tics at Sonyea, New York, since 1898—a state

institution which at the present time cares- for

over twelve hundred patients. He is president of

(he New York State Conference of Cliarities and

Correcticm, composed of eighteen state charitable
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institutions and fourteen state hosi^itals and also

all other semi-public and private charitable insti-

tutions of the state. Every year delegates from
all over the state meet to confer and in 1907
there were eight hundred and thirty-seven dele-

gates, full quota, present. Mr. Murphy delivered

an address at the convention at Albany, which
awakened wide-spread attention. In speaking of

tliis, the Albany Tress Knickerbocker said, "Daniel

B. Murjihy gave some facts in relation to the

treatment of consumptives that should set Gov-

ernor Hughes thinking." In this connection, in

his annual address, Mr. Murphy said, "1 desire to

register here an emphatic protest against the

cruel, if not criminal, negligence of our state in

caring for its indigent consumptive wards. It is

well understood that this dread disease, consump-
tion, is more deadly than war, but modern science

has demonstrated that it can not only be control-

led, but that it is a preventable and curable dis-

ease. We are at times much concerned at the

devastating plagues that visit distant lands, but

we are apjjarently indifferent to the fact that the

scourge of ihe great White. Plague is ever at our

doors. Not less than fourteen thousand of its

unfortunate victims march annually in solemn

tread to the gi-ave; or, to be exact, the official rec-

ord shows that there were 'fourteen thousand

one hundred and fifty-nine deaths in 1904, four-

teen thousand and sixty-one in 1905 and fourteen

thousand and twenty-seven in 1906. Commission-
er Porter of the department of public health of

this state, in an address before the conference

of sanitary officers of the state about a year ago,

stated: 'More deaths occur from tuberculosis than

from typhoid fever, diptheria, wliooping cough,

measles, scarlet fever and smallpox combined.' It

is also estimated by this official that this disease

causes two hundred thousand deaths annually in

the United States; this exceeds the average an-

nual deaths of both armies during the four years

of our Civil war. That sad conflict closed over

forty-two years ago, and there is still mourning in

the land, and a pension roll of one-hundred forty-

one million, four hundred sixty-four thousand, five

hundred and twenty-two dollars and ninety centy,

attesting the destruction of human life nearly half

a century ago. What are we, as a state, doing to

avert this terrible sacrifice of human life? It

is gratifying to note that some of our large cities

have already awakened to a realization of their re-

sponsibilities and are now conducting suitable

liospitals for the care of a limited number of in-

cipient and advanced cases of tuberculosis. It is

well that the work of prevention and cure is now
talcen up, but it would have been better if some
activity in ihis direction hnd lioon manifested years

ago in compliance with the repeated demands of

tliis conference. It is a matter of record that each

of the preceding conferences rang out the

cry of alarm throughout the entire state, yet, as
a commonwealth, we have not adopted any concert-
ed action or determined upon any measure to con-
trol this agency of certain death to so many thou-
sands of our citizens. I am satisfied that there is a
large element of human sympathy in mankind, and
it needs only an awakening to arouse it to an inten-
sity of action that will brook no delay -in grant-
ing a full measure of justice and charity to the
alliictcd members of our common family. Let
New York's proud pre-eminence among the sister-

liood of states rest on the consciousness that her
highest ambition is to faithfully conserve the
liealtb, happiness, peace and contentment of
all her citizens."

Mr. Murphy is a charter member of the Na-
tional Association of Credit Men and was one
of the prijne movers in its organization at To-
ledo, Ohio, in 1896. This, association has a
membership of about ten thousand of the ablest
financial men in the United States. He returned
home from that conference and organized a local
association in Rochester, which is noted over the
country as one of the strongest in existence. He
was also chairman of the investigation and prose-
cution committee of the national association,
which raised ten thousand dollars for the prose-
cution of fraudulent debtors. Jle is a trustee of
the Rochester Chamber of Commerce and was
nominated and elected its president, but refused
the honor on account of the manifold duties de-
volving upon him in other connections. He was
recently the guest of honor at a large banquet
of the New York Conference of Charities and Cor-
rection and he has made many notable addresses
and speeches on dijrcreut occasions, many of these
having been printed and used as powerful argu-
ments in support of the cause advocated. His
speech against Governor Odell's policy in refer-
ence to the control of state hospitals for the
insane caused univei-sal comment and was used
througliout the gubernatorial campaign, being in
large measure the means of keeping politics out of
state charitable institutions. His address before
the Rochester Credit Men's Association on April
17, 1900, attracted wide attention throughout
the United States and was endorsed and adopted
for circulation by the business literature com-
mittee of the National Credit Men's Association
and sent throughout the country, the subject be-
ing, "The Object and Possibilities of Credit Men's
Associations." The address before the Buffalo
Credit Men's Association was also adopted and
ordered printed.

Mr. Murphy has made many other notable ad-

dresses, including one to the Rochester Retail

Grocers Association, May 26, 1902 ; to the gradu-

ates of St. Mary's School, Dunkirk, New York;

to the Rochester Chamber of Commerce on rais-
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ing the salaries of the local public school teach-

ers. His speech on the magnitude of failures

startled business men throughout the country.

In his speech l)efore tlu! Ohaniber of Ooniincrco,

in which he vigorously piotested against the de-

mand of the Rochester Railway Company to com-

promise its share of the payment of street pave-

ment claims, he stated that, "inasumch as it has

been doterniinod that this is a valid and legiti-

mate claim against this railway corporation, its

collection shorild 1)0 enforced to the last farthing,

including interest." This forceful presentation

of the facts convinced the city authorities that

ii, was tlieir duty to collect the amount of indebt-

edness, which was three hundred and eighty-si.x:

thousand dollars, instead of accepting one hun-

dred and forty-six thousand dollars in com-

promise.

AVhilo a inost puhlic-siiiritcd man, j\[r. Murphy

prefers to work in the ranks ratlier than hold

office. He has his hand constantly on the public

pulse, studying conditions and working for the

healthfulness of the body politic.

In July, 1874, Mr. Murphy was united in mar-

riage to Miss Mary B. Gavin; of this union eight

children have been born, six of whom are living.

He has traveled extensively, through Europe, also

visiting^ Egypt, South America and other coun-

tries. On a trip to the Bermudas in 1903 he

was shipwrecked on the Madiana, which went

ashore, but he was rescued without injury. He
was also at Martinique si.xty days before the ill-

fated city of St. Pierre was destroyed by volcanic

eruption in 1902. Mr. Murphy has many pleas-

ant memories of dirt'ereut trips to Europe, when

courtesies were shown him by .liislin McCarthy,

John Dillon and other members of iiie working

house of the English legislative body. Unmindful

of the honors of office, he has nevertheless won
the honor and respect of liis fello^vmen wherevcf

his work is known and his infl\icnce is felt.

After this he spent about a year and a half in the

Universitv of Vienna, Austria, where he gave spe-

cial attention to the study of geography. In 1901

he followed up this work in tiic graduate depart-

ment of Harvard University. With this special

equipment he early took his place at the head of

the department of geography in the State Normal

College of Michigan, a position he held for nearly

ten years. In the fall of 1902 lie was elected as

principal of the State Normal School at Brock-

port, ii position which lie has occupied ever since.

In this institution so complete is the organization

that a child may enter the first grade and con-

tinue through tiie high school, linishing in the

nornuil training department for teachers. The
teacliers sent out from here occupy positions of

responsibility throughout the state and are never

without employment if they desire to teach. Ed-

ucators generally recognize the merit of the New
York state nornuil schools and watch the oppor-

tunities of securing graduates for teachers. Mr.

McFarlane is a member of the National Geo-

graphical Society, the National Educational As-

sociation, the Geographiches-Verein IJniverutat

Wein and a fellow of the American Geographical

Society. Fraternally he is allied with the Masonic

lodge.

In 1<S95 he was married to Miss Lena Worden,

of Ypsilanti, Michigan. There are two children

in this family: David Eugene, age seven; and
James Worden, aged four.

CHARLES T. McFARLANE.

Although Professor Charles 'i\ j\IcEai'lane is

only thirty-five, he is already so closely and prom-
inently connected with the educational interests of

the state and country that he is widely known both

at home and abroad. lie was born in New Berlin,

New York, May 5, 1872, and was the son of

James and Martha (Tinker) T\rcl<'arhine, the

father a native of Scotland and the mother of

New York state.

Mr. McFarlane was educated in the College of

the City of New York and in tlie New York State

Normal College, from which he was graduated.

1<^I!ANK A. HAliL.\llKl{.

Frank A. llailauer, who died in Itocbester, Mew
York, February 3, 190G, was prominent in the

political circles of that place. He was born July
31, 1870, in Webster, New York, where he re-

sided with his parents and received his education.

He taught school for some years in that place.

In 1893 lie came to Rochester and began work in

connection with the camera business, in which lie

continued until 1900, when he was appointed over-

seer of the poor under Mayor Carnahan, in which
capacity he acted until the time of his death six

years later.

He was a member of the Masonic fraternity, of

the Woodmen of the World and of the Ancient

Order of United Workmen.
In politics he was a stanch republican and

took a deep interest in the political questions of

the day and in the advancement of his party. He
was very active and prominent and was chairman
of the Ward Club and president of the Union
League Club for six years. He had a cheerful,

sunny disposition wliich endeared him to all with
whom he came in contact. His death occurred
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iil'tci- an illness oi' ilirco weeks and liis luniily lost

a clcvotcd l\iiRl)anil and lather and Iiis friends one
who possessed ilioii- liigliest eondilence and esteem.

JOSEPH G. SHALE.

.Iosoi)h (.1. Shale, a. res[ieet;cil and ])0|)iilai- citi-

zen of Roeliesler, w'iiei'c he s[)ent his entire life,

fosc from a luiinhle position in the liiisiness world

to one of aflluence, his advancement coning
throngh liis inherent force ol' character, his close

application, his strong purpose and his laudable

andiition. He was horn on the oOth of IMarch,

IS")!, and was of (iennan lineage. His father,

George Shale, was lor some years ])ro|)rietor ol' a

retail shoe store, conducting one of the most ex-

tensive shoe houses of the city. A daughter of the

family, Mjss Caroline C. Shale, is now living at

No. 10 Franklin square, Rochester.

In his early boyhood Joseph G. Shale attended

the ])rivate schools and Inter St. Josepirs ))aro-

chial school. He was afterward a sindent in the

public schools until lifteen years of age, when he
started out upon an independent business career.

He was first employed as cash boy in the service

of Burke, FitzSimons, Home & Company, in the

wholesale department. His fidelity and worth
soon won recognition and he was quickly promoted,
renaining with that firm until 1872, when he

entered the (Muploy of Sibley, iiindsay & Keri',

with whom he continued until 187.'). (Jn the

expiration of that period he foi'ineil a partnci'ship

with .lacob 0(ienl)acli lor the pui-pose of carrying

on a hat and fur business at No. 7 State street.

The new enterprise met with prosperity from the

beginning, and Mr. Shale remained on State street

until 1887, when he formed a partnership with

Herman R. Milow, under the firm name of Shale

& Milow, continuing in the conduct of an exten-

sive business on East Main street until his demise,

which occurred on the 13th of August, 1894. His
widow then took up the management of the busi-

ne.ss and continued at its head for seven years,

when she sold out.

]\rr. Shale had been married on the l.Tth of

August, ISIS, to Jliss (Catherine .1. Keehl, of lio-

chestci-, a daughter of Caspei' ixeelil, wiuj was also

in the shoe business here and wa.s a manufacturer

of shoes. He came to Rochester when eighteen

years of age and the lady whom ho afterward niar-

I'iod ari'ived in this city when thii'leen years of age,

both spending their remaining days here. Casper

Keehl was born in 1800. Following his removal
to Rochester he purchased land on Lake avenue

and this jiroperty is still in possession of the fam-

ily. He was one of the first settlers of Hanford
Tjanding and was actively associated with the

early development of the portion of the city in

which he nnide his home. Three daugnters of his

family are still living at the old homo property in

the town of Greece, near liake avenue. Unto Mr.
and Mrs. Shale was born one son, Joseph Edward,

fn his political views Mr. Shale was a democrat
and look an active interest in politics. He held

memhership in the German-American Club for

many years ami was a mend)er of St. Joseph's

church, lie also belonged to the Monroe Club,

the Clatholic Mutual l^encllt Association and the

Knights of St. John. His good qualities were

many and his business capacity was manifest in

the splendid record which he made in working his

way upward from position of cash boy to a place

of iiromincnce in commercial circles. His meth-
ods, too, were ever honorable and he was esteemed

as one whose worth was that of inherent force of

character. Mrs. Shale now owns a home on Rich-

mond street but resides at No. 54 Gibbs street.

GEOHGF. A. BUMJ'US.

George A. Bumpus is an enterprising and pros-

perous farmer and fi'uit-grower of Irondequoit

township, operating the old family homestead. He
is a native son of Monroe county, born on a farm
in Perinton townsliip, July 7, 1858, and is a son
of Alexander Nelson and Tiucy (Howard) Bum-
pus. The lallcr was a native of Connecticut and
a daughter of Ezra Howard, who became a pioneer

scttlci- of Henrietta, New York. Alexander Nel-

son Bumpus was born near New Bedford, Massa-
chusetts, July 14, 1812, and at a very early age

he lost his father. The latter was a shoemaker by
trade and with his eldest son went to New Orleans,

where his death occurred. Subsequent lo the de-

mise of the father the family became scattered

and it was in 182G when a lad of fourteen years,

that Mr. Bumpus, accompanied a man by the name
of Jesse Eddy, who with his family removed from
the old Bay state to Henrietta, this state. Mr.
Bumpus was reared in the home of Mr. Eddy and
during his youth learned the carpenter's trade.

After reaching years of maturity he wedded Miss
Lucy llowai'd, after which he removed to a farm
in I'erinton township, Monroe county. He was
thfii'e engaged in general agricultural pursuits for

a few years, during which time he acquired a com-
petence sulficient to enable him to purchase prop-

erly, and he then came into possession of a farm
in Irondequoit township, which constitutes the
present home of our subject. He improved and
cultivated the land aiul here spent his remaining
days, passing away September 12, 1895, when he
had reached the very venerable age of eighty-three

j'ears. He was survived by his wife about five
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years, when she, too, was called to her final rest,

her death occurring January 4, 1900. They were

numbered among the highly esteemed pioneer

settlers of this section of the state, having been

closely identified with the development and
progress which has here been carried on from an

early period.

George A. Bumpus is one of a family of ten

children, of whom eight still survive. The others

are: William H., of Perinton; Mrs. Minerva C.

Baker, of Fairport; Mrs. Alice E. Brower, who re-

sides near Pittsford, Monroe county; Mrs. Susan

J. Whipple, a resident of Irondequoit; Mrs. Lucy
Barker, of Rochester; Mrs. Marcia B. Paine, of

Irondequoit; and Permelia, the wife of Thomas
Foley, of Perinton.

George A. Bumpus was reared in much the usual

manner of farm lads of that period, being assigned

to the various duties of the farm as his age and
strength permitted and in the winter months he

pursued his studies in the district schools of Iron-

dequoit township, while later he attended the

Rochester Business Institute, from which he was
graduated. He then returned to the home farm
and assisted his father in the management of the

property until the latter'a deatli, after which he
began farming here on his own account.

Mr. Bumpus chose as a companion and helpmate
for the journey of life. Miss Alice IC. Shergur, a

resident of Rochester. His religious faith is indi-

cated by his membership in Calvary Presbyterian

church and politically he is allied with the repub-

lican party. He is a man of exemplary habits and
strict integrity, ever ready to lend his aid or in-

fluence in behalf of any movement which he deems
will prove of benefit to his home locality.

DANIEL W. POWERS.

As some one has expressed it, "to know Roches-

ter is to know Powers." In other words, the

name of Powers is inseparably interwoven with
the history of the city, its commercial enterprise

and business development, and Daniel W. Powers
was the first builder of the modem business struc-

ture which is now a typical feature in every pro-

gressive city. The spirit of advancement which
he thus manifested characterized him in all of his

business undertakings and made him one of the

most prosperous as well as best known citizens of

Monroe county. Born in Batavia, Genesee county.
New York, on the 14th of June, 1818, he was a son
of Asahel and Elizabeth (Powell) Powers, who
were natives of Vermont. On leaving New Eng-
land they removed to western New York, estab-
lishing their home in this section of the Empire
state when it was largely an unimproved dis-

trict, giving little evidence of its present develop-

ment and upbuilding. The father died about

1821 and the mother survived until the period of

the Civil war.

Following his father's death Daniel W. Powers
•made his home with an uncle and his early ex-

periences were those of farm life. He worked
in the fields from the time of early spring plant-

ing until after crops were harvested in the late

autumn but the pursuits of a mercantile career

seemed more attractive and at the age of nine-
teen he became a salesman in the hardware store

of Ebenezer Watts of Rochester. For twelve
years thereafter he was connected with the hard-
ware trade, during which time the careful hus-
banding of his resources, together with the increase
in his salary as his years and efficiency advanced,
brought him capital that enabled him to engage
in business on his own account as a banker and
broker on the 1st of March, 1850. He made
the announcement to the public through the col-
umns of the paper that he would conduct an
"Exchange business in the Eagle block, Rochester,
one door west of the Monroe Bank in Buffalo
street." The new enterprise prospered from the
beginning. He gave close and earnest attention to
his business and the public soon recognized that
he was thorouglily trustworthy, reliable and com-
petent, so that his patronage therefore increased
and in years brought him a handsome fortune.
His success in the undertaking is evidenced by
the fact that on the site of his original office
now stands the beautiful and substantial Powers
fire proof building, the first as well as the finest
and most celebrated of the great modern com-
mercial structures erected in the city. He con-
tinued to engage in the banking business until
his death and was recognized as one of the fore-
most financiers of western New York, not un-
known throughout the entire state and in other
sections of the country. In addition to the Pow-
ers block he erected the Powers Hotel, scarcely
equaled m tlie state outside of New York city.
Mr. Powers was one of the best balanced be-
cause one of the most masterful of men. He
rated his own powers and opportunities at their
just worth and recognized the possibilities of
every business situation. He never allowed any-
thing to divert his attention from his business
or to detract from the devotion which he gave to
his clients' interests.

It was not alone tlirough his private business
affairs, however, that Mr. Powers became reckoned
as one of the most distinguished and prominent
citizens of Rochester. His labors were of the
utmost benefit to the city along various lines of

progress. He was one of the founders of the

present park system and was a member of the

commission which directed the construction of
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the city hall and the elevation of tlie Central
Hudson Eailroad tracks. Twice he served as

alderman and his official prerogatives were exer-

cised in support of valuable measures. The
Eochester City Hospital found in him a stalwart

friend and champion and for many years he was
president of its board of trustees. He was like-

wise president of the board of trustees of the

Home of the Friendless and a member of the

board of trustees of the Industrial School. He
was charitable and benevolent, giving freely of his

means to ameliorate hard conditions of life for

others and in all of his benefactions was entirely

free from ostentation or display. He recognized
individual responsibility and his charitable work
was conducted as was his business—from a sense
of duty, of privilege and of pleasure.

Mr. Powers was married twice. His first wife,
who in her maidenhood was Miss Lucinda Young,
died in early womanhood, leaving a son, Edward,
who passed away in youth. In 1856 Mr. Powers
wedded Miss Helen M. Craig, a daughter of the
late John Craig, of Niagara county, who was one
oC the early retired citizens of Koohestcr. He
removed from Niagara county to that city and
became the owner of extensive real-estate inierests

here. His birth occurred in New Hampshire,
his father being Colonel Joseph Craig, who won
distinction as an officer in the Revolutionary war.
John Craig was united in marriage to Miss Ehoda
Fassett and died at the age of seventy-seven years,

while his wife's death occurred when she was
seventy-one years of age. Mr. and Mrs. Powers
became the parents of five children: Helen, the
wife of J. W'. Aitken, of New York city; William
C, a resident of New York city; Jessie, the wife
of G. N. Perkins; and John Craig and Walter
W., who make their home in Eochester.

Mr. Powers attained the Knight Templar de-

gree in Masonry and was an attendant on the

services of the Brick church, to which he gave
liberal support. His was an especially well

rounded character. While he achieved success in

business that would alone entitle him to distinc-

tion, his interests beyond this were most varied

and extensive. He was a patron of art and the

founder of the famous Powers Art Gallery, valued

at more than a million dollars. His knowledge of

nrfists and their work was very extensive and his

judgment discriminating. The beautiful in form
and color had great attraction for him and he
possessed that breadth of mind which induces

interest in all that is refining and elevating. At
all times he kept in touch with the progress of

the land, being a man of broad general informa-

tion. He traveled extensively, going abroad sev-

eral times and visiting many points of historic

modern and scenic interest in the old world as

well as in his native land. He was imbued at all

times with the spirit of advancement and progress

may well be termed the keynote of his character.

In the counting house or the office he was regarded
as a most level-headed business man but when the
call for aid was made he was found to be most
sympathetic and charitable. If one met him in

the galleries at home or abroad he might well

have been judged a connoisseur of art and in

social circles he was found to be a most genial

and companionable gentleman. A resident of

Eochester from early manhood, he was honored
and respected by all and his name stood to the

outside world largely as a synonym of Rochester's

greatness and upbuilding.

JOHN T. BVEESHED.

The agricultural interests of Brighton are well

represented by John T. Evershed, who owns a well

improved tract of land comprising eighty-five

acres, and in addition to cultivating his land he

is also engaged in the dairy business, having a

milk route in the city and keeping on hand twentj

cows to supply milk to the trade.

He is a native son of the Empire state, his birth

having occurred on a farm in Irondequoit town-

ship, Monroe county, July 5, 1836. He comes of

English parentage and is a son of John and Jane
J. (Palmer) Evershed, the father born in the

mother country in 1809. It was in the year 1833
that the family emigrated to the new world, tke

family home being established in Irondequoit,

where the father purchased and improved a farm,

owning at one time a tract of two hundred acres.

He was a representative and honored citizen of

his locality, taking an active part in public affairs.

He was a democrat in his political views and for

four years served aa supervisor, was town clerk for

twenty-seven years and assessor for five years. He
was a good penman and for that reason was an
acceptable incumbent in the office of town clerk.

Of the marriage of Mr. and Mrs. John Evershed
there were born four sons and three daughters, of

whom two daughters are now deceased. The
father's death occurred in 1896, when he had
reached the venerable age of eighty-seven years,

and thus passed away one of the prominent and
public-spirited men of Monroe county, for he was
loyal to the best interests of his adopted country.

John T. Evershed was reared on the homestead

farm in Brighton, early becoming familiar with

the duties and labors incident to the life of a
farm lad. He acquired his education in school

district No. 3, wherein he mastered the common
branches of learning. He remained at home until

he had reached the age of thirty-five years, during

which time he gave his time and energies to the
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operation of the home farm, and then, wishing to

establish a home of his own, he was united in

marriage to Miss Minnie Schutt, a daugliter of

George Schntt, one of the early settlers of Ironde-

quoit township. Mrs. Evcrshed was born in Ger-

many and was but a child when she was brought

by her parents to this country.

She died on the 25th of August, 1906. By her

marriage she had become the mother of one son,

John 6., who was born in Brighton, January 7,

1877, and is now operating the home farm for his

father. He was married December 17, 1903, tr

Miss Bertha Peglow, a daughter of John Peglow
and they have two sons: Curtis, born June 4

1904; and Mason, born June 4, 1907.

Mr. Evershed purchased a farm of eighty-five

acres in Brighton, which he cultivated and im-
proved by the erection of good buildings, including

a barn, seventy-two by thirty feet, with a wing,

thirty by thirty-six feet. He also built a carriage

house, ice house and other outbuildings, and he

planted an orchard containing one hundred pear

trees. He carries on a dairy business and for

many years kept on hand sixty-two cows. At one
time he owned the largest milk route in Roches-

ter but he has since disposed of some of his cows,

keeping on hand about twenty, and he still de-

livers milk throughout the city. At the last in-

spection Lis ' farm stood almost perfect on the

inspector's report, which accounts for his success

in the dairy business. This proves a gratifying

source of income to him and his honorable business

methods have won for him the high regard of all

with whom he has come in contact.

Like his father, John T. Everslied has given his

political support to the men and measures of

democracy but although he has been repeatedly

urged to accept public ofTice he has always declined

to do so, preferring to give his undivided time to

his private business affairs. , He has spent his

entire life in Monroe county, covering a period of

seventy-one years, and he is therefore widely and
favorably known, for he has been closely identified

with the agricultural development of this section

of the state from an early period down to the

present time. The family are highly respected in

the community in which they have so long made
their home and their friends, who are many, en-

joy the gracious hospitality of their pleasant home.

EDWARD ALLEN FROST.

Edward Allen Frost, who during an active life

was called upon to fill various municipal positions

and who at all times proved his genuine worth by
the trust reposed in him, was born in Rochester,
January 14, 1833. His parents wore Alonzo iind

Mary Tiffany (Frink) Frost, the former born in

Johnstown, New York, July 16, 1803. He came
to Rochester in 1825 and in 1829 wedded Miss
Frink. "Jlieir three eldest children were Joseph,

]!]d\vard A. and Hcniy 0. Frost. The father en-

gaged in the nursery business in Rochester in

1846 and when his sons had attained a sufficient

age they were admitted to the business as partners

and enjoyed a very extensive patronage both before

and after the war. Alonzo Frost made his home
on Plymouth avenue in the third ward and in 1840
built the house still standing at the corner of Ply-

mouth and Caledonia avenues. It remained his

home throughout the rest of his life, his death

there occurring in 1873. His eldest son, Joseph,

who was a prominent young business man, well

known, died very suddenly in St. Louis, Missouri,

September 26, 1865, when on a business trip to

that city. Henry C. Frost the youngest son, was
captain in the Eighth New York Cavalry and
served until about the close of the Civil war, when
he was honorably discharged. He resides in Ro-
chester. He and his sister, Sarah Frost, are the
only surviving members of the family.

Edward Allen Frost was educated in the public

schools of Rochester and in Professor Foster's

school for boys in Adams street. He was inter-

ested in the nursery business in his early years and
became a member of the firm of Frost & Company,
nurserymen, continuing in that business until he
withdrew to become county clerk of Monroe coun-
ty. He was elected to that office in 1877 and
served for a term of three years, being the only
man who ever held the office two terms. He was
afterward supervisor of the tliird ward for two
terms. In January, 1899, he was appointed
deputy collector of internal revenue under Col-
IccLor A. D. Sanders, which ollico ho hold until
his death. For several years he was a vestryman
of St. Luke's Episcopal church and was greatly
interested in the work and upbuilding of tnat
organization, doing all in his power to promote
its cause and extend its influence. A social nature
and regard for the amenities of life was manifest
in his connection with the Rochester Club, of
which he was one of the original members, and the
Rochester Whist Club of which he was at one time
president. He was a member of Rochester lodge,
A. F. & A. M., Hamilton chapter, R. A. M., Mon-
roe commandery, K. T., and tlie Scottish Rite. He
liold some offices in these organizations, was treas-
urer of the chapter for many years and was at
all times loyal to the teachings and purposes of
the craft.

In 1859 Edward Allen Frost was married to
Miss Mary AVing, of Albany, who died in 1867.
In 1888 he was again married, the lady of his
choice being Miss Isabella M. Eastman, a daughter
of Joseph Addison Eastman of this city, who was
born in Paris, New York, December 31^ 1805, and
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died in Rochester, March 8, 1890, at the age of

eighty-four years. His father was the Rev. John
Eastman, a graduate of Dartmoutli College of the

class of 1795, who for twenty-three years was pas-

tor of churches in Norwich and Hanover, New
York. In 1824 he removed to York, this state,

where he continued to preach occasionally until

his death in 1834. His son, Joseph A. Eastman,
was prepared for college at Paris Hill, New Yorlc,

under the instruction of William R. Weelcs, D. U.,

and at the academy in Clinton, New York, under
the instruction of Professor Charles A. Avery. He
was a member of Hamilton College for two years

and joined the junior class of Dartmouth College

in the fall of 1825. Following his graduation he
taught in the academy in Scottsville, New York,
for eight months and in the academy at Fredonia,

New York, from July, 1829, until October, 1831.

He took up the study of law with the tirm of

Thorp & Buttolph, at Norwich, New York, and
afterward studied with the Hon. James Mullett,

at Fredonia, and with Kirkland & Bacon, at TJtica,

New York. He was admitted to the bar in Janu-
ary, 1833, and opened an office in Scottsville, this

state, in March, 1834. In May, 1836, he came to

Rochester and at once began the practice of law
with the Hon. S. M. Green, who for many years

had been judge of the supreme court of Michigan,

and the firm became Green & Eastman. When Mr.
Green went west Mr. Eastman formed a partner-

ship with Judge Chumasero and later he was con-

nected with Menzo Van Voorhis. Mr. Eastman
was an iiifliioiitial )ncinbor of the board of educa-

tion many years ago and up to the time of liis

death never lost his interest in the public sclioola.

In politics he was greatly interested and gave his

support to the democracy. He held the offices of

city clerk and city attorney of Rochester. He
was one of the founders of the Genesee Valley

Horticultural Society, was for several years its

recording secretary and was a member of the

executive committee. He took much interest in

horticulture and floriculture and as an amateur in

years past had the finest private collection of roses

in Rochester. For many years he was a vestryman

and clerk of the vestry of St. Luke's Episcopal

cliurch. ITc hold membership in the old Audubon
Club and later with the Rochoslcr Whist Club. He
was a very prominent resident oC tJiia city, leaving

the impress of his individuality upon its public

life and private interests. No one who knew

Joseph Eastman could utter words, other than

those of kindness concerning him. On the 17th

of October, 1835, Mr. Eastman was married to

Miss Emily J. McKnight, a daughter of Judge

Calvin McKnight of Watertown, New York, and

they had one daugliter, Isabella Mansfield, who be-

came Mrs. Frost.

The death of Mr. Frost occurred January 24,

1900, and Mrs. Frost now resides at No. 14 G Ply-

mouth avenue in Rochester. He was a man with-

out an enemy and the circle of his friends was co-

extensive with the circle of his acquaintances. He
lived in Monroe county all his life and was con-

spicuous in politics. He held important offices and
mingled constantly with the people, all of whom
respected and loved him. He was. honest, courte-

ous, considerate and generous and it is said that

not a day ])nsscd in which some kindly deed could

not be attributed to him. lie was always inter-

ested in the welfare of the city and its upbuilding

and labored most earnestly to develop the present

park system, being among the first to point out the

advantages of public parks and to urge purchases

where they could be made to advantage. The first

park land was bought of Mr. Frost.

In politics Mr. Frost was a republican. He was
one of the "30G,"—a member of that gallant band
in the Chicago convention of 1880 that stood to-

gether to the last and voted for General Grant.

It was with pride and interest that he always re-

called the events of that convention, for at a time
when others proved false to their pledges he was
loyal and remained true to the interests of those

who sent him. He was very proud of his 306

medal and rejoiced in the name of "stalwart."

The qualities that he there exhibited were those

he displayed throughout his entire life. He was
ever quiet and unostentatious in manner, however,

but all who came in contact with him to any ex-

tent recognized his many good traits, including his

loyalty to his friends. The name of Edward Allen

Frost is honored wherever he Avas known and all

with whom he came into close contact yet cherish

his memory.

JAMES M. WHITNEY.

James M. Whitney,' deceased, whose extensive

business interests made him one of the foremost

citizens of Rochester, contributing largely to its

commercial and industrial upbuilding, was for

many years engaged in the milling business and
in the grain trade and was one of the most exffen-

sivc real-estate owners of the city. He was like-

wise numbered among the representatives of its

pioneer families, for his birth occurred in Roches-

ter, February 24, 1821, when the city had scarcely

more than emerged from villagehood and gave

little promise of its present comuiercial impor-

tance. He lived not only to witness its growth but

to become an active participant therein. His par-

ents were Warham and Nancy (MordofC) Wliitney,

natives of Massachusetts and Canada respectively.

The father came to Rochester at a very early day

and established a distillery. Soon afterward he
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embarked in the milling business and owned a

large flourmill on Mill street in partnership with

Thomas Emerson. He was identified with that

industry throughout his remaining days and ne

also became tho owner of much city property, mak-
ing extensive and judicious investments in real

estate. He opened what is known as the Wliitney

addition to the city and passed away in the midst
of a life of usefulness and activity at the compara-
tively early age of flfty-two years, being survived

for only a short time by his wife.

In his early youth James M. Whitney was a

public-school student in Rochester and afterward

attended school in Palmyra, New York, acquiring

a good education. He then joined his fattier in

the conduct of the flourmill, resolutely taking up
the task of mastering the business in principle and
detail, and after his father's death he entered into

partnership in a milling business with Samuel 6.

Andrews and Nathaniel Rochester <jii Mill street.

On the 7th of September, 1852, Mr. Whitney
was married to Miss Martha Pond, a representa-

tive of one of the prominent old pioneer families

of Rochester. Her parents were Elias and Caro-
line (Hickox) Pond, the former a native of Castle-

ton, Vermont, and the latter of this state.

Mr. and Mrs. Whitney became the parents of

two sons. Warham, who was born in 1854, is a

member of the firm of L. S. Ward & Company,
conducting a general insurance business at 207
Wilder building. He wedded Fannie Arnot and
they reside at No. 33 South Goodman street.

George Pond, the younger son, born in 1856, died

December 25, 1891.

As the years passed Mr. Whitney carried on
his business operations and did much to push for-

ward the wheels of progress. In connection with

his milling enterprises he became much interested

in real estate, inheriting valuable property from
his father. He owned realty in all parts of the

city and also at the lake, where he built the Cot-

tage hotel. He erected many fine residences in

Rochester and thus aided iji converting unsightly

vacancies into fine districts. He had a large in-

terest in the street railway of the city in early

days when horse cars were used and when the

owners of the street railway system were but four

in number—Messrs. Warner, Barry, Woodruff and
Whitney. Mr. Whitney continued interested in

street car service for many years. He continued

in all of the above mentioned lines of business

until called to his final rest, his death being occa-

sioned by an accident while he was residing on

Lake avenue. He passed away May 24, 1893.

Both he and his wife attended St. Luke's church
and he voted with the republican party, believing

firmly in its principles, yet he was never an office

seeker. He was a great lover of flowers and al-

ways had many beautiful blossoms and plants in

his home. Mr. Whitney figured for many years as

a wealthy and prominent resident of Rochester and
one who had the welfare of the city at heart. He
stood for all that tended to improve its interests

and in all life's relations his influence was found

on the side of the right, the true and the beautiful.

His name is honored by those who knew him and
his memory is yet enshrined in the hearts of the

many who claimed him for a friend.

ALBERT WEBSTER.

Albert Webster is engaged in cultivating ninety-

eight acres of farming land in the town of Hen-
rietta. He is a representative of one of the old

families of this county. His ancestery can be

traced back to Aaron Webster, his great-grand-

father, who came here at a very early day. He
served his country as a soldier in tjie war of 1812
and contributed to public progress through the ac-

tive part which he took in the pioneer development
of the community in which he made his home.
His son, Samuel Webster, the grandfather of our
subject, was bom in Columbia county, New York,
and arrived in Monroe county about 1810. He
was married prior to that time and his eldest

son was Harry Webster, who was about six or eight
years of age at the time of the removal of the
family to this county. The family home was es-

tablished at Mendon and there Harry Webster at-

tended the district schools. He also assisted in
the work of the home farm and was early trained
to habits of industry, economy and perseverance.
In the community he was recognized as a leading
and influential citizen and by popular franchise
was elected to the offices of assessor and collector.
His political views were always in accord with the
principles of the republican party and to it he
gave stalwart support. He married Phoebe
Nicholsr and unto them were born two sons and a
daughter.

Albert Webster, of this family, was born on the
old homestead in 1848 and in his youth attended
the district schools, mastering the common
branches of English learning. He, too, early be-
came familiar ^ith the duties and labors that fall
to the lot of the agriculturist and throughout his
entire life he has carried on general farming. He
is now leasing ninety-eight acres in the town of
Henrietta and has brought the farm under a high
state of cultivation, annually gathering good crops
as a reward for the care and labor which he be-
stows upon the fields.

On the 10th of January, 1877, Mr. Webster
was united in marriage to Miss Mary A. Perry,
and they had one daughter, Clara. The wife and
mother departed this life on the 22d of March,
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1891, leaving behiiul many L'riwuls avUo esteemed

her for her good qualities of heart and mind.

Mr. Webster is a member of Henrietta lodge,

No. 536, A. P. & A. M., of which he is a past

master, and he also belongs to the Royal Arch
chapter at Rochester. He is a charter member
of the State Grange, of which he is also a past
master, and in both organizations he is now serv-

ing as treasurer. His political allegiance is given
to the republican party and he is now serving as

justice of the peace, rendering decisions which
are strictly fair and impartial.

JACOB S. GOULD.

There is perhaps no one iu Rochester whoso
word could better be taken as authority upon the
history of the city than that of Jacob S. Gould,
for through eighty-one years he has resutcd here.
He was born nt the conier of Eitzliuglv and Sprini;
streets on the 6tli of September, 1826, and now
resides at No. 43 South Fitzhugh street, just nortli
of the old place with his nephew Harry Gould.
He is the eldest child of General Jacob Gould, who
came to Rochester in 1819 and who was born in
Massachusetts, February 10, 1794t. He was mar-
ried in 1816 to Ruby Swan, whose birth occurred
March 34, 1793. General Gould was the son of
Captain Gould and a representative of one of the
old colonial families. On his removal from Massa-
chusetts to the Empire state General Gould located
first at Schenectady, where he engaged in teaching
school for a short time but later came to Rochester.
Here he engaged in the manufacture of shoes m
1819, carrying on business at both Rochester and
Lockport for many years during the building of
the Erie canal and thus becoming actively asso-
ciated with the material development and indus-
trial life of the community. In later years he
went into politics and figured prominently as one
of the strong and influential members of the
democracy in this state. He served as lighthouse
inspector for some time and afterward was col-

lector of the port of Genesee, while subsequently

he served as United States marslial for two terms.

His duties were discharged with promptness and
fidelity and patriotism could well be termed one of

the keynotes of his character. He was president of

the Farmers & Mechanics Bank and had a brancli

bank in London. He was director and one of the

consolidators of the New York Central Railroad
until that line was purchased by Vanderbilt, and
the extent and importance of his business interests

and investments and his activity in public affairs

made him a very prominent man in his day.

Through the utilization of the business oppor-

tunities tliat were presented he became a wealthy
man and at one time owned all the side of the

block upon which Jacob S. Gould now resides. He
was twice married and had five children. He knew
and helped many prominent men of the day and
was a warm personal friend of Martin Van Buren
when he was president of the United States, Mr.
Van Buren often visiting at the Gould home.
Mrs. Ely is the only lady now living who assisted

at a reception given Martin Van Buren at the

Gould home.
Jacob S. Gould, entering the public schools at

the usual age, passed through successive grades
until he had become a high school student and
later he continued his studies in Lima Seminary.
Entering business life at eighteen years of age, he
was connected with the manufacture and sale of

shoes as a partner of his father and subsequently

was associated with his father in the banking
business. After retiring from that line he became
contracting agent for the New York Central Rail-

road, in which capacity he continued for eleven

years, when he retired. He has since lived in the

enjoyment of a well earned rest, having by care-

ful management, well directed labor and judicious

investment in former years acquired a snug little

fortune which now enables him to spend his re-

maining days in ease.

Mr. Gould was married to Miss Elizabeth

Johnson, a daughter of John Johnson. Her par-

ents came to Monroe county from St. Lawrence
county in 1813 but such were the pioneer conditions

in this section of the country that they were driven

out by the Indians. They then went to Ogdens-

burg but subsequently returned to Rochester,

where Mr. Johnson engaged in business as a boat

builder. In 1878 Mr. Gould was called upon to

mourn the loss of his wife, who died on the 35th of

June of that year. Politically he is a democrat

and he attends the First Presbyterian church.

He was also known in military circles at an early

day, having been elected captain of the guards by

over five hundred majority. The house in which
he is living and two others adjoining were ouilt

by Captain Lummis and General Gould in 1834.

They are still fine houses in an excellent state of

repair. Mr. Gould of this review is a very active

man for one of his years and it is most pleasant

to meet and converse with him because of his

broad and accurate knowledge of the city and its

history. He lived in Rochester when it was a

small town and has watched its development to

one of the metropolitan centers of the country with

important commercial and industrial interests,

bringing it into touch with all parts of the western

continent and many parts of the world. Great

indeed have been the changes which have occurred

as the little village has been transformed into a

splendid city, a population of manv thousand oc-

cupying district? where in his boyhood stood the
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native forest trees. It seems hardly possible that

it is within the memory of a living man when there

was scarcely a railroad over the country and when
most of the craft upon the waters were propelled

by sails. Mr. Gould, however, has witnessed the

many changes that time and man have wrought as

.invention has revolutionized trade and methods of

living. At all times he has been deeply inter-

ested in Rochester and her welfare, co-operating
in many movements for tlic public good.

HON. JOHN D. PAY.

Hon. John D. Pay came of colonial ancestry,
his first ancestor in this country, John Pay, arriv-
ing on the ship Speedwell froni England in 165G.
He became prominent in Massachusetts, where he
was a large landowner and filled several important
positions of trust and honor, as did' many of his
descendants, who were selectmen, assessors, mem-
bers of assembly, members of congress and officers
in the war with the French and in the Revolution-
ary war. Mr. Fay's grandfather took part in the
latter war, being first lieuicnant in the Pourtli
Regiment of Massachusetts.

John Doane Pay was born in Northampton,
New York, April 20, 1815, the eldest son of Hon.
John Pay, one of the influential men of those
times, who repeatedly held public office. He acted
as supervisor, postmaster, member of the sixteenth
congress, presidential elector and member of as-
sembly during the early discussions on appropria-
tions for the constructing of the "Grand Erie
Canal," with which his son was destined to be con-
nected for many years. The son, John D. Fay,
seems to have inherited his father's upright char-
acter, great ability and fine personal appearance.
He made surveying his chosen profession, in which
he attained eminence. About 1839 lie went to
Lockport, where he remained several years and
then came to Rochester, residing fifty years in the
third ward, where he died June 6, 1895. The
canal was the cause of his coming to this city and
most satisfactorily he discjiarged the duties of
resident and division engineer and canal commis-
sioner. During his connection with the canal, it

was widened, tlie locks changed at Lockport and
the acqueduct in Rochester city deepened. He was
nominated for state surveyor.' Upon his retiring
from the office of canal commissioner in 1873, his
associates presented him a solid silver tablet with
the following engraved upon it: "Hon. John D.
Pay, Canal Commissioner. Dear Sir: Desirous
of showing at the close of your official term our
high appreciation of your efficiency as a public
officer and worth as a citizen, also of acknowl-

edging our obligations for your ever kind and
courteous bearing towards us, not forgetting that

by your sound common sense, skill and ability our

duties have been made comparatively easy and

pleasing, while the public interest has been there-

by enhanced ; we therefore most respectfully dedi-

cate to you this tablet as a testimonial of our high

appreciation and heartfelt respect, and, wishing

you a long and prosperous life, truly subscribe

ourselves your friends."

He had charge of the western division of the

New York state canals, and with two cxc;eptions

Avns loiigoi' in the employmont of the slate ihnn
any other surveyor. In 1850 he and 0. W. Childs

were sent by Commodore Vanderbilt at the head
of a large surveying party to make a survey for

an inter-oceanic ship canal across Nicaragua, Cen-
tral America, under the auspices of a New York
company. This undertaking, accomplished under
privations incident to a remote, sparsely settled

and almost unknown country, resulted in a survey

considered superior to any since made, though
finally the Panama route was chosen. Mr. Fay
made the first survey for the direct line of the

New York Central Railroad from Rochester to

Syracuse and was connected with many railroad

enterprises of importance.

For sonic years he was engaged with William
ITollister in an extensive lumber business, which
they most successfully conducted until the great

flood of 1865, which swept nearlv all away. His
active business career closed witli his retirement

from tlie coal business, which was located on South
Pitzhugh street, the canal separating it from the

city hall. Ilis friends were among the most dia-

tinguished and those of the more humble walks of

life, and to all he was equally considerate.

On the IGth of May, 1839, Mr. Pay married
Miss Caroline N. Sexton, of Chenango county,

who, soon after the death of their only child, died
October 11, 1841. Pour years later, on October
23, 1845, Mr. Fay was united in marriage to Miss
Maria Lydia Nolile, the youngest daughter of

Colonel William H. Noble, who represented his

district in the twenty-fifth eonffress, besides filling

a number of state offices. Her grandfather was
Ijieutenant Zadock Noble of the Revolutionary
war. Mrs. Pay was born in Cayuga county, April

14, 1824, and as a girl was a frequent visitor to

tins city, the guest of her uncle, one of Rochester's

iirst mayors. Her reminiscences of the social af-

fairs of those early days were most interesting, as

were her accounts of her experiences during the

year and a half passed with her husband in Nicara-
gua, where a white woman was an object of much
curiosity. The surveying party sailed from New
York in a schooner specially fitted for them, tak-

ing their own physician, as the part of the coun-
try where they were to be was far from the settle-

ments. In her youth Mrs. Pay joined St. Luke's
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Protestant Episcopal church, to which her hus-

band and children also belonged. She was an
early member of the Rochester Female Charitable

Society.

Mrs. Fay died August 20, 1906, at 64 South
AVashington street, which since the completion of

the residence in 1860 has been the family home
and is little changed though it has sheltered three

generations and been the i)irthplaee of two. The
garden in the rear remains as when laid out so

long ago, its patlis edged with old-fashioned

ilowers and shrubs. Tlie place is occupied by their

youngest and only surviving child, Stephen Clark
Fay, his wife and child, Sumner Doane Fay, the

only grandchild.

SAMUEL SLOAN.

Eochester's greatness as a business center is at-

tributfible in large measure to citizens who came
hero about the middle of the nineteenth century
and wrought along lines of development and im-
provement, working for the general good as well

as for individual prosperity. To this class be-

longed Samuel Sloan, and his advancement in

the business world was attributable not so much
to his possession of iinusual qualities as to his

unfaltering exercise of the powers and talents

wliich were his. ITc was at the time of liis death

])rcsidont of the MocliMiiics Savings liiiiik and also

at tlie head of an extensive wliolesale business,

dealing in plumbers', steamfittcrs' and engineers'

supplies.

A native of the north of Ireland, Samuel Sloan

was born near Belfast, in 1828, and was a Son of

Timothy Sloan. He acquired his education in

his native country and when a young man of

twenty years sought the broader business oppor-

tunities of the new Avorld, crossing thn Atlantic

to the United States in 1848. Soon after his ar-

rival in New York city he secured a position in

the first wholesale dry-goods bouse on Broadway
and there engaged in the Australian shipping busi-

ness. He remained in New York until it be-

came necessary for liim in tlic interests of tlie firm

to go to Melbourne, Australia, where he remained

for six years.

In 18G0 Mr. Sloan again came to this country

and almost immediately established his home in

Eochester, where he engaged in the steam and gas

fitting business in partnersliip with E. E. Sher-

lock, the firm style of Slierlock & Sloan being as-

sumed. This connection was continued witli mu-
tual plensnro nnd profit uniil the doaih of Mr.

Sherlock Iwenly years Inter, when Mr. Sloan be-

came the sole proprietor. I^he business had been

developed into a wholesale concern for the sale of

plumbers', steam fitters' and engineers' supplies
and the trade had constantly increased until the
volume of business annually transacted was rep-
resented by large figures. The house, too, had
always been known for its straightforward
methods and the policy thus inaugurated at an
early day has always been maintained.

Extending his efllorts to other fields, Mr. Sloan
became a prominent factor in financial circles and
as president of the Mechanics Savings Bank and
a director in the Genesee Valley Trust Com-
pany was thus identified with the business inter-

ests of the city up to the time of his demise, which
_

occurred September 1, 1903.

In the religious and benevolent life of his city,

Mr. Sloan always took a prominent part and his

deeds of unassuming charity and words of kind-
ly counsel and encouragement are treasured in

the memory of many. For more than thirty years

he was an elder in the Central Presbyterian church
and was closely identified with its development
and progress. He was one of the board of di-

rectors of the Eochester City Hospital and also

one of the original trustees of the Eeynolds Li-

brary and in the welfare of both institutions he
always displayed a deep interest.

Mr. Sloan was first married in 1865 to Miss
Mary Eveline Vosburgh, of Lima, New York,
whose death occurred in 1882, leaving one son,

William E. Sloan, who has succeeded him as the

head of the large business which he built up. His
second wife, Mrs. Hanna Curtis Jones, of Owego,
New York, to whom lie was married in 1885j

died in 1897.

In all that pertained to municipal progress in

varied lines and which contributed to a city's

growth, prosperity, improvement and normal de-

velopment, Mr. Sloan's influence was actively felt

and he was ever ready to give both his personal

services and his financial assistance toward fur-

thering the inaterial and moral welfare of the

city of his adoption. As a business man he made
a I'ccoi'd which any man might be proud to possess,

for upon a very meager foundation of capital

possessed upon his arrival in America, he built a

goodly fortune and at the same time maintained

an honored name.

CHAELES C. MEYEE.

Although born across the water, Mr. Meyer has

spent the greater part of his life in Eochester and

his career is identified with the history of this

city, wliero ho has acquired a competence nnd

where he is an honored and respected citizen. He
may well be termed one of the founders of tlie

city, for he has been the promoter' of many of
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its leading business enterprises. He has earned

for himself an enviable reputation as a careful

business man and in his present connection, as in

former business undertakings, he has through his

prompt and honorable methods won the deserved

and unbounded confidence of his fellowmen.

Mr. Meyer was born in Germany January 8,

1831, a son of Andrew and Frederica (Winter)

Meyer, the latter a nativp of Leopold-Haven. The
father was a shipbuilder by trade and in July,

1836, emigrated with his family, consisting of

wife, four sons and four daughters, from Baden to

the United States. The trip across the Atlantic

required forty-nine days and after reaching Al-

bany, New York, tliey made their way by canal to

Eochester, where they landed in the evening and
on account of being unable to secure hotel ac-

commodations for the night were obliged to sleep

on beds out of doors. The father continued his

vrork at boatbuilding after his arrival in this city

and here spent his remaining days, his death oc-

curring in 1861.

Charles C. Meyer is one of four sons, his

brothers being Frederick, Philip and John, all of

whom learned the boatbuilder's trade under the

direction of the father. Our subject Avas a little

lad of five years when he accompanied the family

to the new world and in the schools of Eochester

he acquired his education. After learning his

trade he and his three brothers engaged in the

boatbuilding business and at one time owned all

the boatyards in the city witli the exception of one.

In 1861 he was engaged in a business of this char-

acter on Meigs street near the bridge, building can-

al boats of regular size—ninety-seven feet in lengtli

and eighteen feet in width, to draw six feet of

water. He had in his employ a large number of

men, and continued the enterprise with great suc-

cess until 1887, when he discontinued the enter-

prise and engaged in the real-estate business. Ho
had previously purchased five acres of land near
the canal, this being worth five hundred dollars per

acre, which he used for his boatyards until the

time he discontinued that enterprise. He then built

a number of houses on this tract and has sold off

many of these but still owns several. In 1865 he
erected a large brick house, two stories in height,

which at that time was considered one of the best

houses in the city. He is still operating in real es-

tate and his long connection with the business en-

ables him to readily place the right value upon
property. He has ever been watchful of all the de-

tails of his business and of all indications poiniing

toward prosperity and from the beginning of his

business has rapidly developed until he is today
.numbered among the substantial men of this city.

In addition to his real-estate interests he also at

one time was engaged in the operation of a saw-
mill but is now giving his entire time and atten-

tion to his property interests.

In 1853 Mr. Meyer was united in marriage to

Miss Phillopeno Damm and unto them were born

one son and four daughters: Mrs. Amelia C.

Herzberger; Edward C, a resident of Oregon;

Mrs. Elizabeth Gordon of Boston; and Mrs. W.
C. Taylor and another daughter, both deceased.

Mr. Meyer was again married January 9, 1890, his

second union being with Miss Susan E. Arnold,

and after her death he married her sister. Miss

Ida S. Arnold, on the 36th of February, 1895.

Aside from his business interests Mr. Meyer

has found time to devote to public affairs, hav-

ing served for five terms as supervisor, while for

one term he acted as alderman of the seventh

ward of Eochester. In his fraternal relations he

is identified with the Masonic body, and he is a

charter member of the Church of the Eeformation,

to which he has ever been a liberal contributor.

Few men arc more prominent or more widely

known in business circles in Eochester than Mr.

Meyer, for from an early period in its development

he has been identified with the business and indus-

trial life of the city and through capable man-
agement and close application has worked his

way upward until he now occupies a place among
the substantial and well-to-do citizens of Eoch-

ester, his adopted city.

PIIILir H. YAWMAN.

Eochester, with its pulsating industrial activi-

ties, iis excellent shipping facilities and the va-

rious advantages derived because of its favorable

situation near the Canadian border as well as in

regard to trade interests in the United States, is

continually drawing to it important business con-

cerns, and its native citizens, recognizing all of

these elements for success, have also been among
the founders of some of the most siiccessful enter-

prises here. To the latter class belongs Philip

If. Yawman, president of the Yawman & Erbe
Manufacturing Company, manufacturers of office

specialties.

He was born in Eochester, September 1, 1839,

and was educated in the schools of this city and
of Scottsville, to which place his family removed
in his youth. His father, Nicholas Yawman, was
born in Schmidtweiler, Lorraine, in 1816, and
came to America with his father and four brothers

in the year 1833. He was a cooper by trade and
for some years was connected with industrial life

in Eochester, but is now deceased. His wife, Mrs.

Anna (Gorman) Yawman, died during the in-

fancy of her son Philip. Two uncles of our sub-

ject are yet living: John Yawman, residing in

Sooltsvillo at the vencrnblc age of eighty-eiglit

years; and Philip Yawman, of Eochester, eighty-



I'lIlLIP H. YAWMAN.





HISTOKY OF KOCHESTER AND MONROE COUNTY. 529

six years of age. There arc also three surviving

brothers and two sisters.

After attending the public schools Philip H.
Yawman Joined his father in the cooperage busi-

ness in Scottsville and subsequently learned the

machinist's trade. In 1880 he entered into part-

nership with Gustavo Erbe, a mathematical instru-

ment maker. They began the manufacture of

microscopes, at first employing only five work-
men, but gradually they enlarged and extended

the scope of their business, first to include the

manufacture of novelties and later the manu-
facture of office devices for the old Clegg, Weg-
man, Schlicht & Field Company, which was later

change to the Office Specialty Company. Eventu-
ally the firm of Yawman.& Erbe bought out the

latter company and then sold out their metal
working business to the Art Metnl Construction

Company, of Jamestown, in which they are still,

however, financially interested. Business was be-

gun in 1880 on Exchange street, followed by a

removal to what is now South avenue to secure

enlarged quarters, and in 1885 to the present loca-

tion on St. Paul street. They own their building

here and have a most thoroughly equipped plant,

supplied with all the modern machinery for the

production of the manufactured product. Their

output is sold throughout the United States, also

in Mexico, Canada, South America, the Australian

colonies, Great Britain and various points in

Europe. From the beginning the trade has con-

stantly grown and the firm now enjoys a business

which is indicative of the spirit of enterprise and
progress which characterizes its founders and pro-

moters.

In 1863, Mr. Yawman married Miss Mary C.

Webber, who was born in Rochester in 1839, and
unto this union nine children have been born, as

follows: Cecelia M., Mrs. Marie Antoinette Haf-
ener, Mrs. Julia A. Heislein, Mrs. Cora Y. Ilahn,

Aloysia, Eugenia, Josepha, Francis J. and Victor.

BYRON H. BACON.

Byron H. Bacon, who established and conduct-

ed a substantial productive industry of Rochester

and continued an active and honored factor in

business life in the city until his death, was a na-

tive of" Leroy, New York, and after acquiring a

good education was engaged in the furniture busi-

ness in his native town for a number of years.

In 1891 he began the manufacture of medicines

which were placed upon the market under the

name of the Byron II. Bacon medicines. His
output included, as the principal remedies, the

Celery King and Dr. Otto's Cough medicines

which were sold by agents and advertising wagons

all over the country, covering nearly every state

in the Union, with main offices at No. 187 West
avenue in Rochester. Mr. Bacon gave nine years

of his life to the conduct of this business which
grew in volume until it had reached extensive
and profitable proportions. The business 'is still

carried on under the name of the Bacon Medicine
Company and employment is now furnished to

thirty people in Rochester.

Mr. Bacon was married to Miss Amelia Echlin,

of Leroy, New York, who was born in Canada,
and they became the parents of three sons : Harold
A.; Goodell Weles; and Ronald Henry. Mr. Ba-
con was a man of domestic tastes, devoted to his

family, and found his greatest pleasure at his

own fireside. He considered no personal sacri-

fice on his part too great if it would promote
the welfare and happiness of his wife and chil-

dren and he was a man who was well liked and
respected by all. His widow has since become
Mrs. Van IDnsen and she resides at No. 43 Ox-
ford street, where she owns a beautiful home,
her three sons beino; still with her.

WILLIAM EMMERT MILES.

William Emmert Miles, deceased, was for many
years during an active business career a resident

of Rochester, his native city. He was born in

1830 and acquired his education in the common
schools while spending his boyhood days in the

home of his parents, William and Catherine (Em-
mert) Miles, who at an early day in the develop-

ment of western New York settled at Victor.

Later they removed to Maryland, establishing their

home at the birthplace of the father.

William B. Miles left school at the age of six-

teen years and entered business life in the employ
of his brother, who was a contractor. Before he

had attained his majority, eager to see the world

and attracted by the discovery of gold in Califor-

nia, he made his way to that state in 1849, sail-

ing around Cape Horn. He remained in Cali-

fornia for some time and soon after his arrival

took advantage of the opportunities that offered

for work at his trade. He secured immediate em-
ployment and only a brief period had passed when
he started out in business for himself, becoming

one of the foremost contractors of that day in the

locality in which he lived. Many important con-

tracts were awarded him, including one of the

building of the state house at Olympia, Washing-

ton, which is still standing. He continued to en-

gage in contracting and gold mining on the coast

for about sixteen years and met with creditable

success in these undertakings.
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With a desire to return to his native city Mr.

Miles gave up business interests in the west and

came again to Rochester, where he established a

large factory for the manufacture of sash, doors

and blinds, his business interest in California hav-

ing brought him the capital that enabled him to

thus become connected with the productive indus-

tries of Monroe county. He was first located on

Acqueduct street, where he remained until his

buildings were destroyed by fire, when he, with

a brother, bought land and built a factory on

Water street. There he continued in business,

and as the years passed his patronage increased,

, reaching extensive proportions. He was actively

engaged in business up to within a few months of

his death, which occurred in 1899. His business

life was one of honor and integrity and the record

contained no esoteric phase. His methods were

always open and above board and he won his suc-

cess by reason of the excellence of his output and

also owing to the fact that his business integrity

was combined with unflagging enterprise and dili-

gence.

In 1873 Mr. Miles was married to Miss Cora

Booth, who was born in 1847, a daughter of Ezra

B. and Hannah L. (Alworth) Booth, the former

a native of Vermont. Her maternal grandparents

came to Rochester at an early day from their home
in Dutchess county, New York. Six children were

born to Mr. and Mrs. Miles, of whom three died

in infancy. The others are: Edward B., who is

a graduate of the Dental College at Baltimore

and now practicing his profession; Catharine L.,

at home ; and Mrs. Ruth H. Witherspoon, of Roch-

ester.

Mr. Miles was a stalwart democrat, and though

he never sought the honors or the oifices of that

party, he always gave his assistance to it in every

campaign. Like all who walk through life on a

higher plane than the great majority of his fel-

lows, his companionship was select rather than

large, but' the many who looked up to and re-

spected him realized as fully as did the few who
. were near him that a true man had lived and

passed on.

Walter Howard, of Rochester; Bertha Xj. Potter

and Frederick T. Potter, of Fairport.

Mr. Potter was one of the substantial and prom-

inent men of Fairport and was an active factor

in all church work, much of his time and influence

being used in that direction. A most liberal and

public-spirited citizen, he sustained intimate rela-

tions with all business, educational and spiritual

work, his life characterized by progress in all those

directions. He was found as a wise counselor and

an earnest and efficient worker whose influence,

like the widening circles of the sea, will ever be

felt in the community. None could have other

than sincere respect for the courteous, large-

hearted man, so stanch to defend and maintain

what he believed to be right and so ready to re-

spond to every good cause that called for assist-

ance. His sweet, unostentatious, gentle manner
won him friends on every side. To know him was

to respect and honor him. It is said that success

is not measured by the good that comes to us but

by the good that comes to the world through us.

Viewed in this light, Alfred Benedict Potter was
a most successful man. He seemed to know just

when and how to put forth his efforts to accom-

plish the results desired, and his aim was always

toward progress and betterment. He gave much
tliought to those conditions of life which indicate

the trend of the world, and the weight of his

influence was ever on the side of reform and im-
provement. A memorial tablet to his memory
]ias been placed in the Methodist Episcopal church,

which is a fitting and appropriate remembrance
of the life of Alfred Benedict Potter.

ALFRED BENEDICT POTTER.

! Alfred Benedict Potter was born in Pittsford,

New York, February 16, 1833, and was the young-

est son of the late Henry S. Potter, of Pittsford

and Rochester. Removing to the latter city when
a young boy, he lived there until 1864, when he

married Hulda A. Thayer, of Lakeside, New
York. Mr. Potter and his wife then located in

Fairport, where he resided until his death, which
occurred at Potter place, August 11, 1896. He
is survived by his wife and three children : Mrs.

MARK DEAN KNOWLTON.

Mark Dean Knowlton, deceased, whose inventive

genius and executive ability in business largely

revolutionized the trade of paper box machinery,
was born October 5, 1840, at Milford, New Hamp-
shire, his parents being Samuel Dean and Nancy
J. (Shattuck) Knowlton. His father was a shoe-

maker and retail dealer in shoes. The son ac-

quired his early education in the common schools

of Milford and afterward attended the Milford
Academy to the age of sixteen years, when he put
aside his text-books and went to Nashua, New
Hampshire, to learn the trade of blacksmithing

and carriage manufacturing.

Subsequently he had an opportunity to pur-

chase a paper box manufactory, and while he was
totally unacquainted with the business he availed

himself of the chance offered and his ready adapta-

bility, which was always one of his strong char-

acteristics, enabled him soon to thoroughly ac-
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quaint liiniself with the business in principle and

detail. This step was the initial one in the path of

progress that eventually made him one of the best

known paper manufacturers of the east. For
a time he was located in Worcester, Massachu-

setts, and in 1866 he disposed of his business in-

terests in Nashua and removed westward to Chi-

cago, where he continued in the paper box manu-
facturing business until the great Chicago fire,

in which he lost practically all that he had. At
a time when despair with many overshadowed

courage and determination Mr. Knowlton with

resolute spirit faced the situation and with nota-

ble energy set to work not only to retrieve his lost

possessions but also to assist others. At that time

lie and his family were living at South Evanston,

where, by the way, he held the only public ofBce

in his career—that of justice of the peace. While
Mr. Knowlton's business was consumed in the

flames, his home still remained to him, and he

did much toward assisting others who had lost

their homes as well as their business interests.

Following the fire he located on the west side,

where he resumed operations in paper box manu-
facturing, but again he was burned out and once
more practically lost all. Afterward he joined the

W. C. Ritchie Company. He soon built up a good
trade and success attended his eilorts. While
associated with that firm he gave much of his

time toward completing the invention of his

machine for paper box manufacture, on which
he had been working. At length he completed
the machine and placed upon the market an in-

vention which later revolutionized the entire trade.

In March, 1893, Mr. Knowlton disposed of his

business interests in Chicago and came to Roch-

ester, where, under the firm name of Knowlton
& Beade, he started the manufacture of machinery

for making paper boxes. This connection con-

tinued until May, 1904, when Mr. Knowlton
bought out his partner's interest and continued

under the style of M. D. Knowlton Company.
Being a man of great inventive genius, he patented

a number of appliances and machinery all used
in paper box making, and was widely known as

an inventor of great ability, largely giving his time
to the business, which was later organized as a

stock company. From the beginning it proved a

profitable undertaking, reaching large and impor-
tant proportions. His daughter. Miss Annie Dean
Knowlton, possesses remarkable business powers
and executive ability and with her brother she

was named aa executrix of the estate. The brother,

Fred Kirk Knowlton, is now the vice president

of the company. Mr. Knowlton was also the prin-

cipal owner of the stock of the Auburn Ball Bear-
ing Company. Tliis still constitutes a part of the

estate, and the business is practically managed
by Miss Knowlton with her brother's assistance.

On the 5th of October, 1864, Mark D. Knowl-
ton was married to Miss Abbie E. Currier, a

daughter of Alfred and Abbie (Worchester) Cur-
rier, of Massachusetts, her father being a railroad

man. Unto Mr. and Mrs. Knowlton were bom
four daughters and a son: Annie Dean, Grace
E., Hattie Gertrude, Fred Kirk and Ola. The
son pursued his education at Purdue University
and Columbia College, and married Elizabeth

Kent Stone.

The officers of the company are now M. D.
Knowlton, president; Fred Kirk Knowlton, vice

president; Annie Dean Knowlton, treasurer; and
Mrs. F. K. Knowlton, secretary. The business

lias developed eightfold since it was organized in

Rochester and employment is now furnished to

over one hundred operatives in the factory. It

has been marked by no decline since the death of

the father, owing to the marked executive ability

and keen business discernment of his daughter,

who had been so closely associated with him in

its conduct.

Mr. Knowlton was a man of fine personal ap-

pearance, as well as of marked strength of char-

acter and intellectual ability. He was a repub-

lican but was never active in politics. He served

as one of the trustees in the Central^ Presbyterian

church, to which he belonged. Without special

advantages at the outset of his career and in the

face of two disastrous fires Mr. Knowlton as the

architect of his own fortunes builded wisely and
well, gaining not only success but also an hon-
ored name by reason of the straightforward busi-

ness principles which he ever followed. The fam-
ily are also members of the Central Presbyterian

church. The mother and daughters reside at No.
6 Granger place, where they have a fine residence.

Miss Annie Dean Knowlton greatly resembles her

father in personal appearance as well as in the

splendid business qualities which he displayed.

Mr. Knowlton was very devoted to his family,

being pre-eminently a home man, and while his

loss was felt in business, church and social circles,

it came with greatest force to the members of his

own household, to whom he was ever a devoted

husband and father.

ARCHIBALD W. BELLAMY, M. D.

The medical profession ie ably represented by

Dr. Archibald W. Bellamy, who since 1897 has

practiced in Irondequoit and the surrounding dis-

tricts. He was born in Grenville county, Canada,

a son of Mr. and Mrs. John Bellamy. The father

conducted a lumber business and a woollen and

grist mill and is now. deceased, the mother now
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residing with the Doctor on Eidge Eoad and Port-

land avenue in Irondequoit.

Completing his education in the public and high

schools, Dr. Bellamy then decided upon the prac-

tice of medicine as a life vocation and to that end
entered the medical department of Queen's Medi-

cal College, at Kingston, Canada, being graduated

therefrom with the class of 1897. Following his

graduation he located in Irondequoit and has since

been successfully engaged in practice at this place.

He took a special course on the treatment of dis-

eases of the eye, ear, nose and tliroat and since

1903 has been located at 379 Portland avenue,

where he has a well equipped office, supplied with

all the latest improved accessories known to the

modern practitioner. During his residence here he

has enjoyed a large and constantly increasing

patronage, which is well merited, for he is a close

student, keeping in touch with the advance which
is being made by the profession tlirougli reading

and observation. He is a subscriber to a num-
ber of medical journals and in this way greatly

broadens his knowledge. He owns an automobile,

which he uses in making his professional calls, for

his services are in constant demand not only in the

village but also in the surrounding districts as

well.

The Doctor belongs to the Monroe County Medi-
cal Society, and the State Medical Society and
fraternally is identified with the Foresters, the

Modern Woodmen of America and Maccabees. He
likewise belongs to the Grange and is a member of

the Memorial Presbyterian churchy where his

mother also attends. He is a great lover of horses,

keeping several fine animals. Ho possesses a gouinl

disposition and cordial manner and is uevcf

neglectful of his professional duties, whicli lu)

discluirgcs with a sense of conscientious obligation,

and his many good qualities have gained for him
high regard both as a practitioner and as a private

citizen.

POMEROY P. DICKINSON.

In the profession of the law, where advancement
depends upon individual merit, Pomeroy P. Dick-
inson of Eochester has gained more than local

note. His life record began on the 20t]i of Sep-
tember, 1852, in the town of Irondequoit, now a
part of Eochester, his pai'ents being Alfred L. and
Martha (Anderson) Diclcinson, tlie former a na-
tive of Eochester and the latter of Yates county,

New York. The paternal grandfather, Pomeroy
P. Dickinson, settled in Monroe county about
1805, driving across the country from Amherst,
Massachusetts, Avitli a horse and Avagon in com-
pany with Simeon Pomeroy. The grand fatlier

took up the land that is now in possession of the

Dickinsons, together with one thousand acres else-

where. The country was full of malaria at that

time, nearly all of the early settlers suffering from
it, and many died young because of it, as did the

grandfather. Pomeroy P. Dickinson, an uncle

of our subject, built the big bridge over the Hud-
son river at Poughkeepsie, New York. The An-
derson family were equally well known, and Hixon
Anderson, the maternal grandfather, was a soldier

of the Eevolution. Alfred L. Dickinson, the father

of our subject, was a farmer by occupation and
met with a gratifying measure of success in his

business interests. He was, moreover, a kind, lov-

able Christian man and those who knew him enter-

tained for him the warmest regard. He died in

the year 1894, leaving to his family the priceless

heritage of a good name. His widow survived

him until 1904 and passed away at the advanced

age of eighty-three years.

Pomeroy P. Dickinson was reared on the home
farm, attending the district schools through the

winter months and aiding in the work of the fields

through the summer seasons. He afterward at-

tended the celebrated De Graff Military School

and prepared for Yale College but went to the

home of his uncle, then living in New York city,

and entered Columbia College, in which he pur-
sued a course of law, being graduated in the class

of 1875. lie then returned to Eochester, where he
entered upon the practice of his chosen calling

/with George A. Benton, now on the supreme
bench. This connection was continued for several

years, since whicli time he has been alone in prac-

tice. Prom the beginning lie has met with splen-

did siioccss. His mind is nnalvtical, logical and
indiiclivo, and ho readily coniproliends the strong

points in a cnuse and gives to eiich part of the evi-

dence its duo relative value.

Mr. Dickinson has figured prominently in the
public life in other ways. He was president of

the excise dejiartment for ten years, prior to the
passage of the Eaines law. He organized the Lin-
coln Club, which grew to a large membership and
sent forth into the world many men who have at-

tained prominence. He is a member of the vari-

ous Masonic bodies and of the Mystic Shrine, and
in his life exemplifies the beneficent spirit of the
craft. ]\foreover, he has gained that knowledge
and culture wliich only travel can bring. He has
visited various sections of the world, including
nearly all of tlie European countries and has met
most of the celebrities both at home and abroad.

He has done much newspaper work throughout
the different parts of the world and is a fluent,

forceful, entertaining writer.

In 1888, Mr. Dickinson was married to Miss
Emma Marsh, a member of a family noted for

musical talent. Tliey have two children, Pomona
antl Esther. The family are prominent socially
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in Rochester aud Mr. Dicldnson is regarded as a

man of well rounded character, finely balanced

mind and splendid intellectual attainments, whose

power and ability at the bar are a uniformly ac-

cepted fact.

DANIEL HOLMES.

Daniel Holmes, now practically living retired,

was the pioneer lawyer of Brockport and for many
years a prominent attorney of the Monroe county

bar. He is a native of West Bloomfield, Ontario

county. New York, born September 11, 1828, and

has therefore reached the seventy-ninth milestone

on life's journey. His parents were Daniel and

Susan (Hale-Stuart) Holmes, natives of Massa-

chusetts, who, removing westward about 1813, set-

tled in Ontario county. New York, where they

cast their lot with those who were reclaiming a

frontier district for agricultural uses. The father

served his country as a soldier in the war of 1813

and participated in the battle of Buffalo." The
maternal ancestry of Mr. Holmes was represented

in the Revolutionary war, the grandfather, Thomas
Hale, being a drummer boy at the battle of Bunker

Hill.

Daniel Holmes was reared at Aliens Hill, New
York, his father being proprietor of a hotel at

that place for a number of years. After master-

ing the elementary branches of learning he pre-

pared for college at the Brockport Collegiate In-

stitute and received his university training at

Yale, which he entered in 1846. He is num-
bered among the alumni of 1848, having been

graduated with the degree of bachelor of arts.

Subsequently, in 1853, he received from the Uni-

versity of Rochester the degree of master of arts,

and in the fall of the same year was admitted to

the bar, for which he had previously prepared.

He immediately began the practice of his profes-

sion in Brockport, where he has resided continu-

ously since, having been in practice here for more
than a half century. He was the pioneer lawyer

of the town and his ability enabled him always to

maintain a place in the foremost ranks of its

legal fraternity. In recent years, however, he has

retired from active practice to enjoy well-earned

ease.

In early manhood Daniel Holmes was united in

marriage to Miss Mary J. Hawes, of Brookfield,

Massachusetts, of whom extended mention is made
below. Theirs was an ideal relation, their mutual
love and confidence increasing year by year as they

met together the joys and sorrows, the adversity

and prosperity, the disappointments and the pleas-

ures which checker the careers of all. Closer grew
their friendship as time went by, the desire of

each being always for the best interests and hap-

piness of the other, but on the 6th of October,

1907, they were separated through the death of

Mrs. Holmes.
Mr. Holmes still continues to reside in Brock-

port, where for many years he has figured promi-

nently' in community affairs. For thirty years he

served as justice of the peace of Brockport, his

decisions being strictly fair and impartial, so that

he "won golden opinions from all sorts of people."

lie was also clerk of the village for twenty years

and in community affairs was actively and help-

fully interested, and is secretary and treasurer of

the State Normal School at Brockport.

Mr. Holmes is a member of the Masonic fra-

ternity, belonging to Monroe lodge. No. 173, A.

F. & A. M., of which he is a past master. He also

belongs to Daniel Holmes chapter. No. 294, R. A.
M., and to Monroe commandery, No. 13, K. T., of

Rochester. He is senior warden of St. Luke's

church at Brockport. He is also a member of

the Empire State chapter of the Sons of the

American Revolution and a member of the New
York State Bar Association. He is one of the

oldest attorneys of Monroe county, and while his

professional career gained him rank with the lead-

ing lawyers of Brockport he has also been well

known because of his activity in connection with

the interests bearing upon the general welfare of

society and the upbuilding and improvement of

the community.

MRS. MARY J. HOLMES.

With one exception the works of no American
novelist have been so widely read as those of Mrs.

Mary J. Holmes, and Brockport was proud to

number her among its citizens; but while her

name was a household word throughout the length

and breadth of this land, in her home town she

was loved for personal traits of character that

endeared her to all with whom she came in con-

tact.

She was the wife of Daniel Holmes, whose
sketch is given above. In her maidenhood she was
Miss Mary J. Hawes, of Brookfield, Massachu-

setts, a daughter of Preston Hawes, a man of rare

mentality, while from her mother she inherited

a love of poetry and of fine arts. When but three

years of age she began to attend school, studied

grammar at the age of six, and began teaching

school when but thirteen years old. Her first

article was published when she was only fifteen

years old. Very early in life she manifested rare

ability for story telling, entertaining her young
companions with tales of her own invention. Her
precocity has been borne out by the work of her
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later years, for there is perhaps no American

author whose works are more widely read than

those of Mrs. Mary J. Holmes.

Over two million copies of her hooks have been

publislied and the demand for all of them con-

tinues unabated. The annual sale amounts to

almost a hundred thousand copies, and no* better

proof of their merit and popularity could be

given. A list of her published works includes the

following: Tempest and Sunshine, English Or-

phans, Homestead on nillsidc, Lena Rivers,

Meadow Brook, Dora Doane, Co\isin ^faude, l^far-

ian Grey, Darkness and Daylight, Hugli Worthing-

ton, Cameron Pride, Rose Mather, j'^tlielyn's Mis-

take, Millbank, Edna Browning, West Lawn, Edith

Lyle, Mildred, Daisy Thornton, Forrest House,

Chateau D'or, Madeline, Queenie Hetherton,

Christmas Stories, Bessie's Fortune, Gretchen,

Marguerite, Dr. Plathern's Daughters, Mrs. Hal-

lam's Companion, Paul Ralston, The Tracy Dia-

monds, The Cromptons, The Merivale Banks,

Rena's Experiment, and The Abandoned Farm.
As an author she had a most happy career, with

none of the trials which fall to the lot of so many
writers, and her publishers have always been her

friends. G. W. Carlton and later Dillingham had
charge of the sale of her books. Her first novel,

Tempest and Sunshine, was published in 1854,

and since that time her writings have been con-

stantly on the market. With the possible excep-

tion of Mrs. Stowe, no American woman has

reaped so large profits from her copyrights, some
of her books having attained a sale of fifty thou-

sand copies.

In commenting on this, the Brockport Republic

said: "Her success as an author is said by some
to be the result of her power of description;

others assert it was her naturalness, her clear, con-

cise English and the faculty to hold the reader's

sympathy from the beginning to the end; others

attribute it to the fact that there was nothing in

her works but what was pure and elevating. AVe

who know her best, feel that all this has made her
the successful writer that she was."

Mrs. Holmes was deeply interested in benevolent

work in Brockport and in those organizations

which promote culture, charity and patriotism.

She was president of the Brockport Union Chari-

table Society and vice regent of the Daughters of

the American Revolution. She was indefatigable

in the founding and sustaining of a free reading

room and did everything in her power to promote
knowledge and culture among the young people,

of whom she was particularly fond. She often

talked to them concerning art and foreign travel,

on which subjects she was well versed, she and
her husband having made various trips abroad,

visiting the noted art centers of the old world. As
a hostess she was charmingly gracious and hos-

pitable, having the ready tact that enabled her

to make all guests feel at home. Her benevolence

was also one of her strongly marked characteristics.

In early life she made it her plan to give one-tenth

of her incoiiie to charity and this she did ever

afterward. St. Luke's Episcopal church, of which

she was a member, is greatly indebted to her for

its prosperous condition. Her charitable work,

however, was done quietly, and few people knew
the great amount of good she did. She cai'ed not

for public recognition of her benevolence, content

in tiie consciousness of liaving aided a fellow trav-

eler on life's journey. While she had thousands

of admirers throughout the country, in her home
town where she was best known she was much
loved by the people among whom her daily life

was passed.

The summer of 1907 was spent by Mr. and Mrs.

Holmes at Oak Bluffs, Martha's Vineyard, and
while on the return trip Mrs. Holmes became ill.

After improving to a slight degree she insisted on
continuing the journey, but lived for only a brief

period after she reached Brockport, passing away
on the 6th of October, 1907. Perhaps no better

testimonial of the regard in which she was held

in Broekimrt can be given tlian by quoting from
a local pH])cr, wliicli said :

"During the many years of Mrs. Holmes' resi-

dence ill Brockport licr influence for good has been
constant and imvarying, and every enterprise that
made for the welfare of the village received her
most hearty sanction and support. With charity
toward all, with malice toward none, she moved
among us the very embodiment of precious kind-
ness. And so, in thousands of ways, her death
will prove an inestimable loss to this community,
iind today nearly every household is shadowed by
a i)ersonal grief. 'She went to her death' wearing
the white rose of a blameless life.' The world
is the poorer for her going."

LORENZO S. GRAVES.

Lorenzo S. Graves, who is now numbered among
the honored dead and who for many years was
a leading manufacturer and one of the most
prominent residents of Rochester, came to this city
in 1859. Ho was afterward connected witli sev-
eral of the leading productive industries here and
finally became one of the large stockholders . of
the Otis Elevator Company, with which business
he was associated throughout his remaining days.
He achieved such a goodly measure of success
that his methods are of interest to the commercial
world and in an analyzatiori of his life work it

will be found that he based his business prin-
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ciples and actions upon the rules which
govern industry and strict, unswerving integrity.

A native of Massachusetts, Mr. Graves was born
in Southboro, July 18, 1831, his parents being

Watson and Eanny (Dench) Graves, the latter a

descendant of old Revolutionary stock. The father

was born and reared in Southboro, Massachusetts,

and while a young man he learned the boot and

shoemaker's trade, followiug the same at South-

boro during the early part of his life. He then

removed to Ashland, Mnssacliiisolts, where lie

lived retired during liis later years. His widow
afterward made her home with her son and while

visiting lier daughter in Newark Valley she

passed away.

In taking up the personal history of Ijorenzo

S. Graves we present to our readers tlie record

of one who for many years figured prominently

in connection with the industrial development of

the city. He acquired his preliminary education in

the public schools of Asliland, Massachusetts, and
completed his studies in the school at Amherst,

Massachusetts. He was living in "Worcester, that

state, at the time of his marriage to Miss Eliza

G. Coffin, an old schoolmate. Her father. Cap-

tain Moses Coffin, of Nantucket, Massachusetts,

was a Idacksmitli and cooper by trade but followed

the sea for many years. After leaving the sea

he settled in Wilmantic, Connecticut, where he

was employed in the first paper mill in that state.

Subsequently he removed to Ashland, Massachu-

setts, where he resided until 1851, when lie be-

cauie a I'esidcnt of Springfield, Vermont, where

both he and his wife passed away. Their daugh-

ter Eliza l)ecame the wife of Lorenzo S. Graves

and unto this marriage was born one son, Fred B.,

who married Frances Oswald and resides at No.

5 Lorimer street, Rochester. He is now super-

intendent and manager of the Otis Elevator Com-
pany and is mentioned elsewhere in this volume.

Mr. and Mrs. Graves also reared an ado|)ted

daughter, Ida L, who is now the wife of Charles

H. Chase, a nurseryman residing at No. 76 Rich-

mond street.

In early manhood Lorenzo S. Graves learned the

shoemaker's trade with his father, making as high

as twelve pairs of boots per day, so expert had

he become at hand labor. Upon his removal

to Rochester in 1859 he began working as a shoc-

uuikci' in the employ of a ^Ir. Chui'chill. After

a brief ijcriod, however, he turned his attention

to teaming and a little later, in 18G0, he gave

to the world as the result of his inventive genius

<ind study the Graves 'Sole cutter, a machine for

cutting leather soles. He then began the manu-
facture of the same, his factory being located

on Mill street. He also engaged in the manu-
facture of i)a))ei' cullers and shoo machinery and
was very successful in both lines, continuing the

business for a nmnbcr of years and winning a

creditable place as a substantial representative of
commercial interests here. At length he decided
to engage in the manufacture of elevators and the
Graves Elevator Company was formed, and the
present large factory now operated under the name
of the Otis Elevator Company was erected at
Nos. 198 to 310 Commercial street. From the be-
ginning the enterprise grew rapidly until several

hundred men were employed on the construction
of all kinds of passenger and freight elevators

which were shipped to every section of the coun-
try. This became one of the largest productive
industries of the city. It was developed along
progressive, modern business lines, not only meet-
ing but anticipating the needs of the trade in

this direction, and Mr. Graves continued at the
head of the concern until 1901, when he sold his

interest to the Otis Company, at which time the
firm name was changed to the Otis Elevator Com-
pany, of which the son is now superintendent and
manager. The father then retired to private life.

He was always a busy man and in his earlier

years his evenings were devoted to study and
investigation, especially along architectural lines.

His experiments resulted in inventions which
gained for him a prominent place in the busi-

ness world. He certainly deserved much credit

for what he accomplished and justly earned the

proud American title of a self-made man, for he
had a capital of but a few dollars when he and
his wife arrived in Rochester. The years passed

and his industry and ability made him one of the

well-to-do citizens. His success may be ascribed

to his positive, determined pursuit of business

and to the fact that he Avas a man of unflinching

commercial integrity.

After retiring from the field of manufacture
Mr. Graves, accompanied by his wife, traveled

quite extensively, visiting many points of interest

in this country and also making three trips to

Europe. They likewise visited the holy land and

various sections of Asia. Mr. Graves was ahvays

deeply interested in historic research and during

their travels he and his wife gathered many in-

teresting relics of all kinds in various parts of the

world, Mrs. Graves now having in her home two

large, fine cabinets well filled with shells, stones

and other interesting relics of their trips.

In his political views Mr. Graves was a stalwart

republican who took much interest in the party

and its growth. He was frequently solicited by

his friends to become a candidate for office but

always refused. He built a large and beautiful

residence at No. 257 Lake avenue, where his widow

yet resides. There in the spring of 1903 he be-

came ill and' his death occurred on the 21st of

April, 1905.

Mrs. Graves belongs to the Central Presbyterian

cliurch. Theirs was a most congenial married

life and the very close companionship made the



538 HISTORY OF EOCHESTBR AND MONROE COUNTY.

death of the husband an almost unbearable blow
to Mrs. Graves. His loss was also deeply felt

throughout the city where he had resided for more
than forty-five years—honored as one of its lead-

ing business men and prominent citizens, lie was
one of the ablest and best known manufactvirers of

Rochester, was genial in manner and, though his

time was largely occupied by the details of ex-

tensive business interests, he always found time to

devote to those of his friends whose calls were

purely of a social character. He was a tliorough

exemplification of the typical American business

man and gentleman.

JOSEPH B. BLOSS.

Among the men who have contributed to the

business stability and commercial growth of

Rochester is numbered Joseph B. Bloss, who is

now living retired, his house being at No. 334
Oxford street. He was, however, well known in

mercantile circles for many years as a wholesale

grocer, becoming, in 1868, a"member of the firm of

G. C. Buell & Company. This business was es-

tablished in 1844 and Mr. Bloss was connected
therewith for twenty-eight years or until 1896,
when he retired permanently from active busi-

ness life.

A native son of Rochester, his birth occurred

on the 33d of November, 1839, his parents being
the Hon. William C. and Mary (Blossom) Bloss.

The paternal grandfather, Joseph Bloss, was a

soldier of the Revolutionary war and carried the
news of the capture of Andre to General Washing-
ton. His mother sent him to the war and, with
the spirit of patriotism which imbued many of the

women of the Colonial days, said, "Joe, don't get

shot in the back."

Hon. William C. Bloss was for many years a

prominent and influential citizen of Monroe coun-
ty, and in 1816 accompanied his parents on their

removal from Massachusetts to Brighton. The
brick tavern still standing on East avenue near
the railroad in that village was built by him, and
he conducted it until the first wave of temperance,
which swept over the United States, reached that
section, when he turned his stock of liquors into

the canal, sold the hotel and removed to Rochester.

While a resident of Rochester he represented that

city in the legislature of the state of New York
during the years 1845, 1846 and 1847, and while
a member of that body offered the following reso-

lution as an amendment to the state constitution:

"Resolved, That no other proof, test or qualifica-

tion shall be required of or from persons of color

in relation to their exercise of the right of suffrage,

than is in this constitution required of or from
white persons."

His life work was the advocacy of temperance
and the abolition of slavery. He published the

second anti-slavery paper printed in the United
States—"The Rights of Man." In the presiden-

tial campaign of 1856 he published and circulated

a map wliicli illustrated the aggressions of the

slave power, the southern states being portrayed in

black. This had an immense circulation all over

the country and President Pierce ordered it de-

stroyed when i'ound in the southern mails. Copies

of this valuable historical document have been

presented to the Rochester Historical Society by

Joseph Parley and to Harvard College by Hon.
Charles Sumner. William C. Bloss' house on

East avenue was always a hospital for the repent-

ant and reforming inebriate and a well known
station on the underground railroad where the

fleeing slave was concealed until he could find safe

refuge in Canada.

The wife of William C. Bloss was a native of

Cape Cod, Massachusetts, and a daughter of

Captain Ezra Blossom, a soldier of the Revolution

and a pioneer settler of Monroe county, New York,

who once owned the land reaching from the center

of the village of Brighton to South Goodman
street in the city of Rochester.

Joseph Blossom Bloss was educated in public

school No. 14 in Rochester and in the Clover Street

Seminary at Brighton. He began working in a

grocery as an errand boy when a young lad.

In 1888 he married Miss Mary Glen Hooker,
a daughter of the late Henry C. Hooker. She
died in 1890, leaving one child, Mary .Glen, who is

now in school. For his second wife Mr. Bloss

married Miss Ella Welch, of Port Hope, Canada,
and they became the parents of three sons: Wil-
liam C, Joseph B. and Henry W.

Politically Mr. Bloss is a republican with social-

istic tendencies, has given close and earnest study
to the questions and issues of the day and is a man
of firm convictions holding advanced ideas on
many questions. In 1902 the collection of an
unequal and exorbitant personal tax was at-

tempted in the city of Rochester, levied almost
entirely on widows, orphans, infants and working
people of very moderate means, by reason of their
little savings being invested in mortgages. Mr.
Bloss felt it to be his duty to resist this unjust
taxation at any cost and his case was made the
test of its legality. It was carried to the Supreme
Court of the State of New York and a decision
given in his favor. The legislature then passed
an act overthrowing the decision of the court and
legalizing the tax but leaving the tax to be settled
by a board of apportionment, which had power to
remit or confirm all or any part of the taxes.
During this contest Mr. Bloss refused to obey the
orders of the court or to answer any questions
which might lead to the collection of a personal
tax. He did this regardless of the legal penalties,
fine and imprisonment, which, however, were not
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enforced. His action in this matter his friends

say is the most useful act of his life. He is,

however, an earnest advocate of a national income
tax, from which no man or woman over twenty-

one years shall be exempt.

He has been a member of the Political Equality

During this contest Mr. Bloss refused to obey the

Club since its organization and is one of the

originators of the Labor Lyeeuui, which debates

pulilic questions in tlie common council cliamber

Sunday afternoons. He has for ten years been

one of the vice presidents of the Humane Society

of Rochester. Few men outside of public life have

as intimate a knowledge of the great sociological,

economic and political questions as Mr. Bloss, who
has been a student of the signs of the times in all

of these particulars. Since 18G3 he has been a

mcn\bcr oC the First .Presbyterian church of

Rocliester and his inlluence has been ever found

on the side of reform, progress and improvement.

He has gained that broad knowledge which only

travel can bring, making many trips abroad, while

in 189G he made a tour of the world. He is one

in wliom nature and culture liavc vied in nudcing

an interesting gentleman, one whose force of char-

acter lias been widely recognized in business circles

and whose lal)ors have been an clement in molding

public thought and progress.

WILSON H. MOORE.

Such was the personal worth of AVilson H.
Moore, eucli his business activity and his public-

spirited devotion to and labor for general good,

that the news of his demise brought witli it a sense

of personal bereavement to all with whom he had

been associated either in business, political or pub-

lic relations. His birth occurred in the town of

Clarkson in 1859, upon the farm belonging to

his father, James M. Moore. There he was reared

to the age of eighteen years, pursuing his educa-

tion in the public schools, while upon the home-
stead he was carefully trained in habits of indus-

try, integrity and progressiveness. He possessed

in unusual degree tlie creative spirit, recognizing

the possibilities for the co-ordination and utiliza-

tion of forces to evolve new conditions and intro-

duce broader fields of activity in the business

world. In 1878, while still a resident of Clarkson,

he established the newspaper and magazine sub-

scription business which bears his name and from

the beginning the new enterprise met with suc-

cess. So rapidly did the business increase that in

1883 he removed it lo Brookport to flccure better

facilities, and at the time of his death he un-

doubtedly conducted the largest business of that

character in the world. Mr. Moore was the first

to develop and introduce the clubbing system of

subscribing for magazines by means of which cir-

culations were multiplied, and good reading fur-

nished for American homes at reasonable prices.

Having given proof of his capacity for capable

management and keen business discernment, his

labors were .sought in other fields and in 1888 he

joined with substantial business men in the pur-

chase of the Ilain-Rogers shoe factory, which was

in a bankrupt condition. Then was organized the

Moore-Shafcr Shoe Manufacturing Company. So

great was the ability he displayed in the manage-
ment of this enterprise and so pronounced its suc-

cess that a new and larger building was necessary,

leading to the erection of the extensive brick fac-

tory near the Central station in Brockport. The
business has been constantly and steadily devel-

oped along jirogressivc lines and is one of the most

important sources of revenue in Brockport's indus-

trial circles. Mr. Moore was also a large stock-

holder in the Brockport Piano Company and in

the wheel works of this village.

Intricate business problems he solved readily

find saw through the complexity of a business en-

tanglement or involved situation, the course lead-

ing to a successful outcome of the same. He was
not swaj^ed by passion or prejudice and hence his

opinions were based upon reason and a careful

consideration of the questions and conditions at

hand. He was, however, a man of intense and
positive character, never occupying an equivocal

position, and it was his unfaltering energy dis-

played in business that caused a breakdown in

nervous and physical forces, resulting in his death.

In 1887 Mr. Moore was united in marriage to

Miss May Scrantoii, the youngest daughter of Mr.

and Mrs. Charles H. Scranton oJL Brockport. Be-

side the wife, two children were left to mourn the

loss of the father, Helen and Henry, both at home
with their mother.

The Brockport Republic, in an editorial, which

appeared at the time of his death, gave a very ac-

curate estimate of his character, as follows : "His

was a positive character, if ever there was one.

What he believed, he uttered; what he believed in,

be did ; and he spoke his beliefs and did what he

deemed to be his duty in the most positive and
forceful way possible. Such a man could not

have failed to impress himself upon the life of

the community in which he lived nearly all his

life. Mr. Moore has been an active and aggres-

sive factor in the activities bf Brockport." He
was, moreover, recognized as a stalwart champion

of any movement for the general good, whether

along business, social, political, educational or

moral lines.

He was a member of the State Normal School

board and a vestryman in St. Luke's church.

Nature and culture vied in making him an inter-

esting and entertaining gentleman. Aside from his
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superior business ability there were other quali-

ties which rendered him a valued citizen of his

community. He was stalwart in his friendships

and devoted to his family and at all times was

actuated by a strong spirit of fidelity to what he

believed to be right, manifesting the utmost con-

formity to a high standard of commercial ethics.

CAPTAIN HENRY NETTLETON SNYDER.

No man was ever more respected or more fully

enjoyed the confidence of the people, and none more
deserved such respect and confidence than Henry
Nettleton Snyder. In his lifetime the people of

his state, recognizing his merit, rejoiced in the

advancement and in the honors to which he attain-

ed and since his death, which occurred in Clark-

son, in 1904, the people of Monroe county have
cherished his memory. He was one to whom was
entrusted important public service and in the dis-

charge of his duties he appreciated the responsi-

bility which rested upon him and his worth was
therefore widely acknowledged.

Captain Snyder was born in Clarkson, Monroe
county, New York, May ^4, 1831, the only child

of Adam and Sallie (Whitney) Snyder, and a

grandson of Henry and Hannah (Vermilya) Sny-
der. The father was born in Westerlo, this state,

June 16, 1800, while the mother's birth occurred

in "Watertown, Connecticut, December 39, 1798,

and their marriage was celebrated April 30, 1830.

The Whitney family was founded in this country

by Sir Randolph de Whitney, a grandson of Eu-
stace de Whitney, Avho accom])anicd iiichnrd Oouoi'

de Lion on his crusades^ where he distinguished

himself.

Captain Snyder pursued a course of study in

Brown University, at Providence, Rhode Island,

from which institution he gradiiated in 1855, and

the following year he filled the chair of professor

cf mathematics in the seminary at Sunbury, North
Carolina. In 1857 he entered the law depart-

ment of the University of Albany, in Albany, New
York, and upon being admitted to the bar located

for practice in Chicago, Illinois, where he remain-

ed during the succeeding four years. His busi-

ness interests, however, were interrupted by his

service in the Civil war, when, in 1861, he raised

a company of volunteers and was mustered in as

its captain, serving throughout the struggle to

preserve the Union. He participated in the dif-

ferent campaigns in the southwestern and gulf

states and at the close of the war settled at Chat-

tanooga, Tennessee, where he engaged in merchan-

dising, this being his business connection until

1874. During his residence in that city he acted

as alderman and was elected by the republican

party as a representative from Hamilton county to

the state legislature. In connection with his other

business interests he was also the editor of a paper

in Chattanooga, lie was likewise for twenty years

pension examiner at Washington, D. C. Captain

Snyder remained in the government employ until

1903, when he returned to Monroe county, where

he owned a farm of eighty acres in Clarkson town-

ship, located about a half mile east of the village

of Clarkson on the Ridge road, which at one time

was an old Indian trail. This property was settled

by his parents. Here his deatli occurred in 1904,

and thus passed away one of the old and highly

esteemed citizens of Monroe county.

It was in 1876 that Captain Snyder was united

in marriage to Carrie Eugenia Lyman, a daugh-

ter of 11. F. and Catherine Lyman, farming people

of Unadilla, Micliigan. Mrs. Snyder received her

education in the schools of Michigan and

after reaching womanhood went to Chattanooga,

Tennessee, to visit an aunt, Mrs. Lucretia Arnold,

who resided on Lookout mountain, and it was dur-

ing her sojourn there that she formed the ac-

quaintance of the gentleman whom she later mar-
ried. I'heir marriage was blessed with five chil-

dren : Sarah L., who is the wife of B. C. Fowler,

a resident of Clarkson, where he is now serving as

justice of the jiciice; Catlierinc, Avho is engaged
in teaching in the schools of Washington, D. C;
Ijyman W. and Carrie, twins, who died in in-

fancy; and Gladys Vermilya, who is attending the

Brockport Normal School. Mrs. Snyder is the

sixtli in order of birth in her father's family, the

others being: Frank Lyman, who lives in Jackson,
Florida; W. C. R. and A. R. Ijyinan, who are en-

gaged in the newspaper business in Jackson,
Micliigan; Kloni, (lie wife of Friend Williams, a

resident of Stockbridge, Michigan; and Clarence
and AVilliam II., who died at an early age.

Mrs. Snyder is making her home on the farm
which was left her by her husband and in the com-
munity where she resides she is esteemed by all

who know her by reason of her many excellent

traits of heart and mind, and all sympathize with
the household in the loss of the husband and
father, whose death was the occasion of deep re-

gret not only to his immediate family but to a
host of warm friends. At his death, a personal
friend, Julius Heidenreich, a millionaire of Chi-
cago, wlio was accompanied by a daughter and a
granddaughter, came to pay his last respects to

one who in life had been a devoted and faithful

friend, and in a touching speech spoke of the
many excellent and commendable traits of Cap-
tain Snyder.

The Captain was a consistent member of the

Methodist Episcopal church, exemplifying in hie

life the teachings of that organization, while with
his old army comrades he maintained pleasant re-
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lations through Farragut post, G. A. R., at Wash-
ington, and also the Army of Cuniberhind. He was
a member of the Masonic order, in which he at-

tained the Knight Templar degree, and also affili-

ated with the Loyal Legion at Washington, D. C.
Through the long years of the Civil war he follow-
ed the Union banners on southern battle-fields

and in private life as loyally advocated the prin-
ciples which he believed would advance tlie wel-
fare of his state and county. A native son of
Monroe county, liis name was closely interwoven
with its early development and later progress,

and his memory today is cherished as that of one
who made the world better for his having lived.

HENRY A. STRONG.

One of Rochester's native sons, Henry A. Strong,
was horn on the 30th of August, 1838, of the
marriage of Alvali and Catherine (Hopkins)
Strong. In his boyhood and youth he was a pupil
in the public schools, and at the time of the Civil
war, in 18G1, Mr. Strong was appointed assistant

paymaster in the United States navy, serving for
four years. At the close of the war he returned
home and became identified with his uncle, Myron
Strong, in the manufacture of whips, eventually
purchasing his uncle's interest. He became as-

sociated with E. r. Woodbury, which relation

continued until 1889, when he disposed of his in-

terests in that line. In the meantime he became
connected with George Eastman in the manufac-
ture of dry plates and films. The ])artnership

was formed in December, 1880, under the firm

name of Strong & Eastman. In October, 1884, the

Eastman Dry Plate & Film Company was organ-
ized with Mr. Strong as its president, and to-

day the extensive business is conducted under
the name of the Eastman Kodak Company.
Wherever the camera is in use the name of East-
man is known. The business of the house far ex-

ceeds that of any other establishment of a similar

character in America and the company not only

enjoys a dnniestic trade of uinnunoth ])roportions

• 1)ut also n large export trade. The name of the

Eastman Kodak Company has become almost syn-

onymous with that of Rochester, having for some
years been one of its largest and most profitabk-

industrial enterprises. ^Hle business has been de-

veloped from small l)cginnings and tlic success

of the house is attributable in large measure to

tlie fact tliat the cninpany has adopted every mod-
ern invention ami improvement Hint lends io per-

fection in the manufacture of kodaks and camera
supplies. In every department of this vast busi-

ness are men who are experts in their line and

through the co-ordination and organization of
forces as manifest by those who are at the head
of the business in the executive department there
has resulted an enterprise of which every citizen

of Rochester is proud. A man of fertility oi re-

source, readily recognizing and improving oppor-
tunity, Henry A. Strong has been sought in con-
nection with the conduct and management of

many important business enterprises. He is now
president of the Rochester Button Company, presi-

dent of the United States Voting Machine Com-
pany and a director of the Alliance Bank, the
Monroe County Savings Bank and the Security
Trust Company. He is likewise interested in var-

ious other financial and commercial institutions.

Mr. Strong was married in Niles, Michigan, on
the 3d of August, 1859, to Miss Ifelen P. Griffin,

a daughter of Robert I. Griffin. They became par-

ents of two sons and two daughters: Gertrude,

the wife of Henry L. Achilles ; Herbert, who died

in infancy ; Helen, the wife of ex-Governor George
R. Carter, of Hawaii; and Henry G., a promi-
nent business man of I?ochester.

Mr. Strong is a stalwart advocate of republican

]u'incii)]cs and while he does not concern himself

with petty politics he is interested, as is every true

American citizen, in the great questions which
affect the welfare of the country at large. Ever
willing to do even more than his share for the

betterment and uplifting of Rochester, his gen-

erous aid can be counted upon to further any pro-

gressive public movement for the material, intel-

lectiuil, a'sthelic and moral jirogrcss of tlic city. In
1907 he jH'csented to the Rochester Theological

Seminary a magnificent Imilding, which was given

the name of the Alvah Strong Memorial Hall in

lionor of his father, who was one of the early and
Ijromincnt citizens of Rochester. There has not

been a single esoteric phase in the career of Henry
A. Strong, who has spent his entire life in this

city and whose record is as an open book. His
business methods have neither sought nor required

disguise and in the legitimate channels of trade

lie has gained a splendid and well merited success.

JONATHAN B. WEST.

Jonathan B. West was an inventor of note, well

known abroad and in America. He was born in

Lakeville, New York, April 30, 1833, and passed

away October 22, 1900. He enjoyed the ordinary

educational advantages incident to his native state,

but he liad within himself an originality which

look ils own way to success. As a child lie was
always busy working out his own ideas, both in

j)lay and in school. This element in his nature was
encouraged by his parents and teachere and he
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spent his life as an inventor, following the talent

which was so early manifest. As a young man he

invented an automatic broom handle machine and

a water meter, the patent of which he sold in

' France. In 1870 he invented the first machine for

betting tires cold and called his invention the West

tire setter. Today, when the automobile is a com-

mon vehicle, it is interesting to note that the sub-

ject of this sketch built the first one in this city.

On a trip to Europe in 1894 he found many new

ideas relative to the automobile, so that when he

returned he perfected his machine and built one

for delivery purposes. Among his minor inven-

tions is that of a screw driver, a machine for em-

broidering and a needle for the same purpose.

He was a man who spent his life in his home and

v/as a representative of our best type of American

manhood and chivalry. Though he made many
trips abroad, where he sold liis jiatcnts, it was in

America ihat ho was always intorestod in working

out liis ideas. By perseverance, determination and

honorable effort he reached the goal of prosperity.

A large part of his success he attributed to the

abundant support and help given him by his wife,

who still carries on his business, although it was

merged into a stock company before his death.

Mrs. West bore the maiden name of Cornelia Gre-

rielle and was born and educated at Saratoga, New
Y'ork. She and Mr. West were married l)y the

Rev. Dr. Shaw. She is a Baptist in religious be-

lief, having taken an active part in its work for

thirty-four years. Mr. West attended church with

her. He was a member of tlie Chamber of Com-
merce for some time.

On June 3, 1896, Mr. Grenelle was married to

Miss Anna Cox of Scottsville, New York, and they

have three children.

EDWARD A. GRENELLE.

Edward A. Grenelle, secretary and tieasurer of

Tho West Tire Setter Comy)aiiy, of Roclipslor, was

born July 23, 1873, at Rock City Ealls, Saratoga

county. New York. After acquiring his prelim-

inary education in the district schools he attended

a business school in Albany, New York, and in

1890 came to Rochester, obtaining a position in

the office of Alexander McVean, then county treas-

urer. After two years' service there he relin-

quished his position to accept another in the office

of City Treasurer Samuel B. AVillinms, and when
he had served in various cnpacitios in that office

during the term of four years he withdrew from

ihe mimicipal service to associate himself with J.

B. West as private secretary. Upon the formation

of The West Tire Setter Company he was elected

secretary and treasurer, which has been his busi-

ness connection since that time.

HON. GEORGE A. BENTON.

Hon. George A. Benton, of Rochester, judge of

the supremo court, was born in Tolland, Con-

necticut, on the 7th of May, 1848. His birth-

place was a farm upon whicli his early life was

spent. He acquired his early education in the

district schools of his town and in 1867-8 was a

student in Williams College. Afterward he at-

tended the Cornell University, from which he was

graduated in the class of 1871, the degree of

Bachelor of Arts then being conferred upon iiim.

Ho won liigli lionors in his college work and lias

since been interested and active in college mat-

ters, having served as class president and alumni

orator. For one year he taught in Peekskill, New
York, after which he began preparation for the

practice of law, matriculating in the Columbia

Law School, from which he graduated in the class

of 1874. The same year he came to Rochester

and opened an office in connection with a Mr.

Dickinson, the partnership being maintained until

1884.

Almost from the beginning of his professional

career Mr. Benton lias figured in his profession in

official connections. He was elected district at-

torney in 1884 and served for six years. In 1894

he was elected surrogate and served until he re-

ceiviid the appointment of county judge in IflOG

from Governor lliggins to fill the place vacated

by Arlluir E. Sutherland, who lias been elected

to tlie supreme court. Later in the same year

Judge Benton was elected a member of the su-

preme court and is therefore now serving as a

member of that court. He has shown himself an

equal of the ablest memhors who have sat upon

liio Ik'iu'Ii. liis (k'lMsions indic^ale strong men-

tality, careful precision, a thorough knowledge of

the law and unbiased judgment. The judge on

the bench fails more frequently perhaps from a

deficiency in that broadmindedness which not only

comprehends the details of a situation clearly but

that insures complete self-control under even the

most exasperating conditions than from any other

cause; and the judge who inakes a success in the

discharge of his multitudinous delicate duties is a

man of well rounded character, finely balanced

mind and splendid intellectual attainments. That

Judge Benton is regarded as such a jurist is a

unifonuily accepted fact.

Judge Benton was married July 8, 1892, to

Catherine S. Westerdick, and they have four chil-

dren, Ethel, George, Alice and Helen. He main-
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tains his residence at Spencerport and has there

served on the hoard of education. He has taken

an active and helpful interest in many local move-

ments and is a member of several clubs and socie-

ties. Deeply interested in Masonry he is one of its

exemplary representatives and aided in collect-

ing money for the erection of the Masonic build-

ing in Rochester. He is also connected with the

Knights of Pythias and is a member of the Cen-

tral church. For years he has been active in re-

publican ranks and is one of the most popular

and respected jurists and citizens of Monroe
county.

HENRY WRAY.

Henry Wray, whose life record proves that there

is no discordant element between success and hon-

esty, iigured for many years as a leading and

prominent business man of Rochester, where he

owned and conducted the first brass foundry es-

tablished in that city. The business was founded

liy his father and continued 'by the eon under

the name of the Henry Wray Brass Foundry. The

family name has figured prominently in indus-

trial circles here for over sixty-five years and has

always stood as a synonym for business integrity,

enterprise and successful accomplishment.

Henry Wray was a native of Poughkeepsie,

New York, born October 10, 1841. His parents

were Henry and Marie (Mosher) Wray, the latter

a native of Dutchess county. New York, and the

former a native of Derby, England, in which

country he remained until nine years of age,

when he and two brothers sailed for America.

They landed in New York city, where Henry

Wray, Sr., secured employment, remaining in the

metropolis two years. At the age of eleven years

he went to Poiighkcepsic, New York, ivhorc he

was employed for several years and later engaged

in various business enterprises there on his own

account until 1843, when he came to Rochester.

Soon after his arrival here he established the

foundry which was the first brass industry here.

In addition to its conduct he also engaged in the

locksmith business and soon afterward further

extended the scope of his labors by the manu-

facture of headlights. All three branches of the

business prospered, but the business of the brass

foundry grew so rapidly that he was compelled to

sell out the other two lines in order to give his

undivided attention to its conduct. He centered

his energies upon this business, in which he con-

tinued throughout his remaining days, making it

one of the leading industrial concerns of the city.

He was, moreover, a man of high principles,

manly, honorable conduct, and in every relation

of life commanded and deserved the respect and
confidence of those with whom he was associated.

Both he and his wife were members of the Meth-
odist Episcopal church, and he was a most gen-

erous contributor toward the building of the Corn-
hill Methodist church, while to all charitable and
benevolent interests he was most liberal. He rec-

ognized every man's individual responsibility

toward his fellowmen and always had a hand
downreaching in order to lift up those less fortu-

nate than himself.

Henry Wray of this review was only a young
lad when brought by his parents to Rochester. He
was reared among the refining influences of a

good. Christian home and was a student in early

boyhood in the public schools, passing through
successive grades until he became a high-school

student, and acquired a good education. He re-

ceived practical business training under the direc-

tion of his father, whom he joined in the conduct

of the foundry, and displayed special aptitude in

mastering the business in principle and detail.

Upon his father's death he became manager of the

foundry and under his guidance the business con-

tinued to increase. It was developed along mod-
ern business lines in harmony with conservative

methods that insured safety in its conduct and
yet did not preclude progressiveness. The com-
pany manufactures all kinds of brass goods, brass

moldings, brass and composition castings and
other goods of the same nature and the output was,

and is, sent to all parts of the country, for since

the father's death the sons have continued in

charge of the business, which is now carried on
lender the firm style of Henry Wray & Sons, brass

founders. It was incorporated and the plant is

located at Nos. 193 and 195 Mill street.

In 1862 Mr. Wray was married in Rochester to

Miss Cornelia F. Martin, a native of this city

and daughter of William H. and Salvina B.

(Clark) Martin, the former a native of Vermont
and the latter of Mnasachusclts. Her fnllicr came
to Rochester at an early day and throughout the
remainder of his life here followed the mason's
trade, which he had learned in early manhood.
He took many important contracts, built the old

Eagle Hotel and many of the other brick struc-

tures of the city of an early day. Wliile in charge

of the brick work and tunnel at West Point he

became ill with cholera and died suddenly. His
wife survived him and died in Rochester in 1894.

The home of Mr. and Mrs. Wray was blessed

with seven children: Ella Ailing, now deceased;

William Henry, who is vice president of the

Henry Wray & Sons Company, and who married

Elsie C. Joiner, their home being at No. 22 Lori-

mer street; Edward M., who died in infancy;

Mary G., the wife of John M. Stull, a prominent

attorney, now assistant coi-poration counsel of
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Rochester, with offices at No. 46 City Hall;

Charles ¥., who is secretary and troasuror oi: the

company, and married Helen Strong; Lois, who
is the wife of Rev. Jolm Barber, minislcM- of the

Calvary Baptist clnii'ch of lOrie, i'onnsylvania;

and De Los H., who is also interested in the brass

foundry and resides with his mothei-.

Mr. Wray was for six years a member of the

board of education at Rochester and was deeply

interested in the intellectual progress of the city.

He was a prominent member oL' the Masonic fra-

ternity. A good Christian man, ho took much
interest in church work, both he and his wife

being members ol' the Central Presbyterian church.

They were also interested in the People's Rescue
Mission and did much to promote its work and
the accomplishment of its object. In fact, Mr.
Wray stood for all that is just and honorable in

business, for all that is hel]vl:ul and considerate in

man's relation with his' fellowmen and for all

that is generous and liberal in his treatment of

the unfortunate. He and his wife traveled quite ex-

tensively, visiting many sections of interest, and
Mrs. Wray has a large collection of relics picked
up in their travels. She owns a beautiful home
at No. 44 Lorimer street, where she and her son
now reside. By all wlio knew him Mr. Wray is

remembered as one who was actively and com-
niendal)ly inleresled in ilie welfare and develop-
ment of this section of the stale. ,11 e was a man
of enterprise, positive character, indomitable en-
ergy, strict integrity and liberal views. He per-

severed in pursuit of a persistent purpose and
gained a most satisfactory reward. His life was
exemplary in many respects and he had the esteem
of his friends and the confidence of those who had
business relations with him.

GEORGE W. ROBESON.

It is a noticeable fact in the business world
that it is the young men who are jmshing for-

ward the wheels of progress, who are controlling
important industries and instituting business com-
binations and interests which result in a thousand
forms of practical utility. In this connectioa
mention should be made of George W. Robeson,
president of the Rochester Stamping Company
and treasurei' of the Robeson Ciilici-y Company,
two of the important productive concerns of the
city which have contributed much to commercial
progress here in the last two decades.

Mr. Robeson was born in Groton, New York,
May 10, 1870. He was educated in the public
schools of Elmira, New York, and at the age of

fourteen years entered baisiness life, being for a

number of years employed in clerical capacities in

hardware stores. In 1894 he became connected
Avith llie Rochestoi' Stamping Company, which
liad been establisbed in 1888. This and the Robe-
son Cutlery Company are officered by the same
people, George AV. l^olieson being president and
Irving T. Robeson vice president of the Roches-
ter Stamping Company, while of the Robeson Cut-

lery Company the brother of our snbject is the

prcsidcnl. A niaininolb business is carried on in

the manufacture of copper and nickel plated tin-

ware of great variety, in chafing dishes, forks,

spoons, serving dishes, trays, {'ake baskets, fern

dishes tea and coffee pots etc. The firm employs
about forty-five traveling salesmen, who cover the

United States and Canada, while the employes in

the offices and factories number eight hundred.
The various largo buildings utilized in the conduct
of (he entei'pi'ise covci' some one hundred and
twenty-five thousand feet of floor space and are

located on Anderson avenue, near Rochester Uni-
versity, with convenient shipping facilities, owing
to the proximity of the New York Central Rail-

road. They issue a very beautiful illustrated cata-

logue of their largo line of high-class goods and
the product of the Rochester Stamping Company
is known throughout the United States. The
business has sleadily gmwn along healthful lines

until it has reached mammoth proportions and
has not only proved a source of gratifying profit

to the stockholders but has also been of direct
practical benefit to the city in the promotion of
its commercial progress.

Mr. Robeson was married in 1892 to Miss Jes-
sie M. Pratt, of Elmira, New York, and they have
two (laughters: Ruth, who is now seven yeais of
age; and Eatim: Mr. Robeson is a member of the
Rochester Club and of the Oak Hill Country Club.
He belongs to the First Baptist church and takes
an active and helpful interest in its work. In
politics he is an independent republican, usually
endorsing the principles of the party yet noL con-
sidering himseU' bound by party ties. "The family
home is at No. VMi Chili avenue and is a favorite
resort with the, many friends of ]\Tr. and Mrs.
Robeson. In inatters of citizenship Mr. Robeson
stands for all that is helpful and progressive,
withholding his support from no movement or
measure that he deems would prove of public bene-
iit. He is broad in his ideas and liberal in his
.judgments, strong in his convictions and earnest
in his views. He stands as a splendid type of tlie

American business man who readily recognizes and
utilizes opportunity. Endowed by nature with a
sound judgment and an accurate, discriminating
mind, he has not feared that laborious attention to
business so necessary to achieve success and this
essential quality has ever been guided by a sense
of moral right which would tolerate the employ-
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nient only of the means tliitt. would bcfir the most
rigid exfiminatioii, and by a fairness of intention

that has neither sought nor required disgnise.

PLATT C. REYNOLDS.

Piatt C. Reynolds, deceased, who for a third ot

a century was an editor and journalist in Roches-
ter and was regarded throughout the country as

one of the ablest writers upon horticultural sub-

jects, was born in Dutchess c(uinty. New "^'ork, in

182(). ITe was ten years of ago when he removed
to Pidmyra, New York, with his pai'cnts, Isaac

and Sanih (i'lliison) Itcyiiohls. lie reiuiiined a

resident of Palmyra from 18;{(i until IS.")!! and
coTupletcd his education in the schools there. He
afterward removed to Plaiji field, New .Jersey

where he engaged in the fruit-growing business

until 1864, and his broad, ])i-actical experience, as

well as his wide study and research, made him
authority on subjects of which he treated in his

jouinalistic work.

j\Ir. Reynolds came to Rochester on leaving New
Jersey and here again engaged in fruit growing,

following this pursuit for some time with excel-

lent success, while for twenty years he was agri-

cultural and horticultural editor of the American
Rural Home of Rochester. For a long period he

was also secretary of the Western New York Horti-

cultural Society and was present at the semi-cen-

tennial celebration of that organization in Janu-
ary, IDO,""). His writings and his efforts proved an

imporlant influence in promoting the fruit-grow-

ing interests of the state, bringing a knowledge to

the general public which might be accomplished in

this direction and of the best ]nethods to be fol-

lowed. For several years he was horticultural ed-

itor of Creen's Fruit Grower, and not oidy did

he write extensively on the sidijccls of llu' farm,

the garden and the orchard, but was also a jirac-

tical agriculturist and horticulturist, and often

delivered lectures at farmers- institutes, ])resenting

in practical form those subjects which were and
are of interest in the tilling of the soil or the

]iroduction of grain ami fruit crops. He was a

frequent and valued contributor to Green's Fruit

Grower, the Examiner, the New York Tribune, the

Ohio Farmer, the New England Farmer, the

Gountry Gentleman and other agricultural papers,

and his writings are widely read and copied in

(.ther publications. He was continuously a stu-

dent of those interests bearing upon the questions

which ho treated and had most thorough knowl-

edge' of both !i iirMclicid and scieidipK^ ciuiraciei'.

On tJio 2M of Novendier, I«l(;, Mr. Reynolds

was married near Palmyra, New York, to Miss
Julia Barnes, a native of Ontario county. New

Yo]k, and they became the parents of four chil-

dren: Mrs. Nina Brewington, living at home;
Francis Gaitoii, deceased; Jlrs. Florence Whitney;
and Augustus, at home.

In his political views Mr. Reynolds was always
a strong republican, studied closely the attitude
of the two groat parties upon the momentous ques-
tions which came up for settlement, and his posi-
tion was that of firm conviction and a belief hi
the justice of his cause. He was a faithful, fre-

quent and conscientious advisor and was kind and
couiteous to all. By nature he was quiet and un-
as.suming and his strong mentality and studious
habits led him to be cla'ssed with the thinkers of
the age. Jti fact he was called the traveling en-
cycloiicdia of invention and his broad knowledge
made him tlie peer and valued associate of those
most prominent In agricultural and horticultural
circles throughout the countiy. He built a fine

home at No. 35 Meigs street, Rochester, about sev-

enteen years ago and there resided until his death,
which occurred April 13, 1905. His widow still

resides there. In his demise the nation lost one
'of its ablest men, whose widely felt influence was
a potent factor for good and for material develop-
ment, while his genuine personal worth endeared
iiim to all with whom he came in contact in his so-
cial relations.

FRANKLIN MILES.

.\t an enrly period in the development of Roches-
ter the Miles family, of which Franklin Miles was
a representative, was founded in this city, and
for many years he figured in its industrial activity,
one of the strongest and most influential firms
being that of W. E. & F. Miles, manufacturers of
sash, doors and blinds. Born in Bloomfield in
1832, he was a son of William and Catharine (Em^
inert) Miles, who at an early day in the develop-
ment of western New York settled at Victor.
Later they removed to Maryland, establishing their
home at the birth place of the father.

Franklin Miles attended school while spending
his boyhood days under the parental roof and at
the age of eigliteen years came to Rochester, where
he entered business in connection with contracting
rnd building. He was thus associated with the
substantial improvement and development of the
city and later he became identified with his broth-
er, William E. Miles, in the manufacture of sash,
doors and blinds, under the firm style of W. E.
&' F. Miles. This relationship was continued un-
til 1899, and was charRcterized by a continued
growth in buHinc-.s, residling from the high sland-
ai-ds that were ever maintained in correct materials
used, in the methods of manufacture and in serv-

ice to the |;ublic. The firm met competition in a
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rivalry of merit rather than in a war of prices

and paid to the high grade of workmen employed
a legitimate share of the profits which their tal-

ents brought to the business. The relations of

the house with other business houses were ever

above reproach and measured fully up to the stand-
ard of honorable dealing. Franklin Miles contin-

ued an active factor in the management and con-
trol of this profitable industry until 1899, when
he disposed of his interests, after which he en-

joyed merited ease in a well-earned rest up to the
time of his death, which occurred August 2, 1907.

In 1854 Mr. Miles was married to Miss Sarah
Fay, who died in 1871, and in 1876 he married
Miss Agnes E. Crowner of Rochester. Soon after
the outbreak of the Civil war he enlisted in the
Thirty-third New York Volunteer Infantry, and
when his term of service expired joined the Forty-
ninth New York Regiment, remaining in the army
until hostilities ceased. In politics he was inde-
pendent and without desire for political prefer-
ment. He became prominent and prosperous in
business life. He was a man of domestic tastes,

quiet and unassuming in manner, but the genuine
worth of his character gained for him the trust
and respect of those with whom he was associated.

JOHN ECKLBR.

John Eckler owns and operates a well improved
farm of one hundred and eight acres in Pittsford
township, which constitutes a part of the old
homestead property and which has been in pos-
session of the family for sixty-five years. He is a
native son of Monroe county, born in Mendon,
February 13, 1834, a son of Benjamin and Mary
(Cole) Eckler. The father came to Monroe coun-
ty from Otsego county, this state, in 1812, and
settled on a farm in Mendon near the Pittsford

line, the tract comprising one hundred acres,

which was covered with timber. He at once set

to work to clear the land and he also erected a log
cabin, in which he took up his abode and in due
course of time he transformed the wild land into

cultivable fields, from which he annually gathered
abundant harvests as a result of the care and labor

which he bestowed upon his land. As time passed

and his financial resources increased he added to

his original holdings and eventually became a
large landholder, owning several farms, among
which was the tract which is now in possession ol

our subject. He gave his early political support

to the whig party but after the formation of the

republican party he joined its ranks. His family

numbered ten children but only two are now liv-

ing, the sister of our subject being Mrs. Esther D.
Crounice. The wife and mother passed away in

1856 and was long survived by her husband, who
died in 1877. They were numbered among the

worthy pioneer settlers of this section of the state.

John Eckler, the only living son of the family,

was reared upon the home farm, early becoming
familiar with all the duties and labors connected
with agricultural pursuits. During the winter

months he pursued his studies in the schools of

Mendon. He remained with his father until he

had reached the age of twenty-four years and then
began farming on his own account, cultivating the

land which is now his home, the tract comprising
one hundred and eight acres, located in Pittsford

township, near the village. He has made all of

the improvements which are here seen, including

a good house and substantial outbuildings for the
shelter of grain and stock, and he has likewise

planted fruit and shade trees and everjrthing about
his place is kept in the best possible condition, so

that it adds to the attractiveness of this section of

the county.

Mr. Eckler was married in 1847 to Miss Harriett
Sherwood, who was born in Monroe county, her
father, Somers Sherwood, having settled here in

1813. Their marriage was blessed with six chil-

dren, three sons and three daughters: Sarah L.,

the deceased wife of Charles Tobie; Somers S.;

Barton B. ; Carrie A. and Harriett M., twins, the
former now the wife of James A. La Leur, while
the latter is the wife of William Hanna; and
Frank A. The wife and mother passed away in
1877, and in 1880 Mr. Eckler was again married,
his second union being with Sarah McGee, who
was born in Livingston county, this state.

Mr. Eckler gives his political support to the
republican party and for six years he served as
assessor hut aside from this he has held no public
ollice, preferring to give his time and attention to
his private business interests. His religious faith
is indicated by his membership in the Mendon
Presbyterian church. The family are well Imown
in Pittsford and in Monroe county, for the name
has been closely identified with the agricultural
development of this portion of the state from a
very early period and today John Eckler stands
as a worthy representative of the name in this line
of activity.

MOSES KNAPP.

Moses Knapp was a well known and prominent
representative of industrial interests in Rochester
for thirty-five years, carrying on business as a
painter and decorator. He attained a degree of
skill and proficiency in ihis line which brought
to him a very liberal patronage and gained him
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a reputation unsurpassed by any who followed the

same business in Jlonroe county.

Mr. Knapp was born in New York city in 1843
and died March 13, 1906, at the age of sixty-two

years. When fourteen years of age he went to

Stratford, Connecticut, and in the year 1864 came
to Rochester, being then a young man of twenty-
one years. Here he learned the trade of painting

and decorating, became an expert in his line niul

in the course of years developed a very extensive

business as a contractor. His work was seen in

some of the finest homes and business houses of

the city, his ability being of the highest order,

while his proficience was a matter of uniform
knowledge throughout his adopted state.

In 1891 Mr. Knapp was united in marriage to

Miss Nellie M. Benedict, of Perinton, New York,
and they became the parents of four children:

Gertrude, Moses T., Nellie and Elmer.
In his political views Mr. Knapp was a repub-

lican, interested in the growth and success of his

party. He was also a stalwart champion of the

cause of temperance and did everything in his

power to suppress the liquor traffic, realizing fully

that it is one of the greatest detriments to the

country and to the development of honorable man-
hood. Of domestic tastes, fond of his home and
family, he found his greatest pleasure at his own
fireside, and was never more content than when
ministering to the happiness of his wife and chil-

dren. He belonged to the Independent Order of

Good Templars, as a member of W.ashington lodge,

and was connoclcd with a number of sociel.ics for

the promotion of business interests. He held

membership in the Builders Exchange, was vice

president of the Master Painters Association of

Rochester and a member of the International As-
sociation of Master House Painters and Decorators
of the United States and Canada. He was con-
stantly alert to the interests of his business in its

artistic lines as well as for its financial results

and he had a keen eye for beauty of form, color

and effect. The excellence of work executed under
his direction gave him prominence among men in
his line of business in the country. Moreover, his

business probity and integrity were above ques-
tion and he was a man whose social, genial nature
made him well liked by all. Mrs. Knapp now
resides at No. 89 Park avenue, Rochester, where
she owns a nice home.

FREDERICK MILLER.

Tliere is perhaps in this volume no history
wliicli serves to illustrate more clearly iho force
of determinaiion and persistent purpose in en-
abling one to rise from a humble financial position
to one of wealth and aflluonce than does the record

of Frederick Miller, now deceased, who for many
years was a prominent business man of the Flower
city. For over a half century he was engaged
in the brewing business here and was the founder

of the Flower City Brewery. He was also well

known in local military circles and in connec-

tion with other business enterprises.

Mr. Miller was born at Obcrlinxweiler, Ger-

many, January 28, 1822. His parents, George

and Elizabeth (Baker) Miller, were also natives

of that place and resided upon a farhi there until

1834, when the family sailed for America. They
came direct to Rochester but only remained here

for about a year and then removed to the middle
west, settling in Cook county, Illinois, the father

purchasing a farm about twenty-one miles from
Chicago. Later he returned to Rochester, where
both he and his wife died.

Frederick Miller of this review began earning

his living as a waiter in the hotels of Chicago
for a few years. At the age of eighteen he was
apprenticed to a carpenter, William Jones, who
paid him one dollar per week and board. His
term of apprenticeship continued for three years,

during which time he assisted in building some
of the finest residences in Rochester, together

with schools, churches and other public buildings.
,

He helped to build the Trinity Evangelical

church on Allen street, of which he became a

member, continuing as such throughout the re-

mainder of his life. As a contractor and builder

he did important work in the improvement of the

city and Jiiauy fine specimens of the architecture

of an earlier period still stand as monuments to

his tlirift and handiwork.

In 1852 Mr. Miller turned his attention to

another field of business. He established a small

brewery on Brown street, where he employed a

number of men. He continued the business there

until 1861 but in the meantime his trade had
constantly increased until it had reached such

proportions that he was obliged to have larger

quarters. He therefore purchased the site upon
which the Flower City Brewery now stands on
Lake avenue and there built a larger plant. He
conducted the business on his own account until

1882, when the Miller Brewing Company was
organized, of which Mr. Miller was made presi-

dent, with Rudolph iVay as vice president, Solo-

mon Wile, secretary, and Moses Hays, treasurer.

More stockholders were admitted from time to

time. The business still continued to increase and
later the name was changed to the Flower City

Brewing Company. Mr. Miller was the prin-

cipal stockholder in the same and retained his

connection with the business throughout hia re-

maining days. Three times was the plant de-

stroyed by fire. It was burned in 1869, again in

187(5 and the third time in 1886, so that he
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had to rebuild each time. In 1893 Mr. Miller

dot-ermined to retire from active work b\it he still

remained a stockholder and director of the brew-

ery until called to his final rest. Tie was suc-

ceeded by John C. Endcrs, who has since been

president of the brewery.

Frederick Miller was three times married. He

first wedded Christine Hertel, who died in Roch-

ester in 1867. There were ten children of that

nuirriage, of whom six are now living, all resi-

dents of Eochester, namely: Frederick, William,

George, Christine, Mrs. Mary Haap and Mrs.

Catherine Hermann. For his second wife Fred-

erick Miller chose Louisa Hertel, who died in

1876. There were five children of that mar-

riage, four of whom are yet living. These are

Amelia, Albert, Julius and Arthur. For his third

wife Mr. Miller chose Miss Emily Fuchs, a native

of Wayne county, New York. lu 1886, Mv. ]\[iller

and his wife made a trip to Europe, visiting his

native country and various other points of inter-

est during the three months which they spent

abroad. At a later date he again visited the

fatherland.

Mr. Miller made an excellent record in con-

nection with the public interests of the city. He
was especially well known in military circles.

Having a fondness for the life of a soldier, he

helped organize the Eochester German Grenadiers

and was made captain of the organization in 1840.

A few years later it became part of the Fifty-

fourth Regiment. At the time of the draft riots

in New York Captain Miller's company was called

into action, a request being sent from New York

to have the Rochester company go to that city

to restore order. At Albany the company was

ordered to proceed no further and for a loUg time

was stationed at the capital to protect the public

buildings, which were threatened. AVhen the

National Guard of New Y^'ork state was being re-

organized in 1873, Captain Miller was made a

captain of the cavalry and two years later was

commissioned a lieutenant colonel. Mr. Miller

was also a volunteer fireman, belonging to the

first hook and ladder company of Eochester.

His political allegiance was given to the democ-

racy and for five terms he represented his ward
on the board of supervisors, being first elected in

1876, again in 1885 and once more in 1886.

His official duties were discharged with a sense

of conscientious obligation that showed his loyal

interest in the welfare and progress of the city.

Mr. Miller was also an exemplary member of the

Masonic fraternity, in which he attained the

Knight Templar degree. He built the residence

where his widow and children now reside—a com-
modious and beautiful home at No. 416 Lake
avenue. They also have a nice summer home on

ICeuka lake, where they spend the M'arm months.

The death of Ur. Miller occurred on the 11th

of April, 1906, and was the occasion of deep and

unfeigned regret, for he had long been recognized

as a prominent business man, much interested

ill the upbuilding of Roclicslor. J^'or over iifLy

years he had figured in its commercial circles

and in connection with many piiblic events. He
was, moreover, a splendid type of the self-made

man who is not. only the architect but the builder

of his own fortunes. He early started out in

life on his own account and faced difficulties and

obstacles which would be utterly disheartening to

many, but he possessed a strong, resolute spirit

and as Die years passed by he so inii)roved his

opportunities and utilized his advantages that he

made for himself a prominent place in the busi-

ness world.

WILLIATM B. MILLEE.

William B. Miller, who devotes his time and

energies to farming and stock-raising in Chili

towusliip, was born in Gates, Monroe county. New
York, March 18, 1853. His parents were Ean-

som and Fannie (AVarner) Miller, the latter a

sister of Judge Warner's father. The paternal

grandfather, Eli Miller, came from Connecticut

to Eochester when the present city contained only

one house. Since that time the family has been

identified with the development of the county in

various phases of its growth and activity. Eli

]\filler bore his share in the work of reclaiming

this district for the purposes of civilization. He
settled Avhere the ]\Tonroe county poor house now
stands, owning and operating a farm there, his

time and energies being given to general agri-

cultural pursuits until his life's labors were ended

in death. He married Miss Polly Loomis and

to tliem were born five children, three sons and

two daughters, all of whom have now passed

away.

Jtnusom Miller, father of William B. Miller,

was born on the site of the Monroe county poor

house at what was then the old family home-
stead and spent his boyhood and youth in this part

of the state, the educational privileges afforded

him being those offered by the common schools.

Having arrived at years of maturity, he married

Fannie Warner, and they reared six sons and

a daughter. Ransom Miller spent most of his

life in Gates but his last j'cars were passed in

Eochester.

William B. Miller began his education in the

public schools of Gates and afterward attended

the Williams Business University. He has spent

his life as a farmer and in association with his

brother, Milton M. Miller, he bought a tract of
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IiukI Dfoiio Iiimdivd niiil sixly ncivs in llic foiikM'

of Cliili lo\vnRli)|). 'riiis ho ciiltivaiod J"ov a miiu-

her of yours Uul cvciitimlly sold lliat proiiciiy and

in 1891 came to liis iirescnt place of iGsidcnce.

This he has greatly improved and now has one

of the finest farm properties in the township.

His landed possessions aggregate two hundred and

sixteen acres and he carries on general farming

and slock-i'aising, making a specialty of the rais-

ing of thoroughbred Shropshire sheep and Poland
China hogs, all registered, some of which have been
imported from England. His opinions are largely

regarded as authority on the matter of sheep-

raising and he is well known as a representative

of the live-stock interests of the county.

In 1881 l\Ir. IMillor was united in marriage to

Miss Ida M. \'okn, who was from Chili iownahiji

and was a daughter of William A'^okc, who came
to ]\[onroe county fiom near Portsmouth, ]5ng-

land, crossing the Atlantic with his parents in

1833. His father was Edward Voice, a ship-

builder, who, coming to the new world, estab-

lished his residence in what; was then the town

of Eochoslcv with liUlc indication of the advan-

tages of the city. Hnto Mr. and Mrs. Miller have

been horn two sons and a daughter; William E.,

who was born in April, 1885, and is at home;
Lotta A., who was born March 13, 1887; and
Alfred V., born in September, 1889.

Mr. Miller votes with the republican party but

has no desire for office, preferring to concentrate

his time and energies upon his business affairs,

in which he is meeting with signal success.

LEWIS S. BEOOKS.

Tjcwis S. Erooks, now living in avcII earned ease

ill Knii'poi'l, was in former yciii's largely con-

nected with Iho iniiiing of coal and with geiiei'al

agricultural ])ursuits. Ho is one of Monroe
countv's native sons, his birth having occurred in

Penficld on the 13th of April, 1853. His father,

Garry Brooks, was born July 5, 1806, in New
Milford, Connecticut, and his ])arcnts, Mr. and
Mrs. Samuel Brooks, were also natives of that

stale. The family is of English lineage and was
founded in America by Thomas Brooks, who on

coming from England settled in Connecticut. The
town of Brookfield was named in his honor and
he there preached in the Presbyterian church for

a half century. He was a graduate of the theo-

logical department of Yale College of the class

of 1751. His son, Samuel Brooks, was n soldier

of the ]?evolution under Generals Washington and
Lafayolte, being with the latter at Yorktown.
rie afterward followed car])eiitei'ing Ihroiighoiit

his aclivo business life and died at Die advanced
ago of ninety-six years.

Garry Brooks was reared and educated in Con-
necticut and learned the tailor's trade in Litcli-

iield, that slate. In 1826 he joined his parents

in Monroe county, New York, and after living

for some time in the town of Penfield removed
to Fairport, where he still lives—a centenarian.

He married Emma Chauncey, daughter of John
Chauncey, of Connecticut, and of their four chil-

dren three are living: Pannie, Lewis and Emma,
all of Fairport. Garry Brooks is a republican

and in religious faith a Congregationalist. He
takes an active part in the evangelistic and school

work of the church and has contributed largely to

the support of Oberlin College, conducted under

Ihn niis))ices of thnt denomination. While living

in iho town of Penfield ho joined with others in

building Penfield Academy and has ever been a

most stalwart friend of the schools.

Lewis S. Brooks spent his youth on his father's

farm in Penfield and was a lad of fourteen years

at the time of the removal of the family to Fair-

liort. ITis public school education was supple-

mented by study in Eastman's Business College

of Poughkcepsie, New York.

In early manhood Lewis Brooks wedded Miss

Mary McMillan, the ceremony being performed

at the home of her uncle, Jesse B. Hannan. They
later removed to Illinois, where they resided from
1887 until 1889, Mr. Brooks being regarded as one

of the substantial business men of Smithboro and
that portion of the state. For a number of years he

was there interested in the mining of coal, being

vice president of the Smithboro Prospecting &
Mining Company, which operated a large tract

of coal lands, having contracts for the coal used

by the Vandalia system during the superinten-

dency of the late Colonel Hill. However, through

much of his life he has given his time and energies

to stock-raising and farming and for the purpose

of engaging in tlio formei" he owns the Prospect

View farm, comprising three hundred and seventy

acres of the finest land in the state. He was one

of the charter members of the State Horticul-

tural Society of New York and has always felt a

deep interest in everything pertaining to advance-

ment in farming and fruit-growing lines. In later

years he has transacted his father's business as

well as looking after his own properties and has

displayed great executive ability and keen dis-

crimination in the work.

Unto Mr. and Mrs. Brooks have been born nine

children. Chauncey Garry, 'who now resides on

his father's farm near Pittsford, married Cora

Hunt, a daughter of William Hunt and a native

of Branchport, Yates county, New York. Unto

this marriage have been born two sons, Garry and

William. Fannie F. is a graduate of Wells College

of the class of 1903, where she won the degree of



558 HISTOKY OP EOCHBSTBR AND MONROE COUNTY.

Master of Arts and also obtained a degree from
Trinity College at Durham, North Carolina, and
is now a teacher in the high school at Rochester.

Jesse L., a former student in the Pairport high

school and a graduate of Eastman's Business Col-

lege, is now connected with the Rochester electric

light plant. Emma S., who pursued a classical

course in the Pairport high school and after her
graduation took a post graduate course there and
also attended Elmira College, is now the wife of

J. Hunter Black of Geneseo, New York, at present

surrogate clerk and now pursuing a course in

law. On the occasion of their marriage four gen-
erations of the family were present, including her
grandfather, then one hundred years of age.

Ethel M. was educated in the Pairport high school
and resides at home. J. Willard is a student in

the high school. Earl V. is a student in the
Rochester Business University. Mary L. is at-

tending the Mrs. Hake Preparatory School in

Rochester. Harold S. died at the age of two years.

The home of the family is a large and attractive

residence, splendidly situated on a natural build-
ing site, commanding a fine view of the village

and presided over by Mrs. Brooks, who is a most
accomplished and charming hostess. Mr. Brooks
is an earnest advocate of republican principles

and while in Illinois served on the county re-

publican central committee and wielded a wide
influence in county and state politics. In 1882
he became a member of the Presbyterian church
at Greenville, Illinois, but there is no church of
that denomination in Pairport, so he attends and
supports other denominations here. He is a Chris-
tian gentleman of high principles and genuine
personal worth and throughout his entire life he
has ever endeavored to do unto others as he would
have them do unto him. He recognizes the fact
that Christianity is not a matter of Sunday ob-
servance but of daily living, and this truth he
manifests in all his relations with his fellowmen,
being ever ]ust, considerate and kindly.

HOMER H. WOODWARD.

Homer H. Woodward, attorney at law of
Rochester, was born in Pairfax, Vermont, Janu-
ary 29, 1831, his parents being Joseph and Lucy
(Wilmorth) Woodward. The father was a native
of Pranklin, Massachusetts, and the mother of
Vermont. With his family he came to New York
by way of the Erie canal in 1834, shortly after
that waterway had been opened. A location was
made at Victor, Ontario county, but after two
years a removal was made to East Rush, Monroe
county, New York, where Joseph Woodward pur-

chased a house, in which he lived until hisi death

in 1863.

Homer H. Woodward attended in the schools

of East Rush, and was a student in the academy at

East Henrietta in tlie winter previous to coming

to Rochester in the spring of 1844, when a youth

of thirteen years, after which he attended the old

high school of which Chester Dewey was principal.

He boarded in the family of Henry E. Rochester

the first year and in the family of the widow of

Nathaniel Rochester, who died in December, 1845.

Mr. Woodward attended the high school during a

part of four years and in the winter of 1849 he

loegan teaching school, when in his nineteenth

year. He was the principal of the Mumford
school and in 1852, when but twenty-one years of

age, he became principal of the Union school at

Honeoye Palls. He then went to Batavia, New
York, where he entered upon the study of law and
where he also taught a private school for a few
years, thus providing for his expenses while pur-

suing his law course.

Admitted to the bar at Batavia, New York, in

]856, Mr. Woodward came to Rochester in 1858
and opened an office, since which time he has en-

gaged in the practice of his profession in this

city. lie is now one of the oldest members of the

Rochester bar and from the beginning has main-
tained a foremost place in the ranks of the legal

fraternity. He served as school commissioner in

Genesee county before coming to Rochester, but
has here given his entire time and attention to

his profession. In Pebruary, 1867, he commenced
action for Elihu H. Grover, plaintiff, against John
Morrissoy, John A. Morris, William C. Prance,
Richard Prance, Charles H. Murray, Zachariah E.
Simmons, William L. Simmons, Jacob Bausch,
David L. Reed and Benjamin Wood, who were
carrying on the business of selling lottery tickets

under a statute which gave to each purchaser the
right to cover double the amount that he paid for

the ticket. The case was tried before James L.
Angle, referee, in 1 875, and Mr. Woodward recov-

ered a judgment Pebruary 15, 1875, for twelve
thousand two hundred and ninety-six dollars and
seventy-two cents damage and six hundred and
two dollars and forty-nine cents costs. This was
one of the most notable cases ever tried in the
courts of Monroe county, extending over a period
of seven yciirs. The defendants appealed the case

and it was argued in the court of appeals in 1878,
where tlic judgment was affirmed. It was col-

lected in Now York and Mr. Woodward sued the

bail, and on the 15th of April, 1880, received from
Deputy Sheriff Dennett sixteen thousand three

hundred and thirteen dollars and twenty-one cents.

Thus the case extended over a period of thirteen

years and resulted in a total recovery of seventeen

thousand six hundred dollars. The result was
that the defendants left the state of New York.
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Mr. Woodward conducted the case with the utmost

skill and legal linesse. He has tried many notable

cases before the courts, in which his thorough un-

derstanding of the law and correct application of

its principles has been displayed. He is recognized

as an attorney of wide erudition and his ability

and skill have long been acknowledged in llie lib-

eral and distinctively representative clientage

which has been accorded him. Courts and juries

listen to him with attention and he lias won maxiy

of the most notable forensic victories in the courts

of the district.

Mr. AYoodward was married in October, 1862, to

Miss Mary F. Granger, a native of Troy, New
York, and unto them were born three sons and two

daughters: Mrs. Nellie E. Brigham, AVilliam P.,

Granger A., Henry V. and Mabel H. The young-

est sou is a clerk of the supreme court of Roches-

ter. The wife and mother died in May, 1903, and

her death was the occasion of deep regret to many
friends as well as her immediate family.

Mr. Woodward is a member of the Masonic fra-

ternity and an exemplary representative of the

craft. He is penetrative and practical, qualities

which have been evidenced in his professional ca-

reer. He seems to see readily to the center of things

and from the center to the circumference. He
looks upon the world from no false position; he

has no untried standards. He is a man of

strong convictions, quick to discern the right and
unfaltering in maintaining his position. He
stands as a man among men in liis successes and
his broad and liberal views and in the principles

which govern his conduct, and association with

him means pleasure, expansion and elevation.

GEORGE R. SMITH.

Various important industries and business un-

dertakings have felt the stimulus of the aid, co-

operation and wise counsel of George B. Smith,
who at this writing is living retired at the vener-

able age of ninety years. He came to Rochester in

1833, and few have longer resided in the city, his

memory going back to the time when it was a small

town of little industrial and commercial import-

ance. He has seen the extension of its borders to

accommodate its growth and has witnessed its de-

velopment into a business center, with ramifying
interests reaching out in all directions and bear-

ing no little influence upon trade conditions at
largo.

Mr. Smith is a native of Burlington, Vermont,
born on the 1st of June. 1817. His father, Peter
B. Smith, died before the removal of the son to

llie Empire state. In one of the old-time log school

houses of Vermont George B. Smith acquired his

education and in the winter of 1833-34 he and
George B. Harris carried papers for his brother,

Sydney Smith, who was at that time publishing a

jjaper in Rochester. This brother was the first

police justice of the city and in other ways was
prominently connected with public interests.

In the spring of 1834 George B. Smith secured
a clerkship with John B. Dewey, working for

four dollars per month and boarding him-
self, lie continued in that employ until

the spring of 1837, when he removed to

Michigan, but after eighteen months spent
in the Wolverine state he returned to Roches-
ter. He then clerked for David Moody until 1843,
Avhcn, in connection with L. E. Gould, he bought
out tlie Moody grocery slore and the firm of Smith
& Gould continued business for eighteen years.

Throughout this period his financial resources were
increasing by means of a constantly enlarging

trade. On retiring from the grocery business Mr.
Smith turned his attention to the coal trade, in

which be became a partner of John B. Dewey,
hite)-, however, selling out to the firm of Dewey &
Davis. He then became a m^ember of the firm of

Smith & Roberts, wliolesale dealers in coal, and
they developed a business of extensive proportions,

in which connection they built the Genesee docks

on the river to facilitate shipping. They did an
extensive shipping business to Chicago by way of

the lakes under the firm style of H. C. Roberts &
Co., and when Mr. Smith's connection had con-

tinued in this enterprise for some years he retired

and became connected with the operation of a

blast furnace. He was director and president of

a company engaged in the manufacture of pig iron,

but finally sold out about 1903. During his active

life, in 1880, he was one of the promoters of the

Bay Railroad, became one of its first directors, and

was later vice president, but subsequently the road

was sold to a syndicate. His business interests

were ever of such a character as contributed to

general progress and upbuilding as well as to in-

dividual success, and he did much to further the

interests and welfare of the city, his co-operation

being never sought in vain in behalf of Rochester.

Mr. Smith was married in early manhood to

Miss Caroline A. Broome, a native of Connecticut

and a daughter of Horatio Gates Broome. It was

in honor of her grandfather and his brother, Sam-
uel and John Broome, that the county of Broome,

New York, was named. Unto Mr. and Mrs. Smith

were born a son and daughter : Henry B., who is

row in the coal business at No. 39 Fitzhugh

street; and Mary E., who is with her father. The
son served as a soldier of the Civil war and now
"draws a pension in recognition of the aid which he

rendered the government. The wife and mother,

Mrs. Caroline Smith, died in October, 1906, when
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r.early ninety years of age, and thus death termi-

nated a happy married relation, which continued

for over sixty-two years.

The home which Mr. Smith occupies was pur-

chased by him a number of years ago. He is still

a very active man and his mental alertness is re-

markable. He can remember as if but yesterday

seeing General Lafayette in Vermont when the

French marquis was visiting this country. In poli-

tics he is a stalwart republican. In his business

life has been manifest much of the spirit of the

initiative. Many men seem capable of carrying

out ideas and plans formulated by others, but not

in instituting new measures or enterprises. Mr.

Smith, however, has established a number of busi-

ness interests which have proven profitable and is

one to whom Rochester owes not a little for its

present commercial prosperity. In all of his un-

dertakings he has been eminently practical, and,

moreover, sustains an unassailable reputation as

one whose probity has ever been above question.

OSCAR CRAIG.

In the history of the legal profession in Roches-

ter mention should be made of Oscar Craig, now
deceased, who was a prominent attorney of that

city for many years, continuing in the active prac-

tice of law here from 1859 until his demise, which
cccun-ed'on the 2d of January, 1894. He was one

of the native sons of the Empire state, his birth

having occurred in Medina, Orleans county. New
York, November 14, 1836. His parents were Jo-

seph and Elizabeth (Herring) Craig, and after

their marriage they resided in Medina, New York,
for several years, the father being engaged in gen-

eral merchandising there. He afterward brought
hie family to Monroe county. New York, and re-

sided on a tract of land near the town of Broek-
])Ort, where he engaged in farming until his death.

His wife has also passed away.

Oscar Craig pursued a public school education

at Medina until he was seventeen years of age. A
careful consideration of the various avenues of life

open to young men led him to determine upon the

profession of law as a life work and he went to

Schenectady, New York, where he entered upon
the study of law in the Union College. He spent

two years as a student there and graduated with

the class of 1856, after which he returned to Me-
dina and continued a student in the law office of

Mr. Servous at that place for a short time. He was
likewise a student in the law office of Mr. Parker
in Buffalo for three years and the fact that he had
an uncle in Rochester influenced him to become a
resident of this city in 1859. Here he concluded"

bis course with Judge Strong and entered upon
the practice of his profession.

Mr. Craig was married in 1861 to Miss Helen
M. Chatfield, of New York City, a daughter of

Levi S. Chatfield, who was also a prominent at-

torney and resided for several years in Otsego

county, after which he removed to New York
city. Prior to that time he was made attorney

general for the state and acted in that capacitor

for four years. He resided in New York city for

several years, after which he retired from active

practice, making his home in Elizabeth, New York,
until called to his final rest in 1884.

Wlien Ml". Craig came to Rochester he opened

a law office and engaged in practice with Judge
Strong for a time. Because of impaired health

he then left the city for a few months and upon
his return opened an office in the Powers building,

where he practiced for a few years. He then be-

came attorney for the Monroe County Savings

Bank and moved his office to that building and
was the local. representative of that institution for

several years. He was the attorney who drew up
the bill for the transfer of the inmates of the poor
house to the state hospital. He had an extensive

clientage which connected him with litigation of a

prominent and important character and at the

bar he displayed a wide and thorough familiarity

with the principles of jurisprudence in various de-

partments. He was ever an earnest worker, neg-
lecting none of the various duties which fall to a
lawyer in the preparation of a case in the office

or in the presentation of his case before the coun.
He was regarded as a safe counselor and able de-

fender of litigated interests and for many years
was accorded a prominent position at the Roches-
ter bar.

Mr. Craig was also a factor in public life and
was especially concerned with those interests which
worked for the welfare and upbuilding of the city

and the advancement of beneficial and charitable
movements. He was well known in philanthropic
circles and was a member of the state board of
charities, of which he served as president for four-
teen years, receiving appointment to the board
Irom Governor Cornell and acting as its president
at the time of his death. He did not associate him-
self with any political party, but gave his support
where he believed the best interests of the city de-
manded it. Both he and his wife were faithful
and consistent members of the First Presbyterian
church, in the work of which he took an active
and helpful part, serving for some time as elder.
His life was honorable, his actions manly and sin-

cere, his ideals high and his principles commended
him to the unqualified respect of all with whom he
came in contact, so that his name is honorably en-
rolled upon the list of Rochester's prominent dead.
He died at his home at No. 33 South Washing-
ton street, where Mrs. Craig still resides. It was
l.'uilt in 1816 and is one of the oldest residences
of the city—a landmark which for more than nine-



HISTOKY OF EOCHESTBE AND MONEOE COUNTY. 563

ty years has been a mute witness of the growth of

Kochester and the changes which have brought
about its present conditions.

T. B. PENGELLY.

That T. B. Pengelly is a self-made man is in-

dicated by the fact that when he first emigrated

to the new world he worked for a number of

years as a farm hand but through energy and
perseverance has gradually worked his way up-

ward until today he is raising fruit, vegetables

and flowers, operating a farm in Irondequoit, on
which stands one of the finest residences on the

Summerville road. He is now classed among the

enterprising, citizens of this section of Monroe
county. Mr. Pengelly is a native of Devonshire,

England, born in 1859, a son of William and
Emma (Heaman) Pengelly, both of whom were

natives of the mother country, where they spent

their entire lives.

T. B. Pengelly remained on the farm through

the period of his boyhood and youth and in the

schools of his native country acquired his educa-

tion. Upon attaining his majority, in 1880, in
• company with his brother, Henry Pengelly, he
emigrated to the new world, and located first in

Toronto, Canada, where lived his sister. He se-

cured employment on a farm near Toronto, being

employed by the month for two years. On the

expiration of that period he crossed the border

into the United States and settled in Eochester,

where he secured employment on tha garden farm
of I. H. Dewey. During the second year he was
made foreman of this farm and continued in the

employ of Mr. Dewey for twelve years. During
this time he had saved a sum of money sufiBcient

to justify the purchase of land, and accordingly

he bought nine acres of his present farm, to

which he has later added a six-acre tract, making
altogether fifteen acres. Here he- is successfully

engaged in raising fruit, vegetables and flowers,

and the products of his farm find a (pady sale

en the city markets. Four years ago he^ erected

a modern residence on his farm, which is con-

sidered one of the finest on the Summerville road.

The house is supplied with all modem conven-

iences and accessories and is one of the up-to-date

dwellings of this section of the county.

In {i,ddition to his farm, Mr. Pengelly is finan-

cially iitprested in a number of enterprises in this

village. He is a director and stockholder in the

Irondequoit Coal & Supply Company, having been
interested therein since its organization, and he
is likewise a stockholder in the Eochester & Lake
Ontario Water Company.

Since coming to the new world, Mr. Pengelly
has made two trips to his native land and it was
on his first trip to this country that he formed
the acquaintance of the lady whom he afterward
made his wife. She bore the maiden name of
Susan Warren and was a native of Devonshire.
Their marriage occurred in Eochester, in 1882.

Mr. Pengelly has been a life-long republican
and is a charter member of Irondequoit Grange,
No. 849, and for the past three years has acted
as master of the organization. He is a member
of the Grace Methodist Episcopal church at
Eochester. Coming to the new world as a young
man, empty-handed, his life has been one of con-
tinuous activity, in which has been accorded due
recognition of labor, and today he is numoered
among the progressive and substantial citizens of

his adopted country.

JOHN N. BECKLEY.

John N. Beckley, considered to be one of the

ablest lawyers of Eochester, and not unknown in

business circles, where the spirit of initiation and
organization as well as of execution is demanded,
was born in Clarendon, New Orleans county. New
York, on the 30th of December, 1848. His edu-

cation was acquired in the Brockport Normal Col-

legiate School and in the Genesee Wesleyan Semi-

nary at Lima, New York, prior to entering the

Genesee College, where he completed the work of

the freshman and sophomore classes. He entered

business life as a teacher, being principal of the

public schools at Lanesboro and Eushford, Minne-
sota, where he remained for two years. He then

decided to enter the legal profession and began to

prepare for the bar under the direction of Wake-
man & Waters, of Batavia, New York. He was

then admitted to the bar in Buffalo in 1875, and

practiced for two .years in Batavia, after which,

in 1877, he came to Eochester, where he has since

remained. He was city attorney for two ternis

and part of the third term, but in 1886, ere the

close of his third term, he resigned in order to de-

vote his undivided attention to his private law

practice and other business affairs. It was in

that year that he became a member of the law

.firm of Bacon, Briggs & Beckley. The volume

and importance of the legal business entrusted to

him is the best evidence of his ability and of his

devotion to his clients' interests. The consensus

of public opinion regarding his law work is most

favorable, and while he makes the practice of law

his chief interest in the business world, he has for

some time past been interested in suburban trolley

lines and is now president of the Toronto, Hamil-

ton & Buffalo Eailway. He is likewise president
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of the Pneuniantic Signal Company of ]{ocliestei'

and is one of the promoters of tlie new Seneca

Hotel. In these- connections he displays keen dis-

cernment and foresiglit, the habit of analysis which
lie has acquired in, connection witli liis law prac-

tice leading him to look carefully into any busi-

ness situation and to determine with accuracy its

possibilities for successful accomplishment.
Mr. Beckley was married to Miss Belle Corwin,

a daughter of Stephen M. Corwin, of Brighton,

New, York, and to them were born two children

but they lost one son, Herbert B. The surviving

son, "Walter B., is now , superintendent of tlie

Beckley building.

In his political views John N. Beckley is a re-

publican and socially he is connected with the

Genesee Valley Club and the Rochester and Whist
Clubs. He is also a member of Christ (Episco-
pal) church. He is a most congenial and com-
panionable gentleman—qualitiee which win him
warm friendships and his strong determination has
formed the basis of his success, so that he stands
today as one of the most distinguished lawyers and
business men of the western part of the state.

JOHN HAAG.

John Haag is filling the position of postmaster
at Lincoln Park, where he is also conducting mer-
cantile interests. One of Monroe county's native
sons, he was born in Gates township on the 24th
of October, 1863. His entire life has been passed
in this township and in Rochester. He lost his

mother when but five years of age. His fatiier,

Frank Haag, was a native of Germany and after

coming to America reared a family of eight chil-

dren, of whom John Haag was the seventh in order
of birth. In his boyhood days he attended the
public schools until 1879, when at the age of sev-

enteen years he started out in.life on his own ac-

count, beginning work on what is now tlie Buf-
falo, Rochester & Pittsburg Railroad. He followed
railroading for twelve years or until he lost nis
right arm in the service. He then started his
present business, selling groceries and liquors, and
has since continued in this line, receiving a good
patronage. On the 23d of September, 1889, he
was also appointed postmaster of Lincoln Park
and has acted in that capacity continuously since,

giving entire satisfaction in the able Avay in wliich
he discharges the duties of the office. He owns
the building in which he carries on business and
is also the owner of the Johnston Hotel at Lincoln
Park on the Buffalo road, which he erected in
1904. He has made good use of his opportunities
in a business way and as the years have gone by
has met with a fair measure of success.

In the year 1884 Mr. Haag was married to Miss

Emma K. Watson, a native of New York, ana

unto them have been born five children: Mar-
garet, John L., Agnes, Helen and Madeline. Hav-
ing spent his entire life in tliis locality, Mr. Haag
is well known and is recognized as a man of genu-

ine personal worth, who owes his business ad-

vancement entirely to his own labors.

JOHN MARTIN.

John Martin, an enterprising farmer of the

town of Hamlin, is the owner of ninety acres of

productive land and in addition to its cultivation

and the raising of fruit he is an extensive buyer
and shipper of fruit, cabbage and other vegetables.

Mr. Martin is a native of Monroe county, bom
March 22, 1865, and is of Irish lineage. His
parents, Michael and Bridget (Ward) Martin,

were natives of Ireland, born in 1817 and in 1821
respectively. They were married in the land of

their birth in 1847 and two years later crossed the

Atlantic to the new world. They settled first in

Boston, where Mr. Martin worked as a laborer,

and on leaving the Hub removed to Whitehall,

Now York. Later tlioy became residents of Brock-
jwrt and eventually took up tlieir abode upon the
farm which is now occupied by the subject of this

review. Here they located in the year 1857 and
the place has since been in possession of the fam-
ily. Unto the father and mother were born six

children, only one, however, being a native of

Ireland.

Jolin Martin continued his education, after

attending Hie common schools, in Brockport Nor-
mal Scliool and his wife was also a student in that
institution. It was on the 4th of March, 1886,
that he was Joined in wedlock to Miss Katharine
Dunevan, who was born July 12, 1864. Mr.
Martin brought his bride to the old homestead
farm and here three children Avere born unto
them: Ethel, on the 26th of October, 1894; Wil-
liam, April 25, 1898; and James, August 17,
1900.

In tlifl control of his business interests Mr.
Martin, shows keen discernment as well as un-
faltering diligence and his farm of ninety acres is

now a valuable property, of which ten acres is

devoted to the raising of apples and peaches. He
also produces various crops in his fields and ii:i

a(hlil,ion to his farm work ho is busily engaged in
bu)'ing and shipping fruit, cabbage and other
vegetables. He ships about twenty thousand bar-
rels of apples yearly and thus his business has
reached extensive proportions, while in its control
he displays a spirit of progress and practicability
that constitutes a safe basis on which to build
success.
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Mr. Martin is now serving as supervisor of the
town of Hamlin, being elected on the democratic
ticket in a town which usually gives a republican
majority of about four hundred and fifty. His
opponent for the office had twice been elected to
the positian by large majorities but Mr. Martin
put up a strenuous fight and won. Fraternally he
is connected with the Elks lodge, while of the

Catholic church he is a communicant.

AETHUE G. YATES.

There are found many men whose industry has
won them success—men who by their persever-

ance and diligence execute well defined plans
which others have made—but the men who take
the initiative are comparatively few. The vast

majority do not see opportunil^ for the co-ordi-

nation of forces and the development of new, ex-

tensive and profitable enterprises and therefore

must follow along paths which others have
marked out. Arthur G. Yates, however, does not
belong to tlie designated class. The initiative

spirit is strong within him. He has realized the

possibility for the combination of forces and has
wrought along the line of mammoth undertakings
until the name of Yates stands, in large measure,
for the coal trade. He is one of the leading oper-

ators in this great field of labor and well deserves

,
to be ranked among the captains of industry.

His life record covers the period from the 18th
of December, 1843. The place of his nativity is

East Waverly, then Factoryville, New York, and
he is a representative of a dsitinguished English

family. His grandfather, Dr. William Yates, was
born at Sapperton, near Burton-on-Trent, Eng-
land, in 1767, and studied for the medical profes-

sion, but never engaged in practice. Being the

eldest son in his father's family, he inherited the

estate and the title of baronet. Throughout his life

he was distinguished as a philanthropist. He was a

cousin of Sir John Howard, the philanthropist,

and Sir Eobert Peel, the statesman, and was him-
self one of the most noted benefactors in England
at that time. At his own expense he built and con-

ducted an asylum for paupers and for the treat-

ment of the insane at Burton-on-Trent. In 1793
he crossed the Atlantic to Philadelphia and was
the first to introduce vaccination in this country

—

a work to which he devoted much time and money.
In 1800 he returned to England, but soon after-

ward again came to America and from Philadel-

phia, in company with Judge Cooper and Judge
Franchot and General Morris, he ascended the

Susquehanna river to Unadilla, Butternut creek

valley. On that trip he met Hannah Palmer,
the daughter of a prominent settler, and
after the marriage of the young couple they

returned to England, spending two years
in his native land. Having disposed of his
estate, Sapperton, to his brother Harry, Dr. Yates
came once more to the United States and pur-
chased a large estate at Butternuts, now the town
of Morris, Otsego county. New York, where he
spent his remaining days, his death occurring
when he was in his ninetieth year. He was wide-
ly respected and esteemed. He spent a large for-
tune in carrying out his benevolent ideas and many
there were who had reason to remember him with
gratitude foi- his timely assistance. He possessed
the broadest humanitarian views and his kindly
sympathy was manifest in a most generous, but
unostentatious, charity.

Judge Arthur Yates, his eldest son, was born
at Butternuts, now Morris, New York, February 7,

1807, acquired a common school education and in
1833 located at Factoryville, New York, where he
engaged in merchandising and lumbering, exten-
sively carrying on business along those lines for
thirty years. He was an active and enterprising
citizen and did much to upbuild the beautiful vil-

lage in which he made his home. In 1838 he was
appointed judge of Tioga county. New York. He
was prominent in financial circles, where his word
was recognized as good as his bond. With bank-
ing and other business interests in Waverly he was
actively connected, and was also prominent and in-

fluential in social, educational and church circles.

His life was very helpful to those with whom he
came in contact, and he enjoyed the unqualified

regard of all. In January, 1836, Judge Yates was
united in marriage to Miss Jerusha Washburn, a

'

daughter of Jeba Washburn, of Otsego county.

New York, and they became the parents of seven

children. The Judge died in 1880, but the influ-

ence of his life and labors is yet felt for good in

the community in which he made his home, and
where the circle of his friends was almost co-ex-

tensive with the circle of his acquaintances.

On the maternal side the ancestry of our sub-

ject can be traced back to Henry Glover, of Ips-

wich, England, who in 1634 emigrated to New
Haven, Connecticut. The fourth of his six chil-

dren was John Glover, who removed to Stratford,

Connecticut. His son John removed from Strat-

ford to Newtown, Connecticut. His third child

was Benjamin Glover and it was through the lat-

ter's daughter Mabel that the line of descent is

traced down to our subject. She became the wife

of Dr. Nathan Washburn, of Newtown, Connecti-

cut, and their son, Zenas Washburn, became a resi-

dent of Otsego county. New York. He married

Nancy Northrup, the grandmother of our subject,

their daughter Jerusha becoming the wife of Ar-

thur Yates, of Factoryville, New York.

Arthur G. Yates, the fourth member of the fam-

ily of Judge Yates, after acquiring a good educa-

tion in his native town and as a student in various
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Hcademies entered upon Inisiness life in Rochester

in March, 1805, us an employe of the Anthracite

Coal Association. He brouglit to the duties of the

new position unfaltering energy, laudable ambi-

tion and a detcnnination to thoroughly' acquaint

himself Avith the trade in principle and detail. He
remained with that company for two years and

laid the foundation upon which he has built the

superstructure of his present success. He began

dealing in coal on his own account, constantly en-

larging the scope of his activity until he is today

one of the foremost representatives of the coal

trade of the country. Gradually he has developed

the business until his shipments have extended far

and wide into northern and western states and

into Canada. He has built immense shipping

docks at Charlotte, the port of Rochester, and has

purchased a leading lailway in order to place the

fuel upon the market. At' an early period in his

business career he became a member of tlie firm

of Bell, Lewis & Yates, which was organized for

the purpose of mining and shipping bituminous

coal from Pennsylvania. Marked success attended

the enterprise from the start, the firm becoming

the largest producer of its class in the United

States. As the sliipmontg of the firm were largely

over the Bulfalo, Rocliestcr & Pittshurg Pailroad

Mr. Yates conceived and executed the plan of pur-

chasing the line. Later he retired from the firm

ind while carrying on business individually at

l^ochester he became interested in. the Rochester &
Pittsburg Coal & Iron Company, which had been

formed by certain stockholders of the Buffalo,

.Rochester & Pittsburg Railroad Company. It was

not long after this that Mr. Yates, associated with

New Yorlv financiers, bought out the business of

the firm of Bell, Lewis & Yates, thus greatly in-

creasing his individual holdings. Since that time

the combined business of the two firms above men-

tioned, together with the railroad afl'airs, have been

managed by Mr. Yates with marked success.

At different times Mr. Yates has been identified

with various corporate interests aside from those

mentioned. TTo has served as director or in other

official capacities in connection witli various hank-

ing institutions of Rochester and was at one time

president of the Rochester Railway Company.
Since April, 1890, ho has been president of the

Buffalo, Rochester & Pittsburg Railroad. Many
business concerns of the city have profited by his

financial investment, his wise counsel and his

sound judgment, hut more and more largely he has

withdrawn from other lines to concentrate his en-

ergies upon his mammoth coal business and his

railroad interests. All affairs have been systema-

tized until the maximum results are reached with

minimum expense of time and labor. This is the

real secret of success in any business—a fact which

Mr. Yates thoroughly realized and toward which

end he has constantly worked. His success is so

marvelous that his methods are of interest to the

commercial world ami investigation into his career

shows that his actions have ever been baaed upon
tlic lules Avhich govern unfaltering industry and

unswerving integrity. Moreover, he has had the

power to bring into harmonious relations various

factors in business life, co-ordinating plans and

forces in the development of enterprises of great

magnitude.

On the 2«th of December, 1867, Arthur G.

Yates was married to Miss Virginia L. Holden,

a daughler of Poswell Holden, of Watkins, New
York. 'J^heir family numbered five sons and a

daughter, but Arthur and Howard L., the fourth

and fifth members of the family, are deceased.

Those living are Frederick ^Y., Harry, Florence

and Russell P. Their attractive home on South
Fitzhugh street is justly celebrated for its gracious

and cliarming hospitality.

The family are communicants of St. Paul's

Episcopal church, of which Mr. Yates is the oldest

warden, having filled the position for more than
three decades. At one time he was a trustee of

Rochester University and he is a valued member of

various social organizations, including the Genesee

Valley Club, the Ellioott Square Olub of Buffalo,

the Duqucsue Club of Pittsburg, the Transporta-
tion Club of Now York and the City Mid Day Club
of Now York city. He is a man of kindly
spirit, of generous disposition and of broad
humanitarianism. The accumulation of wealth
has never been allowed to affect his rela-

tions toward others less fortunate. While he has
never courted popularity he holds friendship in-

violable, and as true worth may always win his re-

gard he has a very extensive circle of friends. The
public worlv that he has done has been performed
as a private citizen, yet has made extensive de-

mands upon his time, his tliought and energies.

His aid is never sought in vain for the betterment
and improvement of the city. In his life are the

elements of greatness because of the use he has
made of his talents and his opportunities, his

thoughts being given to the mastery of great prob-
lems ami the fulfillment of his duty as a man in
his relations to his fellowmen and as a citizen in
his relations to his state and his country.

01<10RGE IT. ELLAVANGER.

George IT. Ellwanger, author and scientist, was
k»own in Rochester as secretary of the Ellwanger
& Barry Nursery Company, but his reputation ex-

tended throughout America and many foreign

countries in connection with his authorship. His
life work was' of the utmost value to his fellowmen
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in Umt coinicclioii and ]ns wfilings yet iiiul ready
sale.

Georjjfo 11. lOllwaiiKer was a native oC Koclics-

ter, born July 10, lS-18, being the eldest son of

the veteran liorticulturist, George Ellwanger. Un-
doubtedly natural predilection, inherited tendency

and early environment as well as particular talent

and interest in that direction led to his selection

of a life work. His proliminary education was con-

tinued under private tutorship during a live years'

sojourn in Europe and he also studied at the Uni-

versity of Heidellierg and the Sarbonne in Paris.

Always deeply interested in the study of horticul-

ture and floriculture, his investigations were car-

ried far and wide into the realms of scientific re-

search, while bis experiments brought him the

practical knowledge that materialized in a thou-

sand beautiful forms in his gardens. The charac-

ter of his business is indicated by the fact that he

was for a number of ycais secretary of the Ell-

wanger & Barry Nursery Company. At one time

he Avas editor of the Rochester Post Express. Aside

from this, however, much time, thought and at-

tention was given to his writings and be was a fre-

(piont and valued coidriiiiilor io various borticul-

lural papers of l']iirope and of America. lie wrote

iargelv for tlio Garden and for In Flora and Rylva,

two English publications. He is the autlior of

The Garden's Storv, or Pleasures and Trials of an

Amateur Gardener (1889); The Story of My
Eouse (1891) ; In Gold and Silver (1893) ; Idyl-

lists of the Country-Side (1896) ; Meditations on

Gout, with a Consideration of Its Cure Through
Ihe Use of Wine (1898) ; Editor of The Rose by

H. B. Ellwanger, revised edition (1893) ; Love's

Demesne, A Garland of Contemporary Love

Poems (1896), two volumes; Tlie Pleasures of The
Table, An Account of Gastronomy Erom Ancient

Days to Present Times, With a History of Its Tjit-

erature. Schools and Most Distinguished Artists

( 1902) . At ihe time of his demise he was working

on the second revision ot The Rose. 'I'be Garden

story brought as high as eighteen dollars per vol-

ume in England and is to be republished.

Mr. Ellwanger liad the largest collection of tea

roses in America, possessing over four hundred va-

rieties and was regarded as the great American

authority on tlic standard rose. He was an hon-

orary UKMubcr of llie National Rose Socieiy of Eng-

land, a member of Ibe Authors Club of New York
and of the Pundit Club of Rochester, the oldest

I'terary club of America. The degree of Master

cf Arts was conferred iipon him by the University

of Rochester.

• On the 13th of November, 1874, Mr. Ellwanger

was married to Miss Harriett Stillson, who was
l)orn in East avenue, Rochester, a daughter of

h'ev. Jerome B. and Harriett (Lawton) Stillson,

who were natives of the Empire state. Her father

was a son of Eli Stillson, a prominent pioneer of

Rochester, who renuived from Connecticut to Sci-

I'io, New York, in 1802, and came to Rochester
in 1817. H!c was a civil engineer and assisted in

the survey of the Erie canal. His son. Rev. Je-
rome B. Stillson, was born in Scipio, New York,
in 1812, and was brought to Rochester by his par-

ents when five years of age. He began teaching
school at the age of eighteen, both studied and
laugjit in the high school and Jifterward attended
Yale University, where he took up the study of

civil engineering. He assisted in the survey of

the western division of the Erie canal for its en-

largement in 1834-5 and he was awarded many
contracts for railroad construction in New England
and New York. He afterward went to Chicago,

where he had a contract for the erection of the

government buildings there from 1851 until 1860.

After the outbreak of the Civil war he went to the

fiont with the Young Men's Christian Association

boys and following the close of hostilities he was
engaged in the real-estate business in Chicago for

some years. Ijater, returning to Rochester, he

spent his remaining days in this city, where he

died July 2, 1903, at the venerable fige of ninety-

two years. l<\)llowing the war ho was ordained as

ji minister of the ]*lpiacopal church and was the

founder of St. Peter's church of this city.

Unto Mr. and Mrs. Ellwanger were born three

children: Florence Cornelia, the wife of Boyd

AVatson, an attorney of Pittsburg, Pennsylvania;

Laura Brooks, the wife of Alexander Otis, ad at-

torney of Rochester, and Julia" Stillson, who is at-

tending Mrs. Dow's school at Briar Cliff Manor,

New York. The family circle was broken by the

death of the husband and father April 23, 1906.

His death caused a distinct loss to the world. His

life may well be termed a successful one because

of the fact that he contributed to tlie world's prog-

ress in scientific lines and to its pleasures derived

from literary sources. He stood as a man among

men, honored wherever known and most of all

where best known.

JAMES HENRY WILD.

James ITeniy AVild, now deceased, was well

known in noclicster for a long iicriod because of

the annual visits which he paid to the city. In-

deed he was a merchant here in early manhood

and later be never failed to come to Rochester at

least once a year, maintaining his friendship. with

manv of its leading residents. He was born in

Stockport, Now York, on the 9th of November,

1 815. James AVild, h is father, was a manufacturer

of cotton cloth and continued in that business

throughout his entire life. He married Miss Jane
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Henry, and while they spent the winter months

in New York city, they maintained a summer

home at Stockport.

In early life James Henry Wild became a factor

in the business circles of Rochester,, being one of

the first general merchants in this city. He con-

ducted a store here at a time when Rochester was

a town of little commercial or industrial import-

ance and his labors contributed to its business

growth. He left here, however, in the '30b, going

to New York, but he spent a part of each year here

throughout his remaining days. He was very fond

of fishing and hunting and indulged his love of

those sports in the northern woods.

In 1842 Mr. "Wild was united in marriage to

Miss Ellen Medbury in Rochester and unto them

were born five children : Anna E. M. and Joseph

Medbury, and three who died in infancy.

Mr. Wild was deeply interested in political

questions and upon the organization of the repub-

lican party became one of its stalwart advocates.

He did all in his power to promote its growth and

insure the adoption of its principles and hie labors

in its behalf were effective and far-reaching. For

several years he was in the government employ in

New York. He took an active interest in public

affairs and served as senator for one term. He
attained to the very venerable age of ninety-two

.years, passing away on the 8th of Januaiy, 1907.

Throughout his entire life he had lived in the

Empire state and was closely associated with its

interests of a business and public nature. He pos-

sessed the genial disposition and kindly spirit of

the old school gentleman, nor was he without that

human interest in his fellowmen which promotes

friendships and awakens regard.

cated at the Clover Street Seminary. She was a

niece of General Riley and daughter of Justin

Riley, of Brighton. One of her sisters, May Riley

Smith, is a well known writer and lecturer in New
York city, and .another sister is Mrs. General

Fitzsimmons of Chicago. To Mr. and Mre. Cor-

win was born one daughter, Mrs. J. M. Beckley,

who resides in this city.

Politically Mr. Corwin was a stanch republican

and was ever ready to aid his pai-ty during its

campaigns. His was an earnest and consistent

Christian life and wo are glad to mark our appre-

ciation of such a man—a man true in every rela-

tion of life, faithful to every trust and seeking

always the public good.

M. S. CORWIN.

,M. S. Corwin, born in Connecticut in 1817,

passed away in Rochester in November, 1904. His
mother bore the maiden name of Moore. He re-

ceived his education in the public schools, spend-

ing his vacation time in agricultural pursuits. In
1844 he removed to Rochester, where he purchased

the old Bloss farm and carried on general farming

for forty years. He added many improvements

to this land and erected a number of buildings.

The place was always well kept and held out cor-

dial hospitality to the many friends who visited

there. Mr. Corwin later rented his farm and

moved to this city, where he spent his remaining

years. The farm was sold to Brown Brothers, who
have there established their large office and nursery

business.

The wife of our subject was Miss Sarah A.

Eiley, bom on Blossom street in Brighton and edu-

ISAAC J. FISHER.

Isaac J. Fisher, president and treasurer of the

I. J. Fisher Furniture Company, which business

he established fifteen years ago in Rochester, was

born in Williamson, Wayne county. New York,

June 11, 1862. His parents, Isaac and Martina

(Hamlink) Fisher, were both natives of Holland.

The father came to the United States at the age

of eighteen years and for a long period devoted

his time and energies to farming in Wayne county.

He is still living at the age of eighty-two years

but his wife passed away sixteen years ago when
sixty-two years of age. They were the parents of

eleven children, of whom nine still survive.

At the usual age Isaac J. Fisher became a stu-

dent in the piiblic schools of his native town and

passed through consecutive grades until he entered

tlie high school. Ills edxication completed, he re-

mained a resident of Wayne county until about

twenty-five years of age, when in 1887 he came to

Rochester and entered the employ of the Rochester

Furniture Company, with which he continued

until he established business on his own account

fifteen years ago. He was the organizer and pro-

moter of the I. J. Fisher Furniture Company, in-

corporated, of which he is the president and treas-

urer. The business is one of the substantial fac-

tors in the manufacturing circles of Rochester and
from the beginning the enterprise has been at-

tended with constantly growing success, attribut-

able to the careful management and business dis-

cernment of the president and his close study of

the market and the public needs.

In March, 1893, Isaac J. Fisher was married

to Miss Sara Gosnell, a daughter of James Gos-

nell, of Rochester, and they have five children.

Mr. Fisher belongs to the Rochester and to the

Masonic Clubs. He is prominent in Masonry,

holding membership with Genesee Falls lodge. No.

507, F. & A. M., while in the Scottish Rite he has

attained the thirty-second degree. He is also a
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iiicmlior of JDniiiiiSfus 'J'ciuple ol tlie Mystic
Slirino. His inlovcsis arc tliopc of a pui)]ic-

spifilcd dlizc'ii ami pmgrossivc biisiiirss man, wlio

watches the trend of the times in regard to public

jivogress and endorses majiy measures that liave

for their basis the welfare and upbuilding of the

conimunity as well as the promotion of national

pvogrcps. Aside from his business alfairs in

IJoqlioslcr he is interested in mining anil other

eonitncrcial enterprises.

MAJOE JOSEPH P. CLEAEY.

Major Joseph P. Cleary, who has departed this

life, was born in Limerick, Ireland, on the 11th

of March^ 1844, and carae to Eochester alone in

1857 when a yoiith of but thirteen years. He had

a brother, M. F. Cleary, who arrived here before

him and was a nurseryman in Gi'eece, New York.
Major Cleary remained with his brother for some
lime and ai'torwai'd went lo Ciiiengo, wlicrc lie

remained unlil 18(!0, when he I'ctnrned to Eoehes-

(or and again became conncclcd willi horticultural

pursuits and the niirscry business, being in the

employ of C. J. Mills. In 18G1 lie was in the

employ of E. Stone as a farm hand and at the

same time was attending night school at Hopper's

Hill. When the call for troops was made, however,

his patriotic spirit was aroused within him and
ho offered his aid to the government, enlisting as

a member of Company E, Thirteenth Eeglment
New York Volunteers, on the 35th of April. He
was in the battles of Jilackburn's Ford, first Bull

Eun, the siege of Yorktown, Hanover Courthouse,

Mechanicsville, Gaines Mills and the second battle

of Bull Eun. He was taken prisoner at Gaines

Mills but was exchanged on the 6th of August,

18G2, and rejoined his regiment. On the 30th of

August following he was wounded and again taken

prisoner but on the 12th of December was ex-

changed and joined his regiment at the battle of

Fredericksburg. That command was mustered out

in Mav, 18G3, and on the 29th of June Mr. Cleary

re-enlisted as orderly sergeant in the Fourteenth

Now York Heavy y\rtillery. He was ])romotod in

a short time and as first liculemnit took pai't in ihe

battles of Cold Harbor, Spottsylvania, North Anna
Elver, Petersburg, Wcldon Eailroad and Pegram's
Fai-m, where he was promoted to a captaincy, while

for gallant conduct displayed in the attack on

Fort Steadman he was larevetted major. At the

close of the war he was mustered out as major and
brevet lieutenant-colonel.

When the war was over Mr. Cloary returned to

l^chestei", and soon afterward went back to Ire-

land upon a visit to his people and his native land.

When he again came to this city he joined the

Eochester police force, being appointed a patrol-
man and ho served successively as detective, lieu-
tenant, assistant captain, captain and superinten-
dent, acting as chief of police for twenty years.
He drilled the force for seventeen years and had a
most thoroughly organized ancL efficient police
force. In this connection he did splendid service
for the city, laboring untiringly to hold the law-
loss olenicut in subjection and to render life and
property sale. Jle continued in the position until
the 1st of March, 1905, when he retired and his
death occurred very soon afterwara, for he passed
away on the 25th of April, 1905.

Major Clearv was equally well known in politi-
cal, social and fraternal circles. He was a repub-
lican in politics and at all times stood loyally by
the party which was the defender of the Union in
the dark days of the Civil war. He- was a mem-
ber of the Young Men's Club of St. Luke's church
an also a member of the Genesee Valley lodge and
other societies. He belonged to the Independent
Order of Odd Fellows, to the Knights of Pythias
and to Valley lodge, No.> 109, A. F. & A. M., while
ill the Scottish ]!ite ho. attained the thirty-Hccond
degree. lie was also very prominent in military
circles and rose to high rank in the Grand Army
of the Eepublic. He became a member of
O'Eourke post, G. A. E., in 1868, and was the first

commander of E. G. Marshall post. After receiv-
ing all the minor honors he was unanimously
elected at Syracuse, in February, 1893, to be de-
partment commander of the Grand Army of the
Eepublic of this state. He was for six years presi-
dent of the Western New York Veterans' Associa-
tion and was a member of the Monroe County
Union Bx-])riponera of War Association.

On the 17th of September, 1873, Mr. Cleary
was united in marriage to Miss Anna Patterson,
who was born on Spring street in Eochester and is

a daughter of Eichard Patterson, who came to this

county in an early day from Bantray, Ireland,

where he was born. He had charge of the men
Avho quarried the stone for the old aqueduct here.

Mrs. Cleary has a niece, Mary A. Wolcott, who is

living with her. For many years Mrs. Cleary has
been one of the managers of the Oxfords Home
and she was department president of the Women's
Eelicf Corps for many years. She is very active

in many lines of charitable and benevolent work
and is ever ready to do a good deed or speak a

kind word as opportunity offers. She has been one

of the members of the board of the Andersonville

Prison Society, which is now engaged in the laud-

able purpose of making a beautiful park, and she

is a member of St. Luke's church. In 1874 Major
Cleary purchased land at No. 26 Caledonia avenue

and soon afterward built the homo which ho occu-

pied until his death and which is still his wife's

place of residence. Their only child, Harriett,

died in infancy, and Major Cleary was one of the
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best known men of the city and a splendid repre-

sentative of its official service, giving an adminis-

tration in the police department which was most
commendable, winning him uniform commenda-
tion and approval.

LEVI G. AUTEN.

Levi G. Auten, having for fifty-five years re-

sided upon the farm which is still his home, ia

devoting his time and energies to general agricul-

tural pursuits and in addition raises considerable

fruit and is engaged in bee culture in the town of

Chili not far from Scottsville. He has long since

passed the psalmist's allotted span of three score

years and ten, for his birth occurred on the 8th

of June, 1830, but he is still a factor in the active

afEairs of life, giving personal supervision to the

work that is daily carried forward on his farm. A
native of the locality in which he still resides, his

parents were James V. and Phoebe (Giles) Auten,

the former a native of New Jersey and the latter of

Seneca county, New York. In ISl? the father

came to Monroe county, settling in Chili township,

not far from the present home farm of his son

Levi. He was bom in I'J'DS and his wife in 1802.

His father was Paul Auten, who also came to Mon-
roe county in 1817 and purchased sixty-four acres

of land, to which he afterward added. James V.
Auten continued a resident of Monroe county for

sixty years and Avas here married to Plioebe Giles,

on the 14th of August, 1838. He then took up his

abode upon the farm wliere occurred the birth of

his son Levi, and at various times lived in diflierent

places in the town of Chili. He died, however, in

the house now occupied by our subject, being called

to his final rest June 15, 1877, having for two
months survived his wife, who passed away on the

3d of April of that year. His early political alle-

giance was given to the whig party, while later he
supported the Know Nothings and afterward be-

came a democrat. His last vote, however, was cast

for the candidates of the republican party. His
change in political allegiance was indicative of the

character of the man, who always faithfully upheld
his honest convictions, nor was he afraid to change
his mind when he became convinced that it was
the wiser course. Both he and his wife were de-

voted members of the Presbyterian church. He
was a true Christian man and a great Bible stu-

dent, being possibly the best posted man on biblical

history in his section of the county. His religion

was a part of his everyday life and at all times he
attempted to follow closely the Golden Eule. The
family numbered six children, of whom four are
yet living: Levi G.; Abram S., a resident of

Michigan ; John G., of the same state ; and William
G., of Eochester.

In the common schools Levi G. Auten acquired
his education and at the age of eighteen started out
upon an independent business venture. He had,
however, been hired out by his father from the age
of nine years, when he began working at three

dollars per month. Gradually his wages were in-

creased as his age and strength permitted him to

perform more and more labor and to assume
greater responsibilities. Ambitious to own prop-

erty, ho cnrofnlly saved his earnings and in 1856
he and liis wife came into possession of thirty-eight

acres where he now lives. He has since resided

upon this farm and has brought it under a high
state of improvement and development. He car-

ries on general farming, raises considerable fruit

and is quite extensively engaged in bee culture,

having a large apiary which produces much honey
annually. His fann ia pleasantly located twelve
miles from Eochester and two and a half miles
north of Scottsville.

In 1853 Mr. Auten was married to Miss Eliza-

beth Shefler, a daughter of Levi and Aravilla
(Austin) Sheifer. The father was born on what
is known as the Sheffer tract April 16, 1802, and
was a eon of Peter Sheffer, who came to Monroe
county from Pennsylvania, casting in his lot with
the pioneer settlers of this county. Unto Mr. and
Mrs. Auten was bom a daughter, Ellen P., whose
birth occurred April 2, 1856, but who died October
19, 1870. Since 1878 Lillian M. Sheffer has been
a member ot the household and still resides with
Mr. Auten, who otherwise would be alone, his wife
liaving died on the 17th of February, 190G, after

they had traveled life's journey together for more
tlian fifty years in a close and pleasant companion-
ship which indicated their congeniality of taste and
temperament.

In his political views Mr. Auten was originally

a whig and upon the dissolution of that party be-
came a stalwart republican. He served as con-
stable for nine years, for a short time was deputy
sheriff, for two years was game constable and was
overseer of the poor for twenty years. He has
always taken an active interest in educational work
and the system of public instruction has found in

him a stalwart champion. For thirty years he has
lieen a loyal member of the Odd Fellows society,

for a similar period has been connected with the
Grange and for two decades has been a member of

a temperance society, which indicates his views
upon the temperance question. Mr. Auten is a
very active man for seventy-eight years, has a won-
derful memory and is most entertaining in his re-

miniscences of the experiences and events of the
early days. In whatever relation of life he has
been found and in whatever locality Icnown, he
has won and merited the full respect of all with
whom he lias come in contact. He is today a
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representative, in both the paternal and maternal
lines, of very old families of the connty and his

record is one which reflects credit upon an honored
ancestry, while in his active business interests he
is carrying forward the work which was instituted

by his grandfather and continued by his father.

ISAAC A. BAUM.

Isaac A. Baum is president of the Ideal Couch
& Casket CompaJiy, at No. 130 Mill street, Roches-
ter. He was born in Hartford, Connecticut, in

1853, and was there reared. lie came to this city

in 1874 when a young man of twenty-two years.

He had no acquaintances here but depended upon
his worth, as manifested in close application and
untiring diligence, in securing a position. He be-

came bookkeeper and cashier for Paine, Berry &
Company, of Now York, in the '60s, which was liia

introduction inio business life. He was quite n

young lad at this time. Ho remained with the

firm for six years, a fact which is indicative of his

faithfulness and earnest labor. Gradually he
worked his way upward and this gave him courage

to start in business in Rochester. After he re-

moved to this city, he was employed as representa-

tive for several importers and manufacturers
selling goods to the dry-goods and clothing trade.

He had an office with James McDonel & Company
and later with Stein, Adler & Company. In 1883
he bought out Samuel Stein and engaged in busi-

ness with his two sons as manufacturers of caskets.

He was treasurer of the company for eight years,

on the expiration of which period he formed the

National Casket Company to which the firm sold

out. He went to Albany, New York, and secured

the incorporation of the National Couch & Casket

Company. Soon afterward he went to Eur-^-pe

where he remained for one year, after which he

returned and became connected with the Ideal

Couch & Casket Company, purchasing fifty per

cent of the stock. He remained in that business

connection until May, 1906, when he sold out but

again started into tlie business on the first of

December following. He has built up the business

from a small beginning and has made the enter-

prise licrc a very successful one. He is still a

stockholder in the National Casket Company. He
is a man of great business ability who forms plans

readily and is determined in their execution. He
seems to realize the, obstacles and disadvantages

as well as the opportunities and the possibilities

and thus to value correctly the chances of suc-

cess.

Mr. Baum was married in 1879 to Miss Mollie

Wile, of Rochester, who was born and reared heri?

and is a representative of an old pioneer family of

this city. Mr. Baum purchased a lot of Williajn

Webb and in 1890 erected a beautiful home on
East avenue. He is a republican in politics and is

a member of the Rochester Club and of the

Eureka Club and is a prominent Mason. He was
one of the trustees of the temple during and after

the time of its construction and was one of the
olficers at the time of the building of the Eureka
Club and was an officer of the Phoenix Club dur-

for the way he has advanced, for he started out in

life empty-handed at an early age. He worked
untiringly and persistently, giving practical dem-
onstration of his worth, and as the years have
passed by he has gradually advanced until he has
long since left the ranks of the many and stands

among the successful few.

G. E. PILLINGHAM.

AVliile the race is not always to the swift nor
ilic battle to the strong, the invariable law of

destiny accords to the tireless, energetic individual

a successful career. The truth of this is happily

verified in the life of G. E. Eillingham, . born in

Oakland county, Michigan, in 1853. His father

was Edward Eillingham, a well known farmer of

Michigan. His son, who is the subject of thi

sketch, was educated in the district schools spend-

ing his summer months working in tlie fields on

liis father's farm. But he was not much attracted

by agricultural pursuits and one summer began
learning the carpenter's trade which proved so

attractive to him that he has since followed it

continually. He came to Union Hill, New York,
in 1874 and in 1876 to Webster, where he learned

still more in his chosen occupation. He has built

up an extensive business, doing work in Roches-

ter, Irondequoit and Brighton, where he has just

completed a large dairy plant. He built both the

store and house belonging to F. M. Jonea, the

handsome home of A. J. Pratt and homes of E.

^Y. Bancroft and Mr. Merz. He is proficient in

all varieties of the building contract work and
employs at present some twenty men.

In AVebster, in December, 1874, occurred the

marriage of our subject to Mary C. Langdon, the

daughter of Perry Langdon who came here in the

early days and settled on a farm. Five children

have been born to this union, four boys and one

girl. Fred L., who married a daughter of George

Stratton, lives in Rochester and has two sons;

George Morris; Edmund; Raymond; and Grace,

who is the wife of Charles Wright, of Detroit,

Michigan.

The cause of education has always found in Mr.

Fillingham a warm supporter and he was a mem-
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ber of the soliool board for nine years and one

of the building committee when tlie new school

building was erected. TTo himself built the last

addition. In politics he is a dcinocrat. Uc is a

member of the Baptist chinch and helped to

organize the first lodge of Maccabees in this city.

He was elected the first commander of the same
and served in its various offices since that time.

That he is of value to his community is evidenced

by the fact that he was elected president of the

village of Webster in March, 1906, an office he

filled from the time the town was incorporated.

So many hoys follow mechanically iu their

fathei-'s footsteps that it is refreshing to find one

who strikes out for himself in that for which he is

best fitted. That Mr. Eillingham chose wisely

cannot be doubted for he has spent twenty-five

3'ears successfully working in his chosen trade.

EDMUND LOUIS ALBRIGHT.

Edmund Louis Albright, as president of the Se-

curity Building Company, has been au active

factor in the material improvement and develop-

ment of Rochester. In this connection he has

carried out his projects with such industry that he

is credited with the erection of many buildings

which are an ornament to the city, pleasing to the

eye and constructed with conscientious regard for

real utility and the comfort and health of their

inmates. His work as a contractor met with cor-

dial and general appreciation, as evidenced by the

attractive edifices, and the name of Mr. Albright

is well known in connection with building opera-

tions.

A native of Steuben county, New York, he was
born in 1862, a son of Mathias Albright. In early

life he acquainted himself with the builder's trade

after acquiring a good practical English education,

and has since been connected wilh this great de-

partment of industrial activity. After thoroughly
mastering the business he began contracting and
soon secured a liberal patronage. He made an
excellent reputation for thoroughness and relia-

bility in executing the terms of a contract and
many fine and substantial structures of the city

stand as monuments to his enterprise and indus-
try. This is a period of marked evolution in busi-

ness and Mr. Albright has kept abreast with the
times. Seeing an opportunity for further develop-
ment in building circles, he joined with others in
the organization of the Security Building Com-
pany, which now has its offices at 1005-6 German
Insurance building. Mr. Albright instituted the
movement in 1903 and has been president of the
company from its organization. This is a co-
operative organization securing for its members

first-class homos cheaply, easily and safely by a

monthly payment amounting to no more than the

reasonable rent rate for the property. Under its

carefully worked out sysicm, instead of paying

rent the householder is enabled to nudco regular

installments in purchase of the property while

occupying it, which becomes his own absolutely

without incumbrance in a stated period. The
company builds or buys to suit the individual de-

sire of the contract holder. The company further

promotes home owning by assuming and dis-

charging burdensome mortgages for members,
substituting now terms of indebtedness therefor

that are not burdensome but make it easy for the

mortgager to quickly pay off the incumbrance.

The business has been gi-eatly promoted by the

fact that the officers of the company are men of

broad practical experience in lines of construction

and outfitting buildings. As slated, Mr. Albright,

long well known as a contractor, is president.

The treasurer is John Barnett, who for some years

has been engaged in heating, ventilating and metal
contracting in Rochester. The vice presidents are
Charles Smith, a builder, and Dr. Frederick R.
Smith. James S. Quicke, a real-estate dealer, is

the secretary of the company, with Robert (7.

Ilolden as auditor. Thns the comjiany is officered

by men well known in business circles in the city

and from the beginning the new eiiterprise has
prospered through the co-operation of men well
ti'ained in various avenues of business activity

bearing upon the construction and equipment of
buildings. Mr. Albright has become well known
in commercial circles and his example shows what
intelligence and probity may accomplish in the
way of success in life.

LEVI IIEV

Although horn across the water TiCvi Iley, in

the years of his residence in liochcstcr, became
recognized as a successful and enterprising busi-

ness man of this city. He was born in Yorkshire,
England, in 18;37, acquired his education in that
country and when twenty-one years of age crossed
the Atlantic, for he had heard favorable reports

concerning the opportunities and advantages of

the new world and resolved to iise some of these

poFsibilities for his own betterment. He*arrived
in America in 1858, and for ten years, or until

1868, was engaged in the flour business in Phila-

delphia. Ho then came to Rochester and began
dealing in rags and paper. He followed that busi-

ness for many years and won success, building up
an extensive enterprise. He started alone on Cen-
ter street and later bought property on State

street, where the business is now located. After n
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time he employed George R. Coatcs as bookkeeper

and John Bennett as assistant bookkeeper, with

E. C. Hazard as salesman. Mr. Hey continued at

the head of the business for some years but at

length left the three gentlemen mentioned in

charge, while he retired. In the meantime he had
become associated with Mr. Mason in the conduct

of a business on State street, as jobbers and re-

tailers of stoves, tinware, etc., under the firm name
of Levi Hey & Company. This business is still

continued, being now under the firm name of Ben-

nett & Mason.
In 1868 Mr. Hey was married to Miss Martha

Pearson, of Philadelphia, and in 1869 he pur-

chased the property at No. 143 Fulton avenue,

where his widow yet resides. He also built several

houses in tlie city and liis real-estate operations

added not a little to iiis income. lie e.vercised his

right of franchise in support of the men and meas-
ures of the republican party but was never an ofBce

seeker. He belonged to the Masonic fraternity, in

which he attained the Knight Templar degree,

and at one time he was a member of the Gentle-

men's Driving Club of Rochester but he was pre-

eminently a home man and at his own fireside

spent the greater part of his time outside of busi-

ness hours. In his business life he manifested such

close application and keen discernment that he
left the ranks of the many and stood among the

successful few. He had a spirit of resolution that

enabled him to overcome all difficulties and ob-

stacles and work his way steadily upward and thus

ho left liis widow in very coinCortable financial

circumstances, when, on the ISth of September,

1905, he was called from this life. He liad never

liad occasion to regret his determination to seek a

liome in the new world, for here he had found good
business opportunities, which he improved with the

result tliat his labors were rewarded with success.

GEORGE ARNOLDT.

In German-American circles in Rochester there

was no man who held a higher position in public

regard or exerted a stronger influence in behalf of

those things which work for good citizensliip than

did George Arnoldt. He departed this life on the

17tli of April, 1893, but his memory is yet cher-

ished by many who knew him. A native of Ger-

many, he was born in Heidelberg, October IS.

1820, and was descended from an old family of

high social standing that had long held official

position in the fatherland. His early associations

were mainly with cultured people and his homo
training was of a nature that imbued his mind
with high principles. At his birth the father was

an officer in the department of forestry, having

charge of the district of Heidelberg. He desired

that his son should have excellent educational

privileges and when George Arnoldt had mastered
the branches of learning taught in the preparatory

schools he became a student in the University of

Heidelberg at the age of eighteen years. Subset

quently he went to Carlsruhe, where as a pupil in

the polytechnic school he studied civil engineering,

preparatory to making it a life work. He was
graduated with honors and soon afterward ob-

'

tained a position in the government service, being

employed in the survey and construction of the

sections of railroad between Heidelberg and Man-
heim, and Heidelberg and Frankfort.

The intense political feeling in Germany toward
the middle of the nineteenth century led to a

marked epoch in the history of that country, cul-

minating in the events of the year 1848, which

have become historic. Throwing himself into the

struggle with all the strength of his impulsive

nature, Mr. Arnoldt became secretary of the demo-
cratic association of Heidelberg, was one of the

envoys of the Storm petition to Carlsruhe, was a

commissioner of war, received a commission in the

engineer department, oversaw the building of the

fortifications in the Oldenwald and on the line of

the Neckar and Main, and participated in one

battle, or skirmish. With the downfall of the

revolution it was impossible for those prominent

in the movement to remain in Germany and

Frederick Heckar, Frederick Kapp, Carl Schurz

and other distinguished revolutionists, including

Mr. Arnoldt, fled to America.

Arriving in New York in 1850, George Arnoldt

spent one year in the metropolis, after which he

came to Rochester and secured employment with

the nursery firm of Ellwanger & Barry. A few

months later he entered the service of the state in

the office of the division engineer of the Brie

canal at Rochester and his superior qualifications

in that direction enabled him to maintain his posi-

tion through twenty-seven years of political change

or'until declining health forced him to retire from

active business. His fidelity to the interests of the

position was above question and his capability

was continually manifest in the excellence of his

work and the methods which he pursued. During
his connection with the canal department he was

an associate and friend of George D. Stillson,

General E. S. Parker and other civil engineers

who later acquired distinction in the state and

United States service. For many years Mr. Ar-

noldt was also associated with the brewing inter-

ests of Rochester, having in 1852 become a stock-

holder in the Bartholomay Brewing Company, of

whicji he acted as fecretary from the date of its

oraanization until tlie plant and business were sold

to'lhe syndicate May 29, 1889.

In the year 1852 Mr. Arnoldt was married to

Miss Theresa Ochling, to whorfi he had plighted
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his troth in Heidelberg ere crossing the Atlantic

to the new -world. Their eldest eon, Richard, was

lost on Lake Ontario, November 18, 1879,, in.

a

frightful storm that destroyed the fleet under his

command and rendered him famous as a hero.

The younger son, Julius W., also a brilliant scholar

and civil engineer of high standing, died in No-

vember, 1891. The daughters are Mrs. Herman
Behn and Mrs. Joanne A. Koch.

• Mr. Arnoldt took little active part in politics

after coming to America. A local paper said of

him: "His life was a quiet round of congenial

duties, and he was content to seek pleasure in the

companionships of home rather than in the turmoil

and unrest of political strife. With advancing

years came abundant means for the gratification of

high artistic and literary tastes and the ever pres-

ent desire to share with friends the benefits of his

industry. He was a just and honorable man, proud

of his good name and family, and above all, proud

of the country of his adoption. Prominent in the

circles of German society, he has left many friends

who will long bear his memory in their hearts, and

believe that the world is better for the existence of

such men as George Arnoldt." While always bear-

ing the strongest love for his native land, he had

the deepest attachment for America and when he

crossed the water it was to become an American

citizen whose first interest should be his adopted

country. In a quiet way he gave his support to

every movement for the ptblic good and was

greatly interested in all those things which are a

matter of civic virtue and of civic pride.

REV. JOHN J. BRESNlllAN.

Rev. John J. Bresnihan, pastor of St. Vincent

de Paul's congregation at Churchville, is one of

the strong and able representatives of Catholicism

in this part of Monroe county. He was born in

Auburn, New York, in 1869, his parents being

Hugh and Ellen (McAuliffe) Bresnihan, who were

natives of County Kerry, Ireland. Coming to

America, the father was for fifty years employed

by the New York Central Railroad Company and
as a mark of appreciation for long and faithful

service Mr. Bresnihan was eventually placed ou
the company's pension list. He spent the last

three years of his life with his son, Father Bresni-

han, in Churchville and such was the esteem in

which he was held here that all business houses

were closed on the morning of his funeral. His
remains were interred in St. Joseph's cemetery in

Auburn, New York. He had been married before

leaving the Emerald isle and cailic to llio new
world in 1854.

Father Bresnihan is the only surviving mem-
ber of a family pf ^even children. He remained

in Auburn, New York, until ordained to the priest-

hood in .1896. He began his education in the

parochial schools and was graduated ffom the

Auburn hjgh school with the class of 1887. Hav-

ing spent the. winter of 1887 in Florida, he entered

St. Andrew's Preparatory Seminary at Rochester

in the fall of 1888, completing his course there by

graduation in 1891. He next entered St. Joseph's

Provincial Seminary at Troy, New York, and was

graduated in philosophy at the end of two years.

In 1893, the year in which St. Bernard's Seminary
of Rochester was opened, he become one of its

students and therein completed a course of the-

ology and science in 1896, after which he was

ordained to the priesthood by Rt. Rev. B. J. Mc-
Quaid, bishop of the diocese. He was then as-

signed as assistant rector to St. Bridget's church

in Rochester under the Rev. T. A. Hendrick, who
has since been made bishop of Cebu in the Philip-

pine Islands. After three years at St. Bridget's,

Father Bresnihan was appointed to the rectorship

of St. Vincent de Paul's at Churchville, where he
has remained since 1900.

In the intervening years he has maae exten-

sive improvements in the church and the grounds,

consisting of interior decorations, new altars,

statuary and stations of the cross, amounting to

four thousand dollars. Many improvements have
been made on the parsonage and grounds and in

fact the grounds are considered the most attractive

in Churchville, this being admitted by all. One of

the interesting and notable events in the history of

the church occurred on the 7th of January, 1907,
when was burned the mortgage that for some years

had rested on the beautiful parochial residence.

This indicated the liquidation of a debt of ciglil

hundred and seventy-one and a half dollars in the

form of a mortgage held by the Rochester Savings
Bank. A large concourse of people that night

gathered in Assembly Hall and Father Bresnihan
addressed the audience, giving a resume of the

most important events in the history of the parish.

His predecessor. Father Curran, during a pastor-

ate of seventeen years had erected the handsome
church edifice and residence and when Father
Bresnihan took charge there was an indebtedness

on the Churchville property of nineteen hundred
dollars. He resolutely undertook the task of clear-

ing this away and has done so, in addition to mak-
ing all of the improvements named. In addition

to carrying on his work in Churchville he is also'

pastor of St. Fechan's church in Chili, where ser-

vices are held each Sunday and he has also been

instrumental in clearing off a small indebtedness

there besides making many alterations.

Father Bresnihan is a man of strong in-

tellectuality and broad learning and hm
done excellent work for tlie spiritual up-
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building of his congregation as well as in the

improvement of its property interests here. He
has the good will of all classes, being uniformly

held in high esteem by his non-Catholic neighbors

as well aa his own parishioners. He is broad-

minded and generous and is ever striving to culti-

vate in his own life those virtues which he would
have others cherish and with a heart filled with

charity for all he is everywhere respected and loved.

Aside from his work as pastor of the church he is

frequently called upon to deliver sermons else-

where on special occasions and to conduct the

exercises of spiritual retreats. He possesses splen-

did oratorical power and has frequently been lis-

tened to with close attention by audiences whom
he has addressed upon subjects other than those

connected with his denominational work.

J. MILLER KELLY.

J. Miller Kelly, now deceased, was a prominent
politician and business man of Rochester, but

while in these connections he influenced public

thought and action and contributed to the city's

prosperity, it was the kindly and generous spirit

of the man that made him so uniformly respected

and loved and causes his memory to be cherished

by all who knew him. He was born on Lyell ave-

nue, in Rochester, July 13, 1854, and died Eeb-

ruaiy 14, 1905. He was the son of Peter and
Catherine Miller, and adopted son of James Kelly,

who educated him and gave him his first start in

life. His early education was supplemented by

study in the Rochester high school and Free Acad-

emy and he entered business circles as ofiice boy

in the lamp works of James Kelly, working his

way steadily upward through successive positions

until he acquired an interest in the business. He
was afterward engaged in the retail hat business

on Main street, continuing in that line for two
years, when he was elected president of the Stand-

ard Breweiy and continued in the active manage-
ment of that enterprise until his death. He was

also a director of the German Insurance Company
and from his varied business interests derived a

most desirable income. lie was a thorough busi-

ness man, o[ excellent executive force and enter^

prise and his carefully managed interests won him
prominence and success in commercial circles.

Mr. Kelly was also well known in political cir-

cles as a supporter of democratic principles and his

efforts in behalf of the party were far-reaching and
beneficial. He served as alderman from the fif-

teenth ward from 1877 until 1905, or for a period

of twenty-eight years—a record unparalleled in

the history of the city—and several times he was
president pro tern of the council and for two terms

its president. He was interested in all that per-
tained to the city's improvement and upbuilding
and was the champion of all those measures which
are a matter of civic virtue and civic pride. He
.therefore exercised his official prerogatives in be-
half of municipal advancement and made a most
excellent record in public service, his course
winning him high enconiums.
On the 23d of October, 1883, Mr. Kelly was

mai'ried to Miss Lena Daws, a daughter of
Mathew and Catherine (Miller) Daws, of Roches-
ter, who arc still living, the father being now
eighty-five years of age. Unto Mr. and Mrs.
Kelly were born three children : Mabel, who was
graduated in June, 1907, from Livingston Park
Seminary; Hattie Irene, who died at the age of
fifteen months; and Elsie Augusta, who died at
the age of five weeks. Mrs. Kelly and her daugh-
ter occupy a beautiful home at the corner of Lyell
and Cameron streets, which was built by Mr.
Kelly in 1883. It was always a great delight to
him to provide liberally for his family and he did
everything in his power to promote their comfort
and happiness. He waa a man of most kindly
and sympathetic spirit and was greatly interested
in charities. The poor indeed found in him a
friend and his benevolences were largeyet he gave
entirely without ostentation or display and in fact
sought to follow the scriptural injunction not to
let the left hand know what the right hand doeth.
He belonged to the Catholic church and to the
Catholic Mutual Benefit Association. He was also
connected with the Rochester Club, with the Red
Men and the Elks and in the early years of his
residence in Rochester was a member of the
Volunteer Firemen's Association. Viewed from
any standpoint, his life record presented many
creditable phases. An energetic and capable busi-
ness man, he won success; an astute political
leader with a statesman's grasp of affairs, he
wrought along lines for the city's greatest good

;

and his broad humanitarian spirit was constantly
manifest in helpful ways to those less fortunate
than himself.

JOHN IIINDERLAND.

John Hinderland is one of the worthy citizens

that Germany has furnished to Monroe county, his

birth having occurred in Mecklenburg in 1848,
and he was a young man of twenty years, when in

1868 he accompanied his father, Joseph Hinder-
land, to this country, the family home being estab-

lished in Pittsford, where the father passed away
in 1884.

Upon arriving in JMonroe county, John Hinder-
land sought and secured employment on a farm,
working by the month. He possessed a strong
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determination and great energy and after several

years' labor he managed to save capital sufficient

to justify the purchase of land and in 1880 he
purchased a tract of land of John Eckler, con-
stituting fifty acres situated in Pittsford township.

He had been married in 1879 to Miss Phebe
Foreman, a daughter of Fred Foreman, an early

settler of Henrietta, Monroe county. Following
his marriage he took his bride to his farm and
there they began their domestic life. ' Through
their combined efforts in course of time they accu-

mulated the competence which enabled them to

add needed improvements to their place. In 1893
they erected a fine country residence and three

years later built a good barn. Mr. Hinderland
also improved the place with a good orchard and
carried on the work of tilling the soil. He has

been very successful in his work and now has a

well improved property, which classes him among
the substantial citizens of this section of Monroe
county.

He gives his political support to the republican

party. He and his family hold membership in

the German Lutheran church, and he was a liberal

contributor toward the erection of the new house

of worship.- The marriage of Mr. and Mrs. Hin-
derland has been blessed with three daughters,

Mrs. Mina Startup, Laura and Cora. Mrs. Hin-
derland lived in Brighton when, in 1865, tne

Genesee river went over tbe bmks and flooded the

county for miles. For four days the family

—

father, mother and three children—were unable to

leave the log house in which they lived.

Mr. Hinderland has never had occasion to regret

his determination to seek a home in America, for

here he has eagerly availed himself of every oppor-

tunity which has presented itself and although he

began life in liis adopted country in the humble
capacity of a farm hand, he has steadily workea
his way. upward until he is how in possession of a

good home, and is surrounded by many warm
friends who esteem him for his genuine personal

worth.

AVILLIAM W. OSGOODBY.

AVilliam W. Osgoodby, wlioso fame as an author
of sliorthanad text-books and as an inventor of

improvements in the art of shorthand writing is

world-wide, has filled the position of stenographer
for the seventh judicial district of New York for
forty-five years, throughout which period he has
been a resident of Rochester. In fact, he is a
native son of this city, 1ms birth having here oc-

curred in April, 1834. His OMginal business was
printing, but as earlv as 1855 he did considerable
shorthanrl work for the Rochester press. Tn 185G

he became a shorthand reporter for the Detroit

Daily Advertiser during the Fremont campaign

and reported many of the . speeches of the dis-

tinguished men of that day, including such polit-

ical leaders as Lincoln, Wells, Chase, Chandler

and others on the republican side and of Caos,

Breckenridge, Bright, Dickinson and other demo-

cratic leaders. Later he was engaged in report-

ing the lectures delivered before the Detroit Young
Men's Society for the daily papers of that city.

His work on the press continued until 1860, and
during those j'ears he was the official stenographer

of the Michigan house of representatives.

It was alfo during that period that Mr. Os-

goodby was married, in 1857, to Miss Electa L.

Irwin, with whom he has now traveled life's jour-

ney for half a century. Their only son, Harry E.

Osgoodby, died August 16, 1884, in his twenty-
fourth year. 'I'hcii- daughters two. Mrs. Charles S.

Starr, of Rochester, and Mrs. Alfred L. Eraser, of
Yonkers, New York.

In 1859, Mr. Osgoodby was tendered an appoint-
ment as stenographer in congress, through the
friendly interest of Mr. Chandler, but he declined
it, having determined to enter the practice of law.
Upon his return to New York he was admitted to
the bar and began practice at Horaellsville. But
it seems that he was bora to be a reporter rather
than a lawyer, for he received the appointment as
stenographer of the seventh judicial district early
in 1862, immediately after the passage of the law
authorizing such appointments. From that date
until now he has held that position and performed
the duties of the office, making a continuous term
of service of over forty-five years. During the
first nine years of his term Mr. Osgoodby also

held the appointment of official stenographer foi'

the sixth judicial district, reporting the courts of
Justices Mason, Balcom, the elder Parker, and
Murray, and he is well and favorably remembered
by the older members of the bar of that district.

Upon the organization of the New York State
Stenographers' Association, Mr. Osgoodby was
elected president, and he has since sei-ved another
term in the same capacity. He has also been for-
eign associate of the Shorthand Society of London.

Mr. Osgoodby is, however, much more widely
known because of his published works on short-
hand than from his official work as a stenograplier.
In 1877 lie began the publication of his Phonetic
Shorthand. A page of his notes, embodying many
of the new features now contained in his system
of shorthand, having been published in fac-simile

in a shorthand magazine, he immediately received

letters of inquiry concerning it, from all direc-

tions, and although he had no idea of improving
the system then in use except for his own use, he
was obliged to issue a sheet describing his own ex-

pedients, for use in replying to such letters.. Al-
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though constantly urged by many well-known sten-

ographers to publish the system in the form of a

text-book, he steadily declined, until the year

1884, when he finally yielded to solicitation, and
issued the first edition of his Phonetic Shorthand
Manual. Twelve editions of Inis Manual have
been published. By an improved method of en-

graving, the new edition will be by far the most
handsomely ilKistrated work upon the subject ever

issued. We have had the privilege of examining
some of the proof sheets of the new plates, and
they are certainly the finest specimens of short-

hand engraving we have ever seen, for, while pre-

serving all the features of written shorthand, and
exhibiting none of the stiffness of shorthand as

usually engraved, the utmost accuracy of outline

and neatless and elegance of form are retained.

Since the publication of the first edition of the

Manual, in 1884, Mr. Osgoodby has published sev-

eral other works upon the subject, including his

well-known Speed-Book, a Dictionary of twenty
thousand engraved word-forms, a Compendium, an
entire law report in engraved shorthand, with key,

for prnctico iiac, tlic Theory and Practice of

Plirase-Writing, tlic Word-Book, and various en-

graved reading books. Perhaps the most unique
of his publications is a shorthand edition of The
Great Moon Hoax, by Richard Adams Locke, the
original publication of which in the New York
Sun, in 1833, was the real foundation of the pros-

perous career of that well-known journal.

The system of phonography published by Mr.
Osgoodby is now widely known and used, and the

commendations which it has received from eminent
stenographers are highly creditable to its indus-
trious author. Many of the best stenographers
of the older school have adopted it, and it has come
to be acknowledged as one of the standard sys-

tems. Its great popularity is all the more striking
from the fact that scores of new systems have ap-
peared and disappeared since its first publication,
while the demand for this system is so constant as
to necessitate the publication of new editions near-
ly every year. The system has been the result of
very many years of practical work in the most
difficult and exacting field—law reporting—and it

is probable that no system has ever been issued, not
excepting even that of Pitman, wliich has under-
gone more thorough and exhaustive experiment in
actual work.

Mr. Osgoodby's notes in his every-day work are
wonderfully clear and distinct, and almost equal
to engraved outlines. So distinct and legible is

his_ system that his court reports are all tran-
scribed directly without dictation, by copyists who
have no knowledge of the cases reported except
from the reading of the notes, and it frequently
happens that when there is an unusual accumula-
tion of such work in his office, advanced pupils

from the local school of shorthand are called in to

assist in the transcription. Perhaps this fact is

the most significant of all, as showing the perfect
legibility of the system.

Mr. Osgoodby has contributed many articles of

value to the various shorthand journals,' and was
one of the writers of papers read at the recent

world's congress of stenographers, his paper

—

Legibility in Shorthand—being contained in the

published transactions.

EVELYN BALDWIN, M. D.

Dr. Evelyn Baldwin, successfully engaged in the

practice of medicine in Eochester for the past

fourteen years, and now acting as president of the

Blackwell Medical Society, was bom at Wells-

ville, Allegany county, New York, a daughter of

William A. and Minerva I. (Hamilton) Baldwin,

Ihe former a native of Ithaca, New York, and the

latter of Tompkins county, this state. The father

was a little lad of but tiiree years when he was
taken to Seneca county, and he there remained

until he had attained the age of twenty-two years.

During his lifetime he was an active business man,
connected with various enterprises, first as a whole-

sale grocer and later as a retail grocer. He was
likewise engaged in the tannery business and for

two years was proprietor of a dry-goods store in

Hornellsville, New York. Eor twenty years prior

to liis demise, however, he conducted a private

bank. In 1894 he removed from Wellsville to

Eochester, but survived for only a short period,

passing away in March, 1895. While his resi-

dence in this city was of short duration, yet he

gained many warm friends, who still cherish his

memory. His widow still survives and makes her

home in this city with the Doctor.

Dr. Baldwin is one of two children born of the

father's marriage, her brother being Herbert B.,

who is a druggist, engaged in business at the cor-

ner of Eeynolds and Adams streets, in this city.

Dr. Baldwin attended the schools of Eiverside

and the high school of Eochester. Later she en-

tered Vassar College, from which she was gradu-

ated in 1883. Deciding upon the practice of medi-

cine as a life work, she then entered the New York
Woman's Medical College of New York city, now
a part of Cornell Medical College, from which she

was graduated in 1892. In July of the same year

she came to Eochester, where for six months she

was engaged in practice with her aunt. Dr. Prances

P. Hamilton, with office on Jefferson avenue. She
now practices alone, however, having a well

equipped office at 476 West avenue, and makes a

specialty of obstetrics. She is an ambitious stu-

dent and her skill and ability have been demon-
strated in the successful handling of a number of
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complex medical problems. She holds member-
ship in various medical societies, including the

Blackwell Medical Society, of which she is now
acting as president, Monroe County Medical So-

ciety, the Academy of Medicine and of the "Wo-

man's State Medical Society, which has recently

been organized. Her practice is already large and
is constantly increasing. She keeps in touch with

the advancement that is being made by the medi-

cal fraternity through research and investigation.

She has been connected with the City Hospital
and in this connection for several years did effi-

cient service. She occupies a beautiful home in

this city and her mother, resides with her.

WILLIAM H. SOURS.

William H. Sours, proprietor of the Newport
House and grounds at Irondequoit Bay, is thus in

control of one of the finest and most popular sum-
mer resorts in this part of the state and in this

connection has a wide acquaintance, while his

business is conducted along such practical and
enterprising lines that he is meeting with well

merited prosperity. Mr. Sours is a native of

Irondequoit township, where he was born in

January, 1851. His father, Frederick Sours, was
one of the oldest settlers of the township, to which
he removed from Scottsville, IMew York. The
family was founded in Monroe county in pioneer

days and has since been represented liere. The
father engaged in farming in Irondequoit town-
ship and there reared his family of seven children,

five of whom are yet living, all being residents of

Rochester with the exception of the subject of this

review.

William H. Sours was reared at the old home-
stead and pursued a public-school education.
Since 1881 he has been proprietor of the Newport
House and now owns the hotel, ten cottages and
twenty acres of ground, constituting one of the
most beautiful resorts on Irondequoit Bay. He
purchased the place from the estate of Henry
Walzer, who had previously bought it from James
"Vinton, of the Irondequoit Wine Company. In an
early day it was an old sawmill property, which
bore little resemblance to the fine and well im-
proved resort seen here today. His uncle, Henry
Walzer, began the improvement of the property
and established the summer resort. Mr. Sours,
however, has added many modern improve-
ments since he purchased it in 1881. The original
property was four and a half acres of land but Mr.
Sours iias since added to this until he now has
twenty acres. When Henry Walzer owned the
place he was in partnership with three brothers
but finally bought out their interests and con-

ducted the resort alone until he disposed of it to

his nephew, Mr. Sours, in 1881. He has built all

of the cottages here and has also built three

launches, which are fifty feet long and carry from
fifty to sixty passengers. They are used in making
trips between Glen Haven and Sea Breeze and are

of much convenience and benefit to the summer
tourists who sojourn on Irondequoit Bay. The
club house of the Rochester Canoe Club is also

situated on ground belonging to Mr. Sours and he

is, moreover, interested in business at No. 100

Main street West, Rochester, is a member of the

firm of Ryan & Sours.

In November, 1905, Mr. Sours was united in

marriage to Mrs. Nellie E. Frost of Monroe coun-

ty. He is a member of the Masonic fraternity

and has attained the Knight Templar degree in

the commandery. His political allegiance is given

to the democracy and he is much interested in its

work and growtli. He served as supervisor for

eight years from Irondequoit township and for

one term was chairman of the hoard. The con-

sensus of public opinion concerning him is alto-

gether favorable and he, moreover, deserves much
credit for what he has accomplished, justly merit-

ing tlie proud American title of a self-made man,
for all tiint he possesses lins come to him tiirougli

his own labors. The Newport House, of wliich

he is proprietor, is very popular and has a liberal

patronage, owing to the earnest effort that he puts

forth to please his patrons and make the resort a

model in its way.

GEORGE W. ALLEN.

George W. Allen, now deceased, is remembered

by many of the older residents of Rochester, for he

was one of its pioneers. He was born in Boston,

Massachusetts, and as a boy went to Cooperstown,

where he remained until the year 1846, when lie

took up his abode in Rochester. He remained here

(for a number of years and during that time be-

came well known, for he was a man of many ster-

ling qualities, which gained for him warm and
lasting friendships. He is perhaps better known
in Monroe county as proprietor of the Sea Breeze

Hotel, at Sea Breeze, New York. Locating there

at an early day he was instrumental in much of

the upbuilding and development of that place. He
built the Sea Breeze Hotel, which he conducted
until 1883, the year of his death, and during the

thirty-three years of his connection therewith he
became widelv known both locally and among the

traveling public. He was a genial proprietor, neg-

lectful of nothing that would add to the comfort
of his guests and his hotel ranked favorably with
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those of many a larger place. He supported re-

publican principles and fraternally was a Mason.
Mr. Allen was married to Miss Letsie Bennett,

who was born at Cooperstown, and the ohly child

of this marriage is Mrs. Elizabeth Brewer, the

widow of George E. Brewer, and a resident of

Rochester.

Mr. Brewer was a native of Brighton, New
York, and was a representative ' of an old family

of that place. He supported the men and measures

of the democratic party and his fraternal relations

were with the Masons and the Independent Order
of Odd Fellows. His death occurred in 1900, in

Rochester, where he was widely and favorably

known, for his strong and salient characteristics

were such as endeared liim to all who came within
tlie close circle of his friendship, while wherever
he was known lie was respected and honored. His
widow is a resident of Rochester and made her
home with her mother, until the latter's death.

She has one son, Allen M., who is now a student
in the East high school and they occupy a beauti-
ful home at No. 25 Rowley street. Mrs. Brewer is

a gentle, kindly woman, who has gained many
warm personal friends during her long residence
in this citv.

THE LAWYERS CO-OPERATIVE PUBLISH-
ING COMPANY.

Tin's company was organized in 1882 in Newark,
AVayne county. New York, in tlie law office of Mr.
James E. Briggs, wlio was its first president. As-
sociated with Mr. Briggs in his law work were
Mr. Ernest Hitchcock, a young lawyer, who was
made secretary of the company, and Mr. William
H. Briggs, wlio became treasurer, which office he
still holds. Mr. Hitchcock remained in the com-
pany only a short time, his interest being pur-

chased by Mr. E. R. Andrews of this city, for

many years one of the foremost printers of west-

ern New York, and who had from the first done
the printing of the company.

The want felt in the office of a set of reports of

the United States supreme court, and their in-

ability to buy it at a reasonable price fii'st sug-

gested lo tliese men tlie idea of publisliing a re-

print of llicso re)i(irts. The price at that time of

a set of United States supreme court reports was
from six hundred to eight hundred dollars for the

set of one hundred and five volumes.

Tlie question was discussed in the office as to

why, if .classic English literature could be re-

jirinted and sold for sucli comparatively low prices,

the same could not bo done with standard sets of

law books. One difficulty, of course, was small and
uncertain sales and heavy selling expenses. These

lawyers overcame this by asking the co-operation

of the bar. They made a proposition to the bar

that if they secured orders in advance to such an
extent as to make it practicable, they would pub-
lish a complete edition of the United States su- •

preme court reports for one dollar a volume,
putting four volumes in a book, or the set as it

then stood for about one hundred dollars. The
idea proved to be a taking one and it received

prompt and cordial response. A large advance
subscription list was readily secured, and the

scheme was at once put on a practical footing and
was carried out to the entire satisfaction of its

supporters. The response was so cordial that the

projectors were able to do more than they had
proposed. They, made books that were better me-
chanicallv and included complete annotation. They
increased the price accordingly to new subscribers

to one dollar and twenty-five cents per volume, or

five dollars a book, at which price the set, the

"Law-Ed" is still sold. There are more sets of

this edition in use now than of all other editions

of the reports combined. Later on JiKe editions of

the New York common law and the New York
chancery reports were taken up and pushed to suc-

cessful completion, and in accordance with the

company's uniform plan, the permanent value of

each set was greatly enhanced by extensive edi-

torial work.

Professional pride, in the earlier work, was
primarily responsible for a policy which time has
proved to have been simply good business and
which has dominated all subsequent work, viz. : to

add to the permanent value of each set by adding

the best and most useful editorial matter available

and to the greatest extent that current sales will

permit. To this policy and their consequent

marked superiority is due the fact that this com-
pany's four principal sets of reports are today iti

use to a greater extent than all other similar sets

in the market.

From this beginning has grown the present cor-

poration of five hundred thousand dollars capital,

with home office in Rochester, and branches in

New York, Chicago, and several other of the lead-

ing cities and ranking as one of the two or three

largest law publishing and book selling houses in

the world. Some idea of the size of this business

and its importance to Rochester may be had from
the fact that in 1906 the company paid for the

one item of salaries and labor between three hun-
dred and fifty and four hundred thousana dollars. -

The company was forced to move to Rochester

in 1885 in order to be near their printers and

binders. Their first quarters were in the Hill

building at 17 Main street East, where they occu-

pied very modest offices. These they soon outgrew,

moving in 1891 to the Cox building in St. Paul

street, where they took the whole top floor, adding

to it a few years later a whole floor in an adjoin-
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ing building. In 1902 in order to get additional

space, which the growth of the business made
necessary, and to get under the same roof as their

printers and binders, another move was made, this

• time to the Acqueduct building on Butts place at

the head of Graves street, where they occupy the

three upper floors.

The "Co-ops," as they are familiarly known to

the bar, have possessed from the beginning a dis-

tinct advantage over the "old line" law book houses
in their professional origin and composition. This
has put them in the closest touch with the prac-

tical needs of the working lawyer, and taught them
how beet to supply those needs.

The average law book house, particularly in the

publication of text books, must, depend for the

most part for its publications on the manuscript
presented by lawyers who, in the intervals of prac-

tice, or because they have not the practice, have
taken up the preparation of a text-book. It is

generally a first and often an only effort, and
necessarily crude and incomplete, although it may
be the result of most painstaking and conscientious
labor.

The "Co-ops" policy is to take up only such
work as, with their facilities a large national sale
may be looked for, such a sale as will warrant
putting in the best possible work upon the prepara-
tion. Then they have that work done by their own
editors who, devoting their lives to this class of
work, after years of training can assure a result in
thoroughness, accuracy and completeness not to be
equaled by any other means. This policy has
made their leading publication, the Lawyers Re-
ports Annotated, the foremost set of law books in
the United States, with a circulation never before
reached by any set of reports. This circulation
made it possible to announce, in the spring of
1906, L. R. A., New Series, which further ex-
emplifies the "Co-op" idea of co-operation with the
bar. While keeping all the great features of
L. R. A., much was added in size of volumes, an-
notation and volumes per year, but at a reduction
in price.

The oflficers and directorate is at the present con-
stituted as follows: President, William B. Hale;
vice-president, John B. Bryan ; secretary, Burdette
A. Rich; treasurer, William H. Briggs.

EDWARD R. PAYNTER.

Prominent among the business men of Webster
is Edward R. Paynter, who for more than a dec-
ade has been identified with the history of the
city as a representative of one of its most im-
portant business interests—the Monroe Manufac-
turing Company, manufacturers of caskets and

undbrtakers' supplies, of which he is proprietor,

lie is a man of keen discrimination and sound

judgment, and his executive ability and excellent

hianagement have brought to the concern with

which he is connected a large degree of success.

Mr. Paynter is a native son of the Empire state,

his birth having occurred in Cattaraugus county,

September 28, 1862, a son of John E. and Eliza-

beth (Burton) Paynter, .likewise natives of New
York. The father was a farmer by occupation.

The son was reared to farm life, giving his

father the benefit of his services during the period

of his boyhood and youth, at which time lie ac-

quired an intimate knowledge of the best methods

of carrying on agricultural interests, while in the

district schools near his father's home he obtained

his education. He remained under the parental

roof until his eighteenth year, when, starting out

upon an independent career, he chose commercial

pursuits, believing that line of activity would prove

more congenial to him than the work of the agri-

culturist. Accordingly, he sought and secured em-
ployment in the woolen mills at Arcade, being thus

engaged, for two years, subsequent to which time

he returned to the home farm and assumed the

management oC the property for several years.

Eventually the farm was disposed of and Mr.
Paynter went to Pranklinville, wliere for six years

he was employed in a canning factory. On the ex-

piration of that period he entered the employ of a

firm that was engaged in the manufacture of cas-

kets, and there learned casket trimming, being in

the employ of others in this capacity for several

years. About twelve years ago he came to Web-
ster and for a time was in the employ of the Web-
ster Casket Company, but this firm soon afterward

failed in business and Mr. Paynter then decided to

start an enterprise of this character on his own
account. He then organized the Monroe Manu-
facturing Company, of which he is now the sole

owner, manufacturing caskets and undertakers'

supplies. In 1899 he erected a large building on
the Rome, Watertown and Ogdensburg Railroad.

This building is forty-five by one hundred and
twenty feet and two stories in height. The
plant is equipped with the latest improved ma-
chinery necessary for the manufacture of cas-

kets and casket supplies. He also manufactures
rough boxes, handles, robes, linings, em-
balmers' supplies, etc., and' has in his employ
twenty men, the output of his factory being
shipped throughout eight different states, three

salesmen spending their time upon the road in

looking after the trade. He also ships through
three jobbing houses and does a large and re-

munerative business, amounting to more than a
hundred thousand dollars annually. The success

of the enterprise is due in no small measure to the
efficient and capable management of Mr. Paynter,
who not only has intimate knowledge of a busi-



lODWAlil) 1{. P/VYNTEK.





IIISTOllY OF liOCllESTEK AND MONROE COUNTY. 591

Hess of this character, but possesses the ability to

direct the labors of those in his employ.

On the 23d of October, 1887, Mr. Tayuter was
married to Miss Anna Montgomery, who was born

in Cattaraugus county. New York, in the town of

Farmersville, a daughter of James and Catherine

(Cusack) Montgomery, who later became residents

of Franklinville, where their marriage was cele-

brated. Their marriage lias been blessed with two

children: Lila, who was born in Franklinville,

September 7, 1890; and Merle, born in that place

on the 12th of August, 1893. The family occupy

a beautiful home, which was erected in 1904, and

which is modern in its equipments and accessories

and comprises eleven rooms.

Mr. Paynter gives his political support to the

republican party, and both he and his wife are

identified with the Baptist church. His fraternal

relations are with the Maccabees, and he is also a

member of tlie Blue lodge and chapter of the Ma-
sonic body. At the present time he is serving as a

trustee of the village, but his business interests

give him little time for public office. He has

through his own industry and perseverance worked

his way upward from tlie humble position of an

employe to one of nllluence, for he now controls

one of the important and prosperous l)nsiness en-

terprises not only of his home city but of Mon-
roe county.

nON.'COKNELIIJS 11. PARSONS.

So varied in its phases and so l)road in its use-

fulness and in its activities was the life of Cor-

nelius R. Pai'sons in its relations to Rochester and
bis fellowmen that words seem inadequate to tell

the story of what he accomplished and to what an

extent the city is indebted to him. He served as

its chief executive for fourteen consecutive years

—

a record scarcely equalled in the history of the

country, and as such he stood for progress, reform

and improvement. His business life was also

marked by steady advancement and in him there

was a consecration to labor which is one of the

ideals toward whWh the loaders of the world arc

striving. In all things he was guided by high pur-

poses and lofty principles and characterized by a

conscientious performance oE the task that lay

nearest to his heart. Whatever he found to do he

did with his might and the honor which men paid

him and the respect in which he was uniformly
held were the freewill oilerings of an enlightened

people. Eocliestcr honors him as one whose record

reflected credit and honor upon the city. Fearless

in conduct and stainless in reputation his memory
remains as a. benediction to all who knew him and
should serve as an inspiration for years to come

to those who were associated with him in any walk
of life.

Mr. Parsons was a native of the Empire state,

having been born in York, Livingston county, on
the 22d of May, 1843, and was a son of the Hon.
Thomas Parsons, who was a native of Berkshire,

England. The father received somewhat meager
educational privileges and at an early age began
earning his livelihood as a shepherd, but the ele-

mental strength of his character was soon mani-
fest and his strong nature gave promise of future

accomplishments. In 1832, when eighteen years

of age, he determined to seek the broader oppor-

tunities of the new world and crossing the Atlantic
he located in the rich valley of the Genesee, where
he at once sought employment and for fovir years

worked as a farm hand in Wheatland, Monroe
county, where he leceived the munificent salary of

seven dollars per month. In 1836 he became con-

nected with the business activity of Rochester and
v/as employed in various ways, in all of which he
irdicated an adaptability and trustworthiness. He
was not only industrious but frugal and gradually

acquired some capital, so that he at length was
able to avail himself of the facilities for engaging
in the lumber trade ofllered by the district on both

bides of Lake Ontario. His business along that

line gradually expanded until he became one of

the most extensive merchants and exporters in this

part of the country, procuring supplies, especially

of oak and other heavy timber from land which he
purchased from time l;o time and which was large-

ly located in Canada.

His extensive business interests drew public at-

tention to Thomas Parsons, and that he possessed

qualifications that fitted him for office and for

leadership in political circles was evident. Ac-
cordingly, in 1851, he was elected on the demo-
cratic ticket to the office of alderman from the

sixth ward of Rochester, and in 1853 and again in

1857 he represented the tenth ward in the city

council. In 1858 he became a member of the state

legislature and was the originator of the pro rata

railroad freight bill, designed to compel the rail-

road companies to carry freight for local shippers

as low, proportionately to distance, as the rates

charged to citizens of other states. This caused

much opposition in rnilroatl circles but the meas-

ure was zealously advocated by Mr. Parsons and

the bill was engrossed for a third reading and only

failed for want of time. Under the agitation of

the grievance thus begun and continued by others

in after years these discriminations were essen-

tially modified. Disagreeing with his party on the

national questions he sustained the administration

of President Ijincoln and in 1865 was elected by

the republicans to the state senate by a large ma-

jority. As a member of the canal committee he

carefully fostered the waterways of the state and

his mercantile experience rendered his O^jin-
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ions of value on all commercial questions. He was

a member of the committee on engrossed bills and

on privileges and elections. In the assembly he

was an active working member, a fearless defender

of what he believed to be right, and his course in

behalf of the best interests of the state won him

the gratitude and respect of people throughout

New York. Entirely unsolicited by him, he re-

ceived the appointment of collector of the port of

Genesee and in 1868-9 filled that position witfi

the same faithfulness which ever marked liis offi-

cial career.
, .

At his death in 1873 he left a widow and five

children, the former a daughter of Richard Gors-

line, while the latter were Cornelius R., Clifford

W., Prank 6., Julia L. and Charles B. The

eldest son, James W., who had been engaged

in the lumber business for a number of years and

was a member of the common council of Buffalo,

died in Erie, Pennsylvania, a month before the

fsther.

Cornelius R. Parsons was only three years old

when brought to Rochester and from that time his

life history was interwoven with the city's develop-

ment along all those lines which promote munici-

pal virtue, which strive after public progress and

which advance the welfare of the individual. In

his boyhood he was a public-school student and

afterward attended Vosburg's Academy, which had

been established by John R. Vosburg for the pur-

pose of preparing pupils for mercantile pursuits.

Later he joined his father in the lumber trade and

was active in the growth of a very extensive busi-,

ness. His trade had largely increased and the

business which was at first confined to western

New York had extended not only to the important

American markets but also to Great Britain, to

which country he sent large exports of lumber. He
had a mill near the upper falls of Rochester and
other manufacturing establishments, so that the

details of purchase, manufacture, sale and export

required unceasing attention at widely separated

points. The lumber was mostly obtained from the

forests of Canada and the father largely spent his

time there, leaving his son, Cornelius R. Parsons,

to superintend the important and varied interests

of the firm in Rochester. After his father's death

he continued the business, with which he had
grown familiar in all of its departments, consid-

ering no detail too trivial for his attention, while

at the same time capably directing its most im-
portant afl'airs. The qualities of close application

and unflagging industry, combined with his keen
foresight and sound business judgment, enabled
him not only to control an enterprise of gigantic

proportions but also to extend and enlarge this

and therefore he amassed a fortune, but his kindly

and helpful nature was never warped thereby and
the most envious could not grudge him his pros-

perity so generous was he with his means in aid-

ing movements Avhieh resulted not only to the

benefit of the individual but also of the city.

The same qualities of thoroughness, mastery and

progrossiveness which characterized Mr. Paisons in

Ills business life were also manilest in his official

service and made his labors of the utmost value to

Rochester. He entered public life when only

twenty-five years of age, being elected in 1867 to

represent the fourteenth ward in the city council,

where lie served so capably that liis first term was

followed by re-election. He was chosen by the

council to act as its presiding officer and his

jn'omptness, accuracy and knowledge of parliamen-

tary law as displayed in his rulings won him high

encomiums from those who have the city's welfare

at heart. He was latei: again elected alderman and
chosen presiding officer in 1870 and on the expira-

tion of his term his colleagues expressed their ap-

preciation of his seiTices by a valued testimonial.

As an office holder he studied closely the situation

into which his official prerogative brought him into

connection and in all things he was actuated by a

strong sense of duty and a fervent desire for the

welfare of the municipality. His record was so

honorable and his services so valuable that in 1876

he was elected by his party as chief executive of

Rochester and was six times re-elected, so that his

incumbency covered a period of fourteen years.

Abraham Lincoln said: "Yon can fool all of

the people some of the time, and some of the peo-

ple all of the time, but you cannot fool all of the

people all of the time." This statement finds ex-

emplification in no place so largely as it does in

politics. History relates incidents of where un-

worthy men have secured office, but when the pub-

lic becomes cognizant of the fact of their unworth-

iness their political dealh is assured, and there-

fore no higher testimonial of capability and faith-

fulness can be given than the fact that one is re-

tained in a public ofiiee to which he is called by
the vote of his fellowmen. It was the highest

tiibute which Rochester could pay to Mr. Parsons

and his worth. The duties of the office were sine-

cure, for Rochester had become a city of much
commercial and industrial importance, bringing

about the intricate and complex problems of gov-

ernment which always arise with the city's growth

and development of its varied interests. He took

up the work, however, with the same spirit of de-

termination thnt always marked him in his busi-

ness life. He made it his first duty to thoroughly

iicqunint himself with tlin situation, studying out

its possibilities and all the time working toward

the ideal by the use of the practical means at hand.

His worth had already been proven in the city

council. In the higher position which came to him

of broader opportunities he put forth his efforts

so effectively that not only every department of

the city's service was benefited thereby but the

general progress and welfare were advanced and
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every aveuue of life indirectly felt the stimulus of

his labors and purposes.

Still higher official honors awaited Mr. Parsons
in his election to the state senate in the fall of

1891. He represented the largest district in the

commonwealth and again he received the endorse
ment of public opinion in re-election in 1893, and
in 1895 received the increased majorities of his

home ward—the twelfth—in Rochester, giving him
alone a plurality of nine hundred and three at the

latter election. In 189G he was appointed chair-

man of the committee on commerce and naviga-

tion and was a member of the committees on in-

surance, railroads and public education. Again he
was called to the same office by popular suffrage

in 1898 and during the session of 1899 was ap-

pointed chairman of the committee on insurance

und was a member of the committee on railroads,

commerce, navigation and public education. In
] 900 he was elected for a fourth term and during
the following session was made chairman of the

insurance committee and placed on the former

committees. Mr. Parsons left the impress of his

individuality upon the dcliberntions of that body

and its work and at his death, which occurred Jan-

uary 30, 1901, the senate issued a handsome me-
morial volume of about fifty pages, containing a

fine steel portrait of Mr. Parsons. This volume
Avas called Proceedings of the Senate and Assem-

bly of the State of New York on the Life, Charac-

ter and Public Service of Cornelius R. Parsons

and bearing date, Albany, February 18, 1901. The
committee having in charge the preparation and

publication was compoFed of Timothy ]D. Elsworth,

V/illiam W. Armstrong, George P. Malby. Thomas
F. Grady and John P. Ahearn. In this work were

proceedings at the New York Legislative Eeport-

ers' Association upon the death of the Hon. Cor-

nelius P. Parsons. There was a special meeting

held in the capitol, January 13, 1901, to take ac-

tion upon the death of the senator from the forty-

third district, at which the president responded

and several of the correspondents spoke feelingly

of his life in general, his genial personality and

lovable disposition, as well as his amiability and

undeviating courtesy, his kindness of heart, -his

solicitude for the welfare and interests of others.

Fortunate in his home life, Mr. Parsons was

most happily married ou the (itli of October. 18f)4,

to Miss Francos M. AVhitbeck, a daughter of J)r.

John F. Whitbcck, a distinguished physician of

l^ochester. Three children came to them, but the

(<nly son, Warner Parsons, died in the spring of

]879. The daughter, Mabel W., became the wife

of G. C. Cochrane, of Rochester, and they are the

parents of three children: Craig Parsons, Cor-

nelius Rice Parsons and Joan. Ethel M., the

vonnger daughter, is the wife of Frank Clinton

Trotter, of the firm of C. W. Trotter & Sons,

jnanufacturers of refrigerators!

Theirs was a most beautiful home life, in which
mutual forbearance, kindliness and love were the

dominant features. Although so active in busijiess

.

and public affairs, Mr. Parsons' interests centered
in his home and his greatest happiness was found
at his own fireside. He held membership in St|

Peter's Presbyterian church, of which Mrs. Par-

sons is also a member, and he was gne of its trus-

tees. He gave freely of his means to itp support

but did not consider his obligation ended there

and labored as earnestly for its upbuilding and th^

extension of its influence. He lived a life in con-

sistent harmony with his professions, and he also

iranifested the beneficent spirit • upon which is

founded the Masonic and Odd Fellows societies,

with which he affiliated. He was very active in

advancing the work of the Semi-Centennial Cele-

bration, held in Rochester, June 9 and 10, 1884.

In a brief ^nd pertinent address he opened the
literary exercises on the former day and he deliv;

ored the address of welcome to Governor Cleve-

land and his staff and other guests at the reception

on the second day. He also proposed the various

toasts at the banquet held in Powers Hotel. In
the performance of these duties he secured the un-

qualified approval of his fellow citizens, who rec-

ognized that much of the success that made the

celebration an important event in Rochester's his-

tory was due to him. He was no orator in the

sense of appearing frequently before the public

as a speaker and yet when he did so he never failed

to elicit the attention and awaken the interest of

Miosc who heard him. He presented his subject

in an interesting, entertfiining and instructive

manner, showing his thorough understanding of

it and his friends were again and again surprised

by the breadth of his wisdom, the depth of his

knowledge. He was a student, but not a book

worm. He believed that knowledge was not valua-

ble for itself alone but for the use to which it

could be put in the world's work. He therefore

made it a purpose to master every subject which

claimed his attention and he displayed most com-

prehensive understanding of those subjects bear-

ing upon municipal interests and business life

and upon the great sociological and economic ques-

tions of the country.

One of the strongest traits of character as mani-

fest by Mr. Parsons was his love of children and
on Sundays there would always be a crowd upon
his porch or in his home to lisiien to his stories and

enjoy his genial good nature. He possessed a

genial disposition and he had, as a noted lecturer

has expressed it, reached the high humor in being

able to see the comicality of his own situation. In

other words, he enjoyed a joke upon himself as

v/ell as upon his companions and his humor was

ever of the most kindly character, being accompa-

nied by no cutting sarcasm or keen, hurtful wit.

In fact consideration for the feelings of others
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was one of his strong characteristics and was mani-
fest in a ready sympathy in the joys and sorrows

of those around him. Such was his personal popu-
larity and such his personal magnetism that his ap-

pearance to address the people was the signal for

tumultuous enthusiasm. His was a sturdy Ameri-
can character and a stalwart patriotism and he

had the strongest attachment for the free institu-

tions of this land, being ever ready to make any
personal sacrifice for their preservation. While
undoubtedly he was not without that honorable

ambition which is so powerful and useful

as an incentive to activity in public nffnirs, lie re-

garded the pursuits of private life as .being in

themselves abundantly worthy df his best efforts.

His was a noble character, one af the subordin-

ates of personal ambition to do good and sought
rather the benefit of others than the aggrandize-

ment of self. Endowed by nature with high intel-

lectual qualities to each were added the embel-

lishment and discipline of culture his was a most
attractive personality.

The news of the death of Mr. Parsons brought
with it a sense of personal loss and bereavement
to the great majority of Rochester's citizens. It

was felt among his business associates who had
come to recognize in combination with his keen
insight, his strong purpose, his unfaltering integ-

rity; it was felt in political circles where no charge
was made against him of corruption or dishon-

esty but where all knew him to be an open foe,

standing for a certain course of action which he
believed to be right and most conducive to the gen-
eral good

J
it was felt -among the policemen of

Rochester, who since his service as police com-
missioner knew him to be a friend, working for

their best interests; it was deeply felt in club

life and social circles but most of all in lus

home, for the best traits of his character were,

ever reserved for his own fireside.

Perhaps no better summary of the life and char-

acter of Mr. Parsons could be given than in the

presentation of the following memorial: "The
Union League Club, deeply regretting its loss oc-

casioned by the death of its highly valued mem-
ber, Hon. Cornelius R. Parsons, does hereby
humbly express its sincere sorrow and extend its

heartfelt sympathy to his bereaved family. The
wise counsel, fatherly kindness and material

assistance received from the lamented senator will

ever be treasured by this organization. As a pub-
lic servant his superior judgment and keen per-

ceptibility, coupled with purity of purpose and
nobility of action, challenges comparison. A grand-

er combination of the various elements essential to

success in life is rarely found so harmoniously
and effectively assimilated in. one person as found
expression in the every day life of Cornelius R.

Parsons. He had courage and fortitude and per-

severance beyond the majority of mankind, while

the current of his actions was pervaded by an un-

ceasing flow of courtesy, gentility and deferential

demeanor that won him the esteem and confidence

of all with whom he had intercourse. As a citi-

zen his whole life has been an exemplary career of

purified refinement, moral and religious rectitude

worthy the emulation of all persons desirous of

j'ising in the scale of human excellence. Living, he

was an important factor in the development of

human industry, intelligence and all the better

elements of progressive civilization; dying, he

leaves an unbroken, unblemished record of spot-

loss integrity cliiselod inio iinperislmblo existence

by the industry of his own head and hands and
the rectitude of his own heart. But amid all his

business activity he carried his home in his heart,

and unto his chei'ished family circles he sacredly

centered the sunshine of his heait's best affec-

tion, lie was true to his country, true to his

party and true to himself. But the good man is

gone ! And a profound regret for the public loss

is the proverbial expression, while the gentle tear

cf .recollection finds easy access down many a

hardy cheek unused to such a visitor; 'If eternal

happiness be the reward of tenderest love, unob-

trusive action and kindliest charity, blessed be the

spirit which once animated the earthly form of

Cornelius R. Parsons.'

"

JAMES MALCOMB.

The history of ofTieial service in Rochester would
be inconiplote without mention of James Mnl-
comb, who for fifty-one years was identified with
the Rochester fire department but retired in

April, 1902. His is a record for faithful and
capable sej-vice scarcely parallelled, and few indeed
in the history of the entire country have so" long
occupied a similar position. When the machinery
of government moves along smoothly and without
friction, when each department is under the super-
vision of one well qualified to handle the business
connected therewith, the general public gives little

thought to the men who are in office. It is only
when dishonesty and corruption are discovered
that the public becomes aroused but the impor-
tance of the service of a trustworthy and capable
official cannot be over-estimated and to an extent
realized by few. The city is indebted to Mr. Mal-
comb for his constant watchfulness and fidelity

in the office of chief engineer in the fire depart-
ment, which he so capably filled.

A native of Ireland, he was born in the year
1831 and was brought to America by his parents
M'hcn a small boy, the family home being estab-

lished in Canada, where the father dicd.jsoon after-
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ward, leaving the iiiotlier with a family of small

children. She crossed the border into the United

States, settling at Rochester, where she spent her

remaining days, her death occurring about 1891,

when she was seventy-six years of age. Mr. Mal-

comb has lived on Manhattan street for a half

century and has therefore witnessed almost the

entire growth of this section of the city which has

now become a populous district. He lived with his

mother until her death, caring for her in her de-

clining years. He entered business life as an em-

ploye in the factory of H. M. Curtis, where he

remained for some time. At the same time he was

a member of the volunteer fire department but re-

ceived no compensation for his services as the

pay department had not yet been established. In

the position of hoseman he worked steadily up-

ward and in 18G6 was appointed assistant engineer,

serving in that capacity for eighteen years. He
was chief of the fire department for ten years and

during that time, in 1894, he was presented with

a most beautiful gold badge. Those who are

familiar with the fire department testify to his

unfaltering and able service, and throughout the

years he has enjoyed the confidence of all with

whom he has thus been associated.

Mr. Malcomb is a member of the Odd Fellows

lodge, of which he has been a representative since

about 1876. He is also a member of the Society

of Exempt Firemen. In his political views he is

a republican. He is now living in well earned re-

tirement at No. 85 Manhattan street and is re-

spected and esteemed by all who know him. He is

thoroughly familiar with the history of the city

from pioneer times to the present and has a wide

acquaintance among many prominent and well

known residents here.

PRANK A. MASELLI.

Frank A. Maselli, a general contractor of

Rochester, was born in Pescolanciano, Italy, on the

15th of April, 1855. His parents were Domenico

and Gincomina (Carosella) Maselli, both deceased.

He acquired his education in the schools of his

native city.

After remaining in business with his father

for , some time beneath the sunny skies of old

Italy, Frank A. Maselli came to the new world

in 1880 and immediately entered upon active con-

nection with the contractor's business here. His

patronage has been chiefly in railroad and public

works contracting and has called him to all parts

of the United States. He took up his abode at

Rochester in 1905 and since that time has been

engaged on the construction of the portion of the

barge canal near this city. His contracts have been

of a large and important character, demanding a

comprehensive knowledge of the scientific princi-

ples which underlie mechanical engineering, com-
bined with a practical experience. He has now been
engaged in the contracting business for twenty-six

years and is recognized as one of the most promi-
nent representatives in his line. He has done con-

siderable work in the west for the Union Pacific

and the Chicago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad

Companies. He also took a contract near Steuben-

ville, Ohio, for the Wabash road, consisting of

over two million cubic yards, and recently com-

pleted for the Western Allegheny near New Castle,

Pennsylvania, a large job. He now has under way
sixteen miles of grading for the Lake Erie &
Pittsburg branch of the Lake Shore Railroad in

Ohio. This is difficult road construction and the

contract is such a one as is only awarded where

the utmost confidence is had in superior ability

and executive force. Mr. Maselli also has recently

taken a contract for the construction of three

and one-quarter miles of the new state barge canal

through a very level country just west of Roches-

ter and east of the junction of the old canal. Two
• and a half miles are in a heavy rock cut running

from twelve to thirty-six feet deep and covered

with a layer of earth from two to twelve feet deep.

On account of the large rock excavation involved

—one million three hundred and fifty-six thou-

sand cubic yards—this contract was selected as one

of the first to be let to test the practicability of

completing the canal within the one hundred and

one million appropriation. The contract was let in

May, 1905, and actual construction was begun on

the"l9th of June of that year. The barge contract

is a part of the sixty mile level from Lockport to

Rochester, requires no locks, having only one-tenth

total change of elevation of grade. New conditions

faced Mr.'^ Maselli in the building of the canal

but he has proved himself adequate to every de-

mand made upon him. His broad scientific knowl-

edge has been brought to bear in the practical

construction. For a mile' near the west end of

the contract the rock proved to be too soft for

channeling and other plans had to be instituted in

order to meet this condition. Special machinery

has been contrived for the work and in building

this canal Mr. Maselli is achieving an engineering

feat which is awakening the attention and ad-

miration of expert engineers and contractors

throughout the entire country and in foreign lands

as well. In addition to his contracting interests

Mr. Maselli is a director of the National Bank

of Commerce.

Mr. Maselli has been married twice. He first

wedded Miss Rosa Andrews of Erie, Pennsylvania,

and after her death wedded Mary Hill of Rich-

mond, Indiana. He has two children, a son and

daughter. Fraternally Mr. Maselli is connected

with the Odd Fellows, the Elks and with several
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Italian societies and is a member of the Rochester

Club. In his religious faith he is a Catholic and
in political belief ia a republican, being a stal-

wart advocate of the principles of that party, al-

though he has never sought nor desired office.

He feels that he made no mistake in leaving his

native country and seeking a home in the new
world, for here he has found excellent business

opportunities and as the years have gone by has

gained an enviable position as a general contrac-

tor. He has long since left the ranks of the many
to stand among the successful few, his ability and

energy carrying him far beyond the average con-

tractor and gaining for him business of import-

ance and magnitude.

DAYTON SAMUEL MORGAN.

Dayton Samuel Morgan was born in the town of

Ogden, Monroe county, New York, November 19,

1819, and died in Brockport, this county, April

9, 1890. He was the sixth in descent from James
Morgan, the first American ancestor of the family,

who was born in Wales, in 1C07, and with two

younger brothers, John and Miles, sailed from

their native country and arrived in Boston, Mas-
sachusetts, in April, 1637. John, the next young-

er brother, was a high churchman, and, disliking

the austerity of the Puritans, left Boston in dis-

gust for more congenial society and settled in

Virginia. Miles, the youngest lorother, who was

born in 1G15, soon after arrival associated himself

with a party of which Colonel William Pyncheon

was tilie head and founded the settlement of

Springfield, Massachusetts.

James Morgan, the first American ancestor,

finally located in the settlement of Pequot, which

by an act of the general court or colonial assembly

at Hartford, March 11, 1657, was named "New
London, in memory of ye renowned city of Lon-
don," making his final abode on the east side of

the Thames river, in what has since been named
the town of Groton. He ^as one of the townsmen
or selectmen for several years, and one bf the

first deputies sent from New London plantations

to the general court at Hartford, May session, in

1657, and was nine times afterward chosen a mem-
ber of that grave and imporl-ant assembly, the last

in 1670. His associates and compeers composing

the general court or colonial assembly in May,

1857, when he was first chosen, as shown by the

family records, were:

John Winthrop, of Pequot, governor.

Thomas Welles, of Hartford, deputy governor.

Magistrates—John Webster of Hartford ; Cap-

tain John McCuUick, Hartford; Samuel Wjdlys,

Hartford; Captain John Talcott, Hartford; Ma-
jor John Mason, Saybrook; Daniel Clark, Wind-
sor; Nathan Gould, Fairfield; John Gosmore,

Southampton, L. I.; John Ogdcn, Southampton,

L. I.

Deputies—George Steele, of Hartford; John
Welles, Hartford; Richard Butler, Hartford; Wil-

liam Phelps, Windsor; William Gailord, Wind-
sor; Richard Trott, Wethersfield; John Deming,
Wethersfield; Jonathan Brewster, Pequot; James
Morgan, Pequot; Mathew Canfield, Norwalk.

James JTorgan seems to luivo impressed tliis

carefully selected body of men with a high sense

of- his sterling honesty and integrity of character,

as it appears that in a controversy between the

general court and the New London plantations re-

garding boundaries and jurisdiction it was ordered

that the matter should he submitted to three ar-

biters, mutually agreed upon. New London at

once named its own townsman, James Morgan,

really a party in its own interests, but neverthe-

less, the general court as promptly accepted him
and without naming another agreed to submit to

his sole decision, which, when made, seemed to

liave satisfied all parties.

The father of Dayton S. Morgan, Samuel Mor-
gan, married Sara Dayton in 1816, of the New
Jersey family of that name. He settled in the

town of Ogden, Monroe county, being a prosper-

ous miller and farmer. Here Dayton S. Morgan
was born, being the only son of these parents, his

mother dying soon thereafter. In the financial

reaction of 1836, Samuel Morgan became over-

whelmed and lost his property. He also became
broken in health and survived but a short time.

Dayton S. Morgan was then seventeen years of

ago and was obliged to make his own career. He
had secured such educational benefits as could be
obtained from the district schools of that time.

After his father's financial reverses, by in turn
teaching district school and studying hard at

night, with great struggle and deprivation he
finally obtained a course at the Brockport Col-

legiate Institute, which institution later became
transformed into what is now the Brockport State
Normal School.

Dayton S. Morgan secured his first regular em-
ployment as a clerk in the Erie Canal collector's

office. It was his first intention to prepare for a

legal profession but finally flocidecl it would take

too many years of unprofitable application, being
obliged lo earn his own living. In 18-10 he de-

cided to adopt a business career and in 1841 se-

cured his first position. The following year he
became associated with E. Whitney, a merchant of
Brockport, who for those times was doing an ex-

tensive business, retailing dry goods, buying
grain, etc. His ambition to succeed and his per-
severance and application had gained for him a
reputation as "a young man who was bound to
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succeed," to the extent that in the spring of 18'1:4

he was invited to enter into a partnership with
William H. Seymour, a merchant of Brockport,

and one of the wealthiest men of that section at

that period. Mr. Morgan had been able to save

only a few hundred dollars and stated this fact

in answer to Mr. Seymour's proposition but the

reply was that it was not his money that was
sought but rather his ability and application. The
firm of Seymour & Morgan was then founded
and in connection with a large mercantile business

established the Globe Iron Works in Brockport and
began the manufacture of stoves and agricultural

implements. In the following year, the Hon. E.

B. Holmes, of Brockport, member of congress,

while in Washington, met Cyrus H. McCormick,
of Walnut Grove, Virginia, who was attending to

the taking out of patents on a reaping machine
of his invention and told him of the Globe Iron

Works of Brockport and the character of the men
in charge, advising him to go there. This he did,

bringing for the inspection of Seymour & Mor-
gan his reaping machine. It was extremely crude,

having no driver's seat, the plan for raking off

the grain being by a man who should walk beside

the platform of the machine. The gearing for

operating was very imperfect and the cutting

sickle was but a thin strip of steel on the front

edge of the platform, serrated reversely every

four or five inches of its length; yet though so

crude, immature and imperfect, it was a machine
with which it was possible to cut grain when all

conditions were favorable. Trials were made
which suggested various improvements. The ma-
chine was cut down here and strengthened there

and generally brought into better form. A sad-

dle was provided for. the men to sit astride, who
used an ordinary hand rake in removing the grain

from the platform but the driver walked or rode

a horse alongside the machine. The experiments

and negotiations resulted in an arrangement

whereby Seymour & Morgan engaged themselves

to build a quantity of Mr. l^lcCormick's reapers,

as improved, for the harvest of the following year.

In pursuance there were built at the old Globe

Iron Works by Seymour & Morgan, one hundred

of these reapers for the harvest of 1846, the first

quantity of harvesting machines ever tuilt by one

concern, put upon the market and sold, and thus

the historical fact was established that the old

Globe Iron Wwks at Brocl-port, Monroe county.

New York, became the first reaper factory in the

world.

The firm continued the manufacture of these

machines until 1848. They then introduced a ma-

chine of their own design, known as the "New
Yorker," which gained a world-wide reputation.

For the linrvest of 1851 tlioy ventured to make

five hundred of these machines and the people

then wondered how and where they could all pos-

sibly be sold. At this time Mr. Morgan purchased

Mr. Seymour's interest in the patents that con-

trolled this reaper and licensed other manufac-
turers to build for specified territory. The quad-
rant shaped platform, today still universally used
on reaping machines, was brought out by the firm

and other manufacturers licensed. In connection

with it and other inventions Mr. Morgan was
obliged to bring several suits for infringement,

some of which became famous, involving very

large sums of money, and were not finally de-

termined until reaching the United States supreme
court at Washington. In these litigations wide
attention was attracted. Men of prominence,
some of whom became particularly so in the af-

fairs of the nation, were associated as counsel.

Among these were Abraham Lincoln, Edward M.
Stanton, who became secretary \of war durin.g

the war of the Eebellion; William H. Seward,
who was New York's whig governor in 1838;
Judge Henrv E. Selden, of Eochester, and others.

In all these patent litigations Mr. Morgan was
finally successful. Eventually Mr. Morgan be-

came sole owner of the concern, which was subse-

quently incorporated under the name of D. S.

Morgan & Company, and continued as its presi-

dent and active head up to the time of his death.

A few years thereafter this la,rge company, the out-

grpwth of the pioneer of its kind, bowed to the

march of progress of the day and became absorbed

by combination with other interests. After dispos-

ing of its manufacturing interests the corporation

which Mr. Morgan founded erected in the heart

of the city of Buffalo, New York, tlie first so-called

steel constructed office building built in that city,

one of the most complete in the country, known
as tlie D. S. Morgan building.

Mr. Morgan also became interested in various

railroads,' and at one time served as vice president

of the central branch of the Union Pacific Eail-

road Company. He was also one of those orig-

inally interested in organizing in- 1869 the Central

Crosstown Street Eailroad in New York city. He-

was a large and judicious' investor in real estate

and acquired much farming, timber and city

property. Convinced of the future of the city of

Chicago, he purchased in 1872 the five hundred
acres of land upon which that city's suburb. West
Pullman, is now built. This tract he retained

up to the time of his death.

Personally, Mr. Morgan was quiet and unassum-
ing in manner, refusing political preferment and
avoiding publicity. While a man of great dig-

nity, he was affable and approachable and always

glad to receive suggestions from any one in his

employ. He possessed unusual will power, un-

daunted tenacity and a high order of business

talent, witli honesty and purenoss of purpose. At

the time of his death he was president of the

Brockport State Normal School board, a vestry-
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man of .St. Luke's Episcopal church, at Brock-
port, and a member of the Rochester Historical

Society. During his lifetime he performed many
acts of charity in helping others whom he deemed
deserving. Such he always performed without

ostentation, avoiding publicity, and many impor-
tant acts of consideration for others were unknown
until revealed after his death by those benefited.

Indicative of his character, when he had acquired

a competence, many years after his father's finan-

cial reverses and death, he reimbursed to those

the losses which had been incurred through his

father's misfortune.

In 1864 Mr, Morgan was married to Miss Susan
M.'Joslyn, of Brockport, who survives him and re-

sides in The Homestead, the old family residence

in that village. Their children are George D.
Morgan, William P. Morgan, Sara Morgan Man-
ning, Susan Morgan Macy, Henry Morgan, Gifford

Morgan and Gladys E. Morgan-

HON. WALTER SAGE HUBBELL.

Hon. Walter Sage Hubbell, lawyer and law-

maker, who is also connected with various cor-

porate interests and who as a public-spirited citi-

zen has contributed in no small degree to general

progress and improvement in Rochester, was born

in Cincinnati, Ohio, December 24, 1850, his par-

ents being Charles and Anna M. (Sage) Hubbell.

The mother was a daughter of Orin Sage, a large

shoe manufacturer of Rochester, New York. The
Hubbell family removed from Connecticut to the

Empire state. The original American ancestoi-s

came to .the new world as passengers on the. May-
flower and the line of descent is traced back to

Governor Bradford. Members of the family in

both paternal and maternal lines were soldiers in

the early wars and some of them became quite

distinguished. Charles Hubbell was born in Bal-

ston Springs, New Y'ork, and on removing to

Rochester became engaged in. the banking busi-

ness, which he conducted for several years. He
afterward went to Cincinnati. Ohio, wiiere he
acted as cashier in a bank until ill health forced

him to relinquish the position and he removed to

Keokuk, Iowa, where he remained until 1871. In
that year he became a resident of San Diego,

California, where he remained until his death,

which occurred in 1903, when he was eighty-five

years of age. He had long survived his wife, who
died in 1882 while on a visit in Rochester, New
York. They were the parents of five children, who
yet survive.

Walter Sage Hubbell acquired his early educa-

tion in the schools of Keokuk, Iowa, and at the

age of sixteen years came to Rochester, where he

entered the University of Rochester, pursuing ftio

classical course until his graduation in 1871 with

the degree of Master of Arts. He is now a mem-
ber of the Alpha Delta Thi fraternity and also of

the Phi Beta Kappa.
With broad literary knowledge to serve as the

foundation upon which to rear the superstruc-

ture of professional learning, Mr. Hubbell took up
the study of law and was admitted to the bar in

January, 1876, after thorough preparatory read-

ing in the office of George P. Danforth of Roches-

ter, New York, who was afterward one of the

judges of the court of appeals of this state. He
began practice in Rochester on the 1st of January,

1877, and has since remained an active member
of the legal fraternity with a large, lucrative and
distinctively representative clientage. He has not

become a specialist but has continued in the gen-

eral practice of law and in the trial of important

causes has displayed comprehensive knowledge of

the principles of jurisprudence and a retentive

memory which has frequently excited the admira-

tion of his colleagues. Aside from his profession

he is connected with several important business

enterprises. He is a director and attorney for the

Alliance Bank, a director' of the Fidelity Trust

Company, second vice president of the Eastman
Kodak Company of New Jersey, a direc-

tor and secretary of the Eastman Kodak Com-
pany of New York, a member of other

kodak companies and a director- of the Curtice

Brothers Company. He has also figured promi-
nently in the public life of the city and state and
in the years 1884 and 1885 represented the east-

ern district of Monroe county in the state as-

sembly. He is one of the trustees of the Univer-
sity of Rochester, a trustee of the Rochester Theo-
logical Seminary and a trustee of the Rochester
Orphan Asylum—associations which indicate his

interest in humanitarian principles and the intel-

lectual and moral development of the community.
In June, 1877, Mr. Hubbell was married to Miss

Leora A. De Land, a daughter of Judge D. B. De
Land, of Fairport, New York, and they have four
living daughters : Minnie D., Anna D., Bertha D.
arid Margaret D. Their second daughter, Ger-
trude, is deceased. Mr. Hubbell, a gentleman of

social nature, finds scope for a kindly spirit in
his associations as a member of the Genesee Val-
ley Club of Rochester, the Country Club of Roch-
ester and the Masonic fraternity, in which he has
attained the Knight Templar and thirty-second
degrees. He also belongs to Kent Club of Roches-
ter and to the Rochester Bar Association, of which
he was president for one year. He is president
of the board of trustees of the First Baptist church
and is actively and helpfully interested in nearly
all movements and measures which have for their

object the welfare and upbuilding of the city and
the advancement of those interests which are a
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matter of civic virtue and of civic pride. A fluent,

forceful and entertaining speaker, he is often

called upon to address public gatherings at various

entertainments and banquets. Eochester ac-

knowledges his worth as a citizen, as a lawyer and
as a business man of keen discernment, while his

many social acquaintances entertain for him warm
friendship and regard.

GAEEY BEOOKS.

No history of Monroe county would be complete
without mention of Garry Brooks, who is today
liic oldest citizen within her borders. JJo reached
the century milestone on life's journey on the 5th

of Julv, 1906, and his mind bears the impress of

the early historic annals of the country. He has
lived to see the country emerge victoriously from
three international wars and one great civil strife.

The Eochester Democrat and Chronicle, on the

occasion of the (mo hundredth anniversary of his

birth said : "In all Monroe county, perhaps in all

western New York, there is only one man who can
say this morning that his life . has covered one
hundred years, and he is Captain Garry Brooks,
of Fairport, who rounds out a full century of

years today. When he first saw the sunlight in

Connecticut, Eochester was not yet on the map;
indeed, six years were to pass before the first

house Avould be erected upon the site of what is

now a rich and powerful city. The Erie canal,

upon which he was to travel in later years, was
only a dream in tlie minds of men who were looked

upon as being mildly insane; the second war
with England was more than half a decade in

the future; the American clipperbuilt ship, the

swiftest commercial sailing craft the world has

seen, was yet to come; the first steamboat, Ful-

ton's Clermont, was only begun; steam railroads

were utterly unheard of and a quarter of a cen-

tury was to pass before the locomotive would
become an accomplished fact in America ; fotty

years before the telegraph would come into gen-

eral use, and the span of a man's life, three score

years and ten, before spoken words would be

heard through what men now call the telephone.

Fifty years were to pass before the republican

party, of which Captain Brooks has been a mem-
ber for fifty years, would put its first presidential

candidate into the field. Tippecanoe had not been

fought, Illinois had not yet become a territory

and the western frontier was not far from where

Cleveland and Detroit now are. Those were the

ancient davs, and vet Cnplnin Brooks is today,

on his one hundredth birthday, as hale and hearty

as many men twenty years his junior. His eye

is clear, his mind is unclouded, and the grasp of
his hand is as strong and cordial as it was twenty-
five years ago."

It is not only compatible but absolutely impera-
tive that mention be made of Garry Brooks in
this volume. A native of Connecticut, he was
born in New Milford on the 6th of July, 1806. The
Brooks were Crusaders from Normandy, who
planted the standard in the Holy Land and came
into England with William the Conqueror. An-
cient English records say the family of Brooks or
Brooke issued originally from the house of La-
tham or Leighton in Cheshire, England. The
name has been spelled in various ways: Brooks,
Brookes, Brook, Brocke, Broocks, Brooke and
Brakes. The Brooke family of Whitechurch,
Hampshire, England, was represented in the latter

half of the sixteenth century by Richard Brooke,
gentleman, and his wife Elizabeth Twyne. The
brasses of Eichard Brooke and his wife Elizabeth'
are surrounded by the Brooks arms. The coat of

.

arms: on a cross engrailed, per pale, gules, a

sable ; crest : a brock or badger, proper. The bodies

of EichardBrookeand his wife Elizabeth, of White-
church, lie in the old churchyard. Their son,

Thomas, born in 1553-4, married Susan Forster

and died in 1612. Thomas Brooke was a barrister

at law in the Inner Temple and sat for White-
church in the Parliament that summoned to meet
at Westminster, March 19, 1603-4. He was the

elder brother of Lord Eobert Brooke, who re-

ceived the Connecticut grant. Among the chil-

dren of Thomas and Susan Brooke was John
Brooks, who came to America. He was born
in Cheshire, England, in 1615. In 1639 he was a

signer of the first covenant of New Haven. He
was one of the earliest settlers at Wallingford, Con-
necticut, of which New Cheshire was a part, in

1670. He died at Wallingford, Connecticut, in

1690 or 1695, and made his will nine days before

his deatli. William Brooks came as passenger

on tlie MattJiew of London, May 21, 1635, aged

twenty-five years. He was probably a brother of

John Brooks. The latter was married in 1640 to

Sarah Osborn, widow of John Peat, or Peet, who
came to America in the Hopewell. She was a

daughter of Eichard Osboni, of New Haven and

Fairfield, Connecticut. Among their children was

John Brooks, born January 31, 1643. He pur-

chased his first land in Stratford, Connecticut,

March 18, 1678-80. He came from New Haven
with his brother Henry and was at Wallingford

about 1723, later removing to Stratford.

The next in the line of direct descent is Benja-

min Brooks, who was born at Stratford, Connec-

ticut, October 27, 1685, and there died December

30, 17'! 5, at the age of sixty-one years. He was

married March 12, 1712, iii Stratford, to Mary

Fairchild. who was born in Stratford in 1691 and

ihere died in 1740 at the age of forty-nine years.
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They had seven children, the third of whom was
tlie Eev. Thomas Brooks.

The birth of Eev. Thomas Brooke occurred Oc-

tober 26, 1719, at Newtown, Connecticut. lie was
a graduate of Yale College and wiis ordained us

first minister at what was called Newberry So-

ciety, September 28, 1758, the church being gath-

ered at the same time. In 1788 the name was
changed to Brookfield in honor of its first pastor.

It is credited to the memory of good Pastor Brooks
that his ministry continued through a period of

forty-two years. He continued to reside in Brook-

field until his death, which occurred September

13, 1799, when he was eighty years of age. His
first wife, Hannah Lewis, was born at Stratford,

Connecticut, April 15, 1735, and died April 17,

1769, at the age of thirty-four years. He after-

ward married Sarah Burrett. On the headstone

in the ancient cemetery at Newtown, Connecticut,

near the present village of Hawleyville, Fairfield

county, appears this modest record : "In memory
of the Eev. Thomas Brooks, who departed this life

September 13, 1799, aged eighty years. 'Mors
niti vita est.'

"Oh, mortal, wander where you will,

Your destiny is cast.

The rising stone and verdant hill

Proclaim your destiny at last."
r

On the second headstone is inscribed: "Here
lies interred the body of Mrs. Hannah Lewis, first

wife of Thomas Brooks, who died April 17, 1769,
aged thirty-four years. Born 1735." A third

headstone bears the inscription: "Here lies in-

terred Eebecca, the wife of Eev. Thomas Brooks.

Died June 13, 1805, aged seventy-nine years.

Born 1736."

The ancestry of Hannah Lewis, first wife of

Eev. Thomas Brooks, is traced back through. sev-

eral generations. William Lewis, a native of Eng-
land, came to America on the ship Lion, landing

at Boston, September 16, 1632. He settled at

Cambridge and removed to Hartford, Connecticut,
in 1636, becoming one of the original proprietors.

In 1659 he removed to Hadley, Connecticut, and
was representative in 1662 and for Northampton
in 1664. His wife Felix died at Hadley in 1671,
and in 1675 he removed to'Farmington, Connec-
ticut, where he died in 1683 at a very advanced
age.

His only son. Captain William Lewis, was born
in England and came with his father to America
on the Lion in 1632. He lived successively at

Cambridge, Massachusetts, at Hartford and at

Parmington, Connecticut. He was in 1665, 1667
and 1674 approved by the court as captain of the
Farmington Traine Band. He was also deputy
there in 1689 and 1690, the latter year being also

the date of his death. In 1644 he married Mary

Hopkins, daughter of William and Mary (White-

head) Hopkins, at Stratford, Connecticut. After

the death of his first wife Captain William Lewis,

of Farmington, wedded Mary Chocvcr, daughter

of the famous schoolmaster, Bzekiel Cheever. Flo

had ten children by his first marriage and one

son by the second marriage.

Benjamin Lewis, the first of the name at Strat-

ford, Connecticut, was born at Wallingford iii

1650 and removed to Stratford in 1676. He was
married to Hannah Curtice, who was born Febru-

ary 2, 1654, and died at Stratford, Connecticut,

in 1728. She was a daughter of Sergeant John
and Elizabeth (Wells) Curtice. Her father, born

in England in 1613-14, served in the Swamp
fight December 14, 1675, and died December 2,

1707. His wife' died in 1681-2.

Deacon Edmund Lewis, born in Stratford, Con-

necticut, in 1679, died in 1757. He was married

May 21, 1702, at Stratford, to Mary Beach, a

daughter of James Beach and a granddaughter of

John Beach. Mrs. Mary Beach Lewis died in

1756 and Mrs. Sarah Lewis, second wife of Deacon
Edmund Lewis, died in January, 1792. The chil-

dren of the first marriage were: Sarah, born in

1704, thp wife of Ephraim Burrett; Edmund,
born October 3, 1710; Hannah, in 1712; and
Martha in 1716.

Of this family Colonel Edmund Lewis was the

father of' Hannah Lewis Brooks. He was born
in Stratford, Connecticut, October 3, 1710, and
there died May 14, 1757. He was married there

in June, 1729, to Sarah Burrett, who died in

Stratford in June, 1756. Their children were:
Ebenezer Lewis, born March 9, 1730-1 ; Edmund
Lewis, January 4, 1733-4; and Hannah, April 15,

1735. After losing his first wife Colonel Edmund
Lewis wedded Prances Keys, a widow, who died

December 14, 1768.

Samuel Lewis Brooks, son of Eev. Thomas
Brooks and the father of Garry Brooks of Fair-

port, was born in Newtown, Connecticut, in 1753,
and died in Penfield, Monroe county, New York,
January 3, 1849, aged ninety-six years. He set-'

tied at Penfield before 1806. That the Brooks
family were prominent in the pioneer village is

indicated by many of the old records. The first

Presbyterian church there was organized February
7, 1806, with Thomas Brooks, Jr., and Esther
(Burr) Brooks, as among the original fifteen

members. There are no records of pastors pre-

vious to 1816, in which year Lemuel Brooks, son
of Samuel Brooks, was installed, serving to 1829,
while his uncle, Thomas Brooks, Jr., was deacon
of the first church and ruling elder in 1814.
There were forty-one by the name of Brooks par-

ticipated in the Eevolutionary war from Connec-
ticut. Captain Samuel Lewis Brooks was one of
the heroes of the Continental army and com-
manded a battery of artillery under Washington
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at West Point. Lalcr he served under General
Lafayette and was witli tlie latter during the

siege of Yorktown and the surrender of Lord
Cornwallis. He lived to enjoy the fruits of

liberty for more than two-thirds of a century.

His first enlistment in the army in June, 1776,
was for a year, and in June, 1777, he re-cnlisted

for six years. He served as gunner, being dis-

charged in June, 1783, at West Point, New York.
He served under Captain Robert Walker, Captain
Jacob Reed, Colonel Ellmore, of Connecticut, and
Colonel John Lamb. On the 23d of April, 1818,
at the age of sixty-two years, he made application

for a pension, which was allowed. At that date

he was a reMdent of New Milford, Litchfield

county, Connecticut, but in 1824 removed to Mou-
roe county, New York, where he died in 1846. It

is a noteworthy fact that the combined lives of

Rev. Thomas Brooks, the grandfather. Captain
Samuel L. Brooks, the father, and of Garry
Brooks cover the period from 1719 to 1007 of one
hundred and eighty-eight years.

Captain Samuel L. Brooks was married to

Pliebn Beers, who was born in 1761-2 in Dan-
bury, Connecticut, and died January 9, 1848, at

tlie age of eighty-six years in Pcnfield, New York.

They had four children: Lewis, Ijemuel, Ellis

and Garry. Of this family Lewis Brooks, born
in 1793, died at Rochester, August 9, 1877. He
came to Monroe county from Connecticut in 1822
at the age of twenty-nine years. He was exceed-

ingly modest and retiring in disposition and rare-

ly confided his affairs to others. He first engaged
in Rochester in the manufacture of woolen cloth

and later followed merchandising. In 1844, with

Asa Sprague, he built Congress Hall. His in-

vestments were in good railroad and like securi-

ties and he also owned much valued property in

Rochester, his last years being devoted to his in-

vestments and the supervision of his real estate.

He was a great reader, well informed and much
interested in historical and scientific matters. He
never accepted but one office, serving as alderman
in 1827 in the first common council of Rochester.

He was charitable to an eminent degree and al-

most literally followed the precept not to let the

left hand know what the right doeth. His bene-

factions to the poor and needy were almost num-
berless and to different educational institutions

he gave generously, the Lewis Brooks Museum of

Natural Science of the University of Virginia be-

ing named in his honor in recognition of a gift of

one himdred and twenty thousand dollars to the

institution. Rev. Lemuel Brooks, bom in Brook-
field, Connecticut, in 1797, died in Churchville,

New York, September 21, 1881.. His wife, Mrs.

Maria Brooks, died in Rochester. Rev. Brooks

devoted his life to the ministry and to work for

. mankind, and, after the death of their brother

Tvewis, he and his brother, Garry Brooks, eacli

gave twenty-two thousand dollars to complete the
museum in the state of Virginia.

In the maternal line the ancestry of Garry
Brooks can be traced back to Captain Richard
Beers, Jr., who had a brother, James. Both were
residents of Gravesend, County Kent, England,
and James had two sons, James and Anthony. He
was a mariner and died in 1632, after which his
brother. Captain Richard Beers, with the two
sons of James Beers, came to America, locating
at Watertown, Massachusetts. Captain Richard
Beers was an original proprietor of Watertown;
freeman, March 16, 1636-7; selectman, 1644 to
1675; representative thirteen years, 1663 to 1675.
He was a captain in King Philip's war and was
slain by the Indians at Northfield, Massachusetts,
September 4, 1675. His will was probated Oc-
tober 5, 1675, his entire estate to go to his wife
Elizabeth. The eldest of their seven children was
Elnathan Beers, who was born in 1648 and died'

in 1696. In 1681 he married Sarah Tainter, who
was born November 20, 1657. They had five chil-

dren, their eldest son being Elnathan Beers, who
was born February 17, 1680-1. He was married
in 1727-8 to Anna Beach and their third child and
second son was Peter Beers, who was baptized in
April, 1734. The place of his birth was Stratford,
Connecticut, and there he was married April 13,
1758, to Eunice Booth. They had seven children:
Anna, born in 1759 ; Sarah, born June 30, 1760

;

James, April 23, 1762; Rachel, in August, 1764;
Pheba, who was baptized February 18, 1767;
Peter, who was baptized March 21, 1769 ; and Ash-
bel, in April, 1782. It was Pheba Beers of this

family who became the wife of Captain Samuel
Lewis Brooks and the mother of Garry Brooks.

Garry Brooks is today the only survivor of his

father's family. "At' the usual age he became a

public-school student in Connecticut but when
still quite young started out to make his own way
in the world, being but a lad when apprenticed to

a tailor in Litchfield to learn the cutter's trade.

Before he had completed his apprenticeship his

parents removed to western New York and pur-

chased a farm in what is now the town of Pen-
field, Monroe county. When his term of inden-
ture was ended Garry Brooks joined his parents

in western New York, making the journey to this

point by way of the Brie canal. He'landed first

at Pullamtown, a port on the canal between Fair-

port and Rochester and which was then larger

than Fairport. Almost immediately he went to

live with his parents on the farm, where he re-

mained continuously until his retirement from
active life in 1867, since which time his residence

has been in Fairport. He comes of a race in

whom the warlike spirit in defense of honest con-

victions has ever been prominent and the soldier

instinct showed itself in Garry Brooks while he

was yet a boy. Following his removal to Monroe
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county he became identified with a militia com-
pany and rose through various grades, eventually

becoming captain. The soldiery at that time were
termed minutemen from the fact that they were
likely to be called forth at a minute's notice to

enter upon active service. In consequence, it was
necessary for an applicant to pass a government
inspection and examination before he was ad-

mitted to the militia and after his acceptance he

had hard work in learning the manual of arms
and mastering military duties. Four or five times

each year there were "general training days,"

when several companies would assemble at a given

point for further instruction under field officers.

Captain Brooks mastered all the details and it

is said that his company went through its paces

more like regulars than militiamen. It is one of

the Captain's cherished memories that in 1835
he won a silver cup and pitcher for having the

best drilled company in western New York. Tlio

state also presented him with a gold mounted
sword.

It was about this time that Captain Brooks
was united in marriage to Miss Emma Chauncey,
a direct descendant of Charles Chauncey, the cele-

brated president of Harvard College, who died

in 1672. Mrs. Brooks was born and reared in

Connecticut but at the time of her marriage was
living with her parents a short distance west of

Rochester. She remained a faithful companion
and helpmate to her husband for many years but
they were separated by death on the 26th of Octo-

ber, 1889. They had four children, three of whom
survive: Lewis S., who resides on the west side

of Main street at the summit of the hill at the

south end of Fairport; Mrs. Fanny L. Harris and
Mrs. Emma J. Saleno, also of Fairport.

Captain Brooks had two brothers, Rev. T^onnicl

Brooks, of Churchville, and Lewis Brooks, of

Rochester. At the time the construction of what
is now the main line of the New York Central into

Rochester was contemplated, the three brothers

became interested in the project and were instru-

mental in securing most of ihc right of way for

the. proposed railroad between Ropliostcr and the

Wayne county line. The three brothers were also

greatly interested in higher education and gave
liberallv for the support and maintenance of sev-

eral educational institutions, including Oberlin

College, Berea College, the University of Virgina,

Lake Forest University at Lake Forest, Illinois,

Tabor College of Iowa, and also the Auburn Theo-
logical Seminary. Captain Brooks likewise joinctT

with others in building the Penfield Academy and
has ever been a stanch friend of the cause of

education in Monroe county. Moreover, he has

stood for development and improvement along

other lines resulting beneficially to the county and
his efforts have ever been of a practical, resultant

character. Seventy-five years have passed since

Captain Brooks proudly cast his first presidential

vote. He has regarded it as the duty as well

as the privilege of the American citizen to exer-

cise his right of franchise and upon the organiza-

tion of the republican party he championed its

cause and has since been one of its stanch advo-
cates. His is indeed a notable career, not only

by reason of longevity but also by reason of the

fact that there is so little that can be said against

him. No life is absolutely free from mistakes but
none have ever questioned the honesty of his mo-
tives or his fidelity to a course that he lias believed

to be right. He is a broad-minded man, has al-

ways looked upon the world from the bright side of

life, has made the most of his opportunities, has
used his powers to an unusual degree for the

benefit of others, and now in the late evening of

life can look upon the past without regret and to-

ward the future without fear.

When asked what he would most like to say on
the occasion of the one hundredth anniversary of

his birth. Captain Brooks took up a small hymn
book that was published in London, and turning

to one of the hymns said:

"I think that this hymn best expresses my
thoughts at this time." This is the hymn

:

When we survey the wondrous cross

On which the Lord of glory died.

Our richest gain we count but loss.

And pour contempt on all our pride.

Our God forbid that we should boast.

Save in the death of Christ, our Lord

;

All the vain things that charm us most.

We'd sacrifice them at His word.

Thcro from His head, His hands, Ilia feet,

Sorrow and love flowed mingled down;
Did e'er such love and sorrow meet.

Or thorns compose so rich a crown?

Were the whole realm of nature ours.

That were an offering far too small

;

Tiovc that iransccnds our highest power.
Demands our soul, our life, our all.

LEANDER MEAD SHAW.

Leander Mead Shaw, in point of service the
oldest undertaker in the state, was born in Fair-
port, New Yorkf June 1, 1837, and is the onlv
son of Edward H. and Melissa M. (Hall) Shaw.
The father was bom in Hillsdale, New York, in
1804, and came to Fairport in 1835, here learn-
ing the blacksmith's trade. He was engaged in
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this occupation a short time when he began busi-

ness as tiie owner of a livery. A little later he
added to this the undertaking department with
which he was identilled during the active years oC

his life. In politics he was a republican, for many
years holding some local office in Faii"port, where
he was one of the best known and most esteemed
citizens and where he passed away in 1880.

The subject of this sketch was reared in Fair-

port, the village of his birth, and was educated in

the public schools and in the Macedon New York
Academy. In his early years he assisted his father
in the undertaking business, so that when his edu-
cation was finished he took the entire responsibil-

ity of this department. Mr. Shaw's efficiency and
his kindly and sympathetic manner have made his

services as an undertaker very valuable through-
out the county, as is evidenced by the fact that

he has buried over six thousand persons. He is

still living in the same house which his father

built in 1849.

On October 14, 18G7, he was married to Miss
Josephine E. Viovco, of Colntnbus, remisylvania.

She came to Eairport in 18G6 and for two years

was principal oC the high school at this jjlncc, be-

ing the only woman to hold that position. She
has always been connected with educational af-

fairs. For the forty years of their married life

Mr. and Mrs. Shaw have been identified in all the

movements that have contributed to Fairport's

progress. They are interested in its social and
business welfare and have won many friends, who
willingly acknowledge their sterling worth. In
politics Mr. Shaw has given his support to the re-

publican party, and he has served two terms aa

village trustee. He has been repeatedly asked to

run for office, but has always declined. Frater-

nally he is a member of Fairport lodge. No. 476,

A. F. & A. M., which he joined in 1863. He is

also a member of Rochester lodge, A. & A. S. R.

he has the reputation of being an enthusiastic

sportsman and angler and makes two trips an-

nually to the Adirondacks, where he belongs to a

large hunting club.

niLMAN niLL TERKINS.

When death claimed Oilman Hill Perkins on

the 16th of November, 1898, Rochester mourned
the loss of a citizen whom it had long known and

honored, whose life had constituted an integral

chapter in her history and whose memory is cher-

ished as one whose influence was ever on the side

of the city's substantial development and growth

alon^: business, intellectual and moral lines.

He was born in Geneseo, March 4, 1837, and

in the spring of 1832 went to live with his grand-

mother in Bethlehem, Connecticut, owing to the
death of his mother, when he was but four years
of age. Two years later when his father married
again he returned home. He began his educa-
tion in the schools of Connecticut and after re-

turning to Geneseo was for three years a pupil in

the district school there. Between the years 1837
and 1842 he was a student in the Temple Hill

Academy but left school at the age of fourteen

years to enter business life. The first money which
lie ever earned came to him during the periods of

vacation for service in the county clerk's office in

comparing mortgages and deeds for Samuel P.

Allen, afterward a resident of Rochester. He also

folded the Geneseo Republican for Mr. Allen, its

editor, on Saturday afternoons for nearly a year,

for which work he received twenty-five cents per

week. This was long prior to the time when in-

vention attached folders to newspaper presses.

On permanently leaving school at the age of four-

teen years Mr. Perkins entered the book store

of John Turner, where he worked for six months
at twelve shillings per week. He had been in the

store only a few weeks when his employer died and
at the age of fifleen he assumed the management
of the store and was given entire charge for half

a year.

Mr. Perkins arrived in Rochester on the 19th

of March, 1844. He was the possessor of two

suits of clothes and three dollars in money. At
nine o'clock in the evening he had left Geneseo

as passenger on a stage coach, arriving in Roches-

ter at eight o'clock the following morning. Tlic

city was small and of little commercial or indus-

trial importance as compared with its present con-

ditions, but Mr. Perkins saw here the opportunity

for business advancement. He sought and se-

cured employment in the wholesale grocery house

of E. F. Smith & Company, where he remained

until the spring of 1847, when he was compelled

to leave on account of ill health. He then secured

a situation at the "Old Red Mill," owned by

Harry B. Williams. This gave him less arduous

employment and enabled him to spend much time

out of doors in driving about the country buying

wheat. His health improved in this way and in

1848 he re-entered the employ of E. F. Smith &
Company ns clerk, gradually working his way up-

ward until on the Ist of January, 1852, he was

admitted to a partnership in the business. Later

the firm style of Smith & Perkins was assumed and

subsequently that of Smith, Perkins & Company.

At the time of his death Mr. Perkins had for

many years been president of the firm. There was

nothing spectacular in the growth of the business.

It came through laborious effort during the long

years and was one of the marked instances of suc-

cessful business development on the solid basis of

merit. As president Mr. Perkins carefully con-

trolled its interests, watching the markets and
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the indications of trade and ever maintaining a

commercial policy that was unassailable from the

standpoint of integrity and fair dealing.

His efforts were not confined alone to the whole-

sale grocery business, however, for he became a

valued factor in the promotion and conservation

of many leading business enterprises of the city.

In 1879 he was made a trustee of the Rochester

Savings Bank and so continued until his death.

He was an officer and director of the Union Bank
from 1858 and a trustee of the Rochester Trust

& Safe Deposit Company from 1888. Upon the

organization of the Security Trust Company in

1891 he became one of its trustees and was also

a director of the Genesee Valley Railroad and the

Rochester Gas & Electric Company.

When a young man enters into the life of any
community his actions are closely watched as an

indication of character and purposes and his re-

ception in business and social circles is determined

thereby. Mr. Perkins had not long been a resi-

dent of Rochester before the consensus of public

opinion became favorable and throughout the

years he grew in the respect and confidence of his

fellowmen and there was naught in his life to dis-

turb their perfect trust. During the first seven

or eight years of his residence here he attended

the First Presbyterian church and during a part

of that time was a member of the choir. In 1852
he took a seat with John Rochester, William Pit-

kin, Edward Smith and Frederick Whittlesey in

one of the old box pews at one end of the choir

in St. Luke's, where he had his seat until his

marriage. He served as a vestryman of St. Luke's
from 1858 until 1869 with the exception of the

years 1864-5. In 1869 he was chosen a warden of

the church and bo continued until his death. He
was, moreover, deeply interested in the various ac-

tivities of the church and in much charitable and
benevolent work. He served as a trustee of the
State Industrial School, was a trustee of the City
Hospital and also of the Reynolds Library. He
took a deep and public-spirited interest in com-
munity affairs and aided in the furtherance of
various projects for the public good. He was a

member of the Hemlock water works commissi6n,
which furnished the city its first pure water sup-
ply, and in 1892 he was chosen a presidential

elector on the republican tielcet. He was a mem-
ber and one of the founders of the Genesee Val-
ley Club and at one time served as its president.

In 1856 Mr. Perkins was united in marriage to
Miss Caroline Erickson, a daughter of Aaron
Erickson, and theirs was largely an ideal home
life. They became the parents of four sons and
four daughters and the following still survive:
Erickson and Gilman N., who are prominent busi-
ness men of Rochester; Carolyn, now Mrs. Thorn-
ton Jeflrees ; Berenice, Mrs. H. V. W. Wiekes ; and
Gertrude, Mrs. John Craig Powers.

Mr. Perkins ever held friendship inviolable,

while the best traits of his character were reserved

for his own fireside. At his death expressions of

regret were heard on every hand tlfroughont

Rocliester and wherever he was known and resolu-

tions of respect were adopted by the trustees of

the Rochester Savings Bank, the directors of the

Union Bank, the trustees of the Union Trust
Company, of the Rochester Trust & Safe Deposit

Company and of the vestry of St. Luke's church,

with which he had been identified for more than
forty years. While he was a remarkably success-

ful business man and contributed in large measure
to Rochester's advancement in this direction, it

was his own personal traits of character, his kind-

lin,ess, his geniality, his consideration and his un-
faltering honor that endeared him so closely to

those who knew him. "Not the good that comes
to us but the good that comes to the world througli

us is the measure of our success," and judged in

this way Gilman Hill Perkins was pre-eminently

a successful man.

WILBER J. MANDEVILLE.

Wilber J. Mandeville, deceased, was bom in

Webster, Monroe county, New York, in 1852, and
was a son of Edward Mandeville. He was reared
in. Rochester and completed his education in De
Graff Military School. Throughout his entire life

he was connected with the seed business, Rochester
largely being a center for that line of commercial
activity in the United States. He bought out

the business of John Boardman in 1875 and ad-

mitted in 1879 his brother-in-law, Herbert S.

King, to a partnership, under the firm style of

Mandeville & King. This relation was maintained
until the death of Mr. King in 1890, when he
foi-med a partnership with Fred A. King under
the same firm name. A few months before his
deatli, in 1902, the business was incorporated un-
der the name of the Mandeville & King Company,
which still continues. Mr. Mandeville secured a
veiy liberal patronage and prospered in his under-
dertakings, using every energy to enlarge his busi-
ness and make it a prosperous concern. He was
only a child at the time of his father's death and
was early thrown upon his own resources, so that
he deserved much credit for what he accomplished.

Mr. Mandeville was married in 1876 to Miss
Harriet King, a daughter of Jonathan King, who
came to Rochester in 1825 from Massachusetts.
Her mother was Sarah Sibley King, of Brighton.
Her father settled on Sophia street in Rochester
and cleared the land there, for at that time it was
swampy. He continued to make his home upon
that place throughout his remaining days and
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contributed in large measure to the substantial

upbuilding of tlie city. His daughter, Mrs. Man-
deville, is the only member of the family now
living. By her marriage she became the mother
of three children, Edna King, Lois Sibley and Ar-
thur .Wilber.

In his political views Mr. Mandcville was a re-

publican, and he belonged to St. Luke's church
at Eocliester, in which he served as a vestryman.

His life was in many respects exemplary and he
enjoyed in large measure the confidence and es-

teem of those with whom he came in. contact. In
his business career he was found thoroughly relia-

ble and trustworthy, and all who knew him recog-

nized in him the inherent force of character and
capability which enabled him to advance from a

humble financial position to one of affluence.

VALENTINE F. WHITMOEE.

Valentine F. AVhitmore is the president and
founder of the firm of Whitmore, Eauber & Vici-

nus, most prominent general conti'actors of

Eochester. In the present age it is the tendency

to systematize all business interests to such an
extent that a single individual is now at the head

of industrial, commercial and financial interests

which would have required fifty or perhaps a hun-
dred men a half century ago to manage and con-

trol. It is the accomplishment of maximum re-

sults with minimum eilort, the utilizing every

force without waste and the employment of espe-

cially skilled labor for specific duties that has

made the present condition possible. With the

growth and progress that has been manifest in

business circles during the past third of a century

or more Valentine P. Whitmore has kept fully

abreast and in fact has been a leader in this move-

ment toward Ihc centralization of management
and control. He is, as president of the firm of

AVhitmore, Eauber & Vicinus, employing hundreds

of workmen in the execution of contracts which

makes their business the most extensive of the

character in Eochester and western New York.

Mr. Whitmore is a native of Germany, born

September 17, 1844, and at the age of five years

came from the fatherland to the new world, the

family home being established in Syracuse, where

he acquired the major part of his education. In

1859 he started out to earn his own livelihood,

being employed as water boy on public works in

Syracuse. At the age of eighteen he came to

Eochester and later became superintendent of con-

struction on the canal and received a contract to

repair the Erie canal. Ho worked on the canal

for the late Lewis Selye until 18G8, when he es-

tablished the contract business, which under his

guidance and the assistance of able associates has
grown into one of the mammoth industrial enter-

prises of the city. He continued to do contracting
alone for a time and on January 1, 1875, organ-
ized the firm of Whitmore, Eauber & Vicinus,
with the late John Eauber and William Vicinus,
which is now a stock company, with Valentine F.
AVhitmore as president; Jolyi N. Eauber as vice

president; Lewis S. Whitmore as treasurer; Wil-
liam H. Vicinus as secretary ; and Charles S. Eau-
ber and Walter V. Whitmore as shareholders. All
are equal shareholders. The rapid growth and
development of the business has necessitated the
enlargement of the force of workmen from time to

time until they now employ about seven hundred
men. They have been awarded and have executed
some of the largest contracts in the city, princi-

pally in street improvements. Their contracts in-

clude the Rochester water works conduit, which
is twenty-six and one-half miles long and three

feet four inches in diameter, six hundred men
having been employed by the firm in its

construction. They are fortunate in- owning
their own limestone quarry, for their prin-

cipal work is street and sewer contracting, cut

stone and masons' supplies and interior marble
work. Mr. Whitmore is president and manager of

the Eochester German Brick & Tile Company and
a stockholder of the .Columbia Banking, Saving
& Loan Association, of which he was at one time
president, one of the organizers and founders.

On the 21st of February, 1867, Valentine P.

Whitmore was united in marriage to Miss Eunice

L. Haight, and unto them were born three sons

and a daughter: Lewis S. and Walter V., both
()[' whom are married and have one son; Eunice,

now the wife of William H. Vicinus, by whom
she has two sons; and Homer G., who is also mar-
ried and has one son. All of the family are con-

nected with the business, the sons being active

therewith and widely recognized, as able, enter-

prising and succcssCul business men.

In his political views Valentine F. Whitmore is

a stalwart republican and has been somewhat

active in local political circles. He formerly

served for four years as school commissioner and

[or four years as alderman, and while he takes an

active part in the city's welfare and upbuilding

and in municipal progress and improvement, giv-

ing his influence in support of progressive

public measures and lending his aid in sub-

stantial way to furthering the plans for the

city's development, he yet prefers to hold no

])ublic office, desiring rather to concentrate his

time and energies upon his extensive business.

He is a director in the Merchants Bank and Gene-

see Valley Trust Company and in other financial

and industrial enterprises, having made judicious

investment in different business concerns.
.
His

attention, however, is largely given to the exten-
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sive contracting business which had its' origin

in his laudable ambition and well defined plans

and which owes its development in substantial

measure to his executive force, keen discrimina-

tion and utilization of opportunities. Prom early

youth he has been one of the world's workers and
his success, so great as to seem almost magical, is

attributable direetly.to his own labors.

Lewis S. Whitmore, eldest son of Valentine' F.

Whitmore, and treasurer of the firm of Whitmore,
Eauber & Vicinus, was born in Eochester, Janu-
ary 21, 1869. After attending public school No.
13 he became a high-school student, and he contin-

ued his education until, eager to become a factor

in business life, he went to work with his father,

remaining with the firm as an employe until ad-

mitted to a partnership in business under the

present firm style of Whitmore, Eauber & Vicinus.

As financial manager of the enterprise he has

contributed to its splendid success and in business

circles in Eochester has won for himself a most
enviable name.

Lewis S. Whitmore was married in this city in

1896 to Miss Harriet E. De Garmo, and they now
have one son, Lewis S., in his second year. They
also lost two children in infancy. In his political

views Lewis S. Whitmore, Sr., is a stalwart repub-

lican and has served as general committeeman of

the thirteenth ward, taking an active interest in

promoting the work of the party and in shaping
its policy, so that success may be gained at the

polls. He is a member of the Congregational

church and an active representative of the Eoches-

ter Club. He is a broad-minded young man who,
though concerned with the management of enoi--

mous business interests, has not narrowed his life

down to the routine of daily duty in this connec-

tion but has found the opportunity to meet his

fellowmen on social and political planes, con-

etantly broadening his nature by reaching out into

those fields of thought and action which concern

the general progress of the world and the trend of

public advancement.

EEV. ISAAC.GIBBAED, D. D.

Eev. Isaac Gibbard, who now holds superan-

nuate relations with the church, but for many years

was one of the active and prominent repre-

sentatives of the Methodist ministry in New York,
makes his home in Eochester and is still a force

in the moral development of the community and
in those departments of activity which uplift hu-
manity and work for the betterment of various
classes.

He was born in Buckinghamshire, England,
September 11, 1833, his parents being Thomas

and Maria (Kibble) Gibbard, both of whom were
natives of England. Their family numbered four

sons and one daughter, including Dr. Gibbard, who
was brought to the United States by his parents

in 1836, the family home being established in

Middletown, Connecticut, where he was reared.

On the 11th of April, 1852, he was convertid

during a powerful revival held by Eev B. I. Ives,

at Auburn, New York, in the Methodist Epis-

copal church, of whicli the Eev. David Holmes
was pastor. This was on the 22d of August, 1853,

and his life has been devoted to Christian work

in its various phases. Ho began his study for the

ministry in Auburn Academy under Professor

William Hopkins, subsequently professor of nat-

ural science in- Genesee College, at Lima, New
York. On the 23d of January, 1854, he received

license to exhort from the Eev. A. J. Dana, of

Auburn, and on the 9th of May, 1854, ho was

enrolled as a student in Genesee Wesleyan Semi-

nary at Lima, New York, to prepare for college.

On the 28th of August, 1855, he became a fresh-

man in Genesee College, at Lima, and on the 1st

of May, 1856, was licensed as a local preacher at

the quarterly conference of the Methodist church,

at Lima, Eev. Philo Woodruff, pastor, and Eev.

Loren Stiles, P. E.

On the 11th of July, 1856, Dr. Gibbard was

awarded the prize of merit in the declamation

contest between six students of the freshmen and

six of the sophomore classes. This was the presi-

dent's prize and first given at Genesee College,

now Syracuse University. The same oratorical

ability which he then displayed has always char-

acterized Dr. Gibbard in his work in the min-

istry and upon the lecture platform and has been

one of the potent elements in his success. On the

34th of August, 1857, during his junior ^year in

college he was appointed by the Eev. U. S. George,

P. E., to supply a charge at Eush, New York, and

in August, 1858, during his senior year in col-

lege, and in the conference held at Corning, New
York, he was re-appointed to supply the charge at

Eush. In June, 1859, he was graduated from
Genesee College, at Lima, with the degree of

Bachelor of Arts, and on the 14th of August of

the same year at the conference held in Trumans-
burg, New York, he was ordained deacon by

Bishop Simpson and appointed to a charge at

Naples, New York, in 1859. His labors there

resulted in the conversion of over one hundred.

On leaving Naples at the close of the conference

year he was appointed to the Cornhill Methodist

Church in Eochester.

Soon after entering upon his life work as a

minister of the gospel. Dr. Gibbard also chose a

companion and helpmate for life's journey, being

married on the 2d of November, 1859, to Miss

Louisa Smith, the only daughter of Dr. Socrates



10 V ISAAC GIBBAHl).





HISTORY OF ROCHESTEE AND MONROE COUNTY. 615

Smith, of Rush, New York. They have become
the parents of four daughters: Emma M. and
Louise Elizabeth, at home; Belle, the wife of

Percy R. McPhail, president of the Merchants
Bank of Rochester; and Josephine May, the wife

of George W. Riley, of this city.

In 1861 Dr. Gibbard was appointed to the

church at Dansville, New Yorlc, and re-appointed

to tliat charge in 1862; on the 17th of July of

the latter year the degree of Master of Arts was
conferred upon him by Wesleyan University, at

Middletown, Connecticut; on the 9th of April,

1863, he was appointed chaplain of the One Hun-
dred and Forty-third Regiment of New York
State Volunteers; on the 9th of September of the

same year at the conference held at Penn Yan he

was ordained an elder by Bishop L. Scott and. ap-

pointed to the charge at Burdette, New York; on

the 6th of April, 1864, he entered upon the duties

of professorship and acting president of the East

Genesee Conference Seminary at Ovid, New York,

having been elected to that position by the trustees

with the approval of the presiding elder of the dis-

trict, Rev. S. L. Congdon. On the 30th of August,

1865, at the conference held in Waterloo, New
York, he was appointed to the church at Rush,

and when conference convened in Newark, New
York, on the 29th of August, 1866, he asked and

received a vacation for the purpose of study and

travel in Europe. During the three succeeding

years he studied in Berlin, Halle and Zurich and

traveled in various parts of Europe, in Egypt and

in Palestine, during which time he acted as cor-

respondent for several New York journals. His

knowledge was greatly broadened, not only by his

research, study and investigation in the old world,

but also by the acquirement of that knowledge

which comes almost without effort to those who
travel. Following his return to America he served

in 1869, 1870 and 1871 as pastor of the Methodist

Episcopal church at Phelps, New York, being re-

appointed for tlic second and third years. The
year 1873 brought him the honorary degree of Mas-
ter of Arts from Syracuse University and in the

same year he was appointed to the church at Sen-

eca Falls, receiving a re-appointment in 1873. In

1874, owing to nervous prostration brought on

thvougli overwork, he was srantcd supcrannuni^

relations, wliich he still holds. His deep interest

in tlic church and the various phases of its work
hns never abated in the sU?htest degree and his

zeal has been manifest in many wavs in behalf of

the cause of Methodism and the Christianizins; of

the world. In 1874 he wns elected orator of the

Alumni Association of Syracuse Universitv and

six years later, in 1880, that institution conferred

upon him the degree oT Doctor of Divinity; in

1880-81 he was president of the Alumni Associa-

tion of Syracuse University and delivered the ad-

dress of welcome at the inauguration of Chan-
cellor C. N. Sims; in 1882 he was elected Alumni
president to fill out the unexpired term of Ross
Clark Scott and was again chosen, continuing in
that position for six years ; in 1883 there came to
him from Governor Grover Cleveland appointment
as manager of the State Industrial School and by
successive governors he has been re-appointed until

lie received the following letter, headed, "State of
New York, Executive Chambers. Albany, Janu-
ary 22, 1906. Rev. Isaac Gibbard, D. D., Roches-
ter, New York. My Dear Dr. Gibbard: I have
your letter of January 12, relative to retirement
from the board of managers of the State Industrial

School. I regret exceedingly that you are com-
pelled to take this action, but of course if you in-

sist I suppose I shall be obliged to accede to

your wishes in the matter and accept your resig-

nation. I am yours very truly, Frank W. Hig-
gins."

From 1892 Dr. Gibbard was by annual elec-

tion of the board of managers of the State Indus-
trial School, consisting of fifteen members, chosen
its president and acted in that capacity until the

acceptance of his resignation as indicated above.

In 1903 he was appointed by the legislature a

member of the commission, consisting of the gov-

ernor, the comptroller, the state architect, the

president of the state board of trustees and the

president of the board of managers of the State

Industrial School, to select and purchase' a state

farm, consisting of fourteen hundred acres, for a

new f^rm site for the State Industrial School, the

purchase being effected on the 12th of December,

1903.

Dr. Gibbard has been a resident of Rochester

since May, 1874, and in 1876 he erected his pres-

ent commodious and beautiful brick residence at

No. 606 West avenue—at that time a pioneer home
in that section of the city, which, however, is now
closely built up around him. His home, however,

still ranks as one of the best in the neighborhood.

Dr. Gibbard is a member of the Genesee Methodist

Episcopal conference and a member of the quar-

terly conference and the West Avenue Methodist

Episcopal church. He had formerly been a mem-
ber of the First Methodist church, but after the

organization of the new congregation as the West

Avenue church he placed his membership therein

in order to assist in building up the society, to

which he has given six thousand dollars. To
those who read between the lines it is a self-evident

fact that Dr. Gibbard is a man of scholarly attain-

ments and one who throughout his entire life has

been actuated by the highest principles and pur-

poses. His influence has never been of a restricted

order nor has he been denied the full harvest of his

labors. He has ever been a close and earnest

student of the great sociological and economic as
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well as theological problems and holds advanced

views upon many subjects which concern the up-

lifting of humanity. He has ever used practical

methods in working toward tl\o ideal, whicli Imve

found their proof in his effective work in connec-

tion with the State Industrial School.

GEOEGE W. AECHEE.

While a large percentage of Rochester's business

men have been attracted to this city by reason

of its pulsing industrial conditions and broad op-

portunities or have become factors in its active

life in recent years there are also found among
the prominent representatives of commercial and

financial interests those who have been identified

with the city through long years and have n,ot

only been witnesses of its growth from a small

town to a city of metropolitan proportions but

have been factors in its yearly development and

progress. Such a one is George Washington

Archer, who was born in Eochester, February 8,

1837. The family is of English lineage and the

parents of our subject were John and Elizabeth

Archer, the former reared in Cheltenham,

Gloucestershire, and the latter in Coventry, War-
wickshire, England: There were three sons and

five daughters of the family and three of the sis-

ters of Mr. Archer are still living. The father

was a contractor and builder and followed that

occupation in New York city following his emi-

gration to the United States in 1831. In 1834 he

became a resident of Eochester, which at that time

had not yet emerged from villagehood, and here

he carried on business as a contractor and builder

until 1857, erecting many of the substantial struc-

tures of an early day. He died in 1873 at the age

of seventy years, while his wife survived until

1876 and passed away at the age of seventy-five.

At the usual age George W._ Archer became a

pupil in the public schools of Eochester and sub-

sequently was graduated from Eastman's Business
College. When a youth of seventeen he began
learning the carpenter's trade in his father's

shop, and following the father's retirement in

1857 he entered the emplov of his elder brother,

Eobert W. Archer, who had purchased the patent
of a dental chair. In August, 1863, he accepted

a position as bookkeeper at Petroleum Center,

Pennsylvania, where he remained until June, 1864,
after which he conducted a machine shop at Tan-
Farm on Oil creek, Pennsylvania, until 1868,
when the ill health of his brother caused him to

return to Eochester. He then took up the

brother's business of manufacturing dental and
barbers' chairs and hps since continued in this

line. The business was conducted under the firm

style of R. W. Archer & Brother until 1873, when

the senior partner died and George W. Archer

was then alone until January 1, 1881, when he ad-

mitted his brother, John W., to a partnersliip

under the firm style of George W. Arciher & Com-
l)uny. On the 1st of January, 1881, the Archer
Manufacturing Company was incorporated and to

the present time George W. Archer has been its

president. The output of the factory, which is

located at No. 9 North Water street, is barber,

dentist and surgeons' chairs and piano stools,

which are largely the result of tJio inventive

genius of the president.

A man of resourceful business ability, Mr.
Archer has extended his efforts into various other

departments of activity with equally good results

He has been heavily interested in oil production

in Pennsylvania and from 1883 until 1884 was
president of the Eochester Gas & Electric Com-
pany, of which he had previously served as treas-

urer. He was vice president of the Eochester

Pullman Sash Balance Company and treasurer of

the Vulcanite Paving Company and was presi-

dent of the suburban railroad until it was sold.

He has also been on the directorate of various

other important business enterprises of the city

which have benefited by his wise counsel and keen
discernment in business affairs.

In 1865 Mr. Archer was married to Miss
Augusta McClurc. He is a member of the Ma-
sonic fraternity, is president of the Eochester
Driving Park Association, and is a prominent
member of the Genesee Valley Club and the
Eochester Whist Club. His political views were for-

merly in accord with the principles of the demo-
cratic party and he served as alderman of the city

from 1882 until 1884, while in 1886 he was can-
didate for mayor. He is at the present time affili-

ated with no political organization. Matters of
citizenship aside from politics receive his earnest
attention and his co-operation has been given, to

many progressive public movements. He stands
today as one of the foremost citizens of Rochester
by reason of his long residence here, by reason
of his active, honorable and successful connection
with its business interests and by reason of the
helpful part which he has taken in promoting
those plans and measures that have been of direct-

benefit to the citv.

FREDERICK C. LAUER.

Frederick C. Lauer was born in Rochester, New
York, August 17, 1845, his parents being Frederick
C. and Margaret Elizabeth (Walter) Lauer, nat-
tives of Prussia, Germany, and of France, re-

spectively. In 1833, when a youth of eleven
years, Frederick C Lauer, Sr., came to America
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witli liis parents, Mr. and Mrs. Christian Lauer,
who located on Brown street in Rochester, while

subsequently they removed to Grove street, where
they spent their remaining days. Christian Lauer
followed the shoemaker's trade for some years and
afterward worked as a stone-mason. His death
occurred when he had reached the age of eighty-

two, and his wife passed away at the age of

eighty-tlirce. They were the parents of six sons

and two daughters, of whom one is yet living:

Margaret, the wife of Christian Frank.

Frederick C. Lauer, Sr., was reared to manhood
in Rochester and learned the mason's trade, in

which line he began contracting after he attained

his majority. Subsequently he became a street

contractor and constructed a number of the streets

in Rochester. He always took a commendable in-

terest in public affairs, especially along educa-

tional lines, and for two years was a member of the

school board. He also figured in military circles

as a member of the state militia and his political

allegiance was given to the whig party until its

dissolution, when he joined the ranks of the n.ew

republican party. He held membership in Val-

ley lodge, F. & A. M., and both he and his wife

were members of the Lutheran church. His

death occurred in 1895, when he was seventy-five

years of age, while his wife passed away in 1876

at the age of fifty-four years. In their family

were seven children, four sons and three daugh-

ters, of whom five are living : Frederick C. ; Caro-

line C, the wife of George F. Tichenor, of Man-
chester, Kansas; Adelia and Amelia, twins, the

former the wife of Frederick Wanamacher, of .

Rochester, and the latter the widow of a Mr.

Koerner, of Rochester; and Edward C, a railroad

contractor of this city.

Frederick C. Lauer, whose name introduces

this record, has spent his entire life in Rochester,

and is indebted to its public school system for

the educational privileges he acquired. He began

working for his father at the age of fifteen years,

learning the mason's trade, a;nd eventually taking

up contract work as his father's partner. After

his father's death he continued the business alone

until 1906, when he admitted his sons, Walter F.

and George W., to a partnership under the firm

name of F. C. Lauer & Sons, and in 1907 the com-

pany was incorporated under the firm style of

F. C. Lauer & Sons Company. There stand as

moniiments to his skill and enterprise a number

of the fine buildings of Rochester, and in asso-

ciation with S. W. Hagaman, under the firm name

of Lauer & Hagaman, he was extensively engaged

in business as street and sewer contractors. The

firm during its existence did most of the important

work of tliat charnctcr in the city. Mr. Lauor

also became president of the Vulcanide Paving

Company, which was organized in 1888, and does

most of the asphalt paving of Rochester. He as-

sisted in organizing the Rochester Lime Com-
pany and succeeded Horace May in. the presi-

dency. He likewise owns some valuable farming
property in this county and extensive land hold-

ings near the Montezuma marshes, between Clyde
and Savannah.

On the.20th of November, 1873, Frederick C.

Lauer was married to Miss Christine Steinhauser,

a daughter of Jacob and Barbara (Smith) Stein-

hauser. They became the parents of three sons:

Walter F., Edward T. and George W. The sec-

ond died in infancy. Walter F. -married Amanda
Strauchen and they have four children: Edwin
S., Frederick Charles, Franklin Albert and Eliza-

beth Elsie. George W. married Fannie A. McAl-
lister and they have one daughter, Christine

Frances. The sons are now associated with their

father in business and are enterprising young
men.

Mr. Lauer is not unknown in military circles

and for a number of years served as captain of

Company G of the 'New York National Guard.

He and his wife are members of the Church of

the Reformation, with which he became identified

on its organization. He belongs to Valley lodge.

No. 109, F. & A. M.; Ionic chapter, R. A. M.;
Monroe commandery, K. T. ; and has attained the

thirty-second degree of the Scottish rite in Roches-

ter consistory. He is likewise a charter member
of Koerner lodge of Odd Fellows and of the

Knights of Calvin. His political allegiance is

given to the republican party, and he has been

called to various local offices, having served at

different times as supervisor, alderman, school

commissioner, member of the executive board and

member of the board of health. He has never

been a public man in the ordinary sense. He has

held some offices, the duties of which have been

discharged with the utmost fidelity and prompt-

ness. Aside from this, however, through the busi-

ness enterprises he has conducted the public has

been a large indirect beneficiary and at the same

time he has exerted his influence as a strong,

steady, moving force in the social, moral and in-

dustrial advancement of the community. A con-

temporary biographer has said: "His strict in-

tegrity and honorable dealing in business com-

mend him to the confidence of all ; his pleasant

manner wins him friends and be is one of _ the

popular and honored residents of his native city."

JAMES E. WOLCOTT.

James E. Wolcott, whose sudden death at Nor-

folk, Virginia, November 24, 1906, caused a feel-

ing of wide-spread regret in Rochester, in which

city he was a life-long resident, was born in the

year 1850, his parents being G. P. and Caroline
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Wolcott. The public schools of Eochester afforded

him his early educational privileges, and he also

attended Professor Satterlee's school. When twen-
ty-one years of age he entered the distilling busi-

ness and .was active in the managomcnt of the

James B. Wolcott & Company distillery at the

corner of Clarissa and Wolcott streets. _ He con-

tinued in that until 1901, when he disposed of-

his interests to the New York & Kentucky Com-
pany. Pot a number of years he had been con-

nected with the financial interests of the city and
was a director of "the Genesee Valley Trust Com-
pany and of the Traders National Bank. His
opinions regarding financial and other business

matters were considered sound and his ideas con-

cerning management and expedience were often

received as conclusive.

Mr. Wolcott was married in Eochester in 1874
to Miss Ida J. Chase, and unto them were born
three children: C. J. and G. B., both of Eoches-

ter; and Mrs. P. E. Clawson, of Ridgeway, Penn-
sylvania. Mr. Wolcott was a great lover of a

thoroughbred horse and always owned one or two.

He was connected with the- Gentlemen Drivers'

Association and greatly delighted in a brush on
the Eochester speedway, in which he was inter-

ested. He became a well known figure there and
the statement that any horse belonged to James B.

Wolcott was sufficient guarantee of its worth
and highbred qualities.

In Masonry he was prominent, belonging to

Eochester lodge. No. 660, P. & A. M.; the Mon-
roe commandery, K. T. ; and to the consistory,

in which he attained the thirty-second degree of

the Scottish rite. His life was in harmony with
the spirit of the craft. He possessed -a social,

genial nature, which won him warm friendships.

His death resulted suddenly of apoplexy at Nor-
folk, Virginia, when he was fifty-six years of age.

His loss was felt in business circles as well as

among his many friends, he having a very wide
acquaintance in Eochester, of which city he was
a life-long resident.

THOMAS 0. SWANSON.

The business interests which claim the time and
energies of Thomas' 0. Swanson are now quito

extensive and important and his life history is

worthy of mention because of the fact that his

advancement and his success are attributable en-
tirely to his own labors. He is a native of Swe-
den, bom November 27, 1856. His father, Swen
Larson, was born in Sweden in 1820, while the

mother, Mrs. Alice Larson, also opened her eyes

to the light of day in the same country and in

the same year. Thomas 0. Swanson had but lim-

ited educational privileges, for he attended school

only three weeks after coming to the new world.

He crossed the Atlantic at the age of seventeen

years, arriving in the month of May, having been

attracted by the excellent reports which he hearil

concerning the favorable business opportunities

in the United States. He was first employed at

day labor on the Titusville Eailroad in Pennsyl-

vania, but after three weeks of strenuous toil he

was stricken with typhoid fever. Having no
funds, he was dependent upon the county's aid

during his illness of six weeks, but after his re-

covery he resumed work on the railroad, being as-

signed to the section gang. Later he went to Hor-
nell, where he worked as a stone-mason and event-

ually he entered the employ of a banker. At a
later date he made his way to the Pennsylvania
woods, working in a sawmill, and iipon his return

to New York he settled in Orleans county, work-
ing by the month in the summer season, while in

the winter he cleared land for different parties.

He then returned to his native country, where he
continued for a year and a half, but became
satisfied that he preferred America as a place of

residence, knowing that he could enjoy better

business opportunities in a land where effort is

not hampered by caste or class. Upon his return
to America he brought with him fifteen of his

countrymen and by taking charge of the party he
made his own transportation and also some extra
money.

When he had again arrived in the new world
. Mr. Swanson took up farm work, eagerly availing
himself of every opportunity that led to businesh
development and growth. Pie afterward went upon
the road with a wagon, selling groceries, dry
goods, notions and other commodities. He was
thus busily engaged for about five years and
eventually he worked into the business of buying
and selling farm produce. For the last fifteen
years he has handled small fruits produced in the
town of Hamlin and is conducting the only busi-
ness of the kind there. Tic makes extensive ship-
ments to all parts of the country, and, in fact, is

carrying on a very large and profitable business,
in which connection he has become well known
from the -Atlantic

: to Chicago. He handles im-
mense quantities of small fruits and through his
own labors has developed his business to its pres-
ent extensive and profitable proportions. He is

also one of the directors of the Hamlin Tele-
phone Company, in which he holds considerable
stock.

,

.
,

In the year 1883 Mr. Swanson was married to
Miss Anna Eeyburn, who was born in Clarkson,
New York, in 1830. They have become the
parents of three daughters: Alice, born in Au-
gust, 1885; and Florence and Grace, twins, born
in 1887. The daughters have been students in
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tlio llillou liigli scliool and Imve mIso lyusiicd

their stiKlics in the Rochester Business Institute.

In his political views Air. Swanson is a stal-

wart republican, and is now serving as one of

the town committeemen. He has several times

been called to act as a Juror and in community
aiTairs he manifests the same stalwart spirit of

progress which characterizes him in his business

life. Fraternally he is prominent, being connected

with the Masons, the Maccabees and the Legion,

carrying insurance in the two last named. His
religious faith is that of the Methodist churcli

and it has been one of the elements of ,an upright,

honorable career, for throughout his entire life

his course has been actuated by high principles.

He has always endeavored to be just in his busi-

ness rclntions and honest nt all timwi, and wherever

he is known ho is rospcoted.

CHARLES S. BAKER.

Charles S. Baker, a man of broad jnind, of

kindly purposes and high ideals, with whom con-

tact meant elevation and expansion, passed away
on the 21st of April, 1903. Such was the force

of his character, the strength of his mentality and
the breadth of his nature that the news of his

demise came witli a sense of personal bereave-

ment to the great majority of those who had
known him. He had friends among the promi-

nent and the lowly, the rich and the poor, through-

out the entire coiinliy. All who know hiiu re-

spected him, but in Rochester, where he was best

known,, he was loved as few men are loved.

A native of Churchville, Monroe county, Mr.

Baker was born on the 18th of February, 1839,

the youngest son of James and Catherine Baker,

the former a carriage manufacturer, who eanio

from England in an early day. In the village

schools Charles S. Baker acquired his early edu-

cation. Said one who knew him well: "His

liaren.ts bequeathed to him the riches of virtuous

training and example, a happy temperament, high

aspirations, untiring energy and a love of right-

eousness for its own sake. The fruitage of these

qualities during all his years brightened, stimu-

lated and blessed not only his own life but the

lives of a great multitude of his fellows, brought

into close or even casual relation/ship with him."

After a struggle in his youth to secure an aca-

demic education, he was sent to the Caryville Col-

legiate Seminary in 18ii4 and the following year

was cnleved as a p\ii)il in the Genesee Wesleynn

Scniiiwiry in Limn, New ^'ork. During the win-

ter of 1857-8 he taught school in Lerov. Comir.o;

to Rochester to study law in the spring of 18-58,

he accepted a position in tjie law ollice of Dan-
fortn & 1'err)', where he remained until his admis-
sion to the bar in December, 1860. He was a very

successful attorney of Rochester for many years,

displaying keen analytical power, logical reason-

ing and clear deductions in the practice of his

chosen profession. His first partner was John H.
Jeffries and in later years he was associated with
bis son, William J. Baker, having an office in the

Powers block at the time of his death. He pre-

pared his cases with great thoroughness and care

and his legal learning was manifest in the strong

presentation of his cause before the courts.

Mr. Baker had been engaged in practice for

only a brief period when the Civil war was inaug-

urated. Hardly had the smoke from Fort Sum-
ter's guns cleared away when at the first call for

volunteers for the TJjiion army he olfered his

services to the government, enlisting in April,

1861, as a member of Company E, Twenty-seventh

Regiment of New York Infantry. He went to the

front as first lieutenant and the first battle in

which he participated was the first battle at Bull

Run, in wliich he was so disabled as to necessitate

his return home. He then resuined the practice

of law and when not serving in the general assem-

bly of New York or in congress he was continu-

ously connected with the work of the courts. He
never regarded his oath on being admitted to the

bar to support the constitution of the Union and

the constitution of the state and to discharge the

dutifes of his profession to the best of his ability

as a formal matter but as a solemn vow, which

he sacredly kept.

At a meeting of the members of the Monroe

county bar held to lake action on the death of

Mr. Baker it was said: "As a lawyer he was

well read, skillful and adroit. His office was a

model of method, order and neatness. It was as

an office lawyer that he excelled. The antagonisms,

th° contentions, the contradictions, the disputes,

the personalities, the ill temper and the friction

which sometimes accompany a litigated practice

had no charms for him. His superiority was

seen in his office when in personal contact with

his clients and his associates at the bar. The
courtesy with which he treated every one was one

of his marked characteristics. He did not en-

courage needless litigation. He sought to har-

monize difEerences, to bring men together, and

took the broadest view of his duty toward his

clients. No one who came into connection with

him as a lawyer failed to honor him for his

broad spirit, for his firm integrity and for hi=

elevated conception of +he trust reposed in him
as an attorney and counselor, visited by one in

distroFS or in trouble ami in search of advice. As

a friend he knew no faHering. Those who knew

him well, who were admitted into the inner circle

of his life, cnme to sec in, him noble qualities
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of mind and heart, which will always cause them
to remember the man, Charles S. Baker, with af-

fectionate regard."

As the years passed Mr. Raker became recog-

nized as one of the distinguished members of the

republican party of New York. In youth, as in

maturer manhood, his broad and sympathetic

nature led to his cordial identification with the

party in its struggles to prevent the further

extension of slavery and enlarge the area of free-

dom. He was never narrow or intolerant in his

partisanship, but cordially recognized patriotism

and merit under whatever name they were found.

He took great interest in the questions and issues

of the day, giving careful study to such, and his

firm support of his honest convictions led him to

become an influential factor in republican ranks.

He was supervisor of the eleventh ward for two
years and of the ninth (now the tenth) wai'd for

four years. At one time he was president of the

board of education and served for two terms as

school commissioner. During the years 1879,,
1880 and 1883 he was a member of the New York
state assembly, and for the years 1884 and 1885
was an active and influential member of the state

senate. From that position ho was transferred
to the larger fleld of action in Washington, being
elected by large majorities to the forty-ninth, flf-

tieth and fifty-first congresses. As a member of
the house of representatives he served upon some
of the most important committees, especially dis-

tinguishing himself as chairman of the commit-
tee on commerce when six new states asked for and
gained admission to the Union. No man who ever
represented Rochester either in Albany or in
Washington has shown greater willingness or ca-
pacity in the service of his constituents. In the
national capital he was untiring and remarkably
successful in securing pensions for worthy veterans
or the widows and orphans of those who had
fallen and could present legitimate claims upon
the government. This seemed to him a labor of
love. In this work there was for him no politics,
no creed, no race. Tlie poor appealed to liim with
a force even greater than the rich.

While Mr. Baker was thus attending to details
and matters of local interest he was concerned also
in larger affairs of state. He possessed the gift
of initiative to an unusual degree. He dared
any form of leadership that occurred to him and
at Albany was largely instrumental in pushing
forward the legislation which established the state
railroad commission. The states of North Dakota,
South Dakota, Montana, Idaho, Washington and
Wyoming gave public acknowledgement of their
indebtedness to him for their admission into the
Union when in 1890 he traveled through the west,
being everywhere enthusiastically received and en-
tertained. In Washington, as in Albany, he took
a deep interest in the transportation question, and

was th(3 author of a bill creating the interstate

commerce commission.

The Rochester Democrat and Chronicle said

of him : "Mr. Baker was of notable and impressive

physique. Large and commanding in stature, with

a face in which sagacity, benevolence and kindli-

ness were singularly blended, Avith a manner at

once both dignified and genial, he was sure to

attract attention in any company. He not only

made friends, but held them to him by the com-
pelling power of genuine sympathy and help-

fulness. It is doubtful if, when he was at the

height of his congressional career, any man in

Washington had more personal friends, of all

parties throughout the country, than he. Stanch
as the stanchest in his republican principles, he
never permitted his partisanship to interfere with
his personal relations, and when the democracy
was in control of the executive and legislative

branches of the government Mr. Baker could,

without compromising his republicanism, secure

as many favors at Washington as if he had been
a democrat. He enjoyed the confidence and re-

spect of President Harrison and had an intimate

personal as well as political friendship with Presi-

dent McKinley."

Mr. Baker was married June 22, 1861, to Miss
Jane E. Yerkes, who was born on Plymouth ave-

nue, Rochester. She is the only living daughter
of Silas A. Yerkes, who removed from Phila-

delphia to Rochester in 1820. She has one brother

living in the west. Unto Mr. and Mrs. Baker
were born five sons: Charles A., a resident of

Washington, D. C; Leigh Yerkes, a practicing

physician of the same city; Cornelius B., who is

engaged in the hanking business in Kansas City,

and who married a daughter of ex-Governor Mor-
rill, of Kansas; William J., an attorney with

offices in the Powers block in Rochester; and
Harold H., a practicing physician of this city.

Both of the sons who are physicians are gradu-

ates of the University of Michigan. The only

daughior of the household died in infancy. In

his family he was a devoted husband and father

and at his own fireside the sweetness of a rare

soul found its most fitting and loving expression.

Mr. Baker was a Master Mason and also be-

longed to the Independent Order of Odd Fellows.

He organized Corinthian lodge of Rochester and
served as worshipful master for two years. He
was likewise a member of the Loyal Legion and
George IT. Thomas post, G. A. R., thus maintain-

ing pleasant relations with his old army comrades,

many of whom he assisted in material ways. He
was an elder in the Central Presbyterian church

in Rochester at thie time of his death and Avas ever

a most earnest Christian man, whose life was

actuated by high and honorable principles and

who at' all times lived in conformity with his

professions. In the church he took a most active
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and holpfnl part; and at all times gave liis siip-

])oi't, to tliose nioveiiionls wliicli advaiien justice,

Initli and riglit. When death claimed liiin reso-

lutions of sympathy and respect were passed by

the different lodges with which he was connected;

the alumni association of Livingston Park Semi-

nary, which his wife attended in girlhood ; the In-

fants' Summer Hospital, to which he had been a

generous contributor ; the board of supervisors and
the board of education; while hundreds of let-

ters were received by the family. xMl contained

an expression of appreciation for the rare beauty

and strength of his character and the. great use-

fulness of his life.

One who knew him well wrote: "In all the

multiplied activities of his fruitful life his ener-

gies, means and influence were always thrown

unoii the side of justice, mercy, tnith and

righteousness. The wealth oE his great nature and

the genial companionship of his warm, generous

heart drew to him the rare and sweet fiiendship

of many who took high rank in the various depart-

ments of church, state and literature, as well as

others closely idoniificd with the fiiianrinl growth

and pvosiicrity of ouv great country, ile allowed

no difCerences of creed or party to mar these

friendships, but took the best of eacli life that

touched him. Conspictiously useful as he was

in public affairs, it was as husband, father, brother

and friend, within the cheery and sacred pre-

cincts of his own home, that the rare sweotn,css

and all embracing love of his large and noble

nature were most richly bestowed."

HENRY STEAD IIEBARD.

A life of groat activity and large usefulness was

terminated when in 1890 Henry S. Hebard passed

away. He figured proiniiicully in the flnnnciiil

and business circles of Rochester and the state as

president of the East Side SfTvings Bank, as pro-

prietor of extensive marble works in this city and

as president of the New York Mutual Aid Society.

His life record began at Saugerties, Ulster county,

New York, March 10, 1837. but for more than a

half century he was a resident of Rochester and

left the impress of his individuality upon its busi-

ness development and its public interests. His

father, Zebulon Hebard, was a licensed local

preacher of the Methodist Episcopal church. His

mother was Mrs. Martha (Inman) Hebard, a na-

tive of the Empire state.

In his boyhood Henry S. Hebard accompanied

his parents on thoir removal to Rochester, whore

he ac((uii'cd a public-school education and at the

age of nineteen years he entered upon his active

business career, wherein ho was destined to rise to

greatness, as a clerk in his father's marble works.

He continued to act in that capacity untiL given

an interest in the business, which under his man-
agement and ownership grew to large proportions,

as. he became recognized in Rochester and through-
out western New York as a substantial citizen and
capable business man, his intense and well directed

activity leading to splendid results in industrial

circles. The marble works were established in

1831 and Zebulon Hebard, his father, who con-

tinued as proprietor of the business until 1845,
when the firm of Z. Hebard & Sons was organized.

The business was thus carried on until 1858,
v.'hen it became the property of the firm of Hebard
& Graham, so continuing until 1867, when Henry
S. Hebard became, and afterward remained, sole-

proprietor. Having become recognized as a force-

ful faciei' in business life, his co-operation was
sought in other lines and he became the third presi-

dent of the East Side Savings Bank, which was
organized in 18G9 with Pliny M. Bromley as the

first executive officer. The second president was
William M. Emerson, then state senator, who held

the office for a single year, when he was succeeded

by Mr. Hebard, who continued at the head of the

institution until his death. He. was also a di-

rector of the New York Mutual Aid Society, which
was incorporated August 17, 1881.

It was not alone the signal success which Mr.
Hebard achieved in business that made him a not-

able figure in Rochester, for his public service

alone would entitle him to distinction as one of

the representative men of the city. His political

views were embodied in the platform of the re-

• publican party and he served as a member of the

state central committee. He was elected alder-

man from the fourth ward in 1857, 1859 and

again in 1861. He also served as a member of

the old volunteer fire department, to which he be-

longed until its discontinuance in favor of the

paid system. Mr. Hebard was foremost in advo-

cnting the pstjdilishment ot a paid dopavtmcnt,

having, while alderman, with another member of

the city council, introduced a resolution for its

establishment. Mr. Hebard's interest in city af-

fairs also extended to the department of public

works and he became an active and helpful mem-
ber of that board. He also served for one term as

supervisor and in 1865 he became a member of

the first police commission, serving in that capac-

ity for eight years and assisted in laying the

foundation for the present police department. In

1873-4 he was a member of the board of public

works and in 1875 was chosen supervisor, in

which position he served for one term, refusing

re-nomination for the succeeding year. In 1880

he was a presidential elector and voted for Gar-

field and Artliur. After Arthur succeeded to the

presidency he ofEered Mr. Hebard appointment as

postmaster hut he declined. On the 13tli of Febru-
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ary, 1890, his name was sent by President Harri-
son to the senate as appointee for the position of

postmaster and the appointment was confirmed

but Mr. Hebard did not enter the office, as his

death occurred less than a month later. He was
twice nominated for mayor of the city without

solicitation and was for many years a member of

the board of managers of the Western House of

Refuge, now the State Industrial School, and one

of its presidents. For several years he was a mem-
ber of the board of managers of the State Indus-

trial School and for one year was president of the

board.

In 1853 Mr. Hebard was married to Miss Har-
riett M. Hazen, a daugliter of Charles Hazen, of

Martinsburg. New York. They became the par-

ents of seven children. Mr. Hebard, in connec-

tion with his other public work, was president of

the board of trustees of the Methodist Episcopal

ehureli. Honored and respected by all, there was
perhaps not another citizen of Rochester who occu-

pied a more enviable position in the regard of

bis fellow townsmen. He was closely associated

Avith the city's growth and the interests and needs

developed thereby. He desired that Rochester

should keep apace in all of its improvements and
in its varied municinal interests with other cities

of the country and was a guiding spirit in bring-

ing about progressive and valued results. He
died in- 1890 but the worth of his work will not

cease to be felt until-the public movements wjhicli

he instituted have reached their full fruition in

the life of the city.

FRANK FRITZSCIIE.

By the death of Franji Fritzsehe, Rochester
sustained an irreparable loss and was deprived of

the presence of one whom it had come to look
upon as a guardian, benefactor and friend. At
the time of his demise he was serving as assessor

of the city for a third term and was also promi-
nently connected with its industrial interests,

being engaged in the hide trade. His whole career,

both business and social, served as a model to the
young and an inspiration to the aged. By his use-

fulness and general benevolence he created a mem-
ory whose perpetuation does not depend upon
brick or stone, but upon the spontaneous and ffce

will oifering of a grateful, enlightened people. Pew
men have lived so entirely for their fellowmen and
helpfulness may well be termed the keynote of his
character.

Mr. Fritzsehe was born at Neustadt, a small
town on the Oria river, in Saxe-Weimar, Germany,
July 11, 1835. His father was a tanner and leather

dealer in the old country and the son became ap-

prenticed to the leather business in early life. He
worked at his trade for several years as a journey-

man, traveling over the country in accordance with

the old German custom, which required one to

obtain a general knowledge of the trade before set-

tling down. In 1859, however, he returned to

Neustadt, where he was married to Amalie Freund.

In the spring of 1864 Mr. Fritzsehe came to

America, landing at New York city April 28, his

wife and two children arriving one year later.

May 20, 18G5. He went to Elizabeth, New Jersey,

where for a short time he was engaged in the

leather business, and in 1866 came to Rochester,

where he secured a position as foreman in a tan-

nery owned by Henry Lamport, in which capacity

he served for eight years. With the capital he
had saved from his earnings he then began busi-

ness on his own account in Rochester in 1874.
From the beginning the enterprise proved profit-

able and constantly increased in volume and im-
portance, so that in 1886 his two sons, Frank J.

and Martin C, were admitted to the firm. The
latter is now deceased, but the former is still con-

ducting the business and is one of the prominent
and enterprising business men of the city. On the

17th of June, 1887, however, Martin C. Fritzsehe

passed from this life at the age of twenty-six

years. Mr. Fritzsehe, the father, continued in

business up to the time of his demise and his life

history and perseverance intelligently directed

brought him a large measure of success. In all

that he did he was thoroughly reliable and his

business career commanded for him the respect
and unqualified trust of his fellowmen.

In 1885, having won public recognition as a

progressive and public-spirited citizen, and a lend-

ing member of the republican party, Mr. Fritzsehe

was elected to the common council from the old

Sixth ward and served as alderman until 1889,
exorcising his official prerogatives in support of

many progressive measures for the benefit of the
city. In the '90s jie served for seven years as a
member of the board of health and in neither of-

fice did he receive or accept salary. He gave his

services to the city with a sense of conscientious

obligation and discharged his duties in such a

manner that his example may well be followed by
the officeholders of the present day, as he ever

placed the general good before partisanship and
the interests of the community before personal

aggrandizement. While serving as health officer

during the cholera scare in the '90s he superin-
tended the cleaning of the city. It was estimated
that the work would cost between fourteen and
sixteen thousand dollars. The city was about to

let a contract for the work of cleaning, when
Health Commissioner Fritzsehe declared the
ainoiint exorbitant and said that he would do the
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work for less than half the estimated amount. He
devoted fifteen weeks to this task, during which

time the city was thoroughly cleaned and the ex-

penditure amounted to only forty-eight hundred
dollars. He then circulated a subscription list

and obtained about nine hundred dollars, so that

in reality the work cost the city only thirty-nine

hundred dollars. Mr. Fritzsche did not receive nor

did he accept pay for his work in' this connection

and this is but one of many examples of the man-
ner in which he served his fellow citizens, doing a

work the value of which was inestimable. He
never faltered in the performance of any task

that he believed to be his duty or that he thought

would benefit Rochester in any way. In 1899 he

was first elected to tlic office of assessor and dis-

charged his duties during the two years' tenn

with such capability that in 1901 ho was ro-ciccted

for a four years' term, and in 1905 for a second

term of four years, so that he was filling the posi-

tion at the time of his demise.

"Wherever known Mr. Fritzsche was respected

and honored and among his friends and" fellow

countrymen he was very ])opular. He was long

retained in the position of leader of the Gerinan-

Amercan Society, acting as its president for twen-

ty-three years. He was also president of the Ger-

man Mutual Aid Society and president and treas-

urer of the Rochester Maennerchor. For two

terms he served as chief executive officer of the

latter and was for seven terms its treasurer. What-
ever his hand found to do he did with his might

and whether in social organizations, in political

circles or in private life he was most faithful to

wliat he considered liis duty and unfaltering in

liis allegiance to every trust reposed in liini. In

Masonry he attained the Thirty-second degree of

the Scottish rite and was also a prominent Odd
Fellow, his entire life being in harmony with the

principles of these organizations, which are based

Upon mutual helpfulnes.3 and brotherly kindness.

He was at one time the liigh state ollicer of the

Order of Harugari and was a member of the

Rochester branch of the United Workingmen and

of the Select Knights. He was identified with

every movement for Rochester's business growth

through his connection with the Chamber of Com-
merce and lie further belonged to the Schwaben

Verein, the Beethoven Singing Society and many
German and English fraternal, social and charita-

ble organizations. He was also a prominent mem-
ber of the Salem church.

In 1886 Mr. and Mrs. Fritzsche visited their

native land and a short time prior to his last elec-

tion to the office of assessor he had expressed a

desire to again visit the old country. A few days

prior to his demise lie again mentioned IJio subject,

saying that he must engage passage, for he wished

to see his sisters and his old home. He always

maintained a deep affection for the land of his

birtli, yet he was pre-eminently an American citi-

zen, who came to this country to enjoy its benefits

and its privileges and also to give to it unswerving
lovalty and allegiance. He celebrated his seven-

tieth i3irthday on the 11th of July, 1905. On that

occasion three hundred persons attended a meet-

ing of the Rochester Maennerchor and Mr. Fritz-

sche was presented a silver lined copper punch
bowl, imported from Germany. In addressing the

meeting at that time he spoke of his ambition for

tlie Germans of Rochester, saying in part: "There
is a subject that lies very near my heart, as many
of you know, and that is the erection of a building

or hall that shall be a home for the German so-

cieties of Rochester, not for the Rochester Maen-
nerchor alone or to the other societies represented

here toniglit, but to every German society and to

every German in Rochester. There is only one

way in which that structure can ever become an
accomplished fact and that is by every society and
every individual taking an active, live interest in

it. I urge you not to wait for rich men to start

the movement. Let each society agree to take a

certain number of shares; let every person who
can afford to do so take one share, two shares, or

as many as he can afford. Then when the mass of

the people have shown by pledging their money
that they want such a building, others will come
forward with large subscriptions to complete the

fund. I for one am willing to subscribe five

thousand dollars when I am convinced that the

people want tlie hall. I am confident that when
the people have subscribed their hundreds there

will be oUiers to subscribe thousands."

Mr. Fritzsche did not live to see the fulfillment

of his desires in this dii'cction, hut tliroughout his

entire life he labored for his fellow countrymen

and their best interests and in the course of years

they may see the fulfillment of this cherished plan

of his. He possessed a strong mind and in early life

there was a basis laid for his education along sci-

entific and technical lines, but he sought the com-

mercial field in which to exercise his native and
acquired talents. The educational advantages

which he enjoyed, however, proved of great bene-

fit to him in all of his life and enabled him to

reach out to all classes of people. Charity was

one of his pre-eminent traits and his benevolent

spirit was constantly responding to calls for aid,

yet he was entirely without ostentation in his giv-

ing and made frequent gifts that were unknown
even to his closest friends, none having knowledge

thereof save the recipient and the donor. It would

be almost impossible to enumerate his fellow

countrymen who, coming to this city in extremely,

limitctl financial circumstances, have profited by

his ajd, many of whom, overcome by misfortune,

in seeking his advice also received his substantial

assistance. His interest in the various fraternal

organizations to which he belonged was largely due
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to the efforts afforded tliereby to assist those less

fortunate than liimself. He ever had a hand out-

reached. At all times jiist he possessed, too, that

higher attribute of mercy. While never intoler-

ant in his religious views, he was himself an ad-

vocate of the Protestant faith, yet he believed that

all churches were helpful to humanity.

While the veil of reserve should never be drawn

aside from the. sacredness of the home life, it is

but just to say in a history setting forth the char-

acter and worth of Prank Fritzsche that his home
relations were ideal, characterized by the utmost

devotion to his wife and children. Mrs. Fritzsche,

who was born in Germany, in the same neighbor-

hood as her husband, was a daughter of Chris-

topher Freund, an extensive cloth manufacturer of

that country. Their only children were their two

sons: Martin, whose death has been chronicled

above; and Frank J., who conducts the inisiness

established by his father at No. 66 Front street,

Rochester. He is an enterprising man and a

worthy successor of his honored sire._ He holds

membership in the Rochester Club, the Rochester

Maennerchor, Chamber of Commerce, Order of

Harugari and other societies. He married Rose

M. Vogel, a native of Rochester, and a daughtei-

of Augustus and Rosa Vogel, of this city, the for-

mer now deceased. Unto his marriage has been

born two children, Wilma M. and Prank Augus-

tus.

Mr. Fritzsche left to his family not >only a

goodly estate, but also the priceless heritage of an

untarnished name. In business circles he bore

an unassailable reputation and his name was a

synonym of integrity and straightforward dealing,

but perhaps the depth of his nature was known
only to his family and frieniis, whei'e his consid-

eration, his kindliness and his noble purpose have
enriched the minds of all with whom he came in

contact. True men are the crowned jewels of the

republic and the very names of the distinguished

dead are a congenial inspiration and an abiding

lesson.

AARON ERTCKSON.

Among the names of the men that stand out

prominently on the pages of Rochester's history

is that of Aaron Erickson, who contributed in sub-

i:tantial measure to the upbuilding of the city,

where he located in pioneer times. His life record

extended over seventy-four years—years fruitful

in successful accomplishment, years fraught with
good deeds and crowned with honor and respect.

The birth of Mr. Erickson occurred on the 25th

of February, 1806, in Allentown, New Jersey,

within sight of the historic battlefield of Mon-
mouth, and he repi'csented one of the old and
prominent families of the state. His father

served with the Amoriran army in ilio altninnioiit

of independence through the Revolutionary war.

He was the yovmgest of several children and in

the comfortable home of his parents his boyhood

and youth were passed, but the desire to test his

own strength and to develop the latent powers with

which nature had endowed him led him to leave

Lome when a youth of seventeen years and 1823

witnessed his arrival in the then little town of

Rochester. He took up his abode with C. H.
Bicknell and entered business life as a worker at

the machinist's trade in the manufacture of axes

and similar commodities. The industry, close ap-

plication and determination which are the basis

of all success brought to him prosperity in the \m-

dertaking and he often pointed with pride to the

fact that he made with his own hands the iron

yoke that swung the bell in the old St. Tjuke's

church.

Mr. Erickson had been a resident of Rochester

for but four years when he established a home of

his own through his marriage to Miss Hannah
Bockovcn, of Lyons, New York, and soon after

erected a dwelling on Clinton street, where the

young couple were at home to their friends, the

nvimber of whom increased yearly as the circle of

their acquaintance widened.

It was about this time that Mr. Erickson with-

drew from the machinist's trade and began the

manufacture of potash at Frankfort. His patron-

age increased rapidly and he was soon in control

of what was considered at that time a very ex-

tensive business. Laudable ambition, however,

lirompted him to enter still broader fields with
larger opportunities and greater scope for his

industry and business sagacity—^his dominant
qualities. Therefore, abandoning the potash
mamifactory, he became a dealer in wool and
morocco on Water street in Rochester, form-
ing a partnership with Ezra M. Parsons.

Tlioir business developed along substantial lines

until the firm became the largest buyers of wool
• in this section and in 1850 Mr. Erickson estab-

lished the' famous wool house of Erickson, Liver-
more & Company at Boston, which rapidly became
the leading enterprise of this character in the

country, conducting a mammoth business.

Each forward step in his career brought him a

wider outlook and his ready recognition of oppor-

tunity constituted one of the strongest elements

in his business advancement. He had been en-

gaged in the wool trade for three years when he
organized and opened the Union Bank, captial-

ized for five hundred thousand dollars. From the

beginning he was its president and the institution

cnjoved a prosperous existence under that name
until the spring of 1865, when it was converted
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into a national bank under the title of the Na-
tional Union Bank. In tlie following year, how-
ever, Mr. Ericlvson purchased tlie bank and estab-

lished in its stead a private banking house under
the tirm name of Erickson & Jennings. The ad-

mission of George E. Mumford to a partnership

led to the adoption of the firm name of Erickson,

Jennings & Mumford and under this style the

business was conducted for twelve years. Mr.
Mumford withdrew in May, 1879, and was suc-

ceeded by A. Erickson Perkins, a grandson of Mr.
Erickson, which partnership existed until the

death of the bank's founder on the 27th of Janu-
ary, 1880. Mr. Erickson's strict integrity, busi-

ness conservatism and judgment wefe always so

uniformly recognized that he enjoyed public con-

fidence to an enviable degree. For many years lie

was also a director in the Park Bank oC Now
York city and was a member oE the board at the

time of his death.

Mr. Erickson left no son to carry on his work,

for his last surviving son, Aaron Erickson, passed

away at Revere, Massachusetts, in August, 1871.

Jn the family were eight children, hut only Ihroe

daughters survived the father: Mrs. W. S. Nich-

ols, of Staten Island; Mrs. Oilman 11. Perkins,

of Rochester; and Mrs. W. D." Powell, of New
York. In 1842 he builded his home on East ave-

nue and he lived to witness its transformation

mto one of the most beautiful thoroughfares of

the city. The home was ever characterized by the

most gracious and liberal hospitality and through

more than half a century the name of Erickson

figured prominently in the social circles of

Rochester.

As Mr. Erickson's success increased so did his

charities and benefactions grow and expand. Few
men have realized as fully as he did the obliga-

tions and the responsibilities of wealth. He did

not believe in that indiscriminate giving which

fosters vagrancy and idleness but no case of real

need ever sought his assistance in vain and many
gifts were spontaneously made whereby the poor

and unfortunate were direct beneficiaries. A man
is admired but is not loved for his successes; he

is loved for his good deeds and it was the kindly

spirit, the generous sympathy and the great help-

fulness of Aaron Erickson that so endeared him

to liis follow townsmen and caused his memory to

be enshrined in their hearts, although a quarter

cf a century has come and gone since he was an

active factor in the world. He found genuine de-

light in helping young men to make a start in the

busine.=is world. His employes recognized that

faithfulness and capability meant promotion as op-

Vortuuity olTerod and when they left his service

he ever gladly spoke the word of recommendation

and enconrngemeut which enabled them to take a

forward step in the business life. Many organ-

ized charities received his timely assistance. He
was president of the board of directors of the City
Hospital for years and occupied that position at

the time of his demise. He gave freely to the dif-

ferent benevolent organizations of Rochester and
to many other institutions situated elsewhere. The
Industrial School and the Institute for Deaf
Mutes found in him a generous friend, while his

deeds of charity, unknown save to himself and the

recipient, were innumerable. Few men have been
so uiiostentatious in their giving, but Mr. Erick-

son found his reward in the pleasure that came to

him in helping a fellow traveler on the journey

of life.

To one of such breadth of nature as Aaron
Erickson matters of citizenship are always of deep

interest. It would be impossible for such a man
to enjoy the protection of a.government, to benefit

by the municipal interests and not give return in

co-operation in the various movements and plans

tending to promote local advancement and na-

tional progress. He was never a politician in the

commonly accepted sense of that term, yet filled

some local offices, regarding it as his duty to per-

form such service as he could for his fellow towns-

men. He was alderman for one term from the

old fifth ward and was both alderman and super-

visor at different times from the seventh. In
1860 he was appointed, with the late Amon Bron-

son, a commissioner to erect bridges at Clarissa

and Andrew streets over the Genesee river and the

manner in which the work was accomplished is a

monument to the thoroughness in which he car-

ried out the trusts imposed upon him. To the last

he was always intensely interested in his city and

in those things which are a matter of civic virtue

and civic pride. In his later years he retired to

a large extent from active participation in busi-

ness but his nature was such that want of occupa-

tion could have no attraction for him. His later

years were given to the development of those

strong intellectual tastes which were ever with

him a marked characteristic. Throughout his en-

tire life he was a student of the signs of the times,

of the great sociological problems, the governmen-

tal questions and of the sciences, especially in

their practical adaptation for the benefit of man-
kind. He was an earnest student of horticulture,

pomology, floriculture and the natural sciences,

and lie delighted in the society of men of intellect

and was regarded as their peer and often as their

superior. His mind was enriched with knowl-

edge gained both frorn travel and extensive read-

ing. In 1869 he visited Palestine and ascended the

Nile. He also visited the various European

countries and his last summer was spent on the

continent. In an analyzation of his character to

(U'iormine Iho rnotivc springs of conduct, one

iniifit accede Ihc fact thnt in all things that he ac-
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complished he was prompted by the spirit of true

Christianity. During his early residence in

Eochester he became a member of St. Paul's

church and after its destruction by fire in 1846

he joined St. Luke's church, with which he was

identified until his demise. His was not that re-

ligion typified by dogmas and creeds but the re-

ligion which found expression in the faithful per-

fonnance of the duty at hand, that sought to over-

come wrong by right and the false by the true.

One of nature's noblemen, he stood four square

to every wind that blows and his memory remains

ar a benediction and an inspiration to those who

knew him.

PRANK E. TRITCHARD.

Frank E. Pritchard, superintendent of the mu-

nicipal plant which furnishes the light and water

for the village of Fairport, is well qualified for

this position by the technical and practical train-

ing which he received along these lines. A native

of Illinois, he was born in Mount Morris, Ogle

county, on the 10th of June, 1861, his parents be-

ing Isaac and Orinda M. (Putnam) Pritchard, in

whose family were six children, four of whom are

yet living. The brothers of our subject are :
John

il., a farmer of Kansas; and Lewis E., a mer-

chant at Meadow Grove, Nebraska, while the sis-

ter, Myra A., is the wife of George J. Peck, of

Eolfe, Iowa.

The father was born in Connecticut in 1813

and the mother was a direct descendant of General

Israel Putnam of Revolutionary war fame. The
ancestral history in its lineal and collateral

branches has been distinctly American for

many generations and embraces the names of

many distinguished men. Isaac Pritchard was

reared in Connecticut and when a young man
removed westward to Medina county, Ohio, where

he was married and made his home for a number
of years. He then removed to Ogle county, Illi-

nois, where he lived until about the close of the

Civil war, when in 1865 he went to Grundy coun-

ty, Iowa. He continued a resident of that state

up to the time of his death, although his last

years were spent in Humboldt county, Iowa, where

he passed away in 1896. His entire life was de-

voted to general agricultural pursuits and in poli-

tics he was a stalwart republican, hut never an

office seeker. His wife was born in the state of

New York, and in her {rirlhood days went with

her parents to Medina county, Ohio, where she

was reared and married. She died when about

sixty-two vears of age.

Frank E. Pritchard in his boyhood days was a

student in the common schools of Iowa and when

sovcntuon years of age ho apprenticed himself

lo the butler-making trade, which he followed for

four years. He then returned to the farm, where

he remained for two years, after which hn went

to Cedar Falls, Iowa, and secured employment in

the machine shops. Subsequently he worKea as

a machinist for about a year prior to securing a

situation at the electric light plant. He then

took up the study of electrical engineering and

during his service there he invented and patented

Pritchard's electric water wheel governor. In

order to place this upon the market he came to

the east in the spring of 1889 and was successful

in installing his invention in various markets in

the state of -New York in that year. The follow-

ing year he sold his rights in the patent and the

same year accepted the superintendency of the

Pcolile's Electric Light & Power Company and

of tlio Oswego Street Railway Company at Os-

wego, New York, lie continued to serve accepta-

bly and faithfully in that position from the 1st

of April, 1890, until the 1st of January, 1892,

when he went to Niagara Falls in the capacity of

consulting engineer with the Brush Electric Com-
pany on a three months' engagement for the pur-

pose of reconstructing a station. His work there,

however, extended over a period of eight months,

at the end of which time he was tendered and

accepted the position of master mechanic with

the Cayadutta Electric Railway Company of Glo-

versvilie. New York. This was practically the

first long distance electric road in the state, and
Mr. Prtiehard continued as master mechanic for

thirteen months.

In October, 1893, he accepted a proffered posi-

tion with the People's Electric Light & Power
Company and the Oswego Electric Railway Com-
pany at Oswego, remaining with those corpora-

tions as superintendent until 1898, when he sev-

ered his business connections there and came to

Rochester. Here he had charge of the wiring

of the Baker theater and he followed electrical

engineering in the city until the spring of 1900,

when he came to Fairport as consulting engineer.

He drew the plans for the municipal plant to be

submitted to the vote of the people as to the erec-

tion of the plant, and hfter the proposed meastire

had been voted upon and passed he was retained

by the village to install the plant, and after its

erection was offered and accepted the position of

sunerintendent. In 1901 the water works of the

village were combined with the electric light plant

and l\rr. Pritchard assumed charge of both, in

which canaeitv he is still serving. The light and

water interests are thoso of municipal ownership,

and in administering the affairs of the office Mr.

Pritchard has given excellent satisfaction.

In 1880 was celebrated the marriage of Frank

F. Pritchard and l^fiss Sarah A. Hcnsley, of Ce-

dar Falls, Iowa, and unto them were horn four
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cliildreii : Oni M., lleiicau A., Cad H. aud Elsie

J. After losing his lirst wil'o, Mr. i'ritcliard was
married iu 1895 to Mrs. Rcua M. Mcintosh, for-

merly a Miss Robarge of Oswego, New York.

Unto this marriage have been born two children,

but Francis A., the elder, is now deceased. The
living son is Neil Ellsworth.

Mr. Pritchard exercises his right of franchise

in support of the men and measures of the repub-

lican party, and he belongs to D. B. DeLand
lodge, No.' 536, I. 0. 0. ¥., of which he is past

grand. He also holds the office of secretary and
treasurer of the grand committee of district No.
2 -of Monroe county. He affiliates with the Order

of the Maccabees, of which he is a past command-
er, and at present he is venerable consul of the

Modern Woodmen of America and a past presi-

dent of the National Association of Stationary

Engineers. He is widely recognized as one whose
mechanical skill, inventive genius and comprehen-
sive knowledge and experience along mechanical
lines well fit him for the position which he occu-

pies and has gained for him wide recognition in

mechanical circles.

HOSEA ROGERS.

In the early part of the nineteenth century there

was to be found a log house standing on the east

side of the Indian trail on the exact spot where

the Delos Polly house now stands on North St.

Paul street in Rochester, directly opposite the old

No. 8 school building, and it was in this primitive

home that Hosea Rogers was bom on the 17th of

January, 1812. He thus entered upon a life record

which covered ninety-two years. In his old age

he recalled many incidents of his birthplace and

the noticeable features of its surroundings. The
walnut trees still standing on the ground are the

ones which his father preserved when he cleared

the land. The little house, a story in height, was

nearly square and was constructed of hewn logs,

the cracks stufEed with sticks and clay, the broad

door of rough boards furnished with wooden latch

and string. Two square windows of glass lighted

the interior when tlie door was closed, but in

pleasant weather it stood wide open. There was

a big fireplace to heat the little cabin and the

floor was made of split logs until later a rough

board floor was put down.

The parents in this pioneer home were Ezra and

Betsey (Beckwith) Rogers, who came to Monroe

county from Massachusetts about 1810. They

were possessed of all the sterling attributes which

characterized the old-time New Englanders and

were well qualified to take up the task of making

for themselves and their family a home in the

'illen wild Genesee country. Hosea Rogers was
the youngest of live children, the others being
Uiodat, Betsey, Ezra and Caroline.

During those early days, when Hosea Rogers
was an infant, the British fleet appeared at the

mouth of the river and displayed its big guns.
The men seized their arms and started for the
lake, while the women and children fled into the

Avoods. All that locality was then heavily tim-

bered and Mr. Rogers' early recollections were of

the primitive wilderness. Deer were still to be-

seen in tbe forest and even after Mr. Rogers was
old enough to hunt they were frequently killed.

Bears, too, made raids upon the farmyard in

search of pork. Indians were almost constantly

about the neighborhood but occasioned little trou-

ble to the settlers.

The educational advantages which Hosea Rog-
ers received were very limited. There was no
schoolhouse in the neighborhood but the settlers

determined to have a school and employed a young
lady teacher. The first school was held in his

father's house, the teacher boarding round among
I he pupils. The methods of instruction were oft-

times crude but Mr. Rogers made good use of his

opportunities and as the years advanced learned

many practical lessons of life. He also developed

a strong and rugged constitution and at the same
time became a man of indomitable perseverance

and untiring energy. In those early days it was
necessary in purchasing property to take the ac-

knowledgment of a deed before a justice and then

record it at Canandaigua, the county seat. As
Mr. Rogers' father had undisputed possession of

his farm the necessity of recording a deed was not

apparent and as time slipped by the matter was
forgotten. When several years had passed, how-
ever, and property of that locality was sold, Mr.

Rogers, Sr., lost possession of the place on which
he had lived from 1809 and on which he had
made many improvements. He then bought an
acre and a half of land on Norton street, built a

house and, being a furniture maker by trade, he

put up a small shop and began the manufacture

of chairs, his elder sons getting out the crude

material from the surrounding woods, while he

turned it into form on a small foot lathe. He then

started for Canada with his product, where he

disposed of his chairs. Soon after his return to

New York his death occurred .and the support of

the family fell upon his elder sons, who were im-

bued with all the worthy characteristics of their

race.

It was by his elder brothers that Hosea Rogers

was reared and during much of his life he was

connected with the sea either in a direct or indi-

I'ect way. At the age of fifteen years he went as

ii sailor upon the great lakes and for ten years

followed that life, rising through all the grades
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to the position of master of a vessel. His brothers

built and ran the first vessel plying between
Eochester and Chicago and of this craft he had
charge as captain in 1834. In his youth there

wore no stwiiii tugs to tow vessels in windless

waters and it was seldom a vessel could sail up
and down the Genesee river without assistance

from the shore. The first vessels, therefore, on the

river were towed up and down the stream by men
who walked in the Indian path, but in time cattle

took the place of the men on the tow path. Mr.

Eogers many a time walked over the trail with

ihe vessel's cable over his shoulder and he lived

to see the wonderful development in navigation.

About 1825 his brothers built the schooner Jean-

nette at Carthage landing, and it was one of the

first vessels to pass from Lake Ontario into hake
Brie in the spring of 1830, Mr. Eogers then being

before the mast. In 1831 his brothers built the

Aurora Borealis, of which he became captain in

the spring of 1832. He was afterward in com-
mand of the Indiana and in the fall of 1833 took

charge of the John Grant, these two vessels also'

being owned by his brothers.

In talking of those days Mr. Eogers once said

:

"In the fall of 1833 I took charge of the John
Grant and I shall never forget my last voyage
that season. We came down from Toronto the

12th of November in a pretty lioavy gale which
carried away my spanker boom ; in the afternoon

I ran into Charlotte for repairs. Happening to

meet my brother Diodat on the pier he immediate-
ly put in a new spar and I left port about sun-

down with a fair wind, which soon began to in-

crease. By ten o'clock we had our hatches bat-

tened down and every loose thing on deck was
swept overboard. Tlie gale becauio terrific and
we hardly expected to outlive it. Suddenly there

was a cry that the heavens were falling as the
great dome above us was filled with shooting stars.

We had no intimation of the auroral display and
coming as it did at an hour when every nerve was
strained and every sense alive to the dangers of

the elements, the scene was particularly impres-
sive. The shower lasted several hours, if I re-

member correctly, but at no instance during it.-!

occurrence did I dare cease my vigilance and the
exercise of my greatest skill to keep the vessel in

her course. We battled with the elements and
watched the unprecedented fall of stars until the

mornincT of the 13th when daylight ended the
wonderful display." Captain Eogers also made an
early trip to Chicago by way of tlio lakes from
Buffalo, landing there when the western metrop-
olis was a frontier town, old Fort Dearborn still

commanding the mouth of the creek, while In-
dians were as numerous as white people. In 1836,
Captain Eogers purchased a farm of eightv-five

"orps in what is now the town of Trondeouoit and
in that year was married and sctMcd on his farm,

which remained his home from that time until

his death. Later he sailed for two years, but re-

turned home to take charge of his farm.
Soon after locating thereon ho became interested

in the building of sailing vossols, for which busi-

ness his long experience upon the lake well fitted

him, as he had gained a thorough knowledge of

all kinds of sailing craft as well as the laws that

governed inland sailors. When he entered the

field of boat building he was therefore well qual-

ified to meet the requirements of the times and
he built in all fourteen vessels, some at Charlotte

and others in Ohio and Michigan. During all of

these years, however, he continued to operate his

farm. The Captain was also actively identified

Avith the business interests of Eochester until the

1st of January, 1902. In 1896 he became inter-

ested in the Phelps & Eogers Lumber Company on
Warehouse street, which does an extensive busi-

ness. This company was incorporated in 1901
with Captain Eogers as president, and he filled

that position for one year or until the 1st of

January, 1902, when he resigned, although he
continued his connection with the company up to

the time of his demise. He also owned ithe site

occupied by the lumberyard and had other busi-

ness and residence property in the city. IT]) to the

last ho possessed great strength of both body and
iriiud and in connocti(m with Ihe operation of his

farm attended to collecting his rents and other
business in the city.

Captain Eogers was married, in October, 1837.
to Miss Polly A^'an Dusen, who died January 25,

1871, and on the 1st of May, 1873, he wedded
Miss Mary J. Lyon, of Albion, New York, who
de];artcd this life May 25, 1875. lie was again
married Fcbniary 2, i87(), his third union being
with Miss Asenath Scholfcld, of Port Golborne,
Canada, whose grandparents came originally from
England., Her grandfather, John Schoffeld, was
a farmer by occupation and a veteran of the war
of 1812. He died in 186G. Her father, James
Scholfeld, was collector of Port Colborne, Ontario,
for thirty-three consecutive years and died in

1889. Unto Captain Eogers and his third wife
were born five children : Polly M., at home ; Wil-
liam H., of the Genesee lumberyard, who married
Carrie D. Eollison and lives in Eochester; Luella
A., Ezra S. and Alida J., all at home.

Captain Eogers was a democrat in his political

views. The family hold mendiership in the
Presbyterian church and the Captain's father was
doncon of the first church of that denomination in
this locality, it being located in that section of
the city which was then called Carthage. The
death of Captain Eogers occurred on the 14th of
December, 1904, when he had reached the very
venerable age of ninety-two years. He was. one
of the first white children born in Eochester and
in fact the city of today had at that time no ex-
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isteuce, although the present boundary limits in-

clude the site of his birthplace. He lived to wit-

ness almost the entire growth and development
of the city and for years figured as one of its

prominent, influential and honored business men
and residents. He had no aspiration for office

but lie did everything in his power to promote
general growth and progress and his was a most
useful and houonihln life, winning for him l.lio

high regard, trust and good will of all with whom
he came in contact. In fact his life history is in-

sepcrably intenvoven with the history of Roches-

ter and the development of Monroe county and
no work of this character would be complete with-

out an extended mention of him. He was one of

the city's fathers and builders, acquainted with

the story of its progress—an active factor in its

growth. Ho possoRScd a strong nature, a kindly

spirit, and his life was actuated by high, manly
lirinciples, and when he was called from this earth

Rochester mourned the loss of one of its most
valued and representative men.

cial service has been promptly executed by him.
In 1900 he was elected alderman of the twentieth

ward and was re-elected in 1903 and again in 1906,
Eo that he is now serving for the third term. He
is a stalwart champion of republican principles,

being in thorough sympathy with the policy and
the platform of the party.

Mr. May was married on the 15th of October,

1902, jo Miss Louiso Bush, ami they hiivo two
children : John A. and Lauretta. The family
home is at No. 398 Brown street.

AUGUST J. MAY.

August J. May, who for two years lias been

deputy collector of internal revenue at Rochester,

was born in the old eleventh ward, now the twen-

tieth ward, of this city, on the 30tii of August,

1.863. His ])arcnts were Adam and Rosa (Eis-

man) May, both of whom were natives of Ger-

many, the former born in Baden and tlie latter

in Bavaria. Coming to America in early life,

however, they were married in this country. After

reaching the new world Adam May engaged in

blacksmithing but in his later years carried on

the grocery business. He is now deceased but the

mother still survives. In the family were three

sons and two daughters.

August J. May has spent his entire life in

Rochester and in St. Peter's and Paul's parish

school he acquired his education. In early life

he learned blacksmithing and followed that trade

for ten years in the employ of James Cunning-

biun, Son & Coinpany. Ho iiCtorward became cou-

nected with inerclinudising as a member of the

fii'm of Wick & May, proprietors of a grocery and

restaurant. Tlicy conducted the business for ten

years, after which Mr. May purchased his part-

ner's interest and carried on the business for

seven years alone at the corner of Jay and Child

streets. He prospered as a merchant, having a

good patronage and thereby winning a gratifying

measure of success. For the past two years he

has been deputy collector of internal revenue and

has proyed most faithful in the office. Other offi-

JOHN J. McINEENEY.

John J. Mclnerney is one of the more recent

additions to the Rochester bar but has already

built up a very enviable practice and the profes-

sion and the public alike acknowledge his worth
and legal power. He was born at Salamanca, New
York, June 10, 1873, his parents being Michael
Garry and Ellen Kane Mclnerney, both of whom
were natives of Ireland, whence they came to the

United States about 1856, settling first in Brook-

lyn. Subsequently they removed to Salamanca and
the father, who is a blacksmith by trade, is now
serving as city blacksmith in Rochester, having
come to this city in 1885.

At the usual age John J. Mclnerney entered the

public schools of his native city and there passed

througli successive grades until reaching the eighth

grade. He put aside his text-books at the age of

thirteen years and learned the machinist's trade,

which he followed for about eight years in the

employ of the Builalo, Rochester & Pittsburg, the

Delaware, Lackawanna & Western and the New
York Central Railroad Companies, leaving the lat-

ter railroad after having assumed entire charge

of the mechanical repair department of locomotives

from seven p. m. until six a. m. He then turned

his attention to the field of newspaper work, be-

coming a reporter on the Rochester Herald and
the Union and Advertiser. Subsequently he ac-

cepted the position of executive clerk for Mayor
George A. Carnahan, thus serving from 1900 until

1903. In October, 1903, he went to Albany, New
York, as legislative correspondent for the Union
and Advertiser aaul while there he also attended

the Albany Law School. After completing a thor-

ough course under the direction of that institution

he passed the bar examination on the 13th of

January, 1903, and was admitted to the bar in

March of the same year.

In April following Mr. Mclnerney opened an

office in ]?ochester and has built up a very fine

practice. No dreary novitiate awaited him. He
roon gained a liberal clientage, and although yet a
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young man he has had a varied experience in the

courts, and has gained a standing wliich many an

older practitioner might well envy. He is, more-

over, a self-made man and deserves great credit

for what he has accomplished. ITe acquired his

own education, supplying the funds necessary for

tuition and other expenses by his own labor. He
was ambitious and energetic and allowed no obsta-

cle to brook his path that could be overcome by

honorable and determined effort. He entered iipon

the practice of law with Charles B. Bechtold, un-

der the firm name of Mclnerney & Bechtold, the

partnership being dissolved, however, in Septem-

bier, 1904, when Mr. Bechtold became assistant

district attorney, since which time Mr. Mclnerney
has been alone.

He is a member of the Rochester Bar Associa-

tion and has a social, genial nature, which makes
him a favorite in various club and fraternal or-

ganizations. He is now vice commodore of the

Rochester Yacht Club and also affiliates with the

Elks and with the Knights of Columbus.

JOHN WATERSTREET.

John Waterstreet, proprietor of a hotel in the

village of Walker, was born in Rochester on the

8th of March, 1870. His father, William Water-

street, was a native of Germany, bom in 1840.

He was married in Rochester in 1866 to Miss

Caroline Baase, whose birth occurred in Germany
in 1847. He commenced business life in this

country with pick and shovel, working on the

streets, and was employed in that manner for

about three years, but he possessed courage and
laudable ambition and used every opportunity to

secure advancement in the business world. Re-
moving to the town of Hamlin, he was employed
at farm labor for about three years and on the

expiration of that period he took up his abode in

Kendall, Orleans county, New York, where he

purchased a farm, but the venture did not prove
financially successful, and after two years he be-

gan working a farm on the shares, being thus en-

gaged in the town of Hamlin through the suc-

ceeding three years. He afterward operated
another farm on shares in the town of Kendall
for two years and the succeeding three years were
spent upon still another place. From there he
removed to the town of Gaines, where he lived for

one year, and next located on the John Pratt farm
in the town of Carlton, where he lived for one
year. Four years were spent by him on the Cur-
rier farm, after which he removed to the Phillips

farm, which he purchased in 1890. There he
resided until 1906, when he sold the property.

bought a house in the village of Two Bridges,

Carlton, and is now located there. He met with

heavy losses in 1901 by the destruction of his

barn by (iro, losing horses, stock, tools, and, in

fact, nearly ail of the conteuts of his barn. How-
ever, by ins jjerseverance and diligence as the

years have gone by he has met with a fair measure
of prosperity that now enables him to live retired.

Unto him and his wife were born eight children.

Of this family, John Waterstreet was reared

in much the usual manner of farm lads of the

period. He attended the public schools as oppor-

tunity ofl'ered, but early had to start out in life

on his own account. When he began farming for

himself he settled on the Simmons farm in the

town of Hamlin and from there removed to the

Kelso farm on the state road, where he lived for

two years. On the expiration of that period he
sold the property and began working by the

month as a farm hand on the place which he
had formerly cultivated for six years before his

marriage. He afterward located in Walker in the

hotel business on the 8th of October, 1903, and
after two years thus passed he went to live in

the home of his wife's parents, where he spent

the winter. In the following spring he bought 3

home in the village, where he lived until the

spring of 1907, when he purchased the hotel at

Walker which he is now conducting, making it a

creditable hostelry, which is well patronized and
brings to the owner a goodly income.

Mr. Waterstreet was married on the 6th of
July, 1898, to Miss Emma Maierhoffer, a daugh-
ter of Marcus and Minnie (Wagner) Maierhoffer,
both of whom were natives of Germany, born
June 21, 1836, and April 18, 1842, respectively.

They were married in Hamlin in 1878 and Mrs.
Waterstreet is their only child. Mr. Maierhoffer
came to this country in early manhood and
worked as a laborer, his first employment being
on the railroad. He was afterward employed at
farm labor by the month and during the first

year of his married life he was in the employ of
Joseph Graubman. Later he operated a farm on
shares for several years, after which he removed
to East Hamlin and continued the cultivation of
one farm for twelve years. He spent the suc-
ceeding three years on the Simmons farm, and
after his daughter Emma became the wife of John
Waterstreet lie sold his farm to Mr. Waterstreet
and removed to Walker, where he purchased a
residence and has since made his home. Unto
Mr. and Mrs. Waterstreet have been born two
children: Alfred, February 4, 1900; and Carl,
August 27, 1902, the former being now a pupil
in the district schools.

In his political views Mr. Waterstreet is a stal-

wart republican, who keeps well informed on the
questions and issues of the day, but has never
sought or desired office. His religious views are
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ill liai-inony with tlic docti'incs of the German
Ijiithcrnn I'liurcli, his ineiul)crsliip hoiug iu Jliim-

lin. Having spent his entire life in tliis county,

he has a wide acquaintance, and proof of his hon-

orable career is found in the fact that many of

his stanchest friends are those who have known
him from his bovhood.

WILLIS E. WOODBURY.

Willis E. Woodbury, one of the most prosper-

ous and prominent merchants of Rochester, con-

trolling thirteen stores, ten of which are located

in this cily, was born Juno 23, 1857. His fnUior,

D. A. Woodbury, was a manufacturing engineer,

who founded and conducted a business under the

name of tlie Woodbury Engine Company. He is

a native of Vermont and, although he continued
in active business for many years in Rochester,

is now living retired. In early luaiihood he

wedded Minerva C. Boughton, a native of the

state of New Yorlc, and unto them were born

four children but three have passed away.

Willis E. Woodbury, entering the public schools

at the usual age, j)assed through successive grades

until he became a high-school student. Early in

his business career lie made his way to Colorado

and was connected with mining interests at Lead-

ville. He spent five years in the west, from 1877
until 1882, when he returned to Rochester, since

which time he has been closely associated with

the grocery trade. He has stores in Elmira, Ba-

tavia and Geneva, with ten difEerent establish-

ments in Rochester, making an aggregate of thir-

teen retail grocery houses which are owned by Mr.

Woodbury and conducted under his immediate

supervision and direction. His executive ability

and excellent nmnagcmcnt Jiavo brought to these

concerns a large degree of success. Tlie safe, con-

servative policy which he inaugurated commends
itself to the judgment of the public and has se-

cured to him a patronage which makes the volume

of trade transacted over liis counters of vast im-

portance and magnitude. He has thus contributed

largely to the counnercial ])rosperity ot tlio city

as weil as to his individual success. Moreover, he

is a director of iho Genesee Valley Trust Com-
pany, and is vice president of the Upton Cold

Storage Company.
Pleasantly situated in his home life, Mr. Wood-

bury was married in 1884 to Miss Mamie Cliris-

tian and they have two daughters. The family

residence is a beautiful home at No. 344 Tiakc ave-

nue. Mr. Woodbury is very popular socially and is

a valued member of a number of the leading clubs

of the city, including the Genesee Valley Club, the

Columbia JJacket Club and the Rochester Whist
Club, lie likewise belongs to the Country Club
of Brighton, the Transportation Club of New
York and to the Founders & Patriots Club of

New York. He holds membership in the Lake
Avenue Baptist church and in politics is a repub-

lican with somewhat independent tendencies, re-

garding the capability of the candidate rather than
party affiliation at local elections. Of genial, so-

cial nature, the circle of his friends is constantly

widening, while his business interests are contin-

ually being extended in scope and importance. He
stands as a splendid type of the .young men of

America—alert, enterprising and progressive, rec-

ognizing advantages and utilizing possibilities not

alone for his own advancement but also for the

welfare and upbuilding of the city.

THOMAS McMillan.

Thomas McMillan, who is engaged in the gro-

cery business and has figured prominently in local

political circles in ]{ochester, has spent his entire

life in this city, where his birth occurred on the

26th of September, 1846. His parents were

Thomas and Janet (McLain) McMillan, both of

whom were natives of Scotland. They^ were mar-

ried, however, in New York city, and came to

Rochester on a packet boat about 1842. The
father was a miller by trade and followed that

pursuit in Rochester, but he died in this city dur-

ing the infancy of his son Thomas, who was the

younger of two children, the daughter being Anna,

now the wife of F. B. Brownell, of Vernon, New
York.
Thomas McMillan, on attaining the usual age,

was sent as a pupil to the public schools, wherein

he mastered those branches of learning that quali-

fied him for life's ])ractical and responsible duties.

He entered upon a business career as a clerk in a

grocery store on State street and in 1860, in com-
pany with his mother, he purchased a grocery

store on the same street. Together they were

owners of the business until the mother's death

in 1869, since which time Mr. McMillan has been

alone in business. He is undoubtedly one of the

oldest grocers in years of continuous connection

with the trade in Rochester, having for almost a

half century been a representative of this line of

merchandising, while for forty-seven years he has

been owner of a grocery store. In 1874 he came
to his present location at No. 180 Plymouth ave-

nue and a number of his patrons have been with

him throughout this entire time. He is, however,

continually gaining new customers and his trade

is constantly growing, eo that for many years his

business has been very profitable and he is ac-
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counted one of the leading grocers of this section

of the city. His store is neat and tasteful in its

arrangement, is well equipped with modern ap-

pointments and he carries a largo line of staple

and fancy groceries.

In 1873 Mr. McMillan was married to Miss Ella

E. Andrews, a native of Eochester and a daugh-

ter of Adna and Jane (Higgins) Andrews, who
were natives of New England. The Andrews are

descended from Mayflower ancestry. Unto Mr.

and Mrs. McMillan have been born four children

:

Martin P., who occupies a clerical position in tlic

postoffice; Harriet, at home; George, engaged in

the practice of law in Eochester; and Grace, also

at home.
Since age conferred upon him the right of fran-

chise Mr. McMillan has been a stalwart repiTbli-

can and has exerted considerable influence in

local political circles, where liis worth and ability

have been recognized in his election fpr various

public offices. In 1873 he was a member of the

board of supervisors, thus representing the ninth
ward for one year, after which he removed to the

third ward. In 1880 he was elected a member of

the board of education, in which capacity he re-

mained for eight years, and during that time he
furthered many progressive measures for the de-

velopment of the school system of the city. Dur-
ing the succeeding eight years he was further con-

nected with municipal interests as a member of

the city council and in 1896-7 he served on the
executive board, while for the past three years he
has been market commissioner. His official duties

have ever been discharged with a sense of conscien-

tious obligation, as well as with marked capabil-

ity, and over his public and private life there falls

no shadow of wrong or suspicion ol: evil.

HENRY E. SHAFFER.

Within the last half century America has dem-
onstrated her right to the leadership of the world
in the realm of invention. At first, by the bril-

liancy of her achievements, she won the attention
of the old countries, then commanded a respect,
which rapidly developed into wondering admira-
tion. Though she 'cannot cope with the old coun-
tries in fine arts, Europe has acknowledged her pre-

eminence in science and useful invention. She has
given to the world unexcelled labor-saving and
cost-reducing machinery, rapid transit and the
means of close and immediate communication. Her
inventions have largely revolutionized the trade
not only of the United States but of all countries.
Henry E. Shaffer is one who has contributed to
this result. Inventor and manufacturer, he has
spent rorty years in Eochester, during which

period he has given to the public a number of use-

ful devices, lie was born iu Dutchess county; New
York, June 18, 1824, but when only six months
okl was taken to Oneida county, this state, by his

parents, Mr. and Mrs. Zachariah Shafller. i'he

father in his early days was a carpenter and wag-
onmaker who possessed considerable mechanical

ingenuity and skill but in later years followed

farming.

Henry E. Shaffer was educated in Oneida

county and entered business life as proprietor of a

country store, Avhich he conducted for several

years and daring that time made several tliousand

dollars. He then went to Eome, New York, with
M. B. Poote, and entered the jobbing business, in

which he continued for four years. The year

piior to his removal to Eome the firm sold two
hundred and fifty thousand dollars worth of stock

mill four years later tlicir sales amounted io one
million, one hundred and fifty thousand dollars.

On leaving Eome Mr. Shaffer came to Eochester
and went into the manufacturing business, manu-
facturing a fruit jar which he patented. This un-
dertaking proved successful in an eminent degree

and as his prosperity increased Mr. Shaffer pur-

chased a large amount of real-estate. Throughout
• the years his inventive genius has found play, and
among the products of his brain and hand are

acetylene gas burners. He is now at work upon
a new invention—a new burner for acetylene

lamps—and he has patented many other inven-

tions. He is a very active man with keen, alert

mind, few men of his years showing the mental
vigor and unabating energy which he displays.

Mr. Sluifl'er was married iu early manhood to

Miss Lydia Morse, a daughter of Silas W. Morse,

of Oneida county. New York, and they have two
children : William II., a graduate of the Eochester
University, and now a practicing attorney with of-

fice in the Powers Block in Eochester ; and Fannie
C, at home. Politically Mr. Shaffer is a republi-

can and for some time filled the office of super-

visor. He was also captain of the vigilance com-
mittee in Eome during the period of the Civil war.

In early manhood he became a Mason and has since

been identified with the craft as one of its ex-

emplary representatives. In all of his business

life he has shown an indomitable purpose, indus-

try and resolution. Some of the best known in-

ventors of the century have perfected their work
in earlier years to then sit down and make no

further progress. This may be due in part to the

fact that as a man travels on in the journey of

life mature judgment brings a coolness of delib-

eration and a slowness of action which is in many
cases commendable

;
yet it permits the enthusiasm

and daring of the more youthful man to take ad-

vantage of opportunities which he was considering.

Mr. SbalTer, however, has not followed this plan.

His deep rcsonrch and experiment have continued
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up to the present time and even yet he is an active

worker in the world. He has none of the eccen-

tricities generally attributed to inventors and wnen
not in his work shop engaged with his experimenta

he is a most genial and afEable gentleman whose
pleasing manner has won him nc".ts of friends.

GEORGE TRUBSDALE.

George Truesdale, engaged in the general prac-

tice of law in Rochester, was born at Greece, Mon-
roe county. New York, November 19, 1833, his

parents being Samuel and Charity (Cummings)
Truesdale, the former a native of Ireland and
the latter of Pennsylvania. The father came to

this country with his parents wnen yet a young
lad and settled in Monroe county about 1833, at

which time the Erie canal was being buik He
became a farmer and was well known as a lead-

ing citizen of his community, serving as conimis-

siouer of highways and as assessor of the town

of Greece for a number of years. Ho died in

188C, having for two years sni-vivcd his wife, wlio

passed away in 1884. They were the parents of

seven sons and two daughters and of the family

seven are yet living.

Amid the scenes and environments of agri-

cultural life George Truesdale was reared and

through the months of summer he aided in the

work of field and meadow. He began his educa-

tion as a student in the Podunk school—a country

school—and afterward attended the Geneseo

Academy, Professor Benedict's Academy, and the

Rochester University, being graduated from the

last named in the class of 1857. After consider-

ing the various avenues of business life which

seemed open to him, he determined upon the prac-

tice of law as a life work and in 1858 was admitted

to the bar, following thorough preliminary read-

ing. He began the practice of law in this city,

where he has remained for almost a half century.

He volunteered for service in the Civil war under

Sheriff Hiram Smith, who was in command of a

company, but was rejected on account of impaired

eyesight.

Mr. Truesdale has done important service for

his community in various public ofTices. In 1861

he was elected justice of the peace under the old

regime when there were but two or three justices

in the city. He held the office for three years and

then resigned to form a partnership with Fredericlc

De Lano and the firm of De Lano & Truesdale

was maintained for several years. Mr. Truesdale

was elected police justice of the city in 1877 and

held the office for four years. Prior to becoming
police justice he served for one term as state

commissioner of the United States deposit fund.

He is now practicing in partnership with his son,

S. C. Truesdale, and his nephew, A. E. Trues-

dale, and they have continued in the general prac-

tice of the law with a large and important client-

age. Mr. Truesdale has ever been notable for the

thorough preparation of his cases, his close reas-

oning and his logical deductions, and for many
years he has been accorded a position as one of

tlic ablest members of the Rochester bar.

Prominent in Masonic circles, Mr. Truesdale

has become a Knight Templar of the Monroe com-
mandery and he has also been connected with the

Independent Order of Odd Fellows and with the

Red Men. In 1861 he was married to Miss Sarah

Cole, a native of Greece, this county, and unto

them have been bom two sons and four daugh-

ters: Stephen C, who is now an attorney of the

firm; Samuel M., a machinist; Mrs. W. B.

Huther; Jessie A.; Mrs. S. R. Clarke of New
York city; and Alice C, who died in infancy.

Mrs. Truesdale died in 1889, and in 1899 he

married Miss Mary F. Todd, daughter of David
Todd, late of Rochester, deceased.

Stephen C. Truesdale was born in Rochester,

May 3, 1862, and received his education in the

city schools. lie studied law with his father as

his preceptor and was admitted to the bar in 1887,

since which time he has been an active member
of the profession, the Truesdale firm of attorneys

being too well known in the city to need special

introduction here.

In December, 1887, Stephen Truesdale was

married to Miss Agnes B. Huther of Rochester.

He is a member of the Rochester Bar Association

and of Yonnondio lodge, No. 163, A. F. & A. M.,

and he also belongs to the Masonic Club, to the

Rochester Whist Club, the Columbia Rifle Club,

and the Rochester Rod & Gun Club, being inter-

ested in all athletic and manly outdoor sports.

BBLDEN WILDER.

Belden Wilder is a well-to-do farmer, who for

fifty-six years has resided upon the farm which

he now owns and occupies. About one half of it

was heavily timbered when he took possession, while

today it is one of the best developed farms in this

part of the county. It is situated in Parma town-

ship and in its splendid appearance gives every

evidence of the care and labor of the owner. It

was originally the property of his paternal grand-

father, Richard Wilder, who purchased it in 1838,

when the entire tract was an unbroken wilderness

and in the midst of the forest he hewed out his

farm, sharing in all of the hardships, difficulties

and privations incident to the settlement of the

frontier.
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Belden Wilder, a native of Monroe county, was
bom February 19, 1846, and has always been con-

nected with agricultural interests. He acquired

a public-school education and, having arrived at

years of maturity, was married on tlie 18th of

December, 1867, to Miss Charlotte Bradford, who
was born April 39, 1846. Her mother, Mrs. Julia

M. Bradford, was born in New Canaan, Columbia
county, New York, April 20, 1820, and in 1829

came to Monroe county by way of the Erie canal,

making tlie trip on a line boat. Since that time

she has never rode on a public conveyance, either

etage coach, railroad or electric car. She first

located in Mendon and afterward lived in Greece,

where, she resided- until about four years ago,

since which time she has made her home with her
daughter, Mrs. Wilder. Her husband was a far-

mer who secured land when the district was largely

unsettled, his property being covered with a native

growth of forest timber. Mr. and Mrs. Bradford
were married in 1845 and resided on the same
farm until, as. stated, Mrs. Bradford, having in

the meantime lost her husband, came to live with
her daughter, Mrs. Wilder, about four years ago,

when she met with an accident having a fall

whereby she fractured her hip. She has recov-

ered, however, to some extent and is now enabled
to walk around with the assistance of a cane.

Unto Mr. and Mrs. Wilder has been born one
daughter, Julia, whose birth occurred November
24, 1871, and on the 5th of April, 1893, she be-
came the wife of Dr. Dennis P. Webster, who is a
practicing veterinary surgeon, having graduated
from the Ohio Veterinary College at Cincinnati,
in 1892. He is a member of the New York State
Veterinary Association, also the Goncssee Veterin-
ary Association and of the latter is a member of
the board of directors. His political allegiance is

given to the republican party and he is prominent
in Masonic circles, having filled every office in
Clio lodge, while in 1906 he served as its master.
Mr. Wilder is also a stanch advocate of repub-

lican principles and for eleven years has held the
office of assessor, his long continued service prov-
ing his capability and fidelity. He belongs to the
Masonic lodge and to the Grange and is interested
in all that pertains to agricultural and horticul-
tural development of the eountv and state. His
life is a busy and useful one, devoted to the cul-
tivation and improvement of one hundred and ten
acres in his home farm in the town of Parma. He
also has thirty acres in the town of Greece. His
orchard contains twenty-five acres, the trees all

being planted by him. He raises apples, peaches,
cherries and pears and in the production of fruit
as well as cereals he is meeting with excellent suc-
cess. One looking over his farm today can scarcely
realize that when he took up his abode thereon
one-half of it was covered with a dense growth of
timber. He cleared this away and brought the

land under a high state of cultivation, while all

of the buildings upon the place, which are sub-

stantial and modern, were erected by him. The
farm now provides many comforts to tiiose who re-

side upon it and yields a good living to the owner.

CHARLES BOWEN ACHILLES.

Charles Bowon Achilles, wlio since 1896 has been

engaged in the mining and investment business

in Rochester, was born in Irondequoit in 1861.

His father was Henry L. Achilles, whose birth

occurred in this city in 1833. There has been

an H. L. Achilles in the family through nine

generations. The grandfather of our subject bore

the same name and figured prominently and ac-

tively in connection with the. events which shaped

the early history of Rochester. He was one of the

organizers of tlie Baptist church and was one of

four young men who bought a lot upon which was
erected the Second Baptist church. He became
a deacon of that organization and served for

twenty-one years. He was thus closely associated

wiLli Ihe moral development and progress of the

city, and he Avas also a factor in its material up-

building. He built and operated in connection

with William Cheney the first foundry in Roches-

ter and also conducted a flouring mill. His son

and namesalce, Henry L. Achilles, was for sev-

eral years owner of a plow factory on Piatt street

and was also a member of tlie D. Knapp & Com-
pany Carting Company. The last fifteen years of

his life were spent in Hawaii and he passed away
ill 1903. His wife, Avhq bore the maiden name
of Susan B. Bowen, was born in Lyndonville, New
York, in 1835, and is still living.

Charles Bowen Achilles acquired his education

in the public schols of Rochester and early in his

business career was assistant superintendent of

llie Rochester Street Railway Company, serviug

from 1885 until 1890. He was afterward with

a chemical company in Syracuse, New York, until

1892, when he went to Tacoma, Washington,
where he was treasurer of a dressed beef company.
In 1896 he returned to Rochester and has since

been in the mining and investment business. In
this connection he has become well known and
gained an extensive clientage. His office is locat-

ed at Ni)S. 833-835 Powers building, and few men
are better informed concerning mining stock and
tlie value of other investments.

Mr. Achilles was married in April, 1883, to

Miss Helena S. Brower, of Rochester, and they

have one son, Chester B., born in February, 1895.

Mv. Acliillos is an enthusiastic JTason and has

taken tlie thirty-second degree of the Seattish rite
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m Uie Uoelioslor tonsislory. .lli! is ii menibur oi'

Yoiinondio lodgo, Hamilton clinptLT, Monvoo

commaudery, and is also coiincclud with the

Grotto and the Mystic Shrine. He is a menibei-

of the Masonic Chib, the United Commercial

Travelers oJ! America, the Commercial Travelers

Mutual Benefit Association of Itochcstcr, Glidden

camj) "f tho Sons of Veterans, Achilles ('or])R smd

of the Kirst Ma|)tist chiiivli. His connection wilii

these diU'ereut organizations indicates his charac-

ter and the i)rinci))les wlucii govern his conduct

and shoAV him to be a man of high purposes and

ideals. His political allegiance is given tho repub-

lican party. The Achilles family is one of the

old and well known families of Eochester and the

life record of Charles Bowen Achilles reflects

credit u)ion an untarnished name.

GEOEGE BIMNTON GCIIOEFFEL.

Goorge Hrinloii SchoelVcl, conncclcd with vmi'-

ioiis iiiisincan inlci'twls, is now |ii'esidcnt of tho

Scliocil'cl-P'iiwood Conl Coin])(iny, Is trcnsnrer of

the SchooH'ol Automobile & Livery Comjiany and

vice president of the Cramer-Force Company,

wliolesalc pajier and bags. The extent and im-

portance of his business interests have gained for

him a position with the leading representatives of

trade in Eochester, and he belongs to that class

of representative men who, in promoting indi-

vidual success also contribute to the general pros-

perity.

Mr. Schoeffel was born in Eochester, April 5,

1864, his parents being Fiancis Anthony and

Sarah (Cawthra) Schoeffel. There are also two

daughters, Susan Blanche and Elizabeth Schoef-

fel. In his boyhood days George B. Schoeffel was

a pupil in public schools Nos. 6 and 18, and

later ho attended the Eochester Business Insti-

tute, from which he was graduated in 1879. His

initial step in the business world was made as

bookkeeper for the firm of M. Mutchler & Son,

crockery dealers, with whom he continued for a

year. He next entered tho Flour City National

Bank, with which ho was connected for foui- years,

and later he joined his father in the grocery busi-

ness under tlio firm style of F. A. Schoeffel &
Son. They conducted the store with good suc-

cess until 1889, when they sold out, and G. B.

Schoeffel became purchasing agent for the State

Industrial School, acting in that capacity for

three years. In 1893 he engaged in the coal busi-

ness, being for five years a partner in the firm of

F. W. Yatos & Company. Tic then became sole

proprietor of the business, which during the last

two years has been carried on under the name
of the Schoeffel-Elwood Coal Company. A man

of rosoui'ccfui business ability, he has not confined
his efforts alone to one line, but on the contrary
has extended his labors into various fields of com-
mercial and industrial activity. He is now treas-

urer of the Sclioeffel Automobile & Livery Com-
pany and for the last four years has been vice

president of the Cramer-Force Company, manu-
facturers of wrapping paper and bags. His busi-

ness Judgment ia sound, liis dealings reliable and
his methods progi'ossive, and thus he has made
steady progress in commercial circles. .

In his political views Mr. Schoeffel is republi-

can, but without as])iration for office. He has a
military record of nearly six vears service with
the First Separate Companv of the National
Guard, being a member of Company A, Boys in

Blue. He is also a member of the Gliddon post,

Sons of Vctorajis, and the A'^etei'an Corps of the

First Separate Company. His membership rela-

tions include the Eochester Whist Club and the

Eochester Automobile Club.

Mr. Schoeflfel was married to Miss Sarah Erwin,
daughter of James and Fjlizabeth (Gillis) Erwin,

and they have Ihwo. cliiidron: 'AVinona ]\Iny, Mai'-

joi'y i'lvolyn iiiid G. Erwin. The summci" home of

tho family is loc^alod at Iforost Lawn. Mr, Schoef-

fel is a lover of all outdoor sports and excels ip

some of these in an. amateur way. He is partict(-

larly fond of horses and his home at Forest Lawn
affords him opportunity to indulge this taste, al-

though his close attention to business allows' him
but few leisure hours. He is a man of fine busi-

ness character, energetic, resolute and purpose-

ful, and among the leading representatives of busi-

ness circles in Eochester he is a favorite by reason

of his capability and his genial disposition.

EDGAE N. CUETICE.

'J'he (inancial and commercial history of

Eochester would be incomplete and unsatisfactory

without a personal and somewhat extended men-
tion of those whose lives are interwoven closely

with its industrial and financial development.

When a. man (U" select juuubor of men. have set

in motion the machinery of business, which ma-
terializes into a thousand forms of practical util-

ity, or whei'c they have carved out a fortune or a

name from the common possibilities, open for

competition to all, there is a public desire, which

should be gratified, to see the men so nearly as

a portrait an.d a word artist can paint them and

examine the elements of mind and the circum-

stances by which such results have been achieved.

The subject of this review finds an appropriate

place in the history of those men of business and

enterprise in the state of New York whose force
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of cliaraeter, -whose yt^erling integrity, whose forti-

tude amid discouragenieats, whose good sense in

the management of complicated affairs and marked
success ill esinhlialiing largo iiKliistricB and hring-

ing to completion great conunercial iindertakingis,

have contributed in an erninen,t degree to the de-

velopment of the resources of this noble common-
wealth. The great army of employes and the

magnitude of the Imsiness which he controls both

attest the marked ability of Edgar N. Curtice,

whose name is known in trade circles wherever

civilization has left its stamp.

He Avas born, in Webster, Monroe county, on

the 9th of December, 1844, a son of Mark Curtice,

and a descendant of one of the oldest colonial

families. His ancestry is traced back to Henry
Curtice, who was one of the original grantees of

the town of Sudbury, Massachusetts, in 1638.

His son. Lieutenant Epbraim Curtice, born March
31, 1643, was a noted frontiersman and famous
Indian scout. Ephraim Curtice, son of Lieuten-

ant Curtice, was born in Topsfield, Massachusetts,

in 1662, and became the father of Bbenezer Cur-

tice, bom in Boxford, Massachusetts, August 31,

1707. The latter's son, Jacob Curtice, was born

March 31, 1730, in Topsfield, Massachusetts. He
wedded Mary Stiles, a native of Boxford, Massa-

chusetts, and from Roxford removed to Amherst,

New Hampshire. He and five of his sons valiantly

fought for American independence in the Revolu-

tionary war, Jacob Curtice enlisting at Amherst
in 1775 and serving until the close of hostilities.

Jacob and Mary Curtice had nine children, of

whom Ebenezer, the fifth, was born in Amherst,

New Hampshire, June 9, 1760. He married Sarah

Parker, and removed to western New York. He
was among the earliest settlers of this part of the

state, locating at Bloomfield, New York, in 1789.

In 1792 he removed to Webster, then a part of

Ontario county, where his remaining days were
passed. He died August 32, 1832, and was buried

in Lakeside cemetery in Webster. His wife died

August 16, 1847, in h(!r eighty-third year. Mark
Curtice, the falluir of ICdgar X. Curtice, was the

youngest of the eleven cliildren of Ebenezer and
Sarah (Parker) Curtice. He was born in Wind-
sor, New Hampshire, October 17, 1808, and died

in Webster, Monroe county, New York, November
9, 1880.

Mark Curtice's wife, Eltnina (Goodnow) Cur-
tice, daughter of Simeon and Sarah (Griffin)

Goodnow, was the first white child born in what
is now the town of Webster. She was born Julv
3, 1813, and died March 36, 1888. Simeon Good-
now came to Monroe county from New Hampshire
in 1810. He was born in the old Granite state
in 1787 and died November 20, 1836, and he
was buried in Lakeside cemetery at Webster. Ho
was a son. of Calvin Ooodnow, who was born
February 15, ]7.'i/*., in Westboro, Massachusetts.

Calvin served in the Revolutionary war from
Rindgc, New Hampshire, and also from Amherst,
New Hampshire. The Goodnow family in Arncr-

ieii. is descended from Edmund Goodnow, who
came to America on the sbip Conlidciuie in 1638.

In the family of Mark and Elmina (Goodnow)
Curtice were five children. Delia, Avlio was born
in 1833, became prominent in educational circles,

acting for more than twenty-five years as principal

of different public schools in Rochester, most of

this time being at the head of No. 20. She was
a woman of superior niiud, highly respected and
loved by all. Her death occuri'cd in 1903. Albin
B., the second child, ivas born in 1838 and died
in December, 1886. Simeon G. was born August
13, 1839, and died February 7, 1905, after long
connection with the extensive business now con-
dnctcd under the name of the Curtice Brothers
Company. ]<]dgar N. is the next of the family.

The surviving daughter is Belle Sophia, the wife
of the late A. B. Wolcott, and is now a resident
of Rochester.

Edgar N. Curtice was educated in the common
and advanced schools of Wcb.ster and in what
Avas known as SatterJee's Instil ule in Rochester,
completing his course when about twenty-one years
of age. .He then joined his brother, Simeon G.
Curtice, who about three years before had em-
barked in the grocery business on a small scale
in what is known as the Platiron building at Jtain,
North and Franklin streets, Rochester. This was
in 1865. There they continued until 1868. They
removed in that year to the building at the corner
of AVater and Mortimer streets, and commenced
the canning and preserving business, Avhieh has
grown steadily to the present extensive enterprise.
The business continued in this location until
1873, when the demand for increased space com-
pelled the Curtice Brothers to build at No. 200
North Water street, the new structure being used
for canning and preserving on a larger scale. Tn
1880 they bought the land and erected the build-
ings now occupied by the eomi)any, Avliich from
tim(> to lime have been enlarged in order to meet
the growth of the trade. Tn 1887 the business
Avas incorporated under the name of Curtice
Brothers Company, Avith a capitalization of tAvo
hundred thousand dollars. Simeon G. Curtice
was the president; Edgar N. Curtice, the vice
president and treasurer; and Robert A. Badger,
the secretary of the ncAV corporation,. In 1901
the business Avas reincorporated under the same
name and Avitli the same officers, and Avith a capi-
talization of one million five hundred thousand
dollars, shoAving thus a more than seven, fold in-
crease in the fourteen years. On the death of
Simeon G. Curtice in 1905, Edgar N. Curtice
AA'as made president and treasurer ; Henry B. Mc-
Kay, vice president; and Robert A. Badger, .sjcc-

retarv.
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'J'lio Curtico ]irotlicrs Coinimiiy is one of tlip

largest producers of liigli grade food pi'oducts in
the world, and contributes much to the fame of
tlie Flower City as a commercial cen.ter. Its jjrod-

ucts are found in the mai-lcots all around the
globe, being recognized as goods of the highest
(|uality, and the company has difficulty in meet-
ing the increasing demand made upon it. Each
year has shown the necessity of increased acreage

to supply the fruits and vegetables needed for the

business, until now the company contracts for

the yield of over eight thousand acres in farm
and market garden products from some of the

most famous and fertile lands in the world

—

notably the valley of the Genesee. The company
owns and operates three plants, the parent plant

in Rochester, one in Vernon, Oneida county, New
York, for vegetnblps, and one in WoodatoAvn, New
Jersey, for tomatoes. The Rochester factory not

only carries on all sorts of canning and preserving,

hut also jnanufactures the cans for use in all its

factories. At Eochester also are the administra-

tive offices. It is essentially a Eochester concern.

This immense enterprise pays out annually very

large sums of money to its enijiloyes, and to the

farmers wlio grow the fruits an,d vegetables used

in the business. It markets its products all over

the world, as has been said, and the profits of this

enormous business come back into Eochester to in-

crease the wealth of its citizens and the resources

of its banks.

Each of the company's plants is equipped with

the latest and most perfect mechanical appliances,

.securing Ihc highest degree of cleanliness and most

sanitary conditions. Over twenty-five hundred
employes are at work in the factories in the busy

season and a still larger number are engaged on

the farms in producing the fruits and vegetables

needed for the business.

The world-wide fame of the "Blue Label"

ketehup, soups, preserves, jams, jellies, meat deli-

cacies, etc., is simply a recognition of the efficient

methods, the constant wnlehfulncss, and the wise

management of the vast enterprise of which Mr.

Curtice is the head, and of which he and his

brothers have been the creators.

Edgar N. Curtice was married in 1876 to Lucy

E. Gardner. Their only son, E. N. Curtice, Jr.,born

in 1878, died in 1905, in which year the death of

iMrs. Curtice also occurred. Louie Eelle, a daughter,

is the wife of Frederick Edwin Bickford. Asmes
Eloise, another daughter, is the wife of Dr. Vol-

nev A. Hoard.
l\Tr. Curtice is a member of various clubs and

social organizations, among them the* Genesee
Vallcv Club, the Eochester Whist Club, the Coun-
trv Club of Eochester and the Oak Hill Country
Club. Deeply inlerested in llie welfare ami com-
mercial development of Rochester, he has been a

member of the Chamber nf Commerce since its

organization, and he is also a director of the Na-
tional Bank of Eochester and of the Fidelity Trust
Company. His political allegiance is given to
the republican party, and he is identified with the
Sons of the American Eevolution.

Such, in brief, is the life history of E. N. Cur-
tice, a man remarkable in the breadth of his wis-
dom, his indefatigable energy and his fertility of
resource. One of the prominent characteristics

of his successful business career is that his vision

has never been bounded by the exigencies of the
moment, but has covered as well the possibilities

and opportunities of the future. This has led him
into extensive undertakings, bringing him into

marked prominence in industrial and commercial
circles. A man of unsweiving integrity and honor,

one who has a perfect appreciation of the higher

othicH of life, he has gained and retained the con-

fidence and respect of his i'cilowmen and is dis-

tinctively one of the leading citizens, not only of

Eochester, but of the Empire state, with whose
interests he has been identified throughout his

entire career.

FEANK M. tlOFP.

Frank M. Goff, a snecessfiil practitioner at the

Eochester bar, was l.iorn in Kjiencerport, which is

still the place of his residence, his natal day be-

ing December 22, 1851. He \n descended from

one of the old American fatnilies founded in this

eoinitry in early colonial ilayH by William Goff,

who crossed the Atlantic! lo the new world in

1()02. He was one of the HJgners of the death

Avarrant of Charles I., king of England. The
Goff family was established in Monroe county,

New York, about 1812. Entjwell ({off coming from

Mcstern Connecticut lo the I'lmpire state. Henry
11. Goff, the father of our Hiil)ject, was born in

Henrietta, Monroe, county, and having arrived at

years of maturity, he wedded Harah E. AVright, a

representative of a family that was also estab-

lished in Monroe county in the early part of the

iiineteenili centuiT. In the Kialernal line ^Fr. Golf

is also descended from the Alleji family to which
lielongod (olniiel Ethan Allen, ilie gallant soldier

of the Eevolutionary war who Ctaptured Port Ti-

conderoga and commanded his Green Mountain
Boys in a number of victories. Henry H. Goff

was a farmer and in his Inter days engaged in

dealing in produce. In. early manhood he had
followed school teaching to Home extent and had
served as school commiRsioner. He was the first

or second teacher in the Western House of Eefuge,
now the State Industinnl school. He was recog-
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nized throughout western New York as a promi-

nent and influential citizen and lie passed away in

August, 1904, respected and honored by all who
knew him. For several years he had survived his

wife, who died in 18!)8. Their J'amily numbered
two sons, of whom the younger, Jiurton H., is now
a retired produce dealer.

Prank M. Goff was reared upon the home farm
and after attending the district schools became a

student in the normal school at Brockport, from
which he was graduated in 1870. lie then entered

the Rochester TJnivereity, where he spent two

years, and he was afterward a student in Bryant

& Stratton Business College. He thus received

thorough preliminary training and in 1873 he

took up the study of law, being admitted to the

bar in 1876. In that year he began the practice

of his profession in Rbcliester, Avhere he has since

remained, securing a large and distinctively rep-

resGJitntivo clientage. Tie is curefiil and thorough

in the preparation of his cases and presents his

cause with clearness and force, never failing to

impress his hearers and seldom failing to win
the verdict desired. His close reasoning, his com-
prehensive knowledge of the principles of Juris-

prudence and his devotion to his clients' interests

are the strong characteristics of his professional

career.

Mr. Goff was married to Miss Clara B. Brown,
of Spencerport, New York, and they have two
children : Louise Loomis and William F. Mr. Goff

is a member of the Historical Society and of tne

Society of the Genesee. He belongs also to the

Rochester Whist Club and is a Scottish Rite !Ma-

son and a member of the Masonic club. A genial,

social nature has gained him juany friends and he

is much esteemed in the community where almost

his entire life has been passed.

GEORGE CASBURN.

George Casburn, the owner of valuable farming
property in the town of Greece, where he is exten-

sively engaged in carrying on agricultural and
horticiiltural pursuits, was born in Burwell, Cam-
bridgeshire, England, February 13, 1845, his

parents being Ambrose and Mary (Dyson) Cas-

burn, both of whom were natives of Cambridge-
shire, England. The father, a farmer by occupa-

tion, was a successful business man and accumu-
lated a good property following his arrival in the

new world. He died in 1897 at the age of seventy-

two years, while his widow still survives, her home
being in Carthage. Hancock county, Illinois, where
on the 5th of July, 1907, she celebrated the eighty-

first anniversary of her birth. In the family wore
seven children: George, of this review; Alfred,

of Illinois; Mrs. Ann Boardman, of Michigan;

Mrs. licbocca Burling, living near Ferris, in Han-

cock county, Illinois; Mrs. Sarah Atkins, also of

Hancock county; liobert, a practticiug physician

ol' Cartilage, Illinois; and Mrs. Martha Camp, of

Carthage.

When eight years of age George Casburn came
to the new world in company with his mother and

three other children of the family, the father hav-

ing crossed the Atlantic a year and a half before.

They made their way direct to Rochester and the

family home was established in Penfield town-

ship. George Casburn remained upon his fath-

er's farm there for about twelve years and in the

fall in which he attained his majority he went to

Ohio, where he lived for two years. On the ex-

piration of that period he removed to Illinois,

where he resided with his father's family for six

yonra, after wliicli lie returned to Greece town-

ship, Monroe county. For thirty-two years he

has lived in this township, and for fifteen

years has made his home on his present

farm. He is now the owner of two ex-

cellent farms in the township, having sixty-five

acres in the home place and seventy-six acres in

another tract. Both farms are located on the

Ridge road and are excellent properties, returning
a gratifying income to the owner. He likewise

has five acres on the Ridge road adjoining Kodak
Park, upon which are six dwellings just outside
the city limits, five of these houses having been
built by Mr. Casburn. His own home is an at-

tractive residence, and there is a large barn, forty

by eighty feet, which ho built. Tliere are likewise

two smaller barns on the place. Most of the im-
provements have been made by Mr. Casburn, who
is conducting his ])laco as a fruit farui, having
seven acres in red English currants and six acres
in gooseberries, beside pears, plums and prunes.
He also has a six-acre apple orchard and, in fact,

his is one of the fine fruit farms of this portion
of the state, which is noted throughout the coun-
try as a splendid horticultural district. Upon
his other farm he has a large evaporator and has
owned one in Orleans county for nineteen years.
In fact, he has been engaged in evaporating ap-
ples for twenty-six seasons, being one of the pion-
eers in this business.

In 1880 Mr. Casburn was married to Miss
Mary Nordrum, who was horn in Norway in De-
cember, 1852, and came to the United States in
early childhood with her parents, Egbert and IMary
Nordrum, also natives of Norway. Mr. and Mrs.
Casburn have three daughters and a son: Nellie,
Martha, Alfred G. and Grace. The eldest daugh-
ter is the wife of Clarence Bushrow, of Greece
township, who is living on her father's other farm
on the Ridi>e road, and they have two sons, George
and Noruian.
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Mr. Casbuni is a niember of the Greece Grange.
Almost his entire life has been sjjont in Monroe
covnity ajul during the greater part of tlie time he
has been connected with agricultural and horticul-
tural pursuits. He has made a close study of
these lines of business and his labors have brought
him the gratifying measure of prosperity wliich he
is now enjoying.

REV. AVILLIAM R. TAYLOR, I). D.

Rev. William R. Taylor, pastor of the Brick
church at Rochester since 1888, is recognized as
one of the ablest divines of the Presbyterian min-
istry and the worthy successor of the distin-
guished men who have preceded him in his pres-
ent connection. He was born in Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania, September 28, 1856. He early
decided to enter the ministry, for his paternal
ancestors for five generations were ministers and
the iiiducnco of the family has been of no re-

stricted order in the moral development of various
localities. His father, the Rev. W. J. R.. Taylor,
D. D., served several important churches, was sec-

retary of the American Bible Society from 1862
to 1868—Civil war and reconstruction period, and
at the time of his death was corresponding secre-

tary of the American Sabbath Union. One of his

brothers. Rev. Livingston L. Taylor, is now jjas-

tor of the Congregational cluirch in Canandaigua,
New York. Another brother, the Rev. Graham
Taylor, D. D., is professor of Christian Sociology
in the Chicago Congregational Theological Semi-
nary, and is the founder and warden of Chicago
Commons, an influential social settlement.

Having decided to devote his life to the minis-
try. Dr. Taylor began preparations for his chosen
life work as a student in Rutgers College, at New
Brunswick, New Jersey, of which his father,

grandfather and great grandfather had been trus-

tees. In 1876 he was graduated with highest
honors, and the degi-ee of Bachelor of Arts was
conferred upon him. Immediately afterward he
entered tlie theological seminary of the Reformed
church iil, Now Brunswick, where ho pnvsuod a
three years' course and was graduated in the class

of 1879. He was then ordained by the New Bruns-
wick classis of the Reformed Church and almost
immediatelv after he accepted a call from the
church at Franklin Park, New Jersey—a church
wliicli had had but six pastors in the first one hun-
dred and seventy-five years of its history. There
Dr. Taylor remained for five years or until 1884,
when he took charge of the First Reformed Church
of Philadelphia. In the meantime his labors as

a pastor and his eloquence as a preacher were win-

ning him a constantly growing reputation and in

1888 he was called to the iiastorate of tlie Brick
Ciiurcli in Rochester as the successor of the widely
known and greatly beloved Dr. James B. Shaw.
It was on the 13tli of March, 1825, at a meeting
held in a wooden building on State street, that
the congregation, later known as the Brick Church,
was organized. Its first house of worship was
urwd'd and ready for occupancy October 1, 1828.

In 1858, tlie congregation having greatly in-

creased, an addition was made to the original

church and in 1859 it was determined to build a
new structure. The cornerstone of the new church
was laid July 3, 1860, and it was dedicated on the

Both of June, 1861. The pastors who have been
stationed at the church are Rev. William James,
1836-1831; Rev. William Wisner, D. D., 1831-5;
Hev. George Beceher, 1837-40; Rev. James B.

Shaw, 1840-87 ; and Rev. William R. Taylor since

1888. The cluirch Avas rebuilt in 1892-3 at a cost

of seventy-five thousand dollars and has a member-
ship of two thousand, two hundred and two re-

ported to the last General Assembly, and among
tlio Prcshytcriaii churches is the fourth in size in

the United States. The Sunday-school member-
ship is over sevenloen hundred and is distinguished

as having a home department of over two hun-
dred members. Besides Dr. Taylor, there are two
assistant pastors and a parish deaconess. The of-

fice work of the church requires all the time of two
expert clerks.

In January, 1888, Dr. Taylor was married to

Miss Annie B. Spear, a daughter of James Spear,

of Philadelphia, at which time he was pastor of

the First Reformed Church of that city. On the

second Sabbath after his marriage he began his

labors as pastor in Rochester. He is a deep
thinker and logical reasoner and his sermons ap-

peal to the intellect as well as to the emotions.

That he is one of the most popular ministers of

Rochester is indicated by the fact that the house

of worship is taxed to its capacity at both morn-
ing and evening services. His thought is classi-

cal ; he speaks in the language of the people. He
uses no manuscript but addresses his hearers in the

most direct and straightforward manner, present-

ing his thoughts with a clearness and force that

never fail lo conimnnd iittcntion and in the great

mfijoritv of cases leaves strong impress upon his

auditors. His church is remarkably well organ-

ized and has enjoyed a steady growth at the rate

of about one hundred and twenty-five members a

year. Dr. Taylor is deeply interested in the ques-

tions of Christian sociology and under his guid-

ance the Brick .church is pressing forward along

the lines wisely opened to the so-called Institu-

tional church. This recognition of the three-fold

nature of man and the possibilities for harmon-
ious development along these lines has been a most
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helpful factor in the church work and is one of

the progressive signs of the times.

The Brick Church is probably unique among

Presbyterian Churches, in having a board of dea-

ooneBses, sixteen in number. The parish is divided

into sixteen districts, one elder and a deaconess

being assigned to the care of each district. The

church edifice has been lately rebuilt after a fire

on the 11th day of June, 1903, which destroyed

all but the walls. It was rededicated November

27, 1904, the entire property now being worth

two hundred thousand dollars. The strength of

its membership, the careful orgnni/ntion that has

been effected along all working lines and the zeal

and enthusiasm of the pastor and many of its

members have made the Brick Church one of

the strongest forces for Christian development not

only in Rochester but in the entire country, for in

its various departments of activity it reaches out

through its financial and personal assistance to

many parts of the world.

Dr. Taylor is an ex-president of the New York
State Christian Endeavor Society, a director of

Auburn Theological Seminary, a trustee of the

Rochester University, and Reynolds Library. He
is a man of great personal magnetism, full of sin-

cere earnestness and kindliness, of public spirit,

of broad charity and of deep love for humanity.

He is popular with the people, young and old, rich

and poor, and he wins respect and love alike from
all classes.

HON. THOMAS HARVEY EDDY.

Hon. Thomas Harvey Eddy, deceased, was a well

known resident of Greece township, who was
closely associated with agricultureal and other

business interests and was also prominent in pub-

lic life, being at one time the representative of his

district in the state legislature. His birth oc-

curred on the 4th of October, 1852, on the farm
in the town of Greece which long continued his

place of abode. He was descended from English

ancestry in both the paternal and maternal lines,

representing families ''that were established in

America during the colonial epoch of the history

of this country. The progenitor of the Eddy
family in the new world settled in Massachusetts

and many of his descendants became prominent

and influential citizens. Frederick Bushnell, one

of the ancestors, was well known as a large land-

owner at Charlotte in the middle of the nineteenth

century and at one time was president of one of

the early banks of Rochester.

Thomas Eddy, father of our subject, was a na-

tive of Pennsylvania, born near Harrisburg, on
the 14th of October, 1802. When a young man

he removed to Rochester and in 1843 he pur-

chased the farm in the town of Greece, which be-

came the property of his son and namesake. It

was about this time that he was married to

Phebe Lyons,- a daughter oE Isaac Lyons of

Rochester, and a native of Balston, Saratoga

county, New York, born March 10, 1810. After

residing for some years upon the farm they re^

moved to Lake avenue in Rochester, where both

died, (he death of Tliounis Eddy occurring March

31, 188U, while his wife passed away September

1, 181)2. Slie was descended from one of the old

families of Westchester county. New York, that

was established in America before the Revolution-

ary war and during the struggle for independence

the federal government used the buildings owned

by tlie family. General Lafayette making his head-

quarters there for a time. Both Mr. and Mrs.

Tlionias lOddy were prominent members of the

Presbyterian church under tlie pastorate of Dr.

Shaw and did evei7thing in their power to ad-

vance its growth and upbuilding. They had four

children : Frances S., Edmond L., Luther B. and

Thomas H.

The last named is indebted to the public schools

of Rochester for the early education he acquired,

while later he attended Carpenter's Collegiate In-

stitute and also Williams Commercial College.

When he had finished his education he returned to

his boyhood's home and from that time until his

demise resided continuously on the old homestead
farm, occupying the house in which he was born.

His attention was given to general agricultural

interests and ho was also connected with other

lines of business. Wliatcver he undertook proved

succossfid by reason of his capable management,
untiring diligence and perseverance. He was
widely recognized as a leading agriculturist of his

eommunitv and the improvements which he placed

upon the homestead made it one of the most at-

tractive and beautiful country places in western
New York. He ahvays kept in touch with pro-

gressive agriculture and his well directed labors

made him a successful business man.

Moreover, Mr. Eddy found time to co-operato in

movements for the general good and did not a lit-

tle to mold luiblic thought and action in his com-
munity. He was recognized as one of the local

leaders of his party, being a stalwart republican,
and in 1890 and again in 1891 he represented his

town on the county board of supervisors, where he
eoryed faithfully 'and acceptably. Still higher
political honors awaited him, however, for in 1895
he was nominated and elected to represent the
northwestern district of Monroe county in the
state legislature. His public career was at all

times above reproach, for in his public service lie

was actuated by a spirit of fidelity and loyalty that
was above question. He held friendship inviola-
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l)le, public olUcc us a sacred tnisl, and in business

life was equally reliable.

On the 29th "of June, 1882, in the Church of the

Transfiguration in New York city, was celebrated

the marriage Avhich united the destinies of Thomas
11. Eddy and Mrs. Adelgonde McKenzie Smith,

a daughter of Hon. Donald McKenzie, and they

had four children: Frances L., Thomas II., Adel-

gonde C. and Doiuiic L.

It will be interesting in this connection to note

something of the history of her father, who was
one of the most prominent men of his day, iigur-

ing actively in connection with the development
of the northwest. lie died on the 20tli of Janu-
ary, 1851, at the age of sixty-eight years. In
commenting upon his demise a local paper said:

"It is not our design to attempt biographical notice

of the deceased. Volumes would be required to

do the subject justice. His life was full of wild

adventure, romantic scenes and thrilling incidents.

Washington Irving in his Astoria has in his own
happy style narrated a few of these incidents but

he did great, although undoubtedly undesigned,

injustice to Mr. McKenzie in the mention of a cer-

tain important transaction. It was to Mr. Mc-
Kenzie and to hiui alone that Mr. Astor was in-

debted for all that was saved from the ruin which

treason wrought.

"The deceased was born in Scotland, June 15,

1783. In March, 1801, he left the paternal man-
sion to carve out for himself his own fortunes,

receiving for his patrimony a mother's prayers

and a mother's blessing. Thus when only alnnit

seventeen years of age he was thrown upon his own
resources and soon showed himself equal to the

ti-ial. He crossed the Atlantic to Canada and

joined the Northwest Company, with which he

continued in the fur trade for eight years. Within

that period his health partially gave way under the

severe ])rivations to which he was subjected, and

he revisited his native land. When his health was

restored he returned to his field of duty about

1809 and became one of the partners Avith John
Jacob Astor in establishing the fur trade west of

the Rocky mountains. In company with Mr.

Hunt of St. Louis, Mr. McKenzie made the over-

land route to the mouth of the Columbia, thus

traversing the conliiioni; from ocean to ocean—

a

trip then rarely allem])ted and full of peril. He
continued there until the surrender of Astoiia to

tlie British by McHougal during the war with Eng-
land. As he could not avert that catastrophe he

bent all bis energies to save the uttermosi; from

the wreck and, converting everything possible into

available funds, he qjirried them safely on his per-

son through a mighty wilderness and a hostile

country and caused them to he delivered into the

hands of Mr. Astor. After llic restoration oT peace

he exerted himself to secure for the United States

the exclusive trade of Oregon, but after a long ne-

gotiation with Mr. Astor and through him with

Messrs. Madison, Gallatin and other leading indi-

viduals in and out of office the matter was aban-
doned, and Mr. McKenzie, in March, 1821, joined
the Hudson Bay Company. He was immediately
appointed one of the council and chief factor.

"In August, 1825, he was married to Adelgonde
Humbert and was shortly afterward appointed gov-

ernor. At this time he resided nt Fort Gary in the

Red River settlement, where he continued to live

until 1832 in active and pi'osperous business, in

which ho amassed a large fortune. In August of

the following year he came to reside in Mayville,

where the residue of his life was spent. He leaves

thirteen children surviving him by his second, and
one by his former wife. He was a good citizen,

an honest man, a kind, confiding husband and an
affectionate and indulgent father. All mourn his

departure and honor his memory."
Mrs. McKenzie survived her husband until May

6, 1882, when she died at her home in Mayville
at the age of seventy-four years and eleven months.
She was born of French parentage in Renan,
Switzerland, June 6, 1807, and went with her

parents to l^ritish America in 1820. On the 18th

of August, 1825, she became the wife of Mr. Mc-
Kenzie. She was a woman of great physical

power and endurance and her mental qualities were

of the highest order. On the death of her hus-

band she accepted the position of executrix of his

large estate and proved herself to be possessed of

a high degree of executive ability.

rev: WILLIAM KESSEL.

The period of Father Kessel's connection with

the Catholic priesthood covers almost a quarter of

a century and since 1895 he has been pastor of

St. Joseph's, one of the largest Catholic churches

of Rochester. His life record began in Germany,
on the 23d of September, 1853, and he was a

youth in his fourteenth year when in January,

1867, he accompanied his parents, Philip and

Sophia (Steinhauser) Kessel, to the United

States. His fallicr and mother wei'e also born in

Germany and their family numbered three chil-

dren. They located first in Buffalo, New York,

and Rev. Kessel attended the parochial schools of

that city. In 1873 he continued his education in

Ilchester, Maryland, spending ten years at that

place in work preparatory to taking his orders.

He pursued both his literary and theological

studies at the College of the Order of Redemp-
torist, completing the course in 1883, and on the

22d of September of that year he was ordained to

the priesthood.
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Father Kessel's first pastoral work was in con-

nection with the Holy Itedeenier cliurch in New
York city, where he remained until 1893. He was
then appointed to St. Boniface chnrcli in PJiiladei-

phiu, where lie continued for ii yoai- and a liali',

when he was given charge of the St. James parish

in Baltimore, Maryland. He came thence to his

present parish and has since continued pastor of

St. Joseph's church, which has a very large mem-
bership and is one of the strong Catholic churches

of the city, being a potent influence in the re-

ligious development of this part of Eochester.

In the parish are five hundred families and at the

school, which is conducted in connection there-

with by the sisters of Notre Dame, there are more
than three hundred and fifty pupils. In connec-
tion with the schools there is a commercial course
which has proved quite a success. Those who know
Father Kessel best speak in terms of warm praise

concerning his kind and genial manner. He has
the entire confidence, respect and love of the people
of his parish and the good will of those of other
denominations.

WILLIAM H. WILSON.

William H. Wilson, a dealer in second hand
boilers and machinery in Eochester, is numbered
among those who have crossed the border from
Canada to enjoy the better opportunities to be
had in this country, with its livelier business com-
petition and advancement more quickly secured.
He was born in Melancthon, Ontario, Canada,
April 7, 1875, his parents being James C. and
Catherine (Hamilton) Wilson.

ITi& father was a native of Pittsburg, Pennsyl-
vania, born September 8, 1838, while the moth-
er's birth occurred January 10, 1844, in White-
hall, New York. Mr. Wilson was of Scotch-Irish
ancestry, his parents having come to America from
the north of Ireland in 1832, at which time tliey

located in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. The
grandfather, Hugh Wilson, Was a weaver by trade
and from 1833 imtil 1847 he spent his time be-
tween Philadelphia and Pittsburg. In the latter
year he removed to Canada, where he took up land
and engaged in farming. There he raised sheep
and spun and wove the wool into cloth, while his
sons looked after the task of cultivating and devel-
oping the fields. He remained a resident of Can-
ada until his death and his son, James C. Wilson,
was reared in the Dominion from his ninth year.
There he engaged in farming until 1893, when he
returned to the United States, settling in Roch-
ester. In 1900, however, he again went to Can-
ada and took up land at Saskatchewan in north-
western Canada. He was the founder of and

named the town of Willow Brook and was identi-

fied with its interests until the l.st of June, 1905,

wlien he again came to Eochester, where he is

now living a retired life. He hokls membership
ill (he Advent Chiislinii church. Of liis i'auiily

of six ciiildren all are yet living, namely: Ed-
ward, of Jasper, New York; Eobert, of Assini-

boia, Canada;. Myra, wlio is superintendent of

the Mechanics' Institute in New York city; Jen-

nie, who is associated with her sister Myra in that

work; William II., of this review; and Stella

Mav, the wife of Theodore Allen, of Buffalo, New
York.

William H. AVilson was a student in the com-
mon schools of Canada and his youth was spent

in his parents' home. In the fall of 1893 he came
to Eochester and secured a position with Levi

Hay, a dealer in Junk, under whose direction he

acquainted himself witli all the branches of the

junk business, and in the fall of 1900 he en-

gaged in business for himself. The knowledge
that he had previously gained soon put him in

the front in this department of commercial activ-

ity and he has built up an extensive busine.ss in

the dismantling of abandoned factories and as a

dealer in second hand boilers and all kinds of

machinery. He is also a stockholder in the Cone-
sus Lake Creamery Company, manufacturers of

condensed milk.

On the 26th of November, 1902, Mr. Wilson
was united in marriage to Miss Catherine Eoyer, a

native of Germanv and a daughter of Adam and
Eve Eoyer. The father died in Germany but the

mother afterward came to the United States with
her two children, Mrs. Wilson being at that time
twelve years of age. The family home' was estab-

lished in Eochester. •

Mr. Wilson is a niembor of John G. Klink lodge,

I. 0. 0. ¥., and of Eochester lodge. No. 660, A. F.

& A. M Pie has also taken various degrees of the
Scottish rite in Eochester, and in hi.=! political

views he is a stalwai't republican He ha'i gained
a goodly measure of success and is now well known
in his line of business, his .enterprise and strong
purpose l)eing the salient features which have won
his prosperity.

COLONEL SAMUEL PAEKEE MOUTiTHEOP.

Few men are more widely or prominently
known in connection with the work of public in-
struction in the state of New York than Colonel
Samuel Parker Moulthrop, n^w principal of the
Washington grammar school No. 26, in Rochester.
He was born in the territor^r of Wisconsin, about
four miles from the present' site of Oshkosh, on
the 14th of May, 1848. His ancestry is traced
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back to J\lattlie\v Motiitlirop, wlio ciuiie to Massa-
chusetts with Winthrop in 1630 and in 1636 re-

moved to East Haven, Connecticut, wliere some
of liis descendants now live. Tliere is no lack of

a patriotic ancestry behind him. He is de-

scended from five soldiers of the Eevolution, in-

cluding Samuel Parker, his great-great-grand-

father, Samuel Parker second, his great-grand-

fiiUier, i\IatlliiaR Ijunclstoii, a groMl-gnindfatlu'r,

Matthew Moulthrop and Asa Williams. Samuel
Parker, the first, was at the surrender of Corn-
wallis at Yorktown, while his son, Samuel Parker
second, was at the surrender of Burgoyne at Sara-

toga, and Matthias Tjanckton spent the winter

with Washington at Valley Forge, where the army
sulTerod untold hardships from inadequate cloth-

ing and sup|)lics. Samuel Parker second l)C(\imc

(he founder of the family in western New York,

settling in Monroe county in 1808.

The parents of Colonel Moulthrop were Mat-
thias Nelson and Clarissa L. (Parker) Moulthrop,
both natives of New York. Their family num-
bered but two sons, the younger being Edwin N.
Moulthrop, a I'ctired farmer living at Batavia,

New York.

Colonel Moulthrop of this review was reared in

Wisconsin amid jiionecr scenes and environments,

spending his early boyhood on a farm among the

Indians, who then inhabited the middle west. In

1859 the j)arents returned to the Empire state,

settling in Genesee county, New York. Colonel

Moulthrop began liis education in the i)ublic

schools and afterward attended the Carey Col-

legiate Institute. Ho began teaching when twenty

years of age and has since followed that profes-

sion with the exception of a few months. Through
his own labors he provided the expenses necessary

for his collegiate work. His first two years of

teaching were spent in a country school, during
which time he "boarded round" among the schol-

ars. He was afteiward a teacher in l^alavia and
in 187G was elected ])rinci])al of the scliool in the

House of Eefuge of Eochester, now the State In-

dustrial School. AVhile acting in that capacity he
was chosen to the iirincipalship of grammar school

No. 17, in Eochester, and continued at the head
of both institutions for aliout a year. Subse-

quently he was elected deputy sujicrintendent and
princi])al of the schools of the State Industrial

School and continued to act in that capacity until

the latter part of the year 1887, at which time he
was elected principal of the Washington gram-
mar school, of which he has since been in charge.

His work as a pul)lic educator has been most
successful. He organizes the school work most
thoroughly, is constantly alert in searching out

now and improved methods and has successfully in-

stalled many new ideas of his own inception, the

value of whicli time has proven.

His entire life work has been of a most beneficial

character. In 1886 he was appointed civil service

commissioner of the city under Mayor Parsons
and continued in that position under Mayors Car-
roll, Aldrich, Lewis, Curran and Warner, cov-
ering a period of tAvelve years. He was likewise
chairman of the board of civil service commis-
sioners of the city for four years, and in 1899 and
1900 was president of the New York State Gram-
juar School Principals' Association. He was like-

wise president of the Eochester Teachers' Eeliof

Association, for five terms. He has been a member
of the executive committee of the State Grammar
School Principals' Association for four years and
was j)rcsidcnt of the Eochester Teachers' Associa-
tion in 1896-7, and for sixteen years was prin-
ci|ial of an evening school in Eochester. In the
year 190(1 Ihere wei'o J'ogistered in both day and
evening schools three thousand six hundred and
eighty-one jjupils under the direction of ninety-two
teachers. In all of lus school work Colonel Moul-
Ihro]) has been most progressive. He has done
much to advance the cause of public education, in-

spiring others with his own zeal and interest in

the work and standing for the adoption of new and
improved methods which will promote the value

of public-school education and make it of, greater

practical use as a preparation for life's

duties. He has wiitten much upon the subject

and his public addresses upon school teaching have
carried weight and influence with them. He is

also the author of Iroquois, a volume treating of

that tribe of the red men, and he has closely

studied the Indian problem, assisting in its solu-,

tioii by aiding many Indians to obtain positions

in the business world and to become good law-

abiding citizens.

In 1873 Colonel Moulthrop was married to Miss

Mary Eaymond, of Elba, Genesee county, New
York, and they have two children: Harry, a civil

engineer of ]?oehester; and Mary A., who is a

junior in the University of Eochester.

Colonel Moulthrop has figured also in military

as well as in educational circles. In 1892 he was

elected commander of McClellan's corps and has

since served in that position, covering a period of

fifteen years. He was a lieutenant colonel of the

First School Eegiment organized in Eochester in'

1890, and in 1896 he received the commission of

colonel on the stall; of General Wood. Since 1870

he has been an exemplary member of the Masonic
fraternity, in which he has attained the Knight
Templar degree, and he is a charter member of

Corinthian Temple lodge, No. 805, F. & A. M.,

which he called to order at its first meeting. In
1893-1 ho was commander of Monroe comman-
dcry, No. 12, K. T. In politics he is a pro-

nounced democrat, unfaltering in his advocacy of

the party and its principles. He is fearless in
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defense of liis honest convictions at all times and

this has been one of the salient characteristics of

his life, winning for him the respect and admira-

tion of even those who do not endorse his views.

Progress and patriotism might be termed the key-

note of his character, for these qualities have been

manifest in every phase of a busy, active and use-

ful lite.

HON. DELBERT C. IIEBBARD.

Hon. Delbert C. Hebbard, attorney at law of

Rochester and judge of the municipal court, was

born in Leroy, Genesee county, New York, Oc-

tober 14, 1865, his parents being Lewis B. and

Margaret (Campbell) Hebbard, the former a na-

tive of Connecticut and the latter of Caledonia,

Livingston county, New York. The ancestry in

the paternal line was represented in the patriot

army of the Revolutionary war, while the Camp-
bell family claimed several of the soldiers of the

Civil war. Lewis B. Hebbard came to New York
with his parents when only seven years of age, the

family home l)eing established in Genesee county,

where he lived and died upon a farm. He was

prominent and respected in his community and

served as assessor of his town for about twenty

years, also filling other minor offices.

The boyhood days of. Judge Hebbard were

quietly passed upon the home farm. In his youth
he attended the country schools and was after-

ward graduated from Geneseo Normal School with

the class of 1890. He later engaged in teaching

for tliree years, also taught two years before his

graduation. In 1893 he came to Rochester to take

up the study of law in the office and imder the

direction of the Hon. Selden S. Brown. He con-

tinued his reading until he had successfully passed

the required examination, which secured his ad-

mission to the bar in 189G. He then entered upon
the active practice of law and has steadily worked
his way upward, gaining recognition as one of the

strong and able practitioners in Rochester. He
prepares his cases with great thoroughness and

, care and in his presentation of a cause shows a

mind trained in the severest school of reasoning.

He was- United States commissioner for three

years, appointed by Judge Hazel, and in Novem-
ber, 1903, he was elected judge of the municipal
court for a term of six years, so that he is the
present incumbent in the office. His course on
the bench is distinguished by all that marked his

record as a man and lawyer, including unswerv-
ing fidelity and a masterful grasp of every prob-
lem that has been presented for solution.

On the S2d of April, 1904, Judge Hebbard was
married to Miss Bessie M. Campbell and they are

well known in the social circles of the city. Tlie

.Indge is a prominent Mason, belonging to Gene-

see Falls lodge. No. 507, A. F. & A. M.; Hamilton
clin|)ter, U. A. M.; and Monroe cominanacr.v. K.
'\\ He likewise belongs to the Masonic Uhib, to

the Elks lodge and the Knights of Pythias fra-

ternity. In community aft'airs he is interested to

the extent of giving hearty co-operation to many
movements for the general good and for one year

he was pi'inoi])al of the Truant school here. He
stands for all that is ujiright and just in man's

relations to his fellowmen and in a profession

where success depends upon individual merit and
close application he has won creditable standing.

JOHN FERRIS ALDEN.

Fortunate is the man wlio has back of him an
ancestry honorable and distinguished, and happy
is he if his lines of life are cast in harmony there-

with. The name of Alden has been one of the

most honored and prominent that has figured on
the pages of history since John Alden, a direct

ancestor of our subject, came to America in the

Mayflower and the romantic story of his courtship

became a matter of history. John F. Alden is a
worthy scion of his race and yet he lias not de-

pended upon the aid of a proud family name to

gain him distinction and success in the business
world. Individual merit, close application and
unfaltering diligence have proven the foundation
stones upon which he has reared the supei-struc-

tnre of liis present business prominence and suc-

cess. He is connected with the American Bridge
Company, witli oltieos at No. 301 Powers block,

and has to his credit some of the finest

bridges and structural iron work of the country.
Mr. Alden was born in Cohoes, New Yoi'k,

March 19, 1852, son of Sidney Alden, and a rep-
resentative in the eighth generation of the de-
scendants of John Alden. He prepared for col-

lege at private schools in Albany and continued
his education in the Rensselaer Polytechnic Insti-
tute of Troy, New York, from which he graduated
in the class of 1872. He entered business life as
a civil engineer, well qualified for the business
of wrought-iron and steel-bridge manufacture.
Following his graduation he accepted a position
as assistant engineer on the construction of a
bridge on the New York Central Railroad, being
built over the Hudson at Albany. He became a
resident of Rochester on the 1st of January, 1875,
acting as assistant engineer at the Leighton Bridge
& Iron Works. In 1878 he became chief engineer
and a member of the firm. Two years later, in 1880,
he entered into partnership with Moritz Lassig of
Chicago, under the firm style of Alden & Lassig.
They leased the plant of the Leighton Bridge &
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iron Works in Eoclicslcr, and conducted tho busi-

ness for five years. During that period they also

established a bridge and iron manufactory in Chi-

cago under the style of Alden & Lassig. When
their partnership had continued for five years they

dissolved their business connection, each one re-

taining the interests in his respective city. Mr.

Alden reorganized his business under the name
of the Eochester Bridge & Iron Works and was

sole proprietor from 1885 to 1901. In the -latter

year he sold out to tlie American Bridge Company,
with which he is now connected. He has built

many miles of iron and steel bridges, especially

for railroads. These include many notable struc-

tures displaying a thorough understanding of the

groat mechanical principles upon which tlie work
rests. In this connection he has operated from
I'orlland, Maine, to L'ortland, Oregon, and along

the principal railroads of the United States. Evi-

dences of his business enterprise and the im-

portance of tlie contracts awarded may be seen in

the elevated railroad work in New York city; the

bridge over the Columbia river at Pasco, Wash-
ington; two large viaducts at Los Angeles, Cal-

ifornia; upper Suspension bridge at Niagara

Falls ; the tower and iron elevator on the western

house of parliament at Ottawa, Canada; and

much of tlie iron work at St. Paul and Chicago,

including iron and steel work at the World's Co-

lumbian Exposition and many great railroad

bridges in various parts of the country. Mr. Alden

is probably unsurpassed in the number of designs

he has furnished and the amount of structural

work in steel and iron building he lias superin-

tended.

ITis prominence in tlie piofcssiou is indicated

by the fact that his opinions are largely received

as authority by those who are connected with him
in the same line of business activity. He is, more-

over, a valued member of the Eensselaer Society

of Civil Engineers and has been third vice presi-

dent of the American Association of Civil En-

gineers. He is likewise connccied with the Cliam-

ber of Commerce of Eochester and the Alden

Kindred of America. He is a director of the

Traders National Bank and the Genesee .Valley

Trust Company, both of Eochester, and president

of the Eochester Securities Company, of Eoches-

ter, so that his name figures prominently in finan-

cial as well as industrial circles. One of the most

prominent characteristics of his successful career

is that his vision has never been bounded by the

exigencies of the moment, but has covered as well

the possibilities and opportunities of the future.

This has led liim into extensive undertakings,

bringins him into marked prominence in indus-

irial and financial circles.

Mr. Alden was ninrricd in 1S85 to Miss Mary

E. Boguc, of Brooklyn, New York. His many
friends find him a most social, genial gentleman

and his life record is (hat of a man who by the

unwavering force of his character, his ready

adaptation to opportunities and his laudable am-
bition has risen to distinction in that field oi labor

which he has made his life work.

WILLIAM J. BAKEE.

Among the younger members practicing at the

Eochester bar, with a record which many an older

lawyer might well envy, is William J. Baker, who
was bom in this city October 9, 1875. His parents

are Charles S. and Jennie E. (Yerkes) Baker, the

father a native of Churchville, Monroe county,

New York, and the mother of Lima, Livingston

county, New York. The paternal grandfather,

James Baker, settled in Monroe county at a very

early day and carried on the business of carriage

manufacturing. His son, Charles S. Baker,

studied for the bar, was admitted to practice, and
for many years was a learned and able lawyer of

Eochester. He acquired his education in the Wes-
leyan Seminary and in the University of Syracuse,

and following his admission to the bar in this

city practiced here continually until his death,

which occurred April 21, 1902. His comprehensive

knowledge of the principles of jurisprudence, his

able interpretation of the law and his high sense

of professional honor combined to make him a

strong attorney. He was also a recognized leader

in public life, served as a member of the board of

education of Eochester, was a member of the

board of sujiervisors and represented his district

in the state legislature in both the house and the

senate, while from 1883 until 1891 he was a mem-
ber of congress and took an active part in the

work of framing national laws.

William J. Baker was educated in the public

schools of Eochester and Washington, D. C, also

at Bordentown (New Jersey) Military Institute,

the University of Eochester, where he pursued a

special course, and in Hale's Scientific School of

Eochester. In 1889, upon examination before the

supreme court, he was admitted to the bar and

immediately afterward began practice, joining his

father in a partnership which was continued until

the latter's death. Mr. Baker then became a part-

ner of Dr. Frederic Eemington, which connec-

tion was discontinued in 1906, since which time

Mr. Baker has been alone. He has long since

demonstrated his ability to cope with intricate

legal problems and is recognized as a formidable

adversary in the courts. While he is always cour-

teous to his op])onents and the witnesses, he pre-

sents his own cause Avitli great force, being strong

in argument, while his deductions follow in logical

sequence. He has served for two terms as a mem-
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ber of the common council of Rochester, and is in-

terested in all municipal afl'airs.

On the 12th of April, 1898,, Mr. Baker was
united in marriage to Miss Marian Olive Bradley,

a daughter of Charles S. Bradley. His member-:

ship relations include the Theta Delta Tau, the

Theta Nu Epsilon and the Delta Kappa Epsilon,

college fraternities. He likewise belongs to the

Rochester Whist Club and the Rochester Yacht
Club and a social nature renders him a favorite

among his many friends in the city of his nativity.

CHARLES H. CROUCH. '

The name of Crouch has long been associated

with the lumber trade of Rochester and lie whoso

name introduces this review is jlow soJiior uioiii-

ber of the Crouch & Beahan Company, extensive

dealers in lumber and coal. One of the city's

native sons, he was bom November 4, 1857. His
father, Charles T. Crouch, figured for many years

as one of the largest lumber dealers of western

New York. He, too, was born in Rochester during
its' days of villagehood, his birth occurring May
25, 1829. The family is of English lineage and
was established in America by William Crouch,

the grandfather of our subject, who came from
England to the new world about 1822. He was
for many years engaged in building operations in

Rochester, where he died November 19, 1842. His
wife, who bore the maiden name of Catherine Har-
rison, was born July 11, 1800, and died July 16,

1895. In their family were six children, of whom
Charles T. Crouch was the fifth. Having attended

the public schools of Rochester, he engaged in

teaming when a young man, and, eagerly em-
bracing his opportunities for business advance-
ment, he began the manufacture of lumber in 1857
in connection with his brother George W. under
the firm style of G. W. & C. T. Crouch. They
continued the business fof about four years and
in 1862 became interested in the coal trade. In
1868 they formed a partnership with George Bent-
ley, of Rochester, and Samuel R. Hart, of Brigh-
ton, and under the firm style of G., W. Crouch &
Company commenced the manufacture of lumber
on Crouch island, where they erected a large saw-
mill. Two years later the Crouch brothers pur^r

chased the interest of Mr. Hart and when another
iwo years had passed Mr. Bcntley retired, at which
time the firm style of G. W. & C. T. Crouch was
assumed. The admission of H. H. Craig to a
partnership in 1875 led to the formation of the
firm of Craig & Crouches and aside from the oper-
ation of the sawmill they established a large whole-
sale and retail lumber business on Griifith street,

which was continued by them until 1880, wlien the

Crouch brothers purchased, Mr. Craig's interest

unci admitted George W., Jr., and Prank P.

Croucli, sons of G. W. Crouch, and Charles H.
Crouch, son of C. T. Crouch, into the firm under

the style of G. W. & C. T. Crouch & Sons, The
new firm continued the manufacture of lumber
and its sale for about three years, wheii George W.
Crouch, Jr., withdrew. In 1887 Charles T. and
Charles H. Crouch sold their interests in both

establishments to G. W. and P. P. Crouch and
then organized the firm' of C. T.' Crouch & Son
for the establishment of a wholesale and retail

hiinbcr business on West street near liyell avenue.

Prom tiie beginning the new enterprise prospered

ancl the trade soon became extensive. They also

operated a large sash and blind factory and plan-

ing mill, handling from eight to ten million feet

of lumber annually, and employing on an average

of tliirty-five and forty workmen. This became
OHO of llic best known liiinbof firms oT western

I^ew York and for many, years C T. Crouch was
connected with the business but in his latest

years lived retired.

His political allegiance was given to the de-

mocracy and for two years he represented the

iwclCth ward in the city council. Political hon-
ors and emoluments, however, had no attraction

for him and he preferred to do his public service

as a private citizen. In all matters of public prog-

ress he was deeply interested and gave his co-

operation to many movements for the general
good. In Masonry he attained the thirty-second

degree of the Scottish rite, his membership being
M'ith Valley lodge, A. P. & A. M.; Hamilton chap-
ter, R. A. M. ; Monroe commandery, K. T. ; Doric
council and the Scottish rite bodies. He also

belonged to tlie Avelard Club of Rochester.

C. T. Crouch was married in 1851 to Miss
Susan Streeter, a daughter of Thomas Str'eeter of
Rochester. They became the parents of five chil-

dren: Mary I-I,,:the wife of Sidney R. Ireland; of
Chicago ; Delia E., the wife of George H. Lookup,
of Marion, Wayne county. Now York; Charles IT.;

Rhoda K, the wife oi: Henry II. Turner; and. Nel-
lie S., the wife, of C. C. Beahan. The death of the
husband, and father occurred July 28, 1898., He
was for years one; of, the most prominent business
men of the city in- which his entire life, covering
almost seventy years, was passed. His name ever
stood as a synonym for business integrity and re-

liability and his enterprise, capable management
and unfaltering energy constituted the basis upon
which he buildcd his prosperity.

Charles Herbert Crouch, whose record fully sus-
tains the honorable reputation of the family name,
was a pupil in the public schools of Rochester in
early boyhood and received technical business
training in Rochester Business University. His
practical experience was obtained under the direc-
tion of his father, for whom he began working in
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connection witli the Jiiniber trade in his youth. In

1880, when a young man ol: twenty-three yenrs, he

was adnntted to a pnrtnersliip in the business un-
der the firm style of G. W. & C. T. Crouch & Sons,

at which time the extensive sawmill and lumber
interests of the firm were located on Crouch island.

In the spring of 1887 C. T. and Charles H. Crouch
retired from that firm and established a new en-

terprise at Iho ])resc]it location at 99 West street

under the firm name of C. T. Crouch & Son. This

was maintained until 1898, when upon the death

of the father the business was incorporated under
the name of the C. T. Crouch & Son Company, a

style that was continued until the 1st of January,

1907, when the present Crouch & Beahan Com-
pany was organized. Throughout his entire busi-

ness career Charles H. Crouch has been con-

nected with the lumber trade and it would be dif-

ficult to find one who has a more intimate knowl-

edge thereof. Since the organization of the pres-

ent firm he has also been connected with the coal

trade and in botl\ branches they have a very ex-

tensive business, the firm meriting the unassail-

able reputation M'hich has always been borne by

the Crouch family ns representatives of Die lumber

business in Koclioster.

in 1881 Charles Herbert Crouch was luarricd

to Sarah L. Hancock, a native of Rochester and
a daughter of John Hancock. They have four

children: Ehoda L., Susan H., Edna and Charles

T. Mr. Crouch is a member of all of the Masonic
bodies, having attained the thirty-second degree of

the Scottish rite. He is pre-eminently a man of

afl!airs and one who has wielded a wide influence.

Essentially a business man, his time and energies

have been concentrated upon the successful eon-

duct of an enterprise which in extent and import-

ance is scarcely equaled by any of the representa-

tives of this line of trade in Rochester.

REV. EDWARD PHBLON HART.

Rev. Edward Phelon Hart, rector of St. Mark's

church of Rochester, was horn in this city, July 6,

lHr)l, and has ahvays resided here. He was a son

of RoswcU Hart, a native oC Rochester, and a

grandson of Roswell Hart, Sr., one of the early

residents of the village of Rochester, who in

pioneer times owned a commission house where

the Elwood block now stands. He died in early

manhood and his children were thus orphaned.

Among the number was Roswell Hart, who was

provided with excellent educational opportunities.

He was graduated from Mushing school. Long
Island, under D. Muhlenberg, and afterward

became a student at Yale University, from which

he was grailuated in the class of 1844. In prep-
aration for the bar, he studied in the law office of
Henry E. Rochester, who married his sister. At
a later date he was admitted to the bar but was
diverted from legal practice to go into busi-

ness, and engaged in the coal trade, selling the

first anthracite coal in Rochester. He was provost

marshal at the time the first draft was made for

the Civil war. Citizens became angry at the strin-

gent military measures which were being taken
and a mob gathered at his home. He sent his

family away, fearing for their lives. No violence,

however, was attempted, owing to the presence
of officers and guards. For many years Mr. Hart
was a most prominent and well known resident of

Rochester, connected with various events that

shaped the history, molded the policy and pro-

moted the growth of tlie city. His death oc-

curred in 1883. He was a prominent republican

and represented his district in congress during
the period of the Civil war. He afterward figured

prominently in banking circles, being secretary

and treasurer of the Rochester Savings Bank until

his death. He married Dectte Phelon, a native

of Cherrv A^'alley, Otsego county, New York.

Rev. Edwai'd Phelon Hart, the only son in a

family of four children, has always been a resi-

dent of Monroe county. He was born on a farm
owned by his uncle, Thomas Hart, where the

Brinker station now stands. Today the city limits

extend far beyond that farm. After two years a

removal was made to a stone, house on Sophia

street, where he remained" for fifteen years, and

then took up his abode in a house at No. 90 Ply-

mouth avenue, where he lived up to the time of

his marriage. He supplemented his early educa-

tional privileges by study in the University of

Rochester, from which he was graduated in 1872
with the degree of Bachelor of Arts. He was in

business of varioiis kinds for five or six years and
recalls with pride some of his business, adventures

of the carlv days, as they put him in touch with

the business world and the conditions therein ex-

isting and gained for him a knowledge which nas

been of incalculable benefit to him as he has met
and mingled with business men in later years.

It was Rev. Hart who sold the first fire ex-

tinguisher in the city and for two years he en-

gaged in the sale of the Babcock fire engine. He
also spent two years in a coal office and nearly a

year as private secretary for George E. Merchant
in the old Stateline Railroad office. His earlier

professional service embraced several years' con-

nection with educational institutions. He taught

in the deaf and dumb school with Professor Z.

E. Westervelt for three years and with Professor

Wcstcrvclt helped in framing the Western New
York school for the deaf and dumb. Prior to

that he had been connected with. an Episcopal

mission for deaf mutes and translated services for
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them for several yearw iu bt. Luke's church iu

Eochester.

Having determined to devote his life to the

work of the ministiy, he was admitted to holy

orders aa a deacon Dcccuiilnii- :il, 188-1, by the Et.

Eev. Arthur Cleveland (Joxe and to the priesthood

in September, 1885. He became assistant minister

in St. Luke's chiircli, where he remained for a

year and a half and was then assigned to the

charge of St. Mark's minHi >n. In November, 1885,

the cornerstone of St. Mark's church was laid

and in due course ot liiae tlie building was com-

pleted at the coviior ot' Jiterrimae and Ilollistcv

etreets. The church wmh consecrated the follow-

ing year and a numlicr oE families were trans-

ferred from St. Lidce'fi, forming a nucleus of a

new mission. A parish house was erected with

cora]Dlete equipment for work and for twenty-

three years Eev. Hart lias remained as rector of St.

Mark's church, v/hich lias lonsr since ceased to

be a mission and now numbers three hundred com-
municants. The growth, development' and suc-

cessful work of the church is largely due to his

untiring zeal and unvintiitting efforts and St.

Mark's has become a p(it«tit influence in the com-
munity for moral pvoj^ress and development. Eev.

Ilart is also a trustci^ nl: the institute for deaf

mutes and has given ovecsight to the deaf mute
mission.

On the 21st of Sept(!iLLl)er, 1901, he was mar-
ried to Angelica Church, who died on the 8th of

June, 1903, after a happy Init very brief married

life of nine months. She was a native of Belvi-

dere, Allegany county, ¥ew York, and a daughter

of Eichard Church, who now resides with Eev.

irnrb. She was also a great-granddaughter of Gen-

eral Philip Schnylov of Ivevolutionry war fame,

and a relative of Alexander Hamilton. Eev. Hart
now has in his possession many relies of the Eevo-

lutionary war, including several letters from Gen-
eral Washington and furniture which was used

by his wife's relatives iu Revolutionary times: A
mahogany dining table and chairs, upon which
sat Washington, Hamiltou, Jay and other dis-

tinguished • men of lliat day when being enter-

tained by the ancestors of Mrs. Hart.

JOSEPH A. SPENOEE.

Joseph A. SpciK-cr iw n lepresentative of one of

(,he old and pcomineiil; families of liis section

of the county, Ids native village—Spencerport,

having been named, in hoiior of his father, Daniel

Spencer, who was h, na,tive of Connecticut but
came to Avestern New York when a young man,
arriving in Monroe cfxmty in 1804. He engaged
in the manufacture oC linseed oil on the Eidge
road for a number of ycara and in 1833 he built

a grist and sawmill, which he continued to oper-

ate throughout his remaining days. The Erie can-

al was dug tlirough his farm and the portion lying

1 hereon was called Spisncer's Uasiu. Mr. Spencer

dug this basin and put iii the waste weir for the

privilege of using the water for the mill and
made the overflow 'for the canal. When the post-

office was established it was called Spencer's Basin

but later the name was changed to Spencerport,

which has since boon retained. He continued an

active and influoulial resident of this locality up
to the time of Ids doalli, which occurred when he

was si.vty-l'our yuai's of age. Twice married, he
first wedded Miss Willey and for his second wife

he chose Polly Foster, who was born in Onondaga
county. New York, whence she removed to Pal-

myra. Her death occurred in Spencerport when
she was sixty-four years of age. In the family

were two sons : Joseph A. ; and Libius Poster, who
died about 1904. He was supervisor of Ogden
township for two terms and, like the others of

the family, was influential in community affairs.

At one time he was engaged in the coal business.

Joseph A. Spencer has spent his entire life in

the village which is yet his home, his birth hav-
ing here occurred on ithe 12th of September, 1828,
so that he has now reached the age of seventy-

uine years. He was a pupil in school between the

ages of six and fifteen and when not busj' with
ills text-books was largely employed in assisting

his father. After his marriage he engaged in the
lumber business in connection with N. ci. P.
Crocker, under the firm name of Crocker & Spen-
cer, which relation was maintained for about eight

monUis. Mr. Spencer then sold his interest to

Williiim Curtis and bought (v farm of one hundred
and six acres adjoining (he village corporation.
The former owiier was John Card, a son-in-law
of Mr. Spencer's uncle, Austin Spencer, who ar-

rived in Monroe county in 1808 and secured a
farm from the land company. It was then unde-
veloped but he cleared the tract and placed it

under cultivation. Joseph A. Spencer continued
actively in agricultural pursuits until about five

years ago, when his son assumed the management
and operation of the farm, Mr. Spencer, however,
continuing to own it until about 1905, when he
sold the property. He is now living retired in
the enjoyment of a well earned rest, his former
labor liaving brought to him a capital sufficient

to enable him now to enjoy the comforts of life

witliout further recourse to business interests.

In 1S52 Avas colohrated the marriage of Joseph
A. Spencer and Miss Isabelle Wright, a native of
this county, who died in 1895, when about sixty
years of age. Unto them were born four children:
Foster W., who is engaged in the hardware busi-
ness in Spencerport; Frederick C, who died about
1870; Mnry S., the wife of Burton Goff of the
same village; and Edward C, also of Spencerport.
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Mr. Spencer has always been a supporter of the
democracy but has never sought or desired of-

fice, preferring to give his undivided attention
to his business aflairs. He has, however, never
been remiss in the duties of citizenship but on
the contrary has stood for all that promotes pub-
lic progress and improvement. The name of Spen-
cer has long been a prominent and honored one
in this part of the county and the lite record of

Joseph A. Spencer has been such as to win him
the veneration and lespect which should ever be

accorded to one who has advanced thus far on
life's journey.

wife being highly esteemed in the social circles
of the city. They are members of the Lake Ave-
nue Baptist church and take an active interest in
its work and upbuilding. The success which Mr.
Ehvood has achieved is due entirely to his own
well directed labor and unfaltering perseverance
and, when viewed in the light of his past rec-
ord, the future looks bright and promising.

REV. WILLIAM PAYNE.

CHARLES ALFRED ELWOOD.

Charles Alfred Elwood, secretary and treasurer

of the Schoeffiel-Elwood Coal Company, of Roch-
ester, was here born on the 16th of March, 1865.

He acquired his education in the public schools

of this city and at the age of seventeen years en-

tered the old Bank of Monroe, on the present site

of the Genesee Valley Trust Company. He first

held tiie position of runner and the fact that he
remained in the service of the bank for fifteen

years is unmistakable proof of his fidelity and
capability in the discharge of his duties. As his

efficiency increased and his ability became recog-

nized he was gradually promoted from one posi-

tion to tlie next higher until he was made head
bookkeeper. When this bank was consolidated

with the Alliance Bank he entered the latter in

a similar 'capacity and in a few months became
assistant cashier, remaining with the institution

until 1905. In that year, in association with

George B. Schoeffiel, he organized the SchoefEel-

Elwood Coal Company, of which Mr. Schoeffel

is president and Charles A. Elwood secretary and
treasurer. In the brief period of three years which

have elapsed since the establishment of this enter-

prise they have built up one of the largest retail

coal businesses in Rochester, the success which

has attended them being largely due to the ex-

cellent management and indefatigable labor of

Mr. Elwood. Our subject is also connected with

various oilier business cnlerpvisos and is recog-

nized as one of the strong factors in the com-

mercial development and proapeiily of Rochester.

On the 15th of August, 1895, Mr. Elwood was

united in marriage to Miss Grace C. Williams,

a daughter of H. C. Williams, a jeweler of Roch-

ester. Mr. Elwood has one brother, Frederick F.

Elwood, commissioner of public works of Roches-

ter.

In his political views Mr. Elwood is a repub-

lican, believing the principles of this party to be

most conducive to good government. He is a mem-
ber of the Rochester AVhist Club, both he and his

Rev. William Payne, pastor of Holy Cross
church, of Charlotte, was born in Canandaigua,
Ontario county, New York, July 35, 1856. When
he Avas two years of age his parents removed to
Shortsville, New York, and two years later took up
their abode in Rushville on a farm. He spent his
early years working upon the farm and acquirmg
his preliminary education in the district schools,
which he supplemented later by a course in the
Rushville Union School and Academy. In order
to make financial provision for later study he
taught school in Steuben county for some time.
The profession of law attracted his attention, and
he pursued his studies along this line for six

months in Hornellsville (now Hornell). This was
long enough to convince him that his talent lay in
another direction, and he accordingly went to St.

Andrews Seminary, Rochester, where he began his

preparation for tlie priesthood and completed his

course in this institution in June, 1884. In Sep-
tember of the same year he entered St. Joseph's
Provincial Seminary at Troy, New York, from
which he was graduated. On July 25, 1888, on
his thirty-second birthday, he was ordained at St.

Patrick's cathedral in Rochester and was made as-

sistant pastor to the Rev. J. T. McManus, vicar

general, at Geneva, New York. Upon the death
of the vicar general in 1890 Father Payne became
assistant to his successor, the Rev. William A. Mc-
Donald, and served in this capacity until the 1st

of April, 1894. He was then made pastor of the
churches in Stanley and Rushville. On October
15, 1895, he accepted his present pastorate of Holy
Cross church in Charlotte.

He well deserves the love and admiration which
he receives, for ho has done and is doing a great

and useful worlc Iioth in a material and spiritual

way. He has rebuilt the school which was de-

stroyed by fire and opened the new building in

September, 1906. He has made many minor im-
provements in the Imilding and grounds and has

always maintained a high ideal in his life work.

To Father Payne many a discouraged man and
woman owes a new start in life. Unostentatious

and modest, he has done his greatest work among
men and women, and though the scope of this
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work can never be known, the consciousness of

having done it, of having been a potent factor for

the good of tlie world must be a great satisfaction

to Father Payne.

FRANKLIN HARDING.

A well known condition prevailing in the world

today has been grammaticaly phrased in "Our ca-

pacity for earning is increasing out of all pro-

portion to our capacity for enjoying." The truth

of this statement finds verification in the lives

of many men of wealth and those who are strug-

gling for financial independence. An exception

to the rule is found in Franklin Harding, for,

altliougli he has led a busy life, connecting liim

with various business enterprises and interests,

he lias also found opportunity for pleasure and

recreation. In fact, he has to a large extent made
his business interests serve these ends, with the

rtsult that today there are in America few men
with equal knowledge of its wild haunts a.nd the

various phases of nature presented on this con-

tinent. His knowledge is that of the observer and

of the scientist as well, and his career has been

most varied and covers a wide range of travel.

A native of New York, Mr. Harding was born

in Binghamton, September 29, 1852, and in both

the paternal and maternal lines comes of early

colonial familes whose ancestry can be traced

back to old England. He has always been a stu-

dent, but not a book worm, and in youth he eager-

ly availed himself of the opportunities offered him
for study in the public schools, the Delaware Ijit-

erary Institute, at Franklin, New York, and the

Claverack Military College, near the Hudson,

from which he was graduated at the head of his

class, with the highest military rank conferred by

that institution. He subsequently attended the

Medical College at Yale University, and during

three years spent abroad his time was nearly

oqually divided in study in Germany, Austria and

France. During his school days Mr. Harding, in

addition to attaining prominence in his classes,

found time to learn carpentry and boat building

—

later designing and constructing many small

crafts, such as canoes, skiffs, sail boats and steam

launches. His school and college life found him
in the fore rank in baseball, football, rowing,

skating, swimming, wrestling and as a light weight

gymnast.
He was abroad at the time the World's Fair was

held in Vienna, Austria, during which time he

was assistant secretary and later acting seci-etary

(in place of George W. Silcox, of Syracuse, re-

signed) of the United States Commission, and in

this capacity, because of his linguistic ability, he

met personally and assisted in receiving and mak-

ing interesting the American exhibit to perhaps a

hundred or more members of royalty and other

hiniinarios, among whom may be mentioned the

Emperor and Empress of Austria, Emperor and

Empress of Germany, King and Queen of Holland,

Shah of Persia, King Victor Emmanuel of Italy,

ex-Queen Isabella of Spain, Bismarck, Count Von
Moltke, and princes, princesses, dukes, duchesses,

lords and ladies galore. While in Vienna he was

foreign correspondent for an American newspaper

and special writer for the New York State Edu-

cational Journal, furnishing that magazine manu-

scripts and illustrations of schools and educational

methods of Europe. His vacations while studying

abroad were devoted to travel and included nearly

every country of Europe from Lapland to the

Mediterranean.

Upon his return to Binghamton Mr. Harding

began learning the printer's art and served in

every capacity in the newspaper office from devil

to pressman, at the same time acquiring a knowl-

edge of artistic jobber. While thus engaged he

also published an amateur daily paper in Bing-

hamton and his activity in social matters led to

the formation of L'Esperance Club, one of the

earliest organizations of its character in Bingham-

ton. Of this he was elected tlie (irst ])resident.

At the age of eleven years he had become an ex-

pert rifle shot, which was undoubtedly one of the

elements that developed in him a desire for travel,

as his love of hunting took him to the wilds in

various parts of the country. This he says was

also stimulated by his reading of a serial entitled

"Afloat in the Forest," which appeared in Our
Young Folks early in the 'GOs, over the autograph

of Mayne Rcid. His first long excursion into

the woods came wliuu he was fifteen years of ago,

when he accompanied two famous trappers. Long
John and Little Chauney to northern Michigan,

wliere they spent five months. During that pe-

riod he became an adopt at trapping and well

versed in woodcraft. His next long trip was

across Texas in 1875, from Texarkana to Browns-
ville.

In the fall of the same year Mr. Harding was
married to Miss Alice Jeanette Amory, whose
parents, Rufus King and Jeanette Montgomery
(Allerton) Amory, were also of Puritan stock.

The mother was a sister of David Allerton, one of

Commodore Vanderbilt's first partners, and the

father was a son of James Amory, whose farm
included the major portion of Central Park, New
York, which he sold to that city. Mrs. Harding
accompanied her husband on many of his foreign

travels and into American wilds. They have had
most exciting hunting experiences, some of which
include thrilling escapes from Indians. The blood

of the Puritan pioneer flowing in the veins of his

mate and an expertness in the use of firearm.s
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iiiadu lier pie-LMiiiiiuiiUy ii i'd comimnioii lor liim

in his wild porigrinatious.

In 1877 Ml'. Haiding designed, built and

launclied the iirst pleasure steamboat made and
used on the Susquehanna river at Binghamton.
This venture, remunerative in a- small way, evi-

dently was too small for the man, for he ran his

boat down the river in the fall, up the Juniata

river to Huntingdon, reuuHylvnnia (about five

hundred and four miles), and sold it to a social

club ccmijosed of Pennsylvania railway- officials.

From Huntingdon he went to Canada, traveling

all winter through Ontario, wriwng up the in-

dustries of towns for 'local newspapers.

In the spring of 1878 he went to Rochester,

Minnesota, and established two weekly newspa-

pers, the Clairmont Times and Elgin News. From
Minnesota lie was attracted to Lake Forest, a sub-

urb of Chicago, to put in a printing plant and is-

.sue a magazine. Here, with Miss Anna Farwell,

ex-United States Senator Farwell's daughter, now
Mrs. Reginald De Koven, an associate, he issued

the University Review. He added a commercial

plant to his worksliop, taking vast ordors for cn-

volopos, lollorhoads, billheads, ole., some -of them

running into the millions. These were printed

lint, cut and made up or ruled afterward, an idea

which so far as he knew originated with him,

and which enabled him by the use of a Hoe cylin-

der press to underbid all competitors. He also

published text-books. "While here he was called

to Omaha to take temporary charge of the Omaha
Herald printing and publishing department, which

included a big plant that did the state printing.

In Omaha he met Robert E. Strahorn, president

of the literary bureau of the Union Pacific Rail-

way and by him was induced to try Idaho as a

newspaper Held. Disposing of the Lake Forest

plant, he went to the Wood river country in Idaho

—then hundreds of miles from railroad or tele-

graph—the scene of a new mining excitement. At
that time a vast area of the territory was put

down on the latest maps as unexplored country.

In the hfeart of this almost unknown region Mr.

Harding, assisted by his brother, George L., on

March 17, 1880, issued The Wood River Miner, a

paper which enjoyed the distinction of being the

first newspaper in that section and the highest

price weekly in America, namely, twenty dollars

a year and fifty cents a copy.

During the years from 1880 to 1888 Mr. Hard-

ing was a very busy man. The paper, which was

first issued in Belleview, was soon moved five

miles up the valley to the new town of Hailey,

which he aided in founding. Within a year the

town outnumbered in population any town in the

territory. The Miner soon became a daily, the

first daily paper of Idaho. Its founder organized

the first press association and became its presi-

dent. In 1883, at Ketchum, a town twelve miles

up the river, he issued the Ketchum Keystone,
and in the following year, at Houston, a mining
camp one hundred miles eastward, the Houston
Times. He edited the daily Miner and the Key-
stone, for years riding between these offices on a
pony, mostly after midnight, often sleeping in the
saddle.

Notwithstanding the strenuous newspaper work
and in later years literary labors, he has since 1880
been actively engaged in mining the precious met-
als. During trips through the wilds to and from
mining camps and in prospecting sections where
no white man had ever trod, he did a deal of trout
fishing with rod and fly, and shot all manner of
gaine from jack-snipe to elk and grizzly bears. In
later years Mr. Harding has covered every state
and territory in the Union in search of sport with
rod and gun or for pleasure or business purposes.
He has caught tarpon off Florida's coast; salmon
in the straits of Juan de Fuca; tuna, yellow-tail
and albacore at Catalina, not to mention speckled
beauties, pickerel, bass and muscallonge in lakes
and mountain streams almost everywhere that
they abound. His mining and shooting experi-
ences liavo taken him over tlie various grand divi-
sions of the earth. One of his experiences includes
a. trip sixteen hundred and twenty miles from thet
coast into the jungles of South Africa, where his
list of game included nearly every species of game-
bird and wild beast known to the southern half of
the dark continent.

,

:

Mr. Harding now has under preparation a large
volume to be called Big Game of the World. For
this he has collected photographs and data and
there is perhaps no one better qualified to write
such a work. It will set forth an interesting ac-
count to all lovers of the rod and gun and will
abound with true tales gleaned from his own life

as a sportsman on the various continents.

Since 1897 Mr. Harding has made Rochester his
home, although his travels each year take him into
various sections. He maintains an office here,
but his business interests largely lie in the mining
regions of the west. He has prospected and mined
gold, silver and copper and is now president of a
corporation capitalized for two and a half million
dollars, operating in Goldfield mining district, Ne-
vada.

Mr. Harding formerly held membership in the

Rochester Athletic Club, the Young Men's Chris-

tian Association and the Columbia Rifle Club, but

is connected now with only the Masonic Club.

Fraternally, however, he is a thirty-second degree

Mason and a member of the Mystic Shrine, while

in the Knights of Pythias he is a past deputy su-

preme chancellor of the world. With all of his

varied experiences, his excursions for pleasure, his

experiences as a hunter and explorer, he has been

a successful business man, successful perhaps not

so much in the acquirement of a vast fortune as in
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the enjoyment of life, which comes through close

touch with nature, an understanding of recreation

and an appreciation of the beautiful as exemplified

in contour and color throughout the entire world.

Such a man has truly lived, his life enriched by all

of the varied experiences, his interests lieing those

of travel and knowledge as well as of tlic book

lore.

C. WALTER SMITH.

C. Walter Smith, one of Rochestev'e foremost

business men and a native son of the city, was,

born April 8, 1863. He needs no introduction co

the readers of this volume, for auring more than

eight decades the family of which he is a repre-

sentative has figured in the business, municipal

and social interests of the city. He acquired his

education in St. Paul's school at Concord, New
Hampshire, and in the University of Rochester,

from which he was graduated in 1885. He soon
afterward entered the Rochester Savings Bank, of

which his grandfather, Elijah P. Smith, was
founder and his father for twenty years a trus-

tee, in the capacity -of bookkeeper, and was ac-

tively associated with that institution until 1893,

when he was elected treasurer of the wholesale

grocery firm of Smith, Perkins & Company, own-
ing the largest business in this line in the state

outside of New York city. This is, moreover, one
of the oldest firms of Rochester, having had a con-

tinuous and prosperous existence since 1836, in

which year the business was established by Elijah

F. Smith and his brother Albert. Since that time

the grandfather, Elijah P. Smith, the father,

Charles F. Smith, and the son, C. Walter Smith,
have continuously been active in its management.
Since the election of C. Walter Smith as treas-

urer in 1893 he has been in control of the finances

of the house and at the death of Oilman H. Per-
kins in 1898 he was elected president of the com-
pany and is still the incumbent of thnt jiositlon.

Almost a third of a century ago the Rochester
Union said : "It is but rarely that the historian is

given the opportunity of writing the history of

a large mercantile house that has withstood firmly

for over half a century all the shocks and storms

that business has to weather and is today still

more prosperous and solid than ever. For more
than half a century has the wholesale grocery

house of Smith, Perkins & Company ciirricd on
its large and varied business without once ex-

periencing any danger during this long term of

years of shipwreck or failure. Tliis proud record

is not due to any fortuitous circumstances but
simply to the integrity, watchfulness, business

foresight and acumen that have been displayed by
its founders and managers. It has been the boast

of this old and respected house that notwithstand-

ing the severe panics and times of depression with
which it has had to contend in the course of its,

long career it has always stood ready to pay on
demand one hundred cents on the dollar." This
statement, made so many years ago, is as true to-

day as when it appeared in the columns ox the

Union. Mr. Smith, now president of the con-

cern, is also a director in the Union Trust Com-
pany and has various other financial interests in

Rochester.

On the 7tli of August, 1901, occurred the mar-
riage of C. Walter Smilli and Miss Agnes Smith,

of Providence, Rhode Island. They have one
daughter and one son, Ann Pickering and Bord-
man Walter. Mr. Smith is a member of the Ma-
sonic fraternity and belongs to the Genesee Val-
ley Club, the Rochester Country Club, the Roches-

ter Athletic Club and the New York Club of New
York city. To quote from Oliver Wendell Holmes,
"fate tried to conceal him by naming him Smith"
but he has carved his name on the keystone of

Rochester's commercial history and by the con-

sensus of public opinion is accorded a foremost
position in the business circles of the city. Never
has he sought notoriety, being on the contrary of

a quiet and retiring (lispositiou and preferring

home rather than club life but those qualities

which arc the strongest force in the business

world, which command honor and respect at all

times, are his, namely, the faithful perfonnance
of daily duties, the fulfillment of every obligation

and the utmost justice in every business relation.

HON. SELDEN S. BROWN.

Hon. Selden S. Brown, surrogate of Monroe
county, is one of the popular and honored citi-

zens of Rochester, where he presides over his court,

and of Scottsville, where he makes his home.
It is not alone his qualities as a lawyer and judge
but also as a man tliat have gained him the favor-
able place which he occupies in public regard.
There are few residents of the county who have
more warm friends and friendship is always an in-

dication of the recognition of genuine personal
wo r til.

Judge Brown is a native of Scottsville, where
his birth occurred on the 2;id of October, 1855.
lie was the eldest s(m of the lale 1). D. S. Brown
and began his education in the public schools of
Scottsville, after which he attended the Roches-
ter Collegiate Institute, subsequently entering tlie

University of Rochester in the class' of 1879. He
was a member of the Alpha Delta Phi society
while in college and has since been president of
the local alumni association of the fraternity.
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Following the coiupletiou of his more specilical-

ly literary course Judge Brown entered upon the

study of law under tjie direction of the firm of

Hubbell & McGuire and was admitted to the bar

in 1882. In 1896 lie formed a law partnership

with Harry Otis and the firm continued in active

practice with offices in the Powers building until

tludgc Brown went upon the bcncli through ap-

poititniont to the position of surrogate by (Jov-

ernor Higgins. Later he received the endorse-

ment of the Monroe county bar and at the regu-

lar election he became tlie nominee of the re-

publican party and was elected by a very flat-

tering majority. A local paper has said of him,

"Judge Brown has a natural judicial air. His
dignity is blended with courtesy and a kindliness

of heart that makes him popular with the members
• of the bar who come before him iu practice. His
ability commands respect, while his reception of

practitioners, litigants and visitors inspires re-

gard. In the surrogate's court several hundred
people come in the course of a year; they often

come there under distressing circumstances. Usu-
ally the handling of law questions involved in

any proceeding nuiy be simple, but there often is

need of personal sympathy and a kindly word of

advice from the surrogate that coiintw as iiuicli in

relieving difficulties as a decision oE the law in

the case. Judge Brown fills all these require-

ments."

Judge Brown as a citizen lias always been in-

terested in uuitiora of goiieral moiiu^nt and has

(!V(M' been a slalwnrt aiipimrter of the republican

party. He has kept well informed on the ques-

tions and issues of the day and his opinions have
carried weight in party councils, wlu-ro he has

served as a delegate to the county and state con-

ventions on various occasions. For many years

he Avas a member of the republican general com-
mittee representing the town of Wlaeatland but
he did not become a candidate for any office rmtil

he was suggested as the successor of Judge Ben-
ton of the surrogate bencli. He had enjoyed a

large and important law practice and had given

ample proof of his ability and his thorough under-
standing of all departments of the law. He was
therefore well qualified to take up official diities

and his course as surrogate has been character-

ized by the utmost devotion to duly, in which he
has fulfilled not only the letter but also the spirit

of the laAV. He was an allernate to the republican

national convention of 1904 which nominated
Eoosevelt. He has served as a member of the

school board of Scottsville for fifteen years and
the cause of education has evci- found in him a
warm friend.

Tn 1883 Judsje Brown was married to Miss

Tj. Adell Franklin, and they have one son, Selden

Kinsr Brown, born October 13, 1880. He has

never changed bis place of resideuce from Scotts-

ville to the city but remained in his native village,

with the interests of which he is most closely

identified. He is a member of the Rochester Bar
Association, the New York State Bar Association,

the American Bar Association and the Genesee
Valley Club. He is a strong man, strong in his

honor and his good name, strong in his pro-

fessional ability and strong in support of what-
ever he believes to be right. He therefore stands
for those interests which are a matter of civic

virtue and of civic pride and his good qualities of
heart and mind have nuide him a prominent resi-

dent of Monroe county.

]IAimY OTIS POOLE.

There is no profession or line of business in

which success comes more directly as the result

of individual merit and ability than in the prac-

tice of law and when one gains recognition there-

forq>as a foremost member of the bar it is because

the ]>ul)lic has come to know the fact that the

attorney in question has gained a comprehensive
understanding of the principles of jurisprudence,

that he is correct in his application thereof and
that he is loyal to the interests of his clients.

Mr. Poole is one upon whom the consensus of pub-
lic opinion is united concerning his ability. A
mitive of t1io city of J?ochcsler, he was born Oc-

iober- ;i, 1871, his [larents being Charles A. and
Aniorotte (Otis) Poole, both of whom were natives

of Rochester, the latter being a sister of General

Elwell S. Otis, now a resident of this citv. The
paternal grandfather, Joseph H. Pool, came from
England in the '40s and purchased a farm in the

town of Gates. He was a miller and carried on
business for a number of years, his death occurring

in 1891. The father died September 30, 1907, at

Detroit, Michigan.

Harrry Otis Poole was educated in a private

school in New York city and afterward had the

advantage of thorough training in Princeton Uni-

versity, irom which he was graduated with the

degree of Bachelor of Arts in the class of 1893.

He began the stiuly of law in Rochester and was

admitted to the bar in February, 1896. He im-

mediately afterward formed a partnership for the

practice of his profession with Selden S. Brown,

the present surrogate of Monroe county, and under

the name of Brown & Poole this connection was

continued for leu years. Since January, 1906, Mr.

Poole has practiced alone, with offices in the Pow-
ers building. I'his is an age of specialization, yet

Mr. Poole has given his attention to the general

practice of law and is well versed concerning the

various departments of jurisprudence. He has tried

many notable caFPS and lost but few and his prac-
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tiee has constantly grown in volume and import-

ance.

On the 22d of September, 1903, Mr. Poole was
united in marriage to Miss Nannette K. Delano,

a daughter of Francis Delano, late of Niagara

Falls, New York. They now have one daughter,

Elizabeth Delano. Mr. and Mrs. Poole are pleas-

antly located in an attractive home at No. 60

Westminster road. He is a member of the Genesee

Valley Club, the Rochester County Club and;tho

Chamber .of Commerce and; ip the city of his

nativity he has a very wide and favorable ac-

quaintance, being esteemed ns one wliose profes-

sional career and private life entitle him to the

friendship and regard of those with whom he has

been brought in contact.

ARDEAN E. MILLEE.

Ardean E. Miller, supervisor of Gates township,

was bom about a half mile east of his psesent

home, his natal day being May 8, 1855. He rep-

resents one of the old families of this part of the

state. His paternal grandfather, Eli Miller, came
from Connecticut to Monroe county in 1812 and
settled in Brighton. The father, Eansom Miller,

was born where the Monroe county poor house now
stands and was here reared amid the wild scenes

of the frontier, for Monroe county was at that

time a largely undeveloped district. Nearly* all of

his life was spent in Gates township, where his

parents removed shortly after his birth. He de-

voted his entire life to general agricultural pur-

suits and owned agood farm of eighty-two acres,

bringing the fields' under a high state of cultiva-

tion and transforming his"place into a tract of

rich fertility. He married Fahnie Warner, a na-

tive of Monroe county, where she spent her entire

life, passing away at the age of eighty-five years.

The death of Eansom Miller occurred in August,

1902, when he had reached the age of eighty-four

years. Their family numbered seven children;

Charles, who is a veteran of the Civil war and is

new living in Eiga township ; Milton, whose home
is in Chili township; Alice, the wife of Eugene
Garrison, a resident of Chicago; William, also of

Chili township; Ardean E., of this review; and
Warren and Wallace, twins, the former living in

Gates township and the latter in Riga township.

No event of special importance occurred to

vary the routine of farm life for Ardean E. Miller

in his boyhood and youth. He has always lived

in Gates township and in 1890 he took up his

abode upon the farm which is now his place of

residence. It is one of the best farm properties in

the township, comprising forty-two acres of very

rich land on the Buffalo road, about one mile

from the city limits of Eochester. There are good

buildings here and a large, substantial barn,

which was erected by Mr. Miller. He also bought

a comfortable and commodious dwelling on the

opposite side of the road, which he and his family

occupy. His land is devoted to the raising of fruit

and vegetables, and he makes a specialty of his

vineyards, which are in excellent condition and

prbduce soirieiof the finest grapes raised in this

section of the state—^famous for its vineyards.

On the 4th of June, 1880, Mr. Miller was

married to Miss Sarali J. Lov^ a native of Roch-

ester and a daughter of Michael and Mary Love.

They became the parents. of three children: Ar-

..dean, who is associated with his father in busi-

ness ; Ora, at home ; and Iva, who died in Novem-
ber, 1892,.when seven and a half years of age.

Mr. Miller has been a life-long republican, un-

faltering in his advocacy of the party and its

principles. He has exerted a strongly felt influ-

ence in its behalf in his locality and is recognized

as one of the republican leaders of the district.

Several times he has been called to .office, having

served,, foij six years as highway commissioner,

while in 1905 he was elected supervisor of Gates

township.; Socially he is connected with Gates

Grange and is a member of Genesee Valley lodge,

A. F. & A. M. His entire life has been passed in

the locality where he yet makes his home and
where his labors have been carefully directed,

bringing to him a goodly measure of success, so

that he is now classed with the leading representa-

tives of agricultural life in Monroe county.

FEANK E. HENDRICKSON, D. D. S.

Dr. Frank E. Hendrickson, practicing dentistry
in Eochester along modern scientific lines, was
born in Monmouth county. New Jersey, Septem-
ber 14, 1864, his parents being Ilenry H. and
Mary (Davis) Hendrickson, also Hatives of New
Jersey. The family is of Germriii lineage, the
name being spelled originally Hendrickse. Eut-
ger Hendrickse, married in Germany in 1470, was
descended through a youngei? branch of the fam-
ily from that stanch old medieval Imight and
crusader, Baron Henry of Nyddeck. He married
Gennetie Becckman at Cologne, Germany, in 1470,
and for some time the ancestry of the family had
not been traced to a more remote period but re-

cent research and investigation have brought forth
the records back to. 1020. The surname was changed
in the sixteenth century, Lambert Hendrickson
being the first to adopt the spelling now in vogue.
He became a famous admiral in the Dutch navy
and was a trusted friend of William the Silent.
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Gilbert lleudncksoii, the paLomal grandfather

of Dr. Hendrickson, was a native of New Jersey.

He was nine generations removed from Cornelius

Hendrickson, who was the eldest son of Lambert
Hendrickson, and was born in 1572. He became a

navigator and was the first white man to set foot

on the soil of Pennsylvania and West Jersey. He
was the discoverer of the Earitan and Schuylkill

rivers and cxploicd llic Delaware to the falls at

the pi-esent site of Trenton. During the latter

part of 1G14 he explored the coast of New Jersey

in the yacht Onrcst, the first vessel built in New
Amsterdam and sailed by Captain Adrian Block.

Full accounts of Captain Hendrickson's voyages

can be found in O'Callaglian and Broadhead's
histories, as well as in the records of the New
Y^ork Historiccal Society. Gilbert Hendrickson
followed farming for many years in Monmouth
county, Avhcre he died in middle life. His wife,

who bore the maiden name of Hannah Wilbur,

sunfived for only a short time. They were the

parents of three sons: Anthony W., Henry H.
and William E. Gilbert Hendrickson was buried

in the chiirchyard of the Yellow meeting house

in Monmouth county, New Jersey. Henry H. Hen-
drickson followed in his father's footsteps in re-

gard to occupation. He has spent his entire life

in Monmouth and Burlington counties, New Jer-

sey, and is now living in New Egypt. He and his

wife are members of the Methodist church. By
his marriage to Mary Davis he had two cliildren

:

Dr. Hendrickson of this review; and Caroline

Hendrickson.

Tlie maternal grandfather of Dr. Hendrickson

was Ivins J. Davis, a native of New Jersey, of

English descent, and a large landowner in Mon-
mouth county. He died about 1865. His widow

still sui-vives and is now more than ninety years

of age. They had a family of seventeen or nine-

teen children and in September 1905, a reunion

was held in honor of Mrs. Davis, on which oc-

casion there were one hundred and six of her

descendants present—cliildren, grandchildren and

great-grandchildren

.

Dr. Hendrickson was but four years of age

when his parents removed from Monmouth coun-

ty to Burlington county, where he was reared to

manhood. He attended the public schools and

s])ent his youth largely as a farmer, assisting in

the work of tilling the soil and developing the

fields. When ho had completed his education, how-

ever, he determined to enter upon a professional

rather than an agricultural career and took up

the study of dentistry, pursuing his course in

Pennsylvania College of Dental Surgery, from

which he was graduated with the degree of D. D.

—S. Ho iiegnu practice at Haddonfield,

New Jersey, bub after a short time removed to

Plainfield.'that state. In the fall of 1888 b"

came to Rochester, where he has since practiced

continuously, with a growing patronage which is

indicative of the skill and efficiency he displays.

On the 30th of April, 1889, Dr. Hendrickson
was married to Miss Anna M. Hulme, a daughter
of John L. and Emily L. (Littlefield) Hulme. Her
parents were natives of New Jersey and lived in

New J*>gypt. They had five children: Dr. Morgan
L., a practicing dentist of Eochester; Anna M.,

the wife of Dr. Hendrickson; Theodore; Fred-

erick; and Jiinies. The father died in 1888 but the

mother is still living. The paternal grandfather of

Mrs. Hendrickson was James Hulme, a large land-

holder. The maternal grandfather was a native

of Massachusetts and a seafaring man. Dr. and

Mrs. Hendrickson now have one son, Roy H. The
mother is a member of the First Methodist church.

Politically the Doctor is a republican. Since en-

tering u|:on the active work of his profession he

has remained a student and has kept in touch

with the most advanced methods knt)wn to the

dental fraternity. His professional duties are al-

ways discharged with a sense of conscientious

obligation and his standing is indicated liy tlie

fact that his practice is continuously growing.

GEOEGB A. WITNEY.

George A. Witney, part owner of the Brockport

Piano Manufacturing Company, of n Brockport,

New York, is a native of Aylesbury, England,

where he was born August 17, 1861. His parents

were William and Mary Witney, whose ancestry

can be traced back for generations to the time

when Witney, England, was named for this family.

The father was a farmer and an enterprising lum-

ber merchant up to the time of his death in hia

native country in 1886.

It was in the common schools of his native

town that the subject of this sketch received his

education. America was then attracting to her

shores so many of England's enterprising young

men that Mr. Witney's enthusiasm for larger

fields of industry made him feel that he, too, must

cross the ocean and take up his abode in the new
world. He located in Canada, where he remain-

ed for tAvo years, going from there to New York

city for a short time. For five years he was in

business in Newark, New Jersey, returning to

New Y''ork city for one year. The following five

years he engaged in business in St. Johnsville,

New York, and came to Brockport in 1896. It

was hero that he became associated in his pres-

ent business, which has far outgrown his largest

dreams. They are manufacturers of high grade

pianos which are shipped all over the United

States and employ in their factory some one hun-

dred and fiftv hands.
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Mr. Whitney was married in 1889 to Miss Anna

Speer, a descendant of Walter Speer, and to tliem

were bom three children: George W., Edward

11. and William ]{. 'Plie i'auiily are all members

of the Methodist Episcopal elnirch of Urockport,

of which Mr. Witney is a valuable trustee. Fra-

ternally he is connected with the Masonic order

in Brockport. He possesses untiring energy, is

quick of perception, forms his plans readily and

is determined in their execution. His close ap-

plication to business and his excellent manage-

ment have brought him the high degree of pros-

perity which today is his.

PROFESSOR J. G. ALLEN.

It is a pleasure to know Rrofessor John G.

Allen, a gentleman who has almost reached his

seventieth year but who is still alert and inter-

ested in the progress going on around him. As he

looks back to his own boyhood and compares the

thought and life of that day with what he sees

today, marvelous, almost miraculous the change

must seem. Professor Allen was the second son

of Levi W. and Harriet (Gaul) Allen and was

born in Palmyra, New York, May 5, 1838. His

father, who was a descendant of Ethan Allen, of

Vermont, was born April 7 1810, and passed

away in Rochester, New York, December 8, 1845.

His mother, Harriet (Gaul) Allen was a descend-

ant of Jacob Gaul, a captain in a New York regi-

ment in the Revolutionary war. She was born in

Hudson, New York, March 8, 1815, and died in

Rochester, September 25, 1854. This worthy
couple, with their five children, came to Roches-

ter in 1839.

The subject of this sketch secured employment

on a farm in Parma, New York, and attended the

Parma Institute where he prepared for college.

He was about to enter the University of Roches-

ter when the war broke out. Filled with the spir-

it of patriotism, which was rife in those days, he
enlisted in the Thirteenth Regiment of the New
York Volunteers, in Mav, 1861, together with
his two brothers, Alonzo W. and Edward L. He
was most faithful in the sei'vico of his country and
was honorably discharged in May, 1803, because
of the expiration of his term of service, fie has

continued his membership in the local organiza-

tion known as the Old Thirteenth. He served as

clerk in the provost marshal general's ollico in

Washington, D. C, from May, 1803, to June,
1865. For many years he has been a member of

General H. Thomas post. No. i, G. A. R., of the

state of New York. He was a^jpointed patriotic

instructor for the countv of Monroe bv the Grand

Armv- of the Republic of the state during the

year" 1907.

When his term of service in the war was over

he again look up his education, studying in the

Oswego Normal and ^'raining School for teach-

ers, where he completed the classical and the ad-

vanced English courses and was graduated in

June, 1871. The same year he was appointed

principal of No. 14 Grammar School, a position

he held continuously for iifteen years. At the end

of that period he became the principal of the

Rochester Free Academy and continued in that

position for fourteen years, Avlieu he was appoint-

ed principal of No. 17 Grammar School. The
teacher who can successfully hold such positions

as the above for the long period of fourteen and
fifteen years needs no other recommendation or

proof of his efficiency. The respect and love

which Professor Allen's many pupils have for him
and the precepts of his teaching which they have
carried into their various careers is reward enough
for his long and faithful devotion to his prin-

ciples.

The subject of this sketch has been a devoted

member of the Methodist Episcopal church at

North State and Asbury streets, since 1871. lie

has been for some years a life member
of Yonnondio Lodge, V. & A. T\r., Ham-
ilton Oha|)tor, l{. A. M.; jMonroe Com-
mandery, K. T. ; the four coordinate bodies

of the Rochester Consistory; Damascus Temple
of the Nobles of the Mystic Shrine and was created

a sovereign grand lodge inspector-general, thirty-

third and last degree A. A., Scottish Rite, N. M.
J. U. S. of A. He has been a member of the
board of trustees of the Rochester Orphan Asy-
lum since 1899, and has been a member of the

Chatauqua Summer School since 1874, receiving
much inspiration and help along the lines of his

life vocation.

Professor Allen was united in marriage, De-
cember 8, 1803, to Margaret A. Whitley, a native
of Rochester and a daughter of John T. "Wliitley.

No children liave been born to this union, but
tliree children liave been adopted: Emma Sarah,
now the wife of John A. Charlton, of Rochester;
Angelino V., who died December 2, 1901; and
Therese, the wife of George A. Sanborn, of Buf-
falo, New York.

REUBEN HELLS.

Among the wwn who were at one time active fac-

tors in the business life of Rochester but who
have been called to their final rest is Reuben
Hills, who gained a goodly measure of success in

the dairy business. He was born on St. Paul
street, in Rochester, in 1842, and was a sou of
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Reuben Hills, who was likewise a native o£ tlie

Empire state and came to Rochester at an early

(lay. He was lirst employed in the Wliitney mill

and later turned his attention to the dairy busi-

ness, which he followed throughout the remainder
of his life. His home was on Woodbury street

and there ho passed away. For a number of

years he was a iiicuiber of the Central church ot

Rochester. He married Jane Ovatt and they had
live children who reached adult age.

Reuben Hills of this review pursued his edu-
cation in public school No. 14, in Rochester, and
as he advanced in years he became more and
more actively associated with his father in the
dairy business. At first tliey owned a nundier of

cows but later Mr. Hills conducteu a wholesale
milk business. At one time the father owned all

of the property bordering on otio side of Wood-
bury street. Father and son continued in the
dairy business together until the former's death,
after which Mr. Hills of this review was alone in
the conduct of the enterprise. He won a grati-

fying measure of success in this way and he also

owned a half interest in the Rochester Laundry,
wdiich business is now in possession o[ his widow.

In 18G4 Mr. Hills was married to Miss Sarah
Rielly who came to Rochester when very young,
and was a daughter of William Rielly, who was
in the milling business, and died in this city

about 1850. He had six children, of whom two
are living: -Mrs. Hills and Mrs. Southard, the

latter living on Arlington street, Rochester. Unto
Mr. and Mrs. Hills were born four children, but

only one survives—Edwin W., who is in the ad-

vertising business as a member of the firm of

Myers & Hills, and now resides in Brighton, this

county. Politically Mr. Hills was a republican.

He died at his home in Rochester, February 14,

1898, respected by all who knew him, for, though
his life was quietly passed he was ever found re-

liable and trustworthv in the business world and
those who knew him gave him their warm regard.

His widow is a member of the Brick church in

Rochester and resides at No. 183 Alexander street,

where Mr. Hills erected a nice residence in 1891.

CHARLES F. SMITH.

There is perhaps no biographical history given

in this volume which indicates more clearly the

value of unabating energy and unassailable probity

in the active aiTairs of life than that of Charles

F. Smith, Avho for many years was a controlling

factor at Rocliestei' in the most oxlensive whole-

sale grocery house of the state outside of New
York cily. Ho was born February 23, 1829, in

this city and was therefore a representative of

one of its oldest, and for many years one of its

most honored families. His father, Elijah F.

Smith, was the founder and promoter of the ex-

tensive wholesale grocery house which since 1826

'

has been recognized as one of the most substan-

tial business enterprises not only of Rochester

but of central New York. A native of Connecti-

cut, he removed to Petersburg, Virginia, in early

life and there successfully conducted a commission

business. Coming to Rochester when the city had
scarcely emerged from villagehood, he and his

JDrother, Albert 6. Smith, established a grocery

business on the 6th of May, 1826, under the firm

name of E. F. Smith & Company. Their first

store was in a stone building on Exchange street.

The young firm, through sagacious and Judicious

maiuigetnent, throve and laid the foundation for

the present immense trade of the house. In the

year 1829 the firm was changed to E. F. & A. G.

Smith and about two years later the rapid increase

of their business necessitated removal from the

original location to a brick building erected by

William Pitkin, on Buffalo street. In 1831 the

firm erected a business block of their own at No.

29 Exchange street, where they continued until

1839, when A. 6. Smith retired and Samuel
W. Crittenden became a partner. Upon his re-

tirement in 1842 he was succeeded by William H.
Perkins and the firm name of Smith & Perkins

was assumed. In 1863 Oilman H. Perkins was
taken into the partnership and the title changed

to Smith, Perkins & Company. In 1856 Charles

F. Smith became a member of the firm, no other

change occurring until the death of William H.
Perkins in 1858. The following year Elijah F.

Smith, who up to this time had been a controlling

factor in the successful management and conduct

of the business, retired to enjoy a well earned

rest and throughout his remaining days was con-

nected with no business enterprise save for the

management which he gave to his investments. He
was the founder of the Rochester Savings Bank
and throughout the years of his residence here his

name was ever a most honored one on commercial

paper, while his business integrity was entirely

unassaikble. In fact, the name of Smith, as borne

by Iho representatives of this family, has ever

stood as a synonym in Rochester business circles

for commercial honor and trustworthiness. Elijah

F. Smith figured prominently in community af-

fairs, contributing in substantial measure to the

growth and progress of the city along many lines.

He was, moreover, honored with election to the

mayoralty as the first chief executive chosen by

popular suffrage the mayor prior to this time

having been elected by the connuon council.

The work laid down by Elijah F. Smith was

continued by his son, Charles F. Smith, who as
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boy and youth pursued his studies in the grade

and high scliools of llochester .and in the West-

field Academy in Massachusetts. He was a young
man ot about twenty years at the time ol: the

discovery of gold in CaliFoniia and in 1849 went

to the Pacific coast. A year convinced him that

not all who sought riches would win wealth in

the far west and he returned to Eochester. Soon
afterward he engaged in business in Niagara coun-

ty, New York, where he remained until 1852,

when he entered the wholesale grocery house of

Smith & Perkins, which twenty-six years before

had been established by his father and his uncle,

Elijah ¥. and A. ({. Smith. As indicated, several

.

changes in the partnership occurred and upon
the retirement of his father, Elijah P. Smith, in

1859, the business was continued by Charles F.

Smith and Oilman H. Perkins. A few years

later, when Harvey AV. Brown entered the firm,

the fityie of Smith, Perkins & Company was as-

sumed. In 1871 the business block which had
been erected by the firm some years before be-

came entirely inadequate for the trade and in

January, 1872, they removed to a fine building

which they erected and which at that time was
considered by traveling salesmen as the best adapt-

ed to their line of any in the country. The safe,

eonsei'vative policy inaugurated by the founders

has always been maintained and yet the spirit of

progress has been in nowise lacking. In fact

the company have ever been regarded as leaders

in modem business methods resulting in the en-

largement of trade.

A man of resourceful ability, Charles F. Smith
was in other prominent ways active in the busi-

ness life of Eochester. He was one of tlie di-

rectors of the old Eochester & State Line Enilwny
for twenty years was a trustee of the Eochestei'

Savings Bank. His success came not through any
sfleetacular means or startling speculations but
was won through the long laborious years by
methods that neither sought nor required disguise.

His success was built upon the substantial quali-

ties of close application, unremitting attention,

laudable ambition and imfaltering perseverance.

Justice was ever maintained in his relations with
employes as well as patrons. His life was char-

acterized by uniform courtesy to every individ-

ual and the humblest man in his service received

the same kindly attention, when he had occasion

to consult with Mr. Smith, as did the most profit-

able customer.

Not long after his return from California,

Charles F. Smith was married to Miss Sarah
Long, a daughter of Dr. Long, for many years

one of the most esteemed and honored physicians

of Eochester. They became parents of two sons,

C. Walter and Bordman, both well known in busi-

ness circles in Rochester. The death of Mr. Smith

occurred May 31, 1888, when he was in the sixtieth

year of his age. For many years he had been a
vestryman of St. Luke's church and in his relig-

ions belief and observances wiis fonnd the secret

of his unallerablc business integrity and his con-
sideration for others. His life was the embodi-
ment of high ideals and lofty principles and yet

in manner he was most unassuming and genial.

No man who came in contact with Charles F.

Smith ever entertained for him other than the

highest respect and esteem.

GEOEGE H. BAEKEE.

George H. Barker operates the old Barker home-
stead property in Pittsford township, which was
settled by his fntlior about forty years ago, and
here tln'ouglioiil liis active hnsiness career he has
l)eeu engaged in agricultural pursuits. His pa-
ternal grandfather, David Barker, settled here at

a very early day and became a large landowner of
this section of the state. He wedded a Miss Eck-
ler. Tlie father of our subject, Lyman Barker,
was also born in Pittsford and eventually became
the owner of the farm which is now being oper-
ated by our subject. He, too, engaged in agricul-
tural pursuits during a long period and passed
away in 187G. His wife bore the maiden name of
Clarissa Hopkins and their family numbered three
children.

George H. Barker was born in Pittsford town-
ship on the farm which is now his home, in 1871.
He was reared to the duties and laboi's of the farm,
assisting liis Jiiotlicr in the o])eration of tlie land
during llic sjiring and summer montlis, while in
ihe winiei- seasons he pursued his studies in the
district schools near his mother's home. He was
but five years of age at the time of his father's
death, so that as soon as his age and strength per-
mitted he was obliged to assume nnich of the man-
agement of the home farm. The place comprises
one liundred and forty acres and since ho took
entire charge, nineteen years ago, he has continued
the work of improvement and cultivation, each
year harvesting rich crops as a reward for the care
which he bestows upon the fields. In 1900 he
erected a barn seventy by thirty-four feet and in
1903 he built a tenant house on the place, while
in 1906 he erected a granary ninety-two by thirty-
six feet, with basement. In addition to raising the
cereals best adapted to soil and climate Mr. Barker
is also engaged in the raising of fast horses, to
whch he devotes the most of his time, being con-
sidered an authority on the breeding and breaking
of horses for track purposes. He is the owner of
Walnut, A^o. 44977, a handsome black stallion,

whicli stands 15-3 hands high and weighs one
thousaiul and fifty pounds; and also Gordie Hall
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wliosr t inic is 2 :0-l i/i. Upon liis farm Mv. Barker

drilled a wnll in 1!)0]., which is one Inindred and

sixly feet deep, and erected a wind mill, the total

cost being five hundred dollars.

In 1894 Mr. Barker established a home of his

own by his mnrriage to Miss Eva Smcad, who was
born in Pitts ford, and by her marriage has be-

come the mother of three children: Arlo, Clarissa

and Emma.
Jlr. Barker supports the men and measures ol

the democratic party and keeps in close touch

with the political issues and questions of the day

through reading. His fraternal relations are with

the Masons and the Independent Order of Odd
Fellows, in which societies he is popular among
the brethren of the craft. Having spent his entire

life in this locality, he has become widely and fa-

vorably known, and both he and his wife occupy

an enviable position among their many friends.

rillLIP PRESENT.

Phili)) Present, sole proprietor of one of the

largest wholesale jewelry and optical houses in

liochcslcr, was born in 185G, in Russian Poland.

His father came of French ancestry and his

mother of Polish. The first seventeen years of his

life were spent in his native country and he then

came alone to the United States, landing at New
York. He had received good educational privi-

leges and for a year and a half he acted as German
tutor in a private family. He afterward acted as

clerk in a grocery store for a short time and later

went to Elmira, New York, where he learned the

watch repairing and Jewelry business in both the

mechanical and mercantile departments. He then

went upon the road as traveling salesman for a

wholesale jewelry house and after a brief period

spent in that way he came to Rochester in 1884.

Ambitious to engage in business on his own ac-

count, he had carefully saved his earnings and

here opened a small retail and wholesale jewelry

house. From the beginning his trade increased

owing to his careful management, earnest effort

to please his patrons and his straightforward deal-

ing, and when a year and a half had passed he

was forced lo seek larger quaiiera, Avhicl.v ho se-

cured on the second floor of a building at the

comer of Clinton and Main streets. He then con-

fined his attention to the wholesale trade and

after four years was again forceu to seek larger

quarters in the Wilder building, where he also

spent four years. Each removal has been necessi-

tated by the demand for greater space in which to

accomrnodate his continually developing trade. For

five years he was in the Monroe County Savings

Bank building and then came to his ]>rcscn.t lo-

cation, having the entire second floor of the Cham-

ber of Commerce building. He does strictly a

wholesale business, carrying everything pertain-

ing to the jewelry line, and has also a small fac-

tor}', where ho manufactures diamond mountings
and other gold jewelry for special orders. He em-
ploys three traveling salesmen, who cover New
York, Pennsj'lvania, Ohio, Michigan and Ken-
tucky. He has every reason to be proud of his

success for from the beginning his business

has constantly developed until it has now reached

very extensive proportions. Mr. Present goes per-

sonally to Europe each year to purchase diamonds
and jewelry, securing the latest and newest designs

u]wn the market, and he also has the agency at

Rochester for many of the best domestic manufac-
tures. His brother Manuel has now been with him
for several years and relieves him of much of the

detail work and heavier responsibilities of the

business. In his business life Mr. Present has

been conservative rather than speculative and his

prosperity is due to his unwearied industry and
straightforward business methods. He certainly

deserves much credit for what he has accom-

plished and as the architect of his own fortunes

has btiilded wisely and well. His life is another

illustration of the fact that in this land where la-

bor is unhampered by caste or class any individual

may attain success if he has but the determination

to persevere- in a persistent course of well defined

labor.

In 1888 occurred the marriage of Mr. Present

and Miss Selling, a daughter of Henry Selling,

of Paterson, Now Jei'sey, who for many years was

a prominent citizen of Ilartfoj'd, Connecticut. The
family now numbers two daughters and one son.

Mr. Present is a great lover of literature and

has one of the fine private libraries of the city.

His reading has been of broad and varied character

and he is especially interested in philosophic and

economic subjects. He has studied closely the

sociological, economic and political history of the

country and has been very active in promoting

practical plans and measures toward ameliorating

the hard conditions of life for the unfortunate

and bringing into the lives of the poorer classes

the advantages, opportunities and pleasures enjoy-

ed by the rich. He is a prominent supporter of

and one of the trustees of the Chamber of Com-
merce nnd also president of the Rochester Credit

Men's v\ssociation, in which connections he is well

known, being recognized as one of the strong

factors in the business life of the city. His labors

have not been selfishly concentrated upon his in-

dividual success but have been exerted along lines

working toward the general business development

of the city. Mr. Present is also connected with

several charitable and philanthropic institutions,

in which he has served as an official member and

as a leader in promoting the work thereof. He
has recently established an educational institution

for foreigners to fit them for American citizen-
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Bhip. He bought the ground and building and do-

nated a large amount for the support of this in-

stitution, which will be equipped with gymnasium
and baths and in which all common branches of

study will be taught. It is an advanced step to-

ward good citizenship, which entitles Mr. Present

to be classed with the philanthropists of the age.

He is also one of the organizers and a trustee of

the Social Settlement of Eochester, an institution

for the industrial and social training of young

girls of the poorer classes. He is a nioinbci- and

trustee of the Jewish l^emple and takes a most

active and helpful part in its work, while of the

Orphan Asylum he is a director. In the more spe-

cifiically social and fraternal relations he is con-

nected with the Knights of Pythias, the Eureka
Club and the Athletic Club. The record of Philip

Present is one which commands uniform respect

and admiration. Coming to America practically

empty-handed, he has achieved notable success

in business but moreover has grown and developed

in character and in intellect, taking cognizance

of the trend of the times toward a recognition of

individual obligation and the truth of universal

brotherhood. His labors for good citizenship, for

charity and for intellectual progress have been of

the most practical character and deserve the high-

est commendation.

EDWIN S. PAEDEE.

Edwin S. Pardee, who is successfully engaged in

gardening and fi-uit-growing in Irondequoit town-
ship, is one of the oldest native born sons now liv-

ing in Monroe county. He was born on the farm
which is his present ifiome, July 2, 1827, a son of
Hiram and Sarah (Scofield) Pardee, who in 1826
removed here from Westchester county, this state.

T^he father purchased this farm at a time when the
country was still wild and unimproved. He im-
mediately set to work to develop and improve his

land and in due course of time made it a" valuable
property. He added to his original holdings until
he had at one time one hundred and fifty acres,

a part of which was known as the Bay village tract.

He was a democrat and for thirty years served as

assessor, while for a long peiiod he acted as high-
way commissioner. He reared a family of six

children, of whom throe arc now living: Edwin
S., of this review; Mrs. John Schanck, a resident
of Honeoye Palls, New York; and Miss Julia
Pardee, who makes her home with our subject.
Both the parents lived to a ripe old age, the
father passing away in 1883, at the age of eighty-
seven years, while the mother survived until 1896,
and died at the age of eighty-six.

Edwin S. Pardee pursued the common branches
of learning in the cobblestone school, ile was
reared to agricultural life, assisting his father

in the work of the home farm during the period

of his boyhood and youth. He now owns fifty

acres of land, which constitutes a part of the old
home property and since it came into his posses-

sion he has made many needed improvements
thereon. He is engaged in general farming, gar-

dening and fruit-raising, in which he is meeting
with good success. In addition to his farming
interests he has been identified with the Monroe
County Co-Operative Fire Insurance Company
since its organization, being one of the directors

of the company,
Mr. Pardee was united in marriage to Miss

Laura M. Quaife, of Oswego. Three children have
been born of this marriage: Hiram W., who is a
motorman on the street railway; Charles E., a
mailcarrier ; and G. Herbert, who is with his par-

ents. Tlie father and sons are members of the
Grange, while the sons are all Masons, belonging
to Genesee Falls lodge. No. 507, and the family
are members of the Third Presbyterian church.
Mr. Pardee is a democrat in his political faith

and has always taken a deep and active interest

in local political work. For twenty years he
served as assessor of his township, while for a
long period he was commissioner of the toAvnship.

He is now one of the oldest native born sons of the
county and has seen this district grow from a wild
country, with only a few white inhabitants, to a
I'ich agricultural and commercial center, contain-

ing thousands of good homes and numerous thriv-

ing towns and cities, inhabited by an industrious,

prosperous and enlightened people. In the work
.which is necessary to bring about such a wonder-
ful change Mr. Pardee has taken an active part
and is therefore deserving of mention among the
honored citizens of Monroe county.

GOEDON SPEOULL MONTGOMEEY.

Gordon Sproull Montgomery, mechanical en-

gineer and architect, who stands as one of the

foremost representatives of this line of business

in Eochester, his native city, was born in 1863
and is a representative of a family that has taken a

most prominent and helpful part in the improve-

iiiont, upbuilding nnd development of the city.

Both his father, John F. Montgomery, and his

grandfather, James Gordon Montgomery, were
closely connected with substantial improvement
iiere. They opened many streets and were closely

associated with building operations. The firm

of which the father was a member erected the

Wilder and Exchange Place office buildings, the
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Clirist, Brick and AVestiiiiiister clmrclies and
many other fine structures. Jolin V. Montgomery
was also a native oi' Jfocliestcr and i'or years fig-

ured as one of its most prominent contractors and
builders. He died in the year 1900. His wife,

who bore the maiden name of Agnes Logan, was
a native of Yorlt, New York, and tlio lucmbers

of the family are W. J., George B., Charles H., J.

Frederick and Eslelle M., all living in this city.

The other son of the family is Gordon S. Mont-
gomery of this review, who, after acquiring his

more specifically literary education, studied archi-

tecture in the oifice of Peabody & Stearns in Bos-
ton, then the largest architectural firm in the

country. He remained there in 1888 and 1889 and
in the following year returned to Rochester, be-

coming secretary of the John F. Montgomery
Coni])any, builders, in which connection he re-

mained until bis father's death. He then began
contractin.g on his own account but after a year

opened his ]iresent business as a mechanical en-

gineer and architect with offices in the Elhvanger
and Barry building. His comprehensive study and
broad practical experience have gained him pre-

eminence in both lines and the gratifying success

which he is now enjoying is the best evidence of

his capability and business worth.

In the city where his entire life has been passed

Mr. Montgomery is popular and has gained many
friends. He is a member of the Rochester Ath-

letic Club and also of the Brick (Presbyterian)

church. In politics he is a republican and while

not a politician in Ihe sense of office seeking he is

interested in good government and a clean munic-
ipal administration. To this end he stands for

reform and progress and his influence is ever

given on the side of right, truth and improvcuient.

PROFESSOR G. H. WALDEN.

Professor George Henry Walden, principal of

public school No.' 10 in Rochester, has gained more

than local note in educational circles. He was

born in South Columbia, Herkimer county. New
York, May 13, 1855, and when five years of age

went to Otsego county with his parents, William

P. and Mary J. (Cnsaday) Walden, both of whom
were natives of New York, bom in Otsego and

in Herkimer counties, respectively. Their family

numbered two children, the daughter, who is the

younger, being Mrs. Wheeler L. Bush, of Roches-

ter.

Professor Walden's parents were poor b\it hon-

rst, hard-working people and, owing to a lack of

financial resources, were unable to give their

children educational advantages beyond those of-

fered by the district schools. Following the re-

moval of the family to Otsego county they settled

near Gooperstowu, wnere Professor Walden ac-

quired bis early education and an ample training

at farm labor. For several summers tie was em-
ployed at farm labor and thus earned money
enough to enable him to acquiie a better educa-

tion, which he was ambitious to do. Pie eagerly

availed himselx of advantages which came to him
in ihat direction and has been an earnest, close

and discriminating student throughout his entire

life. He taught his first district school in the

autumn of lS72, when seventeen years of age. Re-

moving to Steuben county. New York, in 1875,

he was there employed at farm labor during the

summer months and followed teaching in the dis-

trict schools in the winter. It was in this way
he- earned the money for a higher education,

whereby he prepared for college but did not enter.

He was for two winters a teacher in Otsego county,

where he "boarded 'round," and for one winter

followed the same method in Steuben county, go-

ing from house to house each week. He carried

his books with him and studied by himself until

be had qualified for entrance into a higher edu-

cational institution. Having spent thirteen weeks

as a pupil in the high school at Bath, he entered

the Rochester Free Academy in the fall of 1877

and was graduated in the spring of 1878, having

done three years' work in one. Not having the

means with which to pursue a college course, he

then took up the work of teaching. He had pre-

viously been employed as teacher in the village

school at Springwatcr for two years. After his

graduation from Rochester academy he taught

.school at Honeoye, Ontario county, where he re-

mained from 1878 until he came to Rochester in

1883. His ability was gaining him constant recog-

nition and in the latter year he received ap-

pointment to the position of principal of pub-

lic school No. 17, entering upon his duties in

September, 1883. A Tear later he was transferred

to public school No. 9, and after two years was

appointed principal of school No. 10, where he

has remained for the past twenty-one years. No
higher testimonial of his efficiency and recognized

ability could be given than the fact that he has

so long been retained here.

For many years Professor Walden has been in-

terested in and attended various state and other

educational associations. He was the first presid-

ing officer at the convention of grammar school

principals of the state of New York held in Syra-

cuse fifteen years ago, and for nine years he was a

member of the executive committee of the New
York State Teachers' Association. At one time he

was a member of t^lic Academy of Science at

Rochester.

Professor Walden was married in this city, in

October, 1880, to Miss Kate Edith Brewer, a
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daughter of the late Charles Brewer, and unto

them were horn two children. Their daughter,

Edith Louise, died in August, 1891, at the age of

seven years. Tlic son is George TT., .Ir.

Professor Walden is greatly interesled in muni-

cipal affairs, manifesting a public-spirited devo-

tion to the general good. He keeps well informed

on political questions and issues of the day and

is an independent republican. Eor many years

he has been a member of the Brick church and

since 1887 has been teacher of the Dr. Shaw bible

class in the Sunday-school, Dr. Shaw having

chosen him as his successor in that work. About

six years ago he was elected an elder of the

church and has since acted in that capacity. He is

a gentleman of scholarly attainments and his rec-

ord is notable by reason of the fact that, deprived

of many of the advantages which most boys en-

joy in youth, lie has attained to his present posi-

tion by reason of his inlicrent force of character,

his commendable ambition, his strong purpose and

his unfaltering industry. For many years he has

been recognized as a strong moving force in in-

tellectual and moral progress in Eochester.

CLAIE C. HAEPEE.

Clair C. Harper, secretary and treasurer of

the Traders' Box & Lumber Company, at No.
1040 Jay street, is thus closely associated .with

the industrial interests of Eochester and his name
is largely recognized as a synonym for enterprise

and capable management. He was born in North
Tonawanda, New York, July 9, 1873, his parents

being Charles G. and Jerusha A. (Tripp) Harper,
who were also natives of the Empire state. The
father was a carpenter and contractor and in De-
"cemher, 1905, came to Eochester, where he died
en Easter Sunday, the 31st of TMarch, 1907, at

the age of sixty-five years. ITis wife survives

him and makes lier lioiiie. with. her son, Clair C.

Harper, their only child. She is a devoted mem-
ber of the Methodist church, to which her hus-
band also belonged.

The ancestry of the family can be traced back
to a more remote period. The paternal grand-
father, George Harper, was a native of England
and served as a captain in the English army. In
an early day he became a resident of Lockport,
New York, where he conducted a farm, and when
in middle life he was accidentally killed in the
woods. His wife, who bore the inaidon name ol;

Mary Schuyler, passed away when well advanced
in years. Their only son was Charles Harper,
father of our subject. The maternal grandfather
Avas Henry Tripp, who was born in Eennsylvania
and was of German descent. He, too, was a farmer

by occupation and became one of the pioneer set-

tiers of Niagara county. He lived there when
only a trail existed between his home and Tona-

wanda, for as yet no roads had been laid out and

tlie most far-sigjited did not dream that the towns

of that locality would be connected by a fine in-

terurban system. He died at the very venerable

age of ninety-eight years, while his wife, Mrs.

Amelia Tripp, died when seventy-two years of

age. They had six sons and four daughters.

Clair C. Harper was reared in North Tona-

wanda and attended the public schools there. He
was g]-aduated from the graded schools, after

H'hich he began work in the lumber business as

tally boy. Later he served as shipper and subse-

quently he took up the study of stenography and

bookkeeping to better qualify himself for the

practical and onerous duties of a business career.

He Avas with Smith, Eassett & Company for fif-

teen years and with them purchased his present

business, being now secretary and treasurer of

the Traders' Box & LiTmber Company at No.
1040 Jay street. They manufacture all kinds of

wooden boxes and conduct a retail lumber busi-

ness, employing from fifty to sixty people. The
enterprise has been constantly developed along

safe, substantial lines and Mr. Harper certainly

has the distinction of being what the public calls

a self-made man. His advancement has been

gradual and has been gained by his own persist-

ent efforts. The mastery of every task assigned

him, strong purpose in carrying forward business

interests and the development of his latent powers

have brought to him the measure of success which

he is now enjoying.

On the asd of July, 1891, Mr. Harper was mar-

ried to. Miss Nellie Treat, a daughter of Henry
and Susan (Becker) Treat. There are two sons

of this marriage, Harold L. and Eloyd T. Mr.
and ]Mrs. Harper are consistent and faithful mem-
bers of the Methodist church and Mv. Harper be-

longs to the Eoyal Arcanum, while his political

faitli is that of the republican party. Judging

'

coci'ecUy of Iho weight and valuo of ohara<;lor,

realizing the force of industry and perseverance,

he has throughout an active and honorable life

gained not only a gratifying measure of financial

success, but also the confidence and good will

of those with whpm he has been associated in a

business way.

JOHN B. HAMILTON.

Monroe county bas been, signally favored in

ihe class of men who have occupied her public

oflices; for usually they have been citizens of pro-

gressive spirit and high ideals, who have been most
faitliful in the discharge of their dnties. To this
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cliiss belongs Joliii li. Jliiniilton, and the elliciency

oj! his service is indicated by tbe fact that by re-

election lie lins been continued in tiie oltice of

county treasurer since 1893, or for a period of

thirteen years. A native of Avon, Livingston coun-

ty. New York, he was born January 10, 18-13, his

parents being James and Grace (Nairn) Hamil-

ton, who were of Scotch descent. The father

was a fanner by occupation and lived and died

in Livingston county. New York, after emigrating

to the new world. He was married, however, in

Scotland and immediately afterward came to

America, crossing the Atlantic in 1831. Unto
him and his wife were born seven children, foui-

sons and three daughters: William, a resident of

Caledonia, New York ; John B. ; Jeanette ; Grace

;

Margaret; and two sons who have passed away,

James and Alexander.

John B. Hamilton was reared upon the home
farm and attended the country schools. He after-

ward became a student in the Quaekenbacli Colle-

giate Institute of New York city and later spent

one year in the west. Returning to Livingston

county, he resumed farming and was thus iden-

tified with agricultural pursuits until 1873, when
he went to West Ihiah, Monroe county, New York,

where he was engaged in farming and also in

the produce business, while for thirty-three years

he was agent at that point for the New York Cen-

tral Railroad Company. After serving for a third

of a century he resigned. He had been a most

capable and trustworthy employe and had the en-

tire confidence of the corporation which he repre-

sented as well as the good will of the patrons

of the road which he served.

Mr. Hamilton has long been recognized as one

prominent in republican politics in Monroe county.

In 1888 he was a delegate to the national conven-

tion at Chicago which nominated Benjamin Harri-

son for the presidency, and he regards that as one

of the most interesting experiences of his life. For

thirty years he has figured in political circles and

has attemled a number of state conventions. He
was nppoijited as a delegate to the Columbia Ex-

position in 1893 in the Creel industries. The same

year he was elected to the office of county treas-

urer and has been re-elected continuously since, so

that he lins served in the position for thirteen con-

secutive years. He is recognized as a public-spir-

ited citizen and one whose devotion to the general

good is characterized by active co-operation in

many movements which have had direct bearing

upon the welfare and progress of the city.

Mr. Hamilton was married to Miss Catherine

McMillan and has two living children, Francis
' and J. McMillan, both in business in New York

city. Mr. Hamilton belongs to the Masonic fra-

ternity, to the Genesee Valley Club, to the Roches-

ter Club, to the Whist Club and to the Knights of

Pythias lodge—associations which indicate much

of his genial, kindly nature and his benevolent

spirit. He has always enjoyed in full the esteem

and confidence of those with whom he has come
in contact and well deserves mention in this vol-

ume as a representative citizen of Monroe county.

-

JaMES L. HOTCHKISS.

On the roll of oilicials in Monroe county ap-

pears the name of James L. Hotchkiss, who is

now serving as county clerk. One of the native

sons of the Empire state, his birth occurred in

Naples, Ontario county, May 1, 1857, his parents

being Levi and Anna (Dwight) Hotchkiss. The
fatltcr was a merchant in his early days and later

was insurance adjuster. He held several minor
offices in early life and in 1868 he removed to

Rochester to spend his remaining days his death
occurring in 1886. His widow still survives him .

and is yet a resident of Rochester.

James L. Hotchkiss was educated in the pub-
lic schools, liie Rochester Free Academy and the

University of Rochester, in which he completed the

scientific course, being graduated in 1879. He
then studied law with George and Thomas Raines
and was admitted to the bar in the spring of

1883. He continued with Raines Brothers for a

few years and then began the practice of law
on his own account, remaining an active member
of the bar until 1903, when he was elected to his

present office on the republican ticket and took

charge of the same in January, 1904. He served

so capablv that he was re-elected in the fall of

1905, so that he is the present incumbent. He
has long been recognized as a prominent worker

in republican ranks and is now chairman of the

republisan general committee of Monroe county,

acting in that capacity since January, 1901. Mr.
irotcld<iss has taken a very active interest in poli-

tics, both local and national, since 1900, and was
a delegate to the national convention at Chicago

in 1904, while in 1903, 1904 and 1906 he was

a delegate to the state conventions of New Y'ork.

Although he entered upon active political work
only seven years ago he has in this time become
one of the best known party leaders in the state

and has done much in late years to shape the re-

publican policy and to promote the interests of

the party.

On the 38th of February, 1907, Mr. Hotchkiss

was married to Leah Leach, a daughter of William

J. Leach. He is well known socially and in club

life, being now a mernber of the Delta Kappa
Epsilon, a Greek letter fraternity, also of tue

Rochester Y''acht Club, the Rochester Club, the Oak
Hill Country Club, the Genesee Valley Golf Club,

the Rochester Auto Club and the Society of the
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Genesee. He likewise belongs to tlie Historical

Society and to the bar associations ol' the county

and the statj. He has long been greatly interested

in horses and is a member and ollieor oii several

driving clubs. He takes an active interest in all

athletic and manly outdoor sports and in this

way finds needed rest and recreation from the

cares of official and professional life. He still

retains his law office as a partner of Andrew E.

Tuck, but his time and energies are naturally

largely occupied by his duties as county clerk.

CAPTAIN GEOEGE W. RUGGLES.

A country can claim but one rulor, and the men
who attain prominence in political circles are

few, but the field of business is limitless and there

is always room at the top. Captain Euggles is

numbered among those who have gained distinc-

tion in the line of a chosen calling. He became

known throughout the country as a builder of

canoes, several of which have been prize winners

in international contests, but he regards as his

greatest achievement the invention of the Euggles

rotary snow plow, now used throughout the

United States and Canada, wherever heavv snows

fall.

Mr. Euggles was born in Gaines, Orleans coun-

ty. New York, November 24, 1837. His father,

Martin Euggles, also a native of the Empire state,

was a millwright and inventor. He married Nancy
Lane, a native of Victor, New York, aiul they be-

came the parents of two sons and four daughters,

all of whom are yet living.

Captain Euggles of this review resided at the

place of his nativity until his sixteenth year, when
his parents removed to Kendall, Orleans county,

where he remained until 1866. On the 20th of

November of that year—his marriage day—he

came to Charlotte, where he has since resided.

His boyhood was spent on the farm and at work
with his father at the millwright's trade. He also

sailed on Lake Ontario to some extent and became
thoroughly interested in the subject of navigation

and in all kinds of fresh water craft. After remov-
ing to Charlotte he bought an interest in the

schooner H. M. Ballon and for five or six years was
connected with her as a sailor as well as part own-
er. He then sold his interest, and entering the em-
|)loy of the Eochester and Charlotte Iron Com-
pany, he sailed a barge for that firm for four or

five years. In August, 1872, he bought the tug

.Tasen Parker, the first tug owned at Charlotte. In

. this he was associated with Captain Newcomli.

After four years he sold his interest in tliat vessel

and in company with A. G. Yates bought the tug

Oneida, which he operated for about four years.

He then ran the steamer Charlotte for two seasons

and the City of Eochester for four years, which

ended his life as a sailor.

Cuptiiiii Euggles then turned his attention to

canoe building, his first finished product in this

connection being the Safronia for P. P. Andrews

of Eochester, who wished to compete in the Ameri-

can Canoe Association meet held at Grindstone

Island in 1884. This was the first canoe covered

with smooth skin built and owned by the associa-

tion, and the excellent part which she played in

the meet revolutionized canoe building and

brought Captain Euggles a number of orders for

canoes of similar construction. The next racing

canoe he built was the Eclipse, for Eeginald Blake,

of the Brooklyn Canoe Club, in 1888. It won first

place in the trial races for the defense of the cup

for lh(i fnlorniiiionnl Canoo Cliih. It was there-

fore chosen to race and defend Ihe cup against

Walter Stewart of England. The Eclipse took the

first three pennants and won. This brought Cap-

tain Euggles a world-wide reputation and he was

looked upon and recognized as the greatest canoe

builder in the world. The Glenwood, which de-

fended the same cup for the New Y'ork Canoe

Club, was also built by Captain Euggles. He con-

tinued in canoe building for about eight years and

among his products, in addition to the Eclipse,

were the Una, Beta, Glenwood and Pioneer. It

will thus be seen that he has given to the world

some of its best racing canoes which have won
fame for the country. In 1892 Captain Euggles

built his first rotary snow plow and took out the

first patent on the 4th of July, 1893. This plow

is now used wherever heavy snow falls in the

United Stales and Canada. It was first put into

operation on the Charlotte and Eochester electric

line in the winter of 1892, at which time it was
pushed by a car. The processes were very crude

but Captain Euggles has continued the work of

improvement and the snow plow is now a self-

propeller. After a time he let out the manufac-
turo to the Pcckham Manufaciuriiig Company, of

Kingston, New York, who now turn out about
twenty-five of these snow plows each fall. It would
be too expensive for suburban electric lines to

operate in winter without this device for remov-
ing snow, and thus he has given to the world an
invention of great and lasting value. He is now
applying for a patent on an air motor for cooling

cars, the motor being on top of the car and re-

quiring very little room, the speed of the car mak-
ing wind that runs the fan that is placed inside.

He is also working on other inventions and his

skill and ingenuity have gained him recognition as

a prominent inventor.

On the 20th of November, 1866, Captain Eug-
gles was married to Miss Ellen Bliss, a native

of Kendall, New York, and a daughter of Edwin
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and Slary (Seymour) Bliss, and a direct descend-

ant of Miles Standish.

Captain Ruggles lias, at intervals, for twenty
years been connected with the village government
of Charlotte and was president of the village in

1895. He gave to it a public-spirited and pro-

gressive administration and his efforts in its be-

half have been beneficial and far-reaching. With
throe exceptions he is the oldest resident of Char-

lotte in years of continuous connection with the

city, having lived here for more than four decades.

His fame, however, has gone abroad throughout
the land in connection with what he has accom-
plished along industrial lines, and as an inventor.

He is now a member of the American Canoe As-
sociation and is well known in club circles in New
York city, where he has been the guest of honor
at various receptions. Ho is to tlic canoe world
what Burgess and Herreshofl! were to ilio yacht
world, and tlioso at all interested in canoeing are

familiar with his name. He has made four racing
canoes for Everett H. Barney, of Springfield,

Maspachu setts, the inventor and manufacturer of

Barney & Berry sknios who is Ihe wealthiest citi-

zen of Springfield and a warm personal friend of

Captain Ruggles, who has had many outings with

him. The Captain also belongs -to the Interna-

tional Congress of Inventors, while fraternally and
socially he is connected with the Genesee Falls

lodge,' A. F. & A. M., and the Rochester Whist
Club.

M\W. ANDREW J. GRAHAM.

Rev. Andrew J. Graham, rector of Christ

church, ]?oohester, since 1901, and well known as

a representative of the Episcopal ministry, was

born in Cleveland, Ohio, on the 31st of March,

185/), his iiaroiiis being Ezra B. and Bertha (Tay-

lor) Graham, 'i'hc falhei' was a nalive of Dundee,

Scotland, and the paternal ancestry is traced to the

Black Douglass, while the maternal line goes back

to Germany.

Study in the common schools of Ohio was the

initial sleji which Rev. Mr. Graham made toward

securing an education. He continued his studies

in the high school at Painesvillc, Ohio, and in Ne-

braska College in Nebraska, where his more spe-

cific literary and classical knowledge was acquired.

Determining upon entrance to the priesthood, he

prepared for holy orders as a student in the Sea-

bury Divinity School, from which he was gradu-

ated in Juno, 1881. His pastorates have been but

four ill niinihcr, as his able work for the church

lias always led I" long intention in any ceclesi-

aslical position to which he has been called. He
was rector of Holy Triniiy church at Minneapolis

from 1884 until 1894 and during the succeeding

two years was at St. Mark's in Washington, D. C.

In 189G he accepted a call from Christ church
at Indianapolis, Indiana, where he remained until

1901, since which time he has been rector of

Christ church in Rochester, where he has now re-

mained for seven years. Thoroughly versed in the

doctrines of the church, in the broadest truths

of religion and in the great questions which affect

the sociological and economic conditions of the

country. Rev. Mr. Graham is well qualified 'to

serve as a guide to his people and has inspired

his parishioners with much of the zeal, consecre-

tion and energy which he brings to his Christian

duties.

In 1877 Rev. Mr. Graham joined the Masonic
fraternity and has served as chaplain and prelate

at vai'ious places. lie wfis married in New York
city, in 1888, in the Church of the Holy Com-
munion, to Miss Margaret Lyon, and to them has
has been born one daughter, Helen May Graham.

HENRY STONE DRAPER.

Henry Stone Draper, deceased, was a represen-

tative of one of the old and respected pioneer
families of Rochester, while his anccslry, both in

its lineal and collateral branches, has been con-

nected with American interests from the earliest

period in the colonization of the new world. The
birth of Mr. Draper occurred on a farm which is

now the site of the House of Refuge in Roches-
lor, his natal day boin^r February 8, 1821. The
history of the Draper family in America dates back
to an early period in the seventeenth century. The
grandfather of our subject was Captain Simeon
Draper of Massachusetts and his father was Henry
Draper. AVilliam B. Draper, the oldest brother

of Ilenry Di'aper, set up the first telegraph system
in Japan, while John Stone Draper set up the

first telegraph system between Chicago and Mil-

waukee. Ilenry Draper, the father of our subject,

became a resident of Rochester when it was a small

and unimportant town upon the frontier of west-

ern New York, and secured land which he devoted

to farming. He died here in the year 1841, leav-

ing his son, Henry Stone Draper, and a brother

to conduct the farm. Mr. Draper of this review

continued to live upon the farm and carry on

general agricultural pursuits for a time, but later

sold the property and went to Canada, where he

was engaged in the lumber business for a num-
ber of years. ITpoii his return to Rochcslcr ho

engaged in ihe nursery business as salesman. For

several years prior to his death, however, he was

an invalid.
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On the 20th of April, 1853, Henry Stono

Draper was married to Miss Emeline Barnes, who

was born in Greece, Monroe county. New York,

daughter of Timothy Barnes, one of the pioneers

of this county. Unto Mr. and Mrs. Draper were

born four children, but only one is now living,

Herbert Stone Draper, of Rochester, who is mar-

ried and has three children. The father was a

very domestic man and lived a quiet life, his inter-

ests centering in his home and family. His po-

litical views were in accord with the principles of

the republican party, which he always sup])orted

at the polls, and he was a member of St. Peter's

church in Rochester. His death occurred in

1886 and the community thus lost a valued citi-

zen, who, though he did not figure to any extent

in public life, nevertheless belonged to that class

who uphold the local status and moral stability of

a community.

JOHN E. MINER.

John E. Miner was born in Clarkson, April 9,

183G. His father, Hiram Miner, was a native of

Littleton, New Hampsiiire, who came to Monroe

county, New York, in 1824, bringing his young

wife, ]\rebitalile Martin, also from Littleton, and

a few necessities for housekeeping and settled in

the western part of the town of Sweden. In 1831

he removed to Clarkson, locating on the farm

which is now owned by his youngest son John E.

A part of the farm belonged to Hiram T. Miner,

another son, who passed away in 1881. There

were besides these two sons four daugliters born

to Mr. Miner, one of wjiom was Mrs. Abigail

Miller, of Brockport, who died in 1904. The par-

ents celebrated their fiftieth wedding anniversary,

which was one of the happiest events in their

lives and one in which their children and grand-

children participated. It is said that for every

joy there is a sorrow and wo find it true in this

case, for soon after this lia])py event the mother

passed away in the' year 1875. Three years later

Mr. Miner married Mrs. Marietta Butler, of

Brockport, who died in August, 1892, about three

months previous to his death. He was a man
thoroughly interested in agriculture. Politically

he was a stalwart republican and was a man hon-

ored and loved by all who knew him. An earnest

Christian worker, he was always ready with heart

and hand to aid in the causes of religion and edu-

cation. For sixty-five years he served as trustee

for the Methodist Episcopal church in Brockport

and was chairman of the board for forty-five

years. He passed away in 1892 in his ninety-

second year.

John E. Miner, the subject of this sketch, re-

ceived his early education in the public schools

and in the practical training which he gained upon

his fathe!''s farm. Most fortunate in being able

to be so intimately associated with a father of

such a character, the boy made the most of his

ambitions and grew to manhood with the purest

tlioughts and the best motives in his every act.

Not .only did he build a noble character . but he

acquired a knowledge of agriculture and by the

practical training on the farm became proficient

in its every detail. So valuable were his services

that his father found it necessary to keep him ai

home whore the young man did all in his pow,er

to add to tlic value of iho farm which in time be-

came his.

In 1859 Mr. Miner married Miss L. Adelle

Glidden, a daughter of Smith Olidden, of Claren-

don, Orleans connty, New York, and they have one

daughter, Charlotte II., wlio is a graduate of the

Brock))ort Normal School and is now a teacher in

East Orange, New Jersey. The family have a beau-

tiful home in Brockport, which Mr. Miner pur-

chased in 1902. His farm is well equipped and
excellently kept up, so that it yields abundant
crops each year. He is successful because he is

sure of his methods, farming with him being no
experiment. Added to this he has a pride in keep-

ing up the old. home which is very dear to him.
In politics he is a republican and has efficiently

filled several positions of trust and responsibility

in the town. He is a pleasant, genial gentleman
and he and his estimable wife have many warm
friends throughout the county.

WlhhlS I'. ANDKliSON.

Willis P. Anderson is secretary of the J. H.
Smith Company, of Rochester, which was incor-

povated in 1891. To this position he has attained

by reason of the jiosscssion of tlio.se traits of cliar-

actcr wliicli ni'c iccogiiizcd as forces in social (iir-

clcs—close application, keen discernment and
laudable ambition. A native of New York, he was
born in Carlton, Orleans coiinty, on the 15th of

June, 1874, and came to Rochester in 1892, when
a young man of eighteen years. He entered busi-

ness life here as a railway man in the offices of

the Buffalo, Rochester & Pittsburg Railroad, where
he remained for eleven yeai'S, and each forward
step which he made in his business career brought
him a broader outlook and enlarged opportunities.

In 1903 he came to his present position as secre-

tary of the J. H. Smith Company, of which J. H.
Smith is president, A. 0. Richardson, vice presi-

dent, and AV. H. Stout, treasurer. Tlie company
has for sixteen years been engaged in the manu-
facture of soda fountain supplies and syrups, and
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is llio only coin})Mny doiiijr an exclusive business of

(his kind in ilic United States. Tlio manufac-

tured product under the name of tlio True Fruit

Syrlips is shipped extensively and in fact the busi-

ness is the largest of the kind iu the country.

They occupy extensive buildings owned by the

company at the junction of East Main and the

New York Central Railroad and have one hun-

dred and fil'iy thousand square feet of floor space.

Three hundred people are employed in the fac-

tory and tliere are twenty traveling men on the

road. The product is also handled by jobbers and
the business has not only become national^ but

embraces some export trade as well. As secretary

of the company during the past four years Mr.

Anderson lias contributed in no small degree to its

success, lie is a young n\aii in whom I he Pi)ii'it

of determinalion and energy is a salient charac-

teristic and his life is in keeping with the tendency

of the times in the development of extensive en-

ter])rises. The initiative spirit is strong within

him and the company has not followed in the old

and beaten paths, but has manifested tlie spirit of

Ihe pioneer in seeking out new methods and |n'o-

viding new avenues for the growth and extension

of their trade.

Mr. Anderson is well known in Masonic cir-

cles, belonging to Frank E. Lawrence lodge, No.

797, A. F. & A. M., of which he is now master; to

Hamilton chapter, R. A. M. ; and to the con-

sistory, in which he lias attained the thirty-second

degree of the Scottish rite.

GUILFORD ROBBINS ADAMS.

Few can attain mililary or political ))rominence,

for Hie honors and awards of oflice arc not many,

hut Ihe field of business is limitless and the op-

portunity for advancement is hampered only by

the qualities of the individual. Not in place, in

rireumstancc or environment is found the meas-

ure of success—it lies rather in the recognition

and improvement of opportunity, combined with

an unflagging industry and perseverance, without

which the highest results are never attained. Rec-

ognizing these facts, Guilford Robbins Adams, of

No. 14 Seneca Parkway, has made an excellent

record in the business world, having since 1896

figured as a partner in the firm of Samuel Sloan

& Company, wholesale dealers in plumbers' and

steamfittcrs' supplies.

Mr. Adams was horn at Tjowvillo, New York,

May 28, 1862. lie was educated in the Rochester

public schools and in Beaver College at Beaver,

Pennsylvania. His parents were Dr. Ira and

Ho[)hia (Ijaltirner) Adams. The father lost his

life in an epidemic of typhoid at Lowville during

the period of the Civil war, when his son Guilford

was but six months old. The latter, having ac-

quired a literary education, entered business life

as a salesman in the dry-goods store of Sibley,

Lindsay & Curr, where he remajned in 1879 and

1880. The following year he entered the employ
of Samuel Sloan, plumber and steam fitter, and
there he gradually worked his way upward, gain-

ing recognition by his fidelity, ability and trust-

worthiness in successive promotions. Eventually

he became buyer for the house and upon the re-

organization of the firm under the name of Samuel
Sloan & Company, in 1896, he became a partner.

The business address is No. 67, 69 and 71 Ex-
change street. The continuity of growth, as seen

in the firm's history, indicates- that the business

is based upon sound, reliable principles and that

the house sustains an unassailable reputation. The
trade has constantly increased in keeping with the

growth of the city, the firm enjoying a very liberal

and lucrative patronage.

Jlr. Adams is an enthusiastic Mason, in thor-

ough sympathy with the teachings of the craft,

his mcmberRhi)) being with Rochester lodge, F. &
A. M.; Hamilton chaiiter, R. A. M. ; Doric coun-

cil, R.& S. M. ; Monroe commandery, K. T. ; and
Damascus Temple of the Mystic Shrine. He like-

wise belongs to the Masonic Club and is very

prominent socially, being a valued member of the

i^ochester Whist, Rochester Yacht and Oak Hill

Country Clubs. He is a member of the Asbury

Methodist Episcopal church and in politics is a

republican. His is a well rounded character, rec-

ognizing the duties of citizenship, the amenities of

social life and the obligations of man to his fel-

lowmen. He is prominent among the energetic,

far-seeing and successful business men of western

New Vork and his* life history most happily illus-

trates what may be attained by failhful and con-

iiuucd cITort in carrying out an honest purpose.

EDWIN GEORGE MUNN, M. D.

Dr. Edwin George Munn was in the first half

of the nineteenth century an ahle and distin-

guished physician of Monroe county and is yet

remembered by many of the older settlers as a cit-

izen of worth and value as well as a physician of

ability. He was- born in Munson, Massachusetts,

on tlie 8th of May, 1804, and with his parents

removed to Leroy, New York. Having completed

his lilorarv education, he studied medicine under

the direction of Mr. Stephen 0. Alma and after-

ward attended lectures at Philadelphia. He lo-

cated for practice in Scottsville about 1838, male-
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ing a specialty of diseases of the eye, and tiirough-

out his remaining days he pi-acticed as an oculist,

gaining considerable fame in this direction. In

1837 he removed to Rochester, where he opened

an office, continuing in business thoi'o up to the

time of his death. A liberal patronage was ac-

corded him and he kept in touch with the ad-

vancement that M'as made by the medical fra-

ternity. In May, 1843, he established his home
in Gates township, although still maintaining his

office in Rochester, nnd his remaining days were

spent at his country place, lie purchased here

one liundred and twenty-five acres of land, to

which his widow has since added until the estate

now comprises one hundred and fifty-five acres

Dr. Munn continued his professional duties up
to the time of his demise, which occurred on the

13fh of December,. 1847. He was a man of strong

intellectual force, of kindly spirit and generous

disposition and was greatly esteemed in the com-
munity where he lived by reason of his many
excellent traits of character.

Following her husband's death Mrs. Munn con-

ducted the farm for three years, after which her

brother, John L. Pixley, took charge, operating the

farm for her. He lived for a half century with

Mrs. Munn.

Tt was on the 38th of October, 1834, that

Aristine Pixley gave her hand in marriage to Dr.

Munn. She was born in Kirkland, Oneida county,

New York, October 29, 1817, and came to Monroe
county with her parents when but a year old, the

family settling in Chili. She was a daughter of

William and Abigail (Lewis) Pixley who were
born, reared and married near Stratford, Con-
necticut. The mother, whose birth occurred Feb-

I'unry 12, 1784, died in 1822, while ilie father, who
was born May 30, 1784, departed this life Juno
20, 1853. They were the parents of eight chil-

dren namely : Ann Jeannette
; Jilliza ; John 'Lewis,

who lived with Mrs. Munn for about fifty years;

Martha Cornelia; Benjamin Franklin; Aristine,

who is the only surviving member of the family;

Jane; and Abbie. Unto Dr. and Mrs. Munn were
born three children, but the eldest died in in-

fancy in 1842. Frances Emily is the deceased
wife of Reuben L. Field, mentioned elsewhere in

this volume. Dr. John P. Munn is a physician

and surgeon of New York city and has two chil-

dren, Aristine Pixley and James Buell.

Mrs. • Munn is most remarkably well preserved

and at the age of ninety years is mentally and
physically as bright and active as most ladies of

half her years. The writer found her sewing with
No. 300 thread in a No. 12 needle. Her faculties

are unimpaired, her eyesight and hearing good,
and she says she feels as well as she did at thirty

years. A lady of natural culture and refinement,

she has for a long period been a factor in the

social life of the community. Her granddaughter,

Prances Munn Field, has lived with her since

her infancy and the household is a most attractive

one to their many friends. Few, if any, residents

of Monroe county have longer resided within its

borders and Mrs. Munn's memoi-y today forms a

connecting link between the primitive past and
the progressive present. She can remember a

time when several of the thriving towns and vil-

lages of the county were not yet laid out and when
Rochester was a small place. Many changes have

been made in the coiulition and ways of living

and through it all Mrs. Munn has kept in touch
with the universal progress.

WILLEY HENRY ALMY.

Willey Henry Almy, managing real-estate agent
of Rochester and one whose marked business en-
terprise and sound judgment are widely recog-
nized, was born in this city. May 15, 1858, on the
present site of the Liberty building at the corner
of Elm and East Main streets, then the old home-
stead of Nehemiah Osburn, his maternal grand-
father, who resided there for over a half century.

Mr. Osburn was one of the pioneers of the city,

arriving in 1821 from Scipio, Cayuga county. New
York. He spent his first night in Rochester at
the Blossom House. Distinction,-lionor and pros-
perity awaited him, but the future was not re-

vealed that night to the young man who, almost
penniless, had come there to seek business oppor-
tunities that would lead him from his limited
financial condition to oho of greater opulence, nor
(lid ho that night dream that wilhin a few years
he would purchase the property whereon stood
the Blossom House and erect there the old Osburn
House, which for many years was probably the
best known hotel in western New York. He be-
came very prominent in the business world of
Rochester, acquiring a considerable fortune before
his death, which occurred in 1873. His memory
is cherished by those who knew him as one of
the most charitable and public-spirited men in
the city's history, to whom his friends continually
went for counsel and assistance, receiving from
him each according to his individual needs. Mr.
Osburn was descended from an old New England
family, his grandfather having fought for Amer-
ican independence in tlie Revolutionary war, wliile
his father was a soldier of the war of 1812. His
daughter, Mary Elizabeth Osburn, became the wife
of Phillip Greene Almy and the mother of Willey
Henry Almy. Phillip G. Almy was born in Au-
burn, New York, in 1818, and was of French
ITiigiionot descent. The earliest member of the
family of wiu)in tliere is an authentic record left
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Fiance to escape the danger of conscription and

was later a follower of William the Conqueror.

The ancestor of the American branch of the fam-
ily was William Almy, who was born at Benendin
parish in Kent connty, England, in 1601, and in

company with John Winthrop, John Elliott and
Isaac Johnson came to America in 1639. He
made two return tri|)s to Enp;land and a [tor the

latter broiiglit his wife Audrey, his daughtei' An-
nis and son Christopher to America, settling at

Sagus, near Lynn, Massaclmsetts. Later he re-

moved to Portsmouth, Rhode Island, becoming
prominent in the public life of that city and
holding many offices of trust. His eldest son,

Christopher Almy, was the father of AVilliam

Almy and the grandfather of Job Almy. The
last named had a son, Thomas Almy, who was born

in 17'r'8 and when a young man Journeyed on foot

to western New York, settling at the present site

of Interlaken, between Cayuga and Seneca lakes.

There he married and reared his family, including

Dr. Job Almy, wlio was born in 1782 and died

in 1854. He w-is a prominent physician of the

pioneer days and was ihe father of Pliillip Greene

Almy. 'V\\c rcpresenlatives ot tlic family are very

numerous in the New England states and have

'

been prominent factors in the history of that sec-

tion. Several of the name were identified as offi-

cers or soldiers with the Revolutionary war and in

every generation have been those who have held

conspicuous places in the business, political and
social world of their respective communities. Phil-

lip Greene Almy was foi'inany years a well known
druggist of Rochestei", being located for a quarter

of a century at the corner of St. Paul and East

Main streets. He died in 1873, his wife surviving

until January 21, 1897.

Willey Henry Almy was the third of a family

of three children, his brother being Elmer Eugene
Almy, of Rochester, while the sister, Sarah Louise,

is the wife of Franklin J. Stewart of this city. In

the public schools W. H. Almy acquired his educa-

tion, after which he was employed as bookkeeper

in the office of Williams & Hoyt, shoe manufactur-

ers, for seven years. He then became secretary

and treasurer of the Rochester Hosiery Company,
in which he was financially interested, acting in

that capacity from 1887 until 1893, at which time

he ass\nnod the management of llic Oshurn and

Filon estates. The Osbiirn estate was closed u])

sometime ago, but he still manages the Filon

estate and many others of importance, being

known in business circles of the city as managing
real-estate agent.

On the 23d of April, 1887, Mr. Almy was mar-

ried lo Miss Jessie L. Start, daughter of TTartwell

Start of Rochester, sn engineer for the New York

Central Railroad Company. They have four sons:

Charles 0., Herbert E., Phillip G. and Hartwell

S. Three years ago Mr. Almy erected an elegant

residence at Brighton in the midst of a beautiful

])ark and gardens covering eighteen acres. In the

erection of his new home he has included a valua-

ble relic of the old homestead built by Nehemiah
Osburn, his grandfather, over sixty years ago.

This is a heavy oaken door and pillars, exquisitely

carved by an amateur by the name of Lc Bray,

who carved the massive wooden ox which adorned

the facade of the old city market.

Mr. Aliny is a member of the Sons of the Amer-
ican Revolution, an attendant of St. Mark's Epis-

copal church and a republican in his political

views. He has always preferred the society of

his family to public and club life, but those who
come within the closer circle of his friendship find

in him a most congenial companion.

REV. LOUIS COPE WASHBURN.

Rev. Tjouis Cope Washburn, for many years

prominently associated with Christian work in

Rochester as rector of St. Paul's Protestant Epis-

copal church, and since February, 1907, rector of

the historic parish of Christ church of Philadel-

phia, Pennsylvania, was born January 25, 1860,

in Pottsville, Pennsylvania, where his father, Rev.

Daniel Washburn, was then rector. The boyhood

days of the son were there passed and he pursued

a preparatory course at St. Ste])hen'8 College at

Anandale. lie further pursued a classical course

in Trinity College at Hartford, Connecticut, where

he was graduated with the degree of Bachelor of

Arts, and in 1883 the degree of Master of Arts

was conferred upon him. In the Berkeley Di-

vinity School at Middleton, Connecticut, he pur-

sued a three years' course under Rt. Rev. John
Williams and, having thus qualified for holy or-

ders, he was ordained a deacon by Bishop Howe
of Central, Pennsylvania, in the cathedral at Read-

ing, that state, June 13, 1884.

Two days later he assumed charge of St. Peter's

Episcopal church at Hazleton, Pennsylvania. It

was then a struggling parish in the coal regions.

The membership was small and the communicants

were poor in tliis world's goods, but during his

pastorate the annuity of the church increased

from six Intndred dollars to forty-six hundred dol-

lars, the house of worship was rebuilt, being nearly

doubled in size, and a mission church was estab-

lished and paid for at Weatherly. In fact, every

department of the church work was carried on

most earnestly and enthusiastically and splendid

results wore obtained. On the 2d of July, 1885,

Mr. Washburn was raised to the priesthood by

Rev. U. S. Rulison, and in December, 1887, St.

Paul's church in Rochester offered him its rector-
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ship. He began liis work here on the 1st of

July, 1888, and for neaily eight years lie remained

as rector of St. Paul's at the old location. Dur-

ing tliat period he greatly siicccodod in reducing

the church debt and doing other important work.

In 1895 he resigned the rectorship and was elect-

ee! first arch deacon of Rochester, in which ec-

clesiastical position he remained for nine years,

being chosen for four term of three years each, but

he declined to serve when last elected. He was an

aggressive worker in that position for nine years,

doing most excellent service for the church, in

1896, Hobart College conferred upon him the hon-

orary degree of D. D. In 1901 he was active in

raising thirty thousand dollars to build the Cox

Memorial Hall at Hobart College. In 1903 he

was elected a member of the general board of

managers of the Foreign and Domestic Missionary

Society of the Episcopal church and in 1904 he

was chosen a delegate to the general convention of

the diocese to serve for a three years' term. He is

vice president of the board of trustees of the

Church Home, which raised eleven thousand dol-

lars with which to erect a chapel and cottage.

Rev. AVashburn was also one of the committee, to-

gether with Hiram Sibley and Craig Powers, in

the building of tlie new chapel and church home.

The year 1905 was spent by him and his family

in Europe, after which he returned to Rochester,

and in February, 1907, he was elected rector of

the historic parish of Christ church at Philadel-

phia. His labors in the various communities where

he has lived have been of great effect in promoting

moral development and progress. He has never

been denied the full harvest nor tlie al'icrmath and

as the years have gone by the work of the church

and of Christian education have been greatly pro-

moted through his efEective, zealous labors. He
has attained distinguished ecclesiastical honors

and is widely recognized as one of the ablest di-

vines of the Episcopal ministry.

RICHARD E. AVTTTTE.

Richard E. White, for thirty-two years a practi»

tioner of law at Rochester, was born in Mansfield,

Massachusetts, June 12, 1848, his parents being

Ephriam and Phoebe J. (Smith) AVhite, who were

natives of the old Bay state. The father was a

mechanic. The son, Richard E., acquired his early

education in the public schools and at the normal
school at Brockport, New York, and he began the

study of law with Joseph A. Stull, being admitted

.
to the bar in June, 1875. He immediately began
the practice of his profession in Rochester, where
he has since remained. For seven years he was
associated with the Hon. George A. Benton, now

supreme judge of the state. He carries on a gen-

eral practice, which is extensive and of an impor-

tant character. He is remarkable among lawyers

for I ho wide research and provident care willi

wliich he prej)ares his cases. At no time has his

reading ever been confined to the limitations of

the questions at issue. It has gone beyond and

compassed every contingency and provided not

alone for the expected but for the unexpected,

which happens quite as frequently in the courts as

out of tiiem. ills legal learning, his analytical

mind, the readiness with which he grasps the

])oints in an argument, all combine to make him
one of the 'strong lawyers at the bar of Rochester.

On the 25th of October, 1877, Mr. AVhite was
married to ifiss Elizabeth M. Lacy, of Scottsville,

Monroe county, and they have two sons: Ernest L.,

who is assistant cashier in the office of the city

treasurer; and R. AValter. Mr. AA'^hite and his

family arc members of St. Petci's Pi'esbyterian

church, in which he has been an elder for twenty-

six years, and in its work he takes an active and

helpful interest. He stands for all that is upright

and just in man's relations with his fellowmeii

and his influence is ever given on the side of the

true and the beautiful.

GEORGE Y. AA^EBSTER.

George Y. AA^eb&ter, attorney at law and super-

visor of the tontli ward of Rochester, was born at

"\'inoland. New Jersey, l\farch ,'{0, 1878, his par-

ents being Cliarles T\r. and Ella (Young) AA^ebster.

l)oth of whom were natives of l\ronroe county, New
Yorlc, whence they removed to New Jersey and
subscf|uently to A^'irginia. The father was a pro-

duce merchant, and, havine; returned to Rochester,

is now living retired. At the time of the Civil war
he enlisted in Company A, Third New York Cav-

alry, and served until the fall of 1865. Tie held

Iho rank of sergeant and was on aclivo duly every

day.

George Y. AA''obi5ter, accompanying his parents

on their removal to Virginia" in hi.^ boyhood dfiys,

pursued his studies in the district schools, the little

"temple of learning" being a log building. After

coming to Monroe county he pursued his educa-

tion at Parma and later in the public schools of

Rochester, from which he was graduated. After

conipli^iing a course in Rochester Free Academy
he entered the University of Rochester and was
graduated in the class of 1901, the degree of Bache-

lor of Arts being at that time conferred upon him.

His professional preparation was made as a law

student in the office of McGuire & AA^ood, attorneys

of Rochester, who directed his reading until he

was admitted to the bar in 1903. He has since
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engaged in practice on liia own account anil al-

thongli one of tlie younger members oi tlie legal

fraternity lias attained a position of more than

ordinary distinction and is destined undoubtedly

to win still higher honors as a lawyer. His record

is notable in that he is the youngest member ever

elected to the board of supervisors, being chosen

as the representative of the tenth ward in 1905.

He is now serving on the law committee, on the

committee on barges and canals, the bridge com-

mittee and on several of the regular standing com-

mittees. He is also an officer in several corpora-

tions.

On the 1st of June, 1905, Mr. Webster was mar-

ried to Miss Mabel L. Boddy, the first graduates of

the University of Rochester to wed. They are well

known in the city where they reside, having a

large circle of friends here. Mr. Webster is a

member of the Sons of Veterans and of the Delta

Upsilon, a college fraternity. He has taken quite

an active interest in athletics, was captain of the

. college baseball team for three years, and for some
tim.e held the state championship in hurdle racing.

In fact, ho is widely known throughout New York
as one of tlie cutliiisiastie athletes. He is now
conceiitraling his time and energies upon his pro-

fession ill a Avay that argues well for the future

and he is a member of the Rochester Bar Associa-

tion.

JOHN DESMOND.

John Desmond, practicing at tlie bar of Roches-

ter, his prominence indicated by the fact that he is

vice president of the New York State Bar Asso-

ciation, was born in the town of Parma, this

state, April 15, 1864, his parents being Bartholo-

mew and Nancy (Foley) Desmond, both of whom
were natives of Ireland. The father settled in

Monroe county, New York, in 18'I9. He was a

farmer by occupation and for many years carried

on that pursuit, his death occurring in 1892. His

wife survived him for about ten years, passing

away in 1902. They had a family of eight chil-

dren, five of whom are living.

John Desmond was reared upon the old home-

stead place and attended the country schools,

wherein he mastered the elementary branches of

English learning. He afterward entered the

Brockport Academy and taught for several years

in the country and village schools, but he re-

garded this merely as an initial step to other pro-

fessional labor and in 1876, at the age of twenty-

two years, he took up the study of law, being ad-

mitted to the bar on the 4th of April, 1879. He
immediately began practice in the city of Roch-

ester, where he has built up a large clientele. As

the years have passed he has been associated with

several partners, but is now alone. The zeal with

which he has devoted his energies to his profes-

sion, the careful regard evinced for the interests

of his clients and an assiduous and unrelaxing at-

tention to all the details of his cases have brought
him a large business and made him very success-

ful in its conduct. His arguments have elicited

warm commendation, not only from his associates

at the bar, but also from the bench. He is a very

able writer; his briefs always show wide research,

careful thought and the best and strongest reasons

which can be urged for his contention, presented

in cogent and logical form and illustrated by a

style unusually lucid and clear. His standing

among his professional brethren is indicated by
the fact that they have honored him with election

to the ollice of president of the Rochester Bar As-

sociation, in which position he served from De-
cember, 1904, until December, 1905, while at the

present writing he is vice president of the New
York State Bar Association. He was one of the

committee and also a member of the sub committee

of the state bar association that investigated tlie

chaiges made against Judge Warren B. Hooker,

one of the most famous investigations that has

occurred here for many years.

On the 18th of August, 1880, Mr. Desmond was

married to Miss Flora Butts, of Greece, Monroe
county, and they have one daughter, Laura M.
Desmond. The family are connected with the

Unitarian church and Mr. Desmond is a gentle-

man of broad humanitarian principles as is proven

by his active co-operation in many movements to

alleviate or ameliorate the hard conditions of life

for others. He was manager of the State In-

dustrial School for five years, from 1891 until

1896, and is a member of the Genesee Valley Club.

In citizenship he is public-spirited and while hold-

ing high ideals he has always recognized the prac-

tical utility of the opportunities at hand. His

(,imo and energies have naturally been given most

lai'gely to his profession and he has met with splen-

did success therein. Well versed in the learning

of his profession ancl with a deep knowledge of

human conduct, with great sagacity and marked

tact, he stands as a peer of many of the ablest

members of the New York bar and is an honor

to the profession which has honored him.

EUGENE C. DENTON.

Eugene C. Denton, engaged in the general prac-

tice of law in Rochester, was horn in Eitchburg,

Massachusetts, December 10, 1865, his parents be-

ing Stephen E. and Ann E. Denton who were na-

tives of Orange county, New York. The father
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was a paper manufactuiei- and for a number of

vcars carried on business in Eitchbui'g, Masssachu-

setts, where he died in 18G8. His widow still

survives niid is now living in Iioohosler.

Eugene C. Denton, having acquired his prelim-

inary education in the public schools, afterward

attended Canandaigua Academy, in which he pre-

pared for college, being graduated with the class

of 1883. He then entered the University of Roch-

ester in the fall of the same year and completed a

classical course by graduation in 1887, at which
time the degree of Bachelor of Afts was con-

ferred upon him. Entering professional circles, he

took up the study of law with the late Martin

W. Cooke and after thorough preliminary reading

was admitted to the bar in 1889. He continued

as managing clerk for Mr. Cooke for one year and
in 1890 went abroad, being absent for six months,

during which time he visited various countries

and gained an intimate knowledge of many por-

tions of Europe.

Upon his return to his native land Mr. Denton
opened a law office in Rochester in January, 1891,
and in 1895 became associated in practice with
GoorgeE. Slocum under the firm style of Slocnra &
Denton, the relation being maintained until Ai)ril,

1900, since which time Mr. Denton has practiced

alone. Ho is well versed in all the departments of

jurisprudence and conducts a general practice,

liavinjr no;\' a large and distinctively representa-

tive clientage. He discharges his professional du-

ties with a sense of conscientious obligation, his

devotion to his clients' interests being proverbial

and at the same time he never forgets that he
owes a still higher allegiance to the majesty of the

law.

Mr. Denton is a meuibor of tlic Delta l\ap])a

Epsilon, a college fraternity, while in the line of
his profession he is connected with the State and
iheRochester Bar Associations. Pleasantly situated
in his home life, he was married on the 17th of

May, 1904, to Miss' Mary H. Brown, of Roches-
ter, a daughter of Harvey W. Brown. He is n

trustee of the University of Rochester and of llie

People's Rescue Mission and vestryman of Christ
E])iscopal cliurdi.

JULIA C0.\'.

Julia Cox is a daughter of Dennis Cox, who
came to Rocliester witli his family at an early day.
He had wedded Mary Wynne, and botli remained
residents of this city until called to their final rest.

Dennis Cox was engaged in the shoe business
here at an early day but died in the year 1800. His
widow, long surviving him, passed away in 1890.

Patrick, a son, came to Rochester wilh liis par-

ents and in partnership with his brotiicr Michael

estahlisiied a shoe factory, which they conducted

togellu'r for a iuiuil)or of years. AflcM' the death

of iiis l)ralher, Patrick Cox conlinued (he business

alone and developed an extensive and important

siioo manufacturing industry which became known
all over the country. He had a splendidly equipped

factory and not only kept in touch with the prog-

ress made in business but was a recognized leader

along progressive lines for the improvement of the

output and the extension of his trade. He also

erected a large office building in l\ochester known
as the Cox building. He was a very enterprising,

wide-awake and successful merchant and manu-
facturer and carried on the business in connection
with the assistance of his sister Julia until his

death, which occurred in 1900. Miss Julia Cox
then remained at the head of this large productive
industry for souic time, after which slie sold out.

Patrick Cox was the father of eight children, of

whom five are still living, and the eldest son,

Charles Cox, is now carrying on a jobbing busi-

ness in Rochester and looking after the real-estate

interests of the family. He is a young man of

good business ability and enterprise, displaying an
aptitude for successful management. The Cox
family is one of the best and most favorably known
in this section of the country, having established
and built up one of the leading productive indus-
tries of Rochester. They have also become the
owner of considerable valuable realty in the city.

Miss Julia Cox and her two sisters reside at their
home on Portsmouth Terrace in Rochester, which
they erected fifteen years ago and which is the cen-
ter of a most gracious and charming liospitality.

CHARLES WIIJJAM SILCOX.

Cliarlos AVillinm Silcox, secretary of Tlie Robe-
son CuUeiy Company and of the Rocliosier Stamp-
ing C()m])any, was born at Venice, New York,
Sc])tembcr 18, 1807. His father, ,lohu Silcox, was
a merchant miller of Locke, New York, where he
still resides. His wife, Mrs. Sarah (Whiting)
Silcox, IS now deceased. The familv is of Eno-lish
1 ineage.

Charles W. Silcox acquired his education in
Hie public and high schools of Moravia, New York,
and in Colgate University. After completing his
education he entered mercantile business with J.
Harris & Sons and was in their employ from 1886
until 1893, when he became secretary and general
sales manager of the Rochester branch of The
Robeson Cutlery Company, manufacturers of
])ockct and butcher knives and razors, with fac-
tories at Perry, New York. Employment is fur-
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iiislifil to about lour luiudicd people and the en-

tei'])i'isc is IliereCore an iMij)i)rtaiit industrial con-

foin of tlie state. Mi'. iSiicox is also secretary

and general sales manager oJ; the Rochester Stamp-
ing Company, manufacturers of silver and nickel

])lato housel'urnisliing goods, employing six hun-
dred men. Both concerns sell their products direct

to the retail trade through a corps of about fifty

salesmen. As secretary of this concern, Mr. Silcox

has made for himself a creditable position in the

business world. A man of much natural ability,

combined with strong determination and laudable

purpose, his success in business from the beginning

lias been uniform and rapid. His connection with

any undertaking insures a prosperous outcome of

the sanu", for it is in his nature to accomplish what
he und(Mlakos. lie has earned I'or himself an
cnvialile iej)iitMlion as a caicTul man of business

and in his dealings is known for his prom|)t and
honorable melhods, which liave won for him the

deserved and unqualilied confidence oi' liis fellow-

men.
On tlic nth of July, 1000, Ur. Silcox was mar-

ried to Miss .'\da M. Mlaiu'liard, a daughter of

I'oilor H. and Helen 1<]. Blandiard of Elmira, New
York. The extensive circle of their friends is proof

of the possession of those social qualities which win
warm regard and good will. Mr. Silcox is a mem-
ber of Genesee Falls lodge, No. 507, F. & A. M.

;

Hamilton chapter, No. 03, R. A. M. ; Monroe com-
mandery, No. 12, K. T.; and Damascus Temple of

the Ifystic Shrine. He is also a member of the

Oak liil] Country Club and of the First Baiitist

church, in which he is flrst assistant superintend-

ent of the Sunday school, while in other depart-

ments of church work he is actively and helpfully

interested. TTis entire business career has been

conducted along lines that have gained for him un-
qualified confidence as well as success and liis po-

sition is a creditable one in commercial and social

circles.

GEORC.E P. GOULDTNG.

George V. Goulding dates hin residence in Mon-
roe county from 1873, and as an inventor of a

number of useful devices is well known, his inven-

tions including a fog signal for sailing vessels and

a bottle stopper and washer, on which he has so-

cured patents. He has also secured patents on a

stopper for ink bottles and a brush for a bottle

washer. Captain Goulding was born in Colling-

ham, Nottinghamshire, England, Juno 1, 1833, a

son of George and Eliza (Curtiss) Goulding, who
were natives of Tiincolnshirc, England. The father

emigrated to America in 1836 and took up his

ahode in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, and the mother

settled in the same city in 1854. She passed

away there, and tlie lather now resides in Lincoln,

Nebraska, having reached the very advanced age

of ninety-five years. He was one of the first four
settlers of Milwaukee, the others being Messrs.

Juno, I'.uins and O'Ncil. The father took Walk-
ei''s Point, now the south half of the city, and sold

the same for three hundred dollars.

Captain Goulding is one of two children born

of his father's iiuirriage, bis sister Elizabeth, being

now deceased. At the early age of ten years he

became a sailor and in 1851 came to America. He
located in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, joining his fath-

er, who had been there since 183G. The son re-

mained there for thirteen years, during which
time he followed the Great Lakes. In 18G1 he

came to New York, settling in lUilfalo, where he

lived until 1873, in which year he took up his

abode in Rochester and has been a resident of

Monroe county since, the past sixteen years having
been spent in Charlotte. During his life as a

sailor he was captain on the Baltic and the brigan-

tine Hutchinson and was mate on several vessels.

Upon going to Rochcsler he established bottling

works, being the first man to bottle beer in 1875.

After three years' connection therewith he sold

his bottling works and took a position as. superin-

tendent of the bottling department of the Roches-

ter Brewery, which position he filled during the

succeeding sixteen years, or until tlie brewery was
sold to the English syndicate, when he came to

Charlotte and has since made his home in this vil-

lage. He has devoted much of his time to the in-

vention of various devices, for he possesses con-

siderable genius. These devices include a fog sig-

nal for sailing vessels, a bottle stopper and a bottle

washer, a stopper for ink bottles and a brush for

a bottle washer, on all of which he has seciired

patents, and in addition to these he has offered

many suggestions to liis liusiness associates, all of

v/hicli have proved of much value but on which he
lias secured no patent. Since coming to this village

Mr. Goulding has also given mucli of his time to

yachting and is now the owner of the Scotch cutter

"Madge," this vessel being brought to New York
to be sold after having defeated every vessel of that

class in tlie old world. Mr. Goulding has also won
thirteen prizes with this vessel on the lakes.

Mr. Goulding has been twice married. He first

^vedded Sarah James, by whom he had five chil-

dren, all of whom are now deceased, and after

losing his wife he was married a second time, this

union being with Emma L. G. Hume. Since com-

ing to Charlotte he served for three years as super-

intendent of light and water, and for two years,

from 1000 until 1902, was president of the village.

He gives his political support to the democracy,

and is an honorarv member of the Genesee Yacht



702 IliSTOliY OF ROCHESTER AND MONROE COUNTY.

Club. Mr. Goukling is a man of bro'acl mind and

public spirit;, who by perseverence, determination

and honorable effort has overcome the obstacles in

his path and won success.

EDWARD C. CAMPBELL.

Edward C. Campbell, connected with large busi-

ness interests as a wholesale nnd vetnil doiiloi' in

grain and coal at Rochester, was born in the vicin-

ity of this city, June 18, 1875, his parents being

Edward and Cynthia (Waring) Campbell, both

natives of Irondequoit. The father was a son of

Henry H. and Marietta (Dyke) Campbell. He
was born in 1835 and died May 19, 1906. He rep-

resented the town of Gates on the board of super-

visors for twenty years and was justice of the

peace for thirty years. In the public schools of

Rochester, Edward C. Campbell, Jr., pursued his

education to the time that he entered the employ

of his brother, a grocery merchant on Lyell ave-

nue, with whom he remained until twenty-one

years of age. Since that time he had been con-

nected witli the coal and grain trades and has

extensive mining interests in the coal regions. The

business is conducted along wholesale and retail

lines and the annual sales of both coal and grain

are extensive. Mr. Campbell is yet a young man
but has demonstrated his force in the business

world, possessing native sagacity and keen fore-

sight which make his judgment safe and reliable

• and constitute his actions resultant factors, in the

acquirement of success. He has various business

connections aside from that already mentioned,

his investments being judiciously placed with the

result that a gratifying annual income is secured.

Mr. Campbell was married about eight years ago

to Miss Jessie Roche of Rochester, a daughter of

John Roche, and they have two children. His

political allegiance is given to the republican party

and he is a member of the Rochester Canoe Club.

EDWARD B. EENNER.

On the list of those men whose professional

records are a credit to the city appears the name

of Edward B. Fenner, who in the practice of law

made a creditable record, and was recognized as

one of the strong attorneys of the Rochester bar.

A native of the Empire state, he was born in the

town of Henrietta, Monroe county, March 10,

1839, his parents being Abel L. and Marietta

(Russell) Eenner, both of whom were natives of

New York. The maternal grandfather, Jonathan

Russell, came from Maine to Rochester in 1807,

when western New York was largely an unbroken

wUuerness. lie made a clearing in the midst

of the forest, developed a tract of land and carried

on farming. His Jiome was a little log cabin

wliich he built on what is now the site of the West
Brighton hotel, and there the mother of our sub-

ject was born. Joseph Eenner, the paternal grand-

father, was born in the town of Fairlield, Herkimer

county. New York, and came to Monroe county in

181G, driving across the country with ox-teams and

sled. He was thirteen days on the way, owing

to the condition of the roads and the extremely lei-

surely jnunuer in which his team traveled. He
brought all of his elfects with him on the sled

and perched upon the same vehicle were the mem-
bers of his family. He entered land in the town
of Henrietta, casting in his lot with the pioneer

settlers and aided in the arduous task of develop-

ing a new country. He continued to reside upon
the old homestead until his death and thus it will

be seen that both the Fenner and Russell families

were established in this county in early pioneer

times. In the Fenner family were but two chil-

dren, Edward B. and Emma E., the latter the

wife of Henry Martin, who resides on the old

Fenner homestead.

No event of special importance occurred to

vary tlie routine of farm life for Edward B.

Fenner in his boyhood days. He attended the

country schools and assisted in the work of the

farm. Later, however, better educational privi-

leges were afforded him and he matriculated in

Amherst College, from which he was graduated

in 18G7. He then taught school for three win-

ters but he regarded this merely as an initial step

to other professional labor. It was his desire to

become a member of the bar and to this end he
read Blackstone before he completed his college

course. He later regularly took up the study of

law and was admitted to the bar in June, 1868.

For a short time he was a law clerk in the office

of Selden & Bacon at Rochester, after which he
had an opportunity to enter upon active practice

for himself in the office of H. H. AVoodward. Pro-

fessional advancement is proverbially slow and the

young man did not know whether he could win
success or not but he knew that he would do so

if earnest effort and close application could gain it,

and with the hojie that the future held something
bright in store for him he married, although he
bad not at ilinl liiiui a single (Oicnt. As cases

were entrusted to him, however, he succeeded in

demonstrating to the public his ability to handle
intricate legal problems and within a compara-
tively short time he had built up a very good prac-
tice. He was an active representative of the pro-
fession from 1868 \mtil his death in 1907 and for
for many years was accorded a prominent place
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iu the ranks of tlic legal fraternity in Rochester.

In 1877 he was elected district attorney and was

re-elected in 1880—a fact which showed his fidelity

and ability in the iirst term, i'reviously he haa
served for one year as collector of tolls on the canal

in 1874. Ilo was^ however, never an active poli-

tician ill the sense of odice seeking outside the path

of hi.s ])r()l'(\ssi()n, iis ho ]ii'cf(M-ro(l lo concentralo

his onei'gics nj)()u Uio building up of a good prac-

tice, feeling that the interests of his clients de-

manded Iho grcaler part oC liis time and attention.

On the 2([ oC JJccenibcr, 18(58, Mi'. Fenner was
united in marriage to Miss Virginia M. Taylor,

a daughter of J'hioch Taylor of the town of Col-

lins, lOric county, New Y'ork. Tiiey have two
living children: Burt ]j., who is an architect in

New York city of the firm of McKim, Mead &
White; and lOdwai'd W., a senior lieutenant in the

United States navy, who has recently been ordered

to the new cruiser, Milwaukee, which has just

been put into commission. He is a graduate of

the naval academy at Annapolis and was one of

four students who received the gold star for schol-

arship.

Mr. Fenncr was a Mason and his life exemplifies

the s])irit of the craft. In his business career

he showed unfaltei-iiig perseverance and deter-

mination. While he was a representative of two
of the oldest families of the county and was there-

fore not nnknown in Rochester when he entered

upon the pi'actice of his profession here, he took

up fl work in wliioli wealth, influence or acquain-

tance availeth little or naught. The individual

has to prove his capability and Mr. Fenner was
not afraid of that close application, thorough prep-

aration and earnest study which are so essential to

success at the har. Thus it was that for many
years he occu])ied a prominent place among the

leading lawvers of Rochester.

REV. ALGERNON SIDNEY^ CRAPSEY^.

]?ev: Algernon Sidney Crapsey, who has re-

cently entered upon the active work of putting

into ])ractice his ideas and theories upon the ques-

tion of Christian sociology, was for twenty-eight

years the ]iopular and valued rector of St. An-

drew's Episcopal church in Rochester, and was

numbered among the ablest representatives of the

ministry who have done effective work for Chris-

tian progress in this city. TTc was born in Cin-

cinnati, Ohio, ,lune 28, 'l8l7. His father, Jacob

T. Crai>scy, was a member of the har of that

city, wln'le the mother Rachel Crapsey, was a

chiughter of Thomas Morris, United States senator

and one of the early leaders of the abolition move-
ment.

Dr. Crapsey acquired his education in the com-
mon schools of Cincinnati and entered into busi-

ness life at the early age of eleven years as an

employe in the dry-goods store of Cole & Hopkins.
Tie spent eighteen nu)nt]m in that Avay and then

returned to school. Ho was afterward cm[)loyed

for six months in a hardware store and in 18G2,

in response to the country's call for troops, he be-

came a member of Company B, Seventy-ninth Ohio
Volunteer Infantry, as a musician, although but
fifteen years of age. Lying on the field without
covering in the late fall and winter months he
contracted lung and heart trouble and was sent

home. After going to the fronc ho had not served

as a musician but carried a musket and did full

duty as a soldier. When he had been at the

front for four months, however, his health failed

and he returned home. He then engaged as store-

keeper as a member of the firm of Watson & Com-
pany at the salt mines of the Kanawah river

in West A'^irginia and later he was bookkeeper for

Charles N. Morris, a printer in Cincinnati. Snh-

seqiiently he went to the dead letter office in Wash-
ington, D. C, where he filled a vacancy for about

six months and on the expiration of that period

he engaged in bookkeeping for the firm of Sacket

& McKey of New York city in 1865. Eighteen

months were there passed, after which he began

studying for the ministry of the Protestant Episco-

pal chuich, for he had determined to devote his

life to this holy calling.

Accordingly Dr. Crapsey entered Stephens Col-

lege, at Annandale, New York, where he contin-

ued for two years and then spent three years as

a student in the General Theological Seminary, of

New York city, from which he was graduated in

1872. Li June of the same year he was ordained

deacon and in 1872 he was appointed to service on

the deacon staff of Trinity parish in New York
city. In September, 1873, he was ordained to

the priesthood and appointed to a position on the

officiating staff of Trinity parish with work at

St. Paul's chapel. In May, 1874, he was promoted

to a permanent position as assistant minister of

Trinity parish, where he remained for five years,

or nntil 1879, when he resigned to accept the

rectorship of St. Andrew's church, at Rochester,

New York. He held that position for nearly

twenty-eight years, from June, 1879, until Decem-

ber, 1906, when he resigned and at his own request

was deposed from the ministry, wishing to enter

upon other Christian work. In addition to his

parochial work he was mission preacher of the

parochial Mission Society for the United States

and preached at an Annual Mission for over ten
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years in New York city, Philadelphia, Detroit,

Omaha and the Bermuda Islands and had retreats

for men and women, continuing his labors of this

character at various times and in various places.

Dr. Crapsey has always been recognized as a

fluent, able and earnest speaker, convincing in

argument, logical in his deductions and strong

in his reasoning, his utterance prompted by his

firm belief in the truth of what he was saying. He
is, moreover, a writer of force and fluency. He is

the author of various works, including the Five

Joyful Mysteries, the Five Sorrowful Mysteries,

the Voice in the Wilderness, Life of Sarah Thorn
and the novel called The Greater Love. He is

likewise the author of a series of lectures entitled

Religion and Politics, the twelfth lecture of the

series containing historical statements which were

characterized by ecclesiastical authorities of the

church as heretical. The first committee appointed

to investigate reported that while they did not-

agree with him they found no cause for action.

The standing committee, not satisfied with this

report, preferred formal charges and the case was
brought before the court of the diocese, held at

Batavia, New York, April 8-25, 1906. The court

sustained the charges and sentenced the accused

to suspension. Dr. Crapsey appealed to the court

of review held in Cato, New York, September 4

to October 9. The court of review asserted that

it had no jurisdiction over the matter and the

first issue was accepted so far as the charges pre-

ferred were concerned. The question at issue was
"The Origin of Jesus." Dr. Crapsey asserted his-

torically that Jesus was the son of Joseph of

Nazareth. It was maintained that this was con-

trary to the teaching of the church, yet it was not

claimed that his assertion was untrue. Not de-

siring to remain in the ministry under suspension

Dr. Crapsey formally withdrew and asked deposi-

tion, which was accomplished by act of the bishop

at St. Paul's church at Buffalo, December 4, 1906.

Dr. Crapsey has always been a man firm in sup-

port of his honest convictions and the step which
he took in this matter was a characteristic one.

No coercion could be strong enough to cause him
to deviate from a course or support a proposition

in which he did not fully believe. He has a most
extensive circle of friends and followers in Roch-

ester and he has long been recognized as one of the

ablest divines of western New York. Perhaps no
better indication of tlie position and ideas of Dr.

Crapsey could be given than by quoting from a

published "talk" witli tlie Doctor, wlio said: "Will

you kindly allow mo space to announce that after

a careful consideration as to my duty and at the

instance of many men and women resident in our

city, I purpose to resume stated work in Rochester

as a minister to the physical, moral and spiritual

life of the people. It is my intention to continue

the preaching of the truth as the Spirit of truth

shall give me utterance and to submit my teach-

ings to the judgment of the intelligence and con-

science of those that shall hear me. To set forth

ancient revelations in the light and by the aid of

more recent revelations of divine wisdom will be

the desire of my heart. I believe that God is with

us, as He was with our fathers, and it is this pres-

ent God that I would know and make known to

the pco])le. It is my intention also to exercise

the pastoral office, to visit the sick, to comfort the

sorrowful and to care for the needy. I am to be

at the call of any who may desire my service. I

wish also to work in the future, as I have in the

past, for the social uplift of the people and for

the civic righteousness of the community. To carry

out these designs I shall need the organic assist-

ance of tlioso who think that my od'orts in those

regards will be of benefit to them and to others.

Having secured from the trustees of the Unitarian

church, on the comer of Temple and Cortland

streets, the use of the auditorium of that church,

I invite all those who may be interested in this

enterprise to be present Sunday night, April 7,

at the place mentioned at the hour of eight o'clock,

that we may confer together concerning the best

method of cari7ing out these, our intentions. I

will begin my spiritual work at that time by con-

ducting a short office of worship and by preaching

a sermon, after which the conference will take

place, assuring you and my fellow citizens that my
sole desire is to spend the last years of my life

in that service to which all my ])revious years have
been dcvoied."

On the 2d of June, 1875, Dr. Crapsey was mar-
ried to Adelaide Trowbridge, a daugliter of Mar-
cus n. Trowbridge, editor of the Examiner at

Catskill, New York, and unto them have been
born nine children, of whom seven are yet living.
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